# NORTH CAROLINA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS LAWS

## 2024 EDITION

Legislative Retirement System
Consolidated Judicial Retirement System
Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System
Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System
Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund
Registers of Deeds' Supplemental Pension Fund
Supplemental Retirement Income Plan
National Guard Pension Fund
Disability Income Plan



Reprinted from the General Statutes of North Carolina Annotated 2023 Replacement Edition and 2024 Interim Supplement



#### QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS PUBLICATION?

For CUSTOMER SERVICE ASSISTANCE concerning replacement pages, shipments, billing, reprint permission, or other matters,

please contact Customer Support at their self-service portal available 24/7 at *supportcenter.lexisnexis.com/app/print* or call 800-833-9844

#### For EDITORIAL content questions concerning this publication,

please email: llp.clp@lexisnexis.com

#### For information on other LEXISNEXIS MATTHEW BENDER publications,

please call us at 877-394-8826 or visit our online bookstore at www.lexisnexis.com/bookstore

ISBN: 979-8-3417-0187-8

© 2024 Matthew Bender & Company, Inc., a member of the LexisNexis Group.

All rights reserved.

LexisNexis and the Knowledge Burst logo are registered trademarks, and Michie is a trademark of Reed Elsevier Properties Inc., used under license. Matthew Bender is a registered trademark of Matthew Bender Properties Inc.



Matthew Bender & Company, Inc. Editorial Offices 9443 Springboro Pike Miamisburg, OH 45342 800-833-9844 www.lexisnexis.com

## **Table of Contents**

	PAGE
Constitution of North Carolina	7
Chapter 58. Insurance.  Article 86. North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund, §§ 58-86-1 to 58-86-101	64
Chapter 108A. Social Services. Article 2. Programs of Public Assistance, § 108A-70.20A	93
Chapter 115C. Elementary and Secondary Education. Article 14A. Charter Schools, § 115C-218.100 Article 20. Teachers, § 115C-302.4 Article 23. Employment Benefits, §§ 115C-341, 115C-341.2	94 96 96
Chapter 115D. Community Colleges. Article 2. Local Administration, $\$ 115D-25, 115D-25.4	101
Chapter 120. General Assembly.  Article 1. Apportionment of Members; Compensation and Allowances, § 120-4.2	106 106 147 149 150
Chapter 127A. Militia. Article 3. National Guard, §§ 127A-40, 127A-40.1	153
Chapter 128. Offices and Public Officers. Article 3. Retirement System for Counties, Cities and Towns, §§ 128-21 to 128-38.10	157
Chapter 135. Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees; Social Security; State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees.  Article 1. Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees, §§ 135-1 to 135-18.11	406

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Article 3. Other Teacher, Employee Benefits; Child Health Benefits, §§ 135-32 to 135-42.1 [Recodified and Renumbered]	650
Article 3A. Other Benefits for Teachers, State Employees, Retired State Employees, and Child Health, §§ 135-43 to 135-48 [Repealed, Re-	
codified and Reserved]	651
Tables of Comparable Sections for Chapter 135, Article 3B	655
Article 3B. State Health Plan for Teachers and State	055
Employees, §§ 135-48.1 to 135-49	657
\$\ 135-50 to 135-76	728
Article 4A. Uniform Solicitorial Retirement Act of 1974,	
§§ 135-77 to 135-83 [Repealed] Article 4B. Uniform Clerks of Superior Court Retirement	798
Act of 1975, §§ 135-84 to 135-89 [Repealed	
and Reserved]	798
Article 5. Supplemental Retirement Income Act of 1984,	700
§§ 135-90 to 135-99 Article 6. Disability Income Plan of North Carolina,	798
§§ 135-100 to 135-149	808
Article 7. Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement, §§ 135-150, 135-151	830
Chapter 143. State Departments, Institutions, and Commissions.	
Article 12. Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System, §§ 143-166 to 143-166.04 [Repealed]	834
Article 12A. Public Safety Employees' Death Benefits Act, §§ 143-166.1 to 143-166.12	835
Article 12C. Retirement Benefits for State Law-Enforce-	000
ment Officers, § 143-166.30	845
Article 12D. Separation Allowances for Law-Enforcement Officers, §§ 143-166.41 to 143-166.43	850
Article 12E. Retirement Benefits for Local Governmental	
Law-Enforcement Officers, § 143-166.50	857
Article 12F. Separate Insurance Benefits Plan for State and Local Governmental Law-Enforcement	
Officers, § 143-166.60	861
Article 12G. Transfers of Assets of Law-Enforcement Of-	
ficers' Retirement System to Other Retirement Systems, § 143-166.70	864
Chapter 143B. Executive Organization Act of 1973.	
Article 9. Department of Administration, § 143B-426.24	866

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
Chapter 147. State Officers.	
Article 2A. Annuities and Deferred Compensation for	
Teachers and State Employees, §§ 147-9.2 to	
147-9.4	869
Article 6F. Achieving a Better Life Experience Program	
Trust, §§ 147-86.70 to 147-86.79	872
Chapter 161. Register of Deeds.  Article 3. Registers of Deeds' Supplemental Pension Fund Act of 1987, §§ 161-50 to 161-50.5	881
Index	T-1

## North Carolina Retirement Systems Laws

### **Constitution of North Carolina**

#### **Article I. Declaration of Rights**

#### Section

- 1. The equality and rights of persons.
- 2. Sovereignty of the people.
- 3. Internal government of the State.
- 4. Secession prohibited.
- 5. Allegiance to the United States.
- 6. Separation of powers.
- 7. Suspending laws.
- 8. Representation and taxation.
- 9. Frequent elections.
- 10. Free elections.
- 11. Property qualifications.
- 12. Right of assembly and petition.
- 13. Religious liberty.
- 14. Freedom of speech and press.
- 15. Education.
- 16. Ex post facto laws.
- 17. Slavery and involuntary servitude.
- 18. Courts shall be open.
- 19. Law of the land; equal protection of the laws.
- 20. General warrants.
- 21. Inquiry into restraints on liberty.
- 22. Modes of prosecution.
- 23. Rights of accused.
- 24. Right of jury trial in criminal cases.
- 25. Right of jury trial in civil cases.
- 26. Jury service.
- 27. Bail, fines, and punishments.
- 28. Imprisonment for debt.
- 29. Treason against the State.
- 30. Militia and the right to bear arms.
- 31. Quartering of soldiers.
- 32. Exclusive emoluments.
- 33. Hereditary emoluments and honors.
- 34. Perpetuities and monopolies.
- 35. Recurrence to fundamental principles.
- 36. Other rights of the people.
- 37. Rights of victims of crime.
- 38. Right to hunt, fish, and harvest wildlife.

#### Article II. Legislative

- 1. Legislative power.
- 2. Number of Senators.
- 3. Senate districts; apportionment of Senators.
- 4. Number of Representatives.
- 5. Representative districts; apportionment of Representatives.
- 6. Qualifications for Senator.
- 7. Qualifications for Representative.

#### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA

#### Section

- 8. Elections.
- 9. Term of office.
- 10. Vacancies.
- 11. Sessions.
- 12. Oath of members.
- 13. President of the Senate.
- 14. Other officers of the Senate.
- 15. Officers of the House of Representatives.
- 16. Compensation and allowances.
- 17. Journals.
- 18. Protests.
- 19. Record votes.
- 20. Powers of the General Assembly.
- 21. Style of the acts.
- 22. Action on bills.
- 23. Revenue bills.
- 24. Limitations on local, private, and special legislation.

#### **Article III. Executive**

- 1. Executive power.
- 2. Governor and Lieutenant Governor: election, term, and qualifications.
- 3. Succession to office of Governor.
- 4. Oath of office for Governor.
- 5. Duties of Governor.
- 6. Duties of the Lieutenant Governor.
- 7. Other elective officers.
- 8. Council of State.
- 9. Compensation and allowances.
- 10. Seal of State.
- 11. Administrative departments.

#### Article IV. Judicial

- 1. Judicial power.
- 2. General Court of Justice.
- 3. Judicial powers of administrative agencies.
- 4. Court for the Trial of Impeachments.
- 5. Appellate division.
- 6. Supreme Court.
- 7. Court of Appeals.
- 8. Retirement of Justices and Judges.
- 9. Superior Courts.
- 10. District Courts.
- 11. Assignment of Judges.
- 12. Jurisdiction of the General Court of Justice.
- 13. Forms of action; rules of procedure.
- 14. Waiver of jury trial.
- 15. Administration.
- 16. Terms of office and election of Justices of the Supreme Court, Judges of the Court of Appeals, and Judges of the Superior Court.
- 17. Removal of Judges, Magistrates and Clerks.
- 18. District Attorney and prosecutorial districts.
- 19. Vacancies.
- 20. Revenues and expenses of the judicial department.
- 21. Fees, salaries, and emoluments.
- 22. Qualification of Justices and Judges.

#### Article V. Finance

- 1. No capitation tax to be levied.
- 2. State and local taxation.
- 3. Limitations upon the increase of State debt.
- 4. Limitations upon the increase of local government debt.

#### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA

#### Section

- 5. Acts levying taxes to state objects.
- 6. Inviolability of sinking funds and retirement funds.
- 7. Drawing public money.
- 8. Health care facilities.
- 9. Capital projects for industry.
- 10. Joint ownership of generation and transmission facilities.
- 11. Capital projects for agriculture.
- 12. Higher education facilities.
- 13. Seaport and airport facilities.
- 14. Project development financing.

#### Article VI. Suffrage and Eligibility to Office

- 1. (Effective until contingency met see note) Who may vote.
- 1. (Effective once contingency met see note) Who may vote.
- 2. Qualifications of voter.
- 3. Registration; Voting in Person.
- 4. Qualification for registration.
- 5. Elections by people and General Assembly.
- 6. Eligibility to elective office.
- 7. Oath.
- 8. Disqualifications for office.
- 9. Dual office holding.
- 10. Continuation in office.

#### Article VII. Local Government

- 1. General Assembly to provide for local government.
- 2. Sheriffs.
- 3. Merged or consolidated counties.

#### **Article VIII. Corporations**

- 1. Corporate charters.
- 2. Corporations defined.

#### **Article IX. Education**

- 1. Education encouraged.
- 2. Uniform system of schools.
- 3. School attendance.
- 4. State Board of Education.
- 5. Powers and duties of Board.
- 6. State school fund.
- 7. County school fund; State fund for certain moneys.
- 8. Higher education.
- 9. Benefits of public institutions of higher education.
- 10. Escheats.

#### **Article X. Homesteads and Exemptions**

- 1. Personal property exemptions.
- 2. Homestead exemptions.
- 3. Mechanics' and laborers' liens.
- 4. Property of married women secured to them.
- 5. Insurance.

#### Article XI. Punishments, Corrections, and Charities

- 1. Punishments.
- 2. Death punishment.
- 3. Charitable and correctional institutions and agencies.
- 4. Welfare policy; board of public welfare.

#### **Article XII. Military Forces**

1. Governor is Commander in Chief.

#### Article XIII. Conventions; Constitutional Amendment and Revision

#### Section

- 1. Convention of the People.
- 2. Power to revise or amend Constitution reserved to people.
- 3. Revision or amendment by Convention of the People.
- 4. Revision or amendment by legislative initiation.

#### Article XIV. Miscellaneous

- 1. Seat of government.
- 2. State boundaries.
- 3. General laws defined.
- 4. Continuity of laws; protection of officeholders.
- 5. Conservation of natural resources.
- 6. (See Editor's note) Marriage.

#### **PREAMBLE**

We, the people of the State of North Carolina, grateful to Almighty God, the Sovereign Ruler of Nations, for the preservation of the American Union and the existence of our civil, political and religious liberties, and acknowledging our dependence upon Him for the continuance of those blessings to us and our posterity, do, for the more certain security thereof and for the better government of this State, ordain and establish this Constitution.

#### ARTICLE I

#### DECLARATION OF RIGHTS

That the great, general, and essential principles of liberty and free government may be recognized and established, and that the relations of this State to the Union and government of the United States and those of the people of this State to the rest of the American people may be defined and affirmed, we do declare that:

#### § 1. The equality and rights of persons.

We hold it to be self-evident that all persons are created equal; that they are endowed by their Creator with certain inalienable rights; that among these are life, liberty, the enjoyment of the fruits of their own labor, and the pursuit of happiness.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 2. Sovereignty of the people.

All political power is vested in and derived from the people; all government of right originates from the people, is founded upon their will only, and is instituted solely for the good of the whole.

```
History.
```

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 3. Internal government of the State.

The people of this State have the inherent, sole, and exclusive right of regulating the internal government and police thereof, and of altering or abolishing their Constitution and form of government whenever it may be necessary to their safety and happiness; but every such right shall be exercised in pursuance of law and consistently with the Constitution of the United States.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 4. Secession prohibited.

This State shall ever remain a member of the American Union; the people thereof are part of the American Nation; there is no right on the part of this State to secede; and all attempts, from whatever source or upon whatever pretext, to dissolve this Union or to sever this Nation, shall be resisted with the whole power of the State.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 5. Allegiance to the United States.

Every citizen of this State owes paramount allegiance to the Constitution and government of the United States, and no law or ordinance of the State in contravention or subversion thereof can have any binding force.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 6. Separation of powers.

The legislative, executive, and supreme judicial powers of the State government shall be forever separate and distinct from each other.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 7. Suspending laws.

All power of suspending laws or the execution of laws by any authority, without the consent of the representatives of the people, is injurious to their rights and shall not be exercised.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 8. Representation and taxation.

The people of this State shall not be taxed or made subject to the payment of any impost or duty without the consent of themselves or their representatives in the General Assembly, freely given.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 9. Frequent elections.

For redress of grievances and for amending and strengthening the laws, elections shall be often held.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 10. Free elections.

All elections shall be free.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 11. Property qualifications.

As political rights and privileges are not dependent upon or modified by property, no property qualification shall affect the right to vote or hold office.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 12. Right of assembly and petition.

The people have a right to assemble together to consult for their common good, to instruct their representatives, and to apply to the General Assembly for redress of grievances; but secret political societies are dangerous to the liberties of a free people and shall not be tolerated.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 13. Religious liberty.

All persons have a natural and inalienable right to worship Almighty God according to the dictates of their own consciences, and no human authority shall, in any case whatever, control or interfere with the rights of conscience.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 14. Freedom of speech and press.

Freedom of speech and of the press are two of the great bulwarks of liberty and therefore shall never be restrained, but every person shall be held responsible for their abuse.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 15. Education.

The people have a right to the privilege of education, and it is the duty of the State to guard and maintain that right.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 16. Ex post facto laws.

Retrospective laws, punishing acts committed before the existence of such laws and by them only declared criminal, are oppressive, unjust, and incompatible with liberty, and therefore no ex post facto law shall be enacted. No law taxing retrospectively sales, purchases, or other acts previously done shall be enacted.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 17. Slavery and involuntary servitude.

Slavery is forever prohibited. Involuntary servitude, except as a punishment for crime whereof the parties have been adjudged guilty, is forever prohibited.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 18. Courts shall be open.

All courts shall be open; every person for an injury done him in his lands, goods, person, or reputation shall have remedy by due course of law; and right and justice shall be administered without favor, denial, or delay.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 19. Law of the land; equal protection of the laws.

No person shall be taken, imprisoned, or disseized of his freehold, liberties, or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any manner deprived of his life, liberty, or property, but by the law of the land. No person shall be denied the equal protection of the laws; nor shall any

#### Art. I, § 20 CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA Art. I, § 24

person be subjected to discrimination by the State because of race, color, religion, or national origin.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 20. General warrants.

General warrants, whereby any officer or other person may be commanded to search suspected places without evidence of the act committed, or to seize any person or persons not named, whose offense is not particularly described and supported by evidence, are dangerous to liberty and shall not be granted.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 21. Inquiry into restraints on liberty.

Every person restrained of his liberty is entitled to a remedy to inquire into the lawfulness thereof, and to remove the restraint if unlawful, and that remedy shall not be denied or delayed. The privilege of the writ of habeas corpus shall not be suspended.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 22. Modes of prosecution.

Except in misdemeanor cases initiated in the District Court Division, no person shall be put to answer any criminal charge but by indictment, presentment, or impeachment. But any person, when represented by counsel, may, under such regulations as the General Assembly shall prescribe, waive indictment in noncapital cases.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 23. Rights of accused.

In all criminal prosecutions, every person charged with crime has the right to be informed of the accusation and to confront the accusers and witnesses with other testimony, and to have counsel for defense, and not be compelled to give self-incriminating evidence, or to pay costs, jail fees, or necessary witness fees of the defense, unless found guilty.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 24. Right of jury trial in criminal cases.

No person shall be convicted of any crime but by the unanimous

verdict of a jury in open court, except that a person accused of any criminal offense for which the State is not seeking a sentence of death in superior court may, in writing or on the record in the court and with the consent of the trial judge, waive jury trial, subject to procedures prescribed by the General Assembly. The General Assembly may, however, provide for other means of trial for misdemeanors, with the right of appeal for trial de novo.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 2013-300, s. 1.

#### § 25. Right of jury trial in civil cases.

In all controversies at law respecting property, the ancient mode of trial by jury is one of the best securities of the rights of the people, and shall remain sacred and inviolable.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 26. Jury service.

No person shall be excluded from jury service on account of sex, race, color, religion, or national origin.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 27. Bail, fines, and punishments.

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel or unusual punishments inflicted.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 28. Imprisonment for debt.

There shall be no imprisonment for debt in this State, except in cases of fraud.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 29. Treason against the State.

Treason against the State shall consist only of levying war against it or adhering to its enemies by giving them aid and comfort. No person shall be convicted of treason unless on the testimony of two witnesses to the same overt act, or on confession in open court. No conviction of treason or attainder shall work corruption of blood or forfeiture.

```
History.
```

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 30. Militia and the right to bear arms.

A well regulated militia being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear arms shall not be infringed; and, as standing armies in time of peace are dangerous to liberty, they shall not be maintained, and the military shall be kept under strict subordination to, and governed by, the civil power. Nothing herein shall justify the practice of carrying concealed weapons, or prevent the General Assembly from enacting penal statutes against that practice.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 31. Quartering of soldiers.

No soldier shall in time of peace be quartered in any house without the consent of the owner, nor in time of war but in a manner prescribed by law.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 32. Exclusive emoluments.

No person or set of persons is entitled to exclusive or separate emoluments or privileges from the community but in consideration of public services.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 33. Hereditary emoluments and honors.

No hereditary emoluments, privileges, or honors shall be granted or conferred in this State.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 34. Perpetuities and monopolies.

Perpetuities and monopolies are contrary to the genius of a free state and shall not be allowed.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 35. Recurrence to fundamental principles.

A frequent recurrence to fundamental principles is absolutely necessary to preserve the blessings of liberty.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 36. Other rights of the people.

The enumeration of rights in this Article shall not be construed to impair or deny others retained by the people.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 37. Rights of victims of crime.

- (1) **Basic rights.** Victims of crime or acts of delinquency shall be treated with dignity and respect by the criminal justice system.
- (1a) **Enumerated rights.** When the crime or act of delinquency is one against or involving the person of the victim or is equivalent to a felony property crime, the victim is entitled to the following rights:
  - (a) The right upon request to reasonable, accurate, and timely notice of court proceedings of the accused.
  - (a1) The right upon request to be present at court proceedings of the accused.
  - (b) The right to be reasonably heard at any court proceeding involving the plea, conviction, adjudication, sentencing, or release of the accused.
  - (c) The right to receive restitution in a reasonably timely manner, when ordered by the court.
  - (d) The right to be given information about the crime or act of delinquency, how the criminal justice system works, the rights of victims, and the availability of services for victims.
  - (e) The right upon request to receive information about the conviction, adjudication, or final disposition and sentence of the accused.
  - (f) The right upon request to receive notification of escape, release, proposed parole or pardon of the accused, or notice of a reprieve or commutation of the accused's sentence.
  - (g) The right to present the victim's views and concerns to the Governor or agency considering any action that could result in the release of the accused, prior to such action becoming effective.
  - (h) The right to reasonably confer with the prosecution.
- (1b) **Enforcement of rights.** Except as otherwise provided herein, the General Assembly shall further provide, by general law, the procedure whereby a victim may assert the rights provided in

this section. The victim or, if the victim is a minor, is legally incapacitated, or deceased, a family member, guardian, or legal custodian may assert the rights provided in this section. The procedure shall be by motion to the court of jurisdiction within the same criminal or juvenile proceeding giving rise to the rights. The victim, family member, guardian, or legal custodian have the right to counsel at this hearing but do not have the right to counsel provided by the State. If the matter involves an allegation that the district attorney failed to comply with the rights of a victim when obligated to so do by law, the victim must first afford the district attorney with jurisdiction over the criminal action an opportunity to resolve any issue in a timely manner.

- (2) **No money damages; other claims.** Nothing in this section shall be construed as creating a claim for money damages, or any cause of action, against the State, a county, a municipality, or any of the agencies, instrumentalities, or officers and employees thereof.
- (3) **No ground for relief in criminal case.** The failure or inability of any person to provide a right or service provided under this section may not be used by a defendant in a criminal case, an inmate, or any other accused as a ground for relief in any trial, appeal, postconviction litigation, habeas corpus, civil action, or any similar criminal or civil proceeding. Nothing in this section shall be construed to provide grounds for a victim (i) to appeal any decision made in a criminal or juvenile proceeding; (ii) to challenge any verdict, sentence, or adjudication; (iii) to participate as a party in any proceeding; or (iv) to obtain confidential juvenile records.
- (4) **No restriction of authority.** Nothing in this section shall be construed to restrict the power of the district attorney, or the inherent authority of the court.
- (5) **Implementation.** The General Assembly may prescribe general laws to further define and implement this section.

History.

1995, c. 438, s. 1; 2018-110, s. 1.

#### § 38. Right to hunt, fish, and harvest wildlife.

The right of the people to hunt, fish, and harvest wildlife is a valued part of the State's heritage and shall be forever preserved for the public good. The people have a right, including the right to use traditional methods, to hunt, fish, and harvest wildlife, subject only to laws enacted by the General Assembly and rules adopted pursuant to authority granted by the General Assembly to (i) promote wildlife conservation and management and (ii) preserve the future of hunting and fishing. Public hunting and fishing shall be a preferred means of managing and controlling wildlife. Nothing herein shall be construed to modify any provision of law relating to trespass, property rights, or eminent domain.

History. 2018-96, s. 1.

## ARTICLE II LEGISLATIVE

#### § 1. Legislative power.

The legislative power of the State shall be vested in the General Assembly, which shall consist of a Senate and a House of Representatives.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 2. Number of Senators.

The Senate shall be composed of 50 Senators, biennially chosen by ballot.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 3. Senate districts; apportionment of Senators.

The Senators shall be elected from districts. The General Assembly, at the first regular session convening after the return of every decennial census of population taken by order of Congress, shall revise the senate districts and the apportionment of Senators among those districts, subject to the following requirements:

- (1) Each Senator shall represent, as nearly as may be, an equal number of inhabitants, the number of inhabitants that each Senator represents being determined for this purpose by dividing the population of the district that he represents by the number of Senators apportioned to that district;
- (2) Each senate district shall at all times consist of contiguous territory;
- (3) No county shall be divided in the formation of a senate district:
- (4) When established, the senate districts and the apportionment of Senators shall remain unaltered until the return of another decennial census of population taken by order of Congress.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 4. Number of Representatives.

The House of Representatives shall be composed of 120 Representatives, biennially chosen by ballot.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 5. Representative districts; apportionment of Representatives.

The Representatives shall be elected from districts. The General Assembly, at the first regular session convening after the return of every decennial census of population taken by order of Congress, shall revise the representative districts and the apportionment of Representatives among those districts, subject to the following requirements:

- (1) Each Representative shall represent, as nearly as may be, an equal number of inhabitants, the number of inhabitants that each Representative represents being determined for this purpose by dividing the population of the district that he represents by the number of Representatives apportioned to that district;
- (2) Each representative district shall at all times consist of contiguous territory;
- (3) No county shall be divided in the formation of a representative district;
- (4) When established, the representative districts and the apportionment of Representatives shall remain unaltered until the return of another decennial census of population taken by order of Congress.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 6. Qualifications for Senator.

Each Senator, at the time of his election, shall be not less than 25 years of age, shall be a qualified voter of the State, and shall have resided in the State as a citizen for two years and in the district for which he is chosen for one year immediately preceding his election.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 7. Qualifications for Representative.

Each Representative, at the time of his election, shall be a qualified voter of the State, and shall have resided in the district for which he is chosen for one year immediately preceding his election.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 8. Elections.

The election for members of the General Assembly shall be held

Art. II, § 9 LEGISLATIVE Art. II, § 12

for the respective districts in 1972 and every two years thereafter, at the places and on the day prescribed by law.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 9. Term of office.

The term of office of Senators and Representatives shall commence on the first day of January next after their election.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1241, s. 1.
```

#### § 10. Vacancies.

Every vacancy occurring in the membership of the General Assembly by reason of death, resignation, or other cause shall be filled in the manner prescribed by law.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 11. Sessions.

- (1) **Regular sessions.** The General Assembly shall meet in regular session in 1973 and every two years thereafter on the day prescribed by law. Neither house shall proceed upon public business unless a majority of all of its members are actually present.
- (2) Extra sessions on legislative call. The President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives shall convene the General Assembly in extra session by their joint proclamation upon receipt by the President of the Senate of written requests therefor signed by three-fifths of all the members of the Senate and upon receipt by the Speaker of the House of Representatives of written requests therefor signed by three-fifths of all the members of the House of Representatives.

```
History. 1969, c. 1270, s. 1.
```

#### § 12. Oath of members.

Each member of the General Assembly, before taking his seat, shall take an oath or affirmation that he will support the Constitution and laws of the United States and the Constitution of the State of North Carolina, and will faithfully discharge his duty as a member of the Senate or House of Representatives.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 13. President of the Senate.

The Lieutenant Governor shall be President of the Senate and shall preside over the Senate, but shall have no vote unless the Senate is equally divided.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 14. Other officers of the Senate.

- (1) **President Pro Tempore succession to presidency.** The Senate shall elect from its membership a President Pro Tempore, who shall become President of the Senate upon the failure of the Lieutenant Governor-elect to qualify, or upon succession by the Lieutenant Governor to the office of Governor, or upon the death, resignation, or removal from office of the President of the Senate, and who shall serve until the expiration of his term of office as Senator.
- (2) **President Pro Tempore temporary succession.** During the physical or mental incapacity of the President of the Senate to perform the duties of his office, or during the absence of the President of the Senate, the President Pro Tempore shall preside over the Senate.
  - (3) **Other officers.** The Senate shall elect its other officers.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 15. Officers of the House of Representatives.

The House of Representatives shall elect its Speaker and other officers.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 16. Compensation and allowances.

The members and officers of the General Assembly shall receive for their services the compensation and allowances prescribed by law. An increase in the compensation or allowances of members shall become effective at the beginning of the next regular session of the General Assembly following the session at which it was enacted.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 17. Journals.

Each house shall keep a journal of its proceedings, which shall be

printed and made public immediately after the adjournment of the General Assembly.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 18. Protests.

Any member of either house may dissent from and protest against any act or resolve which he may think injurious to the public or to any individual, and have the reasons of his dissent entered on the journal.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 19. Record votes.

Upon motion made in either house and seconded by one fifth of the members present, the year and nays upon any question shall be taken and entered upon the journal.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 20. Powers of the General Assembly.

Each house shall be judge of the qualifications and elections of its own members, shall sit upon its own adjournment from day to day, and shall prepare bills to be enacted into laws. The two houses may jointly adjourn to any future day or other place. Either house may, of its own motion, adjourn for a period not in excess of three days.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 21. Style of the acts.

The style of the acts shall be: "The General Assembly of North Carolina enacts:".

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 22. Action on bills.

(1) Bills subject to veto by Governor; override of veto. — Except as provided by subsections (2) through (6) of this section, all bills shall be read three times in each house and shall be signed by the presiding officer of each house before being presented to the Governor. If the Governor approves, the Governor shall sign it and it shall become a law; but if not, the Governor shall return it with objections, together with a veto message stating the reasons for such

objections, to that house in which it shall have originated, which shall enter the objections and veto message at large on its journal, and proceed to reconsider it. If after such reconsideration three-fifths of the members of that house present and voting shall agree to pass the bill, it shall be sent, together with the objections and veto message, to the other house, by which it shall likewise be reconsidered; and if approved by three-fifths of the members of that house present and voting, it shall become a law notwithstanding the objections of the Governor. In all such cases the votes of both houses shall be determined by yeas and nays, and the names of the members voting shall be entered on the journal of each house respectively.

- (2) Amendments to Constitution of North Carolina. Every bill proposing a new or revised Constitution or an amendment or amendments to this Constitution or calling a convention of the people of this State, and containing no other matter, shall be submitted to the qualified voters of this State after it shall have been read three times in each house and signed by the presiding officers of both houses.
- (3) Amendments to Constitution of the United States. Every bill approving an amendment to the Constitution of the United States, or applying for a convention to propose amendments to the Constitution of the United States, and containing no other matter, shall be read three times in each house before it becomes law, and shall be signed by the presiding officers of both houses.
- (4) **Joint resolutions.** Every joint resolution shall be read three times in each house before it becomes effective and shall be signed by the presiding officers of both houses.
  - (5) **Other exceptions.** Every bill:
    - (a) In which the General Assembly makes an appointment or appointments to public office and which contains no other matter:
    - (b) Revising the senate districts and the apportionment of Senators among those districts and containing no other matter;
    - (c) Revising the representative districts and the apportionment of Representatives among those districts and containing no other matter; or
    - (d) Revising the districts for the election of members of the House of Representatives of the Congress of the United States and the apportionment of Representatives among those districts and containing no other matter,

shall be read three times in each house before it becomes law and shall be signed by the presiding officers of both houses.

(6) **Local bills.** — Every bill that applies in fewer than 15 counties shall be read three times in each house before it becomes law and shall be signed by the presiding officers of both houses. The

exemption from veto by the Governor provided in this subsection does not apply if the bill, at the time it is signed by the presiding officers:

- (a) Would extend the application of a law signed by the presiding officers during that two year term of the General Assembly so that the law would apply in more than half the counties in the State, or
- (b) Would enact a law identical in effect to another law or laws signed by the presiding officers during that two year term of the General Assembly that the result of those laws taken together would be a law applying in more than half the counties in the State.

Notwithstanding any other language in this subsection, the exemption from veto provided by this subsection does not apply to any bill to enact a general law classified by population or other criteria, or to any bill that contains an appropriation from the State treasury.

- (7) **Time for action by Governor; reconvening of session.** If any bill shall not be returned by the Governor within 10 days after it shall have been presented to him, the same shall be a law in like manner as if he had signed it, unless the General Assembly shall have adjourned:
  - (a) For more than 30 days jointly as provided under Section 20 of Article II of this Constitution; or
  - (b) Sine die

in which case it shall become a law unless, within 30 days after such adjournment, it is returned by the Governor with objections and veto message to that house in which it shall have originated. When the General Assembly has adjourned sine die or for more than 30 days jointly as provided under Section 20 of Article II of this Constitution, the Governor shall reconvene that session as provided by Section 5(11) of Article III of this Constitution for reconsideration of the bill, and if the Governor does not reconvene the session, the bill shall become law on the fortieth day after such adjournment. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, if the Governor prior to reconvening the session receives written requests dated no earlier than 30 days after such adjournment, signed by a majority of the members of each house that a reconvened session to reconsider vetoed legislation is unnecessary, the Governor shall not reconvene the session for that purpose and any legislation vetoed in accordance with this section after adjournment shall not become law.

(8) **Return of bills after adjournment.** — For purposes of return of bills not approved by the Governor, each house shall designate an officer to receive returned bills during its adjournment.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1995, c. 5, s. 1.

#### § 23. Revenue bills.

No law shall be enacted to raise money on the credit of the State, or to pledge the faith of the State directly or indirectly for the payment of any debt, or to impose any tax upon the people of the State, or to allow the counties, cities, or towns to do so, unless the bill for the purpose shall have been read three several times in each house of the General Assembly and passed three several readings, which readings shall have been on three different days, and shall have been agreed to by each house respectively, and unless the yeas and nays on the second and third readings of the bill shall have been entered on the journal.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 24. Limitations on local, private, and special legislation.

- (1) **Prohibited subjects.** The General Assembly shall not enact any local, private, or special act or resolution:
- (a) Relating to health, sanitation, and the abatement of nuisances;
  - (b) Changing the names of cities, towns, and townships;
- (c) Authorizing the laying out, opening, altering, maintaining, or discontinuing of highways, streets, or alleys;
  - (d) Relating to ferries or bridges;
  - (e) Relating to non-navigable streams;
  - (f) Relating to cemeteries;
  - (g) Relating to the pay of jurors;
- (h) Erecting new townships, or changing township lines, or establishing or changing the lines of school districts;
- (i) Remitting fines, penalties, and forfeitures, or refunding moneys legally paid into the public treasury;
  - (j) Regulating labor, trade, mining, or manufacturing;
- (k) Extending the time for the levy or collection of taxes or otherwise relieving any collector of taxes from the due performance of his official duties or his sureties from liability;
  - (l) Giving effect to informal wills and deeds;
- (m) Granting a divorce or securing alimony in any individual case;
- (n) Altering the name of any person, or legitimating any person not born in lawful wedlock, or restoring to the rights of citizenship any person convicted of a felony.
- (2) **Repeals.** Nor shall the General Assembly enact any such local, private, or special act by the partial repeal of a general law; but the General Assembly may at any time repeal local, private, or special laws enacted by it.
  - (3) **Prohibited acts void.** Any local, private, or special act or

resolution enacted in violation of the provisions of this Section shall be void.

(4) **General laws.** — The General Assembly may enact general laws regulating the matters set out in this Section.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

# ARTICLE III EXECUTIVE

#### § 1. Executive power.

The executive power of the State shall be vested in the Governor.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 2. Governor and Lieutenant Governor: election, term, and qualifications.

- (1) **Election and term.** The Governor and Lieutenant Governor shall be elected by the qualified voters of the State in 1972 and every four years thereafter, at the same time and places as members of the General Assembly are elected. Their term of office shall be four years and shall commence on the first day of January next after their election and continue until their successors are elected and qualified.
- (2) **Qualifications.** No person shall be eligible for election to the office of Governor or Lieutenant Governor unless, at the time of his election, he shall have attained the age of 30 years and shall have been a citizen of the United States for five years and a resident of this State for two years immediately preceding his election. No person elected to the office of Governor or Lieutenant Governor shall be eligible for election to more than two consecutive terms of the same office.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1977, c. 363, s. 1.

#### § 3. Succession to office of Governor.

(1) **Succession as Governor.** — The Lieutenant Governor-elect shall become Governor upon the failure of the Governor-elect to qualify. The Lieutenant Governor shall become Governor upon the death, resignation, or removal from office of the Governor. The further order of succession to the office of Governor shall be prescribed by law. A successor shall serve for the remainder of the term of the Governor whom he succeeds and until a new Governor is elected and qualified.

- (2) **Succession as Acting Governor.** During the absence of the Governor from the State, or during the physical or mental incapacity of the Governor to perform the duties of his office, the Lieutenant Governor shall be Acting Governor. The further order of succession as Acting Governor shall be prescribed by law.
- (3) **Physical incapacity.** The Governor may, by a written statement filed with the Attorney General, declare that he is physically incapable of performing the duties of his office, and may thereafter in the same manner declare that he is physically capable of performing the duties of his office.
- (4) **Mental incapacity.** The mental incapacity of the Governor to perform the duties of his office shall be determined only by joint resolution adopted by a vote of two-thirds of all the members of each house of the General Assembly. Thereafter, the mental capacity of the Governor to perform the duties of his office shall be determined only by joint resolution adopted by a vote of a majority of all the members of each house of the General Assembly. In all cases, the General Assembly shall give the Governor such notice as it may deem proper and shall allow him an opportunity to be heard before a joint session of the General Assembly before it takes final action. When the General Assembly is not in session, the Council of State, a majority of its members concurring, may convene it in extra session for the purpose of proceeding under this paragraph.
- (5) **Impeachment.** Removal of the Governor from office for any other cause shall be by impeachment.

History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 4. Oath of office for Governor.

The Governor, before entering upon the duties of his office, shall, before any Justice of the Supreme Court, take an oath or affirmation that he will support the Constitution and laws of the United States and of the State of North Carolina, and that he will faithfully perform the duties pertaining to the office of Governor.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 5. Duties of Governor.

- (1) **Residence.** The Governor shall reside at the seat of government of this State.
- (2) **Information to General Assembly.** The Governor shall from time to time give the General Assembly information of the affairs of the State and recommend to their consideration such measures as he shall deem expedient.
- (3) **Budget.** The Governor shall prepare and recommend to the General Assembly a comprehensive budget of the anticipated rev-

enue and proposed expenditures of the State for the ensuing fiscal period. The budget as enacted by the General Assembly shall be administered by the Governor.

The total expenditures of the State for the fiscal period covered by the budget shall not exceed the total of receipts during that fiscal period and the surplus remaining in the State Treasury at the beginning of the period. To insure that the State does not incur a deficit for any fiscal period, the Governor shall continually survey the collection of the revenue and shall effect the necessary economies in State expenditures, after first making adequate provision for the prompt payment of the principal of and interest on bonds and notes of the State according to their terms, whenever he determines that receipts during the fiscal period, when added to any surplus remaining in the State Treasury at the beginning of the period, will not be sufficient to meet budgeted expenditures. This section shall not be construed to impair the power of the State to issue its bonds and notes within the limitations imposed in Article V of this Constitution, nor to impair the obligation of bonds and notes of the State now outstanding or issued hereafter.

- (4) **Execution of laws.** The Governor shall take care that the laws be faithfully executed.
- (5) **Commander in Chief.** The Governor shall be Commander in Chief of the military forces of the State except when they shall be called into the service of the United States.
- (6) **Clemency.** The Governor may grant reprieves, commutations, and pardons, after conviction, for all offenses (except in cases of impeachment), upon such conditions as he may think proper, subject to regulations prescribed by law relative to the manner of applying for pardons. The terms reprieves, commutations, and pardons shall not include paroles.
- (7) **Extra sessions.** The Governor may, on extraordinary occasions, by and with the advice of the Council of State, convene the General Assembly in extra session by his proclamation, stating therein the purpose or purposes for which they are thus convened.
- (8) **Appointments.** The Governor shall nominate and by and with the advice and consent of a majority of the Senators appoint all officers whose appointments are not otherwise provided for.
- (9) **Information.** The Governor may at any time require information in writing from the head of any administrative department or agency upon any subject relating to the duties of his office.
- (10) **Administrative reorganization.**—The General Assembly shall prescribe the functions, powers, and duties of the administrative departments and agencies of the State and may alter them from time to time, but the Governor may make such changes in the allocation of offices and agencies and in the allocation of those functions, powers, and duties as he considers necessary for efficient administration. If those changes affect existing law, they shall be set

forth in executive orders, which shall be submitted to the General Assembly not later than the sixtieth calendar day of its session, and shall become effective and shall have the force of law upon adjournment sine die of the session, unless specifically disapproved by resolution of either house of the General Assembly or specifically modified by joint resolution of both houses of the General Assembly.

- (11) **Reconvened sessions.** The Governor shall, when required by Section 22 of Article II of this Constitution, reconvene a session of the General Assembly. At such reconvened session, the General Assembly may only consider such bills as were returned by the Governor to that reconvened session for reconsideration. Such reconvened session shall begin on a date set by the Governor, but no later than 40 days after the General Assembly adjourned:
  - (a) For more than 30 days jointly as provided under Section 20 of Article II of this Constitution; or
  - (b) **Sine die.** If the date of reconvening the session occurs after the expiration of the terms of office of the members of the General Assembly, then the members serving for the reconvened session shall be the members for the succeeding term.

#### History.

```
1969, c. 932, s. 1; 1977, c. 690, s. 1; 1995, c. 5, s. 2.
```

#### § 6. Duties of the Lieutenant Governor.

The Lieutenant Governor shall be President of the Senate, but shall have no vote unless the Senate is equally divided. He shall perform such additional duties as the General Assembly or the Governor may assign to him. He shall receive the compensation and allowances prescribed by law.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 7. Other elective officers.

- (1) **Officers.** A Secretary of State, an Auditor, a Treasurer, a Superintendent of Public Instruction, an Attorney General, a Commissioner of Agriculture, a Commissioner of Labor, and a Commissioner of Insurance shall be elected by the qualified voters of the State in 1972 and every four years thereafter, at the same time and places as members of the General Assembly are elected. Their term of office shall be four years and shall commence on the first day of January next after their election and continue until their successors are elected and qualified.
  - (2) **Duties.** Their respective duties shall be prescribed by law.
- (3) **Vacancies.** If the office of any of these officers is vacated by death, resignation, or otherwise, it shall be the duty of the Governor

to appoint another to serve until his successor is elected and qualified. Every such vacancy shall be filled by election at the first election for members of the General Assembly that occurs more than 60 days after the vacancy has taken place, and the person chosen shall hold the office for the remainder of the unexpired term fixed in this Section. When a vacancy occurs in the office of any of the officers named in this Section and the term expires on the first day of January succeeding the next election for members of the General Assembly, the Governor shall appoint to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term of the office.

- (4) **Interim officers.** Upon the occurrence of a vacancy in the office of any one of these officers for any of the causes stated in the preceding paragraph, the Governor may appoint an interim officer to perform the duties of that office until a person is appointed or elected pursuant to this Section to fill the vacancy and is qualified.
- (5) **Acting officers.** During the physical or mental incapacity of any one of these officers to perform the duties of his office, as determined pursuant to this Section, the duties of his office shall be performed by an acting officer who shall be appointed by the Governor.
- (6) **Determination of incapacity.** The General Assembly shall by law prescribe with respect to those officers, other than the Governor, whose offices are created by this Article, procedures for determining the physical or mental incapacity of any officer to perform the duties of his office, and for determining whether an officer who has been temporarily incapacitated has sufficiently recovered his physical or mental capacity to perform the duties of his office. Removal of those officers from office for any other cause shall be by impeachment.
- (7) **Special Qualifications for Attorney General.** Only persons duly authorized to practice law in the courts of this State shall be eligible for appointment or election as Attorney General.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1983, c. 298, s. 1; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 920, s. 1.
```

#### § 8. Council of State.

The Council of State shall consist of the officers whose offices are established by this Article.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 9. Compensation and allowances.

The officers whose offices are established by this Article shall at stated periods receive the compensation and allowances prescribed

#### Art. III, § 10 CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA Art. IV, § 2

by law, which shall not be diminished during the time for which they have been chosen.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 10. Seal of State.

There shall be a seal of the State, which shall be kept by the Governor and used by him as occasion may require, and shall be called "The Great Seal of the State of North Carolina". All grants and commissions shall be issued in the name and by the authority of the State of North Carolina, sealed with "The Great Seal of the State of North Carolina", and signed by the Governor.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 11. Administrative departments.

Not later than July 1, 1975, all administrative departments, agencies, and offices of the State and their respective functions, powers, and duties shall be allocated by law among and within not more than 25 principal administrative departments so as to group them as far as practicable according to major purposes. Regulatory, quasi-judicial, and temporary agencies may, but need not, be allocated within a principal department.

**History.** 1969, c. 932, s. 1.

## ARTICLE IV

#### § 1. Judicial power.

The judicial power of the State shall, except as provided in Section 3 of this Article, be vested in a Court for the Trial of Impeachments and in a General Court of Justice. The General Assembly shall have no power to deprive the judicial department of any power or jurisdiction that rightfully pertains to it as a co-ordinate department of the government, nor shall it establish or authorize any courts other than as permitted by this Article.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 2. General Court of Justice.

The General Court of Justice shall constitute a unified judicial system for purposes of jurisdiction, operation, and administration,

and shall consist of an Appellate Division, a Superior Court Division, and a District Court Division.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 3. Judicial powers of administrative agencies.

The General Assembly may vest in administrative agencies established pursuant to law such judicial powers as may be reasonably necessary as an incident to the accomplishment of the purposes for which the agencies were created. Appeals from administrative agencies shall be to the General Court of Justice.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 4. Court for the Trial of Impeachments.

The House of Representatives solely shall have the power of impeaching. The Court for the Trial of Impeachments shall be the Senate. When the Governor or Lieutenant Governor is impeached, the Chief Justice shall preside over the Court. A majority of the members shall be necessary to a quorum, and no person shall be convicted without the concurrence of two-thirds of the Senators present. Judgment upon conviction shall not extend beyond removal from and disqualification to hold office in this State, but the party shall be liable to indictment and punishment according to law.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 5. Appellate division.

The Appellate Division of the General Court of Justice shall consist of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 6. Supreme Court.

- (1) **Membership.** The Supreme Court shall consist of a Chief Justice and six Associate Justices, but the General Assembly may increase the number of Associate Justices to not more than eight. In the event the Chief Justice is unable, on account of absence or temporary incapacity, to perform any of the duties placed upon him, the senior Associate Justice available may discharge those duties.
- (2) **Sessions of the Supreme Court.** The sessions of the Supreme Court shall be held in the City of Raleigh unless otherwise provided by the General Assembly.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 7. Court of Appeals.

The structure, organization, and composition of the Court of Appeals shall be determined by the General Assembly. The Court shall have not less than five members, and may be authorized to sit in divisions, or other than en banc. Sessions of the Court shall be held at such times and places as the General Assembly may prescribe.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 8. Retirement of Justices and Judges.

The General Assembly shall provide by general law for the retirement of Justices and Judges of the General Court of Justice, and may provide for the temporary recall of any retired Justice or Judge to serve on the court or courts of the division from which he was retired. The General Assembly shall also prescribe maximum age limits for service as a Justice or Judge.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1971, c. 451, s. 1; 1981, c. 513, s. 1.
```

#### § 9. Superior Courts.

- (1) **Superior Court districts.** The General Assembly shall, from time to time, divide the State into a convenient number of Superior Court judicial districts and shall provide for the election of one or more Superior Court Judges for each district. Each regular Superior Court Judge shall reside in the district for which he is elected. The General Assembly may provide by general law for the selection or appointment of special or emergency Superior Court Judges not selected for a particular judicial district.
- (2) Open at all times; sessions for trial of cases. The Superior Courts shall be open at all times for the transaction of all business except the trial of issues of fact requiring a jury. Regular trial sessions of the Superior Court shall be held at times fixed pursuant to a calendar of courts promulgated by the Supreme Court. At least two sessions for the trial of jury cases shall be held annually in each county.
- (3) **Clerks.** A Clerk of the Superior Court for each county shall be elected for a term of four years by the qualified voters thereof, at the same time and places as members of the General Assembly are elected. If the office of Clerk of the Superior Court becomes vacant otherwise than by the expiration of the term, or if the people fail to elect, the senior regular resident Judge of the Superior Court

serving the county shall appoint to fill the vacancy until an election can be regularly held.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 10. District Courts.

The General Assembly shall, from time to time, divide the State into a convenient number of local court districts and shall prescribe where the District Courts shall sit, but a District Court must sit in at least one place in each county. District Judges shall be elected for each district for a term of four years, in a manner prescribed by law. When more than one District Judge is authorized and elected for a district, the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court shall designate one of the judges as Chief District Judge. Every District Judge shall reside in the district for which he is elected. For each county, the senior regular resident Judge of the Superior Court serving the county shall appoint from nominations submitted by the Clerk of the Superior Court of the county, one or more Magistrates who shall be officers of the District Court. The initial term of appointment for a magistrate shall be for two years and subsequent terms shall be for four years. The number of District Judges and Magistrates shall, from time to time, be determined by the General Assembly. Vacancies in the office of District Judge shall be filled for the unexpired term in a manner prescribed by law. Vacancies in the office of Magistrate shall be filled for the unexpired term in the manner provided for original appointment to the office, unless otherwise provided by the General Assembly.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 2004-128, s. 16.
```

#### § 11. Assignment of Judges.

The Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, acting in accordance with rules of the Supreme Court, shall make assignments of Judges of the Superior Court and may transfer District Judges from one district to another for temporary or specialized duty. The principle of rotating Superior Court Judges among the various districts of a division is a salutary one and shall be observed. For this purpose the General Assembly may divide the State into a number of judicial divisions. Subject to the general supervision of the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, assignment of District Judges within each local court district shall be made by the Chief District Judge.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 12. Jurisdiction of the General Court of Justice.

- (1) **Supreme Court.** The Supreme Court shall have jurisdiction to review upon appeal any decision of the courts below, upon any matter of law or legal inference. The jurisdiction of the Supreme Court over "issues of fact" and "questions of fact" shall be the same exercised by it prior to the adoption of this Article, and the Court may issue any remedial writs necessary to give it general supervision and control over the proceedings of the other courts. The Supreme Court also has jurisdiction to review, when authorized by law, direct appeals from a final order or decision of the North Carolina Utilities Commission.
- (2) **Court of Appeals.** The Court of Appeals shall have such appellate jurisdiction as the General Assembly may prescribe.
- (3) **Superior Court.** Except as otherwise provided by the General Assembly, the Superior Court shall have original general jurisdiction throughout the State. The Clerks of the Superior Court shall have such jurisdiction and powers as the General Assembly shall prescribe by general law uniformly applicable in every county of the State.
- (4) **District Courts; Magistrates.** The General Assembly shall, by general law uniformly applicable in every local court district of the State, prescribe the jurisdiction and powers of the District Courts and Magistrates.
- (5) **Waiver.** The General Assembly may by general law provide that the jurisdictional limits may be waived in civil cases.
- (6) **Appeals** .— The General Assembly shall by general law provide a proper system of appeals. Appeals from Magistrates shall be heard de novo, with the right of trial by jury as defined in this Constitution and the laws of this State.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1981, c. 803, s. 1.

#### § 13. Forms of action; rules of procedure.

- (1) **Forms of Action.** There shall be in this State but one form of action for the enforcement or protection of private rights or the redress of private wrongs, which shall be denominated a civil action, and in which there shall be a right to have issues of fact tried before a jury. Every action prosecuted by the people of the State as a party against a person charged with a public offense, for the punishment thereof, shall be termed a criminal action.
- (2) **Rules of Procedure.** The Supreme Court shall have exclusive authority to make rules of procedure and practice for the Appellate Division. The General Assembly may make rules of procedure and practice for the Superior Court and District Court Divisions, and the General Assembly may delegate this authority to the Supreme Court. No rule of procedure or practice shall abridge

substantive rights or abrogate or limit the right of trial by jury. If the General Assembly should delegate to the Supreme Court the rule-making power, the General Assembly may, nevertheless, alter, amend, or repeal any rule of procedure or practice adopted by the Supreme Court for the Superior Court or District Court Divisions.

```
History.
```

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 14. Waiver of jury trial.

In all issues of fact joined in any court, the parties in any civil case may waive the right to have the issues determined by a jury, in which case the finding of the judge upon the facts shall have the force and effect of a verdict by a jury.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 15. Administration.

The General Assembly shall provide for an administrative office of the courts to carry out the provisions of this Article.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 16. Terms of office and election of Justices of the Supreme Court, Judges of the Court of Appeals, and Judges of the Superior Court.

Justices of the Supreme Court, Judges of the Court of Appeals, and regular Judges of the Superior Court shall be elected by the qualified voters and shall hold office for terms of eight years and until their successors are elected and qualified. Justices of the Supreme Court and Judges of the Court of Appeals shall be elected by the qualified voters of the State. Regular Judges of the Superior Court may be elected by the qualified voters of the State or by the voters of their respective districts, as the General Assembly may prescribe.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 17. Removal of Judges, Magistrates and Clerks.

(1) Removal of Judges by the General Assembly. — Any Justice or Judge of the General Court of Justice may be removed from office for mental or physical incapacity by joint resolution of two-thirds of all the members of each house of the General Assembly. Any Justice or Judge against whom the General Assembly may be about to proceed shall receive notice thereof, accompanied by a copy

of the causes alleged for his removal, at least 20 days before the day on which either house of the General Assembly shall act thereon. Removal from office by the General Assembly for any other cause shall be by impeachment.

- (2) Additional method of removal of Judges. The General Assembly shall prescribe a procedure, in addition to impeachment and address set forth in this section, for the removal of a Justice or Judge of the General Court of Justice for mental or physical incapacity interfering with the performance of his duties which is, or is likely to become, permanent, and for the censure and removal of a Justice or Judge of the General Court of Justice for wilful misconduct in office, wilful and persistent failure to perform his duties, habitual intemperance, conviction of a crime involving moral turpitude, or conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice that brings the judicial office into disrepute.
- (3) **Removal of Magistrates.** The General Assembly shall provide by general law for the removal of Magistrates for misconduct or mental or physical incapacity.
- (4) **Removal of Clerks.** Any Clerk of the Superior Court may be removed from office for misconduct or mental or physical incapacity by the senior regular resident Superior Court Judge serving the county. Any Clerk against whom proceedings are instituted shall receive written notice of the charges against him at least 10 days before the hearing upon the charges. Any Clerk so removed from office shall be entitled to an appeal as provided by law.

## History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1971, c. 560, s. 1.

## § 18. District Attorney and prosecutorial districts.

- (1) **District Attorneys.** The General Assembly shall, from time to time, divide the State into a convenient number of prosecutorial districts, for each of which a District Attorney shall be chosen for a term of four years by the qualified voters thereof, at the same time and places as members of the General Assembly are elected. Only persons duly authorized to practice law in the courts of this State shall be eligible for election or appointment as a District Attorney. The District Attorney shall advise the officers of justice in his district, be responsible for the prosecution on behalf of the State of all criminal actions in the Superior Courts of his district, perform such duties related to appeals therefrom as the Attorney General may require, and perform such other duties as the General Assembly may prescribe.
- (2) **Prosecution in District Court Division.** Criminal actions in the District Court Division shall be prosecuted in such manner as the General Assembly may prescribe by general law uniformly applicable in every local court district of the State.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1973, c. 394, s. 1; 1983, c. 298, s. 2.
```

#### § 19. Vacancies.

Unless otherwise provided in this Article, all vacancies occurring in the offices provided for by this Article shall be filled by appointment of the Governor, and the appointees shall hold their places until the next election for members of the General Assembly that is held more than 60 days after the vacancy occurs, when elections shall be held to fill the offices. When the unexpired term of any of the offices named in this Article of the Constitution in which a vacancy has occurred, and in which it is herein provided that the Governor shall fill the vacancy, expires on the first day of January succeeding the next election for members of the General Assembly, the Governor shall appoint to fill that vacancy for the unexpired term of the office. If any person elected or appointed to any of these offices shall fail to qualify, the office shall be appointed to, held, and filled as provided in case of vacancies occurring therein. All incumbents of these offices shall hold until their successors are qualified.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 920, s. 2.
```

## § 20. Revenues and expenses of the judicial department.

The General Assembly shall provide for the establishment of a schedule of court fees and costs which shall be uniform throughout the State within each division of the General Court of Justice. The operating expenses of the judicial department, other than compensation to process servers and other locally paid non-judicial officers, shall be paid from State funds.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

## § 21. Fees, salaries, and emoluments.

The General Assembly shall prescribe and regulate the fees, salaries, and emoluments of all officers provided for in this Article, but the salaries of Judges shall not be diminished during their continuance in office. In no case shall the compensation of any Judge or Magistrate be dependent upon his decision or upon the collection of costs.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

## § 22. Qualification of Justices and Judges.

Only persons duly authorized to practice law in the courts of this State shall be eligible for election or appointment as a Justice of the Supreme Court, Judge of the Court of Appeals, Judge of the Superior Court, or Judge of District Court. This section shall not apply to persons elected to or serving in such capacities on or before January 1, 1981.

### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1979, c. 638, s. 1.

## ARTICLE V

### FINANCE

## § 1. No capitation tax to be levied.

No poll or capitation tax shall be levied by the General Assembly or by any county, city or town, or other taxing unit.

#### History.

1969, c. 1200, s. 1; c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 2. State and local taxation.

- (1) **Power of taxation.** The power of taxation shall be exercised in a just and equitable manner, for public purposes only, and shall never be surrendered, suspended, or contracted away.
- (2) **Classification.** Only the General Assembly shall have the power to classify property for taxation, which power shall be exercised only on a State-wide basis and shall not be delegated. No class of property shall be taxed except by uniform rule, and every classification shall be made by general law uniformly applicable in every county, city and town, and other unit of local government.
- (3) **Exemptions.** Property belonging to the State, counties, and municipal corporations shall be exempt from taxation. The General Assembly may exempt cemeteries and property held for educational, scientific, literary, cultural, charitable, or religious purposes, and, to a value not exceeding \$300, any personal property. The General Assembly may exempt from taxation not exceeding \$1,000 in value of property held and used as the place of residence of the owner. Every exemption shall be on a State-wide basis and shall be made by general law uniformly applicable in every county, city and town, and other unit of local government. No taxing authority other than the General Assembly may grant exemptions, and the General Assembly shall not delegate the powers accorded to it by this subsection.
- (4) **Special tax areas.** Subject to the limitations imposed by Section 4, the General Assembly may enact general laws authoriz-

ing the governing body of any county, city, or town to define territorial areas and to levy taxes within those areas, in addition to those levied throughout the county, city, or town, in order to finance, provide, or maintain services, facilities, and functions in addition to or to a greater extent than those financed, provided, or maintained for the entire county, city, or town.

- (5) **Purposes of property tax.** The General Assembly shall not authorize any county, city or town, special district, or other unit of local government to levy taxes on property, except for purposes authorized by general law uniformly applicable throughout the State, unless the tax is approved by a majority of the qualified voters of the unit who vote thereon.
- (6) **Income tax.** The rate of tax on incomes shall not in any case exceed seven percent, and there shall be allowed personal exemptions and deductions so that only net incomes are taxed.
- (7) **Contracts.** The General Assembly may enact laws whereby the State, any county, city or town, and any other public corporation may contract with and appropriate money to any person, association, or corporation for the accomplishment of public purposes only.

#### History.

1969, c. 872, s. 1; c. 1200, s. 1; c. 1258, s. 1; 2018-119, s. 1.

## § 3. Limitations upon the increase of State debt.

- (1) **Authorized purposes; two-thirds limitation.** The General Assembly shall have no power to contract debts secured by a pledge of the faith and credit of the State, unless approved by a majority of the qualified voters of the State who vote thereon, except for the following purposes:
  - (a) to fund or refund a valid existing debt;
  - (b) to supply an unforeseen deficiency in the revenue;
  - (c) to borrow in anticipation of the collection of taxes due and payable within the current fiscal year to an amount not exceeding 50 per cent of such taxes;
  - (d) to suppress riots or insurrections, or to repel invasions;
  - (e) to meet emergencies immediately threatening the public health or safety, as conclusively determined in writing by the Governor;
  - (f) for any other lawful purpose, to the extent of two-thirds of the amount by which the State's outstanding indebtedness shall have been reduced during the next preceding biennium.
- (2) **Gift or loan of credit regulated.** The General Assembly shall have no power to give or lend the credit of the State in aid of any person, association, or corporation, except a corporation in which the State has a controlling interest, unless the subject is

submitted to a direct vote of the people of the State, and is approved by a majority of the qualified voters who vote thereon.

- (3) **Definitions.** A debt is incurred within the meaning of this Section when the State borrows money. A pledge of the faith and credit within the meaning of this Section is a pledge of the taxing power. A loan of credit within the meaning of this Section occurs when the State exchanges its obligations with or in any way guarantees the debts of an individual, association, or private corporation.
- (4) **Certain debts barred.** The General Assembly shall never assume or pay any debt or obligation, express or implied, incurred in aid of insurrection or rebellion against the United States. Neither shall the General Assembly assume or pay any debt or bond incurred or issued by authority of the Convention of 1868, the special session of the General Assembly of 1868, or the General Assembly of 1868-69 and 1869-70, unless the subject is submitted to the people of the State and is approved by a majority of all the qualified voters at a referendum held for that sole purpose.
- (5) **Outstanding debt.** Except as provided in subsection (4), nothing in this Section shall be construed to invalidate or impair the obligation of any bond, note, or other evidence of indebtedness outstanding or authorized for issue as of July 1, 1973.

#### History.

1969, c. 1200, s. 1; 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 4. Limitations upon the increase of local government debt.

- (1) **Regulation of borrowing and debt.**—The General Assembly shall enact general laws relating to the borrowing of money secured by a pledge of the faith and credit and the contracting of other debts by counties, cities and towns, special districts, and other units, authorities, and agencies of local government.
- (2) **Authorized purposes; two-thirds limitation.** The General Assembly shall have no power to authorize any county, city or town, special district, or other unit of local government to contract debts secured by a pledge of its faith and credit unless approved by a majority of the qualified voters of the unit who vote thereon, except for the following purposes:
  - (a) to fund or refund a valid existing debt;
  - (b) to supply an unforeseen deficiency in the revenue;
  - (c) to borrow in anticipation of the collection of taxes due and payable within the current fiscal year to an amount not exceeding 50 per cent of such taxes;
  - (d) to suppress riots or insurrections;
  - (e) to meet emergencies immediately threatening the public health or safety, as conclusively determined in writing by the Governor;
  - (f) for purposes authorized by general laws uniformly appli-

cable throughout the State, to the extent of two-thirds of the amount by which the unit's outstanding indebtedness shall have been reduced during the next preceding fiscal year.

- (3) **Gift or loan of credit regulated.** No county, city or town, special district, or other unit of local government shall give or lend its credit in aid of any person, association, or corporation, except for public purposes as authorized by general law, and unless approved by a majority of the qualified voters of the unit who vote thereon.
- (4) **Certain debts barred.** No county, city or town, or other unit of local government shall assume or pay any debt or the interest thereon contracted directly or indirectly in aid or support of rebellion or insurrection against the United States.
- (5) **Definitions.** A debt is incurred within the meaning of this Section when a county, city or town, special district, or other unit, authority, or agency of local government borrows money. A pledge of faith and credit within the meaning of this Section is a pledge of the taxing power. A loan of credit within the meaning of this Section occurs when a county, city or town, special district, or other unit, authority, or agency of local government exchanges its obligations with or in any way guarantees the debts of an individual, association, or private corporation.
- (6) **Outstanding debt.** Except as provided in subsection (4), nothing in this Section shall be construed to invalidate or impair the obligation of any bond, note, or other evidence of indebtedness outstanding or authorized for issue as of July 1, 1973.

```
History. 1969, c. 1200, s. 1; 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

## § 5. Acts levying taxes to state objects.

Every act of the General Assembly levying a tax shall state the special object to which it is to be applied, and it shall be applied to no other purpose.

```
History. 1969, c. 1200, s. 1; c. 1258, s. 1.
```

## § 6. Inviolability of sinking funds and retirement funds.

- (1) Sinking funds.— The General Assembly shall not use or authorize to be used any part of the amount of any sinking fund for any purpose other than the retirement of the bonds for which the sinking fund has been created, except that these funds may be invested as authorized by law.
- (2) Retirement funds.— Neither the General Assembly nor any public officer, employee, or agency shall use or authorize to be used any part of the funds of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Local Governmental Employees' Retire-

ment System for any purpose other than retirement system benefits and purposes, administrative expenses, and refunds; except that retirement system funds may be invested as authorized by law, subject to the investment limitation that the funds of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall not be applied, diverted, loaned to, or used by the State, any State agency, State officer, public officer, or public employee.

#### History.

1969, c. 1200, s. 1; c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 7. Drawing public money.

- (1) **State treasury.** No money shall be drawn from the State treasury but in consequence of appropriations made by law, and an accurate account of the receipts and expenditures of State funds shall be published annually.
- (2) **Local treasury.** No money shall be drawn from the treasury of any county, city or town, or other unit of local government except by authority of law.

#### History.

1969, c. 1200, s. 1; c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 8. Health care facilities.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Constitution, the General Assembly may enact general laws to authorize the State, counties, cities or towns, and other State and local governmental entities to issue revenue bonds to finance or refinance for any such governmental entity or any nonprofit private corporation, regardless of any church or religious relationship, the cost of acquiring, constructing, and financing health care facility projects to be operated to serve and benefit the public; provided, no cost incurred earlier than two years prior to the effective date of this section shall be refinanced. Such bonds shall be payable from the revenues, gross or net, of any such projects and any other health care facilities of any such governmental entity or nonprofit private corporation pledged therefor; shall not be secured by a pledge of the full faith and credit, or deemed to create an indebtedness requiring voter approval of any governmental entity; and may be secured by an agreement which may provide for the conveyance of title of, with or without consideration, any such project or facilities to the governmental entity or nonprofit private corporation. The power of eminent domain shall not be used pursuant hereto for nonprofit private corporations.

#### History.

1975, c. 641, s. 1.

## § 9. Capital projects for industry.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Constitution, the General Assembly may enact general laws to authorize counties to create authorities to issue revenue bonds to finance, but not to refinance, the cost of capital projects consisting of industrial, manufacturing and pollution control facilities for industry and pollution control facilities for public utilities, and to refund such bonds.

In no event shall such revenue bonds be secured by or payable from any public moneys whatsoever, but such revenue bonds shall be secured by and payable only from revenues or property derived from private parties. All such capital projects and all transactions therefor shall be subject to taxation to the extent such projects and transactions would be subject to taxation if no public body were involved therewith; provided, however, that the General Assembly may provide that the interest on such revenue bonds shall be exempt from income taxes within the State.

The power of eminent domain shall not be exercised to provide any property for any such capital project.

**History.** 1975, c. 826, s. 1.

## § 10. Joint ownership of generation and transmission facilities.

In addition to other powers conferred upon them by law, municipalities owning or operating facilities for the generation, transmission or distribution of electric power and energy and joint agencies formed by such municipalities for the purpose of owning or operating facilities for the generation and transmission of electric power and energy (each, respectively, "a unit of municipal government") may jointly or severally own, operate and maintain works, plants and facilities, within or without the State, for the generation and transmission of electric power and energy, or both, with any person, firm, association or corporation, public or private, engaged in the generation, transmission or distribution of electric power and energy for resale (each, respectively, "a co-owner") within this State or any state contiguous to this State, and may enter into and carry out agreements with respect to such jointly owned facilities. For the purpose of financing its share of the cost of any such jointly owned electric generation or transmission facilities, a unit of municipal government may issue its revenue bonds in the manner prescribed by the General Assembly, payable as to both principal and interest solely from and secured by a lien and charge on all or any part of the revenue derived, or to be derived, by such unit of municipal government from the ownership and operation of its electric facilities; provided, however, that no unit of municipal government shall be liable, either jointly or severally, for any acts, omissions or obligations of any co-owner, nor shall any money or property of any unit of municipal government be credited or otherwise applied to the account of any co-owner or be charged with any debt, lien or mortgage as a result of any debt or obligation of any co-owner.

**History.** 1977, c. 528, s. 1.

## § 11. Capital projects for agriculture.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Constitution the General Assembly may enact general laws to authorize the creation of an agency to issue revenue bonds to finance the cost of capital projects consisting of agricultural facilities, and to refund such bonds.

In no event shall such revenue bonds be secured by or payable from any public moneys whatsoever, but such revenue bonds shall be secured by and payable only from revenues or property derived from private parties. All such capital projects and all transactions therefor shall be subject to taxation to the extent such projects and transactions would be subject to taxation if no public body were involved therewith; provided, however, that the General Assembly may provide that the interest on such revenue bonds shall be exempt from income taxes within the State.

The power of eminent domain shall not be exercised to provide any property for any such capital project.

**History.** 1983, c. 765, s. 1.

## § 12. Higher education facilities.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Constitution, the General Assembly may enact general laws to authorize the State or any State entity to issue revenue bonds to finance and refinance the cost of acquiring, constructing, and financing higher education facilities to be operated to serve and benefit the public for any nonprofit private corporation, regardless of any church or religious relationship provided no cost incurred earlier than five years prior to the effective date of this section shall be refinanced. Such bonds shall be payable from any revenues or assets of any such nonprofit private corporation pledged therefor, shall not be secured by a pledge of the full faith and credit of the State or such State entity or deemed to create an indebtedness requiring voter approval of the State or such entity, and, where the title to such facilities is vested in the State or any State entity, may be secured by an agreement which may provide for the conveyance of title to, with or without consideration, such facilities to the nonprofit private corporation. The power of eminent domain shall not be used pursuant hereto.

History.

1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 814.

## § 13. Seaport and airport facilities.

- (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Constitution, the General Assembly may enact general laws to grant to the State, counties, municipalities, and other State and local governmental entities all powers useful in connection with the development of new and existing seaports and airports, and to authorize such public bodies:
  - (a) To acquire, construct, own, own jointly with public and private parties, lease as lessee, mortgage, sell, lease as lessor, or otherwise dispose of lands and facilities and improvements, including undivided interests therein;
  - (b) To finance and refinance for public and private parties seaport and airport facilities and improvements which relate to, develop or further waterborne or airborne commerce and cargo and passenger traffic, including commercial, industrial, manufacturing, processing, mining, transportation, distribution, storage, marine, aviation and environmental facilities and improvements; and
  - (c) To secure any such financing or refinancing by all or any portion of their revenues, income or assets or other available monies associated with any of their seaport or airport facilities and with the facilities and improvements to be financed or refinanced, and by foreclosable liens on all or any part of their properties associated with any of their seaport or airport facilities and with the facilities and improvements to be financed or refinanced, but in no event to create a debt secured by a pledge of the faith and credit of the State or any other public body in the State.

History.

1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 933, s. 1.

## § 14. Project development financing.

Notwithstanding Section 4 of this Article, the General Assembly may enact general laws authorizing any county, city, or town to define territorial areas in the county, city, or town and borrow money to be used to finance public improvements associated with private development projects within the territorial areas, as provided in this section. The General Assembly shall set forth by statute the method for determining the size of the territorial area and the issuing unit. This method is conclusive. When a territorial area is defined pursuant to this section, the county shall determine the current assessed value of taxable real and personal property in the territorial area. Thereafter, property in the territorial area continues to be subject to taxation to the same extent and in like manner as

property not in the territorial area, but the net proceeds of taxes levied on the excess, if any, of the assessed value of taxable real and personal property in the territorial area at the time the taxes are levied over the assessed value of taxable real and personal property in the territorial area at the time the territorial area was defined may be set aside. The instruments of indebtedness authorized by this section shall be secured by these set-aside proceeds. The General Assembly may authorize a county, city, or town issuing these instruments of indebtedness to pledge, as additional security, revenues available to the issuing unit from sources other than the issuing unit's exercise of its taxing power. As long as no revenues are pledged other than the set-aside proceeds authorized by this section and the revenues authorized in the preceding sentence, these instruments of indebtedness may be issued without approval by referendum. The county, city, or town may not pledge as security for these instruments of indebtedness any property tax revenues other than the set-aside proceeds authorized in this section, or in any other manner pledge its full faith and credit as security for these instruments of indebtedness unless a vote of the people is held as required by and in compliance with the requirements of Section 4 of this Article.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2 of this Article, the General Assembly may enact general laws authorizing a county, city, or town that has defined a territorial area pursuant to this section to assess property within the territorial area at a minimum value if agreed to by the owner of the property, which agreed minimum value shall be binding on the current owner and any future owners as long as the defined territorial area is in effect.

History. 2003-403, s. 1.

## ARTICLE VI

## SUFFRAGE AND ELIGIBILITY TO OFFICE

## § 1. (Effective until contingency met — see note) Who may vote.

Every person born in the United States and every person who has been naturalized, 18 years of age, and possessing the qualifications set out in this Article, shall be entitled to vote at any election by the people of the State, except as herein otherwise provided.

History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1971, c. 201, s. 1; c. 1141, s. 1.

## § 1. (Effective once contingency met — see note) Who may vote.

Only a citizen of the United States who is 18 years of age and possessing the qualifications set out in this Article, shall be entitled to vote at any election by the people of the State, except as herein otherwise provided.

#### History.

```
1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1971, c. 201, s. 1; c. 1141, s. 1; 2024-18, s. 1.
```

## § 2. Qualifications of voter.

- (1) **Residence period for State elections.** Any person who has resided in the State of North Carolina for one year and in the precinct, ward, or other election district for 30 days next preceding an election, and possesses the other qualifications set out in this Article, shall be entitled to vote at any election held in this State. Removal from one precinct, ward, or other election district to another in this State shall not operate to deprive any person of the right to vote in the precinct, ward, or other election district from which that person has removed until 30 days after the removal.
- (2) **Residence period for presidential elections.** The General Assembly may reduce the time of residence for persons voting in presidential elections. A person made eligible by reason of a reduction in time of residence shall possess the other qualifications set out in this Article, shall only be entitled to vote for President and Vice President of the United States or for electors for President and Vice President, and shall not thereby become eligible to hold office in this State.
- (3) **Disqualification of felon.** No person adjudged guilty of a felony against this State or the United States, or adjudged guilty of a felony in another state that also would be a felony if it had been committed in this State, shall be permitted to vote unless that person shall be first restored to the rights of citizenship in the manner prescribed by law.
- (4) **Photo identification for voting in person.** Voters offering to vote in person shall present photographic identification before voting. The General Assembly shall enact general laws governing the requirements of such photographic identification, which may include exceptions.

#### History.

```
1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 2018-128, s. 1.
```

### § 3. Registration; Voting in Person.

(1) Every person offering to vote shall be at the time legally registered as a voter as herein prescribed and in the manner provided by law. The General Assembly shall enact general laws governing the registration of voters.

(2) Voters offering to vote in person shall present photographic identification before voting. The General Assembly shall enact general laws governing the requirements of such photographic identification, which may include exceptions.

```
History.
```

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 2018-128, s. 2.

## § 4. (See Editor's note) Qualification for registration.

Every person presenting himself for registration shall be able to read and write any section of the Constitution in the English language.

```
History.
```

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 5. Elections by people and General Assembly.

All elections by the people shall be by ballot, and all elections by the General Assembly shall be viva voce. A contested election for any office established by Article III of this Constitution shall be determined by joint ballot of both houses of the General Assembly in the manner prescribed by law.

## History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 6. Eligibility to elective office.

Every qualified voter in North Carolina who is 21 years of age, except as in this Constitution disqualified, shall be eligible for election by the people to office.

#### History.

```
1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1971, c. 201, s. 1; c. 1141, s. 1.
```

#### § 7. Oath.

Before entering upon the duties of an office, a person elected or appointed to the office shall take and subscribe the following oath:

"I, \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support and maintain the Constitution and laws of the United States, and the Constitution and laws of North Carolina not inconsistent therewith, and that I will faithfully discharge the duties of my office as \_\_\_\_\_\_, so help me God."

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 8. (See Editor's note) Disqualifications for office.

The following persons shall be disqualified for office:

First, any person who shall deny the being of Almighty God.

Second, with respect to any office that is filled by election by the people, any person who is not qualified to vote in an election for that office.

Third, any person who has been adjudged guilty of treason or any other felony against this State or the United States, or any person who has been adjudged guilty of a felony in another state that also would be a felony if it had been committed in this State, or any person who has been adjudged guilty of corruption or malpractice in any office, or any person who has been removed by impeachment from any office, and who has not been restored to the rights of citizenship in the manner prescribed by law.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 9. Dual office holding.

- (1) **Prohibitions.** It is salutary that the responsibilities of self-government be widely shared among the citizens of the State and that the potential abuse of authority inherent in the holding of multiple offices by an individual be avoided. Therefore, no person who holds any office or place of trust or profit under the United States or any department thereof, or under any other state or government, shall be eligible to hold any office in this State that is filled by election by the people. No person shall hold concurrently any two offices in this State that are filled by election of the people. No person shall hold concurrently any two or more appointive offices or places of trust or profit, or any combination of elective and appointive offices or places of trust or profit, except as the General Assembly shall provide by general law.
- (2) **Exceptions.** The provisions of this Section shall not prohibit any officer of the military forces of the State or of the United States not on active duty for an extensive period of time, any notary public, or any delegate to a Convention of the People from holding concurrently another office or place of trust or profit under this State or the United States or any department thereof.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

### § 10. Continuation in office.

In the absence of any contrary provision, all officers in this State, whether appointed or elected, shall hold their positions until other appointments are made or, if the offices are elective, until their successors are chosen and qualified.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## ARTICLE VII LOCAL GOVERNMENT

## § 1. General Assembly to provide for local government.

The General Assembly shall provide for the organization and government and the fixing of boundaries of counties, cities and towns, and other governmental subdivisions, and, except as otherwise prohibited by this Constitution, may give such powers and duties to counties, cities and towns, and other governmental subdivisions as it may deem advisable.

The General Assembly shall not incorporate as a city or town, nor shall it authorize to be incorporated as a city or town, any territory lying within one mile of the corporate limits of any other city or town having a population of 5,000 or more according to the most recent decennial census of population taken by order of Congress, or lying within three miles of the corporate limits of any other city or town having a population of 10,000 or more according to the most recent decennial census of population taken by order of Congress, or lying within four miles of the corporate limits of any other city or town having a population of 25,000 or more according to the most recent decennial census of population taken by order of Congress, or lying within five miles of the corporate limits of any other city or town having a population of 50,000 or more according to the most recent decennial census of population taken by order of Congress. Notwithstanding the foregoing limitations, the General Assembly may incorporate a city or town by an act adopted by vote of three-fifths of all the members of each house.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1971, c. 857, s. 1.

### § 2. Sheriffs.

In each county a Sheriff shall be elected by the qualified voters thereof at the same time and places as members of the General Assembly are elected and shall hold his office for a period of four years, subject to removal for cause as provided by law. No person is eligible to serve as Sheriff if that person has been convicted of a felony against this State, the United States, or another state, whether or not that person has been restored to the rights of citizenship in the manner prescribed by law. Convicted of a felony includes the entry of a plea of guilty; a verdict or finding of guilt by a jury, judge, magistrate, or other adjudicating body, tribunal, or official, either civilian or military; or a plea of no contest, nolo contendere, or the equivalent.

```
History.
```

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 2010-49, s. 1.

## § 3. Merged or consolidated counties.

Any unit of local government formed by the merger or consolidation of a county or counties and the cities and towns therein shall be deemed both a county and a city for the purposes of this Constitution, and may exercise any authority conferred by law on counties, or on cities and towns, or both, as the General Assembly may provide.

History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## ARTICLE VIII

## CORPORATIONS

## § 1. Corporate charters.

No corporation shall be created, nor shall its charter be extended, altered, or amended by special act, except corporations for charitable, educational, penal, or reformatory purposes that are to be and remain under the patronage and control of the State; but the General Assembly shall provide by general laws for the chartering, organization, and powers of all corporations, and for the amending, extending, and forfeiture of all charters, except those above permitted by special act. All such general acts may be altered from time to time or repealed. The General Assembly may at any time by special act repeal the charter of any corporation.

History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 2. Corporations defined.

The term "corporation" as used in this Section shall be construed to include all associations and joint-stock companies having any of the powers and privileges of corporations not possessed by individuals or partnerships. All corporations shall have the right to sue and shall be subject to be sued in all courts, in like cases as natural persons.

History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

# ARTICLE IX EDUCATION

## § 1. Education encouraged.

Religion, morality, and knowledge being necessary to good government and the happiness of mankind, schools, libraries, and the means of education shall forever be encouraged.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

### § 2. Uniform system of schools.

- (1) **General and uniform system: term.** The General Assembly shall provide by taxation and otherwise for a general and uniform system of free public schools, which shall be maintained at least nine months in every year, and wherein equal opportunities shall be provided for all students.
- (2) **Local responsibility.** The General Assembly may assign to units of local government such responsibility for the financial support of the free public schools as it may deem appropriate. The governing boards of units of local government with financial responsibility for public education may use local revenues to add to or supplement any public school or post-secondary school program.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 3. School attendance.

The General Assembly shall provide that every child of appropriate age and of sufficient mental and physical ability shall attend the public schools, unless educated by other means.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 4. State Board of Education.

- (1) Board.— The State Board of Education shall consist of the Lieutenant Governor, the Treasurer, and eleven members appointed by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the General Assembly in joint session. The General Assembly shall divide the State into eight educational districts. Of the appointive members of the Board, one shall be appointed from each of the eight educational districts and three shall be appointed from the State at large. Appointments shall be for overlapping terms of eight years. Appointments to fill vacancies shall be made by the Governor for the unexpired terms and shall not be subject to confirmation.
  - (2) Superintendent of Public Instruction.— The Superintendent of

Public Instruction shall be the secretary and chief administrative officer of the State Board of Education.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

### § 5. Powers and duties of Board.

The State Board of Education shall supervise and administer the free public school system and the educational funds provided for its support, except the funds mentioned in Section 7 of this Article, and shall make all needed rules and regulations in relation thereto, subject to laws enacted by the General Assembly.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 6. State school fund.

The proceeds of all lands that have been or hereafter may be granted by the United States to this State, and not otherwise appropriated by this State or the United States; all moneys, stocks, bonds, and other property belonging to the State for purposes of public education; the net proceeds of all sales of the swamp lands belonging to the State; and all other grants, gifts, and devises that have been or hereafter may be made to the State, and not otherwise appropriated by the State or by the terms of the grant, gift, or devise, shall be paid into the State Treasury and, together with so much of the revenue of the State as may be set apart for that purpose, shall be faithfully appropriated and used exclusively for establishing and maintaining a uniform system of free public schools.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

### § 7. County school fund; State fund for certain moneys.

- (a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, all moneys, stocks, bonds, and other property belonging to a county school fund, and the clear proceeds of all penalties and forfeitures and of all fines collected in the several counties for any breach of the penal laws of the State, shall belong to and remain in the several counties, and shall be faithfully appropriated and used exclusively for maintaining free public schools.
- (b) The General Assembly may place in a State fund the clear proceeds of all civil penalties, forfeitures, and fines which are collected by State agencies and which belong to the public schools pursuant to subsection (a) of this section. Moneys in such State fund shall be faithfully appropriated by the General Assembly, on a per

## Art. IX, § 8 CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA Art. IX, § 10

pupil basis, to the counties, to be used exclusively for maintaining free public schools.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 2003-423, s. 1.
```

## § 8. Higher education.

The General Assembly shall maintain a public system of higher education, comprising The University of North Carolina and such other institutions of higher education as the General Assembly may deem wise. The General Assembly shall provide for the selection of trustees of The University of North Carolina and of the other institutions of higher education, in whom shall be vested all the privileges, rights, franchises, and endowments heretofore granted to or conferred upon the trustees of these institutions. The General Assembly may enact laws necessary and expedient for the maintenance and management of The University of North Carolina and the other public institutions of higher education.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

## § 9. Benefits of public institutions of higher education.

The General Assembly shall provide that the benefits of The University of North Carolina and other public institutions of higher education, as far as practicable, be extended to the people of the State free of expense.

```
History. 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.
```

#### § 10. Escheats.

- (1) Escheats prior to July 1, 1971.—All property that prior to July 1, 1971, accrued to the State from escheats, unclaimed dividends, or distributive shares of the estates of deceased persons shall be appropriated to the use of The University of North Carolina.
- (2) Escheats after June 30, 1971.— All property that, after June 30, 1971, shall accrue to the State from escheats, unclaimed dividends, or distributive shares of the estates of deceased persons shall be used to aid worthy and needy students who are residents of this State and are enrolled in public institutions of higher education in this State. The method, amount, and type of distribution shall be prescribed by law.

```
History. 1969, c. 827, s. 1; c. 1258, s. 1.
```

## ARTICLE X

## HOMESTEADS AND EXEMPTIONS

## § 1. Personal property exemptions.

The personal property of any resident of this State, to a value fixed by the General Assembly but not less than \$500, to be selected by the resident, is exempted from sale under execution or other final process of any court, issued for the collection of any debt.

## History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 2. Homestead exemptions.

- (1) **Exemption from sale; exceptions.** Every homestead and the dwellings and buildings used therewith, to a value fixed by the General Assembly but not less than \$1,000, to be selected by the owner thereof, or in lieu thereof, at the option of the owner, any lot in a city or town with the dwellings and buildings used thereon, and to the same value, owned and occupied by a resident of the State, shall be exempt from sale under execution or other final process obtained on any debt. But no property shall be exempt from sale for taxes, or for payment of obligations contracted for its purchase.
- (2) **Exemption for benefit of children.**—The homestead, after the death of the owner thereof, shall be exempt from the payment of any debt during the minority of the owner's children, or any of them.
- (3) **Exemption for benefit of surviving spouse.** If the owner of a homestead dies, leaving a surviving spouse but no minor children, the homestead shall be exempt from the debts of the owner, and the rents and profits thereof shall inure to the benefit of the surviving spouse until he or she remarries, unless the surviving spouse is the owner of a separate homestead.
- (4) **Conveyance of homestead.** Nothing contained in this Article shall operate to prevent the owner of a homestead from disposing of it by deed, but no deed made by a married owner of a homestead shall be valid without the signature and acknowledgement of his or her spouse.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1977, c. 80, ss. 1, 2.

### § 3. Mechanics' and laborers' liens.

The General Assembly shall provide by proper legislation for giving to mechanics and laborers an adequate lien on the subject-matter of their labor. The provisions of Sections 1 and 2 of this Article shall not be so construed as to prevent a laborer's lien for

## Art. X, § 4 CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA Art. XI, § 1

work done and performed for the person claiming the exemption or a mechanic's lien for work done on the premises.

**History.** 1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 4. Property of married women secured to them.

The real and personal property of any female in this State acquired before marriage, and all property, real and personal, to which she may, after marriage, become in any manner entitled, shall be and remain the sole and separate estate and property of such female, and shall not be liable for any debts, obligations, or engagements of her husband, and may be devised and bequeathed and conveyed by her, subject to such regulations and limitations as the General Assembly may prescribe. Every married woman may exercise powers of attorney conferred upon her by her husband, including the power to execute and acknowledge deeds to property owned by herself and her husband or by her husband.

History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 5. Insurance.

A person may insure his or her own life for the sole use and benefit of his or her spouse or children or both, and upon his or her death the proceeds from the insurance shall be paid to or for the benefit of the spouse or children or both, or to a guardian, free from all claims of the representatives or creditors of the insured or his or her estate. Any insurance policy which insures the life of a person for the sole use and benefit of that person's spouse or children or both shall not be subject to the claims of creditors of the insured during his or her lifetime, whether or not the policy reserves to the insured during his or her lifetime any or all rights provided for by the policy and whether or not the policy proceeds are payable to the estate of the insured in the event the beneficiary or beneficiaries predecease the insured.

History.

1977, c. 115, s. 1.

## ARTICLE XI

## PUNISHMENTS, CORRECTIONS, AND CHARITIES

## § 1. Punishments.

The following punishments only shall be known to the laws of this State: death, imprisonment, fines, suspension of a jail or prison term with or without conditions, restitution, community service, re-

straints on liberty, work programs, removal from office, and disqualification to hold and enjoy any office of honor, trust, or profit under this State.

### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1; 1995, c. 429, s. 2.

## § 2. Death punishment.

The object of punishments being not only to satisfy justice, but also to reform the offender and thus prevent crime, murder, arson, burglary, and rape, and these only, may be punishable with death, if the General Assembly shall so enact.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 3. Charitable and correctional institutions and agencies.

Such charitable, benevolent, penal, and correctional institutions and agencies as the needs of humanity and the public good may require shall be established and operated by the State under such organization and in such manner as the General Assembly may prescribe.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 4. Welfare policy; board of public welfare.

Beneficent provision for the poor, the unfortunate, and the orphan is one of the first duties of a civilized and a Christian state. Therefore the General Assembly shall provide for and define the duties of a board of public welfare.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## ARTICLE XII

### MILITARY FORCES

#### § 1. Governor is Commander in Chief.

The Governor shall be Commander in Chief of the military forces of the State and may call out those forces to execute the law, suppress riots and insurrections, and repel invasion.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## ARTICLE XIII

## CONVENTIONS; CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENT AND REVISION

## § 1. Convention of the People.

No Convention of the People of this State shall ever be called unless by the concurrence of two-thirds of all the members of each house of the General Assembly, and unless the proposition "Convention or No Convention" is first submitted to the qualified voters of the State at the time and in the manner prescribed by the General Assembly. If a majority of the votes cast upon the proposition are in favor of a Convention, it shall assemble on the day prescribed by the General Assembly. The General Assembly shall, in the act submitting the convention proposition, propose limitations upon the authority of the Convention; and if a majority of the votes cast upon the proposition are in favor of a Convention, those limitations shall become binding upon the Convention. Delegates to the Convention shall be elected by the qualified voters at the time and in the manner prescribed in the act of submission. The Convention shall consist of a number of delegates equal to the membership of the House of Representatives of the General Assembly that submits the convention proposition and the delegates shall be apportioned as is the House of Representatives. A Convention shall adopt no ordinance not necessary to the purpose for which the Convention has been called.

History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 2. Power to revise or amend Constitution reserved to people.

The people of this State reserve the power to amend this Constitution and to adopt a new or revised Constitution. This power may be exercised by either of the methods set out hereinafter in this Article, but in no other way.

History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 3. Revision or amendment by Convention of the People.

A Convention of the People of this State may be called pursuant to Section 1 of this Article to propose a new or revised Constitution or to propose amendments to this Constitution. Every new or revised Constitution and every constitutional amendment adopted by a Convention shall be submitted to the qualified voters of the State at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Convention. If a

majority of the votes cast thereon are in favor of ratification of the new or revised Constitution or the constitutional amendment or amendments, it or they shall become effective January first next after ratification by the qualified voters unless a different effective date is prescribed by the Convention.

## History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 4. Revision or amendment by legislative initiation.

A proposal of a new or revised Constitution or an amendment or amendments to this Constitution may be initiated by the General Assembly, but only if three-fifths of all the members of each house shall adopt an act submitting the proposal to the qualified voters of the State for their ratification or rejection. The proposal shall be submitted at the time and in the manner prescribed by the General Assembly. If a majority of the votes cast thereon are in favor of the proposed new or revised Constitution or constitutional amendment or amendments, it or they shall become effective January first next after ratification by the voters unless a different effective date is prescribed in the act submitting the proposal or proposals to the qualified voters.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## ARTICLE XIV

## MISCELLANEOUS

## § 1. Seat of government.

The permanent seat of government of this State shall be at the City of Raleigh.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 2. State boundaries.

The limits and boundaries of the State shall be and remain as they now are.

## History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

#### § 3. General laws defined.

Whenever the General Assembly is directed or authorized by this Constitution to enact general laws, or general laws uniformly applicable throughout the State, or general laws uniformly applicable in every county, city and town, and other unit of local government, or in every local court district, no special or local act shall be enacted concerning the subject matter directed or authorized to be accomplished by general or uniformly applicable laws, and every amendment or repeal of any law relating to such subject matter shall also be general and uniform in its effect throughout the State. General laws may be enacted for classes defined by population or other criteria. General laws uniformly applicable throughout the State shall be made applicable without classification or exception in every unit of local government of like kind, such as every county, or every city and town, but need not be made applicable in every unit of local government in the State. General laws uniformly applicable in every county, city and town, and other unit of local government, or in every local court district, shall be made applicable without classification or exception in every unit of local government, or in every local court district, as the case may be. The General Assembly may at any time repeal any special, local, or private act.

#### History.

1969, c. 1200, s. 1; c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 4. Continuity of laws; protection of officeholders.

The laws of North Carolina not in conflict with this Constitution shall continue in force until lawfully altered. Except as otherwise specifically provided, the adoption of this Constitution shall not have the effect of vacating any office or term of office now filled or held by virtue of any election or appointment made under the prior Constitution of North Carolina and the laws of the State enacted pursuant thereto.

#### History.

1969, c. 1258, s. 1.

## § 5. Conservation of natural resources.

It shall be the policy of this State to conserve and protect its lands and waters for the benefit of all its citizenry, and to this end it shall be a proper function of the State of North Carolina and its political subdivisions to acquire and preserve park, recreational, and scenic areas, to control and limit the pollution of our air and water, to control excessive noise, and in every other appropriate way to preserve as a part of the common heritage of this State its forests, wetlands, estuaries, beaches, historical sites, openlands, and places of beauty.

To accomplish the aforementioned public purposes, the State and its counties, cities and towns, and other units of local government may acquire by purchase or gift properties or interests in properties which shall, upon their special dedication to and acceptance by a law enacted by a vote of three-fifths of the members of each house of the

General Assembly for those public purposes, constitute part of the "State Nature and Historic Preserve," and which shall not be used for other purposes except as authorized by law enacted by a vote of three-fifths of the members of each house of the General Assembly. The General Assembly shall prescribe by general law the conditions and procedures under which such properties or interests therein shall be dedicated for the aforementioned public purposes.

#### History.

1971, c. 630, s. 1; 1999-268, s. 3; 2001-217, s. 3; 2002-3 (Extra Session), s. 1.

## § 6. (See Editor's note) Marriage.

Marriage between one man and one woman is the only domestic legal union that shall be valid or recognized in this State. This section does not prohibit a private party from entering into contracts with another private party; nor does this section prohibit courts from adjudicating the rights of private parties pursuant to such contracts.

#### History.

2011-409, s. 1.

#### Editor's Note.

The constitutional amendment proposed by Session Laws 2011-409, s. 1, which enacted this section, was approved by a majority of the voters voting at the election held on May 8, 2012, and the results of the election were certified by the State Board of Elections. The amendment became effective May 23, 2012, the date of certification.

The constitutional amendment was approved by the voters in the primary election held on May 8, 2012, and the results were certified by the State Board of Elections on May 23, 2012.

In Obergefell v. Hodges, 135 S. Ct. 2584, 192 L. Ed. 2d 609, 2015 U.S. LEXIS 4250 (2015), the United States Supreme Court held that the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment require a state to license a marriage between two people of the same sex and to recognize a marriage between two people of the same sex

licensed and performed out-of-state. For prior Fourth Circuit case law on this issue, see Bostic v. Schaefer, 760 F.3d 352 (4th Cir. 2014), cert. denied, 2014 U.S. LEXIS 6405 (2014), invalidating the Commonwealth of Virginia's ban on same-sex marriage on due process and equal protection grounds.

Accordingly, Article XIV, Section 6 was held unconstitutional, though it remains in the N.C. Constitution (1971).

### Legal Periodicals.

For article, "'Déjá Vu All Over Again': The Recourse to Biology by Opponents of Transgender Equality," see 95 N.C.L. Rev. 1161 (2017).

For article, "Polygamous Marriage, Monogamous Divorce," see 67 Duke L.J. 79 (2017).

For article, "Equal Dignity and Unequal Protection: A Framework for Analyzing Disparate Impact Claims," see 68 Duke L.J. Online 149 (2019).

For article, "Adultery, Infidelity, and Consensual Non-Monogamy," see 55 Wake Forest L. Rev. 147 (2020).

## CHAPTER 58.

### INSURANCE.

## Article 86. North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund.

#### Section

- 58-86-1. Fund established; administration by board of trustees; rules and regula-
- 58-86-2. Definitions.
- 58-86-5. [Repealed.]
- 58-86-6. Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund Advisory Panel.
- 58-86-10. Powers and duties of the board.
- 58-86-11. Powers and duties of the advisory panel.
- 58-86-15. [Repealed.]
- 58-86-20. State Treasurer to be custodian of fund; appropriations; contributions to fund; expenditures.
- 58-86-25. Determination and certification of eligible firefighters.
- 58-86-30. Determination and certification of "eligible rescue squad worker."
- 58-86-35. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Firefighters' application for membership in fund; monthly payments by members; payments credited to separate accounts of members; termination of membership.
- 58-86-35. (Effective January 1, 2025) Firefighters' application for membership in fund; monthly payments by members; payments credited to separate accounts of members; termination of membership.
- 58-86-40. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Rescue squad worker's application for membership in funds; monthly payments by members; payments credited to separate accounts of members; termination of membership.
- 58-86-40. (Effective January 1, 2025) Rescue squad worker's application for membership in funds; monthly payments by members; payments credited to separate accounts of members; termination of membership.
- 58-86-45. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Additional retroactive membership.
- 58-86-45. (Effective January 1, 2025) Additional retroactive membership.
- 58-86-50. [Repealed.]
- 58-86-55. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Monthly pensions upon attaining the age of 55 years.
- 58-86-55. (Effective January 1, 2025) Monthly pensions upon attaining the age of 55 years.
- 58-86-60. Payments in lump sums.
- 58-86-65. Pro rata reduction of benefits when fund insufficient to pay in full.
- 58-86-70. Provisions subject to future legislative change.
- 58-86-75. Determination of creditable service; information furnished by applicants for membership.
- 58-86-80. Length of service not affected by serving in more than one department or squad; transfer from one department or squad to another.
- 58-86-85. [Repealed.]
- 58-86-90. Exemptions of pensions from attachment; rights nonassignable.
- 58-86-91. [Repealed.]
- 58-86-95. Leaves of absence; inactive membership.
- 58-86-100. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies that would bring disrepute on a fire department or rescue squad.
- 58-86-101. Prohibition on purchase of forfeited service.

## ARTICLE 86.

# NORTH CAROLINA FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION FUND.

## § 58-86-1. Fund established; administration by board of trustees; rules and regulations.

For the purpose of furthering the general welfare and police powers and obligations of the State with respect to the protection of all its citizens from the consequences of loss or damage by fire and of injury by serious accident or illness, of increasing the protection of life and property against loss or damage by fire, of improving firefighting and life saving techniques, of increasing the potential of fire departments, rescue squads, organizations and groups, of fostering increased and more widely spread training of personnel of these organizations and groups, and of providing incentive and inducement to participate in fire prevention, firefighting and rescue squad activities and for the establishment of new, improved or extended fire departments, rescue squads, organizations and groups to the end that ultimately all areas of the State and all of its citizens will receive the benefits of fire protection and rescue squads' activity and a resulting reduction of loss or damage to life and property by fire hazard or injury by serious accident or illness, and in recognition of the public service rendered to the State of North Carolina and its citizens by "eligible firefighters and rescue squad workers," as defined by this Article, there is created in this State a fund to be known, and designated as "The North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund" to be administered as provided in this Article.

The North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund is established to provide pension allowances and other benefits for eligible firefighters and rescue squad workers in the State who elect to become members of the fund. The board of trustees created by this Article shall have authority to administer the fund and shall make necessary rules and regulations to carry out the provisions of this Article.

## History.

1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1961, c. 980; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 2013-284, s. 1(a).

#### Cross References.

As to statutory provisions pertaining to a prior transfer of the North Carolina Firemen's and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund to the Department of State Auditor, see G.S. 143A-27.1.

#### Editor's Note.

This Article is former Article 3 of for-

mer Chapter 118, rewritten by Session Laws 1981, c. 1029, s. 1, effective January 1, 1982, and recodified as Article 4 of former Chapter 118, which in turn has been recodified and incorporated as Article 86 of Chapter 58 pursuant to Session Laws 1987, c. 752, s. 9, as amended by Session Laws 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 975, s. 34.

Session Laws 1981, c. 1029, s. 2, provides: "The Fund established by Session Laws 1961 Chapter 980, G.S. 118-18 et seq., 'the Firemen's Pension Fund' is

made a part of the Fund established by this act as the 'Firemen's and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund'."

Session Laws 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 833, s. 1 provides: "The statutory authority, powers, duties, and functions, records, personnel, property, unexpended balances of appropriations, allocations or other funds, including the functions of budgeting and purchasing, of the Department of State Auditor to administer the North Carolina Firemen's and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund are transferred to the Department of State Treasurer."

Session Laws 2009-567, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law, any member who was a firefighter

employed by the Asheville Regional Airport Fire Department on April 1, 2005, and who has not received credit for periods of service with the Firemen's and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund since that time, may receive credit for that service upon making a lump-sum payment of ten dollars (\$10.00) for each month of service not credited. Any employee of the Asheville Regional Airport Fire Department that meets all the criteria of this section may continue as a member of the Pension Fund."

#### Legal Periodicals.

For article, "The Impact of Law on the State Pension Crisis," see 54 Wake Forest L. Rev. 105 (2019).

#### § 58-86-2. Definitions.

The following words and phrases as used in this Article, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context, shall have the following meanings:

- (1) "Board" means the Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- (2) "Chair" means the chair of the Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- (3) "Director" means the Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division of the North Carolina Department of State Treasurer. The Director shall promptly transmit to the State Treasurer all moneys collected on behalf of members, which moneys shall be deposited by the State Treasurer into the fund.
- (4) "Eligible fire department" means a bona fide fire department which is certified to the State Fire Marshal by the governing body thereof, and determined as classified as not less than class "9S," and said fire department holds training sessions not less than four hours monthly.
- (5) "Eligible firefighter" means all persons 18 years of age or older who are firefighters of the State of North Carolina or any political subdivision thereof, including those performing such functions in the protection of life and property through firefighting within a county or city governmental unit. "Eligible firefighter" shall also mean an employee of a county whose sole duty is to act as fire marshal, deputy fire marshal, assistant fire marshal, or firefighter of the county. "Eligible firefighter" shall also mean those persons meeting the other qualifications of this Article, not exceeding 25 volunteer firefighters plus one additional volunteer firefighter per 100 population in the area served by their respective departments.

- (6) "Eligible rescue or emergency medical services squad" means organized rescue squad units eligible for membership in the North Carolina Association of Rescue and Emergency Medical Services, Inc.
- (7) "Eligible rescue squad worker" means all persons 18 years of age or older who are members of a rescue or emergency medical services squad that is eligible for membership in the North Carolina Association of Rescue and Emergency Medical Services, Inc. "Eligible rescue squad worker" shall also mean those persons meeting the other qualifications of this Article.
- (8) "Fully credited service" means a period of time for which the Board has received certification that a member has met all eligibility requirements for participation in the Pension Fund and for which the Board has received timely monthly payments under G.S. 58-86-35 or G.S. 58-86-40. In lieu of monthly payments under G.S. 58-86-35 or G.S. 58-86-40, a member may purchase fully credited service for any period of service as set forth in G.S. 58-86-45.
- (9) "Inactive member" means a member of the fund who is not on a leave of absence under G.S. 58-86-95 and who has not made timely payments under G.S. 58-86-35 or G.S. 58-86-40 for two consecutive years.
- (9a) "Killed in the line of duty" has the same meaning as in G.S. 143-166.2.
- (10) "Member" means an eligible firefighter or eligible rescue squad worker who has elected to participate in the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund.
- (11) "Pension Fund" means the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund.
- (12) "Training sessions" for eligible rescue squad workers means sessions in which attendance will result in the preparation of, or knowledge gained by, the member in the area of rescue, emergency medical services, injury prevention, or protection of life and property. Such drill or training sessions held by the eligible rescue squad unit to meet the requirements of this Article shall be held for the purpose of providing a learning or preparation experience for the members.
- (13) "Training sessions" for eligible firefighters means sessions in which attendance will result in the preparation of, or knowledge gained by, the member in the area of fire prevention, fire suppression, or protection of life and property. Such drill or training sessions held by the eligible fire department to meet the requirements of this Article shall be held for the purpose of providing a learning or preparation experience for the members.

#### History.

2013-284, s. 1(a); 2014-97, s. 1; 2016-108, s. 1(a); 2018-5, s. 35.29(c); 2022-16, s. 6.1; 2023-151, s. 11.44; 2024-9, s. 1(h).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(e), made subdivision (9a) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(a), effective June 1, 2016, and applicable to benefits paid when a member is killed in the line of duty on or after June 1, 2016, but before July 1, 2018. Session Laws 2022-16, s. 6.1, effective July 1, 2022, amended

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(e), to remove the applicability language affecting subdivision (9a).

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 9, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-151, s. 11.44, effective November 9, 2023, substituted "State Fire Marshal" for "Commissioner of Insurance" in subdivision (4).

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 1(h), effective June 20, 2024, inserted "Executive" in the first sentence of subdivision (3).

## § 58-86-5. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 1(a), effective July 1, 2013.

#### History.

1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1973, c. 875; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 833, s. 2; 1993, c. 9, s. 1; repealed by 2013-284, s. 1(a), effective July 1, 2013.

### Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 58-86-5 related to the creation and membership of the Board of

Trustees of the North Carolina Firemen's and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund. For present similar provisions pertaining to the creation and membership of the Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund Advisory Panel, and the provision allowing members of the Board of Trustees to serve on the advisory panel until the expiration of their current terms, see G.S. 58-86-6.

## § 58-86-6. Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund Advisory Panel.

There is created an advisory panel to be known as the Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund Advisory Panel, hereinafter referred to as "the advisory panel."

The advisory panel shall consist of seven persons:

- (1) The Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division of the North Carolina Department of State Treasurer or his or her designee, who shall act as chair.
- (2) A designee of the State Fire Marshal.
- (3) Five members to be appointed by the Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System: one paid firefighter, one volunteer firefighter, one paid rescue squad worker, one volunteer rescue squad worker, and one representing the public at large, for terms of four years each. One member of the advisory panel appointed by the Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System must be a member of that Board. Members of the advisory panel may succeed themselves if reappointed by the Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.

The persons serving on the Board of Trustees of the Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund on June 30, 2013, may serve as members of the advisory panel until the expiration of their

current terms. No member of the advisory panel shall receive any salary, compensation, or expenses other than that provided in G.S. 138-6 for each day's attendance at duly and regularly called and held meetings of the advisory panel.

#### History.

2013-284, s. 1(a); 2023-151, s. 11.45(a); 2024-9, s. 1(i).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2023-151, s. 11.45(b), provides: "The designee appointed by the Commissioner of Insurance pursuant to G.S. 58-86-6 shall continue to serve at the discretion of the State Fire Marshal."

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-151, s. 11.45(a), effective November 9, 2023, substituted "Fire Marshal" for "Insurance Commissioner" in subdivision (2).

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 1(i), effective June 20, 2024, inserted "Executive" in subdivision (1).

### § 58-86-10. Powers and duties of the board.

The Board of Trustees of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall administer the Pension Fund. The board shall request appropriations out of the general fund for administrative expenses and to provide for the financing of this pension fund, employ necessary clerical assistance, determine all applications for pensions, provide for the payment of pensions, make all necessary rules and regulations not inconsistent with law for the governance of this fund, prescribe rules and regulations of eligibility of persons to receive pensions, expend funds in accordance with the provisions of this Article, and generally exercise all other powers necessary for the administration of the fund created by this Article. Should any change or error due to the submission of fraudulent or incorrect information result in any member or beneficiary receiving from the Retirement System more or less than he or she would have been entitled to receive had their records been correct, the Board of Trustees shall correct such error, and as far as practicable, shall adjust the payment in such a manner that the actuarial equivalent of the benefit to which such member or beneficiary was correctly entitled shall be paid.

**History.** 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 2013-284, s. 1(a); 1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 2015-88, s. 2.

#### CASE NOTES

**Board Is Agency of State.** — The board of trustees of the North Carolina Firemen's Pension Fund purports to be an agency of the State, charged with the duty, among others, of administering

moneys appropriated from the general fund of the State. Great Am. Ins. Co. v. Gold, 254 N.C. 168, 118 S.E.2d 792, 1961 N.C. LEXIS 417 (1961) (decided under former statutory provisions).

### § 58-86-11. Powers and duties of the advisory panel.

The advisory panel shall meet at least once annually upon call of the chair. The advisory panel shall have no administrative authority but shall prepare an annual report to the Board of Trustees of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System regarding the status and needs of the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund.

#### History.

2013-284, s. 1(a).

## § 58-86-15. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 1(a), effective July 1, 2013.

Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 58-86-15 pertained to di-

1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1969, c. 359; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1116, s. 113; 2013-382, s. 9.1(c); repealed by 2013-284, s. 1(a), effective August 21, 2013.

## § 58-86-20. State Treasurer to be custodian of fund; appropriations; contributions to fund; expenditures.

The State Treasurer shall be the custodian of the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund and shall invest its assets in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 147-69.2 and G.S. 147-69.3. The appropriations made by the General Assembly out of the general fund to provide money for administrative expenses shall be handled in the same manner as any other general fund appropriation. One-fourth of the appropriation made out of the general fund to provide for the financing of the pension fund shall be transferred quarterly to a special fund to be known as the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund. There shall be set up in the State Treasurer's office a special fund to be known as the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund, and all contributions made by the members of this pension fund shall be deposited in the special fund. All expenditures for refunds, investments or benefits shall be in the same manner as expenditures of other special funds.

History.

1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1;

1961, c. 980; 1971, c. 30; 1979, c. 467, s. 10; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 2013-284, s. 1(a).

#### CASE NOTES

Unconstitutionality of Former **Provisions.** — As to the unconstitutionality of former provisions imposing a tax on fire insurance contracts for the purpose of providing funds for the payment of pensions to retired firemen, see Great Am. Ins. Co. v. Johnson, 257 N.C. 367, 126 S.E.2d 92, 1962 N.C. LEXIS 367 (1962).

As to the invalidity for discrimination and lack of uniformity of former provisions imposing a tax on certain fire and lightning insurance policies, see American Equitable Assurance Co. v. Gold, 249 N.C. 461, 106 S.E.2d 875, 1959 N.C. LEXIS 375 (1959); In re North Carolina Fire Ins. Rating Bureau, 249 N.C. 466, 106 S.E.2d 879, 1959 N.C. LEXIS 376 (1959).

## § 58-86-25. Determination and certification of eligible firefighters.

For purposes of this Article, eligible firefighters must attend 36 hours of training sessions in each calendar year. Each eligible fire department shall annually determine and report a certified roster of the names of those firefighters meeting the eligibility qualifications of this Article to its respective governing body, which upon determination of the validity and accuracy of the qualification, the department shall promptly submit the list to the North Carolina State Firefighters' Association. Submission of such information by a department to the North Carolina State Firefighters' Association constitutes a certification of its accuracy under accounting standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation. The North Carolina State Firefighters' Association shall provide a list of those persons meeting the eligibility requirements of this Article to the State Treasurer by January 31 of each year. For the purposes of the preceding sentences, the governing body of a fire department operated: by a county is the county board of commissioners; by a city is the city council; by a sanitary district is the sanitary district board; by a corporation, whether profit or nonprofit, is the corporation's board of directors; and by any other entity is that group designated by the board. An "eligible firefighter" may not also qualify as an "eligible rescue squad worker" in order to receive double benefits available under this Article.

#### History.

1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1983, c. 416, s. 7; 1985, c. 241; 2000-67, s. 26.22; 2001-222, s. 1; 2003-362, s. 1; 2009-66, s. 2(b); 2013-284, s. 1(a); 2015-88, s. 3; 2016-51, s. 6.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2016-51, s. 6, provides: "Chapter 251 of the Private Laws of 1889 is hereby amended by replacing the words 'North Carolina State Firemen's Association' with the words 'North Carolina State Firefighters' Association.'

"The entity formerly known as the North Carolina State Firemen's Association, and now known as the North Carolina State Firefighters' Association, is hereby authorized to amend its corporate documents to conform them to the association's new name by an appropriate filing with the Secretary of State.

"The Revisor of Statutes is hereby authorized to replace any occurrences in the General Statutes of the words 'North Carolina State Firemen's Association, 'North Carolina Firemen's Association, 'State Firemen's Association,' or any reasonable derivative thereof, with the words 'North Carolina State Firefighters' Association,' including the following sections of the General Statutes: G.S. 58-2-121, 58-78-1, 58-80-5, 58-80-25, 58-80-60, 58-84-5, 58-84-25, 58-84-33, 58-84-35, 58-84-40, 58-84-41, 58-84-46, 58-84-50, 58-84-52, 58-85-1, 58-85-10, 58-85-20, 58-85-25, 58-85-30, 58-85-35, 58-86-25, 58-87-10, 135-27, 143-136, 143B-1401, 166A-26, and 166A-69."

## § 58-86-30. Determination and certification of "eligible rescue squad worker."

Eligible rescue squad workers must attend at least 36 hours of training sessions in each calendar year. Each rescue or emergency medical services squad eligible for membership in the North Carolina Association of Rescue and Emergency Medical Services, Inc., must file a roster certified by the secretary of the association of those rescue or emergency medical services squad workers meeting the requirements of this section with the State Treasurer by January 31 of each calendar year. Submission of such information by a department to the North Carolina Association of Rescue and Emergency Medical Services, Inc., constitutes a certification of its accuracy under accounting standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation.

An "eligible rescue squad worker" may not qualify also as an "eligible firefighter" in order to receive double benefits available under this Article.

```
History. 7.21A(h); 2009-66, s. 2(c); 2013-284, s. 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 833, s. 3; 1995, c. 507, s.
```

§ 58-86-35. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Firefighters' application for membership in fund; monthly payments by members; payments credited to separate accounts of members; termination of membership.

Those firefighters who are eligible pursuant to G.S. 58-86-25 may apply to the board for membership. Each firefighter upon becoming a member of the fund shall pay the director of the fund the sum of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month; each payment shall be made no later than March 31 subsequent to the end of the calendar year in which the month occurred. The Pension Fund shall not award fully credited service based on payments received later than March 31 subsequent to the end of the calendar year in which the month occurred unless the payment is applied as provided in G.S. 58-86-45(a1). The monthly payments shall be credited to the separate account of the member and shall be kept by the custodian so it is available for payment on withdrawal from membership or retirement.

A member may elect to terminate membership in the fund at any time and request the refund of payments previously made to the fund. However, a member's delinquency in making the monthly payments required by this section does not result in the termination of membership without such an election by the member.

#### History.

1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.21A(d); 2005-91, s. 14; 2005-281, s. 1.2; 2009-66, s. 2(d); 2013-284, s. 1(a); 2024-29, s. 11.1.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(c), pro-

vides: "If Senate Bill 319, 2024 Regular Session, becomes law [SB 319 is Session Laws 2024-29], then the following applies to Sections 11.1 and 11.2 of that act [which amended G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-85-40, respectively]; to Section 11.3 of that act, as amended by Section 3(b) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-55];

and to Section 3(a) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-45]:

"(1) These sections apply to membership contributions due to the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund (Pension Fund) on or after January 1, 2025. Any membership contribution payments made to the Pension Fund on or before March 31, 2025, for service in the 2024 calendar year shall be in the amount of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month of service.

"(2) These sections apply to pension benefit amounts payable from the Pension Fund due to a member or beneficiary on or after January 1, 2025. If a member or beneficiary becomes eligible to receive a pension benefit from the Pension Fund on or before December 31, 2024, but the pension benefit amount is paid from the Pension Fund on or after January 1, 2025, then the pension amount benefit due to the member or beneficiary shall be the amount applicable to the pension benefit amount that was effective for each respective month to which the benefit applies."

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-29, s. 11.1, as amended by Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(d), effective January 1, 2025, substituted "fifteen dollars (\$15.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)" in the second sentence of the first paragraph.

### § 58-86-35. (Effective January 1, 2025) Firefighters' application for membership in fund; monthly payments by members; payments credited to separate accounts of members; termination of membership.

Those firefighters who are eligible pursuant to G.S. 58-86-25 may apply to the board for membership. Each firefighter upon becoming a member of the fund shall pay the director of the fund the sum of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per month; each payment shall be made no later than March 31 subsequent to the end of the calendar year in which the month occurred. The Pension Fund shall not award fully credited service based on payments received later than March 31 subsequent to the end of the calendar year in which the month occurred unless the payment is applied as provided in G.S. 58-86-45(a1). The monthly payments shall be credited to the separate account of the member and shall be kept by the custodian so it is available for payment on withdrawal from membership or retirement.

A member may elect to terminate membership in the fund at any time and request the refund of payments previously made to the fund. However, a member's delinquency in making the monthly payments required by this section does not result in the termination of membership without such an election by the member.

### History.

1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.21A(d); 2005-91, s. 14; 2005-281, s. 1.2; 2009-66, s. 2(d); 2013-284, s. 1(a); 2024-29, s. 11.1; 2024-42, s. 3(d).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(c), provides: "If Senate Bill 319, 2024 Regular Session, becomes law [SB 319 is Session Laws 2024-29], then the following applies to Sections 11.1 and 11.2 of that act

[which amended G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-85-40, respectively]; to Section 11.3 of that act, as amended by Section 3(b) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-55]; and to Section 3(a) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-45]:

"(1) These sections apply to membership contributions due to the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund (Pension Fund) on or after January 1, 2025. Any membership contribution payments made to the Pension Fund on or before March 31,

2025, for service in the 2024 calendar year shall be in the amount of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month of service.

"(2) These sections apply to pension benefit amounts payable from the Pension Fund due to a member or beneficiary on or after January 1, 2025. If a member or beneficiary becomes eligible to receive a pension benefit from the Pension Fund on or before December 31, 2024, but the pension benefit amount is paid from the Pension Fund on or after January 1, 2025, then the pension

amount benefit due to the member or beneficiary shall be the amount applicable to the pension benefit amount that was effective for each respective month to which the benefit applies."

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-29, s. 11.1, as amended by Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(d), effective January 1, 2025, substituted "fifteen dollars (\$15.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)" in the second sentence of the first paragraph.

# § 58-86-40. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Rescue squad worker's application for membership in funds; monthly payments by members; payments credited to separate accounts of members; termination of membership.

Those rescue squad workers eligible pursuant to G.S. 58-86-30 may apply to the board for membership. Each eligible rescue squad worker upon becoming a member shall pay the director of the fund the sum of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month; each payment shall be made no later than March 31 subsequent to the end of the calendar year in which the month occurred. The Pension Fund shall not award fully credited service based on payments received later than March 31 subsequent to the end of the calendar year in which the month occurred unless the payment is applied as provided in G.S. 58-86-45(a1). The monthly payments shall be credited to the separate account of the member and shall be kept by the custodian so it is available for payment on withdrawal from membership or retirement.

A member may elect to terminate membership in the fund at any time and request the refund of payments previously made to the fund. However, a member's delinquency in making the monthly payments required by this section does not result in the termination of membership without such an election by the member.

#### History.

1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1983, c. 500, s. 1; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 833, s. 4; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.21A(e); 2005-91, s. 15; 2005-281, s. 1.3; 2009-66, s. 2(e); 2013-284, s. 1(a); 2024-29, s. 11.2.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(c), provides: "If Senate Bill 319, 2024 Regular Session, becomes law [SB 319 is Session Laws 2024-29], then the following applies to Sections 11.1 and 11.2 of that act [which amended G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-85-40, respectively]; to Section 11.3 of that act, as amended by Section 3(b) of

this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-55]; and to Section 3(a) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-45]:

"(1) These sections apply to membership contributions due to the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund (Pension Fund) on or after January 1, 2025. Any membership contribution payments made to the Pension Fund on or before March 31, 2025, for service in the 2024 calendar year shall be in the amount of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month of service.

"(2) These sections apply to pension benefit amounts payable from the Pension Fund due to a member or beneficiary on or after January 1, 2025. If a member or beneficiary becomes eligible to receive a pension benefit from the Pension Fund on or before December 31, 2024, but the pension benefit amount is paid from the Pension Fund on or after January 1, 2025, then the pension amount benefit due to the member or beneficiary shall be the amount applicable to the pension benefit amount that

was effective for each respective month to which the benefit applies."

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-29, s. 11.2, as amended by Session Laws 2024-42, effective January 1, 2025, s. 3(d), substituted "fifteen dollars (\$15.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)" in the second sentence of the first paragraph.

# § 58-86-40. (Effective January 1, 2025) Rescue squad worker's application for membership in funds; monthly payments by members; payments credited to separate accounts of members; termination of membership.

Those rescue squad workers eligible pursuant to G.S. 58-86-30 may apply to the board for membership. Each eligible rescue squad worker upon becoming a member shall pay the director of the fund the sum of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per month; each payment shall be made no later than March 31 subsequent to the end of the calendar year in which the month occurred. The Pension Fund shall not award fully credited service based on payments received later than March 31 subsequent to the end of the calendar year in which the month occurred unless the payment is applied as provided in G.S. 58-86-45(a1). The monthly payments shall be credited to the separate account of the member and shall be kept by the custodian so it is available for payment on withdrawal from membership or retirement.

A member may elect to terminate membership in the fund at any time and request the refund of payments previously made to the fund. However, a member's delinquency in making the monthly payments required by this section does not result in the termination of membership without such an election by the member.

### History.

1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1983, c. 500, s. 1; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 833, s. 4; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.21A(e); 2005-91, s. 15; 2005-281, s. 1.3; 2009-66, s. 2(e); 2013-284, s. 1(a); 2024-29, s. 11.2; 2024-42, s. 3(d).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(c), provides: "If Senate Bill 319, 2024 Regular Session, becomes law [SB 319 is Session Laws 2024-29], then the following applies to Sections 11.1 and 11.2 of that act [which amended G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-85-40, respectively]; to Section 11.3 of that act, as amended by Section 3(b) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-55]; and to Section 3(a) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-45]:

"(1) These sections apply to membership contributions due to the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund (Pension Fund) on or after January 1, 2025. Any membership contribution payments made to the Pension Fund on or before March 31, 2025, for service in the 2024 calendar year shall be in the amount of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month of service.

"(2) These sections apply to pension benefit amounts payable from the Pension Fund due to a member or beneficiary on or after January 1, 2025. If a member or beneficiary becomes eligible to receive a pension benefit from the Pension Fund on or before December 31, 2024, but the pension benefit amount is paid from the Pension Fund on or after

January 1, 2025, then the pension amount benefit due to the member or beneficiary shall be the amount applicable to the pension benefit amount that was effective for each respective month to which the benefit applies."

amended by Session Laws 2024-42, effective January 1, 2025, s. 3(d), substituted "fifteen dollars (\$15.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)" in the second sentence of the first paragraph.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-29, s. 11.2, as

# § 58-86-45. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Additional retroactive membership.

- (a) Repealed by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 1(a), effective July 1, 2013.
- (a1) Any firefighter or rescue squad worker who is 35 years of age or older and who is a current or former member of a fire department or rescue squad chartered by the State of North Carolina may purchase credit for any periods of service to any chartered fire department or rescue squad not otherwise creditable by making a lump sum payment to the Annuity Savings Fund equal to the full liability of the service credits calculated on the basis of the assumptions used for purposes of the actuarial valuation of the system's liabilities, which payment shall take into account the retirement allowance arising on account of the additional service credit commencing at the earliest age at which the member could retire on a retirement allowance, as determined by the board of trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary, plus an administrative fee to be set by the board of trustees. This provision for the payment of a lump sum for service "not otherwise creditable" shall apply, inter alia, to all purchases of service credits for months as to which timely payments were not previously made pursuant to G.S. 58-86-35 or G.S. 58-86-40, whichever is applicable.
- (b) An eligible firefighter or rescue squad worker who is not yet 35 years old may apply to the board of trustees for membership in the fund at any time. Upon becoming a member, the worker may make a lump sum payment of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month retroactively to the time the worker first became eligible to become a member, plus interest at an annual rate to be set by the board upon advice from actuary for each year of retroactive payments. Upon making this lump sum payment, the worker shall be given credit for all prior service in the same manner as if the worker had applied for membership upon first becoming eligible.
- (c) A member of the Pension Fund who is not yet 35 years old may receive credit for the prior service upon making a lump sum payment of ten dollars (\$10.00) for each month since the worker first became eligible, plus interest at an annual rate to be set by the board for each year of retroactive payments. Upon making this lump sum payment, the date of membership shall be the same as if the worker had applied for membership upon first becoming eligible.

This provision for the payment of a lump sum for service "not otherwise creditable" shall apply, inter alia, to all purchases of service credits for months as to which timely payments were not previously made pursuant to G.S. 58-86-35 or G.S. 58-86-40, whichever is applicable, for any firefighter or rescue squad worker who is not yet 35 years of age or older and who is a current or former member of a fire department or rescue squad chartered by the State of North Carolina.

### History.

1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1014, s. 49.1(a); 1989, c. 693; 1993, c. 429, s. 1; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.21A(f); 2000-67, s. 26.17(a); 2009-66, s. 2(f); 2013-284, s. 1(a); 2016-56, s. 1.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1995, c. 507, which amended this section, in s. 7.21A(i) provides: "The changes made to G.S. 58-86-45 and G.S. 58-86-55 by this Part do not affect the credit received for service performed before July 1, 1995. The increase in monthly pension contributions from five dollars (\$5.00) to ten dollars (\$10.00) in G.S. 58-86-55 does not affect the amount of monthly contributions made prior to July 1, 1995."

Session Laws 1995, c. 507, s. 28.9, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 1995-97 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 1995-97 biennium."

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(c), provides: "If Senate Bill 319, 2024 Regular Session, becomes law [SB 319 is Session Laws 2024-29], then the following applies to Sections 11.1 and 11.2 of that act [which amended G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-85-40, respectively]; to Section 11.3 of that act, as amended by Section 3(b) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-55]; and to Section 3(a) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-45]:

"(1) These sections apply to membership contributions due to the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund (Pension Fund) on or after January 1, 2025. Any membership contribution payments made to the Pension Fund on or before March 31, 2025, for service in the 2024 calendar year shall be in the amount of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month of service.

"(2) These sections apply to pension benefit amounts payable from the Pension Fund due to a member or beneficiary on or after January 1, 2025. If a member or beneficiary becomes eligible to receive a pension benefit from the Pension Fund on or before December 31, 2024, but the pension benefit amount is paid from the Pension Fund on or after January 1, 2025, then the pension amount benefit due to the member or beneficiary shall be the amount applicable to the pension benefit amount that was effective for each respective month to which the benefit applies."

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(a), effective January 1, 2025, in subsection (b), substituted "Board" for "board of trustees" in the first sentence, and substituted "fifteen dollars (\$15.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)" in the second sentence; and, in subsection (c), substituted "fifteen dollars (\$15.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)" and "Board" for "board" in the first sentence

# § 58-86-45. (Effective January 1, 2025) Additional retroactive membership.

- (a) Repealed by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 1(a), effective July 1, 2013.
- (a1) Any firefighter or rescue squad worker who is 35 years of age or older and who is a current or former member of a fire department or rescue squad chartered by the State of North Carolina may purchase credit for any periods of service to any chartered fire department or rescue squad not otherwise creditable by making a

lump sum payment to the Annuity Savings Fund equal to the full liability of the service credits calculated on the basis of the assumptions used for purposes of the actuarial valuation of the system's liabilities, which payment shall take into account the retirement allowance arising on account of the additional service credit commencing at the earliest age at which the member could retire on a retirement allowance, as determined by the board of trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary, plus an administrative fee to be set by the board of trustees. This provision for the payment of a lump sum for service "not otherwise creditable" shall apply, inter alia, to all purchases of service credits for months as to which timely payments were not previously made pursuant to G.S. 58-86-35 or G.S. 58-86-40, whichever is applicable.

- (b) An eligible firefighter or rescue squad worker who is not yet 35 years old may apply to the Board for membership in the fund at any time. Upon becoming a member, the worker may make a lump sum payment of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per month retroactively to the time the worker first became eligible to become a member, plus interest at an annual rate to be set by the board upon advice from actuary for each year of retroactive payments. Upon making this lump sum payment, the worker shall be given credit for all prior service in the same manner as if the worker had applied for membership upon first becoming eligible.
- (c) A member of the Pension Fund who is not yet 35 years old may receive credit for the prior service upon making a lump sum payment of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) for each month since the worker first became eligible, plus interest at an annual rate to be set by the Board for each year of retroactive payments. Upon making this lump sum payment, the date of membership shall be the same as if the worker had applied for membership upon first becoming eligible. This provision for the payment of a lump sum for service "not otherwise creditable" shall apply, inter alia, to all purchases of service credits for months as to which timely payments were not previously made pursuant to G.S. 58-86-35 or G.S. 58-86-40, whichever is applicable, for any firefighter or rescue squad worker who is not yet 35 years of age or older and who is a current or former member of a fire department or rescue squad chartered by the State of North Carolina.

#### History.

1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1014, s. 49.1(a); 1989, c. 693; 1993, c. 429, s. 1; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.21A(f); 2000-67, s. 26.17(a); 2009-66, s. 2(f); 2013-284, s. 1(a); 2016-56, s. 1; 2024-42, s. 3(a).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1995, c. 507, which amended this section, in s. 7.21A(i) provides: "The changes made to G.S. 58-

86-45 and G.S. 58-86-55 by this Part do not affect the credit received for service performed before July 1, 1995. The increase in monthly pension contributions from five dollars (\$5.00) to ten dollars (\$10.00) in G.S. 58-86-55 does not affect the amount of monthly contributions made prior to July 1, 1995."

Session Laws 1995, c. 507, s. 28.9, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate

an intention to have effects beyond the 1995-97 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 1995-97 biennium."

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(c), provides: "If Senate Bill 319, 2024 Regular Session, becomes law [SB 319 is Session Laws 2024-29], then the following applies to Sections 11.1 and 11.2 of that act [which amended G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-85-40, respectively]; to Section 11.3 of that act, as amended by Section 3(b) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-55]; and to Section 3(a) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-45]:

"(1) These sections apply to membership contributions due to the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund (Pension Fund) on or after January 1, 2025. Any membership contribution payments made to the Pension Fund on or before March 31, 2025, for service in the 2024 calendar year shall be in the amount of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month of service.

"(2) These sections apply to pension benefit amounts payable from the Pension Fund due to a member or beneficiary on or after January 1, 2025. If a member or beneficiary becomes eligible to receive a pension benefit from the Pension Fund on or before December 31, 2024, but the pension benefit amount is paid from the Pension Fund on or after January 1, 2025, then the pension amount benefit due to the member or beneficiary shall be the amount applicable to the pension benefit amount that was effective for each respective month to which the benefit applies."

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(a), effective January 1, 2025, in subsection (b), substituted "Board" for "board of trustees" in the first sentence, and substituted "fifteen dollars (\$15.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)" in the second sentence; and, in subsection (c), substituted "fifteen dollars (\$15.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)" and "Board" for "board" in the first sentence.

### § 58-86-50. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2009-66, s. 2.(g), effective July 1, 2009.

# § 58-86-55. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Monthly pensions upon attaining the age of 55 years.

- (a) Any member who has served 20 years as an "eligible fire-fighter" or "eligible rescue squad worker" in the State of North Carolina, as provided in G.S. 58-86-25 and G.S. 58-86-30, and who has attained the age of 55 years is entitled to be paid a monthly pension from this fund. The monthly pension shall be in the amount of one hundred seventy dollars (\$170.00) per month. Any retired firefighter receiving a pension shall, effective July 1, 2008, receive a pension of one hundred seventy dollars (\$170.00) per month.
- (b) Members shall pay ten dollars (\$10.00) per month as required by G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-86-40 for a period of no longer than 20 years. No "eligible rescue squad member" shall receive a pension prior to July 1, 1983.
- (c) A member who is totally and permanently disabled while in the discharge of the member's official duties as a result of bodily injuries sustained or as a result of extreme exercise or extreme activity experienced in the course and scope of those official duties and who leaves the fire or rescue squad service because of this disability shall be entitled to be paid from the fund a monthly benefit in an amount of one hundred seventy dollars (\$170.00) per month beginning the first month after the member's fifty-fifth

birthday. All applications for disability are subject to the approval of the board who may appoint physicians to examine and evaluate the disabled member prior to approval of the application, and annually thereafter. Any disabled member shall not be required to make the monthly payment of ten dollars (\$10.00) as required by G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-86-40.

- (d) A member who is totally and permanently disabled for any cause, other than line of duty, who leaves the fire or rescue squad service because of this disability and who has at least 10 years of service with the pension fund, may be permitted to continue making a monthly contribution of ten dollars (\$10.00) to the fund until the member has made contributions for a total of 240 months. The member shall upon attaining the age of 55 years be entitled to receive a pension as provided by this section. All applications for disability are subject to the approval of the board who may appoint physicians to examine and evaluate the disabled member prior to approval of the application and annually thereafter.
- (d1) Benefits shall be paid in the following manner when a member is killed in the line of duty and the requirements of Article 12A of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes are met:
  - (1) If the member had been receiving a monthly pension fund benefit prior to being killed in the line of duty, there shall be paid to the member's principal beneficiary, if only one principal beneficiary is eligible and has not accepted a return of contributions, an amount of one hundred seventy dollars (\$170.00) per month beginning the month following the member's month of death, payable until the beneficiary's death. If the member became a member prior to July 1, 2018, and had not designated a principal beneficiary prior to being killed in the line of duty, there shall be paid to the member's living spouse upon the spouse's application to the Board, an amount of one hundred seventy dollars (\$170.00) per month beginning the month following the member's month of death, payable until the spouse's death.
  - (2) If the member had been receiving a monthly pension fund benefit prior to being killed in the line of duty and the beneficiary is not payable as described in subdivision (1) of this subsection, a lump sum payment equal to the difference between the amount paid into the member's separate account by or on behalf of the member and the amount received by the member as a pensioner will be paid to the eligible beneficiaries, or if there are no eligible beneficiaries, shall be paid to the member's estate.
  - (3) If the member had not yet begun receiving a monthly benefit prior to being killed in the line of duty, there shall be paid to the member's principal beneficiary, if only one principal beneficiary is eligible and has not accepted a return of

contributions, an amount of one hundred seventy dollars (\$170.00) per month beginning the month following the month the member would have attained age 55, or if the member had already attained age 55, beginning the month following the member's month of death, payable until the beneficiary's death. If the member became a member prior to July 1, 2018, and had not designated a principal beneficiary prior to being killed in the line of duty, there shall be paid to the member's living spouse upon the spouse's application to the Board, an amount of one hundred seventy dollars (\$170.00) per month beginning the month following the month the member would have attained age 55, or if the member had attained age 55, beginning the month following the member's month of death, payable until the spouse's death.

(4) If the member had not begun receiving a monthly benefit prior to being killed in the line of duty and the beneficiary is not payable as described in subdivision (3) of this subsection, a lump sum payment equal to the member's contributions will be paid to the eligible beneficiaries, or if there are no eligible beneficiaries, a return of the contributions shall be paid to the member's estate.

A beneficiary under this subsection shall not be required to make the monthly payment of ten dollars (\$10.00) as required by G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-86-40 after the member has been killed in the line of duty.

- (d2) Repealed by Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(f), effective July 1, 2018.
- (e) A member who, because the member's residence is annexed by a city under Part 2 or Part 3 of Article 4A of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes, or whose department is closed because of an annexation by a city under Part 2 or Part 3 of Article 4A of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes, or whose volunteer department is taken over by a city or county, and because of such annexation or takeover is unable to perform as a firefighter or rescue squad worker of any status, and if the member has at least 10 years of service with the pension fund, may be permitted to continue making a monthly contribution of ten dollars (\$10.00) to the fund until the member has made contributions for a total of 240 months. The member upon attaining the age of 55 years and completion of such contributions shall be entitled to receive a pension as provided by this section. Any application to make monthly contributions under this section shall be subject to a finding of eligibility by the Board of Trustees upon application of the member.
- (f) The pensions provided shall be in addition to all other pensions or benefits under any other statutes of the State of North Carolina or the United States, notwithstanding any exclusionary provisions of other pensions or retirement systems provided by law.

#### History.

1957, c. 1420, s. 1: 1959, c. 1212, s. 1: 1961, c. 980; 1971, c. 336; 1977, c. 926, s. 1; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1983, c. 500, s. 2; c. 636, s. 24; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1014, s. 49.1(b); 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1099, s. 1; 1991, c. 720, s. 48; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 653, s. 1; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.21A(g); 1997-443, s. 33.25(a); 1998-212, s. 28.21(a); 2000-67, s. 26.18; 2002-113, s. 1; 2002-126, s. 28.7; 2003-284, s. 30.19; 2004-124, s. 31.18; 2005-276, s. 29.26; 2006-66, s. 22.19; 2007-323, s. 28.21; 2008-107, s. 26.25; 2013-284, s. 1(a); 2014-64, s. 3(a); 2016-108, s. 1(b), (d), (f); 2018-85, s. 9(a); 2022-6, s. 17.3; 2022-16, s. 6.1; 2024-29, s. 11.3.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1983, c. 636, which inserted the next-to-last paragraph, effective with respect to all annexations where resolutions of intent are adopted on or after June 29, 1983, provides in ss. 37.1 and 38, as amended by Session Laws 1983, c. 768, s. 25:

"Sec. 37.1. The General Assembly intends by this act to repeal all acts and provisions of acts that modify the application to particular cities and towns of Parts 2 and 3 of Article 4A of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes or that exempt particular cities or towns from the application of either or both of those two Parts. Therefore, all such acts and provisions of acts, even if not specifically listed and repealed in Sections 26 through 35.4 of this act, are repealed. Neither this section nor Sections 26 through 35.4 of this act shall affect any annexation in progress on the dates of ratification of this act under any of the repealed or amended sections.

"Sec. 38. This act shall be effective with respect to all annexations where resolutions of intent are adopted on or after the date of ratification of this act, except that Sections 36 and 37 shall become effective with respect to all annexations where resolutions of intent are adopted on or after July 1, 1984, Sections 25.1 through 35.5 and Section 37.1 are effective upon ratification and Section 25 shall become effective as provided in that section. No annexation where a resolution of intent was adopted prior to the date of ratification of this act shall be affected by this act except as provided in Section 25."

The act was ratified June 29, 1983. Session Laws 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 653, s. 1 which amended this section was effective July 1, 1994, contingent on whether funds to implement it are appropriated in the Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 1994.

Session Laws 1995, c. 507, which amended this section, in s. 7.21A(i) provides: "The changes made to G.S. 58-86-45 and G.S. 58-86-55 by this Part do not affect the credit received for service performed before July 1, 1995. The increase in monthly pension contributions from five dollars (\$5.00) to ten dollars (\$10.00) in G.S. 58-86-55 does not affect the amount of monthly contributions made prior to July 1, 1995."

Session Laws 1995, c. 507, s. 28.9, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 1995-97 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 1995-97 biennium."

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(e), as amended by Session Laws 2022-16, s. 6.1, made subsection (d1) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(b), applicable to benefits paid when a member is killed in the line of duty on or after July 1, 2018. Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(e), made subsection (d2) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(d), applicable to benefits paid when a member is killed in the line of duty on or after June 1, 2016, but before July 1, 2018.

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(c), provides: "If Senate Bill 319, 2024 Regular Session, becomes law [SB 319 is Session Laws 2024-29], then the following applies to Sections 11.1 and 11.2 of that act [which amended G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-85-40, respectively]; to Section 11.3 of that act, as amended by Section 3(b) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-55]; and to Section 3(a) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-45]:

"(1) These sections apply to membership contributions due to the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund (Pension Fund) on or after January 1, 2025. Any membership contribution payments made to the Pension Fund on or before March 31, 2025, for service in the 2024 calendar year shall be in the amount of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month of service.

"(2) These sections apply to pension benefit amounts payable from the Pension Fund due to a member or beneficiary on or after January 1, 2025. If a member or beneficiary becomes eligible to receive a pension benefit from the Pension Fund on or before December 31, 2024, but the pension benefit amount is paid from the Pension Fund on or after January 1, 2025, then the pension amount benefit due to the member or beneficiary shall be the amount applicable to the pension benefit amount that was effective for each respective month to which the benefit applies."

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-6, s. 17.3, effective July 1, 2021, added the last sentence in subdivisions (d1)(1) and (d1)(3).

Session Laws 2024-29, s. 11.3, as amended by Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(d), effective January 1, 2025, substituted "one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175.00)" for "one hundred seventy dollars (\$170.00)" and "fifteen dollars (\$15.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)" throughout; and substituted "July 1, 2024" for "July 1, 2008" in the last sentence of subsection (a).

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(b), effective January 1, 2025, substituted "January 1, 2025" for "July 1, 2024" in the last sentence of subsection (a).

# § 58-86-55. (Effective January 1, 2025) Monthly pensions upon attaining the age of 55 years.

- (a) Any member who has served 20 years as an "eligible fire-fighter" or "eligible rescue squad worker" in the State of North Carolina, as provided in G.S. 58-86-25 and G.S. 58-86-30, and who has attained the age of 55 years is entitled to be paid a monthly pension from this fund. The monthly pension shall be in the amount of one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175.00) per month. Any retired firefighter receiving a pension shall, effective January 1, 2025, receive a pension of one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175.00) per month.
- (b) Members shall pay fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per month as required by G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-86-40 for a period of no longer than 20 years. No "eligible rescue squad member" shall receive a pension prior to July 1, 1983.
- (c) A member who is totally and permanently disabled while in the discharge of the member's official duties as a result of bodily injuries sustained or as a result of extreme exercise or extreme activity experienced in the course and scope of those official duties and who leaves the fire or rescue squad service because of this disability shall be entitled to be paid from the fund a monthly benefit in an amount of one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175.00) per month beginning the first month after the member's fifty-fifth birthday. All applications for disability are subject to the approval of the board who may appoint physicians to examine and evaluate the disabled member prior to approval of the application, and annually thereafter. Any disabled member shall not be required to make the monthly payment of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) as required by G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-86-40.
- (d) A member who is totally and permanently disabled for any cause, other than line of duty, who leaves the fire or rescue squad service because of this disability and who has at least 10 years of service with the pension fund, may be permitted to continue making a monthly contribution of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) to the fund until

the member has made contributions for a total of 240 months. The member shall upon attaining the age of 55 years be entitled to receive a pension as provided by this section. All applications for disability are subject to the approval of the board who may appoint physicians to examine and evaluate the disabled member prior to approval of the application and annually thereafter.

- (d1) Benefits shall be paid in the following manner when a member is killed in the line of duty and the requirements of Article 12A of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes are met:
  - (1) If the member had been receiving a monthly pension fund benefit prior to being killed in the line of duty, there shall be paid to the member's principal beneficiary, if only one principal beneficiary is eligible and has not accepted a return of contributions, an amount of one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175.00) per month beginning the month following the member's month of death, payable until the beneficiary's death. If the member became a member prior to July 1, 2018, and had not designated a principal beneficiary prior to being killed in the line of duty, there shall be paid to the member's living spouse upon the spouse's application to the Board, an amount of one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175.00) per month beginning the month following the member's month of death, payable until the spouse's death.
  - (2) If the member had been receiving a monthly pension fund benefit prior to being killed in the line of duty and the beneficiary is not payable as described in subdivision (1) of this subsection, a lump sum payment equal to the difference between the amount paid into the member's separate account by or on behalf of the member and the amount received by the member as a pensioner will be paid to the eligible beneficiaries, or if there are no eligible beneficiaries, shall be paid to the member's estate.
  - (3) If the member had not yet begun receiving a monthly benefit prior to being killed in the line of duty, there shall be paid to the member's principal beneficiary, if only one principal beneficiary is eligible and has not accepted a return of contributions, an amount of one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175.00) per month beginning the month following the month the member would have attained age 55, or if the member had already attained age 55, beginning the month following the member's month of death, payable until the beneficiary's death. If the member became a member prior to July 1, 2018, and had not designated a principal beneficiary prior to being killed in the line of duty, there shall be paid to the member's living spouse upon the spouse's application to the Board, an amount of one hundred sev-

enty-five dollars (\$175.00) per month beginning the month following the month the member would have attained age 55, or if the member had attained age 55, beginning the month following the member's month of death, payable until the spouse's death.

(4) If the member had not begun receiving a monthly benefit prior to being killed in the line of duty and the beneficiary is not payable as described in subdivision (3) of this subsection, a lump sum payment equal to the member's contributions will be paid to the eligible beneficiaries, or if there are no eligible beneficiaries, a return of the contributions shall be paid to the member's estate.

A beneficiary under this subsection shall not be required to make the monthly payment of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) as required by G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-86-40 after the member has been killed in the line of duty.

- (d2) Repealed by Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(f), effective July 1, 2018.
- (e) A member who, because the member's residence is annexed by a city under Part 2 or Part 3 of Article 4A of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes, or whose department is closed because of an annexation by a city under Part 2 or Part 3 of Article 4A of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes, or whose volunteer department is taken over by a city or county, and because of such annexation or takeover is unable to perform as a firefighter or rescue squad worker of any status, and if the member has at least 10 years of service with the pension fund, may be permitted to continue making a monthly contribution of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) to the fund until the member has made contributions for a total of 240 months. The member upon attaining the age of 55 years and completion of such contributions shall be entitled to receive a pension as provided by this section. Any application to make monthly contributions under this section shall be subject to a finding of eligibility by the Board of Trustees upon application of the member.
- (f) The pensions provided shall be in addition to all other pensions or benefits under any other statutes of the State of North Carolina or the United States, notwithstanding any exclusionary provisions of other pensions or retirement systems provided by law.

#### History.

1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1961, c. 980; 1971, c. 336; 1977, c. 926, s. 1; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1983, c. 500, s. 2; c. 636, s. 24; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1014, s. 49.1(b); 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1099, s. 1; 1991, c. 720, s. 48; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 653, s. 1; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.21A(g); 1997-443, s. 33.25(a); 1998-212, s. 28.21(a); 2000-67, s. 26.18; 2002-113, s. 1; 2002-126, s. 28.7; 2003-

284, s. 30.19; 2004-124, s. 31.18; 2005-276, s. 29.26; 2006-66, s. 22.19; 2007-323, s. 28.21; 2008-107, s. 26.25; 2013-284, s. 1(a); 2014-64, s. 3(a); 2016-108, s. 1(b), (d), (f); 2018-85, s. 9(a); 2022-6, s. 17.3; 2022-16, s. 6.1; 2024-29, s. 11.3; 2024-42, s. 3(b), (d).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1983, c. 636, which inserted the next-to-last paragraph, effec-

tive with respect to all annexations where resolutions of intent are adopted on or after June 29, 1983, provides in ss. 37.1 and 38, as amended by Session Laws 1983, c. 768, s. 25:

"Sec. 37.1. The General Assembly intends by this act to repeal all acts and provisions of acts that modify the application to particular cities and towns of Parts 2 and 3 of Article 4A of Chapter 160A of the General Statutes or that exempt particular cities or towns from the application of either or both of those two Parts. Therefore, all such acts and provisions of acts, even if not specifically listed and repealed in Sections 26 through 35.4 of this act, are repealed. Neither this section nor Sections 26 through 35.4 of this act shall affect any annexation in progress on the dates of ratification of this act under any of the repealed or amended sections.

"Sec. 38. This act shall be effective with respect to all annexations where resolutions of intent are adopted on or after the date of ratification of this act. except that Sections 36 and 37 shall become effective with respect to all annexations where resolutions of intent are adopted on or after July 1, 1984, Sections 25.1 through 35.5 and Section 37.1 are effective upon ratification and Section 25 shall become effective as provided in that section. No annexation where a resolution of intent was adopted prior to the date of ratification of this act shall be affected by this act except as provided in Section 25."

The act was ratified June 29, 1983.

Session Laws 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 653, s. 1 which amended this section was effective July 1, 1994, contingent on whether funds to implement it are appropriated in the Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 1994.

Session Laws 1995, c. 507, which amended this section, in s. 7.21A(i) provides: "The changes made to G.S. 58-86-45 and G.S. 58-86-55 by this Part do not affect the credit received for service performed before July 1, 1995. The increase in monthly pension contributions from five dollars (\$5.00) to ten dollars (\$10.00) in G.S. 58-86-55 does not affect the amount of monthly contributions made prior to July 1, 1995."

Session Laws 1995, c. 507, s. 28.9, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 1995-97 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds

appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 1995-97 biennium."

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(e), as amended by Session Laws 2022-16, s. 6.1, made subsection (d1) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(b), applicable to benefits paid when a member is killed in the line of duty on or after July 1, 2018. Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(e), made subsection (d2) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2016-108, s. 1(d), applicable to benefits paid when a member is killed in the line of duty on or after June 1, 2016, but before July 1, 2018.

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(c), provides: "If Senate Bill 319, 2024 Regular Session, becomes law [SB 319 is Session Laws 2024-29], then the following applies to Sections 11.1 and 11.2 of that act [which amended G.S. 58-86-35 and G.S. 58-85-40, respectively]; to Section 11.3 of that act, as amended by Section 3(b) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-55]; and to Section 3(a) of this act [which amended G.S. 58-86-45]:

"(1) These sections apply to membership contributions due to the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund (Pension Fund) on or after January 1, 2025. Any membership contribution payments made to the Pension Fund on or before March 31, 2025, for service in the 2024 calendar year shall be in the amount of ten dollars (\$10.00) per month of service.

"(2) These sections apply to pension benefit amounts payable from the Pension Fund due to a member or beneficiary on or after January 1, 2025. If a member or beneficiary becomes eligible to receive a pension benefit from the Pension Fund on or before December 31, 2024, but the pension benefit amount is paid from the Pension Fund on or after January 1, 2025, then the pension amount benefit due to the member or beneficiary shall be the amount applicable to the pension benefit amount that was effective for each respective month to which the benefit applies."

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-6, s. 17.3, effective July 1, 2021, added the last sentence in subdivisions (d1)(1) and (d1)(3).

Session Laws 2024-29, s. 11.3, as amended by Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(d), effective January 1, 2025, substituted "one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175.00)" for "one hundred seventy dol-

lars (\$170.00)" and "fifteen dollars (\$15.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)" throughout; and substituted "July 1, 2024" for "July 1, 2008" in the last sentence of subsection (a).

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 3(b), effective January 1, 2025, substituted "January 1, 2025" for "July 1, 2024" in the last sentence of subsection (a).

### § 58-86-60. Payments in lump sums.

The board shall direct payment in lump sums from the fund in the following cases:

- (1) To any firefighter or rescue squad worker upon the attaining of the age of 55 years, who, for any reason, is not qualified to receive the monthly retirement pension and who was enrolled as a member of the fund, an amount equal to the amount paid into the fund by him. This provision shall not be construed to preclude any active firefighter or rescue squad worker from completing the requisite number of years of active service after attaining the age of 55 years necessary to entitle the firefighter or rescue squad worker to the pension.
- (2) If any firefighter or rescue squad worker dies, except if the individual is killed in the line of duty, before attaining the age at which a pension is payable to the firefighter or rescue squad worker under the provisions of this Article, there shall be paid to the person or persons designated by the member, or if the member has not designated a beneficiary, to the surviving spouse of the deceased member, or if not survived by a designated beneficiary or spouse, to the deceased member's legal representative, an amount equal to the amount paid into the member's separate account by or on behalf of the said firefighter or rescue squad worker.
- (3) If any firefighter or rescue squad worker dies, except if the individual is killed in the line of duty, after beginning to receive the pension payable to the firefighter or rescue squad worker by this Article, and before receiving an amount equal to the amount paid into the fund by him or her, there shall be paid to the person or persons designated by the member, or if the member has not designated a beneficiary, to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member, or if not survived by a designated beneficiary or spouse, to the deceased retired member's legal representative, an amount equal to the difference between the amount paid into the member's separate account by or on behalf of the said firefighter or rescue squad worker and the amount received by him or her as a pensioner.
- (4) Any member who withdraws from the fund shall, upon proper application, be paid all moneys without accumulated earnings on the payments after the time they were made. A member may not purchase time under G.S. 58-86-45 for which he or she has received a refund.

```
History.
c. 667, s. 1; 2009-66, s. 2(h); 2009-365, s. 1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1; 2013-284, s. 1(a); 2016-108, s. 1(c). 1977, c. 926, s. 2; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1987,
```

# § 58-86-65. Pro rata reduction of benefits when fund insufficient to pay in full.

If, for any reason, the fund created and made available for any purpose covered by this Article shall be insufficient to pay in full any pension benefits, or other charges, then all benefits or payments shall be reduced pro rata, for as long as the deficiency in amount exists. No claim shall accrue with respect to any amount by which a pension or benefit payment shall have been reduced.

```
History. 1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1.
```

### § 58-86-70. Provisions subject to future legislative change.

These pensions shall be subject to future legislative change or revision, and no member of the fund, or any person, is deemed to have acquired any vested right to a pension or other payment provided by this Article.

```
History. 1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1.
```

# § 58-86-75. Determination of creditable service; information furnished by applicants for membership.

The board shall determine by appropriate rules and regulations the number of years' credit for service of firefighters and rescue squad workers. Firefighters and rescue squad workers who are now serving as such shall furnish the board with information upon applying for membership as to previous service. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Article, the Board may grant qualified prior service credits to eligible firemen [firefighters] and rescue squad workers under such terms and conditions that the Board may adopt when the Board determines that an eligible firefighter or rescue squad worker has been denied such service credits through no fault of his or her own.

```
History.
```

```
1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1086, s. 29; 2013-284, s. 1(a).
```

### Editor's Note.

The bracketed reference to "[firefighters]" has been inserted at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

### § 58-86-80. Length of service not affected by serving in more than one department or squad; transfer from one department or squad to another.

A firefighter's or rescue squad worker's length of service shall not be affected by the fact that he or she may have served with more than one department or squad, and upon transfer from one department or squad to another, notice of the fact shall be given to the board.

### History.

```
1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 2013-284, s. 1(a).
```

### § 58-86-85. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2005-91, s. 13, effective July 1, 2005, and Session Laws 2005-281, s. 1.1, effective August 18, 2005.

# § 58-86-90. Exemptions of pensions from attachment; rights nonassignable.

Except for the applications of the provisions of G.S. 110-136, and in connection with a court-ordered equitable distribution under G.S. 50-20, the pensions provided are not subject to attachment, garnishments or judgments against the firefighter or rescue squad worker entitled to them, nor are any rights in the fund or the pensions or benefits assignable. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, any overpayment of benefits or erroneous payments to a member in a State-administered retirement system, the Disability Salary Continuation Plan, or the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina, including any benefits paid to, or State Health Plan premiums or claims paid on behalf of, any member who is later determined to have been ineligible for those benefits or unentitled to those amounts, may be offset against any retirement allowance, return of contributions, or any other right accruing under this Article to the same person, the person's estate, or designated beneficiary.

```
History. 402; 1989, c. 792, s. 2.1; 2013-284, s. 1(a); 1957, c. 1420, s. 1; 1959, c. 1212, s. 1; 2017-129, s. 1(a). 1969, c. 486; 1981, c. 1029, s. 1; 1985, c.
```

### § 58-86-91. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 1(a), effective July 1, 2013.

#### History.

2002-126, s. 6.4(f); repealed by 2013-284, s. 1(a), effective July 1, 2013.

ductions for payments to certain employees' or retirees' associations allowed.

### Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 58-86-91 pertained to de-

### § 58-86-95. Leaves of absence; inactive membership.

- (a) Any member who resigns as an eligible firefighter or an eligible rescue squad worker, whichever is applicable, may withdraw from the fund and seek a refund under G.S. 58-86-60 or take a leave of absence as provided by G.S. 58-86-95, or he or she will be considered an inactive member.
- (b) In order to take a leave of absence, any member not on active military service must provide the office of the director with written notice that the member is taking a leave of absence. Any member not on active military service on leave of absence for more than five years in any six-year period shall be considered an inactive member.
- (c) A member is not eligible for service credit for the time he or she is on leave of absence and is not required to make monthly payments for that time. During the time a member is on leave of absence he or she is not eligible for benefits from the pension fund. A member who has taken a leave of absence may subsequently withdraw from the pension fund and seek a refund under G.S. 58-86-60. If a member dies while he or she is on leave of absence, the appropriate person or persons may seek a refund under G.S. 58-86-60.
- (d) Any member not on active military service who does not make contributions for two consecutive years and has not taken a leave of absence shall be considered an inactive member.
- (e) The director of the pension fund shall communicate annually with each eligible fire department and eligible rescue or emergency medical services squad and transmit a list of those persons on a leave of absence. The director may consult with eligible fire departments and eligible rescue or emergency medical services squads with regard to the presumed status of members.
- (f) The director of the pension fund shall maintain records of all inactive members of the fund, including dates of termination of service at an eligible fire department and eligible rescue or emergency medical services squad, and may consult with eligible fire departments and eligible rescue or emergency medical services squads with regard to the presumed status of members.
- (g) Members on active military service must notify the director prior to commencement of active military service and subsequent to return from active duty and shall be granted a leave of absence for the entire time of the military service.
- (h) If a member who is in service and has not received 20 years of fully credited service in this System on December 1, 2013, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 58-86-100 for acts committed after December 1, 2013, then that member shall forfeit all benefits under this System, except for a return of member contributions. If a member who is in service and has not received 20 years of fully credited service in this System on December 1, 2013, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 58-86-100 for acts committed after Decem-

ber 1, 2013, then that member is not entitled to any fully credited service that accrued after December 1, 2013.

History.

2013-284, s. 1(a); 2013-284, s. 2(c).

### § 58-86-100. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies that would bring disrepute on a fire department or rescue squad.

- (a) Except as provided in G.S. 58-86-95(h), the Board of Trustees shall not pay any retirement benefits or allowances, except for a return of member contributions, to any member who is convicted of any felony under federal law or the laws of this State if all of the following apply:
  - (1) The offense is committed while the member is not yet 55 years of age or has not yet received 20 years of fully credited service or while the member is 55 years of age or older and has 20 years of fully credited service but is still serving as a participant in an eligible fire department or eligible rescue squad.
  - (2) The conduct resulting in the member's conviction is directly related to service as a firefighter or rescue squad worker and brings disrepute on a fire department or rescue squad.
- (b) Subdivision (2) of subsection (a) of this section shall apply to felony convictions where the court finds under G.S. 15A-1340.16(d)(9a) or other applicable State or federal procedure that the offense is directly related to service as a firefighter or rescue squad worker.
- (c) If a member or former member whose benefits under the System were forfeited under this section, except for the return of member contributions, subsequently receives an unconditional pardon of innocence or the conviction is vacated or set aside for any reason, then the member or former member may seek a reversal of the benefit forfeiture by presenting sufficient evidence to the State Treasurer. If the State Treasurer determines a reversal of the benefit forfeiture is appropriate, then all benefits will be restored upon repayment of all accumulated contributions. Repayment of all accumulated contributions that have been received by the individual under the forfeiture provisions of this section must be made in a total lump-sum payment. An individual receiving a reversal of benefit forfeiture must receive reinstatement of the service credit forfeited.

History.

2013-284, s. 2(a).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 17, as

provides: "The State Treasurer shall negotiate a memorandum of agreement with the United States Attorneys for the Eastern, Middle, and Western Districts of North Carolina whereby the prosecuamended by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 3, tors will notify the State Treasurer of convictions under G.S. 135-18.10A(b), 4.33A(b), 135-5.1(h), 135-5.4(h), and 58-128-38.4A(b), 135-75.1A(b), 120- 86-100(b)."

### § 58-86-101. Prohibition on purchase of forfeited service.

Any member whose retirement benefits have been forfeited under G.S. 58-86-100 is prohibited from subsequently purchasing or repurchasing either those forfeited benefits or any creditable membership service associated with those forfeited benefits.

### History.

2018-52, s. 6(e).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the 'Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'".

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness): and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 11, made this section effective June 25, 2018.

### CHAPTER 108A. SOCIAL SERVICES.

### Article 2. Programs of Public Assistance.

Part 8. (Contingently repealed — see note) Health Insurance Program for Children.

Section 108A-70.20A. [Repealed.]

### ARTICLE 2.

### PROGRAMS OF PUBLIC ASSISTANCE.

### PART 8.

### (CONTINGENTLY REPEALED — SEE NOTE) HEALTH INSURANCE PROGRAM FOR CHILDREN.

### § 108A-70.20A. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2015-96, s. 3, effective June 19, 2015.

### History.

2008-107, s. 10.13(c); 2011-85, s. 2.8; repealed by 2015-96, s. 3, effective June 19, 2015.

### Editor's Note.

This section was codified as G.S. 135-43, by Session Laws 2008-107, s.

10.13(c). It was renumbered as G.S. 135-47.2 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.8, effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-47.2 as G.S. 108A-70.20A.

Former G.S. 108A-70.20A pertained to a child health insurance fund.

# CHAPTER 115C. ELEMENTARY AND SECONDARY EDUCATION.

SUBCHAPTER IV. EDUCATION PROGRAM.

### Article 14A. Charter Schools.

Part 3. Evaluation of Charter Schools.

Section

115C-218.100. Dissolution of a charter school.

SUBCHAPTER V. PERSONNEL.

Article 20. Teachers.

115C-302.4. [Expired.]

### Article 23. Employment Benefits.

115C-341. Annuity contracts from local boards of education. 115C-341.2. Department of State Treasurer sponsored 403(b) option.

### SUBCHAPTER IV. EDUCATION PROGRAM.

# ARTICLE 14A. CHARTER SCHOOLS.

### PART 3.

### EVALUATION OF CHARTER SCHOOLS.

### § 115C-218.100. Dissolution of a charter school.

- (a) **Funds Reserved for Closure Proceedings.** A charter school that has elected to participate in the North Carolina Retirement System pursuant to G.S. 135-5.3 shall, for as long as the charter school continues to participate in the North Carolina Retirement System, maintain for the purposes of ensuring payment of expenses related to closure proceedings in the event of a voluntary or involuntary dissolution of the charter school, one or more of the options set forth in this subsection. The minimum aggregate value of the options chosen by the charter school shall be fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000). The State Board of Education shall not allocate any funds under G.S. 115C-218.105 to a charter school unless the school has provided documentation to the State Board that the charter school has met the requirements of this subsection. Permissible options to satisfy the requirements of this subsection include one or more of the following:
  - (1) An escrow account.
  - (2) A letter of credit.

- (3) A bond.
- (4) A deed of trust.
- (5) Deposit of funds with the State Treasurer for investment under G.S. 147-69.2(b8), to the extent permitted by the Internal Revenue Code, as amended. The funds deposited with the State Treasurer, and any income earned thereon, are deemed State funds and shall be used solely for the provision of public education pursuant to this Article. The deposit and investment of funds under this subdivision are deemed essential to the provision of public education by the State.
- (a1) In the event of a voluntary or involuntary dissolution of the charter school, the funds reserved for closure proceedings in subsection (a) of this section shall be used to pay wages owed to charter school employees, funds owed to the North Carolina Retirement System pursuant to G.S. 135-8, and funds owed to the State Health Plan, in that order. Other expenses shall be paid from the remaining balance in the funds reserved for closure proceedings in subsection (a) of this section.
- (b) **Distribution of Assets.** Upon dissolution of a charter school, all net assets of the charter school purchased with public funds shall be deemed the property of the local school administrative unit in which the charter school is located, except capital-sourced assets. For purposes of this subsection, capital-sourced assets include (i) capital funds provided to a charter school by one or more counties pursuant to G.S. 115C-218.105(b1) and (ii) net assets purchased or improved with such funds, up to the total amount of the funds provided. Capital-sourced assets shall be deemed the property of the county or counties providing the funding and, if applicable, divided between the counties in proportion to the funds provided.

### History.

2014-100, s. 8.34(b); 2014-101, s. 7; 2015-168, s. 4; 2015-248, s. 8(a); 2022-53, s. 9.5(b); 2023-107, s. 6(a); 2023-134, s. 7.26(c).

### Editor's Note.

This section is former G.S. 115C-238.29L, as enacted by Session Laws 2014-100, s. 8.34(b). It has been renumbered as this section at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, pursuant to Session Laws 2014-101, s. 7.

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 38.8, made this section effective July 1, 2014. Session Laws 2014-100, s. 8.34, made this section applicable to charter schools that submit applications for an initial charter or the renewal of a charter to the State Board of Education on or after August 7, 2014.

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as "The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2014."

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 38.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2014-101, s. 8, provides, in part: "Except as otherwise provided, this act is effective when it becomes law [August 6, 2014] and applies beginning with the 2014-2015 school year."

Session Laws 2022-53, s. 10, made subdivision (a)(5) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2022-53, s. 9.5(b), effective July 7, 2022, and applicable to bonds issued under bond orders introduced on or after October 1, 2022, and to contracts entered into on or after October 1, 2022.

Session Laws 2023-107, s. 9, made the

amendment to subsection (b) of this section by Session Laws 2023-107, s. 6(a), effective August 16, 2023, and applicable beginning with the 2023-2024 school year.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-53, s. 9.5(b), added subdivision (a)(5). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2023-107, s. 6(a), at the end of subsection (b), added "except capital-sourced assets. For purposes of this

subsection, capital-sourced assets include (i) capital funds provided to a charter school by one or more counties pursuant to G.S. 115C-218.105(b1) and (ii) net assets purchased or improved with such funds, up to the total amount of the funds provided. Capital-sourced assets shall be deemed the property of the county or counties providing the funding and, if applicable, divided between the counties in proportion to the funds provided." For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

# SUBCHAPTER V. PERSONNEL.

# ARTICLE 20. TEACHERS.

### § 115C-302.4.

Expired pursuant to Session Laws 2019-110, s. 6, effective June 30, 2021.

### History.

2019-110, s. 1; 2019-212, s. 7(a).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2019-110, s. 6, made this

section effective July 1, 2019, and provided for its expiration on June 30, 2021. Former G.S. 115C-302.4 pertained to high-need retired teachers.

### ARTICLE 23.

### EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS.

## § 115C-341. Annuity contracts from local boards of education.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Chapter for the adoption of State and local salary schedules for the pay of teachers, principals, superintendents, and other school employees, local boards of education may enter into annual contracts with any employee of such board which provide for a reduction in salary below the total established compensation or salary schedule for a term of one year. The local board of education shall use the funds derived from the reduction in the salary of the employee to purchase a nonforfeitable annuity contract for the benefit of said employee. An employee who has agreed to a salary reduction for this purpose shall not have the right to receive the amount of the salary reduction in cash or in any other way except the annuity contract. Funds used by the local boards of education for the purchase of an annuity contract shall not

be in lieu of any amount earned by the employee before his election for a salary reduction has become effective.

The agreement for salary reductions referred to herein shall be effected under any necessary regulations and procedures adopted by the State Board of Education and on forms prepared by the State Board of Education.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this section, the amount by which the salary of any employee is reduced pursuant to this section shall be included in computing and making payroll deductions for social security and retirement system purposes, and in computing and providing matching funds for retirement system purposes.

In lieu of the annuity contracts provided for under this section, interests in custodial accounts pursuant to Section 401(f), Section 403(b)(7), and related sections of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended may be purchased by local boards of education for the benefit of qualified employees under this section with the funds derived from the reduction in the salaries of such employees.

### History.

1963, c. 582; 1981, c. 423, s. 1; 1989, c. 526, s. 1; 2011-310, s. 1.

# § 115C-341.2. Department of State Treasurer sponsored 403(b) option.

- (a) In addition to the opportunities for local boards of education to offer section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 retirement annuities and/or mutual funds to their employees under G.S. 115C-341, the Department of State Treasurer may establish an approved third-party vendor of retirement offerings as described in section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as now and hereafter amended, pursuant to which employees of local school boards may enter into nonforfeitable 403(b) plan options by way of salary reduction through the auspices of the Department of State Treasurer. This statewide plan of 403(b) offerings shall be known as the "North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan." The vendor authorized under this section shall be selected by use of Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees procurement procedures under Article 5 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, with the goal of attaining lower administrative fees and enhanced services for participants and employer compliance with applicable law and regulations. Eligible employees of local school boards shall all be allowed to use this vendor for the tax-deferred 403(b) option of their choice.
- (b) The criteria in this subsection apply to the Department of State Treasurer's 403(b) offerings to employees of local school boards under this section.
  - (1) Annuity contracts, trust accounts, and/or custodial accounts

shall be administered by a qualified third-party administrator that shall, under written agreement with the Department of State Treasurer, provide custodial, record-keeping, and administrative services. The third-party administrator may also be the selected vendor for the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan.

For employers choosing to participate in the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan, the third-party administrator shall, at a minimum, provide the following:

- a. Maintain a written plan document.
- b. Review hardship withdrawal requests, loan requests, and other disbursements permitted under section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.
- c. Maintain specimen salary reduction agreements for the employer and employees of that employer to initiate payroll deferrals.
- d. Monitor maximum contributions.
- e. Coordinate responses to the Internal Revenue Service in any case of an IRS audit.
- f. Generate educational communication materials to employees concerning the enrollment process, program eligibility, and investment options.
- g. Maintain internal reports to ensure compliance with Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code and Title 26 of the Code of Federal Regulations.
- h. Provide compliance monitoring/oversight for all 403(b) plans established under G.S. 115C-341 within each participating local board of education plan by creating and establishing the necessary connections and processes with existing and future vendors.
- Keep an updated schedule of vendor fees and commissions as to the Department's statewide plan of 403(b) offerings.
- (2) Governance and oversight of the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan will be performed under Article 5 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes by the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees established pursuant to G.S. 135-96. Because of the administrative and record-keeping duties enumerated in subdivision (1) of this subsection, any existing vendor of a 403(b) with a participating employer must either agree to share data with the State's 403(b) vendor under this provision (so as to permit oversight over contribution limits, loans, and hardship withdrawals) or be directed by the participating em-

- ployer to cease accepting new contributions, loans, and hardship withdrawals.
- (3) Investment options shall be solely determined by the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees consistent with section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- (4) Investment staff of the Department of State Treasurer may make recommendations to the State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees as to appropriate investment options. Pursuant to G.S. 135-96, the State Treasurer and Board of Trustees shall have sole responsibility for the selection of the vendor, third-party administrator, providers of investment options, and any other service provider for the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan.
- (5) All contributions made in accordance with the provisions of section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and this section shall be remitted directly to the administrator and held by the administrator in a custodial account on behalf of each participating employee. Any investment gains or losses shall be credited to those accounts. The forms of payment and disbursement procedures shall be consistent with those generally offered by similar annuity contracts, trust accounts, and custodial accounts and applicable federal and State statutes governing those contracts and accounts.
- (6) Any local board of education may elect to make contributions to the employee's account on behalf of the employee. The employer shall take whatever action is necessary to implement this section.
- (7) The design and administration of annuity contracts, trust accounts, and custodial accounts under this provision shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- (c) The administrative costs of the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan may be charged to members or deducted from members' accounts in accordance with nondiscriminatory procedures established by the Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees.
- (d) If the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees elect to discontinue offering the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan, participating local school boards that continue sponsoring their 403(b) plan shall designate another investment provider in their 403(b) plan to receive any assets remaining in their 403(b) plan upon the discontinuation of the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan. In the event

that a local school board fails to designate another investment provider, the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees may transfer the remaining assets, on behalf of the local school board, to an individual retirement account selected in a vendor solicitation pursuant to subsection (e) of G.S. 135-96.

### History.

2011-310, s. 2; 2016-108, s. 7(a); 2018-84, s. 5(b); 2022-14, s. 3.1.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 3.1, effective July 1, 2022, added subsection (d).

# CHAPTER 115D. COMMUNITY COLLEGES.

### Article 2. Local Administration.

Section

115D-25. Purchase of annuity or retirement income contracts for employees by local boards of trustees.

115D-25.4. Department of State Treasurer-sponsored 403(b) option.

### ARTICLE 2.

### LOCAL ADMINISTRATION.

# § 115D-25. Purchase of annuity or retirement income contracts for employees by local boards of trustees.

Notwithstanding any provision of law relating to salaries or salary schedules for the pay of faculty members, administrative officers, or any other employees of community colleges, the board of trustees of any of the above institutions may authorize the finance officer or agent of same to enter into annual contracts with any of the above officers, agents and employees which provide for reductions in salaries below the total established compensation or salary schedule for a term of one year. The financial officer or agent shall use the funds derived from the reduction in the salary of the officer, agent or employee to purchase a nonforfeitable annuity or retirement income contract for the benefit of said officer, agent or employee. An officer, agent or employee who has agreed to a salary reduction for this purpose shall not have the right to receive the amount of the salary reduction in cash or in any other way except the annuity or retirement income contract. Funds used for the purchase of an annuity or retirement income contract shall not be in lieu of any amount earned by the officer, agent or employee before his election for a salary reduction has become effective. The agreement for salary reductions referred to in this section shall be effected under any necessary regulations and procedures adopted by the State Board of Community Colleges and on forms prepared by the State Board of Community Colleges. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this section or law, the amount by which the salary of an officer, agent or employee is reduced pursuant to this section shall not be excluded, but shall be included, in computing and making payroll deductions for social security and retirement system purposes, and in computing and providing matching funds for retirement system purposes.

In lieu of the annuity and related contracts provided for under this section, interests in custodial accounts pursuant to Section 401(f), Section 403(b)(7), and related sections of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended may be purchased by local boards of trustees for the benefit of qualified employees under this section with the funds derived from the reduction in the salaries of such employees.

```
History. 564, s. 11; 1989, c. 526, s. 2; 2015-169, s. 1965, c. 366; 1979, c. 462, s. 2; c. 896, s. 1. 13; 1979, 2nd Sess., c. 1130, s. 1; 1987, c.
```

# § 115D-25.4. Department of State Treasurer-sponsored 403(b) option.

- (a) In addition to the opportunities for local boards of trustees to offer section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 retirement annuities and/or mutual funds to their employees under G.S. 115D-25, local boards of trustees may also offer the "North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan" as operated by the Department of State Treasurer.
- (b) The criteria in this subsection apply to the Department of State Treasurer's 403(b) offerings to employees of local boards of trustees under this section:
  - (1) Annuity contracts, trust accounts, and/or custodial accounts shall be administered by a qualified third-party administrator that shall, under written agreement with the Department of State Treasurer, provide custodial, record-keeping, and administrative services. The third-party administrator may also be the selected vendor for the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan.
  - For local boards of trustees as employers choosing to participate in the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan, the third-party administrator shall, at a minimum, provide the following:
    - a. Maintain a written plan document.
    - b. Review hardship withdrawal requests, loan requests, and other disbursements permitted under section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.
    - c. Maintain specimen salary reduction agreements for the employer and employees of that employer to initiate payroll deferrals.
    - d. Monitor maximum contributions.
    - e. Coordinate responses to the Internal Revenue Service in any case of an IRS audit.
    - f. Generate educational communication materials to employees concerning the enrollment process, program eligibility, and investment options.
    - g. Maintain internal reports to ensure compliance with section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code and Title 26 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

- h. Provide compliance monitoring/oversight for all 403(b) plans established under G.S. 115D-25 within each participating local board of trustees plan by creating and establishing the necessary connections and processes with existing and future vendors.
- i. Keep an updated schedule of vendor fees and commissions as to the Department's statewide plan of 403(b) offerings.
- (2) Governance and oversight of the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan will be performed under Article 5 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes by the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees established pursuant to G.S. 135-96. Because of the administrative and record-keeping duties enumerated in subdivision (1) of this subsection, any existing vendor of a 403(b) with a participating employer must either agree to share data with the State's 403(b) vendor under this provision (so as to permit oversight over contribution limits, loans, and hardship withdrawals) or be directed by the participating employer to cease accepting new contributions, loans, and hardship withdrawals.
- (3) Investment options shall be solely determined by the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees consistent with section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- (4) Investment staff of the Department of State Treasurer may make recommendations to the State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees as to appropriate investment options. Pursuant to G.S. 135-96, the State Treasurer and Board of Trustees shall have sole responsibility for the selection of the vendor, third-party administrator, providers of investment options, and any other service provider for the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan.
- (5) All contributions made in accordance with the provisions of section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and this section shall be remitted directly to the administrator and held by the administrator in a custodial account on behalf of each participating employee. Any investment gains or losses shall be credited to those accounts. The forms of payment and disbursement procedures shall be consistent with those generally offered by similar annuity contracts, trust accounts, and custodial accounts and applicable federal and State statutes governing those contracts and accounts.
- (6) Any local board of trustees may elect to make contributions to the employee's account on behalf of the employee. The

- local board of trustees shall take whatever action is necessary to implement this section.
- (7) The design and administration of annuity contracts, trust accounts, and custodial accounts under this provision shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- (c) The administrative costs of the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan may be charged to members or deducted from members' accounts in accordance with nondiscriminatory procedures established by the Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees.
- (d) If the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees elect to discontinue offering the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan, participating local boards of trustees that continue sponsoring their 403(b) plan shall designate another investment provider in their 403(b) plan to receive any assets remaining in their 403(b) plan upon the discontinuation of the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan. In the event that a local board of trustees fails to designate another investment provider, the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees may transfer the remaining assets, on behalf of the local board of trustees, to an individual retirement account selected in a vendor solicitation pursuant to subsection (e) of G.S. 135-96.

### History.

2015-169, s. 2; 2016-108, s. 7(b); 2020-48, s. 1.15; 2022-14, s. 3.2.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.15, effective June 26, 2020, added subsection (c). Session Laws 2022-14, s. 3.2, effective July 1, 2022, added subsection (d).

### CHAPTER 120.

### GENERAL ASSEMBLY.

### Article 1. Apportionment of Members; Compensation and Allowances.

### Section

120-4.2. Repeal of Legislative Retirement Fund.

### Article 1A. Legislative Retirement System.

- 120-4.8. Definitions.
- 120-4.9. Retirement system established.
- 120-4.10. Administration of retirement system.
- 120-4.11. Membership.
- 120-4.12. Creditable service.
- 120-4.12A. Reciprocity of creditable service with other state-administered retirement systems.
- 120-4.13. Transfer of membership and benefits.
- 120-4.14. Purchase of prior service.
- 120-4.15. Repayment of contributions.
- 120-4.16. Repayments and purchases.
- 120-4.17. Assets of retirement system.
- 120-4.18. Management of funds.
- 120-4.19. Contributions by the members.
- 120-4.20. Contributions by the State.
- 120-4.21. Service retirement benefits.
- 120-4.22. Disability retirement benefits.
- 120-4.22A. Post-retirement increases in allowances.
- 120-4.23. Reexamination for disability retirement allowance.
- 120-4.24. Return to membership of former member.
- 120-4.25. Return of accumulated contributions.
- 120-4.26. Benefit payment options.
- 120-4.26A. Benefits on death after retirement.
- 120-4.27. Death benefit.
- 120-4.28. Survivor's alternate benefit.
- 120-4.29. Exemption from garnishment, attachment.
- 120-4.30. Termination or partial termination; discontinuance of contributions.
- 120-4.31. Internal Revenue Code compliance.
- 120-4.32. Deduction for payments allowed.
- 120-4.33. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies.
- 120-4.33A. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies related to employment or holding office.
- 120-4.33B. Prohibition on purchase of forfeited service.
- 120-4.34. Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance.

### Article 7. Legislative Services Commission.

120-32.01. Information to be supplied.

### Article 14A. Committees on Pensions and Retirement.

120-111.3. Analysis of legislation.

### Article 15. Legislative Actuarial Note Act.

120-114. Actuarial notes; Retirement System cost estimates.

### ARTICLE 1.

### APPORTIONMENT OF MEMBERS; COMPENSATION AND ALLOWANCES.

### § 120-4.2. Repeal of Legislative Retirement Fund.

- (a) Effective as of the end of the term of the members of the 1973 General Assembly, G.S. 120-4.1 is repealed, subject to the following provisions to preserve vested and inchoate rights in the Legislative Retirement Fund:
- (b) All persons who have at least four terms of creditable service as of the end of the 1973 term shall be entitled to receive the retirement benefits provided under G.S. 120-4.1 as it existed prior to this repealing act, but no credit shall be given for any service performed after the end of the 1973 term.
- (c) Solely for purposes of administering the benefits authorized by G.S. 120-3 to 120-4.2, the authority and duties created by G.S. 120-4.1 as it existed prior to this repealing act shall continue in effect, except that the General Assembly may opt to make annual transfers instead of quarterly transfers of funds to the Department of State Treasurer.

### History.

1973, c. 1482, s. 3; 2014-97, s. 7.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1979, c. 467, s. 11, provided that: "Any other provisions of law to the contrary notwithstanding, the State Treasurer shall invest the assets of

the Legislative Retirement Fund created by Chapter 1269 of the Session Laws of 1969, as amended by Chapter 905 of the Session Laws of 1971 and Chapter 1482 of the Session Laws of 1973, in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 147-69.2 and G.S. 147-69.3."

### ARTICLE 1A.

### LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

### § 120-4.8. Definitions.

The following definitions apply in this Article, unless the context clearly requires otherwise:

- (1) Accumulated contributions. The sum of all the amounts deducted from the compensation of a member and credited to his individual account in the annuity savings fund, together with regular interest as provided in G.S. 135-7(b).
- (2) Actuarial equivalent. A benefit of equal value when computed upon the basis of the mortality tables as adopted by the Board of Trustees, and regular interest.
- (3) Annuity. Payment for life derived from the accumulated contributions of a member. All annuities are payable in equal monthly installments.
- (4) Annuity reserve. The present value of all payments to be

- made on account of any annuity, or benefit in lieu of any annuity, computed upon the basis of the mortality tables adopted by the Board of Trustees, and regular interest.
- (5) Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, which is responsible for administering the Legislative Retirement System.
- (6) Compensation. Salary and expense allowance paid for service as a legislator in the North Carolina General Assembly, exclusive of travel and per diem. Effective July 1, 2009, compensation also includes payment of military differential wages.
- (7) Creditable service. The total of a member's prior service plus membership service for which credit is allowable under this Article. In no event shall creditable service be deemed membership service for the purpose of determining eligibility for benefits accruing under this Article.
- (8) Filing. When used in reference to an application for retirement, the receipt of an acceptable application on a form provided by the Retirement System.
- (9) Highest annual salary. The twelve consecutive months of compensation authorized during a member's final legislative term for the highest position that a member ever held as a member of the General Assembly.
- (10) Medical Board. The board of physicians provided for in G.S. 135-6, which shall determine disability as provided in this Article.
- (11) Member in service. A member in service on or after June 15, 1983.
- (12) Pension reserve. The present value of all payments to be made on account of any pension, or benefit in lieu of any pension, computed upon the basis of the mortality tables adopted by the Board of Trustees, and regular interest.
- (13) Pensions. Payment for life derived from money provided by the State of North Carolina. All pensions are payable in equal monthly installments.
- (14) Present member of the General Assembly. A person who is a member of the North Carolina General Assembly on or after June 15, 1983.
- (15) Regular interest. Interest compounded annually at the rate determined by the Board of Trustees in accordance with G.S. 135-7(b) and G.S. 120-4.10.
- (16) Retirement. The withdrawal from active service with a retirement allowance granted under the provisions of this Article. In order for a member's retirement to become effective in any month, the member must render no service at any time during that month.
- (17) Retirement System. The Legislative Retirement System of North Carolina.

(18) Year. — The regular State fiscal year beginning July 1, and ending June 30 in the following calendar year, unless otherwise defined in rule adopted by the Board of Trustees.

#### History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, s. 198; 1987, c. 738, s. 31(a); 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, s. 7.29(a); 2009-66, s. 6(h); 2024-10, s. 17(a).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 4.22(a)-(d), provides: "(a) This section shall apply to the following General Statutes:

- "(1) Article 1A of Chapter 120.
- "(2) Article 3 of Chapter 128.
- "(3) Article 1 of Chapter 135.
- "(4) Article 4 of Chapter 135.
- "(5) Article 6 of Chapter 135.

"(b) Whenever the medical board, as established under G.S. 128-28(l), 135-6(k), or 135-102(d), is required to make a determination or certification of eligibility for disability benefits, the Director of the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer, or the Director's designee, may make an interim determination or an interim certification that a member or beneficiary is eligible for disability benefits. The Director may not make a determination or certification that a member or beneficiary is not eligible for disability benefits.

"(c) The medical board shall review any interim determinations or interim

certifications made in accordance with this section as soon as practicable and shall then make a final determination or final certification for disability benefits. If, subsequent to an interim determination or interim certification, the medical board makes a final determination that a member or beneficiary is not eligible for disability benefits, then any payment to that member or beneficiary shall cease and the determination shall be applied prospectively only so that the final determination will not require any refund by the member or beneficiary to the applicable retirement system or benefit plan for payments or benefits received during the interim period before the final determination is made.

"(d) This section is effective when it becomes law. Subsection (b) of this section expires August 1, 2020. Any interim determinations or interim certifications made, as allowed under subsection (b) of this section, will remain valid until a final determination is made, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section."

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 5, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 17(a), effective June 20, 2024, rewrote the section.

### § 120-4.9. Retirement system established.

A Retirement System is established and placed under the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System for administrative purposes. This Retirement System is a governmental plan, within the meaning of Section 414(d) of the Internal Revenue Code. Therefore, the nondiscrimination rules of Sections 401(a)(5) and 401(a)(26) of the Code do not apply.

The Retirement System shall have all the power and privileges of a corporation and shall be known as the "Legislative Retirement System of North Carolina." By this name all of its business shall be transacted, all of its funds invested and all of its cash and securities and other property held. All direction and policies concerning the Legislative Retirement System shall be vested in the Board of Trustees.

Consistent with Section 401(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code, all member employee and employer contributions to this Retirement System shall be made to funds held in trust through trust instruments that have the purposes of distributing trust principal and

income to retired members and their beneficiaries and of paying other definitely determinable benefits under this Chapter, after meeting the necessary expenses of administering this Retirement System. Neither the trust corpus nor income from this trust can be used for purposes other than the exclusive benefit of members or their beneficiaries, except that employer contributions made to the trust under a good faith mistake of fact may be returned to an employer, where the refund can occur within less than one year after the mistaken contribution was made, consistent with the rule adopted by the Board of Trustees. The Retirement System shall have a consolidated Plan document, consisting of relevant statutory provisions in this Chapter, associated regulations in the North Carolina Administrative Code, substantive and procedural information on the official forms used by the Retirement System, and policies and minutes of the Board of Trustees.

## History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238; 2012-130, s. 7(a); 2013-287, s. 6.

# § 120-4.10. Administration of retirement system.

The Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System shall be the trustee of the Retirement System. The provisions of this Article shall be administered by the Board of Trustees.

#### History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238; 2013-287, s. 7.

# § 120-4.11. Membership.

The following members of the General Assembly and former members of the General Assembly are eligible for membership in the Retirement System:

- (1) Members of the General Assembly who serve on and after June 15, 1983; and
- (2) Former members of the General Assembly who served prior to June 15, 1983; and
  - a. Who elect to transfer current and future entitlements, or contributions, from the Legislative Retirement Fund established by Chapter 1269 of the 1969 Session Laws; or
  - b. Who have five or more years of service as a member of the General Assembly.

```
History. ss. 1, 7; 1987 (1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, ss. 188, 189; 1985, c. 400,
```

ss. 1, 7; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1109; 2001-424, s. 32.30(a).

## § 120-4.12. Creditable service.

- (a) Creditable service at retirement consists of the membership service rendered by the member of the Retirement System and any prior service purchased or granted by this Article.
- (b) Membership Service means the number of years served as a member of the General Assembly as of the establishment of the Retirement System and thereafter. One year of membership service is equal to 12 months for which a legislator received compensation.
  - (c) Prior service means:
    - (1) The number of years a present member of the General Assembly served in the General Assembly prior to becoming a member of the Retirement System;
    - (2) The number of years served by former members of the General Assembly who were vested in the Legislative Retirement Fund. One year of prior service is equal to 12 months for which a legislator received compensation.
- (c1) On or before December 31, 2024, any member of the Retirement System who was a member of the General Assembly as of January 1985 may purchase prior service credit for the month of January 1985 based upon seven percent (7%) of the compensation received for that period.
- (d) Recodified as G.S. 120-4.12B(a) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 15(b), effective June 20, 2024.
- (e) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 15(c), effective June 20, 2024.
- (f) If a member who has not vested in this System on July 1, 2007, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 120-4.33 for acts committed after July 1, 2007, then that member shall forfeit all benefits under this System. If a member who has vested in this System on July 1, 2007, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 120-4.33 for acts committed after July 1, 2007, then that member is not entitled to any creditable service that accrued after July 1, 2007, regardless of whether that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Article, or accrued by any other means. No member shall forfeit any benefit or creditable service earned from a position not as a member of the General Assembly. For purposes of this subsection, creditable service attributable to the conversion of sick leave accrues in this System on the date of retirement, service transferred to this System from another system accrues in this System on the effective date of the transfer, and purchased service accrues in this System on the date of the purchase.
- (g) If a member who is a present member of the General Assembly and who has not vested in this System on December 1, 2012, is

convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 120-4.33A for acts committed after December 1, 2012, then that member shall forfeit all benefits under this System, except for a return of member contributions plus interest. If a member who is a present member of the General Assembly and has vested in this System on December 1, 2012, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 120-4.33A for acts committed after December 1, 2012, then that member is not entitled to any creditable service that accrued after December 1, 2012, regardless of whether that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Article, or accrued by any other means. For purposes of this subsection, creditable service attributable to the conversion of sick leave accrues in this System on the date of retirement, service transferred to this System from another system accrues in this System on the effective date of the transfer, and purchased service accrues in this System on the date of the purchase.

#### History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, ss. 187, 190; 1989, c. 762, s. 1; 1993, c. 321, s. 71; 2007-179, s. 1(b); 2009-281, s. 1; 2011-183, s. 89; 2012-193, s. 8; 2020-48, s. 4.4(g), (h); 2024-10, ss. 15(b), (c), 17(b).

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.4(g), (h), effective June 26, 2020, in subsections (f) and (g), added "regardless of whether

that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Article, or accrued by any other means" at the end of the second sentence, and added the last sentence.

Session Laws 2024-10, ss. 15(b), (c), and 17(b), effective June 20, 2024, recodified subsection (d) as new G.S. 120-4.12B(a); repealed subsection (e); and added "On or before December 31, 2024" at the beginning of subsection (c1).

# § 120-4.12A. Reciprocity of creditable service with other state-administered retirement systems.

(a) Only for the purpose of determining eligibility for benefits accruing under this Article, creditable service standing to the credit of a member of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall be added to the creditable service standing to the credit of a member of this System; provided, that in the event a person is a retired member of any of the foregoing retirement systems, such creditable service standing to the credit of the retired member prior to retirement shall be likewise counted. In no instance shall service credits maintained in the aforementioned retirement systems be added to the creditable service in this System for application of this System's benefit accrual

rate in computing a service retirement benefit unless specifically authorized by this Article.

- (b) A person who was a former member of this System and who has forfeited his creditable service in this System by receiving a return of contributions and who has creditable service in the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System may count such creditable service for the purpose of restoring the creditable service forfeited in this System under the terms and conditions as set forth in this Article and reestablish membership in this System.
- (c) Creditable service under this section shall not be counted twice for the same period of time whether earned as a member, purchased, or granted as prior service credits.

```
History.
1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1066, s.
```

# § 120-4.13. Transfer of membership and benefits.

- (a) The Board of Trustees shall set up procedures to transfer membership from the Legislative Retirement Fund to the Retirement System and to recompute benefits paid to retirees of the Legislative Retirement Fund who elect to transfer to the Retirement System.
- (b) The accumulated contributions and creditable service of any member whose service as a member of the General Assembly has been or is terminated other than by retirement or death and who, while still a member of this Retirement System, became or becomes a member, as defined in G.S. 135-1(13), of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System for a period of five or more years may, upon application of the member, be transferred from this Retirement System to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System. In order to effect the transfer of a member's creditable service from the Legislative Retirement System to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, there shall be transferred from the Legislative Retirement System to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System the sum of (i) the accumulated contributions of the member credited in the annuity savings fund and (ii) the amount of reserve held in the Legislative Retirement System as a result of previous contributions by the employer on behalf of the transferring member.
- (c) The accumulated contributions and creditable service of any member whose service as a member of the General Assembly has been or is terminated other than by retirement or death and who, while still a member of this Retirement System, became or becomes a member, as defined in G.S. 135-53(11), of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System for a period of five or more years may, upon

application of the member, be transferred from this Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System. In order to effect the transfer of a member's creditable service from the Legislative Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, there shall be transferred from the Legislative Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System the sum of (i) the accumulated contributions of the member credited in the annuity savings fund and (ii) the amount of reserve held in the Legislative Retirement System as a result of previous contributions by the employer on behalf of the transferring member.

```
History. 1983, c. 761, s. 238; 2003-284, s. 30.18(a).
```

# § 120-4.14. Purchase of prior service.

Purchase of prior service rendered by a member of the General Assembly before becoming a member of the Retirement System that is not service that may be transferred pursuant to G.S. 120-4.12 shall be at the rate of one month of service for each month for which a legislator received compensation, computed as follows:

- (1) For final legislative terms beginning with the 1975 General Assembly, seven percent (7%) of the highest legislative compensation at the time of purchase plus an administrative fee to be paid in lump sum.
- (2) Repealed by Session Laws 2018-85, s. 5, effective June 25, 2018.

```
History. (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, s. 191; 1985, c. 1983, c. 761, s. 238; c. 923, s. 217; 1983 400, s. 2; 2018-85, s. 5.
```

## § 120-4.15. Repayment of contributions.

- (a) On or before December 31, 2021, repayment of contributions withdrawn from the Legislative Retirement Fund and System shall be at the rate of seven percent (7%) of the highest monthly compensation received as a legislator at the time of purchase for each month of creditable service restored plus an administrative fee to be paid in lump sum.
- (b) On and after January 1, 2022, but before January 1, 2025, repayment of contributions withdrawn from the Legislative Retirement Fund and System shall be in an amount equal to the full liability increase due to the additional service credits on the basis of the assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) assumed annual postretirement allowance increases as set by the Board of

Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System upon the advice of the consulting actuary. The calculation of the amount payable shall also include an administrative fee to be set by the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

(c) On or after January 1, 2025, any member who withdrew his or her contributions in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 120-4.25 and who subsequently returns to service and completes at least five years of service, may, while in service, purchase creditable service in an amount up to the total amount of membership service associated with the withdrawn contributions, but not to exceed a total of five years. Creditable service shall be purchased under this subsection by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase of the Retirement System due to the additional service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

#### History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238; c. 923, s. 217; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, s. 192; 2020-29, s. 1(f); 2024-10, s. 17(c).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(k), provides: "For all service purchases that are required to have been made by December 31, 2021, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall accept and process all service purchase request forms that are received by the Retirement Systems Division on or before December 31, 2021."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

## Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(f), effective June 19, 2020, designated the existing provisions as subsection (a), and added "On or before December 31, 2021" at the beginning; and added subsection (b).

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 17(c), effective June 20, 2024, deleted the former second paragraph of subsection (b); and added subsection (c).

## § 120-4.16. Repayments and purchases.

- (a) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 17(d), effective June 20, 2024.
- (b) Purchase of Service Credits Through Rollover Contributions From Certain Other Plans. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, subject to the requirements of this subsection and any rules adopted, or policies established, by the Board of Trustees and without regard to any limitations on contributions otherwise set forth in this Article, payments or repayments made for membership or creditable service allowed

under this Article may be made by a member through rollover contributions to the Annuity Savings Fund from any of the following sources:

- (1) An annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (2) An eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state.
- (3) An individual retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is eligible to be rolled over and would otherwise be includible in gross income.
- (4) A qualified plan described in Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.

No rollover contribution shall be made under this section, and the Retirement System shall not accept any amount as a rollover contribution, unless the amount required for the payment or repayment is eligible to be rolled over to a qualified trust in accordance with applicable law and the member provides evidence satisfactory to the Retirement System that the amount qualifies for rollover treatment. Unless received by the Retirement System in the form of a direct rollover, the rollover contribution must be paid to the Retirement System on or before the 60th day after the date it was received by the member.

- (b1) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 17(d), effective June 20, 2024.
- (c) Purchase of Service Credits Through Plan-to-Plan Transfers. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, subject to the requirements of this section and any rules adopted, or policies established, by the Board of Trustees and without regard to any limitations on contributions otherwise set forth in this Article, payments or repayments made for membership or creditable service allowed under this Article may be made by a member through a direct transfer to the Annuity Savings Fund of funds from any of the following sources:
  - (1) An annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.
  - (2) An eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, a political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or a political subdivision of a state.
  - (3) Supplemental Retirement Income Plans A, B, or C of North Carolina.
  - (4) Any other defined contribution plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by the State of North Carolina, a political subdivision of the

State or any other state, or any agency or instrumentality of the State or any other state or political subdivision of the State or any other state.

#### History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1987, c. 738, s. 31(b); 2002-71, s. 1; 2017-102, s. 18; 2020-29, s. 1(g); 2024-10, s. 17(d).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2002-71, s. 9, provides, in part, that s. 1 of the act becomes effective January 1, 2003, except that G.S. 120-4.16(c), as enacted by s. 1, becomes effective the later of January 1, 2003, or the date upon which the Department of State Treasurer receives a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service approving the direct transfers provided for in that subsection. The Revisor of Statutes is informed that a favorable letter of determination has been received.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(k), provides: "For all service purchases that are required to have been made by December 31, 2021, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall accept and process all service purchase request forms that are received by the Retirement Systems Division on or before December 31, 2021."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(g), effective June 19, 2020, in subsection (a), substituted "liability increase due to the additional service credits on the basis of the assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) assumed annual postretirement allowance increases as set by the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System upon the advice of the consulting actuary" for "actuarial cost of the additional service credit as defined in G.S. 135-4(m)" and added the last sentence.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 17(d), effective June 20, 2024, rewrote the section.

## § 120-4.17. Assets of retirement system.

- (a) All of the assets of the Retirement System shall be credited according to the purpose for which they are held to one of two funds, either the Annuity Savings Fund or the Pension Accumulation Fund.
- (b) The Annuity Savings Fund is the fund to which all members' contributions, and regular interest allowances provided for as in G.S. 135-7(b), shall be credited. From this fund shall be paid the accumulated contributions of a member.
- (c) Upon the retirement of a member, his accumulated contributions shall be transferred from the Annuity Savings Fund to the Pension Accumulation Fund. In the event that a retired former member should subsequently again become a member of the Retirement System as provided for in G.S. 120-4.11, any excess of his accumulated contributions at his date of retirement over the sum of the retirement allowance payments received by him since his date of retirement shall be transferred from the Pension Accumulation Fund to the Annuity Savings Fund and shall be credited to his individual account in the Annuity Savings Fund.
- (d) The Pension Accumulation Fund is the fund in which accumulated contributions by the State and amounts transferred from the Annuity Savings Fund in accordance with subsection (c) of this

section and to which all income from the invested assets of the Retirement System are credited. From this fund is paid retirement allowances and any other benefits provided for under this Article except payments of accumulated contributions as provided in G.S. 120-4.14.

(e) The regular interest allowance on the members' accumulated contributions provided for as in G.S. 135-7(b) shall be transferred each year from the Pension Accumulation Fund to the Annuity Savings Fund.

## History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238.

# § 120-4.18. Management of funds.

The Board of Trustees shall manage the fund established by G.S. 120-4.17 pursuant to G.S. 135-7.

## History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238.

# § 120-4.19. Contributions by the members.

Effective upon convening of the 1985 Regular Session of the General Assembly, each member shall contribute by payroll deduction for each pay period for which he receives compensation seven percent (7%) of his compensation for the period.

Anything within this Article to the contrary notwithstanding, the State, pursuant to the provisions of Section 414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended, shall pick up and pay the contributions which would be payable by the members under this section with respect to the services of such members rendered after the effective date of this paragraph. The members' contributions picked up by the State shall be designated for all purposes of the Retirement System as member contributions, except for the determination of tax upon a distribution from the System. These contributions shall be credited to the Annuity Savings Fund and accumulated within the Fund in a member's account which shall be separately established for the purpose of accounting for picked-up contributions. Member contributions picked up by the State shall be payable from the same source of funds used for the payment of compensation to a member. A deduction shall be made from a member's compensation equal to the amount of his contributions picked up by the State. This deduction, however, shall not reduce a member's compensation as defined in G.S. 120-4.8. Picked-up contributions shall be transmitted to the Retirement System monthly for the preceding month by means of a warrant drawn by the State payable to the Retirement System and shall be accompanied by a schedule of the picked-up contributions on such forms as may be prescribed.

#### History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1985, c. 400, s. 8; 2024-10, s. 18(f).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 18(f), effective June 20, 2024, provides: "The Revi-

sor of Statutes shall replace the reference to "G.S. 120-4.8(1)" with "G.S. 120-4.8" in G.S. 120-4.19." Pursuant to this authority, the Revisor made the substitution at the end of the next-to-last sentence of the second paragraph.

## CASE NOTES

Funding. — Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System of North Carolina, and Legislative Retirement System are funded by both employee and State, or employer, contributions under G.S. 135-8, 135-68, 135-69, 120-4.19, and 120-4.20; these systems provide for a systematic method of funding of the respective retirement system with employee contributions computed as a set percentage of

the employees' salaries, and with systematic employer contributions in accordance with formulas mandated by the retirement statutes, which include calculations by an actuary based on the actuarial valuation of liabilities of the retirement systems. State Emples. Ass'n of N.C., Inc. v. State, 154 N.C. App. 207, 573 S.E.2d 525, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 1451 (2002), rev'd, 357 N.C. 239, 580 S.E.2d 693, 2003 N.C. LEXIS 599 (2003).

# § 120-4.20. Contributions by the State.

- (a) Effective upon convening of the 1985 Regular Session of the General Assembly, the State shall contribute annually an amount equal to the sum of the "normal contribution" and the "accrued liability contribution."
- (b) The normal contribution for any period shall be determined as a percentage, equal to the normal contribution rate, of the total compensation of the members for the period. The normal contribution rate shall be determined as the percentage represented by the ratio of (i) the annual normal cost to provide the benefits of the Retirement System, computed in accordance with recognized actuarial principles on the basis of methods and assumptions approved by the Board of Trustees, in excess of the part thereof provided by the members' contributions, to (ii) the total annual compensation of the members of the Retirement System.
- (c) The accrued liability contribution for any period shall be determined as a percentage, equal to the accrued liability contribution rate, of the total compensation of the members for the period. The accrued liability contribution rate shall be determined as the percentage represented by the ratio of (i) the level annual contribution necessary to amortize the unfunded accrued liability over a period of 15 years, computed in accordance with recognized actuarial principles on the basis of methods and assumptions approved by the Board of Trustees, to (ii) the total annual compensation of the members of the Retirement System.
- (d) The unfunded accrued liability as of any date shall be determined, in accordance with recognized actuarial principles on the basis of methods and assumptions approved by the Board of Trustees, as the excess of (i) the then present value of the benefits to be

provided under the Retirement System in the future over (ii) the sum of the assets of the Retirement System then currently on hand in the Annuity Savings Fund and the Pension Accumulation Fund, plus the then present value of the stipulated contributions to be made in the future by the members, plus the then present value of the normal contributions expected to be made in the future by the State.

- (e) The normal contribution rate and the accrued liability contribution rate shall be determined after each annual valuation of the Retirement System and shall remain in effect until a new valuation is made.
- (f) The annual contributions by the State for any year shall be at least sufficient, when combined with the amount held in the Pension Accumulation Fund at the start of the year, to provide the retirement allowances and other benefits payable out of the fund during the current year.

History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238.

#### CASE NOTES

Funding. — Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System of North Carolina, and Legislative Retirement System are funded by both employee and State, or employer, contributions under G.S. 135-8, 135-68, 135-69, 120-4.19, and 120-4.20; these systems provide for a systematic method of funding of the respective retirement system with employee contributions computed as a set percentage of

the employees' salaries, and with systematic employer contributions in accordance with formulas mandated by the retirement statutes, which include calculations by an actuary based on the actuarial valuation of liabilities of the retirement systems. State Emples. Ass'n of N.C., Inc. v. State, 154 N.C. App. 207, 573 S.E.2d 525, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 1451 (2002), rev'd, 357 N.C. 239, 580 S.E.2d 693, 2003 N.C. LEXIS 599 (2003).

## § 120-4.21. Service retirement benefits.

- (a) **Eligibility; Application.** Any member may retire with full benefits who has reached 65 years of age with five years of creditable service. Any member may retire with reduced benefits who has reached the age of 50 years with 20 years of creditable service or 60 years with five years of creditable service. The member shall make electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees to retire on a service retirement allowance on the first day of the particular calendar month he designates. The designated date shall be no less than one day nor more than 120 days from the filing of the application. During this period of notification, a member may separate from service without forfeiting his retirement benefits.
- (b) **Computation.** Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) of this section before July 1, 1990, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:

- (1) For a member whose retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday and upon completion of five years of creditable service, four percent (4%) of his "highest annual salary," multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
- (2) For a member whose retirement date occurs on or after his 60th and before his 65th birthday and upon completion of five years of creditable service, computation as in subdivision (1) of this subsection, reduced by one-fourth of one percent (1/4 of 1%) for each month his retirement date precedes his 65th birthday.
- (b1) **Computation.** Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) of this section on or after July 1, 1990, but before February 1, 1995, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) For a member whose retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday and upon completion of five years of creditable service, four and two-hundredths percent (4.02%) of his "highest annual salary," multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - (2) For a member whose retirement date occurs on or after his 60th and before his 65th birthday and upon completion of five years of creditable service, computation as in subdivision (1) of this subsection, reduced by one-fourth of one percent (1/4 of 1%) for each month his retirement date precedes his 65th birthday.
- (b2) **Computation.** Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) of this section on or after February 1, 1995, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) For a member whose retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday and upon completion of five years of creditable service, four and two-hundredths percent (4.02%) of his "highest annual salary", multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - (2) For a member whose retirement date occurs on or after his 60th and before his 65th birthday and upon completion of five years of creditable service, computation as in subdivision (1) of this subsection, reduced by one-fourth of one percent (1/4 of 1%) for each month his retirement date precedes his 65th birthday.
  - (3) For a member whose retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and upon completion of 20 years of creditable service, computation as in subdivision (2) of this subsection, reduced by the same percentage as provided for in Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes.

- (c) Limitations Applicable to Members Retiring Before September 1, 2005. In no event shall any member receive a service retirement allowance greater than seventy-five percent (75%) of his "highest annual salary".
- (d) Limitations Applicable to Members Retiring on or After September 1, 2005. In no event shall any member receive a service retirement allowance greater than seventy-five percent (75%) of the member's "highest annual salary" nor shall a member receive any service retirement allowance whatsoever while employed in a position that makes the member a contributing member of either the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System. If the member should become a member of either of these systems, payment of the member's service retirement allowance shall be suspended until the member withdraws from membership in that system.

```
History. s. 29.30A(j); 2006-226, ss. 23(a), (b); 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, s. 2007-431, s. 3; 2009-66, s. 12(k). 7.30(p); 2001-424, s. 32.30(b); 2005-276,
```

# § 120-4.22. Disability retirement benefits.

- (a) **Eligibility; Application.** Upon application by or on behalf of the member, any member in service who has completed at least five years of creditable service and who has not reached his 60th birthday may, after medical certification, be retired on a disability retirement allowance by the Board of Trustees on the first day of the particular calendar month designated by the applicant. The designated date shall be no less than one day nor more than 120 days from the filing of the application.
- (b) **Medical Certification.**—After a medical examination of the member, the medical board shall certify to the Board of Trustees that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for further performance of duty as a member of the General Assembly, that the incapacity was incurred at the time of active employment and has been continuous thereafter, that the incapacity is likely to be permanent and whether the member should be retired.
- (c) **Computation.** Upon retirement for disability pursuant to subsection (a) of this section, a member shall receive a disability retirement allowance equal to a service retirement allowance calculated on the basis of the member's "highest annual salary" and the creditable service he would have had by the age of 60 had he continued in service.
- (d) **Limitations.** In no event shall any member receive a disability retirement allowance greater than seventy-five percent (75%) of his "highest annual salary".

**History.** 1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, ss. 195, 196; 1987, c. 513,

s. 1; c. 738, s. 31(d); 2001-424, s. 32.30(c); 2009-66, s. 3(*l*).

# § 120-4.22A. Post-retirement increases in allowances.

- (a) Retired members and beneficiaries of the Retirement System shall receive post-retirement increases in allowances on the same basis as post-retirement increases in allowances are provided to retired members and beneficiaries of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
- (b) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1986, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1986, shall be increased by the same amount as provided to retired members and beneficiaries of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System pursuant to the provisions of G.S. 135-5(ii) and (jj).
- (c) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1987, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1987, shall be increased by the same amount as provided to retired members and beneficiaries of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System pursuant to the provisions of G.S. 135-5(ii) and (jj).
- (d) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1988, shall be increased by the same amount as provided to retired members and beneficiaries of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System pursuant to the provisions of G.S. 135-5(ll) and (mm).
- (e) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1989, shall be increased by the same amount as provided to retired members and beneficiaries of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System pursuant to the provisions of G.S. 135-5(ll) and (mm).
- (f) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1990, shall be increased by the same amount as provided to retired members and beneficiaries of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System pursuant to the provisions of G.S. 135-5(rr) and (ss).
- (g) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of

beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1992, shall be increased by one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1992. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 1992, but before June 30, 1992, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 1992 and June 30, 1992.

- (h) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1993, shall be increased by one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable on January 1, 1993. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 1993, but before June 30, 1993, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 1993, and June 30, 1993.
- (i) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1994, shall be increased by three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable on January 1, 1994. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 1994, but before June 30, 1994, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 1994, and June 30, 1994.
- (j) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1995, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on January 1, 1995. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 1995, but before June 30, 1995, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 1995, and June 30, 1995.
- (k) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after September 1, 1996, the retirement allowance to or on account

of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1996, shall be increased by four and four-tenths percent (4.4%) of the allowance payable on January 1, 1996. Furthermore, from and after September 1, 1996, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 1996, but before June 30, 1996, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four and four-tenths percent (4.4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 1996, and June 30, 1996.

- (l) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1997, shall be increased by four percent (4%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1997. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 1997, but before June 30, 1997, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 1997, and June 30, 1997.
- (m) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1998, shall be increased by two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1998. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 1998, but before June 30, 1998, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 1998, and June 30, 1998.
- (n) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 1999, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1999, shall be increased by two and three-tenths percent (2.3%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1999. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1999, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 1999, but before June 30, 1999, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and three-tenths percent (2.3%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 1999, and June 30, 1999.
- (o) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of

beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2000, shall be increased by three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2000. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2000, but before June 30, 2000, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2000, and June 30, 2000.

- (p) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2001, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2001. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2001, but before June 30, 2001, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2001, and June 30, 2001.
- (q) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2002, shall be increased by one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2002. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2002, but before June 30, 2002, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2002, and June 30, 2002.
- (r) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2003, shall be increased by one and twenty-eight hundredths percent (1.28%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2003. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2003, but before June 30, 2003, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and twenty-eight hundredths percent (1.28%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2003, and June 30, 2003.
- (s) From and after July 1, 2004, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before

January 1, 2004, shall be increased by one and seven-tenths percent (1.7%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2004, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2004, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2004, but before June 30, 2004, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and seven-tenths percent (1.7%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2004, and June 30, 2004.

- (t) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2005, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2005, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2005. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2005, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2005, but before June 30, 2005, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2005, and June 30, 2005.
- (u) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2006, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2006, shall be increased by three percent (3%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2006. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2006, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2006, but before June 30, 2006, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three percent (3%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2006, and June 30, 2006.
- (v) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2007, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2007, shall be increased by two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2007. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2007, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2007, but before June 30, 2007, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2007, and June 30, 2007.
- (w) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2008, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2008, shall be increased by two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the

allowance payable on June 1, 2008. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2008, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2008, but before June 30, 2008, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2008, and June 30, 2008.

- (x) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2012, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2012, shall be increased by one percent (1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2012. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2012, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2012, but before June 30, 2012, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2012, and June 30, 2012.
- (y) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2014, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2014, shall be increased by one percent (1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2014. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2014, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after January 1, 2014, but before June 30, 2014, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2014, and June 30, 2014.
- (z) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, on or before October 31, 2016, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2016, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2016. The payment shall be one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2016, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.
- (aa) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, from and after July 1, 2017, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2017, shall be increased by one percent (1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2017. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2017, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose

retirement commenced after January 1, 2017, but before June 30, 2017, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between January 1, 2017, and June 30, 2017.

- (bb) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, on or before October 31, 2018, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2018, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2018. The payment shall be one percent (1%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2018, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.
- (cc) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, on or before December 31, 2021, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2021, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2021. The payment shall be two percent (2%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2021, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.
- (dd) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, after September 1, 2022, but on or before October 31, 2022, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2022, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2022. The payment shall be four percent (4%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2022, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.
- (ee) In accordance with subsection (a) of this section, on or before November 30, 2023, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of October 1, 2023, and whose retirement commenced on or before October 1, 2023. The payment shall be four percent (4%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of October 1, 2023, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the

payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.

#### History.

1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1014, s. 49(c); 1987, c. 738, s. 27(d); 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1086, s. 22(d); 1989, c. 752, s. 41(d); 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1077, s. 11; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 900, s. 53(d); 1993, c. 321, s. 74(a); 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, s. 7.30(k); 1995, c. 507, s. 7.22(c); 1996, 2nd Ex. Sess., c. 18, s. 28.21(c); 1997-443, s. 33.22(f); 1998-153, s. 21(c); 1999-237, s. 28.23(c); 2000-67, s. 26.20(f); 2001-424, s. 32.22(c); 2002-126, s. 28.8(d); 2003-284, s. 30.17(c); 2004-124, s. 31.17(c); 2005-276, s. 29.25(c); 2006-66, s. 22.18(b); 2007-323, s. 28.20(c); 2008-107, s. 26.23(c); 2012-142, s. 25.13(c); 2014-100, s. 35.14(c); 2016-94, s. 36.21(c); 2017-57, s. 35.19A(c); 2018-5, s. 35.28(c); 2021-180, s. 39.23(c); 2022-74, s. 39.20(c); 2023-134, s. 39.27(c).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 32.5(j), as amended by Session Laws 2016-123, s. 8.3(a), provides: "The responsibilities for the North Carolina Youth Legislative Assembly are transferred from the Department of Administration to the North Carolina General Assembly's Legislative Services Commission. Additionally, the budget associated with operations for the Youth Legislative Assembly and the North Carolina Youth Legislative Assembly Fund, enacted by subsection (k) of this section, are transferred as a Type II transfer from the Department of Administration to the General Assembly. The Administrative Officer II position will report directly to the Legislative Services Officer. The Youth Legislative Assembly will work collaboratively with existing resources within the General Assembly, including the Senate and House Page programs, to execute activities of the Youth Legislative Assembly."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 36.21(d) provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the

administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2016'."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2016-2017 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2016-2017 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2017."

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2017-2019 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2017-2019 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 39.6, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2018-57, s. 35.28(d), provides: "(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2018."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2018-2019 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 39.23(d), provides: "Notwithstanding any other

provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2021."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 43.5, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2021-2023 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2021-2023 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2022."

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 39.27(d), provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living

supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.5, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2023-2025 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2023-2025 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 39.23(c), effective July 1, 2021, added subsections (cc) and (dd).

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 39.20(c), effective July 1, 2022, substituted "four percent (4%)" for "three percent (3%)" in the second sentence of subsection (dd).

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 39.27(c), effective July 1, 2023, added subsection (ee).

# § 120-4.23. Reexamination for disability retirement allowance.

Any disability retiree who has not reached age 65 shall be reexamined pursuant to G.S. 135-5(e). After he reaches age 65, no further examinations are required.

#### History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238.

# § 120-4.24. Return to membership of former member.

If a retired former member of the Retirement System or of the Legislative Retirement Fund returns to service as a member of the General Assembly, his retirement allowance shall cease and he shall be restored as a member of the Retirement System. The computation of the amount of benefits to which he may subsequently become entitled under this Article shall be computed as follows:

Upon his subsequent retirement, he shall be paid a retirement allowance determined as follows:

(1) For a member who earns at least three years' membership service after restoration to service, the retirement allow-

- ance shall be computed on the basis of his compensation and service before and after the period of prior retirement without restrictions.
- (2) For a member who does not earn three years' membership service after restoration to service, the retirement allowance shall be equal to the sum of the retirement allowance to which he would have been entitled had he not been restored to service, without modification of the election of an optional allowance previously made, and the retirement allowance that results from service earned since being restored to service.

```
History. 1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1987, c. 738, s. 39(a).
```

# § 120-4.25. Return of accumulated contributions.

If a member ceases to be a member of the General Assembly except by death or retirement, the member shall, upon submission of an application, be paid not earlier than 60 days following the date of termination of service the sum of the member's accumulated contributions provided the member has not in the meantime returned to service. Upon payment of this sum his or her membership in the System ceases. If the individual becomes a member afterwards, no credit shall be allowed for any service previously rendered except as provided in G.S. 120-4.14 and the payment shall be in full and complete discharge of any rights in or to any benefits otherwise payable under this Article. Upon receipt of proof satisfactory to the Board of Trustees of the death, prior to retirement, of a member or former member, there shall be paid to the person or persons the member or former member nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if the person or persons are living at the time of the member's death, otherwise to the member's legal representatives, the amount of the member's accumulated contributions at the time of the member's death, unless the beneficiary elects to receive the alternate benefit under the provisions of G.S. 120-4.28.

```
History. 31(e); 1993, c. 531, s. 1; 2009-66, s. 11(k); 1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 2014-88, s. 2(c); 2017-129, s. 3(f). 1984), c. 1034, s. 197; 1987, c. 738, s.
```

# § 120-4.26. Benefit payment options.

(a) Any member may elect to receive benefits in a retirement allowance payable throughout life, or the member may elect to receive the actuarial equivalent of the retirement allowance in a reduced allowance payable throughout life under the provisions of one of the options set forth in this section. No election may be made after the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred, nor may an election be revoked or a nomination changed, except as provided for by this section.

- (b) If a member dies after the effective date of retirement for which the member has been approved, then one of the following shall apply:
  - (1) If the Board of Trustees has received an election of benefits under this section that is properly filed and acknowledged by the member and the member dies before the date when the first payment on account of any benefit normally becomes due and the first benefit payment has occurred, then the retirement benefit shall be payable as provided for by the member's election of benefits.
  - (2) If the member dies prior to the receipt by the Board of Trustees of an election of benefits under this section that is properly filed and acknowledged by the member, then one of the following shall apply:
    - a. If the member has no designated beneficiary for a return of accumulated contributions, then the administrator or executor of the member's estate shall elect an option under this section and name the beneficiary or beneficiaries.
    - b. If the member has only one designated beneficiary for a return of accumulated contributions, then that beneficiary may elect to receive the benefit.
    - c. If the member has more than one designated beneficiary for a return of accumulated contributions, then the administrator or executor of the member's estate shall elect an option under this section and name the beneficiary or beneficiaries.
- (c) The election of Option 2 or Option 3 or the nomination of the person under either of those options shall be revoked if the person nominated dies prior to the date the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred. The election may be revoked by the member prior to the date the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred.
- (d) If a member has elected Option 2 or Option 3 and nominated his or her spouse to receive a retirement allowance upon the member's death, and the spouse predeceases the member after the first payment becomes normally due or the first payment date has occurred and the member remarries, then, within 90 days of the remarriage, the member may nominate a new spouse to receive the retirement allowance under the previously elected option. The new nomination shall be effective on the first day of the month in which it is made and shall provide for a retirement allowance computed to be the actuarial equivalent of the retirement allowance in effect immediately prior to the effective date of the new nomination.

- (e) Any member having elected Options 2 or 3 and nominated his or her spouse to receive a retirement allowance upon the member's death may, after divorce from that spouse, revoke the nomination and elect a new option, effective on the first day of the month in which the new option is elected, providing for a retirement allowance computed to be the actuarial equivalent to the retirement allowance in effect immediately prior to the effective date of the new option.
  - (f) The benefit payment options under this section are as follows:
    - (1) **Option 1. For Members Retiring Prior to July 1, 1993.** If a member dies within 10 years from the member's retirement date, an amount equal to the member's accumulated contributions at retirement, less one-one hundred twentieth (1/120) for each month for which the member has received a retirement allowance payment, shall be paid to the member's legal representative or to the person the member nominates by written designation acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees.
    - (2) **Option 2.** Upon a member's death, the member's reduced retirement allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the person the member nominates by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees at the time of the member's retirement. If the person selected is other than the member's spouse, then the reduced retirement allowance payable to the member shall not be less than one half of the retirement allowance without optional modification which would otherwise be payable to the member.
    - (3) **Option 3.** Upon a member's death, one half of the member's reduced retirement allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to the person the member nominates by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees at the time of the member's retirement.

#### History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1985, c. 649, s. 9; 1993, c. 321, s. 74.1(a); 1998-212, s. 28.26(a); 2023-105, s. 5.3; 2024-8, s. 4(a).

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 4(b), made the rewriting of this section by Session Laws

2024-8, s. 4(a), effective when it becomes law and applicable to member deaths occurring on or after that date.

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 5.3, effective January 1, 2024, rewrote the first five sentences of the first paragraph.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 4(a), rewrote the section. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

## § 120-4.26A. Benefits on death after retirement.

In the event of the death of a retired member while in receipt of a retirement allowance under the provisions of this Article, there shall

be paid to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the retiree's death, otherwise to the retiree's legal representatives, a death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the accumulated contributions of the retiree at the date of retirement over the total of the retirement allowances paid prior to the death of the retiree.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the designated survivor of a retired member under the provisions of G.S. 120-4.26 and such retirement allowance to the survivor shall terminate upon the death of the survivor before the total of the retirement allowances paid to the retiree and the designated survivor combined equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the retiree at the date of retirement, the excess, if any, of such accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the retiree and the survivor combined shall be paid in a lump sum to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time such payment falls due, otherwise to the retiree's legal representative.

```
History.
1993, c. 321, s. 74.1(b); 2009-66, s. 11(l).
```

## § 120-4.27. Death benefit.

The designated beneficiary of a member who dies while in service after completing one year of creditable service shall receive a lump-sum payment of an amount equal to the deceased member's highest annual salary, to a maximum of fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000). For purposes of this death benefit "in service" means currently serving as a member of the North Carolina General Assembly. "In service" also means service in the Uniformed Services, as that term is defined in section 4303(16) of the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, Public Law 103-353, if that service begins during the member's term of office. If the participant does not return immediately after that service to employment with a covered employer in this System, then the participant shall be deemed "in service" until the date on which the participant was first eligible to be separated or released from his or her involuntary military service.

The death benefit provided by this section shall be designated a group life insurance benefit payable under an employee welfare benefit plan that is separate and apart from the Retirement System but under which the members of the Retirement System shall participate and be eligible for group life insurance benefits. The Board of Trustees is authorized to provide the death benefit in the form of group life insurance either by purchasing a contract or contracts of group life insurance with any life insurance company or companies licensed and authorized to transact business in the State of North Carolina for the purpose of insuring the lives of qualified members in service, or by establishing or affiliating with a separate trust fund.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System or Retirement Fund on or after July 1, 1988, but before January 1, 1999, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of a deceased retired member, or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Retirement System on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Retirement System, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of five thousand dollars (\$5,000) upon the completion of twenty-four months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of twenty-four months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System or Retirement Fund on or after January 1, 1999, but before July 1, 2004, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of a deceased retired member, or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Retirement System on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Retirement System, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of six thousand dollars (\$6,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under

this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System or Retirement Fund on or after July 1, 2004, but before July 1, 2007, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of a deceased retired member, or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Retirement System on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Retirement System, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of nine thousand dollars (\$9,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System or Retirement Fund on or after July 1, 2007, but before January 1, 2015, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of a deceased retired member, or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Retirement System on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Retirement System, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System or Retirement

Fund on or after January 1, 2015, there shall be paid a death benefit to the person or persons designated by the member or, if not survived by a designated beneficiary, to the deceased retired member's legal representative; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of the member's death required contributions as determined by the Retirement System on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Retirement System, to a group death benefit trust fund, the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust, administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. Employer and non-employer contributions to the Benefit Trust and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Benefit Trust are dedicated to providing benefits to members and beneficiaries in accordance with the Plan's benefit terms. The assets of the Benefit Trust are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employees and non-employees making contributions to the Benefit Trust, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Benefit Trust's trustees and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of members and beneficiaries. Benefit Trust assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees.

The death benefit payable under this subsection shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's designated beneficiary or beneficiaries, or legal representative if not survived by a designated beneficiary, shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

#### History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1985, c. 400, s. 9; 1987, c. 824, s. 1; 1998-212, s. 28.27(d); 2004-147, s. 4; 2007-496, s. 3; 2009-66, s. 6(d); 2014-112, s. 3(d); 2017-129, s. 2(q); 2022-16, s. 4.1; 2023-105, s. 1.3.

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 4.1, effective July 1, 2022, deleted "qualified under Section 501(c)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended" following

"fund" at the end of the last sentence of the second paragraph.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 1.3, effective January 1, 2024, substituted "if not survived by a designated beneficiary" for "if the member has not designated a beneficiary, to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or, if not survived by a designated beneficiary or spouse" in the next-to-last paragraph; and substituted "or legal representative if not survived by a designated beneficiary or spouse, beneficiary" for "or surviving spouse if not survived by a designated beneficiary, or legal representative if not survived by a designated beneficiary or spouse" in the last paragraph.

## § 120-4.28. Survivor's alternate benefit.

The designated beneficiary of a member who dies in service before retirement but after age 60 and after completing five years of creditable service or after completing 12 years of creditable service is entitled to Option 2 prescribed by G.S. 120-4.26.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the principal beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions pursuant to this subsection and that beneficiary dies before the total of the retirement allowances paid equals the amount of those accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the beneficiary, the allowance shall be paid in a lump sum to the person or persons the member has designated as the contingent beneficiary for return of accumulated contributions. if the person or persons are living at the time the payment falls due. otherwise to the principal beneficiary's legal representative. In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the contingent beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions pursuant to subsection (m) of this section and that beneficiary dies before the total of the retirement allowances paid equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the member at the date of the member's death, the excess of those accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the beneficiary shall be paid in a lump sum to the contingent beneficiary's legal representative.

#### History.

1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, s. 199; 1985, c. 400, s. 3; 1987, c. 738, ss. 31(d), 37(c); 2012-130, s. 5; 2023-105, s. 7.3.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

## Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 7.3, effective January 1, 2024, in the second paragraph, substituted "the principal beneficiary" for "the one and only one beneficiary" twice in the first sentence, and added the second sentence.

# § 120-4.29. Exemption from garnishment, attachment.

Except for the applications of the provisions of G. S. 110-136, and in connection with a court-ordered equitable distribution under G.S. 50-20, the right of a person to a pension, annuity, or retirement allowance, to the return of contributions, or to the receipt of the pension, annuity or retirement allowance itself, any optional benefit or any other right accrued or accruing to any person under the provisions of this Article, and the moneys in the various funds created by this Article, are exempt from levy and sale, garnishment, attachment, or any other process whatsoever, and shall be unassignable except as this Article specifically provides. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, any overpayment of benefits or erroneous payments to a member in a State-administered retirement system, the Disability Salary Continuation Plan, or the

Disability Income Plan of North Carolina, including any benefits paid to, or State Health Plan premiums or claims paid on behalf of, any member who is later determined to have been ineligible for those benefits or unentitled to those amounts, may be offset against any retirement allowance, return of contributions, or any other right accruing under this Article to the same person, the person's estate, or designated beneficiary.

```
History. s. 5; 1989, c. 792, s. 2.2; 1991, c. 636, s. 1983, c. 761, s. 238; 1985, c. 402; c. 649, 13; 2017-135, s. 9(c).
```

# § 120-4.30. Termination or partial termination; discontinuance of contributions.

In the event of the termination or partial termination of the Retirement System or in the event of complete discontinuance of contributions under the Retirement System, the rights of all affected members to benefits accrued to the date of such termination, partial termination, or discontinuance, to the extent funded as of such date, or the amounts credited to the members' accounts, shall be nonforfeitable and fully vested.

```
History. 1987, c. 177, s. 1(a), (b).
```

# § 120-4.31. Internal Revenue Code compliance.

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of law to the contrary, compensation for any calendar year after 1988 in which employee or employer contributions are made and for which annual compensation is used for computing any benefit under this Article shall not exceed the higher of two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) or the amount determined by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue as the limitation for calendar years after 1989; provided the imposition of the limitation shall not reduce a member's benefit below the amount determined as of December 31, 1988.

Effective January 1, 1996, the annual compensation of a member taken into account for determining all benefits provided under this Article shall not exceed one hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$150,000), as adjusted pursuant to section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code and any regulations issued under the Code. However, with respect to a person who became a member of the Retirement System prior to January 1, 1996, the imposition of this limitation on compensation shall not reduce the amount of compensation which may be taken into account for determining the benefits of that member under this Article below the amount of compensation which would have been recognized under the provisions of this Article in effect on July 1, 1993.

Effective January 1, 2002, the annual compensation of a person, who became a member of the Retirement System on or after

January 1, 1996, taken into account for determining all benefits accruing under this Article for any plan year after December 31, 2001, shall not exceed two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) or the amount otherwise set by the Internal Revenue Code or determined by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue as the limitation for calendar years after 2002.

All the provisions in this subsection have been enacted to make clear that the Plan shall not base contributions or Plan benefits on annual compensation in excess of the limits prescribed by Section 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code, as adjusted from time to time, subject to certain federal grandfathering rules.

- (b) Notwithstanding any other provisions of law to the contrary, the annual benefit payable on behalf of a member shall, if necessary, be reduced to the extent required by Section 415(b) and with respect to calendar years commencing prior to January 1, 2000, Section 415(e) of the Internal Revenue Code, as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate pursuant to Section 415(d) of the Code. If a member is a participant under any qualified defined contributions plan that is required to be taken into account for the purposes of the limitation contained in Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code, the annual benefit payable under this Article shall be reduced to the extent required by Section 415(e) prior to making any reduction under the defined contribution plan provided by the employer. However, with respect to a member who has benefits accrued under this Article but whose benefit had not commenced as of December 31, 1999, the combined plan limitation contained in Section 415(e) of the Internal Revenue Code shall not be applied to such member for calendar years commencing on or after January 1, 2000.
- (c) On and after September 8, 2009, and for all Plan years to which the minimum distribution rules of the Internal Revenue Code are applicable, with respect to any member who has terminated employment, the Plan shall comply with federal income tax minimum distribution rules by applying a reasonable and good faith interpretation to Section 401(a)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (c1) A member who has contributions in this System and is not eligible for a retirement benefit as set forth in G.S. 120-4.21 shall be paid his or her contributions in a lump sum as provided in G.S. 120-4.25 by April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the member (i) attains the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) has ceased to be a member of the General Assembly, except by death. If the member fails, following reasonable notification, to complete a refund application by the required date, then the requirement that a refund application be completed shall be waived and the refund shall be paid without a refund application as a single lump-sum payment with applicable required North Carolina and federal income taxes withheld.

A member who has contributions in this System and is eligible for a retirement benefit as set forth in G.S. 120-4.21 shall begin to receive a monthly benefit no later than April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the member (i) attains the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) has ceased to be a member of the General Assembly, except by death. If the member fails, following reasonable notification, to complete the retirement process under this Article by the required beginning date, then the requirement that a retirement application and an election of payment plan form be completed shall be waived and the retirement allowance shall be paid as a single life annuity. The single life annuity shall be calculated and processed in accordance with G.S. 120-4.21.

For purposes of this subsection, a member shall not be considered to have ceased to be a member of the General Assembly if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Consolidated Judicial Retirement System. A retirement benefit or lump-sum refund shall not be paid under this subsection if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Consolidated Judicial Retirement System."

(d) This subsection applies to distributions and rollovers from the Plan. The Plan does not have mandatory distributions within the meaning of Section 401(a)(31) of the Internal Revenue Code. With respect to distributions from the Plan and notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a distributee's election under this Article, a distributee (including, after December 31, 2006, a non-spouse beneficiary if that non-spouse beneficiary elects a direct rollover only to an inherited traditional or Roth IRA as permitted under applicable federal law) may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Plan administrator, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover. As used in this subsection, an "eligible retirement plan" means an individual retirement account described in Section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in Section 408(b) of the Code, an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code, on and after January 1, 2009, a Roth IRA, or a qualified trust described in Section 401(a) of the Code, that accepts the distributee's eligible rollover distribution. Effective on and after January 1, 2002, an eligible retirement plan also means an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code and an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees

to separately account for amounts transferred into that plan from this Plan. As used in this subsection, a "direct rollover" is a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee. Provided, an eligible rollover distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution shall not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of 10 years or more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under section 401(a)(9) of the Code; and the portion of any distribution that is not includible in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net realized appreciation with respect to employer securities). Effective as of January 1, 2002, and notwithstanding the exclusion of any after-tax portion from such a rollover distribution in the preceding sentence, a portion of a distribution shall not fail to be an eligible rollover distribution merely because the portion consists of after-tax employee contributions that are not includible in gross income. That portion may be transferred, pursuant to applicable federal law, to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or (b) of the Code, to a qualified defined benefit plan, or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in Section 401(a), 403(a), or 403(b) of the Code that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible. The definition of eligible retirement plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to surviving spouse, or to a spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Section 414(p) of the Internal Revenue Code, or a court-ordered equitable distribution of marital property. as provided under G.S. 50-20.1. Effective on and after January 1, 2007, notwithstanding any other provision of this subsection, a nonspouse beneficiary of a deceased member may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the administrator of the Board of Trustees of this Retirement System, to directly roll over any portion of the beneficiary's distribution from the Retirement System; however, such rollover shall conform with the provisions of section 402(c)(11) of the Code.

## History.

1989, c. 276, s. 1; 1993, c. 531, s. 2; 1995, c. 361, s. 4; 2002-71, s. 2; 2009-66, s. 1(c); 2012-130, s. 4(a); 2015-164, s. 10(d); 2020-48, s. 1.2(d); 2024-9, s. 3(d).

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(e), made the amendment of subsection (c1) of this section by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(d), effective January 1, 2021, and

applicable to members on or after that date, and further provides: "If a member attains age 70 and one half years of age on or before December 31, 2019, then the statute that is in effect on the day the member attains age 70 and one half years of age will be applicable to that member."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(d), in subsection (c1), in the first paragraph, substituted "72 years" for "70 and one-half years" in the first sentence and deleted the last two sentences, which read: "For purposes of this subsection, a member shall not be considered to have ceased to be a member of the General Assembly if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Consolidated Judicial Retire-

ment System. A lump-sum refund shall not be paid under this subsection if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Consolidated Judicial Retirement System.", substituted "72 years" for "70 and one-half years" in the first sentence of the second paragraph, inserted "or lump-sum refund" in the second sentence of the third paragraph, and made minor stylistic changes. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 3(d), effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (c1), substituted "the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code" for "72 years of age" in the first and second paragraphs, and substituted "under this Chapter by the required beginning date" for "as set forth under Chapter 135 of the General Statutes by such required beginning date" in the second paragraph.

# § 120-4.32. Deduction for payments allowed.

- (a) Any beneficiary who is a member of a domiciled employees' or retirees' association that has at least 2,000 members, the majority of whom are active or retired employees of the State or public school employees, may authorize, in writing, the periodic deduction from the beneficiary's retirement benefits a designated lump sum to be paid to the employees' or retirees' association. The authorization shall remain in effect until revoked by the beneficiary. A plan of deductions pursuant to this section shall become void if the employees' or retirees' association engages in collective bargaining with the State, any political subdivision of the State, or any local school administrative unit.
- (b) Any beneficiary eligible for coverage under the State Health Plan may also authorize, in writing, the monthly deduction from the beneficiary's retirement benefits of a designated lump sum to be paid to the State Health Plan for any dependent whom the beneficiary wishes to cover under the State Health Plan. In the event that the beneficiary's own State Health Plan coverage is contributory, in whole or in part, the beneficiary may also authorize a designated lump sum to be paid to the State Health Plan on behalf of the beneficiary. In addition, a beneficiary may similarly authorize the deduction for supplemental voluntary insurance benefits, provided that the deduction is authorized by the Department of State Treasurer and is payable to a company with which the Department of State Treasurer has or had an exclusive contractual relationship. Any such authorization shall remain in effect until revoked by the beneficiary.

History.

2002-126, s. 6.4(d); 2012-178, s. 4(a).

# § 120-4.33. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies.

- (a) Except as provided in G.S. 120-4.12(f), the Board of Trustees shall not pay any retirement benefits or allowances, except for a return of member contributions plus interest, to any member who is convicted of any felony under the federal laws listed in subsection (b) of this section or the laws of this State listed in subsection (c) of this section if all of the following apply:
  - (1) The federal or State offense is committed while serving as a member of the General Assembly.
  - (2) The conduct on which the federal or State offense is based is directly related to the member's service as a member of the General Assembly.
  - (b) The federal offenses covered by this section are as follows:
    - (1) A felony violation of 18 U.S.C. § 201 (Bribery of public officials and witnesses), 18 U.S.C. § 286 (Conspiracy to defraud the Government with respect to claims), 18 U.S.C. § 287 (False, fictitious or fraudulent claims), 18 U.S.C. § 371 (Conspiracy to commit offense or to defraud United States), 18 U.S.C. § 597 (Expenditures to influence voting), 18 U.S.C. § 599 (Promise of appointment by candidate), 18 U.S.C. § 606 (Intimidation to secure political contributions), 18 U.S.C. § 641 (Public money, property, or records), 18 U.S.C. § 666 (Embezzlement and theft), 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (Statements or entries generally), 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (Frauds and swindles), 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Fraud by wire, radio, or television), 18 U.S.C. § 1503 (Influencing or injuring officer or juror generally), 18 U.S.C. § 1951 (Interference with commerce by threats or violence), 18 U.S.C. § 1952 (Interstate and foreign travel or transportation in aid of racketeering enterprises), 18 U.S.C. § 1956 (Laundering of monetary instruments), 18 U.S.C. § 1962 (Prohibited activities), or section 7201 of the Internal Revenue Code (Attempt to evade or defeat tax).
    - (2) Reserved for future codification purposes.
- (c) The offenses under the laws of this State covered by this section are as follows:
  - (1) A felony violation of Article 29, 30, or 30A of Chapter 14 of the General Statutes (Relating to bribery, obstructing justice, and secret listening) or G.S. 14-228 (Buying and selling offices), or Part 1 of Article 14 of Chapter 120 of the General Statutes (Code of Legislative Ethics), Article 20 or 22 of Chapter 163 of the General Statutes (Relating to absentee ballots, corrupt practices and other offenses

against the elective franchise, and regulating of contributions and expenditures in political campaigns).

- (2) Perjury or false information as follows:
  - a. Perjury committed under G.S. 14-209 in falsely denying the commission of an act that constitutes an offense within the purview of an offense listed in subdivision (1) of subsection (c) of this section.
  - b. Subornation of perjury committed under G.S. 14-210 in connection with the false denial of another as specified by subdivision (2) of this subsection.
  - c. Perjury under Article 22A of Chapter 163 of the General Statutes.
- (d) All monies forfeited under this section shall be remitted to the Civil Penalty and Forfeiture Fund.

#### History.

2007-179, s. 1(a); 2017-6, s. 3; 2018-146, ss. 3.1(a), (b), 6.1.

## Re-recodification; Technical and Conforming Changes.

Session Laws 2017-6, s. 3, provides, in part: "The Revisor of Statutes shall recodify Chapter 138A of the General Statutes, Chapter 120C of the General Statutes, as well as Chapter 163 of the General Statutes, as amended by this act, into a new Chapter 163A of the General Statutes to be entitled 'Elections and Ethics Enforcement Act,' as enacted by Section 4 of this act. The Revisor may also recodify into the new Chapter 163A of the General Statutes other existing statutory laws relating to elections and ethics enforcement that are located elsewhere in the General Statutes as the Revisor deems appropriate." The Revisor was further authorized to make technical and conforming changes to catchlines, internal citations, and other references throughout the General Statutes to effectuate this recodification. Pursuant to this authority, the Revisor substituted "Part 1 of Article 21 or Article 22 of Chapter 163A" for "Article 20 or 22 of Chapter 163" in subsection (c)(1); and substituted "Article 23 of Chapter 163A" for "Article 22A of Chapter 163" in subsection (c)(2)e.

Session Laws 2018-146, ss. 3.1(a), (b) and 6.1, repealed Session Laws 2017-6, s. 3, and authorized the Revisor of Statutes to re-recodify Chapter 163A into Chapters 163, 138A, and 120C and to revert the changes made by the Revisor pursuant to Session Laws 2017-6, s. 3. Pursuant to this authority, the Revisor of Statutes reverted the changes to the references in this section.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2007-179, s. 1(a), enacted this section with a subdivision (b)(1), but no subdivision (b)(2). The section has been set out in the form above at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2007-179, s. 5, made this section effective July 1, 2007, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

# § 120-4.33A. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies related to employment or holding office.

- (a) Except as provided in G.S. 120-4.12(g), the Board of Trustees shall not pay any retirement benefits or allowances, except for a return of member contributions plus interest, to any member who is convicted of any felony under federal law or the laws of this State if all of the following apply:
  - (1) The offense is committed while the member is serving as a member of the General Assembly.
  - (2) The conduct resulting in the member's conviction is directly related to the member's office.

- (b) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.3(d), effective June 26, 2020.
- (c) If a member or former member whose benefits under the System were forfeited under this section, except for the return of member contributions plus interest, subsequently receives an unconditional pardon of innocence, or the conviction is vacated or set aside for any reason, then the member or former member may seek a reversal of the benefit forfeiture by presenting sufficient evidence to the State Treasurer. If the State Treasurer determines a reversal of the benefit forfeiture is appropriate, then all benefits will be restored upon repayment of all accumulated contributions plus interest. Repayment of all accumulated contributions that have been received by the individual under the forfeiture provisions of this section must be made in a total lump-sum payment with interest compounded annually at a rate of six and one-half percent (6.5%) for each calendar year from the year of forfeiture to the year of repayment. An individual receiving a reversal of benefit forfeiture must receive reinstatement of the service credit forfeited.

#### History.

2012-193, s. 7; 2020-48, s. 4.3(d).

#### Cross References.

As to forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies related to public employment by or holding office in counties, cities, and towns, see G.S. 128-38.4A.

As to forfeiture of retirement benefits in the Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees for certain felonies related to employment or holding office, see G.S. 135-18.10A.

As to forfeiture of retirement benefits under the Judicial Retirement Act for certain felonies related to employment or holding office, see G.S. 135-75.1A.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 18, made this section effective December 1, 2012, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 17, as

amended by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 3, provides: "The State Treasurer shall negotiate a memorandum of agreement with the United States Attorneys for the Eastern, Middle, and Western Districts of North Carolina whereby the prosecutors will notify the State Treasurer of convictions under G.S. 135-18.10A(b), 128-38.4A(b), 135-75.1A(b), 120-4.33A(b), 135-5.1(h), 135-5.4(h), and 58-86-100(b)."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.3(d), effective June 26, 2020, deleted subsection (b), which read: "Subdivision (2) of subsection (a) of this section shall apply to felony convictions where the court finds under G.S. 15A-1340.16(d)(9) or other applicable State or federal procedure that the member's conduct is directly related to the member's office."

## § 120-4.33B. Prohibition on purchase of forfeited service.

Any member whose retirement benefits have been forfeited under G.S. 120-4.3 or G.S. 120-4.3A is prohibited from subsequently purchasing or repurchasing either those forfeited benefits or any creditable membership service associated with those forfeited benefits and that service may not be used for the purposes of eligibility for benefits in any retirement system that provides reciprocal benefits.

#### History.

2018-52, s. 6(d); 2020-48, s. 4.5(d).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the 'Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 11, made this section effective June 25, 2018.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.5(d), effective June 26, 2020, added "and that service may not be used for the purposes of eligibility for benefits in any retirement system that provides reciprocal benefits" at the end.

## § 120-4.34. Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance.

A person is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor if the person, with the intent to defraud, receives money as a result of cashing, depositing, or receiving a direct deposit of a decedent's retirement allowance and the person (i) knows that he or she is not entitled to the decedent's retirement allowance, (ii) receives the benefit at least two months after the date of the retiree's or beneficiary's death, and (iii) does not attempt to inform this Retirement System of the retiree's or beneficiary's death.

#### History.

2011-232, s. 10(d); 2013-288, s. 9(e).

### ARTICLE 7.

### LEGISLATIVE SERVICES COMMISSION.

## § 120-32.01. Information to be supplied.

(a) Every State department, State agency, or State institution shall furnish the Legislative Services Office and the Legislative Analysis, Fiscal Research, and Legislative Drafting Divisions any information or records requested by them and access to any facilities and personnel requested by them. Except when accessibility is prohibited by a federal statute, federal regulation, or State statute, every State department, State agency, or State institution shall give the Legislative Services Office and these divisions access to any database or stored information maintained by computer, telecommunications, or other electronic data processing equipment,

whether stored on tape, disk, or otherwise, and regardless of the medium for storage or transmission.

- (b) Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, access to the BEACON/HR payroll system by the Legislative Analysis and Legislative Drafting Divisions shall only be through the Fiscal Research Division.
- (c) Consistent with subsection (a) of this section and notwith-standing any other law relating to privacy of personnel records, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall furnish the Fiscal Research Division direct online read-only access to active and retired member information or records maintained by the Retirement Systems Division in online information systems. Direct online read-only access shall not include access to medical records of individual members or to tax records and other tax-related documents of members and beneficiaries. Nothing in this subsection limits the provisions of subsection (a) of this section.
- (d) For the purpose of ensuring financial transparency, accountability, and efficient operation of the Medicaid program finances by the Department of Health and Human Services, employees of the Fiscal Research Division designated by the Director of Fiscal Research shall have access to all records related to the Medicaid program. The Department of Health and Human Services shall cooperate fully with the designated employees of the Fiscal Research Division to facilitate (i) the evaluation of all financial and policy components of the Medicaid program, including financial projections, (ii) the evaluation of the budgetary construction and management of the Medicaid program, and (iii) the identification of unusual financial events. The Department shall also provide the Fiscal Research Division with electronic access to any departmental data for assessing or predicting Medicaid financial outcomes, and to any modeling software used for assessing or predicting Medicaid program financial outcomes. Employees of the Department shall not impede, delay, or restrict the provision of information or limit access to any departmental personnel necessary for the Fiscal Research Division to perform its monitoring and analysis of the Medicaid program.

Nothing in this subsection grants Fiscal Research Division employees access to medical records of individuals or other information protected under the Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

Nothing in this subsection limits the provisions of subsection (a) of this section.

(e) The Department of Health and Human Services shall provide its annual financial projection of Medicaid program expenditures and requirements for any future fiscal years to the Chairs of the House Appropriations Committee and to the Chairs of the Senate Appropriations/Base Budget Committee no later than the date the Governor presents budget recommendations in accordance with G.S. 143C-3-5. Prior to providing this projection, the Secretary shall cooperatively engage designated employees of the Fiscal Research Division in ongoing bilateral analytical discussions about historical, current, and unanticipated factors that may impact projected Medicaid program financial outcomes that may affect the formulation of an official departmental annual financial projection.

Nothing in this subsection limits the provisions of subsection (a) of this section.

#### History.

1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, s. 177; 1996, 2nd Ex. Sess., c. 18, s. 8.2; 2007-78, s. 2; 2007-103, s. 1; 2011-145, s. 29.21C; 2012-142, s. 6.12; 2012-178, s. 1; 2018-142, s. 4(d); 2021-180, s. 27.2(d), (g).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2021."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 27.2(d), (g), effective July 1, 2021, in subsection (a), deleted "Program Evaluation" following "Fiscal Research," and in subsection (b), deleted "and access to the system by the Program Evaluation Division shall only be through the Division Director and two employees of the Division designated by the Division Director" from the end.

## ARTICLE 14A.

# COMMITTEES ON PENSIONS AND RETIREMENT.

### § 120-111.3. Analysis of legislation.

Every bill, which creates or modifies any provision for the retirement of public officers or public employees or for the payment of retirement benefits or of pensions to public officers or public employees, shall, upon introduction in either house of the General Assembly, be referred to the Committee on Pensions and Retirement of each house. When the bill is reported out of committee it shall be accompanied by a written report by the Committee on Pensions and Retirement containing, among other matters which the Committee deems relevant, the actuarial note required by Article 15 of Chapter 120 of the General Statutes, and pursuant to the Rules of the General Assembly, and an evaluation of the proposed legislation's actuarial soundness and adherence to sound retirement and pension policy. Any bill referred to the Committee on Pensions and Retirement cannot be further considered by that house until such bill has received a favorable report, a report without prejudice, or has been recalled from that committee.

Whenever a bill is considered by the Committee on Pensions and Retirement that proposes changes in the benefits of any Stateadministered retirement or pension plan to be financed by unencumbered actuarial experience gains generated either through a change in actuarial assumptions adopted by the plan for the previous budget year or through a continuation of the actuarial assumptions adopted by the plan for the previous budget year, the Committee shall give equal consideration to the effects that such unencumbered actuarial gains would have upon annual employer or State contributions to the plan and to the amount by which the plan's unfunded accrued liabilities, if any, might be reduced. If such unencumbered actuarial experience gains could be used to modify annual employer or State contributions to the plan resulting in a corresponding effect upon State appropriations, the Committee on Pensions and Retirement shall, upon a favorable report, refer the bill to the Committee on Appropriations of the same house before the bill is considered by that house.

**History.** 85, s. 4; 1985, c. 187; c. 400, s. 10; 1987 1979, 2nd Sess., c. 1250, s. 1; 1981, c. (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1110, s. 11.1.

### ARTICLE 15.

## LEGISLATIVE ACTUARIAL NOTE ACT.

## § 120-114. Actuarial notes; Retirement System cost estimates.

- (a) Every bill, joint resolution, and simple or concurrent resolution introduced in the General Assembly proposing any change in the law relative to any State, municipal, or other retirement system, funded in whole or in part out of public funds, or any program of hospital, medical, disability, or related benefits provided for teachers and State employees, funded in whole or in part by State funds, shall have attached to it at the time of its consideration by any committee of either house of the General Assembly a brief explanatory statement or note which shall include a reliable estimate of the financial and actuarial effect of the proposed change in any such retirement system or program of hospital, medical, disability, or related benefits. This actuarial note shall be attached to the original of each proposed bill or resolution which is reported favorably by any committee of either house of the General Assembly, but shall be separate therefrom, shall be clearly designated as an actuarial note and shall not constitute a part of the law or other provisions or expression of legislative intent proposed by the bill or resolution.
- (b) The author of each bill or resolution shall present a copy of the bill or resolution, with his request for an actuarial note, to the Fiscal Research Division which shall have the duty to prepare said actuarial note as promptly as possible. Actuarial notes shall be prepared and transmitted to the author or authors no later than two weeks after the request for the actuarial note is made, unless an extension of time is agreed to by the author or authors as being

necessary in preparation of the note. Any person who signs an actuarial note knowing it to contain false information shall be fined not more than five hundred dollars (\$500.00) or imprisoned not more than six months, or both.

- (c) The author of each bill or resolution shall also present a copy of the bill or resolution to any actuary employed by the retirement system, or to any actuary employed by a program of hospital, medical, disability, or related benefits provided for teachers and State employees, affected by the bill or resolution in question. Actuarial notes shall be prepared and transmitted to the author or authors of the measure no later than two weeks after the request for the actuarial note is received, unless an extension of time is agreed to by the author or authors as being necessary in preparation of the note. Any person who signs an actuarial note knowing it to contain false information shall be fined not more than five hundred dollars (\$500.00) or imprisoned not more than six months, or both. The provisions of this subsection may be waived for any local government retirement or pension plans not administered by the State, and for any local government program of hospital, medical, disability, or related benefits for local government employees not administered by the State.
- (d) The note shall be factual and shall, if possible, provide a reliable estimate of both the immediate effect and, if determinable or reasonably foreseeable, the long range fiscal and actuarial effect of the measure. If, after careful investigation, it is determined that no dollar estimate is possible, the note shall contain a statement to that effect, setting forth the reasons why no dollar estimate can be given. No comment or opinion shall be included in the actuarial note with regard to the merits of the measure for which the note is prepared. However, technical and mechanical defects may be noted.
- (e) At any time any committee of either house reports any legislative instrument, to which an actuarial note or notes are attached at the time of committee consideration, with any amendment of such nature as would substantially affect the cost to or the revenues of any retirement system, or program of hospital, medical, disability, or related benefits for teachers and State employees, as stated in the actuarial note or notes attached to the measure at the time of such consideration, it shall be the responsibility of the chairman of the committee reporting such instrument to obtain from the Fiscal Research Division an actuarial note of the fiscal and actuarial effect of the change proposed by the amendment reported. Such actuarial note shall be attached to the report of the committee on the measure as a supplement thereto. A floor amendment to a bill or resolution to which an actuarial note was attached at the time of committee consideration of the bill or resolution shall not be in order, if the amendment affects the costs to or the revenues of a retirement system, or program of hospital, medical, disability, or

related benefits provided for teachers and State employees, unless the amendment is accompanied by an actuarial note, prepared by the Fiscal Research Division, as to the actuarial effect of the amendment.

- (f) In addition to the other requirements of this section, if a bill or resolution contemplates removing a public agency as a participating employer from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Fiscal Research Division shall obtain an estimate of cost of the withdrawal liability the agency would owe under procedures established by the Boards of Trustees of the Retirement Systems.
- (g) In addition to the other requirements of this section, if a bill or resolution adds or modifies service purchase provisions, the Fiscal Research Division shall obtain an estimate of the cost impact of those provisions using the 30-year United States Treasury constant maturity and cost-of-living adjustment and salary increase assumptions consistent with that rate as of December of the year of the most recent actuarial valuation in addition to the cost of the provision using the valuation assumptions.

#### History.

1977, c. 503, s. 3; 1985, c. 189; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1091, s. 3; 1989, c. 261; 2015-168, s. 2(a), (b); 2016-82, s. 3.

## CHAPTER 127A. MILITIA.

#### Article 3. National Guard.

Section

127A-40. Pensions for the members of the North Carolina National Guard. 127A-40.1. North Carolina National Guard Pension Fund.

## ARTICLE 3.

## NATIONAL GUARD.

## § 127A-40. Pensions for the members of the North Carolina National Guard.

- (a) Every member and former member of the North Carolina National Guard who meets the requirements of this section shall receive, commencing at age 60, a pension of one hundred five dollars (\$105.00) per month for 20 years' creditable military service with an additional ten dollars and fifty cents (\$10.50) per month for each additional year of such service; provided, however, that the total pension shall not exceed two hundred ten dollars (\$210.00) per month. The requirements for a pension are that each member shall:
  - (1) Have served and qualified for at least 20 years' creditable military service, including National Guard, reserve and active duty, under the same requirement specified for entitlement to retired pay for nonregular service under Chapter 67, Title 10, United States Code.
  - (2) Have at least 15 years of the aforementioned service as a member of the North Carolina National Guard.
  - (3) Have received an honorable discharge from the North Carolina National Guard.
- (b) Payment to a retired member of the North Carolina National Guard under the provisions of this section will cease at the death of the individual and no payment will be made to beneficiaries or to the decedent's estate, except that the legal representative of a retired member who dies shall be entitled to a full check for the month in which the death occurred.
- (c) No individual receiving retired pay as a result of length of service, age or physical disability retirement from any of the regular components of the Armed Forces of the United States will be eligible for benefits under this section.
- (d) Nothing contained in this section shall preclude or in any way affect the benefits that an individual may be entitled to from State, federal or private retirement systems.
  - (e) Repealed by Session Laws 1989, c. 792, s. 2.3.
- (f) The Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System shall administer the provisions of this section.

The Secretary of Public Safety shall determine the eligibility of North Carolina National Guard members for the benefits provided in this section and shall certify those eligible to the Board of Trustees. In addition, the Department of Public Safety shall, on and after July 1, 1983, provide the Board of Trustees with an annual census population, by age and the number of years of creditable service, for all former members of the North Carolina National Guard in receipt of a pension as well as for all active members of the North Carolina National Guard who are not in receipt of a pension and who have seven and more years of creditable service. The Department of Public Safety shall also provide the Board of Trustees an annual census population of all former members of the North Carolina National Guard who are not in receipt of a pension and who have 15 and more years of creditable service. The Department of State Treasurer shall make pension payments to those persons certified from the North Carolina National Guard Pension Fund.

- (g) The provisions of this section shall apply to any member or former member of the North Carolina National Guard who is qualified for the above retirements with eligibility commencing at age 60 or July 1, 1974, whichever is the later date.
- (h) If, for any reason, the North Carolina National Guard Pension Fund shall be insufficient to pay in full any pension benefits, or other charges, then all benefits or payments shall be reduced pro rata, for as long as the deficiency in amount exists. No claim shall accrue with respect to any amount by which a pension or benefit payment shall have been reduced.
- (h1) Any member or former member of the North Carolina National Guard who is qualified for benefits under this section and who is a member of a domiciled employees' or retirees' association that has at least 2,000 members, the majority of whom are active or retired employees of the State or public school employees, may authorize, in writing, the periodic deduction from the member's retirement benefits a designated lump sum to be paid to the employees' or retirees' association. The authorization shall remain in effect until revoked by the member. A plan of deductions pursuant to this subsection shall become void if the employees' or retirees' association engages in collective bargaining with the State, any political subdivision of the State, or any local school administrative unit.
- (i) Pensions for members of the North Carolina National Guard shall be subject to future legislative change or revision.
- (j) Except for the applications of the provisions of G.S. 110-136, and in connection with a court-ordered equitable distribution under G.S. 50-20, the pensions provided are not subject to attachment, garnishments, or judgments against the member or former member of the National Guard entitled to them, nor are any rights in the fund or the pensions or benefits assignable. Notwithstanding any

provisions to the contrary, any overpayment of benefits or erroneous payment to a member in a State-administered retirement system, the Disability Salary Continuation Plan, or the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina, including any benefits paid to, or State Health Plan premiums or claims paid on behalf of, any member who is later determined to have been ineligible for those benefits or unentitled to those amounts, may be offset against any retirement allowance, return of contributions, or any other right accruing under this Article to the same person, the person's estate, or designated beneficiary.

#### History.

1973, c. 625, s. 1; c. 1241, ss. 1-3; 1975, c. 604, s. 2; 1977, c. 70, s. 2; 1979, c. 870; 1983, c. 761, ss. 250, 251; 1989, c. 792, s. 2.3; 2002-126, s. 6.4(g); 2005-276, s. 29.27; 2006-66, s. 22.20; 2007-323, s. 28.21A; 2009-66, s. 10; 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-451, s. 26.21; 2011-145, s. 19.1(g); 2011-195, s. 1(a); 2013-287, s. 3; 2014-100, s. 35.15C; 2015-241, s. 30.24; 2017-135, s. 9(d); 2020-48, s. 1.7(a).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.7(a), effec-

tive June 26, 2020, in subsection (f), deleted "which shall include general fund appropriations made to the Department of State Treasurer. The Board of Trustees shall have performed an annual actuarial valuation of the fund and shall have the financial responsibility for maintaining the fund on a generally accepted actuarial basis. The Department of Public Safety shall provide the Department of State Treasurer with whatever assistance is required by the State Treasurer in carrying out the State Treasurer's and the Board of Trustees' financial responsibilities" at the end.

#### CASE NOTES

Action Time-Barred. — Declaratory judgment action by a former member of the North Carolina National Guard, regarding the denial of his application for certain retirement benefits, was timebarred by the three-year limitations period in G.S. 1-52(2) because the member

was on notice of the State's refusal to pay the retirement benefits on August 5, 2008, but waited until January 18, 2012 to file suit. Ludlum v. State, 227 N.C. App. 92, 742 S.E.2d 580, 2013 N.C. App. LEXIS 480 (2013).

#### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Prerequisites to Receipt of Pension.—A member of the North Carolina National Guard may receive the pension authorized by this section only after he meets the statutory age and length of service requirements and separates from

the Guard with an honorable discharge. See opinion of Attorney General to Mr. Robert A. Melott, Deputy Secretary, Department of Crime Control and Public Safety, 52 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 118 (1983).

#### § 127A-40.1. North Carolina National Guard Pension Fund.

- (a) As used in this section, the term "Board of Trustees" means the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
- (b) The North Carolina National Guard Pension Fund shall include general fund appropriations made to the Department of

State Treasurer and held with the Pension Accumulation Fund of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

- (c) The Board of Trustees shall have performed an annual actuarial valuation of the Fund and shall have the financial responsibility for maintaining the Fund on a generally accepted actuarial basis.
- (d) An actuarially determined employer contribution shall be calculated annually by the actuary using assumptions and a cost method approved by the Actuarial Standards Board of the American Academy of Actuaries and selected by the Board of Trustees.
- (e) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the Board of Trustees may adopt a contribution policy that would recommend a contribution not less than the actuarially determined employer contribution.
- (f) The recommended employer contribution rate by the Board of Trustees each year shall not be less than the actuarially determined employer contribution.
- (g) The Department of Public Safety shall provide the Department of State Treasurer with any assistance required by the State Treasurer in carrying out the financial responsibilities of the State Treasurer or the Board of Trustees.

#### History.

2020-48, s. 1.7(b).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 7.1 made this section effective June 26, 2020.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.7(b), enacted G.S. 127A-41, which was renumbered G.S. 127A-40.1 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

## CHAPTER 128.

## OFFICES AND PUBLIC OFFICERS.

#### Article 3. Retirement System for Counties, Cities and Towns.

#### Section

- 128-21. Definitions.
- 128-22. Name and date of establishment.
- 128-23. Acceptance by cities, towns and counties.
- 128-23.1. Inactive employers.
- 128-24. Membership.
- 128-25. [Repealed.]
- 128-26. Allowance for service.
- 128-26.5. Creditable service purchases.
- 128-26A. Reciprocity of creditable service with other State-administered retirement systems.
- 128-27. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Benefits.
- 128-27. (Effective January 1, 2025) Benefits.
- 128-28. Administration and responsibility for operation of System.
- 128-29. Management of funds.
- 128-29.1. [Repealed.]
- 128-30. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Method of financing.
- 128-30. (Effective January 1, 2025) Method of financing.
- 128-31. Exemptions from execution; employing unit to offset amount owed by member or beneficiary.
- 128-32. Protection against fraud.
- 128-32.1. Failure to respond.
- 128-33. Certain laws not applicable to members.
- 128-33.1. Public records held by the Retirement System.
- 128-34. Transfer of members.
- 128-35. Obligations of pension accumulation fund.
- 128-36. Local laws unaffected; when benefits begin to accrue.
- 128-36.1. [Repealed.]
- 128-37. Membership of employees of district health departments or public health authorities.
- 128-37.1. Membership of employees of county social services department.
- 128-37.2. Continued membership for certain fire departments.
- 128-38. Reservation of power to change.
- 128-38.1. Termination or partial termination; discontinuance of contributions.
- 128-38.2. Internal Revenue Code compliance.
- 128-38.3. Deduction for payments allowed.
- 128-38.4. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies committed while serving as elected government official.
- 128-38.4A. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies related to employment or holding office.
- 128-38.4B. Prohibition on purchase of forfeited service.
- 128-38.5. Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance.
- 128-38.6. Employee protection and remedies against unlawful retaliation for furnishing information to the Retirement Systems Division.
- 128-38.7 through 128-38.9. [Reserved.]
- 128-38.10. Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement.

### ARTICLE 3.

# RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR COUNTIES, CITIES AND TOWNS.

#### § 128-21. Definitions.

The following words and phrases as used in this Article, unless a

different meaning is plainly required by the context, shall have the following meanings:

- (1) "Accumulated contribution" shall mean the sum of all amounts deducted from the compensation of a member and credited to his individual account in the annuity savings fund, together with regular interest thereon, as provided in G.S. 128-30, subsection (b).
- (2) "Actuarial equivalent" shall mean a benefit of equal value when computed upon the basis of actuarial assumptions as shall be adopted by the Board of Trustees.
- (3) "Annuity" shall mean payments for life derived from the accumulated contribution of a member. All annuities shall be payable in equal monthly installments.
- (4) "Annuity reserve" shall mean the present value of all payments to be made on account of any annuity or benefit in lieu of any annuity computed at regular interest upon the basis of such mortality tables as shall be adopted by the Board of Trustees.
- (4a) "Authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff" means only other staff of the Department of State Treasurer, staff of the Department of Justice, or persons providing internal auditing assistance required under G.S. 143-746(b).
- (5) "Average final compensation" shall mean the average annual compensation, not including any terminal payments for unused sick leave, of a member during the four consecutive calendar years of creditable service producing the highest such average; but shall not include any compensation, as determined by the Board of Trustees, for the reimbursement of expenses or payments for housing or any other allowances whether or not classified as salary and wages. Payout of vacation leave shall be included in "average final compensation" only if the payout is received by the member during the four consecutive calendar years of membership service producing the highest average annual compensation of the member.
- (6) "Beneficiary" shall mean any person in receipt of a pension, an annuity, a retirement allowance or other benefit as provided by this Article.
- (7) "Board of Trustees" shall mean the Board provided for in G.S. 128-28 to administer the Retirement System.
- (7a)a. "Compensation" shall mean all salaries and wages prior to any reduction pursuant to sections 125, 401(k), 403(b), 414(h)(2), and 457 of the Internal Revenue Code, not including any terminal payments for unused sick leave, derived from public funds which are earned by a member of the Retirement System for service as

an employee in the unit of the Retirement System for which he is performing full-time work. In addition to the foregoing, "compensation" shall include:

- 1. Performance-based compensation (regardless of whether paid in a lump sum, periodic installments, or on a monthly basis);
- 2. Conversion of additional benefits to salary (additional benefits such as health, life, or disability plans), so long as the benefits are other than mandated by State law or regulation;
- 3. Payment of tax consequences for benefits provided by the employer so long as they constitute an adjustment or increase in salary and not a "reimbursement of expenses";
- 4. Payout of vacation leave so long as such payouts are permitted by applicable law and regulation;
- 5. Employee contributions to eligible deferred compensation plans; and
- 6. Effective July 1, 2009, payment of military differential wages.
- b. "Compensation" shall not include any payment, as determined by the Board of Trustees, for the reimbursement of expenses or payments for housing or any other allowances whether or not classified as salary and wages. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, "compensation" shall not include:
  - Supplement/allowance provided to employee to purchase additional benefits such as health, life, or disability plans;
  - 2. Travel supplement/allowance (nonaccountable allowance plans);
  - 3. Employer contributions to eligible deferred compensation plans;
  - 4. Employer-provided fringe benefits (additional benefits such as health, life, or disability plans);
  - 5. Reimbursement of uninsured medical expenses;
  - 6. Reimbursement of business expenses;
  - 7. Reimbursement of moving expenses;
  - 8. Reimbursement/payment of personal expenses;
  - 9. Incentive payments for early retirement;
  - 10. Bonuses paid incident to retirement;
  - 11. Contract buyout/severance payments; and
  - 12. Payouts for unused sick leave.
- c. In the event an employer reports as "compensation" payments not specifically included or excluded as "compensation", such payments shall be "compensation" for retirement purposes only if the employer pays the

- Retirement System the additional actuarial liability created by such payments.
- (7b) "Compliance investigation" means an independent review or examination by Retirement Systems Division staff or authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff of records, activities, actions, or decisions by employers or other affiliated or associated entities having an impact on a Retirement System or benefits administered by the Board of Trustees. The purpose of a compliance investigation is to help detect errors and ensure compliance and full accountability in the use of pension funds.
- (7c) "Conduct directly related to the office or employment" shall mean conduct by the member resulting in a felony conviction that:
  - a. Is an offense identified in G.S. 115C-270.35(b), and the commission of the offense occurred while the member was employed in a public school or working in a public school subject to a memorandum of understanding.
  - b. Is an offense which required the revocation of the member's licensure or certification required for the member's employment or office at the time of the commission of the offense.
  - c. Is conduct that was directly related to the member's employment or office as determined by the Board of Trustees.
- (7d) "Consumer Price Index" shall mean the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U), U.S. City Average, all items, not seasonally adjusted, standard reference base, as published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor.
- (8) "Creditable service" shall mean the total of "prior service" plus "membership service" plus service, both noncontributory and purchased, for which credit is allowable under this Article. In no event, however, shall "creditable service" be deemed "membership service" for the purpose of determining eligibility for benefits accruing under this Article.
- (8a) "Duly acknowledged" means notarized, including electronic notarization, or verified through an identity authentication service approved by the Department of State Treasurer
- (9) "Earnable compensation" shall mean the full rate of the compensation that would be payable to an employee if he worked the full normal working time, including any allowance of maintenance or in lieu thereof received by the member.
- (10) "Employee" shall mean any person who is regularly employed in the service of and whose salary or compensation

is paid by the employer as defined in subdivision (11) of this section, whether employed or appointed for stated terms or otherwise, except teachers in the public schools and except such employees who hold office by popular election as are not required to devote a major portion of their time to the duties of their office. "Employee" also means all full-time, paid firemen who are employed by any fire department that serves a city or county or any part of a city or county and that is supported in whole or in part by municipal or county funds. "Employee" also includes any participant whose employment is interrupted by reason of service in the Uniformed Services, as that term is defined in section 4303(16) of the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, Public Law 103-353, if that participant was an employee at the time of the interruption; if the participant does not return immediately after that service to employment with a covered employer in this System, then the participant shall be deemed "in service" until the date on which the participant was first eligible to be separated or released from his or her involuntary military service. In all cases of doubt the Board of Trustees shall decide who is an employee. On and after August 1, 2001, a person who is a nonimmigrant alien and who otherwise meets the requirements of this subdivision shall not be excluded from the definition of "employee" solely because the person holds a temporary or time-limited visa.

- (11) "Employer" shall mean any county, incorporated city or town, the board of alcoholic control of any county or incorporated city or town, the North Carolina League of Municipalities, and the State Association of County Commissioners. "Employer" shall also mean any separate, juristic political subdivision of the State as may be approved by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the Attorney General.
- (11a) "Filing" when used in reference to an application for retirement shall mean the receipt of an acceptable application on a form provided by the Retirement System.
- (11b) "Firefighter" means a person (i) who is a full-time paid employee of an employer that participates in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and maintains a fire department certified by the North Carolina Department of Insurance and (ii) who is actively serving in a position with assigned primary duties and responsibilities for the prevention, detection, and suppression of fire.
- (11c) "Fraud investigation" means an independent review or examination by Retirement Systems Division staff or authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement

- Systems Division staff of records, activities, actions, or decisions by employers or other affiliated or associated entities having an impact on the Retirement System. The purpose of a fraud investigation is to help detect and prevent fraud and to ensure full accountability in the use of pension funds.
- (11d) "Law Enforcement Officer" means a full-time paid employee of an employer, who possesses the power of arrest, who has taken the law enforcement oath administered under the authority of the State as prescribed by G.S. 11-11, and who is certified as a law enforcement officer under the provisions of Article 1 of Chapter 17C of the General Statutes or certified as a deputy sheriff under the provisions of Chapter 17E of the General Statutes. "Law enforcement officer" also means the sheriff of the county. The number of paid personnel employed as law enforcement officers by a law enforcement agency may not exceed the number of law enforcement positions approved by the applicable local governing board.
- (12) "Medical board" shall mean the board of physicians provided for in G.S. 128-28, subsection (*l*).
- (13) "Member" shall mean any person included in the membership of the Retirement System as provided in G.S. 128-24.
- (14) "Membership service" shall mean service as an employee rendered while a member of the Retirement System or membership service in a North Carolina Retirement System that has been transferred into this system.
- (15) "Pension" shall mean payments for life derived from money provided by the employer. All pensions shall be payable in equal monthly installments.
- (16) "Pension reserve" shall mean the present value of all payments to be made on account of any pension or benefit in lieu of any pension computed at regular interest upon the basis of such mortality tables as shall be adopted by the Board of Trustees.
- (17) "Prior service" shall mean the service of a member rendered before the date he becomes a member of the System, certified on his prior service certificate and allowable as provided by G.S. 128-26. No prior service shall be allowed at any employer for which participation is adopted and approved by the Board of Trustees in this Retirement System on or after August 1, 2015.
- (18) "Regular interest" shall mean interest compounded annually at such rate as shall be determined by the Board of Trustees in accordance with G.S. 128-29, subsection (b).
- (18a) "Regularly employed" shall mean employment in a position for which the duties require not less than 1,000 hours

- of work in a calendar year, provided that the term shall not include any individuals whose employment is considered "temporary employment" as defined in subdivision (22b) of this section or "statutorily-required interim employment" as defined in subdivision (22a) of this section.
- (18b) "Rescue squad worker" means a person (i) who is a full-time paid employee of an employer that participates in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and maintains a rescue squad or emergency medical services team certified by the North Carolina Department of Insurance or the Department of Health and Human Services and (ii) who is actively serving in a position with assigned primary duties and responsibilities for the alleviation of human suffering and assistance to persons who are in difficulty, who are injured, or who become suddenly ill, by providing proper and efficient care or emergency medical services.
- (19) "Retirement" under this Article shall mean the commencement of monthly retirement benefits, along with the termination of employment and the complete separation from active service with no intent or agreement, expressed or implied, to return to service. A retirement allowance under the provisions of this Article may only be granted upon retirement of a member. In order for a member's retirement to become effective in any month, the member must perform no work for a participating employer, including parttime, temporary, substitute, or contractor work, at any time during the same month immediately following the effective first day of retirement.
- (20) "Retirement allowance" shall mean the sum of the annuity and the pension, or any optional benefit payable in lieu thereof.
- (21) "Retirement System" shall mean the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System as defined in this Article.
- (22) "Service" shall mean service as an employee as described in subdivision (10) of this section and paid for by the employer as described in subdivision (11) of this section.
- (22a) "Statutorily-required interim employment" shall mean individuals whose employment for an employer as defined in subdivision (11) of this section occurs as a result of the individual's designation by the city council as an interim city manager, as provided in G.S. 160A-150 for a period not to exceed 12 months on a nonrecurring basis, or as a result of the individual's designation by the board of commissioners as an interim county manager, as provided in G.S. 153A-84 for a period not to exceed 12 months on a nonrecurring basis.

- (22b) "Temporary employment" shall mean employment for a limited term, in no case to exceed 12 consecutive months on a nonrecurring basis, for an employer as defined in subdivision (11) of this section.
- (23) "Year" shall mean the regular fiscal year beginning July 1, and ending June 30; in the following calendar year unless otherwise defined by regulation of the Board of Trustees.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 1; 1941, c. 357, s. 1; 1943, c. 535; 1945, c. 526, s. 1; 1947, c. 833, ss. 1, 2; 1949, c. 231, ss. 1, 2; 1949, c. 1015; 1959, c. 491, ss. 1, 2; 1961, c. 515, s. 5; 1965, c. 781; 1971, c. 325, ss. 1-4; 1975, 2nd Sess., c. 983, s. 125; 1977, c. 316, ss. 1, 2; 1981, c. 557, ss. 1, 2; 1985, c. 479, s. 196(b); c. 649, s. 3; 1991, c. 51, s. 1; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 762, ss. 1, 2; 1997-144, s. 1; 1999-167, ss. 1, 2; 1999-456, s. 37; 2001-426, s. 1; 2003-359, ss. 13, 14; 2009-66, ss. 2(a), 6(f), (j); 2011-92, s. 1; 2011-294, s. 4; 2012-185, s. 2(a); 2013-288, ss. 3(b), 4(b); 2014-97, s. 4(b); 2015-164, s. 8; 2015-168, s. 5; 2017-125, s. 1(b); 2017-128, s. 1(e), (f), (g); 2020-48, s. 1.1(a); 2021-75, s. 3.1(a); 2023-128, s. 3A(a); 2024-10, s. 9(a).

#### Local Modification.

Catawba: 1995, c. 306, s. 1; 1995 (Reg. Sess., 1996), c. 693, s. 2; Mecklenburg: 1995, c. 532, s. 1; 1995 (Reg. Sess., 1996), c. 693, s. 1; city of Asheville: 1981, c. 737; city of Charlotte: 1947, c. 926, amended by Session Laws 1949, c. 734; 1951, c. 387; 1965, c. 575; 1969, c. 132; 1971, c. 860; c. 903, s. 2; 1973, c. 267; 1983, c. 506; (as to Art. 3) 1985, c. 185; 1987, c. 506; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1033; 1989, c. 248; c. 770, s. 45; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 830; c. 1030, s. 51.6; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 640, s.1; 1995, c. 171, s. 1; 1999-100, s. 1; 2001-22, 2002-43, ss. 1-5; 2006-117, s. 1, 2; 2010-7, s. 1; 2017-71, s. 1; (as to Article 3) city of Fayetteville: 1998-61; city of High Point: 1987, c. 327; town of Stovall: 2008-52, s. 1 (as to prior service credits).

#### Open Enrollment — Contributory Death Benefit.

Session Laws 2007-388, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding any section of law or any rules and regulations adopted by the Boards of Trustees to the contrary, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall allow for an open enrollment period in the Contributory Death Benefit for Retired Members of the Teachers' and State Em-

ployees' Retirement System, the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, and the Legislative Retirement System. This open enrollment period shall begin February 1, 2008, and end May 31, 2008. The Retirement Systems Division shall send notice by U.S. mail of the open enrollment period to all retirees who elected not to be covered under this benefit or who failed to make any election at the time of their retirement and shall send a second notice by U.S. mail to any such retiree who fails to make an election within 60 days of the notification of the open enrollment period. Notice, at minimum, shall consist of notification of the open enrollment period and the consequences of failure to respond within the specified time frames, informational materials explaining the benefit program and the associated costs, and a preprinted personalized enrollment application to facilitate the enrollment process indicating each individual retiree's contribution rate. The contribution rate for retirees electing coverage during the open enrollment period shall be increased by eleven and one-tenth percent (11.1%) the rate established for retirees who elected coverage when first eligible, at retirement. For retirees electing coverage during this open enrollment period, coverage shall become effective the first of the month following the month in which the election of coverage is received by the Retirement Systems Division but not before February 1, 2008. Contribution rates for coverage shall be based upon the retiree's nearest age as of the effective date of coverage and shall begin by deduction from the retiree's net monthly retirement allowance in the month in which coverage becomes effective. Coverage elected by retirees during this open enrollment period shall be subject to all other laws and rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees governing the Contributory Death Benefit for Retired Members."

#### Editor's Note.

Subdivision (7a)a, (7a)b, and (7a)c des-

ignations were added by the Revisor of

At the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, subdivisions (7b) and (7c), as enacted by Session Laws 2011-92, s. 1, were redesignated as subdivisions (11b) and (18a), respectively, and former subdivision (11b) was redesignated as subdivision (11c).

Session Laws 1999-167, which in ss. 1 and 2 added the second sentence of subsection (10), deleted the second sentence of subdivision (11) (which was subsequently reinserted by Session Laws 1999-456, s. 37), and added the last sentence of subdivision (11), provided in s. 3 that the Board of Trustees of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System through the Office of the Attorney General was to request a letter of determination or ruling from the Internal Revenue Service as to whether the status of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System as a governmental plan would be adversely affected by the participation of employees affected by this legislation. The request was to be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of the act, June 8, 1999, and fire departments affected by this legislation were to be eligible for participation in the North Carolina Local Governmental Emplovees' Retirement System upon the first day of the calendar quarter following receipt of a favorable letter of determination or ruling. An unfavorable determination was received.

Session Laws 2009-378, s. 2, applicable to local government furloughs on and after January 1, 2009, and before July 1, 2010, provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law and upon the one-time irrevocable election of the employer as defined in G.S. 128-21(11), a public employee on a furlough who is a member of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System administered by the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall be considered in active service during any period of furlough and shall be entitled to all of the same benefits to which the employee was entitled on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The member shall suffer no diminution of retirement average final compensation based on being on furlough, and the retirement average final compensation shall be calculated based on the undiminished compensation. During a furlough period, the employer who opts for this provision shall

pay both employee and employer contributions to the Retirement Systems Division on behalf of the furloughed employee as though the employee were in active service. Notwithstanding the definition of 'compensation' in G.S. 128-21(7a), any employer who elects to cover its furloughed employees through this provision shall be entitled to include earnings lost due to furloughs taken after January 1, 2009, and before July 1, 2009, in the reported compensation and contributions for either July or August, 2009. Any compensation and contributions lost due to furloughs must be reported to the Retirement Systems Division within 90 days of the beginning of the period in which the compensation and contributions will be included."

Session Laws 2011-92, s. 1, which added subdivisions (11b) and (18a), is applicable to beneficiaries of firefighters and rescue squad workers killed in the line of duty on or after July 1, 2011.

Session Laws 2011-144, s. 1, provides: "Johnston Memorial Hospital Authority may elect to discontinue its participation as an employer in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System as defined in G.S. 128-21 for any and all employees hired on or after October 1, 2011. Johnston Memorial Hospital Authority's Board of Trustees shall communicate their decision and provide to the Retirement Systems Division of the State Treasurer's Office copies of any Board action relating to this election. Johnston Memorial Hospital Authority will continue to report the payroll of employees and remit the employee and employer contributions on all employees employed as of September 30, 2011, until such time as none exist."

At the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, subdivision (5a) as added by Session Laws 2012-185, was redesignated as subdivision (4a) to maintain alphabetical order.

Subdivision (8a) as added by Session Laws 2014-97, s. 4(b), was redesignated as subdivision (7b) at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes to maintain alphabetical order.

At the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, subdivisions (10a)-(10c), as enacted by Session Laws 2015-164, s. 8, were redesignated as subdivisions (18a), (22b) and (22a), respectively, and former subdivision (18a) was redesignated as subdivision (18b).

At the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, in subdivision (18a), "subdivision (22b)" and "subdivision (22a)" were sub-

stituted for "subdivision (10b)" and "subdivision (10c)" respectively.

"Article 1 of Chapter 17C" has been substituted for "Chapter 17C" in subdivision (11d) at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 4.22(a)-(d), provides: "(a) This section shall apply to the following General Statutes:

- "(1) Article 1A of Chapter 120.
- "(2) Article 3 of Chapter 128.
- "(3) Article 1 of Chapter 135.
- "(4) Article 4 of Chapter 135.
- "(5) Article 6 of Chapter 135.
- "(b) Whenever the medical board, as established under G.S. 128-28( l), 135-6(k), or 135-102(d), is required to make a determination or certification of eligibility for disability benefits, the Director of the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer, or the Director's designee, may make an interim determination or an interim certification that a member or beneficiary is eligible for disability benefits. The Director may not make a determination or certification that a member or beneficiary is not eligible for disability benefits.
- "(c) The medical board shall review any interim determinations or interim certifications made in accordance with this section as soon as practicable and shall then make a final determination or final certification for disability benefits. If, subsequent to an interim determination or interim certification, the medical board makes a final determination that a member or beneficiary is not eligible for disability benefits, then any payment to that member or beneficiary shall cease and the determination shall be applied prospectively only so that the final determination will not require any refund by the member or beneficiary to the applicable retirement system or benefit plan for payments or benefits received during the interim period before the final determination is made.
- "(d) This section is effective when it becomes law [May 4, 2020]. Subsection (b) of this section expires August 1, 2020. Any interim determinations or interim certifications made, as allowed under subsection (b) of this section, will remain

valid until a final determination is made, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section."

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 3.1(c), made the substitution of "computed upon the basis of actuarial assumptions" for "computed at regular interest upon the basis of such mortality tables" in subdivision (2) of this section by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 3.1(a), applicable to benefit calculations performed on or after July 1, 2021

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-128, s. 3A(c), made the amendment to this section by Session Laws 2023-128, s. 3A(a), effective July 1, 2023, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.1(a), effective June 26, 2020, added subdivision (8a). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 3.1(a), effective July 1, 2021, substituted "computed upon the basis of actuarial assumptions" for "computed at regular interest upon the basis of such mortality tables" in subdivision (2). For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2023-128, s. 3A(a), added subdivision (7c), redesignating former subdivision (7c) as (7d). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 9(a), effective June 20, 2024, in subdivision (8), substituted "under this Article" for "as provided in G.S. 128-26 in the first sentence, and substituted "this Article" for "this Chapter" in the second sentence.

## Legal Periodicals.

For comment on the 1939 enactment, see 17 N.C.L. Rev. 369 (1939).

For comment on the 1941 amendment, see 19 N.C.L. Rev. 510 (1941).

For article, "The Impact of Law on the

For article, "The Impact of Law on the State Pension Crisis," see 54 Wake Forest L. Rev. 105 (2019).

#### **CASE NOTES**

This Article creates contractual rights and obligations. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Any cessation of employment, includ-

ing retirement, constitutes a termination from service as an employee. Walker v. Board of Trustees, 348 N.C. 63, 499 S.E.2d 429, 1998 N.C. LEXIS 156 (1998).

Discretionary Power to Participate in Retirement System. — Where a city has become an employer participating in the State Retirement System under authority conferred by this Article and by an act amending its charter, the repeal of the charter provision leaves its governing authorities with discretionary power to participate in the Retirement System under authority conferred by this Article, and mandamus will not lie to compel it to withdraw from the State Retirement System. Laughinghouse v. City of New Bern, 232 N.C. 596, 61 S.E.2d 802, 1950 N.C. LEXIS 600 (1950).

Credit Denied to a Self-Insured City for Disability Retirement Payments. — North Carolina Industrial Commission's decision to deny a city credit for disability retirement payments that were made to an injured city employee from a public employee benefits program was not an abuse of discretion under G.S. 97-42 because the city and the employee jointly contributed to the plan, and competent evidence, in the form of testimony as to the funding of the disability benefits plan, existed to support the Commission's findings of fact and conclusions of law. Cox v. City of Winston-Salem, 171 N.C. App. 112, 613 S.E.2d 746, 2005 N.C. App. LEXIS 1161

Interest Accrual and Compounding. — Consistent with the purposes of G.S. 135-1(19) and subdivision (18) of this section, underpayments were found to accrue interest from the date they

became due. Furthermore, court found that statutes entitled beneficiaries to interest, not only on the principle due, but also on the accrued or earned interest. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Emples. Retirement Sys., 133 N.C. App. 587, 515 S.E.2d 743, 1999 N.C. App. LEXIS 615, writ denied, 351 N.C. 102, 540 S.E.2d 358, 1999 N.C. LEXIS 1035 (1999), cert. denied, 351 N.C. 102, 540 S.E.2d 358, 1999 N.C. LEXIS 1034 (1999).

Actuarial Equivalent to Include Interest. — The actuarial value includes interest and there was no double recovery where the court was following the definition of actuarial equivalent as prescribed by this section and included interest in the underpayment award. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Emps. Retirement Sys., 345 N.C. 683, 483 S.E.2d 422, 1997 N.C. LEXIS 188 (1997).

Postjudgment Interest Not Awardable Against State. — Retirees under the state and local government retirement system were not entitled to postjudgment interest on retroactive disability benefits, because the state retirement statutes contain no provision for the allowance of such interest. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Employees' Retirement Sys., 132 N.C. App. 137, 510 S.E.2d 675, 1999 N.C. App. LEXIS 89 (1999).

Retirement Is Withdrawal Not Termination. — This statute explicitly defines retirement as a withdrawal from active service not as termination of employment. Walker v. Board of Trustees, 127 N.C. App. 156, 487 S.E.2d 839, 1997 N.C. App. LEXIS 764 (1997), aff'd, 348 N.C. 63, 499 S.E.2d 429, 1998 N.C. LEXIS 156 (1998).

#### § 128-22. Name and date of establishment.

A Retirement System is hereby established and placed under the management of the Board of Trustees for the purpose of providing retirement allowances and other benefits under the provisions of this Article for employees of those counties, cities and towns or other eligible employers participating in the said Retirement System. Following the filing of the application as provided in G.S. 128-23(c), the Board shall set a date, effective the first day of a calendar quarter, not more than 90 days thereafter, as of which date participation of the employer may begin, which date shall be known as the date of participation for such employer: Provided, that in the judgment of the Board of Trustees an adequate number of persons have indicated their intention to participate; otherwise at such later date as the Board of Trustees may set.

This Retirement System is a governmental plan, within the meaning of Section 414(d) of the Internal Revenue Code. Therefore, the nondiscrimination rules of Sections 401(a)(5) and 401(a)(26) of the Code do not apply. This System shall have the power and privileges of a corporation and shall be known as the "North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System," and by such name all of its business shall be transacted, all of its funds invested, and all of its cash and securities and other property held.

Consistent with Section 401(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code, all contributions from participating employers and participating employees to this Retirement System shall be made to funds held in trust through trust instruments that have the purposes of distributing trust principal and income to retired members and their beneficiaries and of paying other definitely determinable benefits under this Chapter, after meeting the necessary expenses of administering this Retirement System. Neither the trust corpus nor income from this trust can be used for purposes other than the exclusive benefit of members or their beneficiaries, except that employer contributions made to the trust under a good faith mistake of fact may be returned to an employer, where the refund can occur within less than one year after the mistaken contribution was made, consistent with the rule adopted by the Board of Trustees. The Retirement System shall have a consolidated Plan document, consisting of Article V, Section 6(2) of the North Carolina Constitution, relevant statutory provisions in this Chapter, associated regulations in the North Carolina Administrative Code, substantive and procedural information on the official forms used by the Retirement System, and policies and minutes of the Board of Trustees.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 2; 1941, c. 357, s. 2; 1943, c. 535; 1945, c. 526, s. 2; 1959, c. 491, s. 3; 2012-130, s. 7(b).

Retirement system was transferred to the Department of State Treasurer by G.S. 143A-35, enacted by Session Laws 1971, c. 864.

## State Government Reorganization. The Local Governmental Employees'

#### § 128-23. Acceptance by cities, towns and counties.

- (a) Pursuant to the favorable vote of a majority of the employees of any incorporated city or town, the governing body may, by resolution legally adopted and approved by the Board of Trustees, elect to have its employees become eligible to participate in the Retirement System, and the said municipal governing body may make the necessary appropriation therefor and if necessary levy annually taxes for payment of the same.
- (b) Pursuant to the favorable vote of a majority of the employees of the county, the board of commissioners of any county may, by resolution legally adopted and approved by the Board of Trustees, elect to have its employees become eligible to participate in the

Retirement System. Each county is authorized to make appropriations for these purposes and to fund them by levy of property taxes as authorized by Article 7 of Chapter 153A of the General Statutes and by the allocation of other revenues whose use is not otherwise restricted by law.

- (c) Any eligible employer desiring to participate in the Retirement System shall file with the Board of Trustees an application for participation under the conditions included in this Article on a form approved by the Board of Trustees. In such application the employer shall agree to make the contributions required of participating employers, to deduct from the salaries of employees who may become members the contributions required of members under this Article, and to transmit such contributions to the Board of Trustees. It shall also agree to make the employer's contributions for the participation in the Retirement System of all employees entering the service of the employer, after its participation begins, who shall become members.
- (d) Such contributions as are made by employers shall be regarded as additions to the compensation of such employees as are members of the Retirement System and deducted therefrom for the purpose of making the employer's contribution, in addition to the deduction from the compensation of employees on account of member contributions.
- (e) The agreement of such employer to contribute on account of its employees shall be irrevocable, but should an employer for any reason become financially unable to make the normal and accrued liability contributions payable on account of its employees, then such employer shall be deemed to be in temporary default. Such temporary default shall not relieve such employer from any liability for its contributions payable on account of its employees.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the Retirement System shall not be liable for the payment of any pensions or other benefits on account of the employees or pensioners of any employer under this Article, for which reserves have not been previously created from funds contributed by such employer or its employees for such benefits.

- (f) Effective January 1, 1955, there shall be three classes of employers to be designated Class A, Class B and Class C, respectively. Each employer whose date of participation occurs before July 1, 1951, shall be a Class A employer unless such an employer by written notice filed with the Board of Trustees on or before June 30, 1951, elected to be a Class B employer. Each employer whose date of participation occurs on or after July 1, 1951, but before January 1, 1955, shall be a Class A employer. Each employer whose date of participation occurs on or after January 1, 1955, shall be a Class C employer.
- (g) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Article, any employer who is not a participating employer and who employs law

enforcement officers transferred from the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to this Retirement System on January 1, 1986, or who employs law enforcement officers electing to become members of this Retirement System on and after January 1, 1986, shall be employers participating in this Retirement System as this participation pertains to their law enforcement officers. The election of membership in this Retirement System shall be at the sole discretion of law enforcement officers of participating employers described in this subsection.

- (h) Notwithstanding any provision of this section, G.S. 128-21(11), or any other provision of law to the contrary, any board of alcoholic control that (i) is not a participating employer in the Retirement System on June 30, 2021, or (ii) ceased participation in the Retirement System as an inactive employer under G.S. 128-23.1 is not eligible to participate in the Retirement System.
- (i) Notwithstanding any provision of this section or G.S. 128-21(11), or any other provision of law to the contrary, any eligible employer that is not a taxing authority and is not a participating employer in the Retirement System on September 1, 2023, is not eligible to commence participation in the Retirement System without obtaining a surety as defined in rules adopted by the Board of Trustees. The rules adopted by the Board of Trustees shall address how an eligible employer that is not a taxing authority will cover a withdrawal liability that could be incurred by the employer if the employer ceases participation in the Retirement System.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 3; 1951, c. 274, s. 1; 1955, c. 1153, s. 1; 1971, c. 325, s. 5; 1973, c. 803, s. 16; 1985, c. 479, s. 196(c); 1991, c. 585, s. 1; 2020-48, s. 1.14; 2021-59, s. 1; 2022-70, s. 2(a); 2024-9, s. 4(b).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2022-70, s. 2(b), provides: "The Board of Trustees shall adopt rules necessary to enforce this section by August 1, 2023."

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.14, effective June 26, 2020, substituted "as authorized by Article 7 of Chapter 153A of the General Statutes" for "pursuant to G.S. 153-65" in the second sentence in subsection (b).

Session Laws 2021-59, s. 1, effective June 28, 2021, added subsection (h).

Session Laws 2022-70, s. 2(a), effective June 30, 2022, added subsection (i).

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 4(b), effective June 20, 2024, rewrote subsection (h).

## § 128-23.1. Inactive employers.

- (a) An employer shall be considered an inactive employer if all of the following criteria are met:
  - (1) The employer has no employees that qualify for membership in the Retirement System.
  - (2) The employer has made no employer contributions for at least one month.
  - (3) The employer makes a request in writing to the Retirement

Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer to be made inactive.

- (4) The Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer has reviewed the employer request to become inactive and has granted that request. The Retirement Systems Division shall provide written notification to the requesting employer of any decisions made under this section.
- (b) Not later than April 30 of each calendar year, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall make a report to the Board of Trustees on all employers who were determined to be inactive employers in that preceding calendar year.
- (c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, an employer who has made no report to the Retirement Systems of any eligible employees for six consecutive months shall be considered an inactive employer.
- (d) Not later than May 15 of each calendar year, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall notify all employers who were reported to the Board of Trustees as inactive employers. An employer reported as inactive may apply to extend its inactive period for up to one year by submitting to the Retirement System, on or before June 30 of the same calendar year, clear and convincing evidence satisfactory to the Retirement System of the employer's intention to hire an employee in a position qualifying for membership service in the Retirement System.
- (e) Not later than July 31 of each calendar year, the Board of Trustees shall determine whether to grant any applications to extend the period of an employer's inactive status.
- (f) On October 1 of each calendar year, any employer included in the most recent report of inactive employers provided to the Board of Trustees that has not resumed reporting eligible employees and has not had its inactive status extended by the Board shall cease participation in the Retirement System according to the procedure and payment requirements of subsection (i) of G.S. 128-30, with a complete withdrawal date of October 1.

#### History.

2020-48, s. 1.9(b); 2022-14, s. 2.2.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 7.1 made this section effective June 26, 2020.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 2.2, effective December 31, 2022, inserted "Department of" preceding "State Treasurer" in subdivision (a)(4); inserted "of Trustees" following "Board" in subsection (b); and added subsections (c) through (f).

## § 128-24. Membership.

The membership of this Retirement System shall be composed as follows:

- (1) All employees entering or reentering the service of a participating employer after the date of participation in the Retirement System of the employer. On and after July 1, 1965, new extension service employees excluded from coverage under Title II of the Social Security Act in the employ of a county participating in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System are hereby excluded from participation in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to the extent of that part of their compensation derived from a county; provided that on and after July 1, 1965, new extension service employees excluded from coverage under Title II of the Social Security Act who are required to accept a federal Civil Service appointment may elect in writing on a form acceptable to the Retirement System, to be excluded from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and the local Retirement System. At such time as Cooperative Agricultural Extension Service Employees excluded from coverage under Title II of the Social Security Act become covered by Title II of the Social Security Act, such employees shall no longer be covered by the provisions of this section, provided no accrued rights of these employees under this section prior to coverage by Title II of the Social Security Act shall be diminished.
- (1a) A member shall cease to be a member only if the member withdraws his or her accumulated contributions, or becomes a beneficiary, or dies.
- (1b) A participating employer is prohibited from imposing a waiting period on any employees who are otherwise eligible to become members of the Retirement System.
- (2) All persons who are employees of a participating county, city, or town except those who shall notify the Board of Trustees in writing, on or before 30 days following the date of participation in the Retirement System by such county, city or town: Provided, further, that employees of county social services and health departments whose compensation is derived from federal, State, and local funds may be members of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to the full extent of their compensation. Any member on or after July 1, 1969, and prior to January 1, 2023, may deposit in the annuity savings fund by a single payment the contributions plus interest which would have been credited to his account had

he not signed a nonelection blank, and be entitled to such membership service credits and any prior service credits which became void upon execution of such nonelection blank; provided that the employer will pay the appropriate matching contributions.

- On and after January 1, 2023, the member shall purchase this service by paying a lump sum amount to the annuity savings fund equal to the full liability increase due to the additional service credits on the basis of the assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) assumed annual postretirement allowance increases as set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary. Subject to the requirements of this subsection, an employer may pay all or part of the cost of a service purchase of a member in service. To the extent that the purchase is paid by the employer, the cost paid by the employer shall be credited to the pension accumulation fund. To the extent that the purchase is paid by the member, the cost paid by the member shall be credited to the member's annuity savings account provided, however, that an employer does not discriminate against any employed member or group of employed members in paying all or any part of the cost of the membership service.
- (3) Effective January 1, 1955, there shall be three classes of members, to be designated Class A, Class B and Class C respectively. Each member who is an employee of a Class A employer shall be a Class A member; each member who is an employee of a Class B employer shall be a Class B member; and each member who is an employee of a Class C employer shall be a Class C member.
- (3a) Repealed by Session Laws 1981 (Regular Session, 1982), c. 1396, s. 1.
- (4) The provisions of this subdivision (4) shall apply to any member whose retirement became effective prior to July 1, 1965, and became entitled to benefits hereunder in accordance with the provisions hereof. Such benefits shall be computed in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b1) as in effect at the date of such separation from service.
  - a. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, any member who separates from service prior to the time he shall have attained the age of 60 years, or if a uniformed policeman or fireman prior to the time he

shall have attained the age of 55 years, for any reason other than death or retirement for disability as provided in G.S. 128-27(c), after completing 20 or more years of creditable service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in the Retirement System, shall have the right to retire on a deferred retirement allowance upon the date he shall have attained the age of 60 years, or if a uniformed policeman or fireman upon the date he shall have attained the age of 55 years; provided that such member may retire only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, not less than 30 days nor more than 120 days next following the date of filing such application, he desires to be retired. Such deferred retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b), paragraphs (1), (2) and (3).

- b. In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraph a of this subdivision (4), any member who separates from service prior to the time he shall have attained the age of 60 years, or if a uniformed policeman or fireman prior to the time he shall have attained the age of 55 years. for any reason other than death or retirement for disability as provided in G.S. 128-27(c), after completing 30 or more years of creditable service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in the Retirement System, may elect to retire on an early retirement allowance; provided that such a member may so retire only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, not less than 30 days nor more than 120 days next following the date of filing such application, he desires to be retired; provided further that such application shall be duly filed within 60 days following the date of such separation. Such early retirement allowance so elected shall be the actuarial equivalent of the deferred retirement allowance otherwise payable at the attainment of age 60 years, or if a uniformed policeman or fireman at the attainment of age 55 years. upon proper application therefor.
- c. Should an employee who retired on an early or service retirement allowance be restored to service prior to the time he shall have attained the age of 62 years, or if a uniformed policeman or fireman prior to the time he shall have attained the age of 55 years, his allowance shall cease, he shall again become a member of the Retirement System, and he shall contribute thereafter

at the uniform contribution rate for his class member. Upon his subsequent retirement, he shall be entitled to an allowance not less than the allowance described in 1 below reduced by the amount in 2 below.

- 1. The allowance to which he would have been entitled if he were retiring for the first time, calculated on the basis of his total creditable service represented by the sum of his creditable service at the time of his first retirement, and his creditable service after he was restored to service.
- 2. The actuarial equivalent of the retirement benefits he previously received.
- d. Should an employee who retired on an early or service retirement allowance be restored to service after the attainment of the age of 62 years, his retirement allowance shall be reduced to the extent necessary (if any) so that the sum of the retirement allowance at the time of retirement and earnings from employment by a unit of the Retirement System for any year (beginning January 1 and ending December 31) will not exceed the member's compensation received for the 12 months of service prior to retirement. Provided, however, that under no circumstances will the member's retirement allowance be reduced below the amount of his annuity as defined in G.S. 128-21(3).
- (5) The provisions of this subdivision (5) shall apply to any member whose membership is terminated on or after July 1, 1965, and who becomes entitled to benefits hereunder in accordance with the provisions hereof.
  - a. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, any member who separates from service prior to the attainment of the age of 60 years for any reason other than death or retirement for disability as provided in G.S. 128-27(c), after completing 15 or more years of creditable service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in said System shall have the right to retire on a deferred retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 60 years; provided that such member may retire only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired; and further provided that in the case of a member who so separates from service on or after July 1, 1967, the aforestated requirement of 15 or more years of creditable service shall be reduced to 12 or more years of creditable

service; and further provided that in the case of a member who so separates from service on or after July 1, 1971, or whose account is active on July 1, 1971, the aforestated requirement of 12 or more years of creditable service shall be reduced to five or more years of creditable service. Such deferred retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of this Article pertaining to a member who is not a law enforcement officer or eligible former law enforcement officer.

b. In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraph a of this subdivision, any member who separates from service prior to the attainment of the age of 60 years, for any reason other than death or retirement for disability as provided in G.S. 128-27(c), after completing 20 or more years of creditable service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in said System may elect to retire on an early retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 50 years or at any time thereafter; provided that such member may so retire only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired. Such early retirement allowance so elected shall be equal to the deferred retirement allowance otherwise payable at the attainment of the age of 60 years reduced by the percentage thereof indicated below.

$Age \ at$	Percentage
Retirement	Reduction
59	7
58	14
57	20
56	25
55	30
54	35
53	39
52	43
51	46
50	50

b1. In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraphs a and b of this subdivision, any member who is a law enforcement officer at the time of separation from service prior to the attainment of the age of 50 years, for any reason other than death or disability as provided in this Article, after completing 15 or more years of creditable

service in this capacity immediately prior to separation from service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in this System, may elect to retire on a deferred early retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 50 years or at any time thereafter; provided, that the member may commence retirement only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to commence retirement. The deferred early retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of this Article pertaining to law enforcement officers.

- b2. In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraphs a and b of this subdivision, any member who is a law enforcement officer at the time of separation from service prior to the attainment of the age of 55 years, for any reason other than death or disability as provided in this Article, after completing five or more years of creditable service in this capacity immediately prior to separation from service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in this System may elect to retire on a deferred service retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 55 years or at any time thereafter; provided, that the member may commence retirement only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to commence retirement. The deferred service retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of this Article pertaining to law enforcement officers.
- b3. **Deferred retirement allowance of members retiring on or after July 1, 1995.** In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraphs a. and b. of this subdivision, any member who separates from service prior to attainment of age 60 years, after completing 20 or more years of creditable service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in said System, may elect to retire on a deferred retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 50 years or any time thereafter; provided that such member may so retire only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, not less than one

- day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired. Such deferred retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of this Article pertaining to a member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer.
- c. Should a beneficiary who retired on an early or service retirement allowance be reemployed by, or otherwise engaged to perform services for, an employer participating in the Retirement System on a part-time, temporary, interim, or on fee-for-service basis, whether contractual or otherwise, and if such beneficiary earns an amount during the 12-month period immediately following the effective date of retirement or in any calendar year which exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the reported compensation, excluding terminal payments, during the 12 months of service preceding the effective date of retirement, or twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000), whichever is greater, as hereinafter indexed, then the retirement allowance shall be suspended as of the first day of the month following the month in which the reemployment earnings exceed the amount above, for the balance of the calendar year, except when the reemployment earnings exceed the amount above in the month of December, in which case the retirement allowance shall not be suspended. The retirement allowance of the beneficiary shall be reinstated as of January 1 of each year following suspension. The amount that may be earned before suspension shall be increased on January 1 of each year by the percentage change between the December Consumer Price Index in the year prior to retirement and the December Consumer Price Index in the year most recently ended, calculated to the nearest tenth of a percent ( $\frac{1}{10}$  of  $\frac{1}{\%}$ ), provided that this percentage change is positive.
- c1. Within 90 days of the end of each month in which a beneficiary is reemployed under the provisions of subsubdivision c. of this subdivision, each employer shall provide a report for that month on each reemployed beneficiary, including the terms of the reemployment, the date of the reemployment, and the amount of the monthly compensation. If the required report is not received within the required 90 days, the Board may do any or all the following:
  - 1. Assess the employer with a penalty of ten percent (10%) of the compensation of the unreported reem-

ployed beneficiaries during the months for which the employer did not report the reemployed beneficiaries, with a minimum penalty of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00). If after being assessed a penalty, an employer provides clear and convincing evidence that the failure to report resulted from a lack of oversight or some other event beyond the employer's control and was not a deliberate attempt to omit the reporting of reemployed beneficiaries, the Board may reduce the penalty to not less than two percent (2%) of the compensation of the unreported reemployed beneficiaries during the months for which the employer failed to report, with a minimum penalty of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00).

- 2. Require the employer to reimburse the Retirement System for any retirement allowance paid to the beneficiary during a period when the allowance would have been suspended under sub-subdivision c. of this subdivision had the report been received within the required 90 days.
- 3. Require the employer to pay any amounts that the beneficiary would have been required to pay to the Retirement System under sub-subdivision e. of this subdivision had the report been received within the required 90 days.
  Upon receipt by the employer of notice that any payment is due to the Retirement System under this sub-subdivision, the employer shall remit the payment of the amount due to the Retirement System, in one lump sum, no later than 90 days from the date of the notice.

If an employer is required to make payments to the Retirement System under sub-subdivision 2. or sub-subdivision 3. of this sub-subdivision, then (i) the beneficiary shall have no obligation to reimburse the Retirement System for related amounts under sub-subdivisions c. or e. of this subdivision, (ii) the provisions of G.S. 128-31(b) relating to offsetting overpayments against payments made from the Retirement System to the member or beneficiary shall not apply, (iii) the Retirement System shall have no duty under G.S. 143-64.80 to pursue repayment of overpayments from the beneficiary, (iv) the overpayments shall not be considered a debt of the beneficiary under Chapter 105A of the General Statutes, and (v) the beneficiary's effective date of retirement shall be adjusted if the adjustment is required under sub-subdivision e. of this subdivision.

d. Should a beneficiary who retired on an early or service retirement allowance be restored to service as an employee, then the retirement allowance shall cease as of the first day of the month following the month in which the beneficiary is restored to service and the beneficiary shall become a member of the Retirement System and shall contribute thereafter as allowed by law at the uniform contribution payable by all members.

Upon his subsequent retirement, he shall be paid a retirement allowance determined as follows:

- 1. For a member who earns at least three years' membership service after restoration to service, the retirement allowance shall be computed on the basis of his compensation and service before and after the period of prior retirement without restriction; provided, that if the prior allowance was based on a social security leveling payment option, the allowance shall be adjusted actuarially for the difference between the amount received under the optional payment and what would have been paid if the retirement allowance had been paid without optional modification. In the alternative, the member may receive a refund of the member's accumulated contributions for the period of service after restoration to service in accordance with G.S. 128-27(f).
- 2. For a member who does not earn three years' membership service after restoration to service, the retirement allowance shall be equal to the sum of the retirement allowance to which he would have been entitled had he not been restored to service, without modification of the election of an optional allowance previously made, and the retirement allowance that results from service earned since being restored to service; provided, that if the prior retirement allowance was based on a social security leveling payment option, the prior allowance shall be adjusted actuarially for the difference between the amount that would have been paid for each month had the payment not been suspended and what would have been paid if the retirement allowance had been paid without optional modification. In the alternative, the member may receive a refund of the member's accumulated contributions for the period of service after restoration to service in accordance with G.S.

128-27(f), or the member may allow this new account to remain inactive.

- e. Should a beneficiary who retired on an early or service retirement allowance under this Chapter be reemployed by, or otherwise engaged to perform services for, an employer participating in the Retirement System on a part-time, temporary, interim, or on a fee for service basis, whether contractual or otherwise at any time during the month immediately following the effective date of retirement, then the option of the two listed below that has the lesser financial impact on the member, as determined by the Retirement System, shall be applied:
  - 1. The member's retirement shall be deemed effective the month after the last month the member performed services for a participating employer, and the member shall repay all retirement benefits paid up to the deemed effective date, provided the member thereafter has satisfied the one-month separation required by G.S. 128-21(19).
  - 2. The member shall make a lump-sum payment to the Retirement System equal to three times the amount of compensation earned during the month immediately following the effective date of retirement.
- (5a) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs c and d of the subdivision (5) to the contrary, a beneficiary who was a beneficiary retired on an early or service retirement with the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System at the time of the transfer of law enforcement officers employed by a participating employer and beneficiaries last employed by a participating employer to this Retirement System on January 1, 1986, and who also was a contributing member of this Retirement System on January 1, 1986, shall continue to be paid his retirement allowance without restriction and may continue as a member of this Retirement System with all the rights and privileges appendant to membership. Any beneficiary who retired on an early or service retirement allowance as an employee of any participating employer under the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System and becomes employed as an employee by an employer participating in the Retirement System after January 1, 1986, becomes subject to the provisions of G.S. 128-24(5)c. and G.S. 128-24(5)d. on and after January 1,
- (6) Employees of a sending agency participating in an intergovernmental exchange of personnel under the provisions of

Article 10 of Chapter 126 shall remain members entitled to all benefits of the System provided that the requirements of Article 10 of Chapter 126 are met; provided further, that a member may retain membership status while serving as an assigned employee or employee on leave under the provisions of Article 10 of Chapter 126 for purposes of receiving the death benefit regardless of whether he and his employer are contributing to his account during the exchange period except that no duplicate benefits shall be paid.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 4; 1941, c. 357, s. 3; 1949, cc. 1011, 1013; 1951, c. 274, s. 2; 1955, c. 1153, s. 2; 1957, c. 854; 1959, c. 491, s. 4; 1961, c. 515, s. 1; 1965, c. 781; 1967, c. 978, ss. 1, 2; 1969, c. 442, ss. 1-5, 7; c. 982; 1971, c. 325, ss. 6-8; c. 326, ss. 1, 2; 1973, c. 243, s. 1; 1977, c. 783, s. 2; 1981, c. 979, s. 2; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1396, ss. 1, 2; 1983, c. 556, ss. 1, 2; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1106, ss. 1, 2; 1985, c. 479, s. 196(d)-(g); c. 649, s. 2; 1987, c. 513, s. 1; c. 738, s. 38(a); 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, ss. 7.30(a), 7.31(a), (b); 1995, c. 507, s. 7.22(d); 2002-126, s. 28.13(b); 2007-431, s. 10; 2009-66, ss. 3(g), (h), 8(b), 12(e), (f); 2010-72, s. 4(b); 2011-294, s. 2(b); 2012-130, s. 1; 2014-97, s. 4(e); 2015-164, s. 11(b); 2020-29, ss. 1(j), 7(b); 2021-57, s. 2.1; 2021-178, s. 1; 2022-16, s. 2.1.

## Local Modification.

Guilford: 1977, c. 278; city of Charlotte: 1949, c. 990; city of Raleigh: 1953, c. 1035; town of Troutman: 2005-279, s. 1.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 4.23(a)-(e), as amended by Session Laws 2020-74, s. 9, and Session Laws 2020-80, s 1.1(f), provides: "(a) For individuals who retired under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System (TSERS) on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020, the six-month separation from service from an employer that is required under G.S. 135-1(20) in order for a retirement to become effective shall not apply and instead a one-month separation shall be required, provided that the position to which the individual returns is needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as certified to the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer by the employing agency. Upon the expiration of this section, all of the following shall apply:

"(1) The six-month separation from an employer required under G.S. 135-1(20) shall again be applicable to individuals who retired under TSERS on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020.

"(2) In order for a member's retirement under TSERS on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020, to become effective in any month, the member must perform no work for an employer, including part-time, temporary, substitute, or contractor work, at any time between the expiration of this section and the end of the six months immediately following the effective date of retirement, provided the expiration of the six-month period of separation did not occur while this section was in effect.

"(3) For individuals who retired under TSERS on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020, any time worked between March 10, 2020, and the time this section expires shall not be considered work for the purposes of the sixmonth separation required under G.S. 135-1(20).

"(b) For individuals who retired prior to April 1, 2020, any earnings received between March 10, 2020, and the time that this section expires shall not be treated as earned by a TSERS beneficiary under the provisions of G.S. 135-3(8)c., provided those earnings are related to a position needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as certified to the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer by the employing agency.

"(c) For individuals who retired prior to April 1, 2020, any earnings received between March 10, 2020, and the time that this section expires shall not be treated as earned by a beneficiary of the Local Governmental Employees Retirement System (LGERS) under the provisions of G.S. 128-24(5)c., provided those earnings are related to a position needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as certified to the Retirement Systems Division

of the Department of State Treasurer by the employing unit.

"(d) Any benefits received by or paid to a law enforcement officer or retired law enforcement officer under Article 12D of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes shall not be impacted by any work performed between March 10, 2020, and the time that this section expires, provided that work performed is needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as documented by the employing unit or agency.

"(e) This section is effective when it becomes law [May 4, 2020] and expires August 31, 2020."

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(k), provides: "For all service purchases that are required to have been made by December 31, 2021, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall accept and process all service purchase request forms that are received by the Retirement Systems Division on or before December 31, 2021."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 7(c), made the amendment to sub-subdivision (5)c1. of this section by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 7(b), effective July 1, 2021, and appli-

cable to reports required to be made on or after that date.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(j), effective June 19, 2020, rewrote subdivision (1a), which read "Should any member in any period of eight consecutive years after becoming a member be absent from service more than seven years, or should he withdraw his accumulated contributions or should he become a beneficiary or die, he shall thereupon cease to be a member; provided that on and after July 1, 1971, a member shall cease to be a member only if he withdraws his accumulated contributions, or becomes a beneficiary, or dies."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 7(b), rewrote sub-subdivision (5)c1. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-178, s. 1, effective December 1, 2021, added subdivision (1b).

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 2.1, effective July 1, 2022, substituted "sub-subdivision e. " for "sub-subdivision f." in sub-sub-subdivision (5)c1.3.

## **CASE NOTES**

Who Excluded from Membership.

— The exclusion from membership in the Retirement System will not be interpreted to apply only to those receiving retirement allowances from general funds in the State Treasury derived from general taxation, but is applicable to

those entitled to benefits from any funds coming into the hands of the State Treasurer by virtue of a State law. Gardner v. Board of Trustees, 226 N.C. 465, 38 S.E.2d 314, 1946 N.C. LEXIS 240 (1946) (decided prior to later amendments to this section).

# § 128-25. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2016-56, s. 2, effective June 30, 2016.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 5; 1941, c. 357, s. 4; repealed by 2016-56, s. 2, effective June 30, 2016.

Session Laws 2016-56, s. 10, is a severability clause.

# Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 128-25 pertained to membership in the state retirement system.

# § 128-26. Allowance for service.

(a) Each person who becomes a member during the first year of his or her employer's participation, if and only if that participation begins prior to November 1, 2015, and who was an employee of the same employer at any time during the year immediately preceding

the date of participation, shall file a detailed statement of all service rendered by him or her to that employer prior to the date of participation for which he or she claims credit.

A participating employer may allow prior service credit to any of its employees on account of: their earlier service to the aforesaid employer; or, their earlier service to any other employer as the term employer is defined in G.S. 128-21(11); or, their earlier service to any state, territory, or other governmental subdivision of the United States other than this State.

A participating employer may allow prior service credit to any of its employees on account of service, as defined in G.S. 135-1(23), to the State of North Carolina to the extent of such service prior to the establishment of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System on July 1, 1941; provided that employees allowed such prior service credit pay in a total lump sum an amount calculated on the basis of compensation the employee earned when the employee first entered membership and the employee contribution rate at that time together with interest thereon from year of first membership to year of payment shall be one half of the calculated cost.

(a1) With respect to a member retiring on or after July 1, 1967, the governing board of a participating unit may allow credit for any period of military service in the Armed Forces of the United States if the person returned to the service of the person's employer within two years after having been not dishonorably discharged, or becoming entitled to be discharged, released, or separated from such the Armed Forces of the United States; provided that, notwithstanding the above provisions, any member having credit for not less than 10 years of otherwise creditable service may be allowed credit for such military services which are not creditable in any other governmental retirement system; provided further, that a member will receive credit for military service under the provisions of this paragraph only if the member submits satisfactory evidence of the military service claimed and the participating unit of which the member is an employee agrees to grant credit for such military service prior to January 1, 1972.

A member retiring on or after July 1, 1971, who is not granted credit for military service under the provisions of the preceding paragraph will be allowed credit for any period of qualifying service in the Armed Forces of the United States, as defined for purposes of reemployment rights under federal law, provided that the member was an employee as defined in G.S. 128-21(10) at the time the member entered military service, and either (i) the returning member is in service, with the employer by whom the member was employed when the member entered military service, for a period of not less than 10 years after the member is separated or released from that military service under other than dishonorable conditions or (ii) the following conditions are met, in the conjunctive:

- (1) The member did not, prior to leaving for military service, provide clear written notice of an intent not to return to work after military service.
- (2) The member was discharged from uniformed service and returned from the leave of absence for uniformed service to membership service in this system within the time limit mandated by federal law for reporting back to work.
- (3) The period of uniformed service, for which additional service credit is sought, has been verified by suitable documentation and is not eligible for receipt of benefits under any other retirement system or pension plan.
- (4) All service credit forfeited by a refund pursuant to the provisions of G.S. 128-27(f) has been purchased.

The uniformed service credit allowed under this subsection shall be limited to a maximum of five years unless otherwise specifically exempted from that durational limitation by federal law. The salary or compensation of such an employee during the period of qualifying military service shall be deemed to be that salary or compensation the employee would have received but for the period of service had the employee remained continuously employed, if the determination of that salary or compensation is reasonably certain. If the determination of the salary or compensation is not reasonably certain, then it shall be deemed to be that employee's average rate of compensation during the 12-month period immediately preceding the period of service.

Pursuant to 38 U.S.C. § 4318(b)(1), when a member who has been on military leave returns to work consistent with the provisions of this subsection concerning return to service within two years after the member's earliest eligibility for separation or release from military service, then the member's employer must remit to the System all the employer and employee contributions for the full period of that member's military service.

- (b) In no case shall more than one year of service be creditable for all service in one calendar year.
- (c), (d) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(b), effective June 19, 2020.
- (e) Creditable service at retirement on which the retirement allowance of a member shall be based shall consist of the member-ship service rendered by the member since he or she last became a member, and also if the member has a prior service certificate which is in full force and effect, the amount of the service certified on the prior service certificate; and if the member has sick leave standing to the member's credit upon retirement on or after July 1, 1971, one month of credit for each 20 days or portion thereof, but not less than one hour; sick leave shall not be counted in computing creditable service for the purpose of determining eligibility for disability retirement or for a vested deferred allowance. Creditable service for

unused sick leave shall be allowed only for sick leave accrued monthly during employment under a duly adopted sick leave policy and for which the member may be able to take credits and be paid for sick leave without restriction. However, in no instance shall unused sick leave be credited to a member's account at retirement if the member's last day of actual service is more than 365 days prior to the effective date of the member's retirement. Days of sick leave standing to a member's credit at retirement shall be determined by dividing the member's total hours of sick leave at retirement by the hours per month such leave was awarded under the employer's duly adopted sick leave policy as the policy applied to the member when the leave was accrued.

- (e1) On and after January 1, 1986, the creditable service of a member who was a member of the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System at the time of the transfer of law enforcement officers employed by participating employers from that System to this Retirement System and whose accumulated contributions are transferred from that System to this Retirement System, includes service that was creditable in the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System; and membership service with that System is membership service with this Retirement System; provided, notwithstanding any provisions of this Article to the contrary, any inchoate or accrued rights of such a member to purchase creditable service for military service, withdrawn service and prior service under the rules and regulations of the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System may not be diminished and may be purchased as creditable service with this Retirement System under the same conditions that would have otherwise applied.
- (f) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(b), effective June 19, 2020.
- (g) During periods when a member is on an approved leave of absence and is receiving less than his full compensation, he will be deemed to be in service only if he is contributing to the Retirement System as provided in G.S. 128-30(b)(4). If he is so contributing, the annual rate of compensation paid to such employee immediately before the leave of absence began will be deemed to be the actual compensation rate of the employee during the leave of absence.
- (h) Repealed by Session Laws 2021-57, s. 2.4(a), effective July 1, 2022.
  - (h1) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(n).
- (h2) Recodified as part of G.S. 128-26.5(a) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(a), (b).
  - (i) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(n).
- (i1) Recodified as part of G.S. 128-26.5(a)(1) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(b).
  - (j) Repealed by Session Laws 1987, c. 617, s. 3.
- (j1) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(b) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(h).

- (j2) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(n).
- (j3) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(a)(2) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(c).
- (k) Notwithstanding any language to the contrary of any provision of this section, or of any repealed provision of this section that was repealed with the inchoate and accrued rights preserved, all repayments and purchases of service credits, allowed under the provisions of this section or of any repealed provision of this section that was repealed with inchoate and accrued rights preserved, must be made within three years after the member first becomes eligible to make such repayments and purchases. Any member who does not repay or purchase service credits within said three years after first eligibility to make such repayments and purchases may, under the same conditions as are otherwise required, repay or purchase service credits provided that the repayment or purchase equals the full cost of the service credits calculated on the basis of the assumptions used for purchases of the actuarial valuation of the System's liabilities and shall take into account the additional retirement allowance arising on account of such additional service credit commencing at the earliest age at which such member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance as determined by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this subsection that provide for the purchase of service credits, the terms "full cost", "full liability", and "full actuarial cost" include assumed annual postretirement allowance increases, as determined by the Board of Trustees, from the earliest age at which a member could retire on an unreduced service allowance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, on and after January 1, 2003, the provisions of this subsection shall not apply to the repayment of contributions withdrawn pursuant to subsection (i) of this section.
  - (l) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(c) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(i).
- (m) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(d) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(j).
- (n) Repealed by Session Laws 2002-153, s. 3, effective January 1, 2003.
- (o) Repealed by Session Laws 2021-57, s. 2.4(a), effective July 1, 2022.
- (p) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(b), effective June 19, 2020.
- (p1) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(a)(3) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(d).
  - (q) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(n).
- (q1) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(a)(5) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(f).
- (r) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(a)(4) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(e).

- (s) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(a)(7) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(g).
  - (t) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(f) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(*l*).
- (u) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(g) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(m).
  - (u1) Expired.
- (v) Recodified as G.S. 128-26.5(e) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(k).
- (w) If a member who is an elected government official and has not vested in this System on July 1, 2007, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 128-38.4 for acts committed after July 1, 2007, then that member shall forfeit all benefits under this System, except for a return of member contributions plus interest. If a member who is an elected government official and has vested in this System on July 1, 2007, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 128-38.4 for acts committed after July 1, 2007, then that member is not entitled to any creditable service that accrued after July 1, 2007, regardless of whether that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Article, or accrued by any other means. No member shall forfeit any benefit or creditable service earned from a position not as an elected government official. For purposes of this subsection, creditable service attributable to the conversion of sick leave accrues in this System on the date of retirement, service transferred to this System from another system accrues in this System on the effective date of the transfer, and purchased service accrues in this System on the date of the purchase.
- (x) If a member who is in service and has not vested in this System on December 1, 2012, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 128-38.4A for acts committed after December 1, 2012, then that member shall forfeit all benefits under this System, except for a return of member contributions plus interest. If a member who is in service and has vested in this System on December 1, 2012, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 128-38.4A for acts committed after December 1, 2012, then that member is not entitled to any creditable service that accrued after December 1, 2012, regardless of whether that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Article, or accrued by any other means. For purposes of this subsection, creditable service attributable to the conversion of sick leave accrues in this System on the date of retirement, service transferred to this System from another system accrues in this System on the effective date of the transfer, and purchased service accrues in this System on the date of the purchase.

- (y) Contribution-Based Benefit Cap Purchase Provision. If a member's retirement allowance is subject to an adjustment pursuant to the contribution-based benefit cap established in G.S. 128-27(a3), except as otherwise provided under this subsection, the retirement system shall notify the member and the member's employer that the member's retirement allowance has been capped. The retirement system shall compute and notify the member and the member's employer of the total additional amount the member would need to contribute in order to make the member not subject to the contribution-based benefit cap. This total additional amount shall be the actuarial equivalent of a single life annuity adjusted for the age of the member at the time of retirement, or when appropriate, the age at the time of the member's death that would have had to have been purchased to increase the member's benefit to the pre-cap level. If the member's employer did not report to the retirement system any compensation paid to the member during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation, the retirement system shall not notify the member's employer, but instead shall notify the employer or employers who reported compensation during the member's average final compensation period, with the notification for each such employer specifying that employer's share of the amount that would have had to have been purchased to increase the member's benefit to the pre-cap level, allocated proportionally to each employer based on the total amount of compensation to the member that each employer reported during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, the member shall have until 90 days after notification regarding this additional amount or until 90 days after the effective date of retirement, whichever is later, to submit a lump sum payment to the annuity savings fund in order for the retirement system to restore the retirement allowance to the uncapped amount. Nothing contained in this subsection shall prevent an employer or former employer from paying all or part of the cost of the amount necessary to restore the member's retirement allowance to the pre-cap amount. Notwithstanding the requirement that the payment be made as a lump sum, and notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the retirement system may allow an employer or former employer of a member who became a member before January 1, 2015, or who has not earned at least five years of membership service in the retirement system after January 1, 2015, to pay the additional amount required in this subsection over an extended period using one of the following three options:
  - (1) **Option one.** An installment payment plan ending no more than 15 months after the retirement of the member.
  - (2) **Option two.** An installment payment plan ending no more than 27 months after the retirement of the member.

Interest shall be assessed on the principal amount of the contribution-based benefit cap liability owed and applied to any installment payment plan term exceeding 12 months at a rate corresponding with the interest rate assumption based on the most recent actuarial valuation approved by the Board of Trustees.

(3) **Option three.** — An adjustment to the required employer contribution rate for the employer as provided in G.S. 128-30(d)(4a).

Payment under the selected option must be completed regardless of whether the member continues to receive a recurring monthly retirement benefit through the end of the extended payment period. An employer's continuing compliance with a payment option selected from the three options above will be deemed payment of the employer's additional contribution required by this subsection for purposes of G.S. 128-30(b)(3).

(z) Creditable service may be purchased in accordance with G.S. 128-26.5, or as otherwise provided for in this Article.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 6; 1941, c. 357, s. 5; 1943, c. 535; 1945, c. 526, s. 3; 1951, c. 274, s. 3; 1955, c. 1153, s. 3; 1967, c. 978, ss. 11, 12; 1969, c. 442, s. 6; 1971, c. 325, ss. 9-11, 19; 1973, c. 243, s. 2; c. 667, s. 1; c. 816, s. 3; c. 1310, ss. 1-4; 1975, c. 205, s. 1; c. 485, ss. 1-3; 1977, c. 973; 1979, c. 866, s. 1; c. 868, ss. 1, 2; c. 1059, s. 1; 1981, c. 557, s. 3; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1283, s. 1; c. 1396, s. 3; 1983, c. 533, s. 2; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, s. 231; 1985, c. 407, s. 1; c. 479, s. 196(h); c. 649, ss. 1, 4; 1987, c. 533, s. 2; c. 617, ss. 1-4; c. 717, s. 1; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1088, ss. 5, 6; c. 1110, s. 8; 1989, c. 255, ss. 1-10; c. 762, s. 2; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1024, s. 28; 1991, c. 753, s. 1; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 1017, s. 1; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.23D(a); 1998-71, ss. 1, 2; 1998-214, s. 1; 1999-158, s. 1; 2001-487, s. 82; 2002-71, s. 3; 2002-153, ss. 1-3; 2003-359, ss. 17-19, 22; 2005-91, s. 8; 2006-29, s. 1; 2007-179, s. 2(b); 2007-304, s. 1; 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-392, s. 1; 2010-72, s. 5(b); 2011-183, ss. 97(a), (b); 2011-294, s. 5(b); 2012-130, s. 3(a); 2012-193, s. 4; 2013-288, ss. 2(a), 11; 2013-405, s. 6(b); 2014-88, s. 1(d); 2015-168, ss. 6, 7(b); 2016-56, s. 3; 2017-128, s. 2(b); 2017-129, s. 9(b); 2020-29, s. 1(b); 2020-48, ss. 4.4(c), (d); 2021-57, ss. 2.2(a), (b), 2.3, 2.4; 2021-72, ss. 1.1(c), 3.1(a); 2022-16, s. 2.2; 2023-89, ss. 2.1, 2.2, 2.4; 2024-9, s. 4(c); 2024-10, ss. 7(a)-(n), 9(b).

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1987, c. 617, s. 3 directed the deletion of the last paragraph of subsection (j). However, subsection (j) only contained one paragraph. Thus it would appear that the intent of the act was to delete all of subsection (j).

Session Laws 1987, c. 617, s. 5 provided, inter alia: "For the purposes of Section 3 of this act, members of the Retirement System who are members before January 1, 1988, shall retain all rights and privileges to purchase military and out-of-state service credits under the same conditions that existed prior to the effective date of that section."

Session Laws 1987, c. 617, s. 3, effective January 1, 1988, deleted the last paragraph of subsection (a), which, as amended by c. 617, ss. 1 and 4, read:

"Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, members not otherwise allowed service credit for service in the armed forces of the United States may, upon completion of 10 years of prior and current membership service, purchase such service credit by paying in a total lump sum an amount, based on the compensation the member earned when he first entered membership and the employee contribution rate at that time, with sufficient interest added thereto so as to equal one half the cost of allowing such service, plus a fee to cover expense of handling payment to be determined by the Board of Trustees and assessed the member at the time of payment; provided that credit will be allowed only for the initial period of active duty in the armed forces of the United States up to the time the member was first eligible to be separated or released therefrom, and subsequent periods of such active duty as required by the armed forces of the United States up to the date of first eligibility for separation or release therefrom; and further provided that the member submit satisfactory evidence of the service claimed and that service credit be allowed only for that period of active service in the armed forces of the United States not creditable in any other retirement system, except the national guard or any reserve component of the armed forces of the United States. These provisions shall apply equally to retired members who had attained 10 years of prior and current membership service prior to retirement. Cost as used in this subsection shall mean the amount of money required to provide additional retirement benefits based on service credit allowed at the time any adjustment to the service credit of a member is made."

Session Laws 1987, c. 617, s. 3, effective January 1, 1988, also deleted subsection (j), which, as amended by c. 617, ss. 2 and 4, read:

"(j) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, any member may, upon completion of 10 years of prior and current membership service, purchase credit for service previously rendered to any state, territory or other governmental subdivision of the United States other than this State at the rate of one year of out-of-state service for each two years of service in this State with a maximum allowable of 10 years of out-of-state service. Such service is limited to full-time service which would be allowable under the laws governing this System. Credit will be allowed only if no benefit is allowable in another public retirement system as the result of the service. Payment shall be permitted only on a total lump sum an amount, based on the compensation the member earned when he first entered membership and the employee contribution rate at that time and shall be equal to the full cost of providing credit for such service plus a fee to cover expense of handling which shall be determined by the Board of Trustees. These provisions shall apply equally to retired members who had attained 10 years of prior and current membership service prior to retirement. Cost as used in this subsection shall mean the amount of money required to provide additional retirement benefits based on service credit allowed at the time any adjustment to the service credit of an individual is made."

Session Laws 2002-71, which added subsections (t) and (u), in s. 9, provides, in part, that s. 3 of the act becomes effective January 1, 2003, except that G.S. 128-26(u), as enacted by s. 3, becomes effective the later of January 1, 2003, or the date upon which the Department of State Treasurer receives a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service approving the direct transfers provided for in that subsection. The Revisor of Statutes is informed that a favorable letter of determination has been received.

Session Laws 2006-29, s. 1, which amended subdivision (l)(2), is effective August 1, 2006, and applicable to members who return to service from an approved leave of absence on or after that data

Session Laws 2009-392 added subsection (u1) to this section, and in s. 2 provided: "This act becomes effective July 1, 2009, and applies to nonqualified employment with an economic development organization performed on or before December 31, 2009. This act expires December 31, 2009, provided that any inchoate rights that may accrue to a member under this act shall not be diminished."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(k), provides: "For all service purchases that are required to have been made by December 31, 2021, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall accept and process all service purchase request forms that are received by the Retirement Systems Division on or before December 31, 2021."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(b), effective June 19, 2020, rewrote the section.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.4(c), (d), effective June 26, 2020, in subsections (w) and (x), added "regardless of whether that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Article, or accrued by any other means" at the end of the second sentence, and added the last sentence.

Session Laws 2021-57, s. 2.4(a), effective July 1, 2022, deleted subsections (h) and (o).

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 2.2, effective July 1, 2022, substituted "credited" for "created" in the first sentence of subsection (h2).

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023,-89, s. 2.1, effective January 1, 2024, made stylistic and punctuation changes in the first sentence of subdivision (v)(2).

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 2.2, effective January 1, 2024, substituted "G.S. 128-30(d)(4a)" for "G.S. 128-30(d)(4b)" in subdivision (y)(3).

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 2.4, effective January 1, 2024, inserted "an approved" in the first sentence of subsection (g).

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 4(c), effective June 20, 2024, deleted "beginning no less than 90 days after the retirement of the member and" following "An installment payment plan" at the beginning of subdivision (y)(2).

Session Laws 2024-10, ss. 7(a)-(n), and 9(b), effective June 20, 2024, recodified subsections (h2), (i1), (j1), (j3), (l), (m), (p1), (q1), (r), (s), (t), (u), and (v) as new G.S. 128-26.5; repealed subsections (h1), (i), (j2), and (q); and added subsection (z).

# CASE NOTES

"Creditable Service." - Superior court erred in granting partial summary judgment awarding a sheriff a special separation allowance for 36 years of creditable service through two North Carolina retirement systems, state and local, because the sheriff was not a member of the state system when he retired where, prior to his retirement from the sheriff's department, he began receiving retirement benefits from that system, and the sheriff was only entitled to credit for his 12 years of service under the local system where the county never issued the sheriff a prior service certificate, the sheriff never transferred membership of his state service to the local system, and the county never gave the sheriff credit for prior service. Lovin v. Cherokee Cnty., 248 N.C. App. 527, 789 S.E.2d 869, 2016 N.C. App. LEXIS 818 (2016).

Forfeiture of Sick Leave. — Respondent was only able to convert her unused sick leave into creditable service

time upon her retirement effective April 2017, and her retirement occurred after the effective forfeiture date of December 2012 in G.S.128-38.4A; respondent forfeited all 2.5833 years of creditable service converted from unused sick leave, not just the 1.25 years of creditable service forfeited after December 2012. N.C. Dep't of State Treasurer v. Riddick, 274 N.C. App. 183, 852 S.E.2d 376, 2020 N.C. App. LEXIS 776 (2020).

Forfeiture of Vested Service. — Respondent worked for the North Carolina Department of Natural and Cultural Resources in an unelected position, and this vested and earned her creditable time in the retirement system, which she was allowed to transfer to another retirement system; respondent could not forfeit vested service she had already accrued as an unelected state official prior to her criminal acts. N.C. Dep't of State Treasurer v. Riddick, 274 N.C. App. 183, 852 S.E.2d 376, 2020 N.C. App. LEXIS 776 (2020).

## OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Effect of Purchase of Service Credits. — The purchase of prior credit service for the period of July 10, 1984 and the enrollment in November, 1984 of several public safety officers would not give those officers five years' service standing to their credit as of August 12,

1989; therefore, they would not thereby have a right to receive their retirement benefits tax-free. See Opinion of Attorney General to Mr. Ralph D. Karpinos, Town Attorney, Town of Chapel Hill, 2000 N.C. AG LEXIS 12 (10/2/2000).

## § 128-26.5. Creditable service purchases.

(a) **General Purchases of Service Credit.** — Any member in service with five or more years of membership service may purchase creditable service authorized under this subsection by paying a

lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase of the Retirement System due to the additional service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

Subject to the requirements of this subsection, an employer may pay all or part of the cost of a service purchase of a member in service. To the extent that the purchase is paid by the employer, the amount paid by the employer shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. To the extent that the purchase is paid by the member, the amount paid by the member shall be credited to the member's accumulated contributions and interest in the Annuity Savings Fund.

The total amount of creditable service purchased under each subdivision of this section shall not exceed five years. No purchase of service credit under any subdivision of this section shall be made if a benefit is allowable under another public retirement system as a result of the service. If there is a conflict between a provision of G.S. 128-26 and a provision of this subsection, then this subsection shall control.

The following purchases of creditable service are authorized under this subsection:

- (1) Withdrawn service. Service withdrawn in accordance with the provisions of any of the following, limited to a total maximum purchase of five years:
  - a. G.S. 120-4.25.
  - b. G.S. 120-4.25.
  - c. G.S. 120-4.25.
  - d. G.S. 120-4.25.
  - e. Any rules adopted under Article 12 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, as it existed prior to 1986.
- (2) Federal, state, or local government service. Service previously rendered to the federal government or to any state, territory, or other governmental subdivision of the United States other than this State. Service under this subdivision is limited to full-time service that would be allowable under the laws governing this Retirement System.
- (3) Part-time service. Service previously rendered as a part-time teacher or employee of an employer, as defined

- under either G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21. For the purposes of this subdivision, the following service is not eligible to be purchased:
- a. Part-time service rendered as a bus driver to a public school while a full-time high school student.
- b. Temporary or part-time service rendered while a full-time student in pursuit of a degree or diploma in a degree-granting program, unless that service was rendered on a permanent part-time basis and required at least 20 hours of service per week.
- The amount of the single lump sum to be paid for the purchase of service credit under this subdivision shall be calculated by applying the ratio of actual gross compensation earned as a part-time employee to the gross compensation that would have been earned as a full-time employee to the period of service rendered in months.
- In no case shall more than one year of service be creditable for all service in one year. Service rendered for the regular school year in any district shall be equivalent to one year of service.
- (4) Temporary service. Service previously rendered on a temporary basis to an employer, as defined under either G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21, and that meets both of the following conditions:
  - a. The member would have met the definition of employee or teacher under either G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21 except for the temporary nature of the service.
  - b. The member has acquired from the employer all certifications of temporary employment that are required by the Board of Trustees.
- (5) Probationary local government service. Service previously rendered to any local employer, as defined in this Article, when performed in a probationary or employer-imposed waiting period status that occurred between date of employment and date of membership service with the Retirement System.
- (6) Involuntary furlough. Periods of interrupted service due to involuntary administrative furlough caused by the lack of funds to support the position.
- (7) Employment not otherwise creditable. Service not creditable in any other retirement system or plan that was previously rendered as an employee, as defined under G.S. 128-21, of a local government employer that meets both of the following criteria:
  - a. The local government employer is, at the time of purchase, a participating employer in the Retirement System.

- b. The local government employer was not a participating employer in the Retirement System at the time the service was rendered by the member.
- (b) **Armed Service Credit.** Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, any member or any retired member may purchase creditable service for service in the Armed Forces of the United States by paying a total lump sum payment determined as follows:
  - (1) On or before December 31, 2038, members who completed 10 years of membership service, and retired members who completed 10 years of membership service prior to retirement, and whose membership began on or prior to January 1, 1988, may purchase this service within three years after first becoming eligible by paying an amount equal to the monthly compensation the member earned when the member first entered membership service times the employee contribution rate at that time times the months of service to be purchased multiplied by a factor equivalent to the investment return assumptions determined by the Board of Trustees, compounded annually, from the initial year of membership to the year of payment so as to equal one-half of the cost of allowing such service, plus an administrative fee to be set by the Board of Trustees.
  - (2) Members who complete five years of membership service, retired members who complete five years of membership service prior to retirement, and members and retired members whose membership began on or before January 1, 1988, and who were eligible to purchase service credits under subdivision (1) of this subsection but who did not or do not make such purchase within three years after first becoming eligible, may purchase this service by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase to the Retirement System due to the additional service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

Creditable service allowed under this subsection shall be only for the initial period of "active duty", as defined in 38 U.S. Code Section 101(21), in the Armed Forces of the United States up to the date the member was first eligible to be separated and released and for subsequent periods of "active duty", as defined in 38 U.S. Code Section 101(21), as required by the Armed Forces of the United States up to the date of first eligibility for separation or release, but shall not include periods of active duty in the Armed Forces of the United States creditable in any other retirement system except the National Guard or any reserve component of the Armed Forces of the United States, and shall not include periods of "active duty for training", as defined in 38 U.S. Code Section 101(22), or periods of "inactive duty training", as defined in 38 U.S. Code Section 101(23), rendered in any reserve component of the Armed Forces of the United States. Creditable service shall be allowed only for active duty in the Armed Forces of the United States of a member that resulted in a general or honorable discharge from duty. The member shall submit satisfactory evidence of the service claimed. For purposes of this subsection, membership service shall include any membership or prior service credits transferred to this Retirement System pursuant to G.S. 128-24.

- (c) Periods When in Receipt of Benefits Under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, any member may purchase creditable service for periods of employer approved leaves of absence when in receipt of benefits under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act. All of the following apply to purchases under this subsection:
  - (1) Service shall be purchased by paying a cost calculated in the following manner:
    - a. Leaves of Absence Terminated Prior to July 1, 1983. A member whose employer approved leave of absence, when in receipt of benefits under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, terminated upon return to service prior to July 1, 1983, may purchase creditable service for that period by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase to the Retirement System due to the service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

- b. Leaves of Absence Terminating On and After July 1, 1983. — A member whose employer approved leave of absence, when in receipt of benefits under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, terminates on and after July 1, 1983, may purchase creditable service for that period by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. If the creditable service is purchased within six months from end of the leave of absence, then the amount payable shall be equal to the total employee and employer percentage rates of contribution in effect at the time of purchase and based on the annual rate of compensation of the member immediately prior to the leave of absence. If the creditable service is not purchased and the amount payable is not paid within six months from the end of the leave of absence, then the amount payable shall be the amount due as if the purchase had taken place prior to six months from the end of the leave of absence plus one percent (1%) per month penalty for each month or fraction thereof the payment is made beyond the sixmonth period.
- (2) Whenever the creditable service purchased pursuant to this subsection is for a period that occurs during the four consecutive calendar years that would have produced the highest average annual compensation pursuant to G.S. 128-21(5) had the member not been on leave of absence without pay, then the compensation that the member would have received during the purchased period shall be included in calculating the member's average final compensation. In these cases, the compensation that the member would have received during the purchased period shall be based on the annual rate of compensation of the member immediately prior to the leave of absence.
- (3) In the case of a law enforcement officer electing to purchase service under this subsection who is in receipt of benefits under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act due to serious bodily injury suffered in the line of duty as a result of an intentional or unlawful act of another, as certified by the head of the employing law enforcement agency, and whose approved leave of absence terminates on or before a return to service on and after August 1, 2006, the employer percentage rate of contribution payable under sub-subdivision b. of subdivision (2) of this subsection shall be made by the employer that granted the leave of absence. The cost to the law enforcement officer shall be reduced by the amount paid by the employer. For purposes of this subdivision, "serious bodily injury" means bodily injury

that creates a substantial risk of death, that causes serious permanent disfigurement, a coma, a permanent or protracted condition that causes extreme pain, or a permanent or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ, or that results in prolonged hospitalization.

Nothing in this subsection prevents an employer from voluntarily paying all or a part of the employee portion of the total payment due for the service credit purchased. The employer shall not discriminate against any eligible law enforcement officer employed by the employer by paying all or a part of that portion of the total payment due. To the extent the employee portion of the total payment due is paid by the employer, the employee portion paid by the employer shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. To the extent the employee portion of the total payment due is paid by the member, the employee portion paid by the member shall be credited to the member's accumulated contributions and interest in the Annuity Savings Fund. A member shall pay any part of the employee portion of the total payment due that is not paid by the employer.

- (d) **Omitted Membership Service.** A member who (i) had service as an employee, as defined under G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21, or as a teacher, as defined under G.S. 135-1, and (ii) was omitted from contributing membership through error shall be allowed the omitted membership service if the requirements of this subsection are met and the total payment required for that service under this subsection is made. Submission of clear and convincing evidence of the error is required prior to approval of, and payment for, the omitted membership service. Payment for service under this subsection shall be made in the following manner:
  - (1) Within 90 days of the omission, by the payment of employee and employer contributions that would have been paid.
  - (2) After 90 days and prior to three years of the omission, by the payment of the employee and employer contributions that would have been paid plus interest compounded annually at a rate equal to the greater of the average yield on the Pension Accumulation Fund for the preceding calendar year or the actuarial investment rate-of-return assumption, as adopted by the Board of Trustees.
  - (3) After three years of the omission, by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase of the Retirement System due to the service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except

for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

Nothing contained in this subsection shall prevent an employer or member from paying all or a part of the required payment for the omitted membership service. To the extent the amount is paid by the employer, the amount paid by the employer shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. To the extent the amount is paid by the member, the amount paid by the member shall be credited to the member's accumulated contributions and interest in the Annuity Savings Fund. An employer shall not discriminate against any employed member or group of employed members in paying all or any part of the payment required under this subsection for the omitted membership service.

- (e) Retroactively Reinstated or Restored Membership Service. A member who is reinstated to service as an employee, as defined under G.S. 128-21, retroactively to the date of prior involuntary termination with back pay and associated benefits shall be allowed membership service for that period of reinstated service if the requirements of this subsection are met and the total payment required for that service under this subsection is made. Submission of clear and convincing evidence of the reinstatement, payment of back pay, and restoration of associated benefits is required prior to the approval of and payment for the retroactive membership service. The amount payable for service under this subsection shall be calculated in the following manner:
  - (1) If the reinstatement to service is by court order and occurs within 90 days of the involuntary termination, then the amount payable is the amount of employee and employer contributions that would have been paid.
  - (2) If the reinstatement to service is by court order and occurs after 90 days of the involuntary termination, then the amount payable is the amount of the employee and employer contributions that would have been paid plus interest compounded annually at a rate equal to the greater of the average yield on the Pension Accumulation Fund for the preceding calendar year or the actuarial investment rate-of-return assumption, as adopted by the Board of Trustees.
  - (3) If the reinstatement to service is by settlement agreement voluntarily entered into by the affected parties, then the amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase to the Retirement System due to the additional service credits plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board

of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary. The amount payable under this subdivision is required to be paid as a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund.

Subject to the requirements of this subsection, an employer may pay all or part of the amount payable due under this subsection for a member in service. To the extent that the amount is paid by the employer, the amount paid by the employer shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. To the extent the amount is paid by the member, the amount paid by the member shall be credited to the member's annuity savings accumulated contributions and interest in the Annuity Savings Fund. An employer shall not discriminate against any employed member or group of employed members in paying all or any part of the payment required under this subsection for the retroactive membership service.

If a member received a return of accumulated contributions subsequent to an involuntary termination as provided in G.S. 128-27(f), then the member may redeposit, within 90 days after reinstatement retroactive to the date of prior involuntary termination, in the Annuity Savings Fund by single payment, an amount equal to the total amount the member previously withdrew plus regular interest and restore the creditable service forfeited upon receiving the return of accumulated contributions.

- (f) Purchase of Service Credits Through Rollover Contributions From Certain Other Plans. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, subject to the requirements of this subsection and any rules adopted, or policies established, by the Board of Trustees and without regard to any limitations on contributions otherwise set forth in this Article, payments or repayments made for membership or creditable service allowed under this section or any other provision of this Article may be made by a member through rollover contributions to the Annuity Savings Fund from any of the following sources:
  - (1) An annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.
  - (2) An eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state.

- (3) An individual retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is eligible to be rolled over and would otherwise be includible in gross income.
- (4) A qualified plan described in Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.

No rollover contribution shall be made under this subsection, and the Retirement System shall not accept any amount as a rollover contribution, unless the amount required for the payment or repayment is eligible to be rolled over to a qualified trust in accordance with applicable law and the member provides evidence satisfactory to the Retirement System that the amount qualifies for rollover treatment. Unless received by the Retirement System in the form of a direct rollover, the rollover contribution must be paid to the Retirement System on or before the 60th day after the date it was received by the member.

- (g) Purchase of Service Credits Through Plan-to-Plan Transfers. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, subject to the requirements of this subsection and any rules adopted, or policies established, by the Board of Trustees and without regard to any limitations on contributions otherwise set forth in this Article, payments or repayments made for membership or creditable service allowed under this section or any other provision of this Article may be made by a member through a direct transfer to the Annuity Savings Fund of funds from any of the following sources:
  - (1) An annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.
  - (2) An eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, a political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or a political subdivision of a state.
  - (3) Supplemental Retirement Income Plans A, B, or C of North Carolina.
  - (4) Any other defined contribution plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by the State of North Carolina, a political subdivision of the State or any other state, or any agency or instrumentality of the State or any other state or political subdivision of the State or any other state.

#### History.

2024-10, ss. 6, 7(a)-(m), 8.

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 19, made this section, as added by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 6, effective June 20, 2024.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 6, provides:

"Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes is amended by adding a new G.S. 128-26.5 to be entitled 'Creditable service purchases."

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 7(a)-(m), provides: "(a) The second through sixth sentences of subsection (h2) of G.S. 128-26 are recodified as subsection (a) of G.S.

128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act.

"(b) The first sentence of subsection (h2) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as the first sentence of subdivision (a)(1) of G.S. 128-26.5, and subsection (i1) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as the second through seventh sentences of subdivision (a)(1) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act. The remaining subsection catch line for subsection (i1) of G.S. 128-26 is repealed.

"(c) Subsection (j3) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subdivision (a)(2) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this

"(d) Subsection (p1) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subdivision (a)(3) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act, and the existing subunits of subsection (p1) of G.S. 128-26 are redesignated accordingly.

"(e) Subsection (r) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subdivision (a)(4) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act, and the existing subunits of subsection (r) of G.S. 128-26 are redesignated accordingly.

"(f) Subsection (q1) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subdivision (a)(5) of G.S.

128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act.

"(g) Subsection (s) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subdivision (a)(7) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act.

"(h) Subsection (j1) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subsection (b) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act.

"(i) Subsection (l) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subsection (c) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act.

"(j) Subsection (m) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subsection (d) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act.

"(k) Subsection (v) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subsection (e) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act.

"(*l*) Subsection (t) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subsection (f) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act.

"(m) Subsection (u) of G.S. 128-26 is recodified as subsection (g) of G.S. 128-26.5, as created by Section 6 of this act."

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 8, effective June 20, 2024, rewrote the section.

# § 128-26A. Reciprocity of creditable service with other Stateadministered retirement systems.

(a) Only for the purpose of determining eligibility for benefits accruing under this Article, creditable service standing to the credit of a member of the Legislative Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System shall be added to the creditable service standing to the credit of a member of this System; provided, that in the event a person is a retired member of any of the foregoing retirement systems, such creditable service standing to the credit of the retired member prior to retirement shall be likewise counted. In no instance shall service credits maintained in the aforementioned retirement systems be added to the creditable service in this System for application of this System's benefit accrual rate in computing a service retirement benefit unless specifically authorized by this Article.

(b) A person who was a former member of this System and who has forfeited his creditable service in this System by receiving a return of contributions and who has creditable service in the Legislative Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System may count such creditable service for the purpose of restoring the creditable service forfeited in this System under the terms and

conditions as set forth in this Article and reestablish membership in this System.

(c) Creditable service under this section shall not be counted twice for the same period of time whether earned as a member, purchased, or granted as prior service credits.

# **History.**1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1066, s. 35(b)

# § 128-27. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Benefits.

# (a) Service Retirement Benefits. —

- (1) Any member may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired: Provided, that the said member at the time so specified for his retirement shall have attained the age of 60 years and have at least five years of creditable service or shall have completed 30 years of creditable service, or if a firefighter or rescue squad worker, he shall have attained the age of 55 years and have at least five years of creditable service.
- (2) Repealed by Session Laws 1983 (Regular Session, 1984), c. 1019, s. 1.
- (3) Repealed by Session Laws 1971, c. 325, s. 12.
- (4) Any member who was in service October 8, 1981, who had attained 60 years of age, may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired.
- (5) Any member who is a law enforcement officer and who (i) attains age 50 and completes 15 or more years of creditable service in this capacity, or (ii) attains age 55 and completes five or more years of creditable service in this capacity, or (iii) who has completed 25 years of creditable service with a minimum of 15 years of creditable service in a law enforcement capacity may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, the member desires to be retired; provided, also, any member who has met the conditions required by this subdivision but does not retire, and later becomes an employee other than as a law enforce-

ment officer, continues to have the right to commence retirement.

- (a1) **Early Service Retirement Benefits.** Any member may retire and receive a reduced retirement allowance upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired: Provided, that the said member at the time so specified for his retirement shall have attained the age of 50 years and have at least 20 years of creditable service.
- (a2) Discontinued Service Retirement Allowance. A member whose employment with a participating employer is involuntarily terminated as a result of a termination event as defined in this subsection may be allowed a discontinued service retirement allowance, provided that the discontinued service retirement allowance is approved by the terminated member's participating employer, and provided that reemployment with that participating employer is not available to the member at the time of the termination event. For purposes of this section, "termination event" means termination of employment as a result of (i) the participating employer's cessation of operations; (ii) the participating employer's dissolution; (iii) the merger of a participating employer with and into an unrelated entity, other than another participating employer; (iv) the acquisition of the participating employer by an unrelated entity, other than another participating employer; or (v) the determination by the participating employer that a reduction in force will accomplish economies in the participating employer's budget resulting from either the elimination of a job and its responsibilities or from lack of funds to support the job. Final action approving the discontinued service retirement allowance for a terminated member by the member's participating employer shall be taken in an open meeting.

Upon the occurrence of a termination event, and subject to the provisions of this subsection, an unreduced discontinued service retirement allowance, not otherwise allowed under this Chapter, may be approved for terminated members with 20 or more years of creditable service who are at least 55 years of age. Alternatively, upon the occurrence of a termination event, a discontinued service retirement allowance, not otherwise allowed under this Chapter, may be approved for terminated members with 20 or more years of creditable service who are at least 50 years of age, reduced by one-fourth of one percent (¼ of 1%) for each month that retirement precedes the member's fifty-fifth birthday.

In cases in which a discontinued service retirement allowance is approved, the terminated member's employer shall be responsible for making a lump-sum payment to the Retirement System's Board of Trustees equal to the actuarial present value of the additional liabilities imposed upon the Retirement System, to be determined by the Retirement System's consulting actuary, as a result of the discontinued service retirement allowance, plus an administrative fee to be determined by the Board of Trustees. An employer shall not discriminate against any member or group of members employed by the employer in the approval or disapproval of a discontinued service retirement allowance.

(a3) Anti-Pension-Spiking Contribution-Based Benefit Cap. — Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, every service retirement allowance provided under this section for members who retire on or after January 1, 2015, is subject to adjustment pursuant to a contribution-based benefit cap under this subsection. The Board of Trustees shall adopt a contribution-based benefit cap factor recommended by the actuary, based upon actual experience, such that no more than three-quarters of one percent (0.75%) of retirement allowances are expected to be capped. The Board of Trustees shall modify such factors every five years, as shall be deemed necessary, based upon the five-year experience study as required by G.S. 128-28(o).

Prior to establishing a service retirement allowance under this section, the Board shall:

- (1) Determine an amount equal to the member's accumulated contributions as required under G.S. 128-30(b)(1) for all years during which the member earned membership service, other than service earned through armed service credit under G.S. 128-26(a1), G.S. 128-26(j1), or G.S. 128-26.5, used in the calculation of the retirement allowance that the member would receive under this section.
- (2) Determine the amount of a single life annuity that is the actuarial equivalent of the amount determined under subdivision (1) of this subsection, adjusted for the age of the member at the time of retirement or, when appropriate, the age at the time of the member's death.
- (3) Multiply the annuity amount determined under subdivision (2) of this subsection by the contribution-based benefit cap factor.
- (4) Determine the amount of the retirement allowance that results from the member's membership service, to which the member would be entitled but for the adjustment under this subsection. This amount shall be calculated in the same manner as the member's service retirement allowance, with the following exceptions: The applicable percentage of the member's average final compensation shall be multiplied by the number of years of membership service, rather than the number of years of creditable service; the amount shall include the effect of any percentage reduction that applies to the member's service retirement allowance

by virtue of the member's age or amount of creditable service as of the service retirement date; and the amount shall not be adjusted for an optional allowance elected under subsection (g) of this section.

The product of the multiplication in subdivision (3) of this subsection is the member's contribution-based benefit cap. If the amount determined under subdivision (4) of this subsection exceeds the member's contribution-based benefit cap, the member's retirement allowance shall be reduced by an amount equal to the difference between the contribution-based benefit cap and the amount determined under subdivision (4) of this subsection.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the retirement allowance of a member with an average final compensation of less than one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, shall not be subject to the contribution-based benefit cap. The minimum average final compensation necessary for a retirement allowance to be subject to the contribution-based benefit cap shall be increased on January 1 each year by the percent change between the June Consumer Price Index in the year prior to retirement and the June Consumer Price Index in the fiscal year most recently ended, calculated to the nearest tenth of a percent (0.1%), provided that this percent change is positive.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the retirement allowance of a member who became a member before January 1, 2015, or who has not earned at least five years of membership service in the Retirement System after January 1, 2015, shall not be reduced; however, the member's last employer, or if the member's last employer did not report to the retirement system any compensation paid to the member during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation, the member's employer or employers who reported compensation to the member during such period, shall be required to make an additional contribution as specified in G.S. 128-30(g)(2)b., if applicable.

- (b) Service Retirement Allowance of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1, 1965. Upon retirement from service on or after July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1, 1965, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) An annuity which shall be the actuarial equivalent of his accumulated contributions at the time of his retirement; and
  - (2) A pension equal to the annuity allowable at the age of 65 years or at his retirement age, whichever is the earlier, on the basis of contributions made prior to such earlier age; and
  - (3) If he has a prior service certificate in full force and effect, an additional pension which shall be equal to the annuity

which would have been provided at the age of 65 years, or at the earlier age of retirement if prior thereto, by twice the contributions which he would have made during such period of service had the System been in operation and he contributed thereunder at the rate of

- a. Six and twenty-five hundredths percent (6.25%) of his compensation if such certificate is a Class A certificate, or
- b. Five percent (5%) of his compensation if such certificate is a Class B certificate, or
- c. Four percent (4%) of his compensation if such certificate is a Class C certificate.
- (b1) Service Retirement Allowances of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1967. Upon retirement from service on or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1967, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, such allowance shall be equal to the sum of (i) one percent (1%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of forty-eight hundred dollars (\$4,800), plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of forty-eight hundred dollars (\$4,800) multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered prior to January 1, 1966, and (ii) one percent (1%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of forty-eight hundred dollars (\$4,800), plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered after January 1, 1966.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixtieth birthday but before his sixty-fifth birthday, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above but shall be reduced by five twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
  - (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).

- (b2) Service Retirement Allowances of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1967, but prior to July 1, 1969. Upon retirement from service on or after July 1, 1967, but prior to July 1, 1969, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-quarter percent (1½%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of five thousand six hundred dollars (\$5,600) plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of five thousand six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-fifth birthday, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
  - (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provision, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b3) Service Retirement Allowances of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1973. Upon retirement from service on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1973, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or on or after his sixty-second birthday and the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-quarter percent (1½%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600) plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement

- allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
- (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
- (3a) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-second birthday but on or after his sixtieth birthday and on or after completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-second birthday.
- (3b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday but on or after completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (3a) above.
- (4) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b4) Service Retirement Allowances of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1973, but prior to July 1, 1976. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1973, but prior to July 1, 1976, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-quarter percent (1¼%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600) plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixtieth birthday but before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be computed

- as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
- (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b5) Service Retirement Allowances of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1976, but prior to July 1, 1978. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1976, but prior to July 1, 1978, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-half percent (1½%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixtieth birthday but before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of service, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
  - (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b6) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1978, but prior to July 1, 1983. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1978, but prior to July 1, 1983, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:

- (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-five one-hundredths percent (1.55%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
- (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs after his sixtieth and before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
- (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b7) Service Retirement Allowances of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1983, but prior to July 1, 1985. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1983, but prior to July 1, 1985, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-seven one-hundredths percent (1.57%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs after his sixtieth and before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall

- be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b8) Service Retirement Allowance of Law Enforcement Officers Retiring on or after January 1, 1986, but before July 1, 1988. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after January 1, 1986, but before July 1, 1988, a member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-eight one hundredths percent (1.58%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2) If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 50th and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to his completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 55th birthday.
- (b9) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1985, but before July 1, 1988. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1985, but before July 1, 1988, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-eight one hundredths percent (1.58%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2) Such allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a), (2b), and (3).
- (b10) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1988, but before July 1, 1989. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on

or after July 1, 1988, but before July 1, 1989, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:

- (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty hundredths percent (1.60%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - b. Such allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b8)(2).
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-hundredths percent (1.60%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - b. Such allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a), (2b) and (3).
- (b11) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1989, but before July 1, 1990. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1989, but before July 1, 1990, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-three hundredths percent (1.63%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b8)(2).

- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-three hundredths percent (1.63%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a) and (3).
- (b12) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1990, but before July 1, 1992. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1990, but before July 1, 1992, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-four hundredths percent (1.64%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b8)(2).
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-four hundredths percent (1.64%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a) and (3).
- (b13) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1994. Upon

retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1994, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:

- (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy hundredths percent (1.70%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b8)(2).
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy hundredths percent (1.70%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a), (2b), and (3).
- (b14) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1994, but before July 1, 1995. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1994, but before July 1, 1995, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-one hundredths percent (1.71%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b8)(2).

- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-one hundredths percent (1.71%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a), (2b), and (3).
- (b15) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1995 but before July 1, 1997. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1995, but before July 1, 1997, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-two hundredths percent (1.72%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b15)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or
      - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b15)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.

- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-two hundredths percent (1.72%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b15)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b15)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b15)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
    - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b15)(2)b.
  - d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1,

1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).

- (b16) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or after July 1, 1997, but before July 1, 1998. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1997, but before July 1, 1998, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-six hundredths percent (1.76%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b16)(1)a., reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or
      - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b16)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-six hundredths percent (1.76%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.

- b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b16)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
- c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b16)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday: or
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b16)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
  - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b16)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b17) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 1998, but before July 1, 2000. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1998, but before July 1, 2000, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday and completion of five years of

- creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-seven hundredths percent (1.77%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
- b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b17)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3) of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b17)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-seven hundredths percent (1.77%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b17)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable

service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:

- 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b17)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b17)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
- 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b17)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b18) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 2000, but Before July 1, 2001. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 2000, but before July 1, 2001, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-eight hundredths percent (1.78%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:

- 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b18)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3) of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day;
- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b18)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-eight hundredths percent (1.78%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b18)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b18)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or

- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b18)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
- 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b18)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b19) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 2001, But Before July 1, 2002. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 2001, but before July 1, 2002, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-one hundredths percent (1.81%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b19)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day;
      - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b19)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible

former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:

- a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-one hundredths percent (1.81%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
- b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b19)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
- c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b19)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b19)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
  - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b19)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1,

1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).

- (b20) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 2002, but Before July 1, 2003. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 2002, but before July 1, 2003, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-two hundredths percent (1.82%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b20)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day;
      - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b20)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-two hundredths percent (1.82%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.

- b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b20)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
- c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b20)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b20)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
  - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b20)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b21) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 2003, but Before July 1, 2019. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 2003, but before July 1, 2019, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday and completion of five years of

- creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-five hundredths percent (1.85%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
- b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b21)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day;
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b21)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-five hundredths percent (1.85%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b21)(2) a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable

service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:

- 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b21)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b21)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
- 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b21)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b22) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 2019. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) of this section, on or after July 1, 2019, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-five hundredths percent (1.85%) of the member's average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of the member's creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs prior to the member's 50th birthday and after the completion of 25 years of creditable service with a minimum of 15 years of creditable service in a law enforcement capacity but before the completion of 30 years of creditable

service, the retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of the following amounts:

- 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the member's retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained age 55.
- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and the member's creditable service at retirement plus four percent (4%) times the difference between 50 and the member's age at retirement.
- c. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 50th birthday and before the member's 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of the following amounts:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3) of 1%) thereof for each month by which the retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained age 55.
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and the amount of creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, or on or after the member's 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-five hundredths percent (1.85%) of the member's average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after the member's 60th birthday and before the member's 65th birthday and prior to the completion of 25 years or

- more of creditable service, the retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b22)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which the retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the member's 65th birthday.
- c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 50th birthday and before the member's 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of the following amounts:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b22)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained the member's 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the member's 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the member's 65th birthday.
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b22)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and the amount of creditable service at retirement.
  - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b22)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (c) **Disability Retirement Benefits.** Upon the application of a member or of his employer, any member who has had five or more years of creditable service may be retired by the Board of Trustees, on the first day of any calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days next following the date of filing such application, on a disability retirement allowance: Provided, that the medical board, after a medical examination of such member, shall certify that such member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity was incurred at the time of active employment and has been continuous thereafter,

that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that such member should be retired; Provided further the medical board shall determine if the member is able to engage in gainful employment and, if so, the member may still be retired and the disability retirement allowance as a result thereof shall be reduced as in subsection (e) below. Provided further, that the Medical Board shall not certify any member as disabled who:

- (1) Applies for disability retirement based upon a mental or physical incapacity which existed when the member first established membership in the system; or
- (2) Is in receipt of any payments on account of the same disability which existed when the member first established membership in the system.

The Board of Trustees shall require each employee upon enrolling in the retirement system to provide information on the membership application concerning any mental or physical incapacities existing at the time the member enrolls.

Notwithstanding the requirement of five or more years of creditable service to the contrary, a member who is a law enforcement officer, an eligible firefighter as defined in G.S. 58-86-2, or an eligible rescue squad worker as defined in G.S. 58-86-2, and becomes incapacitated for duty as the natural and proximate result of injuries incurred while in the actual performance of his or her duties, and meets all other requirements for disability retirement benefits, may be retired by the Board of Trustees on a disability retirement allowance.

Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary, any beneficiary who commenced retirement with an early or service retirement benefit has the right, within three years of his retirement, to convert to an allowance with disability retirement benefits without modification of any election of optional allowance previously made; provided, the beneficiary would have met all applicable requirements for disability retirement benefits while still in service as a member. The allowance on account of disability retirement benefits to the beneficiary shall be retroactive to the effective date of early or service retirement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective April 1, 1991, the surviving designated beneficiary of a deceased member who met all other requirements for disability retirement benefits, except whose death occurred before the first day of the calendar month in which the member's disability retirement allowance was to be due and payable, may elect to receive the reduced retirement allowance provided by a one hundred percent (100%) joint and survivor payment option in lieu of a return of accumulated contributions, provided the following conditions apply:

(1) At the time of the member's death, one and only one beneficiary is eligible to receive a return of accumulated contributions, and

- (2) The member had not instructed the Board of Trustees in writing that he did not wish the provision of this subsection to apply.
- (d) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring prior to July 1, 1965. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) above, prior to July 1, 1965, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 60 years, otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) An annuity which shall be the actuarial equivalent of his accumulated contributions at the time of the retirement;
  - (2) A pension equal to seventy-five percent (75%) of the pension that would have been payable upon service retirement at the age of 65 years had the member continued in service to the age of 65 years without further change in compensation.

Supplemental disability benefits heretofore provided are hereby made a permanent part of disability benefits after age 65, and shall not be discontinued at age 65.

- (d1) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1969. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) above, on or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1969, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 60 years, otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall be computed as follows:
  - (1) Such allowance shall be equal to the service retirement allowance which would have been payable had he continued in service without further change in compensation, to the age of 60 years, minus the actuarial equivalent of the contributions he would have made during such continued service.
  - (2) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(d).
- (d2) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1971. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) above, on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1971, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 60 years, otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall be computed as follows:
  - (1) Such allowance shall be equal to the service retirement allowance which would have been payable had he continued in service without further change in compensation to

- the age of 65 years, minus the actuarial equivalent of the contributions he would have made during such continued service.
- (2) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(d).
- (d3) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1971, but prior to July 1, 1982. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section on or after July 1, 1971, but prior to July 1, 1982, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 65 years; otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall be computed as follows:
  - (1) Such allowance shall be equal to a service retirement allowance calculated on the basis of the member's average final compensation prior to his disability retirement and the creditable service he would have had at the age of 65 years if he had continued in service.
  - (2) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions,
    - a. Any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1971, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(d2);
    - b. The amount of disability allowance payable from the reserve funds of the Retirement System to any member retiring on or after July 1, 1974, who is eligible for and in receipt of a disability benefit under the Social Security Act shall be seventy percent (70%) of the amount calculated under a above, and the balance shall be provided by the employer from time to time during each year in such amounts as may be required to cover such payments as current disbursements; and
    - c. The amount of disability allowance payable to any member retiring on or after July 1, 1974, who is not eligible for and in receipt of a disability benefit under the Social Security Act shall not be payable from the reserve funds of the Retirement System but shall be provided by the employer from time to time during each year in such amounts as may be required to cover such payments as current disbursements.
- (d4) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1982. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section on or after July 1, 1982, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance; otherwise the allowance shall be equal to a service retirement allowance

calculated on the member's average final compensation prior to his disability retirement and the creditable service he would have had had he continued in service until the earliest date on which he would have qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance.

- (e) Reexamination of Beneficiaries Retired on Account of **Disability.** — Once each year during the first five years following retirement of a member on a disability allowance, and once in every three-year period thereafter, the Board of Trustees may, and upon his application shall, require any disability beneficiary who has not yet attained the age of 60 years to undergo a medical examination, such examination to be made at the place of residence of said beneficiary or other place mutually agreed upon, by the physician or physicians designated by the Board of Trustees. Should any disability beneficiary who has not yet attained the age of 60 years refuse to submit to at least one medical examination in any such year by a physician or physicians designated by the Board of Trustees, his allowance may be discontinued until his withdrawal of such refusal, and should his refusal continue for one year, all his rights in and to his pension may be revoked by the Board of Trustees. [The following provisions apply:
  - (1) The Board of Trustees shall determine whether a disability beneficiary is engaged in or is able to engage in a gainful occupation paying more than the difference, as hereinafter indexed, between his disability retirement allowance and the gross compensation earned as an employee during the 12 consecutive months in the final 48 months of service prior to retirement producing the highest gross compensation excluding any compensation received on account of termination. If the disability beneficiary is earning or is able to earn more than the difference, the portion of his disability retirement allowance not provided by his contributions shall be reduced to an amount which, together with the portion of the disability retirement allowance provided by his contributions and the amount earnable by him shall equal the amount of his gross compensation prior to retirement. This difference shall be increased on January 1 each year by the percentage change between the December Consumer Price Index in the year prior to retirement and the December Consumer Price Index in the year most recently ended, calculated to the nearest tenth of a percent (1/10 of 1%), provided that this percentage change is positive. Should the earning capacity of the disability beneficiary later change, the portion of his disability retirement allowance not provided by his contributions may be further modified. In lieu of the reductions on account of a disability beneficiary earning more than the aforesaid difference, he may elect to convert his disability retirement allowance to

a service retirement allowance calculated on the basis of his average final compensation and creditable service at the time of disability retirement and his age at the time of conversion to service retirement. This election is irrevocable.

The provisions of this subdivision shall not apply to beneficiaries of the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System transferred to this Retirement System who commenced retirement on and before July 1, 1981.

- (2) Should a disability beneficiary under the age of 62 years be restored to active service at a compensation not less than his average final compensation, his retirement allowance shall cease, he shall again become a member of the Retirement System and he shall contribute thereafter at the contribution rate which is applicable during his subsequent membership service. Any prior service certificate on the basis of which his service was computed at the time of his retirement shall be restored to full force and effect, and in addition, upon his subsequent retirement he shall be credited with all his service as a member, but should he be restored to active service on or after the attainment of the age of 50 years his pension upon subsequent retirement shall not exceed the sum of the pension which he was receiving immediately prior to his last restoration after June 30, 1951, and the pension that he would have received on account of his service since such last restoration had he entered service at that time as a new entrant.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a member retired on a disability retirement allowance who is restored to service and subsequently retires on or after July 1, 1971, shall be entitled to an allowance not less than the allowance prescribed in a below reduced by the amount in b below.
  - a. The allowance to which he would have been entitled if he were retiring for the first time, calculated on the basis of his total creditable service represented by the sum of his creditable service at the time of his first retirement and his creditable service after he was restored to service.
  - b. The actuarial equivalent of the retirement benefits he previously received.
- (3a) Notwithstanding the foregoing, should a beneficiary who retired on a disability retirement allowance be restored to service as an employee, then the retirement allowance shall cease as of the first day of the month following the month in which the beneficiary is restored to service and the beneficiary shall become a member of the Retirement System and shall contribute thereafter as allowed by law at the uniform

contribution payable by all members. Upon the subsequent retirement of the beneficiary, he shall be entitled to an allowance to which he would have been entitled if he were retiring for the first time, calculated on the basis of his total creditable service represented by the sum of his creditable service at the time of his first retirement and his creditable service after he was restored to service. Provided, however, any election of an optional allowance cannot be changed unless the member subsequently completes three years of membership service after being restored to service.

(4) As a condition to the receipt of the disability retirement allowance provided for in subsections (d) through (d4) of this section each member retired on a disability retirement allowance shall, on or before April 15 of each calendar year, provide the Board of Trustees with a statement of his or her income received as compensation for services, including fees, commissions or similar items, and income received from business, for the previous calendar year. Such statement shall be filed on a form as required by the Board of Trustees. The benefit payable to a beneficiary who does not or refuses to provide the information requested within 120 days after such request shall not be paid a benefit until the information so requested is provided, and should such refusal or failure to provide such information continue for 180 days after such request, the right of a beneficiary to a benefit under the Article may be terminated.

The Director of the State Retirement Systems shall contact any State or federal agency which can provide information to substantiate the statement required to be submitted by this subdivision and may enter into agreements for the exchange of information.

(5) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Article to the contrary, a beneficiary who was a beneficiary retired on a disability retirement with the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System at the time of the transfer of law enforcement officers employed by a participating employer and beneficiaries last employed by a participating employer to this Retirement System and who also was a contributing member of this Retirement System at that time, shall continue to be paid his retirement allowance without restriction and may continue as a member of this Retirement System with all the rights and privileges appendant to membership. Any beneficiary who retired on a disability retirement allowance as an employee of any participating employer under the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System and becomes employed as an employee other than as a law enforcement officer by an employer participating in the Retirement System after the aforementioned transfer shall continue to be paid his retirement allowance without restriction and may continue as a member of this Retirement System with all the rights and privileges appendant to membership until January 1, 1989, at which time his retirement allowance shall cease and his subsequent retirement shall be determined in accordance with the preceding subdivision (3a) of this section. Any beneficiary as hereinbefore described who becomes employed as a law enforcement officer by an employer participating in the Retirement System shall cease to be a beneficiary and shall immediately commence membership and his subsequent retirement shall be determined in accordance with subdivision (3a) of this section.

- (6) Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, a beneficiary in receipt of a disability retirement allowance until the earliest date on which he would have qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance shall thereafter (i) not be subject to further reexaminations as to disability, (ii) not be subject to any reduction in allowance on account of being engaged in a gainful occupation other than with an employer participating in the Retirement System, and (iii) be considered a beneficiary in receipt of a service retirement allowance. Provided, however, a beneficiary in receipt of a disability retirement allowance whose allowance is reduced on account of reexamination as to disability or the ability to engage in a gainful occupation prior to the date on which he would have qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance shall have only the right to elect to convert to an early or service retirement allowance as permitted under subdivision (1) above.
- (f) Return of Accumulated Contributions. Should a member cease to be an employee except by death or retirement under the provisions of this Chapter, the member shall upon submission of an application be paid, not earlier than 60 days from the date of termination of service, the member's contributions and the accumulated regular interest thereon, provided that the member has not in the meantime returned to service. Upon payment of such sum his or her membership in the System shall cease and, if he or she thereafter again becomes a member, no credit shall be allowed for any service previously rendered except as provided in G.S. 128-26; and such payment shall be in full and complete discharge of any rights in or to any benefits otherwise payable hereunder. Upon receipt of proof satisfactory to the Board of Trustees of the death, prior to retirement, of a member or former member there shall be paid to such person or persons as the member or former member shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved

by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the member's death, otherwise to the member's legal representatives, the amount of the member's accumulated contributions at the time of the member's death, unless the beneficiary elects to receive the alternate benefit under the provisions of (m) below. An extension service employee who made contributions to the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System as a result of dual employment may not be paid his or her accumulated contributions unless the extension service employee is eligible to be paid his or her accumulated contributions in both systems for the same period of service.

Pursuant to the provisions of G.S. 135-70.1, a member who is also a member of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System may irrevocably elect to transfer any accumulated contributions to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System or to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan and forfeit any rights in or to any benefits otherwise payable hereunder.

- (f1) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, upon or after retirement any member who was a uniformed fireman and any surviving beneficiary of a member who was a uniformed fireman, shall upon submission of an application, be paid the sum of accumulated contributions, with regular interest thereon, made under those provisions of G.S. 128-30(b)(1) that applied from July 1, 1965, through June 30, 1971, to the extent of the contributions required of the member that were in excess of the contributions required of other members of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System covered under the Social Security Act as was from time to time in effect; provided that, the return of contributions shall be payable only if the contributions did not increase the retirement allowance of the member or surviving beneficiary under the provisions of this Chapter.
  - (f2) Expired.
- (g) **Election of Optional Allowance.** With the provision that until the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred, any member may elect to receive his or her benefits in a retirement allowance payable throughout life, or the member may elect to receive the actuarial equivalent of such retirement allowance, including any special retirement allowance, in a reduced allowance payable throughout life under the provisions of one of the Options set forth below. The election of Option 2, 3, or 6 or nomination of the person thereunder shall be revoked if such person nominated dies prior to the date the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred. Such election may be revoked by the member prior to the date the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment

date has occurred. Provided, however, in the event a member has elected Option 2, 3, or 5 and nominated his or her spouse to receive a retirement allowance upon the member's death, and the spouse predeceases the member after the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred, if the member remarries he or she may request to nominate a new spouse to receive the retirement allowance under the previously elected option, within 90 days of the remarriage, and may nominate a new spouse to receive the retirement allowance under the previously elected option by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees within 120 days of the remarriage. The new nomination shall be effective on the first day of the month in which it is made and shall provide for a retirement allowance computed to be the actuarial equivalent of the retirement allowance in effect immediately prior to the effective date of the new nomination. Any member having elected Option 2, 3, 5, or 6 and nominated his or her spouse to receive a retirement allowance upon the member's death may, after divorce from his or her spouse, revoke the nomination and elect a new option, effective on the first day of the month in which the new option is elected, providing for a retirement allowance computed to be the actuarial equivalent of the retirement allowance in effect immediately prior to the effective date of the new option. Except as provided in this section, the member may not change the member's retirement benefit option or the member's designated beneficiary for survivor benefits, if any, after the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred.

Option one.

- (a) In the Case of a Member Who Retires prior to July 1, 1965. If he dies before he has received in annuity payments the present value of his annuity as it was at the time of his retirement, the balance shall be paid to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees or, if none, to his legal representative.
- (b) In the Case of a Member Who Retires on or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1993. If he dies within 10 years from his retirement date, an amount equal to his accumulated contributions at retirement, less one one-hundred-twentieth thereof for each month for which he has received a retirement allowance payment, shall be paid to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees or, if none, to his legal representative; or

Option two. Upon his death his reduced retirement allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees at the time of his retirement, provided that if the person selected is other than his spouse the reduced retirement allowance payable to the member shall not be less than one half of the retirement allowance without optional modification which would otherwise be payable to him; or

Option three. Upon his death, one half of his reduced retirement allowance shall be continued throughout the life of, and paid to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees at the time of his retirement; or

Option four. Adjustment of Retirement Allowance for Social Security Benefits. — Until the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due, any member may elect to convert his benefit otherwise payable on his account after retirement into a retirement allowance of equivalent actuarial value of such amount that with his benefit under Title II of the Federal Social Security Act, he will receive, so far as possible, approximately the same amount per year before and after the earliest age at which he becomes eligible, effective as of the first of the month following the month of initial entitlement, upon application therefor, to receive a social security benefit.

Option five. For Members Retiring prior to July 1, 1993. — The member may elect to receive a reduced retirement allowance under the conditions of Option two or Option three, as provided for above, with the modification that if both he and the person nominated die within 10 years from his retirement date, an amount equal to his accumulated contributions at retirement, less 1/120th thereof for each month for which a retirement allowance has been paid, shall be paid to his legal representatives or to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees.

Option six. A member may elect either Option two or Option three with the added provision that in the event the designated beneficiary predeceases the member, the retirement allowance payable to the member after the designated beneficiary's death shall be equal to the retirement allowance which would have been payable had the member not elected the option.

Upon the death of a member after the effective date of a retirement for which the member has been approved and following receipt by the Board of Trustees of an election of benefits (Form 6-E or Form 7-E) but prior to when the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first benefit payment has occurred, the retirement benefit shall be payable as provided by the member's election of benefits under this subsection.

Upon the death of a member after the effective date of a retirement for which the member has been approved but prior to the receipt by the Board of Trustees of an election of benefits (Form 6-E

or Form 7-E), properly acknowledged and filed by the member, the member's designated beneficiary for a return of accumulated contributions may elect to receive the benefit, if only one beneficiary is eligible to receive the return of accumulated contributions. If more than one beneficiary is eligible to receive the return of accumulated contributions, or if no beneficiary has been designated, the administrator or executor of the member's estate will select an option and name the beneficiary or beneficiaries.

(g1) In the event of the death of a retired member while in receipt of a retirement allowance under the provisions of this Article, there shall be paid to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the retiree's death, otherwise to the retiree's legal representatives, a death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the accumulated contributions of the retiree at the date of retirement over the total of the retirement allowances paid prior to the death of the retiree. In the event that a retiree is receiving a Special Retirement Allowance under subsection (m1) of this section, there shall be paid to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the retiree's death, otherwise to the retiree's legal representatives, an additional death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the employee voluntary contributions that were transferred from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina or the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan to this Retirement System over the total of the Special Retirement Allowances paid prior to the death of the retiree. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "accumulated contributions" excludes any amount transferred under subsection (m2) of this section.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the designated survivor of a retired member under the provisions above and such retirement allowance to the survivor shall terminate upon the death of the survivor before the total of the retirement allowances paid to the retiree and the designated survivor combined equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the retiree at the date of retirement, the excess, if any, of such accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the retiree and the survivor combined shall be paid in a lump sum to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time such

payment falls due, otherwise to the retiree's legal representative. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "accumulated contributions" includes amounts of employee voluntary contributions that were transferred from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina to this Retirement System at retirement by eligible law enforcement officers.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the principal beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions pursuant to subsection (m) of this section and that beneficiary dies before the total of the retirement allowances paid equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the member at the date of the member's death, the excess of those accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the beneficiary shall be paid in a lump sum to the person or persons the member has designated as the contingent beneficiary for return of accumulated contributions, if the person or persons are living at the time the payment falls due, otherwise to the principal beneficiary's legal representative. In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the contingent beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions pursuant to subsection (m) of this section and that beneficiary dies before the total of the retirement allowances paid equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the member at the date of the member's death, the excess of those accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the beneficiary shall be paid in a lump sum to the contingent beneficiary's legal representative. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "accumulated contributions" includes amounts of employee voluntary contributions that were transferred from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina to this Retirement System at retirement by eligible law enforcement officers.

In the event a retiree purchases creditable service as provided in G.S. 128-26, there shall be paid to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the retiree's death, otherwise to the retiree's legal representatives, an additional death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the cost of the creditable service purchased less the administrative fee, if any, over the total of the increase in the retirement allowance attributable to the additional creditable service, paid from the month following the month in which payment was received to the death of the retiree.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the designated survivor of a retired member under the provisions above, and such retirement allowance to the survivor shall terminate upon the death of the survivor before the total of the increase in the retirement allowance attributable to the additional creditable service paid to the retiree and the designated survivor combined equals the cost of the creditable service purchased less the administrative fee, the excess, if any, shall be paid in a lump sum to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time such payment falls due, otherwise to the retiree's legal representative.

In the event that a retiree dies without having designated a beneficiary to receive a benefit under the provisions of this subsection, any such benefit that becomes payable shall be paid to the member's legal representative.

- (h) Until June 30, 1951, all benefits payable to or on account of any beneficiary retired before such date shall be computed on the basis of the provisions of Chapter 128 as they existed at the date of establishment of the Retirement System. On and after July 1, 1951, all such benefits shall be adjusted to take into account, under such rules as the Board of Trustees may adopt, the provisions of Chapter 128 and all amendments thereto in effect on July 1, 1951, and no further contributions on account of such adjustments shall be required of such beneficiaries. The Board of Trustees may authorize such transfers of reserves between the funds of the Retirement System as may be required on account of such adjustments.
- (i) No action shall be commenced against the State or the Retirement System by any retired member or beneficiary respecting any deficiency in the payment of benefits more than three years after such deficient payment was made, and no action shall be commenced by the State or the Retirement System against any retired member or former member or beneficiary respecting any overpayment of benefits or contributions more than three years after such overpayment was made. This subsection does not affect the right of the Retirement System to recoup overpaid benefits as provided in G.S. 128-31.
- (j) Increase in Benefits to Those Persons Who Were in Receipt of Benefits prior to July 1, 1967. From and after July 1, 1967, the monthly benefits, to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits from the System prior to July 1, 1967, shall be increased by a percentage thereof. Such percentage shall be determined in accordance with the following schedule:

Period in Which Benefits Commenced	Percentage
January 1, 1966, to June 30, 1967	5%
Year 1965	6%
Year 1964	7%
Year 1963	8%
Year 1962	9%

Period in Which Benefits Commenced       Percentage         Year 1961       10%         Year 1960       11%         Year 1959       12%         Year 1958       13%         Year 1957       14%
Year 1959       12%         Year 1958       13%         Year 1957       14%
Year 1958       13%         Year 1957       14%
Year 1957
Year 1956
Year 1955
Year 1954
Year 1953
Year 1952
Year 1951
Year 1950
Year 1949
Year 1948
Year 1947
Year 1946

The minimum increase pursuant to this subsection (j) shall be five dollars (\$5.00) per month; provided that, if an optional benefit has been elected, said minimum shall be reduced actuarially as determined by the Board and shall be applicable to a retired member, if surviving, otherwise to his designated beneficiary under the option elected.

(k) **Post-Retirement Increases in Allowances.** — As of December 31, 1969, the ratio of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined. If such ratio indicates an increase that equals or exceeds three per centum (3%), each beneficiary receiving a retirement allowance as of December 31, 1968, shall be entitled to have his allowance increased three per centum (3%) effective July 1, 1970.

As of December 31, 1970, the ratio of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined. If such ratio indicates an increase of at least one per centum (1%), each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1970, shall be entitled to have his allowance increased effective July 1, 1971, as follows:

Increase	Increase In
In Index	Allowance
1.00 to 1.49%	1%
1.50 to 2.49%	2%
2.50 to 3.49%	3%
3.50% or more	4%

As of December 31, 1971, an increase in retirement allowances shall be calculated and made effective July 1, 1972, in the manner described in the preceding paragraph. As of December 31 of each year after 1971, the ratio (R) of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined, and each beneficiary on

the retirement rolls as of July 1 of the year of determination shall be entitled to have his allowance increased effective on July 1 of the year following the year of determination by the same percentage of increase indicated by the ratio (R) calculated to the nearest tenth of one per centum ( $\frac{1}{10}$  of 1%), but not more than four per centum (4%); provided that any such increase in allowances shall be contingent upon the total fund providing sufficient investment gains to cover the additional actuarial liabilities on account of such increase. The determination of whether there are sufficient investment gains to cover the possible postretirement increase in allowance shall reside exclusively within the discretion of the Board of Trustees and shall be informed by the findings within the annual actuarial valuation reports. In considering whether to grant a postretirement increase, the Board of Trustees shall take into account both the rate of inflation as determined by the Consumer Price Index and the record of investment gains or losses during the preceding three-year period.

The allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary whose allowance is increased under this subsection shall, when and if payable, be increased by the same per centum.

Any increase in allowance granted hereunder shall be permanent, irrespective of any subsequent decrease in the Consumer Price Index, and shall be included in determining any subsequent increase.

Notwithstanding the foregoing linkage between increases in the Consumer Price Index and correlative contingent increases in retirement benefits determined by the availability of sufficient investment gains to cover the additional actuarial liabilities arising from those increased benefits, the Board of Trustees, may in any year, considering an increase, if any, in the Consumer Price Index, fund a cost-of-living increase in a percentage amount, measured in tenths of one percent (½10 of 1%), of up to four percent (4%), provided that the Board may use only investment gains to fund such an increase.

For purposes of this subsection, Consumer Price Index shall mean the Consumer Price Index (all items — United States city average), as published by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

(k1) **Discretionary One-Time Pension Supplements.**—As of December 31 of each year after 2020, the ratio (R) of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined, and each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of September 1 of the calendar year of determination shall be entitled to have a one-time pension supplement paid during October of the same calendar year; provided that any such one-time pension supplement shall be contingent upon a determination by the Board of Trustees under subsection (k) of this section that a permanent increase in benefits

will not be paid during the same fiscal year as the one-time pension supplement, but the total fund is providing sufficient investment gains to cover the additional actuarial liabilities on account of such one-time pension supplement. The determination of whether there are sufficient investment gains to cover the one-time pension supplement shall reside exclusively within the discretion of the Board of Trustees and shall be informed by the findings within the annual actuarial valuation reports. In considering whether to grant a one-time pension supplement, the Board of Trustees shall take into account both the rate of inflation as determined by the Consumer Price Index and the record of investment gains or losses during the preceding three-year period. The amount of the one-time pension supplement shall be calculated as a percentage of the annual retirement allowance, where the percentage used is the ratio (R) calculated to the nearest tenth of one per centum (1/10 of 1%), but not more than four per centum (4%).

A surviving annuitant of a beneficiary shall be provided a onetime pension supplement under this subsection, when and if payable, calculated using the same per centum.

Any supplement granted under this subsection shall be a one-time pension supplement and not a permanent increase in benefits. If the beneficiary dies before payment of the one-time pension supplement is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's estate or legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested or contractual right or entitlement to any future one-time pension supplement under this subsection.

(1) **Death Benefit Plan.** — The provisions of this subsection shall become effective for any employer only after an agreement to that effect has been executed by the employer and the Director of the Retirement System. There is hereby created a Group Life Insurance Plan (hereinafter called the "Plan") which is established as an employee welfare benefit plan that is separate and apart from the Retirement System and under which the members of the Retirement System shall participate and be eligible for group life insurance benefits. The Plan shall be part of the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust, as established under G.S. 135-7(g). All receipts, transfers, appropriations, contributions, investment earnings, and other income belonging to the Plan shall be deposited in the Benefit Trust. All benefits and expenses against the Plan shall be disbursed from the Benefit Trust. Employer and non-employer contributions to the Benefit Trust and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Benefit Trust are dedicated to providing benefits to members and beneficiaries in accordance with the Plan's benefit terms. The assets of the Benefit Trust are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employees and non-employees making contributions to the Benefit Trust, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Benefit Trust's trustees

and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of members and beneficiaries. Benefit Trust assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in their capacity as trustees under the Group Life Insurance Plan, of the death, in service, of a member who had completed at least one full calendar year of membership in the Retirement System, there shall be paid to such person as the member shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person is living at the time of the member's death, otherwise to the member's legal representatives, a death benefit. Such death benefit shall be equal to the greater of:

- (1) The compensation on which contributions were made by the member during the calendar year preceding the year in which his death occurs, or
- (2) The greatest compensation on which contributions were made by the member during a 12-month period of service within the 24-month period of service ending on the last day of the month preceding the month in which his last day of actual service occurs;
- (3) Repealed by Session Laws 1983 (Regular Session, 1984), c. 1049, s. 2;

subject to a minimum of twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000) and a maximum of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000). Such death benefit shall be payable apart and separate from the payment of the member's accumulated contributions under the System on his death pursuant to the provisions of subsection (f) of this section. For the purpose of the Plan, a member shall be deemed to be in service at the date of his death if his death occurs within 180 days from the last day of his actual service.

The death benefit provided in this subsection shall not be payable, notwithstanding the member's compliance with all the conditions set forth in the preceding paragraph, if his death occurs

- (1) After June 30, 1969 and after he has attained age 70; or
- (2) After December 31, 1969 and after he has attained age 69;
- (3) After December 31, 1970 and after he has attained age 68; or
- (4) After December 31, 1971 and after he has attained age 67; or
- (5) After December 31, 1972 and after he has attained age 66; or
- (6) After December 31, 1973 and after he has attained age 65; or
- (7) After December 31, 1978, but before January 1, 1987, and after he has attained age 70.

Notwithstanding the above provisions, the death benefit shall be payable on account of the death of any member who died or dies on or after January 1, 1974, but before January 1, 1979, after attaining age 65, if he or she had not yet attained age 65, if he or she had not yet attained age 66, was at the time of death completing the work year for those individuals under specific contract, or during the fiscal year for those individuals not under specific contract, in which he or she attained age 65, and otherwise met all conditions for payment of the death benefit.

Notwithstanding the above provisions, the Board of Trustees may and is specifically authorized to provide the death benefit according to the terms and conditions otherwise appearing in this Plan in the form of group life insurance, either (i) by purchasing a contract or contracts of group life insurance with any life insurance company or companies licensed and authorized to transact business in this State for the purpose of insuring the lives of members in service, or (ii) by establishing a separate trust fund for such purpose. To that end the Board of Trustees is authorized, empowered and directed to investigate the desirability of utilizing group life insurance by either of the foregoing methods for the purpose of providing the death benefit. If a separate trust fund is established, it shall be operated in accordance with rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees and all investment earnings on the trust fund shall be credited to such fund.

In administration of the death benefit the following shall apply:

- (1) For the purpose of determining eligibility only, in this subsection "calendar year" shall mean any period of 12 consecutive months. For all other purposes in this subsection "calendar year" shall mean the 12 months beginning January 1 and ending December 31.
- (2) Last day of actual service shall be:
  - a. When the employee has been terminated, the last day the member actually worked.
  - b. When the employee has not been terminated, the date on which an absent member's sick and annual leave expire.
  - c. When the member's service is interrupted by reason of service in the Uniformed Services, as that term is defined in section 4303(16) of the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, Public Law 103-353, and the participant does not return immediately after that service to employment with a covered employer in this System, the date on which the participant was first eligible to be separated or released from his or her involuntary military service.
- (3) For a period when a member is on leave of absence, his status with respect to the death benefit will be determined by the provisions of G.S. 128-26(g).

(4) A member on leave of absence from his position as a local governmental employee for the purpose of serving as a member or officer of the General Assembly shall be deemed to be in service during sessions of the General Assembly and thereby covered by the provisions of the death benefit, if applicable. The amount of the death benefit for such member shall be the equivalent of the salary to which the member would have been entitled as a local governmental employee during the 12-month period immediately prior to the month in which death occurred, not to be less than twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000) nor to exceed fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000).

The provisions of the Retirement System pertaining to administration, G.S. 128-28, and management of funds, G.S. 128-29, are hereby made applicable to the Plan.

- (l1) **Death Benefit Plan for Law Enforcement Officers.** Under all requirements and conditions as otherwise provided for in subsection (l), except for the requirement that the provisions are effective only after an agreement has been executed by the employer and the Director of the Retirement System, all law enforcement officers who are members of the Retirement System shall participate and be eligible for group life insurance benefits under the Plan, and employers shall fund the cost of these benefits.
- (12) **Death Benefit for Retired Members.** Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after July 1, 1988, but before January 1, 1999, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of five thousand dollars (\$5,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.
- (l3) **Death Benefit for Retired Members.** Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this

subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after January 1, 1999, but before July 1, 2004, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump sum payment in the amount of six thousand dollars (\$6,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

- (14) **Death Benefit for Retired Members.** Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after July 1, 2004, but before July 1, 2007, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of nine thousand dollars (\$9,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.
- (*l*5) Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after July 1, 2007, but before January 1, 2015, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided

the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

(16) Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after January 1, 2015, there shall be paid a death benefit to the person or persons designated by the member or, if not survived by a designated beneficiary, to the deceased retired member's legal representative; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of the member's death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund, the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust, administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. Employer and non-employer contributions to the Benefit Trust and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Benefit Trust are dedicated to providing benefits to members and beneficiaries in accordance with the Plan's benefit terms. The assets of the Benefit Trust are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employees and non-employees making contributions to the Benefit Trust, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Benefit Trust's trustees and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of members and beneficiaries. Benefit Trust assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees.

The death benefit payable under this subsection shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the de-

ceased retired member's designated beneficiary or beneficiaries, or legal representative if not survived by a designated beneficiary, shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

- (m) **Survivor's Alternate Benefit.** Upon the death of a member in service, the beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions shall have the right to elect to receive in lieu thereof the reduced retirement allowance provided by Option two of subsection (g) above computed by assuming that the member had retired on the first day of the month following the date of the member's death, provided that all four of the following conditions apply:
  - (1)a. The member had attained such age and/or creditable service to be eligible to commence retirement with an early or service retirement allowance, or
    - b. The member had obtained 20 years of creditable service in which case the retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)c. or G.S. 128-27(b22)(2)c., notwithstanding the requirement of obtaining age 50, or
    - b1. The member was a law enforcement officer who had obtained 15 years of service as a law enforcement officer and was killed in the line of duty, or the member was a firefighter or a rescue squad worker who had obtained 15 years of service as a firefighter or a rescue squad worker and was killed in the line of duty, in which cases the retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)c., notwithstanding the requirement of obtaining age 50.
    - c. Repealed by Session Laws 2010-72, s. 2(b), effective July 1, 2010.
  - (2) At the time of the member's death, one and only one beneficiary is eligible to receive a return of his accumulated contributions.
  - (3) The member had not instructed the Board of Trustees in writing that he did not wish the provisions of this subsection apply.
  - (4) The member had not commenced to receive a retirement allowance as provided under this Chapter.

For the purpose of this benefit, a member is considered to be in service at the date of his death if his death occurs within 180 days from the last day of his actual service. The last day of actual service shall be determined as provided in subsection (l) of this section. Upon the death of a member in service, the surviving spouse may make all purchases for creditable service as provided for under this Chapter for which the member had made application in writing

prior to the date of death, provided that the date of death occurred prior to or within 60 days after notification of the cost to make the purchase.

For the purpose of calculating this benefit, any terminal payouts made after the date of death that meet the definition of compensation shall be credited to the month prior to the month of death. These terminal payouts do not include salary or wages paid for work performed during the month of death.

(m1) Special Retirement Allowance for Law Enforcement **Officers.** — Upon retirement, a member who is a law enforcement officer vested as of June 30, 2010, may elect to transfer any portion of his eligible accumulated contributions, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina to this Retirement System and receive, in addition to his basic service, early or disability retirement allowance, a special retirement allowance which shall be based upon his eligible accumulated account balance at the date of the transfer of the assets to this System. For the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, the Board of Trustees shall adopt straight life annuity factors on the basis of mortality tables, such other tables as may be necessary and the interest assumption rate recommended by the actuary based upon actual experience including an assumed annual post-retirement allowance increase of four percent (4%). The Board of Trustees shall modify such factors every five years, as shall be deemed necessary, based upon the five year experience study as required by G.S. 128-28(o). Provided, however, a member who transfers his eligible accumulated contributions from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina shall be taxed for North Carolina State Income tax purposes on the special retirement allowance the same as if that special retirement allowance had been paid directly by the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina. The Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall be responsible to determine the taxable amount, if any, and report accordingly. For transfers made on or after July 1, 2022, if, subsequent to the member's election, the Board of Trustees determines that (i) the member was ineligible for the election or (ii) the election was impermissible for any reason under federal or State law, then no special retirement allowance shall be paid to the member pursuant to this subsection; the member shall return to the Retirement System any amount already paid from the Retirement System as a special retirement allowance; and the Retirement System shall return the transfer amount to the source of the transfer, including any earnings adjustment that may be required under federal law or Internal Revenue Service guidance. If the Retirement System is unable to return the amount to the account from which it originated, the member may designate another eligible account under the

transferor plan or receive a lump sum distribution paid directly to the member if the member would otherwise be eligible for a distribution under the transferor plan at such time.

(m2) **Special Retirement Allowance.** — At any time coincident with or following retirement, a member may make a one-time, irrevocable election to transfer any portion of the member's eligible accumulated contributions, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina or the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan to this Retirement System and receive, in addition to the member's basic service, early or disability retirement allowance, a special retirement allowance which shall be based upon the member's transferred balance.

A member who became a member of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan prior to retirement and who remains a member of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan may make a one-time, irrevocable election to transfer eligible balances, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, from any of the following plans to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, subject to the applicable requirements of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, and then through the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan to this Retirement System (i) a plan participating in the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan; (ii) a plan described in section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code; (iii) a plan described in section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state; (iv) an individual retirement account or annuity described in section 408(a) or section 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is eligible to be rolled over and would otherwise be includible in gross income; or (v) a tax-qualified plan described in section 401(a) or section 403(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. In addition, any transfer under this subsection may be paid in whole or in part with employer contributions paid directly to this Retirement System at the time of transfer. For transfers made on or after July 1, 2022, if, subsequent to the member's election, the Board of Trustees determines that (i) the member was ineligible for the election or (ii) the election was impermissible for any reason under federal or State law, then no special retirement allowance shall be paid to the member pursuant to this subsection; the member shall return to the Retirement System any amount already paid from the Retirement System as a special retirement allowance; and the Retirement System shall return the transfer amount to the source of the transfer, including any earnings adjustment that may be required under federal law or Internal Revenue Service guidance. If the Retirement System is unable to return the amount to the account from which it originated, the member may designate

another eligible account under the transferor plan or receive a lump sum distribution paid directly to the member if the member would otherwise be eligible for a distribution under the transferor plan at such time.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, a member may not transfer such amounts as will cause the member's retirement allowance under the System to exceed the amount allowable under G.S. 128-38.2(b). The Board of Trustees may establish a minimum amount that must be transferred if a transfer is elected. The member may elect a special retirement allowance with no postretirement increases or a special retirement allowance with annual postretirement increases equal to the annual increase in the U.S. Consumer Price Index. Postretirement increases on any other allowance will not apply to the special retirement allowance. The Board of Trustees shall provide educational materials to the members who apply for the transfer authorized by this section. Those materials shall describe the special retirement allowance and shall explain the relationship between the transferred balance and the monthly benefit and how the member's heirs may be impacted by the election to make this transfer and any costs and fees involved.

For the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, the Board of Trustees shall adopt straight life annuity factors on the basis of yields on U.S. Treasury Bonds and mortality and such other tables as may be necessary based upon actual experience. A single set of mortality and such other tables will be used for all members, with factors differing only based on the age of the member and the election of postretirement increases. The Board of Trustees shall modify the mortality and such other tables every five years, as shall be deemed necessary, based upon the five-year experience study as required by G.S. 128-28(o). Provided, however, a member who transfers the member's eligible accumulated contributions from an eligible retirement plan pursuant to this subsection to this Retirement System shall be taxed for North Carolina State Income Tax purposes on the special retirement allowance the same as if that special retirement allowance had been paid directly by the eligible plan or the plan through which the transfer was made, whichever is most favorable to the member. The Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall be responsible to determine the taxable amount, if any, and report accordingly.

The special retirement allowance shall continue for the life of the member and the beneficiary designated to receive a monthly survivorship benefit under Option 2, 3 or 6 as provided in G.S. 128-27(g), if any. The Board of Trustees, however, shall establish two payment options that guarantee payments as follows:

(1) A member may elect to receive the special retirement allowance for life but with payments guaranteed for a number of months to be specified by the Board of Trustees.

Under this plan, if the member dies before the expiration of the specified number of months, the special retirement allowance will continue to be paid to the member's designated beneficiary for the life of the beneficiary, if Option 2, 3 or 6 is selected. If the member's designated beneficiary under Option 2, 3 or 6 begins receiving monthly payments and dies before the specified number of monthly payments have been made in combination to the member and beneficiary, a one-time payment will be paid to the member's legal representatives equal to the initial monthly special retirement allowance, multiplied by the specified number of months, less the total of the monthly payments made to the member and beneficiary. If Option 2, 3 or 6 is not selected, and the member dies before the expiration of the specified number of months, the member's designated beneficiary will receive a one-time payment equal to the initial monthly special retirement allowance, multiplied by the specified number of months, less the total of the monthly payments made to the member.

(2) A member may elect to receive the special retirement allowance for life but is guaranteed that the sum of the special allowance payments will equal the total of the transferred amount. Under this payment option, if the member dies before receiving the total transferred amount, the special retirement allowance will continue to be paid to the member's designated beneficiary for the life of the beneficiary, if Option 2, 3 or 6 is selected. If Option 2, 3 or 6 is not selected, the member's designated beneficiary or the member's estate shall be paid any remaining balance of the transferred amount.

The Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees established under G.S. 135-96 may assess a one-time flat administrative fee not to exceed the actual cost of the administrative expenses relating to these transfers. An eligible plan shall not assess a fee specifically relating to a transfer of accumulated contributions authorized under this subsection. This provision shall not prohibit other fees that may be assessable under the plan. Each plan, contract, account, or annuity shall fully disclose to any member participating in a transfer under this subsection any surrender charges or other fees, and that disclosure shall be made contemporaneous with the initiation of the transfer by the member.

The General Assembly reserves the right to repeal or amend this subsection, but such repeal or amendment shall not affect any person who has already made the one-time election provided in this subsection.

(m3) A member who has contributions in this System and is not eligible for a retirement benefit as set forth in G.S. 128-27(a) or G.S.

128-27(a1) shall be paid his or her contributions in a lump sum as provided in G.S. 128-27(f) by April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the member (i) attains 72 years of age or (ii) has ceased to be an employee except by death. If the member fails, following reasonable notification, to complete a refund application by the required date, then the requirement that a refund application be completed shall be waived and the refund shall be paid without a refund application as a single lump-sum payment with applicable required North Carolina and federal income taxes withheld.

A member who has contributions in this System and is eligible for a retirement benefit as set forth in G.S. 128-27(a) or G.S. 128-27(a1) shall begin to receive a monthly benefit no later than April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the member (i) attains 72 years of age or (ii) has ceased to be an employee except by death. If the member fails, following reasonable notification, to complete the retirement process as set forth under Chapter 128 of the General Statutes by the required beginning date, then the requirement that a retirement application and an election of payment plan form be completed shall be waived and the retirement allowance shall be paid as a single life annuity. The single life annuity shall be calculated and processed in accordance with this section.

For purposes of this subsection, a member shall not be considered to have ceased to be an employee if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System. A retirement benefit or lump-sum refund shall not be paid under this subsection if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System.

- (n) Increases in Benefits Paid in Respect to Members Retired prior to July 1, 1967. From and after July 1, 1971, the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits prior to July 1, 1965, shall be increased by twenty percent (20%) thereof; the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits after June 30, 1965 and before July 1, 1967, shall be increased by five percent (5%) thereof. These increases shall be calculated after monthly retirement allowances as of July 1, 1971 have been increased to the extent provided for in subsection (k) above.
- (o) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons Who Were Retired prior to January 1, 1969. From and after July 1, 1973, the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits from the System prior to January 1, 1969, shall be increased by a percentage thereof. Such percentage shall be determined in accordance with the following schedule:

Year(s) in Which
Benefits Commenced Percentage
1959 through 1968 10
1946 through 1958 25

These increases shall be calculated after monthly retirement allowances as of July 1, 1973, have been increased to the extent provided for in the preceding subsection (k).

- (p) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons on Disability Retirement Who Were Retired prior to July 1, 1971. From and after July 1, 1974, the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits prior to July 1, 1965, shall be increased by one percent (1%) thereof for each year by which the member retired prior to the age of 65 years; the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits after June 30, 1965, and before July 1, 1971, shall be increased by five percent (5%) thereof. These increases shall be calculated before monthly retirement allowances as of June 30, 1974, have been increased to the extent provided for in the preceding subsection (k).
- (q) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1973, which shall become effective on July 1, 1974, as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(k), shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional two percent (2%) to a total of six percent (6%) for the year 1974 only. The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (r) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1974, which shall become payable on July 1, 1975, and to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1975, which shall become payable on July 1, 1976, as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(k), shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional four percent (4%) to a total of eight percent (8%) for the years 1975 and 1976 only, provided that the increases do not exceed the actual percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index as determined in G.S. 128-27(k). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (s) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, the increase in the allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(k) shall be the current maximum of four per centum (4%) plus an additional four per centum (4%) to a total of eight per centum (8%) on July 1, 1975, and July 1, 1976, provided the increases do not exceed the actual percentage increase in the cost of living as determined in G.S. 128-27(k). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary. The cost of these increases shall be borne from the funds of the Retirement System.

- (t) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons on Disability Retirement Who Were Retired prior to July 1, 1971. From and after July 1, 1975, the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits prior to July 1, 1965, shall be increased one percent (1%) thereof for each year by which the member retired prior to age 65 years; the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits after June 30, 1965, and before July 1, 1971, shall be increased by five percent (5%) thereof. These increases shall be calculated before monthly retirement allowances as of June 30, 1975, have been increased to the extent provided in the preceding provisions of this Chapter.
- (u) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1977, which shall become payable on July 1, 1978, as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(k), shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional two and one-half percent (2½%) for the year beginning July 1, 1978. The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (v) Increases in Allowances Paid Beneficiaries Retired prior to July 1, 1976. From and after July 1, 1978, the monthly allowances paid to or on account of beneficiaries who commenced receiving such allowances prior to July 1, 1976, shall be increased by seven percent (7%) thereof. This increase shall be calculated before monthly allowances, as of July 1, 1978, have been increased to the extent provided for in the preceding subsections (k) and (u). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (w) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1978, which shall become payable on July 1, 1979, as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(k), shall be five percent (5%) for the year beginning July 1, 1979. Provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (x) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons Who Were Retired prior to July 1, 1978. From and after July 1, 1980, the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits from the system prior to July 1, 1978, shall be increased by a percentage in accordance with the following schedule:

Period in Which Benefits Commenced	Percentage
On or before June 30, 1959	10%
July 1, 1959, to June 30, 1968	7%
July 1, 1968, to June 30, 1978	2%

This increase shall be calculated independent of any other postretirement increase, without compounding, otherwise payable from and after July 1, 1980. This increase shall be calculated independent of any other postretirement increase, without compounding, otherwise payable from and after July 1, 1980.

- (y) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1980, which shall become payable on January 1, 1982, as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(h), shall be the percentage available therefrom plus an additional six and six-tenths percent (6.6%); provided that in no case shall the increase exceed a total of seven percent (7%). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of the beneficiary.
- (z) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary as of July 1, 1983, which shall become payable on July 1, 1984, shall be three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) as provided in G.S. 128-27(k) plus an additional four and two-tenths percent (4.2%) to a total of eight percent (8%). The provision of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary. The cost of these increases shall be borne from the funds of the Retirement System.
- (z1) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, from and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1984, shall be increased by four percent (4%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1984, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1984, but before June 30, 1985, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1984, and June 30, 1985.
- (aa) From and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1985, shall be increased by six-tenths percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1985. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1985, so as not to be compounded on any other increases payable on allowances in effect on June 30, 1985.
- (bb) From and after July 1, 1986, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1985, shall be increased by three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1985, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1986, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1985, but before June 30, 1986, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1985, and June 30, 1986.

- (cc) From and after July 1, 1987, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1986, shall be increased by four percent (4.0%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1986, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1987, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1986, but before June 30, 1987, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4.0%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1986, and June 30, 1987.
- (dd) From and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1987, shall be increased by three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1987, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1987, but before June 30, 1988, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and sixtenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1987, and June 30, 1988.
- (ee) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1988. From and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1988, shall be increased by one and two-tenths percent (1.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1988. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1988, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1987 Session of the General Assembly.
- (ff) From and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1988, shall be increased by three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1988, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1988, but before June 30, 1989, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1988, and June 30, 1989.
- (gg) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1989. From and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1989, shall be increased by one and

nine-tenths percent (1.9%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1989. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1989, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1989 Session of the General Assembly.

- (hh) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1990. From and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1990, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1990. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1990, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 1989 Session of the General Assembly (1990 Regular Session).
- (ii) From and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1989, shall be increased by six and one-tenth percent (6.1%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1989, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1989, but before June 30, 1990, shall be increased by a prorated amount of six and one-tenth percent (6.1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1989, and June 30, 1990.
- (jj) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1992. From and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1992, shall be increased by three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1992. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1992, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1991 Session of the General Assembly, 1992 Regular Session.
- (kk) From and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1991, shall be increased by one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1991, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1991, but before June 30, 1992, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1991 and June 30, 1992.

(ll) From and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1992, shall be increased by one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1992, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1992, but before June 30, 1993, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1992, and June 30, 1993.

(mm) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1994. — From and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1994, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1994. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1994, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1993 General Assembly in 1994.

(nn) From and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1993, shall be increased by two and eight-tenths percent (2.8%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1993, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1993, but before June 30, 1994, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and eight-tenths percent (2.8%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1993, and June 30, 1994.

(oo) From and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1994, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1994, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1994, but before June 30, 1995, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1994, and June 30, 1995.

(pp) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1995. — From and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1995, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1995. This

allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1995, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1995 General Assembly.

- (qq) From and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1993, shall be increased by seven-tenths of one percent (0.7%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1993, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1993, but before June 30, 1994, shall be increased by a prorated amount of seven-tenths of one percent (0.7%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1993, and June 30, 1994.
- (rr) From and after September 1, 1996, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1995, shall be increased by four and four-tenths percent (4.4%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1995, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after September 1, 1996, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1995, but before June 30, 1996, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four and four-tenths percent (4.4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1995, and June 30, 1996.
- (ss) From and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1996, shall be increased by four percent (4%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1997, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1996, but before June 30, 1997, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1996, and June 30, 1997.
- (tt) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1997. From and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1997, shall be increased by two and three-tenths percent (2.3%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1997. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1997, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1997 General Assembly.
- (uu) From and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or

before July 1, 1997, shall be increased by two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1998, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1997, but before June 30, 1998, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1997, and June 30, 1998.

(vv) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1998. — From and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1998, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1998. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1998, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1997 General Assembly.

(ww) From and after July 1, 1999, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1998, shall be increased by one percent (1.0%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1999, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1999, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1998, but before June 30, 1999, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1.0%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1998, and June 30, 1999.

(xx) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 2000. — From and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 2000, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2000. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2000, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1999 General Assembly, 2000 Regular Session.

(yy) From and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1999, shall be increased by three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2000, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1999, but before June 30, 2000, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable as

determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1999, and June 30, 2000.

(zz) From and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2000, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2001, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2000, but before June 30, 2001, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2000, and June 30, 2001.

(aaa) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 2001. — From and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 2001, shall be increased by one and seven-tenths percent (1.7%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2001. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2001, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 2001 General Assembly.

(bbb) From and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2001, shall be increased by one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2002, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2001, but before June 30, 2002, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2001, and June 30, 2002.

(ccc) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 2002. — From and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 2002, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2002. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2002, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 2002 Regular Session of the 2001 General Assembly.

(ddd) From and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2002, shall be increased by two percent (2.0%) of the

allowance payable on June 1, 2003, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2002, but before June 30, 2003, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2.0%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2002, and June 30, 2003.

(eee) From and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before June 1, 1982, shall be increased by six percent (6.0%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2003, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or after July 1, 1982, but before July 1, 1993, shall be increased by one and one-tenth percent (1.1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2003, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2003, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 2003 Regular Session of the 2003 General Assembly.

(fff) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 2003. — From and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 2003, shall be increased by one and one-half percent (1.5%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2003. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2003, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 2003 General Assembly.

(ggg) From and after July 1, 2005, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2004, shall be increased by two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2005, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2005, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2004, but before June 30, 2005, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2004, and June 30, 2005.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 7; 1945, c. 526, s. 4; 1951, c. 274, ss. 4-6; 1955, c. 1153, ss. 4-6; 1957, c. 855, ss. 1-4; 1959, c. 491, ss. 5-8; 1961, c. 515, ss. 2, 6, 7; 1965, c. 781; 1967, c. 978, ss. 3-7; 1969, c. 442, ss. 7-14; c.

898; 1971, c. 325, ss. 12-16, 19; c. 326, ss. 3-7; 1973, c. 243, ss. 3-7; c. 244, ss. 1-3; c. 816, s. 4; c. 994, ss. 2, 4; c. 1313, ss. 1, 2; 1975, c. 486, ss. 1, 2; c. 621, ss. 1, 2; 1975, 2nd Sess., c. 983, ss. 126-128; 1977, 2nd Sess., c. 1240; 1979, c. 862, ss. 2, 6, 7; c.

974, s. 1; c. 1063, s. 2; 1979, 2nd Sess., c. 1196, s. 2; cc. 1213, 1240; 1981, c. 672, s. 2; c. 689, s. 1; c. 940, s. 1; c. 975, s. 2; c. 978, ss. 3, 4; c. 980, ss. 1, 2; c. 981, ss. 1, 2; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1284, ss. 1, 2; 1983, c. 467; c. 761, ss. 226, 227; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1019, s. 1; c. 1044; c. 1049, ss. 1-3; c. 1086; 1985, c. 138; c. 348, s. 2; c. 479, s. 196(i)-(n); c. 520, s. 2; c. 649, ss. 8, 10; c. 751, ss. 1-4, 6; c. 791, s. 56; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1014, s. 49(d); 1987, c. 181, s. 1; c. 513, s. 1; c. 738, ss. 27(c), 37(b); c. 824, s. 2; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1061, s. 2; c. 1086, s. 22(c); c. 1108, s. 3; c. 1110, ss. 4-7; 1989, c. 717, ss. 13, 13.1; c. 731, s. 2; c. 752, s. 41(c); c. 792, ss. 3.4-3.6; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1077, ss. 13-16; c. 1080; 1991, c. 636, s. 20(a); 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 766, s. 1; c. 900, ss. 52(e)-(g), 53(a); c. 929, s. 1; c. 1030, s. 51.1; 1993, c. 321, ss. 74(b), 74.1(c), (d); c. 531, s. 3; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, ss. 7.30(b)-(d), (l); 1995, c. 507, ss. 7.22(e), (f), 7.23(c), (d), 7.23A(c); 1996, 2nd Ex. Sess., c. 18, s. 28.21(d); 1997-443, s. 33.22(g)-(j); 1998-153, s. 1998-212, 21(d)-(h);SS. 28.26(b), 28.27(e), (f); 1999-237, s. 28.23(d); 2000-67, ss. 26.20(g)-(j); 2001-424, ss. 32.22(d), 32.23(a)-(d); 2001-435, s. 1; 2002-126, ss. 28.8(b), 28.9(e)-(h); 2003-319, ss. 1-4; 2003-359, ss. 15, 16, 21; 2004-136, s. 1; 2004-147, ss. 2, 3; 2005-91, ss. 9, 10; 2005-276, s. 29.25(d); 2007-384, ss. 10.1, 10.2; 2007-431, ss. 2, 6; 2007-496, s. 2; 2009-66, ss. 3(i)-(k), 5(d)-(f), 6(b), 11(h)-(j), 12(g), (h); 2009-109, s. 2; 2010-72, ss. 1(b), 2(b), 9(b), 10(b); 2010-96, s. 40.7; 2010-124, ss. 4-6, 6.1(a), (b); 2011-92, s. 2; 2011-294, s. 3(b); 2011-371, s. 1; 2012-82, s. 1; 2012-178, s. 2; 2014-88, ss. 1(b), 2(b); 2014-97, ss. 3(b), 4(g), 5(b); 2014-112, ss. 1(b), 3(e), 3(f), 7; 2015-164, s. 10(b); 2016-56, ss. 4(b), 5(b); 2017-129, ss. 1(c), 2(r), 2(s), 3(d), 3(e); 2018-22, ss. 2(b), 3(e)-(h); 2018-85, ss. 2, 3(b), 11(b); 2018-145, s. 9(c), (d); 2020-48, s. 1.2(b); 2021-72, s. 3.1(b); 2021-75, s. 7.1(a); 2021-178, s. 3(a); 2022-14, ss. 1.3, 1.4; 2022-16, ss. 2.3, 4.2; 2023-89, ss. 2.3, 2.5; 2023-105, ss. 1.2, 5.2, 7.2; 2024-9, ss. 1(b), (g), 3(b); 2024-10, s. 18(b).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-22, s. 4, provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the changes to the special retirement allowance, as well as the change in creditable service required for law enforcement officers to retire with a reduced benefit, as provided for in Sections 2 and 3 of this act, the Retirement Systems

Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of these changes directly from the retirement assets."

The designation of subsection (aaa) is as directed by the Revisor of Statutes, the designation in Session Laws 2001-424, s. 32.23(d), having been (zz).

Session Laws 2014-112, s. 6(b), effective October 1, 2014, added a subsection (u) to this section. It was recodified as subsection (u) of G.S. 128-28 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(e), made the amendment of subsection (m3) of this section by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(b), effective January 1, 2021, and applicable to members on or after that date, and further provides: "If a member attains age 70 and one half years of age on or before December 31, 2019, then the statute that is in effect on the day the member attains age 70 and one half years of age will be applicable to that member."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

The bracketed text "[The following provisions apply:]" was added at the end of the introductory language of subsection (e) at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(d), made subsection (a4) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(b), effective January 1, 2025, and applicable to members in receipt of severance pay that begins on or after that date and to members entitled to receive a lump sum payment based on a certain period of time that begins on or after that date.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 18(e), effective June 20, 2024, provides: "The Revisor of Statutes shall replace the reference to "G.S. 135-56.2" with "G.S. 135-70.1" in G.S. 128-27(f) and G.S. 135-5(f)."

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(b), in subsection (m3), in the first and second paragraphs, substituted "G.S. 128-27(a) or G.S. 128-27(a1)" for "G.S. 128-27(b21)" and substituted "72 years" for "70 and

one-half years" in the first sentence, and deleted the last two sentences in the first paragraph, which read: "For purposes of this subsection, a member shall not be considered to have ceased to be an employee if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System. A lump-sum refund shall not be paid under this subsecmember if the isactively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System.", in the second paragraph, substituted "this section" for "G.S. 128-27(b21)" in the last sentence, and inserted "or lump-sum refund" in the second sentence of the third paragraph; and made minor stylistic changes. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.1(b), effective July 1, 2022, rewrote subdivision (a3)(4) and the last paragraph of subsection (a3).

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 7.1(a), effective July 1, 2021, rewrote subdivision (m2)(1).

Session Laws 2021-178, s. 3(a), effective November 10, 2021, added subsection (k1).

Session Laws 2022-14, ss. 1.3, 1.4, effective July 1, 2022, added the last two sentences in subsections (m1), and (m2).

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 2.3, effective July 1, 2022, substituted "subsections (d) through (d4) of this section" for "G.S. 128-27(d), (d1), (d2) and (d3)" in subdivision (e)(4); and substituted "September 1" for "July 1" in the first sentence of subsection (k1).

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 4.2, effective July 1, 2022, deleted "qualified under section 501(c)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended," in clause (ii) of the fourth paragraph of subsection (l).

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 2.3, effective January 1, 2024, made a minor stylistic change in the second sentence of subdivision (e)(6).

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 2.5, effective January 1, 2024, in subdivision (l)(2), substituted "When the employee" for "When employment" at the beginning of sub-subdivisions (l)(2)a. and (l)(2)b.,

and substituted "When the member's service" for "When a participant's employment" at the beginning of sub-subdivision ( l)(2)c.

Session Laws 2023-105, ss. 1.2, 5.2, and 7.2, effective January 1, 2024, in subsection (g), in the first paragraph, substituted "due and the first payment date has occurred" for "due, or the member's first retirement check has been cashed" or similar language throughout and rewrote the last sentence, and, in the next-to-last paragraph, substituted "when the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first benefit payment has occurred" for "the cashing of the first benefit check"; in subsection (g1), added the second sentence in the third paragraph, and substituted "legal representative" for "estate" at the end of the last paragraph; and, in subsection (16), substituted "if not survived by a designated beneficiary" for "if the member has not designated a beneficiary, to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or, if not survived by a designated beneficiary or spouse" in the first sentence of the first paragraph and in the second sentence of the second paragraph.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(b), added subsection (a4). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, ss. 1(b), (g), 3(b), effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (e), rewrote the introductory language, and rewrote subdivision (e)(4); in subsection (l1), inserted "of this section" near the beginning, substituted "Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division" for "Director of the Retirement System" near the middle, and inserted "Group Life Insurance" near the end; and, in subsection (m3), substituted "the applicable age under section 401(a) (9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code" for "72 years of age" in the first and second paragraphs, and substituted "under this Chapter by the required beginning date" for "as set forth under Chapter 135 of the General Statutes by such required beginning date" in the second paragraph.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 18(b), effective June 20, 2024, substituted "G.S. 128-26(a1), G.S. 128-26(j1), or G.S. 128-26.5" for "G.S. 128-26(a1) or G.S. 128-26(j1)" in subdivision (a3)(1).

### CASE NOTES

The relationship between public employees and the retirement sys-

tem is one of contract. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Right of Employee to Rely on Retirement Plan. — A public employee has a right to expect that the retirement rights bargained for in exchange for his loyalty and continued services, continually promised him over many years, will not be removed or diminished. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Plaintiffs, as members of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, had a contractual right to rely on the terms of the retirement plan as these terms existed at the moment their retirement rights became vested. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Where plaintiff had attained more than five years of creditable service before his injury, and before the date he submitted his application for disability retirement, he had contractual rights in pension fund. Hogan v. City of Winston-Salem, 121 N.C. App. 414, 466 S.E.2d 303, 1996 N.C. App. LEXIS 74, aff'd, 344 N.C. 728, 477 S.E.2d 150, 1996 N.C. LEXIS 514 (1996).

Impairment of Rights by 1981 Amendment. — Rights arising under this Article were impaired inasmuch as plaintiff employees stood to suffer significant reductions in their retirement allowances as a result of the 1981 legislative amendment of this section adding subsection (d4), and where challenge thereto had been resolved below by grant of summary judgment in defendants' favor, but defendants' affidavit failed to demonstrate or reflect that the changes in question were reasonable and necessary to serve an important state interest, the case would be remanded for further proceedings. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Decedent terminated her employment within the meaning and intent of subsection (l) on the date that she went on disability retirement. Walker v. Board of

Trustees, 348 N.C. 63, 499 S.E.2d 429, 1998 N.C. LEXIS 156 (1998).

Where over 180 days expired between the last day decedent actually worked and the date she died, her spouse was not entitled to a death benefit under subsection (*l*). Walker v. Board of Trustees, 348 N.C. 63, 499 S.E.2d 429, 1998 N.C. LEXIS 156 (1998).

Disability Benefits Classified as Separate Property. — The amount of plaintiff's "disability retirement benefits" attributable to his physical disability was plaintiff's separate property, under G.S. 50-20. Johnson v. Johnson, 117 N.C. App. 410, 450 S.E. 2d 923, 1994 N.C. App. LEXIS 1266 (1994).

The statute of limitations in subsection (i) applied and allowed plaintiffs to pursue claims for underpayment of disability retirement benefits for three years before they commenced actions. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Emps. Retirement Sys., 345 N.C. 683, 483 S.E.2d 422, 1997 N.C. LEXIS 188 (1997).

Part-Time Status Did Not Equate to Retirement. — An employee of a local government employer who went to a part-time status did not "retire" when she changed jobs and lessened her hours and was not eligible to receive disability retirement benefits under G.S. 128-27. Wallace v. Bd. of Trs., Local Gov't Emples. Ret. Sys., 145 N.C. App. 264, 550 S.E.2d 552, 2001 N.C. App. LEXIS 650 (2001).

Last Day of Service. — When decedent retired on disability, she was not terminated within the meaning of the death benefit statute; therefore, the last day of the decedent's actual service was the date on which her sick and annual leave expired. Walker v. Board of Trustees, 127 N.C. App. 156, 487 S.E.2d 839, 1997 N.C. App. LEXIS 764 (1997), aff'd, 348 N.C. 63, 499 S.E.2d 429, 1998 N.C. LEXIS 156 (1998).

Spouse Not Entitled to Death Benefit. — Where decedent died more than 180 days after she last earned a salary surviving spouse was not entitled to the death benefit. Walker v. Board of Trustees, 127 N.C. App. 156, 487 S.E.2d 839, 1997 N.C. App. LEXIS 764 (1997), aff'd, 348 N.C. 63, 499 S.E.2d 429, 1998 N.C. LEXIS 156 (1998).

Beneficiary of Government Employee Who Died After Retirement Was Not Entitled to Survivor's Alternate Benefit. — The Supreme Court of North Carolina, in a per curiam opinion, reversed the decision of the Court of Appeals in Grooms v Dep't of State Trea-

surer, 144 N.C. App. 160, 550 S.E.2d 204 (2001), which held that the beneficiary of a county employee who died within 180 days of retirement was entitled to select the survivor's alternate benefit set forth in G.S. 128-27(m). In reversing, the Supreme Court noted its agreement with the reasoning of the dissenting opinion below, holding that the General Assembly did not intend for the alternate benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(m) to apply to the beneficiary of a government employee whose death occurred after his retirement. Grooms v. State Dep't of Treasurer, Ret. Sys. Div., 354 N.C. 562, 556 S.E.2d 293, 2001 N.C. LEXIS 1223 (2001).

Reemployment By Local Government. — Retired city police officer lost his right to receive a separation allowance pursuant to G.S. 143-166.42 when he became reemployed by a county sheriffs office, which was a local government

as defined by G.S. 143-166.41. Campbell v. City of Laurinburg, 168 N.C. App. 566, 608 S.E.2d 98, 2005 N.C. App. LEXIS 335 (2005).

Credit Denied to a Self-Insured City for Disability Retirement Payments. - North Carolina Industrial Commission's decision to deny a city credit for disability retirement payments that were made to an injured city employee from a public employee benefits program was not an abuse of discretion under G.S. 97-42 because the city and the employee jointly contributed to the plan, and competent evidence, in the form of testimony as to the funding of the disability benefits plan, existed to support the Commission's findings of fact and conclusions of law. Cox v. City of Winston-Salem, 171 N.C. App. 112, 613 S.E.2d 746, 2005 N.C. App. LEXIS 1161

## § 128-27. (Effective January 1, 2025) Benefits.

# (a) Service Retirement Benefits. —

- (1) Any member may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired: Provided, that the said member at the time so specified for his retirement shall have attained the age of 60 years and have at least five years of creditable service or shall have completed 30 years of creditable service, or if a firefighter or rescue squad worker, he shall have attained the age of 55 years and have at least five years of creditable service.
- (2) Repealed by Session Laws 1983 (Regular Session, 1984), c. 1019, s. 1.
- (3) Repealed by Session Laws 1971, c. 325, s. 12.
- (4) Any member who was in service October 8, 1981, who had attained 60 years of age, may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired.
- (5) Any member who is a law enforcement officer and who (i) attains age 50 and completes 15 or more years of creditable service in this capacity, or (ii) attains age 55 and completes five or more years of creditable service in this capacity, or (iii) who has completed 25 years of creditable service with a minimum of 15 years of creditable service in a law enforce-

ment capacity may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, the member desires to be retired; provided, also, any member who has met the conditions required by this subdivision but does not retire, and later becomes an employee other than as a law enforcement officer, continues to have the right to commence retirement.

- (a1) **Early Service Retirement Benefits.** Any member may retire and receive a reduced retirement allowance upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired: Provided, that the said member at the time so specified for his retirement shall have attained the age of 50 years and have at least 20 years of creditable service.
- (a2) Discontinued Service Retirement Allowance. A member whose employment with a participating employer is involuntarily terminated as a result of a termination event as defined in this subsection may be allowed a discontinued service retirement allowance, provided that the discontinued service retirement allowance is approved by the terminated member's participating employer, and provided that reemployment with that participating employer is not available to the member at the time of the termination event. For purposes of this section, "termination event" means termination of employment as a result of (i) the participating employer's cessation of operations; (ii) the participating employer's dissolution; (iii) the merger of a participating employer with and into an unrelated entity, other than another participating employer; (iv) the acquisition of the participating employer by an unrelated entity, other than another participating employer; or (v) the determination by the participating employer that a reduction in force will accomplish economies in the participating employer's budget resulting from either the elimination of a job and its responsibilities or from lack of funds to support the job. Final action approving the discontinued service retirement allowance for a terminated member by the member's participating employer shall be taken in an open meeting.

Upon the occurrence of a termination event, and subject to the provisions of this subsection, an unreduced discontinued service retirement allowance, not otherwise allowed under this Chapter, may be approved for terminated members with 20 or more years of creditable service who are at least 55 years of age. Alternatively, upon the occurrence of a termination event, a discontinued service retirement allowance, not otherwise allowed under this Chapter,

may be approved for terminated members with 20 or more years of creditable service who are at least 50 years of age, reduced by one-fourth of one percent (1/4 of 1%) for each month that retirement precedes the member's fifty-fifth birthday.

In cases in which a discontinued service retirement allowance is approved, the terminated member's employer shall be responsible for making a lump-sum payment to the Retirement System's Board of Trustees equal to the actuarial present value of the additional liabilities imposed upon the Retirement System, to be determined by the Retirement System's consulting actuary, as a result of the discontinued service retirement allowance, plus an administrative fee to be determined by the Board of Trustees. An employer shall not discriminate against any member or group of members employed by the employer in the approval or disapproval of a discontinued service retirement allowance.

(a3) Anti-Pension-Spiking Contribution-Based Benefit Cap. — Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, every service retirement allowance provided under this section for members who retire on or after January 1, 2015, is subject to adjustment pursuant to a contribution-based benefit cap under this subsection. The Board of Trustees shall adopt a contribution-based benefit cap factor recommended by the actuary, based upon actual experience, such that no more than three-quarters of one percent (0.75%) of retirement allowances are expected to be capped. The Board of Trustees shall modify such factors every five years, as shall be deemed necessary, based upon the five-year experience study as required by G.S. 128-28(o).

Prior to establishing a service retirement allowance under this section, the Board shall:

- (1) Determine an amount equal to the member's accumulated contributions as required under G.S. 128-30(b)(1) for all years during which the member earned membership service, other than service earned through armed service credit under G.S. 128-26(a1), G.S. 128-26(j1), or G.S. 128-26.5, used in the calculation of the retirement allowance that the member would receive under this section.
- (2) Determine the amount of a single life annuity that is the actuarial equivalent of the amount determined under subdivision (1) of this subsection, adjusted for the age of the member at the time of retirement or, when appropriate, the age at the time of the member's death.
- (3) Multiply the annuity amount determined under subdivision (2) of this subsection by the contribution-based benefit cap factor.
- (4) Determine the amount of the retirement allowance that results from the member's membership service, to which the member would be entitled but for the adjustment under

this subsection. This amount shall be calculated in the same manner as the member's service retirement allowance, with the following exceptions: The applicable percentage of the member's average final compensation shall be multiplied by the number of years of membership service, rather than the number of years of creditable service; the amount shall include the effect of any percentage reduction that applies to the member's service retirement allowance by virtue of the member's age or amount of creditable service as of the service retirement date; and the amount shall not be adjusted for an optional allowance elected under subsection (g) of this section.

The product of the multiplication in subdivision (3) of this subsection is the member's contribution-based benefit cap. If the amount determined under subdivision (4) of this subsection exceeds the member's contribution-based benefit cap, the member's retirement allowance shall be reduced by an amount equal to the difference between the contribution-based benefit cap and the amount determined under subdivision (4) of this subsection.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the retirement allowance of a member with an average final compensation of less than one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, shall not be subject to the contribution-based benefit cap. The minimum average final compensation necessary for a retirement allowance to be subject to the contribution-based benefit cap shall be increased on January 1 each year by the percent change between the June Consumer Price Index in the year prior to retirement and the June Consumer Price Index in the fiscal year most recently ended, calculated to the nearest tenth of a percent (0.1%), provided that this percent change is positive.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the retirement allowance of a member who became a member before January 1, 2015, or who has not earned at least five years of membership service in the Retirement System after January 1, 2015, shall not be reduced; however, the member's last employer, or if the member's last employer did not report to the retirement system any compensation paid to the member during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation, the member's employer or employers who reported compensation to the member during such period, shall be required to make an additional contribution as specified in G.S. 128-30(g)(2)b., if applicable.

(a4) **Effect of Severance Pay.** — Notwithstanding any provision of this section to the contrary, a member in receipt of severance pay from an employer is not eligible to receive a retirement allowance under this Article while in receipt of that severance pay. If a member is entitled to receive a lump sum severance payment based on a certain period of time, such as a number of weeks or

months, then the member is not eligible to receive a retirement allowance under this Article for any month, beginning immediately after the member's separation from service to that employer, that includes the time period used to determine the lump sum severance payment.

- (b) Service Retirement Allowance of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1, 1965. Upon retirement from service on or after July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1, 1965, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) An annuity which shall be the actuarial equivalent of his accumulated contributions at the time of his retirement; and
  - (2) A pension equal to the annuity allowable at the age of 65 years or at his retirement age, whichever is the earlier, on the basis of contributions made prior to such earlier age; and
  - (3) If he has a prior service certificate in full force and effect, an additional pension which shall be equal to the annuity which would have been provided at the age of 65 years, or at the earlier age of retirement if prior thereto, by twice the contributions which he would have made during such period of service had the System been in operation and he contributed thereunder at the rate of
    - a. Six and twenty-five hundredths percent (6.25%) of his compensation if such certificate is a Class A certificate, or
    - b. Five percent (5%) of his compensation if such certificate is a Class B certificate, or
    - c. Four percent (4%) of his compensation if such certificate is a Class C certificate.
- (b1) Service Retirement Allowances of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1967. Upon retirement from service on or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1967, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, such allowance shall be equal to the sum of (i) one percent (1%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of forty-eight hundred dollars (\$4,800), plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of forty-eight hundred dollars (\$4,800) multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered prior to January 1, 1966, and (ii) one percent (1%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of forty-eight hundred dollars (\$4,800), plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion

- of such compensation in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered after January 1, 1966.
- (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixtieth birthday but before his sixty-fifth birthday, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above but shall be reduced by five twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
- (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b2) Service Retirement Allowances of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1967, but prior to July 1, 1969. Upon retirement from service on or after July 1, 1967, but prior to July 1, 1969, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-quarter percent (1¼%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of five thousand six hundred dollars (\$5,600) plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of five thousand six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-fifth birthday, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
  - (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provision, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).

- (b3) Service Retirement Allowances of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1973. Upon retirement from service on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1973, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or on or after his sixty-second birthday and the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-quarter percent (1½%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600) plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
  - (3a) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-second birthday but on or after his sixtieth birthday and on or after completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-second birthday.
  - (3b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday but on or after completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (3a) above.
  - (4) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b4) Service Retirement Allowances of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1973, but prior to July 1, 1976. Upon

retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1973, but prior to July 1, 1976, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:

- (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-quarter percent (11/4%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600) plus one and one-half percent (11/2%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service
- (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixtieth birthday but before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
- (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b5) Service Retirement Allowances of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1976, but prior to July 1, 1978. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1976, but prior to July 1, 1978, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-half percent (1½%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixtieth birthday but before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of service, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (1/4)

- of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
- (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b6) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1978, but prior to July 1, 1983. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1978, but prior to July 1, 1983, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-five one-hundredths percent (1.55%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs after his sixtieth and before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
  - (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b7) Service Retirement Allowances of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1983, but prior to July 1, 1985. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1983, but prior to July 1, 1985, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:

- (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-seven one-hundredths percent (1.57%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
- (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs after his sixtieth and before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
- (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefits provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b8) Service Retirement Allowance of Law Enforcement Officers Retiring on or after January 1, 1986, but before July 1, 1988. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after January 1, 1986, but before July 1, 1988, a member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-eight one hundredths percent (1.58%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2) If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 50th and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to his completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 55th birthday.

- (b9) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1985, but before July 1, 1988. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1985, but before July 1, 1988, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-eight one hundredths percent (1.58%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2) Such allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a), (2b), and (3).
- (b10) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1988, but before July 1, 1989. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1988, but before July 1, 1989, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty hundredths percent (1.60%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. Such allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b8)(2).
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-hundredths percent (1.60%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. Such allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a), (2b) and (3).
- (b11) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1989, but before July 1, 1990. Upon

retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1989, but before July 1, 1990, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:

- (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-three hundredths percent (1.63%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b8)(2).
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-three hundredths percent (1.63%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a) and (3).
- (b12) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1990, but before July 1, 1992. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1990, but before July 1, 1992, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-four hundredths percent (1.64%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b8)(2).

- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-four hundredths percent (1.64%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a) and (3).
- (b13) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1994. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1994, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy hundredths percent (1.70%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b8)(2).
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy hundredths percent (1.70%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a), (2b), and (3).
- (b14) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1994, but before July 1, 1995. Upon

retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1994, but before July 1, 1995, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:

- (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-one hundredths percent (1.71%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b8)(2).
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-one hundredths percent (1.71%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 128-27(b7)(2a), (2b), and (3).
- (b15) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1995 but before July 1, 1997. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1995, but before July 1, 1997, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-two hundredths percent (1.72%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday

with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:

- 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b15)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or
- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b15)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-two hundredths percent (1.72%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b15)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b15)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would

- have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b15)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
- 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b15)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b16) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or after July 1, 1997, but before July 1, 1998. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1997, but before July 1, 1998, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-six hundredths percent (1.76%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b16)(1)a., reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or

- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b16)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-six hundredths percent (1.76%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b16)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b16)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b16)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
    - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance

- equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b16)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b17) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 1998, but before July 1, 2000. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1998, but before July 1, 2000, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-seven hundredths percent (1.77%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b17)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or
      - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b17)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th

- birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-seven hundredths percent (1.77%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
- b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b17)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
- c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b17)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b17)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
  - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b17)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b18) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 2000, but Before July 1, 2001. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 2000, but before July 1, 2001, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:

- (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-eight hundredths percent (1.78%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b18)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day;
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b18)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-eight hundredths percent (1.78%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b18)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.

- c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b18)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b18)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
  - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b18)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b19) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 2001, But Before July 1, 2002. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 2001, but before July 1, 2002, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-one hundredths percent (1.81%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday

with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:

- 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b19)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day:
- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b19)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-one hundredths percent (1.81%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b19)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b19)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would

- have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b19)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
- 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b19)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b20) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 2002, but Before July 1, 2003. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 2002, but before July 1, 2003, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-two hundredths percent (1.82%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b20)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day;

- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b20)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-two hundredths percent (1.82%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b20)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b20)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b20)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
    - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance

- equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b20)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b21) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 2003, but Before July 1, 2019. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 2003, but before July 1, 2019, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-five hundredths percent (1.85%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b21)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day;
      - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b21)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th

- birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-five hundredths percent (1.85%) of average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
- b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b21)(2) a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
- c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b21)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b21)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
  - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b21)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (b22) Service Retirement Allowance of Member Retiring on or After July 1, 2019. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) of this section, on or after July 1, 2019, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:

- (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-five hundredths percent (1.85%) of the member's average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of the member's creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs prior to the member's 50th birthday and after the completion of 25 years of creditable service with a minimum of 15 years of creditable service in a law enforcement capacity but before the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of the following amounts:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the member's retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained age 55.
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and the member's creditable service at retirement plus four percent (4%) times the difference between 50 and the member's age at retirement.
  - c. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 50th birthday and before the member's 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of the following amounts:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained age 55.
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and the amount of creditable service at retirement.

- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, or on or after the member's 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-five hundredths percent (1.85%) of the member's average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after the member's 60th birthday and before the member's 65th birthday and prior to the completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, the retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 128-27(b22)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which the retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the member's 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 50th birthday and before the member's 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of the following amounts:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b22)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained the member's 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the member's 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the member's 65th birthday.
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 128-27(b22)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and the amount of creditable service at retirement.
    - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1995, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 128-27(b22)(2)b.

- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(b).
- (c) **Disability Retirement Benefits.** Upon the application of a member or of his employer, any member who has had five or more years of creditable service may be retired by the Board of Trustees, on the first day of any calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days next following the date of filing such application, on a disability retirement allowance: Provided, that the medical board, after a medical examination of such member, shall certify that such member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity was incurred at the time of active employment and has been continuous thereafter, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that such member should be retired; Provided further the medical board shall determine if the member is able to engage in gainful employment and, if so, the member may still be retired and the disability retirement allowance as a result thereof shall be reduced as in subsection (e) below. Provided further, that the Medical Board shall not certify any member as disabled who:
  - (1) Applies for disability retirement based upon a mental or physical incapacity which existed when the member first established membership in the system; or
  - (2) Is in receipt of any payments on account of the same disability which existed when the member first established membership in the system.

The Board of Trustees shall require each employee upon enrolling in the retirement system to provide information on the membership application concerning any mental or physical incapacities existing at the time the member enrolls.

Notwithstanding the requirement of five or more years of creditable service to the contrary, a member who is a law enforcement officer, an eligible firefighter as defined in G.S. 58-86-2, or an eligible rescue squad worker as defined in G.S. 58-86-2, and becomes incapacitated for duty as the natural and proximate result of injuries incurred while in the actual performance of his or her duties, and meets all other requirements for disability retirement benefits, may be retired by the Board of Trustees on a disability retirement allowance.

Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary, any beneficiary who commenced retirement with an early or service retirement benefit has the right, within three years of his retirement, to convert to an allowance with disability retirement benefits without modification of any election of optional allowance previously made; provided, the beneficiary would have met all applicable requirements for disability retirement benefits while still in service as a member.

The allowance on account of disability retirement benefits to the beneficiary shall be retroactive to the effective date of early or service retirement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective April 1, 1991, the surviving designated beneficiary of a deceased member who met all other requirements for disability retirement benefits, except whose death occurred before the first day of the calendar month in which the member's disability retirement allowance was to be due and payable, may elect to receive the reduced retirement allowance provided by a one hundred percent (100%) joint and survivor payment option in lieu of a return of accumulated contributions, provided the following conditions apply:

- (1) At the time of the member's death, one and only one beneficiary is eligible to receive a return of accumulated contributions, and
- (2) The member had not instructed the Board of Trustees in writing that he did not wish the provision of this subsection to apply.
- (d) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring prior to July 1, 1965. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) above, prior to July 1, 1965, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 60 years, otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) An annuity which shall be the actuarial equivalent of his accumulated contributions at the time of the retirement;
  - (2) A pension equal to seventy-five percent (75%) of the pension that would have been payable upon service retirement at the age of 65 years had the member continued in service to the age of 65 years without further change in compensation.

Supplemental disability benefits heretofore provided are hereby made a permanent part of disability benefits after age 65, and shall not be discontinued at age 65.

- (d1) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1969. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) above, on or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1969, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 60 years, otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall be computed as follows:
  - (1) Such allowance shall be equal to the service retirement allowance which would have been payable had he continued in service without further change in compensation, to the age of 60 years, minus the actuarial equivalent of the contributions he would have made during such continued service.

- (2) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(d).
- (d2) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1971. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) above, on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1971, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 60 years, otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall be computed as follows:
  - (1) Such allowance shall be equal to the service retirement allowance which would have been payable had he continued in service without further change in compensation to the age of 65 years, minus the actuarial equivalent of the contributions he would have made during such continued service.
  - (2) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1965, and uniformed policemen or firemen not covered under the Social Security Act employed thereafter, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(d).
- (d3) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1971, but prior to July 1, 1982. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section on or after July 1, 1971, but prior to July 1, 1982, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 65 years; otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall be computed as follows:
  - (1) Such allowance shall be equal to a service retirement allowance calculated on the basis of the member's average final compensation prior to his disability retirement and the creditable service he would have had at the age of 65 years if he had continued in service.
  - (2) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions,
    - a. Any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1971, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(d2);
    - b. The amount of disability allowance payable from the reserve funds of the Retirement System to any member retiring on or after July 1, 1974, who is eligible for and in receipt of a disability benefit under the Social Security Act shall be seventy percent (70%) of the amount calculated under a above, and the balance shall be provided by the employer from time to time during each year in such amounts as may be required to cover such payments as current disbursements; and

- c. The amount of disability allowance payable to any member retiring on or after July 1, 1974, who is not eligible for and in receipt of a disability benefit under the Social Security Act shall not be payable from the reserve funds of the Retirement System but shall be provided by the employer from time to time during each year in such amounts as may be required to cover such payments as current disbursements.
- (d4) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1982. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section on or after July 1, 1982, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance; otherwise the allowance shall be equal to a service retirement allowance calculated on the member's average final compensation prior to his disability retirement and the creditable service he would have had had he continued in service until the earliest date on which he would have qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance.
- (e) Reexamination of Beneficiaries Retired on Account of Disability. Once each year during the first five years following retirement of a member on a disability allowance, and once in every three-year period thereafter, the Board of Trustees may, and upon the member's application shall, require any disability beneficiary who has not yet attained the age of 60 years to undergo a medical examination performed at the place of residence of that beneficiary, or other place mutually agreed upon, by the physician or physicians designated by the Board of Trustees. Should any disability beneficiary who has not yet attained the age of 60 years refuse to submit to at least one medical examination in any year required by this subsection, the beneficiary's allowance may be discontinued until withdrawal of the refusal. If the refusal continues for one year, all the beneficiary's rights in and to the beneficiary's pension may be revoked by the Board of Trustees. The following provisions apply:
  - (1) The Board of Trustees shall determine whether a disability beneficiary is engaged in or is able to engage in a gainful occupation paying more than the difference, as hereinafter indexed, between his disability retirement allowance and the gross compensation earned as an employee during the 12 consecutive months in the final 48 months of service prior to retirement producing the highest gross compensation excluding any compensation received on account of termination. If the disability beneficiary is earning or is able to earn more than the difference, the portion of his disability retirement allowance not provided by his contributions shall be reduced to an amount which, together with the portion of the disability retirement allowance provided by his contributions and the amount earnable by him shall

equal the amount of his gross compensation prior to retirement. This difference shall be increased on January 1 each year by the percentage change between the December Consumer Price Index in the year prior to retirement and the December Consumer Price Index in the year most recently ended, calculated to the nearest tenth of a percent (1/10 of 1%), provided that this percentage change is positive. Should the earning capacity of the disability beneficiary later change, the portion of his disability retirement allowance not provided by his contributions may be further modified. In lieu of the reductions on account of a disability beneficiary earning more than the aforesaid difference, he may elect to convert his disability retirement allowance to a service retirement allowance calculated on the basis of his average final compensation and creditable service at the time of disability retirement and his age at the time of conversion to service retirement. This election is irrevo-

The provisions of this subdivision shall not apply to beneficiaries of the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System transferred to this Retirement System who commenced retirement on and before July 1, 1981.

- (2) Should a disability beneficiary under the age of 62 years be restored to active service at a compensation not less than his average final compensation, his retirement allowance shall cease, he shall again become a member of the Retirement System and he shall contribute thereafter at the contribution rate which is applicable during his subsequent membership service. Any prior service certificate on the basis of which his service was computed at the time of his retirement shall be restored to full force and effect, and in addition, upon his subsequent retirement he shall be credited with all his service as a member, but should he be restored to active service on or after the attainment of the age of 50 years his pension upon subsequent retirement shall not exceed the sum of the pension which he was receiving immediately prior to his last restoration after June 30, 1951, and the pension that he would have received on account of his service since such last restoration had he entered service at that time as a new entrant.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a member retired on a disability retirement allowance who is restored to service and subsequently retires on or after July 1, 1971, shall be entitled to an allowance not less than the allowance prescribed in a below reduced by the amount in b below.
  - a. The allowance to which he would have been entitled if he were retiring for the first time, calculated on the basis

of his total creditable service represented by the sum of his creditable service at the time of his first retirement and his creditable service after he was restored to service.

- b. The actuarial equivalent of the retirement benefits he previously received.
- (3a) Notwithstanding the foregoing, should a beneficiary who retired on a disability retirement allowance be restored to service as an employee, then the retirement allowance shall cease as of the first day of the month following the month in which the beneficiary is restored to service and the beneficiary shall become a member of the Retirement System and shall contribute thereafter as allowed by law at the uniform contribution payable by all members. Upon the subsequent retirement of the beneficiary, he shall be entitled to an allowance to which he would have been entitled if he were retiring for the first time, calculated on the basis of his total creditable service represented by the sum of his creditable service at the time of his first retirement and his creditable service after he was restored to service. Provided, however, any election of an optional allowance cannot be changed unless the member subsequently completes three years of membership service after being restored to service.
- (4) As a condition to the receipt of the disability retirement allowance provided for in subsections (d) through (d4) of this section each member retired on a disability retirement allowance shall, on or before April 15 of each calendar year, provide the Board of Trustees with a statement of the member's income received as compensation for services, including fees, commissions or similar items, and income received from business, for the previous calendar year. This statement shall be filed on a form as required by the Board of Trustees. The benefit payable to a beneficiary who does not or refuses to provide the information requested within 120 days after such request shall not be paid a benefit until the information requested is provided. If the refusal or failure to provide the required information continues for 180 days after the request, then the right of a beneficiary to a benefit under the Article may be terminated.

The Director of the State Retirement Systems shall contact any State or federal agency which can provide information to substantiate the statement required to be submitted by this subdivision and may enter into agreements for the exchange of information.

(5) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Article to the contrary, a beneficiary who was a beneficiary retired on a disability retirement with the Law Enforcement Officers'

Retirement System at the time of the transfer of law enforcement officers employed by a participating employer and beneficiaries last employed by a participating employer to this Retirement System and who also was a contributing member of this Retirement System at that time, shall continue to be paid his retirement allowance without restriction and may continue as a member of this Retirement System with all the rights and privileges appendant to membership. Any beneficiary who retired on a disability retirement allowance as an employee of any participating employer under the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System and becomes employed as an employee other than as a law enforcement officer by an employer participating in the Retirement System after the aforementioned transfer shall continue to be paid his retirement allowance without restriction and may continue as a member of this Retirement System with all the rights and privileges appendant to membership until January 1, 1989, at which time his retirement allowance shall cease and his subsequent retirement shall be determined in accordance with the preceding subdivision (3a) of this section. Any beneficiary as hereinbefore described who becomes employed as a law enforcement officer by an employer participating in the Retirement System shall cease to be a beneficiary and shall immediately commence membership and his subsequent retirement shall be determined in accordance with subdivision (3a) of this section.

- (6) Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, a beneficiary in receipt of a disability retirement allowance until the earliest date on which he would have qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance shall thereafter (i) not be subject to further reexaminations as to disability, (ii) not be subject to any reduction in allowance on account of being engaged in a gainful occupation other than with an employer participating in the Retirement System, and (iii) be considered a beneficiary in receipt of a service retirement allowance. Provided, however, a beneficiary in receipt of a disability retirement allowance whose allowance is reduced on account of reexamination as to disability or the ability to engage in a gainful occupation prior to the date on which he would have qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance shall have only the right to elect to convert to an early or service retirement allowance as permitted under subdivision (1) above.
- (f) **Return of Accumulated Contributions.** Should a member cease to be an employee except by death or retirement under the provisions of this Chapter, the member shall upon submission of an

application be paid, not earlier than 60 days from the date of termination of service, the member's contributions and the accumulated regular interest thereon, provided that the member has not in the meantime returned to service. Upon payment of such sum his or her membership in the System shall cease and, if he or she thereafter again becomes a member, no credit shall be allowed for any service previously rendered except as provided in G.S. 128-26; and such payment shall be in full and complete discharge of any rights in or to any benefits otherwise payable hereunder. Upon receipt of proof satisfactory to the Board of Trustees of the death, prior to retirement, of a member or former member there shall be paid to such person or persons as the member or former member shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the member's death, otherwise to the member's legal representatives, the amount of the member's accumulated contributions at the time of the member's death, unless the beneficiary elects to receive the alternate benefit under the provisions of (m) below. An extension service employee who made contributions to the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System as a result of dual employment may not be paid his or her accumulated contributions unless the extension service employee is eligible to be paid his or her accumulated contributions in both systems for the same period of service.

Pursuant to the provisions of G.S. 135-70.1, a member who is also a member of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System may irrevocably elect to transfer any accumulated contributions to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System or to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan and forfeit any rights in or to any benefits otherwise payable hereunder.

(f1) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, upon or after retirement any member who was a uniformed fireman and any surviving beneficiary of a member who was a uniformed fireman, shall upon submission of an application, be paid the sum of accumulated contributions, with regular interest thereon, made under those provisions of G.S. 128-30(b)(1) that applied from July 1, 1965, through June 30, 1971, to the extent of the contributions required of the member that were in excess of the contributions required of other members of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System covered under the Social Security Act as was from time to time in effect; provided that, the return of contributions shall be payable only if the contributions did not increase the retirement allowance of the member or surviving beneficiary under the provisions of this Chapter.

(f2) Expired.

(g) **Election of Optional Allowance.** — With the provision that until the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred, any member may elect to receive his or her benefits in a retirement allowance payable throughout life, or the member may elect to receive the actuarial equivalent of such retirement allowance, including any special retirement allowance, in a reduced allowance payable throughout life under the provisions of one of the Options set forth below. The election of Option 2, 3, or 6 or nomination of the person thereunder shall be revoked if such person nominated dies prior to the date the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred. Such election may be revoked by the member prior to the date the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred. Provided, however, in the event a member has elected Option 2, 3, or 5 and nominated his or her spouse to receive a retirement allowance upon the member's death, and the spouse predeceases the member after the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred, if the member remarries he or she may request to nominate a new spouse to receive the retirement allowance under the previously elected option, within 90 days of the remarriage, and may nominate a new spouse to receive the retirement allowance under the previously elected option by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees within 120 days of the remarriage. The new nomination shall be effective on the first day of the month in which it is made and shall provide for a retirement allowance computed to be the actuarial equivalent of the retirement allowance in effect immediately prior to the effective date of the new nomination. Any member having elected Option 2, 3, 5, or 6 and nominated his or her spouse to receive a retirement allowance upon the member's death may, after divorce from his or her spouse, revoke the nomination and elect a new option, effective on the first day of the month in which the new option is elected, providing for a retirement allowance computed to be the actuarial equivalent of the retirement allowance in effect immediately prior to the effective date of the new option. Except as provided in this section, the member may not change the member's retirement benefit option or the member's designated beneficiary for survivor benefits, if any, after the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred.

Option one.

(a) In the Case of a Member Who Retires prior to July 1, 1965. — If he dies before he has received in annuity payments the present value of his annuity as it was at the time of his retirement, the balance shall be paid to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees or, if none, to his legal representative.

(b) In the Case of a Member Who Retires on or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1993. — If he dies within 10 years from his retirement date, an amount equal to his accumulated contributions at retirement, less one one-hundred-twentieth thereof for each month for which he has received a retirement allowance payment, shall be paid to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees or, if none, to his legal representative; or

Option two. Upon his death his reduced retirement allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees at the time of his retirement, provided that if the person selected is other than his spouse the reduced retirement allowance payable to the member shall not be less than one half of the retirement allowance without optional modification which would otherwise be payable to him; or

Option three. Upon his death, one half of his reduced retirement allowance shall be continued throughout the life of, and paid to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees at the time of his retirement; or

Option four. Adjustment of Retirement Allowance for Social Security Benefits. — Until the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due, any member may elect to convert his benefit otherwise payable on his account after retirement into a retirement allowance of equivalent actuarial value of such amount that with his benefit under Title II of the Federal Social Security Act, he will receive, so far as possible, approximately the same amount per year before and after the earliest age at which he becomes eligible, effective as of the first of the month following the month of initial entitlement, upon application therefor, to receive a social security benefit.

Option five. For Members Retiring prior to July 1, 1993. — The member may elect to receive a reduced retirement allowance under the conditions of Option two or Option three, as provided for above, with the modification that if both he and the person nominated die within 10 years from his retirement date, an amount equal to his accumulated contributions at retirement, less 1/120th thereof for each month for which a retirement allowance has been paid, shall be paid to his legal representatives or to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees.

Option six. A member may elect either Option two or Option three with the added provision that in the event the designated beneficiary predeceases the member, the retirement allowance payable to the member after the designated beneficiary's death shall be equal

to the retirement allowance which would have been payable had the member not elected the option.

Upon the death of a member after the effective date of a retirement for which the member has been approved and following receipt by the Board of Trustees of an election of benefits (Form 6-E or Form 7-E) but prior to when the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first benefit payment has occurred, the retirement benefit shall be payable as provided by the member's election of benefits under this subsection.

Upon the death of a member after the effective date of a retirement for which the member has been approved but prior to the receipt by the Board of Trustees of an election of benefits (Form 6-E or Form 7-E), properly acknowledged and filed by the member, the member's designated beneficiary for a return of accumulated contributions may elect to receive the benefit, if only one beneficiary is eligible to receive the return of accumulated contributions. If more than one beneficiary is eligible to receive the return of accumulated contributions, or if no beneficiary has been designated, the administrator or executor of the member's estate will select an option and name the beneficiary or beneficiaries.

(g1) In the event of the death of a retired member while in receipt of a retirement allowance under the provisions of this Article, there shall be paid to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the retiree's death, otherwise to the retiree's legal representatives, a death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the accumulated contributions of the retiree at the date of retirement over the total of the retirement allowances paid prior to the death of the retiree. In the event that a retiree is receiving a Special Retirement Allowance under subsection (m1) of this section, there shall be paid to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the retiree's death, otherwise to the retiree's legal representatives, an additional death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the employee voluntary contributions that were transferred from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina or the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan to this Retirement System over the total of the Special Retirement Allowances paid prior to the death of the retiree. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "accumulated contributions" excludes any amount transferred under subsection (m2) of this section.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the designated survivor of a retired member under the provisions above

and such retirement allowance to the survivor shall terminate upon the death of the survivor before the total of the retirement allowances paid to the retiree and the designated survivor combined equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the retiree at the date of retirement, the excess, if any, of such accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the retiree and the survivor combined shall be paid in a lump sum to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time such payment falls due, otherwise to the retiree's legal representative. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "accumulated contributions" includes amounts of employee voluntary contributions that were transferred from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina to this Retirement System at retirement by eligible law enforcement officers.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the principal beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions pursuant to subsection (m) of this section and that beneficiary dies before the total of the retirement allowances paid equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the member at the date of the member's death, the excess of those accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the beneficiary shall be paid in a lump sum to the person or persons the member has designated as the contingent beneficiary for return of accumulated contributions, if the person or persons are living at the time the payment falls due, otherwise to the principal beneficiary's legal representative. In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the contingent beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions pursuant to subsection (m) of this section and that beneficiary dies before the total of the retirement allowances paid equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the member at the date of the member's death, the excess of those accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the beneficiary shall be paid in a lump sum to the contingent beneficiary's legal representative. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "accumulated contributions" includes amounts of employee voluntary contributions that were transferred from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina to this Retirement System at retirement by eligible law enforcement officers.

In the event a retiree purchases creditable service as provided in G.S. 128-26, there shall be paid to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or

persons are living at the time of the retiree's death, otherwise to the retiree's legal representatives, an additional death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the cost of the creditable service purchased less the administrative fee, if any, over the total of the increase in the retirement allowance attributable to the additional creditable service, paid from the month following the month in which payment was received to the death of the retiree.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the designated survivor of a retired member under the provisions above, and such retirement allowance to the survivor shall terminate upon the death of the survivor before the total of the increase in the retirement allowance attributable to the additional creditable service paid to the retiree and the designated survivor combined equals the cost of the creditable service purchased less the administrative fee, the excess, if any, shall be paid in a lump sum to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time such payment falls due, otherwise to the retiree's legal representative.

In the event that a retiree dies without having designated a beneficiary to receive a benefit under the provisions of this subsection, any such benefit that becomes payable shall be paid to the member's legal representative.

- (h) Until June 30, 1951, all benefits payable to or on account of any beneficiary retired before such date shall be computed on the basis of the provisions of Chapter 128 as they existed at the date of establishment of the Retirement System. On and after July 1, 1951, all such benefits shall be adjusted to take into account, under such rules as the Board of Trustees may adopt, the provisions of Chapter 128 and all amendments thereto in effect on July 1, 1951, and no further contributions on account of such adjustments shall be required of such beneficiaries. The Board of Trustees may authorize such transfers of reserves between the funds of the Retirement System as may be required on account of such adjustments.
- (i) No action shall be commenced against the State or the Retirement System by any retired member or beneficiary respecting any deficiency in the payment of benefits more than three years after such deficient payment was made, and no action shall be commenced by the State or the Retirement System against any retired member or former member or beneficiary respecting any overpayment of benefits or contributions more than three years after such overpayment was made. This subsection does not affect the right of the Retirement System to recoup overpaid benefits as provided in G.S. 128-31.
- (j) Increase in Benefits to Those Persons Who Were in Receipt of Benefits prior to July 1, 1967. From and after July

1, 1967, the monthly benefits, to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits from the System prior to July 1, 1967, shall be increased by a percentage thereof. Such percentage shall be determined in accordance with the following schedule:

Period in Which Benefits Commenced	Percentage
January 1, 1966, to June 30, 1967	5%
Year 1965	6%
Year 1964	7%
Year 1963	8%
Year 1962	9%
Year 1961	10%
Year 1960	11%
Year 1959	12%
Year 1958	13%
Year 1957	14%
Year 1956	15%
Year 1955	16%
Year 1954	17%
Year 1953	18%
Year 1952	19%
Year 1951	20%
Year 1950	21%
Year 1949	22%
Year 1948	23%
Year 1947	24%
Year 1946	25%

The minimum increase pursuant to this subsection (j) shall be five dollars (\$5.00) per month; provided that, if an optional benefit has been elected, said minimum shall be reduced actuarially as determined by the Board and shall be applicable to a retired member, if surviving, otherwise to his designated beneficiary under the option elected.

(k) **Post-Retirement Increases in Allowances.** — As of December 31, 1969, the ratio of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined. If such ratio indicates an increase that equals or exceeds three per centum (3%), each beneficiary receiving a retirement allowance as of December 31, 1968, shall be entitled to have his allowance increased three per centum (3%) effective July 1, 1970.

As of December 31, 1970, the ratio of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined. If such ratio indicates an increase of at least one per centum (1%), each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1970, shall be entitled to have his allowance increased effective July 1, 1971, as follows:

Increase	Increase In
In Index	Allowance
1.00 to 1.49%	1%
1.50 to 2.49%	2%
2.50 to 3.49%	3%
3 50% or more	4%

As of December 31, 1971, an increase in retirement allowances shall be calculated and made effective July 1, 1972, in the manner described in the preceding paragraph. As of December 31 of each year after 1971, the ratio (R) of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined, and each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1 of the year of determination shall be entitled to have his allowance increased effective on July 1 of the year following the year of determination by the same percentage of increase indicated by the ratio (R) calculated to the nearest tenth of one per centum ( $\frac{1}{10}$  of 1%), but not more than four per centum (4%); provided that any such increase in allowances shall be contingent upon the total fund providing sufficient investment gains to cover the additional actuarial liabilities on account of such increase. The determination of whether there are sufficient investment gains to cover the possible postretirement increase in allowance shall reside exclusively within the discretion of the Board of Trustees and shall be informed by the findings within the annual actuarial valuation reports. In considering whether to grant a postretirement increase, the Board of Trustees shall take into account both the rate of inflation as determined by the Consumer Price Index and the record of investment gains or losses during the preceding three-year period.

The allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary whose allowance is increased under this subsection shall, when and if payable, be increased by the same per centum.

Any increase in allowance granted hereunder shall be permanent, irrespective of any subsequent decrease in the Consumer Price Index, and shall be included in determining any subsequent increase.

Notwithstanding the foregoing linkage between increases in the Consumer Price Index and correlative contingent increases in retirement benefits determined by the availability of sufficient investment gains to cover the additional actuarial liabilities arising from those increased benefits, the Board of Trustees, may in any year, considering an increase, if any, in the Consumer Price Index, fund a cost-of-living increase in a percentage amount, measured in tenths of one percent ( $\frac{1}{10}$ ) of 1%), of up to four percent (4%), provided that the Board may use only investment gains to fund such an increase.

For purposes of this subsection, Consumer Price Index shall mean the Consumer Price Index (all items — United States city average), as published by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

(k1) Discretionary One-Time Pension Supplements. — As of December 31 of each year after 2020, the ratio (R) of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined, and each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of September 1 of the calendar year of determination shall be entitled to have a one-time pension supplement paid during October of the same calendar year; provided that any such one-time pension supplement shall be contingent upon a determination by the Board of Trustees under subsection (k) of this section that a permanent increase in benefits will not be paid during the same fiscal year as the one-time pension supplement, but the total fund is providing sufficient investment gains to cover the additional actuarial liabilities on account of such one-time pension supplement. The determination of whether there are sufficient investment gains to cover the one-time pension supplement shall reside exclusively within the discretion of the Board of Trustees and shall be informed by the findings within the annual actuarial valuation reports. In considering whether to grant a one-time pension supplement, the Board of Trustees shall take into account both the rate of inflation as determined by the Consumer Price Index and the record of investment gains or losses during the preceding three-year period. The amount of the one-time pension supplement shall be calculated as a percentage of the annual retirement allowance, where the percentage used is the ratio (R) calculated to the nearest tenth of one per centum (1/10 of 1%), but not more than four per centum (4%).

A surviving annuitant of a beneficiary shall be provided a onetime pension supplement under this subsection, when and if payable, calculated using the same per centum.

Any supplement granted under this subsection shall be a one-time pension supplement and not a permanent increase in benefits. If the beneficiary dies before payment of the one-time pension supplement is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's estate or legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested or contractual right or entitlement to any future one-time pension supplement under this subsection.

(l) **Death Benefit Plan.** — The provisions of this subsection shall become effective for any employer only after an agreement to that effect has been executed by the employer and the Director of the Retirement System. There is hereby created a Group Life Insurance Plan (hereinafter called the "Plan") which is established as an employee welfare benefit plan that is separate and apart from the Retirement System and under which the members of the Retirement System shall participate and be eligible for group life insurance benefits. The Plan shall be part of the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust, as established under G.S.

135-7(g). All receipts, transfers, appropriations, contributions, investment earnings, and other income belonging to the Plan shall be deposited in the Benefit Trust. All benefits and expenses against the Plan shall be disbursed from the Benefit Trust. Employer and non-employer contributions to the Benefit Trust and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Benefit Trust are dedicated to providing benefits to members and beneficiaries in accordance with the Plan's benefit terms. The assets of the Benefit Trust are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employees and non-employees making contributions to the Benefit Trust, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Benefit Trust's trustees and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of members and beneficiaries. Benefit Trust assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in their capacity as trustees under the Group Life Insurance Plan, of the death, in service, of a member who had completed at least one full calendar year of membership in the Retirement System, there shall be paid to such person as the member shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person is living at the time of the member's death, otherwise to the member's legal representatives, a death benefit. Such death benefit shall be equal to the greater of:

- (1) The compensation on which contributions were made by the member during the calendar year preceding the year in which his death occurs, or
- (2) The greatest compensation on which contributions were made by the member during a 12-month period of service within the 24-month period of service ending on the last day of the month preceding the month in which his last day of actual service occurs;
- (3) Repealed by Session Laws 1983 (Regular Session, 1984), c. 1049, s. 2;

subject to a minimum of twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000) and a maximum of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000). Such death benefit shall be payable apart and separate from the payment of the member's accumulated contributions under the System on his death pursuant to the provisions of subsection (f) of this section. For the purpose of the Plan, a member shall be deemed to be in service at the date of his death if his death occurs within 180 days from the last day of his actual service.

The death benefit provided in this subsection shall not be payable, notwithstanding the member's compliance with all the conditions set forth in the preceding paragraph, if his death occurs

(1) After June 30, 1969 and after he has attained age 70; or

- (2) After December 31, 1969 and after he has attained age 69; or
- After December 31, 1970 and after he has attained age 68;
- (4) After December 31, 1971 and after he has attained age 67; or
- (5) After December 31, 1972 and after he has attained age 66; or
- (6) After December 31, 1973 and after he has attained age 65; or
- (7) After December 31, 1978, but before January 1, 1987, and after he has attained age 70.

Notwithstanding the above provisions, the death benefit shall be payable on account of the death of any member who died or dies on or after January 1, 1974, but before January 1, 1979, after attaining age 65, if he or she had not yet attained age 65, if he or she had not yet attained age 66, was at the time of death completing the work year for those individuals under specific contract, or during the fiscal year for those individuals not under specific contract, in which he or she attained age 65, and otherwise met all conditions for payment of the death benefit.

Notwithstanding the above provisions, the Board of Trustees may and is specifically authorized to provide the death benefit according to the terms and conditions otherwise appearing in this Plan in the form of group life insurance, either (i) by purchasing a contract or contracts of group life insurance with any life insurance company or companies licensed and authorized to transact business in this State for the purpose of insuring the lives of members in service, or (ii) by establishing a separate trust fund for such purpose. To that end the Board of Trustees is authorized, empowered and directed to investigate the desirability of utilizing group life insurance by either of the foregoing methods for the purpose of providing the death benefit. If a separate trust fund is established, it shall be operated in accordance with rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees and all investment earnings on the trust fund shall be credited to such fund.

In administration of the death benefit the following shall apply:

- (1) For the purpose of determining eligibility only, in this subsection "calendar year" shall mean any period of 12 consecutive months. For all other purposes in this subsection "calendar year" shall mean the 12 months beginning January 1 and ending December 31.
- (2) Last day of actual service shall be:
  - a. When the employee has been terminated, the last day the member actually worked.
  - b. When the employee has not been terminated, the date on which an absent member's sick and annual leave expire.

- c. When the member's service is interrupted by reason of service in the Uniformed Services, as that term is defined in section 4303(16) of the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, Public Law 103-353, and the participant does not return immediately after that service to employment with a covered employer in this System, the date on which the participant was first eligible to be separated or released from his or her involuntary military service.
- (3) For a period when a member is on leave of absence, his status with respect to the death benefit will be determined by the provisions of G.S. 128-26(g).
- (4) A member on leave of absence from his position as a local governmental employee for the purpose of serving as a member or officer of the General Assembly shall be deemed to be in service during sessions of the General Assembly and thereby covered by the provisions of the death benefit, if applicable. The amount of the death benefit for such member shall be the equivalent of the salary to which the member would have been entitled as a local governmental employee during the 12-month period immediately prior to the month in which death occurred, not to be less than twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000) nor to exceed fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000).

The provisions of the Retirement System pertaining to administration, G.S. 128-28, and management of funds, G.S. 128-29, are hereby made applicable to the Plan.

- (l1) **Death Benefit Plan for Law Enforcement Officers.** Under all requirements and conditions as otherwise provided for in subsection (l) of this section, except for the requirement that the provisions are effective only after an agreement has been executed by the employer and the Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division, all law enforcement officers who are members of the Retirement System shall participate and be eligible for group life insurance benefits under the Group Life Insurance Plan, and employers shall fund the cost of these benefits.
- (l2) **Death Benefit for Retired Members.** Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after July 1, 1988, but before January 1, 1999, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of

Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of five thousand dollars (\$5,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

- (13) **Death Benefit for Retired Members.** Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after January 1, 1999, but before July 1, 2004, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump sum payment in the amount of six thousand dollars (\$6,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.
- (14) **Death Benefit for Retired Members.** Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after July 1, 2004, but before July 1, 2007, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of nine

thousand dollars (\$9,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

(15) Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after July 1, 2007, but before January 1, 2015, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of

(16) Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after January 1, 2015, there shall be paid a death benefit to the person or persons designated by the member or, if not survived by a designated beneficiary, to the deceased retired member's legal representative; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of the member's death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund, the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust, administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. Employer and non-employer contributions to the Benefit Trust and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Benefit Trust are dedicated to providing benefits to members and beneficiaries in accordance with the Plan's

benefit terms. The assets of the Benefit Trust are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employees and non-employees making contributions to the Benefit Trust, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Benefit Trust's trustees and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of members and beneficiaries. Benefit Trust assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees.

The death benefit payable under this subsection shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's designated beneficiary or beneficiaries, or legal representative if not survived by a designated beneficiary, shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

- (m) **Survivor's Alternate Benefit.** Upon the death of a member in service, the beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions shall have the right to elect to receive in lieu thereof the reduced retirement allowance provided by Option two of subsection (g) above computed by assuming that the member had retired on the first day of the month following the date of the member's death, provided that all four of the following conditions apply:
  - (1)a. The member had attained such age and/or creditable service to be eligible to commence retirement with an early or service retirement allowance, or
    - b. The member had obtained 20 years of creditable service in which case the retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)c. or G.S. 128-27(b22)(2)c., notwithstanding the requirement of obtaining age 50, or
    - b1. The member was a law enforcement officer who had obtained 15 years of service as a law enforcement officer and was killed in the line of duty, or the member was a firefighter or a rescue squad worker who had obtained 15 years of service as a firefighter or a rescue squad worker and was killed in the line of duty, in which cases the retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with G.S. 128-27(b22)(1)c., notwithstanding the requirement of obtaining age 50.
    - c. Repealed by Session Laws 2010-72, s. 2(b), effective July 1, 2010.
  - (2) At the time of the member's death, one and only one beneficiary is eligible to receive a return of his accumulated contributions.

- (3) The member had not instructed the Board of Trustees in writing that he did not wish the provisions of this subsection apply.
- (4) The member had not commenced to receive a retirement allowance as provided under this Chapter.

For the purpose of this benefit, a member is considered to be in service at the date of his death if his death occurs within 180 days from the last day of his actual service. The last day of actual service shall be determined as provided in subsection (l) of this section. Upon the death of a member in service, the surviving spouse may make all purchases for creditable service as provided for under this Chapter for which the member had made application in writing prior to the date of death, provided that the date of death occurred prior to or within 60 days after notification of the cost to make the purchase.

For the purpose of calculating this benefit, any terminal payouts made after the date of death that meet the definition of compensation shall be credited to the month prior to the month of death. These terminal payouts do not include salary or wages paid for work performed during the month of death.

(m1) Special Retirement Allowance for Law Enforcement **Officers.** — Upon retirement, a member who is a law enforcement officer vested as of June 30, 2010, may elect to transfer any portion of his eligible accumulated contributions, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina to this Retirement System and receive, in addition to his basic service, early or disability retirement allowance, a special retirement allowance which shall be based upon his eligible accumulated account balance at the date of the transfer of the assets to this System. For the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, the Board of Trustees shall adopt straight life annuity factors on the basis of mortality tables, such other tables as may be necessary and the interest assumption rate recommended by the actuary based upon actual experience including an assumed annual post-retirement allowance increase of four percent (4%). The Board of Trustees shall modify such factors every five years, as shall be deemed necessary, based upon the five year experience study as required by G.S. 128-28(o). Provided, however, a member who transfers his eligible accumulated contributions from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina shall be taxed for North Carolina State Income tax purposes on the special retirement allowance the same as if that special retirement allowance had been paid directly by the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina. The Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall be responsible to determine the taxable amount, if any, and report accordingly. For transfers made on or after July 1, 2022, if, subsequent to the

member's election, the Board of Trustees determines that (i) the member was ineligible for the election or (ii) the election was impermissible for any reason under federal or State law, then no special retirement allowance shall be paid to the member pursuant to this subsection; the member shall return to the Retirement System any amount already paid from the Retirement System as a special retirement allowance; and the Retirement System shall return the transfer amount to the source of the transfer, including any earnings adjustment that may be required under federal law or Internal Revenue Service guidance. If the Retirement System is unable to return the amount to the account from which it originated, the member may designate another eligible account under the transferor plan or receive a lump sum distribution paid directly to the member if the member would otherwise be eligible for a distribution under the transferor plan at such time.

(m2) **Special Retirement Allowance.**—At any time coincident with or following retirement, a member may make a one-time, irrevocable election to transfer any portion of the member's eligible accumulated contributions, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina or the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan to this Retirement System and receive, in addition to the member's basic service, early or disability retirement allowance, a special retirement allowance which shall be based upon the member's transferred balance.

A member who became a member of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan prior to retirement and who remains a member of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan may make a one-time, irrevocable election to transfer eligible balances, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, from any of the following plans to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, subject to the applicable requirements of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, and then through the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan to this Retirement System (i) a plan participating in the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan; (ii) a plan described in section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code; (iii) a plan described in section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state; (iv) an individual retirement account or annuity described in section 408(a) or section 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is eligible to be rolled over and would otherwise be includible in gross income; or (v) a tax-qualified plan described in section 401(a) or section 403(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. In addition, any transfer under this subsection may be paid in whole or in part with employer contributions paid directly to this Retirement System at the time of transfer. For transfers made on or

after July 1, 2022, if, subsequent to the member's election, the Board of Trustees determines that (i) the member was ineligible for the election or (ii) the election was impermissible for any reason under federal or State law, then no special retirement allowance shall be paid to the member pursuant to this subsection; the member shall return to the Retirement System any amount already paid from the Retirement System as a special retirement allowance; and the Retirement System shall return the transfer amount to the source of the transfer, including any earnings adjustment that may be required under federal law or Internal Revenue Service guidance. If the Retirement System is unable to return the amount to the account from which it originated, the member may designate another eligible account under the transferor plan or receive a lump sum distribution paid directly to the member if the member would otherwise be eligible for a distribution under the transferor plan at such time.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, a member may not transfer such amounts as will cause the member's retirement allowance under the System to exceed the amount allowable under G.S. 128-38.2(b). The Board of Trustees may establish a minimum amount that must be transferred if a transfer is elected. The member may elect a special retirement allowance with no postretirement increases or a special retirement allowance with annual postretirement increases equal to the annual increase in the U.S. Consumer Price Index. Postretirement increases on any other allowance will not apply to the special retirement allowance. The Board of Trustees shall provide educational materials to the members who apply for the transfer authorized by this section. Those materials shall describe the special retirement allowance and shall explain the relationship between the transferred balance and the monthly benefit and how the member's heirs may be impacted by the election to make this transfer and any costs and fees involved.

For the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, the Board of Trustees shall adopt straight life annuity factors on the basis of yields on U.S. Treasury Bonds and mortality and such other tables as may be necessary based upon actual experience. A single set of mortality and such other tables will be used for all members, with factors differing only based on the age of the member and the election of postretirement increases. The Board of Trustees shall modify the mortality and such other tables every five years, as shall be deemed necessary, based upon the five-year experience study as required by G.S. 128-28(o). Provided, however, a member who transfers the member's eligible accumulated contributions from an eligible retirement plan pursuant to this subsection to this Retirement System shall be taxed for North Carolina State Income Tax purposes on the special retirement allowance the same as if that special retirement allowance had been paid directly by the eligible

plan or the plan through which the transfer was made, whichever is most favorable to the member. The Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall be responsible to determine the taxable amount, if any, and report accordingly.

The special retirement allowance shall continue for the life of the member and the beneficiary designated to receive a monthly survivorship benefit under Option 2, 3 or 6 as provided in G.S. 128-27(g), if any. The Board of Trustees, however, shall establish two payment options that guarantee payments as follows:

- (1) A member may elect to receive the special retirement allowance for life but with payments guaranteed for a number of months to be specified by the Board of Trustees. Under this plan, if the member dies before the expiration of the specified number of months, the special retirement allowance will continue to be paid to the member's designated beneficiary for the life of the beneficiary, if Option 2, 3 or 6 is selected. If the member's designated beneficiary under Option 2, 3 or 6 begins receiving monthly payments and dies before the specified number of monthly payments have been made in combination to the member and beneficiary, a one-time payment will be paid to the member's legal representatives equal to the initial monthly special retirement allowance, multiplied by the specified number of months, less the total of the monthly payments made to the member and beneficiary. If Option 2, 3 or 6 is not selected, and the member dies before the expiration of the specified number of months, the member's designated beneficiary will receive a one-time payment equal to the initial monthly special retirement allowance, multiplied by the specified number of months, less the total of the monthly payments made to the member.
- (2) A member may elect to receive the special retirement allowance for life but is guaranteed that the sum of the special allowance payments will equal the total of the transferred amount. Under this payment option, if the member dies before receiving the total transferred amount, the special retirement allowance will continue to be paid to the member's designated beneficiary for the life of the beneficiary, if Option 2, 3 or 6 is selected. If Option 2, 3 or 6 is not selected, the member's designated beneficiary or the member's estate shall be paid any remaining balance of the transferred amount.

The Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees established under G.S. 135-96 may assess a one-time flat administrative fee not to exceed the actual cost of the administrative expenses relating to these transfers. An eligible plan shall not assess a fee specifically relating to a transfer of accumulated contributions authorized under

this subsection. This provision shall not prohibit other fees that may be assessable under the plan. Each plan, contract, account, or annuity shall fully disclose to any member participating in a transfer under this subsection any surrender charges or other fees, and that disclosure shall be made contemporaneous with the initiation of the transfer by the member.

The General Assembly reserves the right to repeal or amend this subsection, but such repeal or amendment shall not affect any person who has already made the one-time election provided in this subsection.

(m3) A member who has contributions in this System and is not eligible for a retirement benefit as set forth in G.S. 128-27(a) or G.S. 128-27(a1) shall be paid his or her contributions in a lump sum as provided in G.S. 128-27(f) by April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the member (i) attains the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) has ceased to be an employee except by death. If the member fails, following reasonable notification, to complete a refund application by the required date, then the requirement that a refund application be completed shall be waived and the refund shall be paid without a refund application as a single lump-sum payment with applicable required North Carolina and federal income taxes withheld.

A member who has contributions in this System and is eligible for a retirement benefit as set forth in G.S. 128-27(a) or G.S. 128-27(a1) shall begin to receive a monthly benefit no later than April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the member (i) attains the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) has ceased to be an employee except by death. If the member fails, following reasonable notification, to complete the retirement process under this Article by the required beginning date, then the requirement that a retirement application and an election of payment plan form be completed shall be waived and the retirement allowance shall be paid as a single life annuity. The single life annuity shall be calculated and processed in accordance with this section.

For purposes of this subsection, a member shall not be considered to have ceased to be an employee if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System. A retirement benefit or lump-sum refund shall not be paid under this subsection if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System.

(n) Increases in Benefits Paid in Respect to Members Retired prior to July 1, 1967. — From and after July 1, 1971, the

monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits prior to July 1, 1965, shall be increased by twenty percent (20%) thereof; the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits after June 30, 1965 and before July 1, 1967, shall be increased by five percent (5%) thereof. These increases shall be calculated after monthly retirement allowances as of July 1, 1971 have been increased to the extent provided for in subsection (k) above.

(o) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons Who Were Retired prior to January 1, 1969. — From and after July 1, 1973, the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits from the System prior to January 1, 1969, shall be increased by a percentage thereof. Such percentage shall be determined in accordance with the following schedule:

Year(s) in Which	
Benefits Commenced	Percentage
1959 through 1968	10
1946 through 1958	25

These increases shall be calculated after monthly retirement allowances as of July 1, 1973, have been increased to the extent provided for in the preceding subsection (k).

- (p) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons on Disability Retirement Who Were Retired prior to July 1, 1971. From and after July 1, 1974, the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits prior to July 1, 1965, shall be increased by one percent (1%) thereof for each year by which the member retired prior to the age of 65 years; the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits after June 30, 1965, and before July 1, 1971, shall be increased by five percent (5%) thereof. These increases shall be calculated before monthly retirement allowances as of June 30, 1974, have been increased to the extent provided for in the preceding subsection (k).
- (q) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1973, which shall become effective on July 1, 1974, as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(k), shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional two percent (2%) to a total of six percent (6%) for the year 1974 only. The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (r) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1974, which shall become payable on July 1, 1975, and to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1975, which shall become payable on July 1, 1976, as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(k), shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an

- additional four percent (4%) to a total of eight percent (8%) for the years 1975 and 1976 only, provided that the increases do not exceed the actual percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index as determined in G.S. 128-27(k). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (s) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, the increase in the allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(k) shall be the current maximum of four per centum (4%) plus an additional four per centum (4%) to a total of eight per centum (8%) on July 1, 1975, and July 1, 1976, provided the increases do not exceed the actual percentage increase in the cost of living as determined in G.S. 128-27(k). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary. The cost of these increases shall be borne from the funds of the Retirement System.
- (t) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons on Disability Retirement Who Were Retired prior to July 1, 1971. From and after July 1, 1975, the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits prior to July 1, 1965, shall be increased one percent (1%) thereof for each year by which the member retired prior to age 65 years; the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits after June 30, 1965, and before July 1, 1971, shall be increased by five percent (5%) thereof. These increases shall be calculated before monthly retirement allowances as of June 30, 1975, have been increased to the extent provided in the preceding provisions of this Chapter.
- (u) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1977, which shall become payable on July 1, 1978, as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(k), shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional two and one-half percent (2  $\frac{1}{2}$ %) for the year beginning July 1, 1978. The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (v) Increases in Allowances Paid Beneficiaries Retired prior to July 1, 1976. From and after July 1, 1978, the monthly allowances paid to or on account of beneficiaries who commenced receiving such allowances prior to July 1, 1976, shall be increased by seven percent (7%) thereof. This increase shall be calculated before monthly allowances, as of July 1, 1978, have been increased to the extent provided for in the preceding subsections (k) and (u). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (w) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1978, which shall become payable on July 1, 1979, as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(k), shall be five percent (5%) for the year

beginning July 1, 1979. Provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.

(x) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons Who Were Retired prior to July 1, 1978. — From and after July 1, 1980, the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits from the system prior to July 1, 1978, shall be increased by a percentage in accordance with the following schedule:

Period in Which Benefits Commenced	Percentage	
On or before June 30, 1959	10%	
July 1, 1959, to June 30, 1968	7%	
July 1, 1968, to June 30, 1978	2%	
This increase shall be calculated independent of any other post-		
retirement increase, without compounding, otherwise payable		
from and after July 1, 1980.		

This increase shall be calculated independent of any other postretirement increase, without compounding, otherwise payable from and after July 1, 1980.

- (y) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1980, which shall become payable on January 1, 1982, as otherwise provided in G.S. 128-27(h), shall be the percentage available therefrom plus an additional six and six-tenths percent (6.6%); provided that in no case shall the increase exceed a total of seven percent (7%). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of the beneficiary.
- (z) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary as of July 1, 1983, which shall become payable on July 1, 1984, shall be three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) as provided in G.S. 128-27(k) plus an additional four and two-tenths percent (4.2%) to a total of eight percent (8%). The provision of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary. The cost of these increases shall be borne from the funds of the Retirement System.
- (z1) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, from and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1984, shall be increased by four percent (4%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1984, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1984, but before June 30, 1985, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1984, and June 30, 1985.
- (aa) From and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1985,

shall be increased by six-tenths percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1985. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1985, so as not to be compounded on any other increases payable on allowances in effect on June 30, 1985.

- (bb) From and after July 1, 1986, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1985, shall be increased by three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1985, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1986, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1985, but before June 30, 1986, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1985, and June 30, 1986.
- (cc) From and after July 1, 1987, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1986, shall be increased by four percent (4.0%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1986, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1987, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1986, but before June 30, 1987, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4.0%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1986, and June 30, 1987.
- (dd) From and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1987, shall be increased by three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1987, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1987, but before June 30, 1988, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and sixtenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1987, and June 30, 1988.
- (ee) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1988. From and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1988, shall be increased by one and two-tenths percent (1.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1988. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1988, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1987 Session of the General Assembly.

- (ff) From and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1988, shall be increased by three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1988, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1988, but before June 30, 1989, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1988, and June 30, 1989.
- (gg) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1989. From and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1989, shall be increased by one and nine-tenths percent (1.9%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1989. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1989, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1989 Session of the General Assembly.
- (hh) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1990. From and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1990, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1990. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1990, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 1989 Session of the General Assembly (1990 Regular Session).
- (ii) From and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1989, shall be increased by six and one-tenth percent (6.1%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1989, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1989, but before June 30, 1990, shall be increased by a prorated amount of six and one-tenth percent (6.1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1989, and June 30, 1990.
- (jj) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1992. From and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1992, shall be increased by three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1992. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in

effect on June 30, 1992, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1991 Session of the General Assembly, 1992 Regular Session.

(kk) From and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1991, shall be increased by one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1991, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1991, but before June 30, 1992, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1991 and June 30, 1992.

(ll) From and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1992, shall be increased by one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1992, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1992, but before June 30, 1993, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1992, and June 30, 1993.

(mm) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1994. — From and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1994, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1994. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1994, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1993 General Assembly in 1994.

(nn) From and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1993, shall be increased by two and eight-tenths percent (2.8%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1993, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1993, but before June 30, 1994, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and eight-tenths percent (2.8%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1993, and June 30, 1994.

(oo) From and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1994, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1994, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1994, but before June 30, 1995, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1994, and June 30, 1995.

- (pp) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1995. From and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1995, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1995. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1995, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1995 General Assembly.
- (qq) From and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1993, shall be increased by seven-tenths of one percent (0.7%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1993, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1993, but before June 30, 1994, shall be increased by a prorated amount of seven-tenths of one percent (0.7%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1993, and June 30, 1994.
- (rr) From and after September 1, 1996, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1995, shall be increased by four and four-tenths percent (4.4%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1995, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after September 1, 1996, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1995, but before June 30, 1996, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four and four-tenths percent (4.4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1995, and June 30, 1996.
- (ss) From and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1996, shall be increased by four percent (4%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1997, in accordance with G.S. 128-27(k). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1996, but before June 30, 1997, shall be

increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1996, and June 30, 1997.

- (tt) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1997. From and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1997, shall be increased by two and three-tenths percent (2.3%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1997. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1997, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1997 General Assembly.
- (uu) From and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1997, shall be increased by two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1998, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1997, but before June 30, 1998, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1997, and June 30, 1998.
- (vv) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1998. From and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1998, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1998. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1998, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1997 General Assembly.
- (ww) From and after July 1, 1999, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1998, shall be increased by one percent (1.0%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1999, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1999, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1998, but before June 30, 1999, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1.0%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1998, and June 30, 1999.
- (xx) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 2000. From and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the

retirement rolls as of June 1, 2000, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2000. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2000, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1999 General Assembly, 2000 Regular Session.

(yy) From and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1999, shall be increased by three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2000, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1999, but before June 30, 2000, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1999, and June 30, 2000.

(zz) From and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2000, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2001, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2000, but before June 30, 2001, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2000, and June 30, 2001.

(aaa) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 2001. — From and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 2001, shall be increased by one and seven-tenths percent (1.7%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2001. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2001, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 2001 General Assembly.

(bbb) From and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2001, shall be increased by one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2002, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2001, but before June 30, 2002, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of the allowance payable as deter-

mined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2001, and June 30, 2002.

(ccc) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 2002. — From and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 2002, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2002. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2002, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 2002 Regular Session of the 2001 General Assembly.

(ddd) From and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2002, shall be increased by two percent (2.0%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2003, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2002, but before June 30, 2003, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2.0%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2002, and June 30, 2003.

(eee) From and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before June 1, 1982, shall be increased by six percent (6.0%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2003, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or after July 1, 1982, but before July 1, 1993, shall be increased by one and one-tenth percent (1.1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2003, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2003, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 2003 Regular Session of the 2003 General Assembly.

(fff) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 2003. — From and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 2003, shall be increased by one and one-half percent (1.5%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2003. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2003, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (k) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 2003 General Assembly.

(ggg) From and after July 1, 2005, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or

before July 1, 2004, shall be increased by two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2005, in accordance with subsection (k) of this section. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2005, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2004, but before June 30, 2005, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2004, and June 30, 2005.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 7; 1945, c. 526, s. 4; 1951, c. 274, ss. 4-6; 1955, c. 1153, ss. 4-6; 1957, c. 855, ss. 1-4; 1959, c. 491, ss. 5-8; 1961, c. 515, ss. 2, 6, 7; 1965, c. 781; 1967, c. 978, ss. 3-7; 1969, c. 442, ss. 7-14; c. 898; 1971, c. 325, ss. 12-16, 19; c. 326, ss. 3-7; 1973, c. 243, ss. 3-7; c. 244, ss. 1-3; c. 816, s. 4; c. 994, ss. 2, 4; c. 1313, ss. 1, 2; 1975, c. 486, ss. 1, 2; c. 621, ss. 1, 2; 1975, 2nd Sess., c. 983, ss. 126-128; 1977, 2nd Sess., c. 1240; 1979, c. 862, ss. 2, 6, 7; c. 974, s. 1; c. 1063, s. 2; 1979, 2nd Sess., c. 1196, s. 2; cc. 1213, 1240; 1981, c. 672, s. 2; c. 689, s. 1; c. 940, s. 1; c. 975, s. 2; c. 978, ss. 3, 4; c. 980, ss. 1, 2; c. 981, ss. 1, 2; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1284, ss. 1, 2; 1983, c. 467; c. 761, ss. 226, 227; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1019, s. 1; c. 1044; c. 1049, ss. 1-3; c. 1086; 1985, c. 138; c. 348, s. 2; c. 479, s. 196(i)-(n); c. 520, s. 2; c. 649, ss. 8, 10; c. 751, ss. 1-4, 6; c. 791, s. 56; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1014, s. 49(d); 1987, c. 181, s. 1; c. 513, s. 1; c. 738, ss. 27(c), 37(b); c. 824, s. 2; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1061, s. 2; c. 1086, s. 22(c); c. 1108, s. 3; c. 1110, ss. 4-7; 1989, c. 717, ss. 13, 13.1; c. 731, s. 2; c. 752, s. 41(c); c. 792, ss. 3.4-3.6; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1077, ss. 13-16; c. 1080; 1991, c. 636, s. 20(a); 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 766, s. 1; c. 900, ss. 52(e)-(g), 53(a); c. 929, s. 1; c. 1030, s. 51.1; 1993, c. 321, ss. 74(b), 74.1(c), (d); c. 531, s. 3; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, ss. 7.30(b)-(d), (l); 1995, c. 507, ss. 7.22(e), (f), 7.23(c), (d), 7.23A(c); 1996, 2nd Ex. Sess., c. 18, s. 28.21(d); 1997-443, s. 33.22(g)-(j); 1998-153, s. 1998-212, 28.26(b), 21(d)-(h);SS. 28.27(e), (f); 1999-237, s. 28.23(d); 2000-67, ss. 26.20(g)-(j); 2001-424, ss. 32.22(d), 32.23(a)-(d); 2001-435, s. 1; 2002-126, ss. 28.8(b), 28.9(e)-(h); 2003-319, ss. 1-4; 2003-359, ss. 15, 16, 21; 2004-136, s. 1; 2004-147, ss. 2, 3; 2005-91, ss. 9, 10; 2005-276, s. 29.25(d); 2007-384, ss. 10.1, 10.2; 2007-431, ss. 2, 6; 2007-496, s. 2; 2009-66, ss. 3(i)-(k), 5(d)-(f), 6(b), 11(h)-(j), 12(g), (h); 2009-109, s. 2; 2010-72, ss.

1(b), 2(b), 9(b), 10(b); 2010-96, s. 40.7; 2010-124, ss. 4-6, 6.1(a), (b); 2011-92, s. 2; 2011-294, s. 3(b); 2011-371, s. 1; 2012-82, s. 1; 2012-178, s. 2; 2014-88, ss. 1(b), 2(b); 2014-97, ss. 3(b), 4(g), 5(b); 2014-112, ss. 1(b), 3(e), 3(f), 7; 2015-164, s. 10(b); 2016-56, ss. 4(b), 5(b); 2017-129, ss. 1(c), 2(r), 2(s), 3(d), 3(e); 2018-22, ss. 2(b), 3(e)-(h); 2018-85, ss. 2, 3(b), 11(b); 2018-145, s. 9(c), (d); 2020-48, s. 1.2(b); 2021-72, s. 3.1(b); 2021-75, s. 7.1(a); 2021-178, s. 3(a); 2022-14, ss. 1.3, 1.4; 2022-16, ss. 2.3, 4.2; 2023-89, ss. 2.3, 2.5; 2023-105, ss. 1.2, 5.2, 7.2; 2024-8, s. 2(b); 2024-9, ss. 1(b), (g), 3(b); 2024-10, s. 18(b), (e).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-22, s. 4, provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the changes to the special retirement allowance, as well as the change in creditable service required for law enforcement officers to retire with a reduced benefit, as provided for in Sections 2 and 3 of this act, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of these changes directly from the retirement assets.

The designation of subsection (aaa) is as directed by the Revisor of Statutes, the designation in Session Laws 2001-424, s. 32.23(d), having been (zz).

Session Laws 2014-112, s. 6(b), effective October 1, 2014, added a subsection (u) to this section. It was recodified as subsection (u) of G.S. 128-28 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(e), made the amendment of subsection (m3) of this section by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(b), effective January 1, 2021, and applicable to members on or after that date, and further provides: "If a member

attains age 70 and one half years of age on or before December 31, 2019, then the statute that is in effect on the day the member attains age 70 and one half years of age will be applicable to that member."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

The bracketed text "[The following provisions apply:]" was added at the end of the introductory language of subsection (e) at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(d), made subsection (a4) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(b), effective January 1, 2025, and applicable to members in receipt of severance pay that begins on or after that date and to members entitled to receive a lump sum payment based on a certain period of time that begins on or after that date.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 18(e), effective June 20, 2024, provides: "The Revisor of Statutes shall replace the reference to "G.S. 135-56.2" with "G.S. 135-70.1" in G.S. 128-27(f) and G.S. 135-5(f)."

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(b), in subsection (m3), in the first and second paragraphs, substituted "G.S. 128-27(a) or G.S. 128-27(a1)" for "G.S. 128-27(b21)" and substituted "72 years" for "70 and one-half years" in the first sentence, and deleted the last two sentences in the first paragraph, which read: "For purposes of this subsection, a member shall not be considered to have ceased to be an employee if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System. A lump-sum refund shall not be paid under this subsecif the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System.", in the second paragraph, substituted "this section" for "G.S. 128-27(b21)" in the last sentence, and inserted "or lump-sum refund" in the second sentence of the third paragraph; and made minor stylistic

changes. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.1(b), effective July 1, 2022, rewrote subdivision (a3)(4) and the last paragraph of subsection (a3).

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 7.1(a), effective July 1, 2021, rewrote subdivision (m2)(1).

Session Laws 2021-178, s. 3(a), effective November 10, 2021, added subsection (k1).

Session Laws 2022-14, ss. 1.3, 1.4, effective July 1, 2022, added the last two sentences in subsections (m1), and (m2).

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 2.3, effective July 1, 2022, substituted "subsections (d) through (d4) of this section" for "G.S. 128-27(d), (d1), (d2) and (d3)" in subdivision (e)(4); and substituted "September 1" for "July 1" in the first sentence of subsection (k1).

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 4.2, effective July 1, 2022, deleted "qualified under section 501(c)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended," in clause (ii) of the fourth paragraph of subsection (*l*).

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 2.3, effective January 1, 2024, made a minor stylistic change in the second sentence of subdivision (e)(6).

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 2.5, effective January 1, 2024, in subdivision (l)(2), substituted "When the employee" for "When employment" at the beginning of sub-subdivisions (l)(2)a. and (l)(2)b., and substituted "When the member's service" for "When a participant's employment" at the beginning of sub-subdivision (l)(2)c.

Session Laws 2023-105, ss. 1.2, 5.2, and 7.2, effective January 1, 2024, in subsection (g), in the first paragraph, substituted "due and the first payment date has occurred" for "due, or the member's first retirement check has been cashed" or similar language throughout and rewrote the last sentence, and, in the next-to-last paragraph, substituted "when the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first benefit payment has occurred" for "the cashing of the first benefit check"; in subsection (g1), added the second sentence in the third paragraph, and substituted "legal representative" for "estate" at the end of the last paragraph; and, in subsection (16), substituted "if not survived by a designated beneficiary" for "if the member has not designated a beneficiary, to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or, if not survived by a designated beneficiary or

spouse" in the first sentence of the first paragraph and in the second sentence of the second paragraph.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(b), added subsection (a4). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, ss. 1(b), (g), 3(b), effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (e), rewrote the introductory language, and rewrote subdivision (e)(4); in subsection (l1), inserted "of this section" near the beginning, substituted "Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division" for "Director of the Retirement System" near the middle, and inserted "Group

Life Insurance" near the end; and, in subsection (m3), substituted "the applicable age under section 401(a) (9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code" for "72 years of age" in the first and second paragraphs, and substituted "under this Chapter by the required beginning date" for "as set forth under Chapter 135 of the General Statutes by such required beginning date" in the second paragraph.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 18(b), effective June 20, 2024, substituted "G.S. 128-26(a1), G.S. 128-26(j1), or G.S. 128-26.5" for "G.S. 128-26(a1) or G.S. 128-26(j1)" in subdivision (a3)(1).

#### CASE NOTES

The relationship between public employees and the retirement system is one of contract. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Right of Employee to Rely on Retirement Plan. — A public employee has a right to expect that the retirement rights bargained for in exchange for his loyalty and continued services, continually promised him over many years, will not be removed or diminished. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), affd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Plaintiffs, as members of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, had a contractual right to rely on the terms of the retirement plan as these terms existed at the moment their retirement rights became vested. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Where plaintiff had attained more than five years of creditable service before his injury, and before the date he submitted his application for disability retirement, he had contractual rights in pension fund. Hogan v. City of Winston-Salem, 121 N.C. App. 414, 466 S.E.2d 303, 1996 N.C. App. LEXIS 74, aff'd, 344 N.C. 728, 477 S.E.2d 150, 1996 N.C. LEXIS 514 (1996).

Impairment of Rights by 1981 Amendment. — Rights arising under

this Article were impaired inasmuch as plaintiff employees stood to suffer significant reductions in their retirement allowances as a result of the 1981 legislative amendment of this section adding subsection (d4), and where challenge thereto had been resolved below by grant of summary judgment in defendants' favor, but defendants' affidavit failed to demonstrate or reflect that the changes in question were reasonable and necessary to serve an important state interest, the case would be remanded for further proceedings. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Decedent terminated her employment within the meaning and intent of subsection (l) on the date that she went on disability retirement. Walker v. Board of Trustees, 348 N.C. 63, 499 S.E.2d 429, 1998 N.C. LEXIS 156 (1998).

Where over 180 days expired between the last day decedent actually worked and the date she died, her spouse was not entitled to a death benefit under subsection (*l*). Walker v. Board of Trustees, 348 N.C. 63, 499 S.E.2d 429, 1998 N.C. LEXIS 156 (1998).

Disability Benefits Classified as Separate Property. — The amount of plaintiffs "disability retirement benefits" attributable to his physical disability was plaintiffs separate property, under G.S. 50-20. Johnson v. Johnson, 117 N.C. App. 410, 450 S.E. 2d 923, 1994 N.C. App. LEXIS 1266 (1994).

The statute of limitations in subsection (i) applied and allowed plaintiffs to pursue claims for underpayment of disability retirement benefits for three years before they commenced actions. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Emps. Retirement Sys., 345 N.C. 683, 483 S.E.2d 422, 1997 N.C. LEXIS 188 (1997).

Part-Time Status Did Not Equate to Retirement. — An employee of a local government employer who went to a part-time status did not "retire" when she changed jobs and lessened her hours and was not eligible to receive disability retirement benefits under G.S. 128-27. Wallace v. Bd. of Trs., Local Gov't Emples. Ret. Sys., 145 N.C. App. 264, 550 S.E.2d 552, 2001 N.C. App. LEXIS 650 (2001).

Last Day of Service. — When decedent retired on disability, she was not terminated within the meaning of the death benefit statute; therefore, the last day of the decedent's actual service was the date on which her sick and annual leave expired. Walker v. Board of Trustees, 127 N.C. App. 156, 487 S.E.2d 839, 1997 N.C. App. LEXIS 764 (1997), aff'd, 348 N.C. 63, 499 S.E.2d 429, 1998 N.C. LEXIS 156 (1998).

Spouse Not Entitled to Death Benefit. — Where decedent died more than 180 days after she last earned a salary surviving spouse was not entitled to the death benefit. Walker v. Board of Trustees, 127 N.C. App. 156, 487 S.E.2d 839, 1997 N.C. App. LEXIS 764 (1997), aff'd, 348 N.C. 63, 499 S.E.2d 429, 1998 N.C. LEXIS 156 (1998).

Beneficiary of Government Employee Who Died After Retirement Was Not Entitled to Survivor's Alternate Benefit. — The Supreme Court of North Carolina, in a per curiam opinion, reversed the decision of the Court of Appeals in Grooms v Dep't of State Treasurer, 144 N.C. App. 160, 550 S.E.2d 204

(2001), which held that the beneficiary of a county employee who died within 180 days of retirement was entitled to select the survivor's alternate benefit set forth in G.S. 128-27(m). In reversing, the Supreme Court noted its agreement with the reasoning of the dissenting opinion below, holding that the General Assembly did not intend for the alternate benefit provided by G.S. 128-27(m) to apply to the beneficiary of a government employee whose death occurred after his retirement. Grooms v. State Dep't of Treasurer, Ret. Sys. Div., 354 N.C. 562, 556 S.E.2d 293, 2001 N.C. LEXIS 1223 (2001).

Reemployment By Local Government. — Retired city police officer lost his right to receive a separation allowance pursuant to G.S. 143-166.42 when he became reemployed by a county sheriff's office, which was a local government as defined by G.S. 143-166.41. Campbell v. City of Laurinburg, 168 N.C. App. 566, 608 S.E.2d 98, 2005 N.C. App. LEXIS 335 (2005).

Credit Denied to a Self-Insured City for Disability Retirement Payments. - North Carolina Industrial Commission's decision to deny a city credit for disability retirement payments that were made to an injured city employee from a public employee benefits program was not an abuse of discretion under G.S. 97-42 because the city and the employee jointly contributed to the plan, and competent evidence, in the form of testimony as to the funding of the disability benefits plan, existed to support the Commission's findings of fact and conclusions of law. Cox v. City of Winston-Salem, 171 N.C. App. 112, 613 S.E.2d 746, 2005 N.C. App. LEXIS 1161

# § 128-28. Administration and responsibility for operation of System.

- (a) **Vested in Board of Trustees.** The general administration and responsibility for the proper operation of the Retirement System and for making effective the provisions of this Article are hereby vested in the Board of Trustees: Provided, that all expenses in connection with the administration of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall be charged against and paid from the expense fund as provided in subsection (f) of G.S. 128-30.
- (b) **Board of Trustees a Body Politic and Corporate; Powers and Authority; Exemption from Taxation.** The Board of Trustees shall be a body politic and corporate under the name Board

of Trustees of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, and as a body politic and corporate shall have the right to sue and be sued, shall have perpetual succession and a common seal, and in said corporate name shall be able and capable in law to take, demand, receive and possess all kinds of real and personal property necessary and proper for its corporate purposes, and to bargain, sell, grant, alien, or dispose of all such real and personal property as it may lawfully acquire. All such property owned or acquired by said body politic and corporate shall be exempt from all taxes imposed by the State or any political subdivision thereof, and shall not be subject to income taxes.

- (c) **Members of Board.** The Board shall consist of (i) five members of the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System appointed under G.S. 135-6(b): the State Treasurer; the Superintendent of Public Instruction; the two members appointed by the General Assembly; and one of the two members appointed by the Governor who are not members of the teaching profession or State employees; and (ii) eight members designated by the Governor:
  - (1) One member shall be a mayor or a member of the governing body of a city or town participating in the Retirement System;
  - (2) One member shall be a county commissioner of a county participating in the Retirement System;
  - (3) One member shall be a law-enforcement officer employed by an employer participating in the Retirement System;
  - (4) One member shall be a county manager of a county participating in the Retirement System;
  - (5) One member shall be a city or town manager of a city or town participating in the Retirement System;
  - (6) One member shall be an active, Fair Labor Standards Act nonexempt, local governmental employee of an employer;
  - (7) One member shall be a retired, Fair Labor Standards Act nonexempt, local governmental employee of an employer; and
  - (8) One member shall be an active or retired member of the Firemen's and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund.

The Governor shall designate eight members on April 1 of years in which an election is held for the office of Governor, or as soon thereafter as possible, and the eight members designated by the Governor shall serve on the Board in addition to the regular duties of their city, town, or county office: Provided, that if for any reason any member appointed pursuant to subdivisions (1) through (6) of this subsection vacates the city, town, or county office or employment which the member held at the time of this designation, the Governor shall designate another member to serve until the next regular date for the designation of members to serve on the Board.

- (d) **Compensation of Trustees.** The trustees shall be paid during sessions of the Board at the prevailing rate established for members of State boards and commissions, and they shall be reimbursed for all necessary expenses that they incur through service on the Board.
- (e) **Oath.** Each trustee other than the ex officio members shall, within 10 days after his appointment, take an oath of office, that, so far as it devolves upon him, he will diligently and honestly administer the affairs of the said Board, and that he will not knowingly violate or willingly permit to be violated any of the provisions of law applicable to the Retirement System. Such oath shall be subscribed to by the member making it, and certified by the officer before whom it is taken, and immediately filed in the office of the Secretary of State: Provided, that where a local governmental official designated by the Governor has taken an oath of office in connection with the local governmental office that he holds, the oath for his local governmental office shall be deemed to be sufficient, and he shall not be required to take the oath hereinabove provided.
- (f) **Voting Rights.** Each trustee shall be entitled to one vote in the Board. A majority of affirmative votes in attendance shall be necessary for a decision by the trustees at any meeting of said Board. A vote may only be taken if at least seven members of the Board are in attendance, in person or by telephone, for the meeting at which a vote on a decision is taken.
- (f1) Effect of Vote Related to Contributory Death Benefit.

   No decision of the Board related to the Contributory Death Benefit provided for under this Article shall take effect unless and until this same decision has been made and voted on by the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
- (g) **Rules and Regulations.** Subject to the limitations of this Article, the Board of Trustees shall, from time to time, establish rules and regulations for the administration of the funds created by this Article and for the transaction of its business. The Board of Trustees shall also, from time to time, in its discretion, adopt rules and regulations to prevent injustices and inequalities which might otherwise arise in the administration of this Article.
- (h) Officers and Other Employees, Salaries and Expenses.— The State Treasurer shall be ex officio chair of the Board of Trustees and shall appoint a director. The Board of Trustees shall engage such actuarial and other service as shall be required to transact the business of the Retirement System. The compensation of all persons engaged by the Board of Trustees, and all other expenses of the Board necessary for the operation of the Retirement System, shall be paid at such rates and in such amounts as the Board of Trustees shall approve.
- (i) Actuarial Data. The Board of Trustees shall keep in convenient form such data as shall be necessary for actuarial

valuation of the various funds of the Retirement System, and for checking the experience of the System.

- (j) **Record of Proceedings; Annual Report.** The Board of Trustees shall keep a record of all of its proceedings which shall be open to public inspection. It shall publish annually a report showing the fiscal transactions of the Retirement System for the preceding year, the amount of the accumulated cash and securities of the System, and the last balance sheet showing the financial condition of the System by means of an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the Retirement System. It shall also publish annually a report on supplemental insurance offerings that are made available to retirees and the extent to which retirees participate in those offerings.
- (k) **Legal Adviser.** The Attorney General shall be the legal adviser of the Board of Trustees.
- (l) Medical Board. The Board of Trustees shall designate a Medical Board to be composed of not less than three nor more than five physicians not eligible to participate in the Retirement System. The Board of Trustees may structure appointment requirements and term durations for those medical board members. If required, other physicians may be employed to report on special cases. The Medical Board shall arrange for and pass upon all medical examinations required under the provisions of this Chapter, and shall investigate all essential statements and certificates by or on behalf of a member in connection with an application for disability retirement, and shall report in writing to the Board of Trustees its conclusion and recommendations upon all the matters referred to it. A person serving on the medical board shall be immune individually from civil liability for monetary damages, except to the extent covered by insurance, for any act or failure to act arising out of that service, except where any of the following apply:
  - (1) The person was not acting within the scope of that person's official duties.
  - (2) The person was not acting in good faith.
  - (3) The person committed gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct that resulted in the damages or injury.
  - (4) The person derived an improper financial benefit, either directly or indirectly, from the transaction.
  - (5) The person incurred the liability from the operation of a motor vehicle.
- (m) **Duties of Actuary.** The Board of Trustees shall designate an actuary who shall be the technical adviser of the Board of Trustees on matters regarding the operation of the funds created by the provisions of this Chapter and shall perform such other duties as are required in connection therewith. The experience studies and all other actuarial calculations required by this Chapter, and all the assumptions used by the System's actuary, including mortality

tables, interest rates, annuity factors, the contribution-based benefit cap factor, and employer contribution rates, shall be set out in the actuary's periodic reports, annual valuations of System assets, or other materials provided to the Board of Trustees. Notwithstanding Article 2A of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, these materials, once accepted by the Board, shall be considered part of the Plan documentation governing this Retirement System and shall be effective the first day of the month following adoption unless a different date is specified in the adopting resolution. The effective date shall not retroactively affect a contribution rate. The Board's minutes relative to all actuarial assumptions used by the System shall also be considered part of the Plan documentation governing this Retirement System, with the result of precluding any employer discretion in the determination of benefits payable hereunder, consistent with Section 401(a)(25) of the Internal Revenue Code.

- (n) Immediately after the establishment of the Retirement System the actuary shall make such investigation of the mortality, service and compensation experience of the members of the System as he shall recommend and the Board of Trustees shall authorize, and on the basis of such investigation he shall recommend for adoption by the Board of Trustees such tables and such rates as are required in subsection (o), paragraphs (1) and (2), of this section. The Board of Trustees shall adopt tables and certify rates, and as soon as practicable thereafter the actuary shall make a valuation based on such tables and rates of the assets and liabilities of the funds created by this Chapter.
- (o) In the year 1945, and at least once in each five-year period thereafter, the actuary shall make an actuarial investigation into the mortality, service and compensation experience of the members and beneficiaries of the Retirement System and shall make a valuation of the assets and liabilities of the funds of the System. Taking into account the result of such investigation and valuation, the Board of Trustees shall do all of the following:
  - (1) Adopt any necessary mortality, service, or other tables and any necessary contribution-based benefit cap factors for the Retirement System.
  - (2) Certify the rates of contributions payable by the participating units on account of new entrants at various ages.

In order to pay for the administration of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the Retirement System or may pay the costs directly from the retirement assets.

(p) On the basis of the tables and interest assumption rate as adopted by the Board of Trustees, the actuary shall make an annual valuation of the assets and liabilities of the funds of the System created by this Chapter. The annual valuation shall include a supplementary section that provides an analysis of assets on a

market basis using the 30-year treasury rate as of December 31 of the year of the valuation as the discount rate. In order to pay for the administration of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the Retirement System or may pay the costs directly from the retirement assets.

- (q) Notwithstanding any law, rule, regulation or policy to the contrary, any board, agency, department, institution or subdivision of the State maintaining lists of names and addresses in the administration of their programs may upon request provide to the Retirement System information limited to social security numbers, current name and addresses of persons identified by the System as members, beneficiaries, and beneficiaries of members of the System. The System shall use such information for the sole purpose of notifying members, beneficiaries, and beneficiaries of members of their rights to and accruals of benefits in the Retirement System. Any social security number, current name and address so obtained and any information concluded therefrom and the source thereof shall be treated as confidential and shall not be divulged by any employee of the Retirement System or of the Department of State Treasurer except as may be necessary to notify the member, beneficiary, or beneficiary of the member of their rights to and accruals of benefits in the Retirement System. Any person, officer, employee or former employee violating this provision shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor; and if such offending person be a public official or employee, he shall be dismissed from office or employment and shall not hold any public office or employment in this State for a period of five years thereafter.
- (r) Fraud Investigations and Compliance Investigations.—Access to Persons and Records.—In the course of conducting a fraud investigation or compliance investigation, the Retirement Systems Division, or authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff, shall:
  - (1) Have ready access to persons and may examine and copy all books, records, reports, vouchers, correspondence, files, personnel files, investments, and any other documentation of any employer. The review of State tax returns shall be limited to matters of official business, and the Division's report shall not violate the confidentiality provisions of tax laws.
  - (2) Have such access to persons, records, papers, reports, vouchers, correspondence, books, and any other documentation that is in the possession of any individual, private corporation, institution, association, board, or other organization which pertain to the following:
    - a. Amounts received pursuant to a grant or contract from the federal government, the State, or its political subdivisions.

- b. Amounts received, disbursed, or otherwise handled on behalf of the federal government or the State.
- (3) Have the authority, and shall be provided with ready access, to examine and inspect all property, equipment, and facilities in the possession of any employer agency or any individual, private corporation, institution, association, board, or other organization that were furnished or otherwise provided through grant, contract, or any other type of funding by the employer agency.

With respect to the requirements of sub-subdivision (2)b. of this subsection, providers of social and medical services to a beneficiary shall make copies of records they maintain for services provided to a beneficiary available to the Retirement Systems Division, or to the authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff. Copies of the records of social and medical services provided to a beneficiary will permit verification of the health or other status of a beneficiary as required for the payment of benefits under Article 3 of this Chapter. The Retirement Systems Division, or authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff, shall request records in writing by providing the name of each beneficiary for whom records are sought. the purpose of the request, the statutory authority for the request, and a reasonable period of time for the production of record copies by the provider. A provider may charge, and the Retirement Systems Division, or authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff, shall, in accordance with G.S. 90-411, pay a reasonable fee to the provider for copies of the records provided in accordance with this subsection.

(s) Fraud Investigative Reports and Work Papers or Compliance Investigative Reports and Work Papers. — The Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division shall maintain for 10 years a complete file of all fraud investigative reports, compliance investigative reports, and reports of other examinations, investigations, surveys, and reviews issued under the Executive Director's authority. Fraud investigation work papers, compliance investigation work papers, and other evidence or related supportive material directly pertaining to the work of the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall be retained according to an agreement between the Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division and State Archives. To promote intergovernmental cooperation and avoid unnecessary duplication of fraud or compliance investigative effort, and notwithstanding local unit personnel policies to the contrary, pertinent work papers and other supportive material relating to issued fraud investigation reports or compliance investigative reports may be, at the discretion of the Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division and, unless otherwise prohibited by law, made available for inspection by duly

authorized representatives of the State and federal government who desire access to and inspection of such records in connection with some matter officially before them, including criminal investigations. Except as provided in this section, or upon an order issued in Wake County Superior Court upon 10 days' notice and hearing finding that access is necessary to a proper administration of justice, fraud or compliance investigation work papers and related supportive material shall be kept confidential, including any information developed as a part of the investigation.

- (t) **Fraud Reports May Be Anonymous.** The identity of any person reporting fraud, waste, and abuse to the Retirement Systems Division shall be kept confidential and shall not be maintained as a public record within the meaning of G.S. 132-1.
- (u) **Immunity.** A person serving on the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System Board of Trustees shall be immune individually from civil liability for monetary damages, except to the extent covered by insurance, for any act or failure to act arising out of that service, except where any of the following apply:
  - The person was not acting within the scope of that person's official duties.
  - (2) The person was not acting in good faith.
  - (3) The person committed gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct that resulted in the damages or injury.
  - (4) The person derived an improper personal financial benefit, either directly or indirectly, from the transaction.
  - (5) The person incurred the liability from the operation of a motor vehicle.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 8; 1941, c. 357, s. 6; 1945, c. 526, s. 7; 1961, c. 515, ss. 3, 4; 1965, c. 781; 1969, c. 442, s. 15; 1973, c. 243, s. 8; 1985, c. 479, s. 196(o); 1987, c. 539, s. 1; 1993, c. 539, s. 944; 1994, Ex. Sess., c. 24, s. 14(c); 2006-64, ss. 1.1, 1.2; 2012-130, ss. 2(a), 9(a); 2012-185, ss. 2(c), 4(a); 2013-287, s. 4(b); 2014-112, ss. 4(b), 6(b); 2016-108, s. 6(d), (e); 2017-128, s. 1(h); 2018-85, s. 12; 2020-29, s. 2(b); 2020-48, ss. 4.1(b), 4.2(c), (d); 2024-9, s. 1(d).

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2006-64, s. 2, provides: "This act is effective when it becomes law [July 9, 2006], and the additional members shall be designated by the Governor to serve until April 1, 2008, when their successors shall be designated."

Session Laws 2014-112, s. 6(b), effective October 1, 2014, added a subsection (u) to G.S. 128-27. It was recodified as subsection (u) of this section at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.2(e), made the amendment to subsections (o) and (p) of this section by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.2(c), (d), effective June 26, 2020, and applicable to actuarial investigations and calculations made on or after that date.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 2(b), effective June 19, 2020, added subsection (f1).

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.1(b), effective June 26, 2020, in subsection (m), in the second sentence, deleted "For purposes of the annual valuation of System assets" at the beginning and inserted "the contribution-based benefit cap factor" and "annual valuations of System assets," and in the third sentence, inserted "Notwithstanding Article 2A of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes" and "and shall be effective the first day of

the month following adoption unless a different date is specified in the adopting resolution," added the fourth sentence; and made minor stylistic changes.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.2(c), (d), rewrote subsection (o); and in subsection (p), substituted "adopted by the Board of Trustees" for "the Board of Trustees shall adopt" in the first sentence, added the

last sentence, and made a minor stylistic change. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 1(d), effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (s), inserted "Executive" throughout, inserted "Systems Division" twice, and made minor stylistic changes.

## § 128-29. Management of funds.

- (a) **Vested in Board of Trustees.** The Board of Trustees shall be the trustee of the several funds created by this Article as provided in G.S. 128-30.
- (b) Annual Allowance of Regular Interest. The Board of Trustees annually shall allow regular interest on the mean amount for the preceding year in each of the funds with the exception of the expense fund. The amounts so allowed shall be due and payable to said funds, and shall be annually credited thereto by the Board of Trustees from interest and other earnings on the moneys of the Retirement System. Any additional amount required to meet the interest on the funds of the Retirement System shall be paid from the pension accumulation fund, and any excess of earnings over such amount required shall be paid to the pension accumulation fund. Regular interest shall mean interest at the rate of four per centum (4%) per annum with respect to all calculations and allowances on account of members' contributions and at the rate of three per centum (3%) per annum with respect to employers' contributions, with the right reserved to the Board of Trustees to set a different rate or rates from time to time.
- (c) **Custodian of Funds.** The State Treasurer shall be the custodian of the several funds and shall invest their assets in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 147-69.2 and 147-69.3. All payments from said funds shall be made by him only upon vouchers signed by two persons designated by the Board of Trustees. The secretary of the Board of Trustees shall furnish said Board a surety bond in a company authorized to do business in North Carolina in such amount as shall be required by the Board, the premium to be paid from the expense fund.
- (d) Cash Deposits for Meeting Disbursements. For the purpose of meeting disbursements for pensions, annuities and other payments there may be kept available cash, not exceeding ten per centum (10%) of the total amount in the several funds of the Retirement System, on deposit in one or more banks or trust companies of the State of North Carolina, organized under the laws of the State of North Carolina, or of the United States: Provided, that the sum on deposit in any one bank or trust company shall not exceed twenty-five per centum (25%) of the paid up capital and surplus of such bank or trust company.

- (e) **Selection of Depositories.** The Board of Trustees shall select a bank or banks for the deposits of the funds and securities of the Retirement System in the same manner as such banks are selected by the Treasurer of the State of North Carolina. Banks selected under this subsection shall be required to conform to the law governing banks selected by the State. The funds and properties of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System held in any bank of the State shall be safeguarded by a fidelity and surety bond, the amount to be determined by the Board of Trustees.
- (f) **Immunity of Funds.** Except as otherwise herein provided, no trustee and no employee of the Board of Trustees shall have any direct interest in the gains or profits of any investment made by the Board of Trustees, nor as such receive any pay or emolument for this service. No trustee or employee of the Board shall, directly or indirectly, for himself or as an agent in any manner use the same, except to make such current and necessary payments as are authorized by the Board of Trustees; nor shall any trustee or employee of the Board of Trustees become an endorser or surety or in any manner an obligor for moneys loaned or borrowed from the Board of Trustees.
- (g) Legislative Enactment Implementation Arrangement. The Legislative Enactment Implementation Arrangement, or LEIA, is established effective October 1, 2017, and placed under the management of the Board of Trustees. The purpose of the LEIA is to provide for timely administrative implementation of legislative provisions regarding the retirement of, or payment of retirement benefits to, public officers or public employees. The LEIA shall have the following parameters:
  - (1) **Administration.** The LEIA shall be administered by the Board of Trustees, which shall compile and maintain all records necessary or appropriate for administration. The Board of Trustees shall have full discretionary authority to interpret, construe, and implement the LEIA and to adopt such rules and regulations as may be necessary or desirable to implement the provisions of the LEIA.
  - (2) **Funding of the LEIA.** In the event that the General Assembly creates or modifies any provision for the retirement of, or payment of retirement benefits to, public officers or public employees that has a cost savings as measured by actuarial note required by Article 15 of Chapter 120 of the General Statutes, the Board of Trustees may direct up to one hundredth percent (0.01%) of the required contributions to fund the LEIA. These funds must be deposited in a separate fund from the fund into which regular employer contributions are deposited for the Retirement System. The Board of Trustees shall not direct any employer contributions into the LEIA after January 1, 2035.

- (3) **Allocation of LEIA funds.** The Board of Trustees may allocate LEIA funds to (i) the implementation of legislative provisions regarding the retirement of, or payment for retirement benefits to, public officers or public employees, or (ii) be used for administrative or information technology purposes, subject to the following restrictions:
  - a. The Board of Trustees must identify individual implementation projects that will be paid for with LEIA funds. These implementation projects must be necessitated by a specific statute or session law that was enacted within five years of the allocation of the funds. The Board of Trustees must also identify the number of years for which each individual implementation project with be paid for will LEIA funds.
  - b. For implementation projects that will be paid for with LEIA funds for a period of one year or less, the Board of Trustees must determine that the cost savings from implementing the project is projected to be no less than half of the amount of LEIA funds utilized to pay for implementation.
  - c. For implementation projects that will be paid for with LEIA funds for a period of greater than one year, but not more than four years, the Board of Trustees must determine that the long-term cost savings from implementing the project is projected to be at least three times greater than the cost of implementation.
  - d. No implementation project shall be paid for with LEIA funds for a period of more than four years.
  - e. The Board of Trustees shall identify the specific administrative or information technology purpose for which LEIA funds will be used. Any use of LEIA funds for administrative or information technology purposes requires a determination by the Board of Trustees that the use of funds is necessary to prevent an interruption to the normal operation of the Retirement System.
- (4) **Treatment of unused assets.** Any assets of the LEIA not used to pay allowed administrative expenses for timely administrative implementation of legislative provisions shall be transferred to the Retirement System as an additional employer contribution.
- (5) **Reporting.** The Department of State Treasurer shall report to the Board of Trustees, the Joint Legislative Commission on Governmental Operations, and the Fiscal Research Division on or before August 1 of each year and provide the following information related to the LEIA:
  - a. The amounts and sources of funds collected by year pursuant to this section.

- b. The amounts expended from the LEIA.
- c. The projects for which funds were expended and the current status of the projects.
- d. The administrative and information technology purposes for which funds were expended and the determination by the Board of Trustees of the necessity to expend funds for those purposes.
- The Board of Trustees shall also post this report on its public website.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 9; 1941, c. 357, s. 7; 1945, c. 526, s. 5; 1957, c. 846, s. 1; 1959, c. 1181, s. 1; 1961, c. 397; 1967, c. 978, s. 8; 1971, c. 386, s. 3; 1973, c. 243, s. 10; 1979, c. 467, ss. 12, 13; 2017-129, s. 5(b); 2020-29, s. 8(b); 2023-134, s. 27.10(h); 2024-8, s. 6(b); 2024-9, s. 4(d).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 8(b), effective June 19, 2020, substituted "November 1, 2026" for "November 1, 2021" in the last sentence of subdivision (g)(2).

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 27.10(h), effective October 3, 2023, substituted "Governmental" for "Government" in the first sentence of subdivision (g)(5).

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 6(b), effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (h), substituted "Legislative Enactment Implementation Arrangement, or LEIA" for "Legislative Enactment Implementation Arrangement (LEIA)" in the introductory language, substituted "January 1, 2035" for "November 1, 2026" in the last sentence of subdivision (h)(2), inserted "(i)" and "or (ii) be used for administrative or information technology purposes" in the introductory language of subdivision (h)(3), added sub-subdivision (h)(3)e., and rewrote subdivision (h)(5).

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 4(d), effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (e), substituted "Banks selected under this subsection" for "Such banks selected" in the second sentence, and inserted "Local" in the third sentence.

## § 128-29.1. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2015-67, s. 4, effective July 1, 2015.

#### History.

1961, c. 626; 1965, c. 415, s. 2; 1973, c. 243, s. 10; repealed by 2015-67, s. 4, effective July 1, 2015.

authority of the Board of Trustees to invest in certain common and preferred stocks.

### Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 128-29.1 pertained to the

# § 128-30. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Method of financing.

## (a) Funds to Which Assets of Retirement System Credited.

- All of the assets of the Retirement System shall be credited according to the purpose for which they are held to one of three funds, namely, the annuity savings fund, the pension accumulation fund, and the expense fund.
  - (b) **Annuity Savings Fund.** Contributions from the compen-

sation of members to provide for their annuities shall be deposited into the Annuity Savings Fund. Contributions to and payments from the Annuity Savings Fund shall be made as follows:

- (1) With respect to compensation paid on and after July 1, 1976, each participating employer shall deduct from the salary of each member on every payroll of the employer for every payroll period, six per centum (6%) of the compensation received by the member. Such rates shall apply uniformly to all members of the Retirement System, irrespective of class.
- (2) The deductions provided for herein shall be made notwithstanding that the minimum compensation provided for by law for any member shall be reduced thereby. Every member shall be deemed to consent and agree to the deductions made and provided for herein and shall receipt for his full salary or compensation, and payment of salary or compensation less said deduction shall be a full and complete discharge and acquittance of all claims and demands whatsoever for the services rendered by such person during the period covered by such payment, except as to the benefits provided under this Article. The employer shall certify to the Board of Trustees on each and every payroll or in such other manner as the Board of Trustees may prescribe, the amounts to be deducted; and each of said amounts shall be deducted, and when deducted shall be paid into said annuity savings fund, and shall be credited, together with regular interest thereon to the individual account of the member from whose compensation said deduction was
- (3) The accumulated contributions of a member drawn by him, or paid to his estate or to his designated beneficiary in event of his death as provided in this Article, shall be paid from the annuity savings fund. Upon the retirement of a member his accumulated contributions shall be transferred from the annuity savings fund to the annuity reserve fund.
- (4) The Board of Trustees may approve the purchase of creditable service by any member for leaves of absence or for interrupted service to an employer only for the purpose of acquiring knowledge, talents, or abilities and to increase the efficiency of service to the employer, subject to the provisions of this subdivision. A leave of absence or interrupted service may be approved for purchase under this subdivision for a period of employment as a teacher in a charter school. Any other leave of absence or interrupted service shall qualify for purchase under this subdivision only if (i) during the time of the leave or interrupted service the member is enrolled and participates in a full-time

degree program at an accredited institution of higher education, (ii) the member is not paid compensation, other than a stipend resulting from participation in a full-time degree program, for the activity in which he or she is acquiring knowledge, talents, or abilities, and (iii) the service is not purchased for any month in which the member performed any services for any of the organizations listed in G.S. 135-27(a) or G.S. 135-27(f), or a successor to any of those organizations. Approval by the Board of Trustees under this subdivision shall be made prior to the purchase of the creditable service, is limited to a career total of four years for each member, and may be obtained in the following manner:

- a. **Approved leave of absence.** Where the employer grants an approved leave of absence, a member may make monthly contributions to the annuity savings fund on the basis of compensation the member was earning immediately prior to such leave of absence. The employer shall make monthly contributions equal to the normal and accrued liability contribution on such compensation or, in lieu thereof, the member may pay into the annuity savings fund monthly an amount equal to the employer's normal and accrued liability contribution when the policy of the employer is not to make such payment.
- b. No educational leave policy. Where the employer has a policy of not granting educational leaves of absence or the member has unsuccessfully petitioned for leave of absence and the member has interrupted service for educational purposes, the member may make monthly contributions into the annuity savings fund in an amount equal to the employee contribution plus the employer normal and accrued liability contribution on the basis of the compensation the member was earning immediately prior to the interrupted service.
- c. Educational program prior to July 1, 1981. Educational program prior to July 1, 1981. Creditable service for leaves of absence or interrupted service for educational purposes prior to July 1, 1981, may be purchased on or before December 31, 2038, by a member, before or after retirement, who returned as a contributing employee or teacher within 12 months after completing the educational program and completed 10 years of subsequent membership service. Purchases under this sub-subdivision shall be made by making a lump sum payment into the Annuity Savings

Fund equal to the full cost of the service credits calculated on the basis of the assumptions used for purposes of the actuarial valuation of the system's liabilities and shall take into account the retirement allowance arising on account of the additional service credit commencing at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance as determined by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary, plus a fee to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Payments required to be made by the member, the employer, or both under sub-subdivision a. or b. of this subdivision are due by the 15th of the month following the month for which the service credit is allowed and payments made after the due date shall be assessed a penalty, in lieu of interest, of one percent (1%) per month or fraction thereof the payment is made beyond the due date; provided, that these payments shall be made prior to retirement and provided further, that if the member did not become a contributing member within 12 months after completing the educational program and failed to complete three years of subsequent membership service, except in the event of death or disability, any payment made by the member including penalty shall be refunded with regular interest thereon and the service credits cancelled prior to or at retirement.

(b1) **Pick Up of Employee Contributions.** — Anything within this section to the contrary notwithstanding, effective July 1, 1982, an employer, pursuant to the provisions of section 414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended, may elect to pick up and pay the contributions which would be payable by the employees as members under subsection (b) of this section with respect to the service of employees after June 30, 1982.

The members' contributions picked up by an employer shall be designated for all purposes of the Retirement System as member contributions, except for the determination of tax upon a distribution from the System. These contributions shall be credited to the annuity savings fund and accumulated within the fund in a member's account which shall be separately established for the purpose of accounting for picked-up contributions.

Member contributions picked up by an employer shall be payable from the same source of funds used for the payment of compensation to a member. A deduction shall be made from a member's compensation equal to the amount of his contributions picked up by his employer. This deduction, however, shall not reduce his compensation as defined in subdivision (7a) of G.S. 128-21. Picked-up contributions shall be transmitted to the System monthly for the preceding month by means of a warrant drawn by the employer and

payable to the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and shall be accompanied by a schedule of the picked-up contributions on such forms as may be prescribed. In the case of a failure to fulfill these conditions the provisions of subsection (g)(3) of this section shall apply.

- (b2) **Retroactive Adjustment in Compensation or an Underreporting of Compensation.** A member or beneficiary who is awarded backpay in cases of a denied promotional opportunity or wrongful demotion in which the aggrieved member or beneficiary is granted a promotion or a demotion is reversed retroactively, or in cases in which an employer errs in the reporting of compensation, including the employee and employer contributions, the member or beneficiary and employer may make employee and employer contributions on the retroactive or additional compensation after submitting clear and convincing evidence of the retroactive promotion or underreporting of compensation, as follows:
  - (1) Within 90 days of the denial of the promotion or the error in reporting, by the payment of employee and employer contributions that would have been paid; or
  - (2) After 90 days of the denial of the promotion or the error in reporting, by the payment of the employee and employer contributions that would have been paid plus interest compounded annually at a rate equal to the greater of the average yield on the pension accumulation fund for the preceding calendar year or the actuarial investment rateof-return assumption, as adopted by the Board of Trustees.

For members or beneficiaries electing to make the employee contributions on the retroactive adjustment in compensation or on the underreported compensation, the member's or beneficiary's employer, which granted the retroactive promotion or erred in underreporting compensation and contributions, shall make the required employer contributions. Nothing contained in this subsection shall prevent an employer from paying all or a part of the interest assessed on the employee contributions; and to the extent paid by the employer, the interest paid by the employer shall be credited to the pension accumulation fund; provided, however, an employer does not discriminate against any member or beneficiary or group of members or beneficiaries in his employ in paying all or any part of the interest assessed on the employee contributions due.

In the event the retroactive adjustment in compensation or the underreported compensation is for a period that occurs during the four consecutive calendar years that would have produced the highest average annual compensation pursuant to G.S. 128-21(5), the compensation the member or beneficiary would have received during the period shall be included in calculating the member's or beneficiary's average final compensation only in the event the appropriate employee and employer contributions are paid on such compensation.

An employer error in underreporting compensation shall not include a retroactive increase in compensation that occurs during the four consecutive calendar years that would have produced the highest average annual compensation pursuant to G.S. 128-21(5), for reasons other than a wrongfully denied promotional opportunity or wrongful demotion where the member is promoted or the demotion is reversed retroactively.

- (c) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(g), effective June 30, 2017.
- (d) **Pension Accumulation Fund.** The pension accumulation fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated all reserves for the payment of all pensions and other benefits payable from contributions made by employers and from which shall be paid all pensions and other benefits on account of members with prior service credit. Contributions to and payments from the pension accumulation fund shall be made as follows:
  - (1) Each participating employer shall pay to the pension accumulation fund monthly, or at such other intervals as may be agreed upon with the Board of Trustees, an amount equal to a certain percentage of the actual compensation of each member, to be known as the "normal contribution" and an additional amount equal to a percentage of the member's actual compensation to be known as the "accrued liability contribution." The rate per centum of such contributions shall be fixed on the basis of the liabilities of the Retirement System as shown by actuarial valuation and duly approved by the Board of Trustees, which shall be called the "actuarially determined employer contribution rate."
  - (2) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(i), effective June 30, 2017.
  - (2a) The actuarially determined employer contribution rate shall be calculated annually by the actuary using assumptions and a cost method approved by the Actuarial Standards Board of the American Academy of Actuaries and selected by the Board of Trustees.
  - (3) The "past service liability contribution" shall be set for each employer on the basis of the prior service credits allowable to the employees thereof, who are entitled to prior service certificates, and shall be paid for a period of approximately 30 years, provided that the length of the period of payment for each employer after contributions begin shall be determined by the Board of Trustees as the result of actuarial valuations.
  - (4) Upon the date of participation for each employer, the past service liability payable by such employer shall be set, by deducting from the present value of the total liability for all pensions payable on account of all members and pensioners

- of the System who became participants through service for such employer, the present value of the future normal contributions payable, and the amount of any assets resulting from any contributions previously made by such employer. Then the "past service liability contribution rate" for such employer shall be the per centum of the total annual compensation of all members employed by the employer which is estimated to extinguish the liability in 24 years.
- (4a) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, as of the beginning of the fiscal year following 90 days after the assessment of a contribution-based benefit cap liability that is not paid as a lump sum payment, the required employer contribution rate for an employer shall be adjusted to include an additional contribution amount equal to a rate per centum that is estimated to extinguish the contribution-based benefit cap liability on an amortization schedule selected by the Board that has been applied to unfunded liabilities in the most recent actuarial valuation.
- (5) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the total amount payable in each year to the pension accumulation fund shall not be less than the sum of the rate per centum known as the actuarially determined employer contribution rate and the past service liability contribution rate of the total earned compensation of all members during the preceding year as adjusted under a contribution rate policy adopted by the Board of Trustees and known as the "required employer contribution rate." The Board of Trustees shall not adopt a contribution rate policy that results in a rate less than the normal contribution rate.
- (6) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(i), effective June 30, 2017.
- (7) All pensions, and benefits in lieu thereof, with the exception of those payable on account of members who received no prior service allowance, payable from contributions of employers, shall be paid from the pension accumulation fund.
- (8) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(i), effective June 30, 2017.
- (9) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes and the foregoing provisions of this subsection, the actuary shall determine an additional "accrued liability contribution rate" and a "normal contribution rate" on account of the total earned compensation of each employer's law enforcement officers each year, known as the "required employer contribution for law enforcement officers rate." The required employer contribution for law enforcement officers rate may be adjusted under a contribution rate policy adopted by the Board of Trustees and added to the

- employers' past service liability rate. The Board of Trustees shall not adopt a contribution rate policy that results in a rate less than the normal contribution rate.
- (10) For fiscal years beginning subsequent to January 1, 2017, the sum of the "normal contribution" and the "accrued liability contribution" shall not be less than the employee contribution required under subsection (b) of this section.
- (e) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(k), effective June 30, 2017.
- (f) **Expense Fund.** The expense fund shall be the fund from which the expenses of the administration of the Retirement System shall be paid, exclusive of amounts payable as retirement allowances and as other benefits provided herein. Contribution shall be made to the expense fund as follows:
  - (1) The Board of Trustees shall determine annually the amount required to defray such administrative expenses for the ensuing fiscal year and shall adopt a budget in accordance therewith. The budget estimate of such expenses shall be paid to the expense fund from the pension accumulation fund.
  - (2) For the purpose of organizing the Retirement System and establishing an office, the Board of Trustees may provide as a prerequisite to participation in the Retirement System that each participating employer or employee or both shall pay an additional contribution to the Retirement System for the expense fund not to exceed two dollars (\$2.00) for each employee, such contribution of the employee to be credited to his individual account in the annuity savings fund at such later time as the Board of Trustees shall determine, and/or the Board of Trustees may borrow such amounts as may be necessary to organize and establish the Retirement System.

## (g) Collection of Contributions. —

- (1) The collection of members' contributions shall be as follows:
  - a. Each employer shall cause to be deducted on each and every payroll of a member for each and every payroll subsequent to the date of participation in the Retirement System the contributions payable by such member as provided in this Article. Each employer shall certify to the treasurer of said employer on each and every payroll a statement as vouchers for the amount so deducted.
  - b. The treasurer of each employer on the authority from the employer shall make deductions from salaries of members as provided in this Article and shall transmit monthly, or at such time as the Board of Trustees shall designate, the amount specified to be deducted, to the

secretary-treasurer of the Board of Trustees. The secretary-treasurer of the Board of Trustees after making a record of all such receipts shall deposit them in a bank or banks selected by said Board of Trustees for use according to the provisions of this Article.

- (2) The collections of employers' contributions shall be made as follows:
  - a. Upon the basis of each actuarial valuation provided herein the Board of Trustees shall annually prepare and certify to each employer a statement of the total amount necessary for the ensuing fiscal year to the pension accumulation fund as provided under subsection (d) of this section. Such employer contributions shall be transmitted to the secretary-treasurer of the Board of Trustees together with the employee deductions as provided under sub-subdivision b. of subdivision (1) of this subsection.
  - b. Except as otherwise provided under this subdivision, each employer shall transmit to the Retirement System on account of each member who retires on or after January 1, 2015, having earned his or her last month of membership service as an employee of that employer the lump sum payment, as calculated under G.S. 128-26(y) for inclusion in the Pension Accumulation Fund, that would have been necessary in order for the Retirement System to restore the member's retirement allowance to the pre-cap amount. If the employer associated with the member's last month of membership service did not report to the Retirement System any compensation paid to the member during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation, then that employer shall not transmit the lump sum payment described in this subdivision, but instead the employer or employers who reported compensation during the member's average final compensation period shall each transmit a lump sum payment equal to the employer's share of the total required lump sum payment, allocated proportionally to each employer based on the total amount of compensation to the member that each employer reported during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation. Employers are not required to make contributions on account of any retiree who became a member on or after January 1, 2015, and who earned at least five years of membership service in the Retirement System after January 1, 2015. The retirement allowance of a member with an average final

compensation of more than one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, shall not be subject to the contribution-based benefit cap if the compensation was earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless an employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000). An employer is not required to make contributions on account of any retiree whose average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, based upon compensation earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless that employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as provided and indexed under G.S. 128-27(a3).

Under rules adopted by the Board of Trustees, the Retirement System shall report monthly to each employer a list of those members for whom the employer made a contribution to the Retirement System in the preceding month that are most likely to require an additional employer contribution should they elect to retire in the following 12 months, if applicable. Reports received under this section shall not be public records. Employers or former employers in receipt of a report under this section shall treat the report, and the information contained within that report, as confidential and as though it were still held by the Retirement System under G.S. 128-33.1.

(3) In the event the employee or employer contributions required under this section are not received by the date set by the Board of Trustees and provided that a one-time exception has not been agreed upon in advance due to exigent circumstances, the Board shall assess the employer with a penalty, in lieu of interest, of 1% per month with a minimum penalty of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00). The Board may waive one penalty per employer every five years if the Board finds that the employer has consistently demonstrated good-faith efforts to comply with the set deadline. If within 90 days after request therefor by the Board any employer shall not have provided the System with the records and other information required hereunder or if the full accrued amount of the contributions provided for under this section due from members employed by an employer or from an employer shall not have been received by the System from the chief fiscal officer of such employer within 30 days after the last due date as herein provided, then, notwithstanding anything herein or in the provisions of any

other law to the contrary, upon notification by the Board to the State Treasurer as to the default of such employer as herein provided, any distributions which might otherwise be made to such employer, or the municipality or county of which such employer is an integral part, from any funds of the State or any funds collected by the State shall be withheld from such employer until notice from the Board to the State Treasurer that such employer is no longer in default.

In the event that an employer fails to submit payment of any required contributions or payments to the Retirement Systems Division, other than the one percent (1%) payment provided for in the first paragraph of this subdivision, within 90 days after the date set by the Board of Trustees, the Board shall notify the State Treasurer of its intent to collect the delinquent contributions and other payments due to the Retirement Systems Division and request an interception of State appropriations due to the participating employer.

Except as provided in this subdivision, upon notification by the Board of Trustees to the State Treasurer and the Office of State Budget and Management as to the default of the employer, the Office of State Budget and Management shall withhold from any State appropriation due to that employer an amount equal to the sum of all delinquent contributions and other debts due to the Retirement Systems Division and shall transmit that amount to the Retirement Systems Division. For the purposes of this subsection, the date set by the Board of Trustees for payment of the contribution-based benefit cap liability shall be 12 months after the member's effective date of retirement, or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later.

- (4) In conjunction with the employee and employer contributions required under this section, the Board of Trustees shall direct employers to submit such information on a monthly basis as is necessary for proper administration of the Retirement System, actuarial valuation, and reporting under accounting standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation. Submission of such information by an employer to the Retirement System constitutes a certification of its accuracy.
- (g1) **Felony Forfeiture Impact on Contribution-Based Benefit Cap.** If an employer made contributions on account of a retiree subject to the contribution-based benefit cap under G.S.

135-8(f)(2)f. and that retiree later forfeits retirement benefits under G.S. 128-38.4, 128-38.3A, 135-18.10A, 135-18.30, 135-75.1, or 135-75.1A, then the Retirement Systems Division may provide a credit to the employer. This credit shall be calculated in an amount reflecting the impact of the forfeiture on the amount due under G.S. 128-26(y).

- (h) Merger of Annuity Reserve Fund, and Pension Reserve Fund into Pension Accumulation Fund. Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective at such date not later than December 31, 1959, as the Board of Trustees shall determine, the annuity reserve fund and the pension reserve fund shall be merged into and become a part of the pension accumulation fund, provided that such merger shall in no way adversely affect the rights of any members or retired members of the System and further provided the Board of Trustees shall be and hereby is authorized to make such changes in the accounting methods and procedures of the System from time to time as, in its opinion, are in the interest of sound and proper administration of the System.
- (i) **Procedure and Payment to Cease Participation.** Any employing unit that is allowed to cease participation in the Retirement System by the General Assembly or by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law shall do the following:
  - (1) The employer shall notify its employees and the Board of Trustees, in writing, of its action. A withdrawing employer shall be required to make a lump-sum withdrawal liability payment to the Board of Trustees as provided by this section.
  - (2) Complete withdrawal by an employer shall be the first day of the month following the date the Board of Trustees receives the employer's written notification. However, the complete withdrawal date shall not occur before the withdrawal liability is determined, as provided in subdivision (5) of this subsection.
  - (3) After complete withdrawal, all employees of the withdrawing employer shall be ineligible to accrue future benefits with the Retirement System due to employment with the withdrawing employer.
  - (4) All active or inactive members of the employer shall be eligible for benefits accrued with the Retirement System up to the complete withdrawal date. However, no retirement allowance or return of accumulated contributions shall be paid until the member actually terminates employment and completely separates from active service with the withdrawing employer, and there is no intent or agreement, express or implied, to return to service with the withdrawing employer.

- (5) On the date of complete withdrawal, the withdrawal liability of an employer is the greater of one thousand dollars (\$1,000) or the amount determined by a. multiplied by the ratio of b. to c., as follows:
  - a. The excess of the actuarial present value of the vested accrued benefits of the Retirement System's members over the market value of its assets, both as of the date of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date based on the plan provisions and actuarial assumptions used in the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date, except the interest rate assumption shall be reduced by an amount determined by the consulting actuary to reflect the increased investment, mortality, and other actuarial risk for the exiting agency's participants.
  - b. The total present value of accrued benefits of all active members of the withdrawing employer as of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date.
  - c. The total present value of accrued benefits of all active members of the Retirement System as of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date.
- (6) The actuarial costs to determine the amount described in subdivision (5) of this subsection shall be paid by the withdrawing employer. An employer that does not pay the lump-sum withdrawal liability payment described in subdivision (5) of this subsection and the actuarial costs to determine this withdrawal liability within 90 days of the complete withdrawal date will continue to be a participating employer.
- (7) Upon the complete withdrawal of the employer, the Retirement System shall have no further legal obligation to the employer or its employees, nor shall the Retirement System be held accountable for the continued future accrual of any retirement benefit rights to which the employees may be entitled beyond the complete withdrawal date. Any litigation regarding the forfeiture of any benefits because of the employer's complete withdrawal from the Retirement System shall be the sole legal responsibility of the withdrawing employer, and the withdrawing employer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Retirement System, its Board of Trustees, its employees, and the State of North Carolina from any claims, losses, costs, damages, expenses, and liabilities, including, without limitation, court costs, and reasonable attorneys' fees asserted by any person or entity

as a result of the employer's withdrawal from the Retirement System.

(j) **Pension Spiking Report.** — Upon receipt of a report from the Retirement System generated pursuant to G.S. 128-30(g)(2)b., containing a list of employees for whom the employer made a contribution to the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System that is likely to require an additional employer contribution should the employee elect to retire in the following 12 months, the employer's chief financial officer shall transmit a copy of the report to the governing body of the employer, if the employer has a governing body. Reports received under this section shall not be public records. Employers and former employers in receipt of a report under this section shall treat the report, and the information contained within that report, as confidential and as though it were still held by the Retirement System under G.S. 128-33.1.

#### History

1939, c. 390, s. 10; 1941, c. 357, s. 8; 1943, c. 535; 1945, c. 526, s. 6; 1951, c. 274, ss. 7-9; 1955, c. 1153, s. 7; 1959, c. 491, s. 9; 1965, c. 781; 1967, c. 978, ss. 9, 10; 1971, c. 325, ss. 17-19; 1975, 2nd Sess., c. 983, ss. 129, 130; 1981, c. 1000, ss. 1, 3; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1282, s. 9; 1985, c. 479, s. 196(p)-(r); c. 539, ss. 1, 2; 1991, c. 585, s. 2; 1995, c. 509, s. 68; 2003-359, s. 20; 2009-66, s. 7(b); 2010-72, s. 8(b); 2012-178, s. 3; 2014-88, s. 1(f); 2014-112, s. 2(b); 2015-164, ss. 5(b), 6(b); 2015-168, s. 3(b); 2016-56, ss. 6(b), 7(b); 2017-125, s. 2(b); 2017-128, ss. 4(c), 8(b); 2017-129, s. 2(c), (d), (g), (i), (k); 2018-52, s. 9(b); 2018-85, s. 13; 2020-29, s. 4(b); 2020-48, ss. 1.8(b), 1.16(e), (f); 2021-72, ss. 1.1(a), 3.1(c); 2021-75, ss. 1.3(a), 2.1(a); 2023-89, s. 2.6; 2024-9, s. 2(b); 2024-10, s. 10.

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the 'Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(e), made subdivision (d)(4a), as added by Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(a), effective July 1, 2022, and applicable to assessments imposed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(c), made "or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later" at the end of the last paragraph of subdivision (g)(3), as added by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(a), applicable to contribution-based benefit cap liability payments due from an employer on or after July 1, 2021.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(c), made the insertion of "or by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law" in the introductory language of subsection (i) by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(a), applicable to a participation withdrawal by an employing unit on or after July 1, 2021.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(c), made the amendment of subsection (g) of this section by Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(b), effective January 1, 2025, and applicable to employee and employer contributions, and the information to be submitted in conjunction with those contributions, required on or after that date.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 4(b), effective June 19, 2020, in subdivision (g)(3), in the last paragraph, added the exception at the beginning and added the last sentence.

Session Laws 2020-48, ss. 1.8(b), 1.16(e), (f), effective June 26, 2020, added the last two sentences in the second paragraph of sub-subdivision (g)(2)b; added subsection (g1); and, in subsection (j), substituted "if the employer has a governing body" for "if applicable" at the end of the first sentence, and added the last two sentences.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(a), added subdivision (d)(4a). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.1(c), effective July 1, 2022, in subdivision (g)(2)b, substituted "Except as otherwise provided under this subdivision, each employer" for "Each employer" and added the second sentence.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(a), effective July 1, 2021, added "or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later" at the end of the last paragraph of subdivision (g)(3). For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(a), effective July 1, 2021, inserted "or by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law" in the introductory language of subsection (i). For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 2.6, effective January 1, 2024, substituted "G.S. 128-21(5)" for "G.S. 135-1(5)" twice in subsection (b2).

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(b), in subsection (g), added "The following shall apply to the collection of contributions" to the introductory language, rewrote the first paragraph of subdivision (f)(3), and, in subdivision (f)(4), added the next-to-last sentence and made minor stylistic changes in the first and last sentences. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 2(b), effective June 20, 2024, made capitalization and minor stylistic changes throughout subsubdivision (g)(2)b.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 10, effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (b), rewrote the introductory language, inserted "of Trustees" in the last sentence of the introductory paragraph of subdivision (b)(4), in sub-subdivision (b)(5)c., inserted "on or before December 31, 2038," substituted "membership service. Purchases under this sub-subdivision shall be made by making a lump sum paying into the Annuity Savings Fund" for "membership service, by making a lump sum paying into the annuity savings fund," and substituted "Board of Trustees" for "board of trustees" twice, and substituted "sub-subdivision a. or b. of this subdivision" for "subparagraphs a or b" in the last paragraph of subdivision (b)(5).

## § 128-30. (Effective January 1, 2025) Method of financing.

## (a) Funds to Which Assets of Retirement System Credited.

- All of the assets of the Retirement System shall be credited according to the purpose for which they are held to one of three funds, namely, the annuity savings fund, the pension accumulation fund, and the expense fund.
- (b) **Annuity Savings Fund.** Contributions from the compensation of members to provide for their annuities shall be deposited into the Annuity Savings Fund. Contributions to and payments from the Annuity Savings Fund shall be made as follows:
  - (1) With respect to compensation paid on and after July 1, 1976, each participating employer shall deduct from the salary of

- each member on every payroll of the employer for every payroll period, six per centum (6%) of the compensation received by the member. Such rates shall apply uniformly to all members of the Retirement System, irrespective of class.
- (2) The deductions provided for herein shall be made notwithstanding that the minimum compensation provided for by law for any member shall be reduced thereby. Every member shall be deemed to consent and agree to the deductions made and provided for herein and shall receipt for his full salary or compensation, and payment of salary or compensation less said deduction shall be a full and complete discharge and acquittance of all claims and demands whatsoever for the services rendered by such person during the period covered by such payment, except as to the benefits provided under this Article. The employer shall certify to the Board of Trustees on each and every payroll or in such other manner as the Board of Trustees may prescribe, the amounts to be deducted; and each of said amounts shall be deducted, and when deducted shall be paid into said annuity savings fund, and shall be credited, together with regular interest thereon to the individual account of the member from whose compensation said deduction was made.
- (3) The accumulated contributions of a member drawn by him, or paid to his estate or to his designated beneficiary in event of his death as provided in this Article, shall be paid from the annuity savings fund. Upon the retirement of a member his accumulated contributions shall be transferred from the annuity savings fund to the annuity reserve fund.
- (4) The Board of Trustees may approve the purchase of creditable service by any member for leaves of absence or for interrupted service to an employer only for the purpose of acquiring knowledge, talents, or abilities and to increase the efficiency of service to the employer, subject to the provisions of this subdivision. A leave of absence or interrupted service may be approved for purchase under this subdivision for a period of employment as a teacher in a charter school. Any other leave of absence or interrupted service shall qualify for purchase under this subdivision only if (i) during the time of the leave or interrupted service the member is enrolled and participates in a full-time degree program at an accredited institution of higher education, (ii) the member is not paid compensation, other than a stipend resulting from participation in a full-time degree program, for the activity in which he or she is acquiring knowledge, talents, or abilities, and (iii) the

service is not purchased for any month in which the member performed any services for any of the organizations listed in G.S. 135-27(a) or G.S. 135-27(f), or a successor to any of those organizations. Approval by the Board of Trustees under this subdivision shall be made prior to the purchase of the creditable service, is limited to a career total of four years for each member, and may be obtained in the following manner:

- a. **Approved leave of absence.** Where the employer grants an approved leave of absence, a member may make monthly contributions to the annuity savings fund on the basis of compensation the member was earning immediately prior to such leave of absence. The employer shall make monthly contributions equal to the normal and accrued liability contribution on such compensation or, in lieu thereof, the member may pay into the annuity savings fund monthly an amount equal to the employer's normal and accrued liability contribution when the policy of the employer is not to make such payment.
- b. No educational leave policy. Where the employer has a policy of not granting educational leaves of absence or the member has unsuccessfully petitioned for leave of absence and the member has interrupted service for educational purposes, the member may make monthly contributions into the annuity savings fund in an amount equal to the employee contribution plus the employer normal and accrued liability contribution on the basis of the compensation the member was earning immediately prior to the interrupted service.
- c. Educational program prior to July 1, 1981. Creditable service for leaves of absence or interrupted service for educational purposes prior to July 1, 1981, may be purchased on or before December 31, 2038, by a member, before or after retirement, who returned as a contributing employee or teacher within 12 months after completing the educational program and completed 10 years of subsequent membership service. Purchases under this sub-subdivision shall be made by making a lump sum payment into the Annuity Savings Fund equal to the full cost of the service credits calculated on the basis of the assumptions used for purposes of the actuarial valuation of the system's liabilities and shall take into account the retirement allowance arising on account of the additional service credit commencing at the earliest age at which the

member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance as determined by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary, plus a fee to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Payments required to be made by the member, the employer, or both under sub-subdivision a. or b. of this subdivision are due by the 15th of the month following the month for which the service credit is allowed and payments made after the due date shall be assessed a penalty, in lieu of interest, of one percent (1%) per month or fraction thereof the payment is made beyond the due date; provided, that these payments shall be made prior to retirement and provided further, that if the member did not become a contributing member within 12 months after completing the educational program and failed to complete three years of subsequent membership service, except in the event of death or disability, any payment made by the member including penalty shall be refunded with regular interest thereon and the service credits cancelled prior to or at retirement.

(b1) **Pick Up of Employee Contributions.** — Anything within this section to the contrary notwithstanding, effective July 1, 1982, an employer, pursuant to the provisions of section 414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended, may elect to pick up and pay the contributions which would be payable by the employees as members under subsection (b) of this section with respect to the service of employees after June 30, 1982.

The members' contributions picked up by an employer shall be designated for all purposes of the Retirement System as member contributions, except for the determination of tax upon a distribution from the System. These contributions shall be credited to the annuity savings fund and accumulated within the fund in a member's account which shall be separately established for the purpose of accounting for picked-up contributions.

Member contributions picked up by an employer shall be payable from the same source of funds used for the payment of compensation to a member. A deduction shall be made from a member's compensation equal to the amount of his contributions picked up by his employer. This deduction, however, shall not reduce his compensation as defined in subdivision (7a) of G.S. 128-21. Picked-up contributions shall be transmitted to the System monthly for the preceding month by means of a warrant drawn by the employer and payable to the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and shall be accompanied by a schedule of the picked-up contributions on such forms as may be prescribed. In the case of a failure to fulfill these conditions the provisions of subsection (g)(3) of this section shall apply.

(b2) Retroactive Adjustment in Compensation or an Underreporting of Compensation. — A member or beneficiary who

is awarded backpay in cases of a denied promotional opportunity or wrongful demotion in which the aggrieved member or beneficiary is granted a promotion or a demotion is reversed retroactively, or in cases in which an employer errs in the reporting of compensation, including the employee and employer contributions, the member or beneficiary and employer may make employee and employer contributions on the retroactive or additional compensation after submitting clear and convincing evidence of the retroactive promotion or underreporting of compensation, as follows:

- (1) Within 90 days of the denial of the promotion or the error in reporting, by the payment of employee and employer contributions that would have been paid; or
- (2) After 90 days of the denial of the promotion or the error in reporting, by the payment of the employee and employer contributions that would have been paid plus interest compounded annually at a rate equal to the greater of the average yield on the pension accumulation fund for the preceding calendar year or the actuarial investment rateof-return assumption, as adopted by the Board of Trustees.

For members or beneficiaries electing to make the employee contributions on the retroactive adjustment in compensation or on the underreported compensation, the member's or beneficiary's employer, which granted the retroactive promotion or erred in underreporting compensation and contributions, shall make the required employer contributions. Nothing contained in this subsection shall prevent an employer from paying all or a part of the interest assessed on the employee contributions; and to the extent paid by the employer, the interest paid by the employer shall be credited to the pension accumulation fund; provided, however, an employer does not discriminate against any member or beneficiary or group of members or beneficiaries in his employ in paying all or any part of the interest assessed on the employee contributions due.

In the event the retroactive adjustment in compensation or the underreported compensation is for a period that occurs during the four consecutive calendar years that would have produced the highest average annual compensation pursuant to G.S. 128-21(5), the compensation the member or beneficiary would have received during the period shall be included in calculating the member's or beneficiary's average final compensation only in the event the appropriate employee and employer contributions are paid on such compensation.

An employer error in underreporting compensation shall not include a retroactive increase in compensation that occurs during the four consecutive calendar years that would have produced the highest average annual compensation pursuant to G.S. 128-21(5), for reasons other than a wrongfully denied promotional opportunity or wrongful demotion where the member is promoted or the demotion is reversed retroactively.

- (c) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(g), effective June 30, 2017.
- (d) **Pension Accumulation Fund.** The pension accumulation fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated all reserves for the payment of all pensions and other benefits payable from contributions made by employers and from which shall be paid all pensions and other benefits on account of members with prior service credit. Contributions to and payments from the pension accumulation fund shall be made as follows:
  - (1) Each participating employer shall pay to the pension accumulation fund monthly, or at such other intervals as may be agreed upon with the Board of Trustees, an amount equal to a certain percentage of the actual compensation of each member, to be known as the "normal contribution" and an additional amount equal to a percentage of the member's actual compensation to be known as the "accrued liability contribution." The rate per centum of such contributions shall be fixed on the basis of the liabilities of the Retirement System as shown by actuarial valuation and duly approved by the Board of Trustees, which shall be called the "actuarially determined employer contribution rate."
  - (2) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(i), effective June 30, 2017.
  - (2a) The actuarially determined employer contribution rate shall be calculated annually by the actuary using assumptions and a cost method approved by the Actuarial Standards Board of the American Academy of Actuaries and selected by the Board of Trustees.
  - (3) The "past service liability contribution" shall be set for each employer on the basis of the prior service credits allowable to the employees thereof, who are entitled to prior service certificates, and shall be paid for a period of approximately 30 years, provided that the length of the period of payment for each employer after contributions begin shall be determined by the Board of Trustees as the result of actuarial valuations.
  - (4) Upon the date of participation for each employer, the past service liability payable by such employer shall be set, by deducting from the present value of the total liability for all pensions payable on account of all members and pensioners of the System who became participants through service for such employer, the present value of the future normal contributions payable, and the amount of any assets resulting from any contributions previously made by such employer. Then the "past service liability contribution rate" for such employer shall be the per centum of the total annual compensation of all members employed by the employer which is estimated to extinguish the liability in 24 years.

- (4a) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, as of the beginning of the fiscal year following 90 days after the assessment of a contribution-based benefit cap liability that is not paid as a lump sum payment, the required employer contribution rate for an employer shall be adjusted to include an additional contribution amount equal to a rate per centum that is estimated to extinguish the contribution-based benefit cap liability on an amortization schedule selected by the Board that has been applied to unfunded liabilities in the most recent actuarial valuation.
- (5) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the total amount payable in each year to the pension accumulation fund shall not be less than the sum of the rate per centum known as the actuarially determined employer contribution rate and the past service liability contribution rate of the total earned compensation of all members during the preceding year as adjusted under a contribution rate policy adopted by the Board of Trustees and known as the "required employer contribution rate." The Board of Trustees shall not adopt a contribution rate policy that results in a rate less than the normal contribution rate.
- (6) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(i), effective June 30, 2017.
- (7) All pensions, and benefits in lieu thereof, with the exception of those payable on account of members who received no prior service allowance, payable from contributions of employers, shall be paid from the pension accumulation fund.
- (8) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(i), effective June 30, 2017.
- (9) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes and the foregoing provisions of this subsection, the actuary shall determine an additional "accrued liability contribution rate" and a "normal contribution rate" on account of the total earned compensation of each employer's law enforcement officers each year, known as the "required employer contribution for law enforcement officers rate." The required employer contribution for law enforcement officers rate may be adjusted under a contribution rate policy adopted by the Board of Trustees and added to the employers' past service liability rate. The Board of Trustees shall not adopt a contribution rate policy that results in a rate less than the normal contribution rate.
- (10) For fiscal years beginning subsequent to January 1, 2017, the sum of the "normal contribution" and the "accrued liability contribution" shall not be less than the employee contribution required under subsection (b) of this section.
- (e) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(k), effective June 30, 2017.

- (f) **Expense Fund.** The expense fund shall be the fund from which the expenses of the administration of the Retirement System shall be paid, exclusive of amounts payable as retirement allowances and as other benefits provided herein. Contribution shall be made to the expense fund as follows:
  - (1) The Board of Trustees shall determine annually the amount required to defray such administrative expenses for the ensuing fiscal year and shall adopt a budget in accordance therewith. The budget estimate of such expenses shall be paid to the expense fund from the pension accumulation fund.
  - (2) For the purpose of organizing the Retirement System and establishing an office, the Board of Trustees may provide as a prerequisite to participation in the Retirement System that each participating employer or employee or both shall pay an additional contribution to the Retirement System for the expense fund not to exceed two dollars (\$2.00) for each employee, such contribution of the employee to be credited to his individual account in the annuity savings fund at such later time as the Board of Trustees shall determine, and/or the Board of Trustees may borrow such amounts as may be necessary to organize and establish the Retirement System.
- (g) **Collection of Contributions.** The following shall apply to the collection of contributions:
  - (1) The collection of members' contributions shall be as follows:
    - a. Each employer shall cause to be deducted on each and every payroll of a member for each and every payroll subsequent to the date of participation in the Retirement System the contributions payable by such member as provided in this Article. Each employer shall certify to the treasurer of said employer on each and every payroll a statement as vouchers for the amount so deducted.
    - b. The treasurer of each employer on the authority from the employer shall make deductions from salaries of members as provided in this Article and shall transmit monthly, or at such time as the Board of Trustees shall designate, the amount specified to be deducted, to the secretary-treasurer of the Board of Trustees. The secretary-treasurer of the Board of Trustees after making a record of all such receipts shall deposit them in a bank or banks selected by said Board of Trustees for use according to the provisions of this Article.
  - (2) The collections of employers' contributions shall be made as follows:
    - a. Upon the basis of each actuarial valuation provided herein the Board of Trustees shall annually prepare

- and certify to each employer a statement of the total amount necessary for the ensuing fiscal year to the pension accumulation fund as provided under subsection (d) of this section. Such employer contributions shall be transmitted to the secretary-treasurer of the Board of Trustees together with the employee deductions as provided under sub-subdivision b. of subdivision (1) of this subsection.
- b. Except as otherwise provided under this subdivision, each employer shall transmit to the Retirement System on account of each member who retires on or after January 1, 2015, having earned his or her last month of membership service as an employee of that employer the lump sum payment, as calculated under G.S. 128-26(y) for inclusion in the Pension Accumulation Fund, that would have been necessary in order for the Retirement System to restore the member's retirement allowance to the pre-cap amount. If the employer associated with the member's last month of membership service did not report to the Retirement System any compensation paid to the member during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation, then that employer shall not transmit the lump sum payment described in this subdivision, but instead the employer or employers who reported compensation during the member's average final compensation period shall each transmit a lump sum payment equal to the employer's share of the total required lump sum payment, allocated proportionally to each employer based on the total amount of compensation to the member that each employer reported during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation. Employers are not required to make contributions on account of any retiree who became a member on or after January 1, 2015, and who earned at least five years of membership service in the Retirement System after January 1, 2015. The retirement allowance of a member with an average final compensation of more than one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, shall not be subject to the contribution-based benefit cap if the compensation was earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless an employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000). An employer is not required to make contributions on account of any retiree whose average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dol-

lars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, based upon compensation earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless that employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as provided and indexed under G.S. 128-27(a3).

Under rules adopted by the Board of Trustees, the Retirement System shall report monthly to each employer a list of those members for whom the employer made a contribution to the Retirement System in the preceding month that are most likely to require an additional employer contribution should they elect to retire in the following 12 months, if applicable. Reports received under this section shall not be public records. Employers or former employers in receipt of a report under this section shall treat the report, and the information contained within that report, as confidential and as though it were still held by the Retirement System under G.S. 128-33.1.

(3) If the employee or employer contributions required under this section, including the information to be submitted in conjunction with those contributions under subdivision (4) of this subsection, are not received by the date set by the Board of Trustees and a one-time exception has not been agreed upon in advance due to exigent circumstances, then the Board shall assess the employer with a penalty, in lieu of interest, of 1% per month with a minimum penalty of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00). The Board may waive one penalty per employer every five years if the Board finds that the employer has consistently demonstrated goodfaith efforts to comply with the set deadline. If within 90 days after request for the contributions or the required information by the Board any employer shall not have provided the System with the required records and other information, or if the full accrued amount of the contributions provided for under this section due from members employed by an employer or from an employer shall not have been received by the System from the chief fiscal officer of the employer within 30 days after the last due date, then, notwithstanding anything in this section or any other provision of law to the contrary, upon notification of the employer's default by the Board to the State Treasurer. any distributions which might otherwise be made to the employer, or the municipality or county of which the employer is an integral part, from any funds of the State or any funds collected by the State shall be withheld from the employer until notice from the Board to the State Treasurer that the employer is no longer in default.

In the event that an employer fails to submit payment of any required contributions or payments to the Retirement Systems Division, other than the one percent (1%) payment provided for in the first paragraph of this subdivision, within 90 days after the date set by the Board of Trustees, the Board shall notify the State Treasurer of its intent to collect the delinquent contributions and other payments due to the Retirement Systems Division and request an interception of State appropriations due to the participating employer.

Except as provided in this subdivision, upon notification by the Board of Trustees to the State Treasurer and the Office of State Budget and Management as to the default of the employer, the Office of State Budget and Management shall withhold from any State appropriation due to that employer an amount equal to the sum of all delinquent contributions and other debts due to the Retirement Systems Division and shall transmit that amount to the Retirement Systems Division. For the purposes of this subsection, the date set by the Board of Trustees for payment of the contribution-based benefit cap liability shall be 12 months after the member's effective date of retirement, or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later.

- (4) In conjunction with the employee and employer contributions required under this section, the Board of Trustees shall direct employers to submit information on a monthly basis that is necessary for proper administration of the Retirement System, actuarial valuation, and reporting under accounting standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation. This required information shall be considered part of the employee and employer contributions required under this section. The employee and employer contributions are not considered received until the required information is submitted to the Retirement System. Submission of this information by an employer to the Retirement System constitutes a certification of its accuracy.
- (g1) **Felony Forfeiture Impact on Contribution-Based Benefit Cap.** If an employer made contributions on account of a retiree subject to the contribution-based benefit cap under G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f. and that retiree later forfeits retirement benefits under G.S. 128-38.4, 128-38.3A, 135-18.10A, 135-18.30, 135-75.1, or 135-75.1A, then the Retirement Systems Division may provide a credit to the employer. This credit shall be calculated in an amount reflecting the impact of the forfeiture on the amount due under G.S. 128-26(y).

- (h) Merger of Annuity Reserve Fund, and Pension Reserve Fund into Pension Accumulation Fund. Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective at such date not later than December 31, 1959, as the Board of Trustees shall determine, the annuity reserve fund and the pension reserve fund shall be merged into and become a part of the pension accumulation fund, provided that such merger shall in no way adversely affect the rights of any members or retired members of the System and further provided the Board of Trustees shall be and hereby is authorized to make such changes in the accounting methods and procedures of the System from time to time as, in its opinion, are in the interest of sound and proper administration of the System.
- (i) **Procedure and Payment to Cease Participation.** Any employing unit that is allowed to cease participation in the Retirement System by the General Assembly or by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law shall do the following:
  - (1) The employer shall notify its employees and the Board of Trustees, in writing, of its action. A withdrawing employer shall be required to make a lump-sum withdrawal liability payment to the Board of Trustees as provided by this section.
  - (2) Complete withdrawal by an employer shall be the first day of the month following the date the Board of Trustees receives the employer's written notification. However, the complete withdrawal date shall not occur before the withdrawal liability is determined, as provided in subdivision (5) of this subsection.
  - (3) After complete withdrawal, all employees of the withdrawing employer shall be ineligible to accrue future benefits with the Retirement System due to employment with the withdrawing employer.
  - (4) All active or inactive members of the employer shall be eligible for benefits accrued with the Retirement System up to the complete withdrawal date. However, no retirement allowance or return of accumulated contributions shall be paid until the member actually terminates employment and completely separates from active service with the withdrawing employer, and there is no intent or agreement, express or implied, to return to service with the withdrawing employer.
  - (5) On the date of complete withdrawal, the withdrawal liability of an employer is the greater of one thousand dollars (\$1,000) or the amount determined by a. multiplied by the ratio of b. to c., as follows:
    - a. The excess of the actuarial present value of the vested accrued benefits of the Retirement System's members

over the market value of its assets, both as of the date of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date based on the plan provisions and actuarial assumptions used in the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date, except the interest rate assumption shall be reduced by an amount determined by the consulting actuary to reflect the increased investment, mortality, and other actuarial risk for the exiting agency's participants.

- b. The total present value of accrued benefits of all active members of the withdrawing employer as of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date.
- c. The total present value of accrued benefits of all active members of the Retirement System as of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date.
- (6) The actuarial costs to determine the amount described in subdivision (5) of this subsection shall be paid by the withdrawing employer. An employer that does not pay the lump-sum withdrawal liability payment described in subdivision (5) of this subsection and the actuarial costs to determine this withdrawal liability within 90 days of the complete withdrawal date will continue to be a participating employer.
- (7) Upon the complete withdrawal of the employer, the Retirement System shall have no further legal obligation to the employer or its employees, nor shall the Retirement System be held accountable for the continued future accrual of any retirement benefit rights to which the employees may be entitled beyond the complete withdrawal date. Any litigation regarding the forfeiture of any benefits because of the employer's complete withdrawal from the Retirement System shall be the sole legal responsibility of the withdrawing employer, and the withdrawing employer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Retirement System, its Board of Trustees, its employees, and the State of North Carolina from any claims, losses, costs, damages, expenses, and liabilities, including, without limitation, court costs, and reasonable attorneys' fees asserted by any person or entity as a result of the employer's withdrawal from the Retirement System.
- (j) **Pension Spiking Report.** Upon receipt of a report from the Retirement System generated pursuant to G.S. 128-30(g)(2)b., containing a list of employees for whom the employer made a contribution to the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees'

Retirement System that is likely to require an additional employer contribution should the employee elect to retire in the following 12 months, the employer's chief financial officer shall transmit a copy of the report to the governing body of the employer, if the employer has a governing body. Reports received under this section shall not be public records. Employers and former employers in receipt of a report under this section shall treat the report, and the information contained within that report, as confidential and as though it were still held by the Retirement System under G.S. 128-33.1.

## History.

1939, c. 390, s. 10; 1941, c. 357, s. 8; 1943, c. 535; 1945, c. 526, s. 6; 1951, c. 274, ss. 7-9; 1955, c. 1153, s. 7; 1959, c. 491, s. 9; 1965, c. 781; 1967, c. 978, ss. 9, 10; 1971, c. 325, ss. 17-19; 1975, 2nd Sess., c. 983, ss. 129, 130; 1981, c. 1000, ss. 1, 3; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1282, s. 9; 1985, c. 479, s. 196(p)-(r); c. 539, ss. 1, 2; 1991, c. 585, s. 2; 1995, c. 509, s. 68; 2003-359, s. 20; 2009-66, s. 7(b); 2010-72, s. 8(b); 2012-178, s. 3; 2014-88, s. 1(f); 2014-112, s. 2(b); 2015-164, ss. 5(b), 6(b); 2015-168, s. 3(b); 2016-56, ss. 6(b), 7(b); 2017-125, s. 2(b); 2017-128, ss. 4(c), 8(b); 2017-129, s. 2(c), (d), (g), (i), (k); 2018-52, s. 9(b); 2018-85, s. 13; 2020-29, s. 4(b); 2020-48, ss. 1.8(b), 1.16(e), (f); 2021-72, ss. 1.1(a), 3.1(c); 2021-75, ss. 1.3(a), 2.1(a); 2023-89, s. 2.6; 2024-8, s. 3(b); 2024-9, s. 2(b); 2024-10, s. 10.

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore," Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(e), made subdivision (d)(4a), as added by Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(a), effective July 1, 2022, and applicable to assessments imposed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(c), made "or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later" at the end of the last paragraph of subdivision (g)(3), as added by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(a), applicable to contribution-based benefit cap liability payments due from an employer on or after July 1, 2021.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(c), made the insertion of "or by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law" in the introductory language of subsection (i) by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(a), applicable to a participation withdrawal by an employing unit on or after July 1, 2021.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(c), made the amendment of subsection (g) of this section by Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(b), effective January 1, 2025, and applicable to employee and employer contributions, and the information to be submitted in conjunction with those contributions, required on or after that date.

## Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 4(b), effective June 19, 2020, in subdivision (g)(3), in

the last paragraph, added the exception at the beginning and added the last sentence

Session Laws 2020-48, ss. 1.8(b), 1.16(e), (f), effective June 26, 2020, added the last two sentences in the second paragraph of sub-subdivision (g)(2)b; added subsection (g1); and, in subsection (j), substituted "if the employer has a governing body" for "if applicable" at the end of the first sentence, and added the last two sentences.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(a), added subdivision (d)(4a). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.1(c), effective July 1, 2022, in subdivision (g)(2)b, substituted "Except as otherwise provided under this subdivision, each employer" for "Each employer" and added the second sentence.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(a), effective July 1, 2021, added "or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later" at the end of the last paragraph of subdivision (g)(3). For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(a), effective July 1, 2021, inserted "or by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law" in the introductory language of subsection (i). For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 2.6, effective January 1, 2024, substituted "G.S. 128-21(5)" for "G.S. 135-1(5)" twice in subsection (b2).

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(b), in subsection (g), added "The following shall apply to the collection of contributions" to the introductory language, rewrote the first paragraph of subdivision (f)(3), and, in subdivision (f)(4), added the next-to-last sentence and made minor stylistic changes in the first and last sentences. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 2(b), effective June 20, 2024, made capitalization and minor stylistic changes throughout subsubdivision (g)(2)b.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 10, effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (b), rewrote the introductory language, inserted "of Trustees" in the last sentence of the introductory paragraph of subdivision (b)(4), in sub-subdivision (b)(5)c., inserted "on or before December 31, 2038," substituted "membership service. Purchases under this sub-subdivision shall be made by making a lump sum paying into the Annuity Savings Fund" for "membership service, by making a lump sum paying into the annuity savings fund," and substituted "Board of Trustees" for "board of trustees" twice, and substituted "sub-subdivision a. or b. of this subdivision" for "subparagraphs a or b" in the last paragraph of subdivision (b)(5).

## § 128-31. Exemptions from execution; employing unit to offset amount owed by member or beneficiary.

(a) Except for the applications of the provisions of G.S. 110-136, and G.S. 110-136.3 et seq., and in connection with a court-ordered equitable distribution under G.S. 50-20, the right of a person to a pension, an annuity, or a retirement allowance, to the return of contributions, the pension, annuity or retirement allowance itself, any optional benefit or any other right accrued or accruing to any person under the provisions of this Article, and the moneys in the various funds created by this Article, are exempt from levy and sale, garnishment, attachment, or any other process whatsoever, and shall be unassignable except as in this Article specifically otherwise provided. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, application for System approval of a domestic relations order dividing a person's interest under the Retirement System shall be accompanied by an order consistent with the system-designed template order provided on the System's Web site. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, the Retirement System shall only make payment of a share of the member's retirement benefits to the member's former

spouse based upon a domestic relations order, and the former spouse shall not be permitted to receive a share of the member's retirement benefits until the member begins to receive the benefits, consistent with the system-designed template order. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, the former spouse shall not be entitled to any type or form of benefit or any option not otherwise available to the member. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, for orders entered on or after January 1, 2015, payment to a member's former spouse pursuant to any such domestic relations order shall be limited to the lifetime of that former spouse and, upon the death of that former spouse, the former spouse's share shall revert to the member.

- (b) Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, any overpayment of benefits or erroneous payments to a member in a State-administered retirement system, the Disability Salary Continuation Plan, or the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina, including any benefits paid to, or State Health Plan premiums or claims paid on behalf of, any member who is later determined to have been ineligible for those benefits or unentitled to those amounts, may be offset against any retirement allowance, return of contributions or any other right accruing under this Chapter to the same person, the person's estate, or designated beneficiary.
- (c) Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, if the member or beneficiary is an employee of an employing unit of the State or any political subdivision of the State, then any overpayment of benefits or erroneous payments to, or on behalf of, the member or beneficiary shall be offset against the net wages of the employee. If a member or beneficiary owes an amount to the Retirement System, has been notified of this amount in writing, and has not entered into a payment plan acceptable to the Retirement System, then the Retirement System shall notify the member or beneficiary's employer of the amount owed. Upon receipt of this notice from the Retirement System, the employer shall offset the amount owed against not less than ten percent (10%) of the net wages of the member or beneficiary until the Retirement System notifies the employer that the amount owed has been paid in full. The Retirement System's notice shall be prima facie evidence that the amount owed is valid and, notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the employer has no obligation to verify the amount owed. The employer shall provide no more than 30 days' but not less than 14 days' written notice to the member or beneficiary prior to beginning the offset. The employer shall remit all amounts offset under this subsection to the Retirement System in intervals corresponding with its regular pay periods. If an employer fails to adhere to the provisions of this section, then the Retirement System shall, after notice to the employer of its failure to cooperate, be entitled to seek recovery of any amounts due directly from the employer.

- (c1) Notwithstanding G.S. 143-64.80(b), in the case of an overpayment of benefits under this Chapter that the Board of Trustees determines was entirely due to administrative error on the part of the Retirement Systems Division, the Retirement Systems Division shall be deemed to satisfy its duty to pursue repayment of the overpayment if all of the following occur:
  - (1) The Retirement Systems Division, as provided under subsection (b) of this section, offsets any return of contributions, lump sum death benefit payment, retroactive benefit adjustment payment for periods before the determination of the overpayment, or other one-time payment accruing under this Chapter, by the full amount of the payment as computed after payment deductions, and applies the offset toward the overpayment;
  - (2) The Retirement Systems Division, as provided under subsection (b) of this section, offsets any recurring monthly benefit accruing under this Chapter for periods coincident with or following the determination of the overpayment as follows:
    - a. By no more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the monthly benefit as computed after payment deductions and not less than eight and one-half percent (8.5%) of the monthly benefit as computed after payment deductions:
    - b. Or by offsetting the amount of the overpayment in two or fewer monthly benefit payments when the overpayment amount is less than five hundred dollars (\$500);
  - (3) The wage offset as provided under subsection (c) of this section is applied as required; and
  - (4) The setoff debt provisions of Chapter 105A of the General Statutes are applied as required.
- (d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the Retirement System's ability to pursue alternative judicial remedies against a member or a beneficiary, including the pursuit of a judgment and lien against real property.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 11; 1985, c. 402; c. 649, s. 5; 1989, c. 665, s. 3; c. 792, s. 2.4; 2005-91, s. 11; 2013-405, s. 4(b); 2014-112, s. 5(b); 2017-135, s. 9(b); 2018-52, s. 2(c); 2019-172, s. 1.2; 2023-105, s. 8.1.

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of

those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North

Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2019-172, s. 13 made the amendments to subsection (a) of this section by Session Laws 2019-172, s. 1.2, effective October 1, 2019, and applicable to distributions on or after that date.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 8.1, effective January 1, 2024, added subsection (c1).

#### Legal Periodicals.

For article analyzing North Carolina's exemptions law, see 18 Wake Forest L. Rev. 1025 (1982).

## § 128-32. Protection against fraud.

Any person who shall knowingly make any false statement or shall falsify or permit to be falsified any record or records of this Retirement System in any attempt to defraud such System as a result of such act shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor. Should any change or error in the records result in any member or beneficiary receiving from the Retirement System more or less than he would have been entitled to receive had their records been correct, the Board of Trustees shall correct such error, and as far as practicable, shall adjust the payment in such a manner that the actuarial equivalent of the benefit to which such member or beneficiary was correctly entitled shall be paid.

#### History

1939, c. 390, s. 12; 1993, c. 539, s. 945; 1994, Ex. Sess., c. 24, s. 14(c).

## CASE NOTES

Legislative Intent. — This section shows the intent of the General Assembly to allow the courts to require that compensation paid for underpayment of a pension compensation be paid at the actuarial value. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Emps. Retirement Sys., 345 N.C. 683, 483 S.E.2d 422, 1997 N.C. LEXIS 188 (1997).

Calculation of Additional Benefit.

— The re-calculation of additional benefits owed to retirees did not mandate the use of a mortality factor, where the right to payments was not forfeited upon the death of a retiree but was passed to the retiree's survivors. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Employees' Retirement Sys., 132 N.C. App. 137, 510 S.E.2d 675, 1999 N.C. App. LEXIS 89 (1999).

## § 128-32.1. Failure to respond.

- (a) If a member fails to respond within 120 days after preliminary option figures and the Form 6-E or Form 7-E are transmitted to the member, or if a member fails to respond within 120 days after the effective date of retirement, whichever is later, then the Form 6 or Form 7 shall be null and void.
- (b) If an applicant for disability retirement fails to furnish requested additional medical information within 90 days following the request for that information, then the application shall be declared null and void, unless the applicant is eligible for early or service

retirement. If the applicant is eligible for early or service retirement, then the application shall be processed using the same effective date as would have been used had the application for disability retirement been approved.

- (c) The Retirement System shall not be liable for any benefits due on account of an application voided in accordance with this section. A new application must be filed establishing a subsequent effective date of retirement.
- (d) The Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division, acting on behalf of the Board of Trustees, may extend the 120-day limitation provided for in this section when a member has suffered incapacitation such that a reasonable person would not have expected the member to be able to complete the required paperwork within the regular deadline, or when an omission by the Retirement Systems Division prevents the member from having sufficient time to meet the regular deadline.

## History.

#### Effect of Amendments.

2005-91, s. 12; 2009-66, s. 4(a); 2010-72, s. 6(b); 2016-108, s. 3(b); 2024-9, s. 1(f).

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 1(f), effective June 20, 2024, rewrote the section.

## § 128-33. Certain laws not applicable to members.

Subject to the provisions of Article 2 of Chapter 135 of Volume 17 of the General Statutes, as amended, no other provision of law in any other statute which provides wholly or partly at the expense of any county, city or town for pensions or retirement benefits for employees of the said county, city or town, their widows, or other dependents shall apply to members or beneficiaries of the Retirement System established by this Article.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 13; 1955, c. 1153, s. 8.

## § 128-33.1. Public records held by the Retirement System.

- (a) The following definitions apply in this section:
  - (1) Employment-related information. As defined in G.S. 126-22(b)(3).
  - (2) Personal information. As defined in G.S. 126-22(b)(3).
  - (3) Retirement file. Any employment-related, retirementrelated, or personal information of members in a Stateadministered retirement plan gathered by the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer.
  - (4) Retirement-related information. Information including membership and service details, benefit payment information, and other information the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer deems necessary to administer a retirement plan.

- (b) Member retirement files are not subject to inspection and examination as authorized by G.S. 132-6 except as provided in G.S. 135-6(p), G.S. 128-28(q), and subsections (c), (d), and (e) of this section.
- (c) The following information regarding members and individuals in receipt of a recurring monthly benefit, if held by the Retirement System, is public subject to subsection (d) of this section:
  - (1) Name.
  - (2) Age.
  - (3) Date of membership in the applicable Retirement System, first service earned date, date of first enrollment, date of first employment, and date of retirement.
  - (4) The terms of any contract by which the member is employed whether written or oral, past and current, to the extent that the Retirement System has the written contract or a record of the oral contract in its possession.
  - (5) Current or most recently held position or title.
  - (6) Compensation and other relevant remuneration history and benefits paid.
  - (7) Date, general description, and type of each change and the corresponding employing agency.
  - (8) The office or station to which the member is currently assigned, if any.
  - (9) The record of benefit payments made by one of the Retirement Systems or Disability Benefits Programs administered by the Department of State Treasurer to a member or to the survivor, beneficiary, or alternate payee of a member.
  - (10) Purchases of educational leave.
- (d) Subject only to rules and policies for the safekeeping of member retirement files adopted by the Board of Trustees, every person having custody of the retirement file information outlined in subsection (b) of this section shall permit the information to be inspected and examined and copies thereof made by any person during regular business hours. Any person who is denied access to any retirement file for the purpose of inspecting, examining, or copying the file has a right to compel compliance with the provisions of this section by application to a court of competent jurisdiction for a writ of mandamus or other appropriate relief.
- (e) The Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may disclose the name and mailing address of former State and local government employees, former public school employees, or former community college employees to domiciled, nonprofit organizations representing 10,000 or more retired State government, local government, or public school employees.
- (e1) The Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may disclose to employers or former employers that made a contribution for an employee or former employee to the Retire-

ment System any information not public under this section regarding that employee necessary to conduct the business of the Retirement System. Employers and former employers in receipt of this information shall treat the information as confidential and this information shall not be a public record.

- (f) All information other than the information listed in subsection (c) of this section contained in a retirement file is confidential and not open for inspection and examination except to the following persons:
  - (1) The member, or the member's authorized agent, who may examine his or her own retirement file, except for any information concerning a medical disability, mental or physical, that a prudent physician would not divulge to a patient. A member's medical record may be disclosed to a licensed physician in writing by the member.
  - (2) A member of the General Assembly who may inspect and examine records under the authority of G.S. 120-19.
  - (3) A party by authority of a proper court order may inspect and examine a particular confidential portion of a member's retirement file.
- (g) Any public official or employee who knowingly and willfully permits any person to have access to or custody or possession of any portion of a retirement file designated as confidential by this section, unless the person is one specifically authorized by this section to have access thereto for inspection and examination, is guilty of a Class 3 misdemeanor and upon conviction shall only be fined in the discretion of the court but not in excess of five hundred dollars (\$500.00).
- (h) Any person not specifically authorized by this section to have access to a retirement file designated as confidential by this section, who knowingly and willfully examines, removes, or copies any portion of a confidential retirement file, is guilty of a Class 3 misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined in the discretion of the court but not in excess of five hundred dollars (\$500.00).

## History.

2016-108, s. 2(c); 2018-85, s. 8(b); 2020-48, s. 1.16(d).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 2(a), provides: "The February 5, 2008, Attorney General's advisory opinion entitled 'Advisory Opinion: Confidentiality of Retirement Benefit Information; Session Law 2007-508' concluded that information about retirement benefits was intended to be included among those records required to be maintained for public inspection by each department, agency, institution, commission, and bureau of the

State and that as a result the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of the State Treasurer makes that information available for public inspection and examination. The General Assembly finds that the interests of clarity require statutory language providing guidance to the Retirement Systems Division in determining and maintaining consistency as to what information should be made available about the retirement accounts of State and local employees."

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

**Effect of Amendments.** tive June 26, 2020, added subsection Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.16(d), effective June 26, 2020, added subsection (e1).

## § 128-34. Transfer of members.

- (a) Any member of the North Carolina Governmental Employees' Retirement System who leaves the service of his employer and enters the service of another employer participating in the North Carolina Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall maintain his status as a member of the Retirement System and shall be credited with all of the amounts previously credited to his account in any of the funds under this Article, but the new employer shall be responsible for any accrued liability contribution payable on account of any prior service credit which such employee may have at the time of the transfer, and such employee shall be given such status and be credited with such service with the new employer as allowed with the former employer.
- (b) Any member of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall be entitled prior to his retirement to transfer to this Retirement System his credits for membership and prior service in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System: Provided, the actual transfer of employment is made while he has an active account in the State System and such person shall request the State System to transfer his accumulated contributions, interest, and service credits to this Retirement System; provided further, the State System agrees to transfer to this Retirement System the amount of reserve held in the State System as the result of previous contributions of the employer on behalf of the transferring employee.
- (c) Any member whose services are terminated for any reason other than retirement or death who becomes employed by an employer participating in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System shall be entitled to transfer to the State System his credits for membership and prior service in this Retirement System in accordance with G.S. 135-18.1: Provided, the actual transfer of employment is made while he has an active account in this Retirement System and such persons shall request this Retirement System to transfer his accumulated contributions, interest, and service credits to the State System. When such request is made by a member who is entitled to make it and who becomes a member of the State System after July 1, 1969, this Retirement System will also transfer to the State System the amount of reserve held by this System as a result of previous contributions of the employer on behalf of the transferring employee.
- (d) The accumulated contributions and creditable service of any member whose service as an employee has been or is terminated other than by retirement or death and who, while still a member of this Retirement System, became or becomes a member, as defined in

G.S. 135-53(11), of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System for a period of five or more years may, upon application of the member, be transferred from this Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System. In order to effect the transfer of a member's creditable service from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, there shall be transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System the sum of (i) the accumulated contributions of the member credited in the annuity savings fund and (ii) the amount of reserve held in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System as a result of previous contributions by the employer on behalf of the transferring member.

#### History.

1939, c. 390, s. 14; 1971, c. 325, s. 20; 1973, c. 242, s. 11; 1999-237, s. 28.24(a).

#### CASE NOTES

"Creditable Service." — Superior court erred in granting partial summary judgment awarding a sheriff a special separation allowance for 36 years of creditable service through two North Carolina retirement systems, state and local, because the sheriff was not a member of the state system when he retired where, prior to his retirement from the sheriff's department, he began receiving retirement benefits from that system, and the sheriff was only entitled to credit for his 12 years of service under the local system where the county never issued the sheriff a prior service certificate, the sheriff never transferred membership of his state service to the local system, and the county never gave the sheriff credit

for prior service. Lovin v. Cherokee Cnty., 248 N.C. App. 527, 789 S.E.2d 869, 2016 N.C. App. LEXIS 818 (2016).

Forfeiture of Vested Service. — Respondent worked for the North Carolina Department of Natural and Cultural Resources in an unelected position, and this vested and earned her creditable time in the retirement system, which she was allowed to transfer to another retirement system; respondent could not forfeit vested service she had already accrued as an unelected state official prior to her criminal acts. N.C. Dep't of State Treasurer v. Riddick, 274 N.C. App. 183, 852 S.E.2d 376, 2020 N.C. App. LEXIS 776 (2020).

## § 128-35. Obligations of pension accumulation fund.

The maintenance of annuity reserves and pension reserves as provided for, and regular interest creditable to the various funds as provided in G.S. 128-30, and the payment of all pensions, annuities, retirement allowances, refunds and other benefits granted under the provisions of this Article, are hereby made obligations of the pension accumulation fund. All income, interest and dividends derived from deposits and investments authorized by this Article shall be used for the payment of said obligations of the said fund.

## History.

1939, c. 390, s. 15.

## § 128-36. Local laws unaffected; when benefits begin to accrue.

Nothing in this Article shall have the effect of repealing any public-local or private act creating or authorizing the creation of any officers' or employees' retirement system in any county, city or town or prohibiting the enactment of any public-local or private act creating or authorizing the creation of any officers' or employees' retirement system in any county, city, or town. No payment on account of any benefit granted under the provisions of G.S. 128-27, subsections (a) to (d) inclusive, shall become effective or begin to accrue until the end of one year following the date the System is established nor shall any compulsory retirement be made during that period. The provisions of this Article shall apply only to those counties, cities or towns whose governing authorities voluntarily elect to be bound by same.

## History.

1939, c. 390, s. 16; 1941, c. 357, s. 9B; 1945, c. 526, s. 7A.

## § 128-36.1. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1977, c. 318.

# § 128-37. Membership of employees of district health departments or public health authorities.

Under such rules and regulations as the Board of Trustees shall establish and promulgate, the boards of county commissioners of any group of counties composing a district health department, or the governing board of any public health authority, or the board of county commissioners of any county as to county boards of health, or the governing authorities of any county and/or city as to city-county boards of health, may elect that employees of such health departments may be members of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to the extent of that part of their compensation paid by the various counties composing said district health department.

## **History.** 1949, c. 1012; 1951, c. 700; 1997-502, s.

# § 128-37.1. Membership of employees of county social services department.

Under such rules and regulations as the Board of Trustees shall establish and promulgate, the board of county commissioners of any county may elect that employees of the county social services department may be members of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System; provided, that such membership may be elected jointly with such county health department employees as provided under G.S. 128-37.

#### History.

1959, c. 1179; 1969, c. 982.

## § 128-37.2. Continued membership for certain fire departments.

- (a) In order to participate in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System after October 1, 2015, the charter or articles of incorporation of fire departments must include a provision that provides that the governing body of the local government entity that holds the contract with the highest dollar value to the fire department for provision of fire services shall have the authority to remove from office up to fifty percent (50%) plus one member of the Board of Trustees or Board of Directors of the fire department. Before exercising this authority, the local government entity shall notify the affected fire department and give the fire department the opportunity to be heard in a public meeting. When any fire department board member is removed, the resulting vacancy shall be filled pursuant to the bylaws of the fire department.
- (b) This section only applies to fire departments that commenced participation in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System between 1977 and 1992 pursuant to Chapter 316 of the Session Laws of 1977 and have contracts to provide fire protection to a city, county, or instrumentality of the State.

## History.

2015-88, s. 10(a), (b).

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2015-88, s. 10(a), (b), was codified as this section at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Chapter 316 of the 1977 Session Laws added certain firemen and fire departments to the definitions of "employee"

and "employer" in G.S. 128-21(10) and (11), respectively. The sentences that added those firemen and fire departments to the definitions were deleted by Chapter 762 of the 1991 Session Laws (Reg. Sess. 1992). The current sentence regarding paid firemen in G.S. 128-21(10), which is substantially similar, was added in 1999.

## § 128-38. Reservation of power to change.

The General Assembly reserves the right at any time and from time to time, and if deemed necessary or appropriate by said General Assembly in order to coordinate with any changes in the benefit and other provisions of the Social Security Act made after January 1, 1955, to modify or amend in whole or in part any or all of the provisions of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.

## History.

1955, c. 1153, s. 9.

#### CASE NOTES

Relationship between public employees and retirement system is one of contract. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Right of Employee to Rely on Retirement Plan. — A public employee has a right to expect that the retirement rights bargained for in exchange for his loyalty and continued services, and continually promised him over many years, will not be removed or diminished. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Plaintiffs, as members of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, had a contractual right to rely on the terms of the retirement plan as these terms existed at the moment their retirement rights became vested. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

Impairment of Rights by 1981 Amendment. — Rights arising under this Article were impaired inasmuch as plaintiff employees stood to suffer significant reductions in their retirement allowances as a result of the 1981 legislative amendment of G.S. 128-27 adding subsection (d4), and where challenge thereto had been resolved below by grant of summary judgment in defendants' favor, but defendants' affidavit failed to demonstrate or reflect that the changes in question were reasonable and necessary to serve an important state interest, the case would be remanded for further proceedings. Simpson v. North Carolina Local Gov't Employees' Retirement Sys., 88 N.C. App. 218, 363 S.E.2d 90, 1987 N.C. App. LEXIS 3470 (1987), aff'd, 323 N.C. 362, 372 S.E.2d 559, 1988 N.C. LEXIS 610 (1988).

## § 128-38.1. Termination or partial termination; discontinuance of contributions.

In the event of the termination or partial termination of the Retirement System or in the event of complete discontinuance of contributions under the Retirement System, the rights of all affected members to benefits accrued to the date of such termination, partial termination, or discontinuance, to the extent funded as of such date, or the amounts credited to the members' accounts, shall be nonforfeitable and fully vested.

## History.

1987, c. 177, s. 1(a), (b).

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1987, c. 177, s. 1(c) made this section effective upon the first day of the calendar month following the State's receipt of a favorable letter of determination or ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, United States Department of Treasury, that the Retirement Systems were qualified trusts under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended. A favorable letter was received prior to the enactment of Session Laws 1987, c. 177.

## § 128-38.2. Internal Revenue Code compliance.

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of law to the contrary, compensation for any calendar year after 1988 in which employee or employer contributions are made and for which annual compensation is used for computing any benefit under this Article shall not exceed the higher of two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) or the

amount determined by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue as the limitation for calendar years after 1989; provided the imposition of the limitation shall not reduce a member's benefit below the amount determined as of December 31, 1988.

Effective January 1, 1996, the annual compensation of a member taken into account for determining all benefits provided under this Article shall not exceed one hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$150,000), as adjusted pursuant to section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code and any regulations issued under the Code. However, with respect to a person who became a member of the Retirement System prior to January 1, 1996, the imposition of this limitation on compensation shall not reduce the amount of compensation which may be taken into account for determining the benefits of that member under this Article below the amount of compensation which would have been recognized under the provisions of this Article in effect on July 1, 1993.

Effective January 1, 2002, the annual compensation of a person, who became a member of the Retirement System on or after January 1, 1996, taken into account for determining all benefits accruing under this Article for any plan year after December 31, 2001, shall not exceed two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) or the amount otherwise set by the Internal Revenue Code or determined by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue as the limitation for calendar years after 2002.

All the provisions in this subsection have been enacted to make clear that the Plan shall not base contributions or Plan benefits on annual compensation in excess of the limits prescribed by Section 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code, as adjusted from time to time, subject to certain federal grandfathering rules.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provisions of law to the contrary, the annual benefit payable on behalf of a member shall, if necessary, be reduced to the extent required by Section 415(b) and with respect to calendar years commencing prior to January 1, 2000, Section 415(e) of the Internal Revenue Code, as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate pursuant to Section 415(d) of the Code. If a member is a participant under any qualified defined contributions plan that is required to be taken into account for the purposes of the limitation contained in Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code, the annual benefit payable under this Article shall be reduced to the extent required by Section 415(e) prior to making any reduction under the defined contribution plan provided by the employer. However, with respect to a member who has benefits accrued under this Article but whose benefit had not commenced as of December 31, 1999, the combined plan limitation contained in Section 415(e) of the Internal Revenue Code shall not be applied to such member for calendar years commencing on or after January 1, 2000.

- (c) On and after September 8, 2009, and for all Plan years to which the minimum distribution rules of the Internal Revenue Code are applicable, with respect to any member who has terminated employment, the Plan shall comply with federal income tax minimum distribution rules by applying a reasonable and good faith interpretation to Section 401(a)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (d) This subsection applies to distributions and rollovers from the Plan. The Plan does not have mandatory distributions within the meaning of Section 401(a)(31) of the Internal Revenue Code. With respect to distributions from the Plan and notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a distributee's election under this Article, a distributee (including, after December 31, 2006, a non-spouse beneficiary if that non-spouse beneficiary elects a direct rollover only to an inherited traditional or Roth IRA as permitted under applicable federal law) may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Plan administrator, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover. As used in this subsection, an "eligible retirement plan" means an individual retirement account described in Section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in Section 408(b) of the Code, an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code, on and after January 1, 2009, a Roth IRA, or a qualified trust described in Section 401(a) of the Code, that accepts the distributee's eligible rollover distribution. Effective on and after January 1, 2002, an eligible retirement plan also means an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code and an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into that plan from this Plan. As used in this subsection, a "direct rollover" is a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee. Provided, an eligible rollover distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution shall not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of 10 years or more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under section 401(a)(9) of the Code; and the portion of any distribution that is not includible in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net realized appreciation with respect to employer securities). Effective as of January 1, 2002, and notwithstanding the exclusion of any after-tax portion from such a rollover distribution in

the preceding sentence, a portion of a distribution shall not fail to be an eligible rollover distribution merely because the portion consists of after-tax employee contributions which are not includible in gross income. That portion may be transferred, pursuant to applicable federal law, to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or (b) of the Code, to a qualified defined benefit plan, or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in Section 401(a), 403(a), or 403(b) of the Code that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible. The definition of eligible retirement plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to surviving spouse, or to a spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Section 414(p) of the Internal Revenue Code, or a court-ordered equitable distribution of marital property, as provided under G.S. 50-20.1. Effective on and after January 1, 2007, notwithstanding any other provision of this subsection, a nonspouse beneficiary of a deceased member may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the administrator of the Board of Trustees of this Retirement System, to directly roll over any portion of the beneficiary's distribution from the Retirement System; however, such rollover shall conform with the provisions of section 402(c)(11) of the Code.

```
History. 1995, c. 361, s. 3; 2002-71, s. 4; 2009-66, 1989, c. 276, s. 2; 1993, c. 531, s. 4; s. 1(d); 2012-130, s. 4(b).
```

## § 128-38.3. Deduction for payments allowed.

- (a) Any beneficiary who is a member of a domiciled employees' or retirees' association that has at least 2,000 members, the majority of whom are active or retired employees of employers as defined in G.S. 128-21(11), may authorize, in writing, the periodic deduction from the beneficiary's retirement benefits a designated lump sum to be paid to the employees' or retirees' association. The authorization shall remain in effect until revoked by the beneficiary. A plan of deductions pursuant to this section shall become void if the employees' or retirees' association engages in collective bargaining with the State, any political subdivision of the State, or any local school administrative unit.
- (b) Any beneficiary eligible for coverage under the State Health Plan may also authorize, in writing, the monthly deduction from the beneficiary's retirement benefits of a designated lump sum to be paid to the State Health Plan for any dependent whom the beneficiary wishes to cover under the State Health Plan. In the event that the beneficiary's own State Health Plan coverage is contributory, in whole or in part, the beneficiary may also authorize a designated lump sum to be paid to the State Health Plan on behalf of the

beneficiary. In addition, a beneficiary may similarly authorize the deduction for supplemental voluntary insurance benefits, provided that the deduction is authorized by the Department of State Treasurer and is payable to a company with which the Department of State Treasurer has or had an exclusive contractual relationship. Any such authorization shall remain in effect until revoked by the beneficiary.

(c) For local employers who made arrangements with the Retirement System prior to January 1, 2017, any beneficiary who is a retiree from an employer in the Retirement System under this Article may authorize the periodic deduction from the beneficiary's retirement benefits as designated lump sum to be paid to the beneficiary's former employer for the purpose of providing health benefits. The authorization shall remain in effect until revoked by the beneficiary, and proof of the authorization must be available on request of the Department of the State Treasurer. The Department of State Treasurer is prohibited from making any arrangements to deduct from a beneficiary's retirement benefits an amount to be paid to the beneficiary's former employer for the purpose of providing health benefits.

## History.

2001-424, s. 32.31; 2002-126, s. 6.4(b); 2012-178, s. 4(b); 2017-128, s. 3.

## § 128-38.4. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies committed while serving as elected government official.

- (a) Except as provided in G.S. 128-26(w), the Board of Trustees shall not pay any retirement benefits or allowances, except for a return of member contributions plus interest, to any member who is convicted of any felony under the federal laws listed in subsection (b) of this section or the laws of this State listed in subsection (c) of this section if all of the following apply:
  - (1) The federal or State offense is committed while serving as an elected government official.
  - (2) The conduct on which the federal or State offense is based is directly related to the member's service as an elected government official.
  - (b) The federal offenses covered by this section are as follows:
    - (1) A felony violation of 18 U.S.C. § 201 (Bribery of public officials and witnesses), 18 U.S.C. § 286 (Conspiracy to defraud the Government with respect to claims), 18 U.S.C. § 287 (False, fictitious or fraudulent claims), 18 U.S.C. § 371 (Conspiracy to commit offense or to defraud United States), 18 U.S.C. § 597 (Expenditures to influence voting), 18 U.S.C. § 599 (Promise of appointment by candidate), 18 U.S.C. § 606 (Intimidation to secure political contribu-

tions), 18 U.S.C. § 641 (Public money, property, or records), 18 U.S.C. § 666 (Embezzlement and theft), 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (Statements or entries generally), 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (Frauds and swindles), 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Fraud by wire, radio, or television), 18 U.S.C. § 1503 (Influencing or injuring officer or juror generally), 18 U.S.C. § 1951 (Interference with commerce by threats or violence), 18 U.S.C. § 1952 (Interstate and foreign travel or transportation in aid of racketeering enterprises), 18 U.S.C. § 1956 (Laundering of monetary instruments), 18 U.S.C. § 1962 (Prohibited activities), or section 7201 of the Internal Revenue Code (Attempt to evade or defeat tax).

- (2) Reserved for future codification purposes.
- (c) The offenses under the laws of this State covered by this section are as follows:
  - (1) A felony violation of any of the following provisions of the General Statutes:
    - a. Article 29 of Chapter 14, Bribery.
    - b. Article 30 of Chapter 14, Obstructing Justice.
    - c. Article 30A of Chapter 14, Secret Listening.
    - d. G.S. 14-228, Buying and selling offices.
    - e. Part 1 of Article 14 of Chapter 120, Code of Legislative Ethics.
    - f. Article 20 of Chapter 163, Absentee Ballot.
    - g. Article 22 of Chapter 163, Regulation of Election Campaigns Corrupt Practices and Other Offenses
       Against the Elective Franchise.
    - h. G.S. 14-90, Embezzlement of property received by virtue of office or employment.
    - i. G.S. 14-91, Embezzlement of State property by public officers and employees.
    - j. G.S. 14-92, Embezzlement of funds by public officers and trustees.
    - k. G.S. 14-99, Embezzlement of taxes by officers.
    - l. G.S. Subsection (a) of G.S. 14-454.1, Accessing government computers.
    - m. Subsection (a1) of G.S. 14-455, Damaging computers, computer programs, computer systems, computer networks, and resources.
    - n. G.S. 14-456.1, Denial of government computer services to an authorized user.
  - (2) Perjury or false information as follows:
    - a. Perjury committed under G.S. 14-209 in falsely denying the commission of an act that constitutes an offense within the purview of an offense listed in subdivision (1) of subsection (c) of this section.
    - b. Subornation of perjury committed under G.S. 14-210 in

connection with the false denial of another as specified by subdivision (2) of this subsection.

- c. Perjury under Article 22A of Chapter 163 of the General Statutes.
- (d) All monies forfeited under this section shall be remitted to the Civil Penalty and Forfeiture Fund.

#### History.

2007-179, s. 2(a); 2017-6, s. 3; 2018-84, s. 2(b); 2018-146, ss. 3.1(a), (b), 6.1.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2007-179, s. 2(a), en-

acted this section with a subdivision (b)(1), but no subdivision (b)(2). Subsection (b) has been set out in the form above at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

# § 128-38.4A. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies related to employment or holding office.

- (a) Except as provided in G.S. 128-26(x), the Board of Trustees shall not pay any retirement benefits or allowances, except for a return of member contributions plus interest, to any member who is convicted of any felony under federal law or the laws of this State if all of the following apply:
  - (1) The offense is committed while the member is in service.
  - (2) The conduct resulting in the member's conviction is directly related to the member's office or employment.
- (b) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.3(b), effective June 26, 2020.
- (c) If a member or former member whose benefits under the System were forfeited under this section, except for the return of member contributions plus interest, subsequently receives an unconditional pardon of innocence, or the conviction is vacated or set aside for any reason, then the member or former member may seek a reversal of the benefit forfeiture by presenting sufficient evidence to the State Treasurer. If the State Treasurer determines a reversal of the benefit forfeiture is appropriate, then all benefits will be restored upon repayment of all accumulated contributions plus interest. Repayment of all accumulated contributions that have been received by the individual under the forfeiture provisions of this section must be made in a total lump-sum payment with interest compounded annually at a rate of six and one-half percent (6.5%) for each calendar year from the year of forfeiture to the year of repayment. An individual receiving a reversal of benefit forfeiture must receive reinstatement of the service credit forfeited.

#### History.

2012-193, s. 3; 2020-48, s. 4.3(b).

## Cross References.

As to forfeiture of retirement benefits in the Legislative Retirement System for certain felonies related to employment or holding office, see G.S. 120-4.33A.

As to forfeiture of retirement benefits in the Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees for certain felonies related to employment or holding office, see G.S. 135-18.10A.

As to forfeiture of retirement benefits under the Judicial Retirement Act for certain felonies related to employment or holding office, see G.S. 135-75.1A.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 17, as amended by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 3, provides: "The State Treasurer shall negotiate a memorandum of agreement with the United States Attorneys for the Eastern, Middle, and Western Districts of North Carolina whereby the prosecutors will notify the State Treasurer of convictions under G.S. 135-18.10A(b), 128-38.4A(b), 135-75.1A(b), 120-4.33A(b), 135-5.1(h), 135-5.4(h), and 58-86-100(b)."

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 18, made

this section effective December 1, 2012, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.3(b), effective June 26, 2020, repealed subsection (b), which formerly read: "Subdivision (2) of subsection (a) of this section shall apply to felony convictions where the court finds under G.S. 15A-1340.16(d)(9) or other applicable State or federal procedure that the member's conduct is directly related to the member's office or employment."

## CASE NOTES

Constitutionality. — To remain eligible for retirement benefits, respondent agreed and bore a duty to faithfully execute the duties of her office and to account for all public funds entrusted to her, which she violated by pleading guilty to embezzlement; G.S. 128-38.4A does not unconstitutionally impair contracts under the Federal or State Constitutions. N.C. Dep't of State Treasurer v. Riddick, 274 N.C. App. 183, 852 S.E.2d 376, 2020 N.C. App. LEXIS 776 (2020).

Construction. — By pleading guilty, respondent admitted to embezzling public funds entrusted to her while serving as the register of deeds; G.S. 128-38.4A provides a disjunctive "or" and enables it to be invoked through state or federal procedure, which is provided for by the express elements of G.S. 14-92, and there are scenarios where an aggravating factor is not found or is omitted in a plea bargain. A valid forfeiture of future accruals occurred. N.C. Dep't of State Treasurer v. Riddick, 274 N.C. App. 183, 852 S.E.2d 376, 2020 N.C. App. LEXIS 776 (2020).

By enacting G.S. 161-50.4(c), which enumerated specific felonies to justify a forfeiture, the General Assembly did not invalidate or repeal the mechanism un-

der G.S. 128-38.4A for forfeiture. N.C. Dep't of State Treasurer v. Riddick, 274 N.C. App. 183, 852 S.E.2d 376, 2020 N.C. App. LEXIS 776 (2020).

Forfeiture of Accrued Time. — Respondent acquired contractual rights in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System when she vested in 2001; the statute was effective as of December 2012 and the Retirement System parties could not forfeit accredited and accrued service time prior to the enactment of the act. Respondent forfeited accrued time after 1 December 2012 when the statute became effective. N.C. Dep't of State Treasurer v. Riddick, 274 N.C. App. 183, 852 S.E. 2d 376, 2020 N.C. App. LEXIS 776 (2020).

Forfeiture of Sick Leave. — Respondent was only able to convert her unused sick leave into creditable service time upon her retirement effective April 2017, and her retirement occurred after the effective forfeiture date of December 2012 in G.S.128-38.4A; respondent forfeited all 2.5833 years of creditable service converted from unused sick leave, not just the 1.25 years of creditable service forfeited after December 2012. N.C. Dep't of State Treasurer v. Riddick, 274 N.C. App. 183, 852 S.E.2d 376, 2020 N.C. App. LEXIS 776 (2020).

## § 128-38.4B. Prohibition on purchase of forfeited service.

Any member whose retirement benefits have been forfeited under G.S. 128-38.4 or G.S. 128-38.4A is prohibited from subsequently purchasing or repurchasing either those forfeited benefits or any creditable membership service associated with those forfeited benefits and that service may not be used for the purposes of eligibility

for benefits in any retirement system that provides reciprocal benefits.

#### History.

2018-52, s. 6(b); 2020-48, s. 4.5(b).

### Editor's Note.

The preamble and s. 1 of Session Laws 2018-52 provide: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,

"Section 1. This act shall be known and cited as the 'Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.5(b), effective June 26, 2020, added "and that service may not be used for the purposes of eligibility for benefits in any retirement system that provides reciprocal benefits" at the end.

# § 128-38.5. Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance.

A person is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor if the person, with the intent to defraud, receives money as a result of cashing, depositing, or receiving a direct deposit of a decedent's retirement allowance and the person (i) knows that he or she is not entitled to the decedent's retirement allowance, (ii) receives the benefit at least two months after the date of the retiree's or beneficiary's death, and (iii) does not attempt to inform this Retirement System of the retiree's or beneficiary's death.

# History.

2011-232, s. 10(b); 2013-288, s. 9(c).

this section effective December 1, 2011, and applicable to acts committed on or after that date.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-232, s. 11, made

# § 128-38.6. Employee protection and remedies against unlawful retaliation for furnishing information to the Retirement Systems Division.

- (a) In the absence of fraud or malice, no person who furnishes information to the staff of the Retirement Systems Division relating to the investigation of possible violations of retirement law shall be liable for damages in a civil action for any oral or written statement made or any other action that is necessary to supply such information to the Division.
- (b) Any employee of a participating local employer who is discharged, demoted, suspended, threatened, harassed, or in any other

manner discriminated against in the terms and conditions of employment by the employee's employer because of lawful acts done by the employee in furtherance of the Retirement Systems Division's receipt of information concerning possible violations of retirement law, including cooperation with the Division's investigation of possible violations, shall be entitled to all relief necessary to make the employee whole. Relief shall include reinstatement with the same seniority status as the employee would have had but for the discrimination or retaliation by the employing unit, two times the amount of back pay, interest on the back pay, and compensation for any special damages sustained as a result of the discrimination or retaliation, including litigation costs and reasonable attorneys' fees. An employee may bring an action in superior court for the relief provided in this section.

## History.

2012-185, s. 1.

# §§ 128-38.7 through 128-38.9. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

# § 128-38.10. Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement.

- (a) The following words and phrases as used in this section, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context, have the following meanings:
  - (1) "Board of Trustees" means the Board of Trustees established by G.S. 128-28.
  - (2) "Internal Revenue Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
  - (3) "Payee" means a retired member, or the survivor beneficiary of a member or retired member.
  - (4) "Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement" means the qualified excess benefit arrangement under section 415(m) of the Internal Revenue Code established under this Article.
  - (5) "Retirement System" means the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- (b) The Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement (QEBA) is established effective January 1, 2014, and placed under the management of the Board of Trustees. The purpose of the QEBA is solely to provide the part of a retirement allowance or benefit that would otherwise have been payable by the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System except for the limitations under section 415(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. The QEBA, as set forth in this section, is intended to constitute a qualified governmental excess benefit arrangement under section 415(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.
  - (c) Eligibility to Participate in the QEBA. Effective as of

January 1, 2014, a payee shall participate in the QEBA for any calendar year, or portion of the calendar year, during which he or she receives a retirement allowance or benefit payment on and after January 1, 2014, from the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System that is reduced due to the application of the maximum benefit provisions of section 415(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. For purposes of the QEBA, a payee is a retired member or survivor beneficiary of a member or retired member who is receiving monthly retirement benefit payments from a Retirement System.

- (d) Supplemental Benefit Payable Under the QEBA. Effective January 1, 2014, a payee shall receive each month, commencing on and after January 1, 2014, a monthly supplemental benefit equal to the difference between the amount of that payee's monthly retirement benefit paid under the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System on and after January 1, 2014, and the amount that would have been payable to that payee from the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System in that month if not for the reduction due to the application of section 415(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. That supplemental benefit shall be computed and payable under the same terms, at the same time, and to the same person as the related benefit payable under the Retirement System. A payee cannot elect to defer the receipt of all or any part of the supplemental payments due under the QEBA. The supplemental benefit paid under this section shall be taxable under North Carolina law in the same manner as the benefit paid under the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- (d1) The last employer of a payee who retires on or after August 1, 2016, and who receives any supplemental benefit payment under this section shall be required to reimburse the QEBA in the amount of any supplemental benefit payment made to that payee. The reimbursement amount shall be calculated on an annual basis every calendar year. For purposes of calculating the reimbursement amount, the Board of Trustees may include a pro rata share of direct costs attributable to administration of the QEBA. The Fiscal Research Division of the General Assembly shall be required to review all reimbursement amounts prior to notifying an employer of the reimbursement amount owed.

The employer shall have 60 calendar days from the date of notification of the reimbursement amount owed to pay the amount in full or the employer shall be assessed a penalty, in lieu of interest, of one percent (1%) per month, or fraction thereof, that the payment is made beyond the due date.

(e) **Funding of the QEBA.** — The QEBA shall be unfunded within the meaning of federal tax laws. No payee contributions or deferrals, direct or indirect, by election or otherwise shall be made or

allowed. The Board of Trustees, upon the recommendation of the actuary engaged by the Board of Trustees, shall determine the employer contributions required to pay the benefits due under the QEBA for each fiscal year. The required contributions shall be paid by all participating employers. The required contributions shall be deposited in a separate fund from the fund into which regular employer contributions are deposited for the underlying Retirement System. The benefit liability for the QEBA shall be determined each fiscal year and assets shall not be accumulated to pay benefits in future fiscal years.

- (f) **Treatment of Unused Assets.** Any assets of the QEBA plan not used to pay benefits in the current calendar year shall be used for payment of the administrative expenses of the QEBA for the current or future calendar years or shall be paid to the Retirement System as an additional employer contribution.
- (g) Assets Subject to Claims of Creditors. A payee, or a payee's beneficiary or heirs, shall have no right to, and shall have no property interest in, any assets held to support the liabilities created under this section. To the extent that any person acquires the right to receive benefits under the QEBA, that right shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured general creditor of the State of North Carolina or such other applicable employer under this section.
- (h) **Administration.** The QEBA shall be administered by the Board of Trustees, which shall compile and maintain all records necessary or appropriate for administration. The Board of Trustees shall have full discretionary authority to interpret, construe, and implement the QEBA and to adopt such rules and regulations as may be necessary or desirable to implement the provisions of the QEBA in accordance with section 415(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (i) **No Assignment.** Except for the application of the provisions of G.S. 110-136 and G.S. 110-136.3, et seq., or in connection with a court-ordered equitable distribution under G.S. 50-20, any supplemental benefit under this section shall be exempt from levy and sale, garnishment, attachment, or any other process, and shall be unassignable except as specifically otherwise provided in this section.
- (j) **Reservation of Power to Change.** The General Assembly reserves the right at any time and, from time to time, to modify or amend, in whole or in part, any or all of the provisions of the QEBA. No member of the Retirement System and no beneficiary of such a member shall be deemed to have acquired any vested right to a supplemental payment under this section.
- (k) Sunset of Eligibility to Participate in the QEBA. No member of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System who became a member of the Retirement

System on or after January 1, 2015, shall be eligible to participate in the QEBA, and the Retirement System shall not pay any new member more retirement benefits than allowed under the limitations of section 415(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.

#### History.

2013-405, s. 3(b); 2015-67, s. 3(b); 2015-241, s. 30.30A(b); 2016-94, s. 36.23(b), (d).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 36.23(e), provides: "Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System may develop procedures to implement subsection (a) of this section [amending G.S. 135-151]. Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the Board of Trustees of the North Carolina Local Government Employees' Retirement System may de-

velop procedures to implement subsection (b) of this section [amending G.S. 128-38.10]."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2016.'"

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2016-2017 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2016-2017 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

# CHAPTER 135.

# RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES; SOCIAL SECURITY; STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

# Article 1. Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees.

- 135-1. Definitions.
- 135-1.1. Licensing and examining boards.
- 135-2. Name and date of establishment.
- 135-3. Membership.
- 135-3.1, 135-3.2. [Repealed.]
- 135-4. Creditable service.
- 135-4A. [Recodified.]
- 135-4.1. Reciprocity of creditable service with other State-administered retirement systems.
- 135-4.5. Creditable service purchases.
- 135-5. Benefits.
- 135-5.1. Optional retirement program for The University of North Carolina.
- 135-5.2. [Repealed.]
- 135-5.3. Optional participation for charter schools operated by private nonprofit corporations or municipalities.
- 135-5.4. Optional retirement program for State-funded community colleges.
- 135-5.5. Inactive employers.
- 135-5.6. Employees of the University of North Carolina Health Care System.
- 135-5.7. Certain employees of East Carolina University.
- $135\text{-}6. \ Administration.$
- 135-6.1. Member retirement record files held by the Retirement System.
- 135-7. Management of funds.
- 135-7.1, 135-7.2. [Repealed.]
- 135-8. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Method of financing.
- 135-8. (Effective January 1, 2025) Method of financing.
- 135-9. Exemption from garnishment, attachment, etc.; employing unit to offset amount owed by member or beneficiary.
- 135-10. Protection against fraud.
- 135-10.1. Failure to respond.
- 135-11. Application of other pension laws.
- 135-12. Obligation of maintaining reserves and paying benefits.
- 135-13 through 135-14.1. [Repealed.]
- 135-15. [Repealed.]
- 135-16. [Repealed.]
- 135-16.1. Blind or visually impaired vendors.
- 135-17. Facility of payment.
- 135-18. [Repealed.]
- 135-18.1. Transfer of credits from the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- 135-18.2. [Repealed.]
- 135-18.3. [Repealed.]
- 135-18.4. Reservation of power to change.
- 135-18.5. [Repealed.]
- 135-18.6. Termination or partial termination; discontinuance of contributions.
- 135-18.7. Internal Revenue Code compliance.
- 135-18.8. Deduction for payments allowed.
- 135-18.9. Transfer of members from the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System.
- 135-18.10. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies committed while serving as elected government official.

#### Section

- 135-18.10A. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies related to employment or holding office.
- 135-18.10B. Prohibition on purchase of forfeited service.
- 135-18.11. Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance.

# Article 2. Coverage of Governmental Employees under Title II of the Social Security Act.

- 135-19. Declaration of policy.
- 135-20. Definitions.
- 135-21. Federal-State agreement; interstate instrumentalities.
- 135-22. Contributions by State employees.
- 135-23. Plans for coverage of employees of political subdivisions.
- 135-24. Contribution fund.
- 135-25. Rules and regulations.
- 135-26. Studies and reports.
- 135-27. Transfers from State to certain association service.
- 135-28. Transfer of members to employment covered by the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- 135-28.1. Transfer of members to employment covered by the Uniform Judicial Retirement System.
- 135-29. Referenda and certification.
- 135-30. State employees members of Law-Enforcement Officers' Benefit and Retirement Fund.
- 135-31. Split referendums.

### Article 3. Other Teacher, Employee Benefits; Child Health Benefits.

- 135-32 through 135-36. [Repealed.]
- 135-37 through 135-42.1. [Recodified and Renumbered.]

# Article 3A. Other Benefits for Teachers, State Employees, Retired State Employees, and Child Health.

- 135-43 through 135-47.3. [Repealed and recodified.]
- 135-48. [Reserved.]

## Article 3B. State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees.

#### Part 1. General Provisions.

- 135-48.1. General definitions.
- 135-48.2. Undertaking.
- 135-48.3. Right to amend.
- 135-48.4. Conflict with federal law.
- 135-48.5. Health benefit trust funds created.
- 135-48.6, 135-48.7. [Reserved.]
- 135-48.8. Statements of public interest.
- 135-48.9. [Reserved.]
- 135-48.10. Confidentiality of information and medical records; provider contracts.
- 135-48.11. [Reserved.]
- 135-48.12. Committee on Actuarial Valuation of Retired Employees' Health Benefits.
- 135-48.13, 135-48.14. [Reserved.]
- 135-48.15. Whistle-blower protections related to the State Health Plan.
- 135-48.16. Fraud detection and audit programs.
- 135-48.17 through 135-48.19. [Reserved.]

#### Part 2. Administrative Structure.

- 135-48.20. Board of Trustees established.
- 135-48.21. Board officers, quorum, meetings.
- 135-48.22. Board powers and duties.
- 135-48.23. Executive Administrator.
- 135-48.24. Administrative review.
- 135-48.25. Rules.

# STATE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Section				
	[Reserved.]			
	Reports to the General Assembly; General Assembly access to informa-			
100 10.21.	tion.			
135-48 98	Auditing of the Plan.			
	[Reserved.]			
100-40.20.	[iteserved.]			
Part 3. Plan Operation.				
135-48.30.	Powers and duties of the State Treasurer.			
	[Reserved.]			
135-48.32.	Contracts to provide benefits.			
	Contracting provisions; large contract review by Board of Trustees and			
	Attorney General, auditing, no cost plus contracts.			
135-48.34.	Contracts not subject to Article 3 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes.			
135-48.35.	Contract disputes not contested case under the Administrative Procedure Act, Chapter 150B of the General Statutes.			
135-48.36.	[Reserved.]			
135-48.37.	Liability of third person; right of subrogation; right of first recovery.			
	A. Employing unit cooperation in collection of amounts owed to Plan.			
	Persons eligible for Medicare; optional participation in other Medicare			
	products.			
135-48.39.	Operations during state of disaster or emergency.			
	A. Premiums to purchase alternative coverage for retirees in lieu of			
	coverage under the Plan.			
	Part 4. Eligibility and Enrollment.			
195 40 40				
	Categories of eligibility.			
	Additional eligibility provisions.			
	Enrollment.			
	Effective dates of coverage.			
	Cessation of coverage.			
	Conversion.			
	Settlement agreements by employing units.			
135-48.47.	Participation in State Health Plan by local government employees and			
	dependents.			
	[Reserved.]			
135-48.49.	IRC Sections 6055 and 6056 regulatory reporting.			
	Part 5. Coverage Mandates and Exclusions; Other Mandates.			
135-48.50.	Coverage mandates.			
135-48.51.	(Effective until January 1, 2022) Coverage and operational mandates			
	related to Chapter 58 of the General Statutes.			
135-48.51.	Coverage and operational mandates related to Chapter 58 of the General			
	Statutes.			
135-48.52.	General limitations and exclusions.			
135-48.53.	[Reserved.]			
135-48.54.	Optional participation for charter schools operated by private nonprofit			
	corporations or municipalities.			
135-48.55.	[Repealed.]			
135-48.56.	Education of covered active and retired employees.			
	Payments for county or city ambulance service.			
	Premiums for firefighters, rescue squad workers, and members of Na-			
	tional Guard.			
135-48.59.	[Reserved.]			

Part 6. Long-term Care Benefits.

135-48.60 through 135-48.62. [Repealed].

135-49. [Reserved.]

# Article 4. Consolidated Judicial Retirement Act.

135-50. Short title and purpose.

135-51. Scope.

#### RETIREMENT FOR COUNTIES, ETC

#### Section

- 135-52. Application of Article 1; administration.
- 135-53. Definitions.
- 135-54. Name and date of establishment.
- 135-55. Membership.
- 135-56. Creditable service.
- 135-56.01. Reciprocity of creditable service with other State-administered retirement systems.
- 135-56.1. [Repealed.]
- 135-56.2. (Recodified.)
- 135-56.3. (Recodified.)
- 135-56.5. Creditable service purchases.
- 135-57. Service retirement.
- 135-58. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Service retirement benefits.
- 135-58. (Effective January 1, 2025) Service retirement benefits.
- 135-59. Disability retirement.
- 135-60. Disability retirement benefits.
- 135-61. Election of optional allowance.
- 135-62. Return of accumulated contributions.
- 135-63. Benefits on death before retirement.
- 135-64. Benefits on death after retirement.
- 135-65. Post-retirement increases in allowances.
- 135-66. Administration; management of funds; method of financing.
- 135-67. Assets of Retirement System.
- 135-68. Contributions by the members.
- 135-69. Contributions by the State.
- 135-70. Transfer of members to another system.
- 135-70.1. Transfer of members from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or the Legislative Retirement System.
- 135-71. Return to membership of retired former member.
- 135-72. [Repealed.]
- 135-73. Termination or partial termination; discontinuance of contributions.
- 135-74. Internal Revenue Code compliance.
- 135-75. Deduction for payments allowed.
- 135-75.1. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies committed while serving as elected government official.
- 135-75.1A. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies related to employment or holding office.
- 135-75.1B. Prohibition on purchase of forfeited service.
- 135-75.2. Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance.
- 135-76. [Reserved.]

### Article 4A. Uniform Solicitorial Retirement Act of 1974 [Repealed.]

135-77 through 135-83. [Repealed.]

# Article 4B. Uniform Clerks of Superior Court Retirement Act of 1975.

- 135-84 through 135-86. [Repealed.]
- 135-87 through 135-89. [Reserved.]

# Article 5. Supplemental Retirement Income Act of 1984.

- 135-90. Short title and purpose.
- 135-91. Administration.
- 135-92. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Membership.
- 135-92. (Effective January 1, 2025) Membership.
- 135-93. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Contributions.
- 135-93. (Effective January 1, 2025) Contributions.
- 135-94. Benefits.
- 135-95. Exemption from garnishment, attachment.
- 135-96. Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees.
- 135-97. Immunity.
- 135-98, 135-99. [Reserved.]

### Article 6. Disability Income Plan of North Carolina.

#### Section

- 135-100. Short title and purpose.
- 135-101. Definitions.
- 135-102. Administration.
- 135-103. Eligible participants.
- 135-104. Salary continuation.
- 135-105. Short-term disability benefits.
- 135-106. Long-term disability benefits.
- 135-107. Optional Retirement Program.
- 135-108. Post disability benefit adjustments.
- 135-109. Reports of earnings.
- 135-110. Funding and management of funds.
- 135-111. Applicability of other pension laws.
- 135-111.1. Improper receipt of decedent's Disability Income Plan allowance.
- 135-112. Transition provisions.135-113. Reservation of power to change.
- 135-114. Reciprocity of membership service with the Legislative Retirement System and the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System.
- 135-115 through 135-149. [Reserved.]

# Article 7. Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement.

- 135-150. Definitions.
- 135-151. Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement.

# ARTICLE 1.

# RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

# § 135-1. Definitions.

The following words and phrases as used in this Chapter, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context, shall have the following meanings:

- (1) "Accumulated contributions" shall mean the sum of all the amounts deducted from the compensation of a member and accredited to his individual account in the annuity savings fund, together with regular interest thereon as provided in G.S. 135-8.
- (2) "Actuarial equivalent" shall mean a benefit of equal value when computed upon the basis of actuarial assumptions as shall be adopted by the Board of Trustees.
- (3) "Annuity" shall mean payments for life derived from that "accumulated contribution" of a member. All annuities shall be payable in equal monthly installments.
- (4) "Annuity reserve" shall mean the present value of all payments to be made on account of any annuity or benefit in lieu of any annuity, computed upon the basis of such mortality tables as shall be adopted by the Board of Trustees, and regular interest.
- (4a) "Authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff" means only other staff of the

- Department of State Treasurer, staff of the Department of Justice, or persons providing internal auditing assistance required under G.S. 143-746(b).
- (4b) Expired pursuant to Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(d), effective July 1, 2022.
- (5) "Average final compensation" shall mean the average annual compensation of a member during the four consecutive calendar years of membership service producing the highest such average; but shall not include any compensation, as determined by the Board of Trustees, for the reimbursement of expenses or payments for housing or any other allowances whether or not classified as salary and wages. Payout of vacation leave shall be included in "average final compensation" only if the payout is received by the member during the four consecutive calendar years of membership service producing the highest average annual compensation of the member. In the event a member is or has been in receipt of a benefit under the provisions of G.S. 135-105 or G.S. 135-106, the compensation used in the calculation of "average final compensation" shall be the higher of compensation of the member under the provisions of this Article or compensation used in calculating the payment of benefits under Article 6 of this Chapter as adjusted for percentage increases in the post disability benefit.
- (6) "Beneficiary" shall mean any person in receipt of a pension, an annuity, a retirement allowance or other benefit as provided by this Chapter.
- (7) "Board of Trustees" shall mean the Board provided for in G.S. 135-6 to administer the Retirement System.
- (7a)a. "Compensation" shall mean all salaries and wages prior to any reduction pursuant to sections 125, 401(k), 403(b), 414(h)(2), and 457 of the Internal Revenue Code, not including any terminal payments for unused sick leave, derived from public funds which are earned by a member of the Retirement System for service as an employee or teacher in the unit of the Retirement System for which he is performing full-time work. In addition to the foregoing, "compensation" shall include:
  - 1. Performance-based compensation (regardless of whether paid in a lump sum, in periodic installments, or on a monthly basis);
  - 2. Conversion of additional benefits to salary (additional benefits such as health, life, or disability plans), so long as the benefits are other than mandated by State law or regulation;
  - 3. Payment of tax consequences for benefits provided by the employer, so long as they constitute an

- adjustment or increase in salary and not a "reimbursement of expenses";
- 4. Payout of vacation leave so long as such payouts are permitted by applicable law and regulation;
- 5. Employee contributions to eligible deferred compensation plans; and
- 6. Effective July 1, 2009, payment of military differential wages.
- b. "Compensation" shall not include any payment, as determined by the Board of Trustees, for the reimbursement of expenses or payments for housing or any other allowances whether or not classified as salary and wages. "Compensation" includes all special pay contribution of annual leave made to a 401(a) Special Pay Plan for the benefit of an employee. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, "compensation" shall not include:
  - Supplement/allowance provided to employee to purchase additional benefits such as health, life, or disability plans;
  - 2. Travel supplement/allowance (nonaccountable allowance plans);
  - 3. Employer contributions to eligible deferred compensation plans;
  - 4. Employer-provided fringe benefits (additional benefits such as health, life, or disability plans);
  - 5. Reimbursement of uninsured medical expenses;
  - 6. Reimbursement of business expenses;
  - 7. Reimbursement of moving expenses;
  - 8. Reimbursement/payment of personal expenses;
  - 9. Incentive payments for early retirement;
  - 10. Bonuses paid incident to retirement;
  - 10a. Local supplementation as authorized under G.S. 7A-300.1 for Judicial Department employees;
  - 11. Contract buyout/severance payments; and
  - 12. Payouts for unused sick leave.
- c. In the event an employer reports as "compensation" payments not specifically included or excluded as "compensation", such payments shall be "compensation" for retirement purposes only if the employer pays the Retirement System the additional actuarial liability created by such payments.
- (7b) "Compliance investigation" means an independent review or examination by Retirement Systems Division staff or authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff of records, activities, actions, or decisions by employers or other affiliated or associated

- entities having an impact on a Retirement System or benefits administered by the Board of Trustees. The purpose of a compliance investigation is to help detect errors and ensure compliance and full accountability in the use of pension funds.
- (7c) "Conduct directly related to the office or employment" shall mean conduct by the member resulting in a felony conviction that:
  - a. Is an offense identified in G.S. 115C-270.35(b), and the commission of the offense occurred while the member was employed in a public school or working in a public school subject to a memorandum of understanding.
  - b. Is an offense which required the revocation of the member's licensure or certification required for the member's employment or office at the time of the commission of the offense.
  - c. Is conduct that was directly related to the member's employment or office as determined by the Board of Trustees.
- (7d) "Consumer Price Index" shall mean the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U), U.S. City Average, all items, not seasonally adjusted, standard reference base, as published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor.
- (8) "Creditable service" shall mean the total of "prior service" plus "membership service" plus service, both noncontributory and purchased, for which credit is allowable as provided under this Article. In no event, however, shall "creditable service" be deemed "membership service" for the purpose of determining eligibility for benefits accruing under this Article.
- (8a) "Duly acknowledged" means notarized, including electronic notarization, or verified through an identity authentication service approved by the Department of State Treasurer.
- (9) "Earnable compensation" shall mean the full rate of the compensation that would be payable to a teacher or employee if he worked in full normal working time. In cases where compensation includes maintenance, the Board of Trustees shall fix the value of that part of the compensation not paid in money.
- (10) "Employee" shall mean all full-time employees, agents or officers of the State of North Carolina or any of its departments, bureaus and institutions other than educational, whether such employees are elected, appointed or employed: Provided that the term "employee" shall not include employees of the University of North Carolina Health Care

System who are not eligible for participation under G.S. 135-5.6, employees of the East Carolina University School of Medicine or Dental School of Medicine who are not eligible for participation under G.S. 135-5.7, any person who is a member of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, any member of the General Assembly or any part-time or temporary employee. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, "employee" shall include all employees of the General Assembly except participants in the Legislative Intern Program, pages, and beneficiaries in receipt of a monthly retirement allowance under this Chapter who are reemployed on a temporary basis. "Employee" also includes any participant whose employment is interrupted by reason of service in the Uniformed Services, as that term is defined in section 4303(16) of the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, Public Law 103-353, if that participant was an employee at the time of the interruption; if the participant does not return immediately after that service to employment with a covered employer in this System, then the participant shall be deemed "in service" until the date on which the participant was first eligible to be separated or released from his or her involuntary military service. In all cases of doubt, the Board of Trustees shall determine whether any person is an employee as defined in this Chapter. "Employee" shall also mean every full-time civilian employee of the North Carolina National Guard who is employed pursuant to section 709 of Title 32 of the United States Code and paid from federal appropriated funds, but held by the federal authorities not to be a federal employee: Provided, however, that the authority or agency paying the salaries of such employees shall deduct or cause to be deducted from each employee's salary the employee's contribution in accordance with applicable provisions of G.S. 135-8 and remit the same, either directly or indirectly, to the Retirement System; coverage of employees described in this sentence shall commence upon the first day of the calendar year or fiscal year, whichever is earlier, next following the date of execution of an agreement between the Secretary of Defense of the United States and the Adjutant General of the State acting for the Governor in behalf of the State, but no credit shall be allowed pursuant to this sentence for any service previously rendered in the above-described capacity as a civilian employee of the North Carolina National Guard: Provided, further, that the Adjutant General, in the Adjutant General's discretion, may terminate the Retirement System coverage of the above-described North Carolina

National Guard employees if a federal retirement system is established for such employees and the Adjutant General elects to secure coverage of such employees under such federal retirement system. Any full-time civilian employee of the North Carolina National Guard described above who is now or hereafter may become a member of the Retirement System may secure Retirement System credit for such service as a North Carolina National Guard civilian employee for the period preceding the time when such employees became eligible for Retirement System coverage by paying to the Retirement System an amount equal to that which would have constituted employee contributions if the employee had been a member during the years of ineligibility, plus interest. Employees of State agencies, departments, institutions, boards, and commissions who are employed in permanent job positions on a recurring basis must work at least 30 hours per week for nine or more months per calendar year in order to be covered by the provisions of this subdivision. On and after August 1, 2001, a person who is a nonimmigrant alien and who otherwise meets the requirements of this subdivision shall not be excluded from the definition of "employee" solely because the person holds a temporary or time-limited visa.

- (11) "Employer" shall mean the State of North Carolina, the county board of education, the city board of education, the State Board of Education, the board of trustees of the University of North Carolina, the University of North Carolina Health Care System, the board of trustees of other institutions and agencies supported and under the control of the State, or any other agency of and within the State by which a teacher or other employee is paid. For purposes of reporting under the pronouncements by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the Retirement System is a multi-employer plan.
- (11a) "Filing" when used in reference to an application for retirement shall mean the receipt of an acceptable application on a form provided by the Retirement System.
- (11b) "Fraud investigation" means an independent review or examination by Retirement Systems Division staff or authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff of records, activities, actions, or decisions by employers or other affiliated or associated entities having an impact on the Retirement System. The purpose of a fraud investigation is to help detect and prevent fraud and to ensure full accountability in the use of pension funds.
- (11c) "Law-Enforcement Officer" means a full-time paid employee of an employer who is actively serving in a position

with assigned primary duties and responsibilities for prevention and detection of crime or the general enforcement of the criminal laws of the State of North Carolina or serving civil processes, and who possesses the power of arrest by virtue of an oath administered under the authority of the State. "Law-Enforcement Officer" also means a probation/parole officer as defined in this section with respect to any service rendered on or after July 1, 2017.

- (12) "Medical board" shall mean the board of physicians provided for in G.S. 135-6.
- (13) "Member" shall mean any teacher or State employee included in the membership of the System as provided in G.S. 135-3 and 135-4.
- (14) "Membership service" shall mean service as a teacher or State employee rendered while a member of the Retirement System or membership service in a North Carolina Retirement System that has been transferred into this system.
- (15) "Pension reserve" shall mean the present value of all payments to be made on account of any pension or benefit in lieu of any pension computed upon the basis of such mortality tables as shall be adopted by the Board of Trustees, and regular interest.
- (16) "Pensions" shall mean payments for life derived from money provided by the State of North Carolina, and by county or city boards of education. All pensions shall be payable in equal monthly installments.
- (17) "Prior service" shall mean service rendered prior to the date of establishment of the Retirement System for which credit is allowable under G.S. 135-4; provided, persons now employed by the Board of Transportation shall be entitled to credit for employment in road maintenance by the various counties and road districts prior to 1931.
- (17a) "Probation/Parole Officer" shall mean a full-time paid employee of the Division of Community Supervision and Reentry of the Department of Adult Correction whose duties include supervising, evaluating, or otherwise instructing offenders who have been placed on probation, parole, or post-release supervision or have been assigned to any other community-based program operated by the Division of Community Supervision and Reentry.
- (18) "Public school" shall mean any day school conducted within the State under the authority and supervision of a duly elected or appointed city or county school board, and any educational institution supported by and under the control of the State.
- (19) "Regular interest" shall mean interest compounded annually at such a rate as shall be determined by the Board of Trustees in accordance with G.S. 135-7, subsection (b).

- (20) "Retirement" under this Chapter, except as otherwise provided, means the commencement of monthly retirement benefits along with termination of employment and the complete separation from active service with no intent or agreement, express or implied, to return to service. A retirement allowance under the provisions of this Chapter may only be granted upon retirement of a member. In order for a member's retirement to become effective in any month, the member must perform no work for an employer, including part-time, temporary, substitute, or contractor work, at any time during the six months immediately following the effective date of retirement. A member who is a full-time faculty member of The University of North Carolina may effect a retirement allowance under this Chapter, notwithstanding the six-month requirement above, provided the member immediately enters the University's Phased Retirement Program for Tenured Faculty as that program existed on May 25, 2011. For purposes of this subdivision, all of the following shall not be considered service or work:
  - a. Serving as an unpaid bona fide volunteer in a local school administrative unit.
  - b. Serving as an unpaid bona fide volunteer guardian ad litem in the guardian ad litem program.
  - c. Serving on an authority, board, commission, committee, council, or other body of the State or of one or more counties, cities, local school administrative units, community colleges, constituent institutions of The University of North Carolina, or other political subdivisions or public corporations in the State, that is authorized to function as legislative, policy-making, quasi-judicial, administrative, or advisory body in a position that does not require membership in the Retirement System.
  - d. Volunteering in a position normally designated as an unpaid bona fide volunteer position.
- (21) "Retirement allowance" shall mean the sum of the "annuity and the pensions," or any optional benefit payable in lieu thereof.
- (22) "Retirement System" shall mean the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina as defined in G.S. 135-2.
- (23) "Service" shall mean service as a teacher or State employee as described in subdivision (10) or (25) of this section.
- (24) "Social security breakpoint" shall mean the maximum amount of taxable wages under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act as from time to time in effect.

- (25) "Teacher" shall mean (i) any teacher, helping teacher, teacher in a job-sharing position under G.S. 115C-326.5 except for a beneficiary in that position, librarian, superintendent principal, supervisor, superintendent of public schools or any full-time employee, city or county, of public instruction, or any full-time employee of the Department of Public Instruction, president, dean or teacher, or any fulltime employee in any educational institution supported by and under the control of the State; (ii) who works at least 30 or more hours per week for at least nine or more months per calendar year. The term "teacher" shall not include any employee or teacher in a part-time, temporary, or substitute position, except for a teacher in a job-sharing position. The term "teacher" does not include those participating in an optional retirement program provided for in G.S. 135-5.1 or G.S. 135-5.4. In all cases of doubt, the Board of Trustees shall determine whether any person is a teacher as defined in this Chapter. On and after August 1, 2001, a person who is a nonimmigrant alien and who otherwise meets the requirements of this subdivision shall not be excluded from the definition of "teacher" solely because the person holds a temporary or time-limited visa. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term "teacher" shall not include any nonimmigrant alien employed in elementary or secondary public schools, whether employed in a full-time, part-time, temporary, permanent, or substitute teacher position, and participating in an exchange visitor program designated by the United States Department of State pursuant to 22 C.F.R. Part 62 or by the United States Department of Homeland Security pursuant to 8 C.F.R. Part 214.2(q).
- (26) "Year" as used in this Article shall mean the regular fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30 in the following calendar year unless otherwise defined by regulation of the Board of Trustees.

### History.

1941, c. 25, s. 1; 1943, c. 431; 1945, c. 924; 1947, c. 458, s. 6; 1953, c. 1053; 1955, c. 818; c. 1155, s. 81/2; 1959, c. 513, s. 1; c. 1263, s. 1; 1963, c. 687, s. 1; 1965, c. 750; c. 780, s. 1; 1969, c. 44, s. 74; c. 1223, s. 16; c. 1227; 1971, c. 117, ss. 1-5; c. 338, s. 1; 1973, c. 507, s. 5; c. 640, s. 2; c. 1233; 1975, c. 475, s. 1; 1977, c. 574, s. 1; 1979, c. 972, s. 1; 1981, c. 557, ss. 1, 2; 1983, c. 412, ss. 1, 2; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, s. 227; 1985, c. 649, s. 3; 1987, c. 738, ss. 29(a), 36(a); 1991, c. 51, s. 2; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, s. 7.31(c); 1998-1, s. 4(g); 2001-424, s. 32.24(b); 2001-426, ss. 2, 3; 2001-513, s. 24; 2002-110, s. 1; 2002-126, ss. 28.6(b),

28.12(a); 2002-174, s. 2; 2003-359, ss. 1, 2; 2004-81, s. 1; 2004-199, s. 34(a); 2005-276, s. 29.28(e); 2006-66, s. 22.21; 2007-143, s. 1; 2009-11, s. 1; 2009-66, s. 6(e), (i); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-451, s. 26.22; 2010-31, s. 29.7(d); 2011-145, s. 29.24(b); 2011-183, s. 100; 2012-130, s. 6; 2012-185, s. 2(b); 2013-288, ss. 3(a), 4(a); 2013-291, s. 1; 2014-97, s. 4(a); 2015-67, s. 1; 2015-164, s. 4; 2017-57, s. 35.19B(a); 2017-125, s. 1(a); 2017-128, s. 1(a)-(c); 2017-129, s. 4(a); 2017-186, s. 3(a); 2018-85, s. 10; 2019-110, s. 3; 2020-48, s. 1.1(b); 2021-72, s. 2.1(a); 2021-75, s.3.1(b); 2021-180, s. 19C.9(t), (u); 2023-128, s. 3A(b); 2023-134, s. 4.10(k), (l); 2024-9, s. 4(a); 2024-10, s. 4(a).

#### Cross References.

For the Legislative Actuarial Note Act, see G.S. 120-112 et seq.

#### Open Enrollment — Contributory Death Benefit.

Session Laws 2007-388, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding any section of law or any rules and regulations adopted by the Boards of Trustees to the contrary, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall allow for an open enrollment period in the Contributory Death Benefit for Retired Members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, and the Legislative Retirement System. This open enrollment period shall begin February 1, 2008, and end May 31, 2008. The Retirement Systems Division shall send notice by U.S. mail of the open enrollment period to all retirees who elected not to be covered under this benefit or who failed to make any election at the time of their retirement and shall send a second notice by U.S. mail to any such retiree who fails to make an election within 60 days of the notification of the open enrollment period. Notice, at minimum, shall consist of notification of the open enrollment period and the consequences of failure to respond within the specified time frames, informational materials explaining the benefit program and the associated costs, and a preprinted personalized enrollment application to facilitate the enrollment process indicating each individual retiree's contribution rate. The contribution rate for retirees electing coverage during the open enrollment period shall be increased by eleven and one-tenth percent (11.1%) the rate established for retirees who elected coverage when first eligible, at retirement. For retirees electing coverage during this open enrollment period, coverage shall become effective the first of the month following the month in which the election of coverage is received by the Retirement Systems Division but not before February 1, 2008. Contribution rates for coverage shall be based upon the retiree's nearest age as of the effective date of coverage and shall begin by deduction from the retiree's net monthly retirement allowance in the month in which coverage becomes effective. Coverage elected by retirees during this open enrollment period shall be subject to all other laws and rules and regulations

adopted by the Board of Trustees governing the Contributory Death Benefit for Retired Members."

# Third Grade Read to Achieve Teacher Bonus Program.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 9.7(a)-(e), as amended by Session Laws 2017-57, s. 8.8B(c), provides: "(a) The State Board of Education shall establish the Third Grade Read to Achieve Teacher Bonus Program (program) to reward teacher performance and encourage student learning and improvement. To attain this goal, the Department of Public Instruction shall administer bonus pay to teachers who have an Education Value-Added Assessment System (EVAAS) student growth index score for third grade reading from the previous school year, beginning with the data from the 2015-2016 school year, as follows:

"(1) Of the funds appropriated for the program, five million dollars (\$5,000,000) shall be allocated for bonuses to teachers who are in the top twenty-five percent (25%) of teachers in the State according to the EVAAS student growth index score for third grade reading from the previous year. These funds shall be allocated equally among qualifying teachers.

"(2) Of the funds appropriated for the program. five million dollars (\$5,000,000) shall be allocated to pay bonuses to teachers who are in the top twenty-five percent (25%) of teachers in their respective local school administrative units according to the EVAAS student growth index score for third grade reading from the previous year. These funds shall be split proportionally based on average daily membership for each local school administrative unit and then distributed equally among qualifying teachers in each local school administrative unit, subject to the following conditions:

"a. Teachers employed in charter schools and regional schools are not eligible to receive a bonus under this subdivision.

"b. Any teacher working in a local school administrative unit that employs three or fewer third grade teachers shall receive a bonus under this subdivision if that teacher has an EVAAS student growth index score for third grade reading from the previous school year that exceeds expected growth.

"(3) For EVAAS student growth index score data collected during the 2015-2016 school year and the 2016-2017 school year, bonuses awarded pursuant to subdivisions (1) and (2) of this subsection are payable in January of 2017 and January of 2018, respectively, to qualifying teachers who remain employed teaching in the same local school administrative unit at least from the school year the data is collected until the corresponding school year that the bonus is paid.

"(4) A teacher who is eligible to receive a bonus under both subdivisions (1) and (2) of this subsection shall receive both bonuses. The bonus or bonuses awarded to a teacher pursuant to this subsection shall be in addition to any regular wage or other bonus the teacher receives or is scheduled to receive.

"(b) Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the compensation bonuses awarded by this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

"(c) The State Board of Education shall study the effect of the program on teacher performance and retention. The State Board shall report the results of its findings, the distribution of statewide bonuses as among local school administrative units, and the distribution of bonuses within local school administrative units as among individual schools to the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the Joint Legislative Education Oversight Committee, and the Fiscal Research Division on March 15 of each year

"(d) For the 2017-2018 fiscal year only, the Director of the Budget shall also include in the Base Budget, as defined by G.S. 143C-1-1(d)(1c), the amount of non-recurring funds needed to support the program.

"(e) This section expires June 30, 2018."

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 8.8C(a)-(d), as amended by Session Laws 2017-197, s. 2.10(b), and as amended by Session Laws 2018-5, s. 8.10(d), provides: "(a) It is the intent of the State to reward teacher performance and encourage student learning and improvement. To attain this goal, the Department of Public Instruction shall administer the Third Grade Read to Achieve Teacher Bonus Program (program) to qualifying teachers who have an Education Value-Added Assessment System (EVAAS) student growth index score for third grade reading from the previous school year, as follows:

"(1) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:

"a. Eligible Teacher. — A teacher who meets one or both of the following criteria:

"1. Is in the top twenty-five percent (25%) of teachers in the State according to the EVAAS student growth index score for third grade reading from the previous school year.

"2. Is in the top twenty-five percent (25%) of teachers in the teacher's respective local school administrative unit according to the EVAAS student growth index score for third grade reading from the previous school year.

"b. Qualifying Teacher. — An eligible teacher who remains teaching in the same local school administrative unit or, if the teacher is not employed in a local school administrative unit, remains teaching in the same school at least from the school year the data for the EVAAS student growth index score for third grade reading is collected until January 1 of the school year a bonus provided under this subsection is paid.

"(2) Of the funds appropriated for this program, the sum of five million dollars (\$5,000,000) shall be allocated for bonuses to eligible teachers under subsubdivision (1)a.1. of this subsection. Funds appropriated for this purpose shall be distributed equally among qualifying teachers.

"(3) Of the funds appropriated for this program, the sum of five million dollars (\$5,000,000) shall be allocated for bonuses to eligible teachers under sub-sub-subdivision (1)a.2. of this subsection. Funds allocated for this bonus shall be divided proportionally based on average daily membership in third grade for each local school administrative unit and then distributed equally among qualifying teachers in each local school administrative unit, subject to the following conditions:

"a. Teachers employed in charter schools, regional schools, and University of North Carolina laboratory schools are not eligible to receive a bonus under this subdivision.

"b. Any qualifying teacher who taught in a local school administrative unit that employed in the previous school year three or fewer total third grade teachers shall receive a bonus under this subdivision if that teacher has an EVAAS student growth index score for third grade reading from the previous school year of exceeded expected growth.

"(4) Bonuses awarded pursuant to subdivisions (2) and (3) of this subsection are payable in January to qualifying teachers based on EVAAS student growth index score data from the previous school year.

"(5) A qualifying teacher may receive a bonus under both subdivisions (2) and (3) of this subsection.

"(6) The bonus or bonuses awarded to a qualifying teacher pursuant to this section shall be in addition to any regular wage or other bonus the teacher receives or is scheduled to receive.

"(7) A bonus awarded pursuant to either subdivision (2) or subdivision (3) of this subsection shall not exceed three thousand five hundred dollars (\$3,500) in any given school year. No teacher shall receive more than seven thousand dollars (\$7,000) in total bonus compensation for any given school year.

"(b) Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded by this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retire-

ment System.

"(c) The State Board of Education shall study the effect of the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section and Section 9.7 of S.L. 2016-94, as amended by Section 8.8B of this act, on teacher performance and retention. The State Board shall report the results of its findings, the distribution of statewide bonuses as among local school administrative units, and the distribution of bonuses within local school administrative units as among individual schools to the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the Joint Legislative Education Oversight Committee, and the Fiscal Research Division by March 15 of each year.

"(d) This section applies for bonuses awarded in January 2019 and 2020, based on data from the 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 school years, respectively."

# Advanced Placement/International Baccalaureate/Cambridge AICE Teacher Bonus Program.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 8.8, as amended by Session Laws 2017-57, s. 8.8B(a), as amended by Session Laws 2017-197, s. 2.10(a), and as amended by Session Laws 2018-5, s. 8.10(a), (b), provides: "(a) The State Board of Education shall establish the Advanced Placement/International Baccalaureate/Cambridge AICE Program (program) to reward ad-

vanced course teacher performance and to encourage student learning and improvement. To attain this goal, the Department of Public Instruction shall administer bonus pay to teachers of advanced courses in public schools, including charter schools, beginning with data from the 2015-2016 school year, in accordance with the following:

"(1) A bonus in the amount of fifty dollars (\$50.00) for each student taught by an advanced course teacher in each advanced course who receives the following score:

"a. For Advanced Placement courses, a score of three or higher on the College Board Advanced Placement Examination.

"b. For International Baccalaureate Diploma Programme courses, a score of four or higher on the International Baccalaureate course examination.

"c. For the Cambridge Advanced International Certificate of Education (AICE) program, a score of 'C' or higher on the Cambridge AICE program examinations.

"(2) No teacher shall be awarded a bonus pursuant to this subsection that exceeds three thousand five hundred dollars (\$3,500) in any given school year. The bonus awarded to a teacher pursuant to this subsection shall be in addition to any regular wage or other bonus the teacher receives or is scheduled to receive

"(3) A bonus awarded pursuant to this subsection is payable in January, based on data from the previous school year, to a qualifying teacher who remains employed teaching in the same local school administrative unit or, if the teacher is not employed in a local school administrative unit, remains teaching in the same charter school at least from the school year the data is collected until January 1 of the corresponding school year that the bonus is paid.

"(b) For the purposes of this section, an 'advanced course' shall mean an Advanced Placement course, an International Baccalaureate Diploma Programme course, or a Cambridge AICE course.

"(c) Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the compensation bonuses awarded under this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

"(d) Subsections (a) and (b) of this section apply for bonuses awarded in January 2018, 2019, and 2020, based on data from the 2016-2017, 2017-2018, and

2018-2019 school years, respectively. Subsection (c) of this section applies only for bonuses awarded in January 2018, based on data from the 2016-2017 school year.

"(e) For the 2017-2018 fiscal year only, the Director of the Budget shall also include in the base budget, as defined by G.S. 143C-1-1(d)(1c), the amount of non-recurring funds needed to support the program.

"(f) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-57, s. 8.8B(a), effective July 1, 2017."

# Industry Certifications and Credentials Teacher Bonus Program.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 8.9, as amended by Session Laws 2017-57, s. 8.8B(b), and as amended by Session Laws 2018-5, s. 8.10(c), provides: "(a) The State Board of Education, in collaboration with the Department of Commerce, shall establish the Industry Certifications and Credentials Teacher Bonus Program (program) to reward the performance of teachers in public schools, including charter schools, who teach students earning approved industry certifications or credentials consistent with G.S. 115C-156.2 and to encourage student learning and improvement. To attain this goal, the Department of Public Instruction shall administer bonus pay to teachers in public schools. including charter schools, who teach students earning approved industry certifications or credentials, beginning with data from the 2015-2016 school year, in accordance with the following:

- "(1) For teachers who provide direct instruction to students, bonuses shall be provided in the following amounts:
- "a. A bonus in the amount of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) for each student taught by a teacher who provided instruction in a course that led to the attainment of an industry certification or credential with a twenty-five-dollar (\$25.00) value ranking as determined under subdivision (3) of this subsection.
- "b. A bonus in the amount of fifty dollars (\$50.00) for each student taught by a teacher who provided instruction in a course that led to the attainment of an industry certification or credential with a fifty-dollar (\$50.00) value ranking as determined under subdivision (3) of this subsection.
- "(2) No teacher shall be awarded a bonus pursuant to this subsection that exceeds three thousand five hundred dollars (\$3,500) in any given school year. The bonus awarded to a teacher pursu-

ant to this subsection shall be in addition to any regular wage or other bonus the teacher receives or is scheduled to receive.

"(3) The Department of Commerce, in consultation with the State Board, shall assign a value ranking for each industry certification and credential based on academic rigor and employment value in accordance with this subdivision. Fifty percent (50%) of the ranking shall be based on academic rigor and the remaining fifty percent (50%) on employment value. Academic rigor and employment value shall be based on the following elements:

"a. Academic rigor shall be based on the number of instructional hours, including work experience or internship hours, required to earn the industry certification or credential, with extra weight given for coursework that also provides community college credit.

"b. Employment value shall be based on the entry wage, growth rate in employment for each occupational category, and average annual openings for the primary occupation linked with the industry certification or credential.

"(4) A bonus awarded pursuant to this subsection is payable in January to a qualifying teacher who remains employed teaching in the same local school administrative unit or, if the teacher is not employed in a local school administrative unit, remains teaching in the same charter school at least from the school year the data is collected until January 1 of the corresponding school year that the bonus is paid.

"(b) Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the compensation bonuses awarded under this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

"(c) The State Board of Education shall study the effect of the program on teacher performance and retention. The State Board shall report the results of its findings, the amount of bonuses awarded to teachers who teach students earning approved industry certifications or credentials, and the type of industry certifications and credentials earned by their students to the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the Joint Legislative Education Oversight Committee, and the Fiscal Research Division by March 15 of each year.

"(d) For the 2017-2018 fiscal year only, the Director of the Budget shall also include in the base budget, as defined by  $G.S.\ 143C-1-1(d)(1c)$ , the amount of non-recurring funds needed to support the program.

"(e) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-57, s. 8.8B(b), effective July 1, 2017."

### Fourth and Fifth Grade Reading Teacher Bonus Program for 2017-2018.

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 8.8D(a)-(d), as amended by Session Laws 2018-5, s. 8.11(a), provides: "(a) It is the intent of the State to reward teacher performance and encourage student learning and improvement. To attain this goal, the Department of Public Instruction shall administer the Fourth and Fifth Grade Reading Teacher Bonus Program (program) to qualifying teachers who have an Education Value-Added Assessment System (EVAAS) student growth index score for fourth or fifth grade reading from the previous school year, as follows:

"(1) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:

"a. Eligible Teacher. — A teacher who meets one or both of the following criteria:

"1. Is in the top twenty-five percent (25%) of teachers in the State according to the EVAAS student growth index score for fourth or fifth grade reading from the previous school year.

"2. Is in the top twenty-five percent (25%) of teachers in the teacher's respective local school administrative unit according to the EVAAS student growth index score for fourth or fifth grade reading from the previous school year.

"b. Qualifying Teacher. — An eligible teacher who remains teaching in the same local school administrative unit or, if the teacher is not employed in a local school administrative unit, remains teaching in the same school at least from the school year the data for the EVAAS student growth index score is collected until January 1 of the school year a bonus provided under this subsection is paid.

"(2) Of the funds appropriated for this program, the Department of Public Instruction shall allocate the sum of four million two hundred ninety-eight thousand seven hundred thirty-eight dollars (\$4,298,738) to award a bonus in the amount of two thousand dollars (\$2,000) to each qualifying teacher who is an eligible teacher under sub-sub-subdivision (1)a.1. of this subsection.

"(3) Of the funds appropriated for this program, the Department of Public In-

struction shall allocate the sum of four million two hundred ninety-eight thousand seven hundred thirty-eight dollars (\$4,298,738) to award a bonus in the amount of two thousand dollars (\$2,000) to each qualifying teacher who is an eligible teacher under sub-sub-subdivision (1)a.2. of this subsection, subject to the following conditions:

"a. Teachers employed in charter schools, regional schools, and University of North Carolina laboratory schools are not eligible to receive a bonus under this subdivision.

"b. Any qualifying teacher who taught in a local school administrative unit that employed in the previous school year three or fewer total teachers in the qualifying teacher's grade level shall receive a bonus under this subdivision if that teacher has an EVAAS student growth index score for fourth or fifth grade reading from the previous school year of exceeded expected growth.

"(4) Bonuses awarded pursuant to subdivisions (2) and (3) of this subsection are payable in January to qualifying teachers based on EVAAS student growth index score data from the previous school year.

"(5) A qualifying teacher may receive a bonus under both subdivisions (2) and (3) of this subsection.

"(6) The bonus or bonuses awarded to a qualifying teacher pursuant to this section shall be in addition to any regular wage or other bonus the teacher receives or is scheduled to receive.

"(7) No teacher shall receive more than two bonuses pursuant to this section.

"(b) Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded by this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

"(c) The State Board of Education shall study the effect of the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section on teacher performance and retention. The State Board shall report the results of its findings, the distribution of statewide bonuses as among local school administrative units, and the distribution of bonuses within local school administrative units as among individual schools to the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the Joint Legislative Education Oversight Committee, and the Fiscal Research Division by March 15 of each year bonuses are awarded."

### Fourth to Eighth Grade Math Teacher Bonus Program for 2017-2018.

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 8.8E(a)-(c), as amended by Session Laws 2018-5, s. 8.12(a), provides: "(a) It is the intent of the State to reward teacher performance and encourage student learning and improvement. To attain this goal, the Department of Public Instruction shall administer the Fourth to Eighth Grade Mathematics Teacher Bonus Program (program) to qualifying teachers who have an Education Value-Added Assessment System (EVAAS) student growth index score for fourth, fifth, sixth, seventh, or eighth grade mathematics from the previous school year, as follows:

- "(1) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:
- "a. Eligible Teacher. A teacher who meets one or both of the following criteria:
- "1. Is in the top twenty-five percent (25%) of teachers in the State according to the EVAAS student growth index score for fourth, fifth, sixth, seventh, or eighth grade mathematics from the previous school year.
- "2. Is in the top twenty-five percent (25%) of teachers in the teacher's respective local school administrative unit according to the EVAAS student growth index score for fourth, fifth, sixth, seventh, or eighth grade mathematics from the previous school year.
- "b. Qualifying Teacher. An eligible teacher who remains teaching in the same local school administrative unit or, if the teacher is not employed in a local school administrative unit, remains teaching in the same school at least from the school year the data for the EVAAS student growth index score is collected until January 1 of the school year a bonus provided under this subsection is paid.
- "(2) Of the funds appropriated for this program, the Department of Public Instruction shall allocate the sum of seven million one hundred fifty-one thousand two hundred sixty-two dollars (\$7,151,262) to award a bonus in the amount of two thousand dollars (\$2,000) to each qualifying teacher who is an eligible teacher under sub-subdivision (1)a.1. of this subsection.
- "(3) Of the funds appropriated for this program, the Department of Public Instruction shall allocate the sum of seven million one hundred fifty-one thousand two hundred sixty-two dollars (\$7,151,262) to award a bonus in the

- amount of two thousand dollars (\$2,000) to each qualifying teacher who is an eligible teacher under sub-sub-subdivision (1)a.2. of this subsection, subject to the following conditions:
- "a. Teachers employed in charter schools, regional schools, and University of North Carolina laboratory schools are not eligible to receive a bonus under this subdivision.
- "b. Any qualifying teacher who taught in a local school administrative unit that employed in the previous school year three or fewer total teachers in the qualifying teacher's grade level shall receive a bonus under this subdivision if that teacher has an EVAAS student growth index score for fourth, fifth, sixth, seventh, or eighth grade mathematics from the previous school year of exceeded expected growth.
- "(4) Bonuses awarded pursuant to subdivisions (2) and (3) of this subsection are payable in January to qualifying teachers based on EVAAS student growth index score data from the previous school year.
- "(5) A qualifying teacher may receive a bonus under both subdivisions (2) and (3) of this subsection.
- "(6) The bonus or bonuses awarded to a qualifying teacher pursuant to this section shall be in addition to any regular wage or other bonus the teacher receives or is scheduled to receive.
- "(7) No teacher shall receive more than two bonuses pursuant to this section.
- "(b) Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded by this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
- "(c) The State Board of Education shall study the effect of the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section on teacher performance and retention. The State Board shall report the results of its findings, the distribution of statewide bonuses as among local school administrative units, and the distribution of bonuses within local school administrative units as among individual schools to the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives. the Joint Legislative Education Oversight Committee, and the Fiscal Research Division by March 15 of each year bonuses are awarded."

# Joint Legislative Study Committee on Small Business Retirement Options.

Session Laws 2019-205, ss. 1-5, as

amended by Session Laws 2020-3, s. 4.37(a), provides: "SECTION 1. There is created the Joint Legislative Study Committee on Small Business Retirement Options (the Committee). The Committee shall consist of 10 members appointed as follows:

"(1) One Representative appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives who shall serve as a cochair to the Committee.

"(2) One Senator appointed by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate who shall serve as a cochair to the Committee.

"(3) One Representative appointed by the Minority Leader of the House of Representatives.

"(4) One Senator appointed by the Minority Leader of the Senate.

"(5) The Treasurer or the Treasurer's designee.

"(6) The Secretary of Revenue or the Secretary's designee.

"(7) Two members of the public appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives, one of whom is an individual representing an organization for older adults and one of whom is a retiree with professional knowledge of and experience working in the private retirement services industry.

"(8) Two members of the public appointed by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, one of whom is a business owner and one of whom is a labor advocate.

"SECTION 2. The Committee shall study all of the following:

"(1) Ways the State can reduce the regulatory and operational burden on small businesses that want to offer payroll deduction retirement savings options to employees.

"(2) Mechanisms the State could use to assist citizens to be more prepared to retire in a financially secure manner, including the operation of a State-administered Individual Retirement Account or multiple employer plan.

"(3) The feasibility and benefits of partnering with other similar programs established in other jurisdictions.

"(4) Optimal oversight for any proposed retirement program.

"SECTION 3. The Committee shall meet upon the joint call of the cochairs. A majority shall constitute a quorum of the Committee, and no official action may be taken except by a majority vote at a meeting at which a quorum is present. While in the discharge of its official duties, the Committee shall have the pow-

ers under G.S. 120-19 and G.S. 120-19.1 through G.S. 120-19.4.

"SECTION 4. Members of the Committee shall receive subsistence and travel expenses as provided in G.S. 120-3.1, 138-5, or 138-6, as appropriate. The Committee may contract for consultants or hire employees in G.S. 120-32.02. The Commission, Legislative Services through the Legislative Services Officer, shall assign professional staff to assist the Committee in its work. Upon the direction of the Legislative Services Commission, the Supervisors of Clerks of the Senate and of the House of Representatives shall assign clerical staff to the Committee.

"SECTION 5. The Committee shall report its interim findings and recommendations, including any recommended legislation, to the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, and the Fiscal Research Division no later than March 31, 2020. The Committee shall report its final findings and recommendations, including any recommended legislation, to the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, and the Fiscal Research Division no later than December 1, 2020. The Committee shall terminate upon submission of the final report or August 1, 2020, whichever occurs first."

# Correctional Facility High-Need Salary Supplements.

Session Laws 2019-208, s. 4.1(a)-(g), provides: "(a) Employees of the Department of Public Safety (Department) serving in high-need correctional facilities having the highest numbers of vacant positions are eligible to receive flat-dollar salary supplements, payable monthly, for up to a two-year period.

"(b) The base supplement rate shall be an amount calculated by the Department based on the requirements of this section. The minimum base supplement rate that shall be provided to employees serving in a high-need correctional facility is two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500) annually.

"(c) There are three levels of high-need correctional facilities based upon the facility's respective staffing difficulty:

"(1) Level I — If the correctional facility has had a vacancy rate of at least twenty percent (20%) for at least 12 months in the prior biennium, employees assigned to this facility shall receive a salary supplement equal to the base supplement rate.

"(2) Level II — If the correctional facility has had a vacancy rate of at least twenty-five percent (25%) for at least 12 months in the prior biennium, employees assigned to this facility shall receive a salary supplement equal to twice the base supplement rate.

"(3) Level III — If the correctional facility has had a vacancy rate of at least thirty percent (30%) for at least 12 months in the prior biennium, employees assigned to this facility shall receive a salary supplement equal to three times the base supplement rate.

"(d) The salary supplement rates assigned to each high-need correctional facility at the beginning of each fiscal biennium by the Department shall remain in effect for the facility throughout the respective fiscal biennium. The Department shall re-designate high-need facilities at the beginning of each subsequent fiscal biennium based on the criteria in subsections (b) and (c) of this section.

"(e) The Department may exclude a facility from eligibility to prioritize larger supplements to greater-need facilities or if the vacancy rate does not accurately reflect a facility's actual staffing needs. The Department may assign a lower level to a facility if the assignment would more accurately reflect the facility's needs. The Department shall not provide supplements in facilities that do not meet the minimum criteria specified in subsection (c) of this section.

"(f) Funds appropriated for high-need facility salary supplements may only be expended for that purpose. At the end of each fiscal year, any remaining funding appropriated for the supplements shall be distributed proportionally to employees at high-need facilities who were employed at a designated facility for the entire fiscal year.

"(g) Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the supplements awarded pursuant to this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

#### **Employment of School Personnel.**

Session Laws 2021-7, s. 1.3(a)-(b), provides: "Employment of School Personnel.

— For each local school administrative unit operating the program, the following shall apply:

"(1) Notwithstanding Articles 19, 20, 21, and Part 3 of Article 22 of Chapter 115C of the General Statutes, a local board of education shall employ teachers and other school personnel as temporary

employees on a contract basis for the period of the program. School personnel employed as temporary employees by a local board of education pursuant to this act shall not be considered an 'employee' as defined in G.S. 135-1(10) or a 'teacher' as defined in G.S. 135-1(25), nor shall it cause school personnel to be considered an 'employee or State employee' under G.S. 135-48.1(10). In addition, school personnel shall not be deemed as earning 'compensation' as defined in G.S. 135-1(7a) and shall not be eligible to accrue paid leave during their temporary employment.

"(2) For individuals who retired under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System (TSERS) on or after December 1, 2020, but on or before March 1, 2021, the six-month separation from service from an employer that is required under G.S. 135-1(20) in order for a retirement to become effective shall not apply and instead a one-month separation shall be required, provided that the position to which the individual returns is as a teacher or other school personnel employed as a temporary employee on a contract basis for the program as required in subdivision (1) of this section. Upon the expiration of this section, all of the following shall apply:

"a. The six-month separation from an employer required under G.S. 135-1(20) shall again be applicable to individuals who retired under TSERS on or after December 1, 2020, but on or before March 1, 2021.

"b. In order for a member's retirement under TSERS on or after December 1, 2020, but on or before March 1, 2021, to become effective in any month, the member must perform no work for an employer, including part-time, temporary, substitute, or contractor work, at any time between the expiration of this section and the end of the six months immediately following the effective date of retirement, provided the expiration of the six-month period of separation did not occur while this section was in effect.

"c. For individuals who retired under TSERS on or after December 1, 2020, but before March 1, 2021, any time worked in the program and the time this section expires shall not be considered work for the purposes of the six-month separation required under G.S. 135-1(20).

"d. For purposes of this subdivision, local school administrative units shall certify to the Retirement System that a retirement system beneficiary is employed by the local board of education.

"(3) From funds available, local boards shall offer a signing bonus of at least one thousand two hundred dollars (\$1,200) to any teacher who (i) had received a past teaching bonus for reading in grades three, four, and five or mathematics in grades four, five, six, seven, or eight or (ii) has received National Board for Professional Teaching Standards Certification. Local boards of education are encouraged to find ways to incentivize highly effective teachers to participate in the program, such as increased compensation and varied contract durations.

"(4) Local boards of education shall provide a performance bonus to a teacher who provided instruction during the program, in a per student amount of at least one hundred fifty dollars (\$150.00), for each student not demonstrating reading proficiency on the third-grade end-of-grade reading assessment assigned to that teacher who became proficient in reading after completing the program, as demonstrated by an alternate assessment.

"(b) This section is effective when it becomes law [April 9, 2021] and expires October 1, 2021."

#### Editor's Note.

The 1998 amendment, effective May 7, 1998, added "Health Insurance Program for Children" to the chapter title.

Subdivision designations in subdivision (7a) were set out at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2006-77, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System who was employed by a community college, who filed for retirement before August 31, 2005, for an effective retirement date of November 1, 2005, and who was provided with incorrect information about the period of time a retired member must wait before returning to employment in order to continue receiving retirement benefits, may be reemployed by the State under the reemployment law that existed at the time the member filed for retirement.

At the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, in subdivision (10), "Army" and "Air" were substituted for "army" and "air" when either preceded "National Guard" to conform with Session Laws 2009-281, s. 1.

Session Laws 2009-451, s. 26.14E(a)-(f), provides: "(a) The following definitions apply in this section:

"(1) Furlough. — A temporary period of leave from employment without pay that (i) is ordered or authorized by the Governor, the Chief Justice, the Legislative Services Commission, the Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina, the Board of the North Carolina Community College System, or a local school board and (ii) is not in connection with a demotion or any other disciplinary action.

"(2) Public agency. — A State agency, department, or institution in the executive, legislative, or judicial branches of State government; The University of North Carolina; the North Carolina Community College System; and a local school administrative unit.

"(3) Public employee. — An employee employed by a public agency.

"(b) Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, if necessary economies in public agency expenditures must be effected by a furlough of public employees, then a public employee on a furlough who is:

"(1) A member of any of the Statesupported retirement plans administered by the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer, or an Optional Retirement Program (ORP) administered under G.S. 135-5.1 or G.S. 135-5.4, shall be considered in active service during any period of furlough and shall be entitled to all of the same benefits to which the employee was entitled on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The member shall suffer no diminution of retirement average final compensation based on being on furlough, and the retirement average final compensation shall be calculated based on the undiminished compensation. During a furlough period, the employer shall pay both employee and employer contributions to the Retirement Systems Division or ORP on behalf of the furloughed employee as though the employee were in active service.

"(2) A member of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall be considered eligible for coverage under the Plan on the same basis as on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The public employer shall pay contributions on behalf of the furloughed public employee as though the employee were in active service.

"(c) This section holds harmless employees who are subject to furloughs to accomplish economies required by this act as to their retirement and other benefits that normally accrue as a result of employment. This section does not apply

to a furlough within a public agency that is designed:

- "(1) To solely and selectively provide benefits to a public employee or a subset of public employees, or to extend or enhance benefits beyond those that normally accrue to a public employee as a result of employment.
- "(2) To allow the public agency to settle any claim against the public agency or to gain additional economies not specifically required by this act.

"(d) This section shall not be construed as authorizing furloughs.

- "(e) Whenever the Governor, the Chief Justice, the Legislative Services Commission, the Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina, the Board of the North Carolina Community College System, or a local school board authorizes a furlough of public agency employees, the respective authorizing officer or entity shall report to the State Treasurer, the Director of the Retirement Systems Division, and the Executive Administrator of the State Health Plan the following:
- "(1) The specifics of the authorized furlough including the applicable reduction in salary and the date the reduction in salary will occur. Examples of other furlough specifics include one-day furlough per month for the next three months, five furlough days during the remainder of the fiscal year, etc.
- "(2) The positions affected, i.e. all fulltime, part-time, temporary and contractual positions, all nonessential personnel, all nonteaching positions, etc.
- "(3) The individual employees affected, including the applicable reduction in salary and whether the employee is subject to or exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- "(4) Certification that the furlough is not in connection with a demotion or any other disciplinary action.
- "(5) Certification that the furlough is to accomplish economies specifically required by this act, including the specific budget provision or reduction the furlough is intended to address.
- "(6) Certification that the furlough is not related to the settlement of any claim against a public agency.
- "(f) This section is effective when it becomes law."

Session Laws 2009-451, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2009."

Session Laws 2009-451, s. 28.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 29.18(a)-(e), provides: "(a) The following definitions apply in this section:

- "(1) Furlough. A temporary, involuntary period of leave from employment without pay but shall not include any period of involuntary leave resulting from disciplinary action.
- "(2) Public agency. A State agency, department, or institution in the executive branch of State government; The University of North Carolina; the North Carolina Community College System; and a local school administrative unit.

"(3) Public employee. — An employee employed by the legislative or judicial branches or by a public agency.

"(b) Any furlough of a public employee paid with State funds is prohibited unless the furlough is ordered by the Governor while acting to balance the budget pursuant to Section 5 of Article III of the North Carolina Constitution or by the Chief Justice or the Legislative Services Officer, respectively, to balance the judicial branch or legislative branch budget.

"The Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina, the State Board of Community Colleges, and each local public school board of education must petition the Governor to furlough its respective employees in order to balance the respective budgets.

- "(c) If, in accordance with subsection (b) of this section, necessary economies in expenditures must be effected by a furlough of public employees, the employing public agency, the judicial branch, or the legislative branch, respectively, shall report to the State Treasurer, the Director of the Retirement Systems Division, and the Executive Administrator of the State Health Plan the following:
- "(1) The specifics of the authorized furlough.
- "(2) The positions affected, including all full-time, part-time, temporary, and contractual positions, all nonessential personnel, and all nonteaching positions.
- "(3) The individual employees affected, including the applicable reduction in salary and whether the employee is subject to or exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- "(d) If, in accordance with subsection (b) of this section, necessary economies in expenditures must be effected by a furlough of public employees, then a public employee on a furlough who is:
- "(1) A member of any of the Statesupported retirement plans administered by the Retirement Systems Divi-

sion of the Department of State Treasurer or of an Optional Retirement Program (ORP) administered under G.S. 135-5.1 or G.S. 135-5.4 shall be considered in active service during any period of furlough and shall be entitled to all of the same benefits to which the employee was entitled on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The member shall suffer no diminution of retirement average final compensation based on being on furlough, and the retirement average final compensation shall be calculated based on the undiminished compensation. During a furlough period, the employer shall pay both employee and employer contributions to the Retirement Systems Division or ORP on behalf of the furloughed employee as though the employee were in active service.

"(2) A member of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall be considered eligible for coverage under the Plan on the same basis as on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The public employer shall pay contributions on behalf of the furloughed public employee as though the employee were in active service.

"(e) The benefits protections provided by this section shall also apply to public employees in the judicial and legislative branches." For prior similar provisions, see Session Laws 2010-31, ss. 29.1 and 29.4.

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2011."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 32.2, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2011-2013 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2011-2013 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 32.5, is a severability clause.

At the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, subdivision (5a), as added by Session Laws 2012-185, s. 2(b), was redesignated as subdivision (4a) to maintain alphabetical order.

Subdivision (7b) was originally enacted as subdivision (8a) by Session Laws 2014-97, s. 4(a). It has been renumbered as subdivision (7b) to maintain alphabetical order at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2015-241, s. 30.18A(b), provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the compensation bonus awarded

by this section [one-time, lump-sum bonus of \$750 per employee for the 2015-2016 fiscal year] is not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System."

Session Laws 2015-241, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as "The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2015."

Session Laws 2015-241, s. 33.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2015-2017 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2015-2017 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2015-241, s. 33.6, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 36.1A(a), provides: "Funds for Merit-Based Bonuses. Of the funds appropriated in this act from the General Fund and Highway Fund to the Compensation Bonus Reserves, nonrecurring funds for the 2016-2017 fiscal year are authorized generally to provide employing agencies with funds to award one-time merit-based bonuses to State-funded personnel in accordance with eligibility policies adopted by the employing agencies. The eligibility policy shall not provide an across-theboard bonus for this purpose. Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a) and G.S. 135-53(5), merit-based bonuses awarded under this Part are not compensation under Chapter 135 of the General Statutes."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 36.16(b), provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the compensation bonus awarded by this section is not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 36.16(a)-(e) provides for a one-time lump sum compensation bonus for employees in State-funded positions as of September 1, 2016, except for teachers paid on a Salary Schedule.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2016."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2016-2017 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds

appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2016-2017 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 35.19B(c), made the last sentence of subdivision (11c), and subdivision (17a) as added by Session Laws 2017-57, s. 35.19B(a), effective July 1, 2017, and applicable to persons retiring on or after that date.

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2017'."

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2017-2019 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2017-2019 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 39.6, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2017-125, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2017-128, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2017-129, s. 12, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2017-186, s. 3(a), provides: "The Revisor of Statutes shall change any additional references in the General Statutes to the 'Division of Adult Correction' to the 'Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice'."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 8.3(c), provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonus awarded pursuant to this section is not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System." For prior similar provisions, see Session Laws 2017-57, s. 8.4(d).

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 8.9(d), provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System." For prior similar provisions, see Session Laws 2017-57, s. 8.8A(c).

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for,

and activities occurring during, the 2018-2019 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2019-110, s. 5, as amended by Session Laws 2019-212, s. 7(c), provides: "(a) The State Treasurer shall seek a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service to determine if the provisions of this act relating to the computation of postretirement earnings of retired teachers jeopardize the status of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

"(b) If the Internal Revenue Service determines that the provisions of G.S. 135-3(8)g., as enacted by this act, relating to the computation of postretirement earnings of retired teachers jeopardize the status of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina under the Internal Revenue Code, then this act is repealed on the last day of the month following the month of receipt of that determination by the State Treasurer. Upon receipt of that determination, the State Treasurer shall notify the Revisor of Statutes of the determination and the date of receipt. Within three business days of receipt of the determination, the State Treasurer shall notify all local school administrative units of the repeal of this act and shall publicly notice the receipt of this information on the Department of State Treasurer's Web site. Within three business days of receipt of the notice from the State Treasurer, a local school administrative unit shall notify all high-need retired teachers employed by its local board of education of the repeal of this

"(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to pay costs associated with the administration of the provisions of this act, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or pay costs associated with the administration directly from the retirement assets. Costs associated with the administration of the provisions of this act shall not exceed fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000) to obtain the private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service required under subsection (a) of this section.

"(d) Any beneficiary that is employed to teach by a local board of education as a high-need retired teacher, as defined in G.S. 115C-302.4(a)(1), shall not be eli-

gible to elect into a position that would lead him or her to be eligible to accrue any additional benefits under G.S. 135-3(8). Any failure of a local board of education or a beneficiary to comply with the foregoing shall be corrected by the Retirement System as it determines may be appropriate under State and federal law. Any costs of the correction, as determined by the Retirement System, shall be the sole responsibility of the local board of education and shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund under G.S. 135-8, under rules adopted by the Board of Trustees."

Session Laws 2019-247, s. 2.4(c), provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonus awarded pursuant to this section is not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System." Session Laws 2019-247, s. 2.4 approved principal bonuses for schools in the top 50% of school growth, in addition to regular wages.

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 4.22(a)-(d), provides: "(a) This section shall apply to the following General Statutes:

- "(1) Article 1A of Chapter 120.
- "(2) Article 3 of Chapter 128.
- "(3) Article 1 of Chapter 135.
- "(4) Article 4 of Chapter 135.
- "(5) Article 6 of Chapter 135.
- "(b) Whenever the medical board, as established under G.S. 128-28( *l*), 135-6(k), or 135-102(d), is required to make a determination or certification of eligibility for disability benefits, the Director of the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer, or the Director's designee, may make an interim determination or an interim certification that a member or beneficiary is eligible for disability benefits. The Director may not make a determination or certification that a member or beneficiary is not eligible for disability benefits.

"(c) The medical board shall review any interim determinations or interim certifications made in accordance with this section as soon as practicable and shall then make a final determination or final certification for disability benefits. If, subsequent to an interim determination or interim certification, the medical board makes a final determination that a member or beneficiary is not eligible for disability benefits, then any payment to that member or beneficiary shall cease and the determination shall be applied prospectively only so that the final determination will not require any refund by

the member or beneficiary to the applicable retirement system or benefit plan for payments or benefits received during the interim period before the final determination is made.

"(d) This section is effective when it becomes law [May 4, 2020]. Subsection (b) of this section expires August 1, 2020. Any interim determinations or interim certifications made, as allowed under subsection (b) of this section, will remain valid until a final determination is made, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section."

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 4.23(a)-(e), as amended by Session Laws 2020-74, s. 9, and as amended by Session Laws 2020-80, s. 1.1(f), provides: "(a) For individuals who retired under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System (TSERS) on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020, the six-month separation from service from an employer that is required under G.S. 135-1(20) in order for a retirement to become effective shall not apply and instead a one-month separation shall be required, provided that the position to which the individual returns is needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as certified to the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer by the employing agency. Upon the expiration of this section, all of the following shall apply:

"(1) The six-month separation from an employer required under G.S. 135-1(20) shall again be applicable to individuals who retired under TSERS on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020.

"(2) In order for a member's retirement under TSERS on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020, to become effective in any month, the member must perform no work for an employer, including part-time, temporary, substitute, or contractor work, at any time between the expiration of this section and the end of the six months immediately following the effective date of retirement, provided the expiration of the six-month period of separation did not occur while this section was in effect.

"(3) For individuals who retired under TSERS on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020, any time worked between March 10, 2020, and the time this section expires shall not be considered work for the purposes of the sixmonth separation required under G.S. 135-1(20).

"(b) For individuals who retired prior to April 1, 2020, any earnings received between March 10, 2020, and the time

that this section expires shall not be treated as earned by a TSERS beneficiary under the provisions of G.S. 135-3(8)c., provided those earnings are related to a position needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as certified to the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer by the employing agency.

"(c) For individuals who retired prior to April 1, 2020, any earnings received between March 10, 2020, and the time that this section expires shall not be treated as earned by a beneficiary of the Local Governmental Employees Retirement System (LGERS) under the provisions of G.S. 128-24(5)c., provided those earnings are related to a position needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as certified to the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer by the employing unit.

"(d) Any benefits received by or paid to a law enforcement officer or retired law enforcement officer under Article 12D of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes shall not be impacted by any work performed between March 10, 2020, and the time that this section expires, provided that work performed is needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as documented by the employing unit or agency.

"(e) This section is effective when it becomes law [May 4, 2020] and expires August 31, 2020."

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-45, s. 2(d), provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2020-45, s. 3(b), provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), any bonuses awarded by the Governor in accordance with this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2020-45, s. 5(d), provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-80, s. 3.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(d), made the amendment of this section by Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(a), effective July 2, 2021, and expiring on July 1, 2022, and further provides: "This section applies retroactively to retirements occurring on or after January 1, 2019; provided that for any retirements occurring on or after January 1, 2019, through the effective date of this section, for which the Retirement System has notified an employer of its liability under G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f., no additional employer shall be liable for an additional contribution."

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 3.1(c), made the amendment of subdivision (2) of this section by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 3.1(b), applicable to benefit calculations performed on or after July 1, 2021.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-1, s. 5A(15a)c, as added by Session Laws 2021-3, s. 1.2, and amended by Session Laws 2021-180, s. 7.36(a), effective November 18, 2021, provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this subdivision are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2021-25, s. 3.5(a)(34)c, as added by Session Laws 2021-180, s. 7.27(a), effective July 1, 2021, provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this subdivision are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 7A.3(d), effective July 1, 2021, provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 7A.4(g), effective July 1, 2021, provides: "Bonuses Not Compensation. – Bonuses awarded to a teacher pursuant to this section shall be in addition to any regular wage or other bonus the teacher receives or is scheduled to receive. Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded under this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 7A.5(e), effective July 1, 2021, provides: "Not for Retirement. – Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 7A.7(c), effective July 1, 2021, provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2021-180, 19C.9(aaaaa), made the amendments to this section by Session Laws 2021-180, s. 19C.9(t), (u), effective January 1, 2023, and further provides: "On and after that date, any references or directives in this act to the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, the Section of Adult Correction in the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, the Section of Juvenile Justice of the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, or the Section of Community Corrections of the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice shall be construed to apply to the appropriate division of either the Department of Public Safety or the Department of Adult Correction pursuant to the departmental changes enacted by this section."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2021."

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 7A.2(f), provides: "Bonuses Not Compensation. — Bonuses awarded to a teacher pursuant to this section shall be in addition to any regular wage or other bonus the teacher receives or is scheduled to receive. Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded under this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 7A.3(e), provides: "Not for Retirement. — Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 7A.5(c), provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this

section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2022."

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 43.5, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2022-2023 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2022-2023 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-128, s. 3A(c), effective July 1, 2023, made the amendment to subsections (7c) and (7d) of this section by Session Laws 2023-128, s. 3A(b), applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 7A.3(i), provides: "Bonuses Not Compensation. — Bonuses awarded to a teacher pursuant to this section shall be in addition to any regular wage or other bonus the teacher receives or is scheduled to receive. Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded under theis section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 7A.7(c), provides: "Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a), the bonuses awarded pursuant to this section are not compensation under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.5, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2023-2025 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2023-2025 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 2(b), provides that "G.S. 135-1(11) reads as rewritten" but appears to have intended to amend G.S. 135-48.1(11). At the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, the amendment has not been given effect.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.1(b), effective June 26, 2020, added subdivision (8a).

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(a), redesignated former subdivision (4a) as present subdivision (4b), and added present subdivision (4a). For effective date, expiration, and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 3.1(b), effective July 1, 2021, in subdivision (2), substituted "computed upon the basis of actuarial assumptions" for "computed at regular interest upon the basis of such mortality tables" and deleted ", and regular interest" following "Trustees" at the end. For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 19C.9(t) and (u), in subdivision (17a), substituted "Division of Community Supervision and Reentry of the Department of Adult Correction" for "Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety" and "Division of Community Supervision and Reentry" for "Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice." For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2023-128, s. 3A(b), added subsection (7c), and redesignated former subsection (7c) as subsection (7d). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(k), (*l*), effective October 3, 2023, inserted "em-

ployees of the University of North Carolina Health Care System who are not eligible for participation under G.S. 135-5.6, employees of the East Carolina University School of Medicine or Dental School of Medicine who are not eligible for participation under G.S. 135-5.7" in the proviso in the first sentence of subdivision (10); and inserted "the University of North Carolina Health Care System" in the first sentence of subdivision (11).

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 4(a), effective June 20, 2024, in subdivision (25), rewrote the former proviso at the end of the first sentence as the present second and third sentences, deleted "hereinbefore defined" following "Board of Trustees" in the fourth sentence, and made punctuation changes in the sixth sentence.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 4(a), effective June 20, 2024, in subdivision (8), substituted "under this Article" for "in G.S. 135-4" in the first sentence, and substituted "this Article" for "this Chapter" in the second sentence.

# Legal Periodicals.

For comment on this section, see 19 N.C.L. Rev. 508 (1941).

For article, "The Impact of Law on the State Pension Crisis," see 54 Wake Forest L. Rev. 105 (2019).

## CASE NOTES

Actuarial Equivalent. — The actuarial value includes interest and there was no double recovery where the court was following the definition of actuarial equivalent as prescribed by this section and included interest in the underpayment award. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Emps. Retirement Sys., 345 N.C. 683, 483 S.E.2d 422, 1997 N.C. LEXIS 188 (1997).

Retirement Law Is Valid. — It is the verdict of the General Assembly, embodied and expressed in this and the following sections, that the retirement plan has a definite relation to the just and efficient administration of the public school system which brings it within the scope of constitutional authority. Under the mandatory provisions of the retirement law, the public policy thus expressed is applied to the entire public school system and its administration at the hands of every administrative unit within it. Bridges v. City of Charlotte,

221 N.C. 472, 20 S.E.2d 825, 1942 N.C. LEXIS 494 (1942).

The retirement law is sufficiently invested with a public purpose and is a constitutional and valid expression of the legislative will, both generally and in its application to the local administrative units with which it deals. Bridges v. City of Charlotte, 221 N.C. 472, 20 S.E.2d 825, 1942 N.C. LEXIS 494 (1942).

Allowances to which a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System is entitled upon retirement constitute compensation for public services previously rendered and do not violate former N.C. Const., Art. I, § 32 (now N.C. Const., Art. I, § 16). Harrill v. Teachers' & State Employees' Retirement Sys., 271 N.C. 357, 156 S.E.2d 702, 1967 N.C. LEXIS 1196 (1967).

The purpose of this and the following sections is to provide benefits on retirement for the teachers in the public school system of the State and for State

employees. It is based not only upon the principle of justice to poorly paid State employees, but also upon the philosophy that a measure of freedom from apprehension of old age and disability will add to the immediate efficiency of those engaged in carrying on a work of first importance to society and the State. Bridges v. City of Charlotte, 221 N.C. 472, 20 S.E.2d 825, 1942 N.C. LEXIS 494 (1942); Powell v. Board of Trustees, 3 N.C. App. 39, 164 S.E.2d 80, 1968 N.C. App. LEXIS 782 (1968).

Under G.S. 135-2, the Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees was established for the purpose of providing retirement allowances and other benefits under the provisions of G.S. 135-1 et seq., for teachers and State employees of the State of North Carolina. State Emples. Ass'n of N.C., Inc. v. State, 154 N.C. App. 207, 573 S.E.2d 525, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 1451 (2002), rev'd, 357 N.C. 239, 580 S.E.2d 693, 2003 N.C. LEXIS 599 (2003).

The intent of this Chapter is not to exclude, but to include, State employees under an umbrella of protections designed to provide maximum security in their work environment and to afford a measure of freedom from apprehension of old age and disability. Stanley v. Retirement & Health Benefits Div., 55 N.C. App. 588, 286 S.E.2d 643, 1982 N.C. App. LEXIS 2231 (1982).

The Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina is an agency or instrumentality of the State. Stanley v. Retirement & Health Benefits Div., 66 N.C. App. 122, 310 S.E.2d 637, 1984 N.C. App. LEXIS 2837 (1984).

Employee Status When Job Sharing. — Petitioner remained an "employee" under subsection (10) during the period of time when she participated in a job sharing program and was working full time and thus was entitled to credit for those years of service as reflected in her retirement records. Wiebenson v. Board of Trustees, 345 N.C. 734, 483 S.E.2d 153, 1997 N.C. LEXIS 183 (1997).

Transfer of Local Creditable Service to State System. — In determining the date of eligibility of state employee petitioner to purchase retirement credits under Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System for time

spent in the military service under repealed G.S. 135-4(f)(6), petitioner could not include service in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System. Worrell v. North Carolina Dep't of State Treas., 333 N.C. 528, 427 S.E.2d 871, 1993 N.C. LEXIS 137 (1993).

Interest Accrual and Compounding. — Consistent with the purposes of subdivision (19) of this section and G.S. 128-21(18), underpayments were found to accrue interest from the date they became due. Furthermore, court found that statutes entitled beneficiaries to interest, not only on the principle due, but also on the accrued or earned interest. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Emples. Retirement Sys., 133 N.C. App. 587, 515 S.E.2d 743, 1999 N.C. App. LEXIS 615, writ denied, 351 N.C. 102, 540 S.E.2d 358, 1999 N.C. LEXIS 1035 (1999), cert. denied, 351 N.C. 102, 540 S.E.2d 358, 1999 N.C. LEXIS 1034 (1999).

Postjudgment Interest Not Awardable Against State. — Retirees under the state and local government retirement system were not entitled to postjudgment interest on retroactive disability benefits, because the state retirement statutes contain no provision for the allowance of such interest. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Employees' Retirement Sys., 132 N.C. App. 137, 510 S.E.2d 675, 1999 N.C. App. LEXIS 89 (1999).

Retiree Not Entitled to Tax-Free Pension. — Retiree was not entitled to a tax free pension because he withdrew his contributions to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System and the Teachers' and State Employees Retirement System and left public employment before August 12, 1989, and thus he was not vested on that date; although the retiree later returned to public employment, became vested, and repaid the money he had previously withdrawn, when read together, G.S. 135-4 and G.S. 135-5 made clear that a member who left state service and withdrew contributions in the retirement system had no rights to any benefits within the system except for the right to repay previously withdrawn contributions as provided in G.S. 135-4. The repayment served only to increase the retiree's years of service creditable. Cashwell v. Dep't of State Treasurer, Ret. Sys. Div., 196 N.C. App. 80, 675 S.E.2d 73, 2009 N.C. App. LEXIS 452 (2009).

#### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Current benefits includes accumulated leave time. — "Current benefits" includes the amount of accumulated leave time that a university employee has available for use at the time the inspection is requested. As such, G.S. 126-23 requires the university system to provide the accumulated leave time for employees. See opinion of Attorney General to Laura B. Luger, Vice President and General Counsel, The University of North Carolina, 2009 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 1 (06/15/09).

Leave time is a benefit required to be kept open for public inspection in accordance with G.S. 126-23. Sick leave balances, vacation leave balances, bonus leave balances, and compensatory time accrued are therefore current benefits to university employees which should be made available for inspection and copying upon request. See opinion of Attorney General to Laura B. Luger, Vice President and General Counsel, The University of North Carolina, 2009 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 1 (06/15/09).

# § 135-1.1. Licensing and examining boards.

- (a) Any State board or agency charged with the duty of administering any law relating to the examination and licensing of persons to practice a profession, trade or occupation, in its discretion, may elect on or before July 1, 1983, by an appropriate resolution of said board, to cause its employees so employed prior to July 1, 1983 to become members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System. Such Retirement System coverage shall be conditioned on such board's paying all of the employer's contributions or matching funds from funds of the board and on such board's collecting from its employees the employees' contributions, at such rates as may be fixed by law and by the regulations of the Board of Trustees of the Retirement System, all of such funds to be paid to the Retirement System and placed in the appropriate funds. Retroactive coverage of the employees of any such board may also be effected to the extent that such board requests provided the board pays all of the employer's contributions or matching funds necessary for such purpose and provided said board collects from its employees all employees' contributions necessary for such purpose, computed at such rates and in such amount as the Board of Trustees of the Retirement System determines, all of such funds to be paid to the Retirement System, together with such interest as may be due, and placed in the appropriate funds.
- (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, any State board or agency charged with the duty of administering any law relating to the examination and licensing of persons to practice a profession, trade, or occupation, and who is subject to the provisions of the State Budget Act, Chapter 143C of the General Statutes, may make an irrevocable election by appropriate resolution of the board, on or before October 1, 2000, to become an employer in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System. Retirement System coverage shall be conditioned on the board's payment of all of the employer's contributions or matching funds from funds of the board and on the board's collecting from its employees the employ-

ees' contributions, at such rates as may be fixed under G.S. 135-8, the Current Operations Appropriations Act, or any other applicable law, all of such funds to be paid to the Retirement System and placed in the appropriate funds. Any person who was an employee of the board on the date the board makes an irrevocable election to participate in the Retirement System may purchase creditable service for periods of employment with the board prior to the election, provided that (i) the person is a member in service and (ii) the purchase is made on or before December 31, 2021. The amount of creditable service purchased under this subsection may not exceed a total of five years. A member shall purchase this service by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund equal to the full liability increase due to the additional service credits on the basis of the assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the employee could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) assumed annual postretirement allowance increases as set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary. The increases as set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary shall also include an administrative fee to be set by the Board.

#### History.

1959, c. 1012; 1983, c. 412, s. 3; 2000-187, s. 1; 2006-203, s. 72; 2020-29, s. 1(c).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2006-203, s. 126, provides in part: "Prosecutions for offenses committed before the effective date of this act [July 1, 2007] are not abated or affected by this act, and the statutes that would be applicable but for this act remain applicable to those prosecutions."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(k), provides: "For all service purchases that are required to have been made by December 31, 2021, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall accept and process all service purchase request forms that are received by the Retirement Systems Division on or before December 31, 2021."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(c), effective June 19, 2020, in subsection (b), substituted "under G.S. 135-8, the Current Operations Appropriations Act, or any other applicable law" for "by law and by

the rules of the Board of Trustees of the Retirement System" in the first sentence, substituted "election, provided that (i) the person is a member in service and (ii) the purchase is made on or before December 31, 2021" for "election by making a lump-sum payment equal to the full cost of the service credits calculated on the basis of the assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the system's liabilities, and shall take into account the additional retirement allowance arising on account of such additional service credit commencing at the earliest age at which a member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance, as determined by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary, plus an administrative fee to be set by the Board of Trustees. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this subdivision that provide for the purchase of service credits, the terms 'full cost', 'full liability', and 'full actuarial cost' include assumed annual postretirement allowance increases, as determined by the Board of Trustees, from the earliest age at which a member could retire on an unreduced service allowance." and added the last two sentences.

#### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Occupational Licensing Boards. — Those occupational licensing boards subject to the Personnel Act [North Carolina Human Resources Act], G.S. 126-1 et seq., and the Budget Act, G.S. 143-1 et seq., are also subject to G.S. 135-1.1, just as are the occupational licensing boards not subject to the Personnel and Budget Acts [North Carolina Human Resources and Budget Acts]. See opinion of Attorney General to Vicky Goudie, Executive Secretary, State Board of Cosmetology, 60 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 54 (1990).

An occupational licensing board, even one such as the Cosmetic Arts Board and several others subject to the Personnel and Budget Acts [North Carolina Human Resources and Budget Acts], is not entitled to have any of its employees, who were employed on or after July 1, 1983, covered by and participating in the Retirement System. See opinion of Attorney General to Vicky Goudie, Executive Secretary, State Board of Cosmetology, 60 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 54 (1990).

### § 135-2. Name and date of establishment.

A Retirement System is hereby established and placed under the management of the Board of Trustees for the purpose of providing retirement allowances and other benefits under the provisions of this Chapter for teachers and State employees of the State of North Carolina. The Retirement System so created shall be established as of the first day of July, 1941.

This Retirement System is a governmental plan, within the meaning of Section 414(d) of the Internal Revenue Code. Therefore, the nondiscrimination rules of Sections 401(a)(5) and 401(a)(26) of the Code do not apply. This System shall have the power and privileges of a corporation and shall be known as the "Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina," and by such name all of its business shall be transacted, all of its funds invested, and all of its cash and securities and other property held.

Consistent with Section 401(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code, all contributions from participating employers and participating employees to this Retirement System shall be made to funds held in trust through trust instruments that have the purposes of distributing trust principal and income to retired members and their beneficiaries and of paying other definitely determinable benefits under this Chapter, after meeting the necessary expenses of administering this Retirement System. Neither the trust corpus nor income from this trust can be used for purposes other than the exclusive benefit of members or their beneficiaries, except that employer contributions made to the trust under a good faith mistake of fact may be returned to an employer, where the refund can occur within less than one year after the mistaken contribution was made. consistent with the rule adopted by the Board of Trustees. The Retirement System shall have a consolidated Plan document, consisting of Article V, Section 6(2) of the North Carolina Constitution, relevant statutory provisions in this Chapter; associated regulations in the North Carolina Administrative Code, substantive and procedural information on the official forms used by the Retirement System, and policies and minutes of the Board of Trustees.

History.

1941, c. 25, s. 2; 2012-130, s. 7(c).

State Government Reorganization.

The Teachers' and State Employees'

Retirement System was transferred to the Department of State Treasurer by G.S. 143A-34, enacted by Session Laws 1971, c. 864.

#### CASE NOTES

Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina is an agency or instrumentality of the State. Stanley v. Retirement & Health Benefits Div., 66 N.C. App. 122, 310 S.E.2d 637, 1984 N.C. App. LEXIS 2837 (1984).

# § 135-3. Membership.

- (a) The membership of this Retirement System shall be composed as follows:
  - (1) All persons who shall become teachers or State employees after the date as of which the Retirement System is established. On and after July 1, 1947, membership in the Retirement System shall begin 90 days after the election, appointment or employment of a "teacher or employee" as the terms are defined in this Chapter. On and after July 1, 1955, membership in the Retirement System shall begin immediately upon the election, appointment or employment of a "teacher or employee," as the terms are defined in this Chapter. Under such rules and regulations as the Board of Trustees may establish and promulgate, Cooperative Agricultural Extension Service employees excluded from coverage under Title II of the Social Security Act may in the discretion of the governing authority of a county, become members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to the extent of that part of their compensation derived from a county. On and after July 1, 1965, new extension service employees excluded from coverage under Title II of the Social Security Act in the employ of a county participating in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System are hereby excluded from participation in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to the extent of that part of their compensation derived from a county; provided that on and after July 1, 1965, new extension service employees excluded from coverage under Title II of the Social Security Act who are required to accept a federal civil service appointment may elect in writing, on a form acceptable to the Retirement System, to be excluded from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and the Local Retirement System; provided further, that effective July 1, 1985, an extension service employee excluded from coverage under Title II of the Social Security Act who is em-

ployed in part by a county and who is compensated in whole by the Cooperative Agricultural Extension Service pursuant to a contract where the Cooperative Agricultural Extension Service is reimbursed by the county for the county's share of the compensation shall participate exclusively in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to the extent of their full compensation. On or after July 1, 1979, upon election, appointment or employment, a legislative employee shall automatically become a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System. At such time as Cooperative Agricultural Extension Service Employees excluded from coverage under Title II of the Social Security Act become covered by Title II of the Social Security Act, such employees shall no longer be covered by the provisions of this section, provided no accrued rights of these employees under this section prior to coverage by Title II of the Social Security Act shall be diminished.

- (2) Repealed by Session Laws 2012-130, s. 8, effective July 1, 2012.
- (3) A member shall cease to be a member only if the member withdraws his or her accumulated contributions, or becomes a beneficiary, or dies.
- (4) Notwithstanding any provisions contained in this section, any employee of the State of North Carolina who was taken over and required to perform services for the federal government, on a loan basis, and by virtue of an executive order of the President of the United States effective on or after January 1, 1942, and who on the effective date of such executive order was a member of the Retirement System and had not withdrawn all of his or her accumulated contributions, shall be deemed to be a member of the Retirement System during such period of federal service or employment by virtue of such executive order of the President of the United States. Any such employee who within a period of 12 months after the cessation of such federal service or employment, is again employed by the State or any employer as said term is defined in this Chapter, or within said period of 12 months engages in service or membership service, shall be permitted to resume active participation in the Retirement System and to resume his or her contributions as provided by this Chapter. If such member so elects, he or she may pay to the Board of Trustees for the benefit of the proper fund or account an amount equal to his or her accumulated contributions previously withdrawn with interest from date of withdrawal to time of payment and the accumulated contributions, with interest thereon, that such member would have

made during such period of federal employment to the same extent as if such member had been in service or engaged in the membership service for the State or an employer as defined in this Chapter, which such payment of accumulated contributions shall be computed on the basis of the salary or earnable compensation received by such member on the effective date of such executive order.

- (5) Repealed by Session Laws 2012-130, s. 8, effective July 1, 2012.
- (6) Repealed by Session Laws 1981 (Regular Session, 1982), c. 1396, s. 1.
- (7) The provisions of this subdivision (7) shall apply to any member whose retirement became effective prior to July 1, 1963, and who became entitled to benefits hereunder in accordance with the provisions hereof. Such benefits shall be computed in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 135-5(b) as in effect at the date of such retirement.
  - a. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, any member who separates from service prior to the attainment of the age of 60 years for any reason other than death or retirement for disability as provided in G.S. 135-5(d), after completing 20 or more years of creditable service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in said System shall have the right to retire on a deferred retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 60 years: Provided, that such member may retire only upon written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, not less than 30 days nor more than 90 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired. Such deferred retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 135-5(b), subdivisions (1), (2) and (3).
  - b. In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraph a of this subdivision (7) any member who separates from service on or after July 1, 1951, and prior to the attainment of the age of 60 years, for any reason other than death or retirement for disability as provided in G.S. 135-5(d), after completing 30 or more years of creditable service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in said System, may elect to retire on an early retirement allowance; provided that such member may so retire only upon written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, not less than 30 days nor more than 90 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired; provided further that such application shall be duly filed within 60 days

- following the date of such separation. Such early retirement allowance so elected shall be the actuarial equivalent of the deferred retirement allowance otherwise payable at the attainment of the age of 60 years upon proper application therefor.
- c. In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraph a of this subdivision (7), any member who separated from service before July 1, 1951, and prior to the age of 60 years for any reason other than death or retirement for disability as provided in G.S. 135-5(d), and who left his total accumulated contributions in said System, may elect to retire on an early retirement allowance; provided that such member may so retire only upon written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, subsequent to July 1, 1951, and not less than 30 days nor more than 90 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired; provided that such application shall be duly filed not later than August 31, 1951. Such early retirement allowance so elected shall be the actuarial equivalent of the deferred retirement allowance otherwise payable at the attainment of the age of 60 years upon proper application therefor.
- d. Should a teacher or employee who retired on an early or service retirement allowance be restored to service prior to the attainment of the age of 62 years, his allowance shall cease, he shall again become a member of the Retirement System, and he shall contribute thereafter at the uniform contribution rate payable by all members. Upon his subsequent retirement, he shall be entitled to the allowance described in 1 below reduced by the amount in 2 below.
  - 1. The allowance to which he would have been entitled if he were retiring for the first time, calculated on the basis of his total creditable service represented by the sum of his creditable service at the time of his first retirement, and his creditable service after he was restored to service.
  - 2. The actuarial equivalent of the retirement benefits he previously received.
- e. Should a teacher or employee who retired on an early or service retirement allowance be restored to service after the attainment of the age of 62 years, his retirement allowance shall be reduced to the extent necessary (if any) so that the sum of the retirement allowance at the time of his retirement and earnings from employment by a unit of the Retirement System for

any year (beginning January 1, and ending December 31) will not exceed the member's compensation received for the 12 months of service prior to retirement. Provided, however, that under no circumstances will the member's retirement allowance be reduced below the amount of his annuity as defined in G.S. 135-1(3).

- (8) The provisions of this subsection (8) [subdivision] shall apply to any member whose membership is terminated on or after July 1, 1963 and who becomes entitled to benefits hereunder in accordance with the provisions hereof:
  - a. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, any member who separates from service prior to the attainment of the age of 60 years for any reason other than death or retirement for disability as provided in G.S. 135-5(c), after completing 15 or more years of creditable service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in said System shall have the right to retire on a deferred retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 60 years; provided that such member may retire only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired; and further provided that in the case of a member who so separates from service on or after July 1, 1967, or whose account is active on July 1, 1967, or has not withdrawn his contributions, the aforestated requirement of 15 or more years of creditable service shall be reduced to 12 or more years of creditable service; and further provided that in the case of a member who so separates from service on or after July 1, 1971, or whose account is active on July 1, 1971, the aforestated requirement of 12 or more years of creditable service shall be reduced to five or more years of creditable service. Such deferred retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of this Article pertaining to a member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any member whose services as a teacher or employee are terminated for any reason other than retirement, who becomes employed by a nonprofit, nonsectarian private school in North Carolina below the college level within one year after such teacher or employee has ceased to be a teacher or employee, may elect to leave his total accumulated contributions in the Teachers' and State

Employees' Retirement System during the period he is in the employment of such employer; provided that he files notice thereof in writing with the Board of Trustees of the Retirement System within five years after separation from service as a public school teacher or State employee; such member shall be deemed to have met the requirements of the above provisions of this subdivision upon attainment of age 60 while in such employment provided that he is otherwise vested.

b. In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraph a of this subdivision (8), any member who separates from service prior to the attainment of the age of 60 years, for any reason other than death or retirement for disability as provided in G.S. 135-5(c), after completing 20 or more years of creditable service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in said System, may elect to retire on an early retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 50 years or at any time thereafter; provided that such member may so retire only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired. Such early retirement allowance so elected shall be equal to the deferred retirement allowance otherwise payable at the attainment of the age of 60 years reduced by the percentage thereof indicated below.

Age~at	Percentage
Retirement	Reduction
59	7
58	14
57	20
56	25
55	30
54	35
53	39
52	43
51	46
50	50

b1. In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraphs a and b of this subdivision, any member who is a law-enforcement officer at the time of separation from service prior to the attainment of the age of 50 years, for any reason other than death or disability as provided in this Article, after completing 15 or more years of creditable service in this capacity immediately prior to separation

from service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in this System may elect to retire on a deferred early retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 50 years or at any time thereafter; provided, that the member may commence retirement only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to commence retirement. The deferred early retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of this Article pertaining to law-enforcement officers.

- b2. In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraphs a and b of this subdivision, any member who is a law-enforcement officer at the time of separation from service prior to the attainment of the age of 55 years, for any reason other than death or disability as provided in this Article, after completing five or more years of creditable service in this capacity immediately prior to separation from service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in this System may elect to retire on a deferred early retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 55 years or at any time thereafter; provided, that the member may commence retirement only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to commence retirement. The deferred early retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of this Article pertaining to law-enforcement officers.
- b3. Vested deferred retirement allowance of members retiring on or after July 1, 1994. In lieu of the benefits provided in paragraphs a. and b. of this subdivision, any member who separates from service prior to attainment of age 60 years, after completing 20 or more years of creditable service, and who leaves his total accumulated contributions in said System, may elect to retire on a deferred retirement allowance upon attaining the age of 50 years or any time thereafter; provided that such member may so retire only upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execu-

- tion and filing thereof, he desires to be retired. Such deferred retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of this Article pertaining to a member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer.
- b4, b5. Repealed by Session Laws 2014-88, s. 3(a), effective July 30, 2014.
- c. Should a beneficiary who retired on an early or service retirement allowance under this Chapter be reemployed by, or otherwise engaged to perform services for, an employer participating in the Retirement System on a part time, temporary, interim, or on a fee for service basis, whether contractual or otherwise, except as provided in G.S. 120-32(1), and if such beneficiary earns an amount during the 12 month period immediately following the effective date of retirement or in any calendar year which exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the reported compensation, excluding terminal payments, during the 12 months of service preceding the effective date of retirement, or twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000), whichever is greater, as hereinafter indexed, then the retirement allowance shall be suspended as of the first day of the month following the month in which the reemployment earnings exceed the amount above, for the balance of the calendar year, except when the reemployment earnings exceed the amount above in the month of December, in which case the retirement allowance shall not be suspended. The retirement allowance of the beneficiary shall be reinstated as of January 1 of each year following suspension. The amount that may be earned before suspension shall be increased on January 1 of each year by the percentage change between the December Consumer Price Index in the year prior to retirement and the December Consumer Price Index in the year most recently ended, calculated to the nearest tenth of a percent (1/10 of 1%), provided that this percentage change is positive.
- c1. Within 90 days of the end of each month in which a beneficiary is reemployed under the provisions of subsubdivision c. of this subdivision, each employer shall provide a report for that month on each reemployed beneficiary, including the terms of the reemployment, the date of the reemployment, and the amount of the monthly compensation. If the required report is not received within the required 90 days, the Board may do any or [all] the following:

- 1. Assess the employer with a penalty of ten percent (10%) of the compensation of the unreported reemployed beneficiaries during the months for which the employer did not report the reemployed beneficiaries, with a minimum penalty of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00). If after being assessed a penalty, an employer provides clear and convincing evidence that the failure to report resulted from a lack of oversight or some other event beyond the employer's control and was not a deliberate attempt to omit the reporting of reemployed beneficiaries, the Board may reduce the penalty to not less than two percent (2%) of the compensation of the unreported reemployed beneficiaries during the months for which the employer failed to report, with a minimum penalty of twenty five dollars (\$25.00).
- 2. Require the employer to reimburse the Retirement System for any retirement allowance paid to the beneficiary during a period when the allowance would have been suspended under sub-subdivision c. of this subdivision had the report been received within the required 90 days.
- 3. Require the employer to pay any amounts that the beneficiary would have been required to pay to the Retirement System under sub-subdivision f. of this subdivision had the report been received within the required 90 days.
- Upon receipt by the employer of notice that any payment is due to the Retirement System under this sub-subdivision, the employer shall remit the payment of the amount due to the Retirement System, in one lump sum, no later than 90 days from the date of the notice.
- If an employer is required to make payments to the Retirement System under sub-sub-subdivision 2. or sub-sub-subdivision 3. of this sub-subdivision, then (i) the beneficiary shall have no obligation to reimburse the Retirement System for related amounts under sub-subdivisions c. or f. of this subdivision, (ii) the provisions of G.S. 135-9(b) relating to offsetting overpayments against payments made from the Retirement System to the member or beneficiary shall not apply, (iii) the Retirement System shall have no duty under G.S. 143-64.80 to pursue repayment of overpayments from the beneficiary, (iv) the overpayments shall not be considered a debt of the beneficiary under

- Chapter 105A of the General Statutes, and (v) the beneficiary's effective date of retirement shall be adjusted if the adjustment is required under sub-subdivision f. of this subdivision.
- d. Should a beneficiary who retired on an early or service retirement allowance under this Chapter be restored to service as an employee or teacher, then the retirement allowance shall cease as of the first of the month following the month in which the beneficiary is restored to service and the beneficiary shall become a member of the Retirement System and shall contribute thereafter as allowed by law at the uniform contribution payable by all members.

Upon his subsequent retirement, he shall be paid a retirement allowance determined as follows:

- 1. For a member who earns at least three years' membership service after restoration to service, creditable service earned while in receipt of disability benefits under Article 6 of this Chapter shall count as membership service for this purpose only, and the retirement allowance shall be computed on the basis of his compensation and service before and after the period of prior retirement without restrictions; provided, that if the prior allowance was based on a social security leveling payment option, the allowance shall be adjusted actuarially for the difference between the amount received under the optional payment and what would have been paid if the retirement allowance had been paid without optional modification. In the alternative, the member may receive a refund of the member's accumulated contributions for the period of service after restoration to service in accordance with G.S. 135-5(f).
- 2. For a member who does not earn three years' membership service after restoration to service, the retirement allowance shall be equal to the sum of the retirement allowance to which he would have been entitled had he not been restored to service, without modification of the election of an optional allowance previously made, and the retirement allowance that results from service earned since being restored to service; provided, that if the prior retirement allowance was based on a social security leveling payment option, the prior allowance shall be adjusted actuarially for the difference between the amount that would

have been paid for each month had the payment not been suspended and what would have been paid if the retirement allowance had been paid without optional modification. In the alternative, the member may receive a refund of the member's accumulated contributions for the period of service after restoration to service in accordance with G.S. 135-5(f), or the member may allow this new account to remain inactive.

- e. Any beneficiary who retired on an early or service retirement allowance as an employee of any State department, agency or institution under the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System and becomes employed as an employee by a State department, agency, or institution as an employer participating in the Retirement System shall become subject to the provisions of G.S. 135-3(8)c and G.S. 135-3(8)d on and after January 1, 1989.
- f. Recodified as G.S. 135-3(d) by Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(m), effective October 3, 2023.
- g. Expired June 30, 2021, pursuant to Session Laws 2019-110, s. 6.
- h. If a beneficiary who retired on an early or service retirement allowance under this Article is reemployed by an employer with an option to elect to participate in either the Optional Retirement Program or a similar benefit to the Optional Retirement Program offered pursuant to G.S. 116-350.30 or G.S. 116-360.15 and that beneficiary does elect to participate in either program, then that beneficiary's retirement allowance shall be suspended as of the first day of the month following the month in which the beneficiary was reemployed. The beneficiary's retirement allowance shall be reinstated as of the first day of the month following the month in which the beneficiary ceases contributing employment in the Optional Retirement Program or a similar benefit to the Optional Retirement Program offered pursuant to G.S. 116-350.30 or G.S. 116-360.15.
- (8a) Recodified as G.S. 135-3(b) by Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(n), effective October 3, 2023.
- (9) Recodified as G.S. 135-3(c) by Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(n), effective October 3, 2023.
- (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of sub-subdivisions [sub-subdivisions] c. and d. of subdivision (8) of this section to the contrary, a beneficiary who was a beneficiary retired on an early or service retirement with the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System

at the time of the transfer of law enforcement officers employed by the State and beneficiaries last employed by the State to this Retirement System on January 1, 1985, and who also was a contributing member of this Retirement System on January 1, 1985, shall continue to be paid his or her retirement allowance without restriction and may continue as a member of this Retirement System with all the rights and privileges appendant to membership.

- (c) Members who are participating in an intergovernmental exchange of personnel under the provisions of Article 10 of Chapter 126 may retain their membership status and receive all benefits provided by this Chapter during the period of the exchange provided the requirements of Article 10 of Chapter 126 are met; provided further, that a member participating in an intergovernmental exchange of personnel under Article 10 of Chapter 126 shall, notwithstanding whether the member and the member's employer are making contributions to the member's account during the exchange period, be entitled to the death benefit if the member otherwise qualifies under the provisions of this Article and provided further that no duplicate benefits shall be paid.
- (d) If a beneficiary who retired on an early or service retirement allowance under this Chapter is reemployed by, or otherwise engaged to perform services for, an employer participating in the Retirement System on a part-time, temporary, interim, or on a fee for service basis, whether contractual or otherwise at any time during the six months immediately following the effective date of retirement, then the option of the following subdivisions that has the lesser financial impact on the member, as determined by the Retirement System, shall be applied:
  - (1) The member's retirement is deemed effective the month after the last month the member performed services for a participating employer, and the member shall repay all retirement benefits paid up to the deemed effective date, provided the member thereafter has satisfied the six-month separation required by G.S. 135-1(20).
  - (2) The member shall make a lump-sum payment to the Retirement System equal to three times the amount of compensation earned during the six months immediately following the effective date of retirement. If the member is unable to make a lump-sum payment, the member can elect to have the entirety of their monthly retirement benefit withheld until the Retirement System has recovered three times the amount of compensation earned during the six months immediately following the effective date of retirement.
- (e) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, if a member who retires on an early or service retirement as an employee of the University of North Carolina Health Care System or the East Carolina University School of Medicine or School

of Dental Medicine is subsequently employed by a non-State entity affiliated with the University of North Carolina Health Care System or East Carolina University School of Medicine, then that member shall continue to be paid the member's retirement allowance without restriction. For the purposes of this subsection, "non-State entity" means an entity that does not satisfy the requirements of being an employer pursuant to G.S. 135-1(11).

### History.

1941, c. 25, s. 3; 1945, c. 799; 1947, c. 414; c. 457, ss. 1, 2; c. 458, s. 5; c. 464, s. 2; 1949, c. 1056, s. 1; 1951, c. 561; 1955, c. 1155, s. 91/2; 1961, c. 516, ss. 1, 2; 1963, c. 687, s. 2; 1965, c. 780, s. 1; c. 1187; 1967, c. 720, ss. 1, 2, 15; c. 1234; 1969, c. 1223, ss. 1, 2, 14; 1971, c. 117, ss. 6-8; c. 118, ss. 1, 2; 1973, c. 241, s. 1; c. 994, s. 5; c. 1363; 1977, c. 783, s. 3; 1979, c. 396; c. 972, s. 2; 1981, c. 979, s. 1; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1396, ss. 1, 2; 1983, c. 556, ss. 1, 2; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, ss. 228, 229, 236; c. 1106, ss. 1, 2, 4; 1985, c. 520, s. 1; c. 649, ss. 2, 11; 1987, c. 513, s. 1; c. 738, s. 38(b); 1989, c. 791; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, ss. 7.30(e), (f), 7.31(d), (e); 1995, c. 509, s. 73.1; 1998-212, s. 28.24(a); 1998-217, s. 67; 2000-67, s. 8.24(a); 2001-424, s. 32.25(a); 2002-126, ss. 28.10(a), (b), (d), 28.13(a); 2004-124, s. 31.18A(a), (b); 2004-199, s. 57(a); 2005-144, ss. 7A.1, 7A.2, 7A.4; 2005-276, ss. 29.28(a)-(d); 2005-345, s. 43; 2006-226, s. 25(a); 2007-145, s. 7(a), (b), (d)-(f); 2007-326, ss. 1, 3(a), (b), (d)-(f); 2007-431, s. 9; 2009-66, ss. 8(a), 12(a), (b); 2009-137, s. 1; 2010-72, s. 4(a); 2011-232, s. 1; 2011-294, s. 2(a); 2012-130, s. 8; 2013-405, s. 5; 2014-88, s. 3(a); 2014-97, s. 4(d); 2015-164, s. 11(a); 2019-110, s. 2(a), (b); 2019-212, s. 7(b); 2020-29, ss. 1(i), 7(a); 2021-60, s. 2.1; 2023-89, s. 1.1; 2023-134, ss. 4.10(m), (n); 2024-8, s. 1.

# Cross References.

As to exemption of temporary employees of the General Assembly from the provisions of G.S. 135-3(8)c. as to compensation earned in that status, see G.S. 120-32(1).

#### Editor's Note.

The bracketed text "[sub-subdivisions]" was inserted in subsection (b) of this section at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 1953, c. 792, authorizes the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, in its discretion, to contract with the Fort Bragg School Board, the United States Office of Education, or the United States Commissioner of Education or his officers and agents, whereby teachers in the schools controlled and operated by the Fort Bragg School Board, who have previously taught in State public schools and accumulated creditable service of some type under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement Act, shall be covered under the provisions of the Act.

Session Laws 2002-126, s. 28.13(d), provides: "The State Treasurer shall seek a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service relating to what constitutes a 'bona fide termination of employment' and the period of time that a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System must be separated from service before they can be reemployed either on a full-time or contract basis while continuing to receive retirement benefits."

Session Laws 2002-126, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as 'The Current Operations, Capital Improvements, and Finance Act of 2002'."

Session Laws 2002-126, s. 31.3, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2002-2003 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2002-2003 fiscal year. For example, uncodified provisions of this act relating to the Medicaid program apply only to the 2002-2003 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2002-126, s. 31.6, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2004-124, s. 31.18A(f), as amended by Session Laws 2004-161, s. 53.2, provides: "(f) In order to facilitate the success of its request for a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, as mandated by Section 28.13(d) of S.L. 2002-126, the Retirement Systems Division may modify the scope of its inquiry to the extent that a substantive ruling may be obtained and used by the General Assembly to adopt an efficient and fiscally sound policy on postretirement reemployment."

Session Laws 2004-124, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as "The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2004'."

Session Laws 2004-124, s. 33.3, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2004-2005 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2004-2005 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2004-124, s. 33.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2006-226, s. 25(a), as amended by Session Laws 2007-145, s. 7(e), and as amended by Session Laws 2007-326, s. 3(f), effective October 1, 2007, deleted "in full time capacity that exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the applicable workweek" from the end of subdivision (8)c.

Session Laws 2007-326, s. 5, provides that if the Internal Revenue Service determines that the provisions of G.S. 135-3(8)c. relating to the computation of postretirement earnings of retired teachers jeopardize the status of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina under the Internal Revenue Code, then the final three paragraphs of G.S. 135-3(8)c. are repealed.

Session Laws 2013-405, s. 8, made the amendment to sub-subdivision (8)d by Session Laws 2013-405, s. 5, applicable to persons retiring on or after January 1, 2012.

Session Laws 2013-405, s. 7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2019-110, s. 5, as amended by Session Laws 2019-212, s. 7(c), provides: "(a) The State Treasurer shall seek a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service to determine if the provisions of this act relating to the computation of postretirement earnings of retired teachers jeopardize the status of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

"(b) If the Internal Revenue Service determines that the provisions of G.S. 135-3(8)g., as enacted by this act, relating to the computation of postretirement earnings of retired teachers jeopardize the status of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina under the Internal Revenue Code, then this act is repealed on the last day of the month following the month of receipt of that determination by the State Treasurer. Upon receipt of that determination, the State Treasurer shall notify the Revisor of Statutes of the de-

termination and the date of receipt. Within three business days of receipt of the determination, the State Treasurer shall notify all local school administrative units of the repeal of this act and shall publicly notice the receipt of this information on the Department of State Treasurer's Web site. Within three business days of receipt of the notice from the State Treasurer, a local school administrative unit shall notify all high-need retired teachers employed by its local board of education of the repeal of this act.

"(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to pay costs associated with the administration of the provisions of this act, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or pay costs associated with the administration directly from the retirement assets. Costs associated with the administration of the provisions of this act shall not exceed fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000) to obtain the private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service required under subsection (a) of this section.

"(d) Any beneficiary that is employed to teach by a local board of education as a high-need retired teacher, as defined in G.S. 115C-302.4(a)(1), shall not be eligible to elect into a position that would lead him or her to be eligible to accrue any additional benefits under G.S. 135-3(8). Any failure of a local board of education or a beneficiary to comply with the foregoing shall be corrected by the Retirement System as it determines may be appropriate under State and federal law. Any costs of the correction, as determined by the Retirement System, shall be the sole responsibility of the local board of education and shall be transferred to the Pension Accumulation Fund under G.S. 135-8, under rules adopted by the Board of Trustees.'

Session Laws 2019-212, s. 7(d), provides: "If S.L. 2019-110 is repealed pursuant to the requirements of Section 5 of that act, this section is repealed on the same date as the repeal of S.L. 2019-110."

This section was amended by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 7(a), in the coded bill drafting format provided by G.S. 120-20.1. In sub-subdivision (8)c1., Session Laws 2020-29, s. 7(a) failed to underline the word "all" in the phrase "do any or all the following" at the end of the introduc-

tory paragraph. Sub-subdivision (8)c1. has been set out in the form above at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 4.23(a)-(e), as amended by Session Laws 2020-74, s. 9, and as amended by Session Laws 2020-80, s. 1.1(f), provides: "(a) For individuals who retired under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System (TSERS) on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020, the six-month separation from service from an employer that is required under G.S. 135-1(20) in order for a retirement to become effective shall not apply and instead a one-month separation shall be required, provided that the position to which the individual returns is needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as certified to the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer by the employing agency. Upon the expiration of this section, all of the following shall apply:

"(1) The six-month separation from an employer required under G.S. 135-1(20) shall again be applicable to individuals who retired under TSERS on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020.

"(2) In order for a member's retirement under TSERS on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020, to become effective in any month, the member must perform no work for an employer, including part-time, temporary, substitute, or contractor work, at any time between the expiration of this section and the end of the six months immediately following the effective date of retirement, provided the expiration of the six-month period of separation did not occur while this section was in effect.

"(3) For individuals who retired under TSERS on or after October 1, 2019, but before April 1, 2020, any time worked between March 10, 2020, and the time this section expires shall not be considered work for the purposes of the sixmonth separation required under G.S. 135-1(20).

"(b) For individuals who retired prior to April 1, 2020, any earnings received between March 10, 2020, and the time that this section expires shall not be treated as earned by a TSERS beneficiary under the provisions of G.S. 135-3(8)c., provided those earnings are related to a position needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as certified to the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer by the employing agency.

"(c) For individuals who retired prior to April 1, 2020, any earnings received

between March 10, 2020, and the time that this section expires shall not be treated as earned by a beneficiary of the Local Governmental Employees Retirement System (LGERS) under the provisions of G.S. 128-24(5)c., provided those earnings are related to a position needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as certified to the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer by the employing unit.

"(d) Any benefits received by or paid to a law enforcement officer or retired law enforcement officer under Article 12D of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes shall not be impacted by any work performed between March 10, 2020, and the time that this section expires, provided that work performed is needed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as documented by the employing unit or agency.

"(e) This section is effective when it becomes law [May 4, 2020] and expires August 31, 2020."

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(k), provides: "For all service purchases that are required to have been made by December 31, 2021, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall accept and process all service purchase request forms that are received by the Retirement Systems Division on or before December 31, 2021."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 7(c), made the amendment to sub-subdivision (8)c1. of this section by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 7(a), effective July 1, 2021, and applicable to reports required to be made on or after that date.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-80, s. 3.5, is a severability clause.

In the introductory paragraph of subdivision (8), the bracketed word "[subdivision]" was inserted and the colon was substituted for a period at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2019-110, s. 2, effective July 1, 2019, and expiring June 30, 2021, in sub-subdivision (8)c1., substituted "sub-subdivisions c. and g. of" for "sub-

subdivision c. of"; and added sub-subdivision (8)g.

Session Laws 2019-212, s. 7(b), effective July 1, 2019, and expiring June 30, 2021, rewrote sub-subdivision (8)g.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(i), effective June 19, 2020, rewrote subdivision (3).

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 7(a), rewrote sub-subdivision (8)c1. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-60, s. 2.1, effective July 1, 2021, inserted "except as pro-

vided in G.S. 120-32(1)" in sub-subdivision (8)c.

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 1.1, effective January 1, 2024, added the last sentence in sub-sub-subdivision (8)f.2.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 8.10(m), (n), effective October 3, 2023, rewrote the section.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 1, effective June 20, 2024, added sub-subdivision (a)(8)h.

### CASE NOTES

Constitutionality of Sub-Subdivi**sion** (8)**d.** — Because all retired officers and employees are subject to the provisions of sub-subdivision (8)d of this section, plaintiff retired judge was not treated differently than similarly situated persons, and the Retirement System's interpretation of sub-subdivision (8)d did not violate the Equal Protection Clause of either the United States or the North Carolina Constitution. Wells v. Consolidated Judicial Retirement Sys., 136 N.C. App. 671, 526 S.E.2d 486, 2000 N.C. App. LEXIS 162 (2000), aff'd, 354 N.C. 313, 553 S.E.2d 877, 2001 N.C. LEXIS 1098 (2001).

Suspension of Benefits. — In case involving suspension of plaintiff retired judge's retirement benefits after he was appointed to another state office, where the prohibition contained in sub-subdivision (8)d of this section existed as former (8)c when plaintiff's rights vested in the Retirement System, the prohibition applied to plaintiff, and plaintiff's contract

under Chapter 135 provided that his benefits would cease if he returned to employment with the State of North Carolina following his retirement from the court. Wells v. Consolidated Judicial Retirement Sys., 136 N.C. App. 671, 526 S.E.2d 486, 2000 N.C. App. LEXIS 162 (2000), aff'd, 354 N.C. 313, 553 S.E.2d 877, 2001 N.C. LEXIS 1098 (2001).

Suspension of the retirement benefits of a retired judge who was appointed to state utilities commission, while he served on that commission, was proper even though the statute authorizing the suspension of a retired judge's pension only spoke of suspending the benefits of a retired judge who returned to judicial service, because the broader provisions of G.S. 135-3(8)(c), disallowing continued receipt of benefits by a contributor to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina, applied to the judge. Wells v. Consol. Judicial Ret. Sys., 354 N.C. 313, 553 S.E.2d 877, 2001 N.C. LEXIS 1098 (2001).

### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Membership Compulsory; No Exemption for Member of Religious Order. — See opinion of Attorney General to Mr. J.E. Miller, Director, Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, 40 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 625 (1970).

Employee Reentering State Employment After Retirement. — When an employee, age 62, retires on July 1, 1959, and receives retirement benefits until July 1, 1964, at which time he reenters State employment, when that employee subsequently retires on July 1,

1969, he is entitled to the resumption of payment of his retirement benefits suspended while he was reemployed, plus additional benefits based on a salary over the most recent 5 years' employment figured at the current formula rate. He is not entitled to benefits using the current formula and his total service recently plus that prior to his first retirement. Opinion of Attorney General to Mr. J.E. Miller, Director, Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, 40 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 623 (1969).

### §§ 135-3.1, 135-3.2. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1961, c. 516, s. 9.

### § 135-4. Creditable service.

- (a) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(a), effective June 19, 2020.
- (b) In no case shall more than one year of service be creditable for all services in one year. Service rendered for the regular school year in any district shall be equivalent to one year's service. Service rendered by a school employee in a job-sharing position shall be credited at the rate of one-half year for each regular school year of employment.
- (c) Repealed by Session Laws 2018-85, s. 7, effective June 25, 2018.
- (d) Any member may, up to his date of retirement and within one year thereafter, request the Board of Trustees to modify or correct service credit that was earned prior to retirement.
- (e) Creditable service at retirement on which the retirement allowance of a member shall be based shall consist of the membership service rendered by the member since he or she last became a member, and also if the member has a prior service certificate which is in full force and effect, the amount of service certified on the prior service certificate; and if the member has sick leave standing to the member's credit upon retirement on or after July 1, 1971, one month of credit for each 20 days or portion thereof, but not less than one hour; sick leave shall not be counted in computing creditable service for the purpose of determining eligibility for disability retirement or for a vested deferred allowance. Creditable service for unused sick leave shall be allowed only for sick leave accrued monthly during employment under a duly adopted sick leave policy and for which the member may be able to take credits and be paid for sick leave without restriction. However, in no instance shall unused sick leave be credited to a member's account at retirement if the member's last day of actual service is more than five years prior to the effective date of the member's retirement. Further, any agency with a sick leave policy that is more generous than that of all State agencies subject to the rules of the Office of State Human Resources shall proportionately adjust each of its retiring employees' sick leave balance to the balance that employee would have had under the rules of the Office of State Human Resources. Days of sick leave standing to a member's credit at retirement shall be determined by dividing the member's total hours of sick leave at retirement by the hours per month such leave was awarded under the employer's duly adopted sick leave policy as the policy applied to the member when the leave was accrued.
- (e1) The creditable service of a member who was a member of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System at the time of the transfer of law-enforcement officers employed by the State from that System to this Retirement System and whose accumulated contri-

butions are transferred from that System to this Retirement System, shall include service that was creditable in the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System; and membership service with that System shall be membership service with this Retirement System; provided, notwithstanding any provision of this Article to the contrary, any inchoate or accrued rights of such a member to purchase creditable service for military service, withdrawn service and prior service under the rules and regulations of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System shall not be diminished and may be purchased as creditable service with this Retirement System under the same conditions which would have otherwise applied.

# (f) Armed Service Credit. —

- (1) Teachers and other State employees who entered the Armed Forces of the United States on or after September 16, 1940, and prior to February 17, 1941, and who returned to the service of the State within a period of two years after they were first eligible to be separated or released from the Armed Forces of the United States under other than dishonorable conditions shall be entitled to full credit for all prior service. Pursuant to 38 U.S.C. § 4318(b)(1), when a member who has been on military leave returns to work consistent with the provisions of this subdivision, then the member's employer must remit to the System all the employer contributions for the full period of that member's military service.
- (2) Teachers and other State employees who entered the Armed Forces of the United States on or after September 16, 1940, and who returned to the service of the State prior to October 1, 1952, or who devote not less than 10 years of service to the State after they are separated or released from the Armed Forces of the United States under other than dishonorable conditions, shall be entitled to full credit for all prior service, and, in addition they shall receive membership service credit for the period of service in the Armed Forces of the United States up to the date they were first eligible to be separated or released therefrom, occurring after the date of establishment of the Retirement System.
- (3) Teachers and other State employees who enter the Armed Forces of the United States on or after July 1, 1950, or who engage in active military service on or after July 1, 1950, and who return to the service of the State within a period of two years after they are first eligible to be separated or released from such active military service under other than dishonorable conditions shall be entitled to full membership service credit for the period of such active service in the Armed Forces of the United States.

- (4) Under such rules as the Board of Trustees shall adopt, credit will be provided by the Retirement System with respect to each such teacher or other State employee in the amounts that he or she would have been paid during such service in the Armed Forces of the United States on the basis of his or her earnable compensation when such service commenced. Such contributions shall be credited to the individual account of the member in the annuity savings fund, in such manner as the Board of Trustees shall determine, but any such contributions so credited and any regular interest thereon shall be available to the member only in the form of an annuity, or benefit in lieu thereof, upon the member's retirement on a service, disability or special retirement allowance; and in the event of cessation of membership or death prior thereto, any such contributions so credited and regular interest thereon shall not be payable to the member or on the member's account, but shall be transferred from the annuity savings fund to the pension accumulation fund. If any payments were made by a member on account of such service as provided by subdivision (5) of subsection (b) of G.S. 135-8, the Board of Trustees shall refund to or reimburse such member for such payments.
- (5) The provisions of this subsection shall also apply to members of the North Carolina National Guard with respect to teachers and State employees who are called into federal service or who are called into State service, to the extent that such persons fail to receive compensation for performance of the duties of their employment other than for service in the North Carolina National Guard.
- (6) Repealed by Session Laws 1981, c. 636, s. 1. For proviso as to inchoate or accrued rights, see Editor's note below.
- (7) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(b) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(k).
- (g) Teachers and other State employees who served in the uniformed services as defined in the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, 38 U.S.C. § 4303, who were not dishonorably discharged, and who returned to the service of the State within a period of two years from date of discharge shall be credited with prior service for such period of service in the uniformed services for the maximum period that they are entitled to reemployment under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, 38 U.S.C. § 4301, et seq., or other federal law, and the salary or compensation of such a teacher or State employee during that period of service is deemed to be that salary or compensation the employee would have received but for the period of service had the employee remained continuously

employed, if the determination of that salary or compensation is reasonably certain. If the determination of the salary or compensation is not reasonably certain, then it is deemed to be that employee's average rate of compensation during the 12-month period immediately preceding the period of service. When a member who has served in the uniformed services returns to work in compliance with the conditions of this subsection, that member's employer shall remit to the System all employer and employee contributions for the full period of that member's military service.

- (h) During periods when a member is on an approved leave of absence and is receiving less than the member's full compensation, the member will be deemed to be in service only if the member is contributing to the Retirement System as provided in G.S. 135-8(b)(5). If the member is so contributing, the annual rate of compensation paid to such employee immediately before the approved leave of absence began will be deemed to be the actual compensation rate of the employee during the leave of absence.
- (i) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(a), effective June 19, 2020.
- (j) Repealed by Session Laws 2021-57, s. 1.4(a), effective July 1, 2022.
  - (j1) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(q).
- (j2) Recodified as part of G.S. 135-4.5(a) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(a), (b).
- (k) Repealed by Session Laws 2021-57, s. 1.4(a), effective July 1, 2022.
- (k1) Recodified as part of G.S. 135-4.5(a)(1) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(b).
- (l) Repealed by Session Laws 1981, c. 636, s. 1. For proviso as to inchoate or accrued rights, see Editor's note below.
- (l1) Repealed by Session Laws 2021-57, s. 1.4(a), effective July 1, 2022.
- (l2) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(a)(2) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(c).
- (m) Notwithstanding any language to the contrary of any provision of this section, or of any repealed provision of this section that was repealed with the inchoate and accrued rights preserved, all repayments and purchases of service credits, allowed under the provisions of this section or of any repealed provision of this section that was repealed with inchoate and accrued rights preserved, must be made within three years after the member first becomes eligible to make such repayments and purchases. Any member who does not repay or purchase service credits within said three years after first eligibility to make such repayments and purchases may, under the same conditions as are otherwise required, repay or purchase service credits provided that the repayment or purchase equals the full cost of the service credits calculated on the basis of the

assumptions used for purposes of the actuarial valuation of the system's liabilities and shall take into account the additional retirement allowance arising on account of such additional service credit commencing at the earliest age at which such member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance as determined by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this subsection that provide for the purchase of service credits, the terms "full cost", "full liability", and "full actuarial cost" include assumed annual post-retirement allowance increases, as determined by the Board of Trustees, from the earliest age at which a member could retire on an unreduced service allowance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, on and after July 1, 2001, the provisions of this subsection shall not apply to the repayment of contributions withdrawn pursuant to subsection (k) of this section.

- (n) Repealed by Session Laws 1981, c. 636, s. 1. For proviso as to inchoate or accrued rights, see Editor's note below.
- (o) Repealed by Session Laws 1981, c. 636, s. 1. For proviso as to inchoate or accrued rights, see Editor's note below.
  - (p) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(q).
- (p1) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(a), effective June 19, 2020.
- (p2) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(a)(3) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(d).
- (q) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(a), effective June 19, 2020.
  - (r) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(c) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(*l*).
- (s) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(a)(4) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(e).
- (t), (u) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(a), effective June 19, 2020.
  - (v) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(d) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(m).
- (w) Repealed by Session Laws 2021-57, s. 1.4(a), effective July 1, 2022.
- (x) Repealed by Session Laws 2001-424, s. 32.32(c), effective July 1, 2001.
- (y) A member who is a beneficiary of the Disability Income Plan provided for in Article 6 of this Chapter shall be granted creditable service for each month that the member is eligible for and for which a benefit is paid under the provisions of G.S. 135-105 and G.S. 135-106; provided, however, that in no instance shall a member be granted creditable service under this subsection if creditable service is earned or credited for the same month in this retirement system or any other retirement system administered by the State.
- (z) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(a)(7) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(g).
- (aa) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(a)(8) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(h).

- (bb) Repealed by Session Laws 2021-57, s. 1.4(a), effective July 1, 2022.
- (bb1) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(a)(5) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(f).
  - (cc) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(q).
- (cc1) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(a)(9) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(i).
  - (dd) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(f) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(o).
- (ee) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(g) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(p).
  - (ff) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(e) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(n).
- (gg) If a member who is an elected government official and has not vested in this System on July 1, 2007, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 135-18.10 for acts committed after July 1, 2007, then that member shall forfeit all benefits under this System, except for a return of member contributions plus interest. If a member who is an elected government official and has vested in this System on July 1, 2007, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 135-18.10 for acts committed after July 1, 2007, then that member is not entitled to any creditable service that accrued after July 1, 2007, regardless of whether that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Chapter, or accrued by any other means. No member shall forfeit any benefit or creditable service earned from a position not as an elected government official. For purposes of this subsection, creditable service attributable to the conversion of sick leave accrues in this System on the date of retirement, service transferred to this System from another system accrues in this System on the effective date of the transfer, and purchased service accrues in this System on the date of the purchase.
- (hh) Recodified as G.S. 135-4.5(a)(10) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(j).
- (ii) If a member who is in service and has not vested in this System on December 1, 2012, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 135-18.10A for acts committed after December 1, 2012, then that member shall forfeit all benefits under this System, except for a return of member contributions plus interest. If a member who is in service and has vested in this System on December 1, 2012, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 135-18.10A for acts committed after December 1, 2012, then that member is not entitled to any creditable service that accrued after December 1, 2012, regardless of whether that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with

this Chapter, or accrued by any other means. For purposes of this subsection, creditable service attributable to the conversion of sick leave accrues in this System on the date of retirement, service transferred to this System from another system accrues in this System on the effective date of the transfer, and purchased service accrues in this System on the date of the purchase.

(jj) Contribution-Based Benefit Cap Purchase Provision. — If a member's retirement allowance is subject to an adjustment pursuant to the contribution-based benefit cap established in G.S. 135-5(a3), except as otherwise provided under this subsection, the retirement system shall notify the member and the member's employer that the member's retirement allowance has been capped. The retirement system shall compute and notify the member and the member's employer of the total additional amount the member would need to contribute in order to make the member not subject to the contribution-based benefit cap. This total additional amount shall be the actuarial equivalent of a single life annuity adjusted for the age of the member at the time of retirement, or when appropriate, the age at the time of the member's death that would have had to have been purchased to increase the member's benefit to the pre-cap level. If the member's employer did not report to the retirement system any compensation paid to the member during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation, the retirement system shall not notify the member's employer, but instead shall notify the employer or employers who reported compensation during the member's average final compensation period, with the notification for each such employer specifying that employer's share of the amount that would have had to have been purchased to increase the member's benefit to the pre-cap level. allocated proportionally to each employer based on the total amount of compensation to the member that each employer reported during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, the member shall have until 90 days after notification regarding this additional amount or until 90 days after the effective date of retirement, whichever is later, to submit a lump sum payment to the annuity savings fund in order for the retirement system to restore the retirement allowance to the uncapped amount. Nothing contained in this subsection shall prevent an employer or former employer from paying all or part of the cost of the amount necessary to restore the member's retirement allowance to the pre-cap amount. Notwithstanding the requirement that the payment be made as a lump sum, and notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the retirement system may allow an employer or former employer of a member who became a member before January 1, 2015, or who has not earned at least five years of membership service in the retirement system after January 1, 2015, to pay the additional amount

required in this subsection over an extended period using one of the following three options:

- (1) **Option one.** An installment payment plan ending no more than 15 months after the retirement of the member.
- (2) **Option two.** An installment payment plan ending no more than 27 months after the retirement of the member. Interest shall be assessed on the principal amount of the contribution-based benefit cap liability owed and applied to any installment payment plan term exceeding 12 months at a rate corresponding with the interest rate assumption based on the most recent actuarial valuation approved by the Board of Trustees.
- (3) **Option three.** An adjustment to the required employer contribution rate for the employer as provided in G.S. 135-8(f)(5).

Payment under the selected option must be completed regardless of whether the member continues to receive a recurring monthly retirement benefit through the end of the extended payment period. An employer's continuing compliance with a payment option selected from the three options above will be deemed payment of the employer's additional contribution required by this subsection for purposes of G.S. 135-8(f)(3).

(kk) Creditable service may be purchased in accordance with G.S. 135-4.5, or as otherwise provided for in this Article.

# History.

1941, c. 25, s. 4; 1943, cc. 200, 783; 1945, c. 797; 1947, c. 575; 1949, c. 1056, ss. 2, 4; 1953, c. 1050, s. 3; 1959, c. 513, s. 11/2; 1961, c. 516, s. 3; c. 779, s. 2; 1963, c. 1262; 1965, c. 780, s. 1; c. 924; 1967, c. 720, s. 3; 1969, c. 1223, ss. 3, 4; 1971, c. 117, ss. 9, 10; c. 993; 1973, c. 241, s. 2; c. 242, s. 1; c. 667, s. 2; c. 737, s. 1; c. 816, s. 1; c. 1063; c. 1311, ss. 1-5; 1975, c. 205, s. 2; c. 875, s. 47; 1977, cc. 317, 790; 1979, c. 826; c. 866, s. 2; c. 867; c. 972, s. 3; 1981, c. 557, s. 3; c. 636, s. 1; c. 1116, s. 1; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1396, s. 4; 1983, c. 533, s. 1; c. 725; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1030; c. 1034, ss. 230, 231; c. 1045, ss. 1, 2; 1985, c. 401, ss. 1, 2; c. 407, s. 1; c. 479, s. 193; c. 512; c. 530; c. 649, ss. 1, 4; c. 749, s. 1; 1987, c. 533, s. 1; c. 717, s. 2; c. 738, s. 29(b); c. 809, s. 2; c. 821; c. 825; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1088, ss. 1-4; c. 1103; c. 1110, s. 9; 1989, c. 255, ss. 11-20; c. 762, s. 3; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 1017, s. 2; c. 1029, s. 1; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.23D(b); 1998-71, ss. 3, 4; 1998-190, s. 1; 1998-212, s. 9.14A(c); 1998-214, s. 2; 1999-71, s. 1; 1999-158, s. 2; 2001-424, ss. 32.28(a), 32.32(a), 32.32(b), 32.32(c); 2002-71, s. 5; 2002-153, s. 4; 2002-174, s. 3; 2003-284, s. 30.18(b); 2003-358, s. 3;  $2003\text{-}359, \text{ ss. } 7, 8, 9, 12.; 2005\text{-}91, \text{ s. } 1; \\ 2007\text{-}179, \text{ s. }3(\text{b}); 2007\text{-}233, \text{ s. } 1; 2007\text{-}431, \text{ ss. } 8, 11; 2009\text{-}281, \text{ s. } 1; 2010\text{-}72, \text{ s.} \\ 5(\text{a}); 2011\text{-}183, \text{ s. }101; 2011\text{-}294, \text{ s. }5(\text{a}); \\ 2012\text{-}130, \text{ s. }3(\text{b}), (c); 2012\text{-}193, \text{ s. }2; \\ 2013\text{-}382, \text{ s. }9.1(c); 2013\text{-}405, \text{ s. }6(\text{a}); \\ 2014\text{-}88, \text{ s. }1(c); 2014\text{-}115, \text{ s. }55.3(\text{f}); \\ 2015\text{-}67, \text{ s. }6; 2015\text{-}168, \text{ s. }7(\text{a}); 2016\text{-}82, \\ \text{ s. }1; 2017\text{-}128, \text{ s. }2(\text{a}); 2017\text{-}129, \text{ s. }9(\text{a}); \\ 2018\text{-}85, \text{ ss. }7, 14; 2018\text{-}145, \text{ s. }20(\text{b}); \\ 2020\text{-}29, \text{ s. }1(\text{a}); 2020\text{-}48, \text{ s. }4.4(\text{a}), (\text{b}); \\ 2021\text{-}57, \text{ ss. }1.1, 1.2(\text{a}), (\text{b}), 1.3, 1.4(\text{a}); \\ 2021\text{-}72, \text{ ss. }1.1(\text{d}), 3.1(\text{d}); 2022\text{-}16, \text{ s. }1.1; \\ 2023\text{-}89, \text{ s. }1.2; 2024\text{-}10, \text{ ss. }2(\text{a})\text{-}(\text{q}); 4(\text{b}). \end{aligned}$ 

## Certain Municipalities Authorized to Establish and Operate Charter Schools.

Session Laws 2018-3, authorized municipalities in the Towns of Cornelius, Huntersville, Matthews, and Mint Hill to establish and operate charter schools.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1981, c. 636, s. 1, effective July 1, 1981, deleted subdivision (f)(6), which concerned purchase of service credit for service in the armed forces of the United States, subsection (l),

which concerned purchase of credit for service to governmental entities, subsection (n), which defined "out-of-state service", and subsection (o), which concerned purchase of credit for time spent as a court reporter prior to establishment of the Uniform Court System, but provided that any inchoate or accrued rights of any member on July 1, 1981, shall not be diminished.

Prior to this amendment, subdivision (f)(6) and subsections (l), (n) and (o) read:

"(f)(6) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, teachers and other State employees not otherwise allowed service credit for service in the armed forces of the United States may, upon completion of 10 years of membership service, purchase such service credit by paying in a total lump sum an amount, based on the compensation the member earned when he first entered membership and the employee contribution rate at that time, with sufficient interest added thereto so as to equal one half the cost of allowing such service. plus a fee to cover expense of handling payment to be determined by the Board of Trustees and assessed the member at the time of payment; provided that credit will be allowed only for the initial period of active duty in the armed forces of the United States up to the time the member was first eligible to be separated or released therefrom, and subsequent periods of such active duty as required by the armed forces of the United States up to the date of first eligibility for separation or release therefrom; and further provided that the member submit satisfactory evidence of the service claimed and that service credit be allowed only for that period of active service in the armed forces of the United States not creditable in any other retirement system, except the national guard or any reserve component of the armed forces of the United States. These provisions shall apply equally to retired members who had attained 10 years of membership service prior to retirement. Cost as used in this subsection shall mean the amount of money required to provide additional retirement benefits based on service credit allowed at the time any adjustment to the service credit of a member is made.

"(*l*) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, any member may, upon completion of 10 years of current membership service, purchase credit for service previously rendered to any state, territory or other governmental subdivision of the United States other than this

State at the rate of one year of out-ofstate service for each two years of service in this State with a maximum allowable of 10 years of out-of-state service. Such service is limited to full-time service which would be allowable under the laws governing this System. Credit will be allowed only if no benefit is allowable in another public retirement system as a result of the service. Payment shall be permitted only on a total lump sum, an amount based on the compensation the member earned when he first entered membership and the employee contribution rate at that time and shall be equal to the full cost of providing credit for such service plus a fee to cover expense of handling which shall be determined by the Board of Trustees. These provisions shall apply equally to retired members who had attained 10 years of membership service prior to retirement. Cost as used in this subsection shall mean the amount of money required to provide additional retirement benefits based on service credit allowed at the time any adjustment to the service credit of an individual is made.

"Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member may, upon completion of 10 years of current membership service, purchase Federal School, Overseas Dependent Schools, or Military Dependent Schools service, or, while on an approved leave of absence from employment with the State of North Carolina, foreign service in the International Cooperation Administration or the Agency for International Development upon the same terms as in the preceding paragraph for out-of-state service.

"(n) Wherever the terminology 'out-ofstate service,' is used in this section, that terminology shall be interpreted to include the United States Public Health Service and time spent in the Merchant Marines while in the United States Naval Reserve.

"(o) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, a member who is presently a court reporter may buy in time spent serving as court reporter prior to the establishment of the Uniform Court System in 1968 by purchasing service credits, provided that the purchase payment equals the full cost of the service credits calculated on the basis of the assumptions used for purposes of the actuarial valuation of the system's liabilities. Account shall be taken of the additional retirement allowance arising on account of the additional service credit commencing at the earliest date of

which the member could retire or of a reduced retirement allowance as determined by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary."

Session Laws 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 1017, s. 2, which rewrote the first sentence of subsection (m), became effective on and after July 1, 1979.

Session Laws 2002-71, which added subsections (dd) and (ee) by s. 5, in s. 9, provides, in part, that s. 5 of the act becomes effective January 1, 2003, except that G.S. 135-4(ee), as enacted by s. 5, becomes effective the later of January 1, 2003, or the date upon which the Department of State Treasurer receives a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service approving the direct transfers provided for in that subsection. The Revisor of Statutes is informed that a favorable letter of determination has been received.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 17, as amended by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 3, provides: "The State Treasurer shall negotiate a memorandum of agreement with the United States Attorneys for the Eastern, Middle, and Western Districts of North Carolina whereby the prosecutors will notify the State Treasurer of convictions under G.S. 135-18.10A(b), 128-38.4A(b), 135-75.1A(b), 120-4.33A(b), 135-5.1(h), 135-5.4(h), and 58-86-100(b)."

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 18, made subsection (ii) of this section effective December 1, 2012, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.1(b), provides: "The following entities and positions created by Chapter 126 of the General Statutes are hereby renamed by this act."

"(1) The State Personnel Commission is renamed the 'North Carolina Human Resources Commission.'

"(2) The Office of State Personnel is renamed the 'North Carolina Office of State Human Resources.'

"(3) The State Personnel Director is renamed the 'Director of the North Carolina Office of State Human Resources.'"

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.1(c), provides in part: "Modification of References. — The Revisor of Statutes shall delete any references in the General Statutes to the State Personnel Act, State Personnel Commission, the State Personnel Director, and the Office of State Personnel (or any derivatives thereof) and substitute references to the North Carolina Human Resources Act, the State Human Resources Commis-

sion, the Director of the Office of State Human Resources, and the Office of Human Resources (or the appropriate derivative thereof) to effectuate the renaming set forth in this section wherever conforming changes are necessary."

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.2, provides: "No action or proceeding pending on the effective date of this section [August 21, 2013], brought by or against the State Personnel Commission, the Director of the Office of State Personnel, or the Office of State Personnel, shall be affected by any provision of this section, but the same may be prosecuted or defended in the new name of the Commission, Director, and Office. In these actions and proceedings, the renamed Commission, Director, or Office shall be substituted as a party upon proper application to the courts or other public bodies."

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.3, provides: "Any business or other matter undertaken or commanded by the former State Personnel Commission, State Personnel Director, or Office of State Personnel regarding any State program, office, or contract or pertaining to or connected with their respective functions, powers, obligations, and duties that are pending on the date this act becomes effective [August 21, 2013] may be conducted and completed by the Commission, Director, or Office in the same manner and under the same terms and conditions and with the same effect as if conducted and completed by the formerly named commission, director, or office.

Session Laws 2017-129, s. 12, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(k), provides: "For all service purchases that are required to have been made by December 31, 2021, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall accept and process all service purchase request forms that are received by the Retirement Systems Division on or before December 31, 2021."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-57, s. 4.1, made the amendments to this section by Session Laws 2021-57, ss. 1.1, 1.2, and 1.3, effective January 1, 2022, and applicable to purchases of creditable service occurring on or after that date.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(e), made the amendments to subsection (jj) by Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(d), effective

July 1, 2022, and applicable to assessments imposed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(a), effective June 19, 2020, rewrote the section.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.4(a), (b), effective June 26, 2020, in subsections (gg) and (ii), added "regardless of whether that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Chapter, or accrued by any other means" at the end of the second sentence, and added the last sentence.

Session Laws 2021-57, ss. 1.1, 1.2, and 1.3, added the last sentence in subsection (p); added "Prior to January 1, 2023" at the beginning of subsections (j1) and (cc); added the first six sentences to subsection (j2); in subsection (ff), rewrote subdivision (ff)(2) and the last three paragraphs of the subsection; and added subsection (cc1). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-57, s. 1.4(a), effective July 1, 2022, deleted subsections (j), (k), (l1), (w), and (bb).

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(d), rewrote subsection (jj). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.1(d), effective July 1, 2022, in subsection (jj), inserted "except as otherwise provided under this subsection," in the first sentence, added the fourth sentence, and inserted "or former employer" twice.

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 1.1, effective July 1, 2022, substituted "credited" for "created" in the first sentence of subsection (i2).

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 1.2, effective January 1, 2024, in subsection (h), inserted "an approved" in the first sentence and "approved" in the second sentence; and made a minor stylistic and punctuation change in subdivision (ff)(2).

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-10, ss. 2(a)-(q), and 4(b), effective June 20, 2024, recodified subdivision (f)(7) and subsections (j2), (k1), (l2), (p2), (r), (s), (v), (z), (aa), (bb1), (cc1), (dd), (ee), (ff), and (hh) as new G.S. 135-4.5; repealed subsections (j1), (p), and (cc); and added subsection (kk).

# Legal Periodicals.

For survey of 1982 law on administrative law, see 61 N.C.L. Rev. 961 (1983).

For 1999 legislative survey, see 21 Campbell L. Rev. 323 (1999).

# CASE NOTES

The 1992 Amendment. — In 1992, the General Assembly revised subsection (m) of this section, to make it clear that its intention was that credits for military service had to be purchased within three years of the date a member first becomes eligible to do so. Osborne v. Consolidated Judicial Retirement Sys., 333 N.C. 246, 424 S.E.2d 115, 1993 N.C. LEXIS 15 (1993).

Rule Making. — Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer erred in invoicing a school employee or school board for contributions to the employee's retirement fund pursuant to a statutory cap factor because the factor was a rule not properly adopted pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act. Cabarrus Cty. Bd. of Educ. v. Dep't of State Treasurer, 261 N.C. App. 325, 821 S.E.2d 196, 2018 N.C. App. LEXIS 948 (2018), aff'd, 374 N.C. 3, 839 S.E.2d 814, 2020 N.C. LEXIS 270 (2020).

Employee Held Not in Service for Death Benefit Purposes. — Where employee did not contribute to the Re-

tirement System after being placed on leave without pay, the possible extension provided by this section for plan members who contribute while on leave of absence did not apply. Therefore, employee's death occurred more than 90 days after his last day of actual service, and he was not in service at the time of his death and thus, his beneficiary is not eligible for the death benefit. Garrett v. Teachers' & State Employees' Retirement Sys. ex rel. Board of Trustees, 91 N.C. App. 409, 371 S.E.2d 776, 1988 N.C. App. LEXIS 876 (1988).

Job Sharing Employee. — Petitioner remained an "employee" under G.S. 135-1(10) during the period of time when she participated in a job sharing program and was working full time and thus was entitled to credit for those years of service as reflected in her retirement records. Wiebenson v. Board of Trustees, 345 N.C. 734, 483 S.E.2d 153, 1997 N.C. LEXIS 183 (1997).

Retiree Not Entitled to Tax-Free Pension. — Retiree was not entitled to a

tax free pension because he withdrew his contributions to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System and the Teachers' and State Employees Retirement System and left public employment before August 12, 1989, and thus he was not vested on that date; although the retiree later returned to public employment, became vested, and repaid the money he had previously withdrawn, when read together, G.S. 135-4 and G.S.

135-5 made clear that a member who left state service and withdrew contributions in the retirement system had no rights to any benefits within the system except for the right to repay previously withdrawn contributions as provided in G.S. 135-4. The repayment served only to increase the retiree's years of service creditable. Cashwell v. Dep't of State Treasurer, Ret. Sys. Div., 196 N.C. App. 80, 675 S.E.2d 73, 2009 N.C. App. LEXIS 452 (2009).

#### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Subsection (m) of This Section Was Not Repealed by Session Laws 1975, Chapter 875. — See opinion of Attorney General to Mr. W.H. Hambleton, Director, Retirement and Health Benefits Division, Department of the Treasurer, Nov. 8, 1977.

Employee Reentering State Employment After Retirement. — When an employee, age 62, retires on July 1, 1959, and receives retirement benefits until July 1, 1964, at which time he reenters State employment, when that employee subsequently retires on July 1, 1969, he is entitled to the resumption of payment of his retirement benefits suspended while he was reemployed, plus

additional benefits based on a salary over the most recent 5 years' employment figured at the current formula rate. He is not entitled to benefits using the current formula and his total service recently plus that prior to his first retirement. See opinion of Attorney General to Mr. J.E. Miller, Director, Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, 40 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 623 (1969).

Sick Leave Included in Creditable Service. — See opinion of Attorney General to Mr. J.E. Miller, Director, Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, 41 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 101 (1970).

### § 135-4A. (Recodified)

Recodified as G.S. 135-4.1 by Session Laws 2006-264, s. 14, effective August 27, 2006.

# § 135-4.1. Reciprocity of creditable service with other Stateadministered retirement systems.

(a) Members First Hired Prior to January 1, 2021. — Only for the purpose of determining eligibility for benefits accruing under this Article for members first hired prior to January 1, 2021, creditable service standing to the credit of a member of the Legislative Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System or service standing to the credit of a member of the Optional Retirement Program shall be added to the creditable service standing to the credit of a member of this System; provided, that in the event a person is a retired member of any of the foregoing retirement systems or the Optional Retirement Program, such creditable service standing or service standing to the credit of the retired member prior to retirement shall be likewise counted. In no instance shall service credits maintained in the aforementioned retirement systems or the Optional Retirement Program be added to the creditable

service in this System for application of this System's benefit accrual rate in computing a service retirement benefit unless specifically authorized by this Article.

- (a1) Members First Hired on or After January 1, 2021. Only for the purpose of determining eligibility for benefits accruing under this Article for members first hired on or after January 1, 2021, creditable service standing to the credit of a member of the Legislative Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall be added to the creditable service standing to the credit of a member of this System, provided that in the event a person is a retired member of any of the foregoing retirement systems such creditable service standing or service standing to the credit of the retired member prior to retirement shall be likewise counted. In no instance shall service credits maintained in the aforementioned retirement systems be added to the creditable service in this System for application of this System's benefit accrual rate in computing a service retirement benefit unless specifically authorized by this Article.
- (b) A person who was a former member of this System and who has forfeited his creditable service in this System by receiving a return of contributions and who has creditable service in the Legislative Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System may count such creditable service for the purpose of restoring the creditable service forfeited in this System under the terms and conditions as set forth in this Article and reestablish membership in this System.
- (c) Creditable service under this section shall not be counted twice for the same period of time whether earned as a member, purchased, or granted as prior service credits.

### History.

1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1066, s. 35(c); 2006-264, s. 14; 2010-38, s. 1; 2018-52, s. 7.

#### Editor's Note.

This section was formerly codified as G.S. 135-4A. It was recodified as G.S. 135-4.1 by Session Laws 2006-264, s. 14, effective August 27, 2006.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

# § 135-4.5. Creditable service purchases.

(a) General Purchases of Service Credit. — Any member in service with five or more years of membership service may purchase creditable service authorized under this subsection by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase of the Retirement System due to the additional service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

Subject to the requirements of this subsection, an employer may pay all or part of the cost of a service purchase of a member in service. To the extent that the purchase is paid by the employer, the amount paid by the employer shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. To the extent that the purchase is paid by the member, the amount paid by the member shall be credited to the member's accumulated contributions and interest in the Annuity Savings Fund.

The total amount of creditable service purchased under each subdivision of this section shall not exceed five years. No purchase of service credit under any subdivision of this section shall be made if a benefit is allowable under another public retirement system as a result of the service. If there is a conflict between a provision of G.S. 135-4 and a provision of this subsection, then this subsection shall control.

The following purchases of creditable service are authorized under this subsection:

- (1) Withdrawn service. Service withdrawn in accordance with the provisions of any of the following, limited to a total maximum purchase of five years:
  - a. G.S. 120-4.25.
  - b. G.S. 120-4.25.
  - c. G.S. 120-4.25.
  - d. G.S. 120-4.25.
  - e. Any rules adopted under Article 12 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, as it existed prior to 1986.
- (2) Federal, state, or local government service. Service previously rendered to the federal government or to any state, territory, or other governmental subdivision of the United States other than this State. Service under this

- subdivision is limited to full-time service that would be allowable under the laws governing this Retirement System.
- (3) Part-time service. Service previously rendered as a part-time teacher or employee of an employer, as defined under either G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21. For the purposes of this subdivision, the following service is not eligible to be purchased:
  - a. Part-time service rendered as a bus driver to a public school while a full-time high school student.
  - b. Temporary or part-time service rendered while a fulltime student in pursuit of a degree or diploma in a degree-granting program, unless that service was rendered on a permanent part-time basis and required at least 20 hours of service per week.
- The amount of the single lump sum to be paid for the purchase of service credit under this subdivision shall be calculated by applying the ratio of actual gross compensation earned as a part-time employee to the gross compensation that would have been earned as a full-time employee to the period of service rendered in months.
- In no case shall more than one year of service be creditable for all service in one year. Service rendered for the regular school year in any district shall be equivalent to one year of service.
- (4) Temporary service. Service previously rendered on a temporary basis to an employer, as defined under either G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21, and that meets both of the following conditions:
  - a. The member would have met the definition of employee or teacher under either G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21 except for the temporary nature of the service.
  - b. The member has acquired from the employer all certifications of temporary employment that are required by the Board of Trustees.
- (5) Probationary local government service. Service previously rendered to any local employer, as defined under G.S. 128-21, when performed in a probationary or employer-imposed waiting period status that occurred between the date of employment and the date of membership service with the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- (6) Involuntary furlough. Periods of interrupted service due to involuntary administrative furlough caused by the lack of funds to support the position.
- (7) Leave due to extended illness. Periods of interrupted service while on leave without pay status due to the

- member's illness or injury, excluding leave due to parental leave or pregnancy or childbirth-related leave, provided that any single period of interrupted service included a period of time during which the member failed to earn at least two months membership service.
- (8) Parental leave and pregnancy or childbirth-related leave. Periods of interrupted service due to parental leave, pregnancy, or childbirth.
- (9) Charter school service. Periods of service previously rendered as an employee of a charter school operated by a private nonprofit corporation or a charter school operated by a municipality whose board of directors did not elect to participate in the Retirement System under G.S. 135-5.3.
- (10) The University of North Carolina Optional Retirement Program service. Periods of employment with The University of North Carolina during which the member participated in the Optional Retirement Program, as provided for in G.S. 135-5.1, provided that the member is not receiving, and is not entitled to receive, any retirement benefits resulting from this employment.
- (b) **Armed Service Credit.** Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, any member or any retired member may purchase creditable service in the Armed Forces of the United States by paying a total lump sum payment determined as follows:
  - (1) On or before December 31, 2038, members who completed 10 years of membership service, and retired members who completed 10 years of membership service prior to retirement, whose membership began on or prior to July 1, 1981, may purchase this service within three years after first becoming eligible by paying an amount equal to the monthly compensation the member earned when the member first entered membership service times the employee contribution rate at that time times the months of service to be purchased, multiplied by a factor equivalent to the investment return assumptions determined by the Board of Trustees, compounded annually, from the initial year of membership to the year of payment so as to equal one-half of the cost of allowing this service, plus an administrative fee to be set by the Board of Trustees.
  - (2) Members who complete five years of membership service, retired members who complete five years of membership service prior to retirement, and members and retired members whose membership began on or before July 1, 1981, and who were eligible to purchase service credits under subdivision (1) of this subsection but who did not or do not make this purchase within three years after first becoming

eligible, may purchase this service by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase to the Retirement System due to the additional service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

Creditable service allowed under this subsection shall be only for the initial period of "active duty", as defined in 38 U.S. Code Section 101(21), in the Armed Forces of the United States up to the date the member was first eligible to be separated and released and for subsequent periods of "active duty", as defined in 38 U.S. Code Section 101(21), as required by the Armed Forces of the United States up to the date of first eligibility for separation or release, but shall not include periods of active duty in the Armed Forces of the United States creditable in any other retirement system except the National Guard or any reserve component of the Armed Forces of the United States, and shall not include periods of "active duty for training", as defined in 38 U.S. Code Section 101(22), or periods of "inactive duty training", as defined in 38 U.S. Code Section 101(23), rendered in any reserve component of the Armed Forces of the United States. Creditable service shall be allowed only for active duty in the Armed Forces of the United States of a member that resulted in a general or honorable discharge from duty. The member shall submit satisfactory evidence of the service claimed. For purposes of this subsection, membership service shall include any membership or prior service credits transferred to this Retirement System pursuant to G.S. 135-18.1.

- (c) Periods When in Receipt of Benefits Under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, any member may purchase creditable service for periods of employer approved leaves of absence when in receipt of benefits under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act. All of the following apply to purchases under this subsection:
  - (1) Service shall be purchased by paying a cost calculated in the following manner:
    - a. Leaves of Absence Terminated Prior to July 1, 1983. A member whose employer approved leave of absence,

when in receipt of benefits under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, terminated upon return to service prior to July 1, 1983, may purchase creditable service for that period by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase to the Retirement System due to the service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

- b. Leaves of Absence Terminating On and After July 1, 1983, but before January 1, 1988. - A member whose employer approved leave of absence, when in receipt of benefits under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, terminates upon return to service on and after July 1, 1983, but before January 1, 1988, may purchase creditable service for that period by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. If the creditable service is purchased within six months from return to service, then the amount payable shall be equal to the total employee and employer percentage rates of contribution in effect at the time of purchase and based on the annual rate of compensation of the member immediately prior to the leave of absence. If the credit is not purchased and the amount payable is not paid within six months from return to service, then the amount payable shall be the amount due as if the purchase had taken place prior to six months from the end of the leave of absence plus one percent (1%) per month penalty for each month or fraction thereof the payment is made beyond the six-month period.
- c. Leaves of Absence Terminating On and After January 1, 1988. - A member whose employer approved leave of absence, when in receipt of benefits under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, terminates on and after January 1, 1988, may purchase creditable service for that period by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund within six months from end of the leave of absence. The amount payable shall be

equal to the employee percentage rate of contribution in effect at the time of purchase applied to the annual rate of compensation of the member immediately prior to the leave of absence. For members electing to make this payment, the member's employer which granted the leave of absence, or the member's employer upon a return to service, or both, shall make a matching lump sum payment to the Pension Accumulation Fund within six months from the end of the leave of absence equal to the employer percentage rate of contribution in effect at the time of purchase applied to the annual rate of compensation of the member immediately prior to the leave of absence. These purchases of creditable service are applicable only when members have membership service credits within 30 days prior to the leave of absence and within 12 months following the leave of absence and such membership service is creditable service at the time of purchase. If any portion of the amount payable is not paid within six months from the member's return to service, then the member, the member's employer or former employer, or both if applicable, whose amount due is not paid within six months from return to service, then the applicable amount due shall be increased one percent (1%) per month penalty for each month or fraction thereof that the payment is made after the six-month period.

- (2) A member who is in receipt of Workers' Compensation during the period for which he or she would have otherwise been eligible to receive short-term benefits as provided in G.S. 135-105 and who subsequently becomes a beneficiary in receipt of a benefit as provided in G.S. 135-106 may purchase creditable service for any period of employer approved leave of absence when in receipt of benefits under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act. The cost to purchase this creditable service shall be as determined under subdivision (1) of this subsection. If the amount due is not paid within six months from the beginning of the long-term disability period as determined under G.S. 135-106, then the amount payable for the purchase of the service credits shall be the initial amount due plus one percent (1%) per month penalty for each month or fraction thereof that the payment is made after the six-month period.
- (3) Whenever the creditable service purchased pursuant to this subsection is for a period that occurs during the four consecutive calendar years that would have produced the highest average annual compensation pursuant to G.S.

135-1(5) had the member not been on leave of absence without pay, then the compensation that the member would have received during the purchased period shall be included in calculating the member's average final compensation. In these cases, the compensation that the member would have received during the purchased period shall be based on the annual rate of compensation of the member immediately prior to the leave of absence.

Nothing in this subsection prevents an employer from voluntarily paying all or a part of the employee portion of the total payment due for the service credit purchased. The employer shall not discriminate against any eligible law enforcement officer employed by the employer in paying all or a part of that portion of the total payment due. To the extent the employee portion of the total payment due is paid by the employer, the employee portion paid by the employer shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. To the extent the employee portion of the total payment due is paid by the member, the employee portion paid by the member shall be credited to the member's accumulated contributions and interest in the Annuity Savings Fund. A member shall pay any part of the employee portion of the total payment due that is not paid by the employer.

- (d) **Omitted Membership Service.** A member who (i) had service as an employee, as defined under G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21, or as a teacher, as defined under G.S. 135-1, and (ii) was omitted from contributing membership through error shall be allowed the omitted membership service if the requirements of this subsection are met and the total payment required for that service under this subsection is made. Submission of clear and convincing evidence of the error is required prior to approval of, and payment for, the omitted membership service. Payment for service under this subsection shall be made in the following manner:
  - (1) Within 90 days of the omission, by the payment of employee and employer contributions that would have been paid.
  - (2) After 90 days and prior to three years of the omission, by the payment of the employee and employer contributions that would have been paid plus interest compounded annually at a rate equal to the greater of the average yield on the Pension Accumulation Fund for the preceding calendar year or the actuarial investment rate-of-return assumption, as adopted by the Board of Trustees.
  - (3) After three years of the omission, by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase of the Retirement System due to the service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the

same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

Nothing contained in this subsection shall prevent an employer or member from paying all or a part of the required payment for the omitted membership service. To the extent the amount is paid by the employer, the amount paid by the employer shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. To the extent the amount is paid by the member, the amount paid by the member shall be credited to the member's accumulated contributions and interest in the Annuity Savings Fund. An employer shall not discriminate against any employed member or group of employed members in paying all or any part of the payment required under this subsection for the omitted membership service.

- (e) Retroactively Reinstated or Restored Membership Service. A member who is reinstated to service as an employee or as a teacher, as either is defined under G.S. 135-1, retroactively to the date of prior involuntary termination with (i) back pay, as defined by the State Human Resources Commission, and (ii) associated benefits shall be allowed membership service for that period of reinstated service if the requirements of this subsection are met and the total payment required for that service under this subsection is made. Submission of clear and convincing evidence of the reinstatement, payment of back pay, and restoration of associated benefits is required prior to the approval of and payment for the retroactive membership service. The amount payable for the service under this subsection shall be calculated in the following manner:
  - (1) If the reinstatement to service is by court order, final decision of an Administrative Law Judge, or with the approval of the Office of State Human Resources Director, and occurs within 90 days of the involuntary termination, then the amount payable is the amount of employee and employer contributions that would have been paid.
  - (2) If the reinstatement to service is by court order, final decision of an Administrative Law Judge, or with the approval of the Office of State Human Resources Director, and occurs after 90 days of the involuntary termination, then the amount payable is the amount of the employee and employer contributions that would have been paid plus interest compounded annually at a rate equal to the greater of the average yield on the Pension Accumulation Fund for the preceding calendar year or the actuarial investment

- rate-of-return assumption, as adopted by the Board of Trustees.
- (3) If the reinstatement to service is by settlement agreement voluntarily entered into by the affected parties, then the amount payable is an amount equal to the full liability increase to the Retirement System due to the additional service credits plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary. The amount payable under this subdivision is required to be paid as a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund.

Subject to the requirements of this subsection, an employer may pay all or part of the amount payable due under this subsection for a member in service. To the extent that the amount is paid by the employer, the amount paid by the employer shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. To the extent the amount is paid by the member, the amount paid by the member shall be credited to the member's accumulated contributions and interest in the Annuity Savings Fund. An employer shall not discriminate against any employed member or group of employed members in paying all or any part of the payment required under this subsection for the retroactive membership service.

If a member received a return of accumulated contributions subsequent to an involuntary termination as provided in G.S. 135-5(f), then the member may redeposit, within 90 days after reinstatement retroactive to the date of prior involuntary termination, in the Annuity Savings Fund by single payment, an amount equal to the total amount the member previously withdrew plus regular interest and restore the creditable service forfeited upon receiving the return of accumulated contributions.

(f) Purchase of Service Credits Through Rollover Contributions From Certain Other Plans. — Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, subject to the requirements of this subsection and any rules adopted, or policies established, by the Board of Trustees and without regard to any limitations on contributions otherwise set forth in this Article, payments or repayments made for membership or creditable service allowed under this section or any other provision of this Article may be made by a member through rollover contributions to the Annuity Savings Fund from any of the following sources:

- (1) An annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (2) An eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state.
- (3) An individual retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is eligible to be rolled over and would otherwise be includible in gross income.
- (4) A qualified plan described in Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.

No rollover contribution shall be made under this subsection, and the Retirement System shall not accept any amount as a rollover contribution, unless the amount required for the payment or repayment is eligible to be rolled over to a qualified trust in accordance with applicable law and the member provides evidence satisfactory to the Retirement System that the amount qualifies for rollover treatment. Unless received by the Retirement System in the form of a direct rollover, the rollover contribution must be paid to the Retirement System on or before the 60th day after the date it was received by the member.

- (g) Purchase of Service Credits Through Plan-to-Plan Transfers. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, subject to the requirements of this subsection and any rules adopted, or policies established, by the Board of Trustees and without regard to any limitations on contributions otherwise set forth in this Article, payments or repayments made for membership or creditable service allowed under this section or any other provision of this Article may be made by a member through a direct transfer to the Annuity Savings Fund of funds from any of the following sources:
  - (1) An annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.
  - (2) An eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, a political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or a political subdivision of a state.
  - (3) Supplemental Retirement Income Plans A, B, or C of North Carolina.
  - (4) Any other defined contribution plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by the State of North Carolina, a political subdivision of the State or any other state, or any agency or instrumentality of the State or any other state or political subdivision of the State or any other state.

## History.

2024-10, ss. 1, 2(a)-(p), 3.

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 19, made this section, as added by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 1, effective June 20, 2024.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 1, provides: "Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes is amended by adding a new G.S. 135-4.5 to be entitled 'Creditable service purchases."

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 2(a)-(p), provides: "(a) The second through sixth sentences of subsection (j2) of G.S. 135-4 are recodified as subsection (a) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.

- "(b) The first and last sentences of subsection (j2) of G.S. 135-4 are recodified as the first two sentences of subdivision (a)(1) of G.S. 135-4.5, and subsection (k1) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as the third through eighth sentences of that subdivision. The remaining subsection catch line for subsection (k1) of G.S. 135-4 is repealed.
- "(c) Subsection ( l2) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subdivision (a)(2) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.
- "(d) Subsection (p2) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subdivision (a)(3) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act, and the existing subunits of subsection (p2) of G.S. 135-4 are redesignated accordingly.
- "(e) Subsection (s) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subdivision (a)(4) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act, and the existing subunits of subsection (s) of G.S. 135-4 are redesignated accordingly.
- "(f) Subsection (bb1) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subdivision (a)(5) of G.S.

- 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.
- "(g) Subsection (z) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subdivision (a)(7) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.
- "(h) Subsection (aa) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subdivision (a)(8) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.
- "(i) Subsection (cc1) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subdivision (a)(9) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.
- "(j) Subsection (hh) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subdivision (a)(10) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.
- "(k) Subdivision (f)(7) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subsection (b) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act, and the existing subunits of subdivision (f)(7) of G.S. 135-4 are redesignated accordingly.
- "( l) Subsection (r) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subsection (c) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.
- "(m) Subsection (v) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subsection (d) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.
- "(n) Subsection (ff) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subsection (e) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.
- "(o) Subsection (dd) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subsection (f) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act.
- "(p) Subsection (ee) of G.S. 135-4 is recodified as subsection (g) of G.S. 135-4.5, as created by Section 1 of this act."

## Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 3, effective June 20, 2024, rewrote the section.

## § 135-5. Benefits.

- (a) Service Retirement Benefits.
  - (1) Any member may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution of and filing thereof, he desires to be retired: Provided, that the said member at the time so specified for his retirement shall have attained the age of 60 years and have at least five years of membership service or shall have completed 30 years of creditable service.
  - (1a) Repealed by Session Laws 2014-88, s. 3(b), effective July 30, 2014.

- (2) Repealed by Session Laws 1983 (Regular Session, 1984), c. 1019, s. 1.
- (3) Any member who was in service October 8, 1981, who had attained 60 years of age, may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired.
- (4) Any member who is a law-enforcement officer and who (i) attains age 50 and completes 15 or more years of creditable service in this capacity, (ii) attains age 55 and completes five or more years of creditable service in this capacity, or (iii) has completed 25 years of creditable service with a minimum of 15 years of creditable service in a law enforcement capacity may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, the member desires to be retired; Provided, also, any member who has met the conditions herein required but does not retire, and later becomes a teacher or an employee other than as a lawenforcement officer shall continue to have the right to commence retirement.
- (4a) Repealed by Session Laws 2014-88, s. 3(b), effective July 30, 2014.
- (5) Any member who is eligible for and is being paid a benefit under the Disability Income Plan as provided in G.S. 135-105 or G.S. 135-106 shall be deemed a member in service and may not retire under the provisions of this section. Any member who has made electronic submission or written application for long-term or extended short-term benefits under the Disability Income Plan as provided in G.S. 135-105 or G.S. 135-106, and who has been rejected by the Plan's Medical Board for a long-term benefit or the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer for an extended short-term benefit shall have 90 days from the date of notification of the rejection to convert his application to an early or service retirement application, provided that the member meets the eligibility requirements, effective the first day of the month following the month in which short-term disability benefits ended or the first day of the month following the month in which any salary continuation as may be provided in G.S. 135-104 ended, whichever is later.
- (a1) **Early Service Retirement Benefits.** Any member may retire and receive a reduced retirement allowance upon electronic

submission or written application to the Board of Trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution of and filing thereof, he desires to be retired: Provided, that the said member at the time so specified for his retirement shall have attained the age of 50 years and have at least 20 years of creditable service

- (a2) Repealed by Session Laws 2014-88, s. 3(c), effective July 30, 2014.
- (a3) Anti-Pension-Spiking Contribution-Based Benefit Cap. Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, every service retirement allowance provided under this section for members who retire on or after January 1, 2015, is subject to adjustment pursuant to a contribution-based benefit cap under this subsection. The Board of Trustees shall adopt a contribution-based benefit cap factor recommended by the actuary, based upon actual experience, such that no more than three-quarters of one percent (0.75%) of retirement allowances are expected to be capped. The Board of Trustees shall modify such factors every five years, as shall be deemed necessary, based upon the five-year experience study as required by G.S. 135-6(n). Prior to establishing a service retirement allowance under this section, the Board shall:
  - (1) Determine an amount equal to the member's accumulated contributions as required under G.S. 135-8(b)(1) for all years during which the member earned membership service, other than service earned through armed service credit under G.S. 135-4(f), G.S. 135-4(g), or G.S. 135-4.5, used in the calculation of the retirement allowance that the member would receive under this section.
  - (2) Determine the amount of a single life annuity that is the actuarial equivalent of the amount determined under subdivision (1) of this subsection, adjusted for the age of the member at the time of retirement or, when appropriate, the age at the time of the member's death.
  - (3) Multiply the annuity amount determined under subdivision (2) of this subsection by the contribution-based benefit cap factor.
  - (4) Determine the amount of the retirement allowance that results from the member's membership service, to which the member would be entitled but for the adjustment under this subsection. The amount shall be calculated in the same manner as the member's service retirement allowance, with the following exceptions: The applicable percentage of the member's average final compensation shall be multiplied by the number of years of membership service, rather than the number of years of creditable service; the amount shall include the effect of any percentage reduction that

applies to the member's service retirement allowance by virtue of the member's age or amount of creditable service as of the service retirement date; and the amount shall not be adjusted for an optional allowance elected under subsection (g) of this section.

The product of the multiplication in subdivision (3) of this subsection is the member's contribution-based benefit cap. If the amount determined under subdivision (4) of this subsection exceeds the member's contribution-based benefit cap, the member's retirement allowance shall be reduced by an amount equal to the difference between the contribution-based benefit cap and the amount determined under subdivision (4) of this subsection.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the retirement allowance of a member with an average final compensation of less than one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, shall not be subject to the contribution-based benefit cap. The minimum average final compensation necessary for a retirement allowance to be subject to the contribution-based benefit cap shall be increased on January 1 each year by the percent change between the June Consumer Price Index in the year prior to retirement and the June Consumer Price Index in the fiscal year most recently ended, calculated to the nearest tenth of a percent (0.1%), provided that this percent change is positive.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the retirement allowance of a member who became a member before January 1, 2015, or who has not earned at least five years of membership service in the Retirement System after January 1, 2015, shall not be reduced; however, the member's last employer, or if the member's last employer did not report to the retirement system any compensation paid to the member during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation, the member's employer or employers who reported compensation to the member during such period, shall be required to make an additional contribution as specified in G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f., if applicable.

- (a4) **Effect of Severance Pay.** Notwithstanding any provision of this section to the contrary, a member in receipt of severance pay from an employer is not eligible to receive a retirement allowance under this Article while in receipt of that severance pay. If a member is entitled to receive a lump sum severance payment based on a certain period of time, such as a number of weeks or months, then the member is not eligible to receive a retirement allowance under this Article for any month, beginning immediately after the member's separation from service to that employer, that includes the time period used to determine the lump sum severance payment.
- (b) Service Retirement Allowances of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1, 1963. Upon

retirement from service on or after July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1, 1963, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance which shall consist of:

- (1) An annuity which shall be the actuarial equivalent of his accumulated contributions at the time of his retirement; and
- (2) A pension equal to the annuity allowable at the age of 65 years or at his retirement age, whichever is the earlier age, computed on the basis of contributions made prior to such earlier age; and
- (3) If he has a prior service certificate in full force and effect, an additional pension which shall be equal to the sum of:
  - a. The annuity which would have been provided at his retirement age by the contributions which he would have made during such prior service had the System been in operation and had he contributed thereunder at the rate of six and twenty-five hundredths per centum (6.25%) of his compensation; and
  - b. The pension which would have been provided on account of such contributions at age 65, or at his retirement age, whichever is the earlier age.

If the member has not less than 20 years of creditable service, he shall be entitled to a total retirement allowance of not less than seventy dollars (\$70.00) per month; provided that the computation shall be made prior to any reduction resulting from the selection of an optional allowance as provided by subsection (g) of this section.

- (b1) Service Retirement Allowances of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1963, but prior to July 1, 1967. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1963, but prior to July 1, 1967, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, such allowance shall be equal to the sum of (i) one percent (1%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of forty-eight hundred dollars (\$4,800) plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of forty-eight hundred dollars (\$4,800), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered prior to January 1, 1966, and (ii) one percent (1%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600) plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered after January 1, 1966.
  - (2) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-fifth birthday, his service retirement allowance shall

- be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by five twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b2) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1967, but prior to July 1, 1969. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1967, but prior to July 1, 1969, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-quarter percent (1¼%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600) plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-fifth birthday, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b3) Service Retirement Allowances of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1973. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1973, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or on or after his sixty-second birthday and the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-quarter percent (1½%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600) plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of fifty-six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.

- (2) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
- (3) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-second birthday but on or after his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-second birthday.
- (4) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b4) Service Retirement Allowances of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1973, but prior to July 1, 1975. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1973, but prior to July 1, 1975, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-quarter percent (1¼%) of the portion of his average final compensation not in excess of five thousand six hundred dollars (\$5,600) plus one and one-half percent (1½%) of the portion of such compensation in excess of five thousand six hundred dollars (\$5,600), multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).

- (b5) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1975, but prior to July 1, 1977. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1975, but prior to July 1, 1977, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and one-half percent (1½%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b6) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1977, but prior to July 1, 1980. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1977, but prior to July 1, 1980, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday, regardless of his years of creditable service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-five one hundredths percent (1.55%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2a) If the member's service retirement date occurs after his sixtieth and before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (2b) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2a) above.

- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b7) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1980, but prior to July 1, 1985. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1980, but prior to July 1, 1985, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his sixty-fifth birthday or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-seven hundredths percent (1.57%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - (2) If the member's service retirement date occurs after his sixtieth and before his sixty-fifth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his sixty-fifth birthday.
  - (3) If the member's service retirement date occurs before his sixtieth birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in (2) above.
  - (4) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b8) Service Retirement Allowance of Law-Enforcement Officers Retiring on or after January 1, 1985 [on or after January 1, 1985, but prior to July 1, 1985]. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) of this section, on or after January 1, 1985 [on or after January 1, 1985, but prior to July 1, 1985], a member who is a law-enforcement officer or an eligible former law-enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - (1) If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law-enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-seven one hundredths percent (1.57%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.

- (2) If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 50th and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law-enforcement officer and prior to his completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in (1) above, but shall be reduced by one-third of one percent (½ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 55th birthday.
- (b9) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1985, but before July 1, 1988. Upon retirement from service, in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1985, but before July 1, 1988, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law-enforcement officer or an eligible former law-enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law-enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-eight one hundredths percent (1.58%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 50th and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law-enforcement officer and prior to his completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in a. above, but shall be reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 55th birthday.
  - (2) A member who is not a law-enforcement officer or an eligible former law-enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and fifty-eight hundredths percent (1.58%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th and before his 65th birthday and prior to his

- completion of 25 or more years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in a. above but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
- c. If the member's service retirement date occurs before his 60th birthday and prior to his completion of 30 or more years of creditable service, his service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in b. above.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b10) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1988, but before July 1, 1989. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1988, but before July 1, 1989, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty hundredths percent (1.60%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 135-5(b9)(1)b.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, such allowance shall be equal to one and sixty hundredths percent (1.60%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 135-5(b9)(2)b, c and d.

- (b11) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1989, but before July 1, 1990. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1989, but before July 1, 1990, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-three hundredths percent (1.63%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 135-5(b9)(1)b.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-three hundredths percent (1.63%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 135-5(b9)(2)b, c and d.
- (b12) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1990, but before July 1, 1992. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1990, but before July 1, 1992, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-four hundredths percent (1.64%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.

- b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 135-5(b9)(1)b.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and sixty-four hundredths percent (1.64%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 135-5(b9)(2)b, c and d.
- (b13) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1993. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1993, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy hundredths percent (1.70%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 135-5(b9)(1)b.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy hundredths percent (1.70%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
    - b. This allowance shall also be governed by the provisions of G.S. 135-5(b9)(2)b., c., and d.

- (b14) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1993, but before July 1, 1994. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) above, on or after July 1, 1993, but before July 1, 1994, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-one hundredths percent (1.71%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 50th and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 135-5(b14)(1)a., but shall be reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 55th birthday.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-one hundredths percent (1.71%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to the completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, the retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 135-5(b14)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
    - c. If the member's service retirement date occurs before his 60th birthday and prior to the completion of 30 or more

- years of creditable service, the service retirement allowance shall be the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 135-5(b14)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b15) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or after July 1, 1994, but before July 1, 1995. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1994, but before July 1, 1995, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-three hundredths percent (1.73%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 135-5(b15)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3) of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or
      - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b15)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30

- years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-three hundredths percent (1.73%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
- b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 135-5(b15)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
- c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b15)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b15)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
  - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1994, the service retirement allowance provided by G.S. 135-5(b14)(2)c.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b16) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or After July 1, 1995, but Before July 1, 1997. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1995, but before July 1, 1997, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:

- (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-five hundredths percent (1.75%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 135-5(b16)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b16)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of creditable service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and seventy-five hundredths percent (1.75%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 135-5(b16)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.

- c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b16)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday: or
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b16)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
  - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1994, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 135-5(b16)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b17) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or After July 1, 1997, but Before July 1, 2000. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 1997, but before July 1, 2000, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance.
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty hundredths percent (1.80%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday

with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:

- 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 135-5(b17)(1)a, reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or
- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b17)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of membership service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty hundredths percent (1.80%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 135-5(b17)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b17)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have at-

- tained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b17)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
- 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1994, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 135-5(b17)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b18) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or After July 1, 2000, but Before July 1, 2002. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) above, on or after July 1, 2000, but before July 1, 2002, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance.
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-one hundredths percent (1.81%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 135-5(b18)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or

- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b18)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of membership service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-one hundredths percent (1.81%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 135-5(b18)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b18)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b18)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
    - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1994, the service retirement allowance

- equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 135-5(b18)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b19) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or After July 1, 2002, but Before July 1, 2019. Upon retirement from service in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) of this section, on or after July 1, 2002, but before July 1, 2019, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:
  - (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 55th birthday, and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-two hundredths percent (1.82%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service.
    - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
      - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 135-5(b19)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 55th birth-day; or
      - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b19)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement.
  - (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
    - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after his 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of membership service or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service or on or after his 60th

- birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-two hundredths percent (1.82%) of his average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
- b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after his 60th birthday and before his 65th birthday and prior to his completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, his retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 135-5(b19)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday.
- c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after his 50th birthday and before his 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, his early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of:
  - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b19)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which his 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following his 65th birthday; or
  - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b19)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and his creditable service at retirement; or
  - 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1994, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 135-5(b19)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (b20) Repealed by Session Laws 2014-88, s. 3(e), effective July 30, 2014.
- (b21) Service Retirement Allowance of Members Retiring on or After July 1, 2019. Upon retirement from service on or

after July 1, 2019, in accordance with subsection (a) or (a1) of this section, a member shall receive the following service retirement allowance:

- (1) A member who is a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 55th birthday and completion of five years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-two hundredths percent (1.82%) of the member's average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of the member's creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs prior to the member's 50th birthday and after the completion of 25 years of creditable service with a minimum of 15 years of creditable service in a law enforcement capacity but before the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of the following amounts:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 135-5(b21)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the member's retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained age 55.
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b21)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and the member's creditable service at retirement plus four percent (4%) times the difference between age 50 and the member's age at retirement.
  - c. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 50th birthday and before the member's 55th birthday with 15 or more years of creditable service as a law enforcement officer and prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of the following amounts:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance payable under G.S. 135-5(b21)(1)a. reduced by one-third of one percent (1/3 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained age 55.

- 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b21)(1)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and the amount of creditable service at retirement.
- (2) A member who is not a law enforcement officer or an eligible former law enforcement officer shall receive a service retirement allowance computed as follows:
  - a. If the member's service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 65th birthday upon the completion of five years of membership service, or after the completion of 30 years of creditable service, or on or after his 60th birthday upon the completion of 25 years of creditable service, the allowance shall be equal to one and eighty-two hundredths percent (1.82%) of the member's average final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service.
  - b. If the member's service retirement date occurs after the member's 60th birthday and before the member's 65th birthday and prior to the completion of 25 years or more of creditable service, the retirement allowance shall be computed as in G.S. 135-5(b21)(2)a. but shall be reduced by one-quarter of one percent (¼ of 1%) thereof for each month by which the retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the member's 65th birthday.
  - c. If the member's early service retirement date occurs on or after the member's 50th birthday and before the member's 60th birthday and after completion of 20 years of creditable service but prior to the completion of 30 years of creditable service, the early service retirement allowance shall be equal to the greater of the following amounts:
    - 1. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b21)(2)a. but reduced by the sum of five-twelfths of one percent (5/12 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the member's retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the month the member would have attained his 60th birthday, plus one-quarter of one percent (1/4 of 1%) thereof for each month by which the member's 60th birthday precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the member's 65th birthday.
    - 2. The service retirement allowance as computed under G.S. 135-5(b21)(2)a. reduced by five percent (5%) times the difference between 30 years and the amount of creditable service at retirement.

- 3. If the member's creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1994, the service retirement allowance equal to the actuarial equivalent of the allowance payable at the age of 60 years as computed in G.S. 135-5(b21)(2)b.
- d. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall not receive less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(b).
- (c) Disability Retirement Benefits of Members Leaving Service Prior to January 1, 1988. — The provisions of this subsection shall not be applicable to members in service on or after January 1, 1988. Upon the application of a member or of his employer, any member who has had five or more years of creditable service may be retired by the Board of Trustees, on the first day of any calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days next following the date of filing such application, on a disability retirement allowance: Provided, that the medical board, after a medical examination of such member, shall certify that such member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity was incurred at the time of active employment and has been continuous thereafter, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that such member should be retired; Provided further the medical board shall determine if the member is able to engage in gainful employment and, if so, the member may still be retired and the disability retirement allowance as a result thereof shall be reduced as in subsection (e) below. Provided further, that the medical board shall not certify any member as disabled who:
  - (1) Applies for disability retirement based upon a mental or physical incapacity which existed when the member first established membership in the system; or
  - (2) Is in receipt of any payments on account of the same disability which existed when the member first established membership in the system.

The Board of Trustees shall require each employee upon enrolling in the retirement system to provide information on the membership application concerning any mental or physical incapacities existing at the time the member enrolls.

Supplemental disability benefits heretofore provided are hereby made a permanent part of disability benefits after age 65, and shall not be discontinued at age 65.

Notwithstanding the requirement of five or more years of creditable service to the contrary, a member who is a law-enforcement officer and who has had one year or more of creditable service and becomes incapacitated for duty as the natural and proximate result of an accident occurring while in the actual performance of duty, and meets all other requirements for disability retirement benefits, may

be retired by the Board of Trustees on a disability retirement allowance.

Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary, any beneficiary who commenced retirement with an early or service retirement benefit has the right, within three years of his retirement, to convert to an allowance with disability retirement benefits without modification of any election of optional allowance previously made; provided, the beneficiary presents clear and convincing evidence that the beneficiary would have met all applicable requirements for disability retirement benefits while still in service as a member. The allowance on account of disability retirement benefits to the beneficiary shall be retroactive to the effective date of early or service retirement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the surviving designated beneficiary of a deceased member who met all other requirements for disability retirement benefits, except whose death occurred before the first day of the calendar month in which the member's disability retirement allowance was to be due and payable, may elect to receive the reduced retirement allowance provided by a one hundred percent (100%) joint and survivor payment option in lieu of a return of accumulated contributions, provided the following conditions apply:

- (1) At the time of the member's death, one and only one beneficiary is eligible to receive a return of accumulated contributions, and
- (2) The member had not instructed the Board of Trustees in writing that he did not wish the provision of this subsection to apply.
- (d) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1, 1963. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) above, on or after July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1, 1963, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 60 years, otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall consist of:
  - (1) An annuity which shall be the actuarial equivalent of his accumulated contributions at the time of retirement;
  - (2) A pension equal to seventy-five per centum (75%) of the pension that would have been payable upon service retirement at the age of 65 years had the member continued in service to the age of 65 years without further change in compensation.

If the member has not less than 20 years of creditable service, he shall be entitled to a total retirement allowance of not less than seventy dollars (\$70.00) per month; provided, that the computation shall be made prior to any reduction resulting from an optional allowance as provided by subsection (g) of this section.

- (d1) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1963, but prior to July 1, 1969. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) above, on or after July 1, 1963, but prior to July 1, 1969, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 60 years, otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall be computed as follows:
  - (1) Such allowance shall be equal to the service retirement allowance which would have been payable had he continued in service without further change in compensation, to the age of 60 years, minus the actuarial equivalent to the contributions he would have made during such continued service
  - (2) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(d).
- (d2) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1971. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) above, on or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1971, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 60 years, otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall be computed as follows:
  - (1) Such allowance shall be equal to the service retirement allowance which would have been payable had he continued in service without further change in compensation to the age of 65 years, minus the actuarial equivalent of the contributions he would have made during such continued service.
  - (2) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1963, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(d).
- (d3) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1971, but prior to July 1, 1982. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section on or after July 1, 1971, but prior to July 1, 1982, a member shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has attained the age of 65 years; otherwise he shall receive a disability retirement allowance which shall be computed as follows:
  - (1) Such allowance shall be equal to a service retirement allowance calculated on the basis of the member's average final compensation prior to his disability retirement and the creditable service he would have had at the age of 65 years if he had continued in service.
  - (2) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions,

- a. Any member whose creditable service commenced prior to July 1, 1971, shall receive not less than the benefit provided by G.S. 135-5(d2):
- b. The amount of disability allowance payable from the reserve funds of the Retirement System to any member retiring on or after July 1, 1974, who is eligible for and in receipt of a disability benefit under the Social Security Act shall be seventy percent (70%) of the amount calculated under a above, and the balance shall be provided by the employer from time to time during each year in such amounts as may be required to cover such payments as current disbursements; and
- c. The amount of disability allowance payable to any member retiring on or after July 1, 1974, who is not eligible for and in receipt of a disability benefit under the Social Security Act shall not be payable from the reserve funds of the Retirement System but shall be provided by the employer from time to time during each year in such amounts as may be required to cover such payments as current disbursements.
- (d4) Allowance on Disability Retirement of Persons Retiring on or after July 1, 1982, Who Left Service prior to January 1, 1988. Upon retirement for disability, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section on or after July 1, 1982, a member who left service prior to January 1, 1988 shall receive a service retirement allowance if he has qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance; otherwise the allowance shall be equal to a service retirement allowance calculated on the member's average final compensation prior to his disability retirement and the creditable service he would have had had he continued in service until the earliest date on which he would have qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance.
- (e) Reexamination of Beneficiaries Retired for Disability.— The provisions of this subsection shall be applicable to members retired on a disability retirement allowance and shall not be applicable to members in service on or after January 1, 1988. Once each year during the first five years following retirement of a member on a disability retirement allowance, and once in every three-year period thereafter, the Board of Trustees may, and upon the member's application shall, require any disability beneficiary who has not yet attained the age of 60 years to undergo a medical examination performed at the place of residence of that beneficiary, or other place mutually agreed upon, by a physician or physicians designated by the Board of Trustees. Should any disability beneficiary who has not yet attained the age of 60 years refuse to submit to at least one medical examination in any year required by this subsection, the beneficiary's allowance may be discontinued until

withdrawal of the refusal. If the refusal continues for one year all the beneficiary's rights in and to the beneficiary's pension may be revoked by the Board of Trustees. The following provisions apply:

- (1) The Board of Trustees shall determine whether a disability beneficiary is engaged in or is able to engage in a gainful occupation paying more than the difference, as hereinafter indexed, between his disability retirement allowance and the gross compensation earned as an employee during the 12 consecutive months of service in the final 48 months prior to retirement producing the highest gross compensation excluding any compensation received on account of termination. If the disability beneficiary is earning or is able to earn more than the difference, the portion of his disability retirement allowance not provided by his contributions shall be reduced to an amount which, together with the portion of the disability retirement allowance provided by his contributions and the amount earnable by him shall equal the amount of his gross compensation prior to retirement. This difference shall be increased on January 1 each year by the percentage change between the December Consumer Price Index in the year prior to retirement and the December Consumer Price Index in the year most recently ended, calculated to the nearest tenth of one percent (1/10 of 1%), provided that this percentage change is positive. Should the earning capacity of the disability beneficiary later change, the portion of his disability retirement allowance not provided by his contributions may be further modified. In lieu of the reductions on account of a disability beneficiary earning more than the aforesaid difference, he may elect to convert his disability retirement allowance to a service retirement allowance calculated on the basis of his average final compensation and creditable service at the time of disability and his age at the time of conversion to service retirement. This election is irrevocable. Provided, the provisions of this subdivision shall not apply to beneficiaries of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System transferred to this Retirement System who commenced retirement on and before July 1, 1981.
- (2) Should a disability beneficiary under the age of 60 years be restored to active service at a compensation not less than his average final compensation, his retirement allowance shall cease, he shall again become a member of the Retirement System, and he shall contribute thereafter at the same rate he paid prior to disability; provided that, on and after July 1, 1971, if a disability beneficiary under the age of 62 years is restored to active service at a compensation not less than his average final compensation, his retire-

ment allowance shall cease, he shall again become a member of the Retirement System, and he shall contribute thereafter at the uniform contribution rate payable by all members. Any such prior service certificate on the basis of which his service was computed at the time of his retirement shall be restored to full force and effect, and, in addition, upon his subsequent retirement he shall be credited with all his service as a member, but should he be restored to active service on or after the attainment of the age of 50 years his pension upon subsequent retirement shall not exceed the sum of the pension which he was receiving immediately prior to his last restoration and the pension that he would have received on account of his service since his last restoration had he entered service at the time as a new entrant.

- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a member retired on a disability retirement allowance who is restored to service and subsequently retires on or after July 1, 1971, shall be entitled to an allowance not less than the allowance described in a below reduced by the amount in b. below:
  - a. The allowance to which he would have been entitled if he were retiring for the first time, calculated on the basis of his total creditable service represented by the sum of his creditable service at the time of his first retirement and his creditable service after he was restored to service.
  - b. The actuarial equivalent of the retirement benefits he previously received.
- (3a) Notwithstanding the foregoing, should a beneficiary who retired on a disability retirement allowance be restored to service as an employee or teacher, then the retirement allowance shall cease as of the first day of the month following the month in which the beneficiary is restored to service and the beneficiary shall become a member of the Retirement System and shall contribute thereafter as allowed by law at the uniform contribution payable by all members. Upon the subsequent retirement of the beneficiary, he shall be entitled to an allowance to which he would have been entitled if he were retiring for the first time, calculated on the basis of his total creditable service represented by the sum of his creditable service at the time of his first retirement and his creditable service after he was restored to service. Provided, however, any election of an optional allowance cannot be changed unless the member subsequently completes three years of membership service after being restored to service.
- (4) As a condition to the receipt of the disability retirement allowance provided for in subsections (d) through (d3) of

this section each member retired on a disability retirement allowance shall, on or before April 15 of each calendar year, provide the Board of Trustees with a statement of that member's income received as compensation for services, including fees, commissions or similar items, and income received from business, for the previous calendar year. This statement shall be filed on a form as required by the Board of Trustees. The benefit payable to a beneficiary who does not or refuses to provide the information requested within 60 days after the request shall not be paid until the information requested is provided. If the refusal or failure to provide the required information continues for 240 days after the request, then the right of a beneficiary to a benefit under the Article may be terminated.

- The Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division shall contact any State or federal agency that can provide information to substantiate the statement required to be submitted by this subdivision and may enter into agreements for the exchange of information.
- (5) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Article to the contrary, a beneficiary who was a beneficiary retired on a disability retirement with the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System at the time of the transfer of lawenforcement officers employed by a participating employer and beneficiaries last employed by a participating employer to this Retirement System and who also was a contributing member of this Retirement System at that time, shall continue to be paid his retirement allowance without restriction and may continue as a member of this Retirement System with all the rights and privileges appendant to membership. Any beneficiary who retired on a disability retirement allowance as an employee of any participating employer under the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System and becomes employed as an employee other than as a law-enforcement officer by an employer participating in the Retirement System after the aforementioned transfer shall continue to be paid his retirement allowance without restriction and may continue as a member of this Retirement System with all the rights and privileges appendant to membership until January 1, 1989, at which time his retirement allowance shall cease and his subsequent retirement shall be determined in accordance with the preceding subdivision (3a) of this subsection. Any beneficiary as hereinbefore described who becomes employed as a law-enforcement officer by an employer participating in the Retirement System shall cease to be a beneficiary and shall immediately commence membership

- and his subsequent retirement shall be determined in accordance with subdivision (3a) of this subsection.
- (6) Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, a beneficiary in receipt of a disability retirement allowance until the earliest date on which he would have qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance shall thereafter (i) not be subject to further reexaminations as to disability. (ii) not be subject to any reduction in allowance on account of being engaged in a gainful occupation other than with an employer participating in the Retirement System, and (iii) be considered a beneficiary in receipt of a service retirement allowance. Provided, however, a beneficiary in receipt of a disability retirement allowance whose allowance is reduced on account of reexamination as to disability or to ability to engage in a gainful occupation prior to the date on which he would have qualified for an unreduced service retirement allowance shall have only the right to elect to convert to an early or service retirement allowance as permitted under subdivision (1) above.
- (f) Return of Accumulated Contributions. Should a member cease to be a teacher or State employee except by death or retirement under the provisions of this Chapter, the member shall upon submission of an application be paid, not earlier than 60 days from the date of termination of service, the member's contributions. and the accumulated regular interest thereon, provided that the member has not in the meantime returned to service. Upon payment of such sum his or her membership in the System shall cease and, if he or she thereafter again becomes a member, no credit shall be allowed for any service previously rendered except as provided in G.S. 135-4, and such payment shall be in full and complete discharge of any rights in or to any benefits otherwise payable hereunder. Upon receipt of proof satisfactory to the Board of Trustees of the death, prior to retirement, of a member or former member there shall be paid to such person or persons as the member or former member shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the member's death, otherwise to the member's legal representatives, the amount of the member's accumulated contributions at the time of the member's death, unless the beneficiary elects to receive the alternate benefit under the provisions of (m) below. An extension service employee who made contributions to the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System as a result of dual employment may not be paid his or her accumulated contributions unless the extension service employee is eligible to be paid his or her accumulated contributions in both systems for the same period of service.

Pursuant to the provisions of G.S. 135-70.1, a member who is also a member of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System may irrevocably elect to transfer any accumulated contributions to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System or to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan and forfeit any rights in or to any benefits otherwise payable hereunder.

A member who is a participant or beneficiary of the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina as is provided in Article 6 of this Chapter shall not be paid a return of accumulated contributions, notwithstanding the member's status as an employee or teacher. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, a member who is a beneficiary of the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina as provided in Article 6 of this Chapter and who is receiving disability benefits under the transition provisions as provided in G.S. 135-112, shall not be prohibited from receiving a return of accumulated contributions as provided in this subsection.

(f1) Expired.

(g) **Election of Optional Allowance.** — With the provision that until the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred, any member may elect to receive his or her benefits in a retirement allowance payable throughout life, or the member may elect to receive the actuarial equivalent of such retirement allowance, including any special retirement allowance, in a reduced allowance payable throughout life under the provisions of one of the options set forth below. The election of Option 2, 3, or 6 or nomination of the person thereunder shall be revoked if such person nominated dies prior to the date the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred. Such election may be revoked by the member prior to the date the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred. Provided, however, in the event a member has elected Option 2, 3, or 5 and nominated his or her spouse to receive a retirement allowance upon the member's death, and the spouse predeceases the member after the first payment becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred, if the member remarries he or she may request to nominate a new spouse to receive the retirement allowance under the previously elected option, within 90 days of the remarriage, and may nominate a new spouse to receive the retirement allowance under the previously elected option by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees within 120 days of the remarriage. The new nomination shall be effective on the first day of the month in which it is made and shall provide for a retirement allowance computed to be the actuarial equivalent of the retirement allowance in effect immediately prior to the effective date of the new nomination. Any member having elected Option 2, 3, 5, or 6 and nominated his or her spouse to receive a retirement allowance upon the

member's death may, after divorce from his or her spouse, revoke the nomination and elect a new option, effective on the first day of the month in which the new option is elected, providing for a retirement allowance computed to be the actuarial equivalent of the retirement allowance in effect immediately prior to the effective date of the new option. Except as provided in this section, the member may not change the member's retirement benefit option or the member's designated beneficiary for survivor benefits, if any, after the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first payment date has occurred.

- Option 1.(a) In the Case of a Member Who Retires prior to July 1, 1963. If he dies before he has received in annuity payments the present value of his annuity as it was at the time of his retirement, the balance shall be paid to his legal representatives or to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees.
  - (b) In the Case of a Member Who Retires on or after July 1, 1963, but prior to July 1, 1993. If he dies within 10 years from his retirement date, an amount equal to his accumulated contributions at retirement, less \$\frac{1}{120}\$ thereof for each month for which he has received a retirement allowance payment, shall be paid to his legal representatives or to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees; or

Option 2. Upon his death his reduced retirement allowance shall be continued throughout the life of and paid to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees at the time of his retirement, provided that if the person selected is other than his spouse the reduced retirement allowance payable to the member shall not be less than one half of the retirement allowance without optional modification which would otherwise be payable to him; or

Option 3. Upon his death, one half of his reduced retirement allowance shall be continued throughout the life of, and paid to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees at the time of his retirement; or

Option 4. Adjustment of Retirement Allowance for Social Security Benefits. — Until the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due, any member may elect to convert his benefit otherwise payable on his account after retirement into a retirement allowance of equivalent actuarial value of such amount that with his benefit under Title II of the Federal Social Security Act, he will receive, so far as possible, approximately the same amount per year before and after the earliest age at which he becomes eligible,

effective as of the first of the month following the month of initial entitlement, upon application therefor, to receive a social security benefit.

Option 5. For Members Retiring Prior to July 1, 1993. — The member may elect to receive a reduced retirement allowance under the conditions of Option 2 or Option 3, as provided for above, with the modification that if both he and the person nominated die within 10 years from his retirement date, an amount equal to his accumulated contributions at retirement, less  $^{1}/_{120}$  thereof for each month for which a retirement allowance has been paid, shall be paid to his legal representatives or to such person as he shall nominate by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees.

Option 6. A member may elect either Option 2 or Option 3 with the added provision that in the event the designated beneficiary predeceases the member, the retirement allowance payable to the member after the designated beneficiary's death shall be equal to the retirement allowance which would have been payable had the member not elected the option.

Upon the death of a member after the effective date of a retirement for which the member has been approved and following receipt by the Board of Trustees of an election of benefits (Form 6-E or Form 7-E) but prior to when the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first benefit payment has occurred, the retirement benefit shall be payable as provided by the member's election of benefits under this subsection.

Upon the death of a member after the effective date of a retirement for which the member has been approved but prior to the receipt by the Board of Trustees of an election of benefits (Form 6-E or Form 7-E), properly acknowledged and filed by the member, the member's designated beneficiary for a return of accumulated contributions may elect to receive the benefit, if only one beneficiary is eligible to receive the return of accumulated contributions. If more than one beneficiary is eligible to receive the return of accumulated contributions, or if no beneficiary has been designated, the administrator or executor of the member's estate will select an option and name the beneficiary or beneficiaries.

(g1) In the event of the death of a retired member while in receipt of a retirement allowance under the provisions of this Article, there shall be paid to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the retiree's death, otherwise to the retiree's legal representatives, a death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the accumulated contributions of the retiree at the date of retirement over the total of the retirement allowances paid prior to the death of

the retiree. In the event that a retiree is receiving a Special Retirement Allowance under subsection (m1) of this section, there shall be paid to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the retiree's death, otherwise to the retiree's legal representatives, an additional death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the employee's voluntary contributions that were transferred from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina or the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan to this Retirement System over the total of the Special Retirement Allowances paid prior to the death of the retiree. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "accumulated contributions" excludes any amount transferred under subsection (m2) of this section.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the designated survivor of a retired member under the provisions above and such retirement allowance to the survivor shall terminate upon the death of the survivor before the total of the retirement allowances paid to the retiree and the designated survivor combined equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the retiree at the date of retirement, the excess, if any, of such accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the retiree and the survivor combined shall be paid in a lump sum to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time such payment falls due, otherwise to the retiree's legal representative. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "accumulated contributions" includes amounts of employee voluntary contributions that were transferred from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina to this Retirement System at retirement by eligible law enforcement officers.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the principal beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions pursuant to subsection (m) of this section and that beneficiary dies before the total of the retirement allowances paid equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the member at the date of the member's death, the excess of those accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the beneficiary shall be paid in a lump sum to the person or persons the member has designated as the contingent beneficiary for return of accumulated contributions, if the person or persons are living at the time the payment falls due, otherwise to the principal beneficiary's legal representative. In the event that a retirement allowance

becomes payable to the contingent beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions pursuant to subsection (m) of this section and that beneficiary dies before the total of the retirement allowances paid equals the amount of the accumulated contributions of the member at the date of the member's death, the excess of those accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the beneficiary shall be paid in a lump sum to the contingent beneficiary's legal representative. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "accumulated contributions" includes amounts of employee voluntary contributions that were transferred from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina to this Retirement System at retirement by eligible law enforcement officers.

In the event a retiree purchases creditable service as provided in G.S. 135-4, there shall be paid to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time of the retiree's death, otherwise to the retiree's legal representatives, an additional death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the cost of the creditable service purchased less the administrative fee, if any, over the total of the increase in the retirement allowance attributable to the additional creditable service, paid from the month following the month in which payment was received to the death of the retiree.

In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the designated survivor of a retired member under the provisions above and such retirement allowance to the survivor shall terminate upon the death of the survivor before the total of the increase in the retirement allowance attributable to the additional creditable service paid to the retiree and the designated survivor combined equals the cost of the creditable service purchased less the administrative fee, the excess, if any, shall be paid in a lump sum to such person or persons as the retiree shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person or persons are living at the time such payment falls due, otherwise to the retiree's legal representative.

In the event that a retiree dies without having designated a beneficiary to receive a benefit under the provisions of this subsection, any such benefit that becomes payable shall be paid to the member's legal representative.

(h) **Computation of Benefits Payable Prior or Subsequent to July 1, 1947.** — Prior to July 1, 1947, all benefits payable as of February 22, 1945, shall be computed on the basis of the provisions of Chapter 135 as they existed at the time of the retirement of such beneficiaries. On and after July 1, 1947, all benefits payable to, or on

account of, such beneficiaries shall be adjusted to take into account, under such rule as the Board of Trustees may adopt, the provisions of this Article as if they had been in effect at the date of retirement, and no further contributions on account of such adjustment shall be required of such beneficiaries. The Board of Trustees may authorize such transfers of reserve between the funds of the Retirement System as may be required by the provisions of this subsection.

- (i) Restoration to Service of Certain Former Members. If a former member who ceased to be a member prior to July 1, 1949, for any reason other than retirement, again becomes a member and prior to July 1, 1951, redeposits in the annuity savings fund by a single payment the amount, if any, he previously withdrew therefrom, he shall, anything in this Chapter to the contrary, be entitled to any membership service credits he had when his membership ceased, and any prior service certificate which became void at the time his membership ceased shall be restored to full force and effect: Provided, that, for the purpose of computing the amount of any retirement allowance which may become payable to or on account of such member under the Retirement System, any amount redeposited as provided herein shall be deemed to represent contributions made by the member after July 1, 1947.
- (j) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, effective July 1, 1959, the following provisions shall apply with respect to any retirement allowance payments due after such date to any retired member who was retired prior to July 1, 1959, on a service or disability retirement allowance:
  - (1) If such retired member has not made an election of an optional allowance in accordance with G.S. 135-5(g), the monthly retirement allowance payable to him from and after July 1, 1959, shall be equal to the allowance previously payable, increased by fifteen percent (15%) thereof, or by fifteen dollars (\$15.00), whichever is the lesser; provided that, if such member had rendered not less than 20 years of creditable service, the retirement allowance payable to him from and after July 1, 1959, shall be not less than seventy dollars (\$70.00) per month.
  - (2) If such retired member has made an effective election of an optional allowance, the allowance payable to him from and after July 1, 1959, shall be equal to the allowance previously payable under such election plus an increase which shall be computed in accordance with (1) above as if he had not made such an election; provided that such increase shall be payable only during the retired member's remaining life and no portion of such increase shall become payable to the beneficiary designated under the election.
- (k) Increase in Benefits to Those Persons Who Were in Receipt of Benefits prior to July 1, 1967. From and after July

1, 1967, the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits from the System prior to July 1, 1967, shall be increased by a percentage thereof. Such percentage shall be determined in accordance with the following schedule:

Period in Which Benefits Commenced	Percentage
January 1, 1966, to June 30, 1967	5%
Year 1965	6%
Year 1964	7%
Year 1963	8%
and so on concluding with	
Year 1942	29%

The minimum increase pursuant to this subsection (k) shall be ten dollars (\$10.00) per month; provided that, if an optional benefit has been elected, said minimum shall be reduced actuarially as determined by the Board and shall be applicable to the retired member, if surviving, otherwise to his designated beneficiary under the option elected.

(l) **Death Benefit Plan.** — There is hereby created a Group Life Insurance Plan (hereinafter called the "Plan") which is established as an employee welfare benefit plan that is separate and apart from the Retirement System and under which the members of the Retirement System shall participate and be eligible for group life insurance benefits. The Plan shall be part of the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust, as established under G.S. 135-7(g). All receipts, transfers, appropriations, contributions, investment earnings, and other income belonging to the Plan shall be deposited in the Benefit Trust. All benefits and expenses against the Plan shall be disbursed from the Benefit Trust. Employer and non-employer contributions to the Benefit Trust and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Benefit Trust are dedicated to providing benefits to participants, beneficiaries, and the members' estates in accordance with the Plan's benefit terms. The assets of the Benefit Trust are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employees and non-employees making contributions to the Benefit Trust, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Benefit Trust's trustees and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of members and beneficiaries. Benefit Trust assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in their capacity as trustees under the Group Life Insurance Plan, of the death, in service, of a member who had completed at least one full calendar year of membership in the Retirement System, there shall be paid to such person as the member shall have nominated by

electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person is living at the time of the member's death, otherwise to the member's legal representatives, a death benefit. Such death benefit shall be equal to the greater of:

- (1) The compensation on which contributions were made by the member during the calendar year preceding the year in which his death occurs, or
- (2) The greatest compensation on which contributions were made by the member during a 12-month period of service within the 24-month period of service ending on the last day of the month preceding the month in which his last day of actual service occurs;
- (3), (4) Repealed by Session Laws 1983 (Regular Session, 1984), c. 1049, s. 2.

subject to a minimum of twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000) and to a maximum of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000). Such death benefit shall be payable apart and separate from the payment of the member's accumulated contributions under the System on his death pursuant to the provisions of subsection (f) of this section. For the purpose of the Plan, a member shall be deemed to be in service at the date of his death if his death occurs within 180 days from the last day of his actual service.

The death benefit provided in this subsection (l) shall not be payable, notwithstanding the member's compliance with all the conditions set forth in the preceding paragraph, if his death occurs

- (1) After December 31, 1968 and after he has attained age 70; or
- (2) After December 31, 1969 and after he has attained age 69; or
- (3) After December 31, 1970 and after he has attained age 68; or
- (4) After December 31, 1971 and after he has attained age 67; or
- (5) After December 31, 1972 and after he has attained age 66; or
- (6) After December 31, 1973 and after he has attained age 65; or
- (7) After December 31, 1978, but before January 1, 1987, and after he has attained age 70.

Notwithstanding the above provisions, the death benefit shall be payable on account of the death of any member who died or dies on or after January 1, 1974, but before January 1, 1979, after attaining age 65, if he or she had not yet attained age 65, if he or she had not yet attained age 66, was at the time of death completing the work year for those individuals under specific contract, or during the fiscal year for those individuals not under specific contract, in which

he or she attained 65, and otherwise met all conditions for payment of the death benefit.

Notwithstanding the above provisions, the Board of Trustees may and is specifically authorized to provide the death benefit according to the terms and conditions otherwise appearing in this Plan in the form of group life insurance, either (i) by purchasing a contract or contracts of group life insurance with any life insurance company or companies licensed and authorized to transact business in this State for the purpose of insuring the lives of members in service, or (ii) by establishing a separate trust for such purpose. To that end the Board of Trustees is authorized, empowered and directed to investigate the desirability of utilizing group life insurance by either of the foregoing methods for the purpose of providing the death benefit. If a separate trust fund is established, it shall be operated in accordance with rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees and all investment earnings on the trust fund shall be credited to such fund.

In administration of the death benefit the following shall apply:

- (1) For the purpose of determining eligibility only, in this subsection "calendar year" shall mean any period of 12 consecutive months or, if less, the period covered by an annual contract of employment. For all other purposes in this subsection "calendar year" shall mean the 12 months beginning January 1 and ending December 31.
- (2) Last day of actual service shall be:
  - a. When the employee has been terminated, the last day the member actually worked.
  - b. When the employee has not been terminated, the date on which an absent member's sick and annual leave expire, unless the member is on approved leave of absence and is in service under the provisions of G.S. 135-4(h).
  - c. When the member's service is interrupted by reason of service in the Uniformed Services, as that term is defined in section 4303(16) of the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, Public Law 103-353, and the participant does not return immediately after that service to employment with a covered employer in this System, the date on which the participant was first eligible to be separated or released from his or her involuntary military service.
- (3) For a period when a member is on leave of absence, his status with respect to the death benefit will be determined by the provisions of G.S. 135-4(h).
- (4) A member on leave of absence from his position as a teacher or State employee for the purpose of serving as a member or officer of the General Assembly shall be deemed to be in

service during sessions of the General Assembly and thereby covered by the provisions of the death benefit. The amount of the death benefit for such member shall be the equivalent of the salary to which the member would have been entitled as a teacher or State employee during the 12-month period immediately prior to the month in which death occurred, not to be less than twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000) nor to exceed fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000).

The provisions of the Retirement System pertaining to Administration, G.S. 135-6, and management of funds, G.S. 135-7, are hereby made applicable to the Plan.

A member who is a beneficiary of the Disability Income Plan provided for in Article 6 of this Chapter, or a member who is in receipt of Workers' Compensation during the period for which he or she would have otherwise been eligible to receive short-term benefits or extended short-term benefits as provided in G.S. 135-105 and dies on or after 181 days from the last day of his or her actual service but prior to the date the benefits as provided in G.S. 135-105 would have ended, shall be eligible for group life insurance benefits as provided in this subsection, notwithstanding that the member is no longer an employee or teacher or that the member's death occurs after the eligibility period after active service. The basis of the death benefit payable hereunder shall be the higher of the death benefit computed as above or a death benefit based on compensation used in computing the benefit payable under G.S. 135-105 and G.S. 135-106, as may be adjusted for percentage post-disability increases, all subject to the maximum dollar limitation as provided above. A member in receipt of benefits from the Disability Income Plan under the provisions of G.S. 135-112 whose right to a benefit accrued under the former Disability Salary Continuation Plan shall not be covered under the provisions of this paragraph.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after July 1, 1988, but before January 1, 1999, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of five thousand dollars (\$5,000) upon the completion of

twenty-four months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of twenty-four months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after January 1, 1999, but before July 1, 2004, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of six thousand dollars (\$6,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after July 1, 2004, but before July 1, 2007, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of nine thousand dollars (\$9,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse

shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after July 1, 2007, but before January 1, 2015, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees in its capacity under this subsection, of the death of a retired member of the Retirement System on or after January 1, 2015, there shall be paid a death benefit to the person or persons designated by the member or, if not survived by a designated beneficiary, to the deceased retired member's legal representative; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of the member's death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund, the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust, administered by the Board of Trustees Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. Employer and non-employer contributions to the Benefit Trust and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Benefit Trust are dedicated to providing benefits to participants, beneficiaries, and the members' estates in accordance with the Plan's benefit terms. The assets of the Benefit Trust are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employees and non-employees making contributions to the Benefit Trust, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Benefit Trust's trustees and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of members and beneficiaries. Benefit Trust assets may be used for

reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's designated beneficiary or beneficiaries, or legal representative if not survived by a designated beneficiary, shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

- (11) Reciprocity of Death Benefit Plan. Only for the purpose of determining eligibility for the death benefit provided for in subsection (l) of this section, membership service standing to the credit of a member of the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System shall be added to the membership service standing to the credit of a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System. However, in the event that a participant or beneficiary is a retired member of the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System whose retirement benefit was suspended upon entrance into membership in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, such membership service standing to the credit of the retired member prior to retirement shall be likewise counted. Membership service under this section shall not be counted twice for the same period of time. In no event shall a death benefit provided for in G.S. 135-5(l) be paid if a death benefit is paid under G.S. 135-63.
- (m) **Survivor's Alternate Benefit.** Upon the death of a member in service, the beneficiary designated to receive a return of accumulated contributions shall have the right to elect to receive in lieu thereof the reduced retirement allowance provided by Option 2 of subsection (g) above computed by assuming that the member had retired on the first day of the month following the date of the member's death, provided that all four of the following conditions apply:
  - (1)a. The member had attained such age and/or creditable service to be eligible to commence retirement with an early or service retirement allowance, or
    - b. The member had obtained 20 years of creditable service in which case the retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with G.S. 135-5(b21)(1)c. or G.S. 135-5(b21)(2)c., notwithstanding the requirement of obtaining age 50, or
    - b1. The member was a law enforcement officer who had obtained 15 years of service as a law enforcement officer and was killed in the line of duty, in which case

- the retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with G.S. 135-5(b21)(1)c., notwithstanding the requirement of obtaining age 50.
- c. Repealed by Session Laws 2010-72, s. 2(a), effective July 1, 2010.
- (2) At the time of the member's death, one and only one beneficiary is eligible to receive a return of his accumulated contributions.
- (3) The member had not instructed the Board of Trustees in writing that he did not wish the provisions of this subsection to apply.
- (4) The member had not commenced to receive a retirement allowance as provided under this Chapter.
- For the purpose of this benefit, a member is considered to be in service at the date of his death if his death occurs within 180 days from the last day of his actual service. The last day of actual service shall be determined as provided in subsection (*l*) of this section. Upon the death of a member in service, the surviving spouse may make all purchases for creditable service as provided for under this Chapter for which the member had made application in writing prior to the date of death, provided that the date of death occurred prior to or within 60 days after notification of the cost to make the purchase. The term "in service" as used in this subsection includes a member in receipt of a benefit under the Disability Income Plan as provided in Article 6 of this Chapter.
- Notwithstanding the foregoing, a member who is in receipt of Workers' Compensation during the period for which the member would have otherwise been eligible to receive short-term benefits, as provided in G.S. 135-105, and who dies on or after 181 days from the last day of the member's actual service but on or before the date the benefits as provided in G.S. 135-105 would have ended, shall be considered in service at the time of the member's death for the purpose of this benefit.
- For the purpose of calculating this benefit any terminal payouts made after the date of death that meet the definition of compensation shall be credited to the month prior to the month of death. These terminal payouts do not include salary or wages paid for work performed during the month of death.
- (m1) **Special Retirement Allowance for Law Enforcement Officers.** Upon retirement, a member who is a law enforcement officer vested as of June 30, 2010, may elect to transfer any portion of his eligible accumulated contributions, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, from the Supple-

mental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina to this Retirement System and receive, in addition to his basic service, early or disability retirement allowance, a special retirement allowance which shall be based upon his eligible accumulated account balance at the date of the transfer of the assets to this System. For the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, the Board of Trustees shall adopt straight life annuity factors on the basis of mortality tables, such other tables as may be necessary and the interest assumption rate recommended by the actuary based upon actual experience including an assumed annual post-retirement allowance increase of four percent (4%). The Board of Trustees shall modify such factors every five years, as shall be deemed necessary, based upon the five year experience study as required by G.S. 135-6(n). Provided, however, a member, who transfers his eligible accumulated contributions from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina, shall be taxed for North Carolina State Income tax purposes on the special retirement allowance the same as if that special retirement allowance had been paid directly by the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina. The Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System shall be responsible to determine the taxable amount, if any, and report accordingly. For transfers made on or after July 1, 2022, if, subsequent to the member's election, the Board of Trustees determines that (i) the member was ineligible for the election or (ii) the election was impermissible for any reason under federal or State law, then no special retirement allowance shall be paid to the member pursuant to this subsection; the member shall return to the Retirement System any amount already paid from the Retirement System as a special retirement allowance; and the Retirement System shall return the transfer amount to the source of the transfer, including any earnings adjustment that may be required under federal law or Internal Revenue Service guidance. If the Retirement System is unable to return the amount to the account from which it originated, the member may designate another eligible account under the transferor plan or receive a lump sum distribution paid directly to the member if the member would otherwise be eligible for a distribution under the transferor plan at such time.

(m2) **Special Retirement Allowance.**—At any time coincident with or following retirement, a member may make a one-time, irrevocable election to transfer any portion of the member's eligible accumulated contributions, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, from the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina or the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan to this Retirement System and receive, in addition to the member's basic service, early or disability retirement allowance, a special retirement allowance which shall be based upon the member's transferred balance. For

transfers made on or after July 1, 2022, if, subsequent to the member's election, the Board of Trustees determines that (i) the member was ineligible for the election or (ii) the election was impermissible for any reason under federal or State law, then no special retirement allowance shall be paid to the member pursuant to this subsection; the member shall return to the Retirement System any amount already paid from the Retirement System as a special retirement allowance; and the Retirement System shall return the transfer amount to the source of the transfer, including any earnings adjustment that may be required under federal law or Internal Revenue Service guidance. If the Retirement System is unable to return the amount to the account from which it originated, the member may designate another eligible account under the transferor plan or receive a lump sum distribution paid directly to the member if the member would otherwise be eligible for a distribution under the transferor plan at such time.

A member who became a member of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan prior to retirement and who remains a member of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan may make a one-time, irrevocable election to transfer eligible balances, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, from any of the following plans to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, subject to the applicable requirements of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, and then through the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan to this Retirement System: (i) a plan participating in the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan; (ii) a plan described in section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code; (iii) a plan described in section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state; (iv) an individual retirement account or annuity described in section 408(a) or section 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is eligible to be rolled over and would otherwise be includible in gross income; or (v) a tax-qualified plan described in section 401(a) or section 403(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. In addition, any transfer under this subsection may be paid in whole or in part with employer contributions paid directly to this Retirement System at the time of transfer.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, a member may not transfer such amounts as will cause the member's retirement allowance under the System to exceed the amount allowable under G.S. 135-18.7(b). The Board of Trustees may establish a minimum amount that must be transferred if a transfer is elected. The member may elect a special retirement allowance with no postretirement increases or a special retirement allowance with annual postretirement increases equal to the annual increase in the U.S. Consumer Price Index. Postretirement increases on any other

allowance will not apply to the special retirement allowance. The Board of Trustees shall provide educational materials to the members who apply for the transfer authorized by this section. Those materials shall describe the special retirement allowance and shall explain the relationship between the transferred balance and the monthly benefit and how the member's heirs may be impacted by the election to make this transfer and any costs and fees involved.

For the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, the Board of Trustees shall adopt straight life annuity factors on the basis of yields on U.S. Treasury Bonds and mortality and such other tables as may be necessary based upon actual experience. A single set of mortality and such other tables will be used for all members, with factors differing only based on the age of the member and the election of postretirement increases. The Board of Trustees shall modify the mortality and such other tables every five years, as shall be deemed necessary, based upon the five-year experience study as required by G.S. 135-6(n). Provided, however, a member who transfers the member's eligible accumulated contributions from an eligible retirement plan pursuant to this subsection to this Retirement System shall be taxed for North Carolina State Income Tax purposes on the special retirement allowance the same as if that special retirement allowance had been paid directly by the eligible plan or the plan through which the transfer was made, whichever is most favorable to the member. The Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System shall be responsible to determine the taxable amount, if any, and report accordingly.

The Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees established under G.S. 135-96 may assess a one-time flat administrative fee not to exceed the actual cost of the administrative expenses relating to these transfers. An eligible plan shall not assess a fee specifically relating to a transfer of accumulated contributions authorized under this subsection. This provision shall not prohibit other fees that may be assessable under the plan. Each plan, contract, account, or annuity shall fully disclose to any member participating in a transfer under this subsection any surrender charges or other fees, and such disclosure shall be made contemporaneous with the initiation of the transfer by the member.

The special retirement allowance shall continue for the life of the member and the beneficiary designated to receive a monthly survivorship benefit under Option 2, 3 or 6 as provided in G.S. 135-5(g), if any. The Board of Trustees, however, shall establish two payment options that guarantee payments as follows:

(1) A member may elect to receive the special retirement allowance for life but with payments guaranteed for a number of months to be specified by the Board of Trustees. Under this plan, if the member dies before the expiration of the specified number of months, the special retirement allowance will continue to be paid to the member's designated beneficiary for the life of the beneficiary, if Option 2, 3 or 6 is selected. If the member's designated beneficiary under Option 2, 3 or 6 begins receiving monthly payments and dies before the specified number of monthly payments have been made in combination to the member and beneficiary, a one-time payment will be paid to the member's legal representatives equal to the initial monthly special retirement allowance, multiplied by the specified number of months, less the total of the monthly payments made to the member and beneficiary. If Option 2, 3 or 6 is not selected, and the member dies before the expiration of the specified number of months, the member's designated beneficiary will receive a one-time payment equal to the initial monthly special retirement allowance, multiplied by the specified number of months, less the total of the monthly payments made to the member.

(2) A member may elect to receive the special retirement allowance for life but is guaranteed that the sum of the special allowance payments will equal the total of the transferred amount. Under this payment option, if the member dies before receiving the total transferred amount, the special retirement allowance will continue to be paid to the member's designated beneficiary for the life of the beneficiary, if Option 2, 3 or 6 is selected. If Option 2, 3 or 6 is not selected, the member's designated beneficiary or the member's estate shall be paid any remaining balance of the transferred amount.

The General Assembly reserves the right to repeal or amend this subsection, but such repeal or amendment shall not affect any person who has already made the one-time election provided in this subsection.

(m3) Repealed by Session Laws 2014-88, s. 3(g), effective July 30, 2014.

(m4) A member who has contributions in this System and is not eligible for a retirement benefit as set forth in G.S. 135-5(a) shall be paid his or her contributions in a lump sum as provided in G.S. 135-5(f) by April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the member (i) attains the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) has ceased to be a teacher or State employee except by death. If the member fails, following reasonable notification, to complete a refund application by the required date, then the requirement that a refund application be completed shall be waived and the refund shall be paid without a refund application as a single lump-sum payment with applicable required North Carolina and federal income taxes withheld.

A member who has contributions in this System and is eligible for a retirement benefit as set forth in G.S. 135-5(a) shall begin to receive a monthly benefit no later than April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the member (i) attains the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) has ceased to be a teacher or State employee except by death. If the member fails, following reasonable notification, to complete the retirement process under this Chapter by the required beginning date, then the requirement that a retirement application and an election of payment plan form be completed shall be waived and the retirement allowance shall be paid as a single life annuity. The single life annuity shall be calculated and processed in accordance with this section.

For purposes of this subsection, a member shall not be considered to have ceased to be a teacher or State employee if the member is actively contributing to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System. A retirement benefit or lump-sum refund shall not be paid under this subsection if the member is actively contributing to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System.

- (n) No action shall be commenced against the State or the Retirement System by any retired member or beneficiary respecting any deficiency in the payment of benefits more than three years after such deficient payment was made, and no action shall be commenced by the State or the Retirement System against any retired member or former member or beneficiary respecting any overpayment of benefits or contributions more than three years after such overpayment was made. This subsection does not affect the right of the Retirement System to recoup overpaid benefits as provided in G.S. 135-9.
- (o) **Post-Retirement Increases in Allowances.** As of December 31, 1969, the ratio of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined. If such ratio indicates an increase that equals or exceeds three per centum (3%), each beneficiary receiving a retirement allowance as of December 31, 1968, shall be entitled to have his allowance increased three per centum (3%) effective July 1, 1970.

As of December 31, 1970, the ratio of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined. If such ratio indicates an increase of at least one per centum (1%), each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1970, shall be entitled to have his allowance increased effective July 1, 1971 as follows:

Increase In Index 1.00 to 1.49% Increase In Allowance 1%

Increase	Increase In
In Index	Allowance
1.50 to 2.49%	2%
2.50 to 3.49%	3%
3.50% or more	4%

As of December 31, 1971, an increase in retirement allowances shall be calculated and made effective July 1, 1972, in the manner described in the preceding paragraph. As of December 31 of each year after 1971, the ratio (R) of the Consumer Price Index to such index one year earlier shall be determined, and each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1 of the year of determination shall be entitled to have his allowance increased effective on July 1 of the year following the year of determination by the same percentage of increase indicated by the ratio (R) calculated to the nearest tenth of one per centum, but not more than four per centum (4%); provided that any such increase in allowances shall become effective only if the additional liabilities on account of such increase do not require an increase in the total employer rate of contributions.

The allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary whose allowance is increased under this subsection shall, when and if payable, be increased by the same per centum.

Any increase in allowance granted hereunder shall be permanent, irrespective of any subsequent decrease in the Consumer Price Index, and shall be included in determining any subsequent increase.

For purposes of this subsection, Consumer Price Index shall mean the Consumer Price Index (all items — United States city average), as published by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Notwithstanding the above paragraphs, retired members and beneficiaries may receive cost-of-living increases in retirement allowances if active members of the system receive across-the-board cost-of-living salary increases. Such increases in post-retirement allowances shall be comparable to cost-of-living salary increases for active members in light of the differences between the statutory payroll deductions for State retirement contributions, Social Security taxes, State income withholding taxes, and federal income withholding taxes required of each group. The increases for retired members shall include the cost-of-living increases provided in this section. The cost-of-living increases allowed retired and active members of the system shall be comparable when each group receives an increase that has the same relative impact upon the net disposable income of each group.

(p) Increases in Benefits Paid in Respect to Members Retired prior to July 1, 1967. — From and after July 1, 1971, the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits prior to July 1, 1963, shall be increased by twenty

percent (20%) thereof; the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits after June 30, 1963 and before July 1, 1967, shall be increased by five percent (5%) thereof. These increases shall be calculated after monthly retirement allowances as of July 1, 1971, have been increased to the extent provided for in the preceding subsection (o).

(q) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons Who Were Retired prior to January 1, 1970. — From and after July 1, 1973, the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits from the System prior to January 1, 1970, shall be increased by a percentage thereof. Such percentage shall be determined in accordance with the following schedule:

Year(s) in Which	
Benefits Commenced	Percentage
1969	1
1968	4
1967	6
1965 through 1966	9
1964	12
1963	14
1959 through 1962	17
1942 through 1958	22

These increases shall be calculated after monthly retirement allowances as of July 1, 1973, have been increased to the extent provided for in the preceding subsection (o).

- (r) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for persons who commenced receiving benefits from the System prior to January 1, 1970, effective July 1, 1973, any member who retired after attaining the age of 60 with 15 or more years of creditable service shall receive a monthly benefit of no less than seventy-five dollars (\$75.00) prior to the application of any optional benefit.
- (s) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons on Disability Retirement Who Were Retired prior to July 1, 1971. From and after July 1, 1974, the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits prior to July 1, 1963, shall be increased by one percent (1%) thereof for each year by which the member retired prior to the age of 65 years; the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits after June 30, 1963, and before July 1, 1971, shall be increased by five percent (5%) thereof. These increases shall be calculated before monthly retirement allowances as of June 30, 1974, have been increased to the extent provided for in the preceding subsection (o).
- (t) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1973, which shall become effective on July 1, 1974, as otherwise provided in G.S. 135-5(o), shall be the current maximum four

percent (4%) plus an additional two percent (2%) to a total of six percent (6%) for the year 1974 only. The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.

- (u) Repealed by Session Laws 1975, c. 875, s. 47.
- (v) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1974, which shall become payable on July 1, 1975, and to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1975, which shall become payable on July 1, 1976, as otherwise provided in G.S. 135-5(o), shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional four percent (4%) to a total of eight percent (8%) for the years 1975 and 1976 only, provided that the increases do not exceed the actual percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index as determined in G.S. 135-5(o). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (w) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, the increase in the allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as otherwise provided in G.S. 135-5(o) shall be the current maximum of four per centum (4%) plus an additional four per centum (4%) to a total of eight per centum (8%) on July 1, 1975, and July 1, 1976, provided the increases do not exceed the actual percentage increase in the cost of living as determined in G.S. 135-5(o). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary. The cost of these increases shall be borne from the funds of the Retirement System unless the 1975 Session of the General Assembly provides an appropriation to fund this provision.
- (x) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons on Disability Retirement Who Were Retired prior to July 1, 1971. From and after July 1, 1975, the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits prior to July 1, 1963, shall be increased one percent (1%) thereof for each year by which the member retired prior to age 65 years; the monthly benefits to members who commenced receiving disability benefits after June 30, 1963, and before July 1, 1971, shall be increased by five percent (5%) thereof. These increases shall be calculated before monthly retirement allowances as of June 30, 1975, have been increased to the extent provided in the preceding provisions of this Chapter.
- (y) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1976, which shall become payable on July 1, 1977, and to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1977, which shall become payable on July 1, 1978, as otherwise provided in G.S. 135-5(o), shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional two and one-half percent (2½%) for the years beginning July 1, 1977, and July 1, 1978. The provisions of this subsection

shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.

- (z) Increases in Benefits Paid in Respect to Members Retired prior to July 1, 1975. From and after July 1, 1977, the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits prior to July 1, 1975, shall be increased by seven percent (7%) thereof. This increase shall be calculated before monthly retirement allowances as of July 1, 1977, have been increased to the extent provided for in the preceding subsection (o). The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (aa) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1978, which shall become payable on July 1, 1979, as otherwise provided in G.S. 135-5(o), shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional one percent (1%) for the year beginning July 1, 1979. Provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (bb) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1979, which shall become payable on July 1, 1980, as otherwise provided in G.S. 135-5(o), shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional three percent (3%) computed on the retirement allowance prior to any increase authorized by paragraph (cc) of this section. Provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (cc) Increases in Benefits to Those Persons Who Were Retired Prior to July 1, 1977. From and after July 1, 1980, the monthly benefits to or on account of persons who commenced receiving benefits from the system prior to July 1, 1977, shall be increased by a percentage in accordance with the following schedule:

Period in Which Benefits Commenced	Percentage
On or before June 30, 1963	10%
July 1, 1963, to June 30, 1968	7%
July 1, 1968, to June 30, 1977	2%

This increase shall be calculated before monthly retirement allowances, as of July 1, 1980, have been increased for all cost-of-living increases allowed for the same period.

- (dd) From and after July 1, 1981, the retirement allowance to or on account of the beneficiaries whose retirement commenced prior to July 1, 1980, shall be increased by three percent (3%). These increases shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1980, so as not to compound on the increases otherwise payable under paragraphs (bb), (cc) and (ee) of this section.
- (ee) Adjustment in Allowances Paid Beneficiaries Whose Retirement Commenced Prior to July 1, 1980. From and

after July 1, 1981, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced prior to July 1, 1980, shall be adjusted by an increase of one and three-tenths percent (1.3%). This adjustment shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1980, so as not to compound on the increases otherwise payable under paragraphs (bb), (cc) and (dd) of this section.

- (ff) From and after July 1, 1982, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1981, shall be increased by one-tenth of one percent (0.1%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1981.
- (gg) From and after July 1, 1983, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1982, shall be increased by two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1982, provided the increase in retirement allowances shall be payable in accordance with all requirements, stipulations and conditions set forth in subsection (o) of this section, plus an additional one and one-half percent (1.5%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1982, in order to supplement the increase payable in accordance with subsection (o) of this section.
- (hh) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, from and after July 1, 1983, the retirement allowance payable to each teacher and State employee, who retired prior to July 1, 1973, and who is in receipt of a reduced retirement allowance based upon 30 or more years of contributing membership service, shall be increased by the elimination of the reduction factors applicable at the time of their retirement under G.S. 135-3(8) or G.S. 135-5(b3). The provisions of this subsection shall apply equally to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (ii) From and after July 1, 1984, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1983, shall be increased by three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1983, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o), plus an additional four and two-tenths percent (4.2%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1983.
- on or before July 1, 1984, or after that Date, but before June 30, 1985. From and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1984, shall be increased by four percent (4%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1984, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1984, but before June 30, 1985, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1984, and June 30, 1985.

- (kk) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1985. From and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1985, shall be increased by six-tenths percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1985. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1985, so as not to be compounded on any other increases payable under subsection (o) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1985 Session of the General Assembly.
- (ll) From and after July 1, 1986, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1985, shall be increased by three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1985, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1986, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1985, but before June 30, 1986, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1985, and June 30, 1986.
- (mm) From and after July 1, 1987, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1986, shall be increased by four percent (4.0%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1986, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1987, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1986, but before June 30, 1987, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4.0%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1986, and June 30, 1987.
- (nn) From and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1987, shall be increased by three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1987, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1987, but before June 30, 1988, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1987, and June 30, 1988.
- (00) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1988. From and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1988, shall be increased by one and

two-tenths percent (1.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1988. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1988, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (o) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1987 Session of the General Assembly.

- (pp) From and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1988, shall be increased by three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1988, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1988, but before June 30, 1989, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1988, and June 30, 1989.
- (qq) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1989. From and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1989, shall be increased by one and nine-tenths percent (1.9%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1989. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1989, so as not to be compounded on any other increase payable under subsection (o) of this section or otherwise granted by act of the 1989 Session of the General Assembly.
- (rr) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1990. From and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1990, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1990. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1990, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 1989 Session of the General Assembly (1990 Regular Session).
- (ss) From and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1989, shall be increased by six and one-tenth percent (6.1%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1989, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1989, but before June 30, 1990, shall be increased by a prorated amount of six and one-tenth percent (6.1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1989, and June 30, 1990.

- (tt) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1992. From and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1992, shall be increased by three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1992. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1992, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 1991 Session of the General Assembly, 1992 Regular Session.
- (uu) From and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1991, shall be increased by one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1991, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1991, but before June 30, 1992, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1991 and June 30, 1992.
- (vv) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1993. From and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1993, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1993. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1993, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 1993 General Assembly.
- (ww) From and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1992, shall be increased by one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1992, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1992, but before June 30, 1993, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1992, and June 30, 1993.
- (xx) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1994. From and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1994, shall be increased by one and two-tenths of one percent (1.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1994. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1994, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 1993 General Assembly, 1994 Regular Session.

(yy) From and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1993, shall be increased by three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1993, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1993, but before June 30, 1994, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1993, and June 30, 1994.

(zz) From and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1994, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1994, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1994, but before June 30, 1995, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1994, and June 30, 1995.

(aaa) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1995. — From and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1995, shall be increased by one and two-tenths of one percent (1.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1995. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1995, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 1995 General Assembly.

(bbb) From and after September 1, 1996, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1995, shall be increased by four and four-tenths percent (4.4%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1995, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after September 1, 1996, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1995, but before June 30, 1996, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four and four-tenths percent (4.4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1995, and June 30, 1996.

(ccc) From and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1996, shall be increased by four percent (4%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1997, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after

July 1, 1996, but before June 30, 1997, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1996, and June 30, 1997.

(ddd) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1997. — From and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1997, shall be increased by two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1997. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 1997, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 1997 General Assembly.

(eee) From and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1997, shall be increased by two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1998, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1997, but before June 30, 1998, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1997, and June 30, 1998.

(fff) From and after July 1, 1999, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1998, shall be increased by two and three-tenths percent (2.3%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1999, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1999, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1998, but before June 30, 1999, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and three-tenths percent (2.3%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1998, and June 30, 1999.

(ggg) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 2000. — From and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 2000, shall be increased by six-tenths percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2000. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2000, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 1999 General Assembly, 2000 Regular Session.

(hhh) From and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1999, shall be increased by three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2000, in accor-

dance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1999, but before June 30, 2000, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1999, and June 30, 2000.

- (iii) From and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2000, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2001, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2000, but before June 30, 2001, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2000, and June 30, 2001.
- (jjj) From and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2001, shall be increased by one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2002, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2001, but before June 30, 2002, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2001, and June 30, 2002.
- (kkk) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 2002. From and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 2002, shall be increased by six-tenths of one percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2002. This allowance shall be calculated on the allowance payable and in effect on June 30, 2002, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 2002 Regular Session of the 2001 General Assembly.
- (*lll*) From and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2002, shall be increased by one and twenty-eight hundredths percent (1.28%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2003, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2002, but before June 30, 2003, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and twenty-eight hundredths percent (1.28%) of the allowance payable

as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2002, and June 30, 2003.

(mmm) From and after July 1, 2004, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2003, shall be increased by one and seven-tenths percent (1.7%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2004, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2004, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2003, but before June 30, 2004, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and seven-tenths percent (1.7%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2003, and June 30, 2004.

(nnn) From and after July 1, 2005, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2004, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2005, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2005, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2004, but before June 30, 2005, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2004, and June 30, 2005.

(000) From and after July 1, 2006, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2005, shall be increased by three percent (3%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2006, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2006, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2005, but before June 30, 2006, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three percent (3%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2005, and June 30, 2006.

(ppp) Repealed by Session Laws 2007-431, s. 7, effective July 1, 2007.

(qqq) From and after July 1, 2007, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2006, shall be increased by two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2007, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2007, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2006, but before June 30, 2007, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board

of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2006, and June 30, 2007.

(rrr) From and after July 1, 2008, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2007, shall be increased by two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2008, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2008, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2007, but before June 30, 2008, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2007, and June 30, 2008.

(sss) From and after July 1, 2012, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2011, shall be increased by one percent (1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2012, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2012, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2011, but before June 30, 2012, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2011, and June 30, 2012.

(ttt) From and after July 1, 2014, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2013, shall be increased by one percent (1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2014, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2014, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2013, but before June 30, 2014, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2013, and June 30, 2014.

(uuu) On or before October 31, 2016, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2016, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2016. The payment shall be one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2016, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.

(vvv) From and after July 1, 2017, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or

before July 1, 2016, shall be increased by one percent (1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2017, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2017, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2016, but before June 30, 2017, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2016, and June 30, 2017.

(www) On or before October 31, 2018, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2018, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2018. The payment shall be one percent (1%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2018, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.

(xxx) On or before December 31, 2021, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2021, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2021. The payment shall be two percent (2%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2021, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.

(yyy) After September 1, 2022, but on or before October 31, 2022, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2022, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2022. The payment shall be four percent (4%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2022, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.

(zzz) On or before November 30, 2023, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of October 1, 2023, and whose retirement commenced on or before October 1, 2023. The payment shall be four percent (4%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of October 1, 2023, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the pay-

ment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.

## History.

1941, c. 25, s. 5; 1945, c. 218; 1947, c. 458, ss. 3, 4, 7, 8a; 1949, c. 1056, ss. 3, 5; 1955, c. 1155, ss. 1, 2; 1957, c. 855, ss. 5-8; 1959, c. 490; c. 513, ss. 2, 3; c. 620, ss. 1-3; c. 624; 1961, c. 516, s. 4; c. 779, s. 1; 1963, c. 687, s. 3; 1965, c. 780, s. 1; 1967, c. 720, ss. 4-10; c. 1223; 1969, c. 1223, ss. 2, 5-12; 1971, c. 117, ss. 11-15; c. 118, ss. 3-7; 1973, c. 241, ss. 3-7; c. 242, ss. 2-4; c. 737, s. 2; c. 816, s. 2; c. 994, ss. 1, 3; c. 1312, ss. 1-3; 1975, c. 457, ss. 2-4; c. 511, ss. 1, 2; c. 634, ss. 1, 2; c. 875, s. 47; 1977, c. 561; c. 802, ss. 50.65-50.70; 1979, c. 838, s. 99; c. 862, ss. 1, 4, 5; c. 972, s. 4; c. 975, s. 1; 1979, 2nd Sess., c. 1137, ss. 63, 64, 66; c. 1196, s. 1; c. 1216; 1981, c. 672, s. 1; c. 689, s. 2; c. 859, ss. 42, 42.1, 44; c. 940, s. 1; c. 975, s. 3; c. 978, ss. 1, 2; c. 980, ss. 3, 4; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1282, s. 11; 1983, c. 467; c. 761, ss. 218, 219, 228, 229; c. 902, s. 1; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1019, s. 1; c. 1034, ss. 222, 232-235, 237; c. 1049, ss. 1-3; 1985, c. 348, s. 2; c. 479, ss. 189(a), 190, 191, 192(a), 194; c. 520, s. 2; c. 649, ss. 8, 10; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1014, s. 49(a); 1987, c. 181, s. 1; c. 513, s. 1; c. 738, ss. 27(a), 29(c)-(j), 37(a); c. 824, s. 3; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1061, s. 1; c. 1086, s. 22(a); c. 1108, s. 1; c. 1110, ss. 1-3; 1989, c. 717, ss. 1-6; c. 731, s. 1; c. 752, s. 41(a); c. 770, s. 31; c. 792, ss. 3.1-3.3; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1077, ss. 2-5; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 766, s. 2; c. 900, ss. 52(a)-(c), 53(b); 1993, c. 321, ss. 74(c)-(e), 74.1(e), (f), 74.2(a); c. 531, s. 5; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, ss. 7.30(g)-(j), (m), (r); 1995, c. 507, ss. 7.22(a), 7.23(a), (b), 7.23A(a), (b); c. 509, ss. 74, 75; 1996, 2nd Ex. Sess., c. 18, s. 28.21(a); 1997-443, s. 33.22(a)-(d); 1998-153, s. 21(a); 1998-212, ss. 28.26(c), 28.27(a); 1999-237, s. 28.23(a); 2000-67, ss. 26.20(a)-(d); 2001-424, s. 32.22(a); 2002-126, ss. 28.8(a), 28.9(a)-(d); 2003-284, s. 30.17(a); 2003- $359, \ ss. \ 3\text{-}6, \ 11; \ 2004\text{-}124, \ s. \ 31.17(a);$ 2004-147, s. 1; 2005-91, ss. 2, 3; 2005-276, s. 29.25(a); 2006-66, s. 22.18(a); 2006-172, s. 1; 2007-323, s. 28.20(a); 2007-384, ss. 10.3, 10.4; 2007-431, ss. 1, 5, 7, 12, 13.; 2007-496, s. 1; 2008-107, s. 26.23(a); 2009-66, ss. 3(a)-(d), 5(a)-(c), 6(a), 9, 11(e)-(g), 12(c), (d); 2009-109, s. 1; 2010-72, ss. 1(a), 2(a), 3(b), 9(a), 10(a); 2010-96, s. 40.7; 2010-124, ss. 1, 2, 3, 6.1; 2011-232, ss. 2-7; 2011-294, s. 3(a); 2012 $142, s.\ 25.13(a);\ 2013-405,\ s.\ 1;\ 2014-88,\ ss.\ 1(a),\ 2(a);\ 3(b)-(g);\ 2014-97,\ ss.\ 2,\ 3(a),\ 4(f);\ 2014-100,\ s.\ 35.14(a);\ 2014-112,\ ss.\ 1(a),\ 3(a);\ 2015-164,\ s.\ 10(a);\ 2016-56,\ ss.\ 4(a),\ 5(a);\ 2016-94,\ s.\ 36.21(a);\ 2017-57,\ s.\ 35.19A(a);\ 2017-129,\ ss.\ 1(b),\ 2(t),\ 3(a)-(b);\ 2018-5,\ s.\ 35.28(a);\ 2018-22,\ ss.\ 2(a),\ 3(a)-(d);\ 2018-85,\ ss.\ 3(a),\ 11(a);\ 2018-145,\ s.\ 9(a),\ (b);\ 2020-48,\ s.\ 1.2(a);\ 2021-72,\ ss.\ 2.1(b),\ 3.1(e);\ 2021-75,\ s.\ 7.1(b);\ 2021-180,\ s.\ 39.23(a);\ 2022-14,\ ss.\ 1.1,\ 1.2;\ 2022-16,\ s.\ 4.3;\ 2022-74,\ s.\ 39.20(a);\ 2023-89,\ s.\ 1.3;\ 2023-105,\ ss.\ 1.1,\ 3.1,\ 5.1,\ 7.1;\ 2023-134,\ s.\ 39.27(a);\ 2024-8,\ s.\ 2(a);\ 2024-9,\ ss.\ 1(a),\ 3(a);\ 2024-10,\ s.\ 18(a),\ (e).$ 

## Cross References.

As to repayment of contributions withdrawn pursuant to subsection (f) of this section, see G.S. 135-4(k1).

## Editor's Note.

The amendment by Session Laws 1985, c. 479, s. 190, to subsection (b8) directed that "on or after January 1, 1985, but prior to July 1, 1985" be substituted for "on or after July 1, 1985" in the catchline and first sentence of subsection (b8). The language to be inserted by this amendment has been inserted in brackets, since the language of subsection (b8) prior to the amendment read "on or after January 1, 1985," not "on or after July 1, 1985."

Subsection (f1) of this section, which provided for refund of contributions not withdrawn with refund, expired June 30, 1993, pursuant to Session Laws 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1061, s. 1.

Session Laws 2006-172, s. 1, added subsection (000), which was redesignated as subsection (ppp) at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2007-384, s. 11(b), provides: "The Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System shall adopt straight life annuity factors, for the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, based upon mortality and such other tables and the interest assumption rate recommended by the actuary based upon the actual experience as reported in the last five year experience study as required by G.S. 135-6(n) and including an assumed annual post-retirement allow-

ance increase of four percent (4%). The Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall adopt straight life annuity factors, for the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, based upon mortality and such other tables and the interest assumption rate recommended by the actuary based upon the actual experience as reported in the last five year experience study as required by G.S. 128-29(o) and including an assumed annual post-retirement allowance increase of four percent (4%). Sections 10.1 through 10.6 of this act become effective the first of the month following the adoption of those factors by the Boards of Trustees."

Session Laws 2009-109, s. 1, which, in subsection (m), added subdivision b1. and made a minor punctuation change, was effective June 16, 2009, and applicable to beneficiaries of law enforcement officers killed in the line of duty on and after January 1, 2007.

Session Laws 2010-72, s. 10(a), effective July 1, 2010, amended the first sentence of subsection (m1) by inserting "any portion of" preceding "his eligible accumulated contributions." 10(a) was subsequently repealed by Session Laws 2010-124, s. 6.1, effective January 1, 2011. Session Laws 2010-96, s. 40.7, amended Session Laws 2010-124, s. 6.1, by adding s. 6.1(b), which provided, in part, that s. 10(b) of Session Laws 2010-72 was repealed effective July 1, 2010. The result is that the amendment to subsection (m1) by Session Laws 2010-72, s. 10(a) never took effect.

Session Laws 2010-96, s. 40.7 was contingent upon House Bill 2066, 2009 Regular Session, becoming law. House Bill 2066 was enacted as Session Laws 2010-124.

Session Laws 2010-124, s. 7, provides in part: "Any beneficiary who retired prior to January 1, 2011, will not be allowed to make the one-time election until July 1, 2011. Any administrative fees accessed by the Boards of Trustees may be used to hire additional personnel to administer this act."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 29.18(a)-(e), provides: "(a) The following definitions apply in this section:

"(1) Furlough. — A temporary, involuntary period of leave from employment without pay but shall not include any period of involuntary leave resulting from disciplinary action.

"(2) Public agency. — A State agency, department, or institution in the executive branch of State government; The University of North Carolina; the North Carolina Community College System; and a local school administrative unit.

"(3) Public employee. — An employee employed by the legislative or judicial branches or by a public agency.

"(b) Any furlough of a public employee paid with State funds is prohibited unless the furlough is ordered by the Governor while acting to balance the budget pursuant to Section 5 of Article III of the North Carolina Constitution or by the Chief Justice or the Legislative Services Officer, respectively, to balance the judicial branch or legislative branch budget.

"The Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina, the State Board of Community Colleges, and each local public school board of education must petition the Governor to furlough its respective employees in order to balance the respective budgets.

"(c) If, in accordance with subsection (b) of this section, necessary economies in expenditures must be effected by a furlough of public employees, the employing public agency, the judicial branch, or the legislative branch, respectively, shall report to the State Treasurer, the Director of the Retirement Systems Division, and the Executive Administrator of the State Health Plan the following:

"(1) The specifics of the authorized furlough.

"(2) The positions affected, including all full-time, part-time, temporary, and contractual positions, all nonessential personnel, and all nonteaching positions.

"(3) The individual employees affected, including the applicable reduction in salary and whether the employee is subject to or exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act.

"(d) If, in accordance with subsection (b) of this section, necessary economies in expenditures must be effected by a furlough of public employees, then a public employee on a furlough who is:

"(1) A member of any of the Statesupported retirement plans administered by the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer or of an Optional Retirement Program (ORP) administered under G.S. 135-5.1 or G.S. 135-5.4 shall be considered in active service during any period of furlough and shall be entitled to all of the same benefits to which the employee was entitled on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The member shall suffer no diminution of retirement average final compensation based on being on furlough, and the retirement average final compensation shall be calculated based on the undiminished compensation. During a furlough period, the employer shall pay both employee and employer contributions to the Retirement Systems Division or ORP on behalf of the furloughed employee as though the employee were in active service.

"(2) A member of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall be considered eligible for coverage under the Plan on the same basis as on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The public employer shall pay contributions on behalf of the furloughed public employee as though the employee were in active service.

"(e) The benefits protections provided by this section shall also apply to public employees in the judicial and legislative branches."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2011.'"

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 32.2, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2011-2013 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2011-2013 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 32.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2011-208, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a retired member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (i) who designated a spouse as survivor under Option 5 as set forth in G.S. 135-5(g) or G.S. 128-27(g), (ii) whose designated spouse predeceased him or her, and (iii) who remarried prior to the enactment of S.L. 2010-72 may nominate the new spouse to receive the survivor retirement benefits in accordance with G.S. 135-5(g) or G.S. 128-27(g), provided that nomination is made within 90 days of the effective date of this act."

Session Laws 2016-56, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 36.21(d), provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living

supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2016.'"

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2016-2017 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2016-2017 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 35.28(d), provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2018.'"

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2018-2019 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2018-22, s. 4, provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the changes to the special retirement allowance, as well as the change in creditable service required for law enforcement officers to retire with a reduced benefit, as provided for in Sections 2 and 3 of this act, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of these

changes directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(e), made the amendment of subsection (m4) of this section by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(a), effective January 1, 2021, and applicable to members on or after that date, and further provides: "If a member attains age 70 and one half years of age on or before December 31, 2019, then the statute that is in effect on the day the member attains age 70 and one half years of age will be applicable to that member."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(d), made the amendment of this section by Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(b), effective July 2, 2021, and expiring on July 1, 2022, and further provides: "This section applies retroactively to retirements occurring on or after January 1, 2019; provided that for any retirements occurring on or after January 1, 2019, through the effective date of this section, for which the Retirement System has notified an employer of its liability under G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f., no additional employer shall be liable for an additional contribution."

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.2, as amended by Session Laws 2022-70, s. 1(a), effective June 30, 2022, provides: "Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, from the period beginning on the effective date of this act and ending on June 30, 2023, local boards of education are prohibited from filing any legal actions against the State, including contested case actions filed under Article 3 of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, regarding the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap established in G.S. 135-5(a3). Any applicable statute of limitations is hereby tolled from the period beginning on the effective date of this act and ending on June 30, 2023. During the litigation pause, the Retirement System shall not request an interception of State appropriations pursuant to G.S. 135-8(f)(3) for unpaid contributions attributable to an assessment for a CBBC liability that occurs more than 14 months after the effective retirement date of the member. Prior to September 1, 2023, the Retirement System shall not request an interception of State pursuant appropriations 135-8(f)(3) for unpaid contributions attributable to retirements that occurred between July 1, 2021, and June 30, 2022"

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 4(a), (b), as amended by Session Laws 2022-70, s.

1(b), provides: "(a) The N.C. Department of State Treasurer and the N.C. School Boards Association shall convene a working group to review the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap established. The working group may produce findings and recommendations on the following issues:

"(1) Reducing the incidence of future litigation regarding the anti-pensionspiking contribution-based benefit cap;

"(2) Reducing the incidence of unfunded pension liabilities associated with compensation decisions;

"(3) Assessing the feasibility of using mediation, arbitration, or non-jury trials to settle disputes with local boards of education and other entities regarding the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap; and

"(4) Any other issues the working group wishes to address.

"(b) No later than December 15, 2022, the working group may report its findings and recommended changes to the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap to the Joint Legislative Oversight Committee on General Government."

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 39.23(d), provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2021."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 43.5, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2021-2023 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2021-2023 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2022."

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-48, s. 2(a) provides: "The Department of State Treasurer is authorized to resolve any legal actions currently pending against the State regarding the anti-pension spiking contribution-based benefit cap established in G.S. 135-5(a3), with respect to the amount and terms of payment, within the framework established by G.S. 135-8(f)(2). Any additional contribution owed by a school board under G.S. 135-5(a3) and G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f. for which the Retirement System sent notice pursuant to G.S. 135-4(jj) on or after January 1, 2021, shall be calculated and paid in accordance with G.S. 135-8(f)(2). For any additional contribution owed by a school board under G.S. 135-5(a3) and G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f. for which the Retirement System sent notice pursuant to G.S. 135-4(jj) during the litigation pause established by Section 3.2 of S.L. 2021-72, and extended by Section 1(a) of S.L. 2022-70, the employer contribution rate shall not be adjusted, as required by G.S. 135-8(f)(5), before the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2024. Prior to September 1, 2023, the Retirement System shall not request an interception of State appropriations pursuant to G.S. 135-8(f)(3) for unpaid contributions attributable to retirements that occurred between July 1, 2021, and June 30, 2023."

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 3.6, provides: "The Board of Trustees shall adopt rules to implement the provisions of this Part [Part III of Session Laws 2023-105]."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 39.27(d), provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.5, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2023-2025 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2023-2025 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(d), made subsection (a4) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(a), effective January 1, 2025, and applicable to members in receipt of severance pay that begins on or after that date and to members entitled to receive a lump sum payment based on a certain period of time that begins on or after that date.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 18(e), effective June 20, 2024, provides: "The Revisor of Statutes shall replace the reference to "G.S. 135-56.2" with "G.S. 135-70.1" in G.S. 128-27(f) and G.S. 135-5(f)."

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(a), in subsection (m4), substituted "72 years" for "70 and one-half years" in the first and second paragraphs, deleted the last two sentences of the first paragraph, which read: "For purposes of this subsection, a member shall not be considered to have ceased to be a teacher or State employee if the member is actively contributing to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System. A lump-sum refund shall not be paid under this subsection if the member is actively contributing to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System.", substituted "this section" for "G.S. 135-5" in the last sentence of the second paragraph, added "or lump-sum refund" in the third paragraph, and made minor stylistic changes. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(b), rewrote subsection (a)(3). For effective date, expiration, and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.1(e), effective July 1, 2022, rewrote subdivision (a3)(4) and the last paragraph of subsection (a3)

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 7.1(b), effective July 1, 2021, rewrote subdivision (m2)(1).

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 39.23(a), effective July 1, 2021, added subsections (xxx) and (yyy).

Session Laws 2022-14, ss. 1.1, 1.2, effective July 1, 2022, added the last two sentences in subsections (m1), and (m2).

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 4.3, effective July 1, 2022, deleted "qualified under section 501(c)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended," in clause (ii) of the fifth paragraph of subsection (*l*).

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 39.20(a), effective July 1, 2022, substituted "four percent (4%)" for "three percent (3%)" in the second sentence of subsection (yyy).

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 1.3, effective January 1, 2024, in subdivision (l)(2), substituted "When the employee" for "When employment" at the beginning of sub-subdivisions (l)(2)a. and (l)(2)b., made a gender neutralization change in sub-subdivision (l)(2)b., and substituted "When the member's service" for "When a participant's employment" at the beginning of sub-subdivision (l)(2)c.

Session Laws 2023-105, ss. 1.1, 3.1, 5.1, and 7.1, effective January 1, 2024, substituted "long-term benefit or the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer for an extended short-term benefit" for "long-term or extended short-term benefit" in subdivision (a)(5); in subsection (g), in the first paragraph, substituted "due and the first payment date has occurred" for "due, or the member's first retirement check has been cashed" or similar language throughout and rewrote the last sentence, and, in the next-to-last paragraph, substituted "when the first payment on account of any benefit becomes normally due and the first benefit payment has occurred" for "the cashing of the first benefit check"; in subsection (g1), added

the second sentence in the third paragraph, and substituted "legal representative" for "estate" at the end of the last paragraph; and, in subsection (l), substituted "beneficiaries" for "surviving spouses" in the fifth sentence of the first paragraph, and, in the last paragraph, substituted "if not survived by a designated beneficiary" for "if the member has not designated a beneficiary, to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or, if not survived by a designated beneficiary or spouse" in the first sentence, and substituted "beneficiaries" for "surviving spouses" in the third sentence.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 39.27(a), effective July 1, 2023, added subsection

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(a), added subsection (a4). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, ss. 1(a), 3(a), effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (e), rewrote the introductory language, and rewrote subdivision (e)(4); and, in subsection (m4), substituted "the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code" for "72 years of age" in the first and second paragraphs, and substituted "under this Chapter by the required beginning date" for "as set forth under Chapter 135 of the General Statutes by such required beginning date" in the second paragraph.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 18(a), effective June 20, 2024, substituted "G.S. 128-26(a1), G.S. 128-26(j1), or G.S. 128-26.5" for "G.S. 128-26(a1) or G.S. 128-26(j1)" in subdivision (a3)(1).

# Legal Periodicals.

For survey of 1982 law on administrative law, see 61 N.C.L. Rev. 961 (1983).

# CASE NOTES

Constitutionality. — Subsection (*l*) of this section, as in effect in 1974, was constitutional on its face. Stanley v. Retirement & Health Benefits Div., 55 N.C. App. 588, 286 S.E.2d 643, 1982 N.C. App. LEXIS 2231 (1982).

Superior court erred in concluding the Contribution-Based Benefit Cap violated U.S. Const. Art. I, § 10 because petitioner failed to show the General Assembly manifested a clear intention to be contractually bound to keep constant the amount an employer is required to contribute to the pension fund. Wilson Cnty.

Bd. of Educ. v. Ret. Sys. Div., 290 N.C. App. 226, 891 S.E.2d 626, 2023 N.C. App. LEXIS 486 (2023).

Rule Making. — Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer erred in invoicing a school employee or school board for contributions to the employee's retirement fund pursuant to a statutory cap factor because the factor was a rule not properly adopted pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act. Cabarrus Cty. Bd. of Educ. v. Dep't of State Treasurer, 261 N.C. App. 325, 821 S.E.2d 196, 2018 N.C.

App. LEXIS 948 (2018), aff'd, 374 N.C. 3, 839 S.E.2d 814, 2020 N.C. LEXIS 270 (2020)

General Assembly did not impliedly exempt the Board of Trustees from the necessity of compliance with APA's rulemaking provisions in adopting a cap factor where G.S. 135-5(a3) and G.S. 135-6(l) could be harmonized, the adoption of a cap factor was not a ministerial act in which the Board did nothing more than ratify the actuary's recommendation, case law did not support such an implied exemption, and the public interests supported the Board of Education's contention that the cap factor should be established by using the APA's rulemaking provisions to ensure the opportunity for adequate public input before a decision became final. Cabarrus Cty. Bd. of Educ. v. Dep't of State Treasurer, 374 N.C. 3, 839 S.E.2d 814, 2020 N.C. LEXIS 270 (2020).

Grant of Disability Retirement Benefits Terminated Status as "Career Teacher". — The granting of a career teacher's application for disability retirement benefits under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System operated as an acceptance of her resignation by implication and terminated her status as a "career teacher" under former G.S. 115-142, since a finding that her disability was "likely to be permanent" was implicit in the granting of her application for disability retirement benefits and this finding rendered her status as a disabled retiree wholly inconsistent with her former status as a "career teacher". Meachan v. Montgomerv County Bd. of Educ., 47 N.C. App. 271, 267 S.E.2d 349, 1980 N.C. App. LEXIS 3087 (1980).

Employee's Retirement Benefits Did Not Vest Prior to Statute's Amendment. — State employee's G.S. 135-5(d4) claim failed as the employee's retirement benefits did not vest before the North Carolina legislature adopted a new policy under which disabled workers received disability benefits in lieu of retirement, which were offset by any payments received in the form of Social Security benefits. Whisnant v. Teachers' & State Emples. Ret. Sys., 191 N.C. App. 233, 662 S.E.2d 573, 2008 N.C. App. LEXIS 1187 (2008), cert. denied, 555 U.S. 1174, 129 S. Ct. 1370, 173 L. Ed. 2d 591, 2009 U.S. LEXIS 1586 (2009).

Widow of a prison guard was not entitled to death benefits where the guard's last day of service was ruled to be the date his sick and annual leave expired, and not the date his position was vacated, and thus his death, which occurred more than 90 days after his last day of service, did not occur while "in service" within the meaning of the benefits provision. Garrett v. Teachers' & State Employees' Retirement Sys. ex rel. Board of Trustees, 91 N.C. App. 409, 371 S.E.2d 776, 1988 N.C. App. LEXIS 876 (1988).

Retiree Not Entitled to Tax-Free Pension. — Retiree was not entitled to a tax free pension because he withdrew his contributions to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System and the Teachers' and State Employees Retirement System and left public employment before August 12, 1989, and thus he was not vested on that date; although the retiree later returned to public employment, became vested, and repaid the money he had previously withdrawn, when read together, G.S. 135-4 and G.S. 135-5 made clear that a member who left state service and withdrew contributions in the retirement system had no rights to any benefits within the system except for the right to repay previously withdrawn contributions as provided in G.S. 135-4. The repayment served only to increase the retiree's years of service creditable. Cashwell v. Dep't of State Treasurer, Ret. Sys. Div., 196 N.C. App. 80, 675 S.E.2d 73, 2009 N.C. App. LEXIS 452 (2009).

Application Date. — Retirement System did not impermissibly apply a 2018 cap-factor rule to the 2017 retirement of a school employee, as N.C. Gen. Stat. § 135-5(a3) applied to members who retired after January 1, 2015, and the Retirement System was simply carrying out the statutory mandate. Harnett Cnty. Bd. of Educ. v. Ret. Sys. Div., 291 N.C. App. 14, 894 S.E.2d 275, 2023 N.C. App. LEXIS 654 (2023).

Earliest Retirement Date. making an equitable distribution of the property of a former husband and former wife, the trial court properly determined a former husband's earliest retirement date for purposes of valuing his Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System pension because G.S. 135-5(f) did not have to be used as the basis for calculating his "earliest retirement" date; the plain language of G.S. 135-5(f) allows for the return of accumulated contributions only if the State employee terminates his service with the State for reasons other than death or retirement. Cochran v. Cochran, 198 N.C. App. 224, 679 S.E.2d 469, 2009 N.C. App. LEXIS 1161 (2009), review denied, 363 N.C.

801, 690 S.E.2d 533, 2010 LEXIS 57 (2010).

# § 135-5.1. Optional retirement program for The University of North Carolina.

- (a) An Optional Retirement Program provided for in this section is authorized and established and shall be implemented by the Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina. The Optional Retirement Program shall be underwritten by the purchase of annuity contracts, which may be both fixed and variable contracts or a combination thereof, or financed through the establishment of a trust, for the benefit of participants in the Program. Participation shall be limited to (i) University personnel who are eligible for membership in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement Program or (ii) individuals eligible under G.S. 135-5.6 or G.S. 135-5.7, and who, in either case, also meet any of the following criteria:
  - (1) Administrators and faculty of The University of North Carolina with the rank of instructor or above.
  - (2) The President and employees of The University of North Carolina who are appointed by the Board of Governors on recommendation of the President pursuant to G.S. 116-11(4), 116-11(5), and 116-14 or who are appointed by the Board of Trustees of a constituent institution of The University of North Carolina upon the recommendation of the Chancellor pursuant to G.S. 116-40.22(b).
  - (3) Nonfaculty instructional and research staff who are exempt from the North Carolina Human Resources Act, as defined by the provisions of G.S. 126-5(c1)(8), and the faculty of the North Carolina School of Science and Mathematics.
  - (4) Field faculty of the Cooperative Agriculture Extension Service, and tenure track faculty in North Carolina State University agriculture research programs who are exempt from the North Carolina Human Resources Act and who are eligible for membership in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System pursuant to G.S. 135-3(1), who in any of the cases described in this subsection (i) had been members of the Optional Retirement Program under the provisions of Chapter 338, Session Laws of 1971, immediately prior to July 1, 1985, or (ii) have sought membership as required in subsection (b), below. Under the Optional Retirement Program, the State and the participant shall contribute, to the extent authorized or required, toward the purchase of such contracts or deposited in such trust on the participant's behalf.
  - (5) To the extent allowed under G.S. 135-5.6, employees of The University of North Carolina Health Care System, subject

- to rules for eligibility and participation as may be adopted by the Board of Governors in the Optional Retirement Program plan document.
- (6) Employees hired on or after January 1, 2013.
- (b) Participation in the Optional Retirement Program shall be governed as follows:
  - (1) Those participating in the Optional Retirement Program immediately prior to July 1, 1985, under the provisions of Chapter 338, Session Laws of 1971, are deemed automatically enrolled in the Program as established by this section.
  - (2) Eligible University personnel initially appointed on or after July 1, 1985, shall at the same time of entering upon eligible employment elect (i) to join the Retirement System in accordance with the provisions of law applicable thereto or (ii) to participate in the Optional Retirement Program. This election shall be in writing and filed with the Retirement System and with the employing institution and shall be effective on the date of entry into eligible service. For purposes of this provision, the Optional Retirement Program shall be permitted to file individual election forms with the Retirement System using electronic transmission.
  - (3) Except as provided under G.S. 135-5.6 and G.S. 135-5.7, an election to participate in the Optional Retirement Program shall be irrevocable. An eligible employee failing to elect to participate in the Optional Retirement Program at the time of entry into eligible service shall automatically be enrolled as a member of the Retirement System.
  - (4) No election by an eligible employee of the Optional Retirement Program shall be effective unless it is accompanied by an appropriate application for the issuance of a contract or contracts or trust participation under the Program.
  - (5) If any participant in the Optional Retirement Program having less than five years of total membership service under any combination of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, or the Optional Retirement Program leaves the employ of The University of North Carolina and either retires or commences employment with an employer not having a retirement program with the same company underwriting the participant's annuity contract, regardless of whether the annuity contract is held by the participant, a trust, or the Retirement System, the participant's interest in the Optional Retirement Program attributable to contributions of The University of North Carolina shall be forfeited. Consistent with Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, no part of the corpus or income of the

Optional Retirement Program, or any trust established under that Program, may be (within the taxable year or thereafter) used for purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of participants and their beneficiaries, except that contributions made under a good faith mistake of fact may be returned, consistent with the rules adopted by the University.

- (c) Each employing institution shall contribute on behalf of each participant in the Optional Retirement Program an amount equal to a percentage of the participant's compensation as established from time to time by the General Assembly. Each participant shall contribute the amount which he or she would be required to contribute if a member of the Retirement System. Contributions authorized or required by the provisions of this subsection on behalf of each participant shall be made, consistent with Section 414(h) of the Internal Revenue Code, by salary reduction according to rules and regulations established by The University of North Carolina. Additional personal contributions may also be made by a participant by payroll deduction or salary reduction to an annuity or retirement income plan established pursuant to G.S. 116-17. Payment of contributions shall be made by the employing institution to the designated company or companies underwriting the annuities or the trustees for the benefit of each participant, and this employer contribution shall not be subject to any State tax if made under the Optional Retirement Program or, otherwise, by salary reduction.
- (d) The Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina shall designate the company or companies from which contracts are to be purchased or the trustee responsible for the investment of contributions under the Optional Retirement Program, and shall approve the form and contents of such contracts or trust agreement. In making this designation and giving such approval, the Board shall give due consideration to the following:
  - (1) The nature and extent of the rights and benefits to be provided by these contracts or trust agreement for participants and their beneficiaries;
  - (2) The relation of these rights and benefits to the amount of contributions to be made;
  - (3) The suitability of these rights and benefits to the needs of the participants and the interest of the institutions of The University of North Carolina in recruiting and retaining faculty in a national market; and
  - (4) The ability of the designated company or companies underwriting the annuity contracts or trust agreement to provide these suitable rights and benefits under such contracts or trust agreement for these purposes.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this subsection, no contractual relationship established under the Optional Retirement Program

pursuant to the authority granted by Chapter 338, Session Laws of 1971, is deemed terminated by the provisions of this section.

- (e) The Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina may provide for the administration of the Optional Retirement Program and may perform or authorize the performance of all functions necessary for its administration.
- (f) Any eligible employee electing to participate in the Optional Retirement Program is ineligible for membership in the Retirement System so long as he or she remains employed in any eligible position within The University of North Carolina, and, in this event, he or she shall continue to participate in the Optional Retirement Program.
- (g) No retirement benefit, death benefit, or other benefit under the Optional Retirement Program shall be paid by the State of North Carolina, or The University of North Carolina, the University of North Carolina Health Care System, or the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System with respect to any employee selecting and participating in the Optional Retirement Program or with respect to any beneficiary of that employee. Benefits shall be payable to participants or their beneficiaries only by the designated company in accordance with the terms of the contracts or trust agreement.
- (h) The Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina shall ensure that the Optional Retirement Program contains benefit forfeiture provisions equivalent to those contained in G.S. 135-18.10A for University personnel who are eligible for membership in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and have elected participation in the Optional Retirement Program. Any funds forfeited shall be deposited in the Optional Retirement Program trust fund(s).

### History.

1971, c. 338, s. 2; c. 916; 1973, c. 1425; 1977, c. 1070; 1985, c. 309; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1086, s. 28; 2001-424, s. 32.27; 2003-356, s. 1; 2006-172, ss. 2, 3; 2011-145, ss. 29.26, 29.27; 2012-142, ss. 25.11, 25.12; 2012-193, s. 11; 2013-288, s. 5; 2013-382, s. 9.1(c); 2023-134, s. 4.10(o).

# Cross References.

As to the pick up of certain employee contributions by the employer, see G.S. 135-8.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 29.18(a)-(e), provides: "(a) The following definitions apply in this section:

"(1) Furlough. — A temporary, involuntary period of leave from employment without pay but shall not include any

period of involuntary leave resulting from disciplinary action.

"(2) Public agency. — A State agency, department, or institution in the executive branch of State government; The University of North Carolina; the North Carolina Community College System; and a local school administrative unit.

"(3) Public employee. — An employee employed by the legislative or judicial branches or by a public agency.

"(b) Any furlough of a public employee paid with State funds is prohibited unless the furlough is ordered by the Governor while acting to balance the budget pursuant to Section 5 of Article III of the North Carolina Constitution or by the Chief Justice or the Legislative Services Officer, respectively, to balance the judicial branch or legislative branch budget.

"The Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina, the State

Board of Community Colleges, and each local public school board of education must petition the Governor to furlough its respective employees in order to balance the respective budgets.

"(c) If, in accordance with subsection (b) of this section, necessary economies in expenditures must be effected by a furlough of public employees, the employing public agency, the judicial branch, or the legislative branch, respectively, shall report to the State Treasurer, the Director of the Retirement Systems Division, and the Executive Administrator of the State Health Plan the following:

"(1) The specifics of the authorized furlough.

"(2) The positions affected, including all full-time, part-time, temporary, and contractual positions, all nonessential personnel, and all nonteaching positions.

"(3) The individual employees affected, including the applicable reduction in salary and whether the employee is subject to or exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act.

"(d) If, in accordance with subsection (b) of this section, necessary economies in expenditures must be effected by a furlough of public employees, then a public employee on a furlough who is:

"(1) A member of any of the Statesupported retirement plans administered by the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer or of an Optional Retirement Program (ORP) administered under G.S. 135-5.1 or G.S. 135-5.4 shall be considered in active service during any period of furlough and shall be entitled to all of the same benefits to which the employee was entitled on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The member shall suffer no diminution of retirement average final compensation based on being on furlough, and the retirement average final compensation shall be calculated based on the undiminished compensation. During a furlough period, the employer shall pay both employee and employer contributions to the Retirement Systems Division or ORP on behalf of the furloughed employee as though the employee were in active service.

"(2) A member of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall be considered eligible for coverage under the Plan on the same basis as on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The public employer shall pay contributions on behalf of the furloughed public employee as though the employee were in active service.

"(e) The benefits protections provided by this section shall also apply to public employees in the judicial and legislative branches."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2011.'"

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 32.2, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2011-2013 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2011-2013 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 32.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 17, as amended by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 3, provides: "The State Treasurer shall negotiate a memorandum of agreement with the United States Attorneys for the Eastern, Middle, and Western Districts of North Carolina whereby the prosecutors will notify the State Treasurer of convictions under G.S. 135-18.10A(b), 128-38.4A(b), 135-75.1A(b), 120-4.33A(b), 135-5.1(h), 135-5.4(h), and 58-86-100(b)."

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 18, made subsection (h) of this section effective December 1, 2012, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.1(b), provides: "The following entities and positions created by Chapter 126 of the General Statutes are hereby renamed by this act:

"(1) The State Personnel Commission is renamed the 'North Carolina Human Resources Commission.'

"(2) The Office of State Personnel is renamed the 'North Carolina Office of State Human Resources.'

"(3) The State Personnel Director is renamed the 'Director of the North Carolina Office of State Human Resources.'"

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.1(c), provides in part: "Modification of References. — The Revisor of Statutes shall delete any references in the General Statutes to the State Personnel Act, State Personnel Commission, the State Personnel Director, and the Office of State Personnel (or any derivatives thereof) and substitute references to the North Carolina Human Resources Act, the State Human Resources Commission, the Director of the Office of State

Human Resources, and the Office of Human Resources (or the appropriate derivative thereof) to effectuate the renaming set forth in this section wherever conforming changes are necessary."

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.2, provides: "No action or proceeding pending on the effective date of this section [August 21, 2013], brought by or against the State Personnel Commission, the Director of the Office of State Personnel, or the Office of State Personnel, shall be affected by any provision of this section, but the same may be prosecuted or defended in the new name of the Commission, Director, and Office. In these actions and proceedings, the renamed Commission, Director, or Office shall be substituted as a party upon proper application to the courts or other public bodies."

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.3, provides: "Any business or other matter undertaken or commanded by the former State Personnel Commission, State Personnel Director, or Office of State Personnel regarding any State program, office, or contract or pertaining to or connected with their respective functions, powers, obligations, and duties that are pending on the date this act becomes effective [August 21, 2013] may be conducted and

completed by the Commission, Director, or Office in the same manner and under the same terms and conditions and with the same effect as if conducted and completed by the formerly named commission, director, or office."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(o), effective October 3, 2023, rewrote the last sentence in the introductory paragraph, added "To the extent allowed under G.S. 135-5.6" at the beginning of subdivision (a)(5), and and made stylistic and punctuation changes throughout; in subsection (b), substituted "Eligible University personnel" for "Eligible employees" at the beginning of the first sentence of subdivision (b)(2), substituted "effective on the date" for "effective as of the date" in the second sentence of subdivision (b)(2), and added "Except as provided under G.S. 135-5.6 and G.S. 135-5.7" at the beginning of subdivision (b)(3); and, in subsection (g), inserted "the University of North Carolina Health Care System" in the first sentence.

# OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

The Legislative Intent Expressed in This Section Is Ambiguous. — In light of that ambiguity and the Board of Governors' obligations to implement and administer the Optional Retirement Program (ORP), the policies and rules that the Board of Governors has adopted to clarify the description of persons eligible

to participate in the ORP are reasonable. See opinion of Attorney General to Mr. Roy A. Carroll, Senior Vice President and Vice President for Academic Affairs, The University of North Carolina General Administration, 1999 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 1 (2/4/99).

# § 135-5.2. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.12(a), effective June 26, 2020.

#### History.

1977, c. 1007; repealed by 2020-48, s. 1.12(a), effective June 26, 2020.

#### Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 135-5.2 pertained to Cha-

pel Hill utilities and telephone employees.

# § 135-5.3. Optional participation for charter schools operated by private nonprofit corporations or municipalities.

- (a), (b) Repealed by Session Laws 2015-168, s. 1, effective January 1, 2016.
- (b1) The board of directors of a charter school operated by a private nonprofit corporation or a charter school operated by a municipality that has received approval under Article 14A of Chapter 115C of the General Statutes may elect to become a participating employer in the Retirement System in accordance with this Article.
- (b2) A charter school desiring to participate in the Retirement System shall file with the Board of Trustees an application for participation on a form approved by the Board of Trustees. In the application, the charter school shall agree to make the contributions required of participating employers, to deduct from the salaries of employees who may become members the contributions required of members under this Chapter, and to transmit the contributions to the Board of Trustees. The charter school shall also agree to make the employer's contributions for the participation in the Retirement System of all employees entering the service of the employer, after the charter school's participation begins, who shall become members
- (b3) A charter school seeking to become a participating employer in the Retirement System prior to the end of the second year of operation shall be granted provisional entry into the Retirement System for one year. In the event the employee or employer contributions required under G.S. 135-8(f) are not received by the date set by the Board of Trustees, the Board of Trustees may revoke the charter school's provisional entry into the Retirement System. The Board must notify a charter school in writing not less than 90 days prior to revoking a charter school in writing not less than 90 days prior to revoking a charter school's provisional entry into the Retirement System. One year after the charter school was granted provisional entry into the Retirement System, the charter school shall undergo an actuarial and financial review as required by the Board of Trustees.
- (b4) A charter school seeking to become a participating employer in the Retirement System after the end of the initial year of operation but before the end of the second year of operation may undergo an actuarial and financial review as required by the Board of Trustees prior to entry into the Retirement System. A charter school seeking to become a participating employer in the Retirement System after the end of the second year of operation shall undergo an actuarial and financial review as required by the Board of Trustees prior to entry into the Retirement System.
- (b5) The actuarial review will result in an estimate of the amount of the withdrawal liability that would be required under G.S.

- 135-8(i) to cease participation in the Retirement System after five years and the amount that would be required to cease participation after 10 years. The cost of this actuarial review shall be paid by the charter school and shall not exceed two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500). A charter school that was granted provisional entry into the Retirement System shall not be required to pay the cost of this actuarial review, and this cost may be classified as costs of administering investment programs under G.S. 147-69.3.
- (b6) The financial review will be based on financial statements and independent audit reports or functionally equivalent reports submitted to the Board of Trustees by the charter school.
- (b7) The Board of Trustees may grant final approval of the application if it finds the following:
  - (1) The application meets the requirements set out in this Article.
  - (2) All members of the board of directors of the charter school have signed a written statement acknowledging and accepting the estimate provided under subsection (b5) of this section and the provisions of G.S. 135-8(i).
  - (3) The charter school has not been identified as continually low-performing by the State Board of Education as provided in G.S. 115C-218.94.
  - (4) The charter school's most recent audited financial statements and independent audit report demonstrate that it is financially sound and can meet the financial obligations of participation in the Retirement System.
- (b8) Upon acceptance by the Board of Trustees of the application to become a participating employer, the charter school shall be a fully participating employer in the Retirement System. The Board may make the final decision for acceptance of the application contingent upon the receipt of a financially sound independent audit report for the fiscal year ending prior to acceptance of the application.
- (b9) For each charter school employee who is employed on or before the date the charter school is granted entry into the Retirement System, membership in the Retirement System is effective as of the date of entry. For each charter school employee who is employed after the date the charter school is granted entry into the Retirement System, membership in the Retirement System is effective as of the date of that employee's entry into eligible service. Provisional entry is considered entry into the Retirement System for the purpose of this subsection.
- (c) A charter school board's election to become a participating employer in the Retirement System under this section shall require all eligible employees of the charter school to participate.
- (d) No retirement benefit, death benefit, or other benefit payable under the Retirement System shall be paid by the State of North

Carolina or the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System on account of employment with a charter school with respect to any employee, or with respect to any beneficiary of an employee, of a charter school that is not a participating employer in the Retirement System.

- (e) The board of directors of each charter school shall notify each of its employees as to whether the board elected to become a participating employer in the Retirement System under this section. This notification shall be in writing and shall be provided within 30 days of the board's election or at the time an initial offer for employment is made, whichever occurs last. If the board did not elect to join the Retirement System, the notice shall include a statement that the employee shall have no legal recourse against the board or the State for any possible credit or reimbursement under the Retirement System. The employee shall provide written acknowledgment of the employee's receipt of the notification under this subsection.
- (f) The board of directors of a charter school may elect to cease participation in the Retirement System for all of its employees by following the procedure in G.S. 135-8(i). Notwithstanding the requirement under G.S. 135-8(i)(6) that a charter school's withdrawal liability be paid in a lump sum, if the withdrawal liability of a charter school as calculated under G.S. 135-8(i)(5) is greater than two million dollars (\$2,000,000), the Board of Trustees may allow a charter school to pay the required lump sum amount on an installment payment plan that meets the following requirements:
  - (1) Fifty percent (50%) of the withdrawal liability must be paid within 90 days of the complete withdrawal date.
  - (2) The remaining fifty percent (50%) of the withdrawal liability shall be made in no greater than 36 equal monthly payments.

Notwithstanding G.S. 135-8(i)(2), the complete withdrawal by a charter school that is under an approved installment payment plan shall be the date of the Board of Trustees approval of the installment payment plan. All provisions of this Article relating to the complete withdrawal of an employer from the Retirement System shall be applicable to the charter school as of that date.

The Retirement System shall have a lien upon the real property of a charter school that has received approval under this subsection from the Board of Trustees to pay the lump sum amount required under G.S. 135-8(i)(6) on installment at the time that the installment agreement is entered into and in the amount of the total withdrawal liability owed by the charter school. This lien shall attach to the real property upon the approval of the installment payment plan by the Board of Trustees and shall be perfected upon filing in the office of the clerk of superior court in each county in which the real property is situated. The priority of the lien shall be

superior to all nongovernmental liens and rights, whether such liens and rights are prior or subsequent to the lien. The Retirement System may enforce the lien by judicial foreclosure as provided in Article 29A of Chapter 1 of the General Statutes.

#### History.

1998-212, s. 9.14A(b); 2014-101, s. 7; 2015-168, s. 1; 2016-79, s. 1.7(c); 2017-98, s. 1; 2018-84, s. 3(a); 2018-145, s. 20(c); 2022-16, s. 1.2; 2023-110, s. 1(s).

#### Local Modification.

Corvian Community School: 2013-279, s. 1.

# Certain Municipalities Authorized to Establish and Operate Charter Schools.

Session Laws 2018-3, authorized municipalities in the Towns of Cornelius, Huntersville, Matthews, and Mint Hill to establish and operate charter schools.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2001-462, s. 2, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitation contained in G.S. 135-5.3(b), the board of directors of any charter school that received State Board of Education approval under G.S. 115C-238.29D on or after January 1, 2001, may elect to become a participating employer in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes. The election authorized by this section [s. 2 of Session Laws 2001-462] must be made no later than 30 days after the effective date [November 16, 2001], of this act [Session Laws 2001-462] and in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-5.3."

Session Laws 2003-69, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitations contained in G.S. 135-5.3(b) and G.S. 135-40.3A(b), the board of directors of any charter school that received State Board of Education approval under G.S. 115C-238.29D on or after January 1, 2002, and the board of directors of River Mill Academy in Alamance County may elect to become a participating employer in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and may also elect to become a participating employing unit in the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan in accordance with Article 3 of Chapter 135. The elections authorized by

this section shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [May 20, 2003] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-40.3A."

Session Laws 2004-164, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitations contained in G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-40.3A, the boards of directors of (i) New Century High School in Saxapahaw; (ii) Lake Norman Charter School in Huntersville; (iii) Exploris Middle School in Raleigh, a charter school division of Exploris; (iv) Magellan Charter School in Raleigh; (v) American Renaissance Char-School in Statesville; and (vi) Healthy Start Academy in Durham may elect to become participating employers in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and may also elect to become participating employing units in the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan in accordance with Article 3 of Chapter 135. The elections authorized by this section shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-40.3A."

Session Laws 2005-315, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitation contained in G.S. 135-5.3, the Board of Directors of Evergreen Charter School, a charter school located in Asheville, may elect to become a participating employer in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes. The election authorized by this section shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [August 25, 2005] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-5.3."

Session Laws 2005-317, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitations contained in G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-40.3A, the boards of directors of Success Institute, a charter school in Statesville, and Piedmont Community Charter School in Gastonia may elect to become participating employers in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement Sys-

tem in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and may also elect to become participating employing units in the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan in accordance with Article 3 of Chapter 135. The elections authorized by this section shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [August 25, 2005] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-40.3A."

Session Laws 2007-464, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitations contained in G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-40.3A, the Board of Directors of Orange Charter School, a charter school located in Hillsborough, may elect to become a participating employer in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and may also elect to become a participating employing unit in the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan in accordance with Article 3 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes. Notwithstanding the time limitations contained in G.S. 135-40.3A, the Board of Directors of Bethany Community Middle School, a charter school in Rockingham County, may elect to become a participating employing unit in the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan in accordance with Article 3 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes. Notwithstanding the time limitations contained in G.S. 135-40.3A, the board of directors of Tiller School, a charter school, may elect to become a participating employing unit in the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan in accordance with Article 3 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes. The election authorized by this section shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [August 28, 2007] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-40.3A and, as applicable, with G.S. 135-5.3."

Session Laws 2010-137, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitation

contained in G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-45.5, the Board of Directors of Brevard Academy, a charter school located in Brevard, may elect to become a participating employer in the Teachers and State Employees Retirement System in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and may also elect to become a participating employing unit in the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees in accordance with Article 3A of Chapter 135. The elections authorized by this act shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [July 21, 2010] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-45.5."

Session Laws 2014-101, s. 8 provides in part that the amendment of this section by Session Laws 2014-101, s. 7 is applicable beginning with the 2014-2015 school year.

Session Laws 2016-79, s. 4, made the amendments to subdivision (b7)(3) of this section by Session Laws 2016-79, s. 1.7(c), applicable beginning with the 2016-2017 school year.

Session Laws 2018-84, s. 3(b), made the amendment of subsection (f) by Session Laws 2018-84, s. 3(a), effective June 25, 2018, and applicable to charter schools electing to cease participation in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System on or after that date. Priority of the lien over nongovernmental liens and rights, created under subsection (a) of this section, shall apply only to nongovernmental liens and rights that have attached to the applicable property on or after the effective date of this section.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 1.2, effective July 1, 2022, in subsection (b6), deleted "held by the Local Government Commission" following "audit reports," and deleted "financial statements and independent audit" following "equivalent."

Session Laws 2023-110, s. 1(s), effective August 16, 2023, substituted "approval under Article 14A of Chapter 115C of the General Statutes" for "State Board of Education approval under G.S. 115C-218.5" in subsection (b1).

# § 135-5.4. Optional retirement program for State-funded community colleges.

(a) An Optional Retirement Program provided for in this section is authorized and established and shall be implemented by the North Carolina Community Colleges System, ("System"). The Optional Retirement Program shall be underwritten by the purchase of annuity contracts, which may be both fixed and variable contracts or a combination thereof, or financed through the establishment of a trust, for the benefit of the presidents of the community colleges all of whom are appointed after the implementation of the Program and who elect membership as required by subsection (b) of this section on or before June 30, 2018. Under the Optional Retirement Program, the State and the participant shall contribute, to the extent authorized or required, toward the purchase of such contracts or deposited in such trust on the participant's behalf.

- (b) Participation in the Optional Retirement Program shall be governed as follows:
  - (1) Employees initially appointed on or after the implementation of the Optional Retirement Program and on or before June 30, 2018, shall at the same time of entering upon eligible employment elect (i) to join the Retirement System in accordance with the provisions of law applicable thereto or (ii) to participate in the Optional Retirement Program. This election shall be in writing and filed with the Retirement System and with the employing institution and shall be effective as of the date of entry into eligible service.
  - (2) An election to participate in the Optional Retirement Program shall be irrevocable. An eligible employee failing to elect to participate in the Optional Retirement Program at the time of entry into eligible service shall automatically be enrolled as a member of the Retirement System.
  - (3) No election by an eligible employee of the Optional Retirement Program shall be effective unless it is accompanied by an appropriate application for the issuance of a contract or contracts or trust participation under the Program.
  - (4) If any participant having less than five years coverage under the Optional Retirement Program leaves the employ of the System and either retires or commences employment with an employer not having a retirement program with the same company underwriting the participant's annuity contract, regardless of whether the annuity contract is held by the participant, a trust, or the Retirement System, the participant's interest in the Optional Retirement Program attributable to contributions of the employing institution shall be forfeited and shall either (i) be refunded to the employing institution and forthwith paid by it to the Retirement System and credited to the pension accumulation fund or (ii) be paid directly to the Retirement System and credited to the pension accumulation fund.
- (c) Each employing institution shall contribute on behalf of each participant in the Optional Retirement Program an amount equal to

a percentage of the participant's compensation as established from time to time by the General Assembly. Each participant shall contribute the amount that he or she would be required to contribute if a member of the Retirement System. Contributions authorized or required by the provisions of this subsection on behalf of each participant shall be made, consistent with section 414(h) of the Internal Revenue Code, by salary reduction according to rules and regulations established by the employing institution. Additional personal contributions may also be made by a participant by payroll deduction or salary reduction to an annuity or retirement income plan established pursuant to G.S. 115D-25. Payment of contributions shall be made by the employing institution to the designated company or companies underwriting the annuities or the trustees for the benefit of each participant, and this employer contribution shall not be subject to any State tax if made under the Optional Retirement Program or, otherwise, by salary reduction.

- (d) The System shall designate the company or companies from which contracts are to be purchased or the trustee responsible for the investment of contributions under the Optional Retirement Program and shall approve the form and contents of such contracts or trust agreement. In making this designation and giving such approval, the Board shall give due consideration to the following:
  - (1) The nature and extent of the rights and benefits to be provided by these contracts or trust agreement for participants and their beneficiaries;
  - (2) The relation of these rights and benefits to the amount of contributions to be made;
  - (3) The suitability of these rights and benefits to the needs of the participants and the interest of the institutions of the System in recruiting and retaining faculty in a national and market;
  - (4) The ability of the designated company or companies underwriting the annuity contracts or trust agreement to provide these suitable rights and benefits under such contracts or trust agreement for these purposes.

In lieu of such designation and in order to provide a more efficient, cost-effective, and flexible Program, the System may designate the company or companies designated for the Optional Retirement Program for State institutions of higher education as prescribed in G.S. 135-5.1(d).

Notwithstanding the provisions of this subsection, no contractual relationship established under the Optional Retirement Program pursuant to the authority granted by Chapter 338, Session Laws of 1971, is deemed terminated by the provisions of this section.

(e) The System or employing institution may provide for the administration of the Optional Retirement Program and may perform or authorize the performance of all functions necessary for its administration.

- (f) Any eligible employee electing to participate in the Optional Retirement Program is ineligible for membership in the Retirement System so long as he or she remains employed in any eligible position within the System, and, in this event, he or she shall continue to participate in the Optional Retirement Program.
- (g) No retirement benefit, death benefit, or other benefit under the Optional Retirement Program shall be paid by the State of North Carolina, or the System, or the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System with respect to any employee selecting and participating in the Optional Retirement Program or with respect to any beneficiary of that employee. Benefits shall be payable to participants or their beneficiaries only by the designated company in accordance with the terms of the contracts or trust agreement.
- (h) The North Carolina Community College System shall ensure that the Optional Retirement Program for State-funded community colleges contains benefit forfeiture provisions equivalent to those contained in G.S. 135-18.10A for community college personnel eligible for membership in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and have elected participation in the Optional Retirement Program. Any funds forfeited shall be deposited in the Optional Retirement Program trust fund(s).

### History.

2001-424, s. 32.24(a); 2001-513, s. 24; 2012-193, s. 12; 2018-84, s. 1.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 29.18(a)-(e), provides: "(a) The following definitions apply in this section:

"(1) Furlough. — A temporary, involuntary period of leave from employment without pay but shall not include any period of involuntary leave resulting from disciplinary action.

"(2) Public agency. — A State agency, department, or institution in the executive branch of State government; The University of North Carolina; the North Carolina Community College System; and a local school administrative unit.

"(3) Public employee. — An employee employed by the legislative or judicial branches or by a public agency.

"(b) Any furlough of a public employee paid with State funds is prohibited unless the furlough is ordered by the Governor while acting to balance the budget pursuant to Section 5 of Article III of the North Carolina Constitution or by the Chief Justice or the Legislative Services Officer, respectively, to balance the judicial branch or legislative branch budget.

"The Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina, the State

Board of Community Colleges, and each local public school board of education must petition the Governor to furlough its respective employees in order to balance the respective budgets.

- "(c) If, in accordance with subsection (b) of this section, necessary economies in expenditures must be effected by a furlough of public employees, the employing public agency, the judicial branch, or the legislative branch, respectively, shall report to the State Treasurer, the Director of the Retirement Systems Division, and the Executive Administrator of the State Health Plan the following:
- "(1) The specifics of the authorized furlough.
- "(2) The positions affected, including all full-time, part-time, temporary, and contractual positions, all nonessential personnel, and all nonteaching positions.
- "(3) The individual employees affected, including the applicable reduction in salary and whether the employee is subject to or exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- "(d) If, in accordance with subsection (b) of this section, necessary economies in expenditures must be effected by a furlough of public employees, then a public employee on a furlough who is:

"(1) A member of any of the Statesupported retirement plans administered by the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer or of an Optional Retirement Program (ORP) administered under G.S. 135-5.1 or G.S. 135-5.4 shall be considered in active service during any period of furlough and shall be entitled to all of the same benefits to which the employee was entitled on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The member shall suffer no diminution of retirement average final compensation based on being on furlough, and the retirement average final compensation shall be calculated based on the undiminished compensation. During a furlough period, the employer shall pay both employee and employer contributions to the Retirement Systems Division or ORP on behalf of the furloughed employee as though the employee were in active service.

"(2) A member of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall be considered eligible for coverage under the Plan on the same basis as on the workday immediately preceding the furlough. The public employer shall pay contributions on behalf of the furloughed public employee as though the employee were in active service.

"(e) The benefits protections provided by this section shall also apply to public employees in the judicial and legislative branches."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2011.'"

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 32.2, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2011-2013 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2011-2013 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 32.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 17, as amended by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 3, provides: "The State Treasurer shall negotiate a memorandum of agreement with the United States Attorneys for the Eastern, Middle, and Western Districts of North Carolina whereby the prosecutors will notify the State Treasurer of convictions under G.S. 135-18.10A(b), 128-38.4A(b), 135-75.1A(b), 120-4.33A(b), 135-5.1(h), 135-5.4(h), and 58-86-100."

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 18, made subsection (h) of this section effective December 1, 2012, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

# § 135-5.5. Inactive employers.

- (a) An employer shall be considered an inactive employer if all of the following criteria are met:
  - (1) The employer has no employees that qualify for membership in any System under this Chapter.
  - (2) The employer has made no employer contributions for at least one month.
  - (3) The employer makes a request in writing to the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer to be made inactive.
  - (4) The Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer has reviewed the employer request to become inactive and has granted that request. The Retirement Systems Division shall provide written notification to the requesting employer of any decisions made under this section.
- (b) Not later than April 30 of each calendar year, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall make a report to the Board of Trustees on all employers who were determined to be inactive employers in that preceding calendar year.

- (c) Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, an employer who fails to report any qualifying employees for six consecutive months shall be considered an inactive employer.
- (d) Not later than May 15 of each calendar year, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall notify all employers who were reported to the Board of Trustees as inactive employers. An employer reported as inactive may apply to extend its inactive period for up to one year by submitting to the Retirement System, on or before June 30 of the same calendar year, clear and convincing evidence satisfactory to the Retirement System of the employer's intention to hire an employee in a position qualifying for membership service in the Retirement System.
- (e) Not later than July 31 of each calendar year, the Board of Trustees shall determine whether to grant any applications to extend the period of an employer's inactive status.
- (f) On October 1 of each calendar year, any employer included in the most recent report of inactive employers provided to the Board of Trustees that has not resumed reporting eligible employees and has not had its inactive status extended by the Board shall cease participation in the Retirement System according to the procedure and payment requirements of subsection (i) of G.S. 135-8, with a complete withdrawal date of October 1.

#### History.

2020-48, s. 1.9(a); 2022-14, s. 2.1.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 7.1 made this section effective June 26, 2020.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 2.1, effective December 31, 2022, inserted "Department of" preceding "State Treasurer" in subdivision (a)(4); inserted "of Trustees" following "Board" in subsection (b); and added subsections (c) through (f).

# § 135-5.6. Employees of the University of North Carolina Health Care System.

- (a) All employees of the University of North Carolina Health Care System who (i) are employed before January 1, 2024, and (ii) are members of either the Retirement System or the Optional Retirement Program before January 1, 2024, shall retain membership in that Retirement System or that Optional Retirement Program unless the member makes a one-time, irrevocable election to cease membership in the Retirement System or the Optional Retirement Program in favor of a similar benefit offered by the University of North Carolina Health Care System pursuant to G.S. 116-350.30.
- (b) Employees of the University of North Carolina Health Care System who are hired on or after January 1, 2024, shall not be eligible for membership in the Retirement System. The University of North Carolina Health Care System shall offer employees of the

System who are hired on or after January 1, 2024, any of the following benefits:

- (1) Membership in the Optional Retirement System.
- (2) Enrollment in a similar benefit to the Optional Retirement System pursuant to G.S. 116-350.30.
- (3) A choice between the options provided in subdivision (1) and subdivision (2) of this subsection.
- (c) If any individual ceases to be employed by the University of North Carolina Health Care System on or after January 1, 2024, and is later rehired by the University of North Carolina Health Care System, then that individual shall be treated as an employee newly hired on or after January 1, 2024, for the purposes of this section.
- (d) The University of North Carolina Health Care System shall continue to report the payroll of employees employed as of December 31, 2023, and shall continue to remit the employee and employer contributions for employees retaining membership in the Retirement System or the Optional Retirement Program until none exist.
- (e) Notwithstanding subsections (b) and (c) of this section, an individual hired by the University of North Carolina Health Care System on or after January 1, 2024, who is a contributing member of the Retirement System or the Optional Retirement Program immediately prior to that individual's date of hire by the University of North Carolina Health Care System shall, for the purposes of this section, be treated as having been employed as of December 31, 2023. If, at the time of entering eligible employment with the University of North Carolina Health Care System, that individual is a member of the Retirement System and was not previously offered an election to participate in the Optional Retirement Program, then that individual may elect to continue contributing membership in the Retirement System or to participate in the Optional Retirement Program.
- (f) Subsections (b) and (c) of this section shall not apply to law-enforcement officers, as defined under G.S. 143-166.30, employed by the University of North Carolina Health Care System.

#### History.

2023-134, s. 4.10(p); 2024-1, s. 1.7(h).

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(dd), made this section, as added by Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(p), effective October 3, 2023.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

# **Effect of Amendments.**

Session Laws 2024-1, s. 1.7(h), effective retroactively to January 1, 2024, made a minor stylistic change in subsection (a); and added subsections (e) and (f).

# § 135-5.7. Certain employees of East Carolina University.

(a) As used in this section, the terms "Medical Faculty Practice

Plan" and "ECU Dental School Clinical Operations" have the same meaning as in G.S. 116-360.5.

- (b) All employees of the Medical Faculty Practice Plan and the ECU Dental School Clinical Operations who (i) are employed before January 1, 2024, and (ii) are members of either the Retirement System or the Optional Retirement Program before January 1, 2024, shall retain membership in that Retirement System or that Optional Retirement Program unless the member makes a one-time, irrevocable election to cease membership in the Retirement System or the Optional Retirement Program in favor of a similar benefit offered by the East Carolina University School of Medicine, the Medical Faculty Practice Plan, or the ECU Dental School Clinical Operations pursuant to G.S. 116-360.15.
- (c) Employees of the Medical Faculty Practice Plan or the ECU Dental School Clinical Operations hired on or after January 1, 2024, shall not be eligible for membership in the Retirement System. East Carolina University shall offer employees of the Medical Faculty Practice Plan and employees of the ECU Dental School Clinical Operations who are hired on or after January 1, 2024, any of the following benefits:
  - (1) Membership in the Optional Retirement System.
  - (2) Enrollment in a similar benefit to the Optional Retirement System pursuant to G.S. 116-360.15.
  - (3) A choice between the options provided in subdivision (1) and subdivision (2) of this subsection.
- (d) If any individual ceases to be employed by the Medical Faculty Practice Plan or the ECU Dental School Clinical Operations on or after January 1, 2024, and is later rehired by the Medical Faculty Practice Plan or the ECU Dental School Clinical Operations, then that individual shall be treated as an employee newly hired on or after January 1, 2024, for the purposes of this section.
- (e) East Carolina University School of Medicine shall continue to report the payroll of employees employed as of December 31, 2023, and shall continue to remit the employee and employer contributions for all employees retaining membership in the Retirement System or the Optional Retirement Program until none exist.
- (f) Notwithstanding subsections (b) and (c) of this section, an individual hired by the Medical Faculty Practice Plan or the ECU Dental School Clinical Operations on or after January 1, 2024, who is a contributing member of the Retirement System or the Optional Retirement Program immediately prior to that individual's date of hire by the Medical Faculty Practice Plan or the ECU Dental School Clinical Operations shall, for the purposes of this section, be treated as having been employed as of December 31, 2023. If, at the time of entering eligible employment with the Medical Faculty Practice Plan or the ECU Dental School Clinical Operations, that individual is a member of the Retirement System and was not previously

offered an election to participate in the Optional Retirement Program, then that individual may elect to continue contributing membership in the Retirement System or to participate in the Optional Retirement Program.

# History.

2023-134, s. 4.10(p); 2024-1, s. 1.7(i).

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(dd), made this section, as added by Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(p), effective October 3, 2023.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the

'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-1, s. 1.7(i), effective retroactively to January 1, 2024, made a minor stylistic change in subsection (b); and added subsection (f).

# § 135-6. Administration.

(a) Administration by Board of Trustees; Corporate Name; Rights and Powers; Tax Exemption. — The general administration and responsibility for the proper operation of the Retirement System and for making effective the provisions of the Chapter are hereby vested in a Board of Trustees which shall be organized immediately after a majority of the trustees provided for in this section shall have qualified and taken the oath of office.

The Board of Trustees shall be a body politic and corporate under the name "Board of Trustees Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System"; and as a body politic and corporate shall have the right to sue and be sued, shall have perpetual succession and a common seal, and in said corporate name shall be able and capable in law to take, demand, receive and possess all kinds of real and personal property necessary and proper for its corporate purposes, and to bargain, sell, grant, alien, or dispose of all such real and personal property as it may lawfully acquire. All such property owned or acquired by said body politic and corporate shall be exempt from all taxes imposed by the State or any political subdivision thereof, and shall not be subject to income taxes.

- (b) **Membership of Board; Terms.** The Board shall consist of the following 13 members:
  - (1) The State Treasurer, ex officio.
  - (2) The Superintendent of Public Instruction, ex officio.
  - (2a) The Director of the Office of State Human Resources, ex officio
  - (3) Eight members to be appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the Senate of North Carolina. One of the appointive members shall be a member of the teaching profession of the State; one of the appointive members shall be a retired teacher who is drawing a retirement allowance, appointed by the Governor for a term of four years commencing July 1, 1969, and quadrennially thereafter; one

shall be a retired State employee who is drawing a retirement allowance, appointed by the Governor for a term of four years commencing July 1, 1977, and quadrennially thereafter; one to be a general State employee, and two who are not members of the teaching profession or State employees; two to be appointed for a term of two years, two for a term of three years and one for a term of four years; one appointive member shall be a law-enforcement officer employed by the State, appointed by the Governor, for a term of four years commencing April 1, 1985. One member shall be an active or retired member of the North Carolina National Guard appointed by the Governor for a term of four years commencing July 1, 2013. At the expiration of these terms of office the appointment shall be for a term of four years.

- (4) Two members appointed by the General Assembly, one appointed upon the recommendation of the Speaker of the House of Representatives, and one appointed upon the recommendation of the President Pro Tempore of the Senate in accordance with G.S. 120-121. Neither of these members may be an active or retired teacher or State employee or an employee of a unit of local government. The initial members appointed by the General Assembly shall serve for terms expiring June 30, 1983. Thereafter, their successors shall serve for two-year terms beginning July 1 of odd-numbered years. Vacancies in appointments made by the General Assembly shall be filled in accordance with G.S. 120-122.
- (c) **Compensation of Trustees.** The trustees shall be paid during sessions of the Board at the prevailing rate established for members of State boards and commissions, and they shall be reimbursed for all necessary expenses that they incur through service on the Board.
- (d) **Oath.** Each trustee other than the ex officio members shall, within 10 days after his appointment, take an oath of office, that, so far as it devolves upon him, he will diligently and honestly administer the affairs of the said Board, and that he will not knowingly violate or willingly permit to be violated any of the provisions of law applicable to the Retirement System. Such oath shall be subscribed to by the member making it, and certified by the officer before whom it is taken, and immediately filed in the office of the Secretary of State.
- (e) **Voting Rights.** Each trustee shall be entitled to one vote in the Board. A majority of affirmative votes by trustees in attendance shall be necessary for a decision by the trustees at any meeting of the Board. A vote may only be taken if at least seven members of the Board are in attendance, in person or by telephone, for the meeting at which a vote on a decision is taken.

- (e1) Effect of Vote Related to Contributory Death Benefit.
- No decision of the Board related to the Contributory Death Benefit provided for under this Chapter, Chapter 120, or Chapter 127A of the General Statutes, shall take effect unless and until this same decision has been made and voted on by the Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees Retirement System.
- (f) **Rules and Regulations.** Subject to the limitations of this Chapter, the Board of Trustees shall, from time to time, establish rules and regulations for the administration of the funds created by this Chapter and for the transaction of its business. The Board of Trustees shall also, from time to time, in its discretion, adopt rules and regulations to prevent injustices and inequalities which might otherwise arise in the administration of this Chapter.
- (g) Officers and Other Employees; Salaries and Expenses. The State Treasurer shall be ex officio chair of the Board of Trustees and shall appoint a director. The Board of Trustees shall engage such actuarial and other service as shall be required to transact the business of the Retirement System. The compensation of all persons, other than the director, engaged by the Board of Trustees, and all other expenses of the Board necessary for the operation of the Retirement System, shall be paid at such rates and in such amounts as the Board of Trustees shall approve, subject to the approval of the Director of the Budget.
- (h) **Actuarial Data.** The Board of Trustees shall keep in convenient form such data as shall be necessary for actuarial valuation of the various funds of the Retirement System, and for checking the experience of the System.
- (i) **Record of Proceedings; Annual Report.** The Board of Trustees shall keep a record of all of its proceedings which shall be open to public inspection. It shall publish annually a report showing the fiscal transactions of the Retirement System for the preceding year, the amount of the accumulated cash and securities of the System, and the last balance sheet showing the financial condition of the System by means of an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the Retirement System. It shall also publish annually a report on supplemental insurance offerings that are made available to retirees and the extent to which retirees participate in those offerings.
- (j) **Legal Adviser.** The Attorney General shall be the legal adviser of the Board of Trustees.
- (k) **Medical Board.** The Board of Trustees shall designate a medical board to be composed of not less than three nor more than five physicians not eligible to participate in the Retirement System. The Board of Trustees may structure appointment requirements and term durations for those medical board members. If required, other physicians may be employed to report on special cases. The medical board shall arrange for and pass upon all medical exami-

nations required under the provisions of this Chapter, and shall investigate all essential statements and certificates by or on behalf of a member in connection with an application for disability retirement, and shall report in writing to the Board of Trustees its conclusion and recommendations upon all the matters referred to it, except as otherwise provided in this Chapter. A person serving on the medical board shall be immune individually from civil liability for monetary damages, except to the extent covered by insurance, for any act or failure to act arising out of that service, except where any of the following apply:

- (1) The person was not acting within the scope of that person's official duties.
- (2) The person was not acting in good faith.
- (3) The person committed gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct that resulted in the damages or injury.
- (4) The person derived an improper financial benefit, either directly or indirectly, from the transaction.
- (5) The person incurred the liability from the operation of a motor vehicle.
- (1) **Duties of Actuary.** The Board of Trustees shall designate an actuary who shall be the technical adviser of the Board of Trustees on matters regarding the operation of the funds created by the provisions of this Chapter and shall perform such other duties as are required in connection therewith. The experience studies and all other actuarial calculations required by this Chapter, and all the assumptions used by the System's actuary, including mortality tables, interest rates, annuity factors, the contribution-based benefit cap factor, and employer contribution rates, shall be set out in the actuary's periodic reports, annual valuations of System assets, or other materials provided to the Board of Trustees. Notwithstanding Article 2A of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, these materials. once accepted by the Board, shall be considered part of the Plan documentation governing this Retirement System and shall be effective the first day of the month following adoption unless a different date is specified in the adopting resolution. The effective date shall not retroactively affect a contribution rate. The Board's minutes relative to all actuarial assumptions used by the System shall also be considered part of the Plan documentation governing this Retirement System, with the result of precluding any employer discretion in the determination of benefits payable hereunder, consistent with Section 401(a)(25) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (m) Immediately after the establishment of the Retirement System the actuary shall make such investigation of the mortality, service and compensation experience of the members of the System as he shall recommend and the Board of Trustees shall authorize, and on the basis of such investigation he shall recommend for adoption by the Board of Trustees such tables and such rates as are

required in subsection (n), subdivisions (1) and (2), of this section. The Board of Trustees shall adopt tables and certify rates, and as soon as practicable thereafter the actuary shall make a valuation based on such tables and rates of the assets and liabilities of the funds created by this Chapter.

- (n) In 1943, and at least once in each five-year period thereafter, the actuary shall complete an actuarial experience review of the mortality, service and compensation experience of the members and beneficiaries of the Retirement System and shall make a valuation of the assets and liabilities of the funds of the System. Taking into account the result of the actuarial investigation and valuation, the Board of Trustees shall do all of the following:
  - (1) Adopt any necessary mortality, service, or other tables and any necessary contribution-based benefit cap factors for the Retirement System.
  - (2) Certify the rates of contributions payable by the State of North Carolina on account of new entrants at various ages.

In order to pay for the administration of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the Retirement System or may pay the costs directly from the retirement assets.

- (n1) Prior to undertaking each quinquennial actuarial experience review, as required by this section, the Board of Trustees shall provide the General Assembly and the Governor a report that includes all of the following, as these items apply to the Retirement System:
  - (1) A description of, and the process used to determine, the investment return assumption utilized by the Board of Trustees when determining the contribution rates.
  - (2) An estimate of the range of likely employer contributions over 20 years based on analysis that simulates the volatility of annual investment returns above and below the expected rate, applying methodology determined by the actuary.
  - (3) Projections of assets, liabilities, pension debt, service costs, employee contributions, employer contributions, net amortization, benefit payments, payroll, and funded ratio for the Retirement System for each of the next 30 years based upon the then-current actuarial assumptions, including the assumed rate of return.
  - (4) Projections of assets, liabilities, pension debt, service costs, employee contributions, employer contributions, net amortization, benefit payments, payroll, and funded ratio for the Retirement System assuming that investment returns are two and four percentage points lower than the assumed rate of return and that the State makes employer contributions meeting all of the following:

- a. The contributions are based upon the then-current funding policy for the Retirement System.
- b. The contributions are held constant at the levels calculated for subdivision (3) of this subsection.
- c. The contributions never exceed fifteen percent (15%) of projected total revenue available for appropriation by the General Assembly.
- (5) Estimates for assets, liabilities, pension debt, service costs, employee contributions, employer contributions, net amortization, benefit payments, payroll, and funded ratio for the Retirement System, if there is a one-year loss on planned investments of twenty percent (20%) followed by a 20-year period of investment returns two percentage points below plan assumptions, with the following assumptions regarding contributions:
  - a. The contributions are based upon the then-current funding policy for the Retirement System.
  - b. The contributions are held constant at the levels calculated for subdivision (3) of this subsection.
  - c. The contributions never exceed fifteen percent (15%) of projected total revenue available for appropriation by the General Assembly.
- (6) The estimated actuarially accrued liability, the total plan normal cost for all benefit tiers if multiple tiers exist, and the employer normal cost for all benefit tiers if multiple tiers exist, calculated using all of the following:
  - a. A discount rate equal to the assumed rate of return. If the discount rate used by the Retirement System is different from the investment return assumption, then the report shall provide a calculation of actuarially accrued liability based upon a discount rate that is two percent (2%) and four percent (4%) above and below the long-term rate of return actually used by the Board of Trustees.
  - b. The 10-year average of the yield of 30-year treasury notes.
- (7) A description of the amortization period for any unfunded liabilities utilized by the Board of Trustees when determining the contribution rates.
- (8) A calculation of the contribution rates based on an amortization period equal to the estimated average remaining service periods of employees covered by the contributions.
- (9) A description of the interest assumption rate utilized by the Board of Trustees for reporting liabilities and the process used to determine that assumption.
- (10) The market value of the assets controlled by the Board of Trustees and an explanation of how the actuarial value

- assigned to those assets differs from the market value of those assets.
- (11) An assessment of how the changes of assumptions adopted by the Board of Trustees in the experience review affect any of the other results in the report.
- (12) Any additional information deemed useful by the Board of Trustees or the Investment Advisory Committee under G.S. 147-69.2 to evaluate or adjust the investment policy statement or to evaluate adherence to or risk associated with statutory constraints on investments.
- (13) Any additional information deemed useful by the Board to evaluate current or prospective funding or contribution policies.
- (n2) With regards to payment for the administration of subsections (n), (n1), and (o) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or may pay the costs directly from the retirement assets.
- (o) On the basis of the tables and interest assumption rate as adopted by the Board of Trustees, the actuary shall make an annual valuation of the assets and liabilities of the funds of the System created by this Chapter. The annual valuation shall include a supplementary section that provides an analysis of assets on a market basis using the 30-year treasury rate as of December 31 of the year of the valuation as the discount rate. In order to pay for the administration of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the Retirement System or may pay the costs directly from the retirement assets.
- (p) Notwithstanding any law, rule, regulation or policy to the contrary, any board, agency, department, institution or subdivision of the State maintaining lists of names and addresses in the administration of their programs may upon request provide to the Retirement System information limited to social security numbers, current name and addresses of persons identified by the System as members, beneficiaries, and beneficiaries of members of the System. The System shall use such information for the sole purpose of notifying members, beneficiaries, and beneficiaries of members of their rights to and accruals of benefits in the Retirement System. Any social security number, current name and address so obtained and any information concluded therefrom and the source thereof shall be treated as confidential and shall not be divulged by any employee of the Retirement System or of the Department of State Treasurer except as may be necessary to notify the member, beneficiary, or beneficiary of the member of their rights to and accruals of benefits in the Retirement System. Any person, officer, employee or former employee violating this provision shall be guilty of a Class 1

misdemeanor; and if such offending person be a public official or employee, he shall be dismissed from office or employment and shall not hold any public office or employment in this State for a period of five years thereafter.

- (q) Compliance Investigations and Fraud Investigations Access to Persons and Records. In the course of conducting a compliance investigation or a fraud investigation, the Retirement Systems Division, or authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff, shall:
  - (1) Have ready access to persons and may examine and copy all books, records, reports, vouchers, correspondence, files, personnel files, investments, and any other documentation of any employer. The review of State tax returns shall be limited to matters of official business, and the Division's report shall not violate the confidentiality provisions of tax laws.
  - (2) Have such access to persons, records, papers, reports, vouchers, correspondence, books, and any other documentation that is in the possession of any individual, private corporation, institution, association, board, or other organization that pertain to the following:
    - a. Amounts received pursuant to a grant or contract from the federal government, the State, or its political subdivisions.
    - b. Amounts received, disbursed, or otherwise handled on behalf of the federal government or the State.
  - (3) Have the authority, and shall be provided with ready access, to examine and inspect all property, equipment, and facilities in the possession of any employer agency or any individual, private corporation, institution, association, board, or other organization that were furnished or otherwise provided through grant, contract, or any other type of funding by the employer agency.

With respect to the requirements of sub-subdivision (2)b. of this subsection, providers of social and medical services to a beneficiary shall make copies of records they maintain for services provided to a beneficiary available to the Retirement Systems Division, or to the authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff. Copies of the records of social and medical services provided to a beneficiary will permit verification of the health or other status of a beneficiary as required for the payment of benefits under Article 1, Article 4, or Article 6 of this Chapter. The Retirement Systems Division, or authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff, shall request records in writing by providing the name of each beneficiary for whom records are sought, the purpose of the request, the statutory authority for the request, and a reasonable period of time for the

production of record copies by the provider. A provider may charge, and the Retirement Systems Division, or authorized representatives who are assisting the Retirement Systems Division staff, shall, in accordance with G.S. 90-411, pay a reasonable fee to the provider for copies of the records provided in accordance with this subsection.

- (r) Compliance or Fraud Investigative Reports and Work **Papers.** — The Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division shall maintain for 10 years a complete file of all compliance investigative reports, fraud investigative reports and reports of other examinations, investigations, surveys, and reviews issued under the Executive Director's authority. Fraud or compliance investigation work papers and other evidence or related supportive material directly pertaining to the work of the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall be retained according to an agreement between the Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division and State Archives. To promote intergovernmental cooperation and avoid unnecessary duplication of fraud and compliance investigative efforts, and notwithstanding local unit personnel policies to the contrary, pertinent work papers and other supportive material relating to issued fraud or compliance investigation reports may be, at the discretion of the Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division and, unless otherwise prohibited by law, made available for inspection by duly authorized representatives of the State and federal government who desire access to and inspection of such records in connection with some matter officially before them, including criminal investigations. Except as provided in this section, or upon an order issued in Wake County Superior Court upon 10 days' notice and hearing finding that access is necessary to a proper administration of justice, fraud and compliance investigation work papers and related supportive material shall be kept confidential, including any information developed as a part of the investigation.
- (s) **Fraud Reports May Be Anonymous.** The identity of any person reporting fraud, waste, and abuse to the Retirement Systems Division shall be kept confidential and shall not be maintained as a public record within the meaning of G.S. 132-1.
- (t) **Immunity.** A person serving on the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System Board of Trustees shall be immune individually from civil liability for monetary damages, except to the extent covered by insurance, for any act or failure to act arising out of that service, except where any of the following apply:
  - (1) The person was not acting within the scope of that person's official duties.
  - (2) The person was not acting in good faith.
  - (3) The person committed gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct that resulted in the damages or injury.
  - (4) The person derived an improper personal financial benefit, either directly or indirectly, from the transaction.

- (5) The person incurred the liability from the operation of a motor vehicle.
- (u) Notwithstanding G.S. 114-2.3 and G.S. 147-17, the Treasurer may designate legal counsel, including private counsel, to represent the interests of the administration of benefit programs under this Chapter.

### History.

1941, c. 25, s. 6; 1943, c. 719; 1947, c. 259; 1957, c. 541, s. 15; 1965, c. 780, s. 1; 1969, c. 805; c. 1223, s. 17; 1973, c. 241, s. 8; c. 507, s. 5; c. 1114; 1977, c. 564; 1979, c. 376; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1191, s. 11; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, s. 238; 1987, c. 539, s. 1; 1993, c. 539, s. 972; 1994, Ex. Sess., c. 24, s. 14(c); 1995, c. 490, s. 57; 2012-130, ss. 2(b), 9(b); 2012-185, ss. 2(d), 4(b); 2013-287, s. 4(a); 2014-112, ss. 4(a), 6(a); 2016-108, s. 6(a)-(c); 2017-102, s. 33.2; 2017-102, s. 33.2; 2017-128, s. 1(d); 2020-29, s. 2(a); 2020-48, ss. 2.1(a), (b), 4.1(a), 4.2(a), (b); 2023-48, s. 3(a); 2023-105, s. 3.2; 2024-9, s. 1(c).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 6(a) added a new subdivision (b)(3) and redesignated subdivisions (b)(3) and (4) accordingly. At the direction of the Revisor of Statutes the new subdivision was designated (b)(2a) making the redesignation of subdivisions (b)(3) and (4) unnecessary.

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Subdivisions (1a) through (12) of subsection (n1), as enacted by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 2.1(b), were redesignated as subdivisions (2) through (13), respectively, at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes. In sub-subdivisions (n1)(4)b. and (n1)(5)b., a reference to "subdivision (2) of this subsection" was changed to "subdivision (3) of this subsection" to conform to the redesignation of subsection (n1), also at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.2(e), made the amendment to subsections (n) and (o) of this section by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.2(a), (b), effective June 26, 2020, and applicable to actuarial investigations and calculations made on or after that date.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 3.6, provides: "The Board of Trustees shall adopt rules to implement the provisions of this Part [Part III of Session Laws 2023-105]."

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 2(a), effective June 19, 2020, added subsection (e1).

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 2.1(a), (b), effective June 26, 2020, in subsection (n), in the introductory paragraph, substituted "complete an actuarial experience review of" for "make an actuarial investigation into" near the beginning, and added "do all the following" at the end; made a minor punctuation change in subdivision (n)(1); and added subsections (n1) and (n2).

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.1(a), effective June 26, 2020, rewrote subsection (*l*).

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.2(a), (b), in subsection (n), in the introductory paragraph, substituted "System. Taking into account the result of the actuarial" for "System, and taking into account the result of such investigation" and made a minor punctuation change rewrote subdivision (1), and added the concluding paragraph; and in subsection (o), substituted "adopted by the Board of Trustees" for "the Board of Trustees shall adopt" in the first sentence, added the last sentence, and made a minor stylistic change. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2023-48, s. 3(a), effective July 1, 2023, added subsection (u).

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 3.2, effective January 1, 2024, added "except as otherwise provided in this Chapter" at the end of the next-to-last sentence of the introductory paragraph of subsection (k).

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 1(c), effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (r), inserted "Executive" throughout, inserted "Systems Division" twice, and made minor stylistic changes.

# Legal Periodicals.

For article, "The Impact of Law on the State Pension Crisis," see 54 Wake Forest L. Rev. 105 (2019).

#### CASE NOTES

Rule Making. — Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer (Division) erred in invoicing a school employee or school board for contributions to the employee's retirement fund pursuant to a statutory cap factor because (1) the factor was a rule not properly adopted pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, and (2) the Division was a state agency not exempt from rule making requirements. Cabarrus Cty. Bd. of Educ. v. Dep't of State Treasurer, 261 N.C. App. 325, 821 S.E.2d 196, 2018 N.C. App. LEXIS 948 (2018), aff'd, 374 N.C. 3, 839 S.E.2d 814, 2020 N.C. LEXIS 270 (2020).

General Assembly did not impliedly exempt the Board of Trustees from the necessity of compliance with APA's rulemaking provisions in adopting a cap factor where G.S. 135-5(a3) and G.S. 135-6(l) could be harmonized, the adoption of a cap factor was not a ministerial act in which the Board did nothing more than ratify the actuary's recommendation, case law did not support such an implied exemption, and the public interests supported the Board of Education's contention that the cap factor should be established by using the APA's rulemaking provisions to ensure the opportunity for adequate public input before a decision became final. Cabarrus Cty. Bd. of Educ. v. Dep't of State Treasurer, 374 N.C. 3, 839 S.E.2d 814, 2020 N.C. LEXIS 270 (2020).

**Board Without Power to Waive Statutory Deadlines.** — The Board of Trustees of the Retirement System does not have discretionary power to extend or waive statutory deadlines for the reinstatement of a withdrawn account or

for purchase of out-of-state service, since a waiver would not be a rule or regulation to prevent injustice and inequality across the board but simply a waiver in a specific instance. In re Ford, 52 N.C. App. 569, 279 S.E.2d 122, 1981 N.C. App. LEXIS 2448 (1981).

Board had Power to Waive Penalties. — Board's practice of waiving penalties under circumstances where employers were not at fault for failing to remit employer contributions to the Retirement System was entirely consistent with the Board's statutory discretion to adopt rules to prevent injustices under G.S. 135-6(f). Accordingly, the Treasurer and the Board were not required by G.S. 135-8(f)(3) to punish those employers whose employer contributions were not deposited in the Retirement System. Stone v. State, 191 N.C. App. 402, 664 S.E.2d 32, 2008 N.C. App. LEXIS 1485 (2008).

Actuarially Sound Manner is a Term in State Employees' Retirement Contract. — Because state employees had a contractual right to the funding of the Retirement System in an actuarially sound manner, under G.S. 135-6(i) and (m)-(o), the right to have the Retirement System funded in an actuarially sound manner was a term or condition included in the employees' retirement contracts. Stone v. State, 191 N.C. App. 402, 664 S.E.2d 32, 2008 N.C. App. LEXIS 1485 (2008).

Role of Actuary. — G.S. 135-6(m)-(o) envision an active role for an actuary in the state employees' Retirement System. Stone v. State, 191 N.C. App. 402, 664 S.E.2d 32, 2008 N.C. App. LEXIS 1485 (2008).

# § 135-6.1. Member retirement record files held by the Retirement System.

- (a) The following definitions apply in this section:
  - (1) Employment-related information. As defined in G.S. 126-22(b)(3).
  - (2) Personal information. As defined in G.S. 126-22(b)(3).
  - (3) Retirement file. Any employment-related, retirement-related, or personal information of members in a State-administered retirement plan gathered by the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer.
  - (4) Retirement-related information. Information including membership and service details, benefit payment information, and other information the Retirement Systems Divi-

- sion of the Department of State Treasurer deems necessary to administer a retirement plan.
- (b) Member retirement files are not subject to inspection and examination as authorized by G.S. 132-6 except as provided in G.S. 135-6(p), G.S. 128-28(q), and subsections (c), (d), and (e) of this section.
- (c) The following information regarding members and individuals in receipt of a recurring monthly benefit, if held by the Retirement System, is public and subject to subsection (d) of this section:
  - (1) Name.
  - (2) Age.
  - (3) Date of membership in the applicable Retirement System, first service earned date, date of first enrollment, date of first employment, and date of retirement.
  - (4) The terms of any contract by which the member is employed whether written or oral, past and current, to the extent that the Retirement System has the written contract or a record of the oral contract in its possession.
  - (5) Current or most recently held position or title.
  - (6) Compensation and other relevant remuneration history and benefits paid.
  - (7) Date, general description, and type of each change and the corresponding employing agency.
  - (8) The office or station to which the member is currently assigned, if any.
  - (9) The record of benefit payments made by one of the Retirement Systems or Disability Benefits Programs administered by the Department of State Treasurer to a member or to the survivor, beneficiary, or alternate payee of a member.
  - (10) Purchases of educational leave.
- (d) Subject only to rules and policies for the safekeeping of member retirement files adopted by the Board of Trustees, every person having custody of the retirement file information outlined in subsection (b) of this section shall permit the information to be inspected and examined and copies thereof made by any person during regular business hours. Any person who is denied access to any retirement file for the purpose of inspecting, examining, or copying the file has a right to compel compliance with the provisions of this section by application to a court of competent jurisdiction for a writ of mandamus or other appropriate relief.
- (e) The Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may disclose the name and mailing address of former State and local government employees, former public school employees, or former community college employees to domiciled, nonprofit organizations representing 10,000 or more retired State government, local government, or public school employees.
- (e1) The Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may disclose to employers and former employers that

made a contribution for an employee or former employee to the Retirement System any information that is not public under this section regarding that employee necessary to conduct the business of the Retirement System. Employers and former employers in receipt of this information shall treat the information as confidential, and this information shall not be a public record.

- (f) All information other than the information listed in subsection (c) of this section contained in a retirement file is confidential and not open for inspection and examination except to the following persons:
  - (1) The member, or the member's authorized agent, who may examine his or her own retirement file, except for any information concerning a medical disability, mental or physical, that a prudent physician would not divulge to a patient. A member's medical record may be disclosed to a licensed physician in writing by the member.
  - (2) A member of the General Assembly who may inspect and examine records under the authority of G.S. 120-19.
  - (3) A party by authority of a proper court order may inspect and examine a particular confidential portion of a member's retirement file.
- (g) Any public official or employee who knowingly and willfully permits any person to have access to or custody or possession of any portion of a retirement file designated as confidential by this section, unless the person is one specifically authorized by this section to have access thereto for inspection and examination, is guilty of a Class 3 misdemeanor and upon conviction shall only be fined in the discretion of the court but not in excess of five hundred dollars (\$500.00).
- (h) Any person not specifically authorized by this section to have access to a retirement file designated as confidential by this section, who knowingly and willfully examines, removes, or copies any portion of a confidential retirement file, is guilty of a Class 3 misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined in the discretion of the court but not in excess of five hundred dollars (\$500.00).

### History.

2016-108, s. 2(b); 2018-85, s. 8(a); 2020-48, s. 1.16(a).

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 2(a), provides: "The February 5, 2008, Attorney General's advisory opinion entitled 'Advisory Opinion: Confidentiality of Retirement Benefit Information; Session Law 2007-508' concluded that information about retirement benefits was intended to be included among those records required to be maintained for public inspection by each department, agency, in-

stitution, commission, and bureau of the State and that as a result the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of the State Treasurer makes that information available for public inspection and examination. The General Assembly finds that the interests of clarity require statutory language providing guidance to the Retirement Systems Division in determining and maintaining consistency as to what information should be made available about the retirement accounts of State and local employees."

Session Laws 2016-108, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2018-85, s. 8(c), provides that the amendment by Session Laws 2018-85, s. 8(a) applies retroactively, effective July 22, 2016.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.16(a), effective June 26, 2020, added subsection (e1).

# § 135-7. Management of funds.

- (a) **Vested in Board of Trustees.** The Board of Trustees shall be the trustee of the several funds created by this Chapter as provided in this section and in G.S. 135-8.
- (b) **Regular Interest Allowance.** The Board of Trustees annually shall allow regular interest on the mean amount for the preceding year in each of the funds with the exception of the expense fund. The amounts so allowed shall be due and payable to said funds, and shall be annually credited thereto by the Board of Trustees from interest and other earnings on the moneys of the Retirement System. Any additional amount required to meet the interest on the funds of the Retirement System shall be paid from the pension accumulation fund, and any excess of earnings over such amount required shall be paid to the pension accumulation fund. Regular interest shall mean such per centum rate to be compounded annually as shall be determined by the Board of Trustees on the basis of the interest earnings of the System for the preceding year and of the probable earnings to be made, in the judgment of the Board, during the immediate future, such rate to be limited to a minimum of three per centum (3%) and a maximum of four per centum (4%), with the latter rate applicable during the first year of operation of the Retirement System.
- (c) Custodian of Funds; Disbursements; Bond of Director. The State Treasurer shall be the custodian of the several funds and shall invest their assets in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 147-69.2 and 147-69.3.
- (d) **Deposits to Meet Disbursements.** For the purpose of meeting disbursements for pensions, annuities and other payments there may be kept available cash, not exceeding ten per centum (10%) of the total amount in the several funds of the Retirement System, on deposit with the State Treasurer of North Carolina.
- (e) **Personal Profit or Acting as Surety Prohibited.** Except as otherwise herein provided, no trustee and no employee of the Board of Trustees shall have any direct interest in the gains or profits of any investment made by the Board of Trustees, nor as such receive any pay or emolument for his service. No trustee or employee of the Board shall, directly or indirectly, for himself or as an agent in any manner use the same, except to make such current and necessary payments as are authorized by the Board of Trustees; nor shall any trustee or employee of the Board of Trustees become an endorser or surety or in any manner an obligor for moneys loaned or borrowed from the Board of Trustees.

- (f) **Retiree Health Benefit Fund.** It is the intent of the General Assembly that the Retiree Health Benefit Fund be a trust that provides an irrevocable source of funding to be used, to the extent the Fund's assets are sufficient, only for health benefits to retired and disabled employees and their applicable beneficiaries. Accordingly, the following provisions apply to the Retiree Health Benefit Fund:
  - (1) For the purposes of this subsection, the term "eligible Plan members" means eligible retired and disabled employees, and their applicable beneficiaries, who are members of the North Carolina State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees as provided by this Chapter.
  - (2) The Retiree Health Benefit Fund is established as a trust fund in which accumulated contributions and any earnings on those contributions shall be used only to provide health benefits to eligible Plan members, after payment of any accrued reasonable investment and administrative expenses. The Retiree Health Benefit Fund shall be administered in accordance with the provisions of subsection (a) of this section.
  - (3) Employer and non-employer contributions to the Fund and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Fund are dedicated to providing health benefits to eligible Plan members in accordance with the Plan's benefit terms, as those terms may from time to time be amended. The assets of the Fund are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employers and non-employers making contributions to the Fund, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Fund's trustees and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of eligible Plan members.
  - (4) Fund assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund, as approved by the Board of Trustees, including offsets to the State budget to the Retirement Systems Division for staff administration of benefits and costs to conduct required actuarial valuations of State-supported retired employees' health benefits under other post-employment benefit accounting standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation.
- (g) It is the intent of the General Assembly that a master trust fund be created that provides an irrevocable source of funding to be used, to the extent the fund's assets are sufficient, only for death benefits and disability benefits to the Plans' members, participants, and beneficiaries, pursuant to G.S. 120-4.27, G.S. 128-27(l), subsections (l2) through (l6) of G.S. 128-27, 135-5(l), 135-64(l8), and 143-166.60. Accordingly, the following provisions apply to the Trust:

- (1) The following definitions apply in this subsection:
  - a. Beneficiaries. Any person in receipt of, or eligible to receive, a benefit payable from the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust pursuant to G.S. 120-4.27, subsections (*l*2) though (*l*6) of G.S. 128-27, 135-5(*l*), 135-64(k), and 143-166.60.
  - b. Plans. The retiree group death benefit trust established under G.S. 120-4.27, the Group Life Insurance Plan established under G.S. 128-27(*l*), the retiree group death benefit trust fund established under subsections (*l*2) though (*l*6) of G.S. 128-27, the Group Life Insurance Plan established under G.S. 135-5(*l*), the retiree group death benefit trust fund established under G.S. 135-5(*l*), the retiree group death benefit trust fund established under G.S.135-64(k), and the Separate Insurance Benefits Plan established by G.S. 143-166.60.
- (2) A trust fund, the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust, is hereby created as a master trust to which all receipts, transfers, appropriations, contributions, investment earnings, and other income belonging to the Plans shall be deposited, and from which all benefits and expenses against the Plans shall be disbursed. The Boards of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall be the trustee of the Trust. Within the Benefit Trust, the funds of the Plans shall be accounted for separately and not commingled. Assets of one plan cannot be used to pay for liabilities of another plan within the Trust. The assets of the trust fund shall be used only for the exclusive benefit of persons who are or may be entitled to benefits under the Plans. In no event, including dissolution, will the assets of the trust fund be distributed to any entity that is not a state, a political subdivision of a state, or another entity the income of which is excludable from its gross income by application of section 115(1) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (3) Employer and non-employer contributions to the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Trust are dedicated to providing benefits to members, participants, and beneficiaries in accordance with the Plans' benefit terms. The assets of the Trust are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employers and non-employers making contributions to the Trust, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Trust, trustees, and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of members, participants, and beneficiaries.

- (h) Legislative Enactment Implementation Arrangement. The Legislative Enactment Implementation Arrangement, or LEIA, is established effective October 1, 2017, and placed under the management of the Board of Trustees. The purpose of the LEIA is to provide for timely administrative implementation of legislative provisions regarding the retirement of, or payment of retirement benefits to, public officers or public employees. The LEIA shall have the following parameters:
  - (1) **Administration.** The LEIA shall be administered by the Board of Trustees, which shall compile and maintain all records necessary or appropriate for administration. The Board of Trustees shall have full discretionary authority to interpret, construe, and implement the LEIA and to adopt such rules and regulations as may be necessary or desirable to implement the provisions of the LEIA.
  - (2) **Funding of the LEIA.** In the event that the General Assembly creates or modifies any provision for the retirement of, or payment of retirement benefits to, public officers or public employees that has a cost savings as measured by actuarial note required by Article 15 of Chapter 120 of the General Statutes, the Board of Trustees may direct up to one hundredth percent (0.01%) of the required contributions to fund the LEIA. These funds must be deposited in a separate fund from the fund into which regular employer contributions are deposited for the Retirement System. The Board of Trustees shall not direct any employer contributions into the LEIA after January 1, 2035.
  - (3) **Allocation of LEIA funds.** The Board of Trustees may allocate LEIA funds to (i) the implementation of legislative provisions regarding the retirement of, or payment for retirement benefits to, public officers or public employees, or (ii) be used for administrative or information technology purposes, subject to the following restrictions:
    - a. The Board of Trustees must identify individual implementation projects that will be paid for with LEIA funds. These implementation projects must be necessitated by a specific statute or session law that was enacted within five years of the allocation of the funds. The Board of Trustees must also identify the number of years for which each individual implementation project will be paid for with LEIA funds.
    - b. For implementation projects that will be paid for with LEIA funds for a period of one year or less, the Board of Trustees must determine that the cost savings from implementing the project is projected to be no less than half of the amount of LEIA funds utilized to pay for implementation.

- c. For implementation projects that will be paid for with LEIA funds for a period of greater than one year, but not more than four years, the Board of Trustees must determine that the long-term cost savings from implementing the project is projected to be at least three times greater than the cost of implementation.
- d. No implementation project shall be paid for with LEIA funds for a period of more than four years.
- e. The Board of Trustees shall identify the specific administrative or information technology purpose for which LEIA funds will be used. Any use of LEIA funds for administrative or information technology purposes requires a determination by the Board of Trustees that the use of funds is necessary to prevent an interruption to the normal operation of the Retirement System.
- (4) **Treatment of unused assets.** Any assets of the LEIA not used to pay allowed administrative expenses for timely administrative implementation of legislative provisions shall be transferred to the Retirement System as an additional employer contribution.
- (5) **Reporting.** The Department of State Treasurer shall report to the Board of Trustees, the Joint Legislative Commission on Governmental Operations, and the Fiscal Research Division on or before August 1 of each year and provide the following information related to the LEIA:
  - a. The amounts and sources of funds collected by year pursuant to this section.
  - b. The amounts expended from the LEIA.
  - c. The projects for which funds were expended and the current status of the projects.
  - d. The administrative and information technology purposes for which funds were expended and the determination by the Board of Trustees of the necessity to expend funds for those purposes.

The Board of Trustees shall also post this report on its public website.

### History.

1941, c. 25, s. 7; 1957, c. 846, s. 2; 1959, c. 1181, s. 2; 1961, c. 397; 1965, c. 780, s. 1; 1967, c. 720, s. 11; c. 1205; 1971, c. 386, s. 4; 1973, c. 241, s. 9; 1979, c. 467, ss. 14, 15; 2004-124, s. 31.20(a); 2007-323, s. 28.23; 2017-129, ss. 2(n), 2(p), 5(a); 2017-1212, s. 8.9(a); 2020-29, s. 8(a); 2023-105, s. 6; 2023-134, s. 27.10(h); 2024-8, s. 6(a).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(p) and Session Laws 2017-129, s. 5(a) both enacted a subsection (g). Pursuant to the

direction of the Revisor of Statutes, the subsection (g) enacted by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 5(a) was redesignated as subsection (h).

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 8(a), effective June 19, 2020, substituted "November 1, 2026" for "November 1, 2021" in the last sentence of subdivision (h)(2).

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 6, effective January 1, 2024, added the last two sentences in subdivision (b)(2).

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 27.10(h), effective October 3, 2023, substituted "Governmental" for "Government" in the first sentence of subdivision (h)(5).

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 6(a), effective

June 20, 2024, in subsection (h), substituted "Legislative Enactment Implementation Arrangement, or LEIA" for "Legislative Enactment Implementation Arrangement (LEIA)" in the introductory language, substituted "January 1, 2035" for "November 1, 2026" in the last sentence of subdivision (h)(2), inserted "(i)" and "or (ii) be used for administrative or information technology purposes" in the introductory language of subdiviadded sub-subdivision sion (h)(3), (h)(3)e., and rewrote subdivision (h)(5).

### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Investment by Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System in Government National Mortgage Association Mortgages. — See opinion of Attorney General to Mr. R. Moore, Assistant Treasurer, State of North Carolina, 40 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 752 (1970).

# §§ 135-7.1, 135-7.2. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1979, c. 467, ss. 16, 17.

# § 135-8. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Method of financing.

- (a) Funds to Which Assets of Retirement System Credited. All of the assets of the Retirement System shall be credited according to the purpose for which they are held to one of of two funds, namely, the annuity savings fund and the pension accumulation fund.
- (b) **Annuity Savings Fund.** Contributions from the compensation of members to provide for their annuities shall be deposited into the Annuity Savings Fund. Contributions to and payments from the Annuity Savings Fund shall be made as follows:
  - (1) With respect to the period of service commencing on July 1, 1975, each participating employer shall deduct from the salary of each member on every payroll of the employer for every payroll period, six per centum (6%) of the compensation received by any member. Such rates shall apply uniformly to all members of the Retirement System, without regard to their coverage under the Social Security Act.
  - (2) The deductions provided for herein shall be made notwithstanding that the minimum compensation provided for by law for any member shall be reduced thereby. Every member shall be deemed to consent and agree to the deductions made and provided for herein and shall receipt for his full salary or compensation, and payment of salary or compensation less said deduction shall be a full and complete discharge and acquittance of all claims and demands whatsoever for the services rendered by such person during the

- period covered by such payment, except as to the benefits provided under this Chapter. The employer shall certify to the Board of Trustees on each and every payroll or in such other manner as the Board of Trustees may prescribe, the amounts to be deducted; and each of said amounts shall be deducted, and when deducted shall be paid into said annuity savings fund, and shall be credited, together with regular interest thereon, to the individual account of the member from whose compensation said deduction was made
- (3) Each board of education of each county and each board of education of each city, and the employer in any department, agency or institution of the State, in which any teacher receives compensation from sources other than appropriations of the State of North Carolina shall deduct from the salaries of these teachers paid from sources other than State appropriations an amount equal to that deducted from the salaries of the teachers whose salaries are paid from State funds, and remit this amount to the State Retirement System. City boards of education and county boards of education in each and every county and city which has employees compensated from other than the State appropriation shall pay to the State Retirement System the same per centum of the compensation that the State of North Carolina pays and shall transmit same to the State Retirement System monthly: Provided, that for the purpose of enabling the boards of education to make such payment, the tax-levying authorities are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to provide the necessary funds therefor. In case the salary is paid in part from State funds and in part from local funds, the local authorities shall not be relieved of providing and remitting the same per centum of the salary paid from local funds as is paid from State funds. In case the entire salary of any teacher, as defined in this Chapter, is paid from county or local funds, the county or city paying such salary shall provide and remit to the Retirement System the same per centum that would be required if the salary were provided by the State of North Carolina.
- (4) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(e), effective June 30, 2017.
- (5) The Board of Trustees may approve the purchase of creditable service by any member for leaves of absence or for interrupted service to an employer only for the purpose of acquiring knowledge, talents, or abilities and to increase the efficiency of service to the employer, subject to the provisions of this subdivision. A leave of absence or inter-

rupted service may be approved for purchase under this subdivision for a period of employment as a teacher in a charter school. Any other leave of absence or interrupted service shall qualify for purchase under this subdivision only if (i) during the time of the leave or interrupted service the member is enrolled and participates in a full time degree program at an accredited institution of higher education, (ii) the member is not paid compensation, other than a stipend resulting from participation in a full-time degree program, for the activity in which he or she is acquiring knowledge, talents, or abilities, and (iii) the service is not purchased for any month in which the member performed any services for any of the organizations listed in G.S. 135-27(a) or G.S. 135-27(f), or a successor to any of those organizations. Approval by the Board of Trustees under this subdivision shall be made prior to the purchase of the creditable service, is limited to a career total of six years for each member, and may be obtained in the following manner:

- a. **Approved leave of absence.** Where the employer grants an approved leave of absence, a member may make monthly contributions to the annuity savings fund on the basis of compensation the member was earning immediately prior to such leave of absence. The employer shall make monthly contributions equal to the normal and accrued liability contribution on such compensation or, in lieu thereof, the member may pay into the annuity savings fund monthly an amount equal to the employer's normal and accrued liability contribution when the policy of the employer is not to make such payment.
- b. No educational leave policy. Where the employer has a policy of not granting educational leaves of absence or the member has unsuccessfully petitioned for leave of absence and the member has interrupted service for educational purposes, the member may make monthly contributions into the annuity savings fund in an amount equal to the employee contribution plus the employer normal and accrued liability contribution on the basis of the compensation the member was earning immediately prior to the interrupted service.
- c. **Educational program prior to July 1, 1981.** Creditable service for leaves of absence or interrupted service for educational purposes prior to July 1, 1981, may be purchased on or before December 31, 2038, by a member, before or after retirement, who returned as

a contributing employee or teacher within 12 months after completing the educational program and completed 10 years of subsequent membership service. Purchases under this sub-subdivision shall be made by making a lump sum payment into the Annuity Savings Fund equal to the full cost of the service credits calculated on the basis of the assumptions used for purposes of the actuarial valuation of the system's liabilities and shall take into account the retirement allowance arising on account of the additional service credit commencing at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance as determined by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary, plus a fee to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

d. Repealed by Session Laws 2016-82, s. 2, effective June 30, 2016.

Payments required to be made by the member, the employer, or both under sub-subdivision a. or b. of this subdivision are due by the 15th of the month following the month for which the service credit is allowed and payments made after the due date shall be assessed a penalty, in lieu of interest, of one percent (1%) per month or fraction thereof the payment is made beyond the due date; provided, that these payments shall be made prior to retirement and provided further, that if the member did not become a contributing member within 12 months after completing the educational program and failed to complete three years of subsequent membership service, except in the event of death or disability, any payment made by the member including penalty shall be refunded with regular interest thereon and the service credits cancelled prior to or at retirement.

- (6) The contributions of a member, and such interest as may be allowed thereon, paid upon his death or withdrawn by him as provided in this Chapter, shall be paid from the annuity savings fund, and any balance of the accumulated contributions of such a member shall be transferred to the pension accumulation fund.
- (b1) **Pick Up of Employee Contributions.**—Anything within this section to the contrary notwithstanding, effective July 1, 1982, an employer, pursuant to the provisions of section 414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended, shall pick up and pay the contributions which would be payable by the employees as members under subsection (b) of this section with respect to the service of employees after June 30, 1982.

The members' contributions picked up by an employer shall be designated for all purposes of the Retirement System as member

contributions, except for the determination of tax upon a distribution from the System. These contributions shall be credited to the annuity savings fund and accumulated within the fund in a member's account which shall be separately established for the purpose of accounting for picked-up contributions.

Member contributions picked up by an employer shall be payable from the same source of funds used for the payment of compensation to a member. A deduction shall be made from a member's compensation equal to the amount of his contributions picked up by his employer. This deduction, however, shall not reduce his compensation as defined in subdivision (7a) of G.S. 135-1. Picked up contributions shall be transmitted to the System monthly for the preceding month by means of a warrant drawn by the employer and payable to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and shall be accompanied by a schedule of the picked-up contributions on such forms as may be prescribed. In the case of a failure to fulfill these conditions, the provisions of subsection (f)(3) of this section shall apply.

The pick up of employee contributions by an employer as provided for hereunder shall be equally applicable to participant contributions required under the optional retirement program as specified in G.S. 135-5.1(c).

- (b2) **Retroactive Adjustment in Compensation or an Underreporting of Compensation.** A member or beneficiary who is awarded backpay in cases of a denied promotional opportunity or wrongful demotion in which the aggrieved member or beneficiary is granted a promotion or a demotion is reversed retroactively, or in cases in which an employer errs in the reporting of compensation, including the employee and employer contributions, the member or beneficiary and employer may make employee and employer contributions on the retroactive or additional compensation, after submitting clear and convincing evidence of the retroactive promotion or underreporting of compensation, as follows:
  - (1) Within 90 days of the denial of the promotion or the error in reporting, by the payment of employee and employer contributions that would have been paid; or
  - (2) After 90 days of the denial of the promotion or the error in reporting, by the payment of the employee and employer contributions that would have been paid plus interest compounded annually at a rate equal to the greater of the average yield on the pension accumulation fund for the preceding calendar year or the actuarial investment rateof-return assumption, as adopted by the Board of Trustees.

For members or beneficiaries electing to make the employee contributions on the retroactive adjustment in compensation or on the underreported compensation, the member's or beneficiary's employer, which granted the retroactive promotion or erred in underreporting compensation and contributions, shall make the required employer contributions. Nothing contained in this subsection shall prevent an employer from paying all or a part of the interest assessed on the employee contributions; and to the extent paid by the employer, the interest paid by the employer shall be credited to the pension accumulation fund; provided, however, an employer does not discriminate against any member or beneficiary or group of members or beneficiaries in his employ in paying all or any part of the interest assessed on the employee contributions due.

In the event the retroactive adjustment in compensation or the underreported compensation is for a period that occurs during the four consecutive calendar years that would have produced the highest average annual compensation pursuant to G.S. 135-1(5) the compensation the member or beneficiary would have received during the period shall be included in calculating the member's or beneficiary's average final compensation only in the event the appropriate employee and employer contributions are paid on such compensation.

An employer error in underreporting compensation shall not include a retroactive increase in compensation that occurs during the four consecutive calendar years that would have produced the highest average annual compensation pursuant to G.S. 135-1(5) for reasons other than a wrongfully denied promotional opportunity or wrongful demotion where the member is promoted or the demotion is reversed retroactively.

- (c) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(f), effective June 30, 2017.
- (d) **Pension Accumulation Fund.** The pension accumulation fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated all reserves for the payment of all pensions and other benefits payable from contribution made by employers and from which shall be paid all pensions and other benefits on account of members with prior service credit. Contributions to and payments from the pension accumulation fund shall be made as follows:
  - (1) On account of each member there shall be paid in the pension accumulation fund by employers an amount equal to a certain percentage of the actual compensation of each member to be known as the "normal contribution," and an additional amount equal to a percentage of the member's actual compensation to be known as the "accrued liability contribution." The rate per centum of such contributions shall be fixed on the basis of the liabilities of the Retirement System as shown by actuarial valuation, duly approved by the Board of Trustees, and shall be called the "actuarially determined employer contribution rate."
  - (1a) For fiscal years beginning subsequent to January 1, 2017, the sum of the "normal contribution" and the "accrued

- liability contribution" shall not be less than the employee contribution required under subdivision (1) of subsection (b) of this section.
- (2) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(h), effective June 30, 2017.
- (2a) The actuarially determined employer contribution rate shall be calculated annually by the actuary using assumptions and a cost method approved by the Actuarial Standards Board of the American Academy of Actuaries and selected by the Board of Trustees.
- (3) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(h), effective June 30, 2017.
- (3a) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the total amount payable in each year to the pension accumulation fund shall not be less than the sum of the rate per centum known as the actuarially determined employer contribution rate of the total earned compensation of all members during the preceding year as adjusted higher under a contribution rate policy adopted by the Board of Trustees and known as the "required employer contribution" rate. The Board of Trustees shall not adopt a contribution rate policy that results in a rate less than the normal contribution rate.
- (4) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(h), effective June 30, 2017.
- (5) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(h), effective June 30, 2017.
- (6) All pensions, and benefits in lieu thereof payable from contributions of employer shall be paid from the pension accumulation fund.
- (7) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(h), effective June 30, 2017.
- (e) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(j), effective June 30, 2017.

# (f) Collection of Contributions. —

- (1) The collection of members' contributions shall be as follows:
  - a. Each employer shall cause to be deducted on each and every payroll of a member for each and every payroll subsequent to the date of establishment of the Retirement System the contributions payable by such member as provided in this Chapter, and the employer shall draw his warrant for the amount so deducted, payable to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina, and shall transmit the same, together with schedule of the contributions, on such forms as prescribed.
- (2) The collection of employers' contributions shall be made as follows:

- a. Upon the basis of each actuarial valuation provided herein there shall be prepared biennially and certified to the Department of Administration a statement of the total amount necessary for the ensuing biennium to the pension accumulation and expense funds, as provided under subsections (d) and (f) of this section, and these funds shall be handled and disbursed in accordance with the State Budget Act, Chapter 143C of the General Statutes.
- b. Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(l), effective June 30, 2017.
- c. Repealed by Session Laws 1993, c. 257, s. 13.
- d. Each board of education in each county and each board of education in each city in which teachers or other employees of the schools receive compensation for services in the public schools from sources other than the appropriation of the State of North Carolina shall pay the Board of Trustees of the State Retirement System such rate of their respective salaries as are paid those of other employees.
- e. Each employer shall transmit monthly to the State Retirement System on account of each employee, who is a member of this System, an amount sufficient to cover required employer contribution of each member employed by such employer for the preceding month.
- f. Except as otherwise provided under this subdivision, each employer shall transmit to the Retirement System on account of each member who retires on or after January 1, 2015, having earned his or her last month of membership service as an employee of that employer the lump sum payment, as calculated under G.S. 135-4(jj) for inclusion in the Pension Accumulation Fund, that would have been necessary in order for the Retirement System to restore the member's retirement allowance to the pre cap amount. If the employer associated with the member's last month of membership service did not report to the Retirement System any compensation paid to the member during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation, then that employer shall not transmit the lump sum payment described in this subdivision, but instead the employer or employers who reported compensation during the member's average final compensation period shall each transmit a lump sum payment equal to the employer's share of the total required lump sum payment, allocated proportionally to each employer based on the total amount of compen-

sation to the member that each employer reported during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation. Employers are not required to make contributions on account of any retiree who became a member on or after January 1, 2015, and who earned at least five years of membership service in the Retirement System after January 1, 2015. The retirement allowance of a member with an average final compensation of more than one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, shall not be subject to the contribution based benefit cap if the compensation was earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless an employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000). An employer is not required to make contributions on account of any retiree whose average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, based upon compensation earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless that employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as provided and indexed under G.S. 135-5(a3).

Under rules adopted by the Board of Trustees, the Retirement System shall report monthly to each employer a list of those members for whom the employer made a contribution to the Retirement System in the preceding month that are most likely to require an additional employer contribution should they elect to retire in the following 12 months, if applicable. Reports received under this section shall not be public records. Employers or former employers in receipt of a report under this section shall treat the report, and the information contained within that report, as confidential and as though it were still held by the Retirement System under G.S. 135-6.1.

- f1. A public school unit is not required to pay an additional contribution calculated under G.S. 135-4(jj) for the retirement of a public school employee if, within 12 months of the assessment, the public school unit certifies, on a form approved by the Board of Trustees, to all of the following:
  - 1. The retiree's service, during the period used to compute the retiree's average final compensation, was in a position or positions where State law or regulation mandates the specific dollar amount that must be paid from State funds to an employee

- in that position or positions or the retiree served a minimum of 12 years in a position for which State law or regulation mandates a specific dollar amount that must be paid from State funds to an employee in that position or positions.
- 2. The greatest local supplement amount paid to the retiree for a school year during the period used to calculate the employee's average final compensation did not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the salary paid to the retiree from State funds for the same school year.
- f2. If a public school unit certifies to sub-sub-subdivision f1.1. of this subdivision but not to sub-sub-subdivision f1.2. of this subdivision, the additional contribution calculated under G.S. 135-4(jj) will be adjusted proportionately based on the extent to which the greatest local supplement amount paid to the retiree for a school year during the period used to calculate the retiree's average final compensation exceeded twenty percent (20%) of the salary paid to the retiree from State funds for the same school year, as follows:
  - 1. If the greatest local supplement amount paid to the retiree for a school year during the period used to calculate the average final compensation exceeded the salary paid from State funds for the same school year by more than twenty percent (20%), but less than fifty percent (50%), then the employer pays fifty percent (50%) of additional contribution.
  - 2. If the greatest local supplement amount paid to the retiree for a school year during the period used to calculate the average final compensation exceeded the salary paid from State funds for the same school year by at least fifty percent (50%), then the employer pays one hundred percent (100%) of additional contribution.
- (3) In the event the employee or employer contributions required under this section are not received by the date set by the Board of Trustees and provided that a one-time exception has not been agreed upon in advance due to exigent circumstances, the Board shall assess the employer with a penalty, in lieu of interest, of 1% per month with a minimum penalty of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00). The Board may waive one penalty per employer every five years if the Board finds that the employer has consistently demonstrated good-faith efforts to comply with the set deadline. If within 90 days after request therefor by the Board any

employer shall not have provided the System with the records and other information required hereunder or if the full accrued amount of the contributions provided for under this section due from members employed by an employer or from an employer other than the State shall not have been received by the System from the chief fiscal officer of such employer within 30 days after the last due date as herein provided, then, notwithstanding anything herein or in the provisions of any other law to the contrary, upon notification by the Board to the State Treasurer as to the default of such employer as herein provided, any distributions which might otherwise be made to such employer from any funds of the State shall be withheld from such employer until notice from the Board to the State Treasurer that such employer is no longer in default.

In the event that an employer fails to submit payment of any required contributions or payments to the Retirement Systems Division, other than the one percent (1%) payment provided for in the first paragraph of this subdivision, within 90 days after the date set by the Board of Trustees, the Board shall notify the State Treasurer of its intent to collect the delinquent contributions and other payments due to the Retirement Systems Division and request an interception of State appropriations due to the participating employer.

Except as provided in this subdivision, upon notification by the Board of Trustees to the State Treasurer and the Office of State Budget and Management as to the default of the employer, the Office of State Budget and Management shall withhold from any State appropriation due to that employer an amount equal to the sum of all delinquent contributions and other debts due to the Retirement Systems Division and shall transmit that amount to the Retirement Systems Division. For the purposes of this subsection, the date set by the Board of Trustees for payment of the contribution-based benefit cap liability shall be 12 months after the member's effective date of retirement, or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later.

(4) In conjunction with the employee and employer contributions required under this section, the Board of Trustees shall direct employers to submit such information on a monthly basis as is necessary for proper administration of the Retirement System, actuarial valuation, and reporting under accounting standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting

- Foundation. Submission of such information by an employer to the Retirement System constitutes a certification of its accuracy.
- (5) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, as of the beginning of the fiscal year following 90 days after the assessment of a contribution-based benefit cap liability that is not paid as a lump sum payment, the required employer contribution rate for an employer shall be adjusted to include an additional contribution amount equal to a rate per centum that is estimated to extinguish the contribution-based benefit cap liability on an amortization schedule selected by the Board that has been applied to unfunded liabilities in the most recent actuarial valuation.
- (f1) **Felony Forfeiture Impact on Contribution-Based Benefit Cap.** If an employer made contributions on account of a retiree subject to the contribution-based benefit cap under G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f. and that retiree later forfeits retirement benefits under G.S. 128-38.4, 128-38.3A, 135-18.10A, 135-18.30, 135-75.1, or 135-75.1A, then the Retirement Systems Division may provide a credit to the employer. This credit shall be calculated in an amount reflecting the impact of the forfeiture on the amount due under G.S. 135-4(jj).
- (g) Merger of Annuity Reserve Fund and Pension Reserve Fund into Pension Accumulation Fund. Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective at such date not later than December 31, 1959, as the Board of Trustees may determine, the annuity reserve fund and the pension reserve fund shall be merged into and become a part of the pension accumulation fund, provided that such merger shall in no way adversely affect the rights of any members or retired members of the System and further provided the Board of Trustees shall be and hereby is authorized to make such changes in the accounting methods and procedures of the System from time to time as, in its opinion, are in the interest of sound and proper administration of the System.
  - (h) Repealed by Session Laws 1965, c. 780, s. 1.
- (i) **Procedure and Payment to Cease Participation.** Any employing unit that is allowed to cease participation in the Retirement System by the General Assembly; by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law; or as otherwise provided in this Chapter, through its governing body, may declare its intent to withdraw completely from the Retirement System as follows:
  - (1) The employer shall notify its employees and the Board of Trustees, in writing, of its action. An employer shall automatically be considered to have requested a complete withdrawal from the Retirement System the date the

- employer permanently ceases to employ active members. A withdrawing employer shall be required to make a lump-sum withdrawal liability payment to the Board of Trustees as provided by this section.
- (2) Complete withdrawal by an employer shall be the first day of the month following the date the employer ceases to employ active members or the first day of the month following 60 days from the date the Board of Trustees receives the employer's written request to withdraw. However, the complete withdrawal date shall not occur before the withdrawal liability is determined, as provided in subdivision (5) of this subsection.
- (3) After complete withdrawal, all employees of the withdrawing employer shall be ineligible to accrue future benefits with the Retirement System due to employment with the withdrawing employer. The withdrawing employer shall be ineligible to elect to become a participating employer in the Retirement System, as provided in G.S. 135-5.3, for five years after its complete withdrawal date.
- (4) All active or inactive members of the employer shall be eligible for benefits accrued with the Retirement System up to the complete withdrawal date. However, no retirement allowance or return of accumulated contributions shall be paid until the member actually terminates employment and completely separates from active service with the withdrawing employer, and there is no intent or agreement, express or implied, to return to service with the withdrawing employer.
- (5) On the date of complete withdrawal, the withdrawal liability of an employer is the greater of one thousand dollars (\$1,000) or the amount determined by a. multiplied by the ratio of b. to c., as follows:
  - a. The excess of the actuarial present value of the vested accrued benefits of the Retirement System's members over the market value of its assets, both as of the date of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date based on the plan provisions and actuarial assumptions used in the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date, except the interest rate assumption shall be reduced by an amount determined by the consulting actuary to reflect the increased investment, mortality, and other actuarial risk for the exiting agency's participants.
  - b. The total present value of accrued benefits of all active members of the withdrawing employer as of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date.

- c. The total present value of accrued benefits of all active members of the Retirement System as of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date.
- (6) The actuarial costs to determine the amount described in subdivision (5) of this subsection shall be paid by the withdrawing employer. An employer that does not pay the lump-sum withdrawal liability payment described in subdivision (5) of this subsection and the actuarial costs to determine this withdrawal liability within 90 days of the complete withdrawal date will continue to be a participating employer. No withdrawal liability payment shall be required if an employer exits before the end of the first year following the date of participation or if the Board of Trustees revokes entry as provided in G.S. 135-5.3(b8).
- (7) Upon the complete withdrawal of the employer, the Retirement System shall have no further legal obligation to the employer or its employees, nor shall the Retirement System be held accountable for the continued future accrual of any retirement benefit rights to which the employees may be entitled beyond the complete withdrawal date. Any litigation regarding the forfeiture of any benefits because of the employer's complete withdrawal from the Retirement System shall be the sole legal responsibility of the withdrawing employer, and the withdrawing employer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Retirement System, its Board of Trustees, its employees, and the State of North Carolina from any claims, losses, costs, damages, expenses, and liabilities, including, without limitation, court costs, and reasonable attorneys' fees asserted by any person or entity as a result of the employer's withdrawal from the Retirement System.
- (j) **Pension Spiking Report.** Upon receipt of a report from the Retirement System generated pursuant to G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f., containing a list of employees for whom the employer made a contribution to the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System that is likely to require an additional employer contribution should the employee elect to retire in the following 12 months, the employer's chief financial officer shall transmit a copy of the report to the chief executive of the employer, as well as to the governing body of the employer, including any board which exercises financial oversight of the employer, if the employer has a governing body. Reports received under this section shall not be public records. Employers or former employers in receipt of a report under this section shall treat the report, and the information contained within that report, as confidential and as though it were still held by the Retirement System under G.S. 135-6.1.

### History.

1941, c. 25, s. 8; c. 143; 1943, c. 207;  $1947,\,c.\,\,458,\,ss.\,\,1,\,2,\,8;\,1955,\,c.\,\,1155,\,ss.$ 3-5; 1959, c. 513, s. 4; 1963, c. 687, ss. 4, 5; 1965, c. 780, s. 1; 1967, c. 720, ss. 12, 13; 1969, c. 1223, s. 13; 1971, c. 117, ss. 2, 10; 1975, c. 457, s. 5; c. 879, s. 46; 1977, c. 909; 1981, c. 636, s. 1; c. 1000, ss. 1, 2; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1282, s. 8; 1985, c. 539, ss. 1, 2; 1991, c. 585, s. 3; c. 718, s. 1; 1993, c. 257, s. 13; 1997-430, s. 11; 2003-359, s. 10; 2006-203, s. 73; 2009-66, s. 7(a); 2010-72, s. 8(a); 2014-88, s. 1(e); 2014-101, s. 7; 2014-112, s. 2(a); 2015-164, ss. 5(a), 6(a); 2015-168, s. 3(a); 2015-241, s. 30.30; 2016-56, ss. 6(a), 7(a); 2016-82, s. 2; 2017-125, s. 2(a); 2017-128, ss. 4(b), 8(a); 2017-129, ss. 2(a), 2(b), 2(e), 2(f), 2(h), 2(j), 2(l), 2(m); 2018-52, s. 9(a); 2020-29, s. 4(a); 2020-48, ss. 1.8(a), 1.16(b), (c); 2021-72, ss. 1.1(b), 2.1(c), 3.1(f); 2021-75, ss. 1.3(b), 2.1(b); 2023-48, s. 1(a); 2023-89, s. 1.4; 2024-9, s. 2(a); 2024-10, s. 5.

### Editor's Note.

This section, as amended by Session Laws 1993, c. 257, s. 13 does not contain a subdivision (f)(1)b.

Session Laws 2006-203, s. 126, provides in part: "Prosecutions for offenses committed before the effective date of this act [July 1, 2007] are not abated or affected by this act, and the statutes that would be applicable but for this act remain applicable to those prosecutions."

Session Laws 2014-101, s. 8, provides, in part: "Except as otherwise provided, this act is effective when it becomes law [August 6, 2014] and applies beginning with the 2014-2015 school year."

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and "Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(e), made subdivision (f)(5), as added by Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(b), effective July 1, 2022, and applicable to assessments imposed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(d), made the amendment of this section by Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(c), effective July 2, 2021, and expiring on July 1, 2022, and further provides: "This section applies retroactively to retirements occurring on or after January 1, 2019; provided that for any retirements occurring on or after January 1, 2019, through the effective date of this section, for which the Retirement System has notified an employer of its liability under G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f., no additional employer shall be liable for an additional contribution."

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.2, as amended by Session Laws 2022-70, s. 1(a), effective June 30, 2022, provides: "Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, from the period beginning on the effective date of this act and ending on June 30, 2023, local boards of education are prohibited from filing any legal actions against the State, including contested case actions filed under Article 3 of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, regarding the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap established in G.S. 135-5(a3). Any applicable statute of limitations is hereby tolled from the period beginning on the effective date of this act and ending on June 30, 2023. During the litigation pause, the Retirement System shall not request an interception of State appropriations pursuant to G.S. 135-8(f)(3) for unpaid contributions attributable to an assessment for a CBBC liability that occurs more than 14 months after the effective retirement date of the member. Prior to September 1, 2023, the Retirement System shall not request an interception of State appropriations pursuant to 135-8(f)(3) for unpaid contributions attributable to retirements that occurred between July 1, 2021, and June 30, 2022"

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 4(a), (b), as amended by Session Laws 2022-70, s. 1(b), provides: "(a) The N.C. Department of State Treasurer and the N.C. School Boards Association shall convene a working group to review the anti-pensionspiking contribution-based benefit cap established. The working group may produce findings and recommendations on the following issues:

"(1) Reducing the incidence of future litigation regarding the anti-pensionspiking contribution-based benefit cap;

"(2) Reducing the incidence of unfunded pension liabilities associated with compensation decisions;

"(3) Assessing the feasibility of using mediation, arbitration, or non-jury trials to settle disputes with local boards of education and other entities regarding the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap; and

"(4) Any other issues the working group wishes to address.

"(b) No later than December 15, 2022, the working group may report its findings and recommended changes to the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap to the Joint Legislative Oversight Committee on General Government."

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(c), made "or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later" at the end of the last paragraph of subdivision (f)(3), as added by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(b), applicable to contribution-based benefit cap liability payments due from an employer on or after July 1, 2021.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(c), made the insertion of "by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law" in the introductory language of subsection (i) by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(b), applicable to a participation withdrawal by an employing unit on or after July 1, 2021.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-48, s. 2(a) provides: "The Department of State Treasurer is authorized to resolve any legal actions currently pending against the State regarding the anti-pension spiking contribution-based benefit cap established in G.S. 135-5(a3), with respect to the amount and terms of payment, within

the framework established by G.S. 135-8(f)(2). Any additional contribution owed by a school board under G.S. 135-5(a3) and G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f. for which the Retirement System sent notice pursuant to G.S. 135-4(jj) on or after January 1, 2021, shall be calculated and paid in accordance with G.S. 135-8(f)(2). For any additional contribution owed by a school board under G.S. 135-5(a3) and G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f. for which the Retirement System sent notice pursuant to G.S. 135-4(jj) during the litigation pause established by Section 3.2 of S.L. 2021-72, and extended by Section 1(a) of S.L. 2022-70, the employer contribution rate shall not be adjusted, as required by G.S. 135-8(f)(5), before the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2024. Prior to September 1, 2023, the Retirement System shall not request an interception of State appropriations pursuant to G.S. 135-8(f)(3) for unpaid contributions attributable to retirements that occurred between July 1, 2021, and June 30, 2023."

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(c), made the amendment of subsection (f) of this section by Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(a), effective January 1, 2025, and applicable to employee and employer contributions, and the information to be submitted in conjunction with those contributions, required on or after that date.

## Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 4(a), effective June 19, 2020, in subdivision (f)(3), in the last paragraph, added the exception at the beginning and added the last sentence.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.8(a), effective June 26, 2020, added subsection (f1).

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.16(b), (c), effective June 26, 2020, added the last two sentences in the concluding paragraph of sub-subdivision (f)(2)f; and in subsection (j), substituted "if the employer has a governing body" for "if applicable" at the end of the first sentence, and added the last two sentences.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(b), added subdivision (f)(5). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(c), deleted the last two sentences of the first paragraph in subdivision (f)(2)f, which read: "The retirement allowance of a member with a final average compensation of more than one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, shall not be subject to the contribution based benefit cap if the compensation was earned from multiple

simultaneous employers, unless an employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000). An employer is not required to make contributions on account of any retiree whose final average compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, based upon compensation earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless that employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds thousand hundred (\$100,000), as provided and indexed under G.S. 135 5(a3)." For effective date, expiration, and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.1(f), effective July 1, 2022, in subdivision (f)(2)f, substituted "Except as otherwise provided under this subdivision, each employer" for "Each employer" and added the second sentence.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(b), effective July 1, 2021, added "or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later" at the end of the last paragraph of subdivision (f)(3). For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(b), effective July 1, 2021, inserted "by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law" in the introductory language of subsection (i). For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2023-48, s. 1(a), effective July 1, 2023, added sub-subdivisions (f)(2)f1. and (f)(2)f2.

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 1.4, effective January 1, 2024, made a minor stylistic change in subdivision (b)(5).

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(a), in subsection (f), added "The following shall apply to the collection of contributions" to the introductory language, rewrote the first paragraph of subdivision (f)(3), and, in subdivision (f)(4), added the next-to-last sentence and made minor stylistic changes in the first and last sentences. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 2(a), effective June 20, 2024, made capitalization and minor stylistic changes throughout subsubdivision (f)(2)f.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 5, effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (b), rewrote the introductory language, inserted "of Trustees" in the last sentence of the introductory paragraph of subdivision (b)(5), inserted "on or before December 31, 2038" and substituted "membership service. Purchases under this sub-subdivision shall be made by making a lump sum paying into the Annuity Savings Fund" for "membership service, by making a lump sum paying into the annuity savings fund" in sub-subdivision (b)(5)c., and substituted "sub-subdivision a. or b. of this subdivision" for "subparagraphs a or b" in the last paragraph of subdivision (b)(5).

### Legal Periodicals.

For article, "The Impact of Law on the State Pension Crisis," see 54 Wake Forest L. Rev. 105 (2019).

## CASE NOTES

Constitutionality. — Superior court erred in concluding the Contribution-Based Benefit Cap violated U.S. Const. Art. I, § 10 because the petitioner failed to show the General Assembly manifested a clear intention to be contractually bound to keep constant the amount an employer is required to contribute to the pension fund. Wilson Cnty. Bd. of Educ. v. Ret. Sys. Div., 290 N.C. App. 226, 891 S.E.2d 626, 2023 N.C. App. LEXIS 486 (2023).

Funding. — Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System of North Carolina, and Legislative Retirement System are funded by both employee and State, or employer, contributions under G.S.

135-8, 135-68, 135-69, 120-4.19, and 120-4.20; these systems provide for a systematic method of funding of the respective retirement system with employee contributions computed as a set percentage of the employees' salaries, and with systematic employer contributions in accordance with formulas mandated by the retirement statutes, which include calculations by an actuary based on the actuarial valuation of liabilities of the retirement systems. State Emples. Ass'n of N.C., Inc. v. State, 154 N.C. App. 207, 573 S.E.2d 525, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 1451 (2002), rev'd, 357 N.C. 239, 580 S.E.2d 693, 2003 N.C. LEXIS 599 (2003).

Local Unit Contribution. — Where a local unit assumes the burden of supplementing State support for the schools, the provision of subdivision (b)(3) of this section that the local unit make its contribution and the taxing authority provide the necessary funds is mandatory. Bridges v. City of Charlotte, 221 N.C. 472, 20 S.E.2d 825, 1942 N.C. LEXIS 494 (1942) (holding no vote necessary to tax to meet deficiency in previously authorized tax).

**Penalties Not Required.** — Board's practice of waiving penalties under circumstances where employers were not at

fault for failing to remit employer contributions to the Retirement System was entirely consistent with the Board's statutory discretion to adopt rules to prevent injustices under G.S. 135-6(f). Accordingly, the Treasurer and the Board were not required by G.S. 135-8(f)(3) to punish those employers whose employer contributions were not deposited in the Retirement System. Stone v. State, 191 N.C. App. 402, 664 S.E.2d 32, 2008 N.C. App. LEXIS 1485 (2008).

# § 135-8. (Effective January 1, 2025) Method of financing.

## (a) Funds to Which Assets of Retirement System Credited.

- All of the assets of the Retirement System shall be credited according to the purpose for which they are held to one of of two funds, namely, the annuity savings fund and the pension accumulation fund.
- (b) **Annuity Savings Fund.** Contributions from the compensation of members to provide for their annuities shall be deposited into the Annuity Savings Fund. Contributions to and payments from the Annuity Savings Fund shall be made as follows:
  - (1) With respect to the period of service commencing on July 1, 1975, each participating employer shall deduct from the salary of each member on every payroll of the employer for every payroll period, six per centum (6%) of the compensation received by any member. Such rates shall apply uniformly to all members of the Retirement System, without regard to their coverage under the Social Security Act.
  - (2) The deductions provided for herein shall be made notwithstanding that the minimum compensation provided for by law for any member shall be reduced thereby. Every member shall be deemed to consent and agree to the deductions made and provided for herein and shall receipt for his full salary or compensation, and payment of salary or compensation less said deduction shall be a full and complete discharge and acquittance of all claims and demands whatsoever for the services rendered by such person during the period covered by such payment, except as to the benefits provided under this Chapter. The employer shall certify to the Board of Trustees on each and every payroll or in such other manner as the Board of Trustees may prescribe, the amounts to be deducted; and each of said amounts shall be deducted, and when deducted shall be paid into said annuity savings fund, and shall be credited, together with regular interest thereon, to the individual account of the member from whose compensation said deduction was made.
  - (3) Each board of education of each county and each board of

education of each city, and the employer in any department, agency or institution of the State, in which any teacher receives compensation from sources other than appropriations of the State of North Carolina shall deduct from the salaries of these teachers paid from sources other than State appropriations an amount equal to that deducted from the salaries of the teachers whose salaries are paid from State funds, and remit this amount to the State Retirement System. City boards of education and county boards of education in each and every county and city which has employees compensated from other than the State appropriation shall pay to the State Retirement System the same per centum of the compensation that the State of North Carolina pays and shall transmit same to the State Retirement System monthly: Provided, that for the purpose of enabling the boards of education to make such payment, the tax-levying authorities are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to provide the necessary funds therefor. In case the salary is paid in part from State funds and in part from local funds, the local authorities shall not be relieved of providing and remitting the same per centum of the salary paid from local funds as is paid from State funds. In case the entire salary of any teacher, as defined in this Chapter, is paid from county or local funds, the county or city paying such salary shall provide and remit to the Retirement System the same per centum that would be required if the salary were provided by the State of North Carolina.

- (4) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(e), effective June 30, 2017.
- (5) The Board of Trustees may approve the purchase of creditable service by any member for leaves of absence or for interrupted service to an employer only for the purpose of acquiring knowledge, talents, or abilities and to increase the efficiency of service to the employer, subject to the provisions of this subdivision. A leave of absence or interrupted service may be approved for purchase under this subdivision for a period of employment as a teacher in a charter school. Any other leave of absence or interrupted service shall qualify for purchase under this subdivision only if (i) during the time of the leave or interrupted service the member is enrolled and participates in a full time degree program at an accredited institution of higher education, (ii) the member is not paid compensation, other than a stipend resulting from participation in a full-time degree program, for the activity in which he or she is acquiring knowledge, talents, or abilities, and (iii) the

service is not purchased for any month in which the member performed any services for any of the organizations listed in G.S. 135-27(a) or G.S. 135-27(f), or a successor to any of those organizations. Approval by the Board of Trustees under this subdivision shall be made prior to the purchase of the creditable service, is limited to a career total of six years for each member, and may be obtained in the following manner:

- a. **Approved leave of absence.** Where the employer grants an approved leave of absence, a member may make monthly contributions to the annuity savings fund on the basis of compensation the member was earning immediately prior to such leave of absence. The employer shall make monthly contributions equal to the normal and accrued liability contribution on such compensation or, in lieu thereof, the member may pay into the annuity savings fund monthly an amount equal to the employer's normal and accrued liability contribution when the policy of the employer is not to make such payment.
- b. No educational leave policy. Where the employer has a policy of not granting educational leaves of absence or the member has unsuccessfully petitioned for leave of absence and the member has interrupted service for educational purposes, the member may make monthly contributions into the annuity savings fund in an amount equal to the employee contribution plus the employer normal and accrued liability contribution on the basis of the compensation the member was earning immediately prior to the interrupted service.
- c. Educational program prior to July 1, 1981. Creditable service for leaves of absence or interrupted service for educational purposes prior to July 1, 1981, may be purchased on or before December 31, 2038, by a member, before or after retirement, who returned as a contributing employee or teacher within 12 months after completing the educational program and completed 10 years of subsequent membership service. Purchases under this sub-subdivision shall be made by making a lump sum payment into the Annuity Savings Fund equal to the full cost of the service credits calculated on the basis of the assumptions used for purposes of the actuarial valuation of the system's liabilities and shall take into account the retirement allowance arising on account of the additional service credit commencing at the earliest age at which the

member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance as determined by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary, plus a fee to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

d. Repealed by Session Laws 2016-82, s. 2, effective June 30, 2016.

Payments required to be made by the member, the employer, or both under sub-subdivision a. or b. of this subdivision are due by the 15th of the month following the month for which the service credit is allowed and payments made after the due date shall be assessed a penalty, in lieu of interest, of one percent (1%) per month or fraction thereof the payment is made beyond the due date; provided, that these payments shall be made prior to retirement and provided further, that if the member did not become a contributing member within 12 months after completing the educational program and failed to complete three years of subsequent membership service, except in the event of death or disability, any payment made by the member including penalty shall be refunded with regular interest thereon and the service credits cancelled prior to or at retirement.

- (6) The contributions of a member, and such interest as may be allowed thereon, paid upon his death or withdrawn by him as provided in this Chapter, shall be paid from the annuity savings fund, and any balance of the accumulated contributions of such a member shall be transferred to the pension accumulation fund.
- (b1) **Pick Up of Employee Contributions.**—Anything within this section to the contrary notwithstanding, effective July 1, 1982, an employer, pursuant to the provisions of section 414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended, shall pick up and pay the contributions which would be payable by the employees as members under subsection (b) of this section with respect to the service of employees after June 30, 1982.

The members' contributions picked up by an employer shall be designated for all purposes of the Retirement System as member contributions, except for the determination of tax upon a distribution from the System. These contributions shall be credited to the annuity savings fund and accumulated within the fund in a member's account which shall be separately established for the purpose of accounting for picked-up contributions.

Member contributions picked up by an employer shall be payable from the same source of funds used for the payment of compensation to a member. A deduction shall be made from a member's compensation equal to the amount of his contributions picked up by his employer. This deduction, however, shall not reduce his compensation as defined in subdivision (7a) of G.S. 135-1. Picked up contri-

butions shall be transmitted to the System monthly for the preceding month by means of a warrant drawn by the employer and payable to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and shall be accompanied by a schedule of the picked-up contributions on such forms as may be prescribed. In the case of a failure to fulfill these conditions, the provisions of subsection (f)(3) of this section shall apply.

The pick up of employee contributions by an employer as provided for hereunder shall be equally applicable to participant contributions required under the optional retirement program as specified in G.S. 135-5.1(c).

- (b2) **Retroactive Adjustment in Compensation or an Underreporting of Compensation.** A member or beneficiary who is awarded backpay in cases of a denied promotional opportunity or wrongful demotion in which the aggrieved member or beneficiary is granted a promotion or a demotion is reversed retroactively, or in cases in which an employer errs in the reporting of compensation, including the employee and employer contributions, the member or beneficiary and employer may make employee and employer contributions on the retroactive or additional compensation, after submitting clear and convincing evidence of the retroactive promotion or underreporting of compensation, as follows:
  - (1) Within 90 days of the denial of the promotion or the error in reporting, by the payment of employee and employer contributions that would have been paid; or
  - (2) After 90 days of the denial of the promotion or the error in reporting, by the payment of the employee and employer contributions that would have been paid plus interest compounded annually at a rate equal to the greater of the average yield on the pension accumulation fund for the preceding calendar year or the actuarial investment rateof-return assumption, as adopted by the Board of Trustees.

For members or beneficiaries electing to make the employee contributions on the retroactive adjustment in compensation or on the underreported compensation, the member's or beneficiary's employer, which granted the retroactive promotion or erred in underreporting compensation and contributions, shall make the required employer contributions. Nothing contained in this subsection shall prevent an employer from paying all or a part of the interest assessed on the employee contributions; and to the extent paid by the employer, the interest paid by the employer shall be credited to the pension accumulation fund; provided, however, an employer does not discriminate against any member or beneficiary or group of members or beneficiaries in his employ in paying all or any part of the interest assessed on the employee contributions due.

In the event the retroactive adjustment in compensation or the underreported compensation is for a period that occurs during the

four consecutive calendar years that would have produced the highest average annual compensation pursuant to G.S. 135-1(5) the compensation the member or beneficiary would have received during the period shall be included in calculating the member's or beneficiary's average final compensation only in the event the appropriate employee and employer contributions are paid on such compensation.

An employer error in underreporting compensation shall not include a retroactive increase in compensation that occurs during the four consecutive calendar years that would have produced the highest average annual compensation pursuant to G.S. 135-1(5) for reasons other than a wrongfully denied promotional opportunity or wrongful demotion where the member is promoted or the demotion is reversed retroactively.

- (c) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(f), effective June 30, 2017.
- (d) **Pension Accumulation Fund.** The pension accumulation fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated all reserves for the payment of all pensions and other benefits payable from contribution made by employers and from which shall be paid all pensions and other benefits on account of members with prior service credit. Contributions to and payments from the pension accumulation fund shall be made as follows:
  - (1) On account of each member there shall be paid in the pension accumulation fund by employers an amount equal to a certain percentage of the actual compensation of each member to be known as the "normal contribution," and an additional amount equal to a percentage of the member's actual compensation to be known as the "accrued liability contribution." The rate per centum of such contributions shall be fixed on the basis of the liabilities of the Retirement System as shown by actuarial valuation, duly approved by the Board of Trustees, and shall be called the "actuarially determined employer contribution rate."
  - (1a) For fiscal years beginning subsequent to January 1, 2017, the sum of the "normal contribution" and the "accrued liability contribution" shall not be less than the employee contribution required under subdivision (1) of subsection (b) of this section.
  - (2) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(h), effective June 30, 2017.
  - (2a) The actuarially determined employer contribution rate shall be calculated annually by the actuary using assumptions and a cost method approved by the Actuarial Standards Board of the American Academy of Actuaries and selected by the Board of Trustees.
  - (3) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(h), effective June 30, 2017.

- (3a) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the total amount payable in each year to the pension accumulation fund shall not be less than the sum of the rate per centum known as the actuarially determined employer contribution rate of the total earned compensation of all members during the preceding year as adjusted higher under a contribution rate policy adopted by the Board of Trustees and known as the "required employer contribution" rate. The Board of Trustees shall not adopt a contribution rate policy that results in a rate less than the normal contribution rate.
- (4) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(h), effective June 30, 2017.
- (5) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(h), effective June 30, 2017.
- (6) All pensions, and benefits in lieu thereof payable from contributions of employer shall be paid from the pension accumulation fund.
- (7) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(h), effective June 30, 2017.
- (e) Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(j), effective June 30, 2017.
- (f) **Collection of Contributions.** The following shall apply to the collection of contributions:
  - (1) The collection of members' contributions shall be as follows:
    - a. Each employer shall cause to be deducted on each and every payroll of a member for each and every payroll subsequent to the date of establishment of the Retirement System the contributions payable by such member as provided in this Chapter, and the employer shall draw his warrant for the amount so deducted, payable to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina, and shall transmit the same, together with schedule of the contributions, on such forms as prescribed.
  - (2) The collection of employers' contributions shall be made as follows:
    - a. Upon the basis of each actuarial valuation provided herein there shall be prepared biennially and certified to the Department of Administration a statement of the total amount necessary for the ensuing biennium to the pension accumulation and expense funds, as provided under subsections (d) and (f) of this section, and these funds shall be handled and disbursed in accordance with the State Budget Act, Chapter 143C of the General Statutes.
    - b. Repealed by Session Laws 2017-129, s. 2(l), effective June 30, 2017.

- c. Repealed by Session Laws 1993, c. 257, s. 13.
- d. Each board of education in each county and each board of education in each city in which teachers or other employees of the schools receive compensation for services in the public schools from sources other than the appropriation of the State of North Carolina shall pay the Board of Trustees of the State Retirement System such rate of their respective salaries as are paid those of other employees.
- e. Each employer shall transmit monthly to the State Retirement System on account of each employee, who is a member of this System, an amount sufficient to cover required employer contribution of each member employed by such employer for the preceding month.
- f. Except as otherwise provided under this subdivision, each employer shall transmit to the Retirement System on account of each member who retires on or after January 1, 2015, having earned his or her last month of membership service as an employee of that employer the lump sum payment, as calculated under G.S. 135-4(ii) for inclusion in the Pension Accumulation Fund, that would have been necessary in order for the Retirement System to restore the member's retirement allowance to the pre cap amount. If the employer associated with the member's last month of membership service did not report to the Retirement System any compensation paid to the member during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation, then that employer shall not transmit the lump sum payment described in this subdivision, but instead the employer or employers who reported compensation during the member's average final compensation period shall each transmit a lump sum payment equal to the employer's share of the total required lump sum payment, allocated proportionally to each employer based on the total amount of compensation to the member that each employer reported during the period used to compute the member's average final compensation. Employers are not required to make contributions on account of any retiree who became a member on or after January 1, 2015, and who earned at least five years of membership service in the Retirement System after January 1, 2015. The retirement allowance of a member with an average final compensation of more than one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, shall not be subject to the contribution based benefit cap if the

compensation was earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless an employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000). An employer is not required to make contributions on account of any retiree whose average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, based upon compensation earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless that employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as provided and indexed under G.S. 135-5(a3).

Under rules adopted by the Board of Trustees, the Retirement System shall report monthly to each employer a list of those members for whom the employer made a contribution to the Retirement System in the preceding month that are most likely to require an additional employer contribution should they elect to retire in the following 12 months, if applicable. Reports received under this section shall not be public records. Employers or former employers in receipt of a report under this section shall treat the report, and the information contained within that report, as confidential and as though it were still held by the Retirement System under G.S. 135-6.1.

- f1. A public school unit is not required to pay an additional contribution calculated under G.S. 135-4(jj) for the retirement of a public school employee if, within 12 months of the assessment, the public school unit certifies, on a form approved by the Board of Trustees, to all of the following:
  - 1. The retiree's service, during the period used to compute the retiree's average final compensation, was in a position or positions where State law or regulation mandates the specific dollar amount that must be paid from State funds to an employee in that position or positions or the retiree served a minimum of 12 years in a position for which State law or regulation mandates a specific dollar amount that must be paid from State funds to an employee in that position or positions.
  - 2. The greatest local supplement amount paid to the retiree for a school year during the period used to calculate the employee's average final compensation did not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the salary paid to the retiree from State funds for the same school year.

- f2. If a public school unit certifies to sub-sub-subdivision f1.1. of this subdivision but not to sub-sub-subdivision f1.2. of this subdivision, the additional contribution calculated under G.S. 135-4(jj) will be adjusted proportionately based on the extent to which the greatest local supplement amount paid to the retiree for a school year during the period used to calculate the retiree's average final compensation exceeded twenty percent (20%) of the salary paid to the retiree from State funds for the same school year, as follows:
  - 1. If the greatest local supplement amount paid to the retiree for a school year during the period used to calculate the average final compensation exceeded the salary paid from State funds for the same school year by more than twenty percent (20%), but less than fifty percent (50%), then the employer pays fifty percent (50%) of additional contribution.
  - 2. If the greatest local supplement amount paid to the retiree for a school year during the period used to calculate the average final compensation exceeded the salary paid from State funds for the same school year by at least fifty percent (50%), then the employer pays one hundred percent (100%) of additional contribution.
- (3) If the employee or employer contributions required under this section, including the information to be submitted in conjunction with those contributions under subdivision (4) of this subsection, are not received by the date set by the Board of Trustees and a one-time exception has not been agreed upon in advance due to exigent circumstances, then the Board shall assess the employer with a penalty, in lieu of interest, of 1% per month with a minimum penalty of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00). The Board may waive one penalty per employer every five years if the Board finds that the employer has consistently demonstrated goodfaith efforts to comply with the set deadline. If within 90 days after request for the contributions or the required information by the Board any employer shall not have provided the System with the required records and other information, or if the full accrued amount of the contributions provided for under this section due from members employed by an employer or from an employer other than the State shall not have been received by the System from the chief fiscal officer of the employer within 30 days after the last due date, then, notwithstanding anything in this section or any other provision of law to the contrary, upon

notification of the employer's default by the Board to the State Treasurer, any distributions which might otherwise be made to the employer from any funds of the State shall be withheld from the employer until notice from the Board to the State Treasurer that the employer is no longer in default.

In the event that an employer fails to submit payment of any required contributions or payments to the Retirement Systems Division, other than the one percent (1%) payment provided for in the first paragraph of this subdivision, within 90 days after the date set by the Board of Trustees, the Board shall notify the State Treasurer of its intent to collect the delinquent contributions and other payments due to the Retirement Systems Division and request an interception of State appropriations due to the participating employer.

Except as provided in this subdivision, upon notification by the Board of Trustees to the State Treasurer and the Office of State Budget and Management as to the default of the employer, the Office of State Budget and Management shall withhold from any State appropriation due to that employer an amount equal to the sum of all delinquent contributions and other debts due to the Retirement Systems Division and shall transmit that amount to the Retirement Systems Division. For the purposes of this subsection, the date set by the Board of Trustees for payment of the contribution-based benefit cap liability shall be 12 months after the member's effective date of retirement, or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later.

- (4) In conjunction with the employee and employer contributions required under this section, the Board of Trustees shall direct employers to submit information on a monthly basis that is necessary for proper administration of the Retirement System, actuarial valuation, and reporting under accounting standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation. This required information shall be considered part of the employee and employer contributions required under this section. The employee and employer contributions are not considered received until the required information is submitted to the Retirement System. Submission of this information by an employer to the Retirement System constitutes a certification of its accuracy.
- (5) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, as of the beginning of the fiscal year following 90 days after

the assessment of a contribution-based benefit cap liability that is not paid as a lump sum payment, the required employer contribution rate for an employer shall be adjusted to include an additional contribution amount equal to a rate per centum that is estimated to extinguish the contribution-based benefit cap liability on an amortization schedule selected by the Board that has been applied to unfunded liabilities in the most recent actuarial valuation.

- (f1) **Felony Forfeiture Impact on Contribution-Based Benefit Cap.** If an employer made contributions on account of a retiree subject to the contribution-based benefit cap under G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f. and that retiree later forfeits retirement benefits under G.S. 128-38.4, 128-38.3A, 135-18.10A, 135-18.30, 135-75.1, or 135-75.1A, then the Retirement Systems Division may provide a credit to the employer. This credit shall be calculated in an amount reflecting the impact of the forfeiture on the amount due under G.S. 135-4(jj).
- (g) Merger of Annuity Reserve Fund and Pension Reserve Fund into Pension Accumulation Fund. Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective at such date not later than December 31, 1959, as the Board of Trustees may determine, the annuity reserve fund and the pension reserve fund shall be merged into and become a part of the pension accumulation fund, provided that such merger shall in no way adversely affect the rights of any members or retired members of the System and further provided the Board of Trustees shall be and hereby is authorized to make such changes in the accounting methods and procedures of the System from time to time as, in its opinion, are in the interest of sound and proper administration of the System.
  - (h) Repealed by Session Laws 1965, c. 780, s. 1.
- (i) **Procedure and Payment to Cease Participation.** Any employing unit that is allowed to cease participation in the Retirement System by the General Assembly; by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law; or as otherwise provided in this Chapter, through its governing body, may declare its intent to withdraw completely from the Retirement System as follows:
  - (1) The employer shall notify its employees and the Board of Trustees, in writing, of its action. An employer shall automatically be considered to have requested a complete withdrawal from the Retirement System the date the employer permanently ceases to employ active members. A withdrawing employer shall be required to make a lump-sum withdrawal liability payment to the Board of Trustees as provided by this section.
  - (2) Complete withdrawal by an employer shall be the first day of the month following the date the employer ceases to

- employ active members or the first day of the month following 60 days from the date the Board of Trustees receives the employer's written request to withdraw. However, the complete withdrawal date shall not occur before the withdrawal liability is determined, as provided in subdivision (5) of this subsection.
- (3) After complete withdrawal, all employees of the withdrawing employer shall be ineligible to accrue future benefits with the Retirement System due to employment with the withdrawing employer. The withdrawing employer shall be ineligible to elect to become a participating employer in the Retirement System, as provided in G.S. 135-5.3, for five years after its complete withdrawal date.
- (4) All active or inactive members of the employer shall be eligible for benefits accrued with the Retirement System up to the complete withdrawal date. However, no retirement allowance or return of accumulated contributions shall be paid until the member actually terminates employment and completely separates from active service with the withdrawing employer, and there is no intent or agreement, express or implied, to return to service with the withdrawing employer.
- (5) On the date of complete withdrawal, the withdrawal liability of an employer is the greater of one thousand dollars (\$1,000) or the amount determined by a. multiplied by the ratio of b. to c., as follows:
  - a. The excess of the actuarial present value of the vested accrued benefits of the Retirement System's members over the market value of its assets, both as of the date of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date based on the plan provisions and actuarial assumptions used in the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date, except the interest rate assumption shall be reduced by an amount determined by the consulting actuary to reflect the increased investment, mortality, and other actuarial risk for the exiting agency's participants.
  - b. The total present value of accrued benefits of all active members of the withdrawing employer as of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date.
  - c. The total present value of accrued benefits of all active members of the Retirement System as of the last actuarial valuation adopted by the Board of Trustees prior to the complete withdrawal date.
- (6) The actuarial costs to determine the amount described in subdivision (5) of this subsection shall be paid by the

- withdrawing employer. An employer that does not pay the lump-sum withdrawal liability payment described in subdivision (5) of this subsection and the actuarial costs to determine this withdrawal liability within 90 days of the complete withdrawal date will continue to be a participating employer. No withdrawal liability payment shall be required if an employer exits before the end of the first year following the date of participation or if the Board of Trustees revokes entry as provided in G.S. 135-5.3(b8).
- (7) Upon the complete withdrawal of the employer, the Retirement System shall have no further legal obligation to the employer or its employees, nor shall the Retirement System be held accountable for the continued future accrual of any retirement benefit rights to which the employees may be entitled beyond the complete withdrawal date. Any litigation regarding the forfeiture of any benefits because of the employer's complete withdrawal from the Retirement System shall be the sole legal responsibility of the withdrawing employer, and the withdrawing employer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Retirement System, its Board of Trustees, its employees, and the State of North Carolina from any claims, losses, costs, damages, expenses, and liabilities, including, without limitation, court costs, and reasonable attorneys' fees asserted by any person or entity as a result of the employer's withdrawal from the Retirement System.
- (j) **Pension Spiking Report.** Upon receipt of a report from the Retirement System generated pursuant to G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f., containing a list of employees for whom the employer made a contribution to the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System that is likely to require an additional employer contribution should the employee elect to retire in the following 12 months, the employer's chief financial officer shall transmit a copy of the report to the chief executive of the employer, as well as to the governing body of the employer, including any board which exercises financial oversight of the employer, if the employer has a governing body. Reports received under this section shall not be public records. Employers or former employers in receipt of a report under this section shall treat the report, and the information contained within that report, as confidential and as though it were still held by the Retirement System under G.S. 135-6.1.

### History.

1941, c. 25, s. 8; c. 143; 1943, c. 207; 1947, c. 458, ss. 1, 2, 8; 1955, c. 1155, ss. 3-5; 1959, c. 513, s. 4; 1963, c. 687, ss. 4, 5; 1965, c. 780, s. 1; 1967, c. 720, ss. 12, 13; 1969, c. 1223, s. 13; 1971, c. 117, ss. 2, 10; 1975, c. 457, s. 5; c. 879, s. 46; 1977,

c. 909; 1981, c. 636, s. 1; c. 1000, ss. 1, 2; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1282, s. 8; 1985, c. 539, ss. 1, 2; 1991, c. 585, s. 3; c. 718, s. 1; 1993, c. 257, s. 13; 1997-430, s. 11; 2003-359, s. 10; 2006-203, s. 73; 2009-66, s. 7(a); 2010-72, s. 8(a); 2014-88, s. 1(e); 2014-101, s. 7; 2014-112, s. 2(a);

2015-164, ss. 5(a), 6(a); 2015-168, s. 3(a); 2015-241, s. 30.30; 2016-56, ss. 6(a), 7(a); 2016-82, s. 2; 2017-125, s. 2(a); 2017-128, ss. 4(b), 8(a); 2017-129, ss. 2(a), 2(b), 2(e), 2(f), 2(h), 2(j), 2(l), 2(m); 2018-52, s. 9(a); 2020-29, s. 4(a); 2020-48, ss. 1.8(a), 1.16(b), (c); 2021-72, ss. 1.1(b), 2.1(c), 3.1(f); 2021-75, ss. 1.3(b), 2.1(b); 2023-48, s. 1(a); 2023-89, s. 1.4; 2024-8, s. 3(a); 2024-9, s. 2(a); 2024-10, s. 5.

### Editor's Note.

This section, as amended by Session Laws 1993, c. 257, s. 13 does not contain a subdivision (f)(1)b.

Session Laws 2006-203, s. 126, provides in part: "Prosecutions for offenses committed before the effective date of this act [July 1, 2007] are not abated or affected by this act, and the statutes that would be applicable but for this act remain applicable to those prosecutions."

Session Laws 2014-101, s. 8, provides, in part: "Except as otherwise provided, this act is effective when it becomes law [August 6, 2014] and applies beginning with the 2014-2015 school year."

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the 'Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(e), made subdivision (f)(5), as added by Session

Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(b), effective July 1, 2022, and applicable to assessments imposed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(d), made the amendment of this section by Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(c), effective July 2, 2021, and expiring on July 1, 2022, and further provides: "This section applies retroactively to retirements occurring on or after January 1, 2019; provided that for any retirements occurring on or after January 1, 2019, through the effective date of this section, for which the Retirement System has notified an employer of its liability under G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f., no additional employer shall be liable for an additional contribution."

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.2, as amended by Session Laws 2022-70, s. 1(a), effective June 30, 2022, provides: "Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, from the period beginning on the effective date of this act and ending on June 30, 2023, local boards of education are prohibited from filing any legal actions against the State, including contested case actions filed under Article 3 of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, regarding the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap established in G.S. 135-5(a3). Any applicable statute of limitations is hereby tolled from the period beginning on the effective date of this act and ending on June 30, 2023. During the litigation pause, the Retirement System shall not request an interception of State appropriations pursuant to G.S. 135-8(f)(3) for unpaid contributions attributable to an assessment for a CBBC liability that occurs more than 14 months after the effective retirement date of the member. Prior to September 1, 2023, the Retirement System shall not request an interception of State appropriations pursuant to 135-8(f)(3) for unpaid contributions attributable to retirements that occurred between July 1, 2021, and June 30, 2022"

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 4(a), (b), as amended by Session Laws 2022-70, s. 1(b), provides: "(a) The N.C. Department of State Treasurer and the N.C. School Boards Association shall convene a working group to review the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap established. The working group may produce findings and recommendations on the following issues:

"(1) Reducing the incidence of future litigation regarding the anti-pensionspiking contribution-based benefit cap;

"(2) Reducing the incidence of unfunded pension liabilities associated with compensation decisions; "(3) Assessing the feasibility of using mediation, arbitration, or non-jury trials to settle disputes with local boards of education and other entities regarding the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap; and

"(4) Any other issues the working group wishes to address.

"(b) No later than December 15, 2022, the working group may report its findings and recommended changes to the anti-pension-spiking contribution-based benefit cap to the Joint Legislative Oversight Committee on General Government."

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(c), made "or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later" at the end of the last paragraph of subdivision (f)(3), as added by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(b), applicable to contribution-based benefit cap liability payments due from an employer on or after July 1, 2021.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(c), made the insertion of "by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law" in the introductory language of subsection (i) by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(b), applicable to a participation withdrawal by an employing unit on or after July 1, 2021.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-48, s. 2(a) provides: "The Department of State Treasurer is authorized to resolve any legal actions currently pending against the State regarding the anti-pension spiking contribution-based benefit cap established in G.S. 135-5(a3), with respect to the amount and terms of payment, within the framework established by G.S. 135-8(f)(2). Any additional contribution owed by a school board under G.S. 135-5(a3) and G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f. for which the Retirement System sent notice pursuant to G.S. 135-4(jj) on or after January 1, 2021, shall be calculated and paid in accordance with G.S. 135-8(f)(2). For any additional contribution owed by a school board under G.S. 135-5(a3) and G.S. 135-8(f)(2)f. for which the Retirement System sent notice pursuant to G.S. 135-4(jj) during the litigation pause established by Section 3.2 of S.L. 2021-72, and extended by Section 1(a) of S.L. 2022-70, the employer contribution rate shall not be adjusted, as required by G.S. 135-8(f)(5), before the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2024. Prior to September 1, 2023, the Retirement System shall not request an interception of State appropriations pursuant to G.S. 135-8(f)(3) for unpaid contributions attributable to retirements that occurred between July 1, 2021, and June 30, 2023."

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(c), made the amendment of subsection (f) of this section by Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(a), effective January 1, 2025, and applicable to employee and employer contributions, and the information to be submitted in conjunction with those contributions, required on or after that date.

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 4(a), effective June 19, 2020, in subdivision (f)(3), in the last paragraph, added the exception at the beginning and added the last sentence.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.8(a), effective June 26, 2020, added subsection (f1).

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.16(b), (c), effective June 26, 2020, added the last two sentences in the concluding paragraph of sub-subdivision (f)(2)f; and in subsection (j), substituted "if the employer has a governing body" for "if applicable" at the end of the first sentence, and added the last two sentences.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 1.1(b), added subdivision (f)(5). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 2.1(c), deleted the last two sentences of the first paragraph in subdivision (f)(2)f, which read: "The retirement allowance of a member with a final average compensation of more than one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, shall not be subject to the contribution based benefit cap if the compensation was earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless an employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000). An employer is not required to make contributions on account of any retiree whose final average compensation exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), as hereinafter indexed, based upon compensation earned from multiple simultaneous employers, unless that employer's share of the average final compensation exceeds hundred thousand dollars one (\$100,000), as provided and indexed under G.S. 135 5(a3)." For effective date,

expiration, and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-72, s. 3.1(f), effective July 1, 2022, in subdivision (f)(2)f, substituted "Except as otherwise provided under this subdivision, each employer" for "Each employer" and added the second sentence.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 1.3(b), effective July 1, 2021, added "or the first day of the month coincident with or next following six months after the date of the invoice, whichever is later" at the end of the last paragraph of subdivision (f)(3). For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 2.1(b), effective July 1, 2021, inserted "by sale, dissolution, or otherwise changing to a business or legal form not eligible for participation as an employer in the Retirement System under federal law" in the introductory language of subsection (i). For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2023-48, s. 1(a), effective July 1, 2023, added sub-subdivisions (f)(2)f1. and (f)(2)f2.

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 1.4, effective January 1, 2024, made a minor stylistic change in subdivision (b)(5).

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 3(a), in subsection (f), added "The following shall apply to the collection of contributions" to the

introductory language, rewrote the first paragraph of subdivision (f)(3), and, in subdivision (f)(4), added the next-to-last sentence and made minor stylistic changes in the first and last sentences. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 2(a), effective June 20, 2024, made capitalization and minor stylistic changes throughout subsubdivision (f)(2)f.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 5, effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (b), rewrote the introductory language, inserted "of Trustees" in the last sentence of the introductory paragraph of subdivision (b)(5), inserted "on or before December 31, 2038" and substituted "membership service. Purchases under this sub-subdivision shall be made by making a lump sum paying into the Annuity Savings Fund" for "membership service, by making a lump sum paying into the annuity savings fund" in sub-subdivision (b)(5)c., and substituted "sub-subdivision a. or b. of this subdivision" for "subparagraphs a or b" in the last paragraph of subdivision (b)(5).

# Legal Periodicals.

For article, "The Impact of Law on the State Pension Crisis," see 54 Wake Forest L. Rev. 105 (2019).

# CASE NOTES

Constitutionality. — Superior court erred in concluding the Contribution-Based Benefit Cap violated U.S. Const. Art. I, § 10 because the petitioner failed to show the General Assembly manifested a clear intention to be contractually bound to keep constant the amount an employer is required to contribute to the pension fund. Wilson Cnty. Bd. of Educ. v. Ret. Sys. Div., 290 N.C. App. 226, 891 S.E.2d 626, 2023 N.C. App. LEXIS 486 (2023).

Funding. — Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System of North Carolina, and Legislative Retirement System funded by both employee and State, or employer, contributions under G.S. 135-8, 135-68, 135-69, 120-4.19, and 120-4.20; these systems provide for a systematic method of funding of the respective retirement system with employee contributions computed as a set percentage of the employees' salaries, and with systematic employer contributions in accordance with formulas mandated by the

retirement statutes, which include calculations by an actuary based on the actuarial valuation of liabilities of the retirement systems. State Emples. Ass'n of N.C., Inc. v. State, 154 N.C. App. 207, 573 S.E.2d 525, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 1451 (2002), rev'd, 357 N.C. 239, 580 S.E.2d 693, 2003 N.C. LEXIS 599 (2003).

Local Unit Contribution. — Where a local unit assumes the burden of supplementing State support for the schools, the provision of subdivision (b)(3) of this section that the local unit make its contribution and the taxing authority provide the necessary funds is mandatory. Bridges v. City of Charlotte, 221 N.C. 472, 20 S.E.2d 825, 1942 N.C. LEXIS 494 (1942) (holding no vote necessary to tax to meet deficiency in previously authorized tax).

Penalties Not Required. — Board's practice of waiving penalties under circumstances where employers were not at fault for failing to remit employer contributions to the Retirement System was entirely consistent with the Board's statutory discretion to adopt rules to

prevent injustices under G.S. 135-6(f). Accordingly, the Treasurer and the Board were not required by G.S. 135-8(f)(3) to punish those employers whose

employer contributions were not deposited in the Retirement System. Stone v. State, 191 N.C. App. 402, 664 S.E.2d 32, 2008 N.C. App. LEXIS 1485 (2008).

# § 135-9. Exemption from garnishment, attachment, etc.; employing unit to offset amount owed by member or beneficiary.

- (a) Except for the applications of the provisions of G.S. 110-136, and G.S. 110-136.3 et seg., and in connection with a court-ordered equitable distribution under G.S. 50-20, the right of a person to a pension, or annuity, or a retirement allowance, to the return of contributions, the pension, annuity or retirement allowance itself, any optional benefit or any other right accrued or accruing to any person under the provisions of this Chapter, and the moneys in the various funds created by this Chapter, are exempt from levy and sale, garnishment, attachment, or any other process whatsoever, and shall be unassignable except as in this Chapter specifically otherwise provided. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, application for System approval of a domestic relations order dividing a person's interest under the Retirement System shall be accompanied by an order consistent with the system-designed template order provided on the System's Web site. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, the Retirement System shall only make payment of a share of the member's retirement benefits to the member's former spouse based upon a domestic relations order, and the former spouse shall not be permitted to receive a share of the member's retirement benefits until the member begins to receive the benefits, consistent with the system-designed template order. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, the former spouse shall not be entitled to any type or form of benefit or any option not otherwise available to the member. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, for orders entered on or after January 1, 2015, payment to a member's former spouse pursuant to any such domestic relations order shall be limited to the lifetime of that former spouse and, upon the death of that former spouse, the former spouse's share shall revert to the member.
- (b) Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, any overpayment of benefits or erroneous payments to a member in a State-administered retirement system or the former Disability Salary Continuation Plan or the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina, including any benefits paid to, or State Health Plan premiums or claims paid on behalf of, any member or beneficiary who is later determined to have been ineligible for those benefits or unentitled to those amounts, may be offset against any retirement allowance, return of contributions or any other right accruing under this Chapter to the same person, the person's estate, or designated beneficiary.

- (c) Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, if a member or beneficiary is employed by the State or any political subdivision of the State, then any overpayment of benefits or erroneous payments to, or on behalf of, the member or beneficiary shall be offset against the net wages of the member or beneficiary. If a member or beneficiary owes an amount to the Retirement System, has been notified of this amount in writing, and has not entered into a payment plan acceptable to the Retirement System, then the Retirement System shall notify the member or beneficiary's employer of the amount owed. Upon receipt of this notice from the Retirement System, the employer shall offset the amount owed against not less than ten percent (10%) of the net wages of the member or beneficiary until the Retirement System notifies the employer that the amount has been paid in full. The Retirement System's notice shall be prima facie evidence that the debt is valid and, notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the employer has no obligation to verify the amount owed. The employer shall provide no more than 30 days' but not less than 14 days' written notice to the member or beneficiary prior to beginning the offset. The employer shall remit all amounts offset under this subsection to the Retirement System in intervals corresponding with its regular pay periods. If an employer fails to adhere to the provisions of this section, then the Retirement System shall, after notice to the employer of its failure to cooperate, be entitled to seek recovery of any amounts due directly from the employer.
- (c1) Notwithstanding G.S. 143-64.80(b), in the case of an overpayment of benefits under this Chapter that the Board of Trustees determines was entirely due to administrative error on the part of the Retirement Systems Division, the Retirement Systems Division shall be deemed to satisfy its duty to pursue repayment of the overpayment if all of the following occur:
  - (1) The Retirement Systems Division, as provided under subsection (b) of this section, offsets any return of contributions, lump sum death benefit payment, retroactive benefit adjustment payment for periods before the determination of the overpayment, or other one-time payment accruing under this Chapter, by the full amount of the payment as computed after payment deductions, and applies the offset toward the overpayment;
  - (2) The Retirement Systems Division, as provided under subsection (b) of this section, offsets any recurring monthly benefit accruing under this Chapter for periods coincident with or following the determination of the overpayment as follows:
    - a. By no more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the monthly benefit as computed after payment deductions and not less than eight and one-half percent (8.5%) of

the monthly benefit as computed after payment deductions:

- b. Or by offsetting the amount of the overpayment in two or fewer monthly benefit payments when the overpayment amount is less than five hundred dollars (\$500);
- (3) The wage offset as provided under subsection (c) of this section is applied as required; and
- (4) The setoff debt provisions of Chapter 105A of the General Statutes are applied as required.
- (d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the Retirement System's ability to pursue alternative judicial remedies against a member or a beneficiary, including the pursuit of a judgment and lien against real property.

### History.

1941, c. 25, s. 9; 1985, c. 402, s. 1; c. 649, s. 5; 1987, c. 738, s. 29(k); 1989, c. 665, s. 1; c. 792, s. 2.5; 2013-405, s. 4(a); 2014-112, s. 5(a); 2017-135, s. 9(a); 2018-52, s. 2(b); 2019-172, s. 1.1; 2023-105, s. 8.2.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the 'Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 2(d), made subsections (c) and (d) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2018-52, s. 2(b), effective June 25, 2018, and applicable to all amounts owed by a member or beneficiary to the applicable retirement system for which notice is sent on and after that date, regardless of the date the overpayment of benefits or the erroneous payment was made.

Session Laws 2019-172, s. 13 made the amendments to subsection (a) of this section by Session Laws 2019-172, s. 1.1, effective October 1, 2019, and applicable to distributions on or after that date.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

## Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 8.2, effective January 1, 2024, added subsection (c1).

# Legal Periodicals.

For comment on this enactment, see 19 N.C.L. Rev. 519 (1941).

### CASE NOTES

The language of this section is clear and unequivocal. A person's rights to state employee retirement benefits are not assignable. Reynolds v. North Carolina State Employees Credit Union, 31 B.R. 296, 1983 Bankr. LEXIS 5971 (Bankr. E.D.N.C. 1983).

This section and G.S. 50-20(b)(3)

do not require entry of a Qualified Domestic Relations Order to assign a retirement plan; therefore, the plain language of a property settlement agreement incorporated into a consent order served to secure ex-wife's twenty percent interest in her ex-husband's state university retirement plan. Patterson v.

Patterson, 137 N.C. App. 653, 529 S.E.2d 484, 2000 N.C. App. LEXIS 505 (2000).

G.S. 1C-1601(c) does not preclude the use of this section by a bankruptcy debtor to claim an exemption in state employee retirement benefits. In re Hare, 32 B.R. 16, 1983 Bankr. LEXIS 5820 (Bankr. E.D.N.C. 1983).

The designation of "retirement" as "other collateral" on loan document was clearly misleading, since the "retirement" account of a state employee is unassignable, and therefore not available as a source of security to a creditor. Petersen v. State Employees Credit Union (In re Kittrell), 115 B.R. 873, 1990 Bankr. LEXIS 1411 (Bankr. M.D.N.C. 1990)

Credit union deceived borrower by purporting to have enforceable security interest in retirement accounts. Practices and actions of credit union in deceiving borrower into thinking that credit union had a valid, enforceable security interest in his retirement account by inserting the word "retirement" in the "other collateral" block on front of loan documents and having debtor sign documents at the time of making his first loan, which authorized the sending of employee's retirement checks to the credit union and depositing therein and the filing away of these forms and applying them to all loans made thereafter violated public policy of protecting the retirement accounts of teachers and other state employees. Petersen v. State Employees Credit Union (In re Kittrell), 115 B.R. 873, 1990 Bankr. LEXIS 1411 (Bankr. M.D.N.C. 1990).

Recoupment of overpayments. Plaintiffs' statutory right to disability benefits also mandated that defendant, the North Carolina Department of State Treasurer, Retirement Systems Division, seek recoupment of overpayments. Plaintiffs' argument that defendant's lawful action under the terms of Article 6 Chapter 135 of the North Carolina General Statutes constituted a breach of contract failed because defendant had a duty to pursue the repayment of State funds by all lawful means available. Moss v. N.C. Dep't of State Treasurer, Ret. Sys. Div., 872 S.E.2d 113, 2022-NCCOA-206, 2022 N.C. App. LEXIS 230 (April 5, 2022).

# § 135-10. Protection against fraud.

Any person who shall knowingly make any false statement or shall falsify or permit to be falsified any record or records of this Retirement System in any attempt to defraud such System as a result of such act shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor. Should any change or error in the records result in any member or beneficiary receiving from the Retirement System more or less than he would have been entitled to receive had the records been correct, the Board of Trustees shall correct such error, and as far as practicable, shall adjust the payment in such a manner that the actuarial equivalent of the benefit to which such member or beneficiary was correctly entitled shall be paid.

# History.

1941, c. 25, s. 10; 1993, c. 539, s. 973; 1994, Ex. Sess., c. 24, s. 14(c).

### CASE NOTES

Legislative Intent. — This section shows the intent of the General Assembly to allow the courts to require that compensation paid for underpayment of a pension compensation be paid at the actuarial value. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Emps. Retirement Sys., 345

N.C. 683, 483 S.E.2d 422, 1997 N.C. LEXIS 188 (1997).

Calculation of Additional Benefit.

— The re-calculation of additional benefits owed to retirees did not mandate the use of a mortality factor, where the right to payments was not forfeited upon

the death of a retiree but was passed to the retiree's survivors. Faulkenbury v. Teachers' & State Employees' Retirement Sys., 132 N.C. App. 137, 510 S.E.2d 675, 1999 N.C. App. LEXIS 89 (1999).

# § 135-10.1. Failure to respond.

- (a) If a member fails to respond within 120 days after preliminary option figures and the Form 6-E or Form 7-E are transmitted to the member, or if a member fails to respond within 120 days after the effective date of retirement, whichever is later, then the Form 6 or Form 7 shall be null and void.
- (b) If an applicant for disability retirement fails to furnish requested additional medical information within 90 days following the request for that information, then the application shall be declared null and void, unless the applicant is eligible for early or service retirement. If the applicant is eligible for early or service retirement, then the application shall be processed using the same effective date as would have been used had the application for disability retirement been approved.
- (c) The Retirement System shall not be liable for any benefits due on account of an application voided in accordance with this section. A new application must be filed establishing a subsequent effective date of retirement.
- (d) The Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division, acting on behalf of the Board of Trustees, may extend the 120-day limitation provided for in this section when a member has suffered incapacitation such that a reasonable person would not have expected the member to be able to complete the required paperwork within the regular deadline, or when an omission by the Retirement Systems Division prevents the member from having sufficient time to meet the regular deadline.

### History.

2005-91, s. 4; 2009-66, s. 4(b); 2010-72, s. 6(a); 2016-108, s. 3(a); 2024-9, s. 1(e).

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 1(e), effective June 20, 2024, rewrote the section.

# § 135-11. Application of other pension laws.

Subject to the provisions of Article 2, Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Volume 17, as amended, no other provisions of law in any other statute which provides wholly or partly at the expense of the State of North Carolina for pensions or retirement benefits for teachers or State employees of the said State, their widows, or other dependents shall apply to members or beneficiaries of the Retirement System established by this Chapter, their widows or other dependents.

# History.

1941, c. 25, s. 11; 1955, c. 1155, s. 6.

# § 135-12. Obligation of maintaining reserves and paying benefits.

The maintenance of annuity reserves and pension reserves as provided for and regular interest creditable to the various funds as provided in G.S. 135-8, and the payment of all pensions, annuities, retirement allowances, refunds and other benefits granted under the provisions of this Chapter, are hereby made obligations of the pension accumulation fund. All income, interest and dividends derived from deposits and investments authorized by this Chapter shall be used for the payment of the said obligations of the said fund.

### History.

1941, c. 25, s. 12.

# §§ 135-13 through 135-14.1 (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.12(b), effective June 26, 2020.

# History.

1941, c. 25, s. 13; repealed by 2020-48, s. 1.12(b), effective June 26, 2020; 1943, c. 785; 1953, c. 1132, s. 1; 1955, c. 1199, ss. 1, 2; 1957, cc. 852, 1408, 1412; 1959, c. 538, s. 1; 1979, c. 1057, ss. 1, 2; 1983, c. 761, s. 223; repealed by 2020-48, s. 1.12(c), effective June 26, 2020; 1957, c. 1431; repealed by 2020-48, s. 1.12(d), effective June 26, 2020.

## Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 135-13 pertained to cer-

tain laws not repealed; suspension of payments and compulsory retirement.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Former G.S. 135-14 pertained to pensions of certain former teachers and State employees.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

Former G.S. 135-14.1 pertained to certain school superintendents and assistant superintendents.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

# § 135-15. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1949, c. 1056, s. 9.

# § 135-16. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.12(e), effective June 26, 2020.

## History.

1947, c. 464, s. 1; c. 598, s. 1; 2011-401, s. 3.17; repealed by 2020-48, s. 1.12(e), effective June 26, 2020.

ployees transferred to North Carolina State Employment Service by act of Congress.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

## Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 135-16 pertained to em-

# § 135-16.1. Blind or visually impaired vendors.

Persons licensed by the State and operating vending facilities under contract with the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Services for the Blind and its successors, who are licensed on and after October 1, 1983, shall not be members of the Retirement System.

## History.

# 1971, c. 1025, s. 3; 1973, c. 476, s. 143; 1983, c. 867, s. 3; 1997-443, s. 11A.118(a); 2000-121, s. 28; 2020-48, s. 1.13.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.13, effective June 26, 2020, rewrote the section.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

# § 135-17. Facility of payment.

In the event of the death of a member or beneficiary not survived by a person designated to receive any return of accumulated contributions or balance thereof, or in the event that the Board of Trustees shall find that a beneficiary is unable to care for his affairs because of illness or accident, any benefit payments due may, unless claim shall have been made therefor by a duly appointed guardian, committee or other legal representative, be paid to the spouse, a child, a parent or other blood relative, or to any person deemed by the Board of Trustees to have incurred expense for such beneficiary or deceased member, and any such payments so made shall be a complete discharge of the liabilities of this Retirement System therefor.

# History.

1949, c. 1056, s. 6.

# § 135-18. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1969, c. 1223, s. 14.

# § 135-18.1. Transfer of credits from the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.

- (a) Prior to retirement, any person who was a member of the North Carolina Governmental Employees' Retirement System and who becomes a member of this Retirement System shall be entitled to transfer to this Retirement System his or her credits for membership and prior service in the local system: Provided, the local system agrees to transfer to this Retirement System the amount of reserve held in the local system as a result of previous contributions of the employer on behalf of the transferring employee. For the purposes of this section, the term "local system" means the North Carolina Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- (b) The accumulated contributions withdrawn from the local system and deposited in this Retirement System shall be credited to such member's account in the annuity savings fund of this Retirement System and shall be deemed, for the purpose of computing any

benefits subsequently payable from the annuity savings fund, to be regular contributions made on the date of such deposit.

- (c) Upon the deposit in this Retirement System of the accumulated contributions previously withdrawn from the local system the Board of Trustees of this Retirement System shall request the Board of Trustees of the local system to certify to the period of membership service credit and the regular accumulated contributions attributable thereto and to the period of prior service credit, if any, and the contributions with interest allowable as a basis for prior service benefits in the local system, as of the date of termination of membership in the local system. Credit shall be allowed in this System for the service so certified in determining the member's credited service and, upon his retirement he shall be entitled, in addition to the regular benefits allowable on account of his participation in this Retirement System, to the pension which shall be the actuarial equivalent at age 65 or at retirement, if prior thereto, of the amount of the credit with interest thereon representing contributions attributable to his service credits in the local system.
- (d) The Board of Trustees of the Retirement System shall effect such rules as it may deem necessary to prevent any duplication of service, interest or other credits which might otherwise occur.

### History.

1951, c. 797; 1961, c. 516, s. 7; 1965, c. 780, s. 1; 1969, c. 1223, s. 15; 1971, c. 117, ss. 16, 17; 1973, c. 241, s. 11; 2020-48, s. 1.11.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.11, effective June 26, 2020, rewrote subsection (a).

## CASE NOTES

Transfer of Local Creditable Service to State System. — In determining the date of eligibility of state employee petitioner to purchase retirement credits under Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System for time

spent in the military service, petitioner could not include service in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System. Worrell v. North Carolina Dep't of State Treas., 333 N.C. 528, 427 S.E.2d 871, 1993 N.C. LEXIS 137 (1993).

# § 135-18.2. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1959, c. 538, s. 3.

# § 135-18.3. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.12(f), effective June 26, 2020.

# History.

1955, c. 1155, s. 7; repealed by 2020-48, s. 1.12(f), effective June 26, 2020.

# Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 135-18.3 pertained to conditions under which amendments void.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

# § 135-18.4. Reservation of power to change.

The General Assembly reserves the right at any time and from time to time, and if deemed necessary or appropriate by said General Assembly in order to coordinate with any changes, in the benefit and other provisions of the Social Security Act made after January 1, 1955, to modify or amend in whole or in part any or all of the provisions of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina.

### History.

1955, c. 1155, s. 8.

# § 135-18.5. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.12(g), effective June 26, 2020.

## History.

1955, c. 1155, s. 9; 1957, c. 855, s. 9; repealed by 2020-48, s. 1.12(g), effective June 26, 2020.

vision for emergency expenses of integration of System.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

### Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 135-18.5 pertained to pro-

# § 135-18.6. Termination or partial termination; discontinuance of contributions.

In the event of the termination or partial termination of the Retirement System or in the event of complete discontinuance of contributions under the Retirement System, the rights of all affected members to benefits accrued to the date of such termination, partial termination, or discontinuance, to the extent funded as of such date, or the amounts credited to the members' accounts, shall be nonforfeitable and fully vested.

# History.

1987, c. 177, s. 1(a), (b).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1987, c. 177, s. 1(c), made this section effective upon the first day of the calendar month following the State's receipt of a favorable letter of

determination or ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, United States Department of Treasury, that the Retirement Systems were qualified trusts under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended. A favorable letter was received prior to the enactment of c. 177.

# § 135-18.7. Internal Revenue Code compliance.

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of law to the contrary, compensation for any calendar year after 1988 in which employee or employer contributions are made and for which annual compensation is used for computing any benefit under this Article shall not

exceed the higher of two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) or the amount determined by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue as the limitation for calendar years after 1989; provided the imposition of the limitation shall not reduce a member's benefit below the amount determined as of December 31, 1988.

Effective January 1, 1996, the annual compensation of a member taken into account for determining all benefits provided under this Article shall not exceed one hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$150,000), as adjusted pursuant to section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code and any regulations issued under the Code. However, with respect to a person who became a member of the Retirement System prior to January 1, 1996, the imposition of this limitation on compensation shall not reduce the amount of compensation which may be taken into account for determining the benefits of that member under this Article below the amount of compensation which would have been recognized under the provisions of this Article in effect on July 1, 1993.

Effective January 1, 2002, the annual compensation of a person, who became a member of the Retirement System on or after January 1, 1996, taken into account for determining all benefits accruing under this Article for any plan year after December 31, 2001, shall not exceed two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) or the amount otherwise set by the Internal Revenue Code or determined by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue as the limitation for calendar years after 2002.

All the provisions in this subsection have been enacted to make clear that the Plan shall not base contributions or Plan benefits on annual compensation in excess of the limits prescribed by Section 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code, as adjusted from time to time, subject to certain federal grandfathering rules.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provisions of law to the contrary, the annual benefit payable on behalf of a member shall, if necessary, be reduced to the extent required by Section 415(b) and with respect to calendar years commencing prior to January 1, 2000, Section 415(e) of the Internal Revenue Code, as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate pursuant to Section 415(d) of the Code. If a member is a participant under any qualified defined contributions plan that is required to be taken into account for the purposes of the limitation contained in Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code, the annual benefit payable under this Article shall be reduced to the extent required by Section 415(e) prior to making any reduction under the defined contribution plan provided by the employer. However, with respect to a member who has benefits accrued under this Article but whose benefit had not commenced as of December 31, 1999, the combined plan limitation contained in Section 415(e) of the Internal Revenue Code shall not be applied to such member for calendar years commencing on or after January 1, 2000.

- (c) On and after September 8, 2009, and for all Plan years to which the minimum distribution rules of the Internal Revenue Code are applicable, with respect to any member who has terminated employment, the Plan shall comply with federal income tax minimum distribution rules by applying a reasonable and good faith interpretation to Section 401(a)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (d) This subsection applies to distributions and rollovers from the Plan. The Plan does not have mandatory distributions within the meaning of Section 401(a)(31) of the Internal Revenue Code. With respect to distributions from the Plan and notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a distributee's election under this Article, a distributee (including, after December 31, 2006, a non-spouse beneficiary if that non-spouse beneficiary elects a direct rollover only to an inherited traditional or Roth IRA as permitted under applicable federal law) may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Plan administrator, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover. As used in this subsection, an "eligible retirement plan" means an individual retirement account described in Section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in Section 408(b) of the Code, an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code, on and after January 1, 2009, a Roth IRA, or a qualified trust described in Section 401(a) of the Code, that accepts the distributee's eligible rollover distribution. Effective on and after January 1, 2002, an eligible retirement plan also means an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code and an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into that plan from this Plan. As used in this subsection, a "direct rollover" is a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee. Provided, an eligible rollover distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution shall not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of 10 years or more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under section 401(a)(9) of the Code; and the portion of any distribution that is not includible in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net realized appreciation with respect to employer securities). Effective as of January 1, 2002, and notwithstanding the exclusion of any after-tax portion from such a rollover distribution in

the preceding sentence, a portion of a distribution shall not fail to be an eligible rollover distribution merely because the portion consists of after-tax employee contributions which are not includible in gross income. That portion may be transferred, pursuant to applicable federal law, to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or (b) of the Code, to a qualified defined benefit plan, or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in Section 401(a), 403(a), or 403(b) of the Code that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible. The definition of eligible retirement plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to surviving spouse, or to a spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Section 414(p) of the Internal Revenue Code, or a court-ordered equitable distribution of marital property, as provided under G.S. 50-20.1. Effective on and after January 1, 2007, notwithstanding any other provision of this subsection, a nonspouse beneficiary of a deceased member may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the administrator of the Board of Trustees of this Retirement System, to directly roll over any portion of the beneficiary's distribution from the Retirement System; however, such rollover shall conform with the provisions of section 402(c)(11) of the Code.

```
History. 1995, c. 361, s. 1; 2002-71, s. 6; 2009-66, 1989, c. 276, s. 3; 1993, c. 531, s. 6; s. 1(a); 2012-130, s. 4(c).
```

# § 135-18.8. Deduction for payments allowed.

- (a) Any beneficiary who is a member of a domiciled employees' or retirees' association that has at least 2,000 members, the majority of whom are active or retired employees of the State or public school employees, may authorize, in writing, the periodic deduction from the beneficiary's retirement benefits a designated lump sum to be paid to the employees' or retirees' association. The authorization shall remain in effect until revoked by the beneficiary. A plan of deductions pursuant to this section shall become void if the employees' or retirees' association engages in collective bargaining with the State, any political subdivision of the State, or any local school administrative unit.
- (b) Any beneficiary may also authorize, in writing, the monthly deduction from the beneficiary's retirement benefits of a designated lump sum to be paid to the State Health Plan for any dependent whom the beneficiary wishes to cover under the State Health Plan. In the event that the beneficiary's own State Health Plan coverage is contributory, in whole or in part, the beneficiary may also authorize a designated lump sum to be paid to the State Health Plan on behalf of the beneficiary. In addition, a beneficiary may similarly

authorize the deduction for supplemental voluntary insurance benefits, provided that the deduction is authorized by the Department of State Treasurer and is payable to a company with which the Department of State Treasurer has or had an exclusive contractual relationship. Any such authorization shall remain in effect until revoked by the beneficiary.

### History.

1998-212, s. 9.24(a); 1999-237, s. 23; 2002-126, s. 6.4(c); 2012-1, s. 2; 2012-178, s. 4(c); 2014-115, s. 62(a).

pealed Session Laws 2012-1, effective August 11, 2014. Session Laws 2012-1, s. 2, effective July 1, 2011, deleted "or public school employees" following "of the State" in the first sentence.

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2014-115, s. 62(a), re-

# § 135-18.9. Transfer of members from the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System.

- (a) The accumulated contributions, creditable service, and reserves, if any, of a member of the Legislative Retirement System, as provided for in Article 1A of G.S. 120, or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, as provided for in Article 4 of G.S. 135, who later becomes a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System for a period of five or more years may, upon application of the member, be transferred from the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System. The accumulated contributions, creditable service, and reserves of any member whose service as a member of the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System is terminated other than by retirement or death and who later becomes a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System may, upon application of the member, be transferred from the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System. In order to effect the transfer of a member's creditable service from the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the accumulated contributions of each member credited in the annuity savings fund in the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System shall be transferred and credited to the annuity savings fund in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
- (b) The Board of Trustees shall effect such rules as it may deem necessary to administer subsection (a) of this section and to prevent any duplication of service credits or benefits that might otherwise occur.

# History.

2003-284, s. 30.18(c).

# § 135-18.10. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies committed while serving as elected government official.

- (a) Except as provided in G.S. 135-4(gg), the Board of Trustees shall not pay any retirement benefits or allowances, except for a return of member contributions plus interest, to any member who is convicted of any felony under the federal laws listed in subsection (b) of this section or the laws of this State listed in subsection (c) of this section if all of the following apply:
  - (1) The federal or State offense is committed while serving as an elected government official.
  - (2) The conduct on which the federal or State offense is based is directly related to the member's service as an elected government official.
  - (b) The federal offenses covered by this section are as follows:
    - (1) A felony violation of 18 U.S.C. § 201 (Bribery of public officials and witnesses), 18 U.S.C. § 286 (Conspiracy to defraud the Government with respect to claims), 18 U.S.C. § 287 (False, fictitious or fraudulent claims), 18 U.S.C. § 371 (Conspiracy to commit offense or to defraud United States), 18 U.S.C. § 597 (Expenditures to influence voting), 18 U.S.C. § 599 (Promise of appointment by candidate), 18 U.S.C. § 606 (Intimidation to secure political contributions), 18 U.S.C. § 641 (Public money, property, or records), 18 U.S.C. § 666 (Embezzlement and theft), 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (Statements or entries generally), 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (Frauds and swindles), 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Fraud by wire, radio, or television), 18 U.S.C. § 1503 (Influencing or injuring officer or juror generally), 18 U.S.C. § 1951 (Interference with commerce by threats or violence), 18 U.S.C. § 1952 (Interstate and foreign travel or transportation in aid of racketeering enterprises), 18 U.S.C. § 1956 (Laundering of monetary instruments), 18 U.S.C. § 1962 (Prohibited activities), or section 7201 of the Internal Revenue Code (Attempt to evade or defeat tax).
    - (2) Reserved for future codification purposes.
- (c) The offenses under the laws of this State covered by this section are as follows:
  - (1) A felony violation of any of the following provisions of the General Statutes:
    - a. Article 29 of Chapter 14, Bribery.
    - b. Article 30 of Chapter 14, Obstructing Justice.
    - c. Article 30A of Chapter 14, Secret Listening.
    - d. G.S. 14-228, Buying and selling offices.
    - e. Part 1 of Article 14 of Chapter 120, Code of Legislative Ethics.

- f. Article 20 of Subchapter VII of Chapter 163, Absentee Ballot.
- g. Article 22 of Subchapter VIII of Chapter 163, Regulation of Election Campaigns — Corrupt Practices and Other Offenses Against the Elective Franchise.
- h. G.S. 14-90, Embezzlement of property received by virtue of office or employment.
- i. G.S. 14-91, Embezzlement of State property by public officers and employees.
- j. G.S. 14-92, Embezzlement of funds by public officers and trustees.
- k. G.S. 14-99, Embezzlement of taxes by officers.
- *l.* Subsection (a) of G.S. 14-454.1, Accessing government computers.
- m. Subsection (a1) of G.S. 14-455, Damaging computers, computer programs, computer systems, computer networks, and resources.
- n. G.S. 14-456.1, Denial of government computer services to an authorized user.
- (2) Perjury or false information as follows:
  - a. Perjury committed under G.S. 14-209 in falsely denying the commission of an act that constitutes an offense within the purview of an offense listed in subdivision (1) of subsection (c) of this section.
  - b. Subornation of perjury committed under G.S. 14-210 in connection with the false denial of another as specified by subdivision (2) of this subsection.
  - c. Perjury under Article 22A of Chapter 163 of the General Statutes.
- (d) All monies forfeited under this section shall be remitted to the Civil Penalty and Forfeiture Fund.

### History

2007-179, s. 3(a); 2017-6, s. 3; 2018-84, s. 2(a); 2018-146, ss. 3.1(a), (b), 6.1.

# Re-recodification; Technical and Conforming Changes.

Session Laws 2017-6, s. 3, provides, in part: "The Revisor of Statutes shall recodify Chapter 138A of the General Statutes, Chapter 120C of the General Statutes, as well as Chapter 163 of the General Statutes, as amended by this act, into a new Chapter 163A of the General Statutes to be entitled Elections and Ethics Enforcement Act,' as enacted by Section 4 of this act. The Revisor may also recodify into the new Chapter 163A of the General Statutes other existing statutory laws relating to elections and ethics enforcement that are located else-

where in the General Statutes as the Revisor deems appropriate." The Revisor was further authorized to make additional technical and conforming changes to catchlines, internal citations, and other references throughout the General Statutes to effectuate this recodification. Pursuant to this authority, the Revisor of Statutes substituted "Part 1 of Article 21 or Article 22 of Chapter 163A" for "Article 20 or 22 of Chapter 163" in subdivision (c)(1), and substituted "Article 23 of Chapter 163A" for "Article 22A of Chapter 163" in sub-subdivision (c)(2)c.

Session Laws 2018-146, ss. 3.1(a), (b) and 6.1, repealed Session Laws 2017-6, s. 3, and authorized the Revisor of Statutes to re-recodify Chapter 163A into Chapters 163, 138A, and 120C and to revert the changes made by the Revisor pursuant to Session Laws 2017-6, s. 3.

Pursuant to this authority, the Revisor of Statutes reverted the changes to the references in this section.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2007-179, s. 5, made this section effective July 1, 2007, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2007-179, s. 3(a), en-

acted this section with a subdivision (b)(1), but no subdivision (b)(2). Subsection (b) has been set out in the form above at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2018-84, s. 2(e), made the amendment to this section by Session Laws 2018-84, s. 2(a), effective June 25, 2018, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

# § 135-18.10A. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies related to employment or holding office.

- (a) Except as provided in G.S. 135-4(ii), the Board of Trustees shall not pay any retirement benefits or allowances, except for a return of member contributions plus interest, to any member who is convicted of any felony under federal law or the laws of this State if all of the following apply:
  - (1) The offense is committed while the member is in service.
  - (2) The conduct resulting in the member's conviction is directly related to the member's office or employment.
- (b) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.3(a), effective June 26, 2020.
- (c) If a member or former member whose benefits under the System were forfeited under this section, except for the return of member contributions plus interest, subsequently receives an unconditional pardon of innocence, or the conviction is vacated or set aside for any reason, then the member or former member may seek a reversal of the benefit forfeiture by presenting sufficient evidence to the State Treasurer. If the State Treasurer determines a reversal of the benefit forfeiture is appropriate, then all benefits will be restored upon repayment of all accumulated contributions plus interest. Repayment of all accumulated contributions that have been received by the individual under the forfeiture provisions of this section must be made in a total lump-sum payment with interest compounded annually at a rate of six and one-half percent (6.5%) for each calendar year from the year of forfeiture to the year of repayment. An individual receiving a reversal of benefit forfeiture must receive reinstatement of the service credit forfeited.

## History.

2012-193, s. 1; 2020-48, s. 4.3(a).

### Cross References.

As to forfeiture of retirement benefits in the Legislative Retirement System for certain felonies related to employment or holding office, see G.S. 120-4.33A. As to forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies related to public employment by or holding office in counties, cities, and towns, see G.S. 128-38.4A. As to forfeiture of retirement benefits under

the Judicial Retirement Act for certain felonies related to employment or holding office, see G.S. 135-75.1A.

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 18, made this section effective December 1, 2012, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 17, as amended by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 3, provides: "The State Treasurer shall negotiate a memorandum of agreement

with the United States Attorneys for the Eastern, Middle, and Western Districts of North Carolina whereby the prosecutors will notify the State Treasurer of convictions under G.S. 135-18.10A(b), 128-38.4A(b), 135-75.1A(b), 120-4.33A(b), 135-5.1(h), 135-5.4(h), and 58-86-100(b)."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.3(a), effective June 26, 2020, deleted subsection (b).

# § 135-18.10B. Prohibition on purchase of forfeited service.

Any member whose retirement benefits have been forfeited under G.S. 135-18.10 or G.S. 135-18.10A is prohibited from subsequently purchasing or repurchasing either those forfeited benefits or any creditable membership service associated with those forfeited benefits and that service may not be used for the purposes of eligibility for benefits in any retirement system that provides reciprocal benefits.

### History.

2018-52, s. 6(a); 2020-48, s. 4.5(a).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

## Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.5(a), effective June 26, 2020, added "and that service may not be used for the purposes of eligibility for benefits in any retirement system that provides reciprocal benefits" at the end.

# § 135-18.11. Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance.

A person is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor if the person, with the intent to defraud, receives money as a result of cashing, depositing, or receiving a direct deposit of a decedent's retirement allowance and the person (i) knows that he or she is not entitled to the decedent's retirement allowance, (ii) receives the benefit at least two months after the date of the retiree's or beneficiary's death, and (iii) does not attempt to inform this Retirement System of the retiree's or beneficiary's death.

### History.

2011-232, s. 10(a); 2012-185, s. 3(a); 2013-288, s. 9(b).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-232, s. 11, made this section effective December 1, 2011, and applicable to acts committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2012-185, s. 5, provides,

in part, that the amendments to this section by Session Laws 2012-185, s. 3(a), are applicable to acts committed on or after December 1, 2012.

Session Laws 2013-288, s. 12, made the amendment to this section by Session Laws 2013-288, s. 9(b), applicable to acts committed on or after December 1, 2013.

# ARTICLE 2.

# COVERAGE OF GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES UNDER TITLE II OF THE SOCIAL SECURITY ACT.

# § 135-19. Declaration of policy.

In order to extend to employees of the State and its political subdivisions and of the instrumentalities of either, and to the dependents and survivors of such employees, the basic protection accorded to others by the Old Age and Survivors Insurance System embodied in the Social Security Act, it is hereby declared to be the policy of the legislature, subject to the limitation of this Article, that such steps be taken as to provide such protection to employees of the State and local governments on as broad a basis as is permitted under applicable federal law.

It is also the policy of the legislature that the protection afforded employees in positions covered by a retirement system on the date an agreement under this Article is made applicable to service performed in such positions, or receiving periodic benefits under such retirement system at such time, will not be impaired as a result of making the agreement so applicable or as a result of legislative enactment in anticipation thereof.

### History.

1951, c. 562, s. 3; 1955, c. 1154, s. 1.

# § 135-20. Definitions.

For the purposes of this Article:

- (1) The term "employee" includes an officer of the State, or one of its political subdivisions or instrumentalities.
- (2) The term "employment" means any service performed by an employee in the employ of the State, or any political subdivision thereof, for such employer, except
  - a. Service which in the absence of an agreement entered into under this Article would constitute "employment" as defined in the Social Security Act; or
  - b. Service which under the Social Security Act may not be included in an agreement between the State and the

Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare entered into under this Article.

- Service which under the Social Security Act may be included in an agreement only upon certification by the Governor in accordance with section 218(d)(3) of that act shall be included in the term "employment" if and when the Governor issues, with respect to such service, a certificate to the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare pursuant to G.S. 135-29.
- (3) The term "Federal Insurance Contributions Act" means Subchapter A of Chapter 9 of the Federal Internal Revenue Code of 1939 and Subchapters A and B of Chapter 21 of the Federal Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as such Codes have been and may from time to time be amended; and the term "employee tax" means the tax imposed by section 1400 of such Code of 1939 and section 3101 of such Code of 1954.
- (4) The term "political subdivision" includes an instrumentality of a state, of one or more of its political subdivisions, or of a state and one or more of its political subdivisions, but only if such instrumentality is a juristic entity which is legally separate and distinct from the state or subdivision and only if its employees are not by virtue of their relation to such juristic entity employees of the state or subdivision.
- (5) The term "Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare" includes any individual to whom the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare has delegated any of his functions under the Social Security Act with respect to coverage under such act of employees of states and their political subdivisions, and with respect to any action taken prior to April 11, 1953, includes the Federal Security Administrator and any individual to whom such Administrator has delegated any such function.
- (6) The term "Social Security Act" means the act of Congress approved August 14, 1935, Chapter 531, 49 Stat. 620, officially cited as the "Social Security Act," (including regulations and requirements issued pursuant thereto), as such act has been and may from time to time be amended.
- (7) The term "State agency" means the director of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
- (8) The term "wages" means all remuneration for employment as defined herein, including the cash value of all remuneration paid in any medium other than cash, except that such term shall not include that part of such remuneration which, even if it were paid for "employment" within the meaning of the Federal Insurance Contributions Act, would not constitute "wages" within the meaning of that act.

### History.

1951, c. 562, s. 3; 1955, c. 1154, ss. 2-4, 12; 1959, c. 1020; 1965, c. 780, s. 1; 1973, c. 108, s. 84.

### Local Modification.

Village of Pinehurst: 1977, c. 245.

### State Government Reorganization.

The Public Employees' Social Security Agency was transferred to the Department of State Treasurer by G.S. 143A-36, enacted by Session Laws 1971, c. 864.

### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

The Piedmont Triad Council of Governments is a separate political entity and its employees are eligible for social security coverage through the State agency and are eligible for participation in the Local Governmental Em-

ployees' Retirement System. Opinion of Attorney General to Mr. J.E. Miller, Director, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, 40 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 620 (1969).

# § 135-21. Federal-State agreement; interstate instrumentalities.

- (a) The State agency, with the approval of the Governor, is hereby authorized to enter on behalf of the State into an agreement with the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare, consistent with the terms and provisions of this Article, for the purpose of extending the benefits of the Federal Old Age and Survivors Insurance System to employees of the State or any political subdivision thereof with respect to services specified in such agreement which constitute "employment" as defined in G.S. 135-20. Such agreement may contain such provisions relating to coverage, benefits, contributions, effective date, modification and termination of the agreement, administration, and other appropriate provisions as the State agency and Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare shall agree upon, but, except as may be otherwise required by or under the Social Security Act as to the services to be covered, such agreement shall provide in effect that
  - (1) Benefits will be provided for employees whose services are covered by the agreement (and their dependents and survivors) on the same basis as though such services constituted employment within the meaning of Title II of the Social Security Act.
  - (2) The State will pay to the Secretary of the Treasury, at such time or times as may be prescribed under the Social Security Act, contributions with respect to wages (as defined in G.S. 135-20), equal to the sum of the taxes which would be imposed by the Federal Insurance Contributions Act if the services covered by the agreement constituted employment within the meaning of that act.
  - (3) Such agreement shall be effective with respect to services in employment covered by the agreement performed after a date specified therein but shall in no event cover any such services performed prior to January 1, 1951.

- (4) All services which constitute employment as defined in G.S. 135-20 and are performed in the employ of the State by employees of the State, shall be covered by the agreement.
- (5) All services which constitute employment as defined in G.S. 135-20, are performed in the employ of a political subdivision of the State, and are covered by a plan which is in conformity with the terms of the agreement and has been approved by the State agency under G.S. 135-23, shall be covered by the agreement.
- (6) As modified, the agreement shall include all services described in either subdivision (4) or subdivision (5) of this subsection and performed by individuals to whom section 218(c)(3)(C) of the Social Security Act is applicable and shall provide that the service of any such individual shall continue to be covered by the agreement in case he thereafter becomes eligible to be a member of a retirement system; and
- (7) As modified, the agreement shall include all services described in either subdivision (4) or subdivision (5) of this subsection and performed by individuals in positions covered by a retirement system with respect to which the Governor has issued a certificate to the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare pursuant to G.S. 135-29.
- (b) Any instrumentality jointly created by this State and any other state or states is hereby authorized, upon the granting of like authority by such other state or states,
  - (1) To enter into an agreement with the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare whereby the benefits of the Federal Old Age and Survivors Insurance System shall be extended to employees of such instrumentality,
  - (2) To require its employees to pay (and for that purpose to deduct from their wages) contributions equal to the amounts which they would be required to pay under G.S. 135-22(a) if they were covered by an agreement made pursuant to subsection (a) of this section, and
  - (3) To make payments to the Secretary of the Treasury in accordance with such agreement, including payments from its own funds, and otherwise to comply with such agreements.

Such agreement shall, to the extent practicable, be consistent with the terms and provisions of subsection (a) and other provisions of this Article.

(c) Pursuant to section 218(d)(6) of the Social Security Act, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina as established by Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Volume 17, as amended and as the same may be hereafter amended, shall for the purposes of this Article, be deemed to

constitute a single retirement system; and, the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System as established by Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes, Volume 16, as amended and as the same may be hereafter amended, shall be deemed to constitute a single retirement system with respect to each political subdivision having positions covered thereby.

## History.

1951, c. 562, s. 3; 1953, c. 52; 1955, c. 1154, ss. 5-7, 12.

# § 135-22. Contributions by State employees.

- (a) Every employee of the State whose services are covered by an agreement entered into under G.S. 135-21 shall be required to pay for the period of such coverage, into the contribution fund established by G.S. 135-24, contributions, with respect to wages (as defined in G.S. 135-20), equal to the amount of the employee tax which would be imposed by the Federal Insurance Contributions Act if such services constituted employment within the meaning of that act. Such liability shall arise in consideration of the employee's retention in the service of the State, or his entry upon such service, after the enactment of this Article.
- (b) The contribution imposed by this section shall be collected by deducting the amount of the contribution from wages as and when paid, but failure to make such deduction shall not relieve the employee from liability for such contribution.
- (c) If more or less than the correct amount of the contribution imposed by this section is paid or deducted with respect to any remuneration, proper adjustments, or refund if adjustment is impracticable, shall be made, without interest, in such manner and at such times as the State agency shall prescribe.

### History.

1951, c. 562, s. 3; 1955, c. 1154, s. 8.

# § 135-23. Plans for coverage of employees of political subdivisions.

- (a) Each political subdivision of the State is hereby authorized to submit for approval by the State agency a plan for extending the benefits of Title II of the Social Security Act, in conformity with applicable provisions of such act, to employees of such political subdivisions. Each such plan and any amendment thereof shall be approved by the State agency if it finds that such plan or such plan as amended, is in conformity with such requirements as are provided in regulations of the State agency, except that no such plan shall be approved unless
  - (1) It is in conformity with the requirements of the Social

- Security Act and with the agreement entered into under G.S. 135-21.
- (2) It provides that all services which constitute employment as defined in G.S. 135-20 and are performed in the employ of the political subdivision by employees thereof, shall be covered by the plan, except that it may exclude services performed by individuals to whom section 218(c)(3)(C) of the Social Security Act is applicable.
- (3) It specifies the source or sources from which the funds necessary to make the payments required by subdivision (1) of subsection (c) and by subsection (d) are expected to be derived and contains reasonable assurance that such sources will be adequate for such purpose.
- (4) It provides for such methods of administration of the plan by the political subdivision as are found by the State agency to be necessary for the proper and efficient administration of the plan.
- (5) It provides that the political subdivision will make such reports, in such form and containing such information, as the State agency may from time to time require, and comply with such provisions as the State agency or the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare may from time to time find necessary to assure the correctness and verification of such reports.
- (6) It authorizes the State agency to terminate the plan in its entirety, in the discretion of the State agency, if it finds that there has been a failure to comply substantially with any provision contained in such plan, such termination to take effect at the expiration of such notice and on such conditions as may be provided by regulations of the State agency and may be consistent with the provisions of the Social Security Act.
- (b) The State agency shall not finally refuse to approve a plan submitted by a political subdivision under subsection (a), and shall not terminate an approved plan, without reasonable notice and opportunity for hearing to the political subdivision affected thereby.
  - (c)(1) Each political subdivision as to which a plan has been approved under this section shall pay into the contribution fund, with respect to wages (as defined in G.S. 135-20), at such time or times as the State agency may by regulation prescribe, contributions in the amounts and at the rates specified in the applicable agreement entered into by the State agency under G.S. 135-21.
    - (2) Each political subdivision required to make payments under subdivision (1) of this subsection is authorized, in consideration of the employee's retention in, or entry upon, employment after enactment of this Article, to impose upon

each of its employees, as to services which are covered by an approved plan, a contribution with respect to his wages (as defined in G.S. 135-20), not exceeding the amount of the employee tax which would be imposed by the Federal Insurance Contributions Act if such services constituted employment within the meaning of that act, and to deduct the amount of such contribution from his wages as and when paid. Contributions so collected shall be paid into the contribution fund in partial discharge of the liability of such political subdivision or instrumentality under subdivision (1) of this subsection. Failure to deduct such contribution shall not relieve the employee or employer of liability therefor.

(d) Delinquent payments due under subdivision (1) of subsection (c), may, with interest at the rate of six per centum (6%) per annum, be recovered by action in the Superior Court of Wake County against the political subdivision liable therefor or may, at the request of the State agency, be deducted from any other moneys payable to such subdivision by any department or agency of the State.

```
History. c. 408; city of Raleigh (as to subsection 1951, c. 562, s. 3; 1955, c. 1154, ss. 9, (c)(2)): 1957, c. 4. (c)(2): 1957, c. 4.
```

### Local Modification.

Rowan (as to subdivision (c)(2)): 1957,

# § 135-24. Contribution fund.

- (a) There is hereby established a special fund to be known as the contribution fund. Such fund shall consist of and there shall be deposited in such fund:
  - (1) All contributions, interest, and penalties collected under G.S. 135-22 and 135-23;
  - (2) All moneys appropriated thereto under this Article;
  - (3) Any property or securities and earnings thereof acquired through the use of moneys belonging to the fund;
  - (4) Interest earned upon any moneys in the fund; and
  - (5) All sums recovered upon the bond of the custodian or otherwise for losses sustained by the fund and all other moneys received for the fund from any other source.
  - All moneys in the fund shall be mingled and undivided. Subject to the provisions of this Article, the State agency is vested with full power, authority and jurisdiction over the fund, including all moneys and property or securities belonging thereto, and may perform any and all acts whether or not specifically designated, which are necessary to the administration thereof and are consistent with the provisions of this Article.
  - (b) The contribution fund shall be established and held separate

and apart from any other funds or moneys of the State and shall be used and administered exclusively for the purpose of this Article. Withdrawals from such fund shall be made for, and solely for

- (1) Payment of amounts required to be paid to the Secretary of the Treasury pursuant to an agreement entered into under G.S. 135-21;
- (2) Payment of refunds provided for in G.S. 135-22(c); and
- (3) Refunds of overpayments, not otherwise adjustable, made by a political subdivision or instrumentality.
- (c) From the contribution fund the custodian of the fund shall pay to the Secretary of the Treasury such amounts and at such time or times as may be directed by the State agency in accordance with any agreement entered into under G.S. 135-21 and the Social Security Act.
- (d) The Treasurer of the State shall be ex officio treasurer and custodian of the contribution fund and shall administer such fund in accordance with the provisions of this Article and the directions of the State agency and shall pay all warrants drawn upon it in accordance with the provisions of this section and with such regulations as the State agency may prescribe pursuant thereto.
  - (e)(1) There are hereby authorized to be appropriated biennially to the contribution fund, in addition to the contributions collected and paid into the contribution fund under G.S. 135-22 and 135-23, to be available for the purposes of G.S. 135-24(b) and (c) until expended, such additional sums as are found to be necessary in order to make the payments to the Secretary of the Treasury which the State is obligated to make pursuant to an agreement entered into under G.S. 135-21.
    - (2) The State agency shall submit to each regular session of the State legislature, at least 90 days in advance of the beginning of such session, an estimate of the amounts authorized to be appropriated to the contribution fund by subdivision (1) of this subsection for the next appropriation period.
- (f) The State agency shall have the authority to promulgate rules and regulations under which the State agency may make a reasonable charge or assessment against any political subdivision whose employees shall be included in any coverage agreement under any plan of coverage of employees as provided by the provisions of this Article. Such charge or assessment shall be determined by the State agency and shall be apportioned among the various political subdivisions of government in a ratable or fair manner, and the funds derived from such charge or assessment shall be used exclusively by the State agency to defray the cost and expense of administering the provisions of this Article. In case of refusal to pay such charge or assessment on the part of any political subdivision as defined in this Article, or in case such charge or assessment remains unpaid for a

period of 30 days, the State agency may maintain a suit in the Superior Court of Wake County for the recovery of such charge or assessment. The Superior Court of Wake County is hereby vested with jurisdiction over all such suits or actions. Only such amount shall be assessed against such political subdivision as is necessary to pay its share of the expense of providing supplies, necessary employees and clerks, records and other proper expenses necessary for the administration of this Article by the State agency, including compensation of the State agency for the agency's services. The funds accumulated and derived from such assessments and charges shall be deposited by the State agency in some safe and reliable depository chosen by the State agency, and the State agency shall issue such checks or vouchers as may be necessary to defray the above-mentioned expenses of administration with the right of the representative of any political subdivision to inspect the books and records and inquire into the amounts necessary for such administration.

### History.

1951, c. 562, s. 3; 1963, c. 687, s. 6.

# § 135-25. Rules and regulations.

The State agency shall make and publish such rules and regulations, not inconsistent with the provisions of this Article, as it finds necessary or appropriate to the efficient administration of the functions with which it is charged under this Article.

# History.

1951, c. 562, s. 3.

# § 135-26. Studies and reports.

The State agency shall make studies concerning the problem of old age and survivors insurance protection for employees of the State and local governments and their instrumentalities and concerning the operation of agreements made and plans approved under this Article and shall submit a report to the legislature at the beginning of each regular session, covering the administration and operation of this Article during the preceding biennium, including such recommendations for amendments to this Article as it considers proper.

### History.

1951, c. 562, s. 3.

# § 135-27. Transfers from State to certain association service.

(a) Any member whose service as a teacher or State employee is terminated because of acceptance of a position prior to July 1, 1983, with the North Carolina Education Association, the North Carolina State Employees' Association, North Carolina State Firefighters' Association, the North Carolina State Highway Employees Association, North Carolina Teachers' Association and the State Employees' Credit Union, alumni associations of state-supported universities and colleges, local professional associations of teachers and State employees as defined by the Board of Trustees, and North Carolina State School Boards Association may elect to leave his total accumulated contributions in this Retirement System during the period he is in such association employment, by filing with the Board of Trustees at the time of such termination the form provided by it for that purpose.

- (b) Any member who files such an election shall remain a member of the Retirement System during the time he is in such association employment and does not withdraw his contributions. Such a member shall be entitled to all the rights and benefits of the Retirement System as though remaining in State service on the basis of the funds accumulated for his credit at the time of such transfer plus any additional accruals on account of future contributions made as hereinafter provided. Such former State employee may restore any such account and pay into the annuity savings fund before July 1, 1960, such amounts as would have been paid after transfer to such service, provided that the association makes contributions to the Retirement System on behalf of such former members in accordance with subsection (c) of this section.
- (c) Under such rules as the Board of Trustees shall adopt, the association to which the member has been transferred may agree to contribute to the Retirement System on behalf of such member such current service contributions as would have been made by his employer had he remained in State service with actual compensation equal to the remuneration received from such association; provided the member continues to contribute to the Retirement System. Any period of such association employment on account of which contributions are made by both the association and the member as herein provided shall be credited as membership service under the Retirement System.
- (d) The governing board of any association or organization listed in subsection (a), in its discretion, may elect on or before July 1, 1983, by an appropriate resolution of said board, to cause the employees of such association or organization so employed prior to July 1, 1983, to become members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System. Such Retirement System coverage shall be conditioned on such association's or organization's paying all of the employer's contributions or matching funds from funds of the association or organization and on such board's collecting from its employees the employees' contributions at such rates as may be fixed by law and by the regulations of the Board of Trustees of the Retirement System, all of such funds to be paid to the Retirement

System and placed in the appropriate funds. Retroactive coverage of the employees of any such association or organization may also be effected to the extent that such board requests; provided, the association or organization shall pay all of the employer's contributions or matching funds necessary for such purposes; and, provided further, such association or organization shall collect from its employees all employees' contributions necessary for such purpose, computed at such rates and in such amount as the Board of Trustees of the Retirement System shall determine, all of such funds to be paid to the Retirement System, together with such interest as may be due, and placed in the appropriate funds. The provisions of this subsection shall be fully applicable to the North Carolina Symphony Society, Inc.

- (e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, employees of the State Employees' Credit Union who are in service and members of the Retirement System on June 30, 1983, shall, on or before October 1, 1983, make an irrevocable election to do one of the following:
  - (1) Continue contributing membership service under the same conditions and requirements as are otherwise provided, and have the rights of a member to all benefits and a retirement allowance; or
  - (2) Receive a return of accumulated contributions with cessation of contributing membership service, under G.S. 135-5(f) and in any event with regular interest regardless of membership service; or
  - (3) Terminate contributing membership service and be entitled alternatively to the benefits and allowances provided under G.S. 135-3(8) or G.S. 135-5(a).
- (f) Notwithstanding the foregoing, employees of the State Employees Association of North Carolina, the employees of the North Carolina Association of Educators, and the employees of the North Carolina School Boards Association who are in service and members of the Retirement System on June 30, 1985, shall, on or before October 1, 1985, make an irrevocable election to exercise one of the three options provided in G.S. 135-27(e).

### History.

1953, c. 1050, s. 1; 1959, c. 513, s. 5; 1961, c. 516, s. 5; 1967, c. 720, s. 14; 1969, cc. 540, 847, 1227; 1983, c. 412, ss. 4-6; c. 782; 1985, c. 757, s. 200; 2008-194, s. 6(a); 2012-120, s. 1(b); 2016-51, s. 6.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2016-51, s. 6, provides: "Chapter 251 of the Private Laws of 1889 is hereby amended by replacing the words 'North Carolina State Firemen's Association' with the words 'North Carolina State Firefighters' Association.'

"The entity formerly known as the

North Carolina State Firemen's Association, and now known as the North Carolina State Firefighters' Association, is hereby authorized to amend its corporate documents to conform them to the association's new name by an appropriate filing with the Secretary of State.

The Revisor of Statutes is hereby authorized to replace any occurrences in the General Statutes of the words 'North Carolina State Firemen's Association,' 'North Carolina Firemen's Association,' 'State Firemen's Association,' or any reasonable derivative thereof, with the words 'North Carolina State Firefight-

ers' Association,' including the following sections of the General Statutes: G.S. 58-2-121, 58-78-1, 58-80-5, 58-80-25, 58-80-60, 58-84-5, 58-84-25, 58-84-33, 58-84-35, 58-84-40, 58-84-41, 58-84-46, 58-

84-50, 58-84-52, 58-85-1, 58-85-10, 58-85-20, 58-85-25, 58-85-30, 58-85-35, 58-86-25, 58-87-10, 135-27, 143-136, 143B-1401, 166A-26, and 166A-69."

# § 135-28. Transfer of members to employment covered by the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.

- (a) Any member whose services as a teacher or State employee are terminated for any reason other than retirement or death, who, while his account remains active, becomes employed by an employer participating in the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System or an employer which brings its employees into participation in said System while his account is active, may elect to leave his total accumulated contributions in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System during the period he is in the employment of such employer, or his account remains active in the local system. This subsection shall be effective retroactively as well as prospectively.
- (b) Any such member shall retain all the rights, credits and benefits obtaining to him under this Retirement System at the time of such transfer while he is a member of the local system and does not withdraw his contributions hereunder and in addition, he shall be granted membership service credits under this Retirement System on account of the period of his membership in the local system for the purpose of increasing his years of creditable service hereunder in order to meet any service requirements of any retirement benefit under this Retirement System and, if he is a member in service under the local system, he shall be deemed to be a member in service under this Retirement System if so required by such benefit: Provided, however, that in lieu of transfer of funds from one retirement system to another, such member who is eligible for retirement benefits shall file application therefor with each retirement system to the end that each retirement system shall pay appropriate benefits without transfer of funds between the systems.
- (c) Any member who became or becomes employed by an employer of the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System as provided in (a) above shall be entitled to waive the provisions of (b) above and to transfer to the local system his credits for membership and prior service in this System provided such member shall request this System to transfer his accumulated contributions, interest and service credits to the local system. If such request is made, in addition to the member's accumulated contributions, interest and service credits, there shall be transferred to the local system the amount of reserve held in this System as a result of previous employer contributions on behalf of the transferring employee.

**History.** 1965, c. 780, s. 1; 1971, c. 117, ss. 16, 18; 1953, c. 1050, s. 2; 1961, c. 516, s. 6; 1973, c. 241, s. 12.

# § 135-28.1. Transfer of members to employment covered by the Uniform Judicial Retirement System.

- (a) Any member whose service as a teacher or State employee is terminated other than by retirement or death and, who, while still a member of this Retirement System, becomes a judge participating in the Uniform Judicial Retirement System, may elect to retain his membership in this Retirement System by not withdrawing his accumulated contributions hereunder. Any such member shall retain all the rights, credits and benefits obtaining to him under this Retirement System at the time of such termination of service hereunder while he is a member of the other system and does not withdraw his contributions hereunder.
- (b) The provisions of the preceding subsection to the contrary notwithstanding, with respect to each judge or former judge of the district court division of the General Court of Justice who was a member of this Retirement System immediately prior to January 1, 1974, and who becomes a member of the Uniform Judicial Retirement System on or after January 1, 1974, upon his commencement of membership in the other system there shall be paid in a lump sum to his account in the annuity savings fund of the other system the amount of his accumulated contributions under this System that are attributable to contributions made by him hereunder while a judge of said district court division. Upon such payment, the member's accumulated contributions hereunder shall be reduced by the amount of such payment and his period of creditable membership service shall be reduced by the period of service during which such repaid contributions were originally made.

Any member for whom the payment of his accumulated contributions as herein provided reduces the balance of his account in the annuity savings fund to zero and cancels his entire period of creditable service shall no longer be a member of this Retirement System.

In the case of any member who retains his membership in this Retirement System after the payment hereinabove provided and who subsequently becomes eligible for retirement benefits under this Retirement System or whose death results in benefit payments to another beneficiary, the average final compensation used in the computation of the amount of any such benefits shall be computed as of the date of commencement of his membership in the other system on the same basis as if his retirement or death had occurred as of such date of commencement. Moreover, for the sole purpose of increasing his creditable service hereunder in order to meet any applicable service requirements for benefits hereunder, any such member shall be granted membership service credits under this

Retirement System on account of (i) the period of membership service cancelled under the first paragraph of this subsection and (ii) the period of his membership in the other system so long as he remains a member hereunder and, if he is a member in service under the other system, he shall be deemed to be a member in service under this Retirement System if so required for any benefit hereunder.

- (c) Any member who becomes eligible for benefits under both this Retirement System and the Uniform Judicial Retirement System may file application therefor with each retirement system to the end that each retirement system shall pay appropriate benefits without transfer of funds between the systems except as otherwise provided in subsection (b) above.
- (d) The Board of Trustees shall effect such rules as it may deem necessary to administer the provisions of the preceding subsections of this section and to prevent any duplication of service credits or benefits that might otherwise occur.
- (e) When any judge of a district court division of the General Court of Justice shall have made application for disability retirement prior to January 1, 1974, while a member of this Retirement System to become effective after January 1, 1974, and such judge died before January 1, 1974, and there was filed with the application for disability retirement a statement by a physician that such judge was permanently and totally disabled, such person shall be deemed to have complied with all provisions of this Retirement System as of the date of application for disability retirement and no action of the medical board shall be necessary. He shall be presumed to have chosen Option 2 as to retirement benefits and survivor's benefits shall commence immediately and shall also be paid retroactively to the first day of the calendar month following such judge's death.
- (f) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a), (b), (c), (d), and (e) of this section, the accumulated contributions and creditable service of any member whose service as a teacher or employee has been or is terminated other than by retirement or death and who, while still a member of this Retirement System, became or becomes a member, as defined in G.S. 135-53(11), of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System for a period of five or more years may, upon application of the member, be transferred from this Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System. In order to effect the transfer of a member's creditable service from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, there shall be transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System the sum of (i) the accumulated contributions of the member credited in the annuity savings fund and (ii) the amount of reserve held in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System as a result of previous contributions by the employer on behalf of the transferring member.

### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 2; c. 1221; 1999-237, s. 28.24(b).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 26.24(i), provides: "Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 135-28.1, G.S. 135-70.1, or any other law, any member covered by this section shall not be eligible to transfer any remaining creditable service from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System until the member has contributed to the Consolidated Judicial System for a period of five years beginning July 1, 2008."

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as 'The

Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2008."

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 30.3, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2008-2009 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2008-2009 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 30.5, is a severability clause.

## Legal Periodicals.

For note, "Gregory v. Ashcroft: The Plain Statement Rule and Judicial Supervision of Federal-State Relations," see 70 N.C.L. Rev. 1563 (1992).

# § 135-29. Referenda and certification.

- (a) With respect to employees of the State and any other individuals covered by Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, Volume 17, as amended and as may be hereafter amended, the Governor is empowered to authorize a referendum, and with respect to the employees of any political subdivision he shall authorize a referendum upon request of the governing body of such vision covered by Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes, Volume 16, as amended and as the same may be hereafter amended, or by some other retirement system established either by the State or by the political subdivision; and in either case the referendum shall be conducted, and the Governor shall designate an agency or individual to supervise its conduct, in accordance with the requirements of section 218(d)(3) of the Social Security Act, on the question of whether service in positions covered by a retirement system established by the State or by a political subdivision thereof should be excluded from or included under an agreement under this Article. The notice of referendum required by section 218(d)(3)(C) of the Social Security Act to be given to employees shall contain or shall be accompanied by a statement, in such form and such detail as the agency or the individual designated to supervise the referendum shall deem necessary and sufficient, to inform the employees of the rights which will accrue to them and their dependents and survivors, and the liabilities to which they will be subject, if their services are included under an agreement under this Article.
- (b) Upon receiving evidence satisfactory to him that with respect to any such referendum the conditions specified in section 218(d)(3) of the Social Security Act have been met, the Governor or such State official as may be designated by him, shall so certify to the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare.

**History.** 1955, c. 1154, s. 11; 1961, c. 516, s. 8.

## § 135-30. State employees members of Law-Enforcement Officers' Benefit and Retirement Fund.

The federal-state agreement provided in G.S. 135-21 shall be revised and extended to provide that, effective on, or retroactively as of, such date as may be fixed by the Board of Commissioners of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Benefit and Retirement Fund, all or some of the members of said fund who are employees of the State of North Carolina or any of its agencies, shall be covered by the Social Security Act, dependent upon a referendum or referendums held pursuant to federal laws and regulations, at the request of said board, with the approval of the Governor: Provided, that such action shall be subject to the conditions and terms set forth in such agreement and subject to all applicable provisions of Article 2 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes not inconsistent herewith: Provided, however, that the effecting of social security coverage shall not cause to be reduced or lowered the amount of the contributions to be made to the Law-Enforcement Officers' Benefit and Retirement Fund by any State employee who is a member thereof nor the amount to be contributed by the State to said fund with respect to each State employee member; provided, further, from and after the date the above-described employees become subject to the Social Security Act, there shall be deducted from each such employee's salary for each and every payroll period such sum as may be necessary to pay the amount of contributions of taxes required on his account with respect to social security coverage, and the State, or the appropriate State agency, as an employer, shall pay the amount of contributions or taxes with respect to such person, as may be necessary on his account to effect the above-described social security coverage.

**History.** 1959, c. 618, s. 1.

## § 135-31. Split referendums.

The provisions of this Article shall be construed as authorization for the State or political subdivisions or instrumentalities of government which have not heretofore secured social security coverage, and which are otherwise authorized to secure such coverage, to hold any type of referendum with respect thereto which federal law now or hereafter may authorize, and not be restricted to the types of referendums authorized by federal law at the time of the original enactment of this Article.

**History.** 1959, c. 618, s. 1.

## ARTICLE 3.

## OTHER TEACHER, EMPLOYEE BENEFITS; CHILD HEALTH BENEFITS.

## §§ 135-32 through 135-33.1. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1981 (Regular Session, 1982), c. 1398, s. 1.

## § 135-34. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1987, c. 738, s. 29(l).

## § 135-35. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1981, c. 859, s. 13.17; 1981 (Regular Session, 1982), c. 1398, s. 1.

## § 135-36. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1981 (Regular Session, 1982), c. 1398, s. 1.

## §§ 135-37 through 135-42.1. (Recodified and Renumbered)

Recodified and renumbered as G.S. 135-43 to 135-47.3.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2008-168, s. 1(a), effective July 1, 2008, recodified former Article 3 (§§ 135-37 through 135-42.1) of Chapter 135 as Article 3A of Chapter 135 containing §§ 135-37.1 through 135-42.1. The section numbers were subsequently renumbered as G.S. 135-43 through 135-47.3 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Former G.S. 135-39.3A was repealed by Session Laws 1987, c. 857, s. 4. Former G.S. 135-39.4 was repealed by Session Laws 1985 (Regular Session, 1986), c. 1020, s. 2. Former G.S. 135-39.5B, 135-40.4, 135-40.6, 135-40.8, and 135-40.9 were repealed effective July 1, 2008, by Session Laws 2007-323, s. 28.22A(a). Former G.S. 135-40.7A was repealed by Session Laws 1997-512, s. 15.

Former G.S. 135-40 was repealed by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(b), effective July 1, 2008. The following local modifications applied to former G.S. 135-40: Local Modifications. — Bladen: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Cherokee: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Mitchell: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-

405, s. 1; Rutherford: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Washington: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Wilkes: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; and towns of Biltmore Forest: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Black Creek: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Black Mountain: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Blowing Rock: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Forest City: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Ocean Isle Beach: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Sunset Beach: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Tabor City: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1.

Former G.S. 135-40.1 was repealed by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(d), effective July 1, 2008. The following local modifications applied to former G.S. 135-40.1: Local Modifications. — Bladen: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Cherokee: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Mitchell: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Rutherford: 2004-124, s. 31.26,

as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Washington: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Wilkes: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; and towns of Biltmore Forest: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Black Creek: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Black Mountain: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Blowing Rock: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Blowing Rock: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by

2007-405, s. 1; Forest City: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Ocean Isle Beach: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Sunset Beach: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Tabor City: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1.

Former G.S. 135-40.6A was repealed by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(k), effective July 1, 2008.

## ARTICLE 3A.

## OTHER BENEFITS FOR TEACHERS, STATE EMPLOYEES, RETIRED STATE EMPLOYEES, AND CHILD HEALTH.

## §§ 135-43 through 135-47.3. (Repealed and Recodified)

Recodified as Article 3B of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2011-85, ss. 2.4 through 2.8, effective January 1, 2012.

### History.

G.S. 135-43.1: 1981, c. 859, s. 13.18; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 5; 1983, c. 452, ss. 1, 2; 1985, c. 732, s. 45; 1987, c. 61; c. 857, s. 1; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1038, s. 19.1; 1991, c. 739, s. 21; 1995, c. 229, s. 1; 1997-278, s. 2; 1997-468, s. 1; 1998-1, s. 4(b); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), (c), (e); repealed by Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9 effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-43.2: 2008-168, s. 2.1; 2008-187, s. 49; repealed by 2011-85, s. 2.9 effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-43.3: 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1985, c. 732, ss. 47, 67; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 20; 2000-140, s. 93.1(a); 2001-424, s. 12.2(b); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (b); repealed by 2011-85, s. 2.9 effective January 1, 2012. 1985, c. 732, s. 57; 1991, c. 427, s. 8; 2007-323, s. 28.22A(d); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (i); repealed by 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-44.3: 1985, c. 732, s. 57; 1991, c. 427, s. 8; 2007-323, s. 28.22A(d); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (i); repealed by 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-44.4 (except for subdivision (26): 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 922, s. 2; 1985, c. 732, ss. 7, 9, 23, 24, 50, 51; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, ss. 3, 20; 1987, c. 857, ss. 6, 7; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1091, s. 5; 1989, c. 752, s. 22(a); 1991, c. 427, s. 3; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 679, s. 10.3; 1997-468, s. 2; 1997-519, s. 3.15; 1998-1, s. 4(c); 2000-141, s. 3; 2001-253, ss. 1(a), 1(q); 2001-487, s. 85.5; 2006-249, s. 4(b); 2007-323, s. 28.22(i); 2008-107, s. 10.13(a); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (k), (j); 2009-16, s. 5(b); repealed by 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-44.6(a), (b), (f): 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1985, c. 732, s. 52; 1991, c. 427, s. 5; 1997-468, s. 4; 1998-1, s. 4(e); 1999-237, s. 28.29(h); 2003-69, s. 2; 2004-124, s. 31.21(c); 2005-276, s. 29.31(e); 2007-323, s. 28.22A(m), (m1), (o); 2007-345, ss. 11, 12; 2008-107, s. 10.13(a); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (m); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-571, s. 3(c); G.S. 135-45(b), (f)-(h): 2008-168, s. 3(c); 2009-16, ss. 2(f), 5(h); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-313, s. 2; repealed by 2011-85; G.S. 135-45.6: 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 922, s. 7; 1985, c. 192, ss. 5, 9, 12; c. 732, ss. 16-18; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, ss. 10, 20; 1987, c. 857, s. 14; 1991, c. 427, ss. 13, 20; 1995, c. 507, s. 7.24(a); 1999-237, s. 28.28(b); 2000-141, s. 1; 2000-184, s. 2; 2001-253, ss. 1(d), 1(e); 2003-186, s. 5(a); 2005-276, s. 29.31(a); 2006-249, s. 2(a); 2007-323, s. 28.22A(a); 2008- 168, ss. 1(a), 3(a), (j); 2009-16, s. 2(c); 2009-571, s. 3(e); 2011-85, s. 1.3(b); 2011-96, s. 2(a) repealed by 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-45.7: 2008-168, s. 3(*l*); repealed by 2011-85, s. 2.10, effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-45.8: 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 922, ss. 15, 21.4; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, ss. 16, 20, 21, 25, 26; 1987, c. 282, s. 35; 1991, c. 427, ss. 16, 30, 40; 1993, c. 464, s. 7; 1995, c. 535, s. 29; 1997-456, s. 55.9; 1997-468, s. 6; 1997-512, ss. 4, 13; 1998212, s. 28.29(c); 2000-141, s. 5; 2007-323, ss. 28.22A(i), (k): 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 3(a), (m), (v); 2009-16, s. 2(d); 2010-2, s. 2; 2010-96, s. 33; repealed by Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-45.9: 1991, c. 427, s. 32; 1993, c. 464, ss. 3(a), 4; 1995, c. 157, s. 2; c. 406, s. 2; 1997-512, s. 14; 1999-186, s. 1; 1999-199, s. 3; 1999-210, s. 8; 1999-351, s. 7; 2001-258, s. 1; 2001-487, s. 40(n); 2003-368, ss. 2, 3; 2004-124, s. 31.28; 2007-323, ss. 28.22(f), (o); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 3(a), (n); 2009-16, s. 5(d); repealed by Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012.; G.S. 135-45.11: 2008-168, s. 3(p); repealed by Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-45.14: 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 922, s. 18; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, ss. 20, 30; 1989, c. 770, s. 35; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 3(a), (s); repealed by Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012; 2011-96, s. 4; G.S. 135-46.3: 1997-468, s. 7; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 4(a); repealed by Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-47: 1998-1, s. 4(a); 2007-323, s. 28.22A(i); 2008- 107, s. 10.13(b), (n); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 4(a); repealed by 2008-107, s. 10.13(n), effective July 1, 2010; G.S. 135-47.1: 1998-1, s. 4(a); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 4(a); repealed by Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012; G.S. 135-47.3: 2008-107, s. 10.13(c); repealed by Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012.

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, ss. 2.3 through 2.8, effective January 1, 2011, recodified former Article 3A (§§ 135-43 through 135-47.3) of Chapter 135 as Article 3B of Chapter 135 containing §§ 135-48.1 through 135-48.62. Where appropriate, the historical citations to former sections have been added to corresponding new sections. At the end of Article 3A are tables showing comparable sections of Article 3A and their disposition in Article 3B

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, provides: "All portions of Article 3A of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes not recodified by this act are repealed." Former G.S. 135-43.1 through 135-43.3, 135-44.4, 135-44.4 (except for 135-44.4(26)), 135-44.6(a), (b), and (f), 135-45(b) and (f)-(h), 135-45.6 through 135-45.9, 135-45.11, 135-45.14, 135-46.3, 135-47.1 and 135-47.3 are thereby repealed effective January 1, 2012.

Former G.S. 135-43.1 pertained to Committee on Employee Hospital and Medical Benefits. Former G.S. 135-43.2 pertained to State Health Plan Administrative Commission

Former G.S. 135-43.3 pertained to oversight team.

Former G.S. 135-44.3 pertained to meaning of "Executive Administrator and Board of Trustees."

Former G.S. 135-44.4 was amended by Session Laws 2011-266, s. 1.33(b), effective July 1, 2011, by deleting "and the State Health Plan Blue Ribbon Task Force" following "Medical Benefits" in the last sentence of subdivision (31). Former G.S. 135-44.4 was amended by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 1.10(a), effective July 1, 2010, by adding the last sentence in subdivision (18), which read: "Notwithstanding this provision, the Executive Administrator and Board of Trustees may authorize coverage or payment of claims that have been denied as a result of administrative errors or system issues."

Former G.S. 135-44.4(1)-(25) and (27)-(31), pertaining to powers and duties of the Executive Administrator and Board of Trustees, was repealed by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9.

Former G.S. 135-45(b) was amended by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 1.6(a), as amended by Session Laws 2011-96, s. 2(a), effective September 1, 2011, by substituting "partially, one-half, or fully" for "fully or partially."

Former G.S. 135-45(g) was amended by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 1.4, effective July 1, 2011, by substituting "July 1, 2011" for "July 1, 2009." Session Laws 2011-96, s. 2(b) amended Session Laws 2011-85, by deleting section 1.4.

Session Laws 2011-96, which amended former G.S. 135-45(b) and (g), was contingent on Senate Bill 323, 2011 Regular Session, becoming Law. Senate Bill 323 was enacted as Session Laws 2011-85.

Former G.S. 135-45(g) was amended by Session Laws 2011-96, s. 2(c), effective May 26, 2011, by substituting "September 1, 2011" for "July 1, 2009."

Former G.S. 135-45.6 pertained to benefits not subject to deductible or coinsurance. Former G.S. 135-45.6 was amended by 2011-85, s. 1.3(b), as amended by Session Laws 2011-96, s. 2(a), effective September 1, 2011, by substituting "twelve dollars (\$12.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)," "forty dollars (\$40.00)" for "thirty-five (\$35.00)," and "sixty-four dollars (\$64.00)" for "fifty-five dollars (\$55.00)" in subdivision (b)(1).

Former G.S. 135-45.6 was amended by 2011-85, s. 1.3(b), as amended by Session Laws 2011-96, s. 2(a), effective September 1, 2011, by substituting "twelve dollars (\$12.00)" for "ten dollars (\$10.00)," "forty dollars (\$40.00)" for "thirty-five dollars (\$35.00)," and "sixty-four dollars (\$64.00)" for "fifty-five dollars (\$55.00)" in subdivision (b)(1).

Former G.S. 135-45.7 pertained to prior approval procedures.

Former G.S. 135-45.8 pertained to general limitations and exclusions.

Former G.S. 135-45.9 pertained to special provisions for chemical dependency and mental health benefits.

Former G.S. 135-45.11 pertained to cost-savings initiatives and incentive programs authorized.

Former G.S. 135-45.14 pertained to

coordination of benefits. Former G.S. 135-45.14 was amended by Session Laws 2011-96, s. 4, effective May 26, 2011, by inserting "Plan or its" preceding "Claims Processor" three times in subsection (g). Former G.S. 135-46.3 pertained to right to alter, amend, or repeal.

Former G.S. 135-47, pertaining to the administration and processing of claims under the Health Insurance Program for Children, was repealed by Session Laws 2008-107, s. 10.13(n), effective July 1, 2010.

Former G.S. 135-47.1 pertained to right to alter, amend, or repeal.

G.S. 135-47.2 was recodified as G.S. 108A-70.20A, by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.8, effective January 1, 2012.

Former G.S. 135-47.3 pertained to data reporting.

## § 135-48. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

## TABLES OF COMPARABLE SECTIONS FOR CHAPTER 135, ARTICLE 3B

## **Former to Present**

**Editor's Note.** — The following table shows G.S. sections from former Chapter 135, Article 3A, and their comparable, Chapter 135, revised Article 3B numbers.

Former	Present	Former	Present
Section	Section	Former Section	Section
Part 1		135-45(e)-(h)	Repealed
135-43(a) and (b)	135-48.10	135-45.1	
135-43(c)		135-45.2(a),(a1),(b),(c)	135-
135-43.1	. Repealed	48.40	
135-43.2		135-45.2(d)-(k)	135-48.41
135-43.3	. Repealed	135-45.3	135-48.42
135-43.4		135-45.4	135-48.43
135-43.5	135-48.28	135-45.5	135-48.54
135-43.6	135-48.27	135-45.6	Repealed
135-43.7	135-48.35	135-45.7	
Part 2		135-45.8	Repealed
135-44	135-48.20	135-45.9	Repealed
135-44.1	135-48.21	135-45.10	
135-44.2	135-48.23	135-45.11	Repealed
135-44.3	. Repealed	135-45.12	135-48.44
135-44.4(26)	135-48.56	135-45.13	135-48.45
135-44.4, remainder.	. Repealed	135-45.14	Repealed
135-44.5	135-48.5	135-45.15	135-48.37
135-44.6(a), (b), (f)	. Repealed	135-45.16	. 135-48.3
135-44.6(d)	135-48.58	Part 4	
135-44.6(e)	135-48.55	135-46	135-48.60
135-44.7	135-48.24	135-46.1	135-48.61
135-44.8	135-48.25	135-46.2	135-48.62
Part 3		135-46.3	Repealed
135-45(a),(e)	135-48.2	Part 5	
135-45(b)	. Repealed	135-47.1	Repealed
135-45(c)	135-48.8	$135-47.2 \dots 108$	3A-70.20A
135-45(d)	135-48.32	135-47.3	Repealed
135-45(d1)	135-48.33		

## ARTICLE 3B.

# STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

## PART 1.

## GENERAL PROVISIONS.

## § 135-48.1. General definitions.

As used in this Article unless the context clearly requires otherwise, the following definitions apply:

- (1) Authorized representatives who are assisting the State Health Plan Division staff. Staff of the Department of the State Treasurer, staff of the Department of Justice, or persons providing internal auditing assistance required under G.S. 143-746(b).
- (1a) Benefit period. The period of time during which charges for covered services provided to a Plan member must be incurred in order to be eligible for payment by the Plan.
- (2) Chemical dependency. The pathological use or abuse of alcohol or other drugs in a manner or to a degree that produces an impairment in personal, social, or occupational functioning and which may, but need not, include a pattern of tolerance and withdrawal.
- (2a) Claims Data Feed. An electronic file provided by a Claims Processor that contains all claims processing data elements for every claim processed by the Claims Processor for the Plan, including Claim Payment Data for each claim.
- (2b) Claim Payment Data. Data fields within a Claims Data Feed that reflect the provider and the amount the provider billed for services provided to a Plan member, the allowed amount applied to the claim by the Claims Processor, and the amount paid by the Plan on the claim. The term "Claim Payment Data" includes any document, material, or other work, whether tangible or electronic, that is derived from, is based on, or reflects any of the foregoing data fields or information contained therein. If the Claims Processor designates Claim Payment Data as a trade secret, the Claim Payment Data shall be treated as a trade secret as defined in G.S. 66-152(3).
- (3) Claims Processor. One or more administrators, third-party administrators, or other parties contracting with the Plan to administer Plan benefits.
- (4) Comprehensive group health benefit plan. A comprehensive health benefit plan offered to an individual because of an employment, organizational, or other group affiliation.

- (5) Comprehensive health benefit plan. Health care coverage that consists of inpatient and outpatient hospital and medical benefits, as well as other outpatient medical services, prescription drugs, medical supplies, and equipment that are generally available in the health insurance market.
- (6) Covered service; benefit; allowable expense. Any medically necessary, reasonable, and customary items of service, including prescription drugs, and medical supplies included in the Plan.
- (7) Deductible. The dollar amount that must be incurred for certain covered services in a benefit period before benefits are payable by the Plan.
- (8) Dependent. An eligible Plan member other than the subscriber.
- (9) Dependent child. Subject to the eligibility requirements of subsections (a) and (b) of G.S. 135-48.41, any of the following up to the first month following the dependent child's 26th birthday:
  - a. A natural or legally adopted child or children of the employee, whether or not the child is living with the employee.
  - b. A foster child or children of the employee, whether or not the child is living with the employee.
  - c. A child for which an employee is a court-appointed guardian.
  - d. A stepchild of a member who is married to the stepchild's natural parent.
  - e. Repealed by Session Laws 2011-96, s. 3(a), effective July 1, 2011.
- (10) Employee or State employee. Any permanent full-time or permanent part-time regular employee (designated as half-time or more) of an employing unit.
- (11) Employing Unit. A North Carolina School System; Community College; State Department, Agency, or Institution; the University of North Carolina Health Care System; Administrative Office of the Courts; or Association or Examining Board whose employees are eligible for membership in a State-Supported Retirement System. An employing unit also shall mean (i) a charter school in accordance with Article 14A of Chapter 115C of the General Statutes whose board of directors elects to become a participating employer in the Plan under G.S. 135-48.54 or (ii) a local government unit that participates in the Plan under G.S. 135-48.47 or under any other law. Bona fide fire departments, rescue or emergency medical service squads, and National Guard units are deemed to be employing units for the purpose of providing benefits under this Article.

- (12) Firefighter. A member of the group "eligible firefighter" as defined in G.S. 58-86-2.
- (13) Health Benefits Representative or HBR. The employee designated by the employing unit to administer the Plan for the unit and its employees. The HBR is responsible for enrolling new employees and dependents in accordance with the eligibility requirements under this Article, reporting changes, explaining benefits, reconciling group statements, and remitting group fees. The State Retirement System is the Health Benefits Representative for retired State employees.
- (14) Plan or State Health Plan. The North Carolina State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees. Depending on the context, the term may refer to the entity created in G.S. 135-48.2 or to the health benefit plans offered by the entity, in which case "Plan" includes all comprehensive health benefit plans offered under the Plan.
- (15) Plan member. A subscriber or dependent who is eligible and currently enrolled in the Plan and for whom a premium is paid.
- (16) Predecessor plan. The Hospital and Medical Benefits for the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of the State of North Carolina and the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan.
- (17) Rescue squad worker. An "eligible rescue squad worker" as defined in G.S. 58-86-30.
- (18) Retired employee (retiree). Retired teachers, State employees, and members of the General Assembly who (i) are receiving monthly retirement benefits from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Optional Retirement Programs established under G.S. 135-5.1 and G.S. 135-5.4 and (ii) earned contributory retirement service in one of these retirement systems prior to January 1, 2021, and did not withdraw that service, so long as the retiree is enrolled.
- (19) Subscriber. A Plan member who is not a dependent.

## History.

 $\begin{array}{c} 2008\text{-}168, \text{ s. } 3(\text{e}); \ 2009\text{-}16, \text{ s. } 3(\text{a}); \\ 2009\text{-}281, \text{ s. } 1; \ 2010\text{-}120, \text{ s. } 1; \ 2011\text{-}85, \\ \text{ss. } 1.7(\text{a}), 1.10(\text{c}), 2.6(\text{b}), 2.10; \ 2011\text{-}96, \text{ s. } \\ 3(\text{a}); \ 2011\text{-}183, \text{ s. } 102; \ 2011\text{-}326, \text{ s. } 19.3; \\ 2012\text{-}173, \text{ s. } 1; \ 2014\text{-}75, \text{ s. } 1; \ 2014\text{-}97, \text{ s. } \\ 5(\text{a}); \ 2014\text{-}101, \text{ s. } 7; \ 2016\text{-}104, \text{ s. } 1; \ 2017\text{-}57, \text{ s. } 35.21(\text{c}); \ 2017\text{-}135, \text{ s. } 5; \ 2021\text{-}125, \\ \text{s. } 5; \ 2023\text{-}134, \text{ s. } 4.10(\text{q}). \end{array}$ 

## 2009 Health Benefit Changes.

Session Laws 2009-16, s. 2(a), provides: "Eliminate PPO Plus Option. — Effective July 1, 2009, the PPO Plus option (90/10 in-network coverage) under the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees ('Plan') is eliminated. The Executive Administrator shall provide notice to all members of the

Plan that this option will no longer be available as of July 1, 2009. Employees enrolled in the Plan's Plus option shall have the choice of enrolling in the Basic or Standard Plan options for the 2009-2010 benefit year."

Session Laws 2009-16, s. 2(h), provides: "Pharmacy Benefit Savings. -The Plan shall direct its pharmacy benefit manager (PBM), within the terms of the Plan's PBM contract, to achieve the of eighteen million dollars (\$18,000,000) in savings in pharmacy benefit costs in the 2009-2010 fiscal year, and the sum of twenty million dollars (\$20,000,000) in savings in pharmacy benefit costs in the 2010-2011 fiscal year through reduced reimbursements paid to pharmacies for prescription drugs. If the savings achieved in each six-month period of the fiscal year do not exceed one hundred five percent (105%) of the savings amount specified in this section for that fiscal year, there shall be no further adjustment to reimbursements paid to pharmacies for that six-month period. If the total savings achieved, by fiscal year, exceeds one hundred five percent (105%) of the specified savings amount in each six-month period of the fiscal year, the Plan shall adjust pharmacy reimbursement reductions accordingly. The Plan shall review savings achieved twice annually to ensure compliance with this section. The Plan shall calculate the savings to be achieved based on Plan enrollment and estimated cost and utilization trends incorporated in the Plan's Financial Projections as of March 20, 2009. The total savings by fiscal year achieved in this section may be increased or decreased without adjustment based on a change in total enrollment provided that the rate of savings achieved on a permember per-month basis remains constant. Not later than 60 days immediately following each six-month period, the Plan shall report the amount of savings achieved and any adjustments made for that period to the Committee on Employee Hospital and Medical Benefits."

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(b), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-45.1 as G.S. 135-48.1. Former G.S. 135-45.1 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.13 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(e), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.1 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2010-3, s. 2, provides: "The Executive Administrator of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall consult with the Committee on Employee and Hospital Medical Benefits prior to implementing any program to verify tobacco usage by members of the Plan."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.2, provides: "The North Carolina State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees is transferred to the Department of State Treasurer. This transfer shall have all the elements of a Type II transfer, as defined by G.S. 143A-6."

Session Laws 2011-85, ss. 2.3 through 2.8, effective January 1, 2011, recodified former Article 3A (§§ 135-43 through 135-47.3) of Chapter 135 as Article 3B of Chapter 135 containing §§ 135-48.1 through 135-48.62. Where appropriate, the historical citations to former sections have been added to corresponding new sections. At the end of Article 3A are tables showing comparable sections of Article 3A and their disposition in Article 3B.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.12, provides: "In repealing a specific, detailed provision of Article 3A of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and not placing that detailed provision into Article 3B of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, it is not necessarily the intent of the General Assembly to prohibit the State Treasurer or the State Health Plan from having that authority."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.13(a), provides: "Rules and policies adopted by the Executive Administrator and the Board of Trustees prior to the effective date of this section shall continue to be in effect unless the rule or policy directly conflicts with a provision of Article 3B of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes or until the State Treasurer changes the rule or policy."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 3.1(a), provides: "The State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall do the following:

"(1) Examine the issue of moving to a calendar year, including the costs and mechanics of doing so.

"(2) Find savings through wellness programs, Medicare Advantage plans, alternative plan designs, or other resources and use those savings to offer a premium-free plan option no later than July 1, 2013.

"(3) Strive to keep all premiums low by finding savings through wellness programs, Medicare Advantage plans, alternative plan designs, or other resources."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 3.1(b), provides: "The State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall issue a Request for Proposals for a Medicare Advantage Plan no later than June 30, 2012."

Session Laws 2011-96, s. 3(a), which amended this section, was contingent on Senate Bill 323, 2011 Regular Session becoming law. Senate Bill 323, 2011 Regular Session, was enacted as Session Laws 2011-85.

Former G.S. 135-45.1 was amended by Session Laws 2011-183, s. 102, effective June 20, 2011, by deleting "Army and Air" and three times inserting "North Carolina" before "National Guard." Pursuant to Session Laws 2011-326, s. 19.3, the amendment to this section by Session Laws 2011-183, s. 102 was repealed effective June 27, 2011.

In this section as amended by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.10, the reference in subdivision (14) to "153-48.2" should probably be to "135-48.2." The bracketed reference was added at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes. Also, subdivisions (4) and (5) were renumbered as subdivisions (5) and (4), respectively, at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes to maintain alphabetical order.

Session Laws 2012-173, s. 3(a), effective January 1, 2013, rewrote the Article heading, which formerly read: "State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees; Long-Term Care Benefits."

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 10.2, provides: "The State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall establish a workgroup to examine the best way to provide teachers and State employees greater transparency in the costs of health services provided under the State Health Plan. The State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall report the findings and recommendations of the workgroup to the Joint Legislative Oversight Committee on Health and Human Services and the Joint Committee on Governmental Operations on or before December 31, 2013, and annually thereafter through December 31, 2016. For transparency in health care costs generally, see Article 11B of Chapter 131E (G.S. 131E-214.11 through 131E-

Session Laws 2014-101, s. 8, provides, in part: "Except as otherwise provided, this act is effective when it becomes law [August 6, 2014] and applies beginning with the 2014-2015 school year."

Session Laws 2016-104, s. 9, made subdivisions (2a) and (2b) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2016-104, s. 1, applicable to contracts entered into on or after July 22, 2016.

Session Laws 2016-106, s. 1, effective July 22, 2016, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitation contained in G.S. 135-48.54, the Board of Directors of Longleaf School of the Arts, a charter school located in Raleigh, may elect to become a participating employing unit in the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees in accordance with Article 3B of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes. The election authorized by this act shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-48.54."

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2017."

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 39.6, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2017-128, s. 7, provides: "The Executive Administrator and the Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan (Plan) shall not approve resolutions electing to cover retirees under the Plan for local government entities that were authorized under S.L. 2004-124, S.L. 2006-7, S.L. 2005-276, and S.L. 2006-249 to participate in the Plan but that did not opt to cover retirees before January 1, 2017."

Session Laws 2017-128, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 2(b) provides that "G.S. 135-1(11) reads as rewritten" but appears to have intended to amend G.S. 135-48.1(11).

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 35.21(c), effective January 1, 2021, rewrote subdivision (18), which read: "Retired employee (retiree). — Retired teachers, State employees, and members of the General Assembly who are receiving monthly retirement benefits from any retirement system supported in whole or in part by contributions of the State of North Carolina, so long as the retiree is enrolled."

Session Laws 2021-125, s. 5, effective August 30, 2021, substituted "G.S. 135-

48.2" for "G.S. 153-48.2" in subdivision (14).

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(q), effective October 3, 2023, inserted "the

University of North Carolina Health Care System" in the first sentence of subdivision (11).

### CASE NOTES

No Contract Clause Claim. — Retired state employees were not entitled to summary judgment on a claim that statutory changes to the employees' health care coverage violated the U.S. Constitution's contracts clause because relevant statutes created no contractual obligation, as the State reserved the right to amend those statutes and exer-

cised that right often, so, unlike state pensions, these benefits were not vested. Lake v. State Health Plan for Teachers & State Emples., 264 N.C. App. 174, 825 S.E.2d 645, 2019 N.C. App. LEXIS 181 (2019), rev'd in part, aff'd, 380 N.C. 502, 869 S.E.2d 292, 2022- NCSC-22, 2022 N.C. LEXIS 235 (2022).

## § 135-48.2. Undertaking.

- (a) The State of North Carolina undertakes to make available a State Health Plan (hereinafter called the "Plan") exclusively for the benefit of eligible employees, eligible retired employees, and certain of their eligible dependents, which will pay benefits in accordance with the terms of this Article. The Plan shall have all the powers and privileges of a corporation and shall be known as the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees. The State Treasurer, Executive Administrator, and Board of Trustees shall carry out their duties and responsibilities as fiduciaries for the Plan. The Plan shall administer one or more group health plans that are comprehensive in coverage. The State Treasurer may operate group plans as a preferred provider option, or health maintenance, point-of-service, or other organizational arrangement.
- (b) Payroll deduction shall be available for coverage under the Plan for subscribers able to meet the Plan's requirements for payroll deduction.

## History.

2008-168, s. 3(c); 2009-16, ss. 2(f), 5(h); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-313, s. 2; 2010-194, s. 18(b); 2011-85, ss. 2.6(a), 2.10.

### Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 135-45(c) is recodified as G.S. 135-48.8. Former G.S. 135-45(d) and (d1) are recodified as G.S. 135-48.32 and 135-48.33, respectively. The remainder of G.S. 135-45 is repealed by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012.

Session Laws 2010-3, s. 2, provides: "The Executive Administrator of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall consult with the Committee on Employee and Hospital Medical Benefits prior to implementing any program to verify tobacco usage by members of the Plan."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(a), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-45(a) and (e) as G.S. 135-48.2(a) and (b), respectively. Former G.S. 135-45 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.12 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(c), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

### CASE NOTES

Applicability of Administrative Procedure Act to Dispute. — State

employee's dispute with the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan (now State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees), an administrative agency, seeking to recover costs of surgery should have been brought under the Administrative Procedure Act, G.S. 150B-1 et seq. Vass v. Board of Trustees, 89 N.C. App. 333, 366 S.E.2d 1, 1988 N.C. App. LEXIS 280 (1988), aff'd, 324 N.C. 402, 379 S.E.2d 26, 1989 N.C. LEXIS 247 (1989).

No Contract Clause Claim. — Retired state employees were not entitled to summary judgment on a claim that

statutory changes to the employees' health care coverage violated the U.S. Constitution's contracts clause because relevant statutes created no contractual obligation, as the State reserved the right to amend those statutes and exercised that right often, so, unlike state pensions, these benefits were not vested. Lake v. State Health Plan for Teachers & State Emples., 264 N.C. App. 174, 825 S.E.2d 645, 2019 N.C. App. LEXIS 181 (2019), rev'd in part, aff'd, 380 N.C. 502, 869 S.E.2d 292, 2022- NCSC-22, 2022 N.C. LEXIS 235 (2022).

### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Medical Child Support Enforcement Provisions. — The medical child support enforcement provisions of House Bill 1563, 1993 (Reg. Sess. 1994) N.C. Session Laws c. 644, are inapplicable to the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan (now State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees) and the governmental entities whose employees and retirees, along with their dependents, are eligible for coverage under the

Plan or its HMO option. Medical child support orders nonetheless may be enforced directly against State employees and retirees who fail to enroll, or maintain coverage for, their eligible dependent children under the State Health Plan in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 50-13.4(f), 50-13.9 and 50-13.11. See opinion of Attorney General to Patricia Crawford, Associate General Counsel, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, — N.C.A.G. — (August 10, 1995).

## § 135-48.3. Right to amend.

The General Assembly reserves the right to alter, amend, or repeal this Article.

### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1985, c. 732, s. 62; 2008-168, ss. 3(a), (u); 2011-85, s. 2.6(k); 2012-173, s. 5.

## Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(k), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former

G.S. 135-45.16 as G.S. 135-48.3. Former G.S. 135-45.16 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-40.14. It was recodified as G.S. 135-39.28 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(u), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.16 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

### CASE NOTES

No Contract Clause Claim. — Retired state employees were not entitled to summary judgment on a claim that statutory changes to the employees' health care coverage violated the U.S. Constitution's contracts clause because relevant statutes created no contractual obligation, as the State reserved the right to amend those statutes and exer-

cised that right often, so, unlike state pensions, these benefits were not vested. Lake v. State Health Plan for Teachers & State Emples., 264 N.C. App. 174, 825 S.E.2d 645, 2019 N.C. App. LEXIS 181 (2019), rev'd in part, aff'd, 380 N.C. 502, 869 S.E.2d 292, 2022- NCSC-22, 2022 N.C. LEXIS 235 (2022).

### § 135-48.4. Conflict with federal law.

If any provision of this Article is in conflict with applicable federal law, federal law shall control to the extent of the conflict.

**History.** 2018-84, s. 7.

### § 135-48.5. Health benefit trust funds created.

(a) There are hereby established two health benefit trust funds, to be known as the Public Employee Health Benefit Fund and the Health Benefit Reserve Fund for the payment of hospital and medical benefits. As used in this section, the term "health benefit trust funds" refers to the fund type described under G.S. 143C-1-3(a)(10).

All premiums, fees, charges, rebates, refunds or any other receipts including, but not limited to, earnings on investments, occurring or arising in connection with health benefits programs established by this Article, shall be deposited into the Public Employee Health Benefit Fund. Disbursements from the Fund shall include any and all amounts required to pay the benefits and administrative costs of such programs as may be determined by the Executive Administrator and Board of Trustees.

Any unencumbered balance in excess of prepaid premiums or charges in the Public Employee Health Benefit Fund at the end of each fiscal year shall be used in the following order:

- (1) First, to provide an actuarially determined Health Benefit Reserve Fund for incurred but unpresented claims.
- (2) Second, an amount determined by the State Treasurer, subject to approval by the Board of Trustees, that does not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of any unencumbered balance remaining after providing for incurred but unpresented claims may be transferred to the Retiree Health Benefit Fund, established under G.S. 135-7(f). Upon the direction and approval of, and in the amount specified by, the State Treasurer, the Office of State Budget Management shall transfer the amount in accordance with this subdivision.
- (3) Third, to reduce the premiums required in providing the benefits of the health benefits programs.
- (4) Fourth, to improve the plan, as may be provided by the State Treasurer, subject to approval by the Board of Trustees

The balance in the Health Benefits Reserve Fund may be transferred from time to time to the Public Employee Health Benefit Fund to provide for any deficiency occurring therein. The Public Employee Health Benefit Fund and the Health Benefit Reserve Fund shall be deposited with the State Treasurer and invested as provided in G.S. 147-69.2 and G.S. 147-69.3.

- (b) Disbursement from the Public Employee Health Benefit Fund may be made by warrant drawn on the State Treasurer by the Executive Administrator, or the Executive Administrator and Board of Trustees may by contract authorize the Claims Processors to draw the warrant.
- (c) Repealed by Session Laws 2012-173, s. 3(b), effective January 1, 2013.

## History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1985, c. 732, ss. 43, 63; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 20; 1997-468, s. 3; 1998-1, s. 4(d); 2008-107, s. 10.13(a); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (l); 2011-85, s. 2.5(e); 2012-173, s. 3(b); 2020-48, s. 2.2(b).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.5(e), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-44.5 as G.S. 135-48.5. Former G.S. 135-44.5 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.6. It was recodified as G.S. 135-38.8 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(l), effective July 1, 2008, but

was renumbered as G.S. 135-44.5 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2012-173, s. 3(f), effective January 1, 2013, provides: "Any unencumbered administrative fees collected by the Plan under Part 6 of Article 3B of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes are transferred to the Public Employee Health Benefit Fund created under G.S. 135-48.5(a)."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

## Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 2.2(b), effective July 1, 2020, in subsection (a), rewrote the third paragraph, adding subdivisions (1) through (4), and substituted "G.S. 147-69.3" for "147-69.3" in the last paragraph.

## §§ 135-48.6, 135-48.7. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

### § 135-48.8. Statements of public interest.

- (a) The State of North Carolina deems it to be in the public interest for individual North Carolina firefighters, rescue squad workers, and members of the National Guard, and certain of their dependents, who are not eligible for any other type of comprehensive health insurance or other comprehensive health benefits, and who have been without any form of health insurance or other comprehensive health benefit coverage for at least six consecutive months, to be given the opportunity to participate in the benefits provided by the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees. Coverage under the Plan shall be voluntary for eligible firefighters, rescue squad workers, and members of the National Guard who elect participation in the Plan for themselves and their eligible dependents.
- (b) The State of North Carolina deems it to be in the public interest for local government units to be allowed to join the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees and to participate in the Plan.

### History.

2008-168, s. 3(c); 2009-16, ss. 2(f), 5(h); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-313, s. 2; 2010-194, s. 18(b); 2011-85, s. 2.6(a); 2014-75, s. 2; 2015-112, s. 1; 2020-48, s. 1.5(a).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(a), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-45(c) as G.S. 135-48.8. Former G.S. 135-45(a) and (e) are recodified as G.S. 135-48.2. Former G.S. 135-45(d) and (d1) are recodified as G.S. 135-48.32 and 135-48.33, respectively. The remainder of G.S. 135-45 is repealed by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012. Former G.S. 135-45 itself was for-

merly codified as G.S. 135-39.12 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(c), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.5(a), effective June 26, 2020, in subsection (a), in the first sentence, inserted "individual" near the beginning of the first sentence and deleted "group" preceding "health" three times.

## § 135-48.9. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

## § 135-48.10. Confidentiality of information and medical records; provider contracts.

- (a) Any information described in this section that is in the possession of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees or its Claims Processor under the Plan or the Predecessor Plan shall be confidential and shall be exempt from the provisions of Chapter 132 of the General Statutes or any other provision requiring information and records held by State agencies to be made public or accessible to the public. This section shall apply to all information concerning individuals, including the fact of coverage or noncoverage, whether or not a claim has been filed, medical information, whether or not a claim has been paid, and any other information or materials concerning a plan participant, including Claim Payment Data and any documents or other materials derived from the Claim Payment Data. This information may, however, be released to the State Auditor or to the Attorney General in furtherance of their statutory duties and responsibilities, or to such persons or organizations as may be designated and approved by the State Treasurer. Any information so released shall remain confidential as stated above and any party obtaining such information shall assume the same level of responsibility for maintaining such confidentiality as that of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees.
- (b) The terms of a contract between the Plan and its third party administrator or between the Plan and its pharmacy benefit manager are a public record under Chapter 132 of the General Statutes. No provision of law, however, shall be construed to prevent or restrict the release of any information in a Plan contract to the State Treasurer, the State Auditor, the Attorney General, the Director of the State Budget, the Plan's Board of Trustees, and the Plan's

Executive Administrator solely and exclusively for their use in the furtherance of their duties and responsibilities.

### History.

 $\begin{array}{c} 1981, c.\ 355;\ 1981\ (\mathrm{Reg.\ Sess.},\ 1982),\ c.\\ 1398,\ \mathrm{ss.}\ 3,\ 4;\ 1983,\ c.\ 922,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 21.10;\ 1985,\\ c.\ 732,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 38;\ 1985\ (\mathrm{Reg.\ Sess.},\ 1986),\ c.\\ 1020,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 20;\ 1998-1,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 4(\mathrm{h});\ 2007-323,\ \mathrm{s.}\\ 28.22\mathrm{A}(\mathrm{c});\ 2008-107,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 10.13(\mathrm{m});\ 2008-168,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 1(\mathrm{a}),\ (\mathrm{c}),\ (\mathrm{d});\ 2009-16,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 5(\mathrm{f});\\ 2009-83,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 1;\ 2010-194,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 18(\mathrm{a});\ 2011-85,\\ \mathrm{ss.}\ 1.9(\mathrm{a}),\ 2.4(\mathrm{a}),\ 2.10;\ 2011-326,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 15(\mathrm{r});\\ 2016-104,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 2;\ 2024-9,\ \mathrm{s.}\ 4(\mathrm{e}). \end{array}$ 

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.4(a), effective January 1, 2012, recodified subsections (a) and (b) of former G.S. 135-43 as G.S. 135-48.10. Subsection (c) of former G.S. 135-43 is recodified as G.S. 135-48.57. Former G.S. 135-43 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-37. It was recodified as G.S. 135-37. by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 1(d), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-43 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Former G.S. 135-43(b) was amended by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.10, in the coded bill drafting format provided by G.S. 120-20.1. The amendment failed to account for amendments by Session Laws 2011-326, s. 15(r), effective June 27, 2011, which inserted "and after" in subsection (b). Subsection (b) has been

set out in the form above at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 1.9(b), provides: "Contracts with the State Health Plan retain the trade secret protections provided under G.S. 132-1.2."

Session Laws 2011-96, s. 5, provides: "Treasurer's access to records. - Notwithstanding G.S. 135-43, the Department of the State Treasurer shall have immediate access to all records, including confidential records, of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees in order to plan for the January 1, 2012, transfer of the State Health Plan to the Department of State Treasurer. The Department of the State Treasurer shall assume the same level of responsibility for maintaining the confidentiality of the records as the Executive Administrator and Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees."

Session Laws 2016-104, s. 9, made the amendment to subsection (a) of this section by Session Laws 2016-104, s. 2, applicable to contracts entered into on or after July 22, 2016.

## Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 4(e), effective June 20, 2024, deleted "and after" appearing on a line by itself following subsection (b).

## § 135-48.11. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

## § 135-48.12. Committee on Actuarial Valuation of Retired Employees' Health Benefits.

- (a) There is established the Committee on Actuarial Valuation of Retired Employees' Health Benefits. The Committee shall be responsible for collecting data and reviewing assumptions for the sole purpose of conducting required actuarial valuations of State supported retired employees' health benefits under other post-employment benefit accounting standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation.
- (b) The Committee on Actuarial Valuation of Retired Employees' Health Benefits shall consist of five members serving ex officio, as follows:
  - (1) The State Budget Officer, who shall serve as the Chair;

- (2) Repealed by Session Laws 2013-373, s. 1, effective October 1, 2013.
- (3) The State Controller;
- (4) The State Treasurer; and
- (5) The Executive Administrator for the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees.
- (c) A majority of the members of the Committee then serving shall constitute a quorum.
- (d) Each member shall be entitled to one vote on the Committee. Three affirmative votes shall be necessary for a decision by the members at any meeting of the Committee.
- (e) The Committee shall keep in convenient form such data as is necessary for actuarial valuation of retired employees' health benefits under accounting standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation. The Department of State Treasurer, Retirement Systems Division, the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees, and any other State agency, department, or university institution, local public school agency, or local community college institution shall provide any necessary data upon request of the Committee for the purpose of conducting its responsibilities.
- (f) The Committee shall designate either the actuary under contract with the Department of State Treasurer, Retirement Systems Division, or the actuary under contract with the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees as the technical adviser to the Committee on matters regarding the actuarial valuation of retired employees' health benefits created by the provisions of this Chapter. The technical advisor shall perform such actuarial valuation and other duties as are required under this Chapter.
- (g) The Committee shall secure an annual calendar-year actuarial valuation of retired employees' health benefits under accounting standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundation.
- (h) The Committee shall keep a record of all of its proceedings which shall be open to public inspection.
- (i) The Committee shall adopt a funding policy and shall include information about the State's contribution policy, including the basis for determining contributions in the annual actuarial valuation.

### History

2007-467, s. 1; 2007-323, s. 28.22A(o); 2008-168, s. 1(a), (c), (f); 2011-85, ss. 2.4(b), 2.10; 2013-373, s. 1; 2017-125, s. 3.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.4(b), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former

G.S. 135-43.4 as G.S. 135-48.12. Former G.S. 135-43.4 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-38.1. It was recodified under Part 1A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 1(f), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-43.4 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

## §§ 135-48.13, 135-48.14. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

## § 135-48.15. Whistle-blower protections related to the State Health Plan.

- (a) **Statement of Public Policy.** It is the policy of this State that persons shall be encouraged to report verbally or in writing to the State Health Plan, Attorney General, or other appropriate authority evidence of activity related to the State Health Plan and involving the following:
  - (1) A violation of State or federal law, rule, or regulation.
  - (2) Fraud.
  - (3) Misappropriation of State resources.
  - (4) Gross mismanagement, a gross waste of monies, or gross abuse of authority.
  - Further, it is the policy of this State that persons shall be free of intimidation or harassment when reporting matters of public concern related to the State Health Plan, including offering testimony to or testifying before appropriate legislative panels.
- (a1) Rules to Further Public Policy. In accordance with G.S. 135-48.25, the State Treasurer may adopt rules to assist in the identification and investigation of activities described under subsection (a) of this section undertaken by a health care provider that provides services to Plan members. If the Plan adopts a program to encourage its members to report these activities, then the Plan is authorized to expend State funds in furtherance of the policy objectives of this section and may adopt rules to offer an incentive to Plan members. The incentive offered shall be five hundred dollars (\$500.00), or a maximum of twenty percent (20%) of any net recovery made by the Plan resulting from the member report, whichever amount is less.
- (b) **Protection From Retaliation.** No employer shall sue, discharge, threaten, or otherwise discriminate against an employee regarding the employee's compensation, terms, conditions, location, or privileges of employment because the employee, or a person acting on behalf of the employee, reports or is about to report, verbally or in writing, any activity described in subsection (a) of this section, unless the employee knows or has reason to believe that the report is inaccurate. No other employee of an employer shall retaliate against another employee because the employee, or a person acting on behalf of the employee, reports or is about to report, verbally or in writing, any activity described in subsection (a) of this section. No person shall sue, terminate a contract, threaten, or otherwise discriminate against a reporting person regarding the reporting person's compensation or terms of contract because the

reporting person, or a person acting on behalf of the reporting person, reports or is about to report, verbally or in writing, any activity described in subsection (a) of this section, unless the reporting person knows or has reason to believe that the report is inaccurate.

- (c) **Relief for Violation.** Any person injured by a violation of subsection (b) of this section may maintain an action in superior court for damages, an injunction, or other remedies provided in this section against the person who committed the violation within one year after the occurrence of the alleged violation of this Article.
- (d) **Remedies.** A court, in rendering a judgment in an action brought pursuant to this section, may order an injunction, damages, reinstatement of the employee, the payment of back wages or payments owed under a contract, full reinstatement of fringe benefits and seniority rights, costs, reasonable attorneys' fees, or any combination of these. If an application for a permanent injunction is granted, the person maintaining the action shall be awarded costs and reasonable attorneys' fees. If in an action for damages the court finds that the person maintaining the action was injured by a willful violation of subsection (b) of this section, the court shall award as damages three times the amount of actual damages plus costs and reasonable attorneys' fees against the individual or individuals found to be in violation of subsection (b) of this section.
- (e) **Unrelated Unfavorable Action.** It shall not be a violation of this Article for a person to discharge or take any other unfavorable action with respect to an employee who has engaged in protected activity as set forth under this Article if the person proves by the greater weight of the evidence that it would have taken the same unfavorable action in the absence of the protected activity of the employee.

### History.

2012-192, s. 3; 2021-157, s. 1.

### Cross References.

As to prohibition on contract provisions restricting whistle-blowing related to State Health Plan, see G.S. 22B-4.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2012-192, s. 4, made this

section effective October 1, 2012, and applicable to causes of action arising on or after that date.

## Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-157, s. 1, effective September 16, 2021, added subsection (a1).

## § 135-48.16. Fraud detection and audit programs.

- (a) **Access to Persons and Records.** In the course of conducting an investigation or an audit under G.S. 135-48.30(a)(9), the Plan, or authorized representatives who are assisting the State Health Plan Division staff, shall have ready access to the following:
  - (1) Persons, books, records, reports, vouchers, correspondence, files, personnel files, investments, and any other documentation of any employing unit. The Plan shall have the

- authority to examine and make copies of the information described in this subdivision only insofar as it directly relates to a specific investigation or audit. The review of State tax returns shall be limited to matters of official business, and the Plan's report shall not violate the confidentiality provisions of the tax laws. A confidentiality agreement may be put in place with an agency providing documentation to the Plan.
- (2) Persons, records, papers, reports, vouchers, correspondence, books, and any other documentation that is in the possession of any individual, private corporation, institution, association, board, or other organization that pertain to any benefits received, disbursed, or otherwise handled pursuant to a grant or contract from the federal government that is administered by the State Health Plan, the State, or its political subdivisions. Providers of social and medical services to a beneficiary shall make copies of records they maintain for services provided to the beneficiary.

Authorized representatives who are assisting the State Health Plan Division staff must have a HIPAA business associate agreement with the State Health Plan and enter into a HIPAA data sharing agreement with any vendor whose records they are copying.

- (b) Records of Providers of Social and Medical Services. Providers of social and medical services who provide ready access to the Plan under subdivision (2) of subsection (a) of this section shall make copies of records they maintain for services provided to a beneficiary available to the Plan or to the authorized representatives who are assisting the State Health Plan Division staff. The Plan, or authorized representatives who are assisting the State Health Plan Division staff, shall request records in writing by providing the name of each beneficiary from whom records are sought, the purpose of the request, the authority for the request, and a reasonable period of time for the production of record copies by the provider. A provider may charge and the Plan, or authorized representatives who are assisting the State Health Plan Division staff, shall, in accordance with G.S. 90-411, pay a reasonable fee to the provider for copies of the records provided.
- (c) Fraud Detection and Audit Reports and Work Papers.— The Plan shall maintain for 10 years a complete file of all compliance investigative reports, fraud investigative reports, and reports of other examinations, investigations, surveys, and reviews issued under the Plan's authority under G.S. 135-48.30(a)(9). Fraud or compliance investigation work papers and other evidence or related supportive material directly pertaining to the work of the State Health Plan Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall be retained according to an agreement between the Plan and State Archives. To promote intergovernmental cooperation and avoid

unnecessary duplication of fraud investigative effort, and notwith-standing local unit personnel policies to the contrary, pertinent work papers and other supportive material relating to issued fraud or compliance investigation reports may be, at the discretion of the Executive Administrator of the Plan, and unless otherwise prohibited by law, made available for inspection by duly authorized representatives of the State and federal government who desire access to, and inspection of, such records in connection with some matter officially before them, including criminal investigations. Except as provided in this section, or upon an order issued in Wake County Superior Court upon 10 days' notice and hearing finding that access is necessary to a proper administration of justice, fraud investigation work papers and related supportive material shall be kept confidential, including any information developed as a part of the investigation.

History.

2017-135, s. 6.

## §§ 135-48.17 through 135-48.19. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

## PART 2.

## ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE.

### § 135-48.20. Board of Trustees established.

- (a) There is established the Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees.
- (b) The Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall consist of 10 members.
- (c) The State Treasurer shall be an ex officio member of the Board and shall serve as its Chair, but shall only vote in order to break a tie vote.
- (d) The Director of the Office of State Budget and Management shall be an ex officio nonvoting member of the Board.
- (e) Two members shall be appointed by the Governor. Terms shall be for two years. Vacancies shall be filled by the Governor.
- (f) Two members shall be appointed by the State Treasurer. Terms shall be for two years. Vacancies shall be filled by the State Treasurer.
- (g) Two members shall be appointed by the General Assembly upon the recommendation of the Speaker of the House of Representatives in accordance with G.S. 120-121. Terms shall be for two years. Vacancies shall be filled in accordance with G.S. 120-122.
- (h) Two members shall be appointed by the General Assembly upon the recommendation of the President Pro Tempore of the

Senate in accordance with G.S. 120-121. Terms shall be for two years. Vacancies shall be filled in accordance with G.S. 120-122.

- (i) In making appointments, the appointing authorities shall ensure that one of the appointees under subsection (e) of this section, one of the appointees under subsection (f) of this section, and one of the appointees under subsection (g) of this section, and one of the appointees under subsection (h) of this section are one of the following:
  - (1) An employee of a State department, agency, or institution;
  - (2) A teacher employed by a North Carolina public school system;
  - (3) A retired employee of a State department, agency, or institution: or
  - (4) A retired teacher from a North Carolina public school system.

In making appointments to the Board under this section, each appointing authority shall consult with all other appointing authorities prior to making its own appointments to ensure that the Board includes members of each of the groups listed in subdivisions (1) through (4) of this subsection.

- (j) In making appointments, the appointing authorities shall appoint individuals from the following categories:
  - (1) Individuals with expertise in actuarial science or health economics.
  - (2) Repealed by Session Laws 2018-84, s. 9, effective June 25, 2018.
  - (3) Individuals with expertise in health benefits and administration.
  - (4) Individuals with expertise in health law and policy.
  - (5) Physicians who are licensed to practice medicine in this State.

In making appointments to the Board under this section, each appointing authority shall consult with all other appointing authorities prior to making its own appointments to ensure that each of the areas of expertise listed in subdivisions (1) through (5) of this subsection is represented by at least one member of the Board.

- (k) Each appointing authority may remove any member appointed by that appointing authority.
- (1) The members of the Board of Trustees shall receive one hundred dollars (\$100.00) per day, except employees eligible to enroll in the Plan, whenever the full Board of Trustees holds a public session, and travel allowances under G.S. 138-6 when traveling to and from meetings of the Board of Trustees or hearings under G.S. 135-48.24, but shall not receive any subsistence allowance or per diem under G.S. 138-5, except when holding a meeting or hearing where this section does not provide for payment of one hundred dollars (\$100.00) per day.

- (m) No member of the Board of Trustees may serve more than three consecutive two-year terms.
- (n) **Immunity.** Except to the extent provided under Article 31A of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes and to the extent of insurance coverage purchased pursuant to G.S. 58-32-15, a person serving on the Board of Trustees shall be immune individually from civil liability for monetary damages for any act, or failure to act, arising out of that service, except where any of the following apply:
  - The person was not acting within the scope of that person's official duties.
  - (2) The person was not acting in good faith.
  - (3) The person committed gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct that resulted in damages or injury.
  - (4) The person derived an improper personal financial benefit, either directly or indirectly, from the transaction.
  - (5) The person incurred the liability from the operation of a motor vehicle.

### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 922, s. 1; 1985, c. 732, ss. 2-5, 8, 11, 42, 59, 60; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 1; 1987, c. 857, s. 2; 1995, c. 490, s. 56; 2002-126, s. 28.16(a); 2007-323, s. 28.22A(b); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (e); 2011-85, ss. 2.5(a), 2.10; 2011-96, s. 6(a); 2017-135, s. 4; 2018-84, s. 9.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.5(a), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-44 as G.S. 135-48.20. Former G.S. 135-44 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39. It was recodified as G.S. 135-38.2 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(e), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-44 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2011-96, s. 6(a), which amended this section, was contingent on Senate Bill 323, 2011 Regular Session becoming law. Senate Bill 323, 2011 Regular Session was enacted as Session Laws 2011-85.

Session Laws 2011-96, s. 6(c), as amended by Session Laws 2012-194, s. 38, provides: "Notwithstanding the two-year term limitation in G.S. 135-48.20(m), as enacted by Senate Bill 323 of the 2011 Regular Session, the terms of initial appointees under G.S. 135-48.20 shall be as follows and shall begin January 1, 2012:

"(1) Two and one-half years. — Appointees under G.S. 135-48.20(i).

"(2) Three and one-half years. — Appointees not under G.S. 135-48.20(i)."

## § 135-48.21. Board officers, quorum, meetings.

- (a) Besides the Chair, the Board of Trustees shall elect from its own membership such officers as it sees fit.
- (b) A majority of the voting members of the Board of Trustees in office shall constitute a quorum. Decisions of the Board of Trustees shall be made by a majority vote of the Trustees present, except as otherwise provided in this Article.
- (c) The Board shall meet at least quarterly. Meetings may also be called by the Chair, or at the written request of three members.

**History.** 1987, c. 857, s. 3; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6;

(f); 2009-16, s. 5(c); 2011-85, ss. 2.5(b), 2.10.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.5(b), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-44.1 as G.S. 135-48.21. Former

G.S. 135-44.1 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.2. It was recodified as G.S. 135-38.3 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(f), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-44.1 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

## § 135-48.22. Board powers and duties.

The Board of Trustees shall have the following powers and duties:

- (1) Approve benefit programs, as provided in G.S. 135-48.30(a)(2).
- (2) Approve premium rates, co-pays, deductibles, and coinsurance percentages and maximums for the Plan, as provided in G.S. 135-48.30(a)(2).
- (2a) Approve the benefit program, premium rates, co-pays, deductibles, and coinsurance percentages and maximums for the coverage offered under G.S. 135-48.40(e).
- (3) Repealed by Session Laws 2021-125, s. 3(b), effective August 30, 2021.
- (4) Approve large contracts, as provided in G.S. 135-48.33(a).
- (5) Consult with and advise the State Treasurer as required by this Article and as requested by the State Treasurer.
- (6) Develop and maintain a strategic plan for the Plan.

### History.

2011-85, s. 2.10; 2012-173, s. 4(a); 2014-100, s. 35.16(b); 2021-125, s. 3(b).

## Premium Adjustments.

For premiums for partially contributory coverage and contributory coverage, see Session Laws 2011-85, s. 1.2(a) and (b), and related provisions, noted under G.S. 135-48.40.

## Deductible, Coinsurance, and Copayment Adjustments.

For adjustments to deductibles, coinsurance maximums, and co-payments under the Basic and Standard PPO Plans, see Session Laws 2011-85, s. 1.3(a), and related provisions, noted under G.S. 135-48.30.

### Editor's Note.

The references in subdivisions (1) and (2) to G.S. 135-48.30(a)(2) were substituted for G.S. 135-48.30(2) at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 3.1(a), provides: "The State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall do the following:

"(1) Examine the issue of moving to a

calendar year, including the costs and mechanics of doing so.

"(2) Find savings through wellness programs, Medicare Advantage plans, alternative plan designs, or other resources and use those savings to offer a premium-free plan option no later than July 1, 2013.

"(3) Strive to keep all premiums low by finding savings through wellness programs, Medicare Advantage plans, alternative plan designs, or other resources."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 3.1(b), provides: "The State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall issue a Request for Proposals for a Medicare Advantage Plan no later than June 30, 2012."

Session Laws 2013-360, s. 35.18, provides: "The Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall adopt new plan changes, beyond those already approved as of June 1, 2013, that are expected to reduce the average annual percentage increase in employer premiums needed over the next four years by at least one. The plan changes may include one or more of the following: changes to out-of-pocket requirements, changes to employee or retiree premiums, new plan

options, changes in the services and products covered, changes to the provider network structure, changes to provider rates or payment methodology, incentives to Plan members to adopt or maintain healthy behaviors, incentives to Plan members to control utilization, any type of integrated health management program, fraud detection, utilization management, or changes in plan administration."

Session Laws 2013-360, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2013."

Session Laws 2013-360, s. 38.2, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2013-2015 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2013-2015 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2013-360, s. 38.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 35.16(e), made subdivision (2a) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2014-100, s. 35.16(b), effective January 1, 2015, and applicable to plan years beginning on or after that date.

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as "The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2014.'"

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 38.7, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-125, s. 3(b), effective August 30, 2021, deleted subdivision (3), which read: "Oversee administrative reviews and appeals, as provided in G.S. 135-48.24."

## § 135-48.23. Executive Administrator.

- (a) The Plan shall have an Executive Administrator. The Executive Administrator position is exempt from the provisions of Chapter 126 of the General Statutes as provided in G.S. 126-5(c1).
- (b) The Executive Administrator shall be appointed by the State Treasurer. The term of employment and salary of the Executive Administrator shall be set by the State Treasurer.

The Executive Administrator may be removed from office by the State Treasurer, and any vacancy in the office of Executive Administrator may be filled by the State Treasurer.

- (c) Repealed by Session Laws 2018-84, s. 8(a), effective June 25, 2018.
- (c1) The State Treasurer may employ such clerical and professional staff, and such other assistance as may be necessary to assist the Executive Administrator, the Board of Trustees, and the State Treasurer in carrying out their duties and responsibilities under this Article. The State Treasurer may designate any managerial, professional, or policy-making positions as exempt from the North Carolina Human Resources Act. All exempt employees shall serve at the pleasure of the State Treasurer, and any vacancies in these positions may be filled by the State Treasurer. Salaries of exempt employees shall be set by the State Treasurer.
- (c2) The Executive Administrator may also negotiate, renegotiate and execute contracts with third parties in the performance of the Executive Administrator's duties and responsibilities under this Article; provided any contract negotiations, renegotiations and execution with a Claims Processor, with an optional alternative comprehensive health benefit plan, or program thereunder, authorized

rized under G.S. 135-48.2, with a preferred provider of institutional or professional hospital and medical care, or with a pharmacy benefit manager shall be done only with the consent of the State Treasurer.

(d) Repealed by Session Laws 2018-85, s. 6, effective June 25, 2018.

### History.

1985, c. 732, s. 10; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 20; 1987, c. 857, s. 5; 1991, c. 427, s. 2; 2000-141, s. 2; 2001-446, s. 6; 2004-124, s. 31.27(a); 2005-276, ss. 29.33(c), 29.34(a); 2007-323, s. 28.22A(l); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (h), 2.2; 2011-85, ss. 2.1(a), 2.5(c), 2.10; 2013-382, s. 9.1(c); 2017-57, s. 35.22; 2018-84, s. 8(a); 2018-85, s. 6.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.5(c), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-44.2 as G.S. 135-48.23. Former G.S. 135-34.2 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.4A. It was recodified as G.S. 135-38.5 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(h), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-44.2 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2001-446, s. 8, provides: "Nothing in this act obligates the General Assembly to appropriate funds to implement this act."

Session Laws 2005-276, s. 29.33(d), provides: "The Executive Administrator of the Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan may, after consultation with the Joint Legislative Commission on Governmental Operations, negotiate an extension of the current claims processing contract. The extension shall not exceed three years beyond June 30, 2007, the expiration date of the current claims processing contract. In negotiating the extension, the Executive Administrator may include as part of the extension amendments to the terms of the current claims processing contract, as well as inclusion of optional plans or programs authorized under G.S. 135-39.5B, as amended by this section. Amendments to the terms of the current claims processing contract may also include changes in reimbursement levels, services, and other terms as deemed appropriate by the Executive Administrator. As used in this subsection, 'current claims processing contract' means the claims processing contract in effect on July 1, 2005, and expiring June

30, 2007. Consultation with the Joint Legislative Commission on Governmental Operations pursuant to this subsection meets the requirements of Article 3 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes pertaining to consultation with the Committee on Employee Hospital and Medical Benefits."

Session Laws 2005-276, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2005'."

Session Laws 2005-276, s. 46.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2009-16, s. 5(g), provides: "The Executive Administrator of the Plan shall include in the development of its Request for Proposal (RFP) for an independent audit of the Plan, an audit of claims paid by the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees. One purpose of the audit is to determine whether savings to the Plan and to Plan members could be achieved if claims payments and processing were more efficiently and effectively administered. The audit shall encompass Plan years beginning in 2005, or earlier, through 2008 and shall look at claims administration and payment under the former Indemnity Plan as compared to the present PPO Plan. In developing the RFP, the Executive Administrator shall consult with the Fiscal Research Division staff and the Director of the Program Evaluation Division of the General Assembly to ensure that all of the following are addressed by the independent audit.

"(1) Estimated or actual savings that could be achieved if changes recommended by the independent auditor were enacted by the General Assembly, and how those savings should be allocated to the benefit of Plan members.

"(2) The governance structure of the Plan and whether it should be under the supervision and oversight of the Governor or a State agency.

"(3) The extent to which the failure or inability to share confidential or otherwise protected information with the Board of Directors and the General Assembly contributes to financial weaknesses in the Plan, and how such data sharing should be strengthened.

"(4) The role of the Board of Directors of the Plan and whether the role should be strengthened or otherwise changed.

"(5) Past, present, and potential areas of overpayments, overutilization, underutilization, or abuse that contributes to increasing costs of Plan benefits, including deductibles, co-payments, dependent premiums, and co-insurance maximums.

"(6) Safeguards to ensure the prompt reporting of claims data and trends to the actuaries under contract with the Plan and the General Assembly.

"(7) Any other matters the Executive Administrator, Fiscal Research Division Staff, the Director of the Program Evaluation Division, or the contracting entity believe would be useful in helping to strengthen the financial integrity of the Plan and Plan benefits.

"It is the intent of the General Assembly that savings identified by the inde-

pendent audit and realized through enactment by the General Assembly, and overpayments identified by the audit or by the Plan, will be allocated by the General Assembly to minimize benefit reductions and maintain affordable contributions, deductibles, and co-payments by Plan members and to maintain the fiscal integrity of the Plan itself.

"The Executive Administrator shall provide the RFP developed in accordance with this section to the Division of Purchase and Contract not later than July 1, 2009. A copy of the audit report submitted to the Plan by the contracting entity shall be provided to the Committee on Employee Hospital and Medical Benefits."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.1(b), provides: "The State Treasurer shall have the power to designate an interim Executive Administrator prior to appointing an Executive Administrator under this section."

### § 135-48.24. Administrative review.

- (a) If, after exhaustion of internal appeal handling outlined in the contract with the Claims Processor, any person is aggrieved, then the Claims Processor shall bring the matter to the attention of the Executive Administrator. The Executive Administrator shall promptly decide whether the subject matter of the internal appeal is a determination subject to external review under Part 4 of Article 50 of Chapter 58 of the General Statutes. The following shall apply to decisions made under this subsection:
  - (1) The Executive Administrator shall inform the aggrieved person and the aggrieved person's provider of the decision and shall provide the aggrieved person notice of the aggrieved person's right to appeal that decision as provided in this subsection.
  - (2) If the Executive Administrator decides that the subject matter raised on internal appeal is not a determination subject to external review, then the Executive Administrator shall have the authority to make a binding decision on the matter.
  - (3) If the Executive Administrator decides that the subject matter raised on internal appeal is a determination subject to external review, as provided for under subsection (b) of this section, then that decision may be contested by the aggrieved person under Chapter 150B of the General Statutes. The person contesting the decision may proceed with external review pending a decision in the contested case under Chapter 150B of the General Statutes.
  - (b) The State Treasurer, in consultation with the Board of Trust-

ees, shall adopt and implement utilization review and internal grievance procedures that are substantially equivalent to those required under G.S. 58-50-61 and G.S. 58-50-62. External review of determinations shall be conducted in accordance with Part 4 of Article 50 of Chapter 58 of the General Statutes. As used in this section, "determination" is a decision by the State Treasurer, or the Plan's designated utilization review organization administrated by or under contract with the Plan that an admission, availability of care, continued stay, or other health care service has been reviewed and, based upon information provided, does not meet the Plan's benefit offerings, or requirements for medical necessity, appropriateness, health care setting, level of care, or effectiveness, and the requested service is therefore denied, reduced, or terminated.

(c) Repealed by Session Laws 2011-398, s. 49, effective January 1, 2012, and applicable to contested cases commenced on or after that date

### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1985, c. 732, s. 53; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 20; 1991, c. 427, s. 6; 2001-446, s. 5(e); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (n); 2011-85, ss. 2.5(g), 2.10; 2011-398, s. 49; 2021-125, s. 3(a).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.5(g), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-44.7 as G.S. 135-48.24. Former G.S. 135-44.7 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.7. It was recodified as G.S. 135-38.10 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-

168, s. 2(n), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-44.7 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2001-446, s. 8, provides: "Nothing in this act obligates the General Assembly to appropriate funds to implement this act."

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-125, s. 3(a), effective August 30, 2021, rewrote subsection (a); and in the last sentence of subsection (b), inserted "benefit offerings, or" and substituted "level of care, or effectiveness" for "or level of care or effectiveness."

### **CASE NOTES**

Language in this section that Board of Trustees "may make a binding decision" concerning a dispute between an aggrieved individual and a claims administrator of a medical plan is not an express and unequivocal exemption of the Board from the requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act; instead, the use of the term "binding" in the statute was intended to mean only that the Board's decision would be binding upon the parties absent further review according to law. Vass v. Board of

Trustees, 324 N.C. 402, 379 S.E.2d 26, 1989 N.C. LEXIS 247 (1989).

Case Commenced Prior to 1986 Governed by Chapter 150A. — A contested case commences when the dispute is presented to the board; therefore, where a contested case was commenced prior to Jan. 1, 1986, the dispute was governed by Chapter 150A and it was error to resolve this dispute according to Chapter 150B. Vass v. Board of Trustees, 108 N.C. App. 251, 423 S.E. 2d 796, 1992 N.C. App. LEXIS 885 (1992).

## § 135-48.25. Rules.

The State Treasurer, in consultation with the Board of Trustees, may adopt rules to implement this Article. The State Treasurer shall provide to all employing units, all health benefit representatives, all relevant health care providers affected by a rule, and to any other persons requesting a written description and approved by the State Treasurer written notice and an opportunity to comment not later than 30 days prior to adopting, amending, or rescinding a rule, unless immediate adoption of the rule without notice is necessary in order to fully effectuate the purpose of the rule. Rules of the Board of Trustees shall remain in effect until amended or repealed by the State Treasurer. The State Treasurer shall provide a written description of the rules adopted under this section to all employing units, all health benefit representatives, all relevant health care providers affected by a rule, and to any other persons requesting a written description and approved by the State Treasurer on a timely basis. Rules adopted by the State Treasurer to implement this Article are not subject to Article 2A of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes.

## History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1985, c. 732, s. 54; 1991, c. 427, s. 7; 1997-278, s. 3; 1997-468, s. 5; 1998-1, s. 4(f); 2001-253, s. 1(r); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (o); 2011-85, ss. 2.5(h), 2.10.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.5(h), effec-

tive January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-44.8 as G.S. 135-48.25. Former G.S. 135-44.8 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.8. It was recodified as G.S. 135-38.11 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(o), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-44.8 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

### § 135-48.26. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

## § 135-48.27. Reports to the General Assembly; General Assembly access to information.

The State Treasurer, the Executive Administrator, and Board of Trustees shall report to the General Assembly as requested, and in the manner designated, by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. Employees of the Legislative Services Commission designated by the Legislative Services Officer (i) shall have access to all records related to the Plan of the State Treasurer, the Board of Trustees, the Executive Administrator, the Claims Processor, and the Plan and (ii) shall be entitled to attend all meetings, including executive sessions, of the Board of Trustees.

### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1985, c. 732, ss. 55, 55.1; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 7; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), (c), 2(c); 2011-85, ss. 2.4(d), 2.10; 2012-194, s. 30; 2021-125, s. 4.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.4(d), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-43.6 as G.S. 135-48.27. Former G.S. 135-43.6 itself was formerly codified

as G.S. 135-39.9. It was recodified as G.S. 135-37.4 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(c), effective July 1, 2008, but was placed in Part 1 and renumbered as G.S. 135-43.6 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-125, s. 4, effective August 30, 2021, in the first sentence, substituted "The" for "In addition to the

reports required by G.S. 135-48.23(d), the" and "as requested, and in the manner designated" for "at such times and in

such forms as shall be designated", and made a stylistic change.

## § 135-48.28. Auditing of the Plan.

The State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees and the Claims Processor shall be subject to the oversight of the State Auditor pursuant to Article 5A of Chapter 147 of the General Statutes.

### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 913, s. 24; 1985, c. 732, s. 46; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, p. 20; 2007-323, s. 28.22A(o); 2007-345, s. 12; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), (c), 2(g); 2011-85, ss. 2.4(c), 2.10.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.4(c), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-43.5 as G.S. 135-48.28. Former G.S. 135-43.5 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.1. It was recodified as G.S. 135-38.4 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(g), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-43.5 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2009-16, s. 5(g), provides: "The Executive Administrator of the Plan shall include in the development of its Request for Proposal (RFP) for an independent audit of the Plan, an audit of claims paid by the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees. One purpose of the audit is to determine whether savings to the Plan and to Plan members could be achieved if claims payments and processing were more efficiently and effectively administered. The audit shall encompass Plan years beginning in 2005, or earlier, through 2008 and shall look at claims administration and payment under the former Indemnity Plan as compared to the present PPO Plan. In developing the RFP, the Executive Administrator shall consult with the Fiscal Research Division staff and the Director of the Program Evaluation Division of the General Assembly to ensure that all of the following are addressed by the independent audit.

"(1) Estimated or actual savings that could be achieved if changes recommended by the independent auditor were enacted by the General Assembly, and how those savings should be allocated to the benefit of Plan members.

"(2) The governance structure of the Plan and whether it should be under the supervision and oversight of the Governor or a State agency.

"(3) The extent to which the failure or inability to share confidential or otherwise protected information with the Board of Directors and the General Assembly contributes to financial weaknesses in the Plan, and how such data sharing should be strengthened.

"(4) The role of the Board of Directors of the Plan and whether the role should be strengthened or otherwise changed.

"(5) Past, present, and potential areas of overpayments, overutilization, underutilization, or abuse that contributes to increasing costs of Plan benefits, including deductibles, co-payments, dependent premiums, and co-insurance maximums.

"(6) Safeguards to ensure the prompt reporting of claims data and trends to the actuaries under contract with the Plan and the General Assembly.

"(7) Any other matters the Executive Administrator, Fiscal Research Division Staff, the Director of the Program Evaluation Division, or the contracting entity believe would be useful in helping to strengthen the financial integrity of the Plan and Plan benefits.

"It is the intent of the General Assembly that savings identified by the independent audit and realized through enactment by the General Assembly, and overpayments identified by the audit or by the Plan, will be allocated by the General Assembly to minimize benefit reductions and maintain affordable contributions, deductibles, and co-payments by Plan members and to maintain the fiscal integrity of the Plan itself.

"The Executive Administrator shall provide the RFP developed in accordance with this section to the Division of Purchase and Contract not later than July 1, 2009. A copy of the audit report submitted to the Plan by the contracting entity shall be provided to the Committee on Employee Hospital and Medical Benefits."

## § 135-48.29. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

## PART 3.

## PLAN OPERATION.

## § 135-48.30. Powers and duties of the State Treasurer.

- (a) The State Treasurer shall have the following powers and duties:
  - (1) Administer and operate the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees in accordance with G.S. 135-48.2 and the provisions of this Article.
  - (2) Set benefits, premium rates, co-pays, deductibles, and coinsurance percentages and maximums, subject to approval by the Board of Trustees. In setting premium rates, the State Treasurer may set a partially contributory rate of zero dollars, subject to approval by the Board of Trustees.
  - (3) Set the allowable charges for medical and prescription drug benefits, as necessary.
  - (4) Design and implement coordination of benefits policies.
  - (5) May offer wellness incentives.
  - (6) Set administrative and medical policies that are not in direct conflict with this Article.
  - (7) Adopt and implement, in consultation with the Board of Trustees, utilization review and internal grievance procedures that are substantially equivalent to those required under G.S. 58-50-61 and G.S. 58-50-62. External review of determinations shall be conducted in accordance with Part 4 of Article 50 of Chapter 58 of the General Statutes.
  - (8) Implement and administer pharmacy and medical utilization management programs and programs to detect and address utilization abuse of benefits.
  - (9) Establish and operate fraud detection and audit programs.
  - (10) Expend funds for any independent audit.
  - (11) Establish procedures to require prior medical approval and implement the procedures after consultation with the Board of Trustees.
  - (12) Prepare and submit to the Governor and the General Assembly cost estimates for the Plan, including those required by Article 15 of Chapter 120 of the General Statutes.
  - (13) Disclose to the Governor and the General Assembly changes or additions to the health benefits programs and

health care cost containment programs offered under the Plan, together with statements of financial and actuarial effects as required by Article 15 of Chapter 120 of the General Statutes.

- (14) Secure and maintain tax qualification of the Plan under any applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (15), (16) Repealed by Session Laws 2012-173, s. 3(c), effective January 1, 2013.
- (17) Optionally offer Medicare-related options under G.S. 135-48.38.
- (18) In accordance with G.S. 135-48.39 and subject to approval by the Board of Trustees, issue an order declaring an option of deferring premium or debt payments when there is a state of disaster or emergency.
- (19) Optionally offer to pay premiums to purchase alternative coverage in lieu of coverage under the Plan under G.S. 135-48.39A.
- (b) The State Treasurer may delegate his or her powers and duties under this section to the Executive Administrator, the Board of Trustees, and employees of the Plan. In delegating powers or duties, however, the State Treasurer maintains the responsibility for the performance of those powers or duties.

### History.

2011-85, s. 2.10; 2012-173, s. 3(c), 4(b); 2020-3, s. 4.21(a); 2023-134, s. 39.29(a).

## Deductible, Coinsurance, and Copayment Adjustments.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 1.3(a), provides: "Effective July 1, 2011, the Executive Administrator shall make the following changes to deductibles, coinsurance maximums, and co-payments under the Basic and Standard PPO Plans:

"(1) Basic Plan (70/30):

"a. Increase the in-network annual deductible to nine hundred thirty-three dollars (\$933.00) for member-only coverage and to one thousand eight hundred sixty-six dollars (\$1,866) for the out-of-network annual deductible for member-only coverage. The aggregate maximum annual deductible for employee-child and employee-family coverage shall be three times the member-only annual deductibles.

"b. Increase the in-network coinsurance maximum to three thousand seven hundred ninety-three dollars (\$3,793) for member-only coverage and to seven thousand five hundred eighty-six dollars (\$7,586) for member-only out-of-network maximum coinsurance. The aggregate

maximum coinsurance for employeechild and employee-family coverage shall be three times the member-only coinsurance maximums.

"c. Increase the in-network urgent care co-payment to eighty-seven dollars (\$87.00) per covered individual.

"d. Increase the in-network primary care co-payment to thirty-five dollars (\$35.00) per covered individual.

"e. Increase the in-network specialist co-payment to eighty-one dollars (\$81.00) per covered individual, except that for mental health and substance abuse services, chiropractic services, and physical therapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy services, the in-network specialist co-payment shall be sixty-four dollars (\$64.00) per covered individual.

"f. Increase the in-network and out-ofnetwork inpatient co-payment to two hundred ninety-one dollars (\$291.00) per covered individual.

"g. Increase the in-network and out-ofnetwork emergency room co-payment to two hundred ninety-one dollars (\$291.00) per covered individual.

"h. Increase prescription drug co-payments as required under G.S. 135-45.6(b)(1) as amended by this section.

"i. Except as otherwise provided in this act, co-payments and coinsurance for

coverage not otherwise listed in this subdivision shall remain as applicable in the 2010-2011 benefit year.

"(2) Standard Plan (80/20):

"a. Increase the in-network annual deductible to seven hundred dollars (\$700.00) for member-only coverage and to one thousand four hundred dollars (\$1,400) for the member-only out-of-network annual deductible. The aggregate maximum annual deductible for employee-child and employee-family coverage shall be three times the member-only annual deductibles.

"b. Increase the in-network coinsurance maximum to three thousand two hundred ten dollars (\$3,210) for member-only coverage and to six thousand four hundred twenty dollars (\$6,420) for member-only out-of-network maximum coinsurance. The aggregate maximum coinsurance for employee-child and employee-family coverage shall be three times the member-only coinsurance maximums

"c. Increase the in-network urgent care co-payment to eighty-seven dollars (\$87.00) per covered individual.

"d. Increase the in-network primary care co-payment to thirty dollars (\$30.00) per covered individual.

"e. Increase the in-network specialist co-payment to seventy dollars (\$70.00) per covered individual, except that for mental health and substance abuse services, chiropractic services, and physical therapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy services, the in-network specialist co-payment shall be fifty-two dollars (\$52.00) per covered individual.

"f. Increase the in-network and out-ofnetwork inpatient co-payment to two hundred thirty-three dollars (\$233.00) per covered individual.

"g. Increase the in-network and out-ofnetwork emergency room co-payment to two hundred thirty-three dollars (\$233.00) per covered individual.

"h. Increase prescription drug co-pays as required under G.S. 135-45.6(b)(1) as amended by this act.

"i. Except as otherwise provided in this act, co-payments and coinsurance for coverage not otherwise listed in this subdivision shall remain as applicable in the 2010-2011 benefit year."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.11(b), effective January 1, 2012, provides:

"Sections 1.2 and 1.3(a) of this act are repealed."

Session Laws 2011-96, s. 2(e), provides: "Credits toward deductibles and coinsurance maximums that Plan mem-

bers earn for services incurred during the months of July and August of 2011 shall be carried forward and applied toward meeting the new deductibles and coinsurance maximums for the period beginning September 1, 2011. If a Plan member fully meets his or her deductible or coinsurance maximum during the months of July and August of 2011, then that Plan member shall receive credit for the amount of the deductible or coinsurance maximum that the Plan member met during that time, but shall then be subject to meeting any additional amounts required by the new deductible and coinsurance maximums effective September 1, 2011."

### Premium Adjustments.

For premium rates for partially contributory coverage and premium adjustments for contributory coverage, see Session Laws 2011-85, s. 1.2(a) and (b), and related provisions, noted under G.S. 135-48.40.

#### Editor's Note.

The subsection (a) designation was added at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2009-16, s. 2(g), provides: "Premium Increases. — Premium rates for contributory coverage established in accordance with G.S. 135-44.6 shall be increased to eight and ninetenths percent (8.9%) for contributory coverage for the 2009-2010 fiscal year and shall be increased by an additional eight and ninetenths percent (8.9%) over the premium rate for contributory coverage for the 2010-2011 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.12, provides: "In repealing a specific, detailed provision of Article 3A of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and not placing that detailed provision into Article 3B of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, it is not necessarily the intent of the General Assembly to prohibit the State Treasurer or the State Health Plan from having that authority."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 3.1(a), provides: "The State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall do the following:

"(1) Examine the issue of moving to a calendar year, including the costs and mechanics of doing so.

"(2) Find savings through wellness programs, Medicare Advantage plans, alternative plan designs, or other resources and use those savings to offer a premium-free plan option no later than July 1, 2013.

"(3) Strive to keep all premiums low by finding savings through wellness programs, Medicare Advantage plans, alternative plan designs, or other resources."

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 3.1(b), provides: "The State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall issue a Request for Proposals for a Medicare Advantage Plan no later than June 30, 2012."

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-3. 4.21(a), effective retroactively to January 1, 2020, added subdivision (a)(18).

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 39.29(a), effective January 1, 2024, added subdivision (a)(19).

#### § 135-48.31. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

## § 135-48.32. Contracts to provide benefits.

- (a) The Plan benefits shall be provided under contracts between the Plan and the claims processors selected by the Plan. The contracts necessarily will conform to applicable State law.
- (b) Unless otherwise directed by the Plan, each Claims Processor shall provide the Plan with a Claims Data Feed, which includes all Claim Payment Data, at a frequency agreed to by the Plan and the Claims Processor. The frequency shall be no less than monthly. The Claims Processor is not required to disclose Claim Payment Data that reflects rates negotiated with or agreed to by a noncontracted third party but, upon request, shall provide to the Plan sufficient documentation to support the payment of claims for which Claim Payment Data is withheld on such basis.
- (c) Any provision of any contract between a Claims Processor and a health care provider, subcontractor, or third party that would prevent or prohibit the Claims Processor from disclosing Claim Payment Data to the Plan, in accordance with this section, shall be void and unenforceable, but only to the extent the provision prevents and prohibits disclosure to the Plan.
- (d) The Plan may use and disclose Claim Payment Data solely for the purpose of administering and operating the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees in accordance with G.S. 135-48.2 and the provisions of this Article. The Plan shall not make any use or disclosure of Claim Payment Data that would compromise the proprietary nature of the data or, as applicable, its status as a trade secret, or otherwise misappropriate the data.
- (e) The Plan may not use a provider's Claim Payment Data to negotiate rates, fee schedules, or other master charges with that provider or any other provider.
- (f) The Plan may disclose Claim Payment Data to a third party to use on the Plan's behalf as agreed upon between the Plan and the Claims Processor. The Plan must obtain the agreement of the

Claims Processor for each third party to whom the Plan seeks to disclose Claim Payment Data and for each use the third party will make of the data. The Plan may not disclose Claim Payment Data to any third party without first entering into a contract with the third party that contains restrictions on the use and disclosure of the Claim Payment Data by the third party that are at least as restrictive as the provisions of this section.

(g) A Claims Processor who discloses Claim Payment Data in accordance with this section shall not incur any civil liability and shall not be subject to equitable relief in connection for the disclosure.

#### History.

2008-168, s. 3(c); 2009-16, ss. 2(f), 5(h); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-313, s. 2; 2010-194, s. 18(b); 2011-85, ss. 2.6(a), 2.10; 2016-104, s. 3.

#### 2009 Health Benefit Changes.

Session Laws 2009-16, s. 2(a), provides: "Eliminate PPO Plus Option. — Effective July 1, 2009, the PPO Plus option (90/10 in-network coverage) under the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees ('Plan') is eliminated. The Executive Administrator shall provide notice to all members of the Plan that this option will no longer be available as of July 1, 2009. Employees enrolled in the Plan's Plus option shall have the choice of enrolling in the Basic or Standard Plan options for the 2009-2010 benefit year."

Session Laws 2009-16, s. 2(h), provides: "Pharmacy Benefit Savings. -The Plan shall direct its pharmacy benefit manager (PBM), within the terms of the Plan's PBM contract, to achieve the of eighteen million (\$18,000,000) in savings in pharmacy benefit costs in the 2009-2010 fiscal year, and the sum of twenty million dollars (\$20,000,000) in savings in pharmacy benefit costs in the 2010-2011 fiscal year through reduced reimbursements paid to pharmacies for prescription drugs. If the savings achieved in each six-month period of the fiscal year do not exceed one hundred five percent (105%) of the savings amount specified in this section for that fiscal year, there shall be no further adjustment to reimbursements paid to pharmacies for that six-month period. If the total savings achieved, by fiscal year, exceeds one hundred five percent (105%) of the specified savings amount in each six-month period of the fiscal year, the Plan shall adjust pharmacy reimbursement reductions accordingly. The Plan

shall review savings achieved twice annually to ensure compliance with this section. The Plan shall calculate the savings to be achieved based on Plan enrollment and estimated cost and utilization trends incorporated in the Plan's Financial Projections as of March 20, 2009. The total savings by fiscal year achieved in this section may be increased or decreased without adjustment based on a change in total enrollment provided that the rate of savings achieved on a permember per-month basis remains constant. Not later than 60 days immediately following each six-month period, the Plan shall report the amount of savings achieved and any adjustments made for that period to the Committee on Employee Hospital and Medical Benefits."

Session Laws 2009-16, s. 7(a)-(f), as amended by Session Laws 2009-571, s. 1, as amended by Session Laws 2011-266, s. 1.33(a), provides: "(a) State Health Plan Blue Ribbon Task Force. — There is established the Blue Ribbon Task Force on the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees (Task Force). The purpose of the Task Force is to review the governance of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees (Plan) and to make recommendations for changes that will ensure the ongoing financial stability of the Plan, increase and maintain high participation rates for dependent coverage under the Plan, study and compare coverage and costs of the Plan to coverage and costs of other State health plans in the region, and address issues of cost, quality, and access to health care coverage under the Plan. In conducting its review of the Plan the Task Force shall consider all of the following:

"(1) The feasibility of transferring the ongoing day-to-day oversight of the Plan to an independent board or to a State agency.

- "(2) Tiered premium rates for member-only coverage for employees and future retirees based on income or ability to pay.
- "(3) Ways to increase participation in dependent coverage including supplements from the State or other methods for reducing dependent premiums.
- "(4) The benefits of implementing a closed prescription drug formulary.
- "(5) Whether it is advisable to move the Plan to a calendar year, the costs involved in the move, and the benefits that accrue to the Plan and the members as a result of moving to a calendar year.
- "(6) Any other matters the Task Force considers relevant to its purpose.
- "(b) The Task Force shall consist of 15 members, appointed as follows:
- "(1) Six members by the Speaker of the House of Representatives, three of whom shall be members of the House of Representatives, one shall be a public schoolteacher, one shall be a State or covered local government retiree other than a retired public schoolteacher, and one at-large. Of the three legislators appointed to the Task Force, one shall be a member of the minority party.
- "(2) Six members by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, three of whom shall be members of the Senate, one shall be a State employee who is not a public schoolteacher, one shall be a retired State public school employee, and one at-large. Of the three legislators appointed to the Task Force, one shall be a member of the minority party.
- "(3) One member by the Governor with expertise in the business of health insurance or in administering health care services other than an insurance company or third-party administrator or contractor of the Plan.
- "(4) The chair of the Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan or the chair's designee.
- "(5) The Commissioner of Insurance or the Commissioner's designee.
- "(c) The cochairs of the Task Force shall convene the first meeting as soon as possible after appointments have been made. The Task Force may engage the services of a consultant to provide

independent analysis of Plan costs and recommendations on how to strengthen the Plan's financial stability, benefit structure and coverage, and the most effective and efficient location for Plan administration.

"(d) The Task force shall terminate on or before July 1, 2011.

"(e) A majority of the Task Force members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The Speaker of the House of Representatives and the President Pro Tempore of the Senate shall each appoint one Task Force member as chair. Appointments shall be made as soon as possible after this act becomes law. Task Force members shall receive no compensation for their service but shall be paid per diem, subsistence, and travel expenses in accordance with G.S. 120-3.1, G.S. 138-5, and G.S. 138-6, as applicable.

"(f) Repealed by Session Laws 2011-266, 1.33(a), effective July 1, 2011."

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(a), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-45(d) as G.S. 135-48.32. Former G.S. 135-45(a) and (e) are recodified as G.S. 135-48.2. Former G.S. 135-45(c) is recodified as G.S. 135-48.8. Former G.S. 135-45(d1) is recodified as G.S. 135-48.33. The remainder of G.S. 135-45 is repealed by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012. Former G.S. 135-45 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.12 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(c), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2010-3, s. 2, provides: "The Executive Administrator of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall consult with the Committee on Employee and Hospital Medical Benefits prior to implementing any program to verify tobacco usage by members of the Plan."

Session Laws 2016-104, s. 9, made the rewriting of this section by Session Laws 2016-104, s. 3, applicable to contracts entered into on or after July 22, 2016.

# § 135-48.33. Contracting provisions; large contract review by Board of Trustees and Attorney General, auditing, no cost plus contracts.

(a) The Board of Trustees must approve all Plan contracts in excess of three million dollars (\$3,000,000), including contracts with

an initial cost of less than three million dollars (\$3,000,000), but that may exceed three million dollars (\$3,000,000) during the term of the contract.

(b) The Plan shall: (i) submit all proposed contracts for supplies, materials, printing, equipment, and contractual services that exceed one million dollars (\$1,000,000) authorized by this Article to the Attorney General or the Attorney General's designee for review as provided in G.S. 114-8.3; and (ii) include in all proposed contracts to be awarded by the Plan under this section a standard clause which provides that the State Auditor and internal auditors of the Plan may audit the records of the contractor during and after the term of the contract to verify accounts and data affecting fees and performance. The Plan shall not award a cost plus percentage of cost agreement or contract for any purpose.

#### History.

2008-168, s. 3(c); 2009-16, ss. 2(f), 5(h); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-313, s. 2; 2010-194, s. 18(b); 2011-85, ss. 2.6(a), 2.10; 2011-326, s. 15(s); 2021-125, s. 1.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(a), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-45(d1) as G.S. 135-48.33. Former G.S. 135-45(a) and (e) are recodified as G.S. 135-48.2. Former G.S. 135-45(c) is recodified as G.S. 135-48.8. Former G.S. 135-45(d) is recodified as G.S. 135-48.32. Former G.S. 135-45(d) is recodified as G.S. 135-48.32. The remainder of

G.S. 135-45 is repealed by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012. Former G.S. 135-45 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.12 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(c), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-125, s.1, effective August 30, 2021, substituted "three million dollars (\$3,000,000)" for "five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000)" three times in subsection (a).

# § 135-48.34. Contracts not subject to Article 3 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes.

The design, adoption, and implementation of the preferred provider contracts, networks, and optional alternative comprehensive health benefit plans, and programs available under the optional alternative plans, as authorized under G.S. 135-48.2, are not subject to the requirements of Article 3 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, but are subject to the requirements of G.S. 135-48.33.

#### History.

2011-85, s. 2.10.

# § 135-48.35. Contract disputes not contested case under the Administrative Procedure Act, Chapter 150B of the General Statutes.

A dispute involving the performance, terms, or conditions of a contract between the Plan and an entity under contract with the Plan is not a contested case under Article 3 of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes.

2001-192, s. 2; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), (c), 2(d); 2011-85, s. 2.4(e).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.4(e), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-43.7 as G.S. 135-48.35. Former

G.S. 135-43.7 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.11. It was recodified as G.S. 135-37.5 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(d), effective July 1, 2008, but was placed in Part 1 and renumbered as G.S. 135-43.7 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

### § 135-48.36. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

# § 135-48.37. Liability of third person; right of subrogation; right of first recovery.

- (a) The Plan shall have the right of subrogation upon all of the Plan member's right to recover from a liable third party for payment made under the Plan, for all medical expenses, including provider, hospital, surgical, or prescription drug expenses, to the extent those payments are related to an injury caused by a liable third party. The Plan member shall do nothing to prejudice these rights. The Plan has the right to first recovery on any amounts so recovered, whether by the Plan or the Plan member, and whether recovered by litigation, arbitration, mediation, settlement, or otherwise. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the recovery limitation set forth in G.S. 28A-18-2 shall not apply to the Plan's right of subrogation of Plan members.
- (b) If the Plan is precluded from exercising its right of subrogation, it may exercise its rights of recovery against any third party who was overpaid. If the Plan recovers damages from a liable third party in excess of the claims paid, any excess will be paid to the member, less a proportionate share of the costs of collection.
- (c) In the event a Plan member recovers any amounts from a liable third party to which the Plan is entitled under this section, the Plan may recover the amounts directly from the Plan member. If, prior to the Plan exercising its rights under this section, a Plan member utilizes or otherwise disposes of any amounts that were recovered from a liable third party to which the Plan is entitled under this section, then the Plan may pursue alternative judicial remedies against the Plan member to recover the amount to which the Plan is entitled, including the pursuit of a judgment and lien against real property.
- (c1) The Plan has a lien, for not more than the value of claims paid related to the liability of the third party, on any damages subsequently recovered by a Plan member against any liable third party. If the Plan member fails to pursue the remedy against a liable third party, the Plan is subrogated to the rights of the Plan member and is entitled to enforce liability in the Plan's own name or in the name of the Plan member for the amount paid by the Plan.

- (d) In no event shall the Plan's lien exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total damages recovered by the Plan member, exclusive of the Plan member's reasonable costs of collection as determined by the Plan in the Plan's sole discretion. The decision by the Plan as to the reasonable cost of collection is conclusive and is not a "final agency decision" for purposes of a contested case under Chapter 150B of the General Statutes. Notice of the Plan's lien or right to recovery shall be presumed when a Plan member is represented by an attorney, and the attorney shall disburse proceeds pursuant to this section.
- (e) The priority of any lien held by the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees shall be superior to all nongovernmental liens and rights, whether such liens and rights are prior or subsequent to the lien.

 $2004\text{-}124, \text{ s. } 31.25; 2006\text{-}264, \text{ s. } 66(a); \\ 2008\text{-}168, \text{ ss. } 1(a), 3(a), \text{ (t); } 2011\text{-}85, \text{ ss. } \\ 2.6(j), 2.10; 2018\text{-}52, \text{ ss. } 3, 5(a).$ 

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(j), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-45.15 as G.S. 135-48.37. Former G.S. 135-45.15 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-40.13A. It was recodified as G.S. 135-39.27 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(t), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.15 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2006-264, s. 66(a), which rewrote this section, was effective August 27, 2006, and applicable to payments made by the Plan after July 20, 2004, for which reimbursement is sought on or after August 27, 2006.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial

Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 5(e), provides, in part: "Priority of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees' lien over nongovernmental liens and rights created under this section shall apply only to nongovernmental liens and rights that have attached to the applicable property on or after the effective date of this act [June 25, 2018]."

#### CASE NOTES

Subject-Matter Jurisdiction. — Trial court properly denied a motion filed by a minor child, his GAL, and parents (the plaintiffs) to reduce a lien filed by the State Health Plan (SHP) for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction because they did not point to any constitutional provision or general statute conferring jurisdiction on the court to reduce the monetary amount of SHP liens imposed upon

a settlement, and the plaintiffs' proper recourse was with the General Assembly. Quaicoe v. Moses H. Cone Mem. Hosp. Operating Corp., 274 N.C. App. 306, 852 S.E.2d 399, 2020 N.C. App. LEXIS 800 (2020).

Recovery Against Plan Member's Attorney. — Summary judgment for plaintiff on its former G.S. 135-45.15 (now codified at G.S. 135-48.37) claim

was affirmed since: (1) plaintiff had the right to first recovery of up to 50 percent of any amounts recovered by a member for injuries that were inflicted by a third party and for which plaintiff provided treatment benefits; (2) G.S. 135-45.15 placed an affirmative duty on defendant, who represented the member, to use any settlement proceeds to first satisfy plaintiff's lien; and (3) defendant's failure to comply with the statute subjected him to liability for the amount of the lien. State Health Plan for Teachers & State Emples. v. Ellison, 227 N.C. App. 114, 744 S.E.2d 473, 2013 N.C. App. LEXIS 468 (2013).

Plain language of former G.S. 135-45.15 (now codified at G.S. 135-48.37)

similarly to G.S. 44-50, places a duty upon an injured party's attorney to direct settlement funds recovered by an injured The State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees (State Health Plan) member to the State Health Plan in satisfaction of its statutory lien; by establishing this duty, the statute necessarily also creates a cause of action by which the State Health Plan may enforce its lien under the statute against an attorney who violates its requirements by failing to disburse his client's settlement proceeds in accordance with the statute. State Health Plan for Teachers & State Emples. v. Ellison, 227 N.C. App. 114, 744 S.E.2d 473, 2013 N.C. App. LEXIS 468 (2013).

# § 135-48.37A. Employing unit cooperation in collection of amounts owed to Plan.

- (a) Any payment of benefits or other amount to, or premiums or claims paid on behalf of, any Plan member that is later determined to be an overpayment, an erroneous payment, or a benefit or amount for which the Plan member was ineligible shall be repaid by the Plan member to the Plan. If the Plan member is an employee of an employing unit, then any amounts to be recouped under this subsection shall be offset against the net wages of the Plan member.
- (b) If a Plan member owes an amount to the Plan under this section, has been notified of this amount owed by the Plan member in writing, and has not entered into a payment plan acceptable to the Plan within 30 days after the written notice, then the Plan shall notify the Plan member's employer of the amount owed. Upon receipt of this notice from the Plan, an employing unit shall offset the amount owed against not less than ten percent (10%) of the net wages of the Plan member until the Plan notifies the employing unit that the amount owed has been paid in full. The Plan's notice to the employing unit shall be prima facie evidence that the amount owed is valid and, notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the employing unit has no obligation to verify the amount owed. The employing unit shall provide no more than 30 days' but not less than 14 days' written notice to the Plan member prior to beginning the offset. The employing unit shall remit all amounts offset under this subsection to the Plan in intervals corresponding with the employing unit's regular pay periods.
- (c) If an employing unit fails to adhere to the provisions of this section, the Plan shall, after notice to the employing unit of its failure to cooperate, be entitled to seek recovery of any amounts due directly from the employing unit.
- (d) No amount due under this section may be forgiven by the Board, the Plan, the Executive Administrator, the State Treasurer,

or an employing unit. The Plan and the employing unit shall have a duty to pursue the repayment in full of these funds by all lawful means available, including the filing of a civil action in the General Court of Justice.

(e) Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the Plan's ability to pursue alternative judicial remedies against a Plan member or a former Plan member, including the pursuit of a judgment and lien against real property.

#### History.

2018-52, s. 2(a).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness): and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 2(d), made this section effective June 25, 2018, and applicable to to all amounts owed by a Plan member for which notice is sent on and after that date, regardless of the date the benefit, claim, or premium amount which the Plan member was ineligible, the overpayment, or the erroneous payment was made.

# § 135-48.38. Persons eligible for Medicare; optional participation in other Medicare products.

- (a) Benefits payable for covered expenses under this Plan will be reduced by any benefits payable for the same covered expenses under Medicare, so that Medicare will be the primary carrier except where compliance with federal law specifies otherwise.
- (b) For those participants eligible for Medicare, the Plan will be administered on a "carve out" basis. The provisions of the Plan are applied to the charges not paid by Medicare (Parts A & B). In other words, those charges not paid by Medicare would be subject to the deductible and coinsurance of the Plan just as if the charges not paid by Medicare were the total bill.
- (c) For those individuals eligible for Part A (at no cost to them), benefits under this program will be reduced by the amounts to which the covered individuals would be entitled to under Parts A and B of Medicare, even if they choose not to enroll for Part B.
- (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section or any other provisions of the Plan, the State Treasurer may enter into negotiations with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, in order to secure a more favorable coordination of the Plan's benefits with those

provided by Medicare, including but not limited to, measures by which the Plan would provide Medicare benefits for all of its Medicare-eligible members in return for adequate payments from the federal government in providing such benefits. Should such negotiations result in an agreement favorable to the Plan and its Medicare-eligible members, the State Treasurer may, after consultation with the Board of Trustees, implement such an agreement which shall supersede all other provisions of the Plan to the contrary related to its payment of claims for Medicare-eligible members.

(e) Notwithstanding subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the State Treasurer may contract for coverage in lieu of current Plan medical and prescription drug benefits for Medicare retirees or to supplement Medicare benefits and may, after consultation with the Board of Trustees, implement such an agreement, which shall supersede all other provisions of the Plan to the contrary related to its payment of claims for Medicare-eligible members.

### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 18; 1987, c. 857, s. 21; 1989, c. 752, s. 22(o); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 3(a), (o); 2011-85, ss. 2.6(g), 2.10.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(g), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former

G.S. 135-45.10 as G.S. 135-48.38. Former G.S. 135-45.10 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-40.10. It was recodified as G.S. 135-39.22 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(o), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.10 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

# § 135-48.39. Operations during state of disaster or emergency.

- (a) For the purposes of this section, the term "state of disaster" shall mean that one of the following has occurred:
  - (1) The Governor or legislature has declared a state of emergency under G.S. 166A-19.20.
  - (2) The Governor has issued a disaster declaration under G.S. 116A-19.21.
  - (3) The President of the United States has issued a major disaster declaration under the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, 42 U.S.C. § 5121, et seq., as amended, for this State, for an area within this State, or for an area in which a member or an employing unit is located.
  - (4) The Governor, legislature, or other governing body has declared a state of emergency or disaster, or the equivalent, for an area in which a member or employing unit is located.
- (b) Subject to approval by the Board of Trustees, when there is a state of disaster, the State Treasurer may order that members, employing units, or both adversely affected by the state of disaster shall have the option of deferring premium or debt payments that

are due during the time period in which there is a state of disaster. The State Treasurer may order the expiration of the option to defer premium or debt payments prior to the end of the time period in which there is a state of disaster but may not extend the option beyond that period.

- (c) Any option to defer premium or debt payments offered under this section shall be made for a period of 30 days from the last day the premium or debt payment may have been made under the terms of the Plan, policy, contract, or agreement. This 30-day deferral period may also be applied to any statute, rule, or other policy or contract provision that imposes a time limit on the Plan or a member to perform any act related to the Plan during the time period in which there is a state of disaster. This 30-day deferral period may be extended by the State Treasurer in 30-day increments, subject to approval by the Board of Trustees. A deferral period shall not last beyond 90 days from the last day of the time period in which there is a state of disaster.
- (d) An option to defer premium or debt payments offered under this section may be limited to a specific category of members or employing units, as the state of disaster necessitates and as determined by the State Treasurer.
- (e) Nothing in this section shall be construed as to authorize the nonpayment of premiums or debt. All premium payments in arrears shall be paid to the Plan. If premiums in arrears are not paid, coverage shall lapse as of the last day of the month for which premiums were paid in full. The member shall be responsible for all medical expenses incurred since the effective date of the lapse in coverage.

**History.** 2020-3, s. 4.21(b).

Editor's Note. Session Laws 2020-3, s. 4.21(b), made this section effective retroactively to January 1, 2020.

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 5, is a severability clause.

# § 135-48.39A. Premiums to purchase alternative coverage for retirees in lieu of coverage under the Plan.

- (a) The State Treasurer may offer to pay or reimburse premiums for alternative health benefit plan coverage in lieu of coverage under the State Health Plan. If the State Treasurer elects to offer premium payments in lieu of coverage, then the State Treasurer shall adopt rules for and limitations on doing so.
- (b) Premium payments in lieu of coverage shall be limited to persons eligible for coverage under the following, and the State Treasurer may vary the amounts of premium payments depending on the category of eligibility:
  - (1) G.S. 135-48.40(a)(1).
  - (2) G.S. 135-48.40(a)(2).

- (3) G.S. 135-48.40(b)(3).
- (4) G.S. 135-48.40(b)(4).
- (5) G.S. 135-48.40(c)(2).
- (c) Notwithstanding the eligibility for coverage provided in Part 4 of this Article, coverage outside of the Plan shall be in lieu of coverage under the Plan during the period for which the Plan member chooses premium payments in lieu of coverage.

2023-134, s. 39.29(b).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 39.29(c), made this section, as added by Session Laws 2023-134, s. 39.29(b), effective January 1, 2024.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

### PART 4.

# ELIGIBILITY AND ENROLLMENT.

# § 135-48.40. Categories of eligibility.

- (a) **Noncontributory Coverage.** The following persons are eligible for coverage under the Plan, on a noncontributory basis, subject to the provisions of G.S. 135-48.43:
  - (1) Retired employees, as defined in G.S. 135-48.1(18), and retired State law enforcement officers who retired under the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System prior to January 1, 1985. Except as otherwise provided in this subdivision, on and after January 1, 1988, a retiring employee or retiree must have completed at least five years of contributory retirement service with an employing unit prior to retirement from any State-supported retirement system in order to be eligible for group benefits under this Part as a retired employee or retiree. For employees first hired on and after October 1, 2006, and members of the General Assembly first taking office on and after February 1, 2007, future coverage as retired employees and retired members of the General Assembly is subject to a requirement that the future retiree have 20 or more years of retirement service credit in order to be covered by the provisions of this subdivision.
  - (2) Surviving spouses of:
    - a. Deceased retired employees, provided the death of the former plan member occurred prior to October 1, 1986; and
    - b. Deceased teachers, State employees, and members of the General Assembly who are receiving a survivor's alternate benefit under any of the State-supported retire-

ment programs, provided the death of the former plan member occurred prior to October 1, 1986.

- (b) **Partially Contributory Coverage.** The following persons are eligible for coverage under the Plan, on a partially contributory basis, subject to the provisions of G.S. 135-48.43:
  - (1) All permanent full-time employees of an employing unit who meet any of the following conditions:
    - a. The employee is paid from general or special State funds.
    - b. The employee is paid from non-State funds and in a group for which his or her employing unit has agreed to provide coverage.
    - Employees of State agencies, departments, institutions, boards, and commissions not otherwise covered by the Plan who are employed in permanent job positions on a recurring basis and who work 30 or more hours per week for nine or more months per calendar year are covered by the provisions of this subdivision.

This subdivision shall not apply to employees eligible to be enrolled in a comprehensive health benefit plan offered by East Carolina University pursuant to G.S. 116-360.15 or the University of North Carolina Health Care System pursuant to G.S. 116-350.30.

- (1a) All retirees who (i) are employed by an employing unit that elects to be covered by this subdivision, (ii) do not qualify for coverage under subdivision (1) of this subsection, and (iii) are determined to be "full-time" by their employing unit in accordance with section 4980H of the Internal Revenue Code and the applicable regulations, as amended. The employing unit shall pay the employer premiums for retirees who enroll under this subdivision.
- (2) Repealed by Session Laws 2013-324, s. 2, effective July 23, 2013.
- (3) Retired employees, as defined in G.S. 135-48.1(18), and retired State law enforcement officers who retired under the Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System prior to January 1, 1985. Except as otherwise provided in this subdivision, on and after January 1, 1988, a retiring employee or retiree must have completed at least five years of contributory retirement service with an employing unit prior to retirement from any State-supported retirement system in order to be eligible for group benefits under this Part as a retired employee or retiree. For employees first hired on and after October 1, 2006, and members of the General Assembly first taking office on and after February 1, 2007, future coverage as retired employees and retired members of the General Assembly is subject to a require-

ment that the future retiree have 20 or more years of retirement service credit in order to be covered by the provisions of this subdivision.

- (4) Surviving spouses of:
  - a. Deceased retired employees, provided the death of the former plan member occurred prior to October 1, 1986;
     and
  - b. Deceased teachers, State employees, and members of the General Assembly who are receiving a survivor's alternate benefit under any of the State-supported retirement programs, provided the death of the former plan member occurred prior to October 1, 1986.
- (5) Employees of the General Assembly, not otherwise covered by this section, as determined by the Legislative Services Commission, except for legislative interns and pages.
- (6) Members of the General Assembly.
- (7) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (e) of this section, employees on official leave of absence while completing a full-time program in school administration in an approved program as a Principal Fellow in accordance with Article 5C of Chapter 116 of the General Statutes.
- (8) Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 135-48.44, employees formerly covered by the provisions of this section, other than retired employees eligible for coverage on a noncontributory basis, who have been employed for 12 or more months by an employing unit, or who have completed a contract term of employment of 10 or 11 months and whose employing unit is a local school administrative unit, and whose jobs are eliminated because of a reduction, in total or in part, in the funds used to support the job or its responsibilities, provided the employees were covered by the Plan at the time of separation from service resulting from a job elimination. Employees covered by this subsection shall be covered for a period of up to 12 months following a separation from service because of a job elimination. An employee formerly covered by the provisions of this section shall not be eligible for coverage under this subdivision if the employee is provided health benefit coverage on a non-contributory basis by a subsequent employer.
- (9) Any member enrolled pursuant to subdivision (1) or (2) of this subsection who is on approved leave of absence with pay or receiving workers' compensation.
- (10) Employees on approved Family and Medical Leave.
- (c) **One-Half Contributory Coverage.** The following persons are eligible for coverage under the Plan, on a one-half contributory basis, subject to the provisions of G.S. 135-48.43:
  - (1) A school employee in a job-sharing position as described in G.S. 115C-326.5. If these employees elect to participate in

- the Plan, the employing unit shall pay fifty percent (50%) of the Plan's total employer premiums. Individual employees shall pay the balance of the total premiums not paid by the employing unit.
- (2) Retired employees, as defined in G.S. 135-48.1(18), with 10 but less than 20 years of retirement service credit provided the employees were first hired on or after October 1, 2006, and the members first took office on or after February 1, 2007. For such future retirees, the State shall pay fifty percent (50%) of the Plan's total employer premiums. Individual retirees shall pay the balance of the total premiums not paid by the State.
- (d) **Fully Contributory Coverage.** The following persons shall be eligible for coverage under the Plan, on a fully contributory basis, subject to the provisions of G.S. 135-48.43:
  - (1) Former members of the General Assembly who enroll before October 1, 1986.
  - (2) For enrollments after September 30, 1986, former members of the General Assembly if covered under the Plan at termination of membership in the General Assembly. To be eligible for coverage as a former member of the General Assembly, application must be made within 30 days of the end of the term of office. Only members of the General Assembly covered by the Plan at the end of the term of office are eligible. If application is not made within the specified time period, the member forfeits eligibility.
  - (3) Surviving spouses of deceased former members of the General Assembly who enroll before October 1, 1986.
  - (4) Employees of the General Assembly, not otherwise covered by this section, as determined by the Legislative Services Commission, except for legislative interns and pages.
  - (5) For enrollments after September 30, 1986, surviving spouses of deceased former members of the General Assembly, if covered under the Plan at the time of death of the former member of the General Assembly.
  - (6) All permanent part-time employees (designated as half-time or more) of an employing unit who meet the conditions outlined in sub-subdivision (b)(1)a. of this section and who are not covered by the provisions of subdivision (b)(1) of this section.
  - (7) The spouses and eligible dependent children of enrolled teachers, State employees, retirees, former members of the General Assembly, former employees covered by the provisions of subdivision (b)(8) of this section, Disability Income Plan beneficiaries, enrolled continuation members, and members of the General Assembly. Spouses of surviving dependents are not eligible, nor are dependent children if

- they were not covered at the time of the member's death. Surviving spouses may cover their dependent children provided the children were enrolled at the time of the member's death or enroll within 90 days of the member's death.
- (8) Blind persons licensed by the State to operate vending facilities under contract with the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Services for the Blind and its successors, who are:
  - a. Operating such a vending facility;
  - b. Former operators of such a vending facility whose service as an operator would have made these operators eligible for an early or service retirement allowance under Article 1 of this Chapter had they been members of the Retirement System; and
  - c. Former operators of such a vending facility who attain five or more years of service as operators and who become eligible for and receive a disability benefit under the Social Security Act upon cessation of service as an operator.
  - Spouses, dependent children, surviving spouses, and surviving dependent children of such members are not eligible for coverage.
- (9) Surviving spouses of deceased retirees and surviving spouses of deceased teachers, State employees, Disability Income Plan beneficiaries, and members of the General Assembly provided the death of the former Plan member occurred after September 30, 1986, and the surviving spouse was covered under the Plan at the time of death.
- (10) Any eligible dependent child of the deceased retiree, teacher, State employee, member of the General Assembly, former member of the General Assembly, or Disability Income Plan beneficiary, provided the child was covered at the time of death of the retiree, teacher, State employee, member of the General Assembly, former member of the General Assembly, or Disability Income Plan beneficiary, (or was in posse at the time and is covered at birth under this Part), or was covered under the Plan on September 30, 1986. An eligible surviving dependent child can remain covered until age 26 or indefinitely if certified as incapacitated under G.S. 135-44.41(b) [135-48.41(b)].
- (11) Retired employees, as defined in G.S. 135-48.1(18), with less than 10 years of retirement service credit, provided the teachers and State employees were first hired on or after October 1, 2006, and the members first took office on or after February 1, 2007.
- (12) Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 135-48.44, former employees covered by the provisions of this section and

their spouses and eligible dependent children who were covered by the Plan at the time of the former employees' separation from service pursuant to this section, following expiration of the former employees' coverage provided by this section. Election of coverage under this subdivision shall be made within 90 days after the termination of coverage provided under this section.

- (13) The following persons, their eligible spouses, and eligible dependent children, provided that the person seeking coverage as a subscriber (i) is not eligible for another comprehensive health benefit plan and (ii) has been without coverage under a comprehensive health benefit plan for at least six consecutive months:
  - a. Firefighters.
  - b. Rescue squad workers.
  - c. Persons receiving a pension from the North Carolina Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension Fund.
  - d. Members of the North Carolina National Guard.
  - e. Retirees of the North Carolina National Guard with 20 years of service.

For the purposes of this subdivision, Medicare benefits, Civilian Health and Medical Program of the Uniformed Services (CHAMPUS) benefits, and other Uniformed Services benefits shall be considered comprehensive health benefit plans. The Plan may require certification of persons seeking coverage under this subdivision. Nothing in this section shall be construed to either (i) permit a person to enroll or (ii) require the Plan to enroll a person in the Plan when that enrollment may jeopardize the Plan's preferential tax exempt status as a governmental plan under the Internal Revenue Code.

(e) **Other Contributory Coverage.** — Any employee of an employing unit is eligible for coverage under this section on a contributory basis, subject to the provisions of G.S. 135-48.43 and of this section, if (i) the employee's employing unit determines that the employee is a full-time employee and (ii) the employee does not qualify for coverage under subdivision (1), (1a), (5), (6), (7), (8), (9), or (10) of G.S. 135-48.40(b). For the purposes of this subsection, the full-time status of an employee shall be determined by the employing unit, in its sole discretion, in accordance with Section 4980H of the Internal Revenue Code and the applicable regulations, as amended. The coverage offered and the contribution required for coverage under this section shall be determined by the Treasurer and approved by the Board of Trustees. Such coverage shall do all of the following:

- (1) Be designed to meet the requirements of minimum essential coverage under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, P.L. 111-148, and the applicable regulations, as amended (Affordable Care Act).
- (2) Provide no greater coverage than a bronze-level plan, as defined under the Affordable Care Act.
- (3) Minimize the required employer contribution in an administratively feasible manner.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 499; c. 761, ss. 252-255; c. 867, s. 4; c. 922, s. 5; 1985, c. 400, ss. 5, 6; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 29(a)-(l); 1987, c. 738, ss. 29(n), 36(a), 36(b); c. 809, ss. 3, 4; c. 857, ss. 11(a), 11.1, 11.2, 12; 1989, c. 752, s. 22(e), (f); 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1074, s. 22(a); 1993, c. 321, s. 85(b); 1995, c. 278, s. 1; c. 507, ss. 7.21(a)-(c), 7.28(a)-(c); 1997-443, s. 11A.118(a); 1997-512, ss. 17, 19-27; 1999-237, s. 28.29(f); 2000-141, ss. 6(a), (b); 2000-184, ss. 1(a),(b), 3; 2001-487, s. 86(a); 2002-174, s. 4; 2003-358, s. 4; 2004-124, s. 31.21(b); 2004-199, s. 34(b); 2005-276, s. 29.31(e); 2006-174, ss. 1, 2, 3; 2007-323, s. 28.22A(g1), (o); 2007-345, s. 12; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 3(a), (f); 2008-194, s. 6(b); 2009-16, s. 3(b); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-570, s. 43.2; 2009-571, s. 3(a), (d); 2010-72, s. 3(a); 2010-136, ss. 1, 2; 2011-85, ss. 1.6(b), 2.6(c), 2.10; 2011-96, s. 2(a); 2013-324, ss. 1, 2; 2014-100, s. 35.16(a), (c); 35.21(d); 2017-135, s. 2; 2019-110, s. 4; 2020-48, s. 1.5(b); 2023-134, s. 4.10(r); 2024-1, s. 1.7(j).

#### Local Modification.

Bladen: 2004-124, s. 31.26,amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Cherokee: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Mitchell: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Rutherford: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Washington: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Wilkes: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; and towns of Biltmore Forest: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Black Creek: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Black Mountain: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Blowing Rock: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Forest City: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Ocean Isle Beach: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Sunset Beach: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Tabor City: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(c), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former subsections (a), (a1), (b), and (c) of G.S. 135-45.2 as subsections (a)-(d) of G.S. 135-48.40, respectively. The remainder of G.S. 135-45.2 was recodified as G.S. 135-45.2 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-40.2. It was recodified as G.S. 135-39.14 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(f), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.2 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

In subdivision (d)(10), as amended by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.10, the bracketed reference was added at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2013-324, s. 7, made the amendment to subdivision (b)(1) by Session Laws 2013-324, s. 1, applicable to plan years beginning on or after January 1, 2015.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2017-57, s. 35.21(d), effective January 1, 2021, substituted "Retired employees, as defined in G.S. 135-48.1(18)" for "Retired teachers, State employees, members of the General Assembly" or variants in subdivisions (a)(1), (b)(3), (c)(2), and (d)(11).

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.5(b), effective June 26, 2020, in subdivision (d)(13), deleted "group" preceding "health" throughout, and added the last sentence in the concluding paragraph.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 4.10(r), effective October 3, 2023, in subdivision

(b)(1), substituted "any" for "either" in the introductory language, added "The employee is" at the beginning of subsubdivisions (b)(1)a. and b., and added the last sentence. Session Laws 2024-1, s. 1.7(j), effective retroactively to January 1, 2024, inserted "eligible to be" in the closing language of subdivision (b)(1).

# § 135-48.41. Additional eligibility provisions.

- (a) A foster child is covered as a dependent child (i) if living in a regular parent-child relationship with the expectation that the employee will continue to rear the child into adulthood, (ii) if at the time of enrollment, or at the time a foster child relationship is established, whichever occurs first, the employee applies for coverage for such child and submits evidence of a bona fide foster child relationship, identifying the foster child by name and setting forth all relevant aspects of the relationship, (iii) if the claims processor accepts the foster child as a participant through a separate written document identifying the foster child by name and specifically recognizing the foster child relationship, and (iv) if at the time a claim is incurred, the foster child relationship, as identified by the employee, continues to exist. Children placed in a home by a welfare agency which obtains control of, and provides for maintenance of the child, are not eligible participants.
- (b) Notwithstanding the age requirement under G.S. 135-48.1(9), coverage of a dependent child may be continued beyond the dependent child's 26th birthday if the dependent child is disabled and if the dependent was covered by the Plan on the dependent child's 26th birthday. Verification of the dependent child's disability shall be provided to the Plan no later than 60 days after the dependent child's 26th birthday.
- (c) No person shall be eligible for coverage as a dependent if eligible as an employee or retired employee, except when a spouse is eligible on a fully contributory basis or when the person is a disabled dependent child. In addition, no person shall be eligible for coverage as a dependent of more than one employee or retired employee at the same time.
- (d) Former employees who are receiving disability retirement benefits or disability income benefits pursuant to Article 6 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes or who are approved for those benefits but not in receipt of the benefits due to lump-sum payouts of vacation, bonus, and sick leave, provided the former employee has at least five years of contributory retirement service with an employing unit of a State-supported retirement system, shall be eligible for the benefit provisions of this Plan, as set forth in this Part, on a noncontributory or partially contributory basis. Such coverage shall terminate as of the end of the month in which such former employee is no longer eligible for disability retirement benefits or disability income benefits pursuant to Article 6 of this Chapter.

- (e) Employees on official leave of absence without pay may elect to continue this group coverage at group cost provided that they pay the full employee and employer contribution through the employing unit during the leave period.
- (f) For the support of the benefits made available to any member vested at the time of retirement, their spouses or surviving spouses, and the surviving spouses of employees who are receiving a survivor's alternate benefit under G.S. 135-5(m) of those associations listed in G.S. 135-27(a), licensing and examining boards under G.S. 135-1.1, the North Carolina State Art Society, Inc., and the North Carolina Symphony Society, Inc., each association, organization or board shall pay to the Plan the full cost of providing these benefits under this section as determined by the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees. In addition, each association, organization or board shall pay to the Plan an amount equal to the cost of the benefits provided under this section to presently retired members of each association, organization or board since such benefits became available at no cost to the retired member. This subsection applies only to those individuals employed prior to July 1, 1983, as provided in G.S. 135-27(d).
- (g) An eligible surviving spouse and any eligible surviving dependent child of a deceased retiree, teacher, State employee, member of the General Assembly, former member of the General Assembly, or Disability Income Plan beneficiary shall be eligible for group benefits under this section provided coverage is elected within 90 days after the death of the former plan member. Coverage may be elected at a later time during an annual enrollment period.
- (h) No person shall be eligible for coverage as an employee or retired employee or as a dependent of an employee or retired employee upon a finding by the State Treasurer or by a court of competent jurisdiction that the employee or dependent knowingly and willfully made or caused to be made a false statement or false representation of a material fact in a claim for reimbursement of medical services under the Plan or in any representation or attestation to the Plan.

The State Treasurer may make an exception to the provisions of this subsection when persons subject to this subsection have had a cessation of coverage for a period of five years and have made a full and complete restitution to the Plan for all fraudulent claim amounts. Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to obligate the State Treasurer to make an exception as allowed for under this subsection.

(i) Any employee receiving benefits pursuant to Article 6 of this Chapter when the employee has less than five years of retirement membership service, or an employee on leave without pay due to illness or injury for up to 12 months, is entitled to continued coverage under the Plan for the employee and any eligible dependents by paying one hundred percent (100%) of the cost.

- (j) If a retiree has been hired by an employing unit and is eligible for coverage under subdivision (1), (1a), (5), (6), (7), (8), (9), or (10) of G.S. 135-48.40(b) or under G.S. 135-48.40(e), then the hired retiree shall not, during the time of employment, be eligible for retiree coverage under G.S. 135-48.40(a)(1), G.S. 135-48.40(b)(3), G.S. 135-48.40(c)(2), or G.S. 135-48.40(d)(11).
- (k) If a retiree is a prisoner serving an active sentence in the State prison system and covered under G.S. 148-19, then the incarcerated retiree shall not, during the time of incarceration, be eligible for retiree coverage under G.S. 135-48.40(a)(1), 135-48.40(b)(3), 135-48.40(c)(2), or 135-48.40(d)(11).

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 499; c. 761, ss. 252-255; c. 867, s. 4; c. 922, s. 5; 1985, c. 400, ss. 5, 6; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 29(a)-(l); 1987, c. 738, ss. 29(n), 36(a), 36(b); c. 809, ss. 3, 4; c. 857, ss. 11(a), 11.1, 11.2, 12; 1989, c. 752, s. 22(e), (f); 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1074, s. 22(a); 1993, c. 321, s. 85(b); 1995, c. 278, s. 1; c. 507, ss. 7.21(a)-(c), 7.28(a)-(c); 1997-443, s. 11A.118(a); 1997-512, ss. 17, 19-27; 1999-237, s. 28.29(f); 2000-141, ss. 6(a), (b); 2000-184, ss. 1(a),(b), 3; 2001-487, s. 86(a); 2002-174, s. 4; 2003-358, s. 4; 2004-124, s. 31.21(b); 2004-199, s. 34(b); 2005-276, s. 29.31(e); 2006-174, ss. 1, 2, 3; 2007-323, s. 28.22A(g1), (o); 2007-345, s. 12; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 3(a), (f); 2008-194, s. 6(b); 2009-16, s. 3(b); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-570, s. 43.2; 2009-571, s. 3(a), (d); 2010-72, s. 3(a); 2010-136, ss. 1, 2; 2011-85, ss. 1.7(b), 2.6(c), 2.10; 2011-96, s. 3(b); 2011-294, s. 1; 2012-173, s. 2(a); 2014-100, s. 35.16A(a); 2015-100, s. 4(b); 2015-241, s. 30.25(b); 2017-135, s. 8; 2021-125, s. 2.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(c), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former subsections (d)-(k) of G.S. 135-45.2 as subsections (a) and (c)-(i) of G.S. 135-48.41, respectively. The remainder of G.S. 135-45.2 was recodified as G.S. 135-48.40. Former G.S. 135-45.2 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-40.2. It was recodified as G.S. 135-39.14 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(f), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.2 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2004-124, s. 33.3, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2004-2005 fiscal year, the textual provi-

sions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2004-2005 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2009-16, s. 3(e), provides: "Eligibility Audit. — The Executive Administrator shall provide for an audit of dependent eligibility under the Plan. The audit shall be designed to determine whether all dependents currently covered under the Plan are eligible for coverage under current law. Upon identification of an individual who is enrolled as a dependent but not eligible, the Plan shall disenroll the ineligible dependent effective within 10 days of sending written termination notice to the employee. The notice shall state the date upon which disenrollment will become effective and the basis on which the determination of dependent ineligibility is made. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the Executive Administrator may waive requirements to collect from the member reimbursement for claims paid for the ineligible covered individual."

Session Laws 2010-3, s. 1, effective June 1, 2010, and repealed effective July 1, 2011, provides: "Notwithstanding the requirement in G.S. 135-45.2(d)(1) that a dependent child less than 26 years of age be a full-time student to be eligible for coverage, a dependent child enrolled in the North Carolina State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees as of May 1, 2010, may remain on the Plan through the end of the month following the dependent child's 26th birthday, regardless of the dependent child's status as a fulltime student, provided that the dependent child is not eligible for other employer sponsored health benefit coverage as a primary beneficiary or spousal dependent."

Session Laws 2011-96, s. 3(b), which amended this section, was contingent on Senate Bill 323, 2011 Regular Session

becoming law. Senate Bill 323, 2011 Regular Session was enacted as Session Laws 2011-85.

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2014."

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 38.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2015-241, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as "The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2015.'"

Session Laws 2015-241, s. 33.6, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2017-128, s. 7, provides: "The Executive Administrator and the

Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan (Plan) shall not approve resolutions electing to cover retirees under the Plan for local government entities that were authorized under S.L. 2004-124, S.L. 2006-7, S.L. 2005-276, and S.L. 2006-249 to participate in the Plan but that did not opt to cover retirees before January 1, 2017."

Session Laws 2017-128, s. 9, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-125, s. 2, effective August 30, 2021, rewrote subsection (b); and substituted "basis or when the person is a disabled dependent child" for "basis" at the end of the first sentence of subsection (c).

#### § 135-48.42. Enrollment.

- (a) Except as otherwise required by applicable federal law, new employees must be given the opportunity to enroll or decline enrollment for themselves and their dependents within 30 days from the date of employment or from first becoming eligible on a partially contributory or other contributory basis. Coverage may become effective on the first day of the month following date of entry on payroll or on the first day of the following month. New employees age 19 and older not enrolling themselves and their dependents age 19 and older within 30 days, or not adding dependents when first eligible as provided herein may enroll during annual enrollment, but may be subject to a 12-month waiting period for preexisting health conditions, except for employees who elect to change their coverage in accordance with rules established by the State Treasurer for optional or alternative plans available under the Plan. Children born to covered employees shall be covered at the time of birth so long as the Plan receives notification within 30 days of the date of birth and the employee pays any additional premium required by the coverage type selected retroactive to the first day of the month in which the child was born.
- (b) Except as otherwise required by applicable federal law, newly acquired dependents (spouse/child) age 19 and older enrolled within 30 days of becoming an eligible dependent will not be subject to the 12-month waiting period for preexisting conditions. A dependent can become first eligible due to marriage, adoption, legal guardianship, entering a foster child relationship, and at the beginning of each legislative session (applies only to enrolled legislators). Effective date for newly acquired dependents if application was made within the 30 days can be the first day of the following month. Effective date for an adopted child can be date of adoption, or date of placement in the adoptive parents' home, or the first of the month following the date of adoption or placement. Firefighters, rescue

squad workers, and members of the National Guard, and their eligible dependents, are subject to the same terms and conditions as are new employees and their dependents covered by this subdivision. Enrollments in these circumstances must occur within 30 days of eligibility to enroll.

- (c) Eligible employees younger than age 19 and dependents younger than age 19 may be enrolled during annual enrollment and shall not be subject to any waiting period for a preexisting condition.
- (d) When an eligible or enrolled member applies to enroll the member's eligible dependent child or spouse, the member shall provide the documentation required by the Plan to verify the dependent's eligibility for coverage.
- (e) Eligible employees and retirees may only change their elections, including adding or removing dependents, during the Plan year due to a qualifying event as defined under federal law. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, retirees and surviving spouses may disenroll from the Plan during the Plan year without a qualifying event. Retirees and surviving spouses may also disenroll their dependents from the Plan during the Plan year without a qualifying event.

#### History.

2008-168, s. 3(g); 2009-16, s. 3(c), (g); 2009-281, s. 1; 2011-85, ss. 1.7(c), 2.6(d), 2.10; 2011-96, ss. 2(d)(1), 3(c); 2012-173, s. 2(b); 2013-324, s. 3; 2015-100, ss. 1, 5; 2017-135, s. 3(a).

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(d), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-45.3 as G.S. 135-48.42. Former G.S. 135-45.3 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.15 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(g), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.3 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2011-96, s. 3(c), which amended this section, was contingent on Senate Bill 323, 2011 Regular Session becoming law. Senate Bill 323, 2011 Regular Session was enacted as Session Laws 2011-85.

Session Laws 2013-324, s. 7, made the amendment to subsection (e) by Session Laws 2013-324, s. 3, applicable to plan years beginning on or after January 1, 2014.

Session Laws 2017-135, s. 3(b), made the amendment to subsection (a) of this section by Session Laws 2017-135, s. 3(b), effective October 1, 2017, and applicable to children born to covered employees on or after that date.

# § 135-48.43. Effective dates of coverage.

- (a) **Eligible Employees and Retired Employees.** Employees and retirees who otherwise satisfy the eligibility requirements set forth in G.S. 135-48.40 will be offered coverage with the following effective dates:
  - (1) Employees and retired employees covered under the Predecessor Plan will continue to be covered, subject to the terms
  - (2) New employees may apply for coverage to be effective on the first day of the month following employment, or on a like date the following month if the employee has enrolled, except that the effective date of coverage for employees who

- become eligible in accordance with G.S. 135-48.40(e) will be determined by the employing unit in a manner that is consistent with section 4980H of the Internal Revenue Code and the applicable regulations, as amended.
- (3) Employees not enrolling or adding dependents when first eligible in accordance with G.S. 135-48.42 may enroll later during annual enrollment, except employees who elect to change their coverage in accordance with rules adopted by the State Treasurer for optional alternative plans offered under the Plan.
- (4) Members of the General Assembly, beginning with the 1985 Session, shall become first eligible with the convening of each Session of the General Assembly, regardless of a Member's service during previous Sessions. Members and their dependents enrolled when first eligible after the convening of each Session of the General Assembly will not be subject to any waiting periods for preexisting health conditions. Members of the 1983 Session of the General Assembly, not already enrolled, shall be eligible to enroll themselves and their dependents on or before October 1, 1983, without being subject to any waiting periods for preexisting health conditions.

# (b) Waiting Periods and Preexisting Conditions. —

- (1) New employees and dependents age 19 and older enrolling when first eligible are subject to no waiting period for preexisting conditions under the Plan.
- (2) Employees age 19 and older not enrolling or not adding dependents age 19 and older when first eligible may enroll later during annual enrollment, but enrollees age 19 or older may be subject to a twelve-month waiting period for preexisting conditions except as provided in subdivision (a)(3) of this section. The waiting period under this subdivision is subject to applicable federal law.
- (3) Retiring employees and dependents enrolled when first eligible after an employee's retirement are subject to no waiting period for preexisting conditions under the Plan. Retiring employees not enrolled or not adding dependents age 19 and older when first eligible after an employee's retirement may enroll at a later time during annual enrollment, but may be subject to a 12-month waiting period for preexisting conditions except as provided in subdivision (a)(3) of this section.
- (4) Employees and dependents enrolling or reenrolling within 12 months after a termination of enrollment or employment that were not enrolled at the time of this previous termination, regardless of the employing units involved, shall not be considered as newly-eligible employees or dependent.

dents for the purposes of waiting periods and preexisting conditions. Employees and dependents transferring from optional prepaid alternative plans available under the Plan; employees and dependents immediately returning to service from an employing unit's approved periods of leave without pay for illness, injury, educational improvement, workers' compensation, parental duties, or for military reasons; employees and dependents immediately returning to service from a reduction in an employing unit's work force; retiring employees and dependents reenrolled in accordance with subdivision (3) of this subsection; formerly-enrolled dependents reenrolling as eligible employees; formerly-enrolled employees reenrolling as eligible dependents; and employees and dependents reenrolled without waiting periods and preexisting conditions under specific rules adopted by the State Treasurer in the best interests of the Plan shall not be considered reenrollments for the purpose of this subdivision. Furthermore, employees accepting permanent, full-time appointments who had previously worked in a part-time or temporary position and their qualified dependents shall not be covered by waiting periods and preexisting conditions under this division provided enrollment as a permanent, full-time employee is made when the employee and his dependents are first eligible to enroll.

(5) To administer the 12-month waiting period for preexisting conditions for employees age 19 and older and dependents age 19 and older under this Article, the Plan must give credit against the 12-month period for the time a person was covered under a previous plan if the previous plan's coverage was continuous to a date not more than 63 days before the effective date of coverage. As used in this subdivision, a "previous plan" means any policy, certificate, contract, or any other arrangement provided by any accident and health insurer, any hospital or medical service corporation, any health maintenance organization, any preferred provider organization, any multiple employer welfare arrangement, any self-insured health benefit arrangement, any governmental health benefit or health care plan or program, or any other health benefit arrangement. Waiting periods for preexisting conditions administered under this Article are subject to applicable federal law.

# (c) Dependents of Employees and Retired Employees. —

- (1) Dependents of employees and retired employees who have family coverage under the Predecessor Plan will continue to be covered subject to the terms hereof.
- (2) Employees who have dependents may apply for family coverage at the time they enroll as provided in subdivisions

- (a)(2) and (a)(3) of this section and such dependents will be covered under the Plan beginning the same date as such employees.
- (3) Employees and retired employees may change from one category of coverage to a different category of coverage without a waiting period for preexisting conditions, and, as applicable, dependents will be covered under the Plan the first of the month or the first of the second month following the dependent's eligibility for coverage, provided written application is submitted to the Health Benefits Representative within 30 days of becoming eligible.
- (4) Employees or retired employees who wish to change to employee only coverage shall give written notice to their Health Benefits Representative within 30 days after any change in the status of dependents, (resulting from death, divorce, etc.) that requires a change in contract category. The effective date will be the first of the month following the dependent's ineligibility event. If notification was not made within the 30 days following the dependent's ineligibility event, the dependent will be retroactively removed the first of the month following the dependent's ineligibility event, and the coverage category change will be the first of the month following written notification, except in cases of death, in which case the coverage category change will be made retroactive to the first of the month following the death.
- (5) Employees not adding dependents age 19 and older when first eligible may enroll later during annual enrollment, but dependents may be subject to a 12-month waiting period for preexisting health conditions except as provided in subdivision (a)(3) of this section.
- (6) Employees or retired employees who wish to change to employee only coverage even though their dependents continue to be eligible, shall give written notification to their Health Benefits Representative. Except as otherwise required by applicable federal law, the date of this category change will be the first of the month following written notification or any first of the month thereafter as desired by the employee.
- (7) The effective date for newborns or adopted children will be date of birth, date of adoption, or placement with adoptive parent provided member is currently covered under employee and family or employee and child coverage. If the member wishes to add a newborn or adopted child and is currently enrolled in employee only coverage, the member must submit application for coverage and a coverage type change within 30 days of the child's birth or date of

adoption or placement. Effective date for the coverage category change is the first of the month in which the child is born, adopted, or placed. Adopted children may also be covered the first of the month following placement or adoption.

- (d) **Categories of Coverage Available.** There are four categories of coverage which an employee or retiree may elect.
  - (1) Employee Only. Covers enrolled employees only. Maternity benefits are provided to employee only.
  - (2) Employee and Child. Covers enrolled employee and all eligible dependent children. Maternity benefits are provided to the employee only.
  - (3) Employee and Family. Covers employee and spouse, and all eligible dependent children. Maternity benefits are provided to employee or enrolled spouse.
  - (4) Employee and Spouse. Covers employee and spouse only. Maternity benefits are provided to the employee or the employee's enrolled spouse.
- (e) Firefighters, rescue squad workers, and members of the National Guard are subject to the same terms and conditions of this section as are employees. Eligible dependents of firefighters, rescue squad workers, and members of the National Guard are subject to the same terms and conditions of this section as are dependents of employees.
- (f) If any provision of this section is in conflict with applicable federal law, federal law shall control to the extent of the conflict.

#### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 499; c. 761, ss. 252-255; c. 867, s. 4; c. 922, s. 5; 1985, c. 400, ss. 5, 6; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, ss. 5(b), 20; 1987, c. 857, s. 13; 1991, c. 427, ss. 10-12; 1996, 2nd Ex. Sess., c. 18, s. 28.23(b); 1997-512, ss. 28-31, 40; 1999-237, s. 28.29(g); 2007-323, s. 28.22(h); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 3(a), (h); 2009-16, ss. 3(d), 5(a); 2009-281, s. 1; 2011-85, ss. 1.7(d), 2.6(e), 2.10; 2011-96, ss. 2(d)(2), 3(d); 2012-173, s. 2(c); 2013-324, s. 4; 2014-100, s. 35.16(a), (d).

# Local Modification.

Bladen: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Cherokee: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Mitchell: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007- 405, s. 1; Rutherford: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Washington: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Wilkes: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; wilkes: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; and towns of Biltmore Forest: 2004-124,

s. 31.26, as amended by 2007- 405, s. 1; Black Creek: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Black Mountain: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Blowing Rock: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Forest City: 2004- 124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2005-276, s. 29.32; Ocean Isle Beach: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Sunset Beach: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Tabor City: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1; Tabor City: 2004-124, s. 31.26, as amended by 2007-405, s. 1.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(e), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-45.4 as G.S. 135-48.43. Former G.S. 135-45.4 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.16 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(h), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.4 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

This section was amended by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(h), in the coded bill

drafting format provided by G.S. 120-20.1. In the second sentence of subdivision (b)(4) the word "prepaid" following "transferring from optional" was not struck through. Subdivision (b)(4) has been set out in the form above at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2011-96, s. 3(d), which amended this section, was contingent on Senate Bill 323, 2011 Regular Session becoming law. Senate Bill 323, 2011

Regular Session was enacted as Session Laws 2011-85.

Session Laws 2013-324, s. 7, made the amendment to subdivision (a)(2) by Session Laws 2013-324, s. 4, applicable to plan years beginning on or after January 1, 2015, and made the amendments to the rest of the section by s. 4 applicable to plan years beginning on or after January 1, 2014.

## § 135-48.44. Cessation of coverage.

- (a) Coverage under this Plan of an employee and his or her surviving spouse or eligible dependent children or of a retired employee and his or her surviving spouse or eligible dependent children shall cease on the earliest of the following dates:
  - (1) The last day of the month in which an employee or retired employee dies. Provided such surviving spouse or eligible dependent children were covered under the Plan at the time of death of the former employee or retired employee, or were covered on September 30, 1986, any such surviving spouse or eligible dependent children may then elect to continue coverage under the Plan by submitting written application to the Claims Processor and by paying the cost for such coverage when due at the applicable fees. Such coverage shall cease on the last day of the month in which such surviving spouse or eligible dependent children die, except as provided by this Article.
  - (2) The last day of the month in which an employee's employment with the State is terminated as provided in subsection (d) of this section.
  - (3) The last day of the month in which a divorce becomes final.
  - (4) The last day of the month, or as soon thereafter as administratively feasible, in which the Plan approves cancellation of coverage for an employee or retired employee.
  - (5) The last day of the month in which a covered individual enters active military service.
  - (6) The last day of the month in which a covered individual is found to have knowingly and willfully made or caused to be made a false statement or false representation of a material fact regarding eligibility or enrollment information or in a claim for reimbursement of medical services under the Plan. The State Treasurer may make an exception to the provisions of this subdivision when persons subject to this subdivision have had a cessation of coverage for a period of five years and have made a full and complete restitution to the Plan for all fraudulent claim amounts. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to obligate the State Trea-

- surer to make an exception as allowed for under this subdivision.
- (7) The last day of the month in which an employee who is Medicare-eligible selects Medicare to be the primary payer of medical benefits. Coverage for a Medicare-eligible spouse of an employee shall also cease the last day of the month in which Medicare is selected to be the primary payer of medical benefits for the Medicare-eligible spouse. Such members are eligible to apply for conversion coverage.
- (8) The last day of the month in which a covered individual is found to be ineligible for coverage.
- (9) The last day of the month for which a premium is paid in full.
- (b) Coverage under this Plan as a dependent child ceases when the child ceases to be a dependent child as defined by G.S. 135-48.1 except, coverage may continue under this Plan for a period of not more than 36 months after loss of dependent status on a fully contributory basis provided the dependent child was covered under the Plan at the time of loss of dependent status.
- (c) Coverage under the Plan as a surviving dependent child whether covered as a dependent of a surviving spouse, or as an individual member (no living parent), ceases when the child ceases to be a dependent child as defined by G.S. 135-48.1, except coverage may continue under the Plan on a fully contributory basis for a period of not more than 36 months after loss of dependent status.
- (d) Termination of employment shall mean termination for any reason, including layoff and leave of absence, except as provided in subdivisions (a)(1) and (2) of this section, but shall not, for purposes of this Plan, include retirement upon which the employee is granted an immediate service or disability pension under and pursuant to a State-supported Retirement System.
  - (1) In the event of termination for any reason other than death, coverage under the Plan for an employee and his or her eligible spouse or dependent children, provided the eligible spouse or dependent children were covered under the Plan at termination of employment may be continued for a period of not more than 18 months following termination of employment on a fully contributory basis. Employees who were covered under the Plan at termination of employment may be continued for a period of not more than 18 months or 29 months if determined to be disabled under the Social Security Act, Title II, OASDI or Title XVI, SSI.
  - (2) In the event of approved leave of absence without pay, other than for active duty in the Armed Forces of the United States, coverage under this Plan for an employee and his or her dependents may be continued during the period of such leave of absence by the employee's paying one hundred percent (100%) of the cost.

- (3) If employment is terminated in the second half of a calendar month and the covered individual has made the required contribution for any coverage in the following month, that coverage will be continued to the end of the calendar month following the month in which employment was terminated.
- (4) Employees paid for less than 12 months in a year, who are terminated at the end of the work year and who have made contributions for the non-work months, will continue to be covered to the end of the period for which they have made contributions, with the understanding that if they are not employed by another State-covered employer under this Plan at the beginning of the next work year, the employee will refund to the ex-employer the amount of the employer's cost paid for them during the non-paycheck months.
- (5) Any employee receiving benefits pursuant to Article 6 of this Chapter when the employee has less than five years of retirement membership service, or an employee on leave of absence without pay due to illness or injury for up to 12 months, is entitled to continued coverage under the Plan for the employee and any eligible dependents by the employee's paying one hundred percent (100%) of the cost.
- (e) A legally divorced spouse and any eligible dependent children of a covered employee or retired employee may continue coverage under this Plan for a period of not more than 36 months following the first of the month after a divorce becomes final on a fully contributory basis, provided the former spouse and any eligible dependent children were covered under the Plan at the time a divorce became final.
- (f) A legally separated spouse of a covered employee or retired employee may continue coverage under this Plan for a period not to exceed 36 months from the separation date on a fully contributory basis, provided the separated spouse was covered under the Plan at the time of separation and provided the covered employee's or retired employee's actions result in the loss of coverage for the separated spouse. Eligible dependent children may also continue coverage if covered under the Plan at time of separation, provided the employee's or retired employee's actions result in the loss of coverage for the dependent children.
- (g) Whenever this section gives a right to continuation coverage, such coverage must be elected within the time allowed by applicable federal law.
- (h) Continuation coverage under this Plan shall not be continued past the occurrence of any one of the following events:
  - (1) The termination of the Plan.
  - (2) Failure of a Plan member to pay monthly in advance any required premiums.
  - (3) A person becomes a covered employee or a dependent of a covered employee under any group health plan and that

group health plan has no restrictions or limitations on benefits.

- (4) A person becomes eligible for Medicare benefits on or after the effective date of the continuation coverage.
- (5) The person was determined to be no longer disabled, provided the 18-month coverage was extended to 29 months due to having been determined to be disabled under the Social Security Act, Title II, OASDI or Title XVI, SSI.
- (6) The person reaches the maximum applicable continuation period of 18, 29, or 36 months.
- (i) Notice requirements concerning continuation coverage shall be developed by the Plan.
- (j) The spouse and any eligible dependent children of a covered employee may continue coverage under the Plan on a fully contributory basis for a period not to exceed 36 months from the date the employee becomes eligible for Medicare benefits which results in a loss of coverage under the Plan, provided that the spouse and eligible dependent children were covered under the Plan at the time the employee became eligible for Medicare benefits which results in a loss of coverage under the Plan.

#### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 922, ss. 17, 19-21; 1985, c. 732, ss. 13, 34; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, ss. 19, 29(m)-(x); 1987, c. 738, s. 29(o); 1989, c. 752, s. 22(p); 1991, c. 427, s. 42; 1995, c. 278, s. 2; 1997-512, ss. 32-35; 2000-184, s. 4; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 3(a), (q); 2008-187, s. 49.5; 2009-16, s. 3(f); 2011-85, ss. 2.6(h), 2.10; 2011-183, s. 103; 2012-194, s. 31; 2015-100, s. 2; 2017-135, s. 1.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(h), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-45.12 as G.S. 135-48.44. Former G.S. 135-45.12 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-40.11. It was recodi-

fied as G.S. 135-39.24 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(q), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.12 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2008-187, s. 49.5, was contingent on House Bill 2443, 2007 Regular Session becoming law, which it did. House Bill 2443 was enacted as Session Laws 2008-168.

Session Laws 2009-16, s. 3(f), stated in its prefatory language that "G.S. 135-45.12 is amended by adding the following new subdivision to read: '(8) The last day of the month in which a covered individual is found to be ineligible for coverage.'" The subdivision was added to subsection (a) at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

#### § 135-48.45. Conversion.

(a) Upon a cessation of group coverage under the Plan and/or eligibility for group coverage under the Plan, an employee or dependent shall be entitled to a conversion to nongroup coverage without the necessity of a physical examination. Such conversion coverage shall include hospitalization, surgical, and medical benefits as contained in the major medical and alternative plan conversion provisions of Article 53 of Chapter 58 of the General Statutes. The State Treasurer in his or her sole discretion shall approve the conversion coverage, which shall be administered by the Claims

Processor through an insurance contract arranged by the Claims Processor, or administered as otherwise directed by the State Treasurer. An eligible employee or dependent must apply for conversion coverage within 30 days after termination of group eligibility.

(b) The State Treasurer shall provide for the continuation of conversion privilege exercised under the predecessor plan, on a fully contributory basis. The State Treasurer shall consult with the Board of Trustees before taking action under this subsection.

### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 922, s. 21.6; 1985, c. 732, ss. 30, 56; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 20; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 3(a), (r); 2011-85, ss. 2.6(i), 2.10.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(i), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former

G.S. 135-45.13 as G.S. 135-48.45. Former G.S. 135-45.13 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-40.12. It was recodified as G.S. 135-39.25 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(r), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.13 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes

#### § 135-48.46. Settlement agreements by employing units.

- (a) No employing unit may enter into any settlement agreement with an employee or former employee regarding health benefits covered under the Plan unless the employing unit has received written authorization from the Plan's Executive Administrator.
- (b) No settlement agreement between an employing unit and an employee or former employee may reinstate health benefit coverage under the Plan more than one year prior to the date of the settlement agreement.
- (c) Any settlement agreement provision in violation of this section shall be void ab initio.

### History.

2018-52, s. 8(a).

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the 'Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 8(b), made this section effective June 25, 2018, and applicable to any settlement agreements entered into on or after that, including any settlement agreements which may be under negotiation on or before that date.

# § 135-48.47. Participation in State Health Plan by local government employees and dependents.

(a) **Eligibility.** — The employees and dependents of employees of local government units are eligible to participate in the State Health Plan, as provided in this section. This section does not apply to employees of a charter school operated by a municipality.

Employees and dependents participating under this section are not guaranteed participation in the Plan, and participation is contingent on their respective local government units (i) electing to participate in the Plan and (ii) complying with the provisions of this section and this Article, as well as any policies adopted by the Plan.

- (b) **Participation Requirements.** A local government unit may elect to participate in the State Health Plan. Participation shall be governed by the following:
  - (1) In order to participate, a local government unit must do the following:
    - a. Pass a valid resolution expressing the local government's desire to participate in the Plan.
    - b. Enter into a memorandum of understanding with the Plan that acknowledges the conditions of this section and this Article.
    - c. Provide at least 90 days' notice to the Plan prior to entry and complete the requirements of this subdivision at least 60 days prior to entry.
  - (2) In order to participate, a local government unit and its employees must meet the federal requirements to participate in a governmental plan. The Plan may refuse participation to persons who would jeopardize the Plan's qualification as a governmental plan under federal law.
  - (2a) The Plan shall admit any local government unit that meets the administrative and legal requirements of this section, regardless of the claims experience of the local government unit group or the financial impact on the Plan.
  - (3) A local government unit shall determine the eligibility of its employees and employees' dependents.
  - (3a) The premiums employees pay to the local government unit for their own coverage shall conform to the premiums in the structure set by the Plan. The premiums employees pay to the local government unit for coverage of their dependents may be determined by the local government unit but may not exceed the premiums set by the Plan.
  - (4) Premiums for coverage and Plan options shall be the same as those offered to State employees and dependents on a fully contributory basis.
  - (5) The local government unit shall pay all premiums for all covered individuals directly to the Plan or the Plan's designee.

- (c) **Enrollment Limitation.** Local governments may elect to participate until the number of employees and dependents of employees of local governments enrolled in the Plan reaches 16,000, after which time no additional local governments may join the Plan. Any local government electing to participate must have less than 1,000 employees and dependents enrolled in health coverage at the time the local government provides notice to the Plan of its desire to participate.
- (d) Local governments participating in the Plan as of April 1, 2016, may elect to withdraw from participating in the Plan effective January 1, 2017. Notice of withdrawal must be given by the local government to the Plan no later than September 15, 2016.
- (e) Except as permitted under subsection (d) of this section, a local government unit's election to participate in the Plan is irrevocable.

2014-75, s. 3; 2014-105, s. 1; 2015-112, s. 2; 2016-104, ss. 4, 5(a), 6; 2018-145, s. 20(d); 2020-48, s. 1.17.

#### Local Government Units Previously Participating in State Health Plan.

Session Laws 2015-112, s. 3, provides: "Notwithstanding any prior session law, any action taken by a Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees or of the predecessor plan to the current State Health Plan, or any other law, any local government unit that participates in the State Health Plan as of the effective date of this act [June 24, 2015] may elect to be subject to the new requirements in G.S. 135-48.47, as enacted by this act. Local government units electing to participate in the Plan under G.S. 135-48.47 shall cease monthly contributions to the Retiree Health Benefit Fund in the month in which coverage begins under G.S. 135-48.47. Local government units shall not be entitled to a refund of any prior contributions to the Retiree Health Benefit Fund. Nothing in this section, nor an election to participate in the State Health Plan under G.S. 135-48.47, shall impact any existing debt to the Retiree Health Benefit Fund owed by any local government unit."

Session Laws 2018-3, authorized municipalities in the Towns of Cornelius, Huntersville, Matthews, and Mint Hill to establish and operate charter schools.

#### Editor's Note.

Section 31.26(j) of S.L. 2004-124, as amended by Section 29.32 of S.L. 2005-

276, and by S.L. 2007-405, authorized participation in the State Health Plan by Bladen, Cherokee, Mitchell, Rutherford, Washington, and Wilkes Counties, and the Towns of Biltmore Forest, Black Creek, Black Mountain, Blowing Rock, Forest City, Ocean Isle Beach, Sunset Beach, and Tabor City. Section 5 of S.L. 2006-249 authorized the Executive Administrator and Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan to allow up to four additional local government employers to participate in the State Health Plan. Montgomery County and the Towns of Elizabethtown and Matthews were added by Section 3 of S.L. 2014-75 and by S.L. 2014-105 in enacting and amending this section.

Session Laws 2016-104, s. 9, made the amendment to subsection (b) of this section by Session Laws 2016-104, s. 4, applicable to premiums paid on or after January 1, 2017. Session Laws 2016-104, s. 9, made the amendments to subsection (c) and the addition of subsection (d) of this section by Session Laws 2016-104, ss. 5(a) and 6, applicable to contracts entered into on or after July 22, 2016.

Session Laws 2017-128, s. 7, provides: "The Executive Administrator and the Board of Trustees of the State Health Plan (Plan) shall not approve resolutions electing to cover retirees under the Plan for local government entities that were authorized under S.L. 2004-124, S.L. 2006-7, S.L. 2005-276, and S.L. 2006-249 to participate in the Plan but that did not opt to cover retirees before January 1, 2017."

Session Laws 2017-128, s. 9, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.17, effective June 26, 2020, added subsection (e).

#### § 135-48.48. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

### § 135-48.49. IRC Sections 6055 and 6056 regulatory reporting.

The Plan shall be responsible for reporting coverage for retirees and coverage for direct bill members, except for individuals participating in Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) coverage, as required by Section 6055 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Plan shall provide employing units with access to Plan data necessary for employing units to meet filing requirements under Sections 6055 and 6056 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Plan may facilitate the availability of a reporting solution; however, the employing unit is responsible for paying all costs associated with the use of any reporting solution made available by the Plan.

History.

2016-104, s. 7.

section effective July 22, 2016, and applicable to contracts entered into on or after that date.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2016-104, s. 9, made this

# PART 5.

# COVERAGE MANDATES AND EXCLUSIONS; OTHER MANDATES.

### § 135-48.50. Coverage mandates.

The Plan shall provide coverage subject to the following coverage mandates:

- (1) **Abortion coverage.** The Plan shall not provide coverage for abortions for which State funds could not be used under G.S. 143C-6-5.5. The Plan shall, however, provide coverage for subsequent complications or related charges arising from an abortion not covered under this subdivision.
- (2) **Immunizations.** The Plan shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of allowable medical charges for immunizations for the prevention of contagious diseases as generally accepted medical practices would dictate when directed by a credentialed provider as determined by the claims processor.
- (3) **Insulin.** Prescription benefits shall be provided for insulin even though a prescription is not required.

- (4) **Mental health parity.** Benefits for the treatment of mental illness and chemical dependency are covered by the Plan and shall be subject to the same deductibles, durational limits, and coinsurance factors as are benefits for physical illness generally. Nothing in this subdivision, however, shall prohibit the Plan from requiring the most cost-effective treatment setting to be utilized by a person undergoing necessary care and treatment for chemical dependency.
- (5) [Reserved.]
- (6) **Permissive coverage extension.** If a covered service becomes excluded from coverage under the Plan, the Executive Administrator and Claims Processor may, in the event of exceptional situations creating undue hardships or adverse medical conditions, allow persons enrolled in the Plan to remain covered by the Plan's previous coverage for up to three months after the effective date of the change in coverage, provided the persons so enrolled had been undergoing a continuous plan of specific treatment initiated within three months prior to the effective date of the change in coverage.
- (7) **Reconstructive surgery.** Charges for cosmetic surgery or treatment required for correction of damage caused by accidental injury sustained by the covered individual while coverage under this plan is in force on his or her account or to correct congenital deformities or anomalies shall not be excluded if they otherwise qualify as covered medical expenses. Reconstructive breast surgery following mastectomy, as those terms are defined in G.S. 58-51-62, shall be covered.

2011-85, s. 2.10; 2011-145, s. 29.23(c); 2012-194, s. 32.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.10 enacted G.S. 135-48.50 in the coded bill drafting format provided by G.S. 120-20.1, with two subdivisions reserved. In both locations, the word "reserved" was underlined. Later during the 2011 Regular Session, Session Laws 2011-145, s. 29.23(c), inserted the current language in subdivision (1), but the word "reserved" was not lined out, resulting in superfluous language. Session Laws 2012-194, s. 32, removed the superfluous language "Reserved."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 29.23(b), provides: "Effective until January 1, 2012, the provisions of G.S. 135-45.8(21) and (22) do not apply to complications or

related charges from an abortion not covered under G.S. 143C-6-5.5, as enacted by subsection (a) of this section."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2011.'"

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 32.2, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2011-2013 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2011-2013 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2011-145, s. 32.5, is a severability clause.

Subdivision (5) has been set out as [Reserved] at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes. The word "Reserved" was in subdivisions (1) and (5) of this section as

enacted, but were removed by the 2012 amendment to correct that error.

Fail: The Case for Federal Regulation of Insulin Prices," see 42 Campbell L. Rev. 311 (2020).

#### Legal Periodicals.

For comment, "When Market Forces

# § 135-48.51. (Effective until January 1, 2022) Coverage and operational mandates related to Chapter 58 of the General Statutes.

The following provisions of Chapter 58 of the General Statutes apply to the State Health Plan:

- (1) G.S. 58-3-191, Managed care reporting and disclosure requirements.
- (2) G.S. 58-3-221, Access to nonformulary and restricted access prescription drugs.
- (3) G.S. 58-3-223, Managed care access to specialist care.
- (4) G.S. 58-3-225, Prompt claim payments under health benefit plans.
- (5) G.S. 58-3-235, Selection of specialist as primary care provider.
- (6) G.S. 58-3-240, Direct access to pediatrician for minors.
- (7) G.S. 58-3-245, Provider directories.
- (8) G.S. 58-3-250, Payment obligations for covered services.
- (9) G.S. 58-3-265, Prohibition on managed care provider incentives.
- (10) G.S. 58-3-280, Coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of lymphedema.
- (11) G.S. 58-3-285, Coverage for hearing aids.
- (12) G.S. 58-50-30, Right to choose services of certain providers.
- (13) G.S. 58-67-88, Continuity of care.

#### History.

2011-85, s. 2.10; 2012-129, s. 2; 2013-296, s. 3; 2013-324, s. 5.

# § 135-48.51. Coverage and operational mandates related to Chapter 58 of the General Statutes.

The following provisions of Chapter 58 of the General Statutes apply to the State Health Plan:

- (1) G.S. 58-3-191, Managed care reporting and disclosure requirements.
- (2) G.S. 58-3-221, Access to nonformulary and restricted access prescription drugs.
- (3) G.S. 58-3-223, Managed care access to specialist care.
- (4) G.S. 58-3-225, Prompt claim payments under health benefit plans.
- (5) G.S. 58-3-235, Selection of specialist as primary care provider
- (6) G.S. 58-3-240, Direct access to pediatrician for minors.

- (7) G.S. 58-3-245, Provider directories.
- (7a) G.S. 58-3-247, Insurance identification card.
- (8) G.S. 58-3-250, Payment obligations for covered services.
- (9) G.S. 58-3-265, Prohibition on managed care provider incentives.
- (10) G.S. 58-3-280, Coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of lymphedema.
- (11) G.S. 58-3-285, Coverage for hearing aids.
- (12) G.S. 58-50-30, Right to choose services of certain providers.
- (13) G.S. 58-67-88, Continuity of care.

#### History.

2011-85, s. 2.10; 2012-129, s. 2; 2013-296, s. 3; 2013-324, s. 5; 2021-30, s. 1(b).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2021-30, s. 2, made subdivision (7a), as added by Session Laws 2021-30, s. 1(b), effective January 1,

2022, and applicable to contracts entered into, amended, or renewed on or after that date.

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-30, s. 1(b), added subdivision (7a). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

# § 135-48.52. General limitations and exclusions.

The Plan shall not provide coverage for or pay any benefits for any of the following:

- (1) Charges to the extent paid, or which the individual is entitled to have paid, or to obtain without cost, in accordance with any government laws or regulations except Medicare. If a charge is made to any such person which he or she is legally required to pay, any benefits under this Plan will be computed in accordance with its provisions, taking into account only such charge. "Any government" includes the federal, State, provincial, or local government, or any political subdivision thereof, of the United States, Canada, or any other country.
- (2) Charges for services rendered in connection with any occupational injury or disease arising out of and in the course of employment with any employer, if (i) the employer furnishes, pays for or provides reimbursement for such charges, or (ii) the employer makes a settlement payment for such charges, or (iii) the person incurring such charges waives or fails to assert his or her rights respecting such charges.
- (3) Charges for any services rendered as a result of injury or sickness due to an act of war, declared or undeclared, which act shall have occurred after the effective date of a person's coverage under the Plan.
- (4) Charges for any services with respect to which there is no legal obligation to pay. For the purposes of this item, any charge which exceeds the charge that would have been made if a person were not covered under this Plan shall, to

the extent of such excess, be treated as a charge for which there is no legal obligation to pay; and any charge made by any person for anything which is normally or customarily furnished by such person without payment from the recipient or user thereof shall also be treated as a charge for which there is no legal obligation to pay.

- (5) Charges during a continuous hospital confinement which commenced prior to the effective date of the person's coverage under this Plan.
- (6) Charges for services unless a claim is filed within 18 months from the date of service.
- (7) Charges for sexual dysfunction or hair growth drugs or for nonmedically necessary drugs used for cosmetic purposes.

# History.

2011-85, s. 2.10.

#### § 135-48.53. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

# § 135-48.54. Optional participation for charter schools operated by private nonprofit corporations or municipalities.

- (a) Repealed by Session Laws 2018-84, s. 11(a), effective June 25, 2018.
- (b) The board of directors of a charter school operated by a private nonprofit corporation or a charter school operated by a municipality may elect to become a participating employer in the Plan. The following shall apply to that election:
  - (1) If the election is made no later than two years from the date that both parties have signed the written charter under G.S. 115C-218.15, then the charter school shall become a participating employing unit in the Plan. The board of directors shall provide written notification of this election and the resulting status of the charter school as a participating unit in the Plan to the Plan, the Charter Schools Review Board, and the State Board of Education. The written notification shall include the date that the charter school employees shall be enrolled in the Plan. For any charter school employee hired after the initial enrollment date, this election is effective as of the date of that employee's entry into eligible service.
  - (2) If the election is made at any time after two years from the date that both parties have signed the written charter under G.S. 115C-218.15, then the board of directors of that charter school shall file an application with the Board of Trustees for participation in the Plan on a form approved by

the Board of Trustees. The application shall be subject to approval by the Board of Trustees and notification of approval or denial of the application shall be provided by the Board of Trustees to the board of directors within 180 days of receipt of the complete application. Upon approval of the application by the Board of Trustees, the charter school shall become a participating employing unit in the Plan. The board of directors shall provide written notification of the election, the submission of the application required under this subdivision, and the approval of that application by the Board of Trustees to the Charter Schools Review Board and the State Board of Education. This written notification shall include the date that the charter school employees shall be enrolled in the Plan. For any charter school employee hired after the initial enrollment date, this election is effective as of the date of that employee's entry into eligible service.

- (b1) A charter school making an election to become a participating employing unit in the Plan under this section shall provide notice of the intent to make that election six months prior to making the election. The Board of Trustees shall not prohibit a charter school from becoming a participating employing unit in the Plan solely because that charter school did not provide this notice.
- (c) A board of director's election to become a participating employing unit in the Plan under this section is irrevocable and shall require all eligible employees of the charter school to participate.
- (d) If a charter school's board of directors does not elect to become a participating employer in the Plan under this section, then that school's employees and the dependents of those employees are not eligible for any benefits under the Plan on account of employment with a charter school.
- (e) The board of directors of each charter school shall notify each of its employees as to whether the board elected to become a participating employer in the Plan under this section. This notification shall be in writing and shall be provided within 30 days of the board's election or at the time an initial offer for employment is made, whichever occurs last. If the board did not elect to become a participating employer in the Plan, the notice shall include a statement that the employee shall have no legal recourse against the board or the State for any possible benefit under the Plan. The employee shall provide written acknowledgment of the employee's receipt of the notification under this subsection.

#### History.

 $\begin{array}{c} 1998\text{-}212, \text{ s. } 9.14A(e); \ 2008\text{-}168, \text{ ss.} \\ 1(a), \ 3(a), \ (i); \ 2011\text{-}85, \text{ ss. } 2.6(f), \ 2.10; \\ 2014\text{-}101, \text{ s. } 7; \ 2018\text{-}84, \text{ s. } 11(a); \ 2018\text{-}145, \text{ s. } 20(e); \ 2023\text{-}110, \text{ s. } 1(t); \ 2024\text{-}42, \text{ s.} \\ 2(a). \end{array}$ 

#### Local Modification.

Alpha Academy: 2024-42, s. 1(b); Clover Garden Charter School: 2003-354, s. 1; Corvian Community School: 2013-279, s. 1; Durham Charter School: 2024-42, s. 1(c); NC Leadership Academy: 2024-42,

s. 1(a); United Community School: 2024-42, s. 1(d).

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.6(f), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-45.5 as G.S. 135-48.54. Former G.S. 135-45.5 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-40.3A. It was recodified as G.S. 135-39.17 under Part 3A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 3(i), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-45.5 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

#### Certain Municipalities Authorized to Establish and Operate Charter Schools.

Session Laws 2018-3, authorized municipalities in the Towns of Cornelius, Huntersville, Matthews, and Mint Hill to establish and operate charter schools.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2003-69, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitations contained in G.S. 135-5.3(b) and G.S. 135-40.3A(b), the board of directors of any charter school that received State Board of Education approval under G.S. 115C-238.29D on or after January 1, 2002, and the board of directors of River Mill Academy in Alamance County may elect to become a participating employer in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and may also elect to become a participating employing unit in the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan in accordance with Article 3 of Chapter 135. The elections authorized by this section shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [effective date was May 20, 2003] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-40.3A."

Session Laws 2004-164, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitations contained in G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-40.3A, the boards of directors of (i) New Century High School in Saxapahaw; (ii) Lake Norman Charter School in Huntersville; (iii) Exploris Middle School in Raleigh, a charter school division of Exploris; (iv) Magellan Charter School in Raleigh; (v) American Renaissance Charter School in Statesville; and (vi) Healthy Start Academy in Durham may elect to become participating employers in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and may also elect to become participating employing units in the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan in accordance with Article 3 of Chapter 135. The elections authorized by this section shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [effective date was August 2, 2004] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-40.3A."

Session Laws 2005-317, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitations contained in G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-40.3A, the boards of directors of Success Institute, a charter school in Statesville, and Piedmont Community Charter School in Gastonia may elect to become participating employers in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and may also elect to become participating employing units in the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan in accordance with Article 3 of Chapter 135. The elections authorized by this section shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [effective date was August 25, 2005] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-

Session Laws 2010-137, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitation contained in G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-45.5, the Board of Directors of Brevard Academy, a charter school located in Brevard, may elect to become a participating employer in the Teachers and State Employees Retirement System in accordance with Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes and may also elect to become a participating employing unit in the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees in accordance with Article 3A of Chapter 135. The elections authorized by this act shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [July 21, 2010] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-5.3 and G.S. 135-45.5."

Session Laws 2012-192, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitation contained in G.S. 135-48.54(a), the Boards of Directors of (i) Sterling Montessori Academy and Charter School, located in Morrisville, North Carolina, and (ii) the Casa Esperanza Montessori Charter School, located in Raleigh,

North Carolina, may elect to become participating employing units in the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees in accordance with Article 3B of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes. The election authorized by this section shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [effective date was July 17, 2012] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-48.54."

G.S. 115C-238.29D, enacted by Session Laws 1998-212, s. 2, and referenced in subsections (a) and (b) of this section, has been renumbered as G.S. 115C-218.5 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, pursuant to Session Laws 2014-101, s. 7.

Session Laws 2014-101, s. 8, provides, in part: "Except as otherwise provided, this act is effective when it becomes law [August 6, 2014] and applies beginning with the 2014-2015 school year."

Session Laws 2015-112, s. 4, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitation contained in G.S. 135-48.54, the Board of Directors of Pioneer Springs Community School, a charter school located in Charlotte, may elect to become a participating employing unit in the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees in accordance with Article 3B of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes. The election authorized by this act shall be made no later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [effective date was June 24, 2015] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-48.54."

Session Laws 2016-106, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitation contained in G.S. 135-48.54, the Board of Directors of Longleaf School of the Arts, a charter school located in Raleigh, may elect to become a participating employing unit in the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees in accordance with Article 3B of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes. The election authorized by this act shall be made no

later than 30 days after the effective date of this act [effective date was July 22, 2016] and shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-48.54."

Session Laws 2018-84, s. 11(b), provides: "Notwithstanding the time limitation contained in G.S. 135-48.54, as amended by Section 11(a) of this act, any charter school that has been chartered in accordance with Article 14A of Chapter 115C of the General Statutes that has not voluntarily elected to become a participating employing unit in the State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees (Plan) as of the effective date of this act [June 25, 2018] may elect to become a participating employing unit in the Plan within two years of the effective date of this act [June 25, 2018]. The election authorized by this section shall be made in accordance with all other requirements of G.S. 135-48.54. A charter school making an election to become a participating employing unit in the Plan under this section shall provide notice of the intent to make that election six months prior to making the election; provided that the Plan shall not prohibit a charter school from becoming a participating employing unit solely because that charter school did not provide this notice."

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-110, s. 1(t), effective August 16, 2023, inserted "the Charter Schools Review Board" in the second sentence of subsection (b).

Session Laws 2024-42, s. 2(a), effective August 7, 2024, rewrote subsection (b); in subsection (b1), substituted "election. The Board of Trustees" for "election; provided that the Plan" and inserted "in the Plan"; substituted "A board of director's election to become a participating employing unit" for "A board's election to become a participating employer in subsection (c); and inserted "then" in subsection (d).

# § 135-48.55. (Repealed) Interest charged to charter schools and local government units on late premiums.

#### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1985, c. 732, s. 52; 1991, c. 427, s. 5; 1997-468, s. 4; 1998-1, s. 4(e); 1999-237, s. 28.29(h); 2003-69, s. 2; 2004-124, s. 31.21(c); 2005-276, s. 29.31(e); 2007-323, s. 28.22A(m), (m1), (o); 2007-345, ss. 11, 12; 2008-107, s. 10.13(a); 2008-168, ss.

1(a), 2(a), (m); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-571, s. 3(c); 2011-85, s. 2.5(f); 2014-75, s. 4; repealed by 2022-53, s. 7, effective July 7, 2022.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.5(f), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former

G.S. 135-44.6(e) as G.S. 135-48.55. G.S. 135-44.6(d) was recodified as G.S. 135-48.58, and the remainder of G.S. 135-44.6 was repealed by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012. Former G.S. 135-44.6 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.6A. It was recodified as G.S. 135-38.9 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(m), effective July 1,

2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-44.6 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes

Session Laws 2022-53, s. 10, made the repeal of this section by Session Laws 2022-53, s. 7, effective July 7, 2022, and applicable to bonds issued under bond orders introduced on or after October 1, 2022, and to contracts entered into on or after October 1, 2022.

# § 135-48.56. Education of covered active and retired employees.

It is the intent of the General Assembly that active employees and retired employees covered under the Plan and its successor Plan shall have several opportunities in each fiscal year to attend presentations conducted by Plan management staff providing detailed information about benefits, limitations, premiums, co-payments, and other pertinent Plan matters. To this end, the Plan's management staff shall conduct multiple presentations each year to Plan members and association groups representing active and retired employees across all geographic regions of the State. Regional meetings shall be held in locations that afford reasonably convenient access to Plan members. The presentations shall be designed not only to present information about the Plan but also to hear and respond to Plan members' questions and concerns.

# History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1983, c. 922, s. 2; 1985, c. 732, ss. 7, 9, 23, 24, 50, 51; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, ss. 3, 20; 1987, c. 857, ss. 6, 7; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1091, s. 5; 1989, c. 752, s. 22(a); 1991, c. 427, s. 3; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 679, s. 10.3; 1997-468, s. 2; 1997-519, s. 3.15; 1998-1, s. 4(c); 2000-141, s. 3; 2001-253, ss. 1(a), 1(q); 2001-487, s. 85.5; 2006-249, s. 4(b); 2007-323, s. 28.22(i); 2008-107, s. 10.13(a); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (k), (j); 2009-16, s. 5(b); 2011-85, s. 2.5(d); 2011-326, s. 27.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.5(d), as

amended by Session Laws 2011-326, s. 27, effective January 1, 2012, recodified former G.S. 135-44.4(26) as G.S. 135-48.56. The remainder of G.S. 135-44.4 was repealed by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012. Former G.S. 135-44.4 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.5. It was recodified as G.S. 135-39.5. It was recodified as G.S. 135-39.5 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(j), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-44.4 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

# Legal Periodicals.

For 1997 legislative survey, see 20 Campbell L. Rev. 469 (1998).

# § 135-48.57. Payments for county or city ambulance service.

Allowable payments for services provided by a county or city ambulance service shall be paid directly or shall be co-payable to the county or city ambulance service provider. As used in this subsection, "county or city ambulance service" means ambulance services provided by a county or county-franchised ambulance service supplemented by county funds, or a municipally owned and operated ambulance service or by an ambulance service supplemented by municipal funds.

#### History.

1981, c. 355; 1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, ss. 3, 4; 1983, c. 922, s. 21.10; 1985, c. 732, s. 38; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1020, s. 20; 1998-1, s. 4(h); 2007-323, s. 28.22A(c); 2008-107, s. 10.13(m); 2008-168, s. 1(a), (c), (d); 2009-16, s. 5(f); 2009-83, s. 1; 2010-194, s. 18(a); 2011-85, s. 2.4(a).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.4(a), effec-

tive January 1, 2012, recodified subsection (c) of former G.S. 135-43 as G.S. 135-48.57. Subsections (a) and (b) of former G.S. 135-43 are recodified as G.S. 135-48.10. Former G.S. 135-43 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-37. It was recodified as G.S. 135-37.1 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 1(d), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-43 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

# § 135-48.58. Premiums for firefighters, rescue squad workers, and members of National Guard.

In setting premiums for firefighters, rescue squad workers, and members of the National Guard, and their eligible dependents, the Plan shall establish rates separate from those affecting other members of the Plan. These separate premium rates shall include rate factors for incurred but unreported claim costs, for the effects of adverse selection from voluntary participation in the Plan, and for any other actuarially determined measures needed to protect the financial integrity of the Plan for the benefit of its served employees, retired employees, and their eligible dependents.

#### History.

1981 (Reg. Sess., 1982), c. 1398, s. 6; 1985, c. 732, s. 52; 1991, c. 427, s. 5; 1997-468, s. 4; 1998-1, s. 4(e); 1999-237, s. 28.29(h); 2003-69, s. 2; 2004-124, s. 31.21(c); 2005-276, s. 29.31(e); 2007-323, s. 28.22A(m), (m1), (o); 2007-345, ss. 11, 12; 2008-107, s. 10.13(a); 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 2(a), (m); 2009-281, s. 1; 2009-571, s. 3(c); 2011-85, ss. 2.5(f), 2.10.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.5(f), effective January 1, 2012, recodified former

G.S. 135-44.6(d) as G.S. 135-48.58. G.S. 135-44.6(e) was recodified as G.S. 135-48.55, and the remainder of G.S. 135-44.6 was repealed by Session Laws 2011-85, s. 2.9, effective January 1, 2012. Former G.S. 135-44.6 itself was formerly codified as G.S. 135-39.6A. It was recodified as G.S. 135-38.9 under Part 2A of Article 3A of Chapter 135 by Session Laws 2008-168, s. 2(m), effective July 1, 2008, but was renumbered as G.S. 135-44.6 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

# § 135-48.59. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

# PART 6.

# LONG-TERM CARE BENEFITS.

# §§ 135-48.60 through 135-48.62. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 2012-173, s. 3(d), effective January 1, 2013.

# History.

S. 135-48.60; 1997-468, s. 7; 2007-323, s. 28.22A(o); 2007-345, s. 12; 2008-168,

ss. 1(a), 4(a)-(c); 2011-85, ss. 2.7, 2.10; repealed by 2012-173, s. 3(d), effective January 1, 2013. s. 135-48.61; 1997-468,

s. 7; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 4(a), (d), (e); 2011-85, ss. 2.7, 2.10, repealed by 2012-173, s. 3(d), effective January 1, 2013. s. 135-48.62; 1997-468, s. 7; 2008-168, ss. 1(a), 4(a); 2011-85, s. 2.7, repealed by 2012-173, s. 3(e), effective January 1, 2013

#### Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 135-48.60 pertained to undertaking. Former G.S. 135-48.61 pertained to long-term care benefits. Former G.S. 135-48.62 pertained to conversion.

Session Laws 2012-173, s. 3(e), provides: "An employee, retired employee, or dependent enrolled under long-term

care under Part 6 of Article 3B of Chapter 136 of the General Statutes at the time of that Part's repeal shall be entitled to a conversion to a nongroup plan of long-term care benefits. The Executive Administrator and Board of Trustees of the Plan shall determine how those conversion rights shall be administered."

Session Laws 2012-173, s. 3(f), provides: "Any unencumbered administrative fees collected by the Plan under Part 6 of Article 3B of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes are transferred to the Public Employee Health Benefit Fund created under G.S. 135-48.5(a)."

### § 135-49. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

# ARTICLE 4.

# CONSOLIDATED JUDICIAL RETIREMENT ACT.

# § 135-50. Short title and purpose.

- (a) This Article shall be known and may be cited as the "Consolidated Judicial Retirement Act."
- (b) The purpose of this Article is to improve the administration of justice by attracting and retaining the most highly qualified talent available within the State to the positions of justice and judge, district attorney and solicitor, public defender, the Director of Indigent Defense Services, and clerk of superior court, within the General Court of Justice.

#### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1031, ss. 2, 3; 2005-276, s. 29.30A(a); 2005-345, s. 42; 2007-323, s. 28.21B(a); 2008-107, s. 26.24(a).

#### Open Enrollment — Contributory Death Benefit.

Session Laws 2007-388, s. 1, provides: "Notwithstanding any section of law or any rules and regulations adopted by the Boards of Trustees to the contrary, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer shall allow for an open enrollment period in the Contributory Death Benefit for Retired Members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, and the Legislative Retirement System, This open enrollment

period shall begin February 1, 2008, and end May 31, 2008. The Retirement Systems Division shall send notice by U.S. mail of the open enrollment period to all retirees who elected not to be covered under this benefit or who failed to make any election at the time of their retirement and shall send a second notice by U.S. mail to any such retiree who fails to make an election within 60 days of the notification of the open enrollment period. Notice, at minimum, shall consist of notification of the open enrollment period and the consequences of failure to respond within the specified time frames, informational materials explaining the benefit program and the associated costs, and a preprinted personalized enrollment application to facilitate the enrollment process indicating each individual retiree's contribution rate. The contribution rate for retirees electing coverage during the open enrollment period shall be increased by eleven and one-tenth percent (11.1%) the rate established for retirees who elected coverage when first eligible, at retirement. For retirees electing coverage during this open enrollment period, coverage shall become effective the first of the month following the month in which the election of coverage is received by the Retirement Systems Division but not before February 1, 2008. Contribution rates for coverage shall be based upon the retiree's nearest age as of the effective date of coverage and shall begin by deduction from the retiree's net monthly retirement allowance in the month in which coverage becomes effective. Coverage elected by retirees during this open enrollment period shall be subject to all other laws and rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees governing the Contributory Death Benefit for Retired Members."

#### Editor's Note.

In Session Laws 1999-237, s. 28.22(d), the General Assembly authorized the Board of Trustees of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System to adopt a fixed amortization period of nine years for purposes of the unfunded accrued liability for the Retirement System beginning with the valuation for December 31, 1998.

Session Laws 1999-237, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 1999.'"

Session Laws 1999-237, s. 30.2, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 1999-2001 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 1999-2001 biennium."

Session Laws 1999-237, s. 30.4, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2005-345, s. 42, repealed Session Laws 2005-276, s. 29.30A(a), which had proposed to amend subsection (b) of this section by adding "and to membership on the Utilities Commission" at the end.

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 4.22(a)-(d), effective May 4, 2020, provides: "(a) This

section shall apply to the following General Statutes:

- "(1) Article 1A of Chapter 120.
- "(2) Article 3 of Chapter 128.
- "(3) Article 1 of Chapter 135.
- "(4) Article 4 of Chapter 135.
- "(5) Article 6 of Chapter 135.

"(b) Whenever the medical board, as established under G.S. 128-28( l), 135-6(k), or 135-102(d), is required to make a determination or certification of eligibility for disability benefits, the Director of the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer, or the Director's designee, may make an interim determination or an interim certification that a member or beneficiary is eligible for disability benefits. The Director may not make a determination or certification that a member or beneficiary is not eligible for disability benefits.

"(c) The medical board shall review any interim determinations or interim certifications made in accordance with this section as soon as practicable and shall then make a final determination or final certification for disability benefits. If, subsequent to an interim determination or interim certification, the medical board makes a final determination that a member or beneficiary is not eligible for disability benefits, then any payment to that member or beneficiary shall cease and the determination shall be applied prospectively only so that the final determination will not require any refund by the member or beneficiary to the applicable retirement system or benefit plan for payments or benefits received during the interim period before the final determination is made.

"(d) This section is effective when it becomes law [May 4, 2020]. Subsection (b) of this section expires August 1, 2020. Any interim determinations or interim certifications made, as allowed under subsection (b) of this section, will remain valid until a final determination is made, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section."

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 5, is a severability clause.

# Legal Periodicals.

For note, "Gregory v. Ashcroft: The Plain Statement Rule and Judicial Supervision of Federal-State Relations," see 70 N.C.L. Rev. 1563 (1992).

#### CASE NOTES

Purpose. — The Consolidated Judicial Retirement Act, G.S. 135-50 et seq., was established for the purpose of improving the administration of justice by attracting and retaining the most highly qualified talent available within the State to the positions of justice and judge, district attorney and solicitor, and clerk of superior court by providing, as set forth in G.S. 135-54, retirement al-

lowances and other benefits under the provisions of the Act for justices and judges, district attorneys, and clerks of superior court of the General Court of Justice of North Carolina, and their survivors. State Emples. Ass'n of N.C., Inc. v. State, 154 N.C. App. 207, 573 S.E.2d 525, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 1451 (2002), rev'd, 357 N.C. 239, 580 S.E.2d 693, 2003 N.C. LEXIS 599 (2003).

# § 135-51. Scope.

- (a) This Article provides consolidated retirement benefits for all justices and judges, district attorneys, and solicitors who are serving on January 1, 1974, and who become such thereafter; and for all clerks of superior court who are so serving on January 1, 1975, and who become such after that date; and for all public defenders who are serving on July 1, 2007, and who become public defenders after that date; and for the Director of Indigent Defense Services who is serving on July 1, 2008, and those who become Director of Indigent Defense Services after that date.
- (b) For justices and judges of the appellate and superior court divisions of the General Court of Justice who so served prior to January 1, 1974, the provisions of this Article supplement and, under certain circumstances, replace the provisions of Articles 6 and 8, as the case may be, of Chapter 7A of the General Statutes.

For district attorneys and judges of the district court of the General Court of Justice who so served prior to January 1, 1974, the provisions of this Article supplement and, under certain circumstances, replace the provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter.

For clerks of superior court of the General Court of Justice who so served prior to January 1, 1975, the provisions of this Article supplement and, under certain circumstances, replace the provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter.

(c) The retirement benefits of any person who becomes a justice or judge, district attorney, or solicitor on and after January 1, 1974, or clerk of superior court on and after January 1, 1975, or public defender on or after July 1, 2007, or the Director of Indigent Defense Services on or after July 1, 2008, shall be determined solely in accordance with the provisions of this Article.

#### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1031, s. 4; 2005-276, s. 29.30A(b); 2005-345, s. 42; 2007-323, s. 28.21B(b); 2008-107, s. 26.24(b).

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2005-345, s. 42, repealed

Session Laws 2005-276, s. 29.30A(b), which had proposed to amend subsection (a) of this section by substituting "after that date; and for all members of the Utilities Commission who are serving on September 1, 2005, and who become members of the Utilities Commission after that date" for "thereafter" at the end

and by inserting "or a member of the Utilities Commission on or after September 1, 2005" in subsection (c).

# § 135-52. Application of Article 1; administration.

- (a) References in Article 1 of this Chapter to the provisions of "this Chapter" shall not necessarily apply to this Article. However, except as otherwise provided in this Article, the provisions of Article 1 are applicable and shall apply to and govern the administration of the Retirement System established hereby. Not in limitation of the foregoing, the provisions of G.S. 135-5(h), 135-5(n), 135-9, 135-10, 135-12 and 135-17 are specifically applicable to the Retirement System established hereby.
- (b) The provisions of this Article shall be administered by the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

**History.** 1973, c. 640, s. 1.

#### § 135-53. Definitions.

The following words and phrases as used in this Article, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context, shall have the following meanings:

- (1) "Accumulated contributions" with respect to any member shall mean the sum of all the amounts deducted from the compensation of the member pursuant to G.S. 135-68 since the member last became a member and credited to the member's account in the annuity savings fund, plus any amount standing to the member's credit pursuant to G.S. 135-67(c) as a result of a prior period of membership, plus any amounts credited to his account pursuant to G.S. 135-28.1(b) or purchased in accordance with this Article, together with regular interest on all such amounts computed as provided in G.S. 135-7(b).
- (2) "Actuarial equivalent" shall mean a benefit of equal value when computed upon the bases of such mortality tables as shall be adopted by the Board of Trustees, and regular interest.
- (2a) "Average final compensation" shall mean the average annual compensation of a member during the 48 consecutive calendar months of membership service producing the highest such average.
- (3) "Beneficiary" shall mean any person in receipt of a retirement allowance or other benefit as provided in this Article.
- (4) "Board of Trustees" shall mean the Board of Trustees established by G.S. 135-6.

- (4a) "Clerk of superior court" shall mean the clerk of superior court provided for in G.S. 7A-100(a).
- (5) "Compensation" shall mean all salaries and wages derived from public funds which are earned by a member of the Retirement System for his service as a justice or judge, or district attorney, or clerk of superior court, or public defender, or the Director of Indigent Defense Services. Effective July 1, 2009, "compensation" also means payment of military differential wages. "Compensation" shall not include local supplementation as authorized under G.S. 7A-300.1 for Judicial Department employees.
- (5a) "Consumer Price Index" shall mean the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U), U.S. City Average, all items, not seasonally adjusted, standard reference base, as published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor.
- (6) "Creditable service" shall mean for any member the total of prior service plus membership service for which credit is allowable under this Article. In no event shall creditable service be deemed membership service for the purpose of determining eligibility for benefits accruing under this Article.
- (6a) "Director of Indigent Defense Services" shall mean the Director of Indigent Defense Services as provided for in G.S. 7A-498.6.
- (6b) "District attorney" shall mean the district attorney or solicitor provided for in G.S. 7A-60.
- (7) "Filing" when used in reference to an application for retirement shall mean the receipt of an acceptable application on a form provided by the Retirement System.
- (8) "Final compensation" shall mean for any member the annual equivalent of the rate of compensation most recently applicable to him.
- (9) "Judge" shall mean any justice or judge of the General Court of Justice and the administrative officer of the courts.
- (10) "Medical board" shall mean the board of physicians provided for in G.S. 135-6.
- (11) "Member" shall mean any person included in the membership of the Retirement System as provided in this Article.
- (12) "Membership service" shall mean service as a judge, district attorney, clerk of superior court, public defender, or the Director of Indigent Defense Services rendered while a member of the Retirement System.
- (13) "Previous system" shall mean, with respect to any member, the retirement benefit provisions of Article 6 and Article 8 of Chapter 7A of the General Statutes, to the extent that such Article or Articles were formerly applicable to the

- member, and in the case of judges of the district court division, district attorney, public defender, the Director of Indigent Defense Services, and and clerk of superior court of the General Court of Justice, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
- (14) "Prior service" shall mean service rendered by a member, prior to his membership in the Retirement System, for which credit is allowable under G.S. 135-56.
- (14a) "Public defender" means a public defender provided for in G.S. 7A-498.7, the appellate defender provided for in G.S. 7A-498.8, the capital defender, and the juvenile defender.
- (15) "Regular interest" shall mean interest compounded annually at such a rate as shall be determined by the Board of Trustees in accordance with G.S. 135-7(b).
- (16) "Retirement" under this Chapter shall mean the commencement of monthly retirement benefits, along with the termination of employment and the complete separation from active service with no intent or agreement, expressed or implied, to return to service. A retirement allowance under the provisions of this Chapter may only be granted upon retirement of a member. In order for a member's retirement to become effective in any month, the member must perform no work in a position covered by this Article or by an Optional Retirement Program established under G.S. 135-5.1 or G.S. 135-5.4 at any time during the same month immediately following the effective first day of retirement.
- (17) "Retirement allowance" shall mean the periodic payments to which a beneficiary becomes entitled under the provisions of this Article.
- (18) "Retirement System" shall mean the "Consolidated Judicial Retirement System" of North Carolina, as established in this Article.
- (19) "Year" as used in this Article shall mean the regular fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30 in the following calendar year, unless otherwise defined by regulation of the Board of Trustees.

# History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1031, ss. 5-10; 1999-237, s. 28.24(f); 2005-276, s. 29.30A(c); 2005-345, s. 42; 2007-323, s. 28.21B(c); 2008-107, s. 26.24(c); 2009-66, s. 6(g); 2010-31, s. 29.7(e); 2013-288, s. 4(c); 2014-97, ss. 4(c), 6; 2018-85, s. 4; 2024-10, ss. 14(a), 18(c).

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2005-345, s. 42, repealed

Session Laws 2005-276, s. 29.30A(c), which had proposed to amend this section by inserting references to Utilities Commissioners in subdivisions (5), (12) and (13) of this section and by adding subdivision (14a), a definition of "Utilities Commissioner."

This section was amended by Session Laws 2007-323, s. 28.21B(c), in the coded bill drafting format provided by G.S. 120-20.1. In subdivision (13), the word "and" before "clerk of superior court" was

omitted, not stricken through, and an additional word "and" was inserted, underlined, resulting in the word "and" appearing twice. In Session Laws 2008-107, s. 26.24(c), subdivision (13) was again amended in the coded bill drafting format and the extra "and" was omitted, but not stricken through. Subdivision (13) has been set out in the form above at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2007-323, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2007'."

Session Laws 2007-323, s. 32.5, is a severability clause.

Subdivision (6b), as enacted by Session Laws 2008-107, s. 26.24(c), was redesignated as subdivision (6a), and former subdivision (6a) was redesignated as present subdivision (6b), at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 36.1A(a), provides: "Funds for Merit-Based Bonuses.— Of the funds appropriated in this act from the General Fund and Highway Fund to the Compensation Bonus Reserves, nonrecurring funds for the 2016-2017 fiscal year are authorized generally to provide employing agencies with funds to award one-time merit-based bonuses to State-funded personnel in ac-

cordance with eligibility policies adopted by the employing agencies. The eligibility policy shall not provide an across-theboard bonus for this purpose. Notwithstanding G.S. 135-1(7a) and G.S. 135-53(5), merit-based bonuses awarded under this Part are not compensation under Chapter 135 of the General Statutes."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2016.'"

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2016-2017 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2016-2017 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-10, ss. 14(a), 18(c), effective June 20, 2024, in subdivision (1), inserted "the member" once and "the member's" twice, and substituted "G.S. 135-28.1(b) or purchased in accordance with this Article" for "G.S. 135-28.1(b) or 135-56(b)." and rewrote subdivision (6).

#### CASE NOTES

Retiree Not Entitled to Tax-Free Pension. — Retiree was not entitled to a tax free pension because he withdrew his contributions to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System and the Teachers' and State Employees Retirement System and left public employment before August 12, 1989, and thus he was not vested on that date; although the retiree later returned to public employment, became vested, and repaid the money he had previously withdrawn,

when read together, G.S. 135-4 and G.S. 135-5 made clear that a member who left state service and withdrew contributions in the retirement system had no rights to any benefits within the system except for the right to repay previously withdrawn contributions as provided in G.S. 135-4. The repayment served only to increase the retiree's years of service creditable. Cashwell v. Dep't of State Treasurer, Ret. Sys. Div., 196 N.C. App. 80, 675 S.E.2d 73, 2009 N.C. App. LEXIS 452 (2009).

# § 135-54. Name and date of establishment.

A Retirement System is hereby established and placed under the management of the Board of Trustees for the purpose of providing retirement allowances and other benefits under the provisions of this Article for justices and judges, district attorneys, public defenders, the Director of Indigent Defense Services, and clerks of superior court of the General Court of Justice of North Carolina, and their survivors. This Retirement System is a governmental plan, within the meaning of Section 414(d) of the Internal Revenue Code. Therefore, the nondiscrimination rules of Sections 401(a)(5) and

401(a)(26) of the Code do not apply. The Retirement System so created shall be established as of January 1, 1974.

The Retirement System shall have the power and privileges of a corporation and shall be known as the "Consolidated Judicial Retirement System of North Carolina," and by such name all of its business shall be transacted.

Consistent with Section 401(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code, all contributions from participating employers and participating employees to this Retirement System shall be made to funds held in trust through trust instruments that have the purposes of distributing trust principal and income to retired members and their beneficiaries and of paying other definitely determinable benefits under this Chapter, after meeting the necessary expenses of administering this Retirement System. Neither the trust corpus nor income from this trust can be used for purposes other than the exclusive benefit of members or their beneficiaries, except that employer contributions made to the trust under a good faith mistake of fact may be returned to an employer, where the refund can occur within less than one year after the mistaken contribution was made, consistent with the rule adopted by the Board of Trustees. The Retirement System shall have a consolidated Plan document, consisting of relevant statutory provisions in this Chapter, associated regulations in the North Carolina Administrative Code, substantive and procedural information on the official forms used by the Retirement System, and policies and minutes of the Board of Trustees.

# History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1031, s. 11; 2005-276, s. 29.30A(d); 2005-345, s. 42; 2007-323, s. 28.21B(d); 2008-107, s. 26.24(d); 2012-130, s. 7(d).

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2005-345, s. 42, repealed Session Laws 2005-276, s. 29.30A(d), which had proposed to amend this section by inserting "and Utilities Commissioners" in the first paragraph.

#### **CASE NOTES**

**Purpose.** — Consolidated Judicial Retirement Act, G.S. 135-50 et seq., was established for the purpose of improving the administration of justice by attracting and retaining the most highly qualified talent available within the State to the positions of justice and judge, district attorney and solicitor, and clerk of superior court, within the General Court of Justice, G.S. 135-50(b), by providing, as set forth in G.S. 135-54, retirement al-

lowances and other benefits under the provisions of the Act for justices and judges, district attorneys, and clerks of superior court of the General Court of Justice of North Carolina, and their survivors. State Emples. Ass'n of N.C., Inc. v. State, 154 N.C. App. 207, 573 S.E.2d 525, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 1451 (2002), rev'd, 357 N.C. 239, 580 S.E.2d 693, 2003 N.C. LEXIS 599 (2003).

#### § 135-55. Membership.

- (a) The membership of the Retirement System shall consist of:
  - (1) All judges and district attorneys in office on January 1, 1974;

- (2) All persons who become judges and district attorneys or reenter service as judges and district attorneys after January 1, 1974;
- (3) All clerks of superior court in office on January 1, 1975;
- (4) All persons who become clerks of superior court or reenter service as clerks of superior court after January 1, 1975;
- (5) All public defenders in office on July 1, 2007;
- (6) All persons who become public defenders or reenter service as public defenders after July 1, 2007;
- (7) The Director of Indigent Defense Services on July 1, 2008; and
- (8) All persons who become the Director of Indigent Defense Services or reenter service as the Director of Indigent Defense Services after July 1, 2008.
- (b) The membership of any person in the Retirement System shall cease upon:
  - (1) The withdrawal of his accumulated contributions after he is no longer a judge, district attorney, public defender, the Director of Indigent Defense Services, or clerk of superior court, or
  - (2) His retirement under the provisions of the Retirement System, or
  - (3) His death.

#### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1031, ss. 12, 13; 2005-276, s. 29.30A(e); 2005-345, s. 42; 2007-323, s. 28.21B(e); 2008-107, s. 26.24(e).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2005-345, s. 42, repealed

Session Laws 2005-276, s. 29.30A(e), which had proposed to amend this section by inserting subdivisions (a)(5) and (6), adding Utilities Commissioners in office on and after September 1, 2005, to the Retirement System and inserting "Utilities Commissioner" in subdivision (b)(1).

# § 135-56. Creditable service.

- (a) Subject to such rules and regulations as the Board of Trustees shall adopt with regard to the verification of a judge's prior service, the prior service of a judge shall consist of his service rendered prior to January 1, 1974, as a justice of the Supreme Court, judge of the Court of Appeals, judge of the superior court, judge of the district court division of the General Court of Justice, as administrative officer of the courts, or as a solicitor or district attorney.
  - (b) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(g).
- (b1) Second through seventh sentences recodified as part of G.S. 135-56.5(a) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(a), (b); remaining provisions repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(g).
- (c) On and after January 1, 1984, the creditable service of a member who was a member of the former Uniform Solicitorial or Uniform Clerks of Superior Court Retirement Systems at the time of merger of those Systems into this Consolidated Judicial Retirement

System and whose accumulated contributions are transferred from those Systems to this System, includes service that was creditable in the Uniform Solicitorial and Uniform Clerks of Superior Court Retirement Systems; and membership service with those Retirement Systems is membership service with this Retirement System.

- (d) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(g).
- (d1) Recodified as G.S. 135-56.5(a)(11) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(d).
  - (e) Repealed by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(g).
- (e1) Recodified as part of G.S. 135-56.5(a)(1) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(b).
- (f) The creditable service of a member who was a member of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or the Legislative Retirement System and whose accumulated contributions and reserves are transferred from that System to this System, includes service that was creditable in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or the Legislative Retirement System, and membership service with those Retirement Systems is membership service with this Retirement System.
- (g) If a member who has not vested in this System on July 1, 2007, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 135-75.1 for acts committed after July 1, 2007, then that member shall forfeit all benefits under this System. If a member who has vested in this System on July 1, 2007, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 135-75.1 for acts committed after July 1, 2007, then that member is not entitled to any creditable service that accrued after July 1, 2007, regardless of whether that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Chapter, or accrued by any other means. No member shall forfeit any benefit or creditable service earned from a position not as a justice, judge, district attorney, or clerk of superior court. For purposes of this subsection, creditable service attributable to the conversion of sick leave accrues in this System on the date of retirement, service transferred to this System from another system accrues in this System on the effective date of the transfer, and purchased service accrues in this System on the date of the purchase.
- (h) On and after July 1, 2007, the creditable service of a member who was a public defender and a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System at the time of transfer of membership from the previous system to this System shall include service as a public defender that was creditable in the previous system immediately prior to July 1, 2007. The accumulated contributions,

creditable service, and reserves, if any, of a member as a public defender shall be transferred from the previous system to this System in the same manner as prescribed under G.S. 135-28.1 as it pertained to judges of the district court division of the General Court of Justice.

- (i) On and after July 1, 2008, the creditable service of a member who is the Director of Indigent Defense Services and a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System at the time of transfer of membership from the previous system to this System shall include service as the Director of Indigent Defense Services beginning July 1, 2004, that was creditable in the previous system immediately prior to July 1, 2008. The accumulated contributions, creditable service, and reserves, if any, of a member as the Director of Indigent Defense Services beginning July 1, 2004, shall be transferred from the previous system to this System in the same manner as prescribed under G.S. 135-28.1 as it pertained to judges of the district court division of the General Court of Justice.
- (j) If a member who is in service and has not vested in this System on December 1, 2012, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 135-75.1A for acts committed after December 1, 2012, then that member shall forfeit all benefits under this System, except for a return of member contributions plus interest. If a member who is in service and has vested in this System on December 1, 2012, is convicted of an offense listed in G.S. 135-75.1A for acts committed after December 1, 2012, then that member is not entitled to any creditable service that accrued after December 1, 2012, regardless of whether that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Chapter, or accrued by any other means. For purposes of this subsection, creditable service attributable to the conversion of sick leave accrues in this System on the date of retirement, service transferred to this System from another system accrues in this System on the effective date of the transfer, and purchased service accrues in this System on the date of the purchase.
- (k) Creditable service may be purchased in accordance with G.S. 135-56.5, or as otherwise provided for in this Article."

#### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1977, c. 936; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1031, ss. 14, 15; 1985, c. 649, s. 1; 1989, c. 255, s. 21(a); 1999-237, s. 28.24(c); 2003-284, s. 30.18(f); 2007-179, s. 4(b); 2007-323, s. 28.21B(h); 2008-107, s. 26.24(h); 2012-193, s. 6; 2020-29, s. 1(d), (e); 2020-48, s. 4.4(e), (f); 2021-57, ss. 3.1, 3.2(a), (b); 2024-10, ss. 12(a), (b), (d), (g), 14(b).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 18, made subsection (j) of this section effective December 1, 2012, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(k), provides: "For all service purchases that are required to have been made by December 31, 2021, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Trea-

surer shall accept and process all service purchase request forms that are received by the Retirement Systems Division on or before December 31, 2021."

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 10, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-29, s. 1(d), (e), effective June 19, 2020, in subsection (b), substituted "On or before December 31, 2021, when membership" for "When membership" at the beginning and made minor stylistic changes throughout; and added subsection (b1).

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.4(e), (f), effective June 26, 2020, in subsections (g) and (j), added "regardless of whether

that creditable service was earned by virtue of membership in the System, accrued by conversion of sick leave at the point of the member's retirement, accrued by transfer of service from another retirement system, purchased by the member in accordance with this Chapter, or accrued by any other means" at the end of the second sentence, and added the last sentence.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-10, ss. 12(a), (b), (d), and (g), and 14(b), effective June 20, 2024, recodified subsections (b1), (d1), and (e1) as parts of subsection (a) of new G.S. 135-56.5; repealed subsections (b), (b1), (d), and (e); and added subsection (k).

# § 135-56.01. Reciprocity of creditable service with other State-administered retirement systems.

- (a) Only for the purpose of determining eligibility for benefits accruing under this Article, creditable service standing to the credit of a member of the Legislative Retirement System, Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall be added to the creditable service standing to the credit of a member of this System; provided, that in the event a person is a retired member of any of the foregoing retirement systems, such creditable service standing to the credit of the retired member prior to retirement shall be likewise counted. In no instance shall service credits maintained in the aforementioned retirement systems be added to the creditable service in this System for application of this System's benefit accrual rate in computing a service retirement benefit unless specifically authorized by this Article.
- (b) A person who was a former member of this System and who has forfeited his creditable service in this System by receiving a return of contributions and who has creditable service in the Legislative Retirement System, Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or the Local Government Employees' Retirement System may count such creditable service for the purpose of restoring the creditable service forfeited in this System under the terms and conditions as set forth in this Article and reestablish membership in this System.
- (c) Creditable service under this section shall not be counted twice for the same period of time whether earned as a member, purchased, or granted as prior service credits.

# History.

1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1066, s. 35(d); 1997-456, s. 27.

#### Editor's Note.

Former G.S. 135-56A was recodified as this section pursuant to S.L. 1997-456, s.

27 which authorized the Revisor of Statutes to renumber or reletter sections and parts of sections having a number or letter designation that is incompatible with the General Assembly's computer database.

# § 135-56.1. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1983 (Regular Session, 1984), c. 1031, s. 16.

# § 135-56.2. (Recodified.)

Recodified as G.S. 135-56.5(a)(2) and G.S. 135-70.1(c) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(c) and (h), effective June 20, 2024.

# § 135-56.3. (Recodified.)

Recodified as G.S. 135-56.5(c) and (d) by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(e) and (f), effective June 20, 2024.

# § 135-56.5. Creditable service purchases.

(a) General Purchases of Service Credit. — Any member in service with five or more years of membership service may purchase creditable service authorized under this subsection by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase of the Retirement System due to the additional service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

Subject to the requirements of this subsection, an employer may pay all or part of the cost of a service purchase of a member in service. To the extent that the purchase is paid by the employer, the amount paid by the employer shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. To the extent that the purchase is paid by the member, the amount paid by the member shall be credited to the member's accumulated contributions and interest in the Annuity Savings Fund.

The total amount of creditable service purchased under each subdivision of this section shall not exceed five years. No purchase of service credit under any subdivision of this section shall be made if a benefit is allowable under another public retirement system as a result of the service. If there is a conflict between a provision of G.S.

135-56 and a provision of this subsection, then this subsection shall control.

The following purchases of creditable service are authorized under this subsection:

- (1) Withdrawn service. Service withdrawn in accordance with the provisions of any of the following, limited to a total maximum purchase of five years:
  - a. G.S. 120-4.25.
  - b. G.S. 128-27(f).
  - c. G.S. 135-5(f).
  - d. G.S. 135-62.
  - e. Any rules adopted under Article 12 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, as it existed prior to 1986.
- (2) Federal, state, or local government service. Service previously rendered to the federal government or to any state, territory, or other governmental subdivision of the United States other than this State. Service under this subdivision is limited to full-time service that would be allowable under the laws governing this Retirement System.
- (3) Part-time service. Service previously rendered on a part-time basis to an employer, as defined under either G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21, for which the member would have met the definition of employee or teacher under either G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21 except for the part-time nature of the service. For the purposes of this subdivision, the following service is not eligible to be purchased:
  - a. Part-time service rendered as a bus driver to a public school while a full-time high school student.
  - b. Temporary or part-time service rendered while a fulltime student in pursuit of a degree or diploma in a degree-granting program, unless that service was rendered on a permanent part-time basis and required at least 20 hours of service per week.
- The amount of the single lump sum to be paid for the purchase of service credit under this subdivision shall be calculated by applying the ratio of actual gross compensation earned as a part-time employee to the gross compensation that would have been earned as a full-time employee to the period of service rendered in months.
- In no case shall more than one year of service be creditable for all service in one year. Service rendered for the regular school year in any district shall be equivalent to one year of service.
- (4) Temporary service. Service previously rendered on a temporary basis to an employer, as defined under either G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21, and that meets both of the following conditions:

- a. The member would have met the definition of employee or teacher under either G.S. 135-1 or G.S. 128-21 except for the temporary nature of the service.
- b. The member has acquired from the employer all certifications of temporary employment that are required by the Board of Trustees.
- (5) Probationary local government service. Service previously rendered to any local employer, as defined under G.S. 128-21, when performed in a probationary or employer-imposed waiting period status that occurred between the date of employment and the date of membership service with the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System
- (6) Involuntary furlough. Periods of interrupted service due to involuntary administrative furlough caused by the lack of funds to support the position.
- (7) Leave due to extended illness. Periods of interrupted service while on leave without pay status due to the member's illness or injury, excluding leave due to parental leave or pregnancy or childbirth-related leave, provided that any single period of interrupted service included a period of time during which the member failed to earn at least two months membership service.
- (8) Parental leave and pregnancy or childbirth-related leave. Periods of interrupted service due to parental leave, pregnancy, or childbirth.
- (9) Charter school service. Periods of service previously rendered as an employee of a charter school operated by a private nonprofit corporation or a charter school operated by a municipality whose board of directors did not elect to participate in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System under G.S. 135-5.3.
- (10) The University of North Carolina Optional Retirement Program service. Periods of employment with The University of North Carolina during which the member participated in the Optional Retirement Program, as provided for under G.S. 135-5.1, provided that the member is not receiving, and is not entitled to receive, any retirement benefits resulting from this employment.
- (11) Employment not otherwise creditable. Service not creditable in any other retirement system or plan that was previously rendered as a judge, district attorney, or clerk of superior court, when not otherwise provided for in this section, or as a judge of any lawfully constituted court of this State inferior to the superior court, not to include service as a magistrate, justice of the peace, or mayor's court judge.

- (b) **Omitted Membership Service.** A member who (i) had service qualifying for membership under G.S. 135-55 as a judge, a clerk of superior court, a Director of Indigent Defense Services, a district attorney, or a public defender and (ii) was omitted from contributing membership through error shall be allowed the omitted membership service if the requirements of this subsection are met and the total payment required for that service under this subsection is made. Submission of clear and convincing evidence of the error is required prior to approval of, and payment for, the omitted membership service. Payment for service under this subsection shall be made in the following manner:
  - (1) Within 90 days of the omission, by the payment of employee and employer contributions that would have been paid.
  - (2) After 90 days and prior to three years of the omission, by the payment of the employee and employer contributions that would have been paid plus interest compounded annually at a rate equal to the greater of the average yield on the Pension Accumulation Fund for the preceding calendar year or the actuarial investment rate-of-return assumption, as adopted by the Board of Trustees.
  - (3) After three years of the omission, by paying a lump sum amount to the Annuity Savings Fund. The amount payable shall be equal to the full liability increase of the Retirement System due to the service credits purchased plus an administrative fee that is set by the Board of Trustees. The full liability increase shall be calculated on the basis of the same assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the liabilities of the Retirement System, except for the following assumptions specific to this calculation: (i) the allowance shall be assumed to commence at the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance and (ii) there shall be assumed annual postretirement allowance increases set by the Board of Trustees upon the advice of the consulting actuary.

Nothing contained in this subsection shall prevent an employer or member from paying all or a part of the required payment for the omitted membership service. To the extent the amount is paid by the employer, the amount paid by the employer shall be credited to the Pension Accumulation Fund. To the extent the amount is paid by the member, the amount paid by the member shall be credited to the member's accumulated contributions and interest in the Annuity Savings Fund. An employer shall not discriminate against any employed member or group of employed members in paying all or any part of the payment required under this subsection for the omitted membership service.

(c) Purchase of Service Credits Through Rollover Contributions From Certain Other Plans. — Notwithstanding any

other provision of this Article to the contrary, subject to the requirements of this subsection and any rules adopted, or policies established, by the Board of Trustees and without regard to any limitations on contributions otherwise set forth in this Article, payments or repayments made for membership or creditable service allowed under this section or any other provision of this Article may be made by a member through rollover contributions to the Annuity Savings Fund from any of the following sources:

- (1) An annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (2) An eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state.
- (3) An individual retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is eligible to be rolled over and would otherwise be includible in gross income.
- (4) A qualified plan described in Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.

No rollover contribution shall be made under this subsection, and the Retirement System shall not accept any amount as a rollover contribution, unless the amount required for the payment or repayment is eligible to be rolled over to a qualified trust in accordance with applicable law and the member provides evidence satisfactory to the Retirement System that the amount qualifies for rollover treatment. Unless received by the Retirement System in the form of a direct rollover, the rollover contribution must be paid to the Retirement System on or before the 60th day after the date it was received by the member.

- (d) Purchase of Service Credits Through Plan-to-Plan Transfers. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the contrary, subject to the requirements of this subsection and any rules adopted, or policies established, by the Board of Trustees and without regard to any limitations on contributions otherwise set forth in this Article, payments or repayments made for membership or creditable service allowed under this section or any other provision of this Article may be made by a member through a direct transfer to the Annuity Savings Fund of funds from any of the following sources:
  - (1) An annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.
  - (2) An eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by a state, a political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or a political subdivision of a state.
  - (3) Supplemental Retirement Income Plans A, B, or C of North Carolina.

(4) Any other defined contribution plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code that is maintained by the State of North Carolina, a political subdivision of the State or any other state, or any agency or instrumentality of the State or any other state or political subdivision of the State or any other state.

#### History.

2024-10, ss. 11, 12(a)-(f), 13.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 19, made this section, as added by Session Laws 2024-10, s. 11, effective June 20, 2024.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 11, provides: "Article 4 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes is amended by adding a new G.S. 135-56.5 to be entitled 'Creditable service purchases."

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(a)-(f), provides: "(a) The third through seventh sentences of subsection (b1) of G.S. 135-56 are recodified as subsection (a) of G.S. 135-56.5, as created by Section 11 of this act.

"(b) The second sentence of subsection (b1) of G.S. 135-56 is recodified as the first sentence of subdivision (a)(1) of G.S. 135-56.5, as created by Section 11 of this

act, and subsection (e1) of G.S. 135-56 is recodified as the second through seventh sentences of that subdivision.

"(c) The first through fifth sentences and the seventh sentence of G.S. 135-56.2 are recodified as subdivision (a)(2) of G.S. 135-56.5, as created by Section 11 of this act.

"(d) Subsection (d1) of G.S. 135-56 is recodified as subdivision (a)(11) of G.S. 135-56.5, as created by Section 11 of this act.

"(e) Subsection (a) of G.S. 135-56.3 is recodified as subsection (c) of G.S. 135-56.5, as created by Section 11 of this act.

"(f) Subsection (b) of G.S. 135-56.3 is recodified as subsection (d) of G.S. 135-56.5, as created by Section 11 of this act."

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 13, effective June 20, 2024, rewrote the section.

#### § 135-57. Service retirement.

- (a) Any member on or after January 1, 1974, who has attained his fiftieth birthday and five years of membership service may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the board of trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired.
- (a1) Repealed by Session Laws 2014-88, s. 3(h), effective July 30, 2014.
- (b) Any member who is a justice or judge of the General Court of Justice shall be automatically retired as of the last day of the calendar month in which the justice or judge reaches the maximum age for judicial service under G.S. 7A-5(b), 7A-40.1, or 7A-140.1, whichever is applicable.
- (c) Any member who terminates service on or after January 1, 1974, having accumulated five or more years of creditable service may retire under the provisions of subsection (a) above, provided that he shall not have withdrawn his accumulated contributions prior to the effective date of his retirement, and the requirement of subsection (a) that the member be in service shall not apply.
- (c1) Repealed by Session Laws 2014-88, s. 3(h), effective July 30, 2014.
  - (d) Any member who was in service October 8, 1981, who had

attained 50 years of age, may retire upon electronic submission or written application to the board of trustees setting forth at what time, as of the first day of a calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days subsequent to the execution and filing thereof, he desires to be retired.

# History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1981, c. 378, s. 6; 1983, c. 761, s. 230; 1987, c. 513, s. 1; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 873, s. 2; 2007-431, s. 4; 2009-66, ss. 3(e), 12(i), (j); 2011-232, s. 8; 2014-88, s. 3(h); 2023-134, s. 16.14(*l*).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 16.14(m), made the amendment to subsection (b) by Session Laws 2023-134, s. 16.14(*l*), effective October 3, 2023, and applicable to justices, judges, and magistrates serving on or after that date, provided that

nothing in this section shall be construed to automatically halt the retirement process of a justice, judge, or magistrate that has already initiated that process.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 16.14(*l*), rewrote subsection (b). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

# § 135-58. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Service retirement benefits.

- (a) Any member who retires under the provisions of subsection (a) or subsection (c) of G.S. 135-57 before July 1, 1990, after he either has attained his sixty-fifth birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of his retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during his lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of (1), (2) and (3) following, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which he is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System or the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment) would total three fourths of his final compensation:
  - (1) Four percent (4%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;
  - (2) Three and one-half percent (3 \(^{1}/\_{2}\%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as administrative officer of the courts;
  - (3) Three percent (3%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a

judge of the district court, district attorney, or clerk of superior court.

- (a1) Any member who retires under the provisions of subsection (a) or subsection (c) of G.S. 135-57 on or after July 1, 1990, but before July 1, 1999, after he either has attained his 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of his retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during his lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of (1), (2), and (3) following, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which he is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System or the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment) would total three-fourths of his final compensation:
  - (1) Four and two-hundredths percent (4.02%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;
  - (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as administrative officer of the courts;
  - (3) Three and two-hundredths percent (3.02%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, or clerk of superior court.
- (a2) Any member who retires under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) or G.S. 135-57(c) on or after July 1, 1999, but before July 1, 2001, after the member has either attained the member's 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service. shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of the member's retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during the member's lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of the amounts in subdivisions (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5) following, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which the member is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment) would total threefourths of the member's final compensation:

- (1) Four and two-hundredths percent (4.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;
- (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as Administrative Officer of the Courts;
- (3) Three and two-hundredths percent (3.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service, rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, or clerk of superior court;
- (4) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56; and
- (5) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56.
- (a3) Any member who retires under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) or G.S. 135-57(c) on or after July 1, 2001, but before January 1, 2004, after the member has either attained the member's 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service, shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of the member's retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during the member's lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of the amounts in subdivisions (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5) following, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which the member is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment) would total threefourths of the member's final compensation:
  - (1) Four and two-hundredths percent (4.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;

- (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as Administrative Officer of the Courts;
- (3) Three and two-hundredths percent (3.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service, rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, or clerk of superior court;
- (4) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56; and
- (5) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service, including any sick leave standing to the credit of the member, equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56.
- (a4) Any member who retires under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) or G.S. 135-57(c) on or after January 1, 2004, but before July 1, 2007, after the member has either attained the member's 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service, shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of the member's retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during the member's lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of the amounts in subdivisions (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5) of this subsection, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which the member is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment), would total three-fourths of the member's final compensation:
  - (1) Four and two hundredths percent (4.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;

- (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as Administrative Officer of the Courts;
- (3) Three and two hundredths percent (3.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, or clerk of superior court;
- (4) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56; and
- (5) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service, including any sick leave standing to the credit of the member, equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Legislative Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56.
- (a5) Any member who retires under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) or G.S. 135-57(c) on or after July 1, 2007, but before July 1, 2008, after the member has either attained the member's 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service, shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of the member's retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during the member's lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of the amounts in subdivisions (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5) of this subsection, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which the member is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment), would total three-fourths of the member's final compensation:
  - (1) Four and two hundredths percent (4.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;

- (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as Administrative Officer of the Courts;
- (3) Three and two hundredths percent (3.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, clerk of superior court, or public defender;
- (4) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56; and
- (5) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service, including any sick leave standing to the credit of the member, equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Legislative Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56.
- (a6) Any member who retires under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) or G.S. 135-57(c) on or after July 1, 2008, after the member has either attained the member's 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service, shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly. The payments shall commence on the effective date of the member's retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during the member's lifetime. The amount of the monthly retirement allowance payments shall be computed as the sum of the applicable amounts contained in the subdivisions of this subsection, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which the member is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment, would total three-fourths of the member's final compensation. The following amounts shall be used for the purposes of calculations under this subsection:
  - (1) Four and two hundredths percent (4.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme

- Court, a judge of the Court of Appeals, or the Director of the Administrative Office of the Courts.
- (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court.
- (3) Three and two hundredths percent (3.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, clerk of superior court, public defender, or the Director of Indigent Defense Services.
- (4) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred or purchased from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to this System, as provided for under this Article.
- (5) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service, including any sick leave standing to the credit of the member, equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred or purchased from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Legislative Retirement System to this System, as provided for under this Article.
- (b) Any member who retires under the provisions of subsection (a) or subsection (c) of G.S. 135-57 before he either has attained his sixty-fifth birthday or has completed 24 years of creditable service shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of his retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during his lifetime, the amount of which shall be determined in the same manner and be subject to the same maximum limitation as provided for in subsection (a) above except that the allowance so computed shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (\frac{1}{4} of 1\%) thereof for each month by which the member's retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the earlier of
  - (1) The member's sixty-fifth birthday or
  - (2) The date the member would have completed 24 years of creditable service if he had been in membership service from his retirement date until such date.
  - For the sole purpose of determining whether a member has completed the required 24 years of creditable service re-

ferred to in this subsection (b) or the date on which he would have completed such period of creditable service if he had remained in membership service, in the case of a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System who became a member of this Retirement System under circumstances described in G.S. 135-28.1, and who at the time of his retirement hereunder is in service and has retained his membership in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System as provided for in G.S. 135-28.1, his creditable service shall be taken as the sum of his creditable service hereunder plus the amount of creditable service remaining to his credit in such other system as provided for in G.S. 135-28.1.

- (c) The foregoing subsections of this section to the contrary notwithstanding, in no event will the retirement allowance payable at any time to a retired member who was a member of a previous system immediately prior to January 1, 1974, prior to any reduction of such allowance in accordance with G.S. 135-61, be less than the retirement allowance to which he would have been entitled under the terms of such previous system if this Article had not been enacted.
- (d) Commencing with the payment for the month of January 1974, the retirement allowance of each retired member of a previous system who was in receipt of a retirement allowance thereunder as of January 1, 1974, shall be paid from the assets of the Retirement System in the same amount as would have been applicable for January 1974, if this Article had not been enacted.
- (e) Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, in no event will the retirement allowance payable at any time to a retired member who was a member of a previous system immediately prior to January 1, 1974, prior to any reduction of such allowance in accordance with G.S. 135-61, be greater than the retirement allowance to which he would have been entitled under the terms of such previous system if this Article had not been enacted or than the retirement allowance to which he would have been entitled under this Article if he had not been entitled to benefits under the terms of such previous system, whichever is larger.

#### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1977, c. 1120, s. 2; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1031, ss. 17, 18; c. 1109, ss. 13.14, 13.15; 1985, c. 649, s. 7; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1077, ss. 6, 7; 1999-237, s. 28.24(d), (e); 2001-424, s. 32.29(a), (b); 2003-284, s. 30.18(g), (h); 2005-276, s. 29.30A(f), (g); 2005-345, s. 42; 2007-323, s. 28.21B(f), (g); 2008-107, s. 26.24(f), (g); 2015-241, s. 30.3(g); 2024-10, s. 14(c).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2005-345, s. 42, repealed Session Laws 2005-276, s. 29.30A(f) and (g), which had proposed to amend this section by inserting "but before September 1, 2005," after "January 1, 2004," in the first paragraph of subsection (a4) and adding subsection (a5).

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 26.24(j), provides: "Notwithstanding any other law, the retirement allowance of any

member covered by this section shall be calculated using an Average Final Compensation determined as of June 30, 2008, even though service beginning July 1, 2004, was transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System." Session Laws 2008-107, s. 26.24(g), added subsection (a6).

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as "The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2008'."

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 30.3, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2008-2009 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2008-2009 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 30.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(d), made subsection (f) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(c), effective January 1, 2025, and applicable to members in receipt of severance pay that begins on or after that date and to members entitled to receive a lump sum payment based on a certain period of time that begins on or after that date.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(c), added subsection (f). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 14(c), effective June 20, 2024, rewrote subsection (a6).

#### CASE NOTES

Differential in percentages used to calculate retirement benefits does not violate the equal protection clause of U.S. Const., Amend. XIV. The objectives sought by the legislature to be obtained from the present retirement system are valid, and the method chosen is reasonably calculated to achieve that end. Gentry v. Uniform Judicial Retirement Sys., 378 F. Supp. 1, 1974 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7413 (M.D.N.C. 1974).

# § 135-58. (Effective January 1, 2025) Service retirement ben-

- (a) Any member who retires under the provisions of subsection (a) or subsection (c) of G.S. 135-57 before July 1, 1990, after he either has attained his sixty-fifth birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of his retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during his lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of (1), (2) and (3) following, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which he is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System or the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment) would total three fourths of his final compensation:
  - (1) Four percent (4%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;
  - (2) Three and one-half percent  $(3^{1}/_{2}\%)$  of his final compensa-

- tion, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as administrative officer of the courts;
- (3) Three percent (3%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, or clerk of superior court.
- (a1) Any member who retires under the provisions of subsection (a) or subsection (c) of G.S. 135-57 on or after July 1, 1990, but before July 1, 1999, after he either has attained his 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of his retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during his lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of (1), (2), and (3) following, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which he is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System or the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment) would total three-fourths of his final compensation:
  - (1) Four and two-hundredths percent (4.02%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;
  - (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as administrative officer of the courts;
  - (3) Three and two-hundredths percent (3.02%) of his final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of his creditable service rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, or clerk of superior court.
- (a2) Any member who retires under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) or G.S. 135-57(c) on or after July 1, 1999, but before July 1, 2001, after the member has either attained the member's 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service, shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of the member's retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during the member's lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of the amounts in subdivisions (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5) following, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which the member is entitled

under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment) would total three-fourths of the member's final compensation:

- (1) Four and two-hundredths percent (4.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;
- (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as Administrative Officer of the Courts;
- (3) Three and two-hundredths percent (3.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service, rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, or clerk of superior court;
- (4) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56; and
- (5) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56.
- (a3) Any member who retires under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) or G.S. 135-57(c) on or after July 1, 2001, but before January 1, 2004, after the member has either attained the member's 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service, shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of the member's retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during the member's lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of the amounts in subdivisions (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5) following, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which the member is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early

retirement or for an optional mode of payment) would total three-fourths of the member's final compensation:

- (1) Four and two-hundredths percent (4.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;
- (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as Administrative Officer of the Courts;
- (3) Three and two-hundredths percent (3.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service, rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, or clerk of superior court;
- (4) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56; and
- (5) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service, including any sick leave standing to the credit of the member, equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56.

(a4) Any member who retires under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) or G.S. 135-57(c) on or after January 1, 2004, but before July 1, 2007, after the member has either attained the member's 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service, shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of the member's retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during the member's lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of the amounts in subdivisions (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5) of this subsection, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which the member is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment), would total three-fourths of the member's final compensation:

- (1) Four and two hundredths percent (4.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;
- (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as Administrative Officer of the Courts;
- (3) Three and two hundredths percent (3.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, or clerk of superior court;
- (4) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56; and
- (5) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service, including any sick leave standing to the credit of the member, equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Legislative Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56.

(a5) Any member who retires under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) or G.S. 135-57(c) on or after July 1, 2007, but before July 1, 2008, after the member has either attained the member's 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service, shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of the member's retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during the member's lifetime, the amount of which shall be computed as the sum of the amounts in subdivisions (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5) of this subsection, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which the member is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (prior in any case to

any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment), would total three-fourths of the member's final compensation:

- (1) Four and two hundredths percent (4.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court or judge of the Court of Appeals;
- (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court or as Administrative Officer of the Courts;
- (3) Three and two hundredths percent (3.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, clerk of superior court, or public defender;
- (4) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56; and
- (5) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service, including any sick leave standing to the credit of the member, equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Legislative Retirement System to this System as provided in G.S. 135-56.

(a6) Any member who retires under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) or G.S. 135-57(c) on or after July 1, 2008, after the member has either attained the member's 65th birthday or has completed 24 years or more of creditable service, shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly. The payments shall commence on the effective date of the member's retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during the member's lifetime. The amount of the monthly retirement allowance payments shall be computed as the sum of the applicable amounts contained in the subdivisions of this subsection, provided that in no event shall the annual allowance payable to any member be greater than an amount which, when added to the allowance, if any, to which the member is entitled under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, the Legislative Retirement System, or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, prior in any case to

any reduction for early retirement or for an optional mode of payment, would total three-fourths of the member's final compensation. The following amounts shall be used for the purposes of calculations under this subsection:

- (1) Four and two hundredths percent (4.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a justice of the Supreme Court, a judge of the Court of Appeals, or the Director of the Administrative Office of the Courts.
- (2) Three and fifty-two hundredths percent (3.52%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the superior court.
- (3) Three and two hundredths percent (3.02%) of the member's final compensation, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service rendered as a judge of the district court, district attorney, clerk of superior court, public defender, or the Director of Indigent Defense Services.
- (4) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred or purchased from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to this System, as provided for under this Article.
- (5) A service retirement allowance computed in accordance with the service retirement provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter using an average final compensation as defined in G.S. 135-53(2a) and creditable service, including any sick leave standing to the credit of the member, equal to the number of years of the member's creditable service that was transferred or purchased from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Legislative Retirement System to this System, as provided for under this Article.
- (b) Any member who retires under the provisions of subsection (a) or subsection (c) of G.S. 135-57 before he either has attained his sixty-fifth birthday or has completed 24 years of creditable service shall receive an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the effective date of his retirement and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter during his lifetime, the amount of which shall be determined in the same manner and be subject to the same maximum limitation as provided for in subsection (a) above except that the allowance so computed shall be reduced by one quarter of one percent (\frac{1}{4} of 1\%) thereof for each month by which the member's retirement date precedes the first day of the month coincident with or next following the earlier of

- (1) The member's sixty-fifth birthday or
- (2) The date the member would have completed 24 years of creditable service if he had been in membership service from his retirement date until such date.
- For the sole purpose of determining whether a member has completed the required 24 years of creditable service referred to in this subsection (b) or the date on which he would have completed such period of creditable service if he had remained in membership service, in the case of a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System who became a member of this Retirement System under circumstances described in G.S. 135-28.1, and who at the time of his retirement hereunder is in service and has retained his membership in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System as provided for in G.S. 135-28.1, his creditable service shall be taken as the sum of his creditable service hereunder plus the amount of creditable service remaining to his credit in such other system as provided for in G.S. 135-28.1.
- (c) The foregoing subsections of this section to the contrary notwithstanding, in no event will the retirement allowance payable at any time to a retired member who was a member of a previous system immediately prior to January 1, 1974, prior to any reduction of such allowance in accordance with G.S. 135-61, be less than the retirement allowance to which he would have been entitled under the terms of such previous system if this Article had not been enacted.
- (d) Commencing with the payment for the month of January 1974, the retirement allowance of each retired member of a previous system who was in receipt of a retirement allowance thereunder as of January 1, 1974, shall be paid from the assets of the Retirement System in the same amount as would have been applicable for January 1974, if this Article had not been enacted.
- (e) Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, in no event will the retirement allowance payable at any time to a retired member who was a member of a previous system immediately prior to January 1, 1974, prior to any reduction of such allowance in accordance with G.S. 135-61, be greater than the retirement allowance to which he would have been entitled under the terms of such previous system if this Article had not been enacted or than the retirement allowance to which he would have been entitled under this Article if he had not been entitled to benefits under the terms of such previous system, whichever is larger.
- (f) Notwithstanding any provision of this section or G.S. 135-57 to the contrary, a member in receipt of severance pay from an employer is not eligible to receive a retirement allowance under this Article while in receipt of that severance pay. If, as severance, the member

is entitled to receive a lump sum payment based on a certain period of time, such as a number of weeks or months, then the member is not eligible to receive a retirement allowance under this Article for any month, beginning immediately after the member's separation from service to that employer, that includes the time period used to determine the lump sum payment.

### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1977, c. 1120, s. 2; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1031, ss. 17, 18; c. 1109, ss. 13.14, 13.15; 1985, c. 649, s. 7; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1077, ss. 6, 7; 1999-237, s. 28.24(d), (e); 2001-424, s. 32.29(a), (b); 2003-284, s. 30.18(g), (h); 2005-276, s. 29.30A(f), (g); 2005-345, s. 42; 2007-323, s. 28.21B(f), (g); 2008-107, s. 26.24(f), (g); 2015-241, s. 30.3(g); 2024-10, s. 14(c); 2024-8, s. 2(c).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2005-345, s. 42, repealed Session Laws 2005-276, s. 29.30A(f) and (g), which had proposed to amend this section by inserting "but before September 1, 2005," after "January 1, 2004," in the first paragraph of subsection (a4) and adding subsection (a5).

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 26.24(j), provides: "Notwithstanding any other law, the retirement allowance of any member covered by this section shall be calculated using an Average Final Compensation determined as of June 30, 2008, even though service beginning July 1, 2004, was transferred from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System." Session Laws

2008-107, s. 26.24(g), added subsection

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as "The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2008'."

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 30.3, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2008-2009 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2008-2009 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 30.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(d), made subsection (f) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(c), effective January 1, 2025, and applicable to members in receipt of severance pay that begins on or after that date and to members entitled to receive a lump sum payment based on a certain period of time that begins on or after that date.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 2(c), added subsection (f). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 14(c), effective June 20, 2024, rewrote subsection (a6).

### CASE NOTES

Differential in percentages used to calculate retirement benefits does not violate the equal protection clause of U.S. Const., Amend. XIV. The objectives sought by the legislature to be obtained from the present retirement

system are valid, and the method chosen is reasonably calculated to achieve that end. Gentry v. Uniform Judicial Retirement Sys., 378 F. Supp. 1, 1974 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7413 (M.D.N.C. 1974).

# § 135-59. Disability retirement.

(a) Upon application by or on behalf of the member, any member in service who has completed five or more years of creditable service and who has not attained his sixty-fifth birthday may be retired by the Board of Trustees, on the first day of any calendar month, not less than one day nor more than 120 days next following the date of filing such application, on a disability retirement allowance; provided, that the medical board, after a medical examination of such

member, shall certify that such member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity was incurred at the time of active employment and has been continuous thereafter, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that such member should be retired; and, provided further, that if a member is removed by the Supreme Court for mental or physical incapacity under the provisions of G.S. 7A-376, no action is required by the medical board under this section and, provided further, the medical board shall determine if the member is able to engage in gainful employment and, if so, the member shall still be retired and the disability retirement allowance as a result thereof shall be reduced as in G.S. 135-60(d). Provided further, that the medical board shall not certify any member as disabled who:

- (1) Applies for disability retirement based upon a mental or physical incapacity which existed when the member first established membership in the system; or
- (2) Is in receipt of any payments on account of the same disability which existed when the member first established membership in the system.

The Board of Trustees shall require each employee upon enrolling in the Retirement System to provide information on the membership application concerning any mental or physical incapacities existing at the time the member enrolls.

Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary, any beneficiary who commenced retirement with an early or service retirement benefit has the right, within three years of this retirement, to convert to an allowance with disability retirement benefits without modification of any election of optional allowance previously made; provided, the beneficiary presents clear and convincing evidence that the beneficiary would have met all applicable requirements for disability retirement benefits while still in service as a member. The allowance on account of disability retirement benefits to the beneficiary shall be retroactive to the effective date of early or service retirement.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the surviving spouse of a deceased member who has met all other requirements for disability retirement benefits, except whose death occurred before the first day of the calendar month in which the member's disability retirement allowance was due and payable, and who was the designated beneficiary for a return of accumulated contributions and the final compensation death benefit as provided in G.S. 135-63, shall be paid in lieu of the return of accumulated contributions and the final compensation death benefit a monthly allowance equal to a reduced retirement allowance provided by a fifty percent (50%) joint and survivorship option, plus the allowance payable to a former member's surviving spouse, in the manner prescribed under G.S. 135-64 as though the former member had commenced retirement the first day of the month following his death.

**History.** 940, s. 2; 1985, c. 479, ss. 192(b), 194; 1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1981, c. 689, s. 3; c. 1987, c. 513, s. 1; 2009-66, s. 3(f).

# § 135-60. Disability retirement benefits.

- (a) Upon retirement for disability in accordance with G.S. 135-59, a member shall receive a disability retirement allowance computed and payable as provided for service retirement in subsection (a6) of G.S. 135-58, except that the member's creditable service shall be taken as the creditable service the member would have had if the member had continued in service to the earliest date the member could have retired on an unreduced service retirement allowance as a member in the same division of the General Court of Justice in which the member was serving on the member's disability retirement date.
- (b) Once each year during the first five years following retirement of a member on a disability retirement allowance, and once in every three-year period thereafter, the Board of Trustees may, and upon his application shall, require any disability beneficiary who has not yet attained his sixtieth birthday to undergo a medical examination, such examination to be made at the place of residence of the beneficiary or other place mutually agreed upon, by a physician or physicians designated by the Board of Trustees. Should any disability beneficiary who has not yet attained his sixtieth birthday refuse to submit to at least one medical examination in any such year by a physician or physicians designated by the Board of Trustees, his allowance may be discontinued until his withdrawal of such refusal, and should his refusal continue for one year, it shall be assumed that he is no longer disabled.
- (c) Should the medical board certify to the Board of Trustees that a disability beneficiary prior to his sixty-fifth birthday has recovered to the extent that he would not satisfy the requirements for disability retirement if he were an active member of the Retirement System, or if his disability shall be assumed to have terminated in accordance with subsection (b) above, his disability retirement allowance shall thereupon cease, he shall be restored as a member of the Retirement System, and the period during which he was in receipt of a disability retirement allowance shall not be included in his creditable service.
- (d) The Board of Trustees shall determine whether a disability beneficiary is engaged in or is able to engage in a gainful occupation paying more than the difference, as hereinafter indexed, between his disability retirement allowance and the gross compensation earned as an employee during the 12 consecutive months in the final 48 months of service prior to retirement producing the highest gross compensation excluding any compensation received on account of termination. If the disability beneficiary is earning or is able to earn more than the difference, the portion of his disability retirement

allowance not provided by his contributions shall be reduced to an amount which, together with the portion of the disability retirement allowance provided by his contributions and the amount earnable by him shall equal the amount of his gross compensation prior to retirement. This difference shall be increased on January 1 of each year by the percentage change between the December Consumer Price Index in the year prior to retirement and the December Consumer Price Index in the year most recently ended, calculated to the nearest tenth of one percent (1/10 of 1%), provided that this percentage change is positive. Should the earning capacity of the disability beneficiary later change, the portion of his disability retirement allowance not provided by his contributions may be further modified. In lieu of the reductions on account of a disability beneficiary earning more than the aforesaid difference, he may elect to convert his disability retirement allowance to a service retirement allowance calculated on the basis of his final compensation and creditable service at the time of disability retirement and his age at the time of conversion to service retirement. This election is irrevocable.

### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1981, c. 975, s. 4; c. 980, s. 5; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1031, s. 19; 1999-237, s. 28.24(g); 2014-97, s. 4(h); 2022-16, s. 3.1.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 3.1, effective

July 1, 2022, in subsection (a), substituted "subsection (a6) of G.S. 135-58" for "G.S. 135-58(a2)," substituted "the member" for "he" three times, substituted "if the member had" for "had he," and substituted "the member's" for "his."

# § 135-61. Election of optional allowance.

Any member who retires under the provisions of this Article shall have the right to elect to have his allowance payable under any one of the optional forms provided for in G.S. 135-5(g), subject to the conditions therein contained, in lieu of the allowance that would otherwise be payable.

### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1.

# § 135-62. Return of accumulated contributions.

(a) Should a member cease membership service otherwise than by death or retirement under the provisions of this Article, he shall, upon submission of an application, be paid, not earlier than 60 days from the date of termination of service, his contributions and the accumulated regular interest thereon, provided that he has not in the meantime returned to service as a judge. Upon payment of such accumulated contributions his membership in the Retirement System shall cease and, if he thereafter again becomes a member, no credit shall be allowed for any service previously rendered, except as

otherwise provided in G.S. 135-56.5(a). Any such payment of a member's accumulated contributions shall be in full and complete discharge of any rights in or to any benefits otherwise payable under this Article.

(b) Repealed by Session Laws 1993, c. 531, s. 7.

# History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1981, c. 672, s. 4; 1983, c. 467; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1031, s. 20; 1993, c. 531, s. 7; 2014-88, s. 2(d); 2024-10, s. 18(d).

tive June 20, 2024, provides: "The Revisor of Statutes shall replace the reference to "G.S. 135-56(b)" with "G.S. 135-62(a)."

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 18(d), effec-

### CASE NOTES

Recovery of Contributions Following Removal for Cause. — Loss of retirement benefits as the result of the removal of a judge from office for cause other than mental or physical incapacity does not mean that the judge forfeits his

right to recover the contributions which he paid into the fund. In re Peoples, 296 N.C. 109, 250 S.E.2d 890, 1978 N.C. LEXIS 938 (1978), cert. denied, 442 U.S. 929, 99 S. Ct. 2859, 61 L. Ed. 2d 297, 1979 U.S. LEXIS 2066 (1979).

### § 135-63. Benefits on death before retirement.

(a) Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees, of the death of a member in service, there shall be paid in a lump sum to such person as the member shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person is living at the time of the member's death, otherwise to the member's legal representatives, a death benefit equal to the sum of (i) the member's accumulated contributions, plus (ii) the member's final compensation; provided, however, that if the member has attained his or her fiftieth birthday with at least five years of membership service at the member's date of death, and if the designated recipient of the death benefits is the member's spouse who survives him or her, and if the spouse so elects, then the lump-sum death benefit provided for herein shall consist only of a payment equal to the member's final compensation and there shall be paid to the surviving spouse an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the first day of the calendar month coinciding with or next following the death of the member and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter until the remarriage or death of the spouse. The amount of any such retirement allowance shall be equal to one half of the amount of the retirement allowance to which the member would have been entitled had the member retired under the provisions of G.S. 135-57(a) on the first day of the calendar month coinciding with or next following the member's date of death, reduced by two percent (2%) thereof for each full year, if any, by which the age of the member

at his or her date of death exceeds that of the member's spouse. If the retirement allowance to the spouse shall terminate on the remarriage or death of the spouse before the total of the retirement allowance payments made equals the amount of the member's accumulated contributions at date of death, the excess of such accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the spouse shall be paid in a lump sum to such person as the member shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person is living at the time such payment falls due, otherwise to the former member's legal representatives.

- (b) There shall be paid to the surviving unremarried spouse of any former judge who died in service prior to January 1, 1974, and after his forty-ninth birthday an annual retirement allowance which shall commence on January 1, 1974, and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter until the remarriage or death of the spouse. The amount of any such retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the provisions of subsection (a) above as if the provisions of this Article had been in effect on the date of death of the former judge, and the final compensation of such former judge had been equal to the rate of annual compensation in effect on December 31, 1973, for the office held by the former judge at the time of his death.
- (c) Upon receipt of proof, satisfactory to the Board of Trustees, of the death of a member not in service, there shall be paid in a lump sum to such person as the member shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person is living at the time of the member's death, otherwise to the member's legal representatives, a death benefit equal to the member's accumulated contributions.
- (d) Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 7A-376, there shall be paid to the surviving spouse of any former judge whose death occurred prior to July 1, 1983, who had not withdrawn his contributions pursuant to G.S. 135-62, an annual retirement allowance which shall commence on July 1, 1983, and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter until the death or remarriage of the spouse. If the spouse dies or remarries before the total of the retirement allowance paid equals the amount of the former judge's accumulated contributions, the excess of the accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowance paid to the spouse shall be paid in a lump sum to the person the spouse has nominated by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if the person is living at the time the payment falls due, otherwise to the spouse's legal representative. The amount of any such retirement allowance shall be computed in accordance with the

provisions of subsection (a) above. This subsection does not authorize allowances to surviving spouses of former judges convicted of crimes related to the performance of their judicial duties.

(e) For purposes of this subsection, a participant whose employment is interrupted by reason of service in the Uniformed Services, as that term is defined in section 4303(16) of the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, Public Law 103-353, shall be deemed to be "in service" until the last day of such service in the Uniformed Services. If the participant does not return immediately after that service to employment with a covered employer in this System, then the participant shall be deemed "in service" until the date on which the participant was first eligible to be separated or released from his or her involuntary military service.

```
History. ss. 231, 234; 2009-66, ss. 6(c), 11(a), (b); 1973, c. 640, s. 1; c. 1385; 1983, c. 761, 2017-129, s. 3(c).
```

# § 135-64. Benefits on death after retirement.

- (a) In the event of the death of a former member while in receipt of a retirement allowance pursuant to his retirement under the provisions of G.S. 135-57, or after a former member's sixty-fifth birthday while in receipt of a retirement allowance pursuant to his retirement under the provisions of G.S. 135-59, there shall be paid to the former member's surviving spouse, if any, an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the first day of the calendar month next following the date of death of the former member and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter until the remarriage or death of the spouse. The amount of any such allowance shall be equal to one half of the allowance that was payable to the former member for the month immediately prior to his month of death, or which would have been so payable had an optional mode of payment not been elected under the provisions of G.S. 135-61, reduced by two percent (2%) thereof for each full year, if any, by which the age of the former member at date of death exceeds that of his spouse.
- (b) In the event of the death of a former member prior to his sixty-fifth birthday while in receipt of a retirement allowance pursuant to his retirement under the provisions of G.S. 135-59, there shall be paid to the former member's surviving spouse, if any, an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly, which shall commence on the first day of the calendar month next following the date of death of the former member and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter until the remarriage or death of the spouse. The amount of any such allowance shall be equal to one half of the allowance to which the former member would have been entitled under the provisions of G.S. 135-58 if he had remained in

service from his disability retirement date to his date of death with no change in his final compensation or status and had then retired, reduced by two percent (2%) thereof for each full year, if any, by which the age of the former member at date of death exceeds that of his spouse.

- (c) In the event of the death of a former member while in receipt of a retirement allowance under the provisions of G.S. 135-58, 135-60, or 135-61, if such former member is not survived by a spouse to whom a retirement allowance is payable under the provisions of subsection (a) or subsection (b) above, nor survived by a beneficiary to whom a monthly survivorship benefit is payable under one of the optional modes of payment under G.S. 135-61, there shall be paid to such person as the member shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person is living at the time of the member's death, otherwise to the member's legal representatives, a death benefit equal to the excess, if any, of the accumulated contributions of the member at his date of retirement over the total of the retirement allowances paid to him prior to his death.
- (d) In the event that a retirement allowance becomes payable to the spouse of a former member under the provisions of subsection (a) or subsection (b) above, or to the designated survivor of a former member under one of the optional modes of payment under G.S. 135-61, and such retirement allowance to the spouse shall terminate on the remarriage or death of the spouse, or on the death of the designated survivor, before the total of the retirement allowances paid to the former member and his spouse or designated survivor combined equals the amount of the member's accumulated contributions at his date of retirement, the excess of such accumulated contributions over the total of the retirement allowances paid to the former member and his spouse or designated survivor combined shall be paid in a lump sum to such person as the member shall have nominated by electronic submission in a form approved by the Board of Trustees or by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Board of Trustees, if such person is living at the time such payment falls due, otherwise to the former member's legal representatives.
- (e) In the event of the death of a retired former judge while in receipt of a retirement allowance under the provisions of G.S. 135-58(d), there shall be paid to the former judge's surviving spouse, if any, an annual retirement allowance payable monthly, which shall commence on the first day of the calendar month next following the date of death of the former judge and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter until the remarriage or death of the spouse. The amount of any such allowance shall be equal to one half of the allowance that was payable to the former judge for the month

immediately prior to his month of death, reduced by two percent (2%) thereof for each full year, if any, by which the age of the former judge at date of death exceeds that of his spouse.

- (f) There shall be paid to the surviving unremarried spouse of any former judge who died prior to January 1, 1974, while in receipt of a retirement allowance under the provisions of a previous system, a retirement allowance which shall commence on January 1, 1974, and shall be continued on the first day of each month thereafter until the remarriage or death of the spouse. The amount of any such retirement allowance shall be equal to one half of the allowance that would have been payable to the former judge for the month of December 1973, if the previous system had been in effect at his date of retirement and if he had survived to January 1, 1974, reduced by two percent (2%) thereof for each full year, if any, by which the age of the former judge at date of death exceeded that of his spouse.
- (g) Upon the death of a retired member on or after July 1, 1988, but before January 1, 1999, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of a deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of five thousand dollars (\$5,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.
- (h) Upon the death of a retired member on or after January 1, 1999, but before July 1, 2004, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of a deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum

payment in the amount of six thousand dollars (\$6,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

- (i) Upon the death of a retired member on or after July 1, 2004, but before July 1, 2007, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of a deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of nine thousand dollars (\$9,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.
- (j) Upon the death of a retired member on or after July 1, 2007, but before January 1, 2015, there shall be paid a death benefit to the surviving spouse of a deceased retired member or to the deceased retired member's legal representative if not survived by a spouse; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of his death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. This death benefit shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's surviving spouse or legal representative if not survived by a spouse shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

(k) Upon the death of a retired member on or after January 1, 2015, there shall be paid a death benefit to the person or persons designated by the member or, if not survived by a designated beneficiary, to the deceased retired member's legal representative; provided the retired member has elected, when first eligible, to make, and has continuously made, in advance of the member's death required contributions as determined by the Board of Trustees on a fully contributory basis, through retirement allowance deductions or other methods adopted by the Board of Trustees, to a group death benefit trust fund, the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefit Trust, administered by the Board of Trustees separate and apart from the Retirement System's Annuity Savings Fund and Pension Accumulation Fund. Employer and non-employer contributions to the Benefit Trust and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Benefit Trust are dedicated to providing benefits to members and beneficiaries in accordance with the Plan's benefit terms. The assets of the Benefit Trust are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employees and non-employees making contributions to the Benefit Trust, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Benefit Trust's trustees and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of members and beneficiaries. Benefit Trust assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees.

The death benefit payable under this subsection shall be a lump-sum payment in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) upon the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection. Should death occur before the completion of 24 months of contributions required under this subsection, the deceased retired member's designated beneficiary or beneficiaries, or legal representative if not survived by a designated beneficiary, shall be paid the sum of the retired member's contributions required by this subsection plus interest to be determined by the Board of Trustees.

### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1987, c. 824, s. 4; 1995, c. 509, s. 76; 1998-212, s. 28.27(b), (c); 2004-147, ss. 5, 6; 2005-91, ss. 5, 6; 2007-496, s. 4; 2009-66, ss. 11(c), (d); 2014-112, s. 3(b), (c); 2017-129, s. 2(u); 2023-105, s. 1.4.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 1.4, effective January 1, 2024, in subsection (k),

substituted "if not survived by a designated beneficiary" for "if the member has not designated a beneficiary, to the surviving spouse of the deceased retired member or, if not survived by a designated beneficiary or spouse" in the first paragraph; and substituted "or legal representative if not survived by a designated beneficiary or spouse, beneficiary" for "or surviving spouse if not survived by a designated beneficiary, or legal representative if not survived by a designated beneficiary or spouse" in the second paragraph.

# § 135-65. Post-retirement increases in allowances.

- (a) Commencing with the post-retirement adjustment, effective July 1, 1974, all retirement allowances payable under the provisions of this Article shall be adjusted annually in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 135-5(o).
- (b) Increases in Benefits Paid to Members Retired prior to July 1, 1978. Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1978, which shall become payable on July 1, 1979, as otherwise provided in subsection (a) of this section, shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional one percent (1%) to a total of five percent (5%) for the year 1979 only. The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (c) Increases in Benefits Paid to Members Retired prior to July 1, 1979. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the increase in allowance to each beneficiary on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1979, which shall become payable on July 1, 1980, shall be the current maximum four percent (4%) plus an additional six percent (6%) to a total of ten percent (10%) for the year 1980-81 only. The provisions of this subsection shall apply also to the allowance of a surviving annuitant of a beneficiary.
- (d) Increases in Benefits Paid to Members Retired Prior to July 1, 1982. From and after July 1, 1983, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of July 1, 1982, shall be increased by four percent (4%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1982, provided the increase in retirement allowances shall be payable in accordance with all requirements, stipulations and conditions set forth in subsection (a) of this section.
- (e) Increase in Benefits Paid to Members Retired on or before July 1, 1983. From and after July 1, 1984, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1983, shall be increased by eight percent (8%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1983.
- (f) From and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1984, shall be increased by four percent (4%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1984. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1985, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1984, but before June 30, 1985, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1984, and June 30, 1985.
- (g) From and after July 1, 1986, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before

- July 1, 1985, shall be increased by three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1985. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1986, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1985, but before June 30, 1986, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1985 and June 30, 1986.
- (h) From and after July 1, 1987, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1986, shall be increased by four percent (4.0%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1986. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1987, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1986, but before June 30, 1987, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4.0%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1986, and June 30, 1987.
- (i) From and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1987, shall be increased by three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1987. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1988, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1987, but before June 30, 1988, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and six-tenths percent (3.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1987, and June 30, 1988.
- (j) From and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1988, shall be increased by three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1988. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1989, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1988, but before June 30, 1989, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1988, and June 30, 1989.
- (k) Increase in Allowance as to Persons on Retirement Rolls as of June 1, 1990. From and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries on the retirement rolls as of June 1, 1990, shall be increased by six-tenths percent (0.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1990. This allowance shall be calculated on the basis of the allowance payable

and in effect on June 30, 1990, so as not to be compounded on any other increase granted by act of the 1989 Session of the General Assembly (1990 Regular Session).

- (l) From and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1989, shall be increased by six and one-tenth percent (6.1%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1989. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1990, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1989, but before June 30, 1990, shall be increased by a prorated amount of six and one-tenth percent (6.1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1989, and June 30, 1990.
- (m) From and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1991, shall be increased by one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1991. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1992, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1991, but before June 30, 1992, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1991 and June 30, 1992.
- (n) From and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1992, shall be increased by one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1992. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1993, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1992, but before June 30, 1993, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1992, and June 30, 1993.
- (o) From and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1993, shall be increased by three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1993. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1994, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1993, but before June 30, 1994, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three and one-half percent (3.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1993, and June 30, 1994.

- (p) From and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1994, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1994. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1995, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1994, but before June 30, 1995, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1994, and June 30, 1995.
- (q) From and after September 1, 1996, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1995, shall be increased by four and four-tenths percent (4.4%) of the allowance payable on July 1, 1995. Furthermore, from and after September 1, 1996, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1995, but before June 30, 1996, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four and four-tenths percent (4.4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1995, and June 30, 1996.
- (r) From and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1996, shall be increased by four percent (4%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1997. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1997, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1996, but before June 30, 1997, shall be increased by a prorated amount of four percent (4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1996, and June 30, 1997.
- (s) From and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1997, shall be increased by two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1998. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1998, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1997, but before June 30, 1998, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1997, and June 30, 1998.
- (t) From and after July 1, 1999, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1998, shall be increased by two and three-tenths percent (2.3%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 1999. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 1999, the retirement allowance to or on account of

beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1998, but before June 30, 1999, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and three-tenths percent (2.3%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1998, and June 30, 1999.

- (u) From and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1999, shall be increased by two and six-tenths percent (2.6%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2000. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2000, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 1999, but before June 30, 2000, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and six-tenths percent (2.6%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 1999, and June 30, 2000.
- (v) From and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2000, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2001. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2001, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2000, but before June 30, 2001, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2000, and June 30, 2001.
- (w) From and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2001, shall be increased by one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2002. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2002, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2001, but before June 30, 2002, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2001, and June 30, 2002.
- (x) From and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2002, shall be increased by one and twenty-eight hundredths percent (1.28%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2003. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2003, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2002, but before June 30, 2003, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and twenty-eight hundredths percent (1.28%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based

upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2002, and June 30, 2003.

- (y) From and after July 1, 2004, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2003, shall be increased by one and seven-tenths percent (1.7%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2004, in accordance with G.S. 135-5(o). Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2004, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2003, but before June 30, 2004, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one and seven-tenths percent (1.7%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2003, and June 30, 2004.
- (z) From and after July 1, 2005, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2004, shall be increased by two percent (2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2005. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2005, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2004, but before June 30, 2005, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two percent (2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2004, and June 30, 2005.
- (aa) From and after July 1, 2006, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2005, shall be increased by three percent (3%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2006. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2006, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2005, but before June 30, 2006, shall be increased by a prorated amount of three percent (3%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2005, and June 30, 2006.
- (bb) From and after July 1, 2007, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2006, shall be increased by two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2007. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2007, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2006, but before June 30, 2007, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2006, and June 30, 2007.
- (cc) From and after July 1, 2008, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2007, shall be increased by two and two-tenths

percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2008. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2008, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2007, but before June 30, 2008, shall be increased by a prorated amount of two and two-tenths percent (2.2%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2007, and June 30, 2008.

- (dd) From and after July 1, 2012, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2011, shall be increased by one percent (1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2012. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2012, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2011, but before June 30, 2012, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2011, and June 30, 2012.
- (ee) From and after July 1, 2014, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2013, shall be increased by one percent (1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2014. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2014, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2013, but before June 30, 2014, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2013, and June 30, 2014.
- (ff) On or before October 31, 2016, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2016, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2016. The payment shall be one and six-tenths percent (1.6%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2016, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.
- (gg) From and after July 1, 2017, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2016, shall be increased by one percent (1%) of the allowance payable on June 1, 2017. Furthermore, from and after July 1, 2017, the retirement allowance to or on account of beneficiaries whose retirement commenced after July 1, 2016, but before June 30, 2017, shall be increased by a prorated amount of one percent (1%) of the allowance payable as determined by the Board of

Trustees based upon the number of months that a retirement allowance was paid between July 1, 2016, and June 30, 2017.

- (hh) On or before October 31, 2018, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2018, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2018. The payment shall be one percent (1%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2018, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.
- (ii) On or before December 31, 2021, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2021, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2021. The payment shall be two percent (2%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2021, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.
- (jj) After September 1, 2022, but on or before October 31, 2022, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of September 1, 2022, and whose retirement commenced on or before September 1, 2022. The payment shall be four percent (4%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of September 1, 2022, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.
- (kk) On or before November 30, 2023, a one-time cost-of-living supplement payment shall be made to or on account of beneficiaries who are living as of October 1, 2023, and whose retirement commenced on or before October 1, 2023. The payment shall be four percent (4%) of the beneficiary's annual retirement allowance payable as of October 1, 2023, and shall not be prorated for date of retirement commencement. If the beneficiary dies before the payment is made, then the payment shall be payable to the member's legal representative. No beneficiary shall be deemed to have acquired a vested right to any future supplemental payments.

### History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1979, c. 838, s. 104; 1979, 2nd Sess., c. 1137, s. 69; 1983, c. 761, s. 221; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c.

1034, s. 224; 1985, c. 479, s. 189(b); 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1014, s. 49(b); 1987, c. 738, s. 27(b); 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1086, s. 22(b); 1989, c. 752, s. 41(b); 1989

(Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1077, ss. 8, 9; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 900, s. 53(c); 1993, c. 321, s. 74(f); 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, s. 7.30(n); 1995, c. 507, s. 7.22(b); 1996, 2nd Ex. Sess., c. 18, s. 28.21(b); 1997-443, s. 33.22(e); 1998-153, s. 21(b); 1999-237, s. 28.23(b); 2000-67, s. 26.20(e); 2001-424, s. 32.22(b); 2002-126, s. 28.8(c); 2003-284, s. 30.17(b); 2004-124, s. 31.17(b); 2005-276, s. 29.25(b); 2006-66, s. 22.18(c); 2007-323, 28.20(b); 2008-107, s. 26.23(b); 2012-142, s. 25.13(b); 2014-100, s. 35.14(b); 2016-94, s. 36.21(b); 2017-57, s. 35.19A(b); 2018-5, s. 35.28(b); 2021-180, s. 39.23(b); 2022-74, s. 39.20(b); 2023-134, s. 39.27(b).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 36.21(d), provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2016'."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2016-2017 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2016-2017 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 35.28(d), provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2018-2019 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 39.23(d), provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2021."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 43.5, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2021-2023 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2021-2023 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2022."

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 39.27(d), provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in order to administer the one-time cost-of-living supplement for retirees provided for in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this section, the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer may increase receipts from the retirement assets of the corresponding retirement system or pay costs associated with the administration of the payment directly from the retirement assets."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.5, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the

2023-2025 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2023-2025 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 39.23(b),

effective July 1, 2021, added new subsections (ii) and (jj).

Session Laws 2022-74, s. 39.20(b), effective July 1, 2022, substituted "four percent (4%)" for "three percent (3%)" in the second sentence of subsection (jj).

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 39.27(b), effective July 1, 2023, added subsection (kk).

# § 135-66. Administration; management of funds; method of financing.

- (a) The State Treasurer shall be the custodian of the assets of this Retirement System and shall invest them in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 147-69.2 and G.S. 147-69.3.
- (b) The assets of this Retirement System shall include employers' contributions held with the Pension Accumulation Fund established under G.S. 135-8 and employees' contributions held in the Annuity Savings Fund similarly established under G.S. 135-8.
- (c) The Board of Trustees shall have performed an annual actuarial valuation of the System and shall have the financial responsibility for maintaining the System on a generally accepted actuarial hasis.
- (d) An actuarially determined employer contribution shall be calculated annually by the actuary using assumptions and a cost method approved by the Actuarial Standards Board of the American Academy of Actuaries and selected by the Board of Trustees.
- (e) Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the Board of Trustees may adopt a contribution policy that would recommend a contribution not less than the actuarially determined employer contribution.
- (f) The recommended employer contribution rate by the Board of Trustees each year shall not be less than the actuarially determined employer contribution.

# History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1979, c. 467, s. 18; 2020-48, s. 1.6.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.6, effective June 26, 2020, rewrote the section.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

# § 135-67. Assets of Retirement System.

- (a) All of the assets of the Retirement System shall be credited according to the purpose for which they are held to one of two funds, namely, the annuity savings fund and the pension accumulation fund.
- (b) The annuity savings fund shall be the fund to which all members' contributions, and regular interest allowances thereon as provided for in G.S. 135-7(b), shall be credited. From this fund shall

be paid the accumulated contributions of a member in accordance with G.S. 135-62, or 135-63.

- (c) Upon the retirement of a member, his accumulated contributions shall be transferred from the annuity savings fund to the pension accumulation fund. In the event that a retired former member should subsequently again become a member of the Retirement System as provided for in G.S. 135-60(c) or 135-71, any excess of his accumulated contributions at his date of retirement over the sum of the retirement allowance payments received by him since his date of retirement shall be transferred from the pension accumulation fund to the annuity savings fund and shall be credited to his individual account in the annuity savings fund.
- (d) The pension accumulation fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated contributions by the State and amounts transferred from the annuity savings fund in accordance with subsection (c) above, and to which all income from the invested assets of the Retirement System shall be credited. From this fund shall be paid retirement allowances and any other benefits provided for under this Article except payments of accumulated contributions as provided in subsection (b) above.
- (e) The regular interest allowance on the members' accumulated contributions provided for in G.S. 135-7(b) shall be transferred each year from the pension accumulation fund to the annuity savings fund.

History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1.

# § 135-68. Contributions by the members.

- (a) Each member shall contribute by payroll deduction for each pay period for which he receives compensation six percent (6%) of his compensation for such period.
- (b) Anything within this Article to the contrary notwithstanding, the State, pursuant to the provisions of section 414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended, shall pick up and pay the contributions which would be payable by the members under subsection (a) of this section with respect to the services of such members rendered after the effective date of this subsection.

The members' contributions picked up by the State shall be designated for all purposes of the Retirement System as member contributions, except for the determination of tax upon a distribution from the System. These contributions shall be credited to the annuity savings fund and accumulated within the fund in a member's account which shall be separately established for the purpose of accounting for picked-up contributions.

Member contributions picked up by the State shall be payable from the same source of funds used for the payment of compensation to a member. A deduction shall be made from a member's compensation equal to the amount of his contributions picked up by the State. This deduction, however, shall not reduce a member's compensation as defined in subdivision (5) of G.S. 135-53. Picked up contributions shall be transmitted to the Retirement System monthly for the preceding month by means of a warrant drawn by the State payable to the Retirement System and shall be accompanied by a schedule of the picked-up contributions on such forms as may be prescribed.

# History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1983, c. 469, s. 1.

### CASE NOTES

Funding. — Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System of North Carolina, and Legislative Retirement System are funded by both employee and State, or employer, contributions under G.S. 135-8, 135-68, 135-69, 120-4.19, and 120-4.20; these systems provide for a systematic method of funding of the respective retirement system with employee contributions computed as a set percentage of

the employees' salaries, and with systematic employer contributions in accordance with formulas mandated by the retirement statutes, which include calculations by an actuary based on the actuarial valuation of liabilities of the retirement systems. State Emples. Ass'n of N.C., Inc. v. State, 154 N.C. App. 207, 573 S.E.2d 525, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 1451 (2002), rev'd, 357 N.C. 239, 580 S.E.2d 693, 2003 N.C. LEXIS 599 (2003).

# § 135-69. Contributions by the State.

- (a) The State shall contribute annually an amount equal to the sum of the "normal contribution" and the "accrued liability contribution."
- (b) The normal contribution for any period shall be determined as a percentage, equal to the normal contribution rate, of the total compensation of the members for such period. The normal contribution rate shall be determined as the percentage represented by the ratio of (i) the annual normal cost to provide the benefits of the Retirement System, computed in accordance with recognized actuarial principles on the basis of methods and assumptions approved by the Board of Trustees, in excess of the part thereof provided by the members' contributions, to (ii) the total annual compensation of the members of the Retirement System.
- (c) The accrued liability contribution for any period shall be determined as a percentage, equal to the accrued liability contribution rate, of the total compensation of the members for such period. The accrued liability contribution rate shall be determined as the percentage represented by the ratio of (i) the level annual contribution necessary to amortize the unfunded accrued liability over a period of 40 years, computed in accordance with recognized actuarial principles on the basis of methods and assumptions approved by the Board of Trustees, to (ii) the total annual compensation of the members of the Retirement System.

- (d) The unfunded accrued liability as of any date shall be determined, in accordance with recognized actuarial principles on the basis of methods and assumptions approved by the Board of Trustees, as the excess of (i) the then present value of the benefits to be provided under the Retirement System in the future over (ii) the sum of the assets of the Retirement System then currently on hand in the annuity savings fund and the pension accumulation fund, plus the then present value of the stipulated contributions to be made in the future by the members, plus the then present value of the normal contributions expected to be made in the future by the State.
- (e) The normal contribution rate and the accrued liability contribution rate shall be determined after each annual valuation of the Retirement System and shall remain in effect until a new valuation is made.
- (f) The annual contributions by the State for any year shall be at least sufficient, when combined with the amount held in the pension accumulation fund at the start of the year, to provide the retirement allowances and other benefits payable out of the fund during the year then current.

History.

1973, c. 640, s. 1.

### CASE NOTES

Funding. — Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System of North Carolina, and Legislative Retirement System are funded by both employee and State, or employer, contributions under G.S. 135-8, 135-68, 135-69, 120-4.19, and 120-4.20; these systems provide for a systematic method of funding of the respective retirement system with employee contributions computed as a set percentage of

the employees' salaries, and with systematic employer contributions in accordance with formulas mandated by the retirement statutes, which include calculations by an actuary based on the actuarial valuation of liabilities of the retirement systems. State Emples. Ass'n of N.C., Inc. v. State, 154 N.C. App. 207, 573 S.E.2d 525, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 1451 (2002), rev'd, 357 N.C. 239, 580 S.E.2d 693, 2003 N.C. LEXIS 599 (2003).

# § 135-70. Transfer of members to another system.

(a) Any member whose membership service is terminated other than by retirement or death and, who, while still a member of this Retirement System becomes a member of either the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, may elect to retain his membership in this Retirement System by not withdrawing his accumulated contributions hereunder. Any such member shall retain all the rights, credits and benefits obtaining to him under this Retirement System at the time of such termination of service while he is a member of such other system and does not withdraw his contributions hereunder.

- (a1) The accumulated contributions and creditable service of any member whose service as a member of this Retirement System has been or is terminated other than by retirement or death and who, while still a member of this Retirement System, became or becomes a member, as defined in G.S. 135-1(13), of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System for a period of five or more years may, upon application of the member, be transferred from this Retirement System to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System. In order to effect the transfer of a member's creditable service from this Retirement System to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, there shall be transferred from this Retirement System to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System the sum of (i) the accumulated contributions of the member credited in the annuity savings fund and (ii) the amount of reserve held in this Retirement System as a result of previous contributions by the employer on behalf of the transferring member.
- (b) Any member who becomes eligible for benefits under more than one system may file application therefor with each retirement system to the end that each retirement system shall pay appropriate benefits without transfer of funds between the systems.
- (c) The Board of Trustees shall effect such rules as it may deem necessary to administer the provisions of the preceding subsections of this section and to prevent any duplication of service credits or benefits that might otherwise occur.

```
History. 1984), c. 1031, s. 21; 2003-284, s. 1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 30.18(d).
```

# § 135-70.1. Transfer of members from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or the Legislative Retirement System.

(a) The accumulated contributions, creditable service, and reserves, if any, of a former teacher or employee, as defined in G.S. 135-1(25), 135-1(10), and 128-21(10), respectively, or a former member of the General Assembly who is a member of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System for a period of five or more years may, upon application of the member, be transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or the Legislative Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System. The accumulated contributions, creditable service, and reserves of any member whose service as a teacher or employee or member of the General Assembly is terminated other than by retirement or death and who becomes a member of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System may, upon application of the member, be transferred from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or the Legislative Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System. In order to effect the transfer of a member's creditable service from the Local Governmental Retirement System, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or the Legislative Retirement System, to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, the accumulated contributions of each member credited in the annuity savings fund in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, or the Legislative Retirement System shall be transferred and credited to the annuity savings fund in the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System.

- (b) The Board of Trustees shall effect such rules as it may deem necessary to administer the preceding subsection and to prevent any duplication of service credits or benefits that might otherwise occur.
- (c) As an alternative to transferring any accumulated contributions from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, a member may irrevocably elect to transfer these contributions to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina as determined by the Plan's Board of Trustees and the Department of State Treasurer in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 135-94(a)(4).

### History.

1999-237, s. 28.24(h); 2003-284, s. 30.18(e); 2005-276, s. 29.30A(h); 2005-345, s. 42; 2024-10, s. 12(h).

### Editor's Note.

As enacted by 1999-237, s. 28.24(h), this section was numbered G.S. 135-70A. This section was renumbered as G.S. 135-70.1 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes

Session Laws 2005-345, s. 42, repealed Session Laws 2005-276, s. 29.30A(h), which had proposed to amend this section by adding a subsection (a1) concerning the transfer of accumulated contributions, etc., of Utilities Commissioners.

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 26.24(i), provides: "Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 135-28.1, G.S. 135-70.1, or any other law, any member covered by this section shall not be eligible to transfer any remaining creditable service from the Teachers' and State Employees'

Retirement System to the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System until the member has contributed to the Consolidated Judicial System for a period of five years beginning July 1, 2008."

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as 'The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2008'."

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 30.3, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2008-2009 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2008-2009 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2008-107, s. 30.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2024-10, s. 12(h), effective June 20, 2024, provides: "The sixth sentence of G.S. 135-56.2 is recodified as subsection (c) of G.S. 135-70.1."

# § 135-71. Return to membership of retired former member.

(a) In the event that a retired former member should at any time return to membership service, his retirement allowance shall thereupon cease and he shall be restored as a member of the Retirement System.

- (b) Upon his subsequent retirement, he shall be paid a retirement allowance determined as follows:
  - (1) For a member who earns at least three years' membership service after restoration to service, the retirement allowance shall be computed on the basis of his compensation and service before and after the period of prior retirement without restrictions; provided, that if the prior allowance was based on a social security leveling payment option, the allowance shall be adjusted actuarially for the difference between the amount received under the optional payment and what would have been paid if the retirement allowance had been paid without optional modification.
  - (2) For a member who does not earn three years' membership service after restoration to service, the retirement allowance shall be equal to the sum of the retirement allowance to which he would have been entitled had he not been restored to service, without modification of the election of an optional allowance previously made, and the retirement allowance that results from service earned since being restored to service; provided, that if the prior retirement allowance was based on a social security leveling payment option, the prior allowance shall be adjusted actuarially for the difference between the amount that would have been paid for each month had the payment not been suspended and what would have been paid if the retirement allowance had been paid without optional modification.
  - (3) Subdivision (2) of this section shall apply only to restored members whose initial retirement lasted for more than four calendar months. For restored members whose initial retirement lasted for four or fewer calendar months, subdivision (1) shall apply.
- (c) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Chapter, the retirement allowance of a justice or judge shall not be affected by the compensation received as an emergency justice or judge or as a senior business court judge.
- (d) Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 135-70.1 to the contrary, a retired former member and/or beneficiary of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System as defined in G.S. 135-1(6), whose retirement allowance from this System and/or from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System ceases upon a return to membership service under this System, shall be permitted to transfer the accumulated contributions, creditable service, and reserves, if any, from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to this System on the same basis as provided for members of other retirement systems under G.S. 135-70.1, if the member attains five or more years of total membership service in this System, and completes at least three years of membership service subsequent to the member's return to membership service.

**History.** 738, s. 39(b); 2005-276, s. 29.30A(i); 1973, c. 640, s. 1; 1983 (Reg. Sess., 2016-91, s. 5. 1984), c. 1031, s. 22; c. 1106, s. 3; 1987, c.

# § 135-72. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1999-237, s. 28.25, effective July 1, 1999.

# § 135-73. Termination or partial termination; discontinuance of contributions.

In the event of the termination or partial termination of the Retirement System or in the event of complete discontinuance of contributions under the Retirement System, the rights of all affected members to benefits accrued to the date of such termination, partial termination, or discontinuance, to the extent funded as of such date, or the amounts credited to the members' accounts, shall be nonforfeitable and fully vested.

```
History. 1987, c. 177, s. 1(a), (b).
```

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1987, c. 177, s. 1(c), made this section effective upon the first day of the calendar month following the State's receipt of a favorable letter of

determination or ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, United States Department of Treasury, that the Retirement Systems were qualified trusts under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended. A favorable letter was received prior to the enactment of c. 177.

# § 135-74. Internal Revenue Code compliance.

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of law to the contrary, compensation for any calendar year after 1988 in which employee or employer contributions are made and for which annual compensation is used for computing any benefit under this Article shall not exceed the higher of two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) or the amount determined by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue as the limitation for calendar years after 1989; provided the imposition of the limitation shall not reduce a member's benefit below the amount determined as of December 31, 1988.

All the provisions in this subsection have been enacted to make clear that the Plan shall not base contributions or Plan benefits on annual compensation in excess of the limits prescribed by Section 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code, as adjusted from time to time, subject to certain federal grandfathering rules.

Effective January 1, 1996, the annual compensation of a member taken into account for determining all benefits provided under this Article shall not exceed one hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$150,000), as adjusted pursuant to section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code and any regulations issued under the Code. However, with respect to a person who became a member of the Retirement System prior to January 1, 1996, the imposition of this

limitation on compensation shall not reduce the amount of compensation which may be taken into account for determining the benefits of that member under this Article below the amount of compensation which would have been recognized under the provisions of this Article in effect on July 1, 1993.

Effective January 1, 2002, the annual compensation of a person, who became a member of the Retirement System on or after January 1, 1996, taken into account for determining all benefits accruing under this Article for any plan year after December 31, 2001, shall not exceed two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000) or the amount otherwise set by the Internal Revenue Code or determined by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue as the limitation for calendar years after 2002.

- (b) Notwithstanding any other provisions of law to the contrary, the annual benefit payable on behalf of a member shall, if necessary, be reduced to the extent required by Section 415(b) and with respect to calendar years commencing prior to January 1, 2000, Section 415(e) of the Internal Revenue Code, as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate pursuant to Section 415(d) of the Code. If a member is a participant under any qualified defined contributions plan that is required to be taken into account for the purposes of the limitation contained in Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code, the annual benefit payable under this Article shall be reduced to the extent required by Section 415(e) prior to making any reduction under the defined contribution plan provided by the employer. However, with respect to a member who has benefits accrued under this Article but whose benefit had not commenced as of December 31, 1999, the combined plan limitation contained in Section 415(e) of the Internal Revenue Code shall not be applied to such member for calendar years commencing on or after January 1, 2000.
- (c) On and after September 8, 2009, and for all Plan years to which the minimum distribution rules of the Internal Revenue Code are applicable, with respect to any member who has terminated employment, the Plan shall comply with federal income tax minimum distribution rules by applying a reasonable and good faith interpretation to Section 401(a)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (c1) A member who has contributions in this System and is not eligible for a retirement benefit as set forth in G.S. 135-57 shall be paid his or her contributions in a lump sum as provided in G.S. 135-62 by April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the member (i) attains the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) has ceased to be a judge, district attorney, public defender, the Director of Indigent Defense Services, or clerk of superior court as provided in G.S. 135-53, except by death. If the member fails, following reasonable notification, to complete a refund application by the

required date, then the requirement that a refund application be completed shall be waived and the refund shall be paid without a refund application as a single lump-sum payment with applicable required North Carolina and federal income taxes withheld.

A member who has contributions in this System and is eligible for a retirement benefit as set forth in G.S. 135-57 shall begin to receive a monthly benefit no later than April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the member (i) attains the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) has ceased to be a judge, district attorney, public defender, the Director of Indigent Defense Services, or clerk of superior court as provided in G.S. 135-53, except by death. If the member fails, following reasonable notification, to complete the retirement process under this Chapter by the required beginning date, then the requirement that a retirement application and an election of payment plan form be completed shall be waived and the retirement allowance shall be paid as a single life annuity. The single life annuity shall be calculated and processed in accordance with G.S. 135-58.

For purposes of this subsection, a member shall not be considered to have ceased to be a judge, district attorney, public defender, the Director of Indigent Defense Services, or clerk of superior court as provided in G.S. 135-53 if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Consolidated Judicial Retirement System. A retirement benefit or lump-sum refund shall not be paid under this subsection if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Legislative Retirement System."

(d) This subsection applies to distributions and rollovers from the Plan. The Plan does not have mandatory distributions within the meaning of Section 401(a)(31) of the Internal Revenue Code. With respect to distributions from the Plan and notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a distributee's election under this Article, a distributee (including, after December 31, 2006, a non-spouse beneficiary if that non-spouse beneficiary elects a direct rollover only to an inherited traditional or Roth IRA as permitted under applicable federal law) may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Plan administrator, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover. As used in this subsection, an "eligible retirement plan" means an individual retirement account described in Section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in Section 408(b) of the Code, an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code, on and after January 1, 2009, a Roth IRA, or a qualified trust described in Section 401(a) of the Code, that accepts the distributee's eligible rollover distribution. Effective on and after January 1, 2002, an eligible retirement plan also means an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code and an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code that is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into that plan from this Plan. As used in this subsection, a "direct rollover" is a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee. Provided, an eligible rollover distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution shall not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of 10 years or more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under section 401(a)(9) of the Code; and the portion of any distribution that is not includible in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net realized appreciation with respect to employer securities). Effective as of January 1, 2002, and notwithstanding the exclusion of any after-tax portion from such a rollover distribution in the preceding sentence, a portion of a distribution shall not fail to be an eligible rollover distribution merely because the portion consists of after-tax employee contributions which are not includible in gross income. That portion may be transferred, pursuant to applicable federal law, to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or (b) of the Code, to a qualified defined benefit plan, or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in Section 401(a), 403(a), or 403(b) of the Code that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible. The definition of eligible retirement plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to surviving spouse, or to a spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Section 414(p) of the Internal Revenue Code, or a court-ordered equitable distribution of marital property. as provided under G.S. 50-20.1. Effective on and after January 1, 2007, notwithstanding any other provision of this subsection, a nonspouse beneficiary of a deceased member may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the administrator of the Board of Trustees of this Retirement System, to directly roll over any portion of the beneficiary's distribution from the Retirement System; however, such rollover shall conform with the provisions of section 402(c)(11) of the Code.

#### History.

1989, c. 276, s. 4; 1993, c. 531, s. 8; 1995, c. 361, s. 2; 2002-71, s. 8; 2009-66, s. 1(b); 2012-130, s. 4(d); 2015-164, s. 10(c); 2020-48, s. 1.2(c); 2024-9, s. 3(c).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(e), made the amendment of subsection (c1) of this section by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(c), effective January 1, 2021, and applicable to members on or after that date, and further provides: "If a member attains age 70 and one half years of age on or before December 31, 2019, then the statute that is in effect on the day the member attains age 70 and one half years of age will be applicable to that member."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.2(c), in subsection (c1), in the first paragraph, substituted "G.S. 135-57" for "G.S. 135-58(a6)" and "72 years" for "70 and one-half years" in the first sentence, and deleted the last two sentences, which read: "For purposes of this subsection, a member shall not be considered to have ceased to be a judge, district attorney, public defender, the Director of Indigent Defense Services, or clerk of superior court as provided in G.S. 135-53 if the member is actively contributing to the

Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Consolidated Judicial Retirement System. A lump-sum refund shall not be paid under this subsection if the member is actively contributing to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, or Consolidated Judicial Retirement System.", in the second paragraph, substituted "G.S. 135-57" for "G.S. 120-4.21" and "72 years" for "70 and one-half years" in the first sentence, substituted "Chapter 135" for "Chapter 120" in the second sentence, and substituted "G.S. 135-58" for "G.S. 120-4.21" in the last sentence, and in the third paragraph, in the last sentence, added "or lump-sum refund" near the beginning and substituted "Legislative Retirement System" for "Consolidated Judicial Retirement System" at the end; and made minor stylistic changes. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 3(c), effective June 20, 2024, in subsection (c1) of this section, substituted "the applicable age under section 401(a)(9)(C)(v) of the Internal Revenue Code" for "72 years of age" in the first and second paragraphs, and substituted "under this Chapter by the required beginning date" for "as set forth under Chapter 135 of the General Statutes by such required beginning date" in the second paragraph.

# § 135-75. Deduction for payments allowed.

- (a) Any beneficiary who is a member of a domiciled employees' or retirees' association that has at least 2,000 members, the majority of whom are active or retired employees of the State or public school employees, may authorize, in writing, the periodic deduction from the beneficiary's retirement benefits a designated lump sum to be paid to the employees' or retirees' association. The authorization shall remain in effect until revoked by the beneficiary. A plan of deductions pursuant to this section shall become void if the employees' or retirees' association engages in collective bargaining with the State, any political subdivision of the State, or any local school administrative unit.
- (b) Any beneficiary eligible for coverage under the State Health Plan may also authorize, in writing, the monthly deduction from the beneficiary's retirement benefits of a designated lump sum to be paid to the State Health Plan for any dependent whom the beneficiary wishes to cover under the State Health Plan. In the event that the beneficiary's own State Health Plan coverage is contributory, in whole or in part, the beneficiary may also authorize a designated

lump sum to be paid to the State Health Plan on behalf of the beneficiary. In addition, a beneficiary may similarly authorize the deduction for supplemental voluntary insurance benefits, provided that the deduction is authorized by the Department of State Treasurer and is payable to a company with which the Department of State Treasurer has or had an exclusive contractual relationship. Any such authorization shall remain in effect until revoked by the beneficiary.

# History.

2002-126, s. 6.4(e); 2012-178, s. 4(d).

# § 135-75.1. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies committed while serving as elected government official.

- (a) Except as provided in G.S. 135-56(g), the Board of Trustees shall not pay any retirement benefits or allowances, except for a return of member contributions plus interest, to any member who is convicted of any felony under the federal laws listed in subsection (b) of this section or the laws of this State listed in subsection (c) of this section if all of the following apply:
  - (1) The federal or State offense is committed while serving as a justice, judge, district attorney, or clerk of superior court.
  - (2) The conduct on which the federal or State offense is based is directly related to the member's service as a justice, judge, district attorney, or clerk of superior court.
  - (b) The federal offenses covered by this section are as follows:
    - (1) A felony violation of 18 U.S.C. § 201 (Bribery of public officials and witnesses), 18 U.S.C. § 286 (Conspiracy to defraud the Government with respect to claims), 18 U.S.C. § 287 (False, fictitious or fraudulent claims), 18 U.S.C. § 371 (Conspiracy to commit offense or to defraud United States), 18 U.S.C. § 597 (Expenditures to influence voting), 18 U.S.C. § 599 (Promise of appointment by candidate), 18 U.S.C. § 606 (Intimidation to secure political contributions), 18 U.S.C. § 641 (Public money, property, or records), 18 U.S.C. § 666 (Embezzlement and theft), 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (Statements or entries generally), 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (Frauds and swindles), 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Fraud by wire, radio, or television), 18 U.S.C. § 1503 (Influencing or injuring officer or juror generally), 18 U.S.C. § 1951 (Interference with commerce by threats or violence), 18 U.S.C. § 1952 (Interstate and foreign travel or transportation in aid of racketeering enterprises), 18 U.S.C. § 1956 (Laundering of monetary instruments), 18 U.S.C. § 1962 (Prohibited activities), or section 7201 of the Internal Revenue Code (Attempt to evade or defeat tax).

- (2) Reserved for future codification purposes.
- (c) The offenses under the laws of this State covered by this section are as follows:
  - (1) A felony violation of Article 29, 30, or 30A of Chapter 14 of the General Statutes (Relating to bribery, obstructing justice, and secret listening) or G.S. 14-228 (Buying and selling offices), or Part 1 of Article 14 of Chapter 120 of the General Statutes (Code of Legislative Ethics), Article 20 or 22 of Chapter 163 of the General Statutes (Relating to absentee ballots, corrupt practices and other offenses against the elective franchise, and regulating of contributions and expenditures in political campaigns).
  - (2) Perjury or false information as follows:
    - a. Perjury committed under G.S. 14-209 in falsely denying the commission of an act that constitutes an offense within the purview of an offense listed in subdivision (1) of subsection (c) of this section.
    - b. Subornation of perjury committed under G.S. 14-210 in connection with the false denial of another as specified by subdivision (2) of this subsection.
    - c. Perjury under Article 22A of Chapter 163 of the General Statutes.
- (d) All monies forfeited under this section shall be remitted to the Civil Penalty and Forfeiture Fund.

#### History.

2007-179, s. 4(a); 2017-6, s. 3; 2018-146, ss. 3.1(a), (b), 6.1.

# Re-recodification; Technical and Conforming Changes.

Session Laws 2017-6, s. 3, provides, in part: "The Revisor of Statutes shall recodify Chapter 138A of the General Statutes, Chapter 120C of the General Statutes, as well as Chapter 163 of the General Statutes, as amended by this act, into a new Chapter 163A of the General Statutes to be entitled 'Elections and Ethics Enforcement Act,' as enacted by Section 4 of this act. The Revisor may also recodify into the new Chapter 163A of the General Statutes other existing statutory laws relating to elections and ethics enforcement that are located elsewhere in the General Statutes as the Revisor deems appropriate." The Revisor was further authorized to make additional technical and conforming changes to catchlines, internal citations, and other references throughout the General Statutes to effectuate this recodification. Pursuant to this authority, the Revisor of Statutes substituted "Part 1 of Article 21 or Article 22 of Chapter 163A" for "Article 20 or 22 of Chapter 163" in subdivision (c)(1), and substituted "Article 23 of Chapter 163A" for "Article 22A of Chapter 163" in sub-subdivision (c)(2)c.

Session Laws 2018-146, ss. 3.1(a), (b) and 6.1, repealed Session Laws 2017-6, s. 3, and authorized the Revisor of Statutes to re-recodify Chapter 163A into Chapters 163, 138A, and 120C and to revert the changes made by the Revisor pursuant to Session Laws 2017-6, s. 3. Pursuant to this authority, the Revisor of Statutes reverted the changes to the references in this section.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2007-179, s. 5, made this section effective July 1, 2007, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2007-179, s. 4(a), enacted this section with a subdivision (b)(1), but no subdivision (b)(2). Subsection (b) has been set out in the form above at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

# § 135-75.1A. Forfeiture of retirement benefits for certain felonies related to employment or holding office.

- (a) Except as provided in G.S. 135-56(j), the Board of Trustees shall not pay any retirement benefits or allowances, except for a return of member contributions plus interest, to any member who is convicted of any felony under federal law or the laws of this State if all of the following apply:
  - (1) The offense is committed while the member is in service.
  - (2) The conduct resulting in the member's conviction is directly related to the member's office or employment.
- (b) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.3(c), effective June 26, 2020.
- (c) If a member or former member whose benefits under the System were forfeited under this section, except for the return of member contributions plus interest, subsequently receives an unconditional pardon of innocence, or the conviction is vacated or set aside for any reason, then the member or former member may seek a reversal of the benefit forfeiture by presenting sufficient evidence to the State Treasurer. If the State Treasurer determines a reversal of the benefit forfeiture is appropriate, then all benefits will be restored upon repayment of all accumulated contributions plus interest. Repayment of all accumulated contributions that have been received by the individual under the forfeiture provisions of this section must be made in a total lump-sum payment with interest compounded annually at a rate of six and one-half percent (6.5%) for each calendar year from the year of forfeiture to the year of repayment. An individual receiving a reversal of benefit forfeiture must receive reinstatement of the service credit forfeited.

# History.

2012-193, s. 5; 2020-48, s. 4.3(c).

#### Cross References.

As to forfeiture of retirement benefits in the Legislative Retirement System for certain felonies related to employment or holding office, see G.S. 120-4.33A.

As to forfeiture of retirement benefits in the Retirement System for Teachers and State Employees for certain felonies related to employment or holding office, see G.S. 135-18.10A.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 18, made this section effective December 1, 2012, and applicable to offenses committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 17, as amended by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 3, provides: "The State Treasurer shall ne-

gotiate a memorandum of agreement with the United States Attorneys for the Eastern, Middle, and Western Districts of North Carolina whereby the prosecutors will notify the State Treasurer of convictions under G.S. 135-18.10A(b), 128-38.4A(b), 135-75.1A(b), 120-4.33A(b), 135-5.1(h), 135-5.4(h), and 58-86-100(b)."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.3(c), effective June 26, 2020, deleted subsection (b), which read: "Subdivision (2) of subsection (a) of this section shall apply to felony convictions where the court finds under G.S. 15A-1340.16(d)(9) or other applicable State or federal procedure that the member's conduct is directly related to the member's office or employment."

# § 135-75.1B. Prohibition on purchase of forfeited service.

Any member whose retirement benefits have been forfeited under G.S. 135-75.1 or G.S. 135-75.1A is prohibited from subsequently purchasing or repurchasing either those forfeited benefits or any creditable membership service associated with those forfeited benefits and that service may not be used for the purposes of eligibility for benefits in any retirement system that provides reciprocal benefits.

#### History.

2018-52, s. 6(c); 2020-48, s. 4.5(c).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit programs, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the 'Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 4.5(c), effective June 26, 2020, added "and that service may not be used for the purposes of eligibility for benefits in any retirement system that provides reciprocal benefits" at the end.

# § 135-75.2. Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance.

A person is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor if the person, with the intent to defraud, receives money as a result of cashing, depositing, or receiving a direct deposit of a decedent's retirement allowance and the person (i) knows that he or she is not entitled to the decedent's retirement allowance, (ii) receives the benefit at least two months after the date of the retiree's or beneficiary's death, and (iii) does not attempt to inform this Retirement System of the retiree's or beneficiary's death.

#### History.

2011-232, s. 10(c); 2013-288, s. 9(d).

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2011-232, s. 11, made this section effective December 1, 2011, and applicable to acts committed on or after that date.

Session Laws 2013-288, s. 12, made the amendment to this section by Session Laws 2013-288, s. 9(d), applicable to acts committed on or after December 1, 2013

# § 135-76. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

# ARTICLE 4A.

# UNIFORM SOLICITORIAL RETIREMENT ACT OF 1974.

# §§ 135-77 through 135-83. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1983 (Regular Session 1984), c. 1031, s. 24.

#### Cross References.

For the Consolidated Judicial Retirement Act, see now G.S. 135-50 et seq.

# ARTICLE 4B.

# UNIFORM CLERKS OF SUPERIOR COURT RETIREMENT ACT OF 1975.

# §§ 135-84 through 135-86. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1983 (Regular Session, 1984), c. 1031, s. 24.

### Cross References.

For the Consolidated Judicial Retirement Act, see now G.S. 135-50 et seq.

# §§ 135-87 through 135-89. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

# ARTICLE 5.

# SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT INCOME ACT OF 1984.

# § 135-90. Short title and purpose.

- (a) This Article shall be known and may be cited as the "Supplemental Retirement Income Act of 1984".
- (b) The purpose of the Article is to attract and hold qualified employees and officials of the State of North Carolina and its political subdivisions by permitting them to participate in a profit sharing or salary reduction form of deferred compensation which will provide supplemental retirement income payments upon retirement, termination, hardship, and death as allowed under section 401(k), or any other relevant section, of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended. As used in this Article, the term "profit" means the excess revenue over expenditures prior to the expenditure of the amount which may be optionally made available for employees to be

placed in trust by the State and its political subdivisions on behalf of the employees and officials covered by this Article.

#### History.

1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 975; 2020-48, s. 1.3(a).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.3(a), effective June 26, 2020, deleted "disability" following "upon retirement" in the first sentence of subsection (b).

# § 135-91. Administration.

- (a) The provisions of this Article shall be administered by the Department of State Treasurer and the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees established in G.S. 135-96. The Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees shall create a Supplemental Retirement Income Plan as of January 1, 1985, to be administered under the provisions of this Article.
- (b) The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan shall have the power and privileges of a corporation and shall be known as the "Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina" and by this name all of its business shall be transacted.
- (c) The Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees shall have full power and authority to adopt rules and regulations for the administration of the Plan, provided they are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Article.
- (c1) Subject to the limitations specified in this subsection, the Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees may adopt a new or amended rule to impose or change administrative fees under the Plan, provided that the rule is adopted at a public meeting that complies with Article 33C of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes. At least 30 days prior to such public meeting, the Department of State Treasurer shall post a copy of a draft of the rule on the Department of State Treasurer's public website and, subject to the approval of the Department of State Treasurer, send copies of the draft rule to persons requesting a copy. During the 30-day period preceding the public meeting at which the rule is to be adopted, the Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees shall accept comments on the draft rule. Following the adoption or amendment of a rule concerning the imposition of, or a change to, an administrative fee, the Department of State Treasurer shall post the adopted rule to its public website and, subject to the approval of the Department of State Treasurer, provide a link or a copy of the adopted rule to persons requesting a copy. Rules adopted pursuant to this subsection shall remain in effect until amended or repealed by the Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees and are not subject to Article 2A of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes. This subsection applies only to rules regarding administrative fees charged by the Department of State Treasurer and the

Board of Trustees for the Supplemental Retirement Plan of North Carolina, the North Carolina Deferred Compensation Plan, and the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan. The Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees may not adopt a new or amended rule to impose or change an administrative fee under the Plan that exceeds the following amounts:

- (1) Twenty-five thousandths percent (0.025%) of assets for the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina.
- (2) Twenty-five thousandths percent (0.025%) of assets for the North Carolina Deferred Compensation Plan.
- (3) Five hundredths percent (0.05%) of assets for the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan.
- (c2) The Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees may appoint those agents, contractors, employees and committees as they deem advisable to carry out the terms and conditions of the Plan. In order to promote achievement of long-term investment objectives and to retain key public employees with investment functions, the Board of Trustees shall authorize the State Treasurer to establish market-oriented compensation plans, including salaries and performance-related bonuses, for employees possessing specialized skills or knowledge necessary for the proper administration of the Plan, who shall be exempt from the classification and compensation rules established by the Office of State Human Resources. The design and administration of those compensation plans shall be based on compensation studies conducted by a nationally recognized firm specializing in public fund investment compensation. The compensation and other associated employee benefits shall be apportioned directly from the Plan.
- (d) The Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees shall be charged with a fiduciary responsibility for managing all aspects of the Plan, including the receipt, maintenance, investment, and disposition of all Plan assets.
- (e) The administrative costs of the Plan may be charged to members or deducted from members' accounts in accordance with nondiscriminatory procedures established by the Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees.
- (f) Each institution of The University of North Carolina shall report the data and other information to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan pertaining to participants in the Optional Retirement Program as shall be required by the Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees.
- (g) Each political subdivision of the State that sponsors a retirement or pension plan with members who are members of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan shall report the data and other information to the Plan pertaining to members of the retire-

ment or pension plan as shall be required by the Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees.

#### History.

1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 975; 1985, c. 403, s. 1; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 948, s. 2; 2008-132, s. 1; 2015-164, s. 9(a); 2021-75, s. 5.1(a).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2008-132, s. 4, provides: "Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 135-91, G.S. 143B-426.24, or any other provision of law, effective from July 1, 2008, through June 30, 2009, the North Carolina 401(k) Plan and the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan shall be administered by a transitional Board of Trustees. The transitional Board of Trustees shall consist of nine members, as follows:

"(1) The two members of the Board of Trustees of the North Carolina 401(k) Plan who serve by virtue of their appointment to the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System by the General Assembly pursuant to G.S. 135-6(b)(4);

"(2) The two members of the Board of Trustees of the North Carolina Deferred Compensation Plan appointed by the General Assembly pursuant to G.S. 143B-426.24(2) and (3);

"(3) Two of the members of the Board of Trustees of the North Carolina 401(k) Plan who serve by virtue of their appointment to the Board of Trustees of the

Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System by the Governor pursuant to G.S. 135-6(b)(3), to be determined by the Governor;

"(4) Two of the members of the Board of Trustees of the North Carolina Deferred Compensation Plan appointed by the Governor pursuant to G.S. 143B-426.24(1), to be determined by the Governor:

"(5) The State Treasurer, ex officio, who shall serve as Chair."

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 5.1(b), provides: "Any administrative fee established or changed by the Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees pursuant to rules adopted under G.S. 135-91(c1), as amended by this section, shall apply prospectively to any amounts owed on or after the effective date of this act [July 1, 2021] to the Supplemental Retirement Plan of North Carolina, the North Carolina Deferred Compensation Plan, and the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan."

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 5.1(a), effective July 1, 2021, added subsection (c1), and redesignated the former last paragraph of subsection (c) as subsection (c2).

# § 135-92. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Membership.

- (a) The membership eligibility of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan shall consist of any of the following individuals who voluntarily elect to enroll in the Plan:
  - (1) Members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
  - (2) Members of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System.
  - (3) Members of the Legislative Retirement System.
  - (4) Members of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
  - (5) Law enforcement officers as defined under G.S. 143-166.30 and G.S. 143-166.50.
  - (6) Participants in the Optional Retirement Program provided for under G.S. 135-5.1.
  - (7) Members of retirement and pension plans sponsored by political subdivisions of the State so long as such plans are qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended.

- (8) Individuals required under the Internal Revenue Code to be eligible for participation in the Plan.
- (9) Employees of the University of North Carolina Health Care System.
- (b) The membership of any person in the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan shall cease upon any of the following:
  - (1) The withdrawal of a member's accumulated account.
  - (2) Retirement under the provisions of the Supplemental Income Retirement Plan.
  - (3) Death.

# History.

1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 975; 1985, c. 403, s. 2; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 948, s. 1; 2020-48, s. 1.3(b); 2024-1, s. 1.7(k).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.3(b), effective June 26, 2020, added "in the Plan" at

the end of the introductory paragraph of subsection (a); added subdivision (a)(8); added "any of the following" at the end of the introductory paragraph of subsection (b); and made minor punctuation and stylistic changes throughout.

Session Laws 2024-1, s. 1.7(k), effective retroactively to January 1, 2024, added subdivision (a)(9).

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 7(a), effective January 1, 2025, added subdivisions (a)(10) and (a)(11).

# § 135-92. (Effective January 1, 2025) Membership.

- (a) The membership eligibility of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan shall consist of any of the following individuals who voluntarily elect to enroll in the Plan:
  - (1) Members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
  - (2) Members of the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System.
  - (3) Members of the Legislative Retirement System.
  - (4) Members of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
  - (5) Law enforcement officers as defined under G.S. 143-166.30 and G.S. 143-166.50.
  - (6) Participants in the Optional Retirement Program provided for under G.S. 135-5.1.
  - (7) Members of retirement and pension plans sponsored by political subdivisions of the State so long as such plans are qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended.
  - (8) Individuals required under the Internal Revenue Code to be eligible for participation in the Plan.
  - (9) Employees of the University of North Carolina Health Care System.
  - (10) Part-time and full-time employees of an employer that has one or more employees eligible for the Plan pursuant to subdivisions (1) through (9) of this subsection.
  - (11) Part-time and full-time employees of a State agency or

institution, or any of its political subdivisions, that, with the consent of the Board of Trustees, has elected to allow its employees to enroll in the Plan.

- (b) The membership of any person in the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan shall cease upon any of the following:
  - (1) The withdrawal of a member's accumulated account.
  - (2) Retirement under the provisions of the Supplemental Income Retirement Plan.
  - (3) Death.

#### History.

1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 975; 1985, c. 403, s. 2; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 948, s. 1; 2020-48, s. 1.3(b); 2024-1, s. 1.7(k); 2024-8, s. 7(a).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.3(b), effective June 26, 2020, added "in the Plan" at

the end of the introductory paragraph of subsection (a); added subdivision (a)(8); added "any of the following" at the end of the introductory paragraph of subsection (b); and made minor punctuation and stylistic changes throughout.

Session Laws 2024-1, s. 1.7(k), effective retroactively to January 1, 2024, added subdivision (a)(9).

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 7(a), effective January 1, 2025, added subdivisions (a)(10) and (a)(11).

# § 135-93. (Effective until January 1, 2025) Contributions.

- (a) Each member may elect to reduce his compensation by the amount of his contribution to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan and that amount shall be held in the member's account. Members electing such a reduction in compensation may authorize payroll deductions for making contributions to the Plan.
- (b) The State and any of its political subdivisions may make contributions to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan on behalf of any of its members, provided these contributions are nondiscriminatory in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended, and are duly appropriated by their governing bodies, and the contributions are held in the member's account. Employer contributions to the Plan are declared expenditures for a public purpose.
- (c) The Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees shall establish maximum annual additions that may be made to a member's account and provide for multiple plan reductions in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended.

#### History.

1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 975.

January 1, 2025, added the second sentence in subsection (b).

# Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 7(b), effective

# § 135-93. (Effective January 1, 2025) Contributions.

(a) Each member may elect to reduce his compensation by the

amount of his contribution to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan and that amount shall be held in the member's account. Members electing such a reduction in compensation may authorize payroll deductions for making contributions to the Plan.

- (b) The State and any of its political subdivisions may make contributions to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan on behalf of any of its members, provided these contributions are nondiscriminatory in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended, and are duly appropriated by their governing bodies, and the contributions are held in the member's account. An employer may make contributions to the Plan on behalf of its members who are eligible for the Plan under subdivisions (1) through (9) of G.S. 135-92(a) without making the same, or any, contributions on behalf of members who are eligible under subdivisions (10) and (11) of G.S. 135-92(a) and doing so shall not be considered out of compliance with this subsection. Employer contributions to the Plan are declared expenditures for a public purpose.
- (c) The Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees shall establish maximum annual additions that may be made to a member's account and provide for multiple plan reductions in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended.

History.

1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 975; 2024-8, s. 7(b).

January 1, 2025, added the second sentence in subsection (b).

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2024-8, s. 7(b), effective

## § 135-94. Benefits.

- (a) The Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees shall establish a schedule of supplemental retirement income benefits for all members of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, subject to the following limitations:
  - (1) Except as provided in G.S. 143-166.30(g1) and G.S. 143-166.50(e2), the balance in each member's account shall be fully vested at all times and shall not be subject to forfeiture for any reason.
  - (2) All amounts maintained in a member's account shall be invested according to the member's election, as approved by the Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees, including but not limited to, a time deposit account, a fixed investment account, or a variable investment account. Transfers of accumulated funds shall be permitted among the various approved forms of investment.
  - (3) The Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees shall provide members with alternative payment options, including survivors' options, for the distribution of benefits

from the Plan upon retirement, termination, hardship, and death.

- (4) With the consent of the Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees, amounts may be transferred from other qualified plans to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, provided that the trust from which such funds are transferred permits the transfer to be made and, the transfer will not jeopardize the tax status of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan.
- (5) At the discretion of the Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees, a loan program may be implemented for members which complies with applicable State and federal laws and regulations.
- (b) All provisions of the Plan shall be interpreted and applied by the Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner.
- (c) All benefits under the Plan shall become payable on and after January 1, 1985.
- (d) Contributions under the Plan may be made on and after January 1, 1985.

#### History.

1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 975; 1993, c. 531, s. 9; 2012-193, s. 15; 2020-48, s. 1.3(c).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 18, made the amendments to subdivision (a)(1) by Session Laws 2012-193, s. 15, applicable

to offenses committed on or after December 1, 2012.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.3(c), effective June 26, 2020, deleted "disability" following "upon retirement" in subdivision (a)(3)

## § 135-95. Exemption from garnishment, attachment.

Except for the applications of the provisions of G.S. 143-166.30(g1), G.S. 143-166.50(e2), G.S. 110-136, and G.S. 110-136.3 et seq., and in connection with a court-ordered equitable distribution under G.S. 50-20, the right of a member in the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan to the benefits provided under this Article is nonforfeitable and exempt from levy, sale, and garnishment.

## History.

1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 975; 1985, c. 402; 1989, c. 665, s. 2; c. 792, s. 2.6; 2012-193, s. 16.

the amendments to this section by Session Laws 2012-193, s. 16, applicable to offenses committed on or after December 1, 2012.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 18, made

## § 135-96. Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees.

(a) The Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees is established to administer the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan

established under the provisions of this Article and the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan established under G.S. 143B-426.24, and the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan established under G.S. 115C-341.2.

- (b) The Board consists of nine voting members, as follows:
  - (1) Six persons appointed by the Governor who have experience in finance and investments, one of whom shall be a State employee, and one of whom shall be a retired State or local governmental employee;
  - (2) One person appointed by the General Assembly upon the recommendation of the Speaker of the House of Representatives:
  - (3) One person appointed by the General Assembly upon the recommendation of the President Pro Tempore of the Senate; and
  - (4) The State Treasurer, ex officio, who shall be the Chair.
- (c) Effective July 1, 2016:
  - (1) The appointments made by the General Assembly pursuant to subdivisions (2) and (3) of subsection (b) of this section shall be for initial terms of three years, to expire June 30, 2019.
  - (2) Three of the appointments made by the Governor pursuant to subdivision (1) of subsection (b) of this section shall be for initial terms of one year, to expire June 30, 2017.
  - (3) Three of the appointments made by the Governor pursuant to subdivision (1) of subsection (b) of this section shall be for initial terms of two years, to expire June 30, 2018.

Upon the expiration of these initial terms, appointments for all members shall be for terms of three years beginning on the day following the expiration date of the previous member's term.

- (c1) A member shall continue to serve until the member's successor is duly appointed, but a holdover under this provision does not affect the expiration date of the succeeding term. No member of the Board may serve longer than any of the following:
  - (1) Two consecutive three-year terms.
  - (2) Three consecutive terms of any length, in the event that one or more of the terms is for fewer than three years in duration or the member serves a partial term as result of filling a vacancy.
  - (3) Eight consecutive years, regardless of term lengths.
- (d) Other than ex officio members, members appointed by the Governor shall serve at the Governor's pleasure. An ex officio member may designate in writing, filed with the Board, any employee of the member's department to act at any meeting of the Board from which the member is absent, to the same extent that the member could act if present in person at such meeting.

(e) The Board may retain the services of independent appraisers, auditors, actuaries, attorneys, investment counseling firms, statisticians, custodians, or other persons or firms possessing specialized skills or knowledge necessary for the proper administration of investment programs that the Board administers pursuant to this section.

## History.

2008-132, s. 2; 2009-378, s. 1; 2013-287, s. 1; 2015-164, s. 1(b).

# Early Retirement Incentive Program for UNC.

Session Laws 2021-80, s. 5(a)-(c), provides: "(a) The Board of Governors of The University of North Carolina may authorize the adoption of an early retirement incentive program to provide long-term cost-savings to The University of North Carolina and improved operational efficiencies for The University of North Carolina to remain in effect until December 31, 2022. The University of North Carolina System Office shall develop policies and regulations for the early retirement incentive program that shall provide, at a minimum, the following:

"(1) To participate in the program, an employee must be eligible for early or full service retirement if participating in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina (TS-ERS) or must be at least age 55 and vested in the Optional Retirement Program (ORP).

"(2) Employees approved for the early retirement incentive program may receive a severance payment of not less than one month of an employee's annual base salary and not greater than six months of the annual base salary, based on criteria to be established by the President and on availability of funds. This severance payment shall be exempt from payroll deductions for retirement contributions and shall not be considered compensation for the purposes of the supplemental plans administered by the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees established in G.S. 135-96.

"(3) If an employee who is approved for the early retirement incentive does not qualify for the full employer premium contribution for retiree health coverage provided under TSERS or ORP, then the constituent institution may, at its option, provide the employee an amount equivalent to 12 months of the full employer contribution to the employee health insurance premium.

"(4) The program may be provided to employees both subject to and exempt from the North Carolina Human Resources Act. The program shall not be made available to employees receiving disability or workers' compensation benefits.

"(b) By October 1, 2021, and December 1, 2022, if an early retirement incentive program is implemented under this section at The University of North Carolina, The University of North Carolina System Office shall report to the Department of the State Treasurer and the Fiscal Research Division of the General Assembly on implementation of the early retirement incentive program, including the number of employees participating by each constituent institution and total amount paid out by the program

"(c) This section expires December 31, 2022."

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2015-164, s. 1(a), provides: "The terms of office of the present members of the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees shall expire on June 30, 2016. Effective for terms to begin on July 1, 2016, the members of the Board shall be appointed as provided in G.S. 135-96, as amended by this act."

# § 135-97. Immunity.

A person serving on the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees shall be immune individually from civil liability for monetary damages, except to the extent covered by insurance, for any act or failure to act arising out of that service, except where any of the following apply:

- The person was not acting within the scope of that person's official duties.
- (2) The person was not acting in good faith.
- (3) The person committed gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct that resulted in the damages or injury.
- (4) The person derived an improper personal financial benefit, either directly or indirectly, from the transaction.
- (5) The person incurred the liability from the operation of a motor vehicle.

## History.

2013-287, s. 5.

# §§ 135-98, 135-99. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

# ARTICLE 6.

# DISABILITY INCOME PLAN OF NORTH CAROLINA.

# § 135-100. Short title and purpose.

- (a) This Article shall be known and may be cited as the "Disability Income Plan of North Carolina".
- (b) The purpose of this Article is to provide equitable replacement income for eligible teachers and employees who become temporarily or permanently disabled for the performance of their duty prior to retirement, and to encourage disabled teachers and employees who are able to work to seek gainful employment after a reasonable period of rehabilitation, and to provide for the accrual of retirement and ancillary benefits to the date the eligible teacher or employee meets the requirements for retirement under the provisions of this Chapter.

#### History.

1987, c. 738, s. 29(q).

#### Study Commission on State Disability Income Plan, Death Benefit Plan, and Separate Insurance Benefits Plan for Law Enforcement Officers.

Session Laws 2003-284, ss. 30.20(a) through (i), as amended by Session Laws 2004-78, s. 5, provides: "(a) There is established a Study Commission on the State Disability Income Plan, the State Death Benefit Plan, and the Separate Insurance Benefits Plan for Law Enforcement Officers.

"(b) The Commission shall be comprised of 13 members as follows:

- "(1) Four persons appointed by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, one of whom shall be familiar with disability issues relating to State employees, one of whom shall be familiar with disability issues relating to school employees, and one of whom shall be familiar with workers' compensation issues relating to State employees or school employees.
- "(2) Four persons appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives, one of whom shall be familiar with disability issues relating to State employees, one of whom shall be familiar with disability issues relating to school employees, and one of whom shall be familiar with workers' compensation issues

relating to State employees or school employees.

"(3) The State Treasurer, or the Treasurer's designee.

"(4) The Executive Administrator of the Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan.

"(5) The Chair of the North Carolina Industrial Commission, or the Chair's designee.

"(6) One person appointed by the President of The University of North Carolina who is familiar with disability issues relating to university employees.

"(7) One person appointed by the President of the North Carolina Community Colleges System who is familiar with disability issues relating to community college employees.

"Any vacancy shall be filled by the officer who made the original appointment.

"(c) The Commission shall study the plan design, funding, and administration of the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina established pursuant to Article 6 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Death Benefit Plan established pursuant to G.S. 135-5( l), and the Separate Insurance Benefits Plan for State and Local Governmental Law Enforcement Officers established pursuant to G.S. 143-166.60 to determine what changes, if any, should be made to those Plans. The Commission shall consider what changes could be made to the Plans that would enhance the efficiency of and reduce the cost of the Plans to the State and its employees.

"(d) The President Pro Tempore of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives shall designate cochairs of the Commission from among their respective appointees. The Commission shall meet upon the call of the cochairs. Members of the Commission shall receive per diem, subsistence, and travel allowance in accordance with G.S. 120-3.1, 138-5, or 138-6, as appropriate. The Commission, while in the discharge of official duties, may exercise all powers provided for under the provisions of G.S. 120-19 and G.S. 120-19.1 through G.S. 120-19.4. The Commission shall terminate the earlier of the delivery of its final report or December 31, 2004.

"(e) The Legislative Services Commission, through the Legislative Services Officer, shall assign professional staff to assist the Commission in its work. The House of Representatives' and the Senate's Directors of Legislative Assistants shall assign clerical staff to the Commission."

sion, and the expenses relating to the clerical employees shall be borne by the Commission. Subject to the approval of the Legislative Services Commission, the Commission may meet in the Legislative Building or the Legislative Office Building.

"(f) The Commission shall employ an actuary with expertise in the areas of disability income insurance and group life insurance to assist the Commission in its work pursuant to the procedure set forth in G.S. 120-32.02. This actuary shall not be a State employee or a person currently under contract with the State to provide services. If necessary, the Commission may hire other employees as provided in G.S. 120-32.02.

"(g) The Commission may meet during a regular or extra session of the General Assembly, subject to approval of the President Pro Tempore of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives.

"(h) The Commission shall submit a report of the results of its study, including any legislative recommendations, to the General Assembly not later than January 1, 2005.

"(i) Of the funds appropriated to the General Assembly, the Legislative Services Commission shall allocate funds to implement the provisions of subsections (a) through (i) of this section."

Session Laws 2006-248, s. 17.1, provides: "There is established a Study Commission on the State Disability Income Plan and Other Related Plans."

Session Laws 2006-248, s. 17.2, provides: "The Commission shall be comprised of 13 members as follows:

"(1) Four persons appointed by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, one of whom shall be familiar with disability issues relating to State employees, one of whom shall be familiar with disability issues relating to school employees, one of whom shall be familiar with workers' compensation issues relating to State employees or school employees, and one at-large.

"(2) Four persons appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives, one of whom shall be familiar with disability issues relating to State employees, one of whom shall be familiar with disability issues relating to school employees, one of whom shall be familiar with workers' compensation issues relating to State employees or school employees, and one at-large.

"(3) The State Treasurer or the Treasurer's designee.

"(4) The Executive Administrator of the Teachers' and State Employees' Comprehensive Major Medical Plan.

"(5) The Chair of the North Carolina Industrial Commission or the Chair's designee.

"(6) One person appointed by the President of The University of North Carolina who is familiar with disability issues relating to university employees.

"(7) One person appointed by the President of the North Carolina Community Colleges System who is familiar with disability issues relating to community college employees.

"Any vacancy shall be filled by the officer who made the original appointment. The President Pro Tempore of the Senate and the Speaker of the House shall each appoint a co-chair. The Commission shall meet at the call of the co-chairs."

Session Laws 2006-248, s. 17.3, provides: "The Commission shall study the plan design, funding, and administration of the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina established pursuant to Article 6 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, the Death Benefit Plan established pursuant to G.S. 135-5(l), and the Separate Insurance Benefits Plan for State and Local Governmental Law Enforcement Officers established pursuant to G.S. 143-166.60 to determine what changes, if any, should be made to those Plans. The Commission shall consider what changes could be made to the Plans that would enhance the efficiency of and reduce the cost of the Plans to the State and its employees."

Session Laws 2006-248, s. 17.4, provides: "The President Pro Tempore of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives shall designate cochairs of the Commission from among their respective appointees. The Commission shall meet upon the call of the cochairs. Members of the Commission shall receive per diem, subsistence, and travel allowance in accordance with G.S. 120-3.1, 138-5, or 138-6, as appropriate. The Commission, while in the discharge of official duties, may exercise all powers provided for under the provisions of G.S. 120-19 and G.S. 120-19.1 through G.S. 120-19.4.

Session Laws 2006-248, s. 17.5, provides: "The Legislative Services Commission, through the Legislative Services Officer, shall assign professional staff to assist the Commission in its work. The House of Representatives' and the Senate's Directors of Legislative Assistants

shall assign clerical staff to the Commission, and the expenses relating to the clerical employees shall be borne by the Commission. Subject to the approval of the Legislative Services Commission, the Commission may meet in the Legislative Building or the Legislative Office Building."

Session Laws 2006-248, s. 17.6, provides: "The Commission shall employ an actuary with expertise in the areas of disability income insurance and group life insurance to assist the Commission in its work pursuant to the procedure set forth in G.S. 120-32.02. This actuary shall not be a State employee or a person currently under contract with the State to provide services. If necessary, the Commission may hire other employees as provided in G.S. 120-32.02."

Session Laws 2006-248, s. 17.7, provides: "The Commission may meet during a regular or extra session of the General Assembly, subject to approval of the President Pro Tempore of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives."

Session Laws 2006-248, s. 17.8, provides: "The Commission shall submit a report of the results of its study, including any legislative recommendations, to the General Assembly not later than January 1, 2007."

Session Laws 2006-248, s. 17.9, provides: "Of the funds appropriated to the General Assembly, the Legislative Services Commission shall allocate funds to implement the provisions of this Part."

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2003'."

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 49.3, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2003-2005 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2003-2005 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 49.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 4.22(a)-(d), provides: "(a) This section shall apply to the following General Statutes:

- "(1) Article 1A of Chapter 120.
- "(2) Article 3 of Chapter 128.
- "(3) Article 1 of Chapter 135.
- "(4) Article 4 of Chapter 135.
- "(5) Article 6 of Chapter 135.

"(b) Whenever the medical board, as established under G.S. 128-28( *l*), 135-6(k), or 135-102(d), is required to make a determination or certification of eligibility for disability benefits, the Director of the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer, or the Director's designee, may make an interim determination or an interim certification that a member or beneficiary is eligible for disability benefits. The Director may not make a determination or certification that a member or beneficiary is not eligible for disability benefits.

"(c) The medical board shall review any interim determinations or interim certifications made in accordance with this section as soon as practicable and shall then make a final determination or final certification for disability benefits. If, subsequent to an interim determination or interim certification, the medical board makes a final determination that a member or beneficiary is not eligible for disability benefits, then any payment to that member or beneficiary shall cease and the determination shall be applied prospectively only so that the final determination will not require any refund by the member or beneficiary to the applicable retirement system or benefit plan for payments or benefits received during the interim period before the final determination is made.

"(d) This section is effective when it becomes law. Subsection (b) of this section expires August 1, 2020. Any interim determinations or interim certifications made, as allowed under subsection (b) of this section, will remain valid until a final determination is made, in accordance with subsection (c) of this section."

Session Laws 2020-3, s. 5, is a severability clause.

## § 135-101. Definitions.

The following words and phrases as used in this Article, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context, shall have the following meanings:

- (1) "Base rate of compensation" shall mean the regular monthly rate of compensation not including pay for shift premiums, overtime, or other types of extraordinary pay; in all cases of doubt, the Board of Trustees shall determine what is "base rate of compensation".
- (2) "Beneficiary" shall mean any person in receipt of a disability allowance or other benefit as provided in this Article.
- (3) "Benefits" shall mean the monthly disability income payments made pursuant to the provisions of this Article. In the event of death on or after the first day of a month, or in the event the short-term disability benefit ends on or after the first day of a month where the beneficiary is eligible and applies for an early service or a service retirement allowance the first of the following month, the monthly benefit shall not be prorated and shall equal the benefits paid in the previous month.
- (4) "Board of Trustees" shall mean the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System as provided in G.S. 135-6.
- (5) "Compensation" shall mean any compensation as the term is defined in G.S. 135-1(7a).
- (6) "Disability" or "Disabled" shall mean the mental or physical incapacity for the further performance of duty of a participant or beneficiary; provided that such incapacity was not the result of terrorist activity, active participation in a riot,

- committing or attempting to commit a felony, or intentionally self-inflicted injury.
- (7) "Earnings" shall mean all income for personal services rendered or otherwise receivable, including, but not limited to, salaries and wages, fees, commissions, royalties, awards and other similar items and self-employment; in all cases of doubt, the Board of Trustees shall determine what are "earnings".
- (8) "Employee" shall mean any employee as the term is defined in G.S. 135-1(10).
- (9) "Employer" shall mean any employer as the term is defined in G.S. 135-1(11).
- (10) "Medical Board" shall mean the board of physicians as provided in G.S. 135-102(d).
- (11) "Member" shall mean any member as the term is defined in G.S. 135-1(13).
- (12) "Membership service" shall mean any service as defined in G.S. 135-1(14).
- (13) "Participant" shall mean any teacher or employee eligible to participate in the Plan as provided in G.S. 135-103.
- (14) "Plan" shall mean the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina as provided in this Article.
- (15) "Retirement" shall mean the withdrawal from active service with a retirement allowance granted under the provisions of Article 1 of this Chapter.
- (16) "Retirement System" shall mean the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina as defined in G.S. 135-2.
- (17) "Service" shall mean service as a teacher or employee as defined in G.S. 135-1(10) or G.S. 135-1(25).
- (18) "State" shall mean the State of North Carolina.
- (19) "Teacher" shall mean any teacher as the term is defined in G.S. 135-1(25).
- (20) "Trial Rehabilitation" shall mean a return to service in any capacity, if the return occurs within the waiting period as provided in G.S. 135-104; shall mean a return to service in the same capacity that existed prior to the disability if the return occurs within the short-term disability period as provided in G.S. 135-105; and shall mean a return to service in any capacity and in any position provided the salary earned is equal to or greater than the salary upon which the long-term disability benefit is based immediately preceding the return to service, if the return occurs within the long-term disability period as provided in G.S. 135-106.
- (21) "Workers' Compensation" shall mean any disability income benefits provided under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, excluding any payments for a permanent partial disability rating.

#### History.

1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 1989, c. 717, ss. 7, 8; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 779, s. 1; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, s. 7.30(s); 2003-284, s. 30.20(j); 2004-78, s. 1; 2006-74, ss. 1, 2.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2003'."

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 30.20(j), effective July 1, 2003, and applicable only

to persons who are not vested in the disability plan in question on July 1, 2003, substituted "physical or cognitive limitations that prevent working as determined by the Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees"; for "mental or physical incapacity for the further performance of duty of a participant or beneficiary" in subdivision (6).

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 49.5, is a severability clause.

Subdivision (6), as amended by Session Laws 2004-78, s. 1, is effective retroactively from and after July 1, 2003.

#### § 135-102. Administration.

- (a) The provisions of this Article shall be administered by the Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, except where otherwise provided, and all expenses in connection with the administration of the Plan, except for expenses incurred by and properly charged to the employer, shall be charged against and paid from the trust fund as created and provided in this Article.
- (b) The Plan shall have the power and privileges of a corporation and under the name of Disability Income Plan of North Carolina shall all of its business be transacted, all of its funds invested and all of its cash, securities and other property be held.
- (c) The Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees shall have the full power and authority to adopt rules for the administration of the Plan not inconsistent with the provisions of this Article. The Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees may appoint those agents, contractors, and employees as they deem advisable to carry out the terms and conditions of the Plan.
- (d) The Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees shall designate a Medical Board to be composed of not fewer than three nor more than five physicians not eligible for benefits under the Plan. Other physicians, medical clinics, institutions or agencies may be employed to conduct such medical examinations and tests necessary to provide the Medical Board with clinical evidence as may be needed to determine eligibility for benefits under the Plan. The Medical Board shall investigate the results of medical examinations, clinical evidence, all essential statements and certifications by and on behalf of applicants for benefits and shall report in writing to the Board of Trustees the conclusions and recommendations upon all matters referred to [it], except as otherwise provided in this Chapter.
- (e) The Department of State Treasurer and the Board of Trustees may provide the benefits according to the terms and conditions of the Plan as provided in this Article either by purchasing a contract

or contracts with any insurance company licensed to do business in this State or by establishing a separate trust fund qualified under Section 501(c)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

#### History.

1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 2023-89, s. 3.1; 2023-105, s. 3.3.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 3.2, amended this section in the coded bill drafting format provided by G.S. 120-20.1. The amendment struck through the word "it" following "referred to" in the last sentence of subsection (d). The bracketed word "[it]" has been inserted in that location at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 3.6, provides: "The Board of Trustees shall adopt

rules to implement the provisions of this Part [Part III of Session Laws 2023-105]."

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 3.1, effective January 1, 2024, inserted "except where otherwise provided" in subsection (a).

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 3.2, effective January 1, 2024, substituted "all matters referred to, except as otherwise provided in this Chapter" for "all matters referred to it" at the end of subsection (d).

# § 135-103. Eligible participants.

- (a) The eligible participants of the Disability Income Plan shall consist of:
  - (1) All teachers and employees in service and members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or participants of the Optional Retirement Program on January 1, 1988.
  - (2) All persons who become teachers and employees or re-enter service as teachers or employees and are in service and members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or participants of the Optional Retirement Program after January 1, 1988.
- (b) The participation of any person in the Disability Income Plan shall cease upon:
  - (1) The termination of the participant's employment as a teacher or State employee, or
  - (2) The participant's retirement under the provisions of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Optional Retirement Program, or
  - (3) The participant's becoming a beneficiary under the Plan, or
  - (4) The participant's death.

### History.

1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 2014-97, s. 8.

# § 135-104. Salary continuation.

(a) A participant shall receive no benefits from the Plan for a period of 60 continuous calendar days from the onset of disability determined as the last actual day of service, the day of the disabling event if the disabling event occurred on a day other than a normal

workday, or the day succeeding at least 365 calendar days after service as a teacher or employee, whichever is later. These 60 continuous calendar days may be considered the waiting period before benefits are payable from the Plan. During this waiting period, a participant may be paid such continuation of salary as provided by an employer through the use of sick leave, vacation leave or any other salary continuation. Any such continuation of salary as provided by an employer shall not include any period a participant or beneficiary is in receipt of Workers' Compensation benefits.

(b) During the waiting period a participant may return to service for trial rehabilitation for periods of not greater than five continuous days of service. Such return to service will not cause a new waiting period to begin but shall extend the waiting period by the number of days of service.

#### History.

1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 1989, c. 717, s. 9; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 779, s. 2.

#### CASE NOTES

Salary Continuation. — Because claimant had submitted an application for long-term disability and requested that he remain on the payroll until his accrued leave was exhausted, his request was sufficient exercise of his right to take salary continuation as a form of long-term disability payments, and because claimant was disabled prior to his termi-

nation, the trial court correctly ordered that claimant be compensated for the additional annual leave he would have accrued had he stayed on salary continuation through the end of his accrued annual leave. Williams v. North Carolina Dep't of Economic & Community Dev., 119 N.C. App. 535, 458 S.E.2d 750, 1995 N.C. App. LEXIS 540 (1995).

# § 135-105. Short-term disability benefits.

- (a) Any participant who becomes disabled and is no longer able to perform his or her usual occupation may receive a benefit commencing on the first day succeeding the waiting period provided all of the following conditions are met:
  - (1) Application for the benefit occurs at least 365 calendar days succeeding the participant's date of initial employment as a teacher or employee.
  - (2) The participant has at least one year of contributing membership service earned within 36 calendar months immediately preceding the date of disability. Salary continuation used during the period as provided in G.S. 135-104 shall count toward this one-year requirement.
  - (3) Application for the benefit occurs no later than 365 days following the first day of the waiting period.
  - (4) The participant's employer and physician certify that the participant is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty.

(5) The participant's incapacity was incurred at the time of active employment and has been continuous thereafter.

As to the requirement that a participant applying for short term disability benefits have at least one year of contributing membership service within the 36 calendar months immediately preceding the date of disability, a participant who would have qualified for a benefit under this section but for service in the uniformed services shall not be denied a benefit under this section because of that interruption for military service provided all other requirements of this section are met.

Notwithstanding the requirement that the incapacity was incurred at the time of active employment, any participant who becomes disabled while on an employer approved leave of absence and who is eligible for and in receipt of temporary total benefits under The North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, Article 1 of Chapter 97 of the General Statutes, will be eligible for all benefits provided under this Article.

- (b) The benefits as provided for in subsection (a) of this section shall commence on the first day following the waiting period and shall be payable for a period of 365 days as long as the participant continues to meet the definition of disability. However, a disabled participant may elect to receive any salary continuation as provided in G.S. 135-104 in lieu of short-term disability benefits; provided further, such election shall not extend the 365 days duration of short-term payments. An election to receive any salary continuation for any part of a given day shall be in lieu of any short-term benefit otherwise payable for that day, provided further, any lump-sum payout for vacation leave shall be treated as if the beneficiary or participant had exhausted the leave and shall be in lieu of any short-term benefit otherwise payable.
- (c) The monthly benefit as provided in subsection (a) of this section shall be equal to fifty percent (50%) of <sup>1</sup>/<sub>12</sub>th of the annual base rate of compensation last payable to the participant prior to the beginning of the short-term benefit period as may be adjusted for percentage increases as provided under G.S. 135-108 plus fifty percent (50%) of <sup>1</sup>/<sub>12</sub>th of the annual longevity payment to which the participant would be eligible, to a maximum of three thousand dollars (\$3,000) per month reduced by monthly payments for Workers' Compensation to which the participant may be entitled. The monthly benefit shall be further reduced by the amount of any payments from the federal Veterans Administration, any other federal agency, or any payments made under the provisions of G.S. 127A-108, to which the participant or beneficiary may be entitled on account of the same disability. Provided, that should a participant have earnings in an amount greater than the short-term benefit, the amount of the short-term benefit shall be reduced on a dollar-fordollar basis by the amount that exceeds the short-term benefit.

(d) For short-term disability benefits that begin before July 1, 2019, the provisions of this section shall be administered by the employer and benefits during the initial six months of the short-term disability period shall be the full responsibility of and paid by the employer.

For short-term disability benefits that began before July 1, 2019, upon completion of the initial six months of the short-term disability period, the employer will continue to be responsible for the short-term benefits to the participant, however, the employer shall notify the Plan, at the conclusion of the short-term disability period, or upon termination of short-term disability benefits, if earlier, of the amount of short-term benefits and the State Health Insurance premiums paid by the employer and the Plan shall reimburse the employer the amounts paid. The Plan shall not reimburse any employer for amounts related to notifications made on or after January 1, 2024."

- (d1) For short-term disability benefits that begin on and after July 1, 2019, the provisions of this section shall be administered by the employer. The benefits during the first 12 months of the short-term disability period, including benefits from a preliminary determination of eligibility for long-term disability under subsection (f) of this section, shall be the full responsibility of and paid by the employer.
- (e) During the short-term disability period, a beneficiary may return to service for trial rehabilitation for periods of not greater than 40 continuous days of service. Such return will not cause the beneficiary to become a participant and will not require a new waiting period or short-term disability period to commence unless a different incapacity occurs. The period of rehabilitative employment shall not extend the period of the short-term disability benefits.
- (f) A participant or beneficiary of short-term disability benefits or his legal representative or any person deemed by the Board of Trustees to represent the participant or beneficiary, or the employer of the participant or beneficiary, may request the Board of Trustees to have the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer make a determination of eligibility for the short-term disability benefits as provided in this section or to make a preliminary determination of eligibility for the long-term disability benefits as provided in G.S. 135-106. A preliminary determination of eligibility for long-term disability benefits shall not preclude the requirement that the Medical Board make a determination of eligibility for long-term disability benefits.
- (g) The Board of Trustees may extend the short-term disability benefits of a beneficiary beyond the benefit period of 365 days for an extended period of not more than 365 days. The extended period shall commence on the first day succeeding the conclusion of the first 365-day short-term disability period, provided the beneficiary or

participant makes an application for such benefit within 180 days after the short-term disability period ceases, after salary continuation payments cease, or after monthly payments for Workers' Compensation cease, whichever is later; and provided the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Treasurer determines that the beneficiary's disability is temporary and likely to end within the extended period of short-term disability benefits. During the extended period of short-term disability benefits, payment of benefits shall be made by the Plan directly to the beneficiary. This extended period of short-term disability benefits shall be treated in the same manner as long-term disability payments in G.S. 135-106(b) for the purposes of G.S. 135-108.

#### History.

1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 1989, c. 717, s. 10; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1032, s. 1; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 779, s. 3; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, s. 7.30(t); 2003-284, s. 30.20(k); 2004-78, s. 2; 2007-325, s. 1; 2013-288, s. 6; 2018-52, s. 10(a); 2018-85, s. 1; 2023-89, s. 3.2; 2023-105, ss. 2.1, 3.4, 3.5, 4.1.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2003'."

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 30.20(k), effective July 1, 2003, and applicable only to persons who are not vested in the disability plan in question on July 1, 2003, in subsection (a), substituted "unable to perform the duties of the participant's job or any other available jobs with the State" for "no longer able to perform his usual occupation," and substituted "cannot perform the duties of the participant's job or any other jobs available with the State" for "is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty."

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 49.5, is a severability clause.

Subsection (a), as amended by Session Laws 2004-78, s. 2, is effective retroactively from and after July 1, 2003.

Session Laws 2018-52 provides in its preamble: "Whereas, the employee benefit programs operated by the Department of State Treasurer are an intergenerational partnership between public employees and taxpayers of the State, it is incumbent upon the administrators of those programs to provide for Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery of assets (FAIRness); and

"Whereas, taxpayers should expect FAIRness in these employee benefit pro-

grams, and the Department of State Treasurer should be provided all tools necessary to promote that goal; and

"Whereas, public employees who are participants in these employee benefit programs by virtue of deductions from compensation should also expect FAIRness as a baseline in the operation of these programs; and

"Whereas, future generations of North Carolinians benefit from fiscally responsible management provided by FAIRness of these employee benefit programs by the current generation; Now, therefore,"

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 1, provides: "This act shall be known and cited as the 'Financial Accountability, Integrity, and Recovery Act of 2018'."

Session Laws 2018-52, s. 10(b), made the amendment of this section by Session Laws 2018-52, s. 10(a), effective June 25, 2018, and applicable to applications for short-term disability benefits beginning on or after that date.

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 2.2, provides: "The Board of Trustees shall adopt rules to implement the provisions of this Part [Part II of Session Laws 2023-105]."

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 3.6, provides: "The Board of Trustees shall adopt rules to implement the provisions of this Part [Part III of Session Laws 2023-105]."

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 4.2, provides: "The Board of Trustees shall adopt rules to implement the provisions of this Part [Part IV of Session Laws 2023-105]."

Session Laws 2023-105, s. 9, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-89, s. 3.2, effective January 1, 2024, deleted "attending" preceding "physician" in subdivision (a)(4).

Session Laws 2023-105, ss. 2.1, 3.4, 3.5, and 4.1, effective January 1, 2024, rewrote subsection (d); in subsection (f), substituted "the Retirement Systems Division of the Department of State Trea-

surer" for "the Medical Board"; and, in subsection (g), rewrote the former first sentence as the present first two sentences, and inserted "in G.S. 135-106(b)" in the last sentence.

# § 135-106. Long-term disability benefits.

(a) Upon the application of a beneficiary or participant or of his legal representative or any person deemed by the Board of Trustees to represent the participant or beneficiary, any beneficiary or participant who has had five or more years of membership service may receive long-term disability benefits from the Plan upon approval by the Board of Trustees, commencing on the first day succeeding the conclusion of the short-term disability period provided for in G.S. 135-105, provided the beneficiary or participant makes application for such benefit within 180 days after the short-term disability period ceases, after salary continuation payments cease, or after monthly payments for Workers' Compensation cease, whichever is later; Provided, that the beneficiary or participant withdraws from active service by terminating employment as a teacher or State employee; Provided, that the Medical Board shall certify that such beneficiary or participant is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity was incurred at the time of active employment and has been continuous thereafter, and that such incapacity is likely to be permanent; Provided further that the Medical Board shall not certify any beneficiary or participant as disabled who is in receipt of any payments on account of the same incapacity which existed when the beneficiary first established membership in the Retirement System. The Board of Trustees may extend this 180-day filing requirement upon receipt of clear and convincing evidence that application was delayed through no fault of the disabled beneficiary or participant and was delayed due to the employers' miscalculation of the end of the 180-day filing period. However, in no instance shall the filing period be extended beyond an additional 180 days.

The Board of Trustees may require each beneficiary who becomes eligible to receive a long-term disability benefit to have an annual medical review or examination for the first five years and thereafter once every three years after the commencement of benefits under this section. However, the Board of Trustees may require more frequent examinations and upon the advice of the Medical Board shall determine which cases require such examination. Should any beneficiary refuse to submit to any examination required by this subsection or by the Medical Board, his long-term disability benefit shall be suspended until he submits to an examination, and should his refusal last for one year, his benefit may be terminated by the Board of Trustees. If the Medical Board finds that a beneficiary is no longer mentally or physically incapacitated for the further perfor-

mance of duty, the Medical Board shall so certify this finding to the Board of Trustees, and the Board of Trustees may terminate the beneficiary's long-term disability benefits effective on the last day of the month in which the Medical Board certifies that the beneficiary is no longer disabled.

As to the requirement of five years of membership service, any participant or beneficiary who does not have five years of membership service within the 96 calendar months prior to becoming disabled or upon cessation of continuous salary continuation payments, whichever is later, shall not be eligible for long-term disability benefits.

Notwithstanding the requirement that the incapacity was incurred at the time of active employment, any participant who becomes disabled while on an employer approved leave of absence and who is eligible for and in receipt of temporary total benefits under The North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, Article 1 of Chapter 97 of the General Statutes, will be eligible for all benefits provided under this Article.

(b) After the commencement of benefits under this section, the benefits payable under the terms of this section during the first 36 months of the long-term disability period shall be equal to sixty-five percent (65%) of 1/12th of the annual base rate of compensation last payable to the participant or beneficiary prior to the beginning of the short-term disability period as may be adjusted for percentage increases as provided under G.S. 135-108, plus sixty-five percent (65%) of 1/12th of the annual longevity payment to which the participant or beneficiary would be eligible, to a maximum of three thousand nine hundred dollars (\$3,900) per month reduced by any primary Social Security disability benefits to which the beneficiary may be entitled, effective as of the first of the month following the month of initial entitlement, and by monthly payments for Workers' Compensation to which the participant or beneficiary may be entitled. When primary Social Security disability benefits are increased by cost-of-living adjustments, the increased reduction shall be applied in the first month following the month in which the member becomes entitled to the increased Social Security benefit. The monthly benefit shall be further reduced by the amount of any monthly payments from the federal Department of Veterans Affairs, any other federal agency or any payments made under the provisions of G.S. 127A-108, to which the participant or beneficiary may be entitled on account of the same disability. Provided, in any event, the benefit payable shall be no less than ten dollars (\$10.00) a month. However, a disabled participant may elect to receive any salary continuation as provided in G.S. 135-104 in lieu of long-term disability benefits; provided such election shall not extend the first 36 consecutive calendar months of the long-term disability period. An election to receive any salary continuation for any part of any given day shall be in lieu of any long-term benefit payable for that day, provided further, any lump-sum payout for vacation leave shall be treated as if the beneficiary or participant had exhausted the leave and shall be in lieu of any long-term benefit otherwise payable. Provided that, in any event, a beneficiary's benefit shall be reduced during the first 36 months of the long-term disability period by an amount, as determined by the Board of Trustees, equal to a primary Social Security retirement benefit to which the beneficiary might be entitled, effective as of the first of the month following the month of initial entitlement.

After 36 months of long-term disability, no further benefits are payable under the terms of this section unless the member has been approved and is in receipt of primary Social Security disability benefits. In that case the benefits payable shall be equal to sixty-five percent (65%) of 1/12th of the annual base rate of compensation last payable to the participant or beneficiary prior to the beginning of the short-term disability period as may be adjusted for percentage increases as provided under G.S. 135-108, plus sixty-five percent (65%) of 1/12th of the annual longevity payment to which the participant or beneficiary would be eligible, to a maximum of three thousand nine hundred dollars (\$3,900) per month reduced by the primary Social Security disability benefits to which the beneficiary may be entitled, effective as of the first of the month following the month of initial entitlement, and by monthly payments for Workers' Compensation to which the participant or beneficiary may be entitled. When primary Social Security disability benefits are increased by cost-of-living adjustments, the increased reduction shall be applied in the first month following the month in which the member becomes entitled to the increased Social Security benefit. The monthly benefit shall be further reduced by the amount of any monthly payments from the federal Department of Veterans Affairs, for payments from any other federal agency, or for any payments made under the provisions of G.S. 127A-108, to which the participant or beneficiary may be entitled on account of the same disability. Provided, in any event, the benefit payable shall be no less than ten dollars (\$10.00) a month.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the long-term disability benefit is payable so long as the beneficiary is disabled and is in receipt of a primary Social Security disability benefit until the earliest date at which the beneficiary is eligible for an unreduced service retirement allowance from the Retirement System, at which time the beneficiary would receive a retirement allowance calculated on the basis of the beneficiary's average final compensation at the time of disability as adjusted to reflect compensation increases subsequent to the time of disability and the creditable service accumulated by the beneficiary, including creditable service while in receipt of benefits under the Plan. In the event the beneficiary has not been approved and is

not in receipt of a primary Social Security disability benefit, the long-term disability benefit shall cease after the first 36 months of the long-term disability period. When such a long-term disability recipient begins receiving this unreduced service retirement allowance from the System, that recipient shall not be subject to the six-month waiting period set forth in G.S. 135-1(20). However, a beneficiary shall be entitled to a restoration of the long-term disability benefit in the event the Social Security Administration grants a retroactive approval for primary Social Security disability benefits with a benefit effective date within the first 36 months of the long-term disability period. In such event, the long-term disability benefit shall be restored retroactively to the date of cessation.

- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a beneficiary in receipt of long-term disability benefits who has earnings during the long-term disability period shall have his long-term disability benefit reduced when the sum of the net long-term disability benefit and the earnings equals one hundred percent (100%) of monthly compensation adjusted as provided under G.S. 135-108. The net long-term benefit shall mean the long-term benefit amount payable as calculated under (b) above, after the reduction for Social Security benefits and Workers' Compensation benefits to which the beneficiary might be entitled, and after the reduction for any monthly payments from the federal Department of Veterans Affairs, for payments from any other federal agency, or for any payments made under the provisions of G.S. 127A-108, to which the participant or beneficiary may be entitled on account of the same disability. The net long-term disability benefit shall be reduced dollar-for-dollar for the amount of earnings in excess of the one hundred percent (100%) monthly limit. Any beneficiary exceeding the earnings limitations shall notify the Plan by the fifth of the month succeeding the month in which the earnings were received of the amount of earnings in excess of the limitations herein provided. Failure to report excess earnings may result in a suspension or termination of benefits as determined by the Board of Trustees.
- (c1) During the long-term disability period, a beneficiary may return to service for trial rehabilitation for periods of not greater than 36 months of continuous service. Such return will not cause the beneficiary to become a participant and will not require a new waiting period or short-term disability period to commence regardless of whether the beneficiary is unable to continue in service due to the same incapacity or a different incapacity.

A beneficiary who, during a period of trial rehabilitation, is unable to continue in service may be entitled to a restoration of the long-term disability benefit provided that the Medical Board certifies that the beneficiary is disabled in accordance with the laws in effect at the time of the Board's original approval for long-term disability benefits, either due to the same or a different incapacity,

notwithstanding the requirement the incapacity has been continuous. In the event that the Medical Board determines that the long-term disability benefit should be restored, the restored benefit should be calculated in accordance with G.S. 135-106(b); should include any post-disability benefit adjustments as provided by G.S. 135-108; and shall continue as long as the beneficiary remains disabled until the beneficiary has received a total of 36 long-term disability payments. Continuation of long-term disability benefit payments beyond 36 total payments shall be dependent upon approval for primary Social Security disability benefits as required by G.S. 135-106(b).

A beneficiary who returns to service for a period of trial rehabilitation and who has continued in service for greater than 36 continuous months shall again become a participant, and any subsequent incapacity shall be treated as a new incapacity causing a new waiting period to begin. Such a beneficiary may be entitled to additional long-term disability benefits on account of the new incapacity provided the beneficiary meets all other requirements notwithstanding the requirement of five years of membership service within the 96 calendar months prior to becoming disabled or the cessation of continuous salary continuation payments.

- (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a participant or beneficiary who has applied for and been approved by the Medical Board for long-term disability benefits may make an irrevocable election, within 90 days from the date of notification of such approval, and prior to receipt of any long-term disability benefit payments, to forfeit all pending and accrued rights to the long-term disability benefit including any ancillary benefits and retire on an early service retirement allowance, effective with the first day of the month following the end of the short-term period, or receive a return of accumulated contributions from the Retirement System.
- (e) Notwithstanding any provision of this section to the contrary, for any beneficiary or participant with at least five years of membership service as of July 31, 2007, who has not withdrawn contributions for such service from the Retirement System, the provisions of this section that were in effect on July 31, 2007, shall apply.

#### History.

1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 1989, c. 717, s. 11; 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1032, s. 2; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 779, s. 4; 1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, s. 7.30(u); 2003-284, s. 30.20(l); 2004-78, ss. 3, 4; 2005-91, s. 6.1; 2005-276, s. 29.30B(a), (b); 2006-74, ss. 3, 4(a), (b); 2007-325, s. 2; 2010-72, s. 7; 2011-294, s. 6; 2012-178, s. 5; 2013-288, s. 7; 2013-405, s. 2; 2014-88, s. 3(i); 2015-67, s. 2; 2022-14, s. 5.1.

#### Editor's Note.

Previous editions of the General Stat-

utes mistakenly did not reflect the amendment to subsection (a) made by Session Laws 2005-91, s. 6.1. This error has now been corrected.

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2003'."

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 30.20( *l*), effective July 1, 2003, and applicable only to persons who are not vested in the disability plan in question on July 1, 2003, in subsection (a), substituted "unable to perform any occupation for which

the beneficiary or participant is reasonably qualified for by training or experience" for "mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty"; and in the second paragraph, substituted "unable to perform any occupation for which the beneficiary or participant is reasonably qualified for by training or experience, the Department of State Treasurer" for "mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, the Medical Board shall so certify this finding to the Board of Trustees."

Session Laws 2003-284, s. 49.5, is a severability clause.

Subsection (a), as amended by Session Laws 2004-78, s. 3, is effective retroactively from and after July 1, 2003.

Session Laws 2004-78, s. 4, as amended by Session Laws 2005-276, s. 29.30B, and as amended by Session Laws 2006-74, s. 4, effective August 1, 2007, and applicable only to persons not vested in the disability plan in question on that date, substituted "unable to perform any occupation or employment com-

mensurate to the beneficiary's or participant's education, training, or experience, which is available in the same commuting area for State employees or within the same local school administrative unit for school personnel, without an adverse impact on the beneficiary's or participant's career status, and in which the beneficiary or participant can be expected to earn not less than sixty-five percent (65%) of that beneficiary's or participant's predisability earnings" for "mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty" in the first paragraph in subsection (a).

Session Laws 2007-325, s. 2, which amended this section, was effective August 1, 2007, and applicable only to those persons who have less than five years of membership service as of July 31, 2007.

Session Laws 2013-405, s. 7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 5.1, effective July 1, 2022, added subsection (e).

#### CASE NOTES

"Primary". — "Primary" as used in subsection (b) refers to benefits directly received by the disabled person as opposed to "secondary" benefits, which are derivative benefits that may be paid to a disabled worker's spouse, children, or family under certain circumstances. Willoughby v. Board of Trustees, 121 N.C. App. 444, 466 S.E.2d 285, 1996 N.C. App. LEXIS 67 (1996).

"Entitle".— "Entitle" has acquired no technical meaning, and therefore "entitle" must be given its ordinary meaning. Willoughby v. Board of Trustees, 121 N.C. App. 444, 466 S.E.2d 285, 1996 N.C. App. LEXIS 67 (1996).

Offset for Insurance Benefits Under Social Security. — Under G.S. 135-106(b), the amount of the offset should be the net insurance benefits under the Social Security Administration (SSA) after deduction of attorney's fees and costs associated with obtaining the disability insurance benefits from the SSA. Willoughby v. Board of Trustees, 121 N.C. App. 444, 466 S.E. 2d 285, 1996 N.C. App. LEXIS 67 (1996).

Entitlement to Attorney Fees. — Since former employee's attorney has a right superior as against employee to the attorney's fee and since attorney must

claim her fee directly from the Social Security Administration (SSA), employee was not entitled within the meaning of G.S. 135-106(b) to the amount statutorily reserved for the attorney's fee. Willoughby v. Board of Trustees, 121 N.C. App. 444, 466 S.E.2d 285, 1996 N.C. App. LEXIS 67 (1996).

Salary Continuation as a Form of Long-Term Disability. — Because claimant had submitted an application for long-term disability and requested that he remain on the payroll until his accrued leave was exhausted, his request was sufficient exercise of his right to take salary continuation as a form of longterm disability payments, and because claimant was disabled prior to his termination, the trial court correctly ordered that claimant be compensated for the additional annual leave he would have accrued had he stayed on salary continuation through the end of his accrued annual leave. Williams v. North Carolina Dep't of Economic & Community Dev., 119 N.C. App. 535, 458 S.E.2d 750, 1995 N.C. App. LEXIS 540 (1995).

Employee was not eligible for long-term disability benefits under G.S. 135-106(a) as unpaid leave the employee took pursuant to a settlement

arising from the employee's discharge from a state agency did not count as membership service. McCaskill v. Dep't of State Treasurer, Ret. Sys. Div., 204 N.C. App. 373, 695 S.E.2d 108, 2010 N.C. App. LEXIS 1062 (2010), aff'd in part, 365 N.C. 69, 706 S.E.2d 226, 2011 N.C. LEXIS 140 (2011).

# § 135-107. Optional Retirement Program.

- (a) Any participant of the Optional Retirement Program who becomes a beneficiary under the Plan shall be eligible to receive long-term disability benefits so long as the beneficiary is disabled and is in receipt of a primary Social Security disability benefit until the time the beneficiary would first qualify for an unreduced service retirement benefit had the beneficiary elected to be a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, and shall receive no service accruals as otherwise provided members of the Retirement System under the provisions of G.S. 135-4(y). In the event a beneficiary who was a participant in the Optional Retirement Program has not been approved and is not in receipt of a primary Social Security disability benefit, the long-term disability benefit shall cease after the first 36 months of the long-term disability period. However, a beneficiary shall be entitled to a restoration of the long-term disability benefit in the event the Social Security Administration grants a retroactive approval for primary Social Security disability benefits with a benefit effective date within the first 36 months of the long-term disability period. In such event, the long-term disability benefit shall be restored retroactively to the date of cessation.
- (b) If a participant of the Optional Retirement Program owes an overpayment to the Disability Income Plan at the time the beneficiary would first qualify for an unreduced retirement benefit had the member elected to be a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System, then the participant shall pay the total overpayment amount due to the Disability Income Plan. If the participant fails to pay the total amount of the overpayment due to the Disability Income Plan within six months after the earliest age at which the member could retire on an unreduced retirement allowance, then the participant shall not be allowed to enroll in a new year of coverage under the North Carolina State Health Plan for Teachers and State Employees until one of the following occurs:
  - (1) The Disability Income Plan receives from the participant payment in full of the total overpayment due.
  - (2) The participant has made payment arrangements approved by the Executive Director of the Retirement Systems Division.

History.

#### Editor's Note.

1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 2007-325, s. 3; 2021-75, s. 6.1(a); 2024-9, s. 1(j).

Session Laws 2007-325, s. 3, which amended this section, was effective Au-

gust 1, 2007, and applicable only to those persons who have less than five years of membership service as of July 31, 2007.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 6.1(b), made subsection (b) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 6.1(a), applicable to overpayments owed on or after July 1, 2021 to the North Carolina Disability Income Plan.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 6.1(a), effective July 1, 2021, added subsection (b). For applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2024-9, s. 1(j), effective June 20, 2024, substituted "Retirement Systems Division" for "Retirement System" in subdivision (b)(2).

# § 135-108. Post disability benefit adjustments.

The compensation upon which the short-term or long-term disability benefit is calculated under the provisions of G.S. 135-105(c) or G.S. 135-106(b) may be increased by any permanent across-the-board salary increase granted to employees of the State by the General Assembly and the benefits payable to beneficiaries shall be recalculated based upon the increased compensation, reduced by any percentage increase in Social Security benefits granted by the Social Security Administration times the amount used in the reduction of benefits for primary Social Security disability or retirement benefit as provided in G.S. 135-106(b). The provisions of this section shall be subject to future acts of the General Assembly.

```
History. 1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 2001-424, s. 32.32A.
```

# § 135-109. Reports of earnings.

The Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees may require each beneficiary to annually provide a statement of the beneficiary's income received as compensation for services, including fees, commissions, or similar items, income received from business, and benefits received from the Social Security Administration, the federal Veterans Administration, any other federal agency, under the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, or under the provisions of G.S. 127A-108. The benefit payable to a beneficiary who does not or refuses to provide the information requested within 120 days after such request may be suspended until the information so requested is provided, and should such refusal or failure to provide such information continue for 180 days after such request the right of a beneficiary to a benefit under the Article may be terminated.

```
History. 1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 2003-359, s. 23; 2016-108, s. 8.
```

# § 135-110. Funding and management of funds.

- (a) It is the intent of the General Assembly that a trust fund be created that provides an irrevocable source of funding to be used, to the extent the fund's assets are sufficient, only for disability benefits to participants and beneficiaries. Accordingly, the following provisions apply to that trust fund:
  - (1) A trust fund, the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina Trust Fund, is hereby created to which all receipts, transfers, appropriations, contributions, investment earnings and other income belonging to the Plan shall be deposited, and from which all benefits and expenses against the Plan shall be disbursed. The Board of Trustees shall be the trustee of the Fund.
  - (2) Employer and non-employer contributions to the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina Trust Fund and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Fund are dedicated to providing benefits to participants and beneficiaries in accordance with the Plan's benefit terms. The assets of the Fund are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employers and non-employers making contributions to the Fund, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Fund's trustees and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of participants and beneficiaries.
  - (3) Disability Income Plan of North Carolina Trust Fund assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees.
- (b) The Board of Trustees shall on the basis of such economic and demographic assumptions duly adopted, determine and adopt a uniform percentage of compensation as is defined in Article 1 of this Chapter which would be sufficient to fund the benefits payable under this Article on a term cost method basis as recommended by an actuary engaged by the Board of Trustees. Such uniform percentage of compensation shall not be inconsistent with acts of the General Assembly as may be thereafter adopted.
- (c) Each employer shall contribute monthly to the Plan an amount determined by applying the uniform percentage of compensation adopted by the Board of Trustees multiplied by the compensation of teachers and employees reportable to the Retirement System or the Optional Retirement Program. Such monthly contribution shall be paid by the employer from the same source of funds from which the compensation of teachers and employees are paid.
- (d) The State Treasurer shall be the custodian of the funds and shall invest the assets of the fund in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 147-69.2 and G.S. 147-69.3.

# History.

1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 2017-129, s. 2(o).

# § 135-111. Applicability of other pension laws.

Subject to the provisions of this Article, the provisions of G.S. 135-9, entitled "Exemption from taxes, garnishment, attachment, etc."; G.S. 135-10, entitled "Protection against fraud"; G.S. 135-10.1, entitled "Failure to Respond"; and G.S. 135-17, entitled "Facility of payment" shall be applicable to this Article and to benefits paid pursuant to the provisions of this Article.

# History.

1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 2005-91, s. 7; 2012-185, s. 3(b); 2013-288, s. 8.

# § 135-111.1. Improper receipt of decedent's Disability Income Plan allowance.

A person is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor if the person, with the intent to defraud, receives money as a result of cashing, depositing, or receiving a direct deposit of a decedent's Disability Income Plan allowance and the person (i) knows that he or she is not entitled to the decedent's Disability Income Plan allowance, (ii) receives the benefit at least two months after the date of the beneficiary's death, and (iii) does not attempt to inform this Retirement System of the beneficiary's death.

# History.

2013-288, s. 9(a).

this section effective December 1, 2013, and applicable to acts committed on or after December 1, 2013.

# Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2013-288, s. 12, made

# § 135-112. Transition provisions.

- (a) Any participant in service as of the date of ratification of this Article and who becomes disabled after one year of membership service will be eligible for all benefits provided under this Article notwithstanding the requirement of five years' membership service to receive the long-term benefit; provided, however, any beneficiary who receives benefits as a result of this transition provision before completing five years of membership service shall receive lifetime benefits in lieu of service accruals under the Retirement System as otherwise provided in G.S. 135-4(y).
- (b) All benefit recipients under the former Disability Salary Continuation Plan provided for in G.S. 135-34 and the rules adopted thereto shall become beneficiaries under this Plan under the same provisions and conditions including the benefit amounts payable as were provided under the former Disability Salary Continuation Plan. Any benefit recipient under the former Disability Salary Continuation Plan who returns to service on or after January 1, 1988, who subsequently becomes disabled due to the same disabling condition within 90 days after restoration to service shall not

become a participant of the Disability Income Plan but shall be entitled to a restoration of the disability benefit under the same provisions and conditions, including the benefit amounts payable, as were provided under the former Disability Salary Continuation Plan, and shall be entitled to make application for disability retirement benefits under the Retirement System under the same provisions and conditions as were provided members whose service terminated prior to January 1, 1988.

(c) Any person who retired on a disability retirement allowance from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System prior to the effective date of this Article shall be entitled to apply for and receive any benefits that would have otherwise been provided under the Disability Salary Continuation Plan provided for in G.S. 135-34 and shall become beneficiaries under this Plan, under the same provisions and conditions, including the benefit amounts payable, as were provided under the former Disability Salary Continuation Plan.

```
History.
1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 1989, c. 717, s.
1987, c. 738, s. 29(q); 1989, c. 717, s.
1987, c. 738, s. 29(l). See now G.S. 135-100 et seq.
```

Editor's Note.

G.S. 135-34, referred to in this section,

#### § 135-113. Reservation of power to change.

The benefits provided in this Article as applicable to a participant who is not a beneficiary under the provisions of this Article shall not be considered as a part of an employment contract, either written or implied, and the General Assembly reserves the right at any time and from time to time to modify, amend in whole or in part or repeal the provisions of this Article.

```
History. 1987, c. 738, s. 29(q).
```

# § 135-114. Reciprocity of membership service with the Legislative Retirement System and the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System.

Only for the purpose of determining eligibility for benefits accruing under this Article, membership service standing to the credit of a member of the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System shall be added to the membership service standing to the credit of a member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System. However, in the event that a participant or beneficiary is a retired member of the Legislative Retirement System or the Consolidated Judicial Retirement System whose retirement benefit was suspended upon entrance into membership in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System,

such membership service standing to the credit of the retired member prior to retirement shall be likewise counted. Membership service under this section shall not be counted twice for the same period of time.

```
History.
1993 (Reg. Sess., 1994), c. 769, s. 7.30(q).
```

#### §§ 135-115 through 135-149. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

#### ARTICLE 7.

#### QUALIFIED EXCESS BENEFIT ARRANGEMENT.

#### § 135-150. Definitions.

The following words and phrases as used in this Article, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context, have the following meanings:

- (1) "Board of Trustees" means the Board of Trustees established by G.S. 135-6.
- (2) "Internal Revenue Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
- (3) "Payee" means a retired member, or the survivor beneficiary of a member or retired member.
- (4) "Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement" means the qualified excess benefit arrangement under section 415(m) of the Internal Revenue Code established under this Article.
- (5) "Retirement System" means the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

```
History. 2013-405, s. 3(a).
```

#### § 135-151. Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement.

- (a) The Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement (QEBA) is established effective January 1, 2014, and placed under the management of the Board of Trustees. The purpose of the QEBA is solely to provide the part of a retirement allowance or benefit that would otherwise have been payable by a Retirement System except for the limitations under section 415(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. The QEBA, as set forth in this Article, is intended to constitute a qualified governmental excess benefit arrangement under section 415(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- (b) **Eligibility to Participate in the QEBA.** Effective as of January 1, 2014, a payee shall participate in the QEBA for any calendar year, or portion of the calendar year, during which he or

she receives a retirement allowance or benefit payment on and after January 1, 2014, from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System that is reduced due to the application of the maximum benefit provisions of section 415(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. For purposes of the QEBA, a payee is a retired member or survivor beneficiary of a member or retired member who is receiving monthly retirement benefit payments from a Retirement System.

- (c) Supplemental Benefit Payable Under the QEBA. Effective January 1, 2014, a payee shall receive each month, commencing on and after January 1, 2014, a monthly supplemental benefit equal to the difference between the amount of that payee's monthly retirement benefit paid under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System on and after January 1, 2014, and the amount that would have been payable to that payee from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System in that month if not for the reduction due to the application of section 415(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. That supplemental benefit shall be computed and payable under the same terms, at the same time, and to the same person as the related benefit payable under the Retirement System. A payee cannot elect to defer the receipt of all or any part of the supplemental payments due under the QEBA. The supplemental benefit paid under this section shall be taxable under North Carolina law in the same manner as the benefit paid under the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
- (d) **Funding of the QEBA.** The QEBA shall be unfunded within the meaning of federal tax laws. No payee contributions or deferrals, direct or indirect, by election or otherwise shall be made or allowed. The Board of Trustees, upon the recommendation of the actuary engaged by the Board of Trustees, shall determine the employer contributions required to pay the benefits due under the QEBA for each fiscal year. The required contributions shall be paid by all participating employers. The required contributions shall be deposited in a separate fund from the fund into which regular employer contributions are deposited for the Retirement System. The benefit liability for the QEBA shall be determined each fiscal year, and assets shall not be accumulated to pay benefits in future fiscal years.
- (d1) The last employer of a payee who retires on or after August 1, 2016, and who receives any supplemental benefit payment under this section shall be required to reimburse the QEBA in the amount of any supplemental benefit payment made to that payee. The reimbursement amount shall be calculated on an annual basis every calendar year. For purposes of calculating the reimbursement amount, the Board of Trustees may include a pro rata share of direct costs attributable to administration of the QEBA. The total amount of reimbursement owed by The University of North Carolina and UNC Health Care shall not exceed five hundred thousand dollars

(\$500,000) annually. The Fiscal Research Division of the General Assembly shall be required to review all reimbursement amounts prior to notifying an employer of the reimbursement amount owed.

The employer shall have 60 calendar days from the date of notification of the reimbursement amount owed to pay the amount in full or the employer shall be assessed a penalty, in lieu of interest, of one percent (1%) per month, or fraction thereof, that the payment is made beyond the due date.

- (e) **Treatment of Unused Assets.** Any assets of the QEBA plan not used to pay benefits in the current calendar year shall be used for payment of the administrative expenses of the QEBA for the current or future calendar years or shall be paid to the Retirement System as an additional employer contribution.
- (f) **Assets Subject to Claims of Creditors.** A payee, or a payee's beneficiary or heirs, shall have no right to, and shall have no property interest in, any assets held to support the liabilities created under this Article. To the extent that any person acquires the right to receive benefits under the QEBA, that right shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured general creditor of the State of North Carolina or such other applicable employer under this Article.
- (g) **Administration.** The QEBA shall be administered by the Board of Trustees, which shall compile and maintain all records necessary or appropriate for administration. The Board of Trustees shall have full discretionary authority to interpret, construe, and implement the QEBA and to adopt such rules and regulations as may be necessary or desirable to implement the provisions of the QEBA in accordance with section 415(m) of the Internal Revenue
- (h) **No Assignment.** Except for the application of the provisions of G.S. 110-136 and G.S. 110-136.3, et seq., or in connection with a court-ordered equitable distribution under G.S. 50-20, any supplemental benefit under this Article shall be exempt from levy and sale, garnishment, attachment, or any other process, and shall be unassignable except as specifically otherwise provided in this Chapter.
- (i) **Reservation of Power to Change.** The General Assembly reserves the right at any time and, from time to time, to modify or amend, in whole or in part, any or all of the provisions of the QEBA. No member of the Retirement System and no beneficiary of such a member shall be deemed to have acquired any vested right to a supplemental payment under this Article.
- (j) Sunset of Eligibility to Participate in the QEBA. No member of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System who became a member of the Retirement System on or after January 1, 2015, shall be eligible to participate in the QEBA, and the Retirement System shall not pay any new member more

retirement benefits than allowed under the limitations of section 415(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.

#### History.

2013-405, s. 3(a); 2015-67, s. 3(a); 2015-241, s. 30.30A(a); 2016-94, s. 36.23(a), (c).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 35.15A, provides: "Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 135-151(e), the assets of the Qualified Excess Benefit Arrangement (QEBA) established under Article 7 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes may be used to loan the sum of one hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$150,000) to the administrative account of the North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment Plan established under G.S. 115C-341.2. The Plan shall repay the QEBA when the balance in its administrative account exceeds the sum of two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000). The repayment shall be made with interest at a rate set by the Board of Trustees established under G.S. 135-6."

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as "The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2014.'"

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 38.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an

intention to have effects beyond the 2014-2015 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2014-2015 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 38.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 36.23(e), provides: "Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System may develop procedures to implement subsection (a) of this section. Notwithstanding Chapter 150B of the General Statutes, the Board of Trustees of the North Carolina Local Government Employees' Retirement System may develop procedures to implement subsection (b) of this section."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2016.'"

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2016-2017 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2016-2017 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2016-94, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

#### CHAPTER 143.

## STATE DEPARTMENTS, INSTITUTIONS, AND COMMISSIONS.

#### Article 12. Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System [Repealed.]

#### Section

143-166 through 143-166.04. [Repealed.]

#### Article 12A. Public Safety Employees' Death Benefits Act.

- 143-166.1. Purpose.
- 143-166.2. Definitions.
- 143-166.3. Payments; determination.
- 143-166.4. Funds; conclusiveness of award.
- 143-166.5. Other benefits not affected.
- 143-166.6. Awards exempt from taxes.
- 143-166.7. Applicability of Article.
- 143-166.9 through 143-166.12. [Reserved.]

#### Article 12C. Retirement Benefits for State Law-Enforcement Officers.

143-166.30. Retirement benefits for State law-enforcement officers.

#### Article 12D. Separation Allowances for Law-Enforcement Officers.

- 143-166.41. Special separation allowance.
- 143-166.42. Special separation allowances for local officers.
- 143-166.43. Separation buyouts for law enforcement officers.

#### Article 12E. Retirement Benefits for Local Governmental Law-Enforcement Officers.

143-166.50. Retirement benefits for local governmental law-enforcement officers.

### Article 12F. Separate Insurance Benefits Plan for State and Local Governmental Law-Enforcement Officers.

143-166.60. Separate insurance benefits plan for law-enforcement officers.

### Article 12G. Transfers of Assets of Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to Other Retirement Systems.

143-166.70. Transfers of assets of Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to other retirement systems.

#### ARTICLE 12.

## LAW-ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

#### §§ 143-166 through 143-166.04. (Repealed)

Repealed by Session Laws 1985, c. 479, s. 196(t).

#### Cross References.

As to the law-enforcement officers', firemen's, rescue squad workers' and Civil Air Patrol members' Death Benefits Act, see G.S. 143-166.1 et seq.

As to retirement benefits for local gov-

ernmental law-enforcement officers, see now G.S. 143-166.50.

As to separate insurance benefits plan for state and local governmental lawenforcement officers, see now G.S. 143-166.60. As to transfers of assets of Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to other retirement systems, see G.S. 143-166.70.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 1971, c. 837, contained provisions as to the transfer of wildlife protectors from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System to the Law-Enforcement Officers' Benefit and Retirement Fund.

Session Laws 1973, c. 572, as amended by Session Laws 1973, c. 874, contained provisions as to the transfer of law-enforcement officers who were members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System or the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to the Law-Enforcement Officers' Benefit and Retirement Fund.

Section 8 of Session Laws 1985, c. 751, which amended repealed G.S. 143-166. provided: "In order to fund the provisions of this act, the Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, and Law Enforcement Officers' Retirement System with the advice of its consulting actuary, shall apply any unencumbered actuarial gain remaining after application of actuarial gains to any cost-of-living increase granted to retired members effective July 1, 1985, and shall adjust the normal contribution rate of employers, without increase in the total employers' contribution rates and without changes in the amortization periods for liquidation of unfunded accrued liabilities of employers participating in the Retirement System."

#### ARTICLE 12A.

## PUBLIC SAFETY EMPLOYEES' DEATH BENEFITS ACT.

#### § 143-166.1. Purpose.

In consideration of hazardous public service rendered to the people of this State, there is hereby provided a system of benefits for dependents of public safety employees who are covered persons.

#### History.

1959, c. 1323, s. 1; 1965, c. 937; 1973, c. 634, s. 2; 1975, c. 284, s. 6; 1977, c. 797; 1983, c. 761, s. 236; 2018-5, s. 35.29(a); 2021-180, s. 19C.9(uuu); 2021-189, s. 5.1(d).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 35.29(a), effective retroactively to April 1, 2017, and applicable to qualifying deaths occurring on or after that date, rewrote the Article heading, which formerly read: "Law-Enforcement Officers', Firemen's, Rescue Squad Workers' and Civil Air Patrol Members' Death Benefits Act."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 35.29(d), made the amendment of this section by Session Laws 2018-5, s. 35.29(a), effective retroactively to April 1, 2017, and applicable to qualifying deaths occurring on or after that date.

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2018.'"

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 39.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other

provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2018-2019 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2018-5, s. 39.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2021-180, 19C.9(aaaaa), made the amendments to this section by Session Laws 2021-180, s. 19C.9(uuu), effective January 1, 2023, and further provides: "On and after that date, any references or directives in this act to the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, the Section of Adult Correction in the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, the Section of Juvenile Justice of the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, or the Section of Community Corrections of the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice shall be construed to apply to the appropriate division of either the Department of Public Safety or the Department of Adult Correction pursuant to the departmental changes enacted by this section."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2021."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 36.1(a), (b), provides: "(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of Article 12A of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, when any law enforcement officer is murdered by use of a firearm while off duty but en route to perform his or her official duties, the surviving spouse of the law enforcement officer or, if there is no surviving spouse, the surviving dependent children of the law enforcement officer shall be awarded the death benefits authorized by G.S. 143-166.3(a) and G.S. 143-166.3(e).

"(b) This section is effective retroactive to October 12, 2022, and applies only to incidents described in subsection (a) of this section that occurred on or after October 12, 2022, and before October 31, 2022."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2023."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.5, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2023-2025 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2023-2025 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2023-134, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 19C.9(uuu), substituted "Department of Adult Correction" for "Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety" twice. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-189, s. 5.1(d), effective January 1, 2023, substituted "public safety employees who are covered persons" for "law-enforcement officers, fire-fighters, rescue squad workers, and senior Civil Air Patrol members killed in the discharge of their official duties, and for dependents of noncustodial employees of the Department of Adult Correction killed by an individual or individuals in the custody of the Department of Adult Correction."

#### § 143-166.2. Definitions.

The following definitions apply in this Article:

- (1) Covered person. This term shall apply to all of the following individuals:
  - a. Firefighters.
  - b. Law enforcement officers.
  - c. Noncustodial employees of the Department of Adult Correction or the Division of Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety.
  - d. Rescue squad workers.
  - e. Senior Civil Air Patrol members.
- (2) Custodial employee. An employee of the Department of Adult Correction or the Division of Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety and who is a detention officer or a correctional officer or who otherwise has direct care and control over individuals in the custody of the Department of Adult Correction or the Division of Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety."
- (3) Dependent child. Any unmarried child of the deceased covered person, whether natural, adopted, posthumously born or whether a child born out of wedlock as entitled to inherit under the Intestate Succession Act, who is under 18 years of age and dependent upon and receiving his or her chief support from the covered person at the time of the

covered person's death; provided, however, that if a dependent child is entitled to receive benefits at the time of the covered person's death as hereinafter provided, the child shall continue to be eligible to receive such benefits regardless of his or her age thereafter. This term also includes any child over 18 years of age who is physically or mentally incapable of earning a living. Any child over 18 years of age who was enrolled as a full-time student at the time of the covered person's death shall, so long as the child remains a full-time student as defined in the Social Security Act, be regarded as a dependent child and eligible to receive benefits under the provisions of this Article.

- (4) Dependent parent. The parent of the deceased covered person, whether natural or adoptive, who was dependent upon and receiving his or her total and entire support from the covered person at the time of the injury that resulted in that covered person's death.
- (5) Firefighter. This term shall apply to all of the following individuals:
  - a. Firefighters as defined in G.S. 58-84-5.
  - b. Eligible firefighters as defined in G.S. 58-86-2, notwithstanding any age requirements set out in Article 86 of Chapter 58 of the General Statutes.
  - c. Full-time, permanent part-time, and temporary employees of the North Carolina Forest Service of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services during the time they are actively engaged in firefighting activities or emergency response activities pursuant to G.S. 166A-19.77.
  - d. Full-time employees of the North Carolina Department of Insurance during the time they are actively engaged in firefighting activities and during the time they are training firefighters.
  - e. County fire marshals when engaged in the performance of their county duties.
  - f. All otherwise eligible individuals who, while actively engaged as firefighters, are acting in the capacity of a fire instructor outside their own department or squad.
- (6) Killed in the line of duty. This term shall apply to all of the following deaths:
  - a. The death of any law-enforcement officer, firefighter, or rescue squad worker who is killed or dies as a result of bodily injuries sustained or extreme exercise or extreme activity experienced in the course and scope of his or her official duties while in the discharge of his or her official duty or duties.
  - b. The death of a senior Civil Air Patrol member who is killed or dies as a result of bodily injuries sustained or

extreme exercise or extreme activity experienced in the course and scope of his or her official duties while engaged in a State requested and approved mission pursuant to Article 13 of Chapter 143B of the General Statutes.

- c. The death of a noncustodial employee who, while performing his or her official duties, is killed in a manner reasonably determined by the Industrial Commission to be directly caused by an individual or individuals in the custody of the Department of Adult Correction or the Division of Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety.
- d. When the death of a law enforcement officer, firefighter, rescue squad worker, or senior Civil Air Patrol member occurs as the direct and proximate result of a myocardial infarction suffered while on duty or within 24 hours after participating in a training exercise or responding to an emergency situation, the law enforcement officer, firefighter, rescue squad worker, or senior Civil Air Patrol member is presumed to have been killed in the line of duty.
- e. When the death of a firefighter occurs as a direct and proximate result of any of the following cancers that are occupationally related to firefighting, that firefighter is presumed to have been killed in the line of duty:
  - 1. Mesothelioma.
  - 2. Testicular cancer.
  - 3. Cancer of the small intestine.
  - 4. Esophageal cancer.
  - 5. Oral cavity cancer.
  - 6. Pharynx cancer.
- (7) Law enforcement officer or officer. This term shall apply to all of the following individuals:
  - a. Sheriffs and all law-enforcement officers employed fulltime, permanent part-time, or temporarily by a sheriff, the State of North Carolina, or any county or municipality thereof, whether paid or unpaid.
  - b. Full-time custodial employees and probation and parole officers of the Department of Adult Correction.
  - c. Full-time institutional and full-time, permanent parttime, and temporary detention employees of the Division of Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety.
  - d. Full-time, permanent part-time, and temporary detention officers employed by any sheriff, county or municipality, whether paid or unpaid.

- (7a) (For effective date and applicability, see editor's note) Murdered in the line of duty. The death of a covered person who was killed in the line of duty in a manner reasonably determined by the Industrial Commission to be directly caused by the intentional harmful act of another person.
- (8) Noncustodial employee. An employee of the Department of Adult Correction who is not a custodial employee or the Division of Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety who is not a custodial employee.
- (9) Official duties. All duties to which an individual is assigned as part of the individual's job function. This term shall also include those duties performed by an individual while (i) en route to, engaged in, or returning from training; (ii) in the course of responding to, engaged in, or returning from a call by the department of which the individual is a member; or (iii) in the course of responding to, engaged in, or returning from a call for assistance from any department or organization within the State of North Carolina or within a service area contiguous to the borders of the State of North Carolina when served or aided by a department from within the State of North Carolina. While within the State of North Carolina, any covered person who renders service or assistance, of his or her own volition, at the scene of an emergency, is performing his or her official duties when both of the following apply:
  - a. Reasonably apparent circumstances require prompt decisions and actions to protect persons and property.
  - b. The necessity of immediate action is so reasonably apparent that any delay in acting would seriously worsen the property damage or endanger any individual's life.
- (10) Rescue squad worker. This term shall apply to all of the following individuals:
  - a. Individuals who are dedicated to the purpose of alleviating human suffering and assisting anyone who is in difficulty or who is injured or becomes suddenly ill by providing the proper and efficient care or emergency medical services. In addition, these individuals must belong to an organized rescue squad that is eligible for membership in the North Carolina Association of Rescue and Emergency Medical Services, Inc., and must have attended a minimum of 36 hours of training in the last calendar year. Each rescue squad belonging to the North Carolina Association of Rescue and Emergency Medical Services, Inc., must file a roster of those members meeting the above requirements with the

State Treasurer on or about January 31 of each year, and this roster must be certified to by the secretary of said association.

- b. Members of an ambulance service certified by the Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to Article 7 of Chapter 131E of the General Statutes. The Department of Health and Human Services shall furnish a list of ambulance service members to the State Treasurer on or about January 31 of each year.
- c. County emergency services coordinators when engaged in the performance of their county duties.
- d. Full-time employees of the North Carolina Department of Insurance during the time they are training rescue squad workers and during the time they are engaged in activities as members of the State Emergency Response Team when the State Emergency Response Team has been activated.
- e. All otherwise eligible individuals who, while actively engaged as rescue squad workers, are acting in the capacity of a rescue instructor outside their own department or squad.
- (11) Senior Civil Air Patrol members. Senior members of the North Carolina Wing-Civil Air Patrol who are 18 years of age or older and currently certified pursuant to G.S. 143B-1031.
- (12) Spouse. The wife or husband of the deceased covered person who survives him or her and who was residing with the covered person at the time of and during the six months next preceding the date of injury to the covered person that resulted in his or her death and who also resided with the covered person from that date of injury up to and at the time of his or her death and provided, however, the sixmonth residency requirement shall not apply where the marriage occurred during this six-month period or where the covered person was absent during this six-month period due to service in the Armed Forces of the United States.

#### History.

1959, c. 1323, s. 1; 1965, c. 937; 1969, c. 1025; 1973, c. 634, s. 2; c. 955, ss. 1, 2; 1975, c. 19, s. 49; c. 284, s. 7; 1977, c. 1048; 1979, c. 516, ss. 2, 3; c. 869; 1981, c. 944, s. 1; 1983, c. 761, s. 237; 1987, c. 812; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1050, s. 1; 1989, c. 727, s. 218(97); 1989 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 1024, s. 32; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1990), c. 833, s. 5; 1997-443, ss. 11A.118(a), 11A.119(a); 2000-137, s. 4(y); 2003-284, s. 30.18A(b); 2004-124, s. 31.18C(a); 2005-276, s. 29.30C; 2005-376, s. 1; 2008-163, s. 1; 2011-145, ss.

 $\begin{array}{c} 13.25(\mathrm{ss}), \ 19.1(\mathrm{h}), \ (l); \ 2011\text{-}183, \ \mathrm{s}. \ 104; \\ 2012\text{-}83, \mathrm{s}. \ 46; \ 2013\text{-}155, \ \mathrm{s}. \ 20; \ 2013\text{-}198, \\ \mathrm{s}. \ 27; \ 2013\text{-}288, \ \mathrm{s}. \ 10; \ 2015\text{-}88, \ \mathrm{s}. \ 8; \\ 2016\text{-}94, \ \mathrm{s}. \ 22.1(\mathrm{a}); \ 2017\text{-}57, \ \mathrm{s}. \ 21.1; \\ 2017\text{-}186, \ \mathrm{s}. \ 2(\mathrm{bbbbb}); \ 2018\text{-}5, \ \mathrm{s}. \\ 35.29(\mathrm{a}); \ 2019\text{-}228, \ \mathrm{s}. \ 2(\mathrm{a}); \ 2021\text{-}180, \ \mathrm{s}. \\ 19C.9(\mathrm{vvv}), \ 36.2(\mathrm{a}); \ 2021\text{-}189, \ \mathrm{s}. \\ 5.1(\mathrm{e})\text{-}(\mathrm{g}). \end{array}$ 

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2019-228, s. 2(c), made subdivision (7a), as added by Session Laws 2019-228, s. 2(a), effective upon appropriation by the General Assembly

of funds for the implementation of this section and applicable to qualifying deaths occurring on or after July 1, 2016. Such funds were appropriated by Session Laws 2020-86, ss. 1, 2, which provide:

"SECTION 1. There is transferred from the Statewide Misdemeanant Confinement Fund (Budget Code: 24550; Fund Code: 2325) to the Department of State Treasurer (Budget Code: 13412; Fund Code: 1432) the sum of one million two hundred thousand dollars (\$1,200,000) in nonrecurring funds for the 2020-2021 fiscal year.

"SECTION 2. The funds transferred in Section 1 of this act are appropriated in nonrecurring funds for the 2020-2021 fiscal year to pay benefits provided under Conner's Law, S.L. 2019-228."

Session Laws 2021-180. 19C.9(aaaaa), made the amendments to this section by Session Laws 2021-180, s. 19C.9(vvv), effective January 1, 2023, and further provides: "On and after that date, any references or directives in this act to the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, the Section of Adult Correction in the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, the Section of Juvenile Justice of the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, or the Section of Community Corrections of the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice shall be construed to apply to the appropriate division of either the Department of Public Safety or the Department of Adult Correction pursuant to the departmental changes enacted by this section."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 36.2(b), made the amendments to sub-subdivision (6)e. of this section by Session Laws 2021-180, s. 36.2(a), effective November 18, 2021, and applicable to deaths occurring on or after that date.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2021."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 36.2(a), in subdivision (6), rewrote sub-subdivision e.3, which read: "Intestinal cancer," and added sub-subdivisions e.5 and e.6. For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 19C.9(vvv), rewrote sub-subdivision (1)c; in subdivision (2), substituted "Department of Adult Correction" for "Division of Adult Correction" twice, and inserted "or the Division of" twice; in sub-subdivision (6)c, inserted "Prisons or the Division of Community Supervision and Reentry of the Department of" and substituted "or the Division of Juvenile Justice" for "and Juvenile Justice"; in subdivision (7), substituted "Department of Adult Correction" for "Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety" in sub-subdivision b., and substituted "Division of Juvenile Justice" for "Juvenile Justice Section of the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice" in sub-subdivision c.; and in subdivision (8), substituted "Department of Adult Correction" for "Division of Adult Correction," deleted "and" thereafter, and inserted "who is not a custodial employee or the Division of." For effective date and applicability, see editor's

Session Laws 2021-189, s. 5.1(e)-(g), effective January 1, 2023, in sub-subdivision (1)c, added "or the Division of Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety"; in subdivision (2), deleted "and" following "Adult Correction" the first time it appears, and inserted "and" following "Public Safety" the first time it appears; and in sub-subdivision (6)c, deleted "Division of Prisons or the Division of Community Supervision and Reentry of the" following "custody of the."

#### Legal Periodicals.

For casenote, "The Established Standard for Fathers Who Have Acknowledged Paternity and Who Are Seeking Custody of Their Illegitimate Child(ren): Rosero v. Blake, 357 N.C. 193 (2003)," see 26 N.C. Cent. L.J. 116 (2003).

#### § 143-166.3. Payments; determination.

(a) When any covered person is killed in the line of duty, the Industrial Commission shall award a death benefit in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) to be paid to one of the following:

- (1) The spouse of the covered person if there is a surviving spouse.
- (2) If there is no surviving spouse, then payments shall be made to any surviving dependent child of the covered person. If there is more than one surviving dependent child, then the payment shall be made to and equally divided among all surviving dependent children.
- (3) If there is no surviving spouse and no surviving dependent child or children, then payments shall be made to any surviving dependent parent of the covered person. If there is more than one surviving dependent parent, then the payments shall be made to and equally divided between the surviving dependent parents of the covered person.
- (4) If there is no surviving spouse, surviving dependent child, or surviving dependent parent, then the payment shall be made to the estate of the deceased covered person.
- (b) Repealed by Session Laws 2018-5, s. 35.29(a), effective retroactively to April 1, 2017, and applicable to qualifying deaths occurring on or after that date.
- (c), (d) Repealed by Session Laws 2015-88, s. 9, effective July 1, 2015.
- (e) On and after July 1, 2016, when any covered person is murdered in the line of duty, in addition to the award under subsection (a) of this section, the Industrial Commission shall award a death benefit in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) to be paid to one of the following:
  - (1) The spouse of the covered person if there is a surviving spouse.
  - (2) If there is no surviving spouse, then payments shall be made to any surviving dependent child of the covered person. If there is more than one surviving dependent child, then the payment shall be made to and equally divided among all surviving dependent children.
  - (3) If there is no surviving spouse and no surviving dependent child or children, then payments shall be made to any surviving dependent parent of the covered person. If there is more than one surviving dependent parent, then the payments shall be made to and equally divided between the surviving dependent parents of the covered person.
  - (4) If there is no surviving spouse, surviving dependent child, or surviving dependent parent, then the payment shall be made to the estate of the deceased covered person.
- (f) Except as otherwise allowed under subdivisions (a)(4) and (e)(4) of G.S. 143-166, the State Treasurer shall not pay or distribute a death benefit awarded under this section to any person other than the beneficiary or the beneficiary's parent or legal guardian.

#### History.

1959, c. 1323, s. 1; 1965, c. 937; 1971, c. 960; 1973, c. 634, s. 2; 1975, c. 284, s. 8; 2003-284, s. 30.18A(a); 2015-88, s. 9; 2018-5, s. 35.29(a); 2019-228, ss. 2(b), 3(a); 2022-14, s. 4.1.

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2019-228, s. 2(c), made subsection (e), as added by Session Laws 2019-228, s. 2(b), effective upon appropriation by the General Assembly of funds for the implementation of this section and applicable to qualifying deaths occurring on or after July 1, 2016. Such funds were appropriated by Session Laws 2020-86, ss. 1, 2, which provide:

"SECTION 1. There is transferred from the Statewide Misdemeanant Confinement Fund (Budget Code: 24550; Fund Code: 2325) to the Department of State Treasurer (Budget Code: 13412; Fund Code: 1432) the sum of one million two hundred thousand dollars (\$1,200,000) in nonrecurring funds for the 2020-2021 fiscal year.

"SECTION 2. The funds transferred in Section 1 of this act are appropriated in nonrecurring funds for the 2020-2021 fiscal year to pay benefits provided under Conner's Law, S.L. 2019-228."

Session Laws 2019-228, s. 3(b), made the substitution of "surviving dependent parent" for "surviving parent" in subdivision (a)(4) by Session Laws 2019-228, s. 3(a), effective retroactively to April 1, 2017, and applicable to qualifying deaths occurring on or after that date.

Session Laws 2019-228, s. 3(b), made the amendment to subdivision (a)(4) by Session Laws 2019-228, s. 3(a), effective retroactively to April 1, 2017, and applicable to qualifying deaths occurring on or after that date.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-14, s. 4.1, effective July 1, 2022, added subsection (f).

#### § 143-166.4. Funds; conclusiveness of award.

Such award of benefits as is provided for by this Article shall be paid from the Contingency and Emergency Fund and such amounts as may be required to pay benefits provided for by this Article are hereby appropriated from said fund for this special purpose.

The Industrial Commission shall have power to make necessary rules and regulations for the administration of the provisions of this Article. It shall be vested with power to make all determinations necessary for the administration of this Article and all of its decisions and determinations shall be final and conclusive and not subject to review or reversal except by the Industrial Commission itself. The Industrial Commission shall keep a record of all proceedings conducted under this Article and shall have the right to subpoena any persons and records which it may deem necessary in making its determinations, and the Industrial Commission shall further have the power to require all persons called as witnesses to testify under oath or affirmation, and any member of the Industrial Commission may administer oaths. If any person shall refuse to comply with any subpoena issued hereunder or to testify with respect to any matter relevant to proceedings conducted under this Article, the Superior Court of Wake County, on application of the Industrial Commission, may issue an order requiring such person to comply with the subpoena and to testify; and any failure to obey any such order of the court may be punished by the court as for contempt.

History.

1959, c. 1323, s. 1; 1965, c. 937.

#### CASE NOTES

Commission's Decisions Under This Article Are Conclusive and Not Appealable. — This section governs the administration of claims under this Article; by its specific terms, decisions by the Industrial Commission are final and conclusive and appeal from such decisions is proscribed. In re Vandiford, 56 N.C. App. 224, 287 S.E.2d 912, 1982 N.C. App. LEXIS 2363 (1982).

Appellate Review Under Workers' Compensation Act Not Applicable. — This Article is not a part of the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, and the methods of appellate review contained in the compensation act are not applicable to the Industrial Commission's function under this Article. In re Vandiford, 56 N.C. App. 224, 287 S.E.2d 912, 1982 N.C. App. LEXIS 2363 (1982).

#### § 143-166.5. Other benefits not affected.

None of the other benefits now provided for law-enforcement officers, or other persons covered by this Article, or their dependents by the Workers' Compensation Act or other laws shall be affected by the provisions of this Article, and the benefits provided for herein shall not be diminished, abated or otherwise affected by such other provisions of law.

```
History.
```

1959, c. 1323, s. 1; 1965, c. 937; 1979, c. 245; c. 714, s. 2.

#### § 143-166.6. Awards exempt from taxes.

Any award made under the provisions of this Article shall be exempt from taxation by the State or any political subdivision. The Industrial Commission shall not be responsible for any determination of the validity of any claims against said awards and shall distribute the death benefit awards directly to the dependent or dependents entitled thereto under the provisions of this Article.

#### History.

1959, c. 1323, s. 1; 1965, c. 937.

#### § 143-166.7. Applicability of Article.

The provisions of this Article shall apply and be in full force and effect with respect to any law-enforcement officer, firefighter, rescue squad worker or senior Civil Air Patrol member killed in the line of duty on or after May 13, 1975. The provisions of this Article shall apply with respect to full-time, permanent part-time and temporary employees of the North Carolina Forest Service of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services killed in the line of duty on or after July 1, 1975. The provisions of this Article shall apply to county fire marshals and emergency services coordinators killed in the line of duty on and after July 1, 1988. The provisions of this Article shall apply to noncustodial employees of the Division of Prisons of the

Department of Adult Correction and noncustodial employees of the Division of Juvenile Justice of the Department of Public Safety who are killed in the line of duty on and after April 1, 2017.

#### History.

1965, c. 937; 1973, c. 634, s. 3; 1975, c. 284, s. 9; 1981, c. 944, s. 2; 1987 (Reg. Sess., 1988), c. 1050, s. 2; 1989, c. 727, s. 218(98); 1997-443, s. 11A.119(a); 2011-145, s. 13.25(tt); 2013-155, s. 21; 2018-5, s. 35.29(a); 2021-180, s. 19C.9(www).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 19C.9(aaaaa), made the amendments to this section by Session Laws 2021-180, s. 19C.9(www), effective January 1, 2023, and further provides: "On and after that date, any references or directives in this act to the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, the Section of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, the Section of Juvenile Justice of the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice, or the Section of Community Corrections of the Division of Adult Corrections of Adult Corrections of Adult Corrections of Adult Corrections and

Juvenile Justice shall be construed to apply to the appropriate division of either the Department of Public Safety or the Department of Adult Correction pursuant to the departmental changes enacted by this section."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations Appropriations Act of 2021."

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 43.7, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-180, s. 19C.9(www), substituted "the Division of Prisons of the Department of Adult Correction and noncustodial employees of the Division of Juvenile Justice" for "the Division of Adult Correction and Juvenile Justice." For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

#### §§ 143-166.9 through 143-166.12. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

#### ARTICLE 12C.

#### RETIREMENT BENEFITS FOR STATE LAW-ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS.

### § 143-166.30. Retirement benefits for State law-enforcement officers.

- (a) **Definitions.** The following words and phrases as used in this Article, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context, shall have the following meanings:
  - (1) "Beneficiary" means any person in receipt of a retirement allowance or other benefit from a Retirement System.
  - (2) "Creditable service" means membership service plus prior service plus military service allowable with a Retirement System.
  - (3) "Employer" means the State of North Carolina and its departments, agencies and institutions.
  - (4) "Law-enforcement officer" means a full-time paid employee of an employer who is actively serving in a position with assigned primary duties and responsibilities for prevention and detection of crime or the general enforcement of the

- criminal laws of the State or serving civil processes, and who possesses the power of arrest by virtue of an oath administered under the authority of the State.
- (5) "Member" means an officer included in the membership of a retirement system including former officers no longer employed who also elected to leave their accumulated contributions on deposit with a Retirement System.
- (6) "Officer" means a "law-enforcement officer."
- (7) "Participant" means an officer with an individual account with the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan.
- (8) "Regular accumulated contributions" means the sum of all contributions of a member made to the Retirement System, together with regular interest thereon, pursuant to G.S. 143-166 as the same appeared prior to January 1, 1985.
- (9) "Retirement allowance" means annual payments for life payable in monthly installments continuing until the death of a beneficiary.
- (10) "Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System" means the system provided for under G.S. 143-166.
- (11) "Special annuity account accumulated contributions" means the sum of all contributions of a member or an employer made to the Special Annuity Accounts for Members of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System, together with regular interest thereon, pursuant to G.S. 143-166.03 as the same appeared prior to January 1, 1985.
- (12) "Special Annuity Accounts" means the supplemental defined contribution provisions of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System, provided for under G.S. 143-166.03 as the same appeared prior to January 1, 1985.
- (13) "State" means the State of North Carolina.
- (14) "State Retirement System" means the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina provided for under Article 1 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes.
- (15) "Supplemental Retirement Income Plan" means a plan created in conformance with Section 401(a), 401(k), or any other section of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended.
- (b) **Basic Retirement System.** On and after January 1, 1985, law-enforcement officers employed by the State shall be members of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and beneficiaries who were last employed as officers by the State, or who are surviving beneficiaries of officers last employed by the State, shall be beneficiaries of the State Retirement System and paid in benefit amounts then in effect. All members of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System last employed and paid by the State shall be members of the State Retirement System.
- (c) Transfers of Assets and Liabilities to Other Retirement Systems. As of January 1, 1985, certain assets and liabilities of

the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System shall be transferred to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan in the amounts calculated and in the order of precedence enumerated as follows:

- (1) The regular accumulated contributions of members of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System employed by the State or last employed by the State shall be transferred from the annuity savings fund of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to the annuity savings fund of the State Retirement System to the credit of each individual officer.
- (2) An amount equal to the present value of the liabilities on account of the retirement allowances payable to beneficiaries last employed as officers by the State and the surviving beneficiaries of officers last employed by the State, as calculated by the Retirement System's consulting actuary, shall be transferred from the pension accumulation fund of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to the pension accumulation fund of the State Retirement System.
- (3) After the transfers provided for above, additional assets in the pension accumulation fund of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System shall be transferred to the pension accumulation fund of the State Retirement System, in an amount equal to the ratio of the accrued liabilities on account of members of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System employed by the State or last employed by the State to the total accrued liabilities on account of all members of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System.
- (4) The special annuity account accumulated contributions shall be transferred from the special annuity savings fund of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan pursuant to subsection (d) of this section to the credit of individual officers.
- (d) Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for State Law-Enforcement Officers. As of January 1, 1985, there shall be created a Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, hereinafter called the "Plan," established for the benefit of all law-enforcement officers employed by the State, who shall be participants. The Board of Trustees of the State Retirement System shall administer the Plan and shall, under the terms and conditions otherwise appearing herein, provide Plan benefits either (i) by establishing a separate trust fund in conformance with Section 401(a), Section 401(k) or other sections of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended or, (ii) by causing the Plan to affiliate with some master trust fund providing the same benefits for participants. The Plan shall be separate and apart from any retirement systems.

In addition to the contributions transferred from the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System and the contributions otherwise provided for in this Article, participants may make voluntary contributions to the Plan to be credited to the designated individual accounts of participants.

All contributions to the Plan shall be credited to the individual accounts of participants, and except as provided in subsection (g1) of this section, shall be fully and immediately vested in the name of the participant, and shall be invested according to each participant's election, as provided by the Board of Trustees, including but not limited to time deposits, and both fixed and variable investments. The Plan may provide for loans to participants, at reasonable rates of interest to be charged, from participants' individual accounts, and may provide for withdrawal of contributions on account of hardship.

The benefit to a participant in the Plan shall be either a lump-sum distribution or a distribution in periodic installments of the participant's account payable under retirement, disability, or termination of employment. Upon the death of a participant there shall be paid the same lump-sum distribution or periodic installments to the surviving spouse of the participant or otherwise to the participant's estate; provided, should a participant instruct the Board of Trustees in writing that he does not wish these benefits to be paid to his spouse or estate, then the benefits shall be paid to the person or persons as the participant may name for this purpose.

Upon retirement, a participant in the Plan may elect to transfer any portion of his eligible accumulated contributions, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and receive, in addition to his basic service, early or disability retirement allowance a special retirement allowance which shall be based on his eligible accumulated account balance at the date of the transfer of the assets.

(e) **State Contributions to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan.** — Under all other restrictions as are herein provided, the State shall contribute monthly to the individual accounts of participants who are employed by the State an amount equal to five percent (5%) of the compensation of each participant. The contributions so paid shall be in addition to the contributions on account of court cost assessments as hereinafter provided.

Contributions shall be made to the individual accounts of all participants in the Plan on a per capita basis in equal shares, equal to the sum of the one-half dollar (\$0.50) for each cost of court assessed and collected under G.S. 7A-304.

(e1) Rights of Participants under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act. — A participant whose employment is interrupted by reason of service in the Uniformed Services, as that term is defined in section 4303(16) of

the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, Public Law 103-353, hereafter referred to as "USERRA", shall be entitled to all rights and benefits that the participant would have been entitled to under this section had the participant's employment not been interrupted, provided that the participant returns to service as a law enforcement officer while the participant's reemployment rights are protected under the provisions of USERRA.

- (f) **Administration.** The provisions of the State Retirement System pertaining to administration and management of funds under G.S. 135-6 and 7 are made applicable to the Plan.
- (g) **Exemption from Garnishment and Attachment.** Except as provided in subsection (g1) of this section, the right of a participant in the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan to the benefits provided under this Article is nonforfeitable and exempt from levy, sale, and garnishment.
- (g1) Forfeiture of Benefits for Certain Felonies. Participants in the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for State Law-Enforcement Officers whose benefits are forfeited under G.S. 135-18.10A shall also forfeit contributions paid on or after December 1, 2012, on behalf of the participant by the State to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan. Any funds forfeited shall be deposited in the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan.
- (h) Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, any pending or inchoate rights of a member of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System as of their transfer to the State Retirement System on January 1, 1985, including the rights to a vested deferred retirement allowance and to commence retirement at certain ages with required years of service as a law-enforcement officer, shall in no way be diminished; provided, however, in no event may a member commence retirement and continue membership service with the same Retirement System.

No eligible officer shall be precluded from exercising that officer's pending or inchoate rights under this section, should the officer elect to make Roth after-tax contributions to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, except that these Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon shall not be subsequently transferred to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.

#### History.

1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, s. 248; 1985, c. 479, s. 196(s); 1989, c. 792, s. 2.7; 1995, c. 361, s. 5; 2006-141, s. 1; 2007-384, s. 10.5; 2010-72, s. 11(a); 2012-193, s. 13; 2013-288, s. 1(a).

#### Editor's Note.

Section 143-166, referred to in subdivision (a)(8) and (a)(10) of this section, was repealed by Session Laws 1985, c. 479, s. 196(t).

Section 143-166.03, referred to in subdivisions (a)(11) and (a)(12) of this section, was repealed by Session Laws 1985, c. 479, s. 196(t).

Session Laws 2007-384, which, in s. 10.5, added the last paragraph of subsection (d), in s. 11(b), provides: "The Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System shall adopt straight life annuity factors, for the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, based upon mor-

tality and such other tables and the interest assumption rate recommended by the actuary based upon the actual experience as reported in the last five year experience study as required by G.S. 135-6(n) and including an assumed annual post-retirement allowance increase of four percent (4%). The Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall adopt straight life annuity factors, for the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, based upon mortality and such other tables and the interest assumption rate recommended by the actuary based upon the actual experience as reported in the last five year experience study as required by G.S. 128-29(o) and including an assumed annual post-retirement allowance increase of four percent (4%). Sections 10.1 through 10.6 of this act become effective the first of the month following the adoption of those factors by the Boards of Trustees."

Session Laws 2012-193, s. 17, as amended by Session Laws 2013-284, s. 3, provides: "The State Treasurer shall negotiate a memorandum of agreement with the United States Attorneys for the Eastern, Middle, and Western Districts of North Carolina whereby the prosecutors will notify the State Treasurer of convictions under G.S. 135-18.10A(b), 128-38.4A(b), 135-75.1A(b), 120-4.33A(b), 135-5.1(h), 135-5.4(h), and 58-86-100(b)."

#### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Participation by Commissioner of Motor Vehicles in State 401(k) Plan. — Because the current Commissioner of Motor Vehicles appears to meet the definition of a "law-enforcement officer" for purposes of this section, employer contributions to the State 401(k) Plan on be-

half of the Commissioner should be accepted. See opinion of Attorney General to Mr. Michael Williamson, Director, Department of State Treasurer, Retirement Systems Division, 2004 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 8 (6/30/04).

#### ARTICLE 12D.

#### SEPARATION ALLOWANCES FOR LAW-ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS.

#### § 143-166.41. Special separation allowance.

- (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, every sworn law-enforcement officer as defined by G.S. 135-1(11c) or G.S. 143-166.30(a)(4) employed by a State department, agency, or institution who qualifies under this section shall receive, beginning in the month in which he retires on a basic service retirement under the provisions of G.S. 135-5(a), an annual separation allowance equal to eighty-five hundredths percent (0.85%) of the annual equivalent of the base rate of compensation most recently applicable to him for each year of creditable service. The allowance shall be paid in equal installments on the payroll frequency used by the employer. To qualify for the allowance the officer shall:
  - (1) Have (i) completed 30 or more years of creditable service or, (ii) have attained 55 years of age and completed five or more years of creditable service; and
  - (2) Not have attained 62 years of age; and
  - (3) Have completed at least five years of continuous service as a law enforcement officer as herein defined immediately preceding a service retirement. Any break in the continu-

ous service required by this subsection because of disability retirement or disability salary continuation benefits shall not adversely affect an officer's qualification to receive the allowance, provided the officer returns to service within 45 days after the disability benefits cease and is otherwise qualified to receive the allowance.

- (a1) Repealed by Session Laws 2014-88, s. 3(j), effective July 30, 2014.
- (b) As used in this section, "creditable service" means the service for which credit is allowed under the retirement system of which the officer is a member, provided that at least fifty percent (50%) of the service is as a law enforcement officer as herein defined or as a probation/parole officer as defined in G.S. 135-1(17a).
- (c) Payment to a retired officer under the provisions of this section shall cease at the first of:
  - (1) The death of the officer;
  - (2) The last day of the month in which the officer attains 62 years of age; or
  - (3) The first day of reemployment by any State department, agency, or institution, except that this subdivision does not apply to an officer returning to State employment in a position exempt from the North Carolina Human Resources Act in an agency other than the agency from which that officer retired.
- (d) This section does not affect the benefits to which an individual may be entitled from State, federal, or private retirement systems. The benefits payable under this section shall not be subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be authorized by the General Assembly for employees of the State or retired employees of the State.
- (e) The head of each State department, agency, or institution shall determine the eligibility of employees for the benefits provided herein.
- (f) The Director of the Budget may authorize from time to time the transfer of funds within the budgets of each State department, agency, or institution necessary to carry out the purposes of this Article. These funds shall be taken from those appropriated to the department, agency, or institution for salaries and related fringe benefits.
- (g) The head of each State department, agency, or institution shall make the payments set forth in subsection (a) to those persons certified under subsection (e) from funds available under subsection (f).

```
History. 1986), c. 1014, ss. 51, 52; 2002-126, s. 1983 (Reg. Sess., 1984), c. 1034, s. 104; 28.14; 2007-69, s. 1; 2011-232, s. 9; 2013-1985, c. 479, s. 143; 1985 (Reg. Sess.,
```

382, s. 9.1(c); 2014-88, s. 3(j); 2017-57, s. 35.19B(b).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.1(b), provides: "The following entities and positions created by Chapter 126 of the General Statutes are hereby renamed by this act:

"(1) The State Personnel Commission is renamed the 'North Carolina Human Resources Commission.'

"(2) The Office of State Personnel is renamed the 'North Carolina Office of State Human Resources.'

"(3) The State Personnel Director is renamed the 'Director of the North Carolina Office of State Human Resources.'"

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.1(c), provides: "Modification of References. — The Revisor of Statutes shall delete any references in the General Statutes to the State Personnel Act, State Personnel Commission, the State Personnel Director, and the Office of State Personnel (or any derivatives thereof) and substitute references to the North Carolina Human Resources Act, the State Human Resources Commission, the Director of the Office of State Human Resources, and the Office of Human Resources (or the appropriate derivative thereof) to effectuate the renaming set forth in this sec-

tion wherever conforming changes are necessary."

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.2, provides: "No action or proceeding pending on the effective date of this section, brought by or against the State Personnel Commission, the Director of the Office of State Personnel, or the Office of State Personnel, shall be affected by any provision of this section, but the same may be prosecuted or defended in the new name of the Commission, Director, and Office. In these actions and proceedings, the renamed Commission, Director, or Office shall be substituted as a party upon proper application to the courts or other public bodies."

Session Laws 2013-382, s. 9.3, provides: "Any business or other matter undertaken or commanded by the former State Personnel Commission, State Personnel Director, or Office of State Personnel regarding any State program, office, or contract or pertaining to or connected with their respective functions, powers, obligations, and duties that are pending on the date this act becomes effective may be conducted and completed by the Commission, Director, or Office in the same manner and under the same terms and conditions and with the same effect as if conducted and completed by the formerly named commission, director, or office."

#### CASE NOTES

Amount of Separation Allowance Mandatory. — This statute permits local governments to determine eligibility and requires them to make payments, but it does not authorize local governments to determine the amount of the separation allowance differently from the mandate of subsection (a). Bowers v. City of High Point, 339 N.C. 413, 451 S.E.2d 284, 1994 N.C. LEXIS 723 (1994).

Eligibility. — Since the initial eligibility requirement for a separation allowance under G.S. 143-166.41 was that police officers retire on a service retirement, police officer was not eligible because he retired on a disability retirement. Cochrane v. City of Charlotte, 148 N.C. App. 621, 559 S.E.2d 260, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 45 (2002).

Police officer who retired on disability retirement was not eligible for a special separation allowance because he did not retire on a service retirement and was, therefore, not among the class of persons statutorily eligible for a special separation allowance. Cochrane v. City of Charlotte, 148 N.C. App. 621, 559 S.E.2d 260, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 45 (2002).

Creditable Service. — When a police officer retired on disability retirement, his time spent on disability retirement could not be considered "creditable service" for purposes of determining eligibility for a special separation allowance. Cochrane v. City of Charlotte, 148 N.C. App. 621, 559 S.E.2d 260, 2002 N.C. App. LEXIS 45 (2002).

"Base rate of compensation" refers to that portion of compensation which is relatively stable and forms the foundation or groundwork of the employee's entire compensation scheme; this would generally be the minimum amount of compensation to which the employee is entitled in any given pay period relatively independent of factors other than the employment relationship itself. Bowers v. City of High Point, 339 N.C. 413, 451 S.E.2d 284, 1994 N.C. LEXIS 723 (1994).

In this section "base rate of compensation" has a definite meaning not subject to alteration by local governments and does not include overtime pay, longevity pay, or pay for unused accrued vacation. Bowers v. City of High Point, 339 N.C. 413, 451 S.E.2d 284, 1994 N.C. LEXIS 723 (1994).

Authority of Municipalities. — This section and G.S. 143-166.42 do not authorize municipalities to make separation allowances based on overtime pay, longevity pay, and accrued vacation. Bowers v. City of High Point, 339 N.C. 413, 451 S.E.2d 284, 1994 N.C. LEXIS 723 (1994).

Establishing reemployment by another local government as grounds for cessation of the payment of a separation allowance pursuant to G.S. 143-166.42 is within a city's authority; G.S. 143-166.42 does not allow the city to determine the amount of the payment but does permit it to determine a retiree's eligibility. Campbell v. City of Laurinburg, 168 N.C. App. 566, 608 S.E.2d 98, 2005 N.C. App. LEXIS 335 (2005).

Pursuant to the plain and unambiguous language of G.S. 143-166.42, as well as of G.S. 143-166.41 upon which it was based, the actions of a county and a county board of commissioners in entering into a contractual relationship with a retired local law enforcement officer, wherein he was to receive a special separation allowance, were legislatively authorized; accordingly, such was not an ultra vires act on the part of the county entities. Wiggs v. Edgecombe County, 361 N.C. 318, 643 S.E.2d 904, 2007 N.C. LEXIS 411 (2007).

Reemployment By Local Government. — Retired city police officer lost his right to receive a separation allowance pursuant to G.S. 143-166.42 when he became reemployed by a county sheriff's office, which was a local government as defined by G.S. 143-166.41. Campbell v. City of Laurinburg, 168 N.C. App. 566, 608 S.E.2d 98, 2005 N.C. App. LEXIS 335 (2005).

Establishing reemployment by another local government as grounds for cessation of the payment of a separation allowance pursuant to G.S. 143-166.42 is within a city's authority; G.S. 143-166.42 does not allow the city to determine the amount of the payment but does permit it to determine a retiree's eligibility. Campbell v. City of Laurinburg, 168 N.C. App. 566, 608 S.E.2d 98, 2005 N.C. App. LEXIS 335 (2005).

Resolution Restricting Vested Allowance was Improper. — County's resolution, pursuant to its authority under G.S. 143-166.42, restricting a former officer's ability to collect a special separation allowance, impaired the obligation of the state's contract with former officer under the retirement system; because the resolution was enacted after the former officer had retired and his right to receive the special separation had become vested, it was improper. Wiggs v. Edgecombe County, 179 N.C. App. 47, 632 S.E.2d 249, 2006 N.C. App. LEXIS 1645 (2006), aff'd, 361 N.C. 318, 643 S.E.2d 904, 2007 N.C. LEXIS 411 (2007).

#### § 143-166.42. Special separation allowances for local officers.

- (a) On and after January 1, 1987, every sworn law enforcement officer as defined by G.S. 128-21(11d) or G.S. 143-166.50(a)(3) employed by a local government employer who qualifies under this section shall receive, beginning in the month in which the officer retires on a basic service retirement under the provisions of G.S. 128-27(a), an annual separation allowance equal to eighty-five hundredths percent (0.85%) of the annual equivalent of the base rate of compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable service. The allowance shall be paid in equal installments on the payroll frequency used by the employer. To qualify for the allowance, the officer shall:
  - (1) Have (i) completed 30 or more years of creditable service or (ii) have attained 55 years of age and completed five or more years of creditable service; and
  - (2) Not have attained 62 years of age; and
  - (3) Have completed at least five years of continuous service as

a law enforcement officer as herein defined immediately preceding a service retirement. Any break in the continuous service required by this subsection because of disability retirement or disability salary continuation benefits shall not adversely affect an officer's qualification to receive the allowance, provided the officer returns to service within 45 days after the disability benefits cease and is otherwise qualified to receive the allowance.

- (b) As used in this section, "creditable service" means the service for which credit is allowed under the retirement system of which the officer is a member, provided that at least fifty percent (50%) of the service is as a law enforcement officer as herein defined.
- (c) Payment to a retired officer under the provisions of this section shall cease at the first of:
  - (1) The death of the officer;
  - (2) The last day of the month in which the officer attains 62 years of age; or
  - (3) The first day of reemployment by a local government employer in any capacity.
- (c1) Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivision (3) of subsection (c) of this section, payments to a retired officer shall not cease when a local government employer employs a retired officer for any of the following:
  - (1) In a public safety position in a capacity not requiring participation in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
  - (2) In service to a county board of elections on an election day or during the hours for early voting under Part 5 of Article 14A of Chapter 163 of the General Statutes in a capacity that complies with G.S. 128-21(19) and does not result in cessation or suspension of the retiree's benefit from the Local Government Employees' Retirement System.
- (d) This section does not affect the benefits to which an individual may be entitled from State, local, federal, or private retirement systems. The benefits payable under this section shall not be subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be authorized by local government employers or for retired employees of local governments.
- (e) The governing body of each local employer shall determine the eligibility of employees for the benefits provided herein.
- (f) The governing body of each local employer shall make the payments set forth in subsection (a) of this section to those persons certified under subsection (e) of this section from funds available.

#### History.

1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1019, s. 2; 2009-396, s. 1; 2018-25, s. 1; 2023-140, s. 43

#### Editor's Note.

This section, as rewritten by Session Laws 2009-396, s. 1, effective July 31, 2009, is applicable prospectively to payments required by this act whether the officer retired before, on, or after July 31, 2009.

Session Laws 2009-396, s. 2, provides: "Nothing in this act shall be deemed to (i) entitle a law enforcement officer to retroactive payments of any benefit for the period prior to the effective date of this act for which the officer's employer previously determined that the officer was not entitled; (ii) prospectively deny payment of an annual separation allowance to an officer who was previously determined by the officer's employer to be eligible for such benefit; (iii) apply to any pending litigation related to the special separation allowance; or (iv) extend the payment beyond the date when payment shall cease pursuant to G.S. 143-166.42(c), as enacted by Section 1 of this act."

At the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, in 2011, the reference to "G.S. 128-21(11b)" near the beginning of subsection (a) was changed to "G.S. 128-

21(11c)" to conform to the redesignation of subdivision (11b) as (11c) as a result of changes made to the section by Session Laws 2011-92. In 2012, the reference to "G.S. 128-21(11c)" near the beginning of subsection (a) was changed to "G.S. 128-21(11d)" to conform to the redesignation of G.S. 128-21(11c) as G.S. 128-21(11d) by Session Laws 2012-185.

Session Laws 2023-140, s. 50, made the amendments to subsection (c1) of this section by Session Laws 2023-140, s. 43, effective January 1, 2024, and applicable to elections on or after that date.

Session Laws 2023-140, s. 49, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2023-140, s. 43, effective January 1, 2024, inserted "or during the hours for early voting under Part 5 of Article 14A of Chapter 163 of the General Statutes" in subdivision (c1)(2). For applicability, see editor's note.

#### **CASE NOTES**

Eligibility. — Retired officer, employed by a county board of education as a law enforcement officer, was ineligible to receive the Special Separation Allowance provided for under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143-166.42 because the Special Separation Allowance was expressly premised on membership in—and upon retirement from—the Local Government Employees' Retirement System. Hanson v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg Bd. of Educ., 292 N.C. App. 221, 898 S.E.2d 337, 2024 N.C. App. LEXIS 101 (2024).

"Creditable Service." — Superior court erred in granting partial summary judgment awarding a sheriff a special separation allowance for 36 years of creditable service through two North Carolina retirement systems, state and local, because the sheriff was not a member of the state system when he retired since, prior to his retirement from the sheriff's department, he began receiving retirement benefits from that system, and the sheriff was only entitled to credit for his 12 years of service under the local system where the county never issued the sheriff a prior service certificate, the sheriff never transferred membership of his state service to the local system, and the county never gave the sheriff credit for prior service. Lovin v. Cherokee Cnty., 248 N.C. App. 527, 789 S.E.2d 869, 2016 N.C. App. LEXIS 818 (2016).

Authority of Municipalities. — Section 143-166.41 and this section do not authorize municipalities to make separation allowances based on overtime pay, longevity pay, and accrued vacation. Bowers v. City of High Point, 339 N.C. 413, 451 S.E.2d 284, 1994 N.C. LEXIS 723 (1994).

Pursuant to the plain and unambiguous language of G.S. 143-166.42, as well as of G.S. 143-166.41 upon which it was based, the actions of a county and a county board of commissioners in entering into a contractual relationship with a retired local law enforcement officer, wherein he was to receive a special separation allowance, were legislatively authorized; accordingly, such was not an ultra vires act on the part of the county entities. Wiggs v. Edgecombe County, 361 N.C. 318, 643 S.E.2d 904, 2007 N.C. LEXIS 411 (2007).

Reemployment by Local Government. — Retired city police officer lost his right to receive a separation allowance pursuant to G.S. 143-166.42 when he became reemployed by a county sheriffs office, which was a local government as defined by G.S. 143-166.41. Campbell v. City of Laurinburg, 168 N.C. App. 566, 608 S.E.2d 98, 2005 N.C. App. LEXIS 335 (2005).

Resolution Restricting Vested Allowance was Improper. — County's

resolution, pursuant to its authority under G.S. 143-166.42, restricting a former officer's ability to collect a special separation allowance, impaired the obligation of the state's contract with former officer under the retirement system; because the resolution was enacted after the former officer had retired and his right to receive the special separation had become vested, it was improper. Wiggs v. Edgecombe County, 179 N.C. App. 47, 632 S.E.2d 249, 2006 N.C. App. LEXIS 1645 (2006), aff'd, 361 N.C. 318, 643 S.E.2d 904, 2007 N.C. LEXIS 411 (2007).

Contracts Clause Violated by Retroactive Resolution to Stop Payments. — County and county board of commissioners' attempt to terminate a

retired local law enforcement officer's payments of a special separation allowance under G.S. 143-166.42 was violative of the contracts clause of U.S. Const., Art. I, § 10, as the statute allowed the parties to enter into the payment arrangement without any restrictions and, accordingly, the county entities could not pass a resolution to terminate the payments upon re-employment by the retired officer with another participant in the North Carolina Local Government Employees' Retirement System; such a resolution would have retroactively terminated his contractual right, which would have unconstitutionally impaired the contract. Wiggs v. Edgecombe County, 361 N.C. 318, 643 S.E.2d 904, 2007 N.C. LEXIS 411 (2007).

#### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

"Creditable service," for purposes of determining a local law enforcement officer's eligibility for the special separation allowance benefit and for calculating the amount of that benefit, is service for which credit is allowed under either retirement system of which the officer is a member. See opinion of Attorney General to Claire McNaught, Public Safety Attorney, City of Winston-Salem, 56 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 40 (1986).

A local law enforcement officer's eligibility for the special separation allowance benefit is in all instances determined by the officer's local government employer. See opinion of Attorney General to Claire McNaught, Public Safety Attorney, City of Winston-Salem, 56 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 40 (1986).

#### § 143-166.43. Separation buyouts for law enforcement officers.

- (a) Any State department, agency, or institution, or any local government employer, may, in its discretion, offer a lump sum separation buyout to a law enforcement officer who leaves employment prior to reaching the officer's eligibility for a separation allowance under this Article. The lump sum separation buyout shall be paid from funds available and shall not exceed the total that would otherwise be paid in separation allowance payments under G.S. 143-166.41 or G.S. 143-166.42.
- (b) Prior to the transfer by a State department, agency, or institution, or any local government employer, of a lump sum separation buyout described in subsection (a) of this section to the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System (TSERS) pursuant to G.S. 135-5(m2) or to the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (LGERS) pursuant to G.S. 128-27(m2), the State department, agency, or institution, or the local government employer, shall have in place a written policy duly adopted by the employing unit that does not allow employees to choose between accepting the lump sum separation buyout as a cash payment or transferring the lump sum separation buyout to TSERS or LGERS.

#### History.

2018-22, s. 1; 2021-75, s. 4.1(a).

#### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 4.1(b), made subsection (b) of this section, as added by Session Laws 2021-75, s. 4.1(a), applicable to lump sum separation buyouts offered to law enforcement officers on or after July 1, 2021, by a State depart-

ment, agency, or institution, or any local government employer.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 8.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-75, s. 4.1(a), effective July 1, 2021, added subsection (b). For applicability, see editor's note.

#### ARTICLE 12E.

#### RETIREMENT BENEFITS FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL LAW-ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS.

### § 143-166.50. Retirement benefits for local governmental law-enforcement officers.

- (a) **Definitions.** The following words and phrases as used in this Article, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context, have the following meaning:
  - (1) "Beneficiary" means any person in receipt of a retirement allowance or other benefit from a Retirement System.
  - (2) "Employer" means a county, city, town or other political subdivision of the State.
  - (3) "Law-enforcement officer" means a full-time paid employee of an employer, who possesses the power of arrest, who has taken the law enforcement oath administered under the authority of the State as prescribed by G.S. 11-11, and who is certified as a law enforcement officer under the provisions of Article 1 of Chapter 17C of the General Statutes or certified as a deputy sheriff under the provisions of Chapter 17E of the General Statutes. "Law enforcement officer" also means the sheriff of the county. The number of paid personnel employed as law enforcement officers by a law enforcement agency may not exceed the number of law enforcement positions approved by the applicable local governing board.
  - (4) "Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System" means the system provided for under Article 12 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, as it existed prior to January 1, 1986.
  - (5) "Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System" means the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina provided for under Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes.
  - (6) "Member" means an officer included in the membership of a retirement system, including former officers no longer employed who also elected to leave their accumulated contributions on deposit with a Retirement System.

- (7) "Officer" means a "law-enforcement officer."
- (8) "State" means the State of North Carolina.
- (b) **Basic Retirement System.** On and after January 1, 1986, law-enforcement officers employed by an employer shall be members of the Local Government Employees' Retirement System, and beneficiaries who were last employed as officers by an employer, or who are surviving beneficiaries of officers last employed by an employer, are beneficiaries of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and paid in benefit amounts then in effect. All members of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System last employed and paid by an employer are members of the Local Retirement System.
- (c) **Rights.** Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, any accrued or inchoate rights of a member of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System as of his transfer to the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System on January 1, 1986, including the rights to a vested deferred retirement allowance and to commence retirement at certain ages with required years of service as a law-enforcement officer, may in no way be diminished; provided, however, in no event may a member commence retirement and continue membership service with the same Retirement System after January 1, 1986.

No eligible officer shall be precluded from exercising that officer's pending or inchoate rights under this section, should the officer elect to make Roth after-tax contributions to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, except that these Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon shall not be subsequently transferred to the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.

- (d) **Court Cost Receipts.** Of the sum derived from the cost of court provided for in G.S. 7A-304(a)(3), the amount designated for this Article, except for the amount designated for the provisions of G.S. 143-166.50(e), shall be paid over to the pension accumulation fund of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and shall offset, to the extent of these receipts, the employers' normal contribution rate required in G.S. 128-30(d)(2) as it pertains to law enforcement officers.
- (e) Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Local Governmental Law-Enforcement Officers. As of January 1, 1986, all law-enforcement officers employed by a local government employer, are participating members of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan as provided by Article 5 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes. In addition to the contributions transferred from the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System, participants may make voluntary contributions to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan to be credited to the designated individual accounts of participants. From July 1, 1987, until July 1, 1988, local government employers of law enforcement officers shall contribute an amount

equal to at least two percent (2%) of participating local officers' monthly compensation to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan to be credited to the designated individual accounts of participating local officers; and on and after July 1, 1988, local government employers of law enforcement officers shall contribute an amount equal to five percent (5%) of participating local officers' monthly compensation to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan to be credited to the designated individual accounts of participating local officers.

Additional contributions shall also be made to the individual accounts of all participants in the Plan, except for Sheriffs, on a per capita equal-share basis from the sum of one dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) for each cost of court collected under G.S. 7A-304.

Upon retirement, a participant in the Plan may elect to transfer any portion of his eligible accumulated contributions, not including any Roth after-tax contributions and the earnings thereon, to the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and receive, in addition to his basic service, early or disability retirement allowance a special retirement allowance which shall be based on his eligible accumulated account balance at the date of the transfer of the assets.

- (e1) Rights of Participants under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act. A participant whose employment is interrupted by reason of service in the Uniformed Services, as that term is defined in section 4303(16) of the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, Public Law 103-353, hereafter referred to as "USERRA", shall be entitled to all rights and benefits that the participant would have been entitled to under this section had the participant's employment not been interrupted, provided that the participant returns to service as a law enforcement officer while the participant's reemployment rights are protected under the provisions of USERRA.
- (e2) Forfeiture of Benefits for Certain Felonies. Participants in the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Local Governmental Law-Enforcement Officers whose benefits are forfeited under G.S. 128-38.4A shall also forfeit contributions paid on or after December 1, 2012, on behalf of the participant by local government employers of law enforcement officers to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Local Governmental Law-Enforcement Officers. Any funds forfeited shall be deposited in the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan.

#### History.

1985, c. 479, s. 196(t); c. 729, ss. 6, 7; 1985 (Reg. Sess., 1986), c. 1015, s. 2; c. 1019, s. 1; 1995, c. 361, s. 6; 1997-144, s. 2; 2006-141, s. 2; 2007-384, s. 10.6; 2010-72, s. 11(b); 2012-193, s. 14; 2013-288, s. 1(b).

#### Local Modification.

Catawba: 1995, c. 306, s. 1; 1995 (Reg. Sess., 1996), c. 693, s. 2; Mecklenburg: 1995, c. 532, s. 1; 1995 (Reg. Sess., 1996), c. 693, s. 1.

#### Editor's Note.

"Article 1 of Chapter 17C" has been substituted for "Chapter 17C" in this section at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Article 12 of Chapter 143, referred to in subdivision (a)(4) of this section, was repealed by Session Laws 1985, c. 479, s. 196(t).

Session Laws 2007-384, which, in s. 10.6, added the last paragraph of subsection (e), in s. 11(b), provides: "The Board of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System shall adopt straight life annuity factors, for the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, based upon mortality and such other tables and the interest assumption rate recommended by the actuary based upon the actual experience as reported in the last five

year experience study as required by G.S. 135-6(n) and including an assumed annual post-retirement allowance increase of four percent (4%). The Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall adopt straight life annuity factors, for the purpose of determining the special retirement allowance, based upon mortality and such other tables and the interest assumption rate recommended by the actuary based upon the actual experience as reported in the last five year experience study as required by G.S. 128-29(o) and including an assumed annual post-retirement allowance increase of four percent (4%). Sections 10.1 through 10.6 of this act become effective the first of the month following the adoption of those factors by the Boards of Trustees."

#### CASE NOTES

This Section Found Controlling.—Because G.S. 128-23(g) is more specific than G.S. 143-166.50(b), when there is a conflict, G.S. 128-23(g) controls. Taylor v. City of Lenoir, 129 N.C. App. 174, 497 S.E.2d 715, 1998 N.C. App. LEXIS 425 (1998).

Eligibility. — Plaintiffs, employed by a county board of education as law enforcement officers, were eligible for the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan provided for under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143-166.50(e) because the plain language of § 143-166.50(e) contained no language limiting the supplemental benefits to only the Local Government Employees' Retirement System members. Hanson v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg Bd. of Educ., 292 N.C. App. 221, 898 S.E.2d 337, 2024 N.C. App. LEXIS 101 (2024).

"Employer". — Trial court erred in concluding plaintiffs, employed by a county board of education as law enforcement officers, were not law-enforcement officers employed by a local government employer under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143-166.50(e) because a county board of education was a political subdivision of the State. Therefore, the board of education fell under the definition of employer provided in § 143-166.50(a)(2). Hanson v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg Bd. of Educ., 2024 N.C. App. LEXIS 101 (February 6, 2024).

Town, Not Officers, Must Fund Mandatory Contribution. — A town may increase or decrease the salary of its police officers according to its own discre-

tion, as long as the town and not the officers fund the mandatory two percent contribution; where the contribution is funded from the salary increase of the officers, the ordinance providing for same violates this section. Abeyounis v. Town of Wrightsville Beach, 102 N.C. App. 341, 401 S.E.2d 847, 1991 N.C. App. LEXIS 294 (1991).

Sheriff's Department is Local Governmental Entity. — In the injured party's suit against a sheriff and individual detention officers arising out of a five-day episode in the county detention center where she alleged that they ignored her requests for medical treatment, the trial court properly concluded that the office of North Carolina sheriff was a "person" under 42 U.S.C.S. § 1983 because: (1) the State constitution created the office of sheriff, N.C. Const., Art. VII, § 2, but included that provision within the article governing local governments, along with provisions for counties, cities, towns, and other governmental subdivisions, N.C. Const., Art. VII, § 1; (2) State statutes, including G.S. 17E-1, 160A-288.2, 143-166.50, and 97-2, characterized a sheriff's department as a local governmental entity; (3) there was no contention that the State would be potentially liable for any monetary judgment entered against the sheriff and the detention officers; and (4) the State did not have, with respect to a sheriff, the minimum degree of control required for Eleventh Amendment immunity. Boyd v. Robeson County, 169

N.C. App. 460, 621 S.E.2d 1, 2005 N.C. App. LEXIS 2352 (2005).

#### OPINIONS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Funding of Employer's Contribution. — A local government employer may not use a local law enforcement officer's salary increase, or a portion thereof, to fund the employer's mandated contribution to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan. See opinion of Attorney General to Sheriff John H. Baker, Jr., Wake County Sheriff's Department, 57 N.C. Op. Att'y Gen. 24 (1987).

#### ARTICLE 12F.

#### SEPARATE INSURANCE BENEFITS PLAN FOR STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL LAW-ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS.

#### § 143-166.60. Separate insurance benefits plan for law-enforcement officers.

- (a) A Separate Insurance Benefits Plan, hereinafter called the "Plan", is to be an employee welfare benefit plan, established for the benefit of (i) all law enforcement officers, as defined in G.S. 135-1(11c) and G.S. 128-21(11d) employed by the State and local governments and (ii) all former law-enforcement officers previously employed by the State and local governments, who had 20 or more years of service as an officer or are in receipt of a disability retirement allowance from any State-administered retirement system or are in receipt of a benefit from the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina, who shall be participants.
- (b) The Boards of Trustees of the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System and the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall jointly administer the Plan and shall, under the terms and conditions otherwise appearing in this Article, provide Plan benefits either (i) by establishing a separate trust fund or, (ii) by causing the Plan to affiliate with a master trust, the North Carolina Teachers' and State Employees' Benefits Trust, providing the same benefits for participants. Employer and non-employer contributions to the Benefit Trust and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. The assets of the Benefit Trust are dedicated to providing benefits to participants, surviving spouses, participants' estates, and persons named by the participant to receive the benefit. The assets of the Benefit Trust are not subject to the claims of creditors of the employees and non-employees making contributions to the Benefit Trust, are not subject to the claims of any creditors of the Benefit Trust's trustees and administrators, and are not subject to the claims of creditors of participants. Benefit Trust assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer benefits provided by the Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees.

- (c) The initial assets of the Plan are the assets of the former Separate Benefit Plan established under G.S. 143-166.04 as it existed prior to January 1, 1986, which shall be transferred to the Plan on January 1, 1986. The Plan shall be separate and apart from any retirement systems or plans.
- (d) The Boards of Trustees shall promulgate rules and regulations as are necessary to establish benefits under the Plan, within the availability of funds, to provide:
  - (1) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 5.1, effective June 26, 2020.
  - (2) A group life insurance benefit for participants employed by an employer at the time of death, not to exceed five thousand dollars (\$5,000);
  - (3) A group life insurance benefit for participants who are eligible former officers, not to exceed four thousand dollars (\$4,000); and
  - (4) An accidental line-of-duty insurance death benefit not to exceed two thousand one hundred dollars (\$2,100) in total on account of the death of a participant caused by an accident while in the actual performance of duty as an officer.
- (d1) In addition to the benefits provided under subsection (d) of this section, the assets of the Plan may be used to pay the employer health insurance contributions and contribution rates on behalf of law enforcement officers, as defined in G.S. 135-1(11c), employed by the State and former law enforcement officers receiving a retirement allowance from the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System.
- (e) The insurance benefit of the Plan on account of the death of a participant shall be payable to the surviving spouse of the participant or otherwise to the participant's estate; provided, should a participant instruct the Board of Trustees in writing that the participant does not wish these benefits to be paid to his or her spouse or estate, then the benefits shall be paid to the person or persons as the participant may name for this purpose. The life insurance benefits shall be payable only on account of participants in the Plan for six or more months or, if an actively employed officer, at any time after employment if death results from an accident.
- (f) Should amounts in the trust fund of the Plan be insufficient at any time to enable the Boards of Trustees to pay benefits due in full, then an equitable graded percentage of the payment shall be made.
- (g) The provisions of the State and Local Retirement Systems pertaining to administration and management of funds under G.S. 128-28, G.S. 128-29, G.S. 135-6 and G.S. 135-7 are made applicable to the Plan.
- (h) **Exemption from Garnishment and Attachment.** The right of a participant in the Separate Insurance Benefits Plan to the

benefits provided under this Article is nonforfeitable and exempt from levy, sale, and garnishment.

#### History.

1985, c. 479, s. 196(t); 1987, c. 738, s. 29(p); 1989, c. 792, s. 2.8; 2003-284, s. 30.19B(b); 2013-360, s. 35.17(a); 2014-97, s. 9; 2017-129, s. 2(v); 2020-48, s. 5.1; 2022-16, s. 4.4.

#### Editor's Note.

At the direction of the Revisor of Statutes, in 2011, the reference to "G.S. 128-21(11b)" near the beginning of subsection (a) was changed to "G.S. 128-21(11c)" to conform to the redesignation of subdivision (11b) as (11c) as a result of changes made to the section by Session Laws 2011-92. In 2012, the reference to "G.S. 128-21(11c)" in subsection (a) was changed to "G.S. 128-21(11b)" and the reference to "G.S. 135-1(11b)" in subsection (a) was changed to "G.S. 135-1(11c)" to conform to the redesignation of those subdivisions by Session Laws 2012-185.

Session Laws 2013-360, s. 35.17(b), provides: "During the 2013-2015 fiscal biennium, the Department of Public Safety and the Department of Justice shall report monthly to the Department of State Treasurer a list of the sworn law enforcement officers on whose behalf the departments have paid employer premiums to the State Health Plan. After receiving the reports, the Department of State Treasurer shall review and approve the reports and execute periodic transfers to the General Fund in order to ensure that these State law enforcement employer premium costs are financially supported by the Separate Insurance Benefits Plan established under G.S. 143-166.60."

Session Laws 2013-360, s. 35.17(c), as amended by Session Laws 2014-100, s. 35.17, provides: "For each fiscal year of the 2013-2015 fiscal biennium, the Department of State Treasurer shall calculate the total compensation for which the Department of Public Safety and Department of Justice have paid retirement contributions on behalf of sworn law enforcement officers. The Department of State Treasurer shall multiply this total compensation by five and forty hundredths percent (5.40%) for months during the 2013-2014 fiscal year and by five

and forty-nine hundredths percent (5.49%) for months during the 2014-2015 fiscal year and shall ensure that the General Fund is fully reimbursed for these costs by executing periodic transfers of the resulting amounts from the Separate Insurance Benefits Plan established under G.S. 143-166.60 to the General Fund."

Session Laws 2013-360, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as the 'Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2013.'"

Session Laws 2013-360, s. 38.2, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2013-2015 fiscal biennium, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2013-2015 fiscal biennium."

Session Laws 2013-360, s. 38.5, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 1.1, provides: "This act shall be known as "The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2014."

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 38.4, provides: "Except for statutory changes or other provisions that clearly indicate an intention to have effects beyond the 2014-2015 fiscal year, the textual provisions of this act apply only to funds appropriated for, and activities occurring during, the 2014-2015 fiscal year."

Session Laws 2014-100, s. 38.7, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 5.1, effective June 26, 2020, repealed subdivision (d)(1), which read: "An accident and sickness disability insurance benefit."

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 4.4, effective July 1, 2022, deleted "in conformance with Section 501(c)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended" following "trust fund" in clause (i) of subsection (b); and deleted the last sentence of subsection (e).

#### ARTICLE 12G.

#### TRANSFERS OF ASSETS OF LAW-ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM TO OTHER RETIREMENT SYSTEMS.

§ 143-166.70. Transfers of assets of Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to other retirement systems.

As of January 1, 1986, assets of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System, provided for under Article 12 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, as it existed prior to January 1, 1986, shall be transferred to the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System provided for under Article 3 of Chapter 128 of the General Statutes, and the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina, provided for under Article 5 of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes, in the amounts calculated and in the order of precedence enumerated as follows:

- (1) The regular accumulated contributions of members of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System shall be transferred from the annuity savings fund of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to the annuity savings fund of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System to the credit of each individual member.
- (2) An amount equal to the present value of the liabilities on account of the retirement allowances payable to beneficiaries of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System, as calculated by the Retirement System's consulting actuary, shall be transferred from the pension accumulation fund of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to the pension accumulation fund of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- (3) After the transfer provided for above, the remaining assets in the pension accumulation fund of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System shall be transferred to the pension accumulation fund of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System with the amount of such assets to be taken into account by the Retirement System's consulting actuary in determining the employers' rates of contribution under G.S. 128-30(d)(9).
- (4) The special annuity account accumulated contributions shall be transferred from the special annuity savings fund of the Law-Enforcement Officers' Retirement System to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina, or some other employer-sponsored trust qualified under Sections 401(a) and 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as amended.

(5) The separate trust fund reserves held under the death benefit plan provided for in G.S. 143-166.02, as it existed prior to January 1, 1986, shall be transferred to the separate trust fund for the death benefit plan provided for in G.S. 128-27(1) [128-27(l)].

### History.

1985, c. 479, s. 196(u).

#### Editor's Note.

Article 12 of Chapter 143, referred to in this section, was repealed by Session Laws 1985, c. 479, s. 196(t).

Section 143-166.02, referred to in subdivision (5) of this section, was repealed by Session Laws 1985, c. 479, s. 196(t).

The reference to G.S. 128-27(1) in subdivision (5) was apparently intended to refer to G.S. 128-27(*l*).

# CHAPTER 143B. EXECUTIVE ORGANIZATION ACT OF 1973.

### Article 9. Department of Administration.

Part 25. Board of Trustees of the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan.

Section

143B-426.24. North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan.

### ARTICLE 9.

### DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION.

### **PART 25.**

### BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE NORTH CAROLINA PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN.

# § 143B-426.24. North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan.

- (a) The Governor may, by Executive Order, establish a Board of Trustees of the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan, which when established shall be constituted an agency of the State of North Carolina within the Department of State Treasurer. The Board shall create, establish, implement, coordinate and administer a Deferred Compensation Plan for employees of the State, any county or municipality, the North Carolina Community College System, and any political subdivision of the State. Until so established, the Board heretofore established pursuant to Executive Order XII dated November 12, 1974, shall continue in effect. Likewise, the Plan heretofore established shall continue until a new plan is established. Effective July 1, 2008, the Plan shall be administered by the Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees established under G.S. 135-96.
- (b)-(f) Repealed by Session Laws 2008-132, s. 3, effective July 1, 2009.
- (g) It shall be the duty of the Supplemental Retirement Board to review all contracts, agreements or arrangements then in force relating to G.S. 147-9.2 and Executive Order XII to include, but not be limited to, such contracts, agreements or arrangements pertaining to the administrative services and the investment of deferred funds under the Plan for the purpose of recommending continuation of or changes to such contracts, agreements or arrangements.
- (h) It shall be the duty of the Supplemental Retirement Board to devise a uniform Deferred Compensation Plan for teachers and

employees, which shall include a reasonable number of options to the teacher or employee, for the investment of deferred funds, among which may be life insurance, fixed or variable annuities and retirement income contracts, regulated investment trusts, pooled investment funds managed by the Board or its designee, or other forms of investment approved by the Board, always in such form as will assure the desired tax treatment of such funds. The Board may alter, revise and modify the Plan from time to time to improve the Plan or to conform to and comply with requirements of State and federal laws and regulations relating to the deferral of compensation of teachers and public employees generally.

- (h1) Notwithstanding any other law, an employee of any county or municipality, an employee of the North Carolina Community College System, or an employee of any political subdivision of the State may participate in any 457 Plan adopted by the State, with the consent of the Supplemental Retirement Board and with the consent of the proper governing authority of such county, municipality, community college, or political subdivision of the State where such employee is employed.
- (h2) The administrative costs of the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan may be charged to members or deducted from members' accounts in accordance with nondiscriminatory procedures established by the Department of State Treasurer and Board of Trustees.
- (i) The Supplemental Retirement Board is authorized to delegate the performance of such of its administrative duties as it deems appropriate including coordination, administration, and marketing of the Plan to teachers and employees. Prior to entering into any contract with respect to such administrative duties, it shall seek bids, hold public hearings and in general take such steps as are calculated by the Board to obtain competent, efficient and worthy services for the performance of such administrative duties.
- (j) The Supplemental Retirement Board may acquire investment vehicles from any company duly authorized to conduct such business in this State or may establish, alter, amend and modify, to the extent it deems necessary or desirable, a trust for the purpose of facilitating the administration, investment and maintenance of assets acquired by the investment of deferred funds. All assets of the Plan, including all deferred amounts, property and rights purchased with deferred amounts, and all income attributed thereto shall be held in trust for the exclusive benefit of the Plan participants and their beneficiaries.
- (k), (l) Repealed by Session Laws 2008-132, s. 3, effective July 1, 2009.
- (m) Investment of deferred funds shall not be unreasonably delayed, and in no case shall the investment of deferred funds be delayed more than 30 days. The Supplemental Retirement Board

may accumulate such funds pending investment, and the interest earned on such funds pending investment shall be available to and may be spent in the discretion of the Board only for the reasonable and necessary expenses of the Board. The State Treasurer is authorized to prescribe guidelines for the expenditure of such funds by the Board. From time to time as the Board may direct, funds not required for such expenses may be used to defray administrative expenses and fees which would otherwise be required to be borne by teachers and employees who are then participating in the Plan.

- (n) Repealed by Session Laws 2008-132, s. 3, effective July 1, 2009.
- (o) It is intended that the provisions of this Part shall be liberally construed to accomplish the purposes provided for herein.

### History.

1983, c. 559, s. 1; 1991, c. 389, s. 2; 1995, c. 490, s. 40; 1999-456, s. 42; 2004-137, s. 1; 2006-66, s. 20.1; 2008-132, s. 3; 2018-84, s. 5(a).

## CHAPTER 147. STATE OFFICERS.

# Article 2A. Annuities and Deferred Compensation for Teachers and State Employees.

Section

147-9.2. Definitions.

147-9.3. Annuity contracts; salary deductions.

147-9.4. Deferred Compensation Plan.

### Article 6F. Achieving a Better Life Experience Program Trust.

147-86.70. Policy and definitions.

147-86.71. ABLE Program.

147-86.72. ABLE Program Board of Trustees.

147-86.73. Administration of ABLE Program.

147-86.74 through 147-86.79. [Reserved.]

### ARTICLE 2A.

# ANNUITIES AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### § 147-9.2. Definitions.

The following words when used in this Article shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section except when the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

- (1) "Board" shall mean the Board of Trustees of the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan established pursuant to Chapter 433 of the 1971 Session Laws and G.S. 143B-426.24.
- (1a) "Chief executive officer" shall mean the person or group of persons responsible for the administration of any employer, or an agent of such chief executive officer duly authorized to enter into the contracts with teachers or State employees referred to in G.S. 147-9.3 and 147-9.4.
- (2) "Employee" shall mean a permanent employee of the State of North Carolina, or of any of its departments or agencies, or of any of its wholly owned institutions and instrumentalities.
- (3) "Employer" shall mean (i) the State of North Carolina, its departments and agencies, and its wholly owned institutions and instrumentalities or (ii) a local board of education.
- (4) "Plan" shall mean the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan.
- (5) "Teacher" shall have the meaning provided in G.S. 135-1(25).

History.

1971, c. 433, s. 1; 1983, c. 559, s. 2; 1991, c. 389, s. 1.

### § 147-9.3. Annuity contracts; salary deductions.

Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 143B-426.40A and notwithstanding any provision of law relating to salaries or salary schedules of State employees, if the employee be one described in section 403(b)(1)(A)(i) or (ii) of the United States Internal Revenue Code, the chief executive officer of such employee, on behalf of the employer, may enter into an annual contract with the employee which provides for a reduction in salary below the total established compensation or salary schedule for a term of one year. The chief executive officer shall use the funds derived from the reduction in the salary of the employee to purchase a nonforfeitable annuity or retirement income contract for the benefit of said employee. An employee who has agreed to a salary reduction for this purpose shall not have the right to receive the amount of salary reduction in cash or in any other way except the annuity or retirement income contract. Funds used for the purchase of an annuity or retirement income contract shall not be in lieu of any amount earned by the employee before his election for a salary reduction has become effective. The agreement for salary reduction referred to herein shall be effective under the necessary regulations and procedures adopted by the chief executive officer and on forms prescribed by him. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the amount by which the salary of an employee is reduced pursuant to this section shall not be excluded, but shall be included, in computing and making payroll deductions for social security and retirement system purposes, if any, and in computing and providing matching funds for retirement system purposes, if any.

### History.

1971, c. 433, s. 2; 1991, c. 389, s. 1; 2006-66, s. 6.19(a); 2006-203, s. 112; 2006-221, s. 3A; 2006-259, s. 40(a).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2006-66, s. 6.19(a), as added by Session Laws 2006-221, s. 3A, substituted "G.S. 143B-426.39D" for "G.S. 143B-426-39A" which had been substituted for "G.S. 143-3.3" by Session Laws 2006-203, s. 112. The reference to G.S. 143B-426.39D has been changed to G.S. 143B-426.40A at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2006-66, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as 'The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2006'."

Session Laws 2006-66, s. 28.6, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2006-259, s. 40(a), corrected internal references to recodified sections 143B-426.39D through 143B-426.39F, but was repealed by Session Laws 2006-259, s. 40(i), provided that SB 198, 2005 Regular Session [2006-221] becomes law, which it did.

### § 147-9.4. Deferred Compensation Plan.

(a) Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 143B-426.40A and notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary relating to

salaries or salary schedules of teachers or State employees, the chief executive officer of an employer, on behalf of the employer, may enter into a contract with a teacher or employee under which the teacher or employee irrevocably elects to defer receipt of a portion of his or her scheduled salary in the future, but only if, as a result of such contract, the income so deferred is deferred pursuant to the Plan provided for in G.S. 143B-426.24 or pursuant to some other plan established before January 1, 1983, and is not constructively received by the teacher or employee in the year in which it was earned, for State and federal income tax purposes. In addition, the income so deferred shall be invested in the manner provided in the applicable Plan; however, the teacher or employee may revoke his or her election to participate and may amend the amount of compensation to be deferred by signing and filing with the Board a written revocation or amendment on a form and in the manner approved by the Board. Any such revocation or amendment shall be effective prospectively only and shall cause no change in the allocation of amounts invested prior to the filing date of such revocation or amendment.

A teacher or employee who has agreed to the deferral of income pursuant to the Plan shall have the right to receive the income so deferred only in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. Funds so deferred shall not be in lieu of any amount earned by the teacher or employee before his or her election to defer compensation became effective. The agreement to defer income referred to herein shall be effective under such necessary regulations and procedures as are adopted by the Board, and on forms prepared or approved by it. A teacher or employee who agrees to defer income as provided in this section may authorize payroll deductions for deferral of the income. An employer shall make payroll deduction available for a teacher or employee who authorizes payroll deduction. Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, the amount by which the salary of a teacher or employee is deferred pursuant to the Plan shall not be excluded. but shall be included, in computing and making payroll deductions for social security and retirement system purposes, if any, and in computing and providing matching funds for retirement system purposes, if any.

Except for the applications of the provisions of G.S. 110-136, and in connection with a court-ordered equitable distribution under G.S. 50-20, the right of a teacher or employee, who elects to defer income pursuant to the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred Compensation Plan under G.S. 143B-426.24, to benefits that have vested under the Plan, is nonforfeitable. These benefits are exempt from levy, sale, and garnishment, except as provided by this section.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of G.S. 143B-426.40A and any provision of law to the contrary relating to salaries or salary schedules of teachers or State employees, the chief executive officer

of an employer, on behalf of the employer, may contribute to a deferred compensation account of a teacher or employee additional funds, not in excess of limitations under federal law; provided that for State and federal income taxes purposes, the funds are not constructively received by the teacher or employee in the year in which the funds were earned.

### History.

1971, c. 433, s. 3; 1983, c. 559, s. 3; 1985, c. 660, s. 4; 1989, c. 792, s. 2.10; 1991, c. 389, s. 1; 2006-66, s. 6.19(a); 2006-203, s. 113; 2006-221, s. 3A; 2006-259, s. 40(a); 2017-129, s. 7.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2006-66, s. 1.2, provides: "This act shall be known as 'The Current Operations and Capital Improvements Appropriations Act of 2006'."

Session Laws 2006-66, s. 6.19(a), as added by Session Laws 2006-221, s. 3A, substituted G.S. 143B-426.39D for G.S.

143B-426-39A which had been substituted for "G.S. 143-3.3" by Session Laws 2006-203, s. 113. The reference to G.S. 143B-426.39D has been changed to G.S. 143B-426.40A at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2006-66, s. 28.6, is a severability clause.

Session Laws 2006-259, s. 40(a), which corrected the internal references to 143B-426.40A, was repealed by Session Laws 2006-259, s. 40(i), provided that Senate Bill 198, 2005 Regular Session [2006-221] becomes law, which it did.

### ARTICLE 6F.

# ACHIEVING A BETTER LIFE EXPERIENCE PROGRAM TRUST.

### § 147-86.70. Policy and definitions.

- (a) **Policy.** The General Assembly of North Carolina hereby finds and declares that encouraging and assisting individuals and families in saving private funds for the purpose of supporting individuals with disabilities, as authorized in the federal Achieving a Better Life Experience (ABLE) Act, to maintain health, independence, and a better quality of life is fully consistent with and furthers the long-established policy of the State to provide tools that strengthen opportunities for personal economic development and long-term financial planning.
  - (b) **Definitions.** The following definitions apply in this section:
    - (1) ABLE account. An account established and owned by an eligible individual and maintained under this Article. An authorized representative may act on behalf of an account owner.
    - (2) Account owner. The person who enters into an ABLE savings agreement pursuant to the provisions of this Article. The account owner must be the designated beneficiary. An authorized representative may act on behalf of the account owner.
    - (2a) Authorized representative. An individual or entity authorized to open or manage an ABLE account on behalf of

- an account owner under the provisions of the federal ABLE Act and federal regulations promulgated under the Act.
- (3) Board. The ABLE Program Board of Trustees established in G.S. 147-86.72.
- (4) Repealed by Session Laws 2016-56, s. 9(c), effective June 30, 2016.
- (5) Designated beneficiary. The eligible individual who established and owns an ABLE account.
- (6) Disability certification. Defined in 26 U.S.C. § 529A(e)(2).
- (7) Eligible individual. Defined in 26 U.S.C. § 529A(e)(1).
- (8) Federal ABLE Act. Division B of the Tax Increase Prevention Act of 2014, P.L. 113-295, the Achieving a Better Life Experience Act of 2014.
- (9) Repealed by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.4(a), effective June 26, 2020, and applicable to actions taken on behalf of an ABLE account owner on or after that date.
- (10) Qualified disability expense. Defined in 26 U.S.C. § 529A(e)(5).
- (11) Reserved for future codification purposes.
- (12) Reserved for future codification purposes.
- (13) Sibling. A brother, sister, stepbrother, or stepsister.

### History.

2015-203, s. 1; 2016-56, s. 9(c); 2017-212, s. 3.2(a); 2020-48, s. 1.4(a); 2022-16, s. 5.1.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.4(d), made the amendment of subsection (b) of this section by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.4(a), effective June 26, 2020, and applicable to actions taken on behalf of an ABLE account owner on or after that date

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.4(a), added "sibling" in subdivision (b)(1); deleted subdivision (b)(9), which read, "Member of the family. — A brother, sister, stepbrother, or stepsister"; and added subdivision (b)(13). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 5.1 effective July 1, 2022, substituted "An authorized representative" for "A parent, sibling, guardian, or agent under a power of attorney" in the second sentence of subdivision (b)(1); added the last sentence in subdivision (b)(2); and added subdivision (b)(2a).

### § 147-86.71. ABLE Program.

- (a) Achieving a Better Life Experience (ABLE) Program Trust. There is established an ABLE Program Trust to be administered by the ABLE Program Board of Trustees established in G.S. 147-86.72 to enable contributors to save funds to meet the costs of the qualified disability expenses of eligible individuals. The Board shall administer the ABLE Program Trust in compliance with the federal ABLE Act and federal regulations promulgated under the Act.
- (b) Accounts. The following provisions apply to an ABLE account:

- (1) An account owner or authorized representative may establish an account by making an initial contribution to the ABLE Program Trust, signing an application form approved by the Board or its designee, and naming the designated beneficiary.
- (2) Any person may make contributions to an account after the account is opened.
- (3) Contributions to an account shall be made only in U.S. Dollars.
- (4) Contributions to an account shall not exceed maximum contribution limits applicable to program accounts in accordance with the federal ABLE Act.
- (5) An account owner may change the designated beneficiary of an account to an eligible individual who is a sibling of the former designated beneficiary. At the direction of an account owner, all or a portion of an account may be transferred to another account of which the designated beneficiary is a sibling of the designated beneficiary of the transferee account if the transferee account was created pursuant to this section or in accordance with the federal ABLE Act.
- (c) **Contributions.** The Board is authorized to accept, hold, invest, and disburse contributions, and interest earned on such contributions, from contributors as trustees of the ABLE Program Trust. The Board shall hold all contributions to the ABLE Program Trust, and any earnings thereon, in the ABLE Program Trust and shall invest the contributions in accordance with this section. The assets of the ABLE Program Trust shall at all times be preserved, invested, and expended for the purpose of providing benefits to designated beneficiaries and paying reasonable expenses of administering the ABLE Program Trust and investing the assets of the ABLE Program Trust. Nothing in this Article shall be construed to prohibit the Board from accepting, holding, and investing contributions from contributors who reside outside of North Carolina. Neither the contributions to the ABLE Program Trust, nor the earnings thereon, shall be considered State monies, assets of the State, or State revenue for any purpose. An account or a legal or beneficial interest in an account is not subject to attachment, levy, or execution by a creditor of the designated beneficiary.
- (d) **Limitations.** The Board, in administering the ABLE Program Trust, shall ensure each of the following:
  - (1) A rollover from an ABLE account shall constitute a qualified rollover if the rollover distribution is in accordance with the federal ABLE Act.
  - (2) A person may make contributions for a taxable year for the benefit of an individual who is an eligible individual for the taxable year to an ABLE account that is established to meet

the qualified disability expenses of the designated beneficiary of the account.

- (3) A designated beneficiary is limited to one ABLE account.
- (4) Repealed by Session Laws 2016-56, s. 9(d), effective June 30, 2016.
- (5) Except as permitted under the federal ABLE Act, a person does not direct the investment of any contributions to or earnings from the Achieving a Better Life Experience Program more than two times each year.
- (6) An account or a legal or beneficial interest in an account is not assignable, pledged, or otherwise used to secure or obtain a loan or other advancement.
- (7) Separate records and accounting are maintained for each ABLE account.
- (8) Reports are made no less frequently than annually to each ABLE account owner.
- (9) An authorized representative of an ABLE account does not have or acquire any beneficial interest in the account and administers the account for the benefit of the designated beneficiary.

### History.

2015-203, s. 1; 2016-56, ss. 9(a), (d); 2017-212, s. 3.2(b); 2020-48, s. 1.4(b), (c); 2022-16, s. 5.2.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2015-203, s. 1, enacted this section as G.S. 147-86.51; it was recodified as G.S. 147-86.71 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.4(d), made the amendment of subsection (b) and subdivision (d)(9) of this section by Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.4(b), (c), effective June 26, 2020, and applicable to actions taken on behalf of an ABLE account owner on or after that date.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 6.1, is a severability clause.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2020-48, s. 1.4(b), (c), added "sibling" in subdivisions (b)(1) and (d)(9); and substituted "sibling" for "member of the family" twice in subdivision (b)(5). For effective date and applicability, see editor's note.

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 5.2, effective July 1, 2022, added the last sentence in subsection (a); in subdivision (b)(1), substituted "authorized representative" for "contributor" in the first sentence, and deleted the last sentence; and substituted "An authorized representative" for "A parent, sibling, trustee, or guardian appointed as a signatory" in subdivision (d)(9).

### § 147-86.72. ABLE Program Board of Trustees.

- (a) **Board.** There is established a Board of Trustees to provide oversight of the general administration and proper operation of the ABLE Program and to determine the appropriate investment strategy for the ABLE Program Trust. The Board of Trustees shall consist of the following six members:
  - (1) The State Treasurer, ex officio, or the State Treasurer's designee, as chair.
  - (2) The Commissioner of Banks, ex officio, or the Commissioner of Banks' designee.

- (3) The Secretary of the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, ex officio, or the Secretary's designee.
- (4) A person appointed by the Governor having experience in investments and finance.
- (5) A person appointed by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate having experience in advocacy for the disabled.
- (6) A person appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives that is an immediate family member of an eligible individual or a guardian of an eligible individual.
- (b) **Terms.** The members of the Board, except those members serving in an ex officio capacity, shall be appointed for terms of three years and shall serve until their successors are appointed and qualified. Vacancies are filled in the same manner as the original appointment. No appointed member of the Board may serve longer than any of the following:
  - (1) Two consecutive three-year terms.
  - (2) Three consecutive terms of any length, in the event that one or more of the terms is for less than three years in duration or the member serves a partial term as a result of filling a vacancy.
  - (3) Eight consecutive years, regardless of term lengths.
  - (c) **Duties.** The Board of Trustees is authorized to:
    - (1) Delegate the authority to the State Treasurer to develop and perform all functions necessary and desirable to (i) administer the ABLE Program Trust in such a manner as to meet and comply with the requirements of the federal ABLE Act and federal regulations under the Act, (ii) implement the investment strategy of the Board, and (iii) provide other services as the Board shall deem necessary to facilitate participation in the ABLE Program Trust.
    - (2) Notwithstanding provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, engage the services of consultants on a contract basis for rendering professional and technical assistance and advice.
    - (3) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, retain the services of auditors, attorneys, investment counseling firms, custodians, or other persons or firms possessing specialized skills or knowledge necessary for the proper administration of investment programs that the Board administers pursuant to this Article.
    - (4) Develop marketing plans and promotional material.
    - (5) Establish the methods by which the funds held in accounts shall be dispersed.
    - (6) Establish the method by which funds shall be allocated to pay for administrative costs.
    - (7) Do all things necessary and proper to carry out the purposes of this act.

- (d) **Investments.** The Board shall determine and document in an investment policy statement an appropriate investment strategy for the ABLE Program Trust containing one or more forms of investment or strategies for investment from which account owners may select. The Board shall authorize the State Treasurer to be responsible for engaging and discharging investment managers and service providers, including contracting and contract monitoring, to implement the investment strategy established by the Board. All amounts maintained in an account shall be invested according to the account owner's election of one or more of the strategies approved by the Board. Each strategy may include a combination of fixed income assets and preferred or common stocks issued by any company incorporated, or otherwise located within or outside the United States, or other appropriate investment instruments to achieve long-term return through a combination of capital appreciation and current income. If the Board approves multiple forms of investment as investment strategy options, transfers of an account owner's accumulated funds shall be permitted among the various approved forms of investments, subject to reasonable restrictions approved by the Board.
- (e) **Discharge of Duties by the Board.** The assets of the ABLE Program Trust shall be held in trust for the designated beneficiaries. The assets of the ABLE Program Trust shall at all times be preserved, invested, and expended for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to designated beneficiaries and paying reasonable expenses of administering the ABLE Program Trust and investing the assets of the ABLE Program Trust. Compliance by the Board with this section must be determined in light of the facts and circumstances existing at the time of the Board's decision or action and not by hindsight. The Board shall discharge its duties with respect to the ABLE Program Trust as follows:
  - (1) Solely in the interest of the designated beneficiaries.
  - (2) With the care, skill, and caution under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with those matters would use in the conduct of an activity of like character and purpose.
  - (3) Impartially, taking into account any differing interests of designated beneficiaries.
  - (4) Incurring only costs that are appropriate and reasonable.
  - (5) In accordance with a good-faith interpretation of the law governing the ABLE Program Trust.
- (f) **Immunity.** A person serving on the ABLE Board of Trustees shall be immune individually from civil liability for monetary damages, and exempt to the extent covered by insurance, for any act or failure to act arising out of that service except where any of the following apply:
  - (1) The person was not acting within the scope of that person's official duties.

- (2) The person was not acting in good faith.
- (3) The person committed gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct that resulted in the damages or injury.
- (4) The person derived an improper personal financial benefit, either directly or indirectly, from the transaction.
- (g) **Report.** The Board shall submit an annual evaluation of the ABLE Program and prepare and submit an annual report of such evaluation to the Joint Legislative Oversight Committee on Health and Human Services.
- (h) Other States Contracting for North Carolina to Provide Program. With consent of the State Treasurer, the Board may enter into agreements with other states to either (i) allow North Carolina residents to participate in a plan operated by a contracting state with a qualified ABLE program or (ii) allow residents of other states to participate in the qualified North Carolina ABLE Program Trust.
- (i) Arrangements for North Carolina Program to Be Provided in Partnership With Other States. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article, in addition to or in lieu of establishing a North Carolina ABLE Program and ABLE Program Trust, the Board may do either of the following:
  - (1) Enter into an agreement with one or more states, or a consortium of states, that has a qualified ABLE program for the provision of all services necessary to allow residents of North Carolina to participate in the qualified ABLE program of the other state, states, or consortium.
  - (2) Facilitate or otherwise provide access to allow residents of North Carolina to participate in qualified ABLE programs operated by another state, states, or consortium.

    The Board shall take action only after due diligence that includes a fiduciary analysis that indicates the qualified ABLE program offered by the other state, states, or consortium will (i) meet all the requirements of this Article and (ii) be more efficient and cost-effective than an ABLE program provided directly by the Board. If the Board enters into an arrangement authorized by this subsection, the Board shall meet on a semiannual basis to evaluate the effectiveness of the services being provided.

### History.

2015-203, s. 1; 2016-56, s. 9(b); 2017-125, ss. 5(a), 5(b).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2015-203, s. 1, enacted this section as G.S. 147-86.52; it was recodified as G.S. 147-86.72 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2015-203, s. 5, provides: "The Board authorized in G.S. 147-86.52 [147-86.72] shall be organized immediately after a majority of the members have been qualified or appointed and have taken the oath of office. The terms for the trustees that are appointed shall be for initial terms to expire June 30, 2018."

### § 147-86.73. Administration of ABLE Program.

- (a) **Administration.** The Board may delegate to the State Treasurer the authority to develop and perform all functions necessary and desirable to (i) administer the ABLE Program Trust in such a manner as to meet and comply with the requirements of the federal ABLE Act and federal regulations under the Act, (ii) implement the investment strategy established by the Board, and (iii) provide such other services as the State Treasurer shall deem necessary to facilitate participation in the ABLE Program Trust. The State Treasurer is further authorized to obtain the services of such investment managers, investment advisors, service providers, or program managers as may be necessary for the proper administration, marketing, and investment of the ABLE Program Trust.
- (b) **Disclaimer.** Nothing in this section shall be construed to create any obligation of the State Treasurer, the Board, the State, or any agency or instrumentality of the State to guarantee for the benefit of any authorized representative, other interested party, or designated beneficiary the rate of return or other return for any contribution to the ABLE Program Trust and the payment of interest or other return on any contribution to the ABLE Trust Fund.
- (c) **Fees and Costs.** The State Treasurer may establish application, account, and administration fees in an amount not to exceed the amount necessary to offset the costs of the program. The following costs may be paid directly from the ABLE Program Trust:
  - (1) The costs of administration, management, investment, and operation of the ABLE Program Trust.
  - (2) The costs of all actions authorized by the Board.
  - (3) The costs of all actions delegated to the State Treasurer and the State Treasurer's staff by the Board under this section. Such costs shall be allocated among the designated beneficiaries in such manner as may be prescribed by the Board. The Board shall no less than annually approve a budget and allocation of costs.
- (d) **Means-Tested Programs.** Notwithstanding any other provision of law, an ABLE account shall not be considered a resource for purposes of means-tested State benefits. Distributions for qualified disability expenses shall not be considered income for any State benefits eligibility program that limits eligibility based on income.
- (e) Claim for Medical Assistance Benefits. To the extent provided in subsection 26 U.S.C. § 529A(f) upon the death of a designated beneficiary, the State shall have a claim for payment from the beneficiary's account in an amount equal to the total medical assistance paid for the designated beneficiary after the establishment of the account. The State may file its claim for repayment from the account with the State Treasurer within 60

days of receiving notice from the State Treasurer of the death of the designated beneficiary. Any remaining funds in the beneficiary's account shall be distributed as provided in the account agreement or distributed to the beneficiary's estate if no other designation is made.

- (f) Notice of the Death of a Designated Beneficiary. Within 30 days of the date the State Treasurer receives notice of the death of a designated beneficiary, the State Treasurer shall provide notice of the designated beneficiary's death to the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Health Benefits.
- (g) Repealed by Session Laws 2016-94, s. 12H.2(b), effective July 14, 2016.
- (g1) **Notice for Designated Beneficiary Receiving Medicaid.** The ABLE Account application package approved in accordance with G.S. 147-86.71(b)(1) shall include notice of the State's right under subsection (e) of this section to file a claim for payment from a designated beneficiary's ABLE account following the death of a beneficiary who received medical assistance benefits.
- (h) **Account Information.** The information related to individual ABLE accounts are not public records as defined in Chapter 132 of the General Statutes.
- (i) The Department of Health and Human Services shall provide information and assistance to the Department of State Treasurer and shall enter into a data-sharing agreement with the Department of State Treasurer for the purpose of the ongoing implementation of this act. The Department of State Treasurer shall consult with other departments as needed.

### History.

2015-203, ss. 1, 2; 2016-94, ss. 12H.2(a), (b); 2017-129, s. 11; 2019-81, s. 15(a); 2022-16, s. 5.3.

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2015-203, s. 1, enacted this section as G.S. 147-86.53; it was recodified as G.S. 147-86.73 at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

Session Laws 2015-203, s. 2 was codified as subsection (i) of this section at the direction of the Revisor of Statutes.

### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2022-16, s. 5.3, effective July 1, 2022, in subsection (b), inserted "the Board," and substituted "authorized representative" for "parent."

### §§ 147-86.74 through 147-86.79. (Reserved)

Reserved for future codification purposes.

## CHAPTER 161. REGISTER OF DEEDS.

### Article 3. Registers of Deeds' Supplemental Pension Fund Act of 1987.

Section

161-50. Short title and purpose.

161-50.1. Scope.

161-50.2. Assets.

161-50.3. Disbursements.

161-50.4. Eligibility.

161-50.5. Benefits.

### ARTICLE 3.

### REGISTERS OF DEEDS' SUPPLEMENTAL PENSION FUND ACT OF 1987.

### § 161-50. Short title and purpose.

- (a) This Article shall be known and may be cited as the "Registers of Deeds' Supplemental Pension Fund Act of 1987."
- (b) The purpose of this Article is to create a pension fund to supplement local government retirement benefits which will attract the most highly qualified talent available within the State to the position of register of deeds.

History.

1987, c. 792, s. 1.

### § 161-50.1. Scope.

- (a) This Article provides supplemental pension benefits for all county registers of deeds who are retired from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System or an equivalent locally sponsored plan as herein described.
- (b) The Board of Trustees of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System shall administer the provisions of this Article.
- (c) The provisions of this Article shall be subject to future legislative change or revision, and no person is deemed to have acquired any vested right to a pension payment provided by this Article.

1987, c. 792, s. 1; 2013-287, s. 2.

### § 161-50.2. Assets.

(a) On and after October 1, 1987, each County Commission shall remit monthly to the Department of State Treasurer an amount equal to one and one-half percent (1.5%) of the monthly receipts collected pursuant to Article 1 of Chapter 161 of the General Statutes, to be deposited to the credit of the Registers of Deeds' Supplemental Pension Fund, hereinafter referred to as the Fund, to be used in making monthly pension payments to eligible retired registers of deeds under the provisions of this Article and to pay the cost of administering the provisions of this Article. A County Commission's submission of these amounts to the Department of State Treasurer constitutes a certification of the accuracy of these amounts.

(b) The State Treasurer shall be the custodian of the Registers of Deeds' Supplemental Pension Fund and shall invest its assets in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 147-69.2 and G.S. 147-69.3.

```
History.
1987, c. 792, s. 1; 2007-245, s. 1; 2021-
60, s. 2.2.
```

July 1, 2021, added the last sentence in subsection (a).

#### Effect of Amendments.

Session Laws 2021-60, s. 2.2, effective

### § 161-50.3. Disbursements.

- (a) Immediately following July 1, 1988, the Department of State Treasurer shall divide an amount equal to forty-five percent (45%) of the assets of the Fund at the end of the preceding fiscal year into equal shares and disburse the same as monthly pension payments to all eligible retired registers of deeds as of July 1, 1988, payable in accordance with the method described in G.S. 161-50.5, except that such pension benefit shall be computed for a six-months basis beginning with the month of July, 1988.
- (b) Immediately following January 1, 1996, and the first of January of each succeeding calendar year thereafter, the Department of State Treasurer shall divide an amount equal to ninety-three percent (93%) of the assets of the Fund at the end of the preceding calendar year into equal shares and disburse the same as monthly payments in accordance with the provisions of this Article.
- (c) The remaining seven percent (7%) of the Fund's assets as of December 31, 1995, and at the end of each calendar year thereafter, may be used by the Department of State Treasurer in administering the provisions of this Article.
- (d) All the Fund's disbursements shall be conducted in the same manner as disbursements are conducted for other special funds of the State.
- (e) If, for any reason, the Fund shall be insufficient to pay any pension benefits or other charges, then all benefits or payments shall be reduced pro rata for as long as the deficiency in amount exists. No claim shall accrue with respect to any amount by which a pension payment shall have been reduced.

### History.

1987, c. 792, s. 1; 1995, c. 259, s. 2.

### § 161-50.4. Eligibility.

- (a) Each county register of deeds who has retired with at least 12 years eligible service as register of deeds from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System or an equivalent locally sponsored plan before June 30, 1988, and those who retire on or after June 30, 1988, but before July 1, 1991, and who have completed at least 12 years of eligible service as register of deeds is entitled to receive a monthly pension under this Article, beginning July 1, 1988. Effective July 1, 1991, each county register of deeds who retires with at least 10 years of eligible service as register of deeds is entitled to receive a monthly pension under this Article.
- (a1) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, effective January 1, 1996, any county register of deeds who separates from service as register of deeds after completing at least 10 years of eligible service as register of deeds, but who does not commence retirement with the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System, shall have the right to receive a monthly pension under this Article payable upon retirement with the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- (a2) Each county register of deeds who is not eligible to retire with the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System solely because the county has not elected to participate as an employer with the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and who has either (i) attained the age of 65, (ii) attained 30 years of creditable service regardless of age, or (iii) attained the age of 60 with not less than 25 years of creditable service, and who has completed at least 10 years of creditable service as a register of deeds is entitled to receive a monthly pension under this Article, provided that register of deeds is not eligible to receive any retirement benefits from any State or locally sponsored plan.
- (b) Each eligible retired register of deeds as defined in subsection (a), (a1), or (a2) of this section relating to service and retirement status shall be entitled to receive a monthly pension under this Article beginning with the month of retirement.
- (c) A county register of deeds who is otherwise eligible to receive a monthly pension under this Article shall cease to be eligible upon forfeiture of any retirement benefits under G.S. 128-38.4 or G.S. 128-38.4A.

**History.** 1995, c. 259, s. 1; 1998-147, s. 1; 2007-1987, c. 792, s. 1; 1991, c. 443, s. 1; 245, s. 2; 2018-84, s. 2(c).

### CASE NOTES

**Construction.** — By enacting G.S. 161-50.4(c), which enumerated specific felonies to justify a forfeiture, the General Assembly did not invalidate or re-

peal the mechanism under G.S. 128-38.4A for forfeiture. N.C. Dep't of State Treasurer v. Riddick, 274 N.C. App. 183,

852 S.E.2d 376, 2020 N.C. App. LEXIS 776 (2020).

### § 161-50.5. Benefits.

- (a) An eligible retired register of deeds shall be entitled to receive an annual pension benefit, payable in equal monthly installments, equal to one share for each full year of eligible service as register of deeds multiplied by his total number of years of eligible service. The amount of each share shall be determined by dividing the total number of years of eligible service for all eligible retired registers of deeds on December 31 of each calendar year into the amount to be disbursed as monthly pension payments in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 161-50.3. In no event, however, shall a monthly pension under this Article exceed an amount which, when added to a retirement allowance under the maximum allowance at retirement from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System or an equivalent locally sponsored plan, is greater than seventy-five percent (75%) of a register of deed's equivalent annual salary immediately preceding retirement computed on the latest monthly rate, including any and all supplements, to a maximum amount of one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500).
- (a1) A register of deeds eligible under G.S. 161-50.4(a2) shall be entitled to receive an annual pension benefit, payable in equal monthly installments as determined under the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, but reduced by an amount equal to the benefit that would be payable from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System if the register of deeds had been a member of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System and all of the years of local service were creditable to that System.
- (b) All monthly pensions payable under this Article shall be paid on the same business day of each month that benefits are paid from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System.
- (c) Monthly pensions payable under this Article shall cease at the death of the pensioner and no payment will be made to any beneficiaries or to the decedent's estate.
- (d) Monthly pensions payable under this Article will cease upon the full-time reemployment of a pensioner with an employer participating in the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System for as long as the pensioner is so reemployed.
- (d1) Monthly pensions payable under this Article will cease upon the ineligibility of a pensioner under G.S. 161-50.4(c) due to the forfeiture of any retirement benefits under G.S. 128-38.4 or G.S. 128-38.4A.
- (e) Repealed by Session Laws 1989, c. 792, s. 2.11, effective for taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 1989.
- (f) Nothing contained in this Article shall preclude or in any way affect the benefits that a pensioner may be entitled to from any

state, federal or private pension, retirement or other deferred compensation plan.

### History.

1987, c. 792, s. 1; 1989, c. 792, s. 2.11; 1991, c. 50, s. 1; c. 443, s. 2; 1998-147, s. 2; 2007-245, s. 3; 2009-576, s. 1; 2018-84, s. 2(d).

### Editor's Note.

Session Laws 2009-576, s. 2, provides that amendments made to G.S. 161-50.5 by Section 1 of the act [which substituted "exceed an amount which, when added to a retirement allowance under the maxi-

mum allowance at retirement from the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System or an equivalent locally sponsored plan, is greater than seventy-five percent (75%)" for "exceed seventy-five percent (75%)" in the last sentence of subsection (a)] shall not apply to any retiree of the Register of Deeds' Supplemental Pension Fund. Section 1 of the act shall not apply to any register of deeds who is serving as of the effective date of this bill (September 10, 2009).

### Index

#### A

### ABC BOARDS.

Local governmental employees' retirement system.

ABC boards, ineligibility to participate, §128-23(h).

### ABLE ACCOUNTS.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §§147-86.70 to 147-86.73.

### ABORTION.

#### Health insurance.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Coverage mandate, §135-48.50.

# ACCIDENT AND HEALTH INSURANCE.

### INSURANCE. Law enforcement officers.

Separate insurance benefits plan for state and local officers, §143-166.60(a) to (h).

### Teachers and state employees.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### ACHIEVING A BETTER LIFE EXPERIENCE PROGRAM

**TRUST,** §§147-86.70 to 147-86.73.

**ABLE accounts,** §147-86.71.

### Administration of program.

Confidentiality of account information, \$147-86.73(h). Death of designated beneficiary. Claim of state for repayment of medical assistance, \$147-86.73(e).

Notice of state's right to file claim, §147-86.73(g1). Notice of death, §147-86.73(f).

Delegation of authority, \$147-86.73(a).

Disclaimer regarding rates of return, §147-86.73(b).

Fees and costs, §147-86.73(c).

Means-tested programs, accounts not counted for, §147-86.73(d).

Repayment of medical assistance.

Death of designated beneficiary,
claim of state, §147-86.73(e).

Agreements with other states, §147-86.72(h), (i).

### Authorized representatives.

Contributions to accounts, §147-86.71(b).

# ACHIEVING A BETTER LIFE EXPERIENCE PROGRAM

TRUST —Cont'd

#### Board of trustees.

Administration of program. Delegation of authority, §147-86.73(a).

Agreements with other states, §147-86.72(h), (i).

Assets, duties regarding, §147-86.72(e).

Authority, §147-86.72(c).

Duties, §147-86.72(c), (e).

Discharge of duties, §147-86.72(e).

Established, §147-86.72(a).

Evaluation of program, §147-86.72(g).

Immunity from liability, §147-86.72(f).

Investment policies, §147-86.72(d).

Members, §147-86.72(a).

Reporting, §147-86.72(g).

Terms of office, §147-86.72(b).

# Confidentiality of account information, §147-86.73(h).

Contributions to accounts, §147-86.71(b), (c).

### Death of designated beneficiary.

Claim of state for repayment of medical assistance, \$147-86.73(e). Notice of state's right to file claim, \$147-86.73(g1).

Notice of death, §147-86.73(f).

**Definitions,** §147-86.70(b).

Designated beneficiaries, §147-86.71(b).

Death, §147-86.73(e), (g1).

Disclaimer regarding rates of return, §147-86.73(b).

Establishment of program trust, §147-86.71(a).

Investment policies, §147-86.72(d). Legislative findings and policy, §147-86.70(a).

**Limitations,** §147-86.71(d).

**Policy of state,** §147-86.70(a).

### Repayment of medical assistance.

Death of designated beneficiary, claim of state, \$147-86.73(e). Notice of state's right to file claim, \$147-86.73(g1).

Requirements for accounts, §147-86.71(b).

### ACTIONS.

# Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Deficiency in payment of benefits. Commencement of action, §128-27(i).

#### ACTIONS -Cont'd

# Local governmental employees' retirement system —Cont'd

Whistleblower protection for persons furnishing information to division

Action for relief due to retaliation, §128-38.6(b).

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Payment of benefits.

Commencement of actions, \$135-5(n).

# State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Whistleblower protections. Retaliation prohibited, §135-48.15.

### ACTUARIES.

# Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Board of trustees.

Duties of actuary, §128-28(m) to (p).

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Board of trustees to keep actuarial data, §135-6(h).

Definition of actuarial equivalent, §135-53.

Duties of actuary, §135-6(l) to (o).

# State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Actuarial valuation of retired employees' health benefits, §135-48.12.

### ADOPTION.

# State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Coverage of adopted child, §135-48.42(b). Effective date of coverage, §135-48.43(c).

### AMBULANCES.

## Health insurance coverage for services.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Payments for county or city services, §135-48.57.

### ANNEXATION.

# Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund.

Firefighters whose residence is annexed by a city. Monthly pensions upon retirement,

\$58-86-55.

### ANNUITIES.

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §128-30.

Public officers and employees, §\$147-9.2 to 147-9.4.

### ANNUITIES -Cont'd

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Annuity reserve fund.

Merger with pension reserve fund into pension accumulation fund, §135-8(g).

Annuity savings fund, §135-8(b).

Transfer of credits from local governmental employees' retirement system, §135-18.1(b).

Definitions, §135-1.

Merger of annuity reserve fund and pension reserve fund into pension accumulation fund, §135-8(g).

### Teachers.

Annuities and deferred compensation, §§147-9.2 to 147-9.4.

# APPELLATE DIVISION RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

# Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### APPROPRIATIONS.

# Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund.

Administrative expenses of fund, §58-86-20.

### ASSESSMENTS.

### Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act.

Contribution fund, §135-24(f).

### ASSIGNMENTS.

# Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund.

Rights nonassignable, §58-86-90.

### ASSOCIATIONS.

### Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act.

Transfers from state to certain association service, §135-27.

### ATTACHMENT.

# Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund.

Exemption of pensions from attachment, §58-86-90.

### Legislative retirement system.

Exemption from attachment, §120-4.29.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Exemption from attachment, §135-9(a).

#### ATTORNEY GENERAL.

# Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Board of trustees.

Legal advisor of board, §128-28(k).

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Legal advisor to board of trustees, §135-6(j).

### ATTORNEYS AT LAW.

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Designation of legal counsel, §135-6(u).

### AUDITS AND AUDITORS.

# State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Fraud detection and audit programs, §135-48.16.

Oversight of state auditor, §135-48.28.

 $\mathbf{R}$ 

#### BENEFITS.

### City and county retirement system.

See LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

### Disability income plan.

See DISABILITY INCOME PLAN.

# Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund.

See FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION FUND.

### Legislative retirement system.

See LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### BLIND PERSONS.

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Enrollment of blind or visually handicapped employees, §135-16.1.

### BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS. State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Board of trustees, §§135-48.20 to 135-48.22.

# Supplemental retirement income plan.

Supplemental board of trustees, §135-96.

### BONDS, SURETY.

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Management of funds.

Personal profit or acting as surety prohibited, §135-7(e).

### BREAST CANCER.

### Reconstructive breast surgery.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Coverage mandate, §135-48.50.

C

### CANCER.

### Firefighters and fire departments.

Death benefits for those killed in line of duty.

Inclusion of deaths of firefighters from certain cancers as being from line of duty, §143-166.2.

# CHARTER SCHOOLS. Dissolution of charter school.

Distribution of assets,

§115C-218.100(b).

Maintenance of funds for closure expenses, \$115C-218.100(a). Disbursement of funds upon

dissolution, §115C-218.100(a1).

### Health insurance for employees.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Election to become participating employer.

Schools operated by private nonprofit corporations, §135-48.54.

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Creditable service.

Credit for employment in charter school operated by private nonprofit corporation, §135-4.

Participation by charter school operated by nonprofit corporation, §135-5.3.

### CHILDREN AND MINORS. Health insurance coverage for dependent children.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.41(b), (g).

Child born to covered employee. Coverage at birth, \$135-48.42(a). Dependent younger than age 19.

Enrolled at any time without waiting period, §135-48.42(c).

### CITIES.

Retirement, §§128-21 to 128-38.10.

See LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

#### CIVIL AIR PATROL.

**Death benefits,** §§143-166.1 to 143-166.7.

See LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE, RESCUE AND CIVIL AIR PATROL DEATH BENEFITS.

# CIVIL PENALTY AND FORFEITURE FUND.

### Remittance of moneys to.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Benefits forfeited by members convicted of certain felonies, §135-75.1(d).

Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Benefits forfeited by elected government officials convicted of certain felonies, \$128-38.4(d).

Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Benefits forfeited by members convicted of certain felonies, §135-18.10(d).

# CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION.

# Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Fraud investigations.

Identity of reporter to be kept confidential, §128-28(t).

List of members, §128-28(q).

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Fraud investigations.

Identity of person furnishing information to be kept confidential, §135-6(s).

Information concerning members, §135-6(p).

Member files held by retirement system, §135-6.1(f).

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.10.

### CONFLICT OF LAWS.

# State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Federal law conflicts, §135-48.4.

### CONFLICTS OF INTEREST.

# Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Management of funds.

Personal profit or acting as surety prohibited, §135-7(e).

# CONSOLIDATED JUDICIAL RETIREMENT ACT, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

# CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA.

#### Actions.

Civil cases.

Jury trial, NC Const Art I §25. Form of action, NC Const Art IV §13. Jury trial, NC Const Art I §25.

### Acts.

General laws.

Defined, NC Const Art XIV §3.

### Agriculture.

Capital projects for agriculture.
Authorization to create agency to
issue bonds, NC Const Art V
§11.

Commissioner of agriculture.

Acting commissioner, NC Const Art III §7.

Compensation and allowances, NC Const Art III §9.

Council of state.

Membership, NC Const Art III §8.

Duties, NC Const Art III §7. Elective officers, NC Const Art III §7.

Incapacity.

Determination, NC Const Art III §7.

Interim commissioner, NC Const Art III §7.

Vacancies.

Filling, NC Const Art III §7.

### Airports.

Powers of general assembly as to seaport and airport facilities, NC Const Art V §13.

### Alimony.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Allegiance to the United States, NC Const Art I §5.

### Amendments.

Convention of the people.

Revision or amendment of constitution by convention of the people, NC Const Art XIII §3.

Legislative initiation.

Revision or amendment by legislative initiation, NC Const Art XIII §4.

Power to revise or amend constitution reserved to people, NC Const Art XIII §2.

Revision or amendment by legislative initiation, NC Const Art XIII §4.

### Appeals.

Court of appeals.

Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12. Jurisdiction of the general court of justice, NC Const Art IV §12.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

### Appeals —Cont'd

Supreme court.

Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12.

### Arson.

Capital punishment.

Crimes punishable by death, NC Const Art XI §2.

#### Assemblies.

Right to assembly, NC Const Art I §12.

### Attorney general.

Acting attorney general, NC Const Art III §7.

Compensation and allowances, NC Const Art III §9.

### Council of state.

Membership, NC Const Art III §8. Duties, NC Const Art III §7.

Elective officers, NC Const Art III §7. Incapacity.

Determination, NC Const Art III §7.

Interim attorney general, NC Const Art III §7.

Qualifications, NC Const Art III §7.

### Attorneys at law.

Rights of accused to counsel, NC Const Art I §23.

### Authority.

Bond issues to finance capital projects for industry, NC Const Art V §9.

### Bail and recognizance.

Excessive bail prohibited, NC Const Art I §27.

### Bond issues.

Capital projects for industry.
Authorities may be created, NC
Const Art V §9.

General assembly.

Actions on revenue bills, NC Const Art II §23.

Health care facilities.

Authorized, NC Const Art V §8.

Higher education facilities. Authorized, NC Const Art V §12.

Hospitals, NC Const Art V §8.

Seaport and airport facilities.

Authorized powers as to, NC Const Art V §13.

### Boundaries.

State boundaries, NC Const Art XIV §2.

### Branches of government.

Separation of powers, NC Const Art I  $\S 6$ .

### Bridges.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

# CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

### **Budget.**

Governor.

Duties of governor, NC Const Art III §5.

### Burglary.

Capital punishment.

Crimes punishable by death, NC Const Art XI §2.

### Capital projects.

Bond issues to finance.

Counties may establish authorities to finance capital projects for industry, NC Const Art V §9.

### Capital punishment.

Enumeration of permissible punishments, NC Const Art XI §1.

Offenses punishable by death, NC Const Art XI §2.

### Capitation tax.

Prohibited, NC Const Art V §1.

### Cemeteries.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

#### Charities.

Establishment and operation by state, NC Const Art XI §3.

### Charters.

Corporate charters, NC Const Art VIII §1.

### Civil procedure.

Jury trial.

Right to jury trial in civil cases, NC Const Art I §25.

Rules of procedure, NC Const Art IV §13.

### Clerks of court.

Removal, NC Const Art IV §17. Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV §19.

# Community colleges and technical institutes.

Benefits of public institutions of higher education to be extended to people of state free of charge, NC Const Art IX §9.

Maintenance of system of higher education, NC Const Art IX §8.

### Conservation.

Policy of state, NC Const Art XIV §5. Consolidated city-county act.

General assembly to provide for local government, NC Const Art VII §1.

Merged or consolidated counties, NC Const Art VII §3.

### Consolidation.

### Counties.

Merged or consolidated counties, NC Const Art VII §3.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

#### Contracts.

State, political subdivisions or public corporations may make contracts, NC Const Art V §2.

#### Conventions.

Amendment to the constitution.

Revision or amendment by the
convention of the people, NC
Const Art XIII §3.

Composition, NC Const Art XIII §1. Procedure for calling, NC Const Art XIII §1.

### Corporations.

Charters, NC Const Art VIII §1. Defined, NC Const Art VIII §2.

### Corrections.

Establishment and operation of charitable and correctional institutions and agencies by state, NC Const Art XI §3.

#### Costs.

Revenues and expenses of the judicial department, NC Const Art IV §20.

#### Council of state.

Composition, NC Const Art III §8.

#### Counties.

Contracts.

Authority to contract, NC Const Art V §2.

Education.

County school fund.

Composition of fund, NC Const Art IX §7.

Elections.

Sheriffs, NC Const Art VII §2. General assembly to provide for local government, NC Const Art VII §1.

Local treasury.

Drawing public money, NC Const Art V §7.

Merged or consolidated counties, NC Const Art VII §3.

Sheriffs.

Election, NC Const Art VII §2. Taxation.

Exemption from taxation, NC Const Art V §2.

Special tax areas, NC Const Art V

### Court of appeals.

Composition, NC Const Art IV §7. Judges.

Election, NC Const Art IV §16. Removal, NC Const Art IV §17. Salaries, fees and emoluments, NC Const Art IV §21.

Terms of office, NC Const Art IV §16.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

Court of appeals —Cont'd

Judges —Cont'd

Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV §19.

Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12.

Administration by general assembly, NC Const Art IV §14.

Court of appeals.
Composition, NC Const Art IV §7.

Judges.

Election, NC Const Art IV §16.
Removal, NC Const Art IV §17.
Salaries, fees and emoluments,

NC Const Art IV §21.
Terms of office, NC Const Art IV §16.

Vacancies, NC Const Art IV §19. Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12. District courts, NC Const Art IV §10. Judges.

Salaries, fees and emoluments, NC Const Art IV §21.

Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV §19.

Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12. Magistrates, NC Const Art IV §12. General court of justice.

Appeals.

Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12.

Appellate division, NC Const Art IV §5.

Court of appeals, NC Const Art IV §5.

Divisions, NC Const Art IV §2.

Judicial power vested in general
court of justice, NC Const Art
IV §1.

Jurisdiction.

Waiver, NC Const Art IV §12. Retirement of justices and judges, NC Const Art IV §8.

Supreme court, NC Const Art IV §5.

Unified judicial system, NC Const Art IV §2.

Judges.

Removal by general assembly, NC Const Art IV §17.

Salaries, fees and emoluments, NC Const Art IV §21.

Open courts, NC Const Art I §18. Superior courts.

Clerks, NC Const Art IV §9. Removal, NC Const Art IV §17. Districts, NC Const Art IV §9. Judges.

Assignment, NC Const Art IV §11.

Election, NC Const Art IV §16.

# CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd Courts —Cont'd Superior courts —Cont'd

Superior courts —Cont'd Judges —Cont'd

Salaries, fees and emoluments, NC Const Art IV §21.

Terms of office, NC Const Art IV §16.

Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV §19.

Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12. Open at all times, NC Const Art IV §9.

Sessions.

Trial of cases, NC Const Art IV §9.

Supreme court.

Chief justice.

Assignment of judges, NC Const Art IV §11.

Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12. Justices.

Election, NC Const Art IV §16. Removal, NC Const Art IV §17. Salaries, emoluments and fees, NC Const Art IV §21.

Terms of office, NC Const Art IV §16.

Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV §19.

Membership, NC Const Art IV §6. Procedural rules.

Authority to make, NC Const Art IV §13.

Sessions, NC Const Art IV §6.

Crime victim rights, NC Const Art I 837

### Criminal law and procedure.

Capital punishment.

Crimes punishable by death, NC Const Art XI §2.

District courts.

Prosecution in district court division, NC Const Art IV §18. Ex post facto laws.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §16. Forms of actions, NC Const Art IV

§13. Jury trial.

> Right to trial by jury, NC Const Art I §24.

Modes of prosecution, NC Const Art I §23.

Rights of accused, NC Const Art I §23.

Rules of procedure, NC Const Art IV §13.

### Debts.

General assembly.

Actions on revenue bills, NC Const Art II §23.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

Debts -Cont'd

Imprisonment for debt, NC Const Art I §28.

Personal property.

Exemptions from process, NC Const Art X §1.

**Declaration of rights,** NC Const Art I §§1 to 38.

Arms.

Right to bear arms, NC Const Art I §30.

Assembly.

Right of assembly, NC Const Art I §12.

Attorneys at law.

Right of accused to counsel, NC Const Art I §23.

Bail and recognizance.

Excessive bail prohibited, NC Const Art I §27.

Branches of government.

Separation of powers, NC Const Art I §6.

Civil cases.

Jury trial, NC Const Art I §25.

Confrontation.

Right of accused to confrontation of witnesses against him, NC Const Art I §23.

Counsel.

Right of accused to counsel, NC Const Art I §23.

Courts

Open courts, NC Const Art I §18. Crime victims, NC Const Art I §37. Criminal law and procedure.

Ex post facto laws.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §16. Jury trial, NC Const Art I §24. Prosecution.

Modes of prosecution, NC Const Art I §23.

Rights of accused, NC Const Art I §23.

Cruel and unusual punishment. Prohibited, NC Const Art I §27.

Debt.

Imprisonment for debt, NC Const Art I §28.

Discrimination.

Jury service, NC Const Art I §26. Due process.

Law of the land, NC Const Art I §19.

Education.

State's duty to guard and maintain, NC Const Art I §15.

Elections.

Free elections, NC Const Art I §10. Frequent elections required, NC Const Art I §9.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

**Declaration of rights** —Cont'd Elections —Cont'd

Property qualifications prohibited, NC Const Art I §11.

Emoluments.

Exclusive emoluments, NC Const Art I §32.

Hereditary emoluments, NC Const Art I §33.

Equality of persons, NC Const Art I §1.

Equal protection of the law, NC Const Art I §19.

Exclusive emoluments.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §32.

Ex post facto laws.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §16. Fines.

Excessive fines prohibited, NC Const Art I §27.

Fraud.

Imprisonment for debt, NC Const Art I §28.

Fundamental principles.

Recurrence to fundamental principles, NC Const Art I §35. General assembly.

Representation required, NC Const Art I §8.

Habeas corpus.

Inquiry into restraints on liberty, NC Const Art I §21.

Hereditary emoluments, NC Const Art I §33.

Honors.

Hereditary emoluments and honors prohibited, NC Const Art I §33.

Hunting, fishing and harvesting wildlife, NC Const Art I §38.

Impeachment.

Modes of prosecution, NC Const Art I §22.

Incrimination.

Self-incrimination, NC Const Art I §23.

Indictments.

Modes of prosecution, NC Const Art I §22.

Right of accused to be informed of accusation, NC Const Art I §23.

Information of accusation.

Right of accused to be informed, NC Const Art I §23.

Inquiry into restraints on liberty, NC Const Art I §21.

Internal government of the state, NC Const Art I §3.

Involuntary servitude, NC Const Art I §17.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

Declaration of rights —Cont'd

Jury.

Civil cases.

Right to jury trial in civil cases, NC Const Art I §25.

Criminal cases.

Right to jury trial in criminal cases, NC Const Art I §24.

Discrimination in jury service

prohibited, NC Const Art I §26. Law of the land, NC Const Art I §19. Military affairs.

Militia, NC Const Art I §30. Quartering of soldiers, NC Const Art I §31.

Militia.

Maintenance of militia, NC Const Art I §30.

Monopolies.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §34. Other rights of the people.

Enumeration does not impair or deny other rights retained by people, NC Const Art I §36.

Penalties.

Excessive fines prohibited, NC Const Art I §27.

Perpetuities.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §34. Petition.

Right of petition, NC Const Art I §12.

Presentments.

Modes of prosecution, NC Const Art I §22.

Press.

Freedom of press, NC Const Art I §14.

Property qualifications.

Political rights, privileges and offices not to be affected by property, NC Const Art I §11.

Prosecution.

Modes of prosecution, NC Const Art I §22.

Public officers and employees.

Property qualifications not to affect right to hold office, NC Const Art I §11.

Recurrence to fundamental principles, NC Const Art I §35. Religious liberty, NC Const Art I §13. Remedies.

Inquiry into restraints on liberty, NC Const Art I §21.

Restraints of trade.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §34. Retention of other rights by the people, NC Const Art I §36.

Retrospective laws.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §16.

# CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

Declaration of rights -Cont'd

Rights of accused, NC Const Art I §23.

Rights of persons, NC Const Art I §1. Secession prohibited, NC Const Art I §4.

Self-incrimination, NC Const Art I §23.

Sentence and punishment.

Cruel and unusual punishment prohibited, NC Const Art I §27. Separation of powers, NC Const Art I

Servitude.

Involuntary servitude.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §17.

Slavery, NC Const Art I §17. Soldiers.

Quartering of soldiers, NC Const Art I §31.

Sovereignty of the people, NC Const Art I §2.

Speech.

Freedom of speech and press, NC Const Art I §14.

State of North Carolina.

Secession prohibited, NC Const Art I §4.

Separation of powers, NC Const Art I §6.

Suspending laws.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §7. Taxation.

Ex post facto laws.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §16. Representation required, NC Const Art I §8.

Treason.

Conduct constituting, NC Const Art I §29.

Trial.

Jury trial.

Criminal cases, NC Const Art I §24.

United States.

Allegiance to the United States, NC Const Art I §5.

Secession prohibited, NC Const Art I §4.

Warmanta

General warrants.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §20.

Witnesses.

Confrontation.

Rights of accused, NC Const Art I §23.

Fees, costs, etc.

Rights of accused, NC Const Art I §23.

# CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

### Deeds.

Giving effect to informal deeds. Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

#### Definitions.

Corporations, NC Const Art VIII §2. General laws, NC Const Art XIV §3. Local government finance, NC Const Art V §4.

State debt, NC Const Art V §3.

### Discrimination.

Jury service, NC Const Art I §26.

### District attorneys.

Prosecutorial districts, NC Const Art IV §18.

District courts, NC Const Art IV §10. Criminal cases.

Prosecutions, NC Const Art IV §18. Judges.

Qualifications, NC Const Art IV §22.

Salaries, fees and emoluments, NC Const Art IV §21.

Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV §19.

Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12.

### Districts.

General assembly.

House of representatives, NC Const Art II §5.

Senate districts, NC Const Art II §3.

Superior court districts, NC Const Art IV §9.

### Divorce.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Due process.

Law of the land, NC Const Art I §19.

### Education.

Attendance.

School attendance, NC Const Art IX §3.

Encouragement of education, NC Const Art IX §1.

Escheats.

Disposition of escheats, NC Const Art IX §10.

Funds.

County school fund.

Composition, NC Const Art IX §7.

State fund.

Penalties, fines and forfeitures collected by state agencies (effective upon approval), NC Const Art IX §7.

State school fund.

Composition, NC Const Art IX §6.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

Education —Cont'd

Higher education.

Benefits of public institutions of higher education to be extended to people of state free of expense, NC Const Art IX §9.

Maintenance of public system of higher education, NC Const Art IX §8.

Public schools.

Local responsibility for public schools, NC Const Art IX §2.

Uniform system of schools to be established, NC Const Art IX §2.

State board of education.

Composition, NC Const Art IX §4. Powers and duties, NC Const Art IX §5.

State school fund.

Composition of fund, NC Const Art IX §6.

State's duty to guard and maintain, NC Const Art I §15.

State superintendent of public instruction.

Acting superintendent, NC Const Art III §7.

Chief officer of state board of education, NC Const Art IX §4.

Compensation and allowances, NC Const Art III §9.

Council of state.

Membership, NC Const Art III §8.

Duties, NC Const Art III §7.

Elective officers, NC Const Art III §7.

Incapacity.

Determination, NC Const Art III §7.

Interim superintendent, NC Const Art III §7.

Vacancies.

Filling, NC Const Art III §7.

Students.

Escheats.

Disposition of escheats, NC Const Art IX §10.

### Elections.

Ballots.

Elections by people to be by ballots, NC Const Art VI §5.

Capitation tax prohibited, NC Const Art V §1.

Continuation in office, NC Const Art VI §10.

Convention of the people.

Procedure for calling, NC Const Art XIII §1.

# CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

Elections —Cont'd

Counties.

Sheriffs, NC Const Art VII §2.

Court of appeals.

Judges, NC Const Art IV §16.

Disqualifications for office, NC Const Art VI §8.

Dual office holding, NC Const Art VI §9.

Elected officers, NC Const Art III §7. Eligibility to elective office, NC Const Art VI §6.

Eligibility to vote, NC Const Art VI §1.

Executive branch.

Joint ballot in both houses of general assembly to decide, NC Const Art VI §5.

Felonies.

Disqualification of felon, NC Const Art VI §2.

Free elections, NC Const Art I §10. Frequent elections required, NC Const Art I §9.

General assembly, NC Const Art II §8.

Elections by general assembly to be by viva voce, NC Const Art VI §5.

Governor, NC Const Art III §2. Lieutenant governor, NC Const Art

III §2. Literacy requirements, NC Const Art

VI §4. Poll tax prohibited, NC Const Art V

§1.

Property qualifications prohibited, NC Const Art I §11.

Qualifications of voter, NC Const Art VI §2.

Registration, NC Const Art VI §3.

Literacy requirements, NC Const Art VI §4.

Qualifications for registration, NC Const Art VI §4.

Residence.

Presidential elections, NC Const Art VI §2.

State elections, NC Const Art VI

Sheriffs.

County sheriffs, NC Const Art VII §2.

Superior court.

Judges, NC Const Art IV §16.

Supreme court.

Justices, NC Const Art IV §16.

Voters

Qualifications, NC Const Art VI §2.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

### Electricity.

Municipal corporations.

Joint ownership of generation and transmission facilities, NC Const Art V §10.

#### **Emoluments.**

Declaration of rights.

Hereditary emoluments, NC Const Art I §33.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §33.

**Equality of persons,** NC Const Art I §1.

**Equal protection,** NC Const Art I §19.

### Escheats.

Disposition of escheats, NC Const Art IX §10.

#### Executions.

Homestead exemption, NC Const Art X §2.

Personal property.

Exemption from process, NC Const Art X §1.

Exemptions from execution, NC Const Art X §1.

# **Executive branch,** NC Const Art III §§1 to 11.

Elections.

Joint ballot in both houses of general assembly to decide, NC Const Art VI §5.

### Exemptions.

Homestead exemption, NC Const Art X §2.

Married women.

Property of married women secured to them, NC Const Art X §4.

Personal property.

Exemption of property from execution or other process, NC Const Art X §1.

### Ex post facto laws.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §16.

### Fees.

Judicial officers, NC Const Art IV §21.

Revenues and expenses of the judicial department, NC Const Art IV §20.

### Felonies.

Disqualifications from holding office, NC Const Art VI §8.

Elections.

Disqualification of felon, NC Const Art VI §2.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Ferries.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH

CAROLINA —Cont'd

Finances, NC Const Art V §§1 to 14. Fines.

Enumeration of permissible punishments, NC Const Art XI §1.

#### Forfeitures.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

#### Forms

Actions, NC Const Art IV §13.

#### Fraud.

Imprisonment for debt, NC Const Art I §28.

### Funds.

Retirement fund.

Inviolability, NC Const Art V §6. Sinking funds.

Inviolability, NC Const Art V §6.

### General assembly.

Acts

Style of the acts, NC Const Art II §21.

Bills.

Action on bills, NC Const Art II 822

Revenue bills.

Requirements for passage, NC Const Art II §23.

Veto by governor, NC Const Art II §22.

Bond issues.

Requirements for passage, NC Const Art II §23.

### Bridges.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Cemeteries.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Cities, towns and townships.

Changing names not subject to local, private and special legislation, NC Const Art II §24.

Compensation and allowances, NC Const Art II §16.

Contested elections for executive

Joint ballot of both houses to determine, NC Const Art VI

Convention of the people.

Procedure for calling, NC Const Art XIII §1.

### Courts.

Administration, NC Const Art IV §15.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

General assembly —Cont'd

Divorce or alimony.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Elections, NC Const Art II §8.

Viva voce.

Elections by general assembly to be by viva voce, NC Const Art VI §5.

Felonies.

Restoring citizenship rights of convicts.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Ferries.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Giving effect to informal deeds. Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Governor.

Information to general assembly, NC Const Art III §5.

Reconvening of legislature, NC Const Art II §22, Art III §5. Sessions.

Extra sessions, NC Const Art III §5.

Veto by governor, NC Const Art II §22.

Health, sanitation and abatement of nuisances.

Local, private and special limitation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Highways, streets or alleys.
Local, private and special
legislation prohibited, NC
Const Art II §24.

House of representatives.

Apportionment of representatives, NC Const Art II §5.

Districts, NC Const Art II §5. Impeachments.

Power to impeach, NC Const Art IV §4.

Number of representatives, NC Const Art II §4.

Officers of the house, NC Const Art II §15.

Qualifications for representatives, NC Const Art II §7.

Speaker, NC Const Art II §15. Term of office, NC Const Art II §9. Indebtedness of state.

Requirements for passage of bills, NC Const Art II §23.

# CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

General assembly —Cont'd

Journals.

Printing of journals, NC Const Art II §17.

Record of votes, NC Const Art II \$19.

Judges.

Removal, NC Const Art IV §17. Jury.

Pay of jurors.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Labor.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Legislative power vested in general assembly, NC Const Art II §1.

Legitimating persons born out of wedlock.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Lieutenant governor.

President of the senate, NC Const Art II §13.

Local government.

Provision for local government, NC Const Art VII §1.

Local, private and special legislation. Limitations, NC Const Art II §24. Prohibited subjects, NC Const Art II §24.

Repeals.

Partial repeal of general law prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Voidness of prohibited acts, NC Const Art II §24.

Magistrates.

Removal, NC Const Art IV §17.

Manufacturing.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Mines and minerals.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Municipal corporations.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Names.

Altering name of person.

Local, private and special
legislation prohibited, NC
Const Art II §24.

Oaths of members, NC Const Art II §12.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

General assembly —Cont'd

Penalties.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Powers of general assembly, NC Const Art II §20.

President pro tempore.

Temporary succession, NC Const Art II §14.

Protests of members, NC Const Art II §18.

Quorum, NC Const Art II §11.

Reconvening of legislature, NC Const Art II §22, Art III §5.

Resolutions.

Actions on resolutions, NC Const Art II §22.

School districts.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Senate.

Apportionment of senators, NC Const Art II §3.

Districts, NC Const Art II §3. Impeachments.

Court for the trial of

impeachments, NC Const Art IV §4.

Number of senators, NC Const Art II §2.

Officers of the senate, NC Const Art II §14.

President of the senate.

Lieutenant governor to preside over senate, NC Const Art II §13.

President pro tempore.

Succession to presidency, NC Const Art II §14.

Qualifications for senator, NC Const Art II §6.

Term of office, NC Const Art II §9. Sessions.

Extra sessions on legislative call, NC Const Art II §11.

Regular sessions, NC Const Art II §11.

Taxation.

Classification of property, NC Const Art V §2.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Representation required, NC Const Art I §8.

Requirements for passage, NC Const Art II §23.

Term of office, NC Const Art II §9.

# CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

General assembly —Cont'd

Townships.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Trade.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Vacancies, NC Const Art II §10. Veto by governor, NC Const Art II §22.

Votes.

Record votes.

Keeping in journals, NC Const Art II §19.

Waters and watercourses.

Nonnavigable streams.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Wills.

Giving effect to informal wills. Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### General laws.

Definition, NC Const Art XIV §3.

### Governor.

Appointments, NC Const Art III §5. Budget.

Duties of governor, NC Const Art III §5.

Clemency.

Granting reprieves, commutation and pardons, NC Const Art III 85.

Commander-in-chief of military forces, NC Const Art III §5, Art XII §1.

Commutation, NC Const Art III §5. Duties, NC Const Art III §5.

Election, NC Const Art III §2. Execution of laws, NC Const Art III §5

Executive power of state vested in governor, NC Const Art III §1. General assembly.

Information to general assembly, NC Const Art III §5.

Sessions.

Extra sessions, NC Const Art III §5.

Impeachment, NC Const Art III §3. Mental incapacity.

Succession to office of governor, NC Const Art III §3.

Military affairs.

Commander-in-chief, NC Const Art III §5, Art XII §1. Oaths, NC Const Art III §4.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

### Governor —Cont'd

Pardons, NC Const Art III §5. Physical incapacity.

Succession to office of governor, NC Const Art III §3.

Qualifications, NC Const Art III §2.

Reprieves, NC Const Art III §5.

Residence, NC Const Art III §5.

State departments and agencies.

Information from department heads.

Governor may require, NC Const Art III §5.

Reorganization of administration, NC Const Art III §5.

Succession as acting governor, NC Const Art III §3.

Succession as governor, NC Const Art III §3.

Term, NC Const Art III §2.

### Habeas corpus.

Inquiry into restraints on liberty, NC Const Art I §21.

### Health.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

#### Health care facilities.

Bond issues to finance, NC Const Art V §8.

### Highways.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Homestead exemption, NC Const Art

### Hospitals.

Bond issues to finance, NC Const Art V §8.

### House of representatives.

Apportionment of representatives, NC Const Art II §5.

Districts, NC Const Art II §5.

Elections, NC Const Art II §8. Impeachment.

Power to impeach, NC Const Art IV §4.

Number of representatives, NC Const Art II §4.

Officers of the house, NC Const Art II §15.

Qualifications for representative, NC Const Art II §7.

Speaker, NC Const Art II §15. Term of office, NC Const Art II §9.

Hunting, fishing and harvesting wildlife, rights, NC Const Art I §38.

### Impeachment.

Court for the trial of impeachment. Senate to be court, NC Const Art IV §4.

# CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

### CAROLINA —Cont

Impeachment —Cont'd

Court for the trial of impeachment —Cont'd

Vesting of judicial power, NC Const Art IV §1.

Governor, NC Const Art III §3.

House of representatives.

Power to impeach, NC Const Art IV §4.

Modes of prosecution, NC Const Art I §22.

### Imprisonment.

Enumeration of permissible punishments, NC Const Art XI §1.

#### Income tax.

Limitations and restrictions, NC Const Art V §2.

### Incrimination.

Self-incrimination.

Rights of accused, NC Const Art I §23.

### Indictments.

Modes of prosecution, NC Const Art I §22.

Right of accused to be informed of accusation, NC Const Art I §23.

### Indigent persons.

Welfare policy of state, NC Const Art XI §4.

### Industry.

Capital projects for industry.

Bond issues to finance.

County may create authorities to issue bonds, NC Const Art V §9.

### Insurance.

Commissioner of insurance.

Acting commissioner, NC Const Art III §7.

Compensation and allowances, NC Const Art III §9.

Council of state.

Membership, NC Const Art III §8.

Duties, NC Const Art III §7.

Elective officers, NC Const Art III

Incapacity.

Determination, NC Const Art III

Interim commissioner, NC Const Art III §7.

Vacancies.

Filling, NC Const Art III §7.

### Involuntary servitude.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §17.

Judges and justices, NC Const Art IV

Assignment, NC Const Art IV §11.

Judges and justices -Cont'd

Qualifications of judges and justices, NC Const Art IV §22.

Removal, NC Const Art IV §17.

Additional method, NC Const Art IV §17.

Salaries.

Diminished during continuance in office prohibited, NC Const Art IV §21.

Terms of office, NC Const Art IV \$16. Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV \$19.

**Judicial department,** NC Const Art IV §§1 to 22.

### Jurisdiction.

Courts.

Waiver, NC Const Art IV §12.

### Jury.

Civil cases.

Right to trial in civil cases, NC Const Art I §25, Art IV §13. Waiver of jury trial, NC Const Art

IV §14.

Criminal cases.

Right to jury trial in criminal

cases, NC Const Art I §24.

Discrimination in jury service prohibited, NC Const Art I §26.

Pay of jurors.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Labor.

Commissioner of labor.

Acting commissioner, NC Const Art

Compensation and allowances, NC Const Art III §9.

Council of state.

Membership, NC Const Art III §8.

Duties, NC Const Art III §7. Elective officers, NC Const Art III

Incapacity.

Determination, NC Const Art III §7.

Interim commissioner, NC Const Art III §7.

Vacancies.

Filling, NC Const Art III §7. Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Laborers' liens.

Exemptions from process.
Inapplicability of provisions, NC
Const Art X §3.

### Laws.

Continuity of laws, NC Const Art XIV §4.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

Laws —Cont'd

General laws.

Defined, NC Const Art XIV §3.

### Legitimation.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

#### Liens.

Mechanics' and materialmen's liens. Inapplicability of exemption provisions, NC Const Art X §3.

Lieutenant governor.

Duties, NC Const Art III §6. Election, NC Const Art III §2. General assembly.

Senate.

President of the senate, NC Const Art II §13.

Qualifications, NC Const Art III §2. Succession as acting governor, NC Const Art III §3.

Succession as governor, NC Const Art III §3.

Term, NC Const Art III §2.

### Life insurance.

Exemption from process, NC Const Art X §5.

### Local government finance.

Authorized purposes, NC Const Art V §4.

Certain debts barred, NC Const Art V §4.

Definitions, NC Const Art V §4. Gifts or loans of credit regulated, NC Const Art V §4.

Limitations upon increase of local government debt, NC Const Art V §4.

Outstanding debt, NC Const Art V §4.

Regulation of borrowing in debt, NC Const Art V §4.

Two-thirds limitation, NC Const Art V §4.

### Local legislation.

Limitation, NC Const Art II §24.

### Magistrates.

Appointment, NC Const Art IV §10. Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12. Removal.

General assembly to remove, NC Const Art IV §17.

Salaries, fees and emoluments, NC Const Art IV §21.

Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV §19.

### Manufacturing.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Marriage.

Marriage between one man and one woman only domestic legal union, NC Const Art XIV §6.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

Marriage —Cont'd

Property of married women secured to them, NC Const Art X §4.

### Merger.

Counties.

Consolidated or merged counties, NC Const Art VII §3.

### Military affairs.

Governor.

Commander-in-chief, NC Const Art III §5, Art XII §1.

Militia, NC Const Art I §30.

Quartering of soldiers, NC Const Art I §31.

### Mines and minerals.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Money.

Drawing public money, NC Const Art V §7.

### Monopolies.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §34.

### Municipal corporations.

Contracts.

Authority to contract, NC Const Art V §2.

General assembly to provide for local government, NC Const Art VII §1.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24. Local treasury.

Drawing public money, NC Const Art V §7.

Public utilities.

Joint ownership of generation and transmission facilities, NC Const Art V §10.

Taxation.

Exemption from taxation, NC Const Art V §2.

Special tax areas, NC Const Art V §2.

### Murder.

Capital punishment.

Crimes punishable by death, NC Const Art XI §2.

### Names.

Altering name of person.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

## Natural resources and community development.

Policy of state, NC Const Art XIV §5. **Newspapers.** 

Freedom of speech and press, NC Const Art I §14.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH

CAROLINA —Cont'd

North Carolina school of the arts.

Benefits of public institutions of higher education to be extended to people of state free of charge, NC Const Art IX §9.

Maintenance of system of higher education, NC Const Art IX §8.

### Nuisances.

Abatement of nuisances.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

#### Oaths.

General assembly, NC Const Art II §12.

Governor, NC Const Art III §4. Public officers and employees, NC Const Art VI §7.

### Oil and gas conservation.

Policy of state, NC Const Art XIV §5.

### Orphans.

Welfare policy of state, NC Const Art XI §4.

### Pardons.

Governor.

Duties of governor, NC Const Art III §5.

### Penalties.

Excessive fines prohibited, NC Const Art I §27.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Perpetuities.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §34.

### Personal property.

Exemptions from process, NC Const Art X §1.

### Petitions.

Right to petition, NC Const Art I §12. Plant protection and conservation. Policy of state, NC Const Art XIV §5.

### Poll tax.

Prohibited, NC Const Art V §1.

### Pollution control.

Policy of state, NC Const Art XIV §5.

### Ports and harbors.

Powers of general assembly as to seaport and airport facilities, NC Const Art V §13.

Power of people to amend, NC Const Art XIII §2.

### Presentments.

Modes of prosecution, NC Const Art I §22.

### Press.

Freedom of press, NC Const Art I 814

### Private legislation.

Limitations, NC Const Art II §24.

Project development financing (effective upon certification of approval), NC Const Art V §14.

Property qualifications.

Political rights, privileges and offices not to be affected by property, NC Const Art I §11.

### Public officers and employees.

Continuation in office, NC Const Art VI §10.

Disqualifications for office, NC Const Art VI §8.

Dual office holding, NC Const Art VI §9.

Eligibility to hold elective office, NC Const Art VI §6.

Oaths, NC Const Art VI §7.

Property qualifications not to affect right to hold office, NC Const Art I §11.

Protection of persons holding office at time of adoption of constitution, NC Const Art XIV §4.

Removal from office.

Enumeration of permissible punishments, NC Const Art XI §1.

### Public utilities.

Municipal corporations.

Joint ownership of generation and transmission facilities, NC Const Art V §10.

### Punishment.

Cruel and unusual punishment prohibited, NC Const Art I §27. Enumeration of permissible

punishments, NC Const Art XI §1.

### Quartering of soldiers, NC Const Art I §31.

### Raleigh.

Seat of government to be at city of Raleigh, NC Const Art XIV §1.

### Rape.

Capital punishment.

Crimes punishable by death, NC Const Art XI §2.

### Reconvening of legislature, NC Const Art II §22, Art III §5.

### Religion.

Liberty of religion, NC Const Art I §13.

### Remedies.

Inquiry into restraints on liberty, NC Const Art I §21.

### Restraints of trade.

Monopolies, NC Const Art I §34.

### Retrospective laws.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §16.

Rights of crime victims, NC Const Art I §37.

### Rights of persons, NC Const Art I §1. Salaries.

General assembly, NC Const Art II §16.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

Salaries -Cont'd

Judicial officers, NC Const Art IV §21.

### Sanitation.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### School districts.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Seals.

State seal, NC Const Art III §10.

Seat of government, NC Const Art XIV §1.

### Secretary of state.

Acting secretary, NC Const Art III §7.

Compensation and allowances, NC Const Art III §9.

Council of state.

Membership, NC Const Art III §8. Duties, NC Const Art III §7.

Elective officers, NC Const Art III §7. Incapacity.

Determination, NC Const Art III §7.

Interim secretary, NC Const Art III §7.

Vacancies.

Filling, NC Const Art III §7.

### Self-incrimination.

Rights of accused, NC Const Art I §23.

### Senate.

Apportionment of senators, NC Const Art II §3.

Districts, NC Const Art II  $\S 3.$ 

Elections, NC Const Art II §8.

Impeachment.

Court for the trial of

impeachments, NC Const Art IV §4.

Lieutenant governor.

President of the senate, NC Const Art II §13.

Number of senators, NC Const Art II §2.

President of the senate.

Lieutenant governor to preside, NC Const Art II §13.

President pro tempore.

Succession to presidency, NC Const Art II §14.

Temporary succession, NC Const Art II §14.

Qualifications for senator, NC Const Art II §6.

Term of office, NC Const Art II §9. Sentencing.

### Cruel and unusual punishment

Sentencing —Cont'd

Enumeration of permissible punishments, NC Const Art XI §1.

### Sessions.

Extra sessions.

Governor may call, NC Const Art III §5.

Reconvening of legislature, NC Const Art II §22, Art III §5.

### Sheriffs.

Election, NC Const Art VII §2.

### Sinking funds.

Inviolability, NC Const Art V §6.

### Slavery.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §17.

### Soldiers.

Declaration of rights.

Quartering of soldiers, NC Const Art I §31.

Sovereignty of the people, NC Const Art I §2.

### Special legislation.

Limitations, NC Const Art II §24.

### Speech.

Freedom of speech, NC Const Art I §14.

#### Spouses.

Property of married women secured to them, NC Const Art X §4.

### State auditor.

Acting auditor, NC Const Art III §7. Compensation and allowances, NC Const Art III §9.

Council of state.

Membership, NC Const Art III §8. Duties, NC Const Art III §7.

Elective officers, NC Const Art III §7. Incapacity.

Determination, NC Const Art III §7.

Interim auditor, NC Const Art III §7. Vacancies.

Filling, NC Const Art III §7.

### State debt.

Authorized purposes, NC Const Art V 83

Certain debts barred, NC Const Art V §3.

Definitions, NC Const Art V §3. Gifts regulated, NC Const Art V §3. Increase.

Limitations, NC Const Art V §3. Loans regulated, NC Const Art V §3. Standing debt, NC Const Art V §3. Two-thirds limitation, NC Const Art V §3.

### State departments and agencies.

Administrative departments.
Allocation, NC Const Art III §11.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH

CAROLINA —Cont'd

### State departments and agencies —Cont'd

Judicial powers of administrative agencies, NC Const Art IV §3.

### State of North Carolina.

Boundaries of state, NC Const Art XIV §2.

Contracts.

Authority to contract, NC Const Art V §2.

Declaration of rights.

Internal government of the state, NC Const Art I §3.

Secession prohibited, NC Const Art I §4.

Drawing public money, NC Const Art V  $\S7$ .

Seal of state, NC Const Art III §10.

Seat of government, NC Const Art XIV §1.

Separation of powers, NC Const Art I §6.

Taxation.

Exemption from taxation, NC Const Art V §2.

### State treasurer.

Acting treasurer, NC Const Art III §7.

Compensation and allowances, NC Const Art III §9.

Council of state.

Membership, NC Const Art III §8. Drawing public money, NC Const Art V §7.

Duties, NC Const Art III §7.

Elective officers, NC Const Art III §7. Incapacity.

Determination, NC Const Art III §7.

Interim treasurer, NC Const Art III §7.

Vacancies.

Filling, NC Const Art III §7.

### Streets.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Suffrage.

Eligibility to vote, NC Const Art VI §1.

Felonies.

Disqualification of felon, NC Const Art VI §2.

Qualifications of voter, NC Const Art VI §2.

Residence.

Presidential elections, NC Const Art VI §2.

State elections, NC Const Art VI §2.

Superior courts.

Ĉlerks of court, NC Const Art IV §9. Removal of clerks, NC Const Art IV §17.

Salaries, fees and emoluments, NC Const Art IV §21.

Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV §19.

Districts, NC Const Art IV §9. Judges.

Assignment, NC Const Art IV §11. Election, NC Const Art IV §16. Qualifications, NC Const Art IV §22.

Salaries, fees and emoluments, NC Const Art IV §21.

Terms of office, NC Const Art IV §16.

Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV §19.

Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12. Open at all times, NC Const Art IV §9.

Sessions.

Trial of cases, NC Const Art IV §9. Supreme court.

Chief justice.

Assignment of judges, NC Const Art IV §11.

Jurisdiction, NC Const Art IV §12.
Justices

Election, NC Const Art IV §16. Qualifications, NC Const Art IV §22.

Removal, NC Const Art IV §17. Salaries, fees and emoluments, NC Const Art IV §21.

Terms of office, NC Const Art IV

Vacancies in office, NC Const Art IV §19.

Membership, NC Const Art IV §6. Procedural rules.

Authority to make, NC Const Art IV §13.

Sessions, NC Const Art IV §6.

Suspending laws.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §7.

Taxation.

Capitation tax prohibited, NC Const Art V §1.

Cemeteries.

Exemption from tax, NC Const Art V §2.

Charities.

Exemption from tax, NC Const Art V §2.

Classification of property, NC Const Art V §2.

Counties.

Exemption from taxation, NC Const Art V §2.

### CONSTITUTION OF NORTH CAROLINA —Cont'd

Taxation —Cont'd

Counties —Cont'd

Special tax areas, NC Const Art V §2.

Education.

Exemption from taxation, NC Const Art V §2.

Exemptions, NC Const Art V §3.

Ex post facto laws.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §16.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

Municipal corporations.

Exemption from taxation, NC Const Art V §2.

Special tax areas, NC Const Art V §2.

Poll tax prohibited, NC Const Art V §1.

Power of taxation, NC Const Art V §2.

Property taxes.

Purposes, NC Const Art V §2.

Religion.

Exemption from tax, NC Const Art V §2.

Representation required, NC Const Art I §8.

Special tax areas, NC Const Art V §2. Statement.

Objects, NC Const Art V §5. Purposes to be stated, NC Const Art V §5.

State of North Carolina.

Exemption from taxation, NC Const Art V §2.

### Towns.

General assembly to provide for local government, NC Const Art VII §1.

### Townships.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Trade.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Treason.

Conduct constituting, NC Const Art I §29.

Disqualifications from holding office, NC Const Art VI §8.

### Trial.

Jury trial.

Civil cases, NC Const Art I §25. Criminal cases, NC Const Art I §24.

### United States.

Allegiance to the United States, NC Const Art I §5.

Declaration of rights.

Secession from Union prohibited, NC Const Art I §4.

Universities and colleges.

Benefits of public institutions of higher education to be extended to people of state free of expense, NC Const Art IX §9.

Bond issues.

Higher education facilities. Authorized, NC Const Art V §12.

Maintenance of public system of higher education, NC Const Art IX §8.

### University of North Carolina.

Benefits of public institutions of higher education to be extended to people of state free of charge, NC Const Art IX §9.

Escheats.

Disposition of escheats prior to July 1, 1971, NC Const Art IX

Maintenance of system of higher education, NC Const Art IX §8.

### Warrants.

General warrants.

Prohibited, NC Const Art I §20.

### Waters and watercourses.

Nonnavigable streams.

Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Weapons.

Right to bear arms, NC Const Art I §30.

### Welfare.

Board of public welfare.

Establishment required, NC Const Art XI §4.

Policy of state, NC Const Art XI §4. Wills.

Giving effect to informal wills. Local, private and special legislation prohibited, NC Const Art II §24.

### Witnesses.

Confrontation.

Right of accused, NC Const Art I §23.

Fees, costs, etc.

Rights of accused, NC Const Art I

### Women.

Married women.

Property secured to them, NC Const Art X §4.

### CONSUMER PRICE INDEX. Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Post-retirement increases in allowances, §135-5(o). Years 1975 and 1976 increase in allowance, §135-5(v).

### CONTRACTS.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.33.

To provide benefits, §135-48.32.

### COSMETIC SURGERY OR TREATMENT.

### State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Coverage mandate, §135-48.50.

### COUNTIES.

### Local governmental employees' retirement system.

General provisions.

See LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

### COUNTY OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES.

**Retirement,** §§128-21 to 128-38.10. Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act, §§135-19 to 135-31. See SOCIAL SECURITY.

### COURT OF APPEALS. Judges.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### COVID-19.

### State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Operation during state of disaster or emergency, §135-48.39.

### CREDIT UNIONS. Social security.

Coverage under Title II of social security act.

State employees' credit union. Elections relating to membership, contributions and service, §135-27(e).

### CRIMINAL LAW AND PROCEDURE.

### Disability income plan.

Improper receipt of decedent's disability income plan allowance, §135-111.1.

### Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund.

Felony convictions.

Forfeiture of benefits, §§58-86-95(h), 58-86-100. Repurchase of forfeited benefits prohibited, §58-86-101.

### Legislative retirement system.

Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §120-4.34.

### CRIMINAL LAW AND PROCEDURE

-Cont'd

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §§128-28, 128-32.

Confidentiality of information, §128-28(q).

Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §128-38.5.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §135-75.2.

Disclosure of confidential information concerning members, §135-6(p).

False statements or falsified records, §135-10.

Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §135-18.11.

D

### DEATH BENEFITS.

**Definitions,** §143-166.2.

Law enforcement, fire, rescue and civil air patrol death benefits, §\$143-166.1 to 143-166.7.

See LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE, RESCUE AND CIVIL AIR PATROL DEATH BENEFITS.

### Legislative retirement system, §120-4.27.

Distributions, \$120-4.26A. Survivor's alternative benefit, \$120-4.28.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Death benefit plan, §128-27(l).

National guard.

Pensions for members of national guard.

Cessation of payments upon death of individual, §§127A-40, 127A-40(b).

### Payments.

Persons who may receive, §143-166.3(f).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees, §135-5.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Benefits on death after retirement, §135-64(a) to (k).

Benefits on death before retirement, §135-63.

Death benefit plan, §135-5(l). Reciprocity, §135-5(l1).

Survivor's alternate benefit, §135-5(m).

## DEFINED TERMS. ABLE account.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §147-86.70(b).

### Account owner.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §147-86.70(b).

## Accumulated contributions, §128-21.

Judicial retirement, §135-53. Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

State retirement system, §135-1.

### Actuarial equivalent, §128-21.

Judicial retirement, §135-53. Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

State retirement system, §135-1.

### Allowable expenses.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### Allowed amount.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### **Annuity,** §128-21.

Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

State retirement system, §135-1.

### Annuity reserve, §128-21.

Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

State retirement system, §135-1.

### Authorized representative.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §147-86.70(b).

Authorized representatives who are assisting the retirement systems division staff, §§128-21, 135-1.

# Authorized representatives who are assisting the state health plan division staff.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### Average final compensation, §128-21.

Judicial retirement, §135-53. State retirement system, §135-1.

### Base rate of compensation.

Disability income plan, §135-101.

### Beneficiary, §128-21.

Disability income plan, \$135-101. Judicial retirement, \$135-53. Local government law-enforcement retirement, \$143-166.50(a).

State retirement system, §135-1.

### Benefit period.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### Benefits.

Disability income plan, §135-101. State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

## **DEFINED TERMS** —Cont'd **Board of trustees.**

Disability income plan, \$135-101. Judicial retirement, \$135-53. Legislative retirement system, \$120-4.8.

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §128-38.10(a).

Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Qualified excess benefit arrangement, §135-150.

State retirement system, §135-1. Chemical dependency.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Chief executive officer.

Annuities, §147-9.2.

Claims data feed.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Claims payment data.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Claims processor.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Clerk of superior court.

Judicial retirement, §135-53.

Clinical trials.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Compensation, §128-21.

Disability income plan, \$135-101. Judicial retirement, \$135-53. Legislative retirement system, \$120-4.8.

State retirement system, §135-1.

Compliance investigation. Retirement, §128-21.

Comprehensive health benefit plan. State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Consolidated judicial retirement system, §135-53.

Consumer price index.

Judicial retirement, §135-53. State retirement system, §135-1.

Contracting state.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §147-86.70(b).

Covered person.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

Covered service.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Creditable service, §128-21.

Judicial retirement, §135-53. Law enforcement officers, §143-166.42(b).

Law-enforcement separation allowances, §143-166.41(b).

DEFINED TERMS —Cont'd Creditable service —Cont'd

Legislative retirement system, §§120-4.8, 120-4.12(a).

State retirement system, §135-1.

Custodial employee.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

Deductible.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Dependent.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Dependent child.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, \$143-166.2. State health plan for teachers and state employees, \$135-48.1.

Dependent parent.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

Designated beneficiary.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §147-86.70(b).

Director of indigent defense services.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §135-53.

Disability.

Income plan, §135-101.

Disability certification.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §147-86.70(b).

District attorney.

Consolidate judicial retirement act, §135-53.

Judicial retirement, §135-53.

**Duly acknowledged,** §128-21. State retirement system, §135-1.

Earnings.

Disability income plan, §135-101.

Eligible fire department.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund, §58-86-2.

Eligible firefighter.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund, §58-86-2.

Eligible individual.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §147-86.70(b).

Eligible plan members.

Retirement system for teachers and state employees, §135-7(f).

Eligible rescue or emergency medical services squad.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund, §58-86-2.

Eligible rescue squad worker.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund, §58-86-2.

**Employee**, §128-21.

Annuities, §147-9.2.

### **DEFINED TERMS**—Cont'd

Employee —Cont'd

Disability income plan, \$135-101. Social security eligibility, \$135-20. State retirement system, \$135-1.

Employee or state employee.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Employer, §128-21.

Annuities, §147-9.2.

Disability income plan, §135-101. Local government law-enforcement retirement, §143-166.50(a).

State retirement system, §135-1.

Employing unit.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Employment.

Social security eligibility, §135-20.

Erasable compensation, §128-21. Experimental/investigational.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Federal ABLE act.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §147-86.70(b).

Federal insurance contributions act.

Governmental employees and social security, §135-20.

Filing, §128-21.

Judicial retirement, \$135-53. Legislative retirement system, \$120-4.8.

State retirement system, §135-1.

Final compensation.

Judicial retirement, §135-53.

Firefighter.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2. State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Fraud investigation.

Retirement, §128-21.

State retirement system, §135-1.

Fully credited service.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund, §58-86-2.

Health benefits representative.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Highest annual salary.

Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

Inactive member.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund, §58-86-2.

Internal Revenue Code.

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §128-38.10(a). Retirement system for teachers and state employees, §135-150.

Judge, §135-53.

### **DEFINED TERMS** —Cont'd Killed in the line of duty.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

Law enforcement officer, §128-21.

Local government retirement, §143-166.50(a).

State retirement system, §135-1.

Law enforcement officers.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Law-enforcement, §143-166.50(a).

Medical board, §128-21.

Disability income plan, \$135-101. Judicial retirement, \$135-53. Legislative retirement system, \$120-4.8.

State retirement system, §135-1. **Medical necessity or medically** 

necessary.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Member, §128-21.

Disability income plan, §135-101.
Firefighters' and rescue squad
workers' pension fund, §58-86-2.
Judicial retirement, §135-53.
Local government law-enforcement
retirement, §143-166.50(a).
State retirement system, §135-1.

Member in service.

Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

Membership service, §§128-21, 135-1. Disability income plan, §135-101. Judicial retirement, §135-53. Legislative retirement system, §120-4.12(b).

National Guard members.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Noncustodial employee.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

Officer.

Local government law-enforcement retirement, §143-166.50(a). Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

Official duties.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

Optional alternative

comprehensive benefit plans.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

Participant.

Disability income plan, §135-101. **Payee.** 

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §128-38.10(a).

### **DEFINED TERMS** —Cont'd

### Payee —Cont'd

Retirement system for teachers and state employees, §135-150.

### Pension, §128-21.

Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

State retirement system, §135-1.

### Pension fund.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund, §58-86-2.

### Pension reserve, §128-21.

Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

State retirement, §135-1.

### Plan.

Annuities, §147-9.2.

Disability income, §135-101.

Separate insurance benefits for law enforcement, §143-166.60(a).

### Plan member.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### Plan or state health plan.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### Plan year.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### Political subdivision.

Governmental employees and social security, §135-20.

### Predecessor plan.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

## Present member of the general assembly.

Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

### Previous system.

Judicial retirement, §135-53.

### Prior rehabilitation.

Disability income plan, §135-101.

### Prior service, §128-21. Judicial retirement, §135-53.

Legislative retirement system, \$120-4.12(c).

State retirement system, §135-1.

### Public school.

State retirement system, §135-1.

### Qualified disability expense.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §147-86.70(b).

### Qualified excess benefit arrangement.

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §128-38.10(a). Retirement system for teachers and

state employees, §135-150. **Regular interest,** §128-21.

Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

State retirement system, §135-1.

## **DEFINED TERMS** —Cont'd **Rescue squad worker.**

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### Retired employee.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### Retiree.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### Retirement, §128-21.

Disability income plan, §135-101. Judiciary, §135-53.

Legislature, §120-4.8.

State retirement, §135-1.

### Retirement allowance, §128-21.

Judiciary, §135-53.

State retirement, §135-1.

### Retirement system, §128-21.

Disability income plan, §135-101. Judiciary, §135-53. Legislative retirement system,

\$120-4.8.

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §128-38.10(a).

Retirement system for teachers and state employees, §135-150.

State retirement, §135-1.

### Secretary of health, education and welfare.

Governmental employees and social security, §135-20.

### Senior civil air patrol members.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

### Service, §128-21.

Disability income plan, §135-101. State retirement, §135-1.

### Sibling.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §147-86.70(b).

### Social security act.

Governmental employees, §135-20.

### Social security breakpoint.

State retirement system, §135-1.

### Spouse.

Public safety employees' death benefits act, §143-166.2.

### State.

Disability income plan, §135-101. Local government law-enforcement retirement, §143-166.50(a).

### State agency.

Employees and social security, §135-20.

### State of disaster.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.39(a).

### Subscriber.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

## **DEFINED TERMS** —Cont'd **Surviving spouse.**

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.1.

### Teacher.

Disability income plan, §135-101. State retirement system, §135-1.

### Termination of employment.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.44(d).

### Training sessions.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund, §58-86-2.

### Wage.

Governmental employees and social security, §135-20.

### Workers' compensation.

Disability income plan, §135-101.

### Year, §128-21.

Judicial retirement, §135-53. Legislative retirement system, §120-4.8.

State retirement system, §135-1.

### DISABILITY INCOME PLAN,

§§135-100 to 135-114.

### Amendment of provisions.

Reservation of power, §135-113.

### Benefits.

Adjustments.

Post disability benefit adjustments, §135-108.

Defined, §135-101.

Improper receipt of decedent's disability income plan allowance, §135-111.1.

Long-term disability benefits. Amount, \$135-106(b), (c). Applicability of provisions, \$135-106(e).

Forfeiture of rights to benefits, receipt of early retirement allowance, return of accumulated contribution.

Irrevocable election by participant or beneficiary, §135-106(d).

Generally, §135-106(a).

Medical review.

Annual medical review, §135-106(a).

Trial rehabilitation, return to service for, §135-106(c1).

Post disability benefit adjustments, §135-108.

Short-term disability benefits. Administration of provisions, \$135-105(d), (d1).

Amount, §135-105(c). Commencement, §135-105(b).

Conditions for receipt of benefits, §135-105(a).

### DISABILITY INCOME PLAN

-Cont'd

### Benefits —Cont'd

Short-term disability benefits
—Cont'd

Determination of eligibility, §135-105(f).

Extension, §135-105(g).

Generally, §135-105(a).

Return to service for trial rehabilitation, §135-105(e).

### Status.

Not part of an employment contract, §135-113.

Waiting period.

Return to service for trial rehabilitation, §135-104(b). Salary continuation, §135-104(a).

### Board of trustees.

Administration of provisions, §135-102(a).

Defined, §135-101.

Powers, §135-102(c), (e).

Rules and regulations, §135-102(c). Trust fund.

Board as trustee of fund, §135-110(a).

### Citation of article.

Short title, §135-100(a).

### Compensation.

Base rate of compensation. Defined, §135-101.

Defined, §135-101.

### Consolidated judicial retirement system.

Reciprocity of membership service, §135-114.

### Contributions.

Employers, §135-110(b), (c).

### Death of member.

Improper receipt of decedent's disability income plan allowance, \$135-111.1.

### **Definitions,** §135-101.

### Disability salary continuation plan.

Transition provisions.

Benefit recipients under former disability salary continuation plan, §135-112(b), (c).

### Earnings.

Defined, §135-101.

Reports of earnings, §135-109.

### Employers.

Contributions, §135-110(b), (c). Defined, §135-101.

### Exemptions.

Applicability of provisions to plan, §135-111.

# Improper receipt of decedent's disability income plan allowance, §135-111.1.

### Investigations.

Medical board, §135-102(d).

### DISABILITY INCOME PLAN

—Cont'd

Investments.

Trust fund.

Assets of fund, §135-110(d).

### Legislative retirement system.

Reciprocity of membership service, §135-114.

### Medical board.

Composition, §135-102(d).

Defined, §135-101.

Duties, §135-102(d).

### Modification of provisions.

Reservation of power, §135-113.

### Optional retirement program.

Eligibility to receive benefits, §135-107(a).

Overpayments, reimbursement, §135-107(b).

### Other pension laws.

Applicability, §135-111.

### Participants.

Cessation of participation, §135-103(b).

Defined, §135-101.

Eligible participants, §135-103(a).

### Powers of plan, §135-102(b).

Purpose of article, §135-100(b).

### Repeal of provisions.

Reservation of power, §135-113.

### Reports.

Earnings, §135-109.

Rules and regulations, §135-102(c). Short title of article, §135-100(a). State treasurer.

Administration of provisions, §135-102(a).

Powers, §135-102(c), (e).

Rules and regulations, §135-102(c).
Trust fund

Custodian of fund, §135-110(d).

### Teachers.

Defined, §135-101.

Eligible participants, §135-103(a).

### Title of article.

Short title, §135-100(a).

### Transition provisions.

Disability salary continuation plan. Benefit recipients under former disability salary continuation plan, §135-112(b), (c).

Generally, §135-112(a).

### Trust fund.

Board of trustees.

Board as trustee of fund, §135-110(a).

Contributions irrevocable, §135-110(a).

Investment of assets, §135-110(d). State treasurer.

Custodian of fund, §135-110(d). Use of assets, §135-110(a).

#### DISABLED PERSONS.

Achieving a better life experience program trust, §§147-86.70 to 147-86.73.

### Firefighters' pension fund.

Monthly pensions upon retirement. Totally and permanently disabled members, §58-86-55.

### Legislative retirement system.

Disability retirement benefits, §120-4.22.

Reexamination for disability retirement allowance, §120-4.23.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

#### Benefits.

Allowance on disability retirement, §128-27(d).

Disability retirement benefits, §128-27(c).

Increase in benefits.

Those persons on disability retirement who were retired prior to July 1, 1971, §128-27(p), (t).

Reexamination of beneficiaries retired on account of disability, §128-27(e).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Disability retirement, §135-5. Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-59, 135-60.

### DISTRICT COURTS.

### Consolidated judicial retirement,

§§135-50 to 135-75.2. See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### DIVORCE.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Continuation of coverage.

Legally divorced or separated
spouses and eligible dependent
children, §135-48.44(e), (f).

E

## ELECTION OF RIGHTS AND REMEDIES.

### Judges.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Transfer of members to another system, §135-70.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Optional allowance election, §135-61.

### ELECTION OF RIGHTS AND REMEDIES —Cont'd

### Retirement system for teachers

and state employees —Cont'd Consolidated judicial retirement act —Cont'd

Transfer of members to another system, §135-70.

### Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act.

Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Transfer of members to employment covered by retirement system, §135-28.

Transfers from state to certain association service, §135-27.

Uniform judicial retirement system.

Transfer of members to employment covered by retirement system, §135-28.1.

### EMERGENCIES.

# Law enforcement, fire, rescue and civil air patrol death benefits, \$\$143-166.1 to 143-166.7.

See LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE, RESCUE AND CIVIL AIR PATROL DEATH BENEFITS.

### **EXAMINATIONS.**

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Consolidated judicial retirement act.
Disability retirement benefits.
Medical examination required,
§135-60(b).

### EXECUTIONS.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Exemptions from execution, §128-31(a).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Exemption from execution, §135-9(a).

## EXEMPTION OF PROPERTY FROM CREDITOR CLAIMS.

Disability income plan.

Applicability of provisions to plan, §135-111.

F

### FELONIES.

### Disability income plan.

Disability or disabled.

Defined as incapacity not resulting from felonious conduct, §135-101.

### FELONIES -Cont'd

## Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund.

Felony convictions.

Forfeiture of benefits, §\$58-86-95(h), 58-86-100. Repurchase of forfeited benefits prohibited, §58-86-101.

#### FINES.

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §§128-28, 128-32.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Disclosure of confidential information concerning members, §135-6(p).

False statements or falsified records, §135-10.

## FIREFIGHTERS AND FIRE DEPARTMENTS.

**Death benefits,** §§143-166.1 to 143-166.7.

See LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE, RESCUE AND CIVIL AIR PATROL DEATH BENEFITS.

### Disability retirement.

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §128-27(c).

### Health insurance for firefighters.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Dependent children.

Subject to same terms and conditions as other dependent children, §135-48.1.

Effective dates of coverage, §135-48.43(e).

Enrollment terms and conditions, §135-48.42(b).

Firefighter defined, \$135-48.1. Opportunity to participate, \$135-48.8.

Premium rates.

Separate premium rates set, §135-48.58.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Fire departments, membership, §128-37.2.

## FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION

**FUND,** §§58-86-1 to 58-86-101.

Absentees in military service.

Members on active military service,

§58-86-95(g).

### Administration of fund.

Appropriations for administrative expenses, §58-86-20.

Board of trustees to administer, §58-86-1.

## FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION

FUND -Cont'd

Advisory panel, §58-86-6.

Duties, §58-86-11.

### Powers, §58-86-11. **Annexation.**

Firefighters whose residence is annexed by a city.

Monthly pensions upon retirement, §58-86-55.

### Appropriations.

Administrative expenses of fund, §58-86-20.

#### Benefits.

Exemption of pensions from execution, §58-86-90.

Lump-sum payments, §58-86-60. Monthly pensions upon retirement,

\$58-86-55. Nonassignable, \$58-86-90.

Offsets for benefits paid on behalf of ineligible member, §58-86-90.

Pro rata reduction of benefits.

When fund insufficient to pay in full, §58-86-65.

### Board of trustees.

Administration of fund, §58-86-1.

Duties, §58-86-10.

Lump-sum payments, §58-86-60. Powers, §58-86-10.

Rules and regulations,  $\S58-86-1$ .

### Certification.

Eligible firefighters, \$58-86-25. Eligible rescue squad worker, \$58-86-30.

## Contributions to fund, §58-86-20. Creditable service.

Determination, §58-86-75.

Information furnished by applicants for membership, §58-86-75.

Service in more than one department or squad.

Length of service not affected, §58-86-80.

Transfer from one department or squad to another, §58-86-80.

### Custodian of fund.

State treasurer to be custodian, §58-86-20.

### **Definitions,** §58-86-2.

### Director.

Inactive members.

Records, §58-86-95(f).

Leaves of absence.

List of persons on leave, §58-86-95(e).

### Disabled members.

Totally and permanently disabled member.

Monthly benefit, §58-86-55.

### Eligible firefighters, §58-86-25.

## FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION

FUND -Cont'd

Eligible rescue squad worker, §58-86-30.

Establishment of fund, §58-86-1. Expenditures, §58-86-20.

Felony convictions.

Forfeiture of benefits, §§58-86-95(h), 58-86-100.

Repurchase of forfeited benefits prohibited, §58-86-101.

### **Inactive members,** §58-86-95(d).

Records, §58-86-95(f).

### Leaves of absence.

Effect, §58-86-95(a), (c).

Inactive members, §58-86-95(d).

List of persons on leave, \$58-86-95(e). Not eligible for service credits,

§58-86-95(c).

Notice, §58-86-95(b).

### Legislative change.

Provisions subject to future legislative change, §58-86-70.

### Lump-sum payments.

Board of trustees to direct payment and lump-sums in certain cases, \$58-86-60.

### Membership.

Additional retroactive membership, §58-86-45.

Application for membership in fund, §§58-86-35, 58-86-40.

Information furnished by applicants for membership.

Determination of creditable service, §58-86-75.

Monthly payments by members, §\$58-86-35, 58-86-40.

Retroactive membership.

Additional retroactive membership, §58-86-45.

Termination, §§58-86-35, 58-86-40.

### Military service.

Members on active military service, §58-86-95(g).

## Monthly pensions upon retirement, §58-86-55.

### Municipalities.

Firefighters whose residence is annexed by a city, §58-86-55.

### Notice.

Leaves of absence, \$58-86-95(b). Members on active military service, \$58-86-95(g).

### Payments by members.

Crediting payments to separate accounts of members, §\$58-86-35, 58-86-40.

Delinquent payments.

Termination not a result, §\$58-86-35, 58-86-40.

### FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION FUND —Cont'd

Payments by members —Cont'd Monthly payments, §\$58-86-35,

58-86-40. Refunds upon termination of

membership, §\$58-86-35, 58-86-40.

Time limit for making monthly payment, §§58-86-35, 58-86-40.

Pro rata reduction of benefits.

When fund insufficient to pay in full, \$58-86-65.

Provisions subject to future legislative change, §58-86-70. Records.

Inactive members, §58-86-95(f).

Resignation as eligible member, §58-86-95(a).

Retirement.

Monthly pensions upon retirement, §58-86-55.

Rules and regulations.

Board of trustees to make necessary rules and regulations, §58-86-1.

State treasurer.

Custodian of fund, §58-86-20.

### FIREFIGHTERS' RELIEF FUND. Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund, \$\$58-86-1 to 58-86-101.

See FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION FUND.

### FOSTER CARE.

### Health insurance.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Foster child.

Coverage as dependent child, §135-48.41(a).

### FRAUD.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Fraud investigations, §128-28. Protection of records against fraud, §128-32.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Fraud investigations, §135-6(q).
Identity of person furnishing
information to be kept
confidential, §135-6(s).
Reports and work papers,

§135-6(r). Protection against fraud, §135-10.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Fraud detection and audit programs, §135-48.16.

#### FUNDS.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund.

See FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION FUND.

### Legislative retirement system.

Annuity savings fund.

Accumulated contributions paid from fund, §120-4.17(b).

Assets credited to, §120-4.17(a). Management of fund, §120-4.18.

Transfer of accumulated contributions to pension accumulation fund upon retirement, §120-4.17(c).

Transfer of interest from pension accumulation fund to annuity savings fund, §120-4.17(e).

Pension accumulation fund, §120-4.17(d).

Assets credited to, §120-4.17(a). Management of fund, §120-4.18.

Transfer of accumulated contributions from annuity savings fund to pension accumulation fund upon retirement, §120-4.17(c).

Transfer of interest to annuity savings fund, §120-4.17(e).

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §§128-29, 128-30.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Annuity savings fund, §135-8(b). Pension accumulation fund, §135-8(d).

Pension reserve fund, §135-8(g). Retiree health benefit fund, §135-7(f).

G

### GARNISHMENT.

## Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund.

Exemption of pensions from garnishment, §58-86-90.

Legislative retirement system. Exemption from garnishment, §120-4.29.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Exemption from garnishment, §135-9(a).

### Supplemental retirement income act.

Exemption from garnishment, §135-95.

### GENERAL ASSEMBLY. Committees on pensions and retirement.

Analysis of legislation, §120-111.3.

### GENERAL ASSEMBLY —Cont'd Health insurance.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### Legislative retirement fund.

Repealed, §120-4.2(a).

Continuation of authority and duties for administration of certain benefits, \$120-4.2(c). Entitlement to further benefits,

§120-4.2(b).
Transfer of membership and

benefits from retirement fund to legislative retirement system, §120-4.13.

### Legislative retirement system.

General provisions, §§120-4.8 to 120-4.34.

See LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Reservation of power to change, §128-38.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Creditable service.

Purchase of creditable service, §135-4(j1).

Reservation of power to change, §135-18.4.

### GENERAL COURT OF JUSTICE. Consolidated judicial retirement

act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2. See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

н

### HEALTH.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

District health departments. Membership of employees, §128-37.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Blind or visually handicapped employees, §135-16.1.

### HEALTH INSURANCE. Law enforcement officers.

Separate insurance benefits plan for state and local officers, \$143-166.60(a) to (h).

### Teachers and state employees.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### HEARING AIDS.

### Health insurance.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Coverage for, §135-48.51.

### HEARINGS.

### Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act.

Plans for coverage of employees of political subdivisions, §135-23(b).

Ι

### IMMUNITY.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Management of funds, §128-29(f). Whistleblower protection for persons furnishing information to division, §128-38.6(a).

## Supplemental retirement income act.

Supplemental board of trustees. Immunity from liability of members, §135-97.

### IMMUNIZATION.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Coverage mandates, §135-48.50.

### INCOME WITHHOLDING.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Contributions by members, §135-68(a), (b).

### Social security.

Coverage under Title II of social security act.

Contributions by state employees, §135-22.

### Supplemental retirement income act.

Contributions, §135-93.

### INDIGENT DEFENSE SERVICES. Director of office.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

### INSULIN.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Coverage mandates, §135-48.50.

### INSURANCE.

### Law-enforcement officers.

Separate insurance benefits plan for law-enforcement officers, §143-166.60.

### INTEREST.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Management of funds.

Annual allowance of regular interest, §128-29(b).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Consolidated judicial retirement act.
Assets of retirement system.

Regular interest allowance, §135-67(e).

Definition of regular interest, §135-1. Consolidated judicial retirement act. §135-53.

Management of funds.

Regular interest allowance,

§135-7(b).

### INVESTIGATIONS.

Disability income plan.

Medical board, §135-102(d).

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Board of trustees.

Duties of actuary, §128-28(n), (o). Compliance investigations,

§128-28(r).

## Fraud investigations, §128-28. Retirement system for teachers

and state employees.
Actuary to make investigations,

§135-6(m), (n). Compliance investigations, §135-6(r).

Fraud investigations, \$135-6(q). Identity of person furnishing information to be kept confidential, \$135-6(s).

Reports and work papers, §135-6(r).

## INVESTMENTS. Disability income plan.

Trust fund.

Assets of fund, §135-110(d).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. State treasurer to invest assets of system, §135-66.

J

### JUDGES.

## Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### Election of rights and remedies.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Transfer of members to another system, §135-70.

### JUDGES —Cont'd Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act.

Transfer of members to employment covered by uniform judicial retirement system, §135-28.1.

# JUDICIAL CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT ACT, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

K

### KILLED IN ACTION.

Law enforcement, fire, rescue and civil air patrol death benefits, §§143-166.1 to 143-166.7.

L

### LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE, RESCUE AND CIVIL AIR PATROL DEATH BENEFITS,

§§143-166.1 to 143-166.7.

Applicability of provisions, §143-166.7.

### Cancer.

Death benefits for those killed in line of duty.

Inclusion of deaths of firefighters from certain cancers as being from line of duty, §143-166.2.

**Effective date,** §143-166.7.

### Industrial commission.

Powers as to, §143-166.4.

Other benefits not affected, §143-166.5.

Purpose of provisions, §143-166.1. Recipients, §143-166.3(a).

Rules and regulations.

Implementation of provisions,

§143-166.4. **Source of payments,** §143-166.4.

**Taxation.**Exemption of benefits from taxation, §143-166.6.

## LAW-ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

### Assets.

Transfer to other retirement systems, §143-166.70.

### Creditable service.

Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Transfer of members, §135-4(e1).

## LAW-ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

—Cont'c

Creditable service —Cont'd Separation allowance, §143-166.41(a). **Definitions.** 

Local government law enforcement officers, §143-166.50(a).

Separation allowance.

Creditable service, §143-166.41(b).

### Disability retirement.

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §128-27(c).

### Health insurance.

Retired state law enforcement officers.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Generally.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

#### Insurance.

Separate insurance benefits plan for law-enforcement officers, §143-166.60.

## Local government law-enforcement officers, §143-166.50.

Basic retirement system, \$143-166.50(b).

Costs.

Court cost receipts, §143-166.50(d). Definitions, §143-166.50(a).

## Local government law enforcement officers.

Forfeiture of benefits and contributions.

Conviction of certain felonies, §143-166.50(e2).

### Local government law-enforcement officers.

Rights, §143-166.50(c). Supplemental retirement income plan, §143-166.50(e).

Uniformed services employment and reemployment rights act. Rights of participants under,

§143-166.50(e1).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Law enforcement officer defined, §135-1.

Special retirement allowance, §135-5(m1).

### **Separation allowance,** §143-166.41(a) to (g).

Applicability.

Local officers, §143-166.42.

Cessation of payments, §143-166.41(c).

Exception for hiring of retired officer for certain positions, \$143-166.42(c1).

## LAW-ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

-Cont'd

**Separation allowance** —Cont'd Creditable service, §143-166.41(a).

Defined, §143-166.41(b).

Determination of eligibility, §143-166.41(e).

Effect on other benefits, §143-166.41(d).

Local officers, §143-166.42. Lump sum separation buyouts,

§143-166.43(a), (b). Other retirement benefits not

affected, §143-166.42(d). Payments, §143-166.41(g).

Transfer of funds to implement, \$143-166.41(f).

### Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act, §135-30.

### State law-enforcement officers.

Retirement benefits.

Definitions, §143-166.30. Forfeiture of benefits and contributions for certain felonies, §143-166.30(g1).

### Supplemental retirement income act, §§135-90 to 135-97.

See SUPPLEMENTAL

RETIREMENT INCOME ACT.

## Transfer of assets to other retirement systems, §143-166.70.

## Uniformed services employment and reemployment rights act.

Local government law-enforcement officers.

Rights of participants under, §143-166.50(e1).

## LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM, §§120-4.8 to 120-4.34.

Administration of system.

Board of trustees of teachers' and state employees' retirement system, §§120-4.9, 120-4.10.

### Annuity savings fund.

Accumulated contributions paid from fund, §120-4.17(b).

Assets credited to, §120-4.17(a). Management of fund, §120-4.18.

Transfer of accumulated contributions to pension accumulation fund upon retirement, §120-4.17(c).

Transfer of interest from pension accumulation fund to annuity savings fund, §120-4.17(e).

Assets, §120-4.17.

### Attachment.

Exemption from attachment, §120-4.29.

### LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

### Benefits.

Death benefits, §120-4.27. Distributions, §120-4.26A. Disability retirement benefits,

§120-4.22.

Application, §120-4.22(a).

Computation, §120-4.22(c).

Eligibility, §120-4.22(a).

Limitations, §120-4.22(d).

Medical certification, §120-4.22(b).

Reexamination for disability retirement allowance, \$120-4.23.

Employees' or retirees' associations. Deduction for payments to, §120-4.32(a).

Forfeiture of retirement benefits.

Conduct directly related to member's office.

Felony convictions for, §120-4.33A(a).

Pardon or vacation of conviction, §120-4.33A(c).

Reversal of forfeiture, §120-4.33A(c).

Federal offenses, §120-4.33(b).

Felony convictions, §§120-4.12(f), (g), 120-4.33(a).

Conduct directly related to member's office, \$120-4.33A.

Remittance to the civil penalty and forfeiture fund, §120-4.33(d).

State offenses, §120-4.33(c).

Subsequent repurchase of benefits or service prohibited, §120-4.33B.

Health plan coverage.

Deduction for payments to state health plan, §120-4.32(b).

Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §120-4.34.

Payment options, §120-4.26.

Post-retirement increases in allowances, §120-4.22A.

Prior service.

Purchase of prior service, \$120-4.14.

Recommitting benefits to retirees of legislative retirement fund, \$120-4.13.

Return to service by former retirement fund or system member, §120-4.24.

Service retirement benefits, §120-4.21.

Computation, §120-4.21(b). Eligibility, §120-4.21(a). Limitations, §120-4.21(c), (d).

Written application, §120-4.21(a). Survivor's alternative benefits,

urvivor's alternative benefits, §120-4.28.

### LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

### Benefits —Cont'd

Transfer from retirement fund to retirement system, §120-4.13.

### Contributions.

By members, §120-4.19.

By the state, §120-4.20.

Accrued liability contribution, §120-4.20(c).

Amount of contributions, §120-4.20(a).

Annual contributions, §120-4.20(f).

Determination of normal contribution, §120-4.20(b).

Normal contribution rate, §120-4.20(e).

Unfounded accrued liability, 8120-4 20(d)

§120-4.20(d).
Repayment of contributions

withdrawn from retirement fund and system, §120-4.15.

Return of accumulated contributions, §120-4.25.

Termination or partial termination of system.

Discontinuance of contributions, §120-4.30.

Trust funds and instruments, held in, §120-4.9.

### Creditable service, §120-4.12.

Defined, §120-4.12(a).

Felony convictions, forfeiture of benefits and eligibility for service, §120-4.12(f), (g).

Membership service, §120-4.12(b). Prior service.

Defined, purchase, \$120-4.12(c) to (e).

Reciprocity.

Other state-administered retirement systems, §120-4.12A.

### Credits.

Creditable service, §120-4.12. Repayments and purchases of service credit, §120-4.16.

Date of establishment, §120-4.9. Death benefits, §120-4.27.

Distributions, §120-4.26A.

Survivor's alternative benefit, §120-4.28.

**Definitions,** §§120-4.8, 120-4.12. **Disability income plan.** 

Teachers.

Reciprocity of membership service, §135-114.

### Disability retirement benefits, §120-4.22.

Application, §120-4.22(a).

Computation, §120-4.22(a).

Eligibility, §120-4.22(a).

Limitations, §120-4.22(d).

### LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

## Disability retirement benefits —Cont'd

Medical certification, §120-4.22(b). Reexamination for disability

retirement allowance, §120-4.23.

Disposition of assets of system, §120-4.17(a).

### Employees' or retirees' associations.

Deduction for payments to, §120-4.32(a).

## Establishment, §120-4.9. Federal law.

Internal Revenue Code. Compliance, §120-4.31.

## Former members of general assembly.

Return to service, §120-4.24.

### Garnishment.

Exemption from garnishment, §120-4.29.

### Health plan coverage.

Deduction for payments to state health plan, §120-4.32(b).

## Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §120-4.34.

Internal Revenue Code. Compliance, §120-4.31.

### Legislative services commission.

Direction and policies concerning system vested in commission, §§120-4.9, 120-4.10.

### Management of funds, §120-4.18. Membership.

Contributions by members, \$120-4.19.

§120-4.19. Excluded members, §120-4.11.

Former members of legislative retirement fund, §120-4.11.

Persons leaving general assembly.
Return of accumulated

contributions, §120-4.25.

Transfer from legislative retirement fund to legislative retirement system, §120-4.13.

## Membership service, §120-4.12(b). Military service.

Purchase of prior service credit for military service.

Applicability, §120-4.12B(c). Authorized, §120-4.12B(a), (b).

### Name, §120-4.9.

## Pension accumulation fund, §120-4.17(d).

Assets credited to, \$120-4.17(a). Management of fund, \$120-4.18.

Transfer of accumulated contributions from annuity savings fund to pension accumulation fund upon retirement, §120-4.17(c).

### LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

Pension accumulation fund —Cont'd Transfer of interest to annuity savings fund, §120-4.17(e).

## Post-retirement increases in allowances, §120-4.22A(a).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1986, §120-4.22A(b).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1987, §120-4.22A(c).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1988, §120-4.22A(d).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1989, §120-4.22A(e).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1990, §120-4.22A(f).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1992, §120-4.22A(g).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1993, §120-4.22A(h).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1994, §120-4.22A(i).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1995, §120-4.22A(j).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1996, §120-4.22A(k).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1997, §120-4.22A(l).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1998, §120-4.22A(m).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 1999, §120-4.22A(n).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 2000, §120-4.22A(o).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 2001, §120-4.22A(p).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 2002, §120-4.22A(q).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 2003, §120-4.22A(r).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 2004, §120-4.22A(s).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 2005, §120-4.22A(t).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 2006, §120-4.22A(u). Retirement commenced on January

1, 2007, §120-4.22A(v). Retirement commenced on January

1, 2008, §120-4.22A(w). Retirement commenced on January

1, 2012, §120-4.22A(x). Retirement commenced on January 1, 2014, §120-4.22A(y).

Retirement commenced on January 1, 2017, §120-4.22A(aa).

Retirement commenced on October 31, 2018, §120-4.22A(bb).

Retirement commenced on or before January 1, 1999, §120-4.22A(n).

Retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2003, §120-4.22A(r).

### LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

## Post-retirement increases in allowances —Cont'd

Retirement commenced on or before January 1, 2004, §120-4.22A(s). Retirement commenced on or before

January 1, 2005, §120-4.22A(t). Retirement commenced on or before

January 1, 2006, §120-4.22A(u). Retirement commenced on or before

January 1, 2008, §120-4.22A(w).
Retirement commenced on September

1, 2016, §120-4.22A(z). Retirement commencing on or before January 1, 2000, §120-4.22A(o).

Retirement commencing on or before January 1, 2001, §120-4.22A(p).

### Prior service, §120-4.12(c).

Defined, purchase.

Armed forces, §120-4.12B.

Purchase of prior service, §120-4.14.

### Purchase of service credit, §120-4.16.

### Reciprocity.

Creditable service.

Other state-administered retirement systems, §120-4.12A.

### Repayment of contributions,

§120-4.15.

Rate on and after January 1, 2022 but before January 1, 2025, \$120-4.15(b).

Rate on and after January 1, 2025, §120-4.15(b).

### Repayment of service credit, §120-4.16.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Board of trustees.

Administration of system, §§120-4.9, 120-4.10.

### Return to service by former retirement fund or system member, §120-4.24.

### Service retirement benefits, §120-4.21.

Computation, \$120-4.21(b). Eligibility, \$120-4.21(a). Limitations, \$120-4.21(c), (d).

### Written application, §120-4.21(a). **State of North Carolina.**

Contributions by the state, §120-4.20.

## Supplemental retirement income act, §§135-90 to 135-97.

See SUPPLEMENTAL

RETIREMENT INCOME ACT.

### Survivor's alternative benefit, §120-4.28.

### Taxation.

Exemption from taxation, §120-4.29.

### LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

### Termination of system.

Discontinuance of contributions, §120-4.30.

### Trust, contributions held in, §120-4.9.

### United States.

Internal Revenue Code. Compliance, §120-4.31.

## LEGISLATIVE SERVICES COMMISSION.

### Legislative retirement system.

Direction and policies concerning system vested in commission, §§120-4.9, 120-4.10.

## Medicaid program financial information, §120-32.01.

### LEGISLATURE.

### Legislative retirement system,

§§120-4.8 to 120-4.34.

See LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

### LIENS.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Subrogation upon plan members' right to recover from liable third parties.

Amount recovered against third party, §135-48.37(c), (d).

Damages recovered by member against third party, lien on, §135-48.37(c1).

Priority of lien held by plan, \$135-48.37(e).

### LIFE INSURANCE.

### Law enforcement officers.

Separate insurance benefits plan for state and local officers, §143-166.60(a) to (h).

### LIMITATION OF ACTIONS. Local governmental employees'

### retirement system.

Deficiency in payment of benefits. Commencement of action, §128-27(i).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Deficiency in payment of benefits.
Action commenced by retiree or beneficiary, §135-5(n).

### LINE OF DUTY.

# Law enforcement, fire, rescue and civil air patrol death benefits, §§143-166.1 to 143-166.7.

See LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE, RESCUE AND CIVIL AIR PATROL DEATH BENEFITS.

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM, §§128-21 to 128-38.10.

### Acceptance by cities, towns and counties.

Alcoholic beverage control boards, ineligibility to participate, §128-23(h).

Application for participation in system by eligible employer, §128-23(c).

Contributions required of participating members, §128-23(d).

Temporary default, §128-23(e). Surety requirement for employers not considered taxing authority, §128-23(i).

Date of participation.

Class A employers, \$128-23(f). Class B employers, \$128-23(f). Class C employers, \$128-23(f).

Defaults.

Temporary default.

Contributions required of participating members, §128-23(e).

Election to participate in system, §128-23(a), (b).

Law enforcement officers, §128-23(g). Defined, §128-21.

### Actions.

Deficiency in payment of benefits. Commencement of action, §128-27(i).

Whistleblower protection for persons furnishing information to division.

Action for relief due to retaliation, §128-38.6(b).

### Actuaries.

Board of trustees.

Duties of actuary, §128-28(m) to (p).

# Administration of system, §128-28. Administrative implementation of legislative changes to retirement provisions.

Legislative enactment implementation arrangement (LEIA), §128-29(g).

Allowance for service, §128-26. Annuity reserve fund.

Merger into pension accumulation fund, §128-30(h).

Annuity savings fund.

Method of financing, §128-30(b).

### Applicability of provisions.

Certain laws not applicable to members, §128-33.

Local laws unaffected, §128-36.

### Attorney general.

Board of trustees.

Legal advisor of board, §128-28(k).

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

### Beneficiaries.

Defined, §128-21.

Disability retirement.

Reexamination of beneficiaries retired on account of disability, \$128-27(e).

### Benefits.

Accrual of benefits.

When benefits begin to accrue, §128-36.

### Actions.

Deficiency in payment of benefits, §128-27(i).

Anti-pension-spiking

contribution-based benefit cap.

Adjustment of allowances pursuant to, §128-27(a3).

Calculating, §128-27(a3).

Notice to member of cap and amount required to make member not subject to cap, \$128-26(y).

Cessation of membership in system. Return of accumulated contributions, §128-27(f).

#### Contributions.

Return of accumulated contributions, §128-27(f).

Return of excess contributions. Uniformed firefighters, §128-27(f1).

Death benefit plan, \$128-27(l) to (l6). Survivor's alternate benefit, \$128-27(m).

Deficiency in payment of benefits. Commencement of actions, §128-27(i).

Disability retirement allowances, §128-27(c).

July 1, 1971.

Increase in benefits to those persons on disability retirement who retired prior to date, §128-27(t).

On or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1969, §128-27(d1).

On or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1971, §128-27(d2).

On or after July 1, 1971, but prior to July 1, 1982, §128-27(d3).

On or after July 1, 1982, §128-27(d4).

Prior to July 1, 1965, §128-27(d). Prior to July 1, 1971.

Increases in benefits to those persons on disability retirement who were retired prior to date, §128-27(p).

Reexamination of beneficiaries, §128-27(e).

Disability retirement, §128-27.

LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL

EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT	EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT
SYSTEM —Cont'd	SYSTEM —Cont'd
Benefits —Cont'd	Benefits —Cont'd
Discontinuance of contributions.	Increases in benefits —Cont'd
Rights to benefits nonforfeitable	July 1, 1985, §128-27(aa), (z1).
and fully vested, §128-38.1.	July 1, 1986, §128-27(bb).
Discontinued service retirement	July 1, 1987, §128-27(cc).
allowance, §128-27(a2).	July 1, 1988, §128-27(dd), (ee).
Distributions upon death,	July 1, 1989, §128-27(ff), (gg).
§128-27(g1).	July 1, 1990, §128-27(hh), (ii).
Early service retirement benefits,	July 1, 1992, §128-27(jj), (kk).
§128-27(a1).	July 1, 1993, §128-27(ll).
Election of optional allowance,	July 1, 1994, §128-27(nn).
§128-27(g).	July 1, 1995, §128-27(oo) to (rr).
Failure to respond after preliminary	July 1, 1998, §128-27(uu), (ww).
option figures or form 6-E or	July 1, 1999, §128-27(ww).
form 7-E transmitted or after	July 1, 2000, §128-27(xx), (yy).
effective date of retirement,	July 1, 2001, §128-27(zz).
§128-32.1.	July 1, 2003, §128-27(eee).
Forfeiture of benefits and creditable	July 1, 2004, §128-27(ggg).
service.	July 1, 2005, §128-27(ggg).
Conviction of certain crimes by	June 1, 1994, §128-27(mm).
elected government officials,	
§128-26(w), (x).	June 1, 1997, §128-27(tt). June 1, 1998, §128-27(vv).
Felonies.	
Civil penalty and forfeiture	June 1, 2003, §128-27(fff).
fund, remittance of	Limitations, §128-27(y).
forfeited monies to,	Maximum increase in allowance,
§128-38.4(d).	§128-27(s).
Federal offenses, §128-38.4(b).	Persons on retirement rolls as of
Offenses related to	June 1, 2001, §128-27(aaa).
employment or holding	Persons on retirement rolls as of
office, §128-38.4A.	June 1, 2002, §128-27(bbb),
Prohibition on receiving	(ccc).
benefits, §128-38.4(a).	Post-retirement increases in
State offenses, §128-38.4(c).	allowances, §128-27(k).
Offenses directly related to	Prior to January 1, 1969,
employment or holding office.	§128-27(o).
Conduct applicable,	Prior to July 1, 1967, §128-27(j),
§128-38.4A(a).	(n).
Pardon or vacation of conviction,	Prior to July 1, 1971.
effect, §128-38.4A(c).	Disabilities retirement prior to
Repurchase of benefits or service,	date, §128-27(p).
prohibited, §128-38.4B.	September 1, 1996, §128-27(rr).
Improper receipt of decedent's	January 1, 1969.
retirement allowance, §128-38.5.	Increase in benefits, §128-27(o).
Increases in benefits.	July 1, 1967.
July 1, 1971.	Increase in benefits, §128-27(j), (n).
Disability retirement benefits,	July 1, 1971.
§128-27(t).	Increase in benefits.
July 1, 1973.	Disability retirement benefits,
Maximum increase in allowance,	§128-27(t).
§128-27(q).	July 1, 1973.
July 1, 1974.	Increase in benefits.  Maximum increase in allowance,
Maximum increase in allowance,	
§128-27(r).	§128-27(q).
July 1, 1976, §128-27(v).	July 1, 1974.
July 1, 1977.  Maximum increase in allowance,	Increase in benefits.  Maximum increase in allowance,
\$128-27(u).	§128-27(r).
July 1, 1978, §128-27(w), (x).	July 1, 1976.
July 1, 1978, §128-27(w), (x). July 1, 1983, §128-27(z).	Increase in benefits, §128-27(v).
oury 1, 1000, \$120-21(Z).	merease in benefits, \$120-21(V).

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

Benefits —Cont'd

July 1, 1977.

Increase in benefits.

Maximum increase in allowance, §128-27(u).

July 1, 1978.

Increase in benefits, §128-27(w),

(x).

July 1, 1983.

Increase in benefits, §128-27(z).

July 1, 1985, §128-27(aa).

Increase in benefits, §128-27(z1).

July 1, 1986.

Increase in benefits, §128-27(bb).

July 1, 1987.

Increase in benefits, §128-27(cc).

July 1, 1988.

Increase in benefits, §128-27(dd), (ee).

July 1, 1989.

Increase in benefits, §128-27(ff), (gg).

July 1, 1990.

Increase in benefits, §128-27(hh), (ii).

July 1, 1992.

Increase in benefits, §128-27(jj), (kk).

July 1, 1993.

Increases in benefits, §128-27(nn).

July 1, 1995.

Increases in benefits, §128-27(00) to (rr).

July 1, 1997.

Increases in benefits, §128-27(ss).
Persons on retirement rolls as of
June 1, 1997, §128-27(tt).

July 1, 1998.

Increases in benefits, §128-27(ww). July 1, 1999.

Increases in benefits, §128-27(ww). July 1, 2000.

Increases in benefits, §128-27(xx), (yy).

July 1, 2004.

Increases in benefits, §128-27(ggg).

June 1, 1994.

Increases in allowance, §128-27(mm).

June 1, 1998.

Increases in benefits, \$128-27(vv). June 30, 1951.

Basis of computation of benefits, §128-27(h).

Law enforcement officers.

Special retirement allowance, §128-27(m1).

Limitation of actions.

Deficiency in payment of benefits, §128-27(i).

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

Benefits —Cont'd

Optional allowance.

Election of optional allowance, §128-27(g).

Overpayment or erroneous payment.

Offset against allowance or return
of contributions, §128-31(b).

Offset against net wages, §128-31(c), (c1).

Right to pursue alternative judicial remedies to recover, §128-31(d).

Preliminary option figures.

Failure to respond, §128-32.1.

Reemployment earnings exceeding limitation on amount.

Suspension of retirement allowance, §128-24.

Reexamination of beneficiaries retired on account of disability, \$128-27(e).

Reservation of power to change, §128-38.

Return of accumulated contributions, §128-27(f).

September 1, 1996.

Increases in benefits, §128-27(rr).

Service retirement allowances.

Law enforcement officers or eligible former law enforcement officers, §128-27(b14).

On or after January 1, 1986 but before January 1, 1988, \$128-27(b8).

On or after January 1, 1988, §128-27(b10).

On or after July 1, 1959, or prior to July 1, 1965, §128-27(b).

On or after July 1, 1965, but prior to July 1, 1967, §128-27(b1).

On or after July 1, 1967, but prior to July 1, 1969, §128-27(b2).

On or after July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1973, §128-27(b3).

On or after July 1, 1973, but prior to July 1, 1976, §128-27(b4).

On or after July 1, 1976, but prior to July 1, 1978, §128-27(b5).

On or after July 1, 1978, §128-27(b6).

On or after July 1, 1983, but prior to July 1, 1985, §128-27(b7).

On or after July 1, 1985 but before July 1, 1988, §128-27(b9).

On or after July 1, 1988, but before July 1, 1989, §128-27(b10).

On or after July 1, 1989, §128-27(b11).

On or after July 1, 1989, but before July 1, 1990, §128-27(b11).

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

Benefits —Cont'd

Service retirement allowances —Cont'd

On or after July 1, 1990, §128-27(b12).

On or after July 1, 1990, but before July 1, 1992, §128-27(b12).

On or after July 1, 1992, §128-27(b13).

On or after July 1, 1995, §128-27(b15).

On or after July 1, 1995 but before July 1, 1997, §128-27(b15).

On or after July 1, 1998 but before July 1, 2000, §128-27(b17).

On or after July 1, 2000 but before July 1, 2001, §128-27(b18).

On or after July 1, 2001, §128-27(b19).

On or after July 1, 2018, §128-27(b22).

On or after October 8, 1981, §128-27(a).

Severance pay, effect of receipt, §128-27(a4).

Special retirement allowance.

Law enforcement officers, §128-27(m1).

Members generally, §128-27(m2). Survivor's alternate benefit, §128-27(m).

Suspension of retirement allowance.

Reemployment earning exceeding

limitation on amount, §128-24. Termination or partial termination of system.

Rights to benefits nonforfeitable and fully vested, §128-38.1. When benefits begin to accrue, §128-36.

### Board of trustees.

Actuarial data, §128-28(i).
Duties of actuary, §128-28(m).

Actuary.

Duties, §128-28(m), (p).

Investigations, §128-28(n), (o).

Valuation of assets and liabilities of funds of system, §128-28(p).

Administration and responsibility for operation of system, §128-28.

Vested in board, \$128-28(a).

Allowance for service, §128-26.

Attorney general.

Legal adviser of board, §128-28(k). Authority, §128-28(b).

Body politic and corporate, §128-28(b).

Chairman, §128-28(h). Compensation, §128-28(d). Composition, §128-28(c).

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

Board of trustees -Cont'd

Defined, §128-21.

Director, §128-28(h).

Exemption of property from taxation, §128-28(b).

Expenses, §128-28(d), (h).

Funds.

Management of funds, §128-29. Immunity from liability, §128-28(u). Investigation by actuary, §128-28(n), (o).

Legal advisor, §128-28(k).

Management of funds, §128-29.

Management of system, §128-22.

Medical board.

Composition, §128-28(1).

Designation, §128-28(l).

Immunity, §128-28(1).

Members of board, §128-28(c).

Oath of office, \$128-28(e).

Officers, §128-28(h).

Operation of system.

Administration and responsibility for operation, §128-28.

Vested in board, §128-28(a).

Personal property.

Exemption from taxation, §128-28(b).

Powers, §128-28(b).

Property.

Exemption from taxation, §128-28(b).

Real property.

Exemption from taxation, §128-28(b).

Record of proceedings, §128-28(j). Report.

Annual report, §128-28(j).

Responsibility for operation of system, §128-28.

Vested in board, §128-28(a).

Rules and regulations, §128-28(g). Salaries, §128-28(h).

Service.

Allowance for service, §128-26. Taxation.

Exemption of property from taxation, §128-28(b). Voting rights, §128-28(f).

### Compensation.

Defined, §128-21.

Earnable compensation. Defined, §128-21.

Compliance investigations, §128-28(r).

### Confidentiality.

Fraud investigations.

Identity of reporter to be kept confidential, \$128-28(t).
List of members, \$128-28(q).

### Contributions.

Accumulated contribution. Defined, §128-21.

Anti-pension-spiking

contribution-based benefit cap. Adjustment of allowances pursuant to, §128-27(a3).

Calculating, §128-27(a3).

Notice to member of cap and amount required to make member not subject to cap, §128-26(y).

Pension spiking report, \$128-30(j). Pick-up of employee contributions, \$128-30(b1).

Trust funds, held in, §128-22.

### Criminal law and procedure.

Confidentiality of information, \$128-28(q).

Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §128-38.5.

### Date of establishment, §128-22.

Death benefit plan, §128-27(1) to (16). Deductions.

Employees' associations payments, §128-38.3(a).

Health plan coverage, §128-38.3(b), (c).

### Deferred retirement allowance, §128-24.

**Definitions,** §§128-21, 128-33.1, 143-166.50(a).

### Disability benefits.

Allowance on disability retirement, \$128-27(d).

Disability retirement benefits, §128-27(c).

Increase in benefits.

Those persons on disability retirement who were retired prior to July 1, 1971, §128-27(p), (t).

Reexamination of beneficiaries retired on account of disability, \$128-27(e).

## Discontinued service retirement allowance, §128-27(a2).

## Domestic relations order dividing member's interest.

Application for removal from system, §128-31(a).

## Early retirement allowance, §128-24.

### Early service retirement benefits, §128-27(a1).

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

### Elected government officials.

Conviction of certain crimes, forfeiture of benefits and creditable service, \$128-26(x).

Felonies.

Offenses related to employment or holding office, \$128-38.4A. Repurchase of forfeited benefits or service, prohibited, \$128-38.4B.

## Employee defined, §128-21. Employees' associations.

Deduction for payment to certain associations, §128-38.3(a).

### Employer defined, §128-21.

### Erroneous payments to beneficiary.

Offset against allowance or return of contributions, §128-31(b).

Offset against net wages, §128-31(c), (c1).

Right to pursue alternative judicial remedies to recover, §128-31(d).

### Establishment.

Date of establishment, §128-22.

#### Executions.

Exemptions from execution, §128-31(a).

### Federal law.

Compliance with Internal Revenue Code, §128-38.2.

### Financing.

Method of financing, §128-30.

### Fire departments, membership.

Applicability of provisions, §128-37.2(b).

Articles of incorporation, required provisions, §128-37.2(a).

### Fraud.

Investigations for fraud, §128-28. Protection of records against fraud, §128-32.

### Funds.

Annuity reserve fund.

Merger into pension accumulation fund, §128-30(h).

Annuity savings fund.

Contributions to fund, §128-30(b). Payments from fund, §128-30(b).

Assets of retirement system credited, §128-30(a).

Collection of contributions, §128-30(g).

Crediting assets of retirement system, §128-30(a).

Expense fund.

Contributions to fund, §128-30(f).

Funds -Cont'd

Management of funds, §128-29. Annual allowances of regular interest, §128-29(b).

Cash deposits for meeting disbursements, §128-29(d).

Custodian of funds, §128-29(c).

Depositories.

Selection of, §128-29(e).

Disbursements.

Cash deposits for meeting disbursements, §128-29(d).

Immunity of funds, §128-29(f). Interest.

Annual allowance of regular interest, §128-29(b).

Selection of depositories, §128-29(e).

State treasurer to be custodian of funds, §128-29(c).

Vested in board of trustees, §128-29(a).

Mergers.

Annuity reserve fund and pension reserve fund into pension accumulation fund, §128-30(h).

Pension accumulation fund.

Contributions to fund, §128-30(d).

Merger of annuity reserve fund and pension reserve fund, \$128-30(h).

Obligations of fund, §128-35. Payments from fund, §128-30(d).

Pension reserve fund.

Merger into pension accumulation fund, §128-30(h).

### General assembly.

Reservation of power to change, §128-38.

### Health.

Deduction for payment to state health plan, §128-38.3(b).

Deduction for payment under agreement to provide health benefits, \$128-38.3(c).

District health departments.

Membership of employees, §128-37. Public health authorities.

Membership of employees, §128-37.

### Human resources system.

Membership in system.

Intergovernmental exchange of personnel.

Sending agency employees participating in exchange, \$128-24.

### Immunity.

Board of trustees, §128-28(u). Management of funds, §128-29(f).

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §128-38.5. Inactive employers.

Application to extend inactive period, §128-23.1(d).

Non-resumption of reporting eligible employees and non-extension of inactive period, effect, §128-23.1(f).

Time for action on application, §128-23.1(e).

Criteria for status of inactive, §128-23.1(a).

Failure to report eligible employees, when considered inactive, \$128-23.1(c).

Non-resumption of reporting eligible employees and non-extension of inactive period, effect, §128-23.1(f).

Notice to inactive employers, §128-23.1(d).

Report on inactive employers, §128-23.1(b).

## Interchange of governmental employees.

Sending agency employees participating in exchange, §128-24.

### Interest.

Management of funds.

Annual allowance of regular interest, §128-29(b).

Internal Revenue Code. Compliance, §128-38.2.

### Investigations.

Board of trustees.

Duties of actuary, \$128-28(n), (o). Compliance investigations, \$128-28(r).

Fraud investigations, §128-28.

### Judicial retirement system.

Transfer of members, §§128-34(d), 135-70.1.

### Law enforcement officers.

Death benefit plan, §128-27(l2).

### Law-enforcement officers.

Retirement benefits for local governmental law-enforcement officers, §143-166.50.

### Law enforcement officers.

Service retirement allowance, §128-27(b14).

Special retirement allowance, §128-27(m1).

### Legislative enactment

## implementation arrangement (LEIA).

Administrative implementation of legislative changes to retirement provisions, §128-29(g).

### Limitation of actions.

Deficiency in payment of benefits. Commencement of action, §128-27(i).

### Local laws.

Unaffected by article, §128-36.

Management of funds, §128-29.

Management of system.

Board of trustees, §128-22.

### Medical board.

Composition, §128-28(l).

Defined, §128-21.

Designation by board of trustees, \$128-28(l).

Immunity, §128-28(1).

## Member retirement files held by system, §128-33.1.

### Membership in system.

Health.

District health department employees, §128-37.

Public health authority employees, §128-37.

Intergovernmental exchange of personnel.

Sending agency employees participating in exchange, §128-24.

Law enforcement officers, §128-24. Reemployment or otherwise engaged to perform services after retirement, §128-24.

Restoration to service after attainment of retirement age, §128-24.

Sending agencies.

Intergovernmental exchange of personnel, §128-24.

Social services.

County social service department, §128-37.1.

Termination of membership on or after July 1, 1965, §128-24.

Transfer of members, §128-34. Judicial retirement system, §\$128-34(d), 135-70.1.

Retirement system for teachers and state employees, §128-34(b).

Status maintained as member of system, §128-34(a).

Termination of services of member, §128-34(c).

### Merger.

Method of financing.

Annuity reserve fund and pension reserve fund merged into pension accumulation fund, §128-30(h).

Method of financing, §128-30.

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

Military.

Employment interrupted by service in uniformed services. Employee defined as included, \$128-21.

In service date, §128-21.

### Misdemeanors.

Confidentiality of information, §128-28(q).

### Municipal corporations.

Local laws unaffected, §128-36.

### Name of system, §128-22.

Oaths.

Board of trustees.
Oath of office, §128-28(e).

### Operation of system.

Responsibility for operation, §128-28.

### Overpayments to beneficiary.

Offset against allowance or return of contributions, §128-31(b).

Offset against net wages, §128-31(c), (c1).

Right to pursue alternative judicial remedies to recover, §128-31(d).

### Penalty assessed against employer.

Unreported reemployed beneficiary, §128-24.

### Pension accumulation fund.

Merger of annuity reserve fund and pension reserve fund, §128-30(h). Method of financing, §128-30(d). Obligations of fund, §128-35.

### Pension reserve fund.

Merger into pension accumulation fund, §128-30(h).

## Pension spiking report, §128-30(j). Personal property.

Board of trustees.

Exemption of property from taxation, §128-28(b).

### Personnel system.

Membership in system.

Intergovernmental exchange of personnel.

Sending agency employees participating in exchange, §128-24.

### Physicians and surgeons.

Medical board.

Administration and responsibility for operation of system, \$128-28(1).

## Pick-up of employee contributions, §128-30(b1).

### Probationary employment.

Purchases of service credits.

Credit at full cost for probationary employment, §128-26(q).

Purposes of system, §128-22.

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

### Real property.

Board of trustees.

Exemption of property from taxation, §128-28(b).

### Reciprocity.

Creditable service.

Other state-administered retirement systems, §128-26A.

### Records.

Board of trustees.

Record of proceedings, §128-28(j). Protection against fraud, §128-32.

### Reemployment or otherwise engaged to perform services after retirement, §128-24.

### Reports.

Board of trustees.

Annual report, §128-28(j). Inactive employers, §128-23.1(b).

Legislative enactment

 $implementation\ arrangement \\ (LEIA),\ \S 128-29(g).$ 

Pension spiking report, \$128-30(j). Reemployment of retired beneficiary, \$128-24.

Reservation of power to change, §128-38.

Restoration to service after attainment of retirement age, §128-24.

### Retaliation against persons furnishing information to division.

Prohibition, §128-38.6.

Retirement files held by system, §128-33.1.

### Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Transfer of credits from North Carolina local governmental employees' retirement system, §135-18.1.

Transfer of members, §128-34(b).

### Rollover distribution.

Nonspouse beneficiary, election, §128-38.2(d).

### Rules and regulations.

Board of trustees.

Administration and responsibility for operation of system, §128-28(g).

### Salaries.

Board of trustees.

Compensation of trustees, §128-28(d).

Officers and other employees, §128-28(h).

### Service.

Defined, §128-21.

### LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM —Cont'd

### Service credits.

Basis of creditable service at retirement, §128-26(e).

Creditable service at retirement. Authorized purchases, \$128-26.5(a). Military service, \$128-26.5(b).

Omitted membership service, §§128-26.5(d), 128-26(m).

Other states, territories or

governmental subdivisions of United States.

Purchase of creditable service previously rendered to, §128-26(j2).

Purchase procedure generally, §\$128-26.5(a), 128-26(z).

Retroactive or restored membership service, \$128-26.5(e).

Workers' compensation, periods of approved leave in receipt of benefits, §128-26.5(c).

benefits, §128-26.5(c). Creditable service defined, §128-21.

Forfeitures.
Withdrawal of contributions.
Receipt of credit for service

forfeited, §128-26(i).

Generally, §128-26.

Leaves of absence, §128-26(g). Omitted membership service, §§128-26.5(d), 128-26(m).

Prior service credit.

Calendar year, amount allowed, §128-26(b).

Filing of statements of service, §128-26(a).

Law enforcement officers' retirement system, credit transferred, §128-26(e1).

Military service, credit for, §§128-26.5(b), 128-26(a1).

Purchases of service credits, §128-26(l).

Leaves of absence, §128-26(l). Statement of service filed, §128-26(a).

Purchases of service credits.

Authorized purchases, §128-26.5(a). Military service, §128-26.5(b).

Plan-to-plan transfers, §128-26.5(g).

Rollovers from other plans, §128-26.5(f).

Who may purchase, \$128-26.5(a). Workers' compensation, periods of approved leave in receipt of benefits, \$128-26.5(c).

### Reciprocity.

Other state-administered retirement systems, §128-26A.

Service credits -Cont'd

Retroactive or restored membership service, §128-26.5(e).

Severance pay, effect, §128-27(a4). Sick leave.

Allowances for services, §128-26(e). **Social security.** 

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act.

Transfer of members to employment covered by retirement system, §135-28.

### Social services.

County social services department.

Membership of employees,

§128-37.1.

### State treasurer.

Management of funds. Custodian of funds, §128-29(c).

## Supplemental retirement income act, §§135-90 to 135-97.

See SUPPLEMENTAL

RETIREMENT INCOME ACT.

## Suspension of retirement allowance.

Reemployment earnings exceeding limitation on amount, §128-24.

### Taxation.

Board of trustees.

Exemption for property from taxation, §128-28(b).

## Termination or partial termination of system.

Benefits nonforfeitable and fully vested, §128-38.1.

## Transfer of members, §128-34. Trustees.

Board of trustees. See within this heading, "Board of trustees."

### United States.

Internal Revenue Code. Compliance, §128-38.2.

# Whistleblower protection for persons furnishing information to division, §128-38.6.

## LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENTS. District health departments.

Local governmental employees' retirement system. Membership of employees, §128-37.

### LYMPHEDEMA. Health benefit plans.

Coverage for diagnosis and treatment.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.51.

### $\mathbf{M}$

### MASTECTOMIES.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Reconstructive breast surgery following mastectomy. Coverage mandate, §135-48.50.

### MEDICAID.

Financial projection provided to general assembly, §120-32.01.

### MEDICARE.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Continuation of coverage for spouse and dependent.

Employee eligible for Medicare, §135-48.44(j).

Persons eligible for Medicare, §135-48.38.

### MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL

DISABILITY, SUBSTANCE USE.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Mental health parity, §135-48.50.

### MERGER.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Annuity reserve fund and pension reserve fund merged into pension accumulation fund, §128-30(h).

### MILITARY AFFAIRS.

### Absentees in military service.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund. Members on active military service, §58-86-95(g).

### Legislative retirement system.

Prior service.

Purchase for service in armed forces, §120-4.12B.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Employment interrupted by service in uniformed services.
Employee defined as including, §128-21.

In service date, §128-21.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Creditable service.

Armed service credit, §§135-4.5(b), 135-4(f), (g).

### MISDEMEANORS.

### Disability income plan.

Improper receipt of decedent's disability income plan allowance, §135-111.1.

MISDEMEANORS —Cont'd NATIONAL GUARD -Cont'd Legislative retirement system. Pensions, §127A-40. Applicability of provisions, Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §120-4.34. §127A-40(g). Local governmental employees' Cessation of payments, §127A-40(b). retirement system, §§128-28, Eligibility for benefits, §127A-40(c), 128-32. Confidentiality of information, Employees' or retirees' association. §128-28(q). Authorization of deductions to be Improper receipt of decedent's paid to, §127A-40(h1). retirement allowance, §128-38.5. Exemption from attachment, Retirement system for teachers garnishment or judgments, and state employees. §127A-40(j). Fund. Confidentiality of certain information concerning members, §135-6(p). Actuarial valuation, §127A-40.1(c). Consolidated judicial retirement act. Board of trustees, §127A-40.1(a). Improper receipt of decedent's Department of public safety retirement allowance, assistance, §127A-40.1(g). §135-75.2. Employer contributions. False statements or falsified records, Actuarial determination, §135-10. §127A-40.1(d). Improper receipt of decedent's Rate policy, §127A-40.1(e). retirement allowance, §135-18.11. Recommended rate, §127A-40.1(f). Sources of funds, §127A-40.1(b). Insufficient funds to pay benefits. Reduction of benefits or payments, NAMES. §127A-40(h). Legislative retirement system, Requirements for pension, §120-4.9. §127A-40(a). Local governmental employees' State, federal or private retirement retirement system, §128-22. systems benefits, §127A-40(d). Supplemental retirement income Subject to future legislative change act, §135-91(b). or revision, §127A-40(i). Teachers and state employees, Retirement system for teachers and state employees. Consolidated judicial retirement act, Creditable service. §135-54. Armed service credit, §135-4(f). NATIONAL GUARD. NOTICE. Death. Firefighters' and rescue squad Pensions for members of national workers' pension fund. Leaves of absence, §58-86-95(b). Cessation of payments upon death Members on active military service, of individual, §127A-40(b). §58-86-95(g). Health insurance for members of Social security. guard. Coverage of governmental employees State health plan for teachers and under Title II of social security state employees. Dependent children. Plans for coverage of employees of Subject to same terms and political subdivisions. conditions as other Notice and opportunity for dependent children, hearing, §135-23(b). §135-48.1. Effective dates of coverage, 0 §135-48.43(e). Enrollment terms and conditions, OATHS. §135-48.42(b). Local governmental employees' National guard members defined, §135-48.1.

retirement system.

Board of trustees.

Oath of office, §128-28(e).

Retirement system for teachers and state employees. Board of trustees,  $\S135-6(d)$ .

Opportunity to participate,

§135-48.58.

Separate premium rates set,

§135-48.8.

Premium rates.

### OCCUPATIONAL LICENSING BOARDS.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Coverage under system, §135-1.1(a), (b).

### OLD AGE AND SURVIVORS INSURANCE SYSTEM.

### Social security.

Coverage under Title II of social security act, §§135-19 to 135-31. See SOCIAL SECURITY.

P

## PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS. Retirement system for teachers

and state employees.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Contributions by members, §135-68(a), (b).

### Social security.

Coverage under Title II of social security act.

Contributions by state employees, §135-22.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Available for coverage, §135-48.2(b).

### Supplemental retirement income act.

Contributions, §135-93.

### PEACE OFFICERS.

**Death benefits,** §§143-166.1 to 143-166.7.

See LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE, RESCUE AND CIVIL AIR PATROL DEATH BENEFITS.

### Insurance.

Separate insurance benefits plan for law-enforcement officers, §143-166.60.

### Separation.

Special separation allowance, §143-166.41(a) to (g).

### PEDIATRICIANS. Health benefit plans.

Direct access for minors.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.51.

### PENSIONS.

Cities generally, §§128-21 to 128-38.10.

See LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

## Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

## PENSIONS —Cont'd Counties generally, §§128-21 to

128-38.10.

See LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

### Courts.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

**Disability income plan,** §§135-100 to 135-114.

See DISABILITY INCOME PLAN.

## Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund,

§§58-86-1 to 58-86-101.

See FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION FUND.

### General assembly.

Legislative retirement system, §\$120-4.8 to 120-4.34.

See LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

### Judges.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### Legislative retirement system, §§120-4.8 to 120-4.34.

See LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT

SYSTEM.

### National guard, §127A-40.

Applicability of provisions, \$127A-40(g).

Cessation of payments, §127A-40(b). Eligibility for benefits, §127A-40(c), (f).

Employees' or retirees' associations. Authorization of deductions to be paid to, \$127A-40(h1).

Exemption from attachment, garnishment or judgments, §127A-40(j).

### Fund.

Actuarial valuation, §127A-40.1(c). Board of trustees, §127A-40.1(a). Department of public safety assistance, §127A-40.1(g).

Employer contributions.
Actuarial determination,

\$127A-40.1(d).

Rate policy, §127A-40.1(e).

Recommended rate, §127A-40.1(f).

Sources of funds, §127A-40.1(b). Insufficient funds to pay benefits, §127A-40(h).

### PENSIONS —Cont'd

### National guard —Cont'd

Reduction of benefits or payments, §127A-40(h).

Requirements for pension, §127A-40(a).

State, federal or private retirement systems benefits, §127A-40(d).

Subject to future legislative change or revision, §127A-40(i).

### Public officers and employees,

§§135-1 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### Registers of deeds.

Supplemental pension fund act, \$\$161-50 to 161-50.5.

See REGISTERS OF DEEDS.

### Rescue squads.

Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund, §\$58-86-1 to 58-86-101.

See FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION FUND.

### Supplemental retirement income

act, §§135-90 to 135-97.

See SUPPLEMENTAL

RETIREMENT INCOME ACT.

### Teachers.

Retirement system for teachers and state employees, §§135-1 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### PERSONAL PROPERTY.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Board of trustees.

Exemption of property from taxation, §128-28(b).

### PERSONNEL SYSTEM. Counties.

Social security act.

Coverage of governmental employees, §§135-19 to 135-31. See SOCIAL SECURITY.

### Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Membership in system.

Intergovernmental exchange of personnel.

Sending agency employees participating in exchange, §128-24.

### Municipal corporations.

Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees, §§135-19 to 135-31. See SOCIAL SECURITY.

### PHYSICAL THERAPISTS.

Health benefit plans.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.51.

### PHYSICIANS AND SURGEONS. Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Medical board.

Administration and responsibility for operation of system, §128-28(l).

### PLASTIC SURGERY.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Coverage mandate.

Cosmetic surgery or treatment, §135-48.50.

### POLICE.

## Law enforcement officers' retirement system.

See LAW-ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

# PREEXISTING CONDITIONS. State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Changing categories of coverage without waiting periods, §135-48.43(c).

Child born to covered employee.

Coverage at birth, \$135-48.42(a).

Dependents subject to waiting period,

\$135-48.43(c).
Dependent younger than age 19.

Enrolled at any time without waiting period, §135-48.42(c). New employees.

Waiting periods, §135-48.42(a).

Newly acquired dependent.

Coverage without waiting period, \$135-48.42(b).

Waiting periods, §135-48.43(b).

### PRESCRIPTION DRUGS. State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Access to nonformulary and restricted access prescription drugs, §135-48.51.

### PRISON TERMS.

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §§128-28, 128-32.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Disclosure of confidential information concerning members, §135-6(p). False statements or falsified records,

§135-10.

### PUBLIC DEFENDERS. Consolidated judicial retirement

**act**, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

### PUBLIC FUNDS.

## Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund,

§§58-86-1 to 58-86-101.

See FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION FUND.

## PUBLIC OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES.

### Annuities.

Contracts.

Annuity contracts, §147-9.3.

### Deferred compensation plans, §§143B-426.24, 147-9.4.

Administrative costs of plan, charge to member accounts, §143B-426.24(h2).

### Definitions.

Annuities, §147-9.2.

### Health insurance.

Teachers and state employees.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR
TEACHERS AND STATE
EMPLOYEES.

### Income withholding.

Annuity contracts.

Salary deductions, §147-9.3.

# Local governmental employees' retirement system, §§128-21 to 128-38.10.

See LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

## Old age and survivors insurance system generally.

Coverage under Title II of social security act, §§135-19 to 135-31. See SOCIAL SECURITY.

### Retirement system for teachers and state employees, §§135-1 to 135-18.11.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### Social security.

Coverage under Title II of social security act, §§135-19 to 135-31. See SOCIAL SECURITY.

### PUBLIC SAFETY EMPLOYEES' DEATH BENEFITS ACT,

§§143-166.1 to 143-166.7.

### PUBLIC SCHOOLS.

### Retirement system for teachers and state employees, §§135-1 to 135-114.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

### $\mathbf{R}$

### REAL PROPERTY.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Board of trustees.

Exemption of property from taxation, §128-28(b).

### RECIPROCITY.

### Legislative retirement system.

Creditable service.

Other state-administered retirement systems, §120-4.12A.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Creditable service.

Other state-administered retirement systems, §128-26A.

## RECONSTRUCTIVE BREAST SURGERY.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Coverage mandate.

Surgery following mastectomy, §135-48.50.

### RECORDS.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Board of trustees.

Record of proceedings, §128-28(j). Protection against fraud, §128-32.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Board of trustees to keep records of proceedings, §135-6(i).

### REFERENDUM.

### Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act, §§135-29, 135-31.

### **REGISTERS OF DEEDS,** §§161-50 to 161-50.5.

### Pensions.

Administration of article, §161-50.1(b).

Amount of pension benefits, §161-50.5.

Benefits, §161-50.5.

Citation of article, §161-50.

Eligibility, §161-50.4.

Monthly pension benefits, §161-50.5.

Payment, §161-50.3.

Purpose of article, §161-50.

Scope of article, §161-50.1(a).

Short title of article, §161-50.

Subject to future legislative change or revision, §161-50.1(c).

### REGISTERS OF DEEDS —Cont'd Pensions —Cont'd

Supplemental pension fund. Custodian, §161-50.2(b). Deposits, §161-50.2(a). Disbursements, §161-50.3.

### REPORTS.

### Disability income plan.

Earnings report, §135-109.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Board of trustees.

Annual report, \$128-28(j). Inactive employers, \$128-23.1(b). Reemployment of retired beneficiary, \$128-24.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Board of trustees, §135-6(i).
Disability income plan.
Report of earnings, §135-109.
Experience review, report prior to, §135-6(n1).

### Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security

Administration and operation of article to be reported, §135-26.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

To general assembly, \$135-48.27. Supplemental retirement income act, \$135-91(f), (g).

### RESCUE SQUADS.

**Death benefits,** §§143-166.1 to 143-166.7.

See LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE, RESCUE AND CIVIL AIR PATROL DEATH BENEFITS.

## Health insurance for rescue squad workers.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Dependent children.

Subject to same terms and conditions as other dependent children, \$135-48.1.

Effective dates of coverage, §135-48.43(e).

Enrollment terms and conditions, §135-48.42(b).

Opportunity to participate, §135-48.8.

Premium rates.

Separate premium rates set, \$135-48.58.

Squad workers defined, §135-48.1.

### RESCUE SQUADS —Cont'd

### Workers' pension fund generally,

§§58-86-1 to 58-86-101.

See FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION FUND.

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

**EMPLOYEES,** §§135-1 to 135-97.

### Accumulated contributions.

Defined, §§135-1, 135-53.

Return of contributions or balance thereof,  $\S135-5(f)$ .

Facility of payment of benefits, §135-17.

#### Actions.

Payment of benefits.

Commencement of actions, §135-5(n).

### Actuarial equivalent.

Defined, §135-1.

### Actuaries.

Board of trustees to keep actuarial data, §135-6(h).

Definition of actuarial equivalent, §135-53.

### Duties of actuary, §135-6(l) to (o).

# Administrative implementation of legislative changes to provisions.

Legislative enactment implementation arrangement (LEIA), §135-7(h).

### Annuities.

Definitions, §135-1.

Funds.

Annuity reserve fund.

Merger with pension reserve
fund into pension

accumulation fund, §135-8(g).

Annuity savings fund, §135-8(b).

Transfer of credits from local governmental employees' retirement system, §135-18.1(b).

Merger of annuity reserve fund and pension reserve fund into pension accumulation fund, §135-8(g).

### Attachment.

Exemption from attachment, §135-9(a).

### Attorney general.

Legal adviser to board of trustees, §135-6(j).

### Average final compensation.

Definition.

Beneficiaries, §§135-1, 135-53.

Disability retirement allowances.

Reexamination of beneficiaries

retired for disability, §135-5(e).

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Average final compensation —Cont'd

Facility of payment of benefits, §135-17.

### Benefits.

Accumulated contributions.

Return of contributions, §135-5(f).

Actions

Payment of benefits, §135-5(n).

Adjustment in allowances.

From and after July 1, 1981, §135-5(ee).

From and after July 1, 1982, §135-5(ff).

From and after July 1, 1983, §135-5(gg), (hh).

From and after July 1, 1984, §135-5(ii), (jj).

Anti-pension-spiking

contribution-based benefit cap. Amount of contribution needed to avoid, §135-4(jj).

Charter schools.

Optional participation by schools operated by private nonprofit corporations, §135-5.3.

Computation of benefits.

Payable prior or subsequent to July 1, 1947, §135-5(h).

Consumer price index.

Post-retirement increases in allowances, §135-5(o).

Contribution-based benefit cap. Impact of felony forfeiture, §135-8(f1).

Creditable service.

Minimum monthly benefit, §135-5(r).

Death benefit plan, §135-5(l). Reciprocity, §135-5(l1).

Death benefits.

Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §135-18.11.

Deficiency in payment of benefits.

Action commenced by retiree or beneficiary.

Limitation of action, §135-5(n). Disability income plan, §§135-100 to 135-114.

See DISABILITY INCOME PLAN. Disability retirement benefits.

Applicable provisions, \$135-5(j). Consolidated judicial retirement act, \$135-60.

Increases in benefits to those persons who were retired prior to July 1, 1971, §135-5(s), (x).

July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1, 1963 retirements, §135-5(d).

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Benefits —Cont'd

Disability retirement benefits —Cont'd

July 1, 1963, but prior to July 1,1969 retirements, §135-5(d1).July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1,

1971 retirements, §135-5(d2). July 1, 1982, but prior to January 1, 1988 retirements,

§135-5(d4). Members leaving services prior to January 1, 1988, §135-5(c).

On or after July 1, 1971 retirements, §135-5(d3).

Reexamination of beneficiaries retired for disability, §135-5(e).

Early service retirement benefits, §135-5(a1).

Election of benefits.

Failure to respond, §135-10.1.

Election of optional allowance, §135-5(g).

Forfeiture of benefits for certain convictions.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, members, \$135-56(g). Felonies, \$\frac{1}{3}35-75.1, 135-75.1A. Public defenders, \$135-56(h).

Elected government officials, §135-4(gg).

Felonies, members convicted of. Federal offenses, §135-18.10(b). Consolidated judicial

retirement act, members, §135-75.1(b).

Offenses directly relating to employment or holding office, §135-18.10A.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, members, §135-75.1A.

Requirements for forfeiture, §135-18.10(a).

Consolidated judicial retirement act, members, §135-75.1(a).

State offenses, \$135-18.10(c). Consolidated judicial retirement act, members,

§135-75.1(c).
Offenses directly relating to
employment or holding office.

Factors to be considered.

Consolidated judicial retirement act members, §135-75.1A(a).

Pardon or vacation of conviction, effect.

Consolidated judicial retirement act members, §135-75.1A(c).

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Benefits —Cont'd

Forfeiture of benefits for certain convictions —Cont'd

Optional retirement program for University of North Carolina, §135-5.1(h).

Repurchase of forfeited benefits or service, prohibited, §§135-18.10B, 135-75.1B.

Former members.

Restoration to service of certain former members, §135-5(i).

Health insurance.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §135-18.11.

Increases in benefits.

Available from and after July 1, 1985, §135-5(jj).

Beneficiaries on retirement rolls as of July 1, 1982, §135-5(gg).

Elimination of reduction factors applicable to reduced retirement allowance.

Payable from and after July 1, 1983, §135-5(hh).

From and after July 1, 1985, §135-5(kk).

From and after July 1, 1986, §135-5(ll).

From and after July 1, 1987, §135-5(mm).

From and after July 1, 1988, §135-5(nn).

From and after July 1, 1989, §135-5(pp).

Persons on retirement rolls after June 1, 1989, §135-5(qq).

From and after July 1, 1990, §135-5(ss).

Persons on retirement rolls as of June 1, 1990, §135-5(rr).

From and after July 1, 1992, §135-5(tt), (uu).

From and after July 1, 1993, §135-5(vv).

Retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1992, §135-5(ww).

Retirement commenced on or before June 1, 1994, §135-5(xx).

From and after July 1, 1994, §135-5(yy).

From and after July 1, 1995, §135-5(zz).

From and after July 1, 1997, §135-5(ccc).

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Benefits —Cont'd

Increases in benefits —Cont'd From and after July 1, 1998, \$135-5(eee).

From and after July 1, 1999, §135-5(fff).

From and after July 1, 2000, §135-5(ggg), (hhh).

From and after July 1, 2005, §135-5(nnn).

From and after July 1, 2006, §135-5(000).

From and after July 1, 2007, \$135-5(qq), (qqq).

From and after July 1, 2008, §135-5(rrr).

From and after September 1, 1996, §135-5(bbb).

Paid in respect to members retired prior to July 1, 1967, \$135-5(p).

Paid in respect to members retired prior to July 1, 1975, §135-5(z).

Persons on retirement roll as of June 1, 1988, §135-5(00).

Persons on retirement roll as of June 1, 1995, §135-5(aaa).

Persons on retirement roll as of June 1, 1997, §135-5(ddd).

Persons on retirement rolls as of September 1, 2018, §135-5(www).

Post-retirement increases in allowances, §135-5(o).

Costs of increases, §135-5(w). Payable on July 1, 1977, §135-5(y).

Payable on July 1, 1978, §135-5(y).

Payable on July 1, 1979, §135-5(aa).

Payable on July 1, 1980, §135-5(bb).

Year 1974 increase in allowance, \$135-5(t).

Years 1975 and 1976 increase in allowance, §135-5(v).

Those persons on disability retirement who were retired prior to July 1, 1971, §135-5(s),

Those persons who were retired prior to January 1, 1970, §135-5(q).

Those persons who were retired prior to July 1, 1977, §135-5(cc).

Law enforcement officers.

Special retirement allowance,
§135-5(m1).

#### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Benefits —Cont'd

Obligation of maintaining reserves and paying benefits, §135-12.

Optional allowance.

Election of optional allowance, §135-5(g).

Overpayment or erroneous payment to member.

Alternative judicial remedies not barred, §135-9(d).

Offset against allowance or return of contributions, §135-9(b).

Offset against net wages, §135-9(c), (c1).

Payment of benefits.

Beginning of payment, §135-18.7(c).

Commencement of actions, §135-5(n).

Facility of payment, §135-17. Obligation of maintaining reserves and paying benefits, §135-12.

Overpayment or erroneous payment to member.

Alternative judicial remedies not barred, §135-9(d).

Offset against allowance or return of contributions, §135-9(b).

Offset against net wages, §135-9(c), (c1).

Rollover distribution paid directly to eligible retirement plan, §135-18.7(b).

Post-retirement increases in allowances, §135-5(o).

Costs of increases, §135-5(w).

Payable on July 1, 1977, §135-5(y).

Payable on July 1, 1978, §135-5(y).

Payable on July 1, 1979, §135-5(aa).

Payable on July 1, 1980, §135-5(bb).

Year 1974 increase in allowance, §135-5(t).

Years 1975 and 1976 increase in allowance, §135-5(v).

Preliminary option figures.

Failure to respond, §135-10.1.

Qualified excess benefit arrangement, §§135-150, 135-151.

Reduction.

Internal Revenue Code compliance, §135-18.7(b).

Reemployment of retiree.

Suspension and reinstatement of retirement allowance, §135-3.

Response by member after preliminary option figures or after effective date of retirement. Time limit, §135-10.1.

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Benefits —Cont'd

Restoration to service of certain former members, §135-5(i).

Retiree health benefit fund, §135-7(f). Service retirement allowances,

§135-5(a).

Applicability of provisions, §135-5(j).

Conversion to disability retirement, \$135-5(c).

July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1, 1963 retirements, §135-5(b).

July 1, 1963, but prior to July 1, 1967 retirements, §135-5(b1).

July 1, 1967, but prior to July 1, 1969 retirements, §135-5(b2).

July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1, 1973 retirements, §135-5(b3).

July 1, 1973, but prior to July 1, 1975 retirements, §135-5(b4).

July 1, 1975, but prior to July 1, 1977 retirements, §135-5(b5).

July 1, 1977, but prior to July 1, 1980 retirements, §135-5(b6).

On or after January 1, 1985 retirements, §135-5(b8).

On or after July 1, 1980 retirements, §135-5(b7).

On or after July 1, 1985, §135-5(b9).

On or after July 1, 1988, §135-5(b10).

On or after July 1, 1989, §135-5(b11).

On or after July 1, 1990 retirements, §135-5(b12).

On or after July 1, 1992, §135-5(b13).

On or after July 1, 1993, §135-5(b14).

On or after July 1, 1994, §135-5(b15).

On or after July 1, 1995, §135-5(b16).

On or after July 1, 1997 but before July 1, 2000, §135-5(b17).

On or after July 1, 2000, §135-5(b18).

On or after July 1, 2018 retirements, §135-5(b21).

Severance pay, effect of receipt, §135-5(a4).

Special retirement allowance.

Death benefits for retiree receiving, §135-5(g1).

Law enforcement officers, §135-5(m1).

Survivor's alternate benefit, §135-5(m).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES -Cont'd

Benefits -Cont'd

Transfer of eligible accumulated contributions.

Special retirement allowance. Law enforcement officers, §135-5(m1).

University of North Carolina optional retirement program, §135-5.1(g).

#### Blind persons.

Enrollment of blind or visually handicapped employees, §135-16.1.

#### Board of trustees.

Actuarial data, §135-6(h).

Actuary.

Duties of actuary, §135-6(l).

Investigations, §135-6(m), (n).

Payment of administrative costs, §135-6(n2).

Administration of retirement system, §135-6(a).

Attorney general to be legal adviser, §135-6(j).

Compensation of members, §135-6(c). Composition, §135-6(b).

Corporate name, §135-6(a).

Defined, §§135-1, 135-53.

Disability income plan, §§135-100 to 135-114.

See DISABILITY INCOME PLAN. Effect of vote related to contributory

death benefit, §135-6(e1). Employees of board, §135-6(g).

Expenses, §135-6(g).

Funds.

Management of funds, §135-7. Immunity, §135-6(t).

Investigations.

Actuary to make investigations, §135-6(m), (n).

Annual valuation of assets and liabilities of funds of system, §135-6(o).

Legal adviser, §135-6(j), (u).

Legislative retirement system.

Administration of system by board, §§120-4.9, 120-4.10.

Management of funds, §135-7.

Medical board, §135-6(k).

Membership of board, §135-6(b).

Oath of office, §135-6(d).

Officers, §135-6(g).

Property exempt from tax, §135-6(a). Qualified excess benefit arrangement.

Administrative duties of board, §135-151(g).

Managed by board of trustees, §135-151(a).

Record of proceedings, §135-6(i).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Board of trustees —Cont'd

Reports.

Annual report, §135-6(i).

Experience review, report prior to, §135-6(n1).

Payment of administrative costs, §135-6(n2).

Rules and regulations, §135-6(f).

Salaries, §135-6(g).

Tax exemption for property of board, §135-6(a).

Terms, §135-6(b).

Transfer of members.

Rulemaking authority,

§135-18.9(b).

Voting rights, §135-6(e).

Effect of vote related to contributory death benefit,

## §135-6(e1). Ceasing participation.

Procedure and payments. Charter school, §135-5.3(f).

## Cessation to be member, §135-3. Changes.

Reservation of power to change, §135-18.4.

#### Charter schools.

Creditable service.

Credit for employment in charter school operated by private nonprofit corporation, §135-4.

Purchase of creditable service for employment in charter school operated by private nonprofit corporation or municipal corporation, §§135-4.5(a), 135-4(cc1).

Participation by charter school operated by nonprofit corporation, §135-5.3.

#### Community colleges.

Employees of institutions. Public school teachers' and professional educators' investment plans and other state-approved 403(b) plans, §115D-25.4.

Optional retirement program, §135-5.4.

Purchase of retirement income contracts of employees, §115D-25.

## Compensation.

Average final compensation.

Defined, §135-1.

Earnable compensation.

Defined, §135-1.

Final compensation.

Defined, §135-53.

Maximum compensation used for calculating benefits, §135-18.7(a).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Compensation —Cont'd Not included as, §135-1.

## Composition of membership, §135-3. Confidentiality.

Fraud investigations.

Identity of person furnishing information to be kept confidential, §135-6(s).

#### Confidentiality of information.

Information concerning members, §135-6(p).

#### Conflicts of interest.

Management of funds.

Personal profit or acting as surety prohibited, §135-7(e).

## Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

Accumulated contributions.

Creditable service.

Withdrawal of contributions, §135-56(b).

Defined, §135-53.

Fiftieth birthday retirement, §135-57(c).

Return of contributions, §135-62. Application to be submitted, §135-62(a).

Actuarial equivalent.

Defined, §135-53.

Administration of article, §135-52(b). Applicability of provisions.

Article 1 references, §135-52(a).

Article 1 of chapter.

Application of references in Article 1, §135-52(a).

Assets of retirement system.

Annuity savings fund, §135-67(b). Transfer of accumulated contributions to pension accumulation fund, §135-67(c).

Crediting to one of two funds, §135-67(a).

Custodian of assets, §135-66. Interest.

Regular interest allowance, §135-67(e).

Investment of assets, §135-66. Pension accumulation fund, §135-67(d).

Transfer of accumulated contributions from annuity savings fund, §135-67(c).

Regular interest allowance, §135-67(e).

Beneficiary.

Death benefits to.

Death after retirement,

§135-64(a) to (k).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

**EMPLOYEES** —Cont'd

## Consolidated judicial retirement act —Cont'd

Beneficiary -Cont'd

Death benefits to —Cont'd Death before retirement, §135-63(a) to (d).

Defined, §135-53.

#### Benefits.

Death before retirement, §135-63. Death benefits after retirement, §135-64(a) to (k).

Determined solely in accordance with article, §135-51(c).

Disability retirement benefits.

Computation, §135-60(a).

Converting allowance to service retirement allowance, \$135-60(d).

Medical examination, \$135-60(b). Recovery of beneficiary, \$135-60(c).

Reductions on account of disability beneficiary earnings, §135-60(d).

Restoration as member of retirement system, §135-60(c).

#### Payment.

Beginning of payment, §135-74(c).

Rollover distribution paid directly to eligible retirement plan, §135-74(d).

Post-retirement increases in allowances.

Adjustments, \$135-65(a). Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July

1, 1997, §135-65(s). Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July

1, 1989, §135-65(l). Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1992, §135-65(m), (n).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1994, §135-65(o), (p).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1995, §135-65(q).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2003, §135-65(x).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2006, §135-65(bb).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1998, §135-65(s), (t).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES—Cont'd Consolidated judicial retirement

act —Cont'd

Benefits —Cont'd

Post-retirement increases in allowances —Cont'd

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 1999, §135-65(u).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2000, §135-65(u), (v).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2001, §135-65(v).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2002, §135-65(w).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2003, §135-65(x).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2004, §135-65(y).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2005, §135-65(z).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July 1, 2006, §135-65(aa).

Increases in benefits paid to members retired prior to July 1, 1978, §135-65(b).

Increases in benefits paid to members retired prior to July 1, 1979, §135-65(c).

Increases in benefits paid to members retired prior to July 1, 1982, §135-65(d).

Members retired on or after July 1, 1997, §135-65(r).

Members retired on or after July 1, 2005, §135-65(z).

Members retired on or after July 1, 2006, §135-65(aa), (bb).

Members retired on or after July 1, 2008, §135-65(cc).

Members retired on or after July 1, 2012, §135-65(dd).

Members retired on or after July 1, 2014, §135-65(ee).

Members retired on or before July 1, 1983, §135-65(e).

Members retired on or before July 1, 1985, §135-65(f).

Members retired on or before July 1, 1986, §135-65(h).

Members retired on or before July 1, 1987, §135-65(i). Members retired on or before

Members retired on or before  $July 1, 1988, \S135-65(j)$ .

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

## Consolidated judicial retirement act —Cont'd

Benefits -Cont'd

Post-retirement increases in allowances —Cont'd

Members retired on or before July 1, 2016, §135-65(gg).

Members retired on or before September 1, 2016, §135-65(ff).

Members retired on or before September 1, 2018, §135-65(hh).

Members retired prior to July 1, 1982, §135-65(d).

Persons on retirement rolls as of June 1, 1990, §135-65(k).

Previous system members, §135-58(c).

Reduction.

Internal Revenue Code compliance, §135-74(b).

Service retirement benefits, §135-58(a), (b).

Fiftieth birthday retirement, §135-58(a1), (a2).

Previous system members, §135-58(c).

Payment from assets of retirement system, §135-58(d).

Sixty-fifth birthday or 24 years of creditable service, §135-58(a6).

Severance pay, effect of receipt, §135-58(f).

Surviving spouses of former judges, \$135-63(d).

Citation, §135-50(a).

Compensation.

Defined, §135-53.

Limitation on compensation used to compute, §135-74(a).

Compliance with internal revenue code, §135-74.

Contributions.

Held in trust, §135-54.

Member of contributions.

Payroll deduction, §135-68(a), (b).

State contributions, §135-69(a). Accrued liability contributions,

§135-69(c). Rate, §135-69(e).

Normal contribution, §135-69(b).

Rate, §135-69(e). Sufficiency, §135-69(f).

Unfunded accrued liability, \$135-69(d).

Corporate name, §135-54.

#### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd EMPLOYEES —Cont'd Consolidated judicial retirement Consolidated judicial retirement act —Cont'd act -Cont'd Creditable service. Definitions. Defined, §135-53. Accumulated contributions, Director of indigent defense §135-53. Actuarial equivalent, §135-53. services. Transfer of membership from Beneficiary, §135-53. retirement system for Board of trustees, §135-53. teachers and state Clerk of superior court, §135-53. employees, §135-56(i). Compensation, §135-53. Forfeiture of eligibility for Creditable service, §135-53. conviction of certain offenses, Director of indigent defense §135-56(j). services, §135-53. District attorneys, §135-53. Government service, purchase authorized, §135-56.5(a). Filing, §135-53. Leaves of absence, purchase Final compensation, §135-53. authorized, §135-56.5(a). Interest. Omitted membership service, Regular interest, §135-53. §135-56.5(b). Judge, §135-53. Medical board, §135-53. Purchase of service. Plan-to-plan transfers, Member, §135-53. §135-56.5(d). Membership service, §135-53. Rollover contributions from Previous system, §135-53. certain other plans, Prior service, §135-53. §135-56.5(c). Regular interest, §135-53. Year, §135-53. Reciprocity with other state-administered retirement Director of indigent defense services. Creditable service. systems. Counting service twice for same Transfer of membership from period of time. retirement system for Prohibited, §135-56.01(c). teachers and state Former member who forfeited employees, §135-56(i). creditable service, Defined, §135-53. §135-56.01(b). Disability retirement. Application to be filed, §135-59(a). Generally, §135-56.01(a). Return to membership of retired Benefits, §135-60. former member, §135-71(b). Certification required, §135-59(a). School service, purchase Surviving spouses. authorized, §135-56.5(a). Monthly allowance, §135-59(b). Teachers' and state employees' Discontinuance of contributions. retirement system transferees, Effect, §135-73. §135-56(f). Election of optional allowance, Temporary service, purchase §135-61. authorized, §135-56.5(a). Employees' associations. Transfer of contributions from Deductions for payments to, other systems, §135-56.2. §135-75(a). Establishment, §135-54. Transfer to system, §135-56(c). Local governmental employees' Date of establishment, §135-54. retirement system transferees, §135-56(f). Defined, §135-53. Verification of judge's prior service, Final compensation. §135-56(a). Defined, §135-53. Withdrawn service, purchase Forfeiture of benefits and creditable authorized, §135-56.5(a). service for certain convictions, Custodian of assets, §135-66. §135-56(g), (i). Felonies, §135-75.1. Date of establishment, §135-54. Death before retirement. Public defenders, §135-56(h). Benefits, §135-63. Death benefits. Annuity savings fund. Death after retirement, §135-64(a) Assets of retirement system,

to (k).

§135-67.

#### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd EMPLOYEES —Cont'd Consolidated judicial retirement Consolidated judicial retirement act -Cont'd act —Cont'd Funds -Cont'd Post-retirement increases in Custodian of assets, §135-66. allowances -Cont'd Beneficiaries whose retirement Pension accumulation fund. commenced on or before July Assets of retirement system, §135-67. 1, 1998, §135-65(t). Health plan. Beneficiaries whose retirement Deductions for payments to, commenced on or before July 1, 1999, §135-65(u). §135-75(b). Improper receipt of decedent's Beneficiaries whose retirement retirement allowance, §135-75.2. commenced on or before July Interest. 1, 2000, §135-65(u), (v). Regular interest. Beneficiaries whose retirement Defined, §135-53. commenced on or before July Investment of funds, §135-66. 1, 2005, §135-65(z). Beneficiaries whose retirement Defined, §135-53. commenced on or before July 1, 2006, §135-65(aa), (bb). Medical board. Defined, §135-53. Members retired on or after July 1, 1997, §135-65(r). Medical examinations. Disability retirement benefits, Members retired on or after July 1, §135-60(b). 2008, §135-65(cc). Members. Members retired on or after July 1, Defined, §135-53. 2012, §135-65(dd). Membership. Members retired on or after July 1, Cessation of membership, 2014, §135-65(ee). Members retired on or before July §135-55(b). Composition, §135-55(a). 1, 1983, §135-65(e). Return to membership of retired Members retired on or before July former member, §135-71. 1, 1986, §135-65(g), (h). Membership service. Members retired on or before July Defined, §135-53. 1, 1987, §135-65(i). Members retired on or before July Military service. In service, participant deemed. 1, 1988, §135-65(j). Participant's employment Members retired on or before July interrupted by service in 1, 2016, §135-65(gg). uniformed services, Members retired on or before §135-63(e). September 1, 2016, §135-65(ff). Name, §135-54. Members retired on or before Optional allowance. September 1, 2018, Election of allowance, §135-61. §135-65(hh). Post-retirement increases in Members retired prior to July 1, allowances. 1978, §135-65(b). Adjustments, §135-65(a). Members retired prior to July 1, Beneficiaries whose retirement 1979, §135-65(c). commenced on or before July Persons on retirement rolls as of 1, 1989, §135-65(l). June 1, 1990, §135-65(k). Beneficiaries whose retirement Previous system. commenced on or before July Defined, §135-53. Service retirement benefits, 1, 1992, §135-65(m), (n). Beneficiaries whose retirement §135-58(c), (d). commenced on or before July Prior service.

1, 1994, §135-65(o), (p).

Beneficiaries whose retirement commenced on or before July

Beneficiaries whose retirement

commenced on or before July

1, 1995, §135-65(q).

1, 1997, §135-65(s).

Creditable service.

Defined, §135-53.

§135-52(a).

Verification of judge's prior

service, §135-56(a).

Purpose of article, §135-50(b).

References in Article 1 of chapter,

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

## Consolidated judicial retirement

act —Cont'd Regular interest.

Defined, §135-53.

Return to membership of retired former member.

Cessation of retirement allowance, §135-71(a).

Creditable service, §135-71(b).

Return to membership service.

Retirement allowance.

Compensation received as emergency justice or judge unaffected, §135-71(c).

Transfer, criteria for transfer, §135-71(d).

Rollover distribution, §135-74(d).

Scope of article, §135-51(a). Supplemental provisions, §135-51(b).

Service retirement.

Application to be executed and filed, §135-57(a).

Automatic retirement, §135-57(b). Benefits, §135-58.

Fiftieth birthday retirement, §135-57(a), (d).

Withdrawal of accumulated contributions, §135-58(c).

Sixty-fifth birthday or 24 years of creditable service, §135-58(a6).

Severance pay, effect of receipt, §135-58(f).

Short title, §135-50(a).

State treasurer to be custodian of assets, §135-66.

Supplemental retirement income act, §§135-90 to 135-97.

See SUPPLEMENTAL

RETIREMENT INCOME ACT.

Teacher and state employees retirement system.

Transfer of members to system.

Retirement income plan, transfer of contributions, §135-70.1(c).

Termination or partial termination of system.

Effect, §135-73.

Transfer of members to another system.

Administration of provisions, §135-70(c).

Application filed for benefits under more than one system, §135-70(b).

Duplication of service credits, §135-70(c).

Election of rights and remedies, §135-70(a).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Consolidated judicial retirement act —Cont'd

Year.

Defined, §135-53.

## Consolidated judicial retirement system.

Internal Revenue Code.

Compliance with code, §135-74(a).

Transfer of members from another system.

City and county retirement system, §§128-34(d), 135-70.1.

Social security, §§135-28.1(f), 135-70.1.

#### Consumer price index.

Post-retirement increases in allowances, §135-5(o).

Years 1975 and 1976 increase in allowance, §135-5(v).

#### Contracts.

Optional retirement program for University of North Carolina.

Designation and approval of contracts, §135-5.1(d).

Underwriting program by purchase of annuity contracts, §135-5.1(a).

#### Contributions.

Anti-pension-spiking

contribution-based benefit cap.

Amount of contribution needed to avoid, §135-4(jj).

Benefit cap based on contributions. Impact of felony forfeiture, §135-8(f1).

Pension spiking report, §135-8(j). Pick up of employee contributions,

\$135-8(b1).

Qualified excess benefit arrangement. Funding from employer contributions, §135-151(d).

Transfer of members.

Consolidated judicial retirement system, §135-18.9(a).

Legislative retirement system, §135-18.9(a).

Trust, held in, §135-2.

## Creditable service.

§135-4(e).

Anti-pension-spiking

contribution-based benefit cap.

Amount of contribution needed to avoid, §135-4(jj).

Armed service credit, §135-4(f), (g). Basis of retirement allowance,

Benefits.

Minimum monthly benefit, §135-5(r).

Certificate of prior service, §135-4(e).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES -Cont'd

Creditable service —Cont'd Charter schools.

> Purchase of creditable service for employment in charter school operated by private nonprofit corporation or municipal corporation, §§135-4.5(a), 135-4(cc1).

Computation of creditable service, §135-4(e).

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Return to membership of retired former member, §135-71(b).

Conviction of offense related to office, forfeiture of eligibility for creditable service, §135-4(ii).

Correction of prior service credit, §135-4(d).

Defined, §§135-1, 135-53.

Disability income plan, §135-4(y).

Employment in charter school operated by private nonprofit corporation, §135-4(cc).

Equivalence to one year's service, §135-4(b).

Extended illness.

Credit at full cost for leave due to. §§135-4.5(a), 135-4(z).

Forfeiture of creditable service for certain convictions.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, members, §135-56(g). Public defenders, §135-56(h).

General assembly.

Purchase of creditable service, §135-4(j1).

Law enforcement officers' retirement system.

Withdrawn service purchased on and after January 1, 2022, §135-4(k1).

Leaves of absence, §135-4(h).

Extended illness.

Credit at full cost for leave due to, §135-4(z).

Maternity leave.

Credit at full cost for, §135-4.5(a).

Purchase of service credits, §135-4(r).

Maternity leave, §135-4(aa).

Credit at full cost for, §135-4.5(a).

Modification or correction of prior service credit, §135-4(d).

Omitted membership service, §135-4(v).

One year's service equivalent, §135-4(b).

Part-time service credit, §§135-4.5(a), 135-4(p2).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Creditable service —Cont'd

Prior service certificate, §135-4(e).

Prior service credit.

Modification or correction of credit, §135-4(d).

Purchases of service credits, §135-4(m).

Credit at full cost for temporary state employment, §135-4(s).

On or after January 1, 2022, §135-4(l2).

Periods of employer approved leaves of absence, §135-4(r).

Procedures generally, §135-4.5(a).

Reciprocity with other

state-administered retirement systems.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §135-56.01.

Counting service twice for same period of time.

Prohibited, §135-4.1(c).

Former members who have forfeited creditable service, §135-4.1(b).

Generally, §135-4.1(a).

Members first hired before January 1, 2021, §135-4.1(a).

Members first hired on or after January 1, 2021, §135-4.1(a1).

Repayments of service credits, §135-4(m).

Sick leave.

Computation of creditable service, §135-4(e).

Extended illness.

Credit at full cost for leave due to, §135-4(z).

Temporary state employment. Credit at full cost, §§135-4.5(a), 135-4(s).

Credit for prior employment,  $\S135-4(p)$ .

Transfer of members.

Consolidated judicial retirement system, §135-18.9(a).

Law enforcement officers

retirement system, §135-4(e1). Legislative retirement system,

§135-18.9(a).

Transfers to system, §135-4.5(a). University of North Carolina, participation in optional retirement program, §§135-4.5(a), 135-4(hh).

Date of establishment, §135-2. Death.

Benefit plan, §135-5(1). Reciprocity, §135-5(11).

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES -Cont'd

Death -Cont'd

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Benefits on death before retirement, §135-63.

Survivor's alternate benefit, §135-5(m).

#### Death benefits.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Death after retirement, §135-64(a)

Effect of board vote related to contributory death benefit. §135-6(e1).

Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §135-18.11.

## Deduction for payments.

Employees' associations, §135-18.8(a). State health plan, §135-18.8(b).

## Definitions, §135-1.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §135-53.

Uniform judicial retirement act, §135-53.

#### Department of health and human services.

Blind or visually handicapped employees.

Enrollment in system, §135-16.1.

## Disability.

Allowance on disability retirement. Applicable provisions, §135-5(j). July 1, 1959, but prior to July 1,

1963 retirements, §135-5(d). July 1, 1963, but prior to July 1,

1969 retirements, §135-5(d1). July 1, 1969, but prior to July 1,

1971 retirements, §135-5(d2). July 1, 1982, but prior to January

1, 1988 retirements, §135-5(d4).

On or after July 1, 1971 retirements, §135-5(d3).

Reexamination of beneficiaries retired for disability, §135-5(e).

## Benefits.

Disability retirement benefits. Members leaving service prior to January 1, 1988, §135-5(c).

Increases in benefits to those persons who were retired prior to July 1, 1971, §135-5(s), (x).

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-59, 135-60.

Increase in benefits.

Those persons who were receiving benefits prior to July 1, 1967, §135-5(k).

Reexamination of beneficiaries retired for disability, §135-5(e).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

#### Disability income plan.

Consolidated judicial retirement system.

Reciprocity of membership service, §135-114.

General provisions, §§135-100 to 135-114.

See DISABILITY INCOME PLAN.

Legislative retirement system.

Reciprocity of membership service, §135-114.

## Discontinuance of contributions.

Effect, §135-18.6.

## Domestic relations order dividing person's interest under system.

Application for removal from system, §135-9(a).

## Earnable compensation.

Defined, §135-1.

#### East Carolina University school of medicine or school of dental medicine.

Employment on or after January 1,

Contributing member to system prior to hire date, §135-5.7(f).

## Election of rights and remedies.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Optional allowance election, §135-61.

Transfer of members to another system, §135-70.

#### Employee defined, exceptions, §135-1.

#### Employees' associations.

Deduction for payments to certain employees' associations, §135-18.8(a).

#### Employer defined, §135-1. Establishment.

Date of establishment, §135-2.

#### Examinations.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Disability retirement benefits. Medical examination required, §135-60(b).

## Executions.

Exemption from execution, §135-9(a).

## Federal service on loan basis.

Membership during, §135-3.

## Financing.

Method of financing, §135-8.

## Firefighters' and rescue squad

workers' pension fund, §§58-86-1 to 58-86-101.

See FIREFIGHTERS' AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS' PENSION FUND.

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

#### Fraud.

Investigations, §135-6(q).

Identity of person furnishing information to be kept confidential, §135-6(s).

Reports and work papers, \$135-6(r).

Protection against fraud, §135-10.

#### Funds.

#### Actuary.

Annual valuation of assets and liabilities of funds of system, §135-6(o).

Annuity reserve fund.

Merger with pension reserve fund into pension accumulation fund, §135-8(g).

Annuity savings fund, §135-8(b). Local governmental employees'

retirement system.
Transfer of credits, §135-18.1(b).

Assets of retirement system credited, \$135-8(a).

Ceasing participation.

Procedure and payments. Charter school, §135-5.3(f).

Collection of contributions, §135-8(f). Consolidated judicial retirement act.

Assets of retirement system, §135-67.

Management of funds, §135-66.

Contributions.

Collection of contributions, §135-8(f).

Crediting assets of retirement system, §135-8(a).

Management of funds.

Conflicts of interest.

Personal profit or acting as surety prohibited, §135-7(e).

Custodian of funds, §135-7(c).

Deposits to meet disbursements, §135-7(d).

Disbursements, §135-7(c).

Deposits to meet disbursements, §135-7(d).

Interest.

Regular interest allowance, §135-7(b).

Personal profit or acting as surety prohibited, §135-7(e).

Vested in board of trustees, §135-7(a).

Merger of annuity reserve fund and pension reserve fund into pension accumulation fund, §135-8(g).

North Carolina teachers' and state employees' benefit trust, created as master trust fund, §135-7(g).

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

#### Funds —Cont'd

Pension accumulation fund, §135-8(d).

Merger of annuity reserve fund and pension reserve fund, §135-8(g).

Pension reserve fund.

Merger with annuity reserve fund into pension accumulation fund, §135-8(g).

Retiree health benefit fund, §135-7(f).

#### Garnishment.

Exemption from garnishment, §135-9(a).

#### General assembly.

Reservation of power to change, §135-18.4.

#### Health insurance.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

#### Health plan coverage.

Deduction for payments to state health plan, §135-18.8(b).

#### High-need retired teacher.

Post-retirement earnings, computation, §135-3.

#### Human resources department.

Blind or visually handicapped employees.

Enrollment in system, §135-16.1.

Immunity of board of trustees, \$135-6(t).

Immunity of medical board, §135-6(k).

Improper receipt of decedent's retirement allowance, §135-18.11.

## Inactive employers.

Application for extension of inactive period, §135-5.5(d).

Failure to extend while not reporting eligible employees, effect, §135-5.5(f).

Time for action on, §135-5.5(e).

Criteria for inactive status, §135-5.5(a).

Failure to report qualifying employees, when considered inactive, §135-5.5(c).

Non-resumption of reporting and non-extension of status, effect, §135-5.5(f).

Notice of employers reported as inactive, §135-5.5(d).

Report of inactive employers for preceding year, §135-5.5(b).

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

#### Interest.

Consolidated judicial retirement act.
Assets of retirement system.
Regular interest allowance,
§135-67(e).

Definition of regular interest, §§135-1, 135-53.

Management of funds.

Regular interest allowance, §135-7(b).

Regular interest.

Defined, §135-1.

Management of funds, §135-7(b).

## Internal Revenue Code.

Compliance, §135-18.7(a).

Consolidated judicial retirement system.

Compliance with code, §135-74. Rules and regulations.

Compliance with code, §135-74.

#### Investigations.

Actuary to make investigations, §135-6(m), (n).

Compliance investigations, §135-6(r). Fraud investigations, §135-6(q).

Identity of person furnishing information to be kept confidential, §135-6(s).

Reports and work papers, \$135-6(r).

#### Investments.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. State treasurer to invest assets of system, §135-66.

#### Judges.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75. See within this heading, "Consolidated judicial retirement act."

## Law enforcement officer.

Defined, §135-1.

Special retirement allowance, §135-5(m1).

## Leaves of absence.

Creditable service, §135-4(h).

Extended illness.

Credit at full cost for leave due to, §§135-4.5(a), 135-4(z).

Maternity leave.

Credit at full cost for, §135-4.5(a).

## **Legal counsel, designation,** §135-6(u).

Legislative actuarial note act. Generally, §120-114.

## Legislative enactment

## implementation arrangement (LEIA).

Administrative implementation of legislative changes to provisions, §135-7(h).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

### Legislative retirement system.

Board of trustees.

Administration of system, §\$120-4.9, 120-4.10.

## Licensing and examining boards.

Election to have employees covered, §135-1.1.

Membership of employees, §135-1.1(a), (b).

## Limitation of action.

Deficiency in payment of benefits.
Action commenced by retiree or
beneficiary, §135-5(n).

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Transfer of credits, \$135-18.1(a).

Annuity savings fund, \$135-18.1(b).

Certifying periods of membership service credit, prior service credit, etc., \$135-18.1(c).

Rules and regulations, §135-18.1(d).

Transfer of members, §128-34.

#### Maternity leave.

Creditable service.

Credit at full cost for, §135-4.5(a).

#### Medical board.

Definition of medical board, §§135-1, 135-53.

Designation by board of trustees, §135-6(k).

Immunity, §135-6(k).

## Member files held by retirement system, §135-6.1.

#### Membership.

Cessation to be member, §135-3. Composition of membership, §135-3. Consolidated judicial retirement act, §135-55.

Defined, §135-53.

Federal service on loan basis, §135-3. Former members.

Restoration to service of certain former members, §135-5(i).

Separation from service prior to attaining age of 60 years, §135-3.

When membership begins, §135-3.

## Membership service.

Defined, §135-1.

## Military affairs.

Creditable service.

Armed service credit, §135-4(f), (g).

## Misdemeanors.

Confidentiality of certain information concerning members.

Violations of provisions, §135-6(p).

### Name, §135-2.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §135-54.

### RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

## National guard.

Creditable service.

Armed service credit, §135-4(f).

#### Nursing instructors.

Reemployment of beneficiary by community college or University of North Carolina, §135-3.

#### Oaths.

Board of trustees, §135-6(d).

## Occupational licensing boards.

Credit.

Modification or correction of credit, §135-4(d).

## Optional retirement programs.

University of North Carolina, §135-5.1.

## Overpayment or erroneous payment to member.

Alternative judicial remedies not barred, §135-9(d).

Offset against allowance or return of contributions, §135-9(b).

Offset against net wages, §135-9(c), (c1).

#### Penalties.

Confidentiality of certain information concerning members.

Violations of provisions, §135-6(p).

## Pensions.

Application of other pension laws, \$135-11.

Consolidated judicial retirement act.
Assets of retirement system.
Pension accumulation fund,

nsion accumulation fo

Definitions, §135-1.

Fund.

Pension accumulation fund, §135-8(d).

Pension reserve fund.

Merger with annuity reserve fund into pension accumulation fund, §135-8(g).

### Pension spiking report, \$135-8(j). Pick up of employee contributions, \$135-8(b1).

Previous system.

Defined, §135-53.

#### Prior service.

Defined, §§135-1, 135-53.

## Profession, trade or occupation examination and licensing boards or agencies.

Election to have employees covered, §135-1.1.

## Qualified excess benefit arrangement.

Administrative duties of board, §135-151(g).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

#### Qualified excess benefit

arrangement —Cont'd

Claims of creditors against assets, §135-151(f).

Definitions, §135-150.

Eligibility to participate, §135-151(b). Sunset provisions, §135-151(j).

Established, §135-151(a).

Exemption of benefit from execution or assignment, §135-151(h).

Funding from employer

contributions, §135-151(d).

Managed by board of trustees, §135-151(a).

Modification, reservation of right regarding, §135-151(i).

Purpose, §135-151(a).

Reimbursement to QEBA by

employer of supplemental benefit payment to payee, §135-151(d1).

Supplemental benefit payable, §135-151(c).

Unused assets, §135-151(e).

#### Records.

Board of trustees to keep records of proceedings, §135-6(i).

## Reemployment of retiree.

Suspension and reinstatement of retirement allowance, §135-3.

## Reinstatement of suspended retirement allowance.

Reemployment of retiree, §135-3.

### Reports.

Board of trustees, §135-6(i). Disability income plan.

Reports of earnings, §135-109.

## Reservation of power to change, §135-18.4.

#### Reserves.

Obligation of maintaining reserves and paying benefits, §135-12.

Retiree health benefit fund, §135-7(f).

## Retirement files of members held by system, §135-6.1.

#### Rollover distribution.

Payment to plan, §135-18.7(d).

## Rules and regulations.

Board of trustees to establish rules and regulations, §135-6(f).

Disability income plan, §135-102(c). Local governmental employees'

retirement system.

Transfer of credits, §135-18.1(d). Transfer of members.

Consolidated judicial retirement system, §135-18.9(b).

Legislative retirement system, §135-18.9(b).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES -Cont'd

#### Salaries.

Board of trustees, §135-6(g).

Separation from service prior to attaining age of 60 years, §135-3.

#### Service.

Creditable service.

Defined, §135-1.

Generally, §135-4.

Defined, §135-1.

Prior service.

Defined, §135-1.

#### Sick leave.

Creditable service.

Computation of creditable service, §135-4(e).

Extended illness.

Credit at full cost for leave due to, §135-4(z).

#### Social security.

Associations.

Transfers from state to certain association service, §135-27(d).

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act, §§135-19 to 135-31. See SOCIAL SECURITY.

Definition of social security breakpoint, §135-1.

## Social security breakpoint.

Defined, §135-1.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

#### State of North Carolina.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Contributions by the state, §135-69.

#### State treasurer.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Custodian of assets of retirement system, §135-66.

Disability income plan, §§135-100 to 135-114.

## See DISABILITY INCOME PLAN.

Supplemental board of trustees. Administration of provisions of act,

§135-91(a). Designation of employee to act at

meetings. Ex officio members, §135-96(d).

Established, §135-96(a).

Members, §135-96(b).

Service at governor's pleasure, §135-96(d).

Terms, §135-96(c).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

## Supplemental retirement income

act, §§135-90 to 135-97. See SUPPLEMENTAL

RETIREMENT INCOME ACT.

#### Suretyship.

Management of funds.

Personal profit or acting as surety prohibited, §135-7(e).

## Suspension of retirement

allowance.

Reemployment of retiree, §135-3.

#### Taxation.

Board of trustees.

Property of board exempt from tax, §135-6(a).

### Teacher defined, exceptions, §135-1. Termination or partial termination of system.

Effect, §135-18.6.

## Transfer of members.

Consolidated judicial retirement system, §135-18.9(a).

Legislative retirement system, §135-18.9(a).

Local governmental employees' retirement system, §128-34(b). Consolidated judicial retirement

system, §§128-34(d), 135-70.1.

Social security.

Consolidated judicial retirement system, §§135-28.1(f), 135-70.1.

### Uniform and nondiscriminatory interpretation of article,

§135-94(b).

## University of North Carolina.

Optional retirement program, §135-5.1.

Administration of program, §135-5.1(e).

Adoption, §135-5.1(a).

Annuity contracts.

Program underwritten by purchase of contracts, §135-5.1(a).

Benefits payable, §135-5.1(g). Contracts.

Annuity contracts.

Underwriting program by purchase of annuity contracts, §135-5.1(a).

Designation and approval of contracts, §135-5.1(d).

Contributions of employer, §135-5.1(c).

Elections to participate in program, §135-5.1(b).

Employer contributions, §135-5.1(c).

Ineligibility for membership in retirement system, §135-5.1(f).

## RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

## University of North Carolina

–Cont'd

Optional retirement program

-Cont'd

Participation in optional retirement program, §135-5.1(f).

Payment of benefits, §135-5.1(g). Underwritten by purchase of annuity contracts, §135-5.1(a).

#### University of North Carolina health care system.

Employment on or after January 1,

Contributing member of system prior to date of hire, §135-5.6(e).

Law enforcement officers, exclusion from provisions, §135-5.6(f).

#### Veterans.

Creditable service.

Armed service credit, §135-4(f), (g).

Defined, §§135-1, 135-53.

 $\mathbf{S}$ 

#### SALARIES.

### Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Board of trustees, §128-28(d). Officers and other employees, §128-28(h).

Retirement system for teachers and state employees. Board of trustees, §135-6(g).

#### SCHOOL EMPLOYEES.

Annuity contracts, §115C-341. Health insurance.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

## North Carolina public school teachers' and professional educators' investment plan.

Discontinuation of plan, effect, §115C-341.2(d).

## Salaries.

Section 403(b) plan options by way of salary reduction, §115C-341.2.

## SICK LEAVE.

### Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Allowances for services, §128-26(e).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Creditable service.

Computation of creditable service, §135-4(e).

#### SICK LEAVE —Cont'd

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees -Cont'd

Creditable service —Cont'd Extended illness, §§135-4.5(a), 135-4(z).

## SOCIAL SECURITY, §§135-19 to 135-31.

## Agreement extending benefits of federal old age and survivors insurance system to state employees, §135-21(a).

Contribution fund payments, §135-24(c).

Interstate instrumentalities, §135-21(b).

Studies, §135-26.

#### Associations.

Transfers from state to certain association service.

Contributions by association, §135-27(c).

Election of rights and remedies, §135-27(a).

Entitlements to rights and benefits, §135-27(b).

Teachers and state employees' retirement system membership, §135-27(d).

#### Contribution fund.

Agreement extending benefits of federal old age and survivors insurance system to state employees, §135-24(c).

Appropriations, §135-24(e). Charges or assessments, §135-24(f).

Composition of fund, §135-24(a). Custodian of fund, §135-24(d).

Deposits, §135-24(a).

Established, §135-24(a).

Ex officio treasurer, §135-24(d).

Federal-state agreements, §135-24(c). Political subdivisions.

Plans for coverage of employees, §135-23(c), (d).

Separate and apart from other funds

or moneys, §135-24(b). Withdrawals from fund, §135-24(b).

#### Contributions by state employees, §135-22(a).

Adjustments, §135-22(c).

Deduction from wages, §135-22(b). Refunds, §135-22(c).

Declaration of policy, §135-19.

Definitions, §135-20.

Employee.

Defined, §135-20.

#### Employment.

Defined, §135-20.

## Federal insurance contributions

Defined, §135-20.

## SOCIAL SECURITY -Cont'd Federal-state agreement, §135-21(a).

Contribution fund agreements, §135-24(c).

Interstate instrumentalities, §135-21(b).

Studies, §135-26.

### Law enforcement officers benefit and retirement fund.

State employees members of fund, §135-30.

### Legislative declarations, §135-19. Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Transfer of members to employment covered by retirement system, §135-28.

## Policy declaration, §135-19. Political subdivision.

Defined, §135-20.

Plans for coverage of employees.

Approval of plan, §135-23(a). Contribution fund payments, §135-23(c).

Delinquent payments, §135-23(d).

Hearing, §135-23(b).

Notice and opportunity for hearing, §135-23(b).

Payments into contribution fund, §135-23(c).

Delinquent payments, §135-23(d).

Studies of plans, §135-26. Submission of plan, §135-23(a).

### **Referendum,** §135-29(a). Certification, §135-29(b).

Split referendums, §135-31.

#### Reports.

Administration and operation of article to be reported, §135-26.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Definition of social security breakpoint, §135-1.

Rules and regulations, §135-25. Secretary of health, education and welfare.

Defined, §135-20.

Single retirement systems constituted, §135-21(c).

Social security act.

Defined, §135-20. State agency.

Defined, §135-20.

### Studies.

Operation of agreements made and plans approved under article, §135-26.

Problems of insurance protection, §135-26.

### Transfer of members.

Association service, §135-27.

## SOCIAL SECURITY -Cont'd

Transfer of members —Cont'd Consolidated judicial retirement system, §§135-28.1(f), 135-70.1.

Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Election of rights and remedies, §135-28(a).

Retention of rights, credits and benefits, §135-28(b).

Waiver of provisions, §135-28(c).

State employees credit union, §135-27(e).

Uniform judicial retirement system. Accumulated contributions, §135-28.1(b).

Administration of provisions, §135-28.1(d).

Disability retirement, §135-28.1(e). Duplication of service credits or benefits, §135-28.1(d).

Election of rights and remedies, §135-28.1(a).

Eligibility for benefits under both systems, §135-28.1(c).

## Wages.

Contributions by state employees. Deduction from wages, §135-22(b). Defined, §135-20.

#### SOCIAL SERVICES.

#### Local governmental employees' retirement system.

County social services department. Membership of employees, §128-37.1.

#### STATE AUDITOR.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Oversight of state auditor, §135-48.28.

#### STATE DEPARTMENTS AND AGENCIES.

#### Health insurance.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Generally.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

## Public employee deferred compensation plan.

Board of trustees, §143B-426.24.

Retirement system for teachers and state employees, §§135-1 to 135-114.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

#### STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

## Abortions.

Coverage mandate, §135-48.50.

## STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Administrative review, §135-48.24(a).

## Adopted child.

Coverage, §135-48.42(b). Effective date of coverage, §135-48.43(c).

#### Ambulance services.

Payments for county or city services, §135-48.57.

#### Amendment or repeal.

Right reserved in general assembly, §135-48.3.

Auditing plan, §135-48.28. Benefit period defined, §135-48.1. Benefits defined, §135-48.1. Board of trustees.

Appointments, §135-48.20(e) to (j). Benefit programs, approval, power, §135-48.22.

Director of office of management and budget, ex officio member, \$135-48.20(d).

Established, §135-48.20(a). Immunity from liability, §135-48.20(n).

Majority vote.

Decisions made by, §135-48.21(b).

Meetings, §135-48.21(c).

Members, §135-48.20(b). Officers, §135-48.21(a).

Per diem, travel expenses, §135-48.20(1).

Powers and duties, §135-48.22. Premium rates, co-pays, deductibles. Approval, power, §135-48.22.

Quorum, §135-48.21(b).

Removal of members, §135-48.20(k). Reports to the general assembly, §135-48.27.

Rules, §135-48.25.

State treasurer, ex officio members, §135-48.20(c).

Terms, §135-48.20(e) to (h). Limit, §135-48.20(m).

Vacancies, §135-48.20(e) to (h).

#### Categories of coverage available, §135-48.43(d).

Cessation of coverage, \$135-48.44(a).
Continued coverage, \$135-48.44(h).
Dependent child, \$135-48.44(b).
Termination of employment,
\$135-48.44(d).

Changing categories of coverage, §135-48.43(c).

### STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

#### Charter schools.

Election on whether to become participating employer. School operated by private nonprofit corporation or municipal corporation. Election to participate. Notice of election made, §135-48.54(b).

School operated by private

nonprofit corporations. Election to participate.

Notice of intent to make election, §135-48.54(b1).

Time for making, §135-48.54(b).

Ineligibility of employees and dependents.

School not electing to become participating employer, §135-48.54(d).

Irrevocable election, §135-48.54(c).

Notice to employees as to election, §135-48.54(e).

## Child born to covered employee.

Date of birth.

Effective date of coverage for newborns, §135-48.43(c).

## Choice of services, §135-48.51. Claims processor.

Contracts to provide benefits, §135-48.32.

Defined, §135-48.1.

## Clerical, professional staff, other assistance.

Employment, §135-48.23(c1).

# Committee of actuarial valuation of retired employees' health benefits.

Actuarial valuation of retired employees' health benefits, §135-48.12(g).

Duties, §135-48.12(a), (e). Established, §135-48.12(a). Englished, §135-48.12(a).

Funding policy, §135-48.12(i). Members, §135-48.12(b).

Quorum, §135-48.12(c).

Record of proceedings, public inspection, §135-48.12(h).

Technical advisor, §135-48.12(f). Voting, §135-48.12(d).

Comprehensive health benefit plan. Defined, §135-48.1.

## STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

 $\pmb{EMPLOYEES} \mathbin{-\!\!-\!\!} Cont'd$ 

Confidentiality of information, exceptions, §135-48.10(a).

Conflict with federal law, §135-48.4. Continuation of coverage under plan.

Covered service excluded from coverage, §135-48.50.

Divorced spouse and eligible dependent children, \$135-48.44(e).

Election required, §135-48.44(g). Events causing cessation of continued

coverage, \$135-48.44(h).

Medicare, employee eligible for.

Spouse and eligible dependent,

\$135-48.44(i).

Notice requirements, \$135-48.44(i). Separated spouse, \$135-48.44(f). Termination of employment.

Time period, §135-48.44(d).

Continuity of care, §135-48.51.

Continuous hospital confinement.

Commenced prior to effective date of plan.

Charges not covered, §135-48.52.

Contract between plan and third party administrator or pharmacy benefit manager.

Public record, §135-48.10(b).

## Contract disputes between plan and contracted entity.

Not contested case under administrative procedure act, \$135-48.35.

Contract not subject to article 3 of chapter 143 of general statutes, §135-48.34.

Contracts for supplies, materials, printing, equipment, services.

Audit of contractor's records.

Standard provision, §135-48.33(b).

Review by attorney general, §135-48.33(b).

Contracts in excess of \$500,000. Approval by board, §135-48.33(a).

Contracts to provide benefits, §135-48.32.

Conversion to nongroup coverage.

Cessation of group coverage or eligibility for group coverage. Administration of conversion coverage, §135-48.45(a). Application by employee or dependent, time requirement

dependent, time requirement, \$135-48.45(a).

Approval of conversion coverage. Executive administrator and board, §135-48.45(a). Benefits included in converted

Benefits included in converted coverage, §135-48.45(a).

## STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

## Conversion to nongroup coverage —Cont'd

Cessation of group coverage or eligibility for group coverage —Cont'd

Continued coverage under predecessor plan on contributory basis, §135-48.45(b).

Employee or dependent entitled to conversion, §135-48.45(a).

#### Cosmetic surgery or treatment.

Coverage mandate, §135-48.50.

Coverage mandates, §135-48.50.

Chapter 58 of general statutes, §135-48.51.

Limitations and exclusions, §135-48.52.

## Covered service.

Defined, §135-48.1.

Deductible.

Defined, §135-48.1.

**Definitions**, §135-48.1.

## Dependent child.

Čessation of coverage, §135-48.44(b). Surviving dependent child, §135-48.44(c).

Coverage, §135-48.41(b), (g).

Defined, §135-48.1.

Documentation from member confirming eligibility.

Plan may require, §135-48.1. Providing when enrolling

dependent, §135-48.42(d). Enrolled at any time.

Dependent younger than age 19, §135-48.42(c).

Newly acquired dependent.

Enrollment, §135-48.42(b). Physically and mentally

'hysically and ment incapacitated.

Extension of coverage beyond 26th birthday, §135-48.41(b).

Stepchild.

Eligibility as dependent child, \$135-48.1.

#### Dependents.

Change during plan year, qualifying event required, §135-48.42(e).

Coverage, §135-48.41(c).

Defined, §135-48.1.

Documentation to verify dependent's eligibility.

Providing when enrolling dependent, §135-48.42(d).

Effective dates of coverage, §135-48.43(c).

Events qualifying for coverage, §135-48.42(b).

## STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

**Dependents** —Cont'd

Newly acquired dependent. Enrollment, §135-48.42(b).

Direct bill members, reporting coverage, §135-48.49.

## Disability retirement eligibility.

Former employees receiving disability retirement benefits, \$135-48.41(d).

Disaster, operation during, §135-48.39.

## Divorced spouse and eligible dependent children.

Continuation of coverage, §135-48.44(e).

## Educational presentations conducted by plan staff.

Opportunities for employees to attend, §135-48.56.

#### Effective dates of coverage.

Conflicts with applicable federal law, §135-48.43(f).

Dependents, §135-48.43(c).

Employees and retired employees, §135-48.43(a).

Waiting periods and preexisting conditions, §135-48.43(b).

#### Eligibility to participate.

Dependent child, §135-48.41(b).

Documentation from member confirming eligibility.

Plan may require, §135-48.1.

Dependents, §135-48.41(c).

Documentation verifying eligibility.

Dependent child, §135-48.1.
Providing when enrolling

dependent, \$135-48.42(d). Employees on leave of absence without pay.

Election to continue coverage, \$135-48.41(e).

Leave resulting from illness or injury, §135-48.41(i).

False statements or false

representations of material facts. Ineligibility, exception, §135-48.41(h).

Former employees receiving disability retirement benefits, \$135.48.41(d)

§135-48.41(d). Foster child, §135-48.41(a). Full-time employees, other

contributory coverage, §135-48.40(e).

Fully contributory basis, §135-48.40(d).

Licensing and examining boards, §135-48.41(f).

Local government employees and dependents, §135-48.47.

## STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Eligibility to participate —Cont'd Noncontributory basis, §135-48.40(a).

North Carolina State Art Society, Inc.
Payment to plan of full costs of
providing benefits,

§135-48.41(f).

North Carolina Symphony Society, Inc.

Payment to plan of full costs of providing benefits, §135-48.41(f).

One-half contributory basis, §135-48.40(c).

Partially contributory basis, §135-48.40(b).

Prisoner serving active sentence, ineligibility during incarceration, \$135-48.41(k).

Retiree hired by employing unit, \$135-48.41(j).

Surviving spouse of deceased individual covered under plan, \$135-48.41(g).

## Emergency, operation during, \$135-48.39.

#### Employee and child.

Categories of coverage available, §135-48.43(d).

## Employee and family.

Categories of coverage available, §135-48.43(d).

## Employee and spouse.

Categories of coverage available, §135-48.43(d).

#### Employee only coverage.

Categories of coverage available, §135-48.43(d).

Changing to, notice, §135-48.43(c). **Employee or state employee.** 

## Defined, §135-48.1. Employees on leave of absence

without pay.
Election to continue coverage,

§135-48.41(e). Leave resulting from illness or injury, §135-48.41(i).

#### Employing unit.

Defined, §135-48.1.

#### Enrollment.

Change of elections during plan year. Qualifying event required, §135-48.42(e).

Dependents younger than age 19. Enrolled at any time, §135-48.42(c). Documentation to verify dependent's eligibility.

Providing when enrolling dependent spouse or child, \$135-48.42(d).

### STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Enrollment —Cont'd

Effective date of coverage. New employees, §135-48.42(a). New employees, §135-48.42(a).

Newly acquired dependents, §135-48.42(b).

Exclusions from plan coverage, §135-48.52.

Executive administrator,

§135-48.23(a).

Appointment, §135-48.23(b).

Removal, §135-48.23(b).

Reports and recommendations.

Reports to the general assembly, §135-48.27.

Term of employment and salary, §135-48.23(b).

False statements or false representations of material facts.

Ineligibility, exception, §135-48.41(h).

Family coverage, §135-48.43(c).

Categories of coverage available, §135-48.43(d).

Federal law, conflicts with, §135-48.4.

Fiduciaries for plan, §135-48.2(a). Firefighters, rescue squad workers, national guard.

Definitions, §135-48.1.

Dependent children.

Subject to same terms and conditions as other dependent children, §135-48.1.

Effective dates of coverage, §135-48.43(e).

Enrollment terms and conditions, §135-48.42(b).

Opportunity to participate, §135-48.8. Premium rates.

Separate premium rates set, §135-48.58.

Former employees receiving disability retirement benefits.

Coverage, §135-48.41(d).

Foster child.

Coverage as dependent child, §135-48.41(a).

Fraud detection and audit programs, §135-48.16.

General assembly members.

Effective dates for coverage, §135-48.43(a).

Government laws or regulations.

Exclusion of charges paid in accordance with, §135-48.52.

Group health plans.

Administered by plan, §135-48.2(a).

Hair growth drugs.

Charges not covered, §135-48.52.

### STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

Health benefit reserve fund, §135-48.5.

Health benefits representative. Defined, §135-48.1.

Health benefit trust funds.

Disbursements, §135-48.5(a).

Warrants drawn on state treasury, §135-48.5(b).

Established, §135-48.5(a).

Investments, §135-48.5(a).

Receipts deposited in, \$135-48.5(a).

Transfer of balance of funds, §135-48.5(a).

Hearing aids.

Coverage for, §135-48.51.

Immunizations.

Coverage mandates, §135-48.50.

Insulin.

Coverage mandates, §135-48.50.

Internal revenue code sections 6055 and 6056 reporting.

Direct bill members, §135-48.49.

Licensing and examining boards.

Payment to plan for full cost of providing coverage, §135-48.41(f).

Limitations and exclusions, §135-48.52.

Local government employees and dependents, participation.

Eligibility, §135-48.47(a).

Enrollment limitation, §135-48.47(c). Participation requirements, §135-48.47(b).

Withdrawal from participation, §135-48.47(d).

Lymphedema.

Coverage for diagnosis and treatment, §135-48.51.

Managed care access to specialist care, §135-48.51.

Managed care reporting and disclosure requirements, §135-48.51.

Medical necessity, medically necessary.

Defined, §135-48.1.

Medicaré.

Agreement to secure favorable coordination with benefits provided by Medicare, §135-48.38(d).

Carve out basis.

Plan administered as for Medicare eligible participants, §135-48.38(b).

Continuation of coverage for spouse and dependent.

Employee eligible for Medicare, §135-48.44(j).

## STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES -Cont'd

Medicare —Cont'd

Reduction of covered benefits under plan, §135-48.38(a).

Parts A and B Medicare benefits, §135-48.38(c).

Supplementing benefits, §135-48.38(e).

#### Mental illness, chemical dependency.

Mental health parity, §135-48.50.

Name of plan, §135-48.2(a). Newborns.

Effective date of coverage, §135-48.43(c).

#### New employees.

Effective date of coverage,  $\S135-48.42(a), 135-48.43(a).$ 

Opportunity to enroll or decline enrollment, §135-48.42(a).

Preexisting conditions.

Waiting period, §135-48.42(a).

## Newly acquired dependents.

Enrollment, §135-48.42(b).

#### North Carolina State Art Society, Inc.

Payment to plan for full costs of providing benefits, §135-48.41(f).

## North Carolina Symphony Society,

Payment to plan for full costs of providing benefits, §135-48.41(f).

#### Occupational injuries or diseases.

Charges for care not covered, §135-48.52.

## Operation during state of disaster or emergency.

Deferral of premium or debt payments.

Duration of deferral, §135-48.39(c). Limitation of option to category of members or employing units, §135-48.39(d).

Not considered forgiveness of payment obligation, §135-48.39(e).

Option available to members and employing units, §135-48.39(b).

Definition of state of disaster, §135-48.39(a).

#### Overpayments or erroneous payments to plan members.

Alternative judicial remedies permitted, §135-48.37A(e). Duty to pursue repayment,

§135-48.37A(d).

Forgiveness of amount of owner, prohibition, §135-48.37A(d).

Notice to member of amount owed, §135-48.37A(b).

### STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES -Cont'd

## Overpayments or erroneous payments to plan members -Cont'd

Offset of amount against net wages, §135-48.37A(a).

Recovery of amount directly from employing unit, §135-48.37A(c).

Payment obligations for covered services, §135-48.51.

#### Payroll deductions.

Available for coverage, §135-48.2(b).

#### Pediatricians.

Direct access to, §135-48.51.

Permissive coverage extension, §135-48.50.

### Pharmacy benefit management program.

Contracts with pharmacy benefits manager, §135-48.32 Public record, §135-48.10(b).

## Physical therapists, choice of services, §135-48.51.

## Powers and duties of state treasurer, §135-48.30(a).

Delegation, §135-48.30(b). Powers and privileges of

## **corporation**, §135-48.2(a). Preexisting conditions.

Changing categories of coverage without waiting periods, §135-48.43(c).

Child born to covered employee. Coverage at birth, §135-48.42(a).

Dependent younger than age 19. Enrolled at any time without

waiting period, §135-48.42(c). Newly acquired dependent.

Coverage without waiting period, §135-48.42(b).

Waiting periods, §135-48.43(b). Dependents subject to, §135-48.43(c).

New employees, §135-48.42(a).

#### Prescription drugs.

Access to nonformulary and restricted access prescription drugs, §135-48.51.

#### Presentations by plan staff.

Opportunities for employees to attend, §135-48.56.

#### Prisoner serving active sentence.

Eligibility to participate, §135-48.41(k).

#### Prompt payment of claims, §135-48.51.

Provider directories, §135-48.51. Public employee health benefit fund, §135-48.5.

## STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

## Public purchases and contracts

Contract not subject to article 3 of chapter 143 of general statutes, §135-48.34.

#### Public records.

Confidential information, §135-48.10(a).

Contracts between plan and third party administrator or pharmacy benefit manager, §135-48.10(b).

## Reconstructive breast surgery following mastectomy.

Coverage, §135-48.50

#### Reports to the general assembly, §135-48.27.

#### Retired employees.

Actuarial valuation of health benefits, §135-48.12.

Alternative coverage for retirees, premiums to purchase, §135-48.39A.

#### Right to amend or repeal.

Right reserved in general assembly, §135-48.3.

#### Right to choose services, §135-48.51. Rules.

Adoption, §135-48.25. Whistleblower protections. Rules to further public policy, §135-48.15(a1).

## Separated spouse.

Continuation of coverage under plan, §135-48.44(f).

## Settlement agreements by employing units.

Reinstatement of coverage, limitations, §135-48.46(b). Violation of provisions, agreements void, §135-48.46(c).

Written authorization required, §135-48.46(a).

### Sexual dysfunction.

Charges not covered, §135-48.52.

#### Specialist care.

Access, §135-48.51.

Selection as primary care provider, §135-48.51.

## State auditor.

Oversight, §135-48.28.

#### State human resources system.

Contracts with third parties, §135-48.23(c2).

Exempt positions, designation, §135-48.23(c1).

## Subrogation upon plan members' right to recover from liable third parties.

Damages recovered by plan in excess of claims paid, §135-48.37(b).

## STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE

EMPLOYEES —Cont'd

## Subrogation upon plan members' right to recover from liable third parties —Cont'd

First recovery.

Right of plan, §135-48.37(a).

Lien of plan on amount recovered against third party, §135-48.37(c), (d).

Damages recovered by member against third party, §135-48.37(c1).

Priority of lien held by plan, §135-48.37(e).

Plan precluded from exercising rights, §135-48.37(b).

Recovery by plan directly from plan member, §135-48.37(c).

Right of plan, §135-48.37(a).

### Surviving spouse or dependent child of person covered under plan.

Coverage, §135-48.41(g).

#### Termination of employment.

Continuation of coverage. Time period, §135-48.44(d). Defined, §135-48.44(d).

### Third party administration.

Contracts with plan.

Public record, §135-48.10(b). Undertaking by state, §135-48.2(a).

## Utilization review and internal grievance procedures, §135-48.24(b).

## Waiting periods and preexisting conditions, §135-48.43(b).

## War.

Injuries or sickness due to. Charges for care not covered, §135-48.52.

## Whistleblower protections.

Matters to be reported, §135-48.15(a). Policy of state, §135-48.15(a). Rules to further public policy, §135-48.15(a1).

Retaliation prohibited, §135-48.15(b). Employee relief for violation, §135-48.15(c).

Remedies that may be awarded to employee, §135-48.15(d).

Unrelated unfavorable or disciplinary action against employee, §135-48.15(e).

## STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA. Consolidated judicial retirement

Contributions by the state, §135-69.

## Legislative retirement system.

Contributions by the state, §120-4.20.

## STATE TREASURER.

Disability income plan, §135-102. Custodian of trust fund, §135-110(d).

Firefighters' and rescue workers' pension fund.

Custodian of fund, §58-86-20.

#### Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Management of funds, §128-29(c).

#### Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Consolidated judicial retirement act. Custodian of assets of retirement system, §135-66.

Disability income plan, §135-102.

## Social security.

Contribution fund.

Ex officio treasurer and custodian of fund, §135-24(d).

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Powers and duties, §135-48.30.

## STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Deficiency in payment of benefits. Commencement of action, §128-27(i).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Deficiency in payment of benefits. Action commenced by retiree or beneficiary, §135-5(n).

## SUBROGATION.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Right of plan, §135-48.37.

## SUPERIOR COURT JUDGES.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

## SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT **INCOME ACT,** §§135-90 to

135-97. Administration of article,

#### §135-91(a). Annual additions to member's

account. Maximum additions, §135-93(c).

#### Benefits.

Payment.

When due and payable, §135-94(c). Schedule, §135-94(a).

## Citation of article, §135-90(a). Contributions.

May be made on or after January 1, 1985, §135-94(d).

Reduction in compensation by amount of contribution, §135-93(a).

#### SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT INCOME ACT —Cont'd

Contributions —Cont'd

State or political subdivisions, §135-93(b).

Transfer from other plan, §135-70.1(c).

Administrative cost of plan, §135-91(e).

#### Fees.

Rule to impose or change administrative fees, process, §135-91(c1).

## Fiduciaries.

Fiduciary responsibility, §135-91(d).

#### Garnishment.

Exemption from garnishment, §135-95.

## Income withholding.

Contributions, §135-93.

#### Market-oriented compensation plans.

Authority to establish,  $\S135-91(c2)$ .

**Membership,** §135-92(a).

When membership ceases, §135-92(b).

Name, §135-91(b).

## Payroll deductions.

Contributions, §135-93.

#### Profit.

Defined, §135-90(b).

Purpose of article, §135-90(b).

Reports, §135-91(f), (g).

Short title of article, §135-90(a).

## State law-enforcement officers.

Supplemental retirement income plan, §143-166.30.

## Supplemental board of trustees.

Employment of independent professionals, §135-96(e).

Immunity from liability of members, §135-97.

#### SUPREME COURT.

## Appellate division retirement system.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

#### Justices.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

#### SURVIVING SPOUSES.

## Consolidated judicial retirement

## act.

Death benefits.

Death after retirement, §135-64(a) to (k).

## SURVIVING SPOUSES—Cont'd Health insurance.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.41(g).

Т

## TAXATION. Exemptions.

Law enforcement, fire, rescue and civil air patrol death benefits, §143-166.6.

Legislative retirement system, §120-4.29.

Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Property of board exempted from taxation, §128-28(b).

Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Property of board of trustees exempt from tax, §135-6(a).

# Law enforcement, fire, rescue and civil air patrol death benefits. Exemption of benefits from taxation,

§143-166.6. Legislative retirement system.

## Exemption from taxation, §120-4.29.

Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Board of trustees.

Exemption of property from taxation, §128-28(b).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Board of trustees.

Property of board exempt from tax, §135-6(a).

### TEACHERS.

Annuities and deferred

**compensation,** §§147-9.2 to 147-9.4.

Annuity contracts, §115C-341. Deferred compensation plans, §147-9.4.

#### Long-term care benefits.

State health plan for teachers and state employees.

See STATE HEALTH PLAN FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

## North Carolina public school teachers' and professional educators' investment plan.

Discontinuation of plan, effect, §115C-341.2(d).

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

## TEACHERS —Cont'd

#### Salaries.

Section 403(b) plan options by way of salary reduction, §115C-341.2.

#### THIRD PARTIES.

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Liability of third persons, §135-48.37.

#### TIME

## Firefighters' and rescue squad workers' pension fund.

Monthly payment by members, §\$58-86-35, 58-86-40.

#### TOWNS.

**Retirement system,** §§128-21 to 128-38.10.

See LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM.

U

#### UNIFORM ACTS.

#### Judges.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

#### Justices.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

#### State employees retirement system.

Consolidated judicial retirement act, §§135-50 to 135-75.2.

See RETIREMENT SYSTEM FOR TEACHERS AND STATE EMPLOYEES.

## UNIFORMED SERVICES EMPLOYMENT AND REEMPLOYMENT RIGHTS ACT.

## Participants in law-enforcement officers' retirement system.

Rights of participants under act. Local government law-enforcement officers, §143-166.50(e1).

### UNITED STATES.

#### Legislative retirement system.

Internal Revenue Code. Compliance, §120-4.31.

## Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Internal Revenue Code. Compliance, §128-38.2.

#### $\mathbf{v}$

## VETERANS.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Creditable service.
Armed service credit, §135-4(f), (g).

#### $\mathbf{W}$

### WAGES. Definitions.

Social security act.

Coverage of governmental

employees under Title II of act,

§135-20.

#### Social security.

Coverage of governmental employees under Title II of social security act.

Contributions by state employees. Deduction from wages, §135-22. Definition of wages, §135-20.

#### WAGES —Cont'd

## State health plan for teachers and state employees.

Whistleblower protections.

Retaliation prohibited.

Remedies that may be awarded to employee, §135-48.15(d).

## WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION. Local governmental employees' retirement system.

Persons furnishing information to division, §128-38.6.

State health plan for teachers and state employees, §135-48.15.

Y

#### YEAR.

## Retirement system for teachers and state employees.

Definition of year, §§135-1, 135-53.